24TABLE OF CONTENTS


26Introduction


26GRIGGS COUNTY HISTORIC SITES


28First Election, 1880


29First Settlers, Opheims


29First Post-Office


30The Long and Narrow Settlement Along the Sheyenne River


30Pioneer Pastors


31GRIGGS COUNTY


33Early Court House Officials


33Buffalo Bones


34A Traveler's View of Griggs, 1881


361888, Year of the Summer Frost


37Winter of the Big Snow 1896-97


37Red Willow Lake


38RURAL SCHOOLS


39Well-Known Names From Griggs County


39THOMAS R. AMLIE


39DAVID BARTLETT


40EDWARD McDERMOTT


40GERALD P. NYE


40MAYNARD CRANE


40C. P. DAHL


41L. A. SAYER


41P. H. COSTELLO


41Binford


41HISTORY OF BINFORD


43Entertainment in the Early Days


43Bethany Lutheran Free Church


45The Binford Gospel Tabernacle


46Independent Order of Odd Fellows


51Settlers


51OLAV ALFSON


53ALBERT ALFSON


53INGVALD AARESTAD


54MR. AND MRS. HANS A. ALM


54THE OSCAR ALM FAMILY


55OLE K. BAKKEN


56MR. AND MRS. JOSEPH BUCHHEIT


57NORMAN EVERS


57ARNE GRANHEIM'S


58GREENLAND FAMILY HISTORY


59HENRY HAGLE FAMILY


60NELS HALVORSON


60MR. AND MRS. FREDRICK H. KING


61MR. AND MRS. ARTHUR C. KNAPP


61MR. AND MRS. JOHN KNAPP


62MR. AND MRS. MANFRED KNAPP


62MR. AND MRS. MARTIN KNAPP


63OLAUS KROGFOSS


63BRUCE WILLIAM LaPLANT


64FRED GARFIELD LEWIS


65MR. AND MRS. HIRAM J. MAURER


65EMIL O. OLSON, Binford, North Dakota


66GEORGE OLSTAD


67HENRY AND CLARA PETERSON


68OTTO PRITZ


68STEPHEN RORVIG AND SOPHIE SMOGARD


69MR. AND MRS. HAROLD STALVIK


69JENS C. THINGLESTAD


70DR. AND MRS. J. R. TRUSCOTT


71MR. AND MRS. CARL ZABEL


72Cooperstown


72History


72Cooperstown’s First Year


73Cooperstown Townsite Company


74MAIN STREET 1896


81THE DEVASTATING THIRTIES


82MEMORIES


84Albert Larson Company


86Almklov's Pharmacy


86Crane-Johnson Lumber


86Company, Cooperstown


88Griggs County Farmers Mutual Fire & Lightning Insurance Company


88Griggs County Sentinel-Courier


90Griggs County Telephone Company


91History of Melroe - Cooperstown Plant


92Model Clothing Company


92Sarsten Motor Company


93Cooperstown Veterinarians


93Bethlehem Evangelical Free Church, Cooperstown


94Grace Lutheran Church - Missouri Synod


95Presbyterian Church History


96St. George's.  Church


97Trinity Lutheran Church


98Eighty Years of Masonry in Northern Light Lodge


99Griggs County Library


101Griggs County Hospital and Nursing Home


102Griggs County Hospital-Nursing Home Auxiliary


102Settlers


102ALMKLOV


104JOHN ARNESON FAMILY


106BARNEY E. BAKKEN FAMILY


106THE BERG FAMILY


108BERGSTROM FAMILY


109SILAS W. BLACK FAMILY


110DR. CARL L. BRIMI


113THE COOPERS OF COOPERSTOWN


113P. H. COSTELLO FAMILY


114MRS. ELIZA JANE CRAWFORD


115JAMES MARSAR CUSSONS FAMILY


115TORVAL FOSHOLDT


116JOHN FREDRICKSON


116PAUL HAGEN


117GUNDER C. FRIGAARD FAMILY


117HALVOR HALVORSON FAMILY


119H. P. HAMMER


120ANDREW HOEL


120NORMAN HOEL


121THE DICK HOWDEN FAMILY


123THOMAS IRGENS FAMILY


123CHARLES HENRY JOHNSON


124DICK JOHNSON


125ISAAC AND INGRID JOHNSON


126THEODORE KITTELSON


126JOHN KRAMVIK FAMILY


126THE HANS J. KOLSTADS


127EDWARD LARSON


128THORVALD LENDE FAMILY


129RUEBEN B. LOUDEN


129NILS M. LUNDE


130JOHN HENRY McDERMOTT


131C. C. McDONALD


132ALBERT I. MONSON


133THE NELSON FAMILY


134SWEN S. OLGAARD


135SELMER J. QUAM FAMILY


135THE REITEN FAMILY


137MARTIN ROOD


137DR. FRED ROSE


139SAXERUDS


139LEON A. SAYER, JR.


140L. A. SAYER


142W. A. SKJOLDEN


142EDITH OLSON SKOFSTAD


143JULIUS AND JULIA B. STEVENS,


144LUDVIG STOKKELAND


144CARL AND CLARA SOLBERG


146MRS. SOPHIE STOKKELAND


146JOHN SYVERSON,


147PETER J. TANG


148ABRAHAM THIME


149GENIAL KNUD THOMPSON


150KNUD THOMPSON'S


150`YANKEE DOODLE"


151BENJAMIN TUFTE


152RENA UDGAARD


152DR. K. M. WAKEFIELD


153DR. M. D. WESTLEY, M. D.


154FARMERS OIL COMPANY


155COOPERSTOWN FARMERS ELEVATOR COMPANY


155North Dakota FARM BUREAU* *NODAK MUTUAL INSURANCE


156HANNAFORD


163Faith Lutheran Church


165United Presbyterian Church


166Hannaford School


166Hannaford Public School


167Northern Pacific Railroad


168Great Northern Railroad


169Hannaford Banks


170Hannaford Elevators


171Hannaford Enterprise


172Hannaford Lumber Yards


172Hannaford Post Office


173Telephone Service


174Hannaford Ski Slide


175Mervin J. Armstrong Post # 113


175American Legion Auxiliary


176American Legion Junior Auxiliary


176Parks and Recreation


177HENRY HARRIS


177ALMKLOV


178ASHER ANDERSON


180GERALD ANDERSON


181MR. AND MRS. PAUL A. ANDERSON


182THE WILLIAM ANGUS FAMILY


184ELINDER ANTONSEN HISTORY


184ARBUCKLE FAMILY


185OSCAR ASHLAND


185RALPH BAILEY


185MARKUS BAKKEN


186ANDREW BENSON


187GEORGE BJOR


188MABEL BOE


189JOHN BREKKE


189A. C. BROWN FAMILY


190CHARLES CEDERSON


191JAMES A. COTTON


192THE THOMAS DAILEY FAMILY


193THE DAVIDSON FAMILY


194LAURENCE ERICKSON


195ALBIN FORSBERG


195MILFORD GRONNEBERG


196E. H. GROVEN


197H. H. GROVEN


198ADOLPH GROVER


198JOSEPH GRUMAN FAMILY


199LUDVIG HARELAND


200NIELS AND WALTER HEMMINGSEN


201DR. O. H. HOFFMAN


203MR. AND MRS. CLAUS JACKSON


204MR. AND MRS. ALBERT JOHNSON FAMILY


204AUGUST JOHNSON


205CLAYTON JOHNSON HISTORY


206HALVOR C. JOHNSON


208LOUISE C. KAAS


208HANS KALLAND


209INGVALD A. KAMPEN


210KERBER-STEINER


211ALLEN J. KLIPFEL


211GEORGE KNAUSS, JR.


213AMANDA SWINGEN LARSON


214ANDREW LARSON


215HANS LENNING


216MATHIAS LYNGBY FAMILY


217MALMINS


217MR. AND MRS. MELVIN MARKUSON


218NELS AND MARTIN MARKUSON


218LAURES McCALLSEN


219MR. AND MRS. ANDREW MIDSTOKKE


220THE ROGER NILSEN FAMILY HISTORY


220ARNE NEVLAND


221RASMUS (HELGELAND) OLSON


222FLOYD I. OLSON FAMILY


223WILLIAM M. OLSON FAMILY


224OSCAR OUREN


224SIMON J. OUREN


225MR. AND MRS. EVEN OLSEN


227PAULSEN, ELGAR AND ERNESTINE


227TRAIAN POPP


227PRIEBE HISTORY


228THE LYLE E. RICH FAMILY


228RICHARDSON FAMILY


229HISTORY OF THE SCHMIDT FAMILY


230OSCAR V.  SKORHEIM HISTORY


230W. D. SINCLAIR


232SORENSON-GUSTAFSON


233EDWARD O. AND MARTHEA STAI


233HENRY H. AND ANNA B. SWINGEN


234PAUL O. TROSETH


234WILLIAM E. VAN SCOIK


235CALVIN VINCENT


235CHAUNCY WAIT HISTORY


236CARL J. WATNE


237WILLIAM AND ESTHER WELLER


237HERITAGE OF OLE T. WESTLEY LLOYD HARELAND FAMILY INCLUDED


238SUTTON


238History


239Settlers


239MELVIN DIETRICHS


240CHARLES O. JOHNSON


241ROBERT JOHNSON


242LEWIS MARTIN FAMILY


242MERLE MARTIN WEISZ


243FAMILY HISTORY OF JOHN E. SUTTON


244ARTHUR W. WRIGHT FAMILY


245WALUM


245History


249Andrew Wogsland and family


250POST MASTERS


250THE GUNDERSONS


252THE PETER GUNDERSON FAMILY


252ADDIE TOWNSHIP


252History


253A Pioneer Relates


255Most Unforgettable Character


256Settlers


256THORVALD H. DAHL


257MR. AND MRS. DAFFIN (D. A. ) GOPLEN


259JOHN AND MATHILDE HANSTAD


259ARNT HELLAND


261PRAIRIE-WORN FARMER


261TOLLEF HELLAND


261W. T. McCULLOCH


262MR. AND MRS. SEVER ODEGAARD


263KNUTE A. 0IEN


263ANTON OIEN


263FRED OIEN


264GILBERT P. OLSON FAMILY


265OSCAR L. OLSON


266JOHN THUNE FAMILY


267O. E. THORN


268TVEDTE - TWEED


269JOHN P. VANGEN


270BALL HILL TOWNSHIP


270History


270SHEPARD FARMERS ELEVATOR COMPANY


271WALLY AND MILDRED RISLOV


272Settlers


272ENDRE AARESTED FAMILY


273OMUND ASHLAND


274ANDREW BENSON FAMILY


274JOHN A. BENSON FAMILY


275ARTHUR J. BENSON FAMILY


275JEANETTE BENSON LURA


276THOMAS DAHL FAMILY


277THE TORKEL T. FUGLESTAUS


279THE HAALAND FAMILY


280ELLING JOHNSON (FROILAND)


280MATHIAS JOHNSON FAMILY


281CARL "CHARLIE" KJELGAARD FAMILY


282MYRON KJELGAARD


282THE EMIL KROGSGAARD FAMILY


283PETER LARSON FAMILY


284CHRISTIAN LEE (LIA)


286ARCHIE MARSON


287CHARLES C. MARSON


287GEORGE W. MARSON


288EDWARD MICHAELIS FAMILY


289HERMAN JULIUS MICHAELIS FAMILY


290ERNEST MICHAELIS FAMILY


290THELMA MICHAELIS


291WALTER EDWARD MICHAELIS FAMILY


291JOHN GRAHAM MILLS


292JOHN GRAHAM MILLS


292MR. AND MRS. ARNT NJAA


293MARKUS M. NJUST FAMILY


293THE SAXBERGS


294ANDREW I. SHARPE


295JORGEN SOMA FAMILY


296JONAS VILLUMSON WATNE


298BARTLEY TOWNSHIP


298History


299SCHOOLS


300Settlers


300FRED ADAMS


301J. B. ARMSTRONG


302JAMES BEATTIE


303CARL J. BERG


303JAMES BOTHWELL


304OLE G. BROTEN


305DONALD CAMPBELL


305ALVIN DAHL


305ISAAC DOBBEDAL


306ED EVANSON


306ANDREW FORTNEY


307CHRIS FURAAS


307KNUTE FUROS


308ANTON GILBERTSON


308VELLECK HANSON


309ERICK HEYERDAHL


310JOSEPH HOGGARTH


312EINAR HOVI


312CHRIS JENSEN


313RASMUS LARSON


313RICHARD LARSON


314LARS LERUM


314JAMES M. LUNN


315CHRIS MADSEN


315WILLIAM AND PETER MARGACH


315CARL W. MICHAELSON


316PETER C. NELSON


316AUGUST PALM


317ARTHUR PALM


318LARS PEDERSON


319CARL LUDVIG PETERSON


320CHRIST SONJU


321ANDREW SONJU


322HENRY STEENSON


322NICOLAI SWENSON


323CHRIST TOMPSON


323ANDREW TWEIT


324CORNELIUS VENHUIZEN


324ANDREW WAHL


325MR. AND MRS. FERDINAND WERTH


326BROADVIEW TOWNSHIP


326History


326Ole Lima's First Summer in America.


327KARNAK


328Settlers


328THE FREER FAMILY


330ELDREN HAUGEN FAMILY


330JULIUS HAUGEN FAMILY


331JOHN HENDRICKSON


332OLE HELMER FAMILY


333GUDRID VIGESAA HETLAND


333CHRISTOPHER JONASEN FAMILY


334KNUT J. KALVIK


335JOHN KERBER, SR.


335JOHN KERBER


336ARNE LIMA


336OLE DAVIDSON LIMA


337SKJERET FAMILY


338BERNARD O. STOKKA


339TORKEL VIGESAA FAMILY


339BRYAN TOWNSHIP


339History


340BRYAN SCHOOLS


340MOSE


341Mose Nareon Church


341Settlers


341EVENSON FAMILY


342P. J. FINSTUEN FAMILY


343THE LEWIS IVERSON FAMILY


345J. D. JOHNSON FAMILY


345SIVERT LARSON


346TOM LARSON FAMILY


347CARL R. MILLER FAMILY


347HANS NIELSON OVERBY


348THE ANDREW H. OVERBY FAMILY


350PAUL OVERBY


350JACOB RAMSEY HISTORY


351THE HISTORY OF OLE THUNE


352CLEARFIELD TOWNSHIP


352History


352SCHOOLS OF KINGSLEY TOWNSHIP.


354ZION EVANGELICAL CHURCH


355Settlers


355ABBOTT FAMILY


356BENDICK BENDICKSON FAMILY


357COLVIN FAMILY


358EVERS FAMILY


360SYLVESTER FLICK


360GEORGE HIGGINS


361THEODORE HOVEL


361HELMER JOHNSON FAMILY


362GORDON (Boggy) JONES and His Two Sisters, GERTRUDE and SHIRLEY.


363KJORMOE FAMILY


363WILL H. AND BERENICE PHELPS


364ALBERT RETZLAFF FAMILY


365DONALD RETZLAFF FAMILY


365CHARLES ROTHERT FAMILY


366THE WILLIAM STEFFEN FAMILY


367COOPERSTOWN TOWNSHIP


367History


367COOPERS OF COOPERSTOWN


369HOUGHTON SCHOOL


369SWEDISH MISSION CHURCH


370Settlers


370ADOLPHSON FAMILY


370LUDVIG ANDERSON


370NICKOLI BOE


371THOMAS BOE


371BORCHERT FAMILY


372THE S. A. BRAA FAMILY


373GUST EDSTROM


374THE EGELAND FAMILY HISTORY


374ERICK ERICKSON


374MARTIN A. FRIGAARD


376THE MARTIN HAGEN FAMILY


376HAZARD FAMILY


378KNUTE HOLLAND


378HELM


379MILLIE ZUEHIKE HOLLOWAY


379HOUGHTON FAMILY


381JOHN JOHNSON


382PETER AND ALMA JOHNSON


383SIGURD KRISTIANSEN


383LEISURE


383AXEL LILJENQUIST


383EVEN J. LURA


384LARS LURA


384JOHN ALBIN OST


385NEIRENBERG FAMILY HISTORY


386OTTO PERCHERT


386THE PERSON PIONEERS


387JENS TOM THORSEN


388THE TURNQUIST FAMILY


389THE URNESS FAMILY


390WATHNE HISTORY


391WUFLESTAD HISTORY


391Dover Township


391History


393DOVER REFORMED CHURCH


393EIDFJORD EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH


395DOVER SCHOOL


397Settlers


397LOREN AHART


397THE CRESAP FARM


398BENNIE MARTIN HAUGEN


399THE CLARENCE HAUGEN FAMILY


400HENRY JACOBSON


400OLE T. MICHAELSON


401OMER MICHAELSON


401MARTIN ROSE FAMILY


402OTTIS B. SKARLOKEN


403KNUTE M. THOMPSON


403MR. AND MRS. ARTHUR VEN HUIZEN


404GREENFIELD TOWNSHIP


404History


404ST. OLAF LUTHERAN CHURCH


407UNION LUTHERAN CHURCH


408Settlers


408MR. AND MRS. ANDREW L. FOGDERUD


409CONRAD FOGDERUD (1903-1970)


410THE HARLEY FOGDERUD FAMILY


410HOME IN A HILLSIDE The Albin Forsberg Family


411JOHN GOPLEN FAMILY


412CHRISTIAN GRINAGER


412LARS HARVEY


413BENNIE H. HAUGEN FAMILY


413HANS J. HAUGEN FAMILY


414JOHANNES HAUGEN FAMILY


416MR. AND MRS. JOHN H. HAUGEN


417JOHN J. HAUGEN


418MAGNUS HAUGEN


418OLE AND CAROLINE KNUTSON FAMILY


420GLADYS ANN HOLMGREN


420RICHARDSON, JULY 10, 11910


420MR. AND MRS. ARNE HOVLAND


421DR. SAMUEL JUELL


421THE MR. AND MRS. OLE A. KAASTAD FAMILY


423DAVID J. KALLAND


423JOHANNES KALVIK


424GUSTOV TEOFILIUS LIND


425NELS ALGOT LIND


426MARVIN LINDER


426OLE MOSSING


427ALFRED P. NELSON


427ANDREW NELSON


428JOHN NELSON


428MR. AND MRS. NELS OLSON


429OTTO ROGNUEN


429THE STONE FAMILY


430THE DESCENDANTS OF EINAR O. AND GURI STROMME


431MR. AND MRS. KNUTE J. STROMME


432MARTIN AND CLARA WALLUM


432REVERE, HELENA TOWNSHIP


432History


434Christian Fellowship Church


434Settlers


434THE C. P. ANDERSON FAMILY


435BEATTIE FAMILY


435CAMPBELL FAMILY


436FENNER


436JOHN D. FESKE FAMILY


437JOHN WILLIAM FESKE (JACK)


437OTTO F. FESKE


438FLIFLET FAMILY


438JOHN FRANCIS


439CARL GARTMAN


439LASSE HEGVIK


440The Old Timers Reminisce


440Threshing


441HETLAND HISTORY


443ANDREAS (ANDREW) JACOBSEN


443THE HUBBARD KNAPP FAMILY


444LOBERG


444MIKAL MOGAARD


445GEORGE PAINTNER


445CHARLES PALM


446EUGENE AND IDA PITTENGER


446ALVIN AND RUTH RAMSEY


447THE JOHN SAXBERGS


447LARS O. SKJELSET


448REMINISCING


449MR. AND MRS. AUGUST STEINBORN


449ARNDT AND ELLA JOHNSON TAXDAHL


451CARL WATNE FAMILY


451MR. AND MRS. JOHN E. WELLS


452KINGSLEY TOWNSHIP


452History


452Settlers


452THE A. R. BOISJOLIE FAMILY


453THE BOISJOLIE'S


453BOLTZ FAMILY FLORENCE LIEN FAMILY


454THE BRUNS FAMILY


454THE DRAMSTAD FAMILY


455ANDREW DYBWAD AND FAMILY


456ALBERT GOPLEN


456HAROLD HONEY


457EDWARD A. HUNSBERGER


458EARNEST N. JOHNSON


459THE KINGSLEY FAMILY


460THE J. WILKESON WILSIE FAMILY


460THE JOHN LEININGER FAMILY


461THE JOHN WILLIAM LEININGER FAMILY


462MICHAEL LEININGER


463LOUIS LAPLANT


463CLARENCE LINSE


464WALLACE MYERS FAMILY


464THE KNUTE OLSON FAMILY


465INGEBRIGT LIMMESAND


465GUY A. PETERS, "LARSON" OR "SIMONSON" PLACE.


466THE LEWIS SIMENSON FAMILY


467THE R. B. PITTENGER FAMILY


468ALONZO RHODES, SR.


469LEWIS SCHMIDT


470ROBERT STARR


470ALFRED TENNESON FAMILY


471LENORA TOWNSHIP


471History


472EARLY DAY ITEMS OF INTEREST IN LENORA TOWNSHIP


473Settlers


473J. A. AMES


473RAGNILD LAURA AMLIE


474ERICK AMUNDSON


474GUSTAF ANDERSON UNNIE SVORI ANDERSON


475MARIA AUSETH


475R. H. BELDEN


476LARS BORRESON


476ANDREW AND LAVINA BRUDVIG


477JOHN A. CARLSON


477MR. AND MRS. OTTO EBERHARDT


477JOSEPH B. FORBERG


478CHARLIE GROFF


479GUDMUND GUDMONDSON


479ALFRED P. GUNDERSON


480PETER GUNDERSON


480GILBERT GUNDERSON


480MR. AND MRS. ALFRED HALVIG


481BENJAMIN HANSON


481ANDRES HEGNA


482PETER HORNE


482JON HUSO


483TORBJORN HUSO


484MR. AND MRS. CHARLES F. KRAUSE


484KNUT S. MOEN


484THE MICKELS FAMILY


485JOHN AND MARGARET MILLER


486MR. AND MRS. ANDREW MOEN


487SEVER K. MOEN


487ELIAS MOAN


488CARL OVERBY


488A Pioneer Tragedy


489AMUND T. PLADSON


490JEN SEIM


490OLE SHERVEN


490CHARLEY C. SIMONSON


492THE SIMPSON HISTORY


493OLE AND OLEANA SLETTEN


493MR. AND MRS. ALEX SUTHERLAND


494MARY AND CHARLIE STERMER


494OBERT THARALDSON


494OLIVER AND DOROTHY HAUGO


494RALPH AND ARDELLA FUGLESTAD


495ARTHUR AND MARDELL OSTENSON


495ANDREW TORFIN


496HERMAN JOHAN TORGERSON


497MR. AND MRS. NELS TORGERSON


497ALBERT G. WELLS


497NICHOLAS O. WESTMAN


498JOE ZIMPRICH, SR.


498MABEL TOWNSHIP


498History


501MABEL LUTHERAN CHURCH


501Settlers


501ANDREW J. ANDERSON


502ANDERSONS


503OLE ANDERSON


504ROBERT BAILEY


505JOHAN CHRISTIANSON


505THE ANTON CHRISTOPHERSON FAMILY


506FREDERICK GEORGE DIETRICH


506CHRISTIAN (C. J. ) ERLANDSON


507ARNOLD GRONNEBERG FAMILY


508MR. AND MRS. C. N. GRONNEBERG


509MR. AND MRS. CLARENCE GRONNEBERG


509FRED HOCHBERGER


510THE KJELSONS OF MABEL TOWNSHIP


511ALFRED OLSON FAMILY


511PILOT MOUND TOWNSHIP


511History


512POST OFFICE


513Butte Michaud


513Vest Prairie Norske Evangeliske Lutherske Kirke


514PIGEFORENING AND LADIES AID HISTORY


515OTTAWA CHURCH


516Lee Mill


517Hilltop Burial Ground


518Pilot Mound's Man of Mystery Old Pete


519School No. 3 of Greenwood


519Settlers


519LARS ANDERSON


520HARRIS ASLAKSON FAMILY


520OLE ASLAKSON (HEGSTAL) FAMILY


521OLE T. BOTNAN FAMILY


522JOE O. BOYER FAMILY


522CHRIST CLAUSON


523OLE OLSON ELLEFSON (Big Ole)


524OSCAR OLSON ELLEFSON (Little Ole)


524TOLLEF OLSON ELLEFSON


525ELLEF OLSON TIEGEN * ELLEFSON


526CHRISTIAN AND INGER FOSSE


527LARS GLIMSDAL


528OLE GROFF


529ALFRED JOHNSON


529ASLAX JOHNSON


529THE ADLER HEGNA FARM


529HALVOR HEGNA


530HANS H. KOLOEN


530HANS N. KOLOEN


531RANDOLPH KNUTSON


531ANDREW LARSON


532CLARENCE LARSON


532FINGAR LARSON


533OLE E. LARSON FAMILY


534HAROLD EDWARD MICHAELIS


534EMIL A. MILLER


534PETER MILLER FAMILY


535ALMER MYER


535OLE AND KARI OPHAUG


536SYVER ODEGAARD FAMILY


536JACOB PELLA FAMILY


537LEANDER QUANBECK FAMILY


537SAM G. QUANBECK


538WILLIAM W. QUANBECK


539OLE REINHART


539JOHAN (JOHN) TANDE


540SIGVART J. TANDE


541KNUD THOMPSON


541GUNDER O. TROSTAD


542GUY O. TROSTAD


543LOUIS TROSTAD


543OLE TROSTAD


544NELS TORGERSON


544REVEREND  MARCUS B. TUFTELAND


545HARRY ZENTZ


545THE ROMNESS HERMIT


546ROMNESS TOWNSHIP


546History


547Ringsaker Lutheran Church


549Methodist Church


549SOME ROMNESS FIRSTS


550Settlers


550ANDREW (PUNLAND) ANDERSON


550MRS. HENRY ANDERSON


551MR. AND MRS. JOHANNES ANDERSON


551NILS C. ANDERSON


552MERVIN ASKELSON


553THE INGVAL ARNESON FAMILY


553ALLAN ARNESON


553KENNETH ARNESON


553GUSTAV N. ARNESON


554FRED J. BAKER


554KNUT BRENDINGEN


554MR. AND MRS. CARL W. BUE


555BEN AND JORGEN BUE


555JOHN CHRISTOPHERSON


555THE BARTON CUSSONS PLACE


555MR. AND MRS. ANTON O. DAHL


557CLIFFORD M. EGGERMONT


558GUNDER ENERSON


558CARL OTTO ELSAAS


559THE HUGO FIEBIGER FAMILY


559CARL A. FLISSARM


559MR. AND MRS. JOSEPH M. FRITZ


559JOHN GUNDERSON


560ALFRED P. GUNDERSON


561MR. AND MRS. OSCAR GUNDERSON AND FAMILY


561TORVAL GUNDERSON


561OLAF GUNDERSON


562MABEL GUNDERSON - OLE HERIGSTAD


562OLE GUSTAFSON


562HANS HEIDAL AND FAMILY


563MR. AND MRS. CHARLES EARL HELLING


563ANDREW HERBERG


563MR. AND MRS. LEWIS HILSTAD


564MR. AND MRS. AUGUST (FRITZ) HOGENSON AND FAMILY


565JOHN HOGENSON


566MRS. MARTHA ASPRUSTEN HOGENSON


566PETER LEWIS HOGENSON


567JOE HOVEL


567ARNE HURUM


568MR. AND MRS. PETER P. IDSVOOG


568MR. AND MRS. OSCAR IDSVOOG


569MR. AND MRS. ANDREW P. IDSVOOG


569ESTEN MOEN JOHNSON AND SONS, JOHN C. AND EDWARD


570MR. AND MRS. IVER JOHNSON


570MR. AND MRS. JOHN N. JOHNSON


571CHRISTIAN AND SIRI KASTET


571MR. AND MRS. ANDREW C. KNUTSON


572MR. AND MRS. JOHN KNUTSON


572MR. AND MRS. PETER KNUTSON


573RAYMOND McCARDLE


574CURTIS McCARDLE


574MR. AND MRS. OLE MIDSTOKKE AND FAMILY


574MYRON MIDSTOKKE


574CONRAD MOE


574HENRY MOSTAD


575NELS P. NELSON


576DR. EDWARD NESHEIM AND FAMILY


576MR. AND MRS. EDWARD NISSTAD


576OLE OLSON BJORNSTAD FAMILY


577HENRY OLSON FAMILY


577MR. AND MRS. BERNT OLSON


578GARFIELD OLSON


579GILBERT OLSON FAMILY


580MARTIN OLSON AND FAMILY


580MARTIN CHRISTOPHERSON


581THEODORE B. OLSON AND FAMILY


582ENNER O. OLSON AND FAMILY


582OLE OVERBY


583KLARA OVERBY AND E. S. DUEA CASPER OVERBY


584MR. AND MRS. HANS P. PRAMBUS


585THE NELS J. QUALEY STORY


585OLAF REINHART


586WILLIAM L. RINDE


586OLOUS AND LENA RONNINGEN


587WILLIAM SAMUELSON FAMILY


587THE SKRAMSTADS


587SKRAMSTAD, HANS (1876-1952)


587MARTIN SKRAMSTAD (1880-1965)


588THE ANTON SKRAMSTAD FAMILY ANTON SKRAMSTAD (1883-1965)


588ARTHUR SKRAMSTAD (1909-)


589MR. AND MRS. OLE SLETTEN


589MR. AND MRS. JOHN SLETTEN


589MR. AND MRS. OTTO SLETTEN


590GEORGE N. SORUM


590MR. AND MRS. LAWRENCE STENBRO


591CLIFFORD J. STROMSODT


591THOMAS SWINGEN


591HUGH "PAT" HOGLUND


591ARTHUR THOMPSON


592TRYGVE THOMPSON


592IVER UDGAARD FAMILY


593MRS. IVER UDGAARD


594EDWIN UDGAARD


594OLE ULETEIG


595ARDEN AND KAREN VERALRUD


595ERIC (JOHNSON) VESTERN AND FAMILY


596MR. AND MRS. "TOM" VIGESAA


596ROSENDAL TOWNSHIP


596History


597Settlers


597MARTIN ADRIAN


597ASMUS FAMILY HISTORY


600CARL ASMUS


600DANIEL ASMUS


600HENRY ASMUS


601J. D. BARCLAY


601LAWRENCE BJORNSON


602SWEN BJORNSON


602ALBERT BJORNSON


603BEN CONANT


603ANTON T. FALLA


603CHRIST HEINSEN


604CLINT WILSON


604ERICK HANSON


604OLE LARSON


604VICTOR MAGNUSON


604THE H. B. OMDAL FAMILY


605BEN HANS OVERBY


605ANDREW P. RAMSEY


607MARTIN STENSLIE


608MARTIN STENSLIE


608JOHN STORKSON


608HERMAN STORKSON


609SAMUEL STORKSON


609HENDRICK TUFTE


609JOHN OLSON


609J. F. VAN VOORHIS


609PEDER RORVIG


610G. E. PETERSON


610A. J. CARLSON


610JOHN CARLSON


611SVERDRUP TOWNSHIP


611History


611SARON EVANGELICAL FREE CHURCH


612ZION LUTHERAN (WESTLEY) CONGREGATION


613FIRST GOLDEN WEDDING IN GRIGGS COUNTY CELEBRATED IN 1887


615Settlers


615JOHN H. ATCHISON


615GULBRAND AUREN FAMILY


616HAROLD G. AUREN


616ALBERT BERGE


617OLE P. BOLKAN


617ANDREW BROSTEN


618RICHARD BROSTEN


618ALEXANDER CHALMERS


618SWEN AND MARTHA EDLAND


619ELISHA FITCH


619SVEN ERICKSON (LOGE)


620JOHAN FORSBERG FAMILY


620AMUND GILBERTSON


621IVER HANSEN


621HERIGSTAD FAMILY HISTORY


624MARTIN HOLLAND FAMILY


624ARNT JOHNSON


625LARS JOHNSON


626MATHILDA JOHNSON


627THE ALBERT J. KLUBBEN FAMILY.


628THE KLUBBEN HISTORY


629SAMUEL B. LANGFORD


630HELGE B. LARSON


631SWEN AND SERINA LOGE


632BIOGRAPHY OF ARNE LUCKASON


633THE MARTIN LUNDE FAMILY


634THE FAMILY OF SVEN LUNDE


634TORKEL NJAA


635SWEN OLGAARD


636GEORGE N. OLSON FAMILY


637THE NELS OLSON FAMILY


638JOHN PATES


638SANDERSON FAMILY


639ALEXANDER SAUNDERS


639KORNALIUS SELDAL


640JACOB STOKKA


641OLE J. STOKKA


641MR. AND MRS. JESPER TAXDAHL


642MARTIN ANDREAS UELAND


643THE HAROLD VASFARET FAMILY


643ANDREW AND ANE VATNE


644TONNES WATNE


644PEDER VIGESAA AND FAMILY


645THOMAS VIGESAA AND FAMILY


646ST. LAWRENCE CHURCH


647JESSIE, North Dakota


648THE JESSIE POST OFFICE


650TYROL TOWNSHIP


650History


651Settlers


651CARL ARNDT FAMILY


651JOHN ASKELSON


652EINAR S. BARDAHL FAMILY


652OTTO BARFUSS FAMILY


653BECHERL


653THE CAMPBELL FAMILY


654MRS. OTTO CHRISTENSEN


654THE COMBS FAMILY


655THE DAHL FAMILY OF JESSIE


655DETWILLER FAMILY


656JOSEPH AND AMELIA DUSBABECK


657THE EDWARD F. FIEBIGER FAMILY


657ADOLPH FIEBIGER


658ED J. FIEBIGER FAMILY


658THE FRED FREDERICKSON FAMILY


659FRANK HEINZ, SR. FAMILY


659MATH HEINZE FAMILY


660MR. AND MRS. LUDVIG HOGIE


661THE HERMAN HOVEL FAMILY


661HERMAN HOVEL FAMILY


662THE JOHN HOVEL FAMILY


662REYNOLD F. AND MARY HOVEL


663SIMON JENSON FAMILY


663THE OLAF JOHNSON FAMILY


664WILLIAM LAPLANT FAMILY


664THEODORE E. MONSON


665ESTEN OLSEN


665THE GEORGE PETERSON FAMILY


666BERNARD PFEIFER FAMILY


666BIOGRAPHY OF FRANK J. PFEIFER


666Reynold Hovel in 1925


667GEORGE W. PRATT


668APHRA FRANCES PRATT


668GEORGE A. PRATT


668EDWARD B. RESSLER FAMILY


669FRANK RESSLER FAMILY


670J. W. (JACK) RESSLER FAMILY


670JOHN RESSLER FAMILY


671CHARLES RETZLAFF FAMILY


671OTTO E. RETZLAFF FAMILY


672THE ALBERT RICKFORD FAMILY


672THE ROGNE FAMILY


672DAVID SANSBURN


673WILLIAM H. SANSBURN


673SAM SANSBURN


674CLARENCE SANSBURN


674MRS. CLARENCE SANSBURN


675GUSTAVE A SUESS FAMILY


675CARL AUGUST TROST FAMILY


676OLAF EINAR VAADE - THE VILLAGE SMITHY


677HALFDON M. WAHL (HOLM) FAMILY


678MAX WILD FAMILY


679EDWIN J. WOLD FAMILY


680JULIUS WURST FAMILY


681SIGVART YORKS OBSERVE 60th WEDDING ANNIVERSARY


681EDWARD ZIMPRICH, SR. FAMILY


683FRANK ZIMPRICH FAMILY


683IDA ZIMPRICH


684IGNAZ ZIMPRICH FAMILY


684LAWRENCE ZIMPRICH FAMILY


685THE WILLIAM ZIMPRICH FAMILY


686WASHBURN TOWNSHIP


686History


686Ueland Dam


686WASHBURN SCHOOLS


687FLUTO BRIDGE


687WASHBURN TELEPHONE COMPANY


687THE TOWNSITE OF MARDELL - 1882-1885


688NESS CONGREGATION


688OPHEIM CEMETERY


690Settlers


690NELS ARNESON


691THOR G. AUREN


692MR. AND MRS. EDGAR AYREA


692CHRISTOPHER P. BOLKAN


693ANTON B. CARLSON


694ALBERT DAHL FAMILY


694JOHN DAHL FAMILY


695OSCAR DAHL


695GLENN DYSON


696KONRAD SORENSON EIDE


696DANIEL ERICKSON FAMILY


699O. P. FEIRING


700THOR A. HAGEN FAMILY


701EDWARD GILBERTSON


702THREE HOMESTEADS 1881


703SVEIN O. HOMME


704EDWIN IVERSON FAMILY


704JOHN IVERSON


705BIOGRAPHY OF BEN JOHNSON


705J. F. (FRED) JENSEN


706CARL JOHNSON ENGEN


707PER PERSON KINDSO


707KNUDT J. MONSON


708O. MONS MONSON


708MARTIN AND HATTIE OPHEIM


709OMUND NELSON OPHEIM


709BEN PAULSEN


710MATHIAS FALKENHAUG SIMENSON


711EMIL SIMENSON


712OLE SKRIEN


712THE G. E. SOLA FAMILY


713HANS EDWARD JOHN SOLFIELD (1851-1937)


714JOHN TORFIN


714LEVI S. NORGAARD


714MR. AND MRS. AMUND A. FLUTO


715CHARLES CARROLL PIATT


715YOUNG BROTHERS


716WILLOW TOWNSHIP


716History


716RED WILLOW BIBLE CAMP


716Settlers


716AUGUST HERMAN ADRIAN


717IVAR ALMKLOV


717AUGUST ANDERSON FAMILY


718KNUTE ANDERSON FAMILY


719OLE L. ANDERSON FAMILY


719MARTHA (MALLA) ANDERSON


720ARTHUR R. ANDERSON FAMILY


720OLAF FORS FAMILY


721GABRIEL GILBERTSON FAMILY


721GILBERT GILBERTSON FAMILY


722GAYLON GRIFFEY


722ELIJAH SOULE HAMILTON


722DAVID JACOBSONS


723DONALD H. JACOBSON FAMILY


723MRS. ANNE JACOBSON FAMILY


724SYVER N. KOLOEN


724MR. AND MRS. ALVIN MILLER AND FAMILY


725ANTON C. MILLER


725ARTHUR W. AND BEULAH E. MILLER


726MYRON MILLER FAMILY


727RONALD MILLER FAMILY


727THE HENRY MYER FAMILY


727OLE MYER


728JACOB MYHRE


729MR. AND MRS. THORE OLSON


730THOR OLSON THORESON


731HERJUS OSMUNDSON


731THE FAMILY OF ASMUND PEDERSON


732JORGEN AND JOHN PEDERSON


733MR. AND MRS. VERNON PETERSON


733THE ERNEST RICKFORD FAMILY


734JOHN F. RICKFORD


735CARL RIX


735OSCAR RONNINGEN


735MATHIAS RORVIG


736BIOGRAPHY OF OLE RORVIG


737PEDER RORVIG


738PAUL AND ANNA RORVIG


738ERICK SMOGARD


739JOSEPH STAHL


739ROBERT STAHL FAMILY


740ANNA ELIZABETH SVAREN


740JOHAN TANDE


741BERNT HELMER TANDE


742MRS. NELS TUFTELAND




 TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Introduction 
	Pages 1- 15

	
	

	Towns
	

	Binford
	15- 35

	Cooperstown
	36-105

	Hannaford
	106-164 

	Jessie (included in Tyrol Township) 
	445-448

	Sutton
	164-171

	Walum
	172-178

	
	

	Townships
	

	Addie
	178-192

	Ball Hill
	193-212

	Bartley
	212-234

	Broadview
	234-244

	Bryan
	244-252

	Clearfield
	252-263

	Cooperstown
	264-281

	Dover
	281-290

	Greenfield
	290-308

	Revere - Helena Township
	308-321

	Kingsley
	322-334

	Lenora
	334-351

	Mabel
	351-360

	Pilot Mound
	361-383

	Romness
	384-412

	Rosendal
	412-421

	Sverdrup
	421-445

	Tyrol
	445-471

	Washburn
	471-491

	Willow
	492-508

	Additional Pictures
	508-

	Index
	


Readers are advised that town and Township accounts are arranged in alphabetical order, as are the family histories.  

Source Page 3

Introduction

GRIGGS COUNTY HISTORIC SITES

Among the earliest travelers in Griggs County were the Hudson Bay fur traders who came in from the northeast comer of the state at Pembina and traveled many different directions.  In Griggs County they primarily came down the Sheyenne river valley, where old timers saw many trails and fur trading camps along the river.  In Pilot Mound Township there are known places although nothing was built up there.  One site plowed up in the last ten years was located in Section 24 in Pilot Mound Township.  There was a road that led from this fur trading post to one within Barnes County, just over the line from Griggs County on Ball Hill creek.  There used to be a road going between these fur trading posts that went right east of Cooperstown where the Airport is now located.  It was visible to old timers but that has also disappeared.

Next in history would be the Nicollet and Fremont explorers.  They came through here in 1839 and camped on Section 14 in Addie Township.  This site is known but unmarked and no traces remain of it, but they were early explorers who went through here.  Lieutenant Fremont named the lake, Jessie, for his wife-to-be, Jessie Benton.

The next explorers who went through here were Governor I. I. Stevens and his men in 1853 and they also camped on the same spot in Section 14 in Addie Township.  General Stevens had been appointed Governor of the Territory of Washington and hired by the government to survey a place across the United States where the railroad could be built to the west coast.  This site is also unmarked but its location is known.  Governor Stevens' guide was a half-breed named Pierre Bottineau.

The next oldest site is where Captain J. L. Fisk camped in 1862 and 1863.  That site is on Section 22 in Addie Township and there the state has put up an impressive marker and owns the plot of land on which the marker was erected.  Captain Fisk of the quartermaster corps was guiding a party of gold miners who wanted to go to the newly opened mines in Idaho and western Montana.  They started out from Fort Abercrombie.  Captain William Twining also camped there in 1866.

At the same time that Captain Fisk camped here General Sibley came through with his large army to drive the Indians back after the 1862 massacre in Minnesota.  He camped on Section 28 in Addie Township and the state has also put up an impressive marker there.  It also shows a small comer of the large camp they had there from July 18 to August 10, 1863.  Here they threw up breastworks, stored surplus supplies, and left a detachment of soldiers to guard sick men and beasts.  There are two soldier graves in the vicinity.  

One grave is marked on this site although the grave isn't located exactly there but a little further north and west.  This is the grave of Samuel Wannamaker, age 42, a soldier in Sibley's army.  

The other grave is located south and west of the site on the highest hill on Section 29.  This grave is marked and is the grave of George E. Brent, who accidentally shot himself.

There is also a grave of Kristian Petterson, located in Ball Hill Township in Section 35.  He was a young soldier in the Sibley forces who died on the way back.  He also had three brothers in the army and they buried him there.  A Memorial Day dedication was held here in 1929.  There is a marker at this gravesite.

Ball Hill Township in Section 23 of a soldier who drowned that was on the Sully expedition in 1865.  He was George T. Johnson of Company G. , 3 111.  Cav.

A couple of years after General Sibley went through here and drove the Indians back across the Missouri river, General Alfred Terry, Commander of the Northwest Territory at that time, thought it was necessary to put up a little more protection for the settlers pushing north and west from Fort Abercrombie.  He with some army help established some Forts to protect the settlers.  One was established at Fort Ransom and then he traveled north and practically followed the Sibley trail but he cut off south of Lake Jessie and built a log shelter dugout for a stop over for people traveling from Fort Abercrombie through Fort Ransom.  He also went north and built Fort Totten.  The mail, medicine and supplies to Fort Totten came across country from Fort Abercrombie and there are trails, which show several different places, very visible in Addie Township in Section 2 and several other places.

The shelter that was built on Section 14 of Addie Township was a dugout, very plainly seen but unmarked.  This shelter was locally known as the Watne dugout.  It was Erick Watne's first home in 1886, but the Army had used it from 1867 until 1872 when the railroad came as far as Jamestown and they established Fort Seward.  They then hauled supplies from Fort Seward to Fort Totten and this trail and shelter were no longer used by the Army.  After the Army quit using this route, they abandoned the shelter and a post office was established at a pioneer farmer, W. T. McCulloch, and he had a post office and was the postmaster with the United States Postal department from 1881-1899.  The site of this post office on Section 14 of Addie Township is known but it is not marked.  We have in the Museum in Cooperstown part of the desk and part of the mail cubbyholes he used at the time he had the post office.

There was also a post office near Red Willow Lake located on Section 16, Willow Township.  Although the site is not marked its location is known.  A man by the name of Ed Lohnes had a stagecoach and mail station there and he carried the mail between Willow and Fort Totten from 1870 to 1872.  There must have been a mail stop there because the records show it was from 1870-1872.  He had a store here too.

The mail to these pioneers was very important and the way of getting it was sometimes very difficult.  The mail that Mr. McCulloch handled to start with was brought up from Sanborn and after the train came to Cooperstown it was brought from there by team or dog sleigh or by whatever means possible by a man by the name of Knute Buxegaard.  He left the mail at McCullochs and he traveled north to a place they called Willow post office which was located on the old Alfson place.  That was another place the pioneers could get to and get their mail.  That man's name was Ole Alfson, an old pioneer.

Another historic spot was where there was a water-powered flourmill on the Sheyenne River on Section 1 in Pilot Mound Township.  This flourmill was in operation from 1887 until 1902.  This is not marked but its location is known.  We have pictures of it and old timers remember it very well.  This is also a place that should be marked.

Most of the earliest pioneers that came to Griggs County settled along the Sheyenne River where there was water, wood for fuel and logs for log houses.  The first of these was a man by the name of Omund Nelson Opheim, also called "pioneer Nelson,” who came here in 1879.  He built a log house and lived there and the log cabin is preserved on the Griggs County courthouse lawn.  Other settlers that came at that time had log houses but few remain as most have been remodeled or destroyed.

When the settlers settled along the Sheyenne there was no railroad in the vicinity but they thought there was going to be a railroad from Breckenridge to Hope and from there on across to the Sheyenne river valley.  A town was started in the spring of 1882 on Section 13 in Washburn Township and given the name of Mardell.

Promoters had high hopes for the town and a large hotel was built with 30 rooms, a dry goods store and hardware store, a blacksmith shop, livery barn, office building and maybe more.  The town thrived for about two years but Mr. Jim Hill was not convinced that it was the best place to build a railroad.  After R. C. Cooper built a track from Sanborn to Cooperstown the town was abandoned and very little of it remains and it is not marked.  The old livery barn has been moved across the road and is still there.

The biggest bonanza farmer in this area was a man by the name of R. C. Cooper.  He came here and started things out in 1880.  He and his brother had quite a bit of capital and they came here in the spring of 1881 to begin farming.  They set up a large farming enterprise and we have many pictures of the mule and horse rigs with plows, seeders, binders and threshing operations.  They farmed a lot of land and covered a large area, hired many people.  probably 80% of the pioneers that came here worked for Mr. Cooper before they got started farming on their own.

One set of buildings on the home ranch is still intact, and were built by Mr. Cooper.  The barn was built in the winter of 1880-81.  The buildings were used until 1970 but are now vacant and they should absolutely be preserved.  They are just the way they were when constructed, never having been remodeled.  The home ranch was on Section 26, Cooperstown Township.  For a time he had his personal headquarters on Section 34.  He had two other ranches.  one was in Section 5 in Cooperstown Township and one was in Section 7 Washburn Township.

Griggs County has a museum located at Cooperstown.  A lot of antiques, tools and equipment used by the early pioneers are preserved here.  Some of these historic places that played such an important part in developing this community should absolutely be restored and marked so that future generations may see and remember them.

One of the landmarks that guided the early explorers and travelers that went west from the Red river and spread further west was Lake Jessie and this may account for the many camp sites around Lake Jessie that are known.  At Lake Jessie was a heavy growth of timber and a spring for water for man and beast.

Another landmark was Butte Michaud, a high hill, about a mile from the Sheyenne River.  As people traveled up the river they knew when they got there they could cut off to Lake Jessie and there were known trails that led from Butte Michaud to Lake Jessie.  This high hill, named for an Indian, is visible for miles and that is why travelers were guided by it.  Its elevation has been stated as being 1386 feet, 150-175 feet above the general land area east and north or nearly 350 feet above the Sheyenne River.
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First Election, 1880

The first election was held in Griggs at a time when it was still a part of Traill County, at the residence of Omund Nelson Opheim, on November 2, 1880.  Although it was a presidential election, politics did not create much excitement in this locality, mostly for the reason that North Dakota had a territorial government and settlers here had neither a voice in electing the president nor in the choice of territorial officers, except a delegate to congress.  They were also allowed to elect a delegate to the territorial legislature to be convened at Yankton in January of 1881.  Knute Nomland was elected to represent the district in the legislature.  County officers of Traill County were also elected at this time.

Nearly all of the voters at that time, ten or twelve in number, were present, and organized by electing judges and clerks as follows:  

Omund Nelson Opheim

Ole Johnson Skrein

C. P. Bolkan

John Hogenson

John Dahl

When the votes were canvassed C. P. Bolkan was elected to carry the returns across the open prairie, with no house within twenty miles on the trip, to the county seat located on the Red River about sixty miles away.  Mr. Bolkan carried the ballots in a wooden box and crossed the country on foot.

By John Hogenson
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First Settlers, Opheims

In the spring of 1879 Omund Nelson Opheim, together with three of his neighbors and his brother-in-law came to Dakota Territory to look for land.  Opheim had been farming in Iowa for several years.  He decided to settle near the Fort Totten crossing on the Sheyenne as river crossings were few and far between.  The men built Mr. Opheim's log house.  Logs were notched and fitted and no nails were used.  This was the first house in Griggs County known to have been built by a permanent settler.  In 1932 it was placed beside the courthouse in Cooperstown.

After the log house was built, the party returned to Iowa, by way of Mayville, there Mr. Opheim's brother-in-law located.

In the fall of 1879 Mr. Opheim, together with his wife, his son Nels, his daughter, Martha (Mrs. Gustav Olson) her husband, Mr. Olson, and their sons, Martin and Oscar, left Iowa in a covered wagon drawn by horses.  At Fargo their horses were sold and oxen bought, as more suitable for Dakota conditions.  They reached their log house on Section 12-146-58, (Washburn Township), September 20, 1879.
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First Post-Office

The first post-office in Griggs County was established in the summer of 1880.  It was located on Section 8-14758, later named Romness Township.  The post office was named 'Durham' and Frank Taper was appointed postmaster, with his sister, Mrs. Durham, as assistant.  That office was discontinued in a year or two and another post office called 'Lybeck' was established on Section 25, with Andrew C. Knutson as postmaster.  The mail was hauled from Newburg, near Hatton, and later a route was established from Valley City to Pembina.

While Mr. Taper was postmaster, he lived in the same house with Mr. Durham and his wife.  One evening during the summer, Mr. Taper and Mr. Durham had some trouble and according to Taper's story, Mr. Durham drove him off the place at the point of a gun, but he managed to take with him the contents of the post office, which consisted of a few letters.

Mr. Taper planned to take the post office down to Opheims but coming to John Hogenson's he was persuaded to leave it there.  The very next day, Mr. Durham and his wife, mounted on horses and each carrying a six-shooter arrived and as Mrs. Durham was assistant postmaster they agreed with them that she was the proper person to have it so the United States post office was moved back to the Durhams.  Mr. Hogenson related that he never saw Mr. Taper again.
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The Long and Narrow Settlement Along the Sheyenne River

Three Scotchmen, Alex Saunders, his brother-in-law, Alex Chalmers and John Atchison settled along the Sheyenne in what is now Sverdrup Township in 1880, coming from Pembina county.  Settling a little farther north were Elisha Fitch, Mathew Davidson and George Gullickson.  Section 2 in Sverdrup Township was the homestead of Ole P. Bolkan.

C. P. Bolkan, Amund Fluto, Ole Skrien, Ole Havig and John Torfin settled in what is now Washburn Township in 1880.  A little farther north was the homestead of Omund Nelson Opheim and his family who had come here in 1879.

North of Opheims in what is now Romness Township was the home of John Qualey and also that of Andrew C. Knutson.  Farther north in Romness, also coming in 1880, were John Hogenson and Ole Bjornstad Olson and his grown sons, Gilbert, Bernt, Martin and Theodore.  The Olsons came from Iowa as Mr. Opheim had done the previous year.
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Pioneer Pastors

Reverend Vaage, from the Goose River settlement, came into the Sheyenne River valley in the summer of 1880.  The first meeting was held at the home of Mrs. Anna Nelson, who had just built a small log house.  The sermon preached by him at that place was probably the first religious sermon ever delivered in what is now Griggs County.

In the fall of 1881 Reverend O. H. Aaberg, Reverend B. Harstad and three laymen traveled from the Goose River to the Mouse River.  On September 28, 1881 they came to the Sheyenne River valley and held services at the home of John Qualey on September 29.  Other pastors mentioned as having come over from the Goose River settlement were Reverend Gronlie, and Reverend O. C. Gronvold.

The first English language services of Griggs County were held in the farm home of R. C. Cooper in 1881, and were conducted by Frank M. Rockwell, a cousin of Mr. Cooper.  In the summer of 1881 the services were conducted by Reverend Rockwell in a large tent loaned by Mr. Cooper.  William Gimblett was another preacher at these meetings.  Other early Congregational pastors were Thomas Sims, Horace Payne James, George Frost, Edwin Shaw, Reverend During Charles Evans and Edward Keedy.

Reverend Omann held the first Methodist service at Mardell in 1882.  Other Methodist pastors were:  

W. Fisher

William Green

T. D. Collins

B. A. Burns 

W. L. Bennett

Oscar D. Purinton was ordained to the ministry in the Baptist Church.  He came to Dakota in 1882 and to Cooperstown in 1886, serving as pastor here for two years.  Reverend Purinton conducted the first service in the Hannaford Presbyterian Church in 1886.

Reverend I. L. Lundeby was a home missionary for the Lutheran Church, west of the Red River from 1882 to 1884.  He was instrumental in organizing a number of Lutheran congregations in Griggs County.

Reverend O. K. Quamme (or Kvamme) served as a Lutheran pastor in Cooperstown from 1886 to 1895.  He also served a number of other congregations in Griggs County.  Reverend E. T. Silness served the Lutheran congregation in Cooperstown from 1895-1904.

P. A. Thoreson was a Lutheran pastor at Hannaford from 1888 to 1921.
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GRIGGS COUNTY

Griggs County was named in honor of Captain Alexander Griggs, founder of Grand Forks, and closely identified with the earliest navigation on the Red River of the North.  The county was formed from parts of Traill and Foster Counties on February 18, 1881.  On June 10, 1882, the governor of the Territory appointed Allen Breed, Rollin Cooper and William A. Glines commissioners for the purpose of perfecting the organization of the county.  The county seat was at first located at Hope, but later moved to Cooperstown.  When the county was divided, Hope automatically came within the borders of Steele County.

The fight for the county seat was nothing short of sensational, being fraught with charges of armed robbery, assault, attempted kidnapping, ballot box stuffing, injunctions, court trials and numerous legal and, perhaps, illegal manueverings.  This colorful inter-county struggle is treated in another portion of this article.

Early settlements in Griggs County were located at Mardell, a once-promising town, which was the first to be platted and was located on the Sheyenne River about six miles northeast of Cooperstown.  What early day residents believed it would become - the Valley City of Griggs County - soon disappeared when railroad surveys failed to include it in their routes.

At Mardell a hotel was constructed known by the swanky name of the Park Avenue Hotel.  There was a store and also other buildings.  To the north of Mardell another neighborhood grew up.  It was known as Romness.  John Hogenson and Peter Mathison were among the first to come in 1880.  A post office was established there in 1883 with Mathison as postmaster.  Still another group had their homesteads on the northern part of the Sheyenne Valley.  This was known as the Ottawa community.  Among them was N. C. Rukke, one of the first county commissioners.  Their post office was established in 1882 with Isaac E. Mills, postmaster.  West Prairie was another pioneer group that settled in Northern Griggs.  Their West Prairie Church marks their location on the prairie west of the Sheyenne.  East of Red Willow Lake a settlement grew up known as the Willow settlement.

As early as 1882 and 1883 Griggs County had many settlers.  Through the center of the county the settlers were divided into two groups:  

one Lutheran, and the other one Catholic.  Members of each group evidently came from widely separated parts of Germany.  These hardy, industrious people were scattered quite generally in three or more Townships.  In the southern portion and, particularly in Sverdrup, were several Norwegian settlements.  There were also a few scattered pioneer families of Swedes as well as Danes, Irish, Scotch and Canadians.  But on the whole the Norwegian element predominated throughout the county.

With the establishment of Cooperstown in the early '80's this central Griggs County town was a source of supplies for the widely scattered settlers.  Later on such towns as Hannaford, Walum, Revere, Sutton, Jessie, Mose and Binford developed their individual communities.  These towns boomed shortly after the turn of the century and flourished for many years until periods of depression, better roads and transportation seemed to hasten the decline of some.

Construction of the Griggs County Court House was begun in late 1883 and the structure was completed early in 1884.  Its complete cost was about $30,000.  The first officers of this county as named by the first election were:  

Andrew Johnson, Sheriff

Byron Andrus, Judge of Probate

E. W. McCrae, Assessor

George W. Virgo, Coroner.  

The rest of the old officers were retained with the exception of constables and justices.  George W. Barnard was named Treasurer

Herbert P. Smart, Register of Deeds and County Clerk

John N. Jorgenson, Clerk of Court

Dr. Theo.  Kerr, Superintendent of Schools, and also Coroner

Fred B. Edwards, Surveyor.

Many and varied have been the tales that related the theft of the county records from Cooperstown in 1882 by parties from the rival town of Hope.  For many years there was much rivalry, and, we are sorry to state, much bitterness between the towns.  Time, however, has erased ~he hard feelings which once existed and a friendly spirit now prevails.  We can now look back on this bit of history with the smile and appreciation of its comedy relief.

As first organized, Griggs County included the western portion of the present Steele County.  The county seat contest was caused by rivalry between the two largest financial interests - the Red River Land Company, headed by Mr. Steele, founder of Hope, and the Cooper brothers.

After the election that named Cooperstown as the county seat Cooper deemed it wise to get the records to Cooperstown as soon as possible before the opposition could get an injunction and prevent moving of the books.  Accordingly the records were moved to Cooperstown and kept in charge of William Glass, deputy register of deeds, whose "office" consisted of 16 feet partitioned off of one end of Cooper's granary.  Besides Glass, two carpenters, John Houghton and Allen Pinkerton, stayed in the granary at night to guard the records until a courthouse was built.

Because of the election and the turmoil that resulted from transfer of the records Glass felt apprehensive about the situation when scouts with no apparent business came over a day or two before the theft and sized up the situation.  Glass' fears were substantiated when late one night the door was forced open and several men with drawn guns entered and over-powered the occupants.  The records were carried to the sleighs outside and the men ordered to dress and accompany the raiders.  Upon their refusal to do so an attempt was made to force them but giving this up the raiders departed.  By the time Glass and the carpenters were able to get to the Cooper ranch and sound the alarm the records were well on their way to Hope.

The trial of the alleged raiders was halted when Cooper and Steele agreed to a compromise, which eventually established the two counties as separate entities.
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Early Court House Officials

David Bartlett was a graduate of the law department at the University of Michigan in 1876.  He practiced law in Boulder, Colorado in the early 1880's.  In 1887 he located at Cooperstown.  He was a member of the state constitutional convention in 1889.  He was elected states attorney for Griggs County in 1892 and was elected Lieutenant Governor in 1900-1902-1904.  Frank Gladstone was associated with Mr. Bartlett in law practice in the early 1900's.  Mr. Barlett died October 16, 1913.

Will H. Carleton came to the present site of Cooperstown in 1882, took a pre-emption and later a homestead in Cooperstown Township.  In 1888 he established his residence in Cooperstown, was employed by the Gull River Lumber Company.  He also practiced law and in 1889 was elected county Judge of Griggs County, a position he held for 41 years.  Judge Carleton died in 1940 at the age of 87.

P. A. Melgard came to Griggs County in 1883 and entered the employ of the county as deputy under his old friend, Anton Enger.  He served as deputy treasurer, deputy auditor, deputy clerk of court and justice of the peace.  In 1889 he was elected county auditor, with only two interruptions in his terms until his retirement in 1935.  He passed away in 1938 at the age of 84.

Benjamin Tufte came to Cooperstown in 1897.  In 1898 was elected states attorney, re-elected in 1900 and in 1902.  He made a trip to Norway in 1904 and reelected states attorney in 1906.  Mr. Tufte died in 1936 at the age of 75 having served as states attorney for 24 years.

Gunder Frigaard came to Cooperstown in 1903 and a few years after arrival he was elected Clerk of the District Court, a position he held for 16 years.  Mr. Frigaard died in 1929 at the age of 65.

Dr. Theo.  F. Kerr was a graduate of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of New York City in 1874.  He taught school and was principal of schools before he practiced as a doctor in Michigan from 1874-1881, when he came to Griggs County.  Dr. Kerr was superintendent of Schools in Griggs County from 1882-1894.  He left Cooperstown in 1905.

Oscar D. Purinton was elected Clerk of the District Court at the first state election in 1889.  Mr. Purinton was born in New York State in 1843, and came to Dakota Territory in 1882 in search of health.  An ordained minister in the Baptist church he was not an aspirant for political favor but served as Clerk of the District Court for a number of years.
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Buffalo Bones

From the May 16, 1884 issue of the Courier it was evident that the pioneers received considerable revenue from gathering and selling buffalo bones.  This provided considerable cash, and purchases were eagerly made by stores at that time, as quoted in the Courier,  "A leading industry between seeding and the breaking season is the gathering of buffalo bones.  They are worth $9.00 in Cooperstown and dozens of teams are coming in every day loaded down.  An ordinary wagonload is worth $6.00."  In a later issue it was reported that two hundred fifty tons of buffalo bones had been purchased and were waiting shipment.  This represents bones from at least ten thousand animals.  The price had increased to $8.00 per ton.  Shipment was made at that time to Detroit, Michigan where the bones were ground into fertilizer.  By 1885, buffalo bones had increased in price to $13.00 per ton.  The Courier makes note of the fact that, "Mr. Syverson captured fifteen tons Monday and paid $13.00 per ton."  Later that year, the price increased to $18.00 per ton, and considerable competition existed between the merchants who had been out watching for incoming teams night and day to bid for their loads of bones.  According to tabulations in that paper, $6000.00 had been paid out in Cooperstown for buffalo bones with an estimated $2000.00 more that would be purchased before the end of the year.
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A Traveler's View of Griggs, 1881

In 1881 two pastors, Reverend O. J. Aaberg and Reverend B. Harstad, and three laymen made a missionary journey from the Goose River to the Mouse River.  Their purpose was to find Norwegian settlers who were said to have found land in the Mouse River country and to minister to them and any other Lutherans they encountered en route.

Pastor Harstad wrote an account of the journey, which began in September and took them through the northern part of what is now Griggs County, and on to Devils Lake and eventually the Mouse River.

The account tells of an early church service in Griggs County, mentions landmarks and contains a rare description of an Indian settlement in northern Griggs.

Published in For Hemmet in 1882, the account was translated from the Norwegian by Sigurd Reishus, Velva, North Dakota The full story of the missionary journey was published July 24, 1975 in the centennial edition of the Hillsboro Banner, Hillsboro, North Dakota

The following is an excerpt from the account:

Toward evening we approach Sheyenne Valley.  The traveler who has not been here before naturally begins to be on the lookout for timber along the Sheyenne, expecting to see it from a distance.  In the Red River Valley evidence of a river can be seen from a distance, but such is not true out here, so far northwest.

As one is moving ahead on these rolling prairies and begins to wonder how far it may be to the Sheyenne, all at once one finds oneself on the edge of a deep valley, in the depths of which a river winds southward with a belt of timber on both sides.  On the west side the country seems to be of the same description as on the east side, but at a distance of ten or fifteen miles farther west there loom up two large round buttes which can be seen from a great distance.  It is said that on the largest of these buttes an old Indian chief lies buried.  One of the new settlers at the Sheyenne started last summer to dig the old fellow up, but found nothing but dust - no gold.

The valley of the Sheyenne is about 250 feet deep, from one to two miles wide, with steep hills on both sides.

Here we part company for the night.  One wagon follows the road to Omund Opheim, who lives on Section 12, Township 146, Range 58, about 40 miles north of Valley City, and where the Northern Pacific Railway crosses the Sheyenne for the second time.  The other wagon cuts across to reach the home of Johannes E. Qvalle, a couple of miles north of Opheim.

Messengers must be sent out tonight, and early tomorrow morning to let the people know that divine services will be held at Qvale's tomorrow.

We reach our destination just before twilight and are welcomed with bright hospitality.

Many Norwegians live here in the valley, a long and narrow settlement following the river.  Many have also taken land on the prairie this last summer, but the land is not nearly as good as that in the valley.

The land around here had not been surveyed until many settlers had already taken possession.  This, of course, led to some funny results.  One man dug a cellar preparatory to building his house.  Along came the surveyors and set a Section stake right in the middle of his cellar with a huge mound of turf around it.  The unfortunate man was not allowed, of course, to tamper with the stake, which designated the exact corner of four quarter sections of land.

The weather is clearing and we are again entertaining hopes for agreeable weather for our journey.  It is getting along toward evening and soon we have located a spot at the edge of the timber where we intend to pitch our tents and stay for the night.  But here a man makes his appearance, who proves to be a new settler who has just erected his claim shack.  He tells us that if we drive a little farther we will come to a neighbor where, he is sure, we can get hay for our horses and we ourselves can get under roof.  Gladly we take his advice and soon find the neighbor, Rolf Johnson by name, from Dakota County, Minnesota.  He is building himself a neat little frame house, almost completed.  He offers us hay for our horses, tells us to prepare our food in his house, to take our clothes inside and make our beds.  Johnson is an upstanding young man who has found himself a good piece of land and is well content.

Before long an appetizing meal is ready.  The fresh meat and boullion were excellent.

We are now on Section 24, Township 148, Range 59.  We have driven about 12 miles since 3 o'clock.

Friday, September 30, we have fair, fine weather.  It was eight o'clock this morning by the time we had fed our horses, packed everything together and thanked our host for his kindliness and hospitality.  We continue our journey northward with the valley, meeting Norwegians every now and then.  At about 10 o'clock we arrive at Ole C. Olson's homestead, who runs a little store.

Since we have noticed that our appetites are very robust and may tax the resources of our chest of provisions we buy 50 pounds of flour and some extra ammunition.  We now have only a couple of miles more before we reach the big bend of the Sheyenne River in the southwest corner of Grand Forks County.  The land is still good.  At times the valley is quite broad, at other places very narrow.

By now we have passed the bend of the river and are approximately at the border of Grand Forks and Foster counties.  We make camp here by a little water at the edge of the woods.

We meet Norwegian settlers this afternoon too.  County, Iowa.  The valley is narrow here and there is considerable rock.  There is said to be excellent land on the prairies, all government land and none of it taken.

A little before sundown we have almost reached the camp of some half-breed Indians.  They have lived here for some years all alone and undisturbed, but are now surrounded by Norwegian settlers.  An arm of the timber projects out a little beyond the Indian camp and this is the place our captain chooses as our stopping place.  One of us walks off to the left for one of the miserable Indian huts to get, if possible, some information about our route.  Two of us are banging away at a flock of prairie chickens, but miss.  Visiting a "half-breed" camp such as this one must resist a strong inclination to run away, first because a pack of howling dogs run out to meet you, second, because a strong smell of skunk assails your nostrils.  Since the flesh of skunk is to them a real delicacy this stench is inseparable from the half-breed.  Judging from the numerous houses and tents there seem to be several families.  At the entrance of one of the houses sits an old fellow.  At his left stand some half-breed boys who stare.  Out of the small opening of the other dwellings peek many faces, all of them dark red.  As the visitors draw near the old man rises and gives a friendly greeting.  He is large and corpulent with an abundance of black, straight hair.  He speaks English fairly well, but in the French manner, animated and broken, but by his appearance he gives the impression of a real Sioux Indian.  His answers to the many questions put to him are prompt and intelligible.

He becomes no less animated when we present him with a large chew of tobacco, and we have a lengthy conversation.  By this time the rest of the Indians, large and small, have gathered around us and are devouring the visitor with open eyes.  Whether they find something peculiar about his person or about the questions he asks I do not know, but they seem sensible and rather good looking and their behaviour is respectful.  After having gathered a great deal of information the visitor leaves the Indian with the promise that we shall meet again on the way to Fort Totten.  He wants a chance to try our Winchester rifle.

A large share of the evening chores is done by the time one of the hostlers returns from his visit with the Red Men.  Shortly after two Indian boys arrive, wanting to sell us a dog, but we decline.  They bid us goodnight, we eat our supper, wash our dishes.  The moon comes up, faithful as always.  The weather is peaceful and quiet, the heavens are clear and they still can be seen the beautiful afterglow of a sun that has set.  The same old stars wink mildly at us, beckoning our thoughts to Lord Zebaoth.

We sit down around the campfire and light our pipes, and the captain calls for a report of the visit to the Indian camp, the gist of which is as follows:  

the old half-breed has lived a nomad life for 53 years, being born here, although he does not know just where.  In his youth he was a great hunter of buffaloes and a trapper and in the spring would journey with great loads of fur as far as St. Louis markets, returning in the fall.  He said there were plenty of buffalo around here as late as 12, 13 years ago.  Mouse River is about 40 miles distant, but he would not advise us to try the shortest way, which would be directly northwest, as we had planned.  We would be likely to encounter lowlands and water, which would be difficult to cross or encircle for anyone unacquainted with the country.  He advised us to go via Fort Totten, 33 miles distant, thence to follow the old Fort Totten and Fort Abercrombie road which runs north a little west of here.
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1888, Year of the Summer Frost

By T. T. Fuglestad

"There was a dry period in the spring of 1888, and the wheat that was seeded was nearly withered the first of June.  We soon got a nice rain, then a heat wave that made everything grow fast.  We then also had lots of rain in June and July.  It became cold and cloudy and the grain was very late.  In the middle of August a lot of the wheat was still in bloom.  On August 12 we were notified from St. Paul that we had to watch the wheat as a frost was predicted for North Dakota on the 16th of August, so we prepared the best we could.  We put hay and straw on the northwest side of the field, Jens Bull, my neighbor, and I worked together.  Between two and three o'clock in the morning we made a fire, but it was just like a drop in a bucket.  We then went over to our neighbor, Elling Johnson Froiland, to see what he thought of the frost.  We found him in the shanty making coffee.  It was so cold he needed a fire in his stove.  He gave us coffee and something to eat.  We lit our pipes (Jens used chewing tobacco) and took time about things.  We then went out and looked at the thermometer and it showed several degrees above freezing.  We didn't realize it was hinging on the outside wall from where the kitchen stove was.  We went to our homes with best of hopes."

"In the morning the wheat was frozen over all of North Dakota and northern Minnesota.  We will remember that Sunday morning when the sun thawed the frost from the fields.  This was a new experience in this strange country.  I had fooled myself to seed twelve acres of wheat in March.  I received No. 2 grade for my wheat, enough seed for myself and others.  The greater part of my crop froze.  This was quite hard for the new beginners as they were more or less in debt.  Some threshed a little for chicken feed, others burned their fields, some plowed and some ran a roller over them that flattened down the straw, and they plowed it.  I let mine stand until spring.  Then I would burn it and harrow it in.  I plowed just 12 acres.
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Winter of the Big Snow 1896-97

The winter of 1896-97 is often referred to as the winter of the big snow.  Pictures showing huge drifts on Main Street are usually from that winter.  The train to Cooperstown was snowbound for days and Ernest N. Johnson made six trips to Sanborn with a team of horses to get the Cooperstown mail, following the railroad tracks as the only road passable.  Winter came early as it began raining on the 28th of October and by the morning of the 29th a blizzard was raging.

Mrs. Andrew Brosten wrote home to Norway November 26, 1896 telling about one of the snowstorms that winter.  They lived on what is now the Maynard Jensen farm and the Vatne farm she writes about is now the Bill Clausen farm.

"Today and yesterday, what dreadful weather.  We cannot see more than a couple of drifts from the windows.  It is the worst snowstorm anyone has seen here.  Everything freezes so we dread the morrow.  It has been a struggle for the men to give the horses and cows a little hay and water they haven't had for two days and the pigs are snowed down completely.”

"Today, the 27th, just as bad, maybe worse.  They have tried to carry water for the cattle.  We think we will snow down or blow away, it storms so we are afraid the whole house will go.  We burn in the stove so it is red-hot and still we freeze.”

"Today the 28th it is calm and what a sight.  Einar laughed when he looked out as the snow was over the windows at Andrew Vatne's and the barn is barely visible for snow.  Here there isn't much snow around the house but in a deep valley below the house, yes, it is completely full so it is just level area to look at.  It is just impassable on all roads.  There are many that try to get to town but it is impossible with horses.  On many places there is 16 feet of snow in the road.  People are beginning to dread the long winter.  Many have not threshed yet and now this terrible frost so all our potatoes have frozen.”

"Today, the 30th, they have to dig a new well as where we watered before there is over 20 feet of snow.  Hans Haaland had to shovel snow into the house so he could get a little hole to crawl out.”

"It is now December 4th, we will try to get to town today but it snows as bad as ever.”
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Red Willow Lake

It has been said that Minnesota has 10,000 lakes and North Dakota 10.

Although Red Willow Lake in northwest Griggs County was not identified as a stopping-off place for transcontinental travelers in the nineteenth century, it was frequented by Indians before that time.  Several mounds are located near the lake.

Homesteaders took up land near the lake in the early '80s, and it quickly became a favorite recreation area for fishers, hunters, campers and picnickers.  The annual Fourth of July dance is now a tradition.  The first such dance was held in 1885.

Two men who saw the possibilities in a summer resort were Maynard Crane and Robert Cowan of Cooperstown.  Crane was in the lumber business and Cowan was Northern Pacific depot agent.  Mr. Crane owned nearly a thousand acres of land south and west of the lake.  He furnished lumber for Cowan to build, in 1900, the farmhouse on Section 13-148-61, south of the lake, which still stands, home of the present owners, Mr. and Mrs. William Haines.

Fred G. Lewis managed the resort in the 1920's, when Cowan moved back to Cooperstown.  In 1928, under Mr. Lewis' supervision, the foundation for the 100' x 60' pavilion was laid with lumber furnished by Mr. Crane.  The walls and roof were not finished for six years.  Dances were held once a week in the summer on the open floor, and gates surrounded the foundation.  Tickets were sold for ten cents a dance.

In 1929, T. Ledoux Cowan, son of Robert, settled on the lake farm and remained there 23 years.  Although he managed the resort for 17 years, his main occupation was farming.  He bought his father's share in the business and by 1946 owned controlling interest, with Mr. Crane owning the remaining 49 per cent.

Mr. and Mrs. William Haines bought the resort in 1946, and the farm in 1951.  In 1946 privately owned cottages numbered 19.  There are now more than eighty.

Red Willow Resort has one of the most popular baseball diamonds in North Dakota, with baseball and softball games scheduled several times a week all summer long.

There are weekly dances in the pavilion, as well as roller-skating.

Mr. Haines in 1963 bought a buffalo bull and three cows, which were the start of a herd, which now numbers more than 20.
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RURAL SCHOOLS

By Mrs. Theo.  (Marian Nelson)  Stone

On a day in early September children could be seen walking the country roads, carrying lunch baskets or shiny tin pails that had once been full of molasses.  Some who had far to go might have a pony or be brought in a car.

Their destination was the schoolhouse.  It was a white, box-shaped structure with rows of windows on the sides, and the American flag flying from rooftop or flagpole.

Getting together after the summer work and play was fun.  After a bit of chattering (girls) and scuffling (boys) the teacher would appear in the doorway, bell in hand, to call the students in for the first day of school.

Inside were the usual furnishings.  There would be an entry with hooks for outdoor clothes, a water cooler and a place to put the dinner pails.

There was a blackboard across the front of the room, with chalk and erasers.  Across the top of the blackboard was a display of the alphabet, big and small letters from A to Z, written in perfect Palmer penmanship.  There was a map case holding a set of maps to be pulled down for the study of Geography.

On the walls were pictures of Washington and Lincoln, a framed copy of the Ten Commandments, and perhaps the schedule of classes for the day.

Some schools were equipped with a Victrola or piano.

The teacher's oak desk was usually at the front of the room.  The children's desks were arranged in rows facing her.  At the front of each row were seats where the members of a class could sit for recitation.  In this way the teacher could discuss the lessons of the day and keep an eye on their desks.

With all grades from one to eight it took a lot of planning to keep them all too busy to start any mischief.  Morning and afternoon recesses were fifteen-minute periods when the students were allowed to play outside.  Some of the schools had swings, a giant stride or seesaws, but other activities were also popular, such as baseball, king of the hill, ante-i-over or drowning gophers.

When the bell rang they would come in, rosy-cheeked and puffing from their exercise in the fresh air, taking several minutes to settle down to their lessons.

These country schools were like a large family unit, with children ranging in age from 6 to 14.  In the hours they spent they learned more than reading, writing and arithmetic.  They had to learn to get along with one another, and to be resourceful and helpful.

The teacher was often young; not many years older than the eighth grade pupils.  The requirements for a teaching certificate were minimal.  Six weeks at summer school were enough to begin with.  But by following the prescribed course of study with the help of an understanding and helpful County Superintendent of schools the children were taught.

There were some hardships to be faced by the rural schoolteacher.  In a rainy fall and wet spring there was a lot of mud tracked in to be swept out by the teacher janitor.  In winter there were fires to tend after a cold walk to school.  There were sometimes emergencies to face, wounds to dress, and discipline to maintain.  Salaries were not high.

But when the years of teaching were done, that first week of September was hard to live through.  There was an irresistible desire to go out to that little schoolhouse, ring the bell, and greet them with a hearty, "Welcome back!  –
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Well-Known Names From Griggs County
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THOMAS R. AMLIE

Thomas R. Amlie was a longtime Wisconsin Progressive movement leader who served three terms as a United States Congressman, 1930, 1934 and 1936.  He later shifted to the Democratic Party and was a strong supporter of Franklin D. Roosevelt.  He was born at Cooperstown, a 1916 graduate of Cooperstown high school, died August 22, 1973.
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DAVID BARTLETT

David Bartlett was a graduate of the law department at the University of Michigan in 1876.  He practiced law in Boulder, Colorado in the 80's.  In 1887 he located at Cooperstown.  He was a member of the State Constitutional Convention in 1889.  He was elected states attorney for Griggs County in 1892.  He was elected Lieutenant Governor, in 1900-02-04.  Frank Gladstone was associated with Mr. Bartlett in the law practice in the early 1900's.
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EDWARD McDERMOTT

Edward McDermott, a 1915 graduate of Cooperstown high school is looked upon as one of the nation's outstanding tax experts.  Mr. McDermott, a native of Cooperstown, received a bachelor's degree from the University of North Dakota and his law degree from Harvard University.  McDermott is head of a large Chicago law firm and is also a director of several important corporations.
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GERALD P. NYE

Gerald P. Nye came to Cooperstown in 1919 to be editor of the Griggs County Sentinel-Courier, which was then owned by the Farmers Press Corporation, a group of Nonpartisan League farmers.  In 1925 he was appointed to fill the Senate seat left vacant by the death of Senator Edwin Ladd.  He served in the senate eighteen years and was of the most outspoken isolationists.

His investigations into the munitions industry, oil deals and Senate campaign expenditures brought him national prominence.

The activities of the Nye committee, which continued until 1936 strengthened isolationist sentiment and set the domestic background for the neutrality legislation of 1935, 1936 and 1937.

Nye was defeated for the Senatorship in 1944 by former governor John Moses.

As a resident of Cooperstown during the twenties,

Nye was particularly active in all community projects and a leader in civic development.

After his political career ended, he remained in Washington and established a business-engineering firm, microfilming files and records for business and governmental agencies.

He also served as a special assistant to the Federal Housing Authority on Housing for the elderly, from which he retired in 1963.  %4r.  Nye died in 1971 at the age of 78.
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MAYNARD CRANE

Maynard Crane launched the Crane Lumber Company in 1883.  He established the business for the Lenham Elevator and Lumber Company.  In 1885 he purchased their interest.  He conducted the business alone for 10 years when the firm was made Crane Johnson.  Mr. Crane served as state senator for three terms.  He died in Florida in 1949 at the age of 92.
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C. P. DAHL

C. P. Dahl came to Griggs County in 1912 and became actively engaged in farming.  He was an auctioneer and at one time operated a general store at Jessie and also an elevator at that Griggs County point.  He was elected to the North Dakota senate in 1939 where he served two terms.  He was then elected lieutenant governor serving two terms and he was again elected to the North Dakota Senate.  He served as Senator from Griggs County until 1951 when he resigned to accept the office of lieutenant governor, which he held until 1956.
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L. A. SAYER

L. A. Sayer was born in 1891 and moved to Cooperstown in 1929.  He formed the Northwest Credit Company, later to become the Farm Credit Company.  He was founder and president of the Farmers and Merchants Bank, Cooperstown.  Mr. Sayer was mayor of Cooperstown from 1942 to 1952, and served as Senator from the 16th district in 1953, 1955 and 1957 sessions.  He died in February 1975.
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P. H. COSTELLO

The late Patrick Henry Costello, who was pharmacist in Cooperstown and the town's mayor for four years, was a Cooperstown resident who received recognition in his profession.  His picture hangs in the new pharmacy building on the North Dakota State University campus in Fargo.  In 1942 he moved to Chicago.  He was associated with the National Boards of Pharmacy, the trustees of the United States Pharmacoepia, the council on Pharmaceutical Education, the National Association of Retail Druggists, the Chicago Drug and Chemical Club, the council on Pharmaceutical education and the National Drug Trade Conference.  He was given the title of Doctor of Pharmacy.  He received honoris causia in Pharmacy from the state college of Pharmacy and Science of Philadelphia, and a pharmacy degree from the Rhode Island College of Pharmacy and Science, and a degree from St. Louis College of Pharmacy and Allied Arts.
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Binford

HISTORY OF BINFORD

Binford was named in honor of RAY BINFORD, an attorney from Charles City, Iowa, who was employed by the D. S. B. Johnson Land Company.  He operated the first store in partnership with OSCAR GREENBAUM.  Originally the Binford town site was a flax field, sometimes called "Blooming Prairie,” owned by a pioneer homesteader, GABRIEL GABRIELSON.  The Johnson Land Company purchased his claim and in 1899, the Northern Pacific Railroad Company, having obtained right of way, extended their tracks through Binford.

In the fall of 1899 a lumberyard and a store were erected.  The Maurer Hotel was built in 1900, and in 1901 the first elevator was built.  In 1902 the First State Bank was organized, and in 1903, a local newspaper "The Binford Times" published by THEODORE CURRY began its existence.  Some of the business firms established from 1899 to 1906 were the Greenland Hardware Company (later known as Greenland and Pritz) a drug store, a meat market, two general stores, the Alfson Brothers' Hardware Store (which later became known as Hammer & Thinglestad Hardware), a restaurant, two pool-hall bowling alleys and a harness and shoe repair shop.  Two livery stables also served the area.

The blacksmith shop was especially essential business in the early day community, and the first blacksmith shop was opened by a MIKE BARABOO. OLAF QUAM, who later moved to Pekin, was also an early day blacksmith.  Others who served in this capacity were Martin Nelson, Ole Swenson and Fred Wallin.  CLINT WILSON operated the first dray line, and later it was taken over by Frank Rice.  Fred King was the first Standard Oil dealer in Binford, and for the first few years, he delivered oil from a horse-drawn tank.

The First National Bank of Binford was organized by Congressman J. H. SINCLAIR in June of 1906 and it became the First State Bank managed by L. A. Sayer of Cooperstown in 1954.  At the present time it is operated as the Binford station of the F&M Bank of Cooperstown.

Binford's first and only doctor was Dr. J. R. Truscott who arrived in 1902 and served continuously until his retirement in the 1950's.  For a brief period of time, DR. EMIL RINGLEE, a dentist, established an office and practiced in the 1920's.

Just after the turn of the century, another hotel known as the West Hotel was built by NELS NESS, but before long it ceased operating as a hotel and served as living quarters for various families as they moved into the community.  Later, as the automobile came into use, it was converted into a garage, and about the year 1921 it was purchased by JACK MOORE who razed it and built the brick building that is now the Edlund Motor Company.

The Binford School was built in 1908 after classes had been held in a small wooden structure for several years.

Its first high school graduation exercises were held in the spring of 1920.  In 1951 a gymnasium was built.  In the late fifties and early sixties the school district was reorganized to include the Townships of Addie, Bryan, Clearfield, Kingsley, Pilot Mound, Willow, and Rosendal.  A new elementary wing, library, offices, kitchen, cafeteria and band room was added to the older structure.

In 1915 the town established its own power plant, which continued in operation until it was sold to the Otter Tail Power Company in the late twenties.

Binford was incorporated as a village in April of 1906, so will be observing its 70th Anniversary the same year as our nation celebrates its bi-centennial.  As we recall the past, we will look to the future with the hope that our town will continue its good way of life for generations to come.

Many changes have come with the passing years.  Fire destroyed the two general stores, three elevators and two other buildings along Main Street.  The railway that brought the outside world to the community has discontinued into express and passenger service (postal service is now furnished by trucks.)  The oldest landmark, the Maurer Hotel, is being torn down at the present time, and the meat market was razed in 1975.  On the plus side, however, the Farmers Union has erected a cooperative on the site of Buccheit-Bakken store, and a Farmers Union Co-op has been in operation for several years.  A modern locker plant and meat market occupies the site of the old Ringlee & Sons store, and the welding shop built by Arne Goplen and bought recently by Rick Barclay.  The Trinity Lutheran church, which was built in 1907, was torn down several years ago and a beautiful new building replaces it.  The Lutheran Free Church also built an addition and modernized their facility.  Several new homes have been built in recent years and older homes remodeled.

Communication has been provided by the Griggs County Telephone Company since the early nineteen hundreds, and the news of the town was published in the Binford Times by Carl ("Irish") Peterson, after its purchase from the original owner, Theodore Curry.  Our news is published at the present time by the Sentinel Courier of Cooperstown.

Binford has always had a volunteer fire department and a new fire hall was built on the site of the Nelson Blacksmith shop.  Then, too, in recent years water and sewer plants have been installed and several of the streets have been hard-surfaced.
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Entertainment in the Early Days

Before the day of hard-surfaced roads and easy travel by automobile, the pioneer town was the center for the educational and social life of the townspeople and farmers of its trade area.  In Binford, the "Opera House,” built soon after the town was established, was the focal point of many of these activities.  Here were held the dances attended by both the young and the not so young - masquerade dances on Halloween night, a Washington's Birthday ball, or a gala event for a presidential election night, when election returns were posted on a bulletin board and excitement ran high.  Here, too, were staged "home talent" plays, school programs and basket socials.  For many years it served, also, as a movie theater during the era of the silent film, and as a gymnasium for both independent and high school basketball games.

During the summer months Binford's baseball team drew huge crowds of spectators to cheer or boo, as the case might be.  The grandstand is gone, but the baseball park is there to remind those who remember, of the players on the team.  They recall names like Fred Lewis, Albert ("Ding") Ringlee, Oscar ("Rabbit") Alm, Harold ("Hod") Ehlers, Oscar Greenland, Albert and Henry Alfson, Carl ("Irish") Peterson and Gulliver Peterson.

Midsummer was the time for an annual "Market Day" celebration, when the band, under the direction of Ole Brodshaug, led the parade to open the festivities.  Activities consisted of races of all kinds, baseball, and softball games, a tug of war, and just plain socializing with the neighbors.  The day ended with a dance at the Opera House.
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Bethany Lutheran Free Church

A group of people began getting together for worship and prayer in various homes in the Binford area in the late eighties under the leadership of Reverend Ole Swenson.  Reverend Swenson was at the time serving churches in the McVille area.  Homes mentioned mostly in his Ministerial Book as meeting places were those of Tollef Tweed, Eric Watne, Gabriel Gabrielson (Gilbertson), Erik Jacobson, K. J. Tufteland, Eric Ommedal, Swensons, Red Willow and Rorvig schoolhouses.

The Bethany Evangelical Lutheran Congregation was organized at the Erick Jacobson home January 1, 1901 with the following charter members:  

Mr. and Mrs. Tollef Tweed and five children:  

1. Wilhelm, 

2. Lars Gustav

3. Alfred

4. Carl

5. Dena

Mr. and Mrs. Eric Watne and five children:  

1. Edwin

2. Lise

3. Gerda

4. Gunhild  

5. Bertha

Mr. and Mrs. Gabriel Gilbertson and six children:  

1. Sven

2. Gilbert

3. Sina 

4. Mary 

5. Olive 

6. Emma 

Mr. and Mrs. Lars Ulledal and five children:  

1. Martha

2. Gustav

3. Anna

4. Reinhart

5. and Clarence

Jorgen Pederson (Sina Gilbertson) and Inga

Willis T. Tweed

Mrs. Kari Thune

Knudt, Emma, Karoline and Christine.  Other familiar names of the early 1900's are:  

Falla

Siverson

Knudt Oien's

Gustafson

Ramsfield

 Bolstad

Overby

Hetland

Goplin

Grove and Gudmundson.

After the church was built they continued to meet in the homes (where it was always good and warm) for Ladies Aid, Mission work, confirmation classes, prayer meetings and business meetings.

The Bethany church is located on Lots 17 and 18 in the City of Binford.  The bell in the steeple was a gift to the congregation from Mrs. Kari Thune, a very faithful church member.

Sunday School picnics and other special occasions were usually held by Jessie Lake, quite a gathering place in those days.

The first baptism recorded after organization was that of Albert Stromme on January 22, 1901.  Also that year was Clara Ulledal and Thoralf Tweed.

The first marriage was that of Mary Gilbertson to Anton Miller at the bride's home, on November 14, 1901.

The first funeral was that of Bertina Ramsfield.

The first confirmation was December 7, 1902 with four members:  

Alfred and Carl Tweed, Edwin Watne, and Olive Gilbertson.  One member of this class is still living, Edwin Watne, who lives together with his wife in Glenfield, North Dakota

Some families of the north end of the county decided to start another congregation:  

Bethlehem -Willow, as distance was a hindrance in those days.  They organized in July of the same year at the Gabriel Gabrielson home.  Charter members were the K. J. Tufteland family, Erick Jacobson and family and the Eric Ommedal's.  At their second meeting, they were joined by Mr. and Mrs. Anton Miller, the Emil and Peter Miller families.  They continued to share pastors with Bethany until November 17, 1959, when they accepted the invitation of Bethany to join with them.  The following pastors have served the congregation:

Reverend O. Swenson
January 1, 1901-November 19, 1911 

Reverend L. M. Halling
March 1, 1912-November 15, 1933

Reverend Ingvald Norum
July 1, 1935-December 1, 1938 

Reverend John Loland
April 1, 1939-August 31, 1947 

Reverend George Melby
March 21, 1948-til fall of '49 

Reverend M. E. Helland
October 5, 1950-June 5, 1960 

Reverend Oscar Johnson
February 1, 1960-Dec., 1962 

Reverend Ernest Langness
December 1, 1963-July 1, 1971 

Reverend Kenneth Anderson
Aug., 1972 -

During vacancies we have had the services of several pastors from the Zion Lutheran Brethren Church of Cooperstown and others.  The past two summers, our pastor has been assisted by Seminary students - namely Timothy Skramstad of Valley City, North Dakota and Dean Casselton of Mound, Minnesota

Bethany is still a very active congregation concerned for the salvation of souls and is affiliated with the Association of Free Lutheran Congregations.
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The Binford Gospel Tabernacle

In 1934 several meetings were held at Red Willow Lake, conducted by Reverend A. Selness.  These meetings led to the formation of a group of believers who desired the formation of a full gospel church in Binford.  The group bought the building that had been the print shop for the weekly newspaper known as "The Binford Times.”  Reverend Selness was called to be the first pastor.

The former print shop was enlarged in the fall of 1935 and was formally dedicated to the Lord's work in May 1936.  Reverend Herman Johnson, then District Superintendent, gave the dedication sermon.

Several pastors served the church in the years that followed:  

Reverend Harold Byram

Mrs. Emma Wilson

Reverend Lloyd Jorgenson

Miss Mildred Anderson and Reverend L. Clyde Meyer.  

While Reverend Meyer was pastor, the former Martin Knapp home, was purchased.

Reverend Wells Gage followed Reverend Meyer.  At that time the Sunday school was officially organized.

Reverend Lloyd Englar was the next pastor.  He never moved to Binford, but drove down from his home in Devils Lake each Sunday.  At this time the local church became affiliated with the national Assemblies of God.

Following Reverend Englar, Reverend Ted Johnson served as pastor for one year, succeeded by two supply pastors, Reverend Henry Goldsack and Reverend Peter Podruchney.  Reverend Vernon Lass was called as pastor in 1955.  During that time the church was given the opportunity to trade buildings with the local American Legion.  The transaction was completed and the first service in the newly acquired building was held on April 22, 1956.

In 1957, Reverend J. D. Risk came from Minneapolis to pastor the church and he continues in that capacity.  Reverend and Mrs. Risk and family minister with love and concern to many community needs as well as to their own church.

The church has always been missions-minded and gives partial monthly support to several missionaries who serve in various parts of the world.

In 1959 the Binford Women's Missionary Council was organized with Mrs. Risk as the first president.  This is a part of a national organization and each group contributes clothing and other needs to missionaries and their families.

The young people are also part of a national group known as the Boys and girls Missionary Crusade.  The monthly offerings are used to print or purchase Bible literature to be distributed to children in foreign lands.

All through the years the group of believers has sought God's help and guidance and He has sustained this "light house" which has been a source of blessing to many.
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Independent Order of Odd Fellows

A benevolent and charitable fraternal organization with high moral principles seeking to aid and improve the life of good men.  Much of their philosophy was to aid and protect its members, with visiting the sick, aiding the distressed, educating the orphan and burying the dead.  Throughout the years they have established over 60 retirement homes for the aged and orphans throughout the United States and Canada.  It is a worldwide organization having one sovereign leader.  Lodges can be found in every continent of the world with a total membership of over one and a half million.  It is the only fraternal society allowed by the United States Army to hold Memorial Services at the tomb of the Unknown Soldier in Arlington Cemetery.  It supports and sends many young high school students every year to the United Nations.

The Independent Order of Odd Fellows came to the United States with immigrants from England and was established at Baltimore, Maryland in 1819, through the efforts and leadership of Thomas Wildey.  It spread over the North American continent with a Grand Lodge being established in North Dakota in 1890.  This organization came to Griggs County at Cooperstown in 1892, when men who were members of the Order, migrated to this area from various parts of the country.  Lodge was instituted in Cooperstown, North Dakota, February 4, 1892 by Albert Herrick, Grand Master from Lisbon, and John Purcell, Grand Secretary.  Charter members were:  

Ed Nierenberg

Theo. Nierenberg

Marion Ruggles

George Virgo and Herman Huselgall (being members of Valley City Lodge No. 6)

John Cain and Lewis Ruggles from Wisconsin

and the Lodge became known as Cooperstown Lodge No. 37.  Many of these early comers to this area had come and worked on the famous Cooper Ranch.  On this night of institution 28 candidates joined and later in the year 20 more became members.  The membership held an average of around 50 until during World War I, when it started to decline down to seven in 1928.  The charter was picked up in 1939.  The names on the old records were hard to make out, but some of the members were:  

A. B. Stewart

P. A. Melgard

Anton Christianson

George Adams

James Sinclair

Oscar Greeland

Charles Houghton

O. S. Gunderson

William Adams

W. J. Payne

L. C. Hazard

Ray Vogen

Robert Bailey

Ben Tufte

Melvin Bemis

George Hartman

Lewis Brown

Alf Langford

Martin Wold

Fred Bein

H. S. Rearick

John Fredrickson

Nels Bergstrom

Harold Brown

Oscar Hoff

John Wallbridge

Nels Moe

Swen Olgaard

Alfred Bolkan

Dr. Winslow

Freeman Bolkan

Ben Killeran

P. K. Moe

Carl Fredrickson

S. A. Rekedal

A. M. Detwiller

A. G. Hoel

G. B. Edmondson

C. H. Bennett

P. R. Trubshaw

P. E. Nelson

A. M. Sinclair

J. N. Syverson

E. E. Downe

F. D. Williams

Dave Sinclair

Peter Idsvoog

J. L. and Wilmot Houghton

J. A. McCullough

A. F. Thompson

J. H. McDermott

E. W. Blackwell.

It is interesting to note that in 1927: 

· Ben Tufte was a Noble Grand (president)

· George Adams, Vice Grand

· Andy Hoel, secretary

· George Hartman, treasurer

Cooperstown also had a woman's branch, the Rebekahs in Evergreen Lodge No. 8.

As the years went by Lodges were instituted at Binford and Sutton.  On March 30, 1903 a Lodge was instituted in Binford known as Lodge No. 77, with Wilmot Houghton, District Deputy Grand Master, in charge and assisted by members of the Cooperstown Lodge No. 37.  Charter members were:  

O. S. Gunderson

Ray Vogen

Oscar Greenland

R. R. Raymond 

G. B. Mansfield

That night 18 candidates were initiated.  Fred Lewis being the first, he lived to enjoy the 65th anniversary of the Binford Lodge as well as his continuous membership in it.  Some of the early members were:  

Gust Evers

Dr. Truscott

Martin Knapp

Henry Asmus

John Asmus

Nels Thune

Ben Nelson

John Knapp

Knute Rogney

A. Norstrum

E. M. Jackson

John Mustad

Joe Buchheit

Martin and Knute Norswing

J. A. McCullough

C. J. Krogfoss

Albert Shaw

J. Herlick

Andrew Dahlin

H. A. Brown

Oscar Idsvoog

Albert Ringlee

Herman Osen

Milton Grigsby

L. P. Larson

D. F. Rice

Harold Ehlers

Knute Thune.

The Binford Lodge continued to grow and had a membership of 70 in 1946, however due to the various modernization of the times and people's interest started to decline and now in 1975 the membership is 28.  At the present time Kenneth Edlund is Noble Grand and William Phelps Jr., Secretary- Treasurer.

Binford Lodge has produced several Grand Lodge Officers, namely:  

E. M. Jackson, L. P. Larson, Fred Lewis and William Phelps Jr.

Wildrose Rebekah Lodge No. 67 of Binford for the ladies and men was instituted in 1909 with the following charter members:  

Bertha Greenland

M. Moodie

Emily Reid

Emma Vangen

Oscar Greenland

Bella Lewis

Allie Evers

Martha Gunderson

E. M. Jackson

Clara Brown.  

Clara Brown is still living and is affiliated with the Griggs County Telephone Company in Cooperstown.  Present officers include: 

Dorothy Bjornson

Hazel Alm

Winniefred Goplen

Viola Edlund 

Thelma Graving

Hazel Alm also has served as State President of the Rebekah Assembly of North Dakota.

No organization is successful without the help of the ladies, and they have proved themselves very useful and helpful in keeping the Odd Fellows Lodges going all over the jurisdiction.

Binford Trinity Ladies Aid

The Trinity Ladies Aid was first organized in the year 1901 at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Martin Knapp.  Reverend E. T. Silness presided and led in devotion.  Mrs. Martin Knapp was elected first president of the aid.

On January 19th in the year 1905 the society was reorganized at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Krogfoss.  Reverend Dybvig presided at the meeting and led in devotion.  The charter members were:  

Mrs. Martin Knapp

Mrs. Ole Krogfoss

Mrs. Oscar Greenland

Mrs. Steve Rorvig

Mrs. Dybvig

Mrs. Albert Alfson

Mrs. Henry Alfson

Mrs. Ole Alfson

Mrs. Norstrum

Mrs. John Vangen

Mrs. Thorvald Dahl.  

The following were elected officers at this meeting:  

Mrs. Ole Alfson
President

Mrs. Dybvig
Vice President

Mrs. Steve Rorvig
Treasurer

Mrs. Oscar Greenland
Secretary

The officers were to serve for one year.  The aim of the society was to help pay the expenses of the church and to help in general with all the affairs of the church.  They met every three weeks on Wednesday afternoons.  The meetings were conducted by the minister who also led in devotion.  At the meetings all the ladies were busy sewing, knitting, and making articles to be sold at the annual sale for the purpose of raising money for the church.  The sale was held in connection with the annual supper, which usually was held in the fall of the year.  This was served at the hall downtown, as they had no other place large enough to accommodate the crowd.  This of course meant an enormous lot of work.  Every member had to haul her table, chairs, dishes, stove, work table, pots and pans, tablecloths, yes, even the wash boiler and tubs down to the hall.  It seemed as though they almost emptied their homes.  Not having things convenient just doubled the work.  But these good pioneer women worked with great ambition and enthusiasm, not lagging behind nor shirking their duties in anything they thought was the for good of the church.  There was so much to be done and it was up to them to do it.  They served the whole town and community on these occasions, which brought in considerable sums of money.  The aid also held ice cream socials once in awhile during the summer months.  This also brought in some extra money.

During the first years there were dues to pay.  Each member paid $3.00 per year.  Later they changed this, each member to pay 250 at each meeting whether present or not.  This was not found to be very satisfactory either so all dues were dispensed with.

After the church was built the Ladies Aid helped to fix up the interior.  Pews were purchased by the Aid.   The organ, piano, altar statue and pulpit were also bought and paid for by the aid.

In 1920 a full basement was built under the church.  This was also paid for entirely by the Ladies Aid.  It has also been furnished by the Aid.  The ladies had for many years looked forward to having these spacious rooms where they could have their regular meetings and other social doings.  Since this was erected the aid has sponsored several silver weddings, receptions, bridal showers, and farewell parties.

In 1924 the whole interior of the church was redecorated.  This was also paid for by the Aid.  A new furnace was installed a few years later.  The Aid was asked to help pay for this, which they gladly did.

The Trinity Ladies Aid has been growing steadily until at present it has a membership of 43.  Two of the charter members, namely:  

Mrs. Steve Rorvig and Mrs. Albert Alfson are still active members.  The English language is now used entirely in conducting the meetings and devotions.  This change was made about five years ago.  Prior to that the Norwegian language was used to a great extent especially by the minister during the devotional period.  They are continuing the good work started by these pioneer women, doing everything in their power to help beautify the church, help pay minister's salary and budget.  They are always ready when called upon to do any service for the church and glad to know they are in the service of His kingdom.
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Settlers

OLAV ALFSON

Olav Alfson was born in Vinje, Telemark, Norway on May 5, 1850.  He became a proficient skier in Norway where he participated in skiing competitions and won some awards.  He continued to ski throughout his entire life.  He even skied for mail and groceries during the last winter that he lived.  He made his own skis and also made skis for his children, grandchildren and friends who so desired.

Olav came to Farmington, Minnesota in 1868.  He married Kari Osmundson at Farmington on February 6, 1873.  Kari was also a native of Vinje, Telemark where she was born on July 15, 1854.  They had three children:

1. Albert

2. Ingeborg

3. Henry - before leaving Farmington.

In 1881 the Alfsons moved to Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County to homestead.  Wife, Kari, with the three children boarded a passenger train while Ole went with their possessions on an emigrant train.  Kari was bound for Mayville, North Dakota.  When she disembarked at her destination, she found herself and children at the end of the unfinished railroad three miles from Mayville.  She started for Mayville on foot.  With the help of a youth, they reached a shack one half mile from Mayville.  They stopped to rest and were offered lodging until the emigrant train would arrive, which was three weeks later.

When the Alfsons had unloaded their possessions, Olav drove the transport wagon with the load, and Kari, with the children, drove the covered wagon.  They felt wealthy with two teams of horses, two wagons, plus a plow and supplies to set up farming and a home.

Arriving at their wooded homestead near the Sheyenne River, Olav cleared the land and built a log cabin.  They were given housing at the Rollef Johnson home until the cabin was complete.

The next spring Olav set out for Mayville to replenish the food and other supplies.  Seventeen- year- old Ole Rue was to do the farm chores during his absence.  While he was gone, the spring flood came.  On Easter morning, the river had risen so high that Kari found one foot of water in the house.  Ole Rue carried stumps and laid planks across the floor.  Kari managed enough fire for a scrambled egg breakfast while the children were kept in bed.  Young Rue swam to the barn and brought the stock to safety.

Ole, in the meantime, hastened for home but found the Goose River crossing washed out.  Undaunted, he unloaded the wagon, swam the horses, made makeshift oars and rowed supplies across in several trips.  He found the family safe at neighbor Odegard's.

The first year potatoes were planted under a sod furrow.  The flattened appearance of the potatoes due to the hard soil were the brunt of many a family joke.

In 1881, the Alfsons moved up on higher ground four and-a-half miles to the western edge of Pilot Mound Township.  This was obtained by pre-emption.  A log cabin was built and soon a stable and a blacksmith shop.

That spring it was so dry that the wheat did not sprout.  Discouraged, they decided to go back to Minnesota.  Then the rains came and their wheat became a bumper crop.  When the Alfsons heard the good news, they returned to harvest it and decided to stay in North Dakota.

The central location, hospitality shown, and good size of the cabin, made their home a social, church and parochial center.  Neighboring children were kept so they could attend parochial school.  Teachers stayed there.  The pastor held confirmation classes and stayed over for Sunday services in this home.  In a few years a school was built east of the Alfson farm.  Here church services were held until West Prairie Church was organized, and built on two acres of land donated by Ole Alfson one-half mile east of his home.

Several years later this farm was chosen as a suitable location to bring mail out from Cooperstown.  It was named the Cottonwood Post Office and son Albert became the postmaster.  Olav stocked coffee, tobacco, sugar, flour and other supplies to help his neighbors in their regular weekly visits to the post office.

The Alfsons had three more children:  

1. Alfred died in infancy, 

2. another Alfred

3. a daughter, Ruth.

The Alfsons retired from the farm in 1904 and built a home in Binford where they lived until their deaths.  Olav lived until 1931 and Kari died in 1932.

They remained active members of the West Prairie Church where they were charter members.  They are buried in the West Prairie cemetery where they were contributing members.
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ALBERT ALFSON

Albert Alfson was born to Olav and Kari Alfson in 1877 near Farmington, Minnesota.  He came with his parents to Pilot Mound Township in 1881.  Here he grew to manhood.  He was postmaster of Cottonwood Post Office at his parent's home for several years.

In 1904 Albert married Alpha Thinglestad.  They filed a claim north of Binford, and when their residency time expired, moved into Binford and built a home.  Albert, with his brother Henry, set up a hardware and machine dealer partnership as the Alfson Brothers.  Later they sold out to J. C. Thinglestad.  Albert stayed on, farmed on the outskirts of Binford, and built a house in south Binford.  Henry moved back to the home farm in Pilot Mound.  Albert continued with his farming and in addition operated three custom traveling threshing machines complete with crew, teams, cook cars, and cooks.

In spite of his busy farm life, Albert was a regular on the Binford baseball team.  He and his wife Alpha were charter members of Trinity Lutheran Church of Binford.  They each held various offices in the church and Ladies Aid and sang in the church choir.  Mrs. Alfson was church organist for more than thirty years and directed a men's choir and youth choir for some years.

The Alfsons lived in Binford until their deaths.  Albert died in 1956 and his wife Alpha passed away in 1957.

They had five children:  

1. Evelyn (Mrs. Hopley) of Devils Lake

2. LeRoy of Binford

3. Bernice (Mrs. Glen Broten) of Valley City

4. Hillard (deceased) and 

5. Elaine (Mrs. Russel Anderson) of McVille.
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INGVALD AARESTAD

Ingvald Aarestad's parents were Endre and Anna Aarestad.  They lived near Cooperstown, North Dakota.  Mrs. Ingvald (Ida) Aarestad's parents were Carl and Marie Berg.  They lived west of Hannaford, North Dakota.

Ingvald and Ida Aarestad and family lived in Binford for several years.  They also lived in Cooperstown.  Later they moved to Everett, Washington.

Mr. and Mrs. Aarestad were the parents of five daughters:  

1. Marian (Mrs. Orville Bakken) of Northwood, North Dakota

2. Eileen (Mrs. Olaf Jorde) of Northwood, North Dakota

3. Evelyn (Mrs. Alvin Miller) of Binford, North Dakota

4. Carol (Mrs. Howard Stromme) of Brainerd, Minnesota 

5. Esther Delores who passed away at three months of age.

Ingvald Aarestad passed away in 1954.  Mrs. Aarestad is presently living with her daughter, Mrs. Orville Bakken, in Northwood, North Dakota.
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MR. AND MRS. HANS A. ALM

Hans Alm, an early day resident of Binford, North Dakota was born in 1864 and emigrated to the United States in 1885.  Settling at Watson, Minnesota, he married Anne Kanten in the spring of 1890, and he and his family resided there until moving to North Dakota in May of 1903.  Settling first at McHenry, they moved to Binford in September 1905.

Mr. Alm was a painter and paperhanger and most of the homes and business places that were built as the town grew bore the mark of his handiwork.  He also served as janitor of the local school from the time it was built until his death in the fall of 1931

.

Mr. and Mrs. Alm were the parents of eleven children, three of whom died in infancy, and a fourth who was fatally burned in a store fire soon after the family came to Binford.  Mrs. Alm died in 1957 after making her home with a daughter in Binford during the later years of her life.
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THE OSCAR ALM FAMILY

Oscar Alfred Alm and Hazel Jean Maurer Alm were married in Binford on June 24, 1920.  Oscar was born on January 20, 1893 and Hazel on September 2, 1898 and resided all of their adult lives in Binford and Griggs County.  Oscar served in the United States Marine Corps during World War I, returning to Binford after his service.  Until his death on December 8, 1951, he was a rural mail carrier in Binford.  

As a youth and in early manhood, he was an amateur baseball player with Binford teams and was affectionately known as "Rabbit.”  He maintained an active interest in sports all of his life and was always a supporter of the Binford Eagles, driving the team to many of their games.  He was instrumental in the support for the gymnasium and spent many hours working on that project.  

As a mail carrier, he once appeared on a national radio program, "RFD America," because he was one of the few mail carriers in the United States who served his patrons from the air, as he did for some of the later winters of his career.

Hazel literally grew up with Binford since her parents were some of the very first settlers of that community.  For many years of her life, she worked actively with Dr. J. R. Truscott as he ministered to the sick of the Binford area.  Many are the tales she can tell of midwinter visits to farms and homes of the Binford community in the company of this prairie doctor to whom so many owed their lives.  Always active in every facet of community life, she worked with church and school.  Her "white cakes with sour cream frosting" were always in evidence at church suppers, school picnics or wherever good food was being served.

Both Oscar and Hazel were active members of fraternal organizations, Oscar in the Oddfellows and Hazel in the Rebekahs.  Hazel served as state president of the Rebekahs and traveled throughout North Dakota during her term of office.  She still retains friendships with many people in that organization.

To the union of Oscar and Hazel Alm, two sons were born:

1. Kent, born May 29, 1928

2. Ross, born November 7, 1922

 Both boys received their education in Binford schools and both were active on Binford athletic teams and in dramatic and declamation events in Binford and Griggs County.

Both served in the Armed Forces in and shortly after World War II with Ross a navigator in the Army Air Corps and Kent in the Quartermaster Corps of the Army.  After service, both returned to North Dakota for their education at the University of North Dakota with Ross graduating in 1948 and Kent in 1951.  After teaching for a short time, Ross was recalled back into the Air Force and served a full career, retiring in 1968.  Most of his second term of service was spent in several capacities at the Air Force Academy.  He received a Ph.D. degree from the University of Denver and is presently the Director of Admissions at Mankato State College in Minnesota.  He married Mary Branson of Missouri in 1944.  Three daughters were born to them:

1. The oldest, Barbara, spent a little time in Binford.  she died in 1972.  Janet is married and living in Wisconsin.  Bonnie is living at home and attending college.

Kent was also recalled into the Army for a short period in the early 1950's but returned to civilian life.  He received his Master's Degree from North Dakota State University and his Ph.D. from the University of North Dakota.  He taught in schools in South Dakota and California and later was a professor and Director of Summer Sessions at University of North Dakota.  He also was on the staff of Mankato State College, serving as Academic Vice President, Executive Vice President, and for one year as Acting President.  He has recently accepted a position as Director of the Center for Planned Change of the American Association of State Colleges and Universities in Washington, D. C. Kent married Jane Russell of Alabama in 1952.  A girl and two boys were born to them.  Mary Jane is a junior at MSC, Steven has just finished high school and Kevin is in grade school.

With Hazel still residing in Binford, the whole family has retained close ties with the community.  Both Kent and Ross are frequent visitors, particularly during hunting season.  "White cake with sour cream frosting" still has a particular pull for them.
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OLE K. BAKKEN

How do you write the story of a man who died when you were seven years old, had no relatives in America and was a quiet, unassuming person?

Well, you reach back as far as you can in your memory, you seek information from any who knew him and you search through old county records for facts and dates.  Then, hopefully, you come up with a story of two people that will be a source of pride and comfort to their descendants.

Ole K. Bakken was born in Seljord, Telemarken, Norway, on November 27, 1860.  Coming to America in 1880, he stayed in Stoughton, Wisconsin, for three years.  He came to Griggs County in 1883, proved up on a quarter of land in Bryan Township, establishing a tree claim there on the SE quarter of Section 24 on May 4, 1895.  He also acquired portions of 3, 4 and 5 later.

The name Bryan was suggested for this Township by Mr. Bakken because of the great respect and admiration he had for William Jennings Bryan, the "Great Commoner," an important national figure at the time.  The Township was officially created on August 13, 1900 upon petition signed by 22 persons.  Some years later when Mr. Bryan spoke in Cooperstown he expressed pleasure at the honor accorded him.

In 1899 Mr. Bakken was appointed Deputy County Treasurer under A. S. Berg.  Then in 1900 Mr. Bakken was elected to the office of County Treasurer, a position held through 1904.

He became a partner in a general store in Binford in 1906, which was called the Buchheit-Bakken Store.  He was given the work of being bookkeeper and treasurer.  He possessed a talent of unusual mathematical ability.  Long before the day of adding machines he could take a column of four-digit numerals, add them, doing the "carrying" and totaling in a single mental operation.  This store was destroyed by fire in 1922.

The year 1906 was a memorable one for another reason.  It was the year of his marriage.  His bride was a Minnesota girl, Dorthine Myron, who was born in Goodhue County, near Zumbrota, on September 8, 1885.  She was one of nine children born to Svert and Dina (Davidson) Myron who had come from Tronhjem, Norway.  The large family was quite poor and this daughter had to quit school and begin working for others when she was only eleven years old.

Dora Myron came to North Dakota in 1904 because her cousins, Daffin and Albert Goplen were here.  She found employment as a hired girl, working for Mrs. August Evers of Binford.  Mrs. Evers had a large house and she rented rooms and furnished meals to various single people.  Mr. Bakken was one of these, and he wooed and won the hand of the hired girl.  Her wonderful cooking and baking abilities were appreciated by him, you can be sure!  They were married at Red Wing, Minnesota on November 27, 1906.

This couple became the parents of four children:  

1. Clarence, who inherited his father's love of gardening, who served in World War II and passed away in 1971

2. Thelma, who is Mrs. Rudolph Helland and lives on a farm in Addie Township

3. Esther, who is Mrs. Carl Olson and lives near Wadena, Minnesota

4. Oliver, who has lived in California for thirty-one years and now spends his summers in the old family home at Binford.  His wife is the former Helen Koloen.

Ole Bakken passed away on April 7, 1918 from pneumonia brought on by returning to his work at the store before he had sufficiently recovered from a serious case of the mumps.

Mrs. Bakken passed away on March 2, 1964 at the McVille Rest Home where she had resided for a short time.

The Bakkens had 7 grandchildren:  

1. Lou Olson, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 

2. Joan Bakken Greenwood, Moore, Oklahoma, 

3. Janell Bakken, Los Gatos, California, 

4. Arden Helland, Baltimore, Md., 

5. Dr. David Helland, Chicago, Illinois, 

6. Lowell Helland, Jackson, Minnesota, and 

7. Karen Helland Nordvall, presently in New Guinea.
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MR. AND MRS. JOSEPH BUCHHEIT

Mr. Buchheit was born on May 2, 1854, at Waterloo, Canada.  From there he moved to Indiana, where he attended school, later completing his education in a college at Kitchener, Ontario, Canada.  Going back to Mishawauka, Indiana, he engaged in the mercantile business until fall of 1880, when in the company of R. C. Cooper, he came to Griggs County to take up farming.  They freighted their goods up from Fargo by a team of horses.

He was married in 1887 and continued farming until 1903 when he and his wife moved into Binford.  There he became active in the management of the Buchheit-Bakken store, retiring from the firm in 1919.  He was also interested in the First National Bank of Binford.

Mr. Buchheit was an active worker in community affairs and served on various boards and organizations.  He was elected to the Board of County Commissions in 1891, which position he held until 1915, with the exception of one term when A. S. Gunderson served.  It was a source of pride to Mr. Buchheit that he remained on this board until the county was able to cancel its total indebtedness.

Mr. Buchheit died in April of 1932.  His wife continued making her home in Binford until her death some years later.
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NORMAN EVERS

Norman Evers was born July 12, 1900, the son of John and Sarah Evers.

Norman attended Kingsley School, and with his classmates, carried gallon syrup pails with his lunch each day.

He worked on the farm with his father and brother until he developed a disease of the bone in his right arm at the age of twelve.  Under doctor's care for the next six years, it was hard to do farm work to which he was accustomed, so he finally went off to business school in Fargo.  In 1924 he began work at the First State Bank of Binford where he held a position until 1931.  He then went back to farm work and other jobs.  In January of 1933 he started the Binford Hardware Store in the former Hammer- Thinglestad Store, which had been closed for a few years.  Mr. Evers retired in 1974 after forty-one and a half years in business.  He sold out to Glenn and Carol Paulson on June 1, 1974.

1. Evers married Olga E. Olson in 1929.  They have two children:  

2. Norman, Jr., who married the former Dorothy Nelson, and Shirley who married Iver Lundeby.  They have nine grandchildren and two great-grandchildren.
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ARNE GRANHEIM'S

Josephine Thinglestad was born to Mr. and Mrs. Thinglestad in Pilot Mound Township near West Prairie Church.  In 1899, she moved to Cooperstown when her father became sheriff of Griggs County.

In 1902 the family moved to Jessie where she attended school.  Following another move, this time to Binford, Josephine completed her elementary schooling.  A talented pianist, she then attended the Dakota Conservatory of Music in Fargo.  She taught piano in Binford for many years.

While in Fargo, she met Arne Granheim who was attending the Agricultural College.  He was born in Lillehammer, Norway and had come to America - Land of Opportunity.  He enlisted in the United States Army in World War I. Upon his return he was given American citizenship.

Arne and Josie Granheim were married in 1920.  They went to Chicago where he attended the Cayne School of Electrical Engineering.  They returned to Binford where he worked as an electrician and operated a shop and garage.  They made several moves during the depression but returned to live in Binford until he received a Civil Service job with the Civil Aeronautics Commission at Bismarck for a few years.  He was transferred to Oklahoma City in 1946 where they resided until his retirement.  Mrs. Granheim spent the last years of her life in a wheelchair crippled with arthritis.  She died in 1964.

They had one son Arnljot who lived most of his years in Binford.  He graduated from Binford High School.  He became a Lieutenant Colonel in the United States Air Force and served in World War II.  He is now retired and lives with his wife, Betty, 1 daughter and 3 sons in San Antonio, Texas.
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GREENLAND FAMILY HISTORY

At approximately the same time in the late 1800's, the Frithjof Greenland and Mathias Leir families emigrated from Norway to the USA.  The Leirs lived for a time in Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin.  The Greenlands lived at Austin, Lanesboro and Fountain; all in Minnesota.  Frithjof's first job was working on a farm for thirteen dollars per month.  Both families moved and settled on farms in North Dakota.  The Leirs settled about seven miles from Binford at Mose, North Dakota.  The Greenlands settled six miles south of Cooperstown.

Mathias and Bina Leir successfully farmed and lived out their lives on their land at Mose.  Five of their children grew to adulthood.  One of them, Bergina, was born in 1881 in Pigeon Falls.  As a young girl she went to Cooperstown where she found employment with the Andrew Berg family.

Frithjof and Natalia (Evenrud) Greenland, who were both from Vestre Toten, Norway, had married there just before emigrating from Norway.  They settled on a farm near Cooperstown in 1881.  In 1890 he was elected sheriff of Griggs County, and moved to Cooperstown where he assumed that office.  Previous to that time he had held the office of assessor, and various other local offices.  He held the office of sheriff for 4 years.  After his two terms of office had expired he returned to the farm for a number of years.  In these years he was recognized in state politics, serving as a delegate in 1888 and 1890 to the Republican State Convention.  He then evidently switched parties, as he was a delegate to the Democratic State Convention in 1892, 1894, 1896, 1898, 1904 and 1906.

When he returned from the farm to Cooperstown he went into the implement business, where he was joined in later years by Nels Lunde and Theodore Kittleson, under the name of Greenland-Lunde Company.  He was active in this business for many years until he suffered a stroke.  He and his wife moved to Binford in 1917 where he lived until his death in 1922 at the age of 72 years.  Natalia survived him by a few years.

To the Union of Natalia and Frithjof Greenland, seven children were born, one of whom (Carl Oscar) was 8 years old when they moved to Griggs County.  

Carl Oscar was born in 1873 at Lanesboro, Minnesota.  It was in Cooperstown that he met, and in 1900 married, Bergina (changed to Bertha at her choice) Leir.  That same year they moved to Binford where they lived on what was known as the Sperry farm, two miles north of Binford.  They experienced here some of the rigors of pioneer living.  Among other things, they hauled their water supply from Binford.  They bicycled for transportation, later acquiring a horse and buggy.

After a few years, the family moved in to Binford where Oscar had set up an implement business in which he was joined by another pioneer in town, Otto Pritz.  They became close friends and partners in the Greenland Pritz Hardware Store.  Later Oscar became interested in the banking business and sold his interest in the store to become cashier of the First National Bank of Binford.  He held this position until his death in 1926.  His wife Bertha died in 1934.

Oscar Greenland was active in civic, school and political matters.  He once ran on the Democratic ticket for the State Legislature.  During World War I he was county chairman for the sale of Liberty War Bonds.  William Jennings Bryan was once an overnight guest in his home.  Oscar was an avid baseball fan, and served as manager for the local team for several years.  This was also one of his wife's interests.  She was an enthusiastic first baseman on the woman's softball team.  Both were active in their Lutheran Church, holding several offices.  There was a close family relationship.  Mr. and Mrs. Greenland were loved and respected by their children, of which ten were born to this union.  The two boys died as infants.  the eight girls grew to maturity and all married and had children.  At this writing, five of their daughters survive, none of whom live in North Dakota.  Descendants living in addition to the five daughters include 18 grandchildren, 31 great-grandchildren and 2 great -great -grandchildren.
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HENRY HAGLE FAMILY

Wedding bells rang in Binford, North Dakota on July 12, 1922.  They rang for Annie Overby and Henry Hagle.  Parents of the couple were Bernt (Ben) Overby and his wife Sara (Sigrid) Larson Overby, and Mons A. Hagle and his wife Betsey Qualley Hagle.

Annie Overby was born in Sagen, Norway on October 19, 1899.  Henry Hagle was born July 5, 1895 in Fargo, North Dakota.

From this union ten children were born:  

1. Florence

2. Melvin

3. George

4. Alfred

5. Floyd

6. Harold

7. Flora

8. Annette

9. Mildred and 

10. Evelyn.

Florence is married to Frank Fiebiger.  They farm in Cooperstown Township, and have 3 sons:  

1. Wayne

2. Russel and 

3. Daniel.

Mildred married Robert Lura.  He is employed at Melroe of Cooperstown.  They have one daughter Sheila Kay.

The other eight brothers and sisters have married and moved away from the Griggs County area.
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NELS HALVORSON

Nels Halvorson was the son of Halvor and Gro Gjermondson of Rauland, Telemark, Norway.  He left Norway for the United States in 1902, and landed in New York.  From there he took a train to Stoughton, Wisconsin and was met by his uncle, Nels Alfson.  He stayed with them for a while.  in the fall he came to Aneta, North Dakota for threshing.  That winter he worked on the James Beattie farm west of Cooperstown.  In 1906 he rented a farm from H. Lucht, and started farming on his own.  He farmed there until 1909 when he moved north of Binford to the T. O. Torgerson farm.  In 1910 he married Annetta Pederson, daughter of the late Osmund and Emma Pederson of Aneta, North Dakota.  After he and his wife had lived on the Torgerson farm for 10 years, they moved south of Binford on the Greenland-Pritz farm.  Ten years later they bought the Pete Idsvoog farm and farmed there until they retired and moved to Binford where Mrs. Halvorson still resides.

The Halvorsons had four girls and two boys:  

Mrs. Hilma (Palmer) Lende, Hannaford, North Dakota, Mrs. Norma (Arnold) Finstuen, Tacoma, Washington, Mrs. William Beckham, Rock Hill, South Carolina, Wallace Halvorson, Binford, Clifford Halvorson passed away in 1952, and Mrs. Inez (Donald) Asmus, Binford.

Mr. Halvorson was a wrestler in the Cooperstown and Binford communities in the early days when he first came over from Norway.
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MR. AND MRS. FREDRICK H. KING

Fredrick Henry Clark King was born November 12, 1869 in Freeborn County, Minnesota.  At the age of five years he was adopted by his grandfather with whom he made his home until growing to manhood.

In 1881 the family emigrated by wagon from Freeborn County to Polk County, and settled in what is known as Kingstown.

In the spring of 1896 he homesteaded in Gully, Minnesota.  On September 11, 1898 he was united in marriage to Miss Lena K. Cardin.

They lived there until the summer of 1906 when they moved to Cooperstown where he was employed on the drayline.

Mr. and Mrs. King moved to Binford on March 30, 1913 when he was in partnership with his brother-in-law, D. F. Rice, in the drayline besides handling the oil business for Standard Oil Company.  Beginning in 1914 he was employed as agent for the oil company, selling out his share of the drayline to Mr. Rice.  He was agent for Standard Oil until his death in October 1932.

Mrs. King, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Modest Cardin, was born in Gully, Minnesota, December 5, 1879.  Her home and her family were her main interests, and gardening was one of her most enjoyable hobbies.

During World War I she was an active member of the local Red Cross, not only knitting dozens of sweaters and stockings, but also teaching others to do likewise.  She continued to make her home in Binford until her death in March 1958.

Mr. and Mrs. King were the parents of five children, four of whom are deceased.  Mark died in 1960, Floyd in 1939, Lydia in 1968, and Robert in 1973.  The youngest daughter, Ethel, lives in the family home.

There are four grandchildren, thirteen great-grandchildren and one great-great -grandchild.
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MR. AND MRS. ARTHUR C. KNAPP

A. C. Knapp was born at Revere, North Dakota, on June 19, 1897, the son of John and Lena Knapp.  At the age of six years he moved with his parents to Union City, Michigan for a period of two years.  Except for that time, he has made North Dakota, and particularly the Binford area, his life-long home.  He married Nora Koloen, the daughter of Syver and Annie Koloen, on March 5, 1920.  The couple worked on various farms in the area, and in 1945 purchased a farm south of Binford, which they sold in 1963 and retired to their present home in Binford.

They were the parents of five children:  

1. Clifford and Donald of Binford

2. Florence Suess and Mildred Nelson in California

3. and Blanche Larson, who makes her home in Washington state.  

Mr. and Mrs. Knapp have eight grandchildren and nine great-grandchildren.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHN KNAPP

John Knapp was born in Vestre Toten, Norway on September 8, 1879.  He immigrated to the United States and came to Binford, North Dakota, in 1900, where he was employed in the Knapp and Buchheit store.  He bought an interest in the store following his brother's (Martin) death in 1902.

Agnes (Pritz) Knapp was born in Trondhjem, Norway and came to Binford in the early 1900's.  She was employed in the local post office, which was then located in the Ole Gunderson store (later known as Ringlee and Sons).  Agnes and John were married in 1909, returning to Norway to take their vows in the Trondhjem Dom-Kirke.  On their return to Binford John continued in the operation of the store until it was destroyed by fire in December 1922.  He then moved into the store building now owned by Orville Stalvik.  Mr. Knapp continued in the grocery business until he sold to Robert Amundson in 1942.

During his years in Binford Mr. Knapp served as postmaster, and was also a member of both the school and town boards.  He and his wife were active in the offices of their church, The Trinity Lutheran.

The Knapps moved to California in the summer of 1958, and in April of 1960, Mrs. Knapp died in a hospital at Thermopolis, Wyoming.  Mr. Knapp passed away in February 1965, at the home of his son, Erling.

Of the Knapps' three children:  

1. Cleo lives in Lamont, California, 

2. Erling in Richmond, Virginia, and 

3. Richard, who was in the Air Force during World War II, died in a plane crash in India in 1945.
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MR. AND MRS. MANFRED KNAPP

Manfred and Helen (Alm) Knapp were both born in Binford.  Manfred in November of 1903 and Helen in December of 1905.  They both attended the local schools and graduated from high school in 1922 and 1923 respectively.  They were married in January 1931 at Polson, Montana where he was employed.  After returning to Binford, Mr. Knapp operated a pool hall until 1943 when he bought the store formerly owned by his uncle, John Knapp and continued its operation until his death in 1962.  His wife managed the store until December of 1972 when she sold it to Orville Stalvik, who continues it's operation.

Manfred took an active part in community affairs, serving on both school and town boards.  For many years he worked with the Pee Wee and Babe Ruth baseball teams as director, coach, and chauffeur when needed.

The Manfred Knapp's had one son, Richard, who is now working with the State Game and Fish Department as District Warden of Stutsman and Kidder Counties.
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MR. AND MRS. MARTIN KNAPP

Martin Knapp was born and raised in Vestre Toten, Norway.  He immigrated to the United States as a young man and in 1895 was married to Clara Evinrude, who was also born in Vestre Toten, Norway.  She came to the Cooperstown area in 1893.  The couple moved to Binford in the fall of 1899, where Mr. Knapp, in partnership with Joseph Buchheit, built and operated a general store, which later became known as the Buchheit-Bakken store.  He also built the family home, which is now occupied by Reverend and Mrs. J. Deering Risk and their family.

On October 24, 1904, Mr. Knapp met his death by drowning while hunting with two companions, Fred Lewis and Ernest Amidon, at Stump Lake.

Mrs. Knapp sold her interest in the store to her husband's brother, John Knapp, but continued to live in Binford except for a year spent in Norway shortly after her husband's death.  She was a charter member of Trinity Church, (then known as the Norwegian Lutheran), and all her children were also confirmed members.

Martin and Clara Knapp were the parents of four children:  

1. Agnes died at the age of seventeen years.  

2. Ivar and Manfred who passed away in their late fifties, and 

3. Olaf who lives in Fargo, North Dakota.

Source Page 26 

OLAUS KROGFOSS

Olaus Krogfoss and wife Ragnild came to northern Tyrol Township, Griggs County.  They took up a homestead here.  They were members of West Prairie Lutheran Church.  They retired to Binford where they built a home and lived their remaining days.

Children of the Krogfosses were:  

1. Carl (deceased)

2. Mrs. Charley Slolien (Clara) deceased

3. Elmer

4. Mrs. Art Idsvaag (Laura)
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BRUCE WILLIAM LaPLANT

Bruce William LaPlant, son of William and Ross LaPlant was born in Romness Township, Griggs County on June 1, 1900.  Later the family moved to Tyrol Township, where Bruce attended rural school, later farming with his Dad and Brother.

He married Edna Lewis, daughter of Fred and Belle Lewis of Binford.  To this union two daughters were born, Shirley, who now lives in Mesa, Arizona and Lois of Cooperstown.  There are six grandchildren and two great -grandchildren.

Until her marriage to Bruce, Edna taught rural school in the Binford area.  Binford was her life-long home.  She attended the local school and graduated from high school in 1924.  After she and Bruce were married they made their home in Binford.  Bruce continued farming with his dad east of Jessie and Edna taught for the next two years in Bryan school No. 1, west of Binford.

In 1929 Bruce went to Montana where he was employed with Montana Power Company.  Due to serious illness in his family, he was called home in June of that year, returning to Montana accompanied by his family where they made their home in Butte, Montana.  The following year they moved to Polson, being employed by the same company.

After returning to North Dakota they farmed on the Dave Wilcox farm, north of Cooperstown, then moved to the Cowan farm, east of Red Willow Lake, which Bruce later purchased.  From 1939 to 1945 Bruce was employed by Arneson-Loder Implement Company at Cooperstown, where they were making their home.

During World War II the LaPlants went out to Tacoma, Washington where both Bruce and Edna worked in defense plants - he in the shipyards and she at Boeings.

Edna's mother died in June 1946 and that same fall Bruce and Edna moved into Binford to be with her father but continuing to farm until Bruce's death December 18, 1967.

Although Bruce worked at various projects, his life's work was farming and this he did most successfully and with true enjoyment.  He was very interested and took an active part in politics.  he was a member of the Democratic Party.  Bruce was also a member of the Farmer's Union.

As a young man he enjoyed playing baseball and hunting in both North Dakota and Montana.

Edna now lives in Cooperstown, close to her daughter and family.
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FRED GARFIELD LEWIS

Fred Garfield Lewis was born April 14, 1880, to Joseph and Mary Hopkins Lewis.  He was of Quaker faith by birthright and a member of the Hecksite branch of the Friends Society at Pennville, Indiana.

At the age of 14 he emigrated to Elmwood, Nebraska.  The following year he went to Aneta, North Dakota and then to Binford the year that the railroad came through.

His first job was with the Burgess Grain Company.  From then on the jobs were many and varied.  During those days there was not a shortage of jobs, but of laborers.

Isabelle Reid was born May 22, 1885, at Sanborn, North Dakota to Andrew and Christine Reid.  Her mother died when the family of four children was very young so they made their home with their Grandmother Elizabeth Davidson and an Aunt Lizzie and Uncle Hi Mauer.  They moved from Sanborn to Cooperstown and later to Binford.

Lewis married Miss Reid in the dining room of the hotel owned and operated by the Maurers.  To this union two children were born:  

1. Howard and 

2. Edna.

He operated a meat market, which just recently was tom down, where they found some of his bookkeeping accounts.  He was also in partnership operating a livery stable.  People would hire him to taxi them around the country with his rig.

Dr. Truscott and his little black bag, used this means of reaching farm homes, if the case was a stubborn one the men would spend most of the night there.

Lewis was well known as an auctioneer.  The farm sales were most often held in the early spring or late fall when the weather was chilly.  As a result he would have a good case of Quincy.  His family still has the gunnysacks of tin cups, which he took along to sales.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Lewis played on ball teams.  There were three or four ladies teams in the area.  The families of both teams were very loyal and had loud cheering Sections.  Mrs. Lewis was a pitcher.

A band was organized.  Anyone with musical talent took part.  The first band suits were red and white.  It was an added attraction to all events and they were very generous with their concerts.

Lewis rented the Red Willow Lake farm from T. L. Cowen, now owned by Vernice and Bill Haines.

This venture included operating the boathouse, where ice cream, pop, candy, etc. were sold.

Every morning during the summer months, the merchandise was wheeled down from the farm by wheelbarrows and returned to the farm again in the evening.  The pop was chilled with the ice from the icehouse.  The ice cream was made up at the farm at the well house, which had a cement floor.  And engine was used to turn the freezers.  About every three days the tubs had to be repacked with ice.  There were good and also bad comments about the ice cream, but it was the only place you could buy it at the lake, so the trade was excellent.

It was during this time that the state provided us with 20 pairs of squirrels to feed and care for.  They were kept in a wire enclosure for about a month and then released.  The Lewis' never tried to tame them for their own good.  They were an added attraction to the resort, as their families still are today.

An organization, the Binford Realty Company of which Lewis was a member dealt with facts about new towns and the surrounding country.  A booklet for those interested in mercantile, agricultural and social advancement was written.  Red Willow Lake was quoted in this book as being the prettiest lake in the county and a place for pleasure, parties and picnics.

Listings of early farms, their acreages and bargains from $12.00 to $48.00 per acre.  Also making the statement that crop failures were unknown.

Lewis was Postmaster at Binford, and his wife, his assistant.  They were also very active in Red Cross work and all the other local organizations.  Politically they were Republican.

The Lewis family purchased the Adrian farm about a mile and a half east from the lake.  Later they moved into Binford where they spent their last years.

Mrs. Lewis died in the Mercy hospital in Valley City on June 29, 1946 and Lewis passed away at the Griggs County hospital in Cooperstown on October 26, 1968.
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MR. AND MRS. HIRAM J. MAURER

Mr. and Mrs. H. J. Maurer came to Binford the same year the railroad came through, 1899.  Mr. Maurer headed a crew of men laying track, and since there was no eating establishment on the Binford town site, Mrs. Maurer filled this need by serving meals through an open window of the room which eventually became the kitchen of the hotel the Maurers built and operated for the next forty years.

Mr. Maurer was born in Sandusky County, Ohio on May 12, 1857, coming to Dakota Territory as a young man and settling in the Sanborn area.  There he met and married Elizabeth Davidson, who was born in King Ussie, Inverveshire, Scotland on February O, 1864.  She immigrated to Canada at the age of nine years, and came to Sanborn some years later to join other members of the family there.  The Maurers moved to Cooperstown during the 1890's when they operated a bakery.

Mr. and Mrs. Maurer watched Binford grow from a few scattered homes and business places to a thriving little community, of which they became an integral part.  They were affectionately called "Uncle Hi" and Aunt Lizzie by both young and old, and a helping hand and warm welcome were always extended, during their many years in the Binford Hotel.

They also built and operated a restaurant at Red Willow Lake for a number of summers, during the years the Red Willow Lake Association was in operation.  They retired in 1938, and lived with their daughter and son-in-law, Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Alm.  Mr. Maurer died in December of 1940 and Mrs. Maurer passed away in October 1950.  Of the children born to them, a daughter, Minnie, died at the age of seventeen years, and John and Hazel (Mrs. Alm) still make their home in Binford.
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EMIL O. OLSON, Binford, North Dakota

Emil O. Olson was born August 27, 1890, near Benson, Minnesota.  When he was seven years of age his family moved back to Ellsworth, Wisconsin, after experiencing severe drought and hardship.  The financial situation of his family made it necessary for him to end his schooling at the age of eleven and go to work for others.  This was the extent of his education except for a short course at a business college in Mankato, Minnesota.  He worked for a short time at a store in Wimbledon, North Dakota.  During this period at Wimbledon he ate only two meals a day in order to save enough money to pay for his mother's cancer surgery.

The employer who had the greatest influence on his life was the owner of a general merchandise store in River Falls, Wisconsin, a Mr. Jenson, for whom he worked seven years.  Mr. Jenson was a self-made man, a very successful merchant and a demanding employer who trained his help extremely well.

Believing the climate in North Dakota would be better for an asthmatic condition that troubled him, he secured employment as bookkeeper with The First National Bank of Binford in May 1916 at a salary of $65.00 per month.  The fact that he could speak Norwegian was an important factor in securing this position.  Arriving by train in Binford, the village with its wooden sidewalks and unlighted streets, and the treeless prairie were a sorry contrast to the wooded area and modernized city in Wisconsin from which he had come.  The prospect was so gloomy that had he had enough money for train fare, he would have returned to River Falls.  However, as the years passed he became attached to the land, the community and its people.

During World War I he was drafted into the United States Army and he served several months in France.  He returned to Binford and continued in the employment of the bank.

On August 16, 1921 Emil married Rowena Rinde, a native of Hoople, North Dakota.  Miss Rinde had taught in the Binford elementary school for four years prior to her marriage.  During her teaching experience in Binford she had as many as fifty pupils of the lower grades in her room.  Desks were crowded so close together, there was hardly room for the aisles.  She was known as a good teacher and a disciplinarian even under those trying circumstances.  After their marriage they moved into their new home in Binford where Mrs. Olson still resides.

Early in 1926 he left the bank and sold life insurance.  After the death of bank cashier, Oscar Greenland, Emil returned to the bank and became cashier December 6, 1926.  The First National Bank under his management had the distinction of being the only one of thirteen banks in Griggs County that remained solvent through the farm crisis of the 1920's, the crash of 1929, and the drought of the 1930's.

In January 1954 he retired from the banking business at which time he sold his interest to L. A. Sayer of Cooperstown.

Emil died at his home July 30, 1969.  Survivors included his wife, a daughter, Mrs. Joel (Winifred) Goplen and three grandchildren, David, Cynthia and Susan all of Binford.
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GEORGE OLSTAD

Ruth Alfson Olstad was born to Kari and Olav Alfson on April 1, 1896 in Pilot Mound Township.  At the age of 8 she moved into Binford with her parents.  Ruth received most of her education in the Binford Public School.  Later she served as telephone operator for several years.

George Olstad was one of twelve children born to Mr. and Mrs. Ole Olstad in Fosston, Minnesota, July 24, 1884.  He moved with his parents to New Norway, Alberta, Canada in 1887.  In 1917 he returned to the

United States.  He came to Binford to work in a local store.  He met Ruth Alfson whom he married in 1917.

This family lived in Binford until they moved to Pelican Rapids, Minnesota in 1936.  They moved from Pelican Rapids to New Norway, Alberta and later moved to Edmonton where he operated an appliance center until his retirement.

Ruth passed away in 1953, and George died in 1966 in Edmonton, Alberta.

They had five children:  

1. Mrs. K. Richards (Vivian), Houston, Texas

2. Philip and Hollis both at Edmonton, Alberta

3. Gordon, Calgary, Alberta

4. Mrs. E. Gilbertson (Corrine), deceased.
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HENRY AND CLARA PETERSON

Henry Peterson was born in Vernon County, Wisconsin, November 29, 1868.  His parents were Arne and Anne Peterson.  He attended Luther College at Decorah, Iowa, and came to Binford area in 1899.  On June 12, 1901 he married Clara Rorvig, born July 15, 1875 in Ringebu, Gulbransdalen, Norway.  She came to America with her parents, Paul and Anna, in 1884 to Starbuck, Minnesota In 1886 the family traveled by covered wagon and oxen to Dakota Territory, to Willow Township where for a time they lived in a sod house.

Henry and Clara homesteaded the land, which is the present George Oien Sr. farm near Binford.  They also homesteaded in Canada.

Henry was the first classroom teacher of public school and also teacher and superintendent of the Lutheran Sunday school, a capacity he held for many years.

Their children were:

1. Pearl (Mrs. Harvey Von Postel) Everett, Washington.  

Her children:  

1. Vivian (Mrs. Robert Jenstad), Everett, Washington

2. and Joanne (Mrs. Dallas Sartz) Spokane, Washington.

1. Alvin Peterson married Inga Johnson, Fargo, North Dakota.  Their children include

a.  Donna (Mrs. Darrel LaPlante), Binford

b. Robert, who married Judy Schiller

c. Diane (Mrs. Len Nelson) Osseo, Minnesota.  Robert was killed in an automobile accident in 1965.

2. Andor Peterson married Evelyn Rorvig.  Their son Gary married Janice Fritz.

3. Thelma, (Mrs. Arthur Lewis) Binford, North Dakota.  Thelma and Arthur Lewis, Binford, are retired teachers of Griggs County Schools.  Arthur was Director of Tax Equalization of Griggs County, also Auditor of the City of Binford.  He retired from the Binford Fire Department, having been secretary -treasurer for 25 years.  He is a life member of the North Dakota Educational Association and a member of the Civil Air Patrol for 22 years.

4. Vernon Peterson married Anna Osmundson.  Their children:  

a. Karen, (Mrs. Ric Gardiner), Virginia (Mrs. Ron Grove)

b. and Phyllis (Mrs. Larry Sandvol).

5. Henry passed away October 18, 1941 at the age of 73.  Clara, the oldest child, outlived her whole family and passed away April 17, 1973 at the age of 98 years.  She is buried at West Prairie Cemetery.
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OTTO PRITZ

Otto Pritz immigrated to this country from Norway, and came to North Dakota.  He came to Binford to manage a grain elevator.

Shortly thereafter, in partnership with Oscar Greenland, they formed Greenland-Pritz & Company, a hardware and implement business of which he was manager until 17' death.

He was member of the Binford School Board and Mayor of Binford for many years.

He was elected a county commissioner in 1915 and in 1919 was elected chairman, which post he held until his death in 1947.

He was president of the First National Bank of Binford.

He was a partner in the Binford Land Company, and treasurer of the Red Willow Lake Development Association.

He was a public-spirited citizen and took an active part in community affairs.

He married Elizabeth Reid.  To this union three daughters were born:  

Irene, Nellie, (Mrs. W. A. Skjolden) and Myrtle (Mrs. R. W. Shadoon.)
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STEPHEN RORVIG AND SOPHIE SMOGARD

Stephen Rorvig was born in Gulbransdalen, Norway, October 21, 1874 to Peter and Anna Rorvig.  They immigrated to this country in 1883 to Pope County, Minnesota, where they resided two years.  They came to McHenry, North Dakota, where they spent most of their years on a farm.  The latter years of their lives were spent in Minneapolis, Minnesota, where they passed away and were buried.

Stephen Rorvig was one of seven children born to this couple.  His first means of making a living was working as a fireman on the Northern Pacific Railroad.

Sophie Smogard was born September 23, 1882 in Zumbrota, Minnesota, to Erick and Engeborg Smogard.  She was one of eight children.  She came to Binford in 1902 and worked for two years for Mathias Rorvig in their home.  Thus she became acquainted with Stephen Rorvig.  They were united in marriage September 23, 1904 in Zumbrota, Minnesota.

Three children were born to the couple:  

Palmer, who passed away September 16, 1974 in San Marcos, California, leaving his wife Alice Engen from McVille, North Dakota, and son Roland and his wife Becky.

Evelyn married Andor Peterson and resides in Binford.  Their son Gary and his wife Janice live in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Kenneth of Binford is married to Ruth Torgerson from Berlin, North Dakota.  This couple had four grandchildren:  

1. Roland Rorvig

2. Gary Peterson

3. Shirley and 

4. Karen Rorvig.

Stephen Rorvig was associated with Buchheit-Bakken & Company, a general store, destroyed by fire.  Later in 1926 he operated a service station with his sons until he passed away November 19, 1960.  He was active in his church, both as an officer and in the choir.  He also sang in a quartet that entertained for many years.  He served on the school board and was a member of the Sons of Norway Lodge.

Sophie Rorvig was also an active worker in her church and Ladies Aid Society.  She passed away March 23, 1957.
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MR. AND MRS. HAROLD STALVIK

Harold Stalvik was born in Trondhjem, Norway on August 18, 1893.  He came to the United States at the age of seventeen years.  After working on the Anton Miller farm for a couple of years he returned to Norway for a year's stay.  After his return to North Dakota he married Josephine Constance Peterson in 1915 at a ceremony held in the West Prairie Church.  She was a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Osmund Peterson, who farmed in Pilot Mound Township, eight miles north of Binford.  She had been baptized in the West Prairie Church and confirmed in the Norway Church.

The Stalviks farmed until they retired and moved to Binford.  He passed away February 2, 1970.  They were the parents of five children:  

1. Herdis (Mrs. Wallace Iverson), 

2. Alvin 

3. Orville, all of Binford, 

4. Oscar of West Fargo, and 

5. Eleanor (Mrs. Glen Simenson) who died in January of 1974.

Mrs. Harold Stalvik continues to make her home in Binford.
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JENS C. THINGLESTAD

Jens C. Thinglestad was born in 1861 near Christiania, Norway.  At the age of three he left Norway for America with his parents and two brothers, Julius and Ole.

En-route to America on the ocean liner a young, well-to-do, childless couple urged the Thinglestads to adopt young Jens so as to give the youngster all he might ever need.  His parents could not part with their child so he was destined to experience the rigors of pioneering in a new land.  The family went to Lanesboro, Fillmore County, Minnesota where the children grew up.

Jens married Lena Krogfoss, daughter of Hiriam Krogfoss, also of Lanesboro.  They had two daughters Laura and Alpha when they decided to move to Pilot Mound Township in Griggs County.  They purchased land there in 1886, five miles north and one mile east of Jessie.  Laura died at the age of seven.  Another daughter, Josephine, was born in 1897.  The Thinglestads also raised Louise McCallson, a niece, who died in 1911.

The Thinglestads were charter members of the West Prairie Lutheran Parish.  Mr. Thinglestad donated land for the erection of a schoolhouse.  This was called the Thinglestad School for many years.  Years later a granddaughter, Bernice Alfson, taught in this school for several terms.  The land and the schoolhouse now belong to Harold Michaelis where the school serves as a granary.

Early days carried many threats to the pioneers.  For instance, at one time Jens and Lena alone fought and stopped a huge prairie fire headed for their home.  Jens hitched horses to the walking plow and plowed deep sod furrows in the hope of making a wide enough breach to stop the fire.  Soon he realized the plowing wasn't going to be wide enough so he told Lena to set a strip of fire in the prairie grass.  This fire quickly burned to the edge of the plowing, making a wide enough strip so the prairie fire was halted.  It finally burned itself out, thus saving their home and livestock and perhaps the homes of many others.

At one time the Indians were on the warpath on The Fort Totten Trail, which passed a few miles south of their home.  They prepared supplies, harnessed a team to a buggy and made ready to flee.  It was an all night wake, but by morning the Indians had gone.

In 1899 Jens Thinglestad became sheriff of Griggs County for one term, and the family moved to Cooperstown.  Leaving Cooperstown in 1902, he bought a home and store in Jessie, North Dakota.  Later he purchased the Alfson Brothers Hardware Store at Binford.  When H. P. Hammer of Cooperstown "bought in" as a partner the store became The Hammer Thinglestad Hardware.  They purchased a home in Binford where they remained the rest of their lives.  They remained active, contributing members until their deaths.  Mrs. Thinglestad died July 1925, and Jens passed away in June 1933.  Both are buried in the West Prairie Cemetery.

Their daughter Alpha married Albert Alfson

they had five children:  

Josephine married Arne Granheim from Lillehammer, Norway.  They had one son, Arnljot.  Josephine passed away in 1964.  Arne lives in Oklahoma City.  Arnljot and his family reside in San Antonio, Texas.

Source Page 31

DR. AND MRS. J. R. TRUSCOTT

Binford was home to Dr. Joseph R. Truscott from the time he came there in the spring of 1902, fresh from the University of Minnesota, until he retired in the mid 1950's to make his home with a son, Donald in Florida.

Dr. Truscott was born in the state of New York on September 9, 1870, and spent his early years there.  He spent some time in South Dakota during his growing-up years, but chose North Dakota in which to practice his profession.

His was a life of dedicated service to the community.  There was no such thing as office hours for the Doctor.  According to those who knew him well, a call any hour of the day or night was a challenge to go where he was needed.  He worked tirelessly.  many times catching a few moments of sleep while someone took him from one place to another.  In the early years he made his rural calls with horse and buggy, or sleigh, and later, of course, by automobile.

When the community honored him in 1947 on forty-five years of service in its behalf, many of the "Doctor Truscott Babies" were to pay him their respect.  He brought approximately one thousand babies into the world.  His busiest year was 1915, when he officiated at fifty-two births.  Fifteen sets of twins were among the hundreds of babies born during his years of service.

Dr. and Mrs. Truscott (Nellie Johnson of St. Paul) were married in 1902, four months after he came to Binford.  They were the parents of two sons

Donald and Robert, both now deceased.  Mrs. Truscott died in 1928, and the Doctor passed away June 27, 1959, at the age of 88.
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MR. AND MRS. CARL ZABEL

Carl and Lola Zabel and their two small daughters Laverne and Doris arrived in Binford on April 7, 1932.  Their son Vinton was born several years later.

Carl (Charlie) operated the Barber Shop, which they bought from Bryan-Hovet for a number of years and was employed by the A. S. C. S. in Cooperstown for eleven years.  He was a member of the Binford I. O. O. F. Lodge, a volunteer Fireman and a member of the Commercial Club.  He retired January 1, 1968 and died October 10 of the same year.

Lola became a member of Wild Rose Rebekah, was a charter member of the Binford Homemakers Club, and still makes her home at Binford.

Laverne graduated from the University of North Dakota and in June 1950 married Ruben Solee, also a former Binford resident.  They now live in Hopkins, Minnesota with their two young daughters, Beth and Nancy.

Doris graduated from the State Teachers College in Minot and married WALLACE SUNDQUIST in June 1951.  They are now living on a farm near Binford.  They have six children.  

1. Mary attended Junior College at Devils Lake and Interstate Business College in Fargo, and is now employed as a secretary in the Chemistry Department at the University of Minnesota in Minneapolis.  

2. Jeanine graduated at Bill's School of Beauty in Grand Forks and is now employed in Carol's Beauty Shop in Grand Forks.  She married Michael Barclay of Grand Forks in August 1974.  

3. Michael graduated from high school in 1974 and is employed by Great Plains Supply Company in Finley.  

4. Denise and 

5. David (twins) and 

6. Charles are still in school and live at home.

Vinton graduated from State Teachers College in Valley City and the University in Fargo.  He married Darlene Popp of Hankinson and they reside at Winthrop, Minnesota where he is High School Principal and Mayor of the city.  They have two children:  

1. Jay and Jodi, both attending school in Winthrop.
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Cooperstown

History

Cooperstown’s First Year

Cooperstown became county seat of Griggs County by popular vote November 7, 1882, and by doing so, made history.  Hope was the county seat at the time, and had been in existence for several months.

The remarkable thing about Cooperstown's victory was that, as yet, the town existed only on paper and in the minds of the Cooper Townsite Company.  The site had been surveyed and the plat had been filed only twelve days before election.

At once the founders set about the task of building a town.  R. C. Cooper's mules carried building supplies and other necessities, and by the first of the year there was a young town on the site.  When the first edition of the Courier (700 copies, and could have sold 200 more) came off the press January 26, 1883, Editor Ed Stair reported that Knud Thompson, Cooperstown's first merchant had been in business exactly three weeks.  The hardware firm of Stevens and Enger was temporarily quartered in the Thompson store, and Register of Deeds Herbert Smart was just preparing to move into an office.  Cooperstown had just gotten word that it was to have a regular post office.  A schoolhouse was under construction in anticipation of children who were not yet in town.

Carpenters, "not to exceed three dozen," according to the Courier, worked steadily that winter.  Editor Stair wrote "In time to come, 'how our little city grew in the first three months of 1883' will always be a pardonable theme.”

Within a short time several other business establishments opened and two babies had been born:  

Grace, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Knud Thompson, was born in May, and Otto, son of Mr. and Mrs. Emil Marquardt, in August.

Dr. G. F. Newell, a surgeon, "with full set of instruments," the Courier reported, opened a drug store.

The Palace Hotel opened in August, in time to accommodate passengers who arrived on the first train to Cooperstown on the Sanborn, Cooperstown and Turtle Mountain Railway August 27.  Telegraph lines were strung.

Maynard Crane, another name to reckon with, arrived in Cooperstown to manage the Lenham Elevator and Lumber Company.

Cash Yancy, barber, set up business and left again, but returned to Cooperstown in a few months and was in business here for some time.

By the year's end the Courier listed the following business and professional firms and leading citizens:  

R. C. Cooper, founder and promoter of Cooperstown

Odegaard and Thompson, the pioneer merchants
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Brothers, mercantile firm

Cooper Townsite Company, which included T. J. Cooper, Chicago, C. A. Roberts, Fargo, N. L. Lenham, J. M. Burrell and R. C. Cooper

Stevens and Enger, hardware merchants

Nelson and Langlie, hardware

Lenham Elevator and Lumber Company, Maynard Crane, manager

Bank of Cooperstown, Cashier H. G. Pickett manager, George Lenham and J. M. Burrell owners

Palace Hotel (42 rooms, cost $21,000 to build, frontage of 75 feet on two streets), landlord H. C. Fitch

The Union House (boarding hotel, accommodations for forty patrons) H. H. Retzlaff, proprietor

William Glass, real estate

Jacobson and Serumgard, land and law attorneys

John M. Jorgenson, Clerk of District Court and dealer in real estate

Byron M. Andrus, Esq., land and law attorney, real estate broker, land agent for the Northern Pacific Railway

Davis and Pickett, livery, feed and sale stable business

Andrew Johnson, meat market business and sheriff

Bucheit Brothers, farm machinery

Dr. G. F. Newell, drug store, practitioner of medicine, "does not ride any except when his surgical skill is required

" Moore and Sansburn, blacksmiths

Muir and Christie, contractors

Fred A. Sabin, land, loan and real estate.

Not long after, the Courier scribe was moved to write that Cooperstown now had "what is termed a 'genteel sufficiency' of land attorneys.”
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Cooperstown Townsite Company

To promote the building of a town the Cooperstown Townsite Company was formed in 1882.  This company immediately platted the town, which was named Cooperstown, and filed its plat on October 26th of that year, only 12 days before the November 7th election which was to decide the location of the county seat.  Cooperstown won the election and became the county seat.

According to the original plat, Cooperstown was laid out with its streets running north and south and numbered beginning from the west side.  The avenues were east and west and were given names.  These included the names of members who composed the Townsite Company.  Rollin Avenue was named for R. C. Cooper

Lenham Avenue for N. L. Lenham of the Lenham Elevator and Lumber Company.  This company consisted of George Lenham, president, N. L. Lenham, general manager, who were brothers, and Louis Lenham, their father who was treasurer.  Burrell Avenue was named for J. M. Burrell who was a member of the Townsite Company and who, with George L. Lenham, organized the first bank at Cooperstown.  Roberts Avenue for Mr. C. A. Roberts who was also one of the owners of the Townsite Company.  Mr. Roberts was also along on the organization of the Sanborn, Cooperstown and Turtle Mountain Railroad.  He was also identified with the Fargo Southern Railway, The Fargo Street Railway, Fargo Iron Works, Cooperstown Elevator Company, Yellowstone National Park Improvement Company, and was a member of the firm of Stanford and Company, flour and feed merchants at Fargo.  Foster Avenue for Foster who surveyed the town lots

Hobart and Louis Avenues whose authorship is not known, Odegard Avenue for Mr. Odegard, a merchant and Howard Avenue for Howard Oviatt, a big landowner in Griggs County

In the liquidation of the partnership of the Cooper brothers in 1886, R. C. Cooper purchased T. J. 's interest in the Townsite Company for $9000.00.

The Townsite Company had planned to have the Court House on the hill where the Water Tower stands.  But there was some disagreement among the county commissioners when the Courthouse was to be built.  The Cooper Brothers then platted the "Cooper Addition" south of the first plat, and then offered the County Commissioners any block of it they chose free plus one thousand dollars in cash when building completed.

Source Page 36 

MAIN STREET 1896

By George Basil Edmondson

About the author, George Basil Edmondson was born February 2,1883 in Chatham, Ontario, Canada, and the family moved in 1892 to Cooperstown where they had relatives (Bothwells, McCullochs, Sinclairs and Churches were all related to them) who had emigrated earlier.  The Edmondsons came to stay, and they came to know the community very well.  Basil seems to have been an unusually observant person, and had a keen memory for people and events of his youth as well as an interest in history.  To the end of his days he clearly remembered the people he knew in his early years in Cooperstown.  He married Estelle Houghton in 1910, they lived here until 1939 when Governor John Moses appointed him to the post of state purchasing agent, and they moved to Bismarck.  Mr. Edmondson served in the state position under the administrations of five governors, retiring in 1965.  He and his wife then moved to Virginia, Minnesota, where their daughter, Beatrice, and her husband, John H. Lind, lived.  The Edmondsons observed their sixtieth wedding anniversary in 1970.  Both died the following year:  

Estelle in May and Basil in October.

A newspaper picture of the streets of Cooperstown in the snowy winter of 1896 (the picture was published in December, 1970) prompted Mr. Edmondson to write a short memoir in a letter to a friend in Cooperstown.

As he pointed out, his account may not be perfectly accurate.  He relied solely on his remarkable memory and from that he wrote a lively, sometimes-gossipy tale of some of the people who lived in Cooperstown around the turn of the century.  A portion of it follows.

This will be a refresher course in the history of the town because I have no notes or references of any kind to refresh my memory.  Most everything of that nature that I had was destroyed when we moved to Bismarck in 1939.

People are the leaven that makes the town, the ingredient that makes a good town or a poor town.  Cooperstown was fortunate in attracting good people - and with that off my chest let us go and see how many of these good people I can introduce you to.  I am intentionally going to mention some who were not here during the winter of 1896-7 but they are all a part of the same general picture.

Let us start west on main street and see how many people we can meet.

I remember that a man named Jacobsen had a law office in this first building in the early days but just when he moved out I do not know.  The building was owned by John Syverson as well as the next lot to it on which was a large pile of brick left over from the construction of Syverson's new store building because the State Bank building was not in this picture.  It must have been put up quite soon after.  Drs. Brimi and Rose moved in and had their offices upstairs for many years.  Dr. Westley had his office at the rear of the bank.  One of the large stockholders in the bank was John Syverson.  Andrew Burseth was cashier and Olaf, his brother, assistant.  Later on the death of Burseth (Charley Houghton and I sat up with him the night he died) Ed Blackwell took over as cashier.

And now we will cross the street to the new Syverson store, said to be one of the finest stores in the state at that time.  Before 1893 Syverson had bought out a general store from his two brother-in-laws, Knute Thompson and John Odegard.  This store was situated a couple lots west of the new store and occupied two separate buildings connected with an archway.  When the new store was completed he swung one of these buildings around and turned it into a large warehouse for the new store.  He also had another warehouse at the rear of the State Bank building.

We step into a vestibule and then into the main store building that is 75 feet wide and 140 feet long, which is the size of three lots and is about 18 feet to the ceiling.  It has a balcony at the rear over the grocery department and extending the length of the west side given over to wallpaper and furniture.  Down the center of the store was a wide island about 10 feet high, the east side was the shoe department, the west side men's clothing.

John Syverson was a rather small man, but full of energy and determination with a penchant for improving things.  He became the first mayor of the city, and it was through his efforts that most of the trees and nearly all the sidewalks in Cooperstown were put in.  John had three children:  

1. Theodore, 

2. Jack and 

3. Gertrude, who married an aviator from Mayville named Earl Fladeland.

We have spent considerable time here so maybe we better move next door.

W. C. Jimeson came from New Jersey and had one of the pioneer grocery stores.  It was rather low and cluttered.  He was quite an old gentleman, but quite a gardener and his specialty was fresh fruits and vegetables.  In one corner was the post office and if you needed a stamp you would likely be waited on by Miss Alfson, who later became Mrs. Louis Berg and raised quite a family.  I believe it must have been when President Harrison came in that the post office changed hands and was taken over by Percy Trubshaw who moved it into the building across the street next to the Palace Hotel.  Jimeson later went into partnership with Arnt Olson and built a new building two blocks west.  He had two daughters, Alice and Maggie, and a son, Joel.

We are now going into a hardware store owned by Stevens and Enger.  They carry a good stock of hardware for a pioneer store with a tin shop in the rear with Jack Regner in command.  Alex Iverson is the chief clerk.

We now enter the one remaining building of the old Syverson store that has been turned into a men's clothing store by Gust Olson, a large jovial man who operated it for quite a few years.  The upstairs of this building was connected to the upstairs of the hardware store with a stairway between the two and serving both.  This is where a lot of the country kids who came to town to attend high school found rooms.  They used to drive Anton Christianson, who was the town's police force, crazy keeping them straight.

The next place is Si Black's barbershop.  Si built quite an attractive home and decent shop on ten cents for a shave and fifteen cents for a haircut.  He had several children.

I think next is a small building in which Attorney Jacobson had his office when he moved from the Syverson building and at one time Ed Warner was in with him, and Oscar Kerr who married a widowed sister of Mrs. Warner.

We don't need a harness right now, but we will visit with John McDermott for a few minutes anyway.  You see at this time harness making was big business as all the power used on the farm except threshing was horsepower and harnesses did wear out.  John appeared to be a rather stern man and I never did know him very well.  He married Anna Arneson.  John was quite a baseball fan for the home team.  Mrs. McDermott was left a widow at a relatively early age and boarded a lot of the schoolteachers for many years.

By now it must surely be time for dinner so let us stop in next door.  It will only cost us 25 cents for all we can eat of good wholesome food served home-style on long tables.  In the front of the building is candies and tobacco.  In the rear was the kitchen.  Emil Marquardt is the proprietor, a short, red-faced, rather stout German.  This was a sort of landmark for many years and in later years when soda fountains came into vogue they added ice cream, and connected with this he built a large ice house and delivered ice throughout the town until the demand for ice diminished and he turned the building into the city's opera house.  The Marquardts had three children.  The two boys stayed in town for many years.

Theo. was teller in one of the banks and when Nye became United States Senator on the death of Senator Ladd, Theo. received appointment as postmaster.  Otto and his wife Belle ran the restaurant for a long time.  A fire cleaned out this and the remaining two buildings in the block and Otto built a nice new brick building and continued the ice cream and restaurant.  Theo married Lottie Moffatt and Lizzie married Fred LaMont and lived in Fargo.

Next door the restaurant was a sort of general store owned by Henry Retzlaff, a brother of Julius who had a meat market in the next block.  This store didn't last long enough for me to know much about it, but I think Archie Bowden who managed one of the grain elevators was a pan owner.

Now we come to the corner store owned by Peter E. Nelson.  This is where I started regular work.  Nelson was a good hardware man and we got along well.  I kept the books, waited on trade, helped the plumber and tinner and set up stoves.  Pete had a large family and I think Mother helped bring all of them into the world.  This building was destroyed in the fire that burned out the drug store and Marquardts'.

David Bartlett had his law office upstairs and also living quarters.  Dave was said to be associated with Alex McKenzie the Railroad attorney and was a delegate to the state Constitutional Convention and later Lieutenant Governor.  Politically he was a Republican and an opponent of W. T. McCulloch, Mother's cousin and a Farmers Alliance advocate.  Dave brought a bride out from Boston and lived upstairs until he bought the P. B. King house.  Around back of the store was where Percy Trubshaw lived and published the Courier in the same building until he was appointed Postmaster and moved into Main Street.

We now cross the street to the next block west and the first building we come to is Almklov's Drug Store, a long one-story frame building.  At the rear end is another small building where Dr. Bergstrom had his office.  Mr. Almklov is said to have been a Lutheran minister, but I never knew him as anything but a druggist.  He patented an eczema cure that he advertised and sold all over the nation.  He had five children of his own and helped several relatives get a start.  Wadel was my age.  He studied law at the University of North Dakota but during this time he was going blind.  Leif became a doctor and practiced in Cooperstown.  He married Edith Johnson.  Sig was the other son.  Ruth married Andrew Hoel and Agnes married an undertaker who took charge of their undertaking business.  They used to say that Almklov could take care of you from the cradle to the grave.  Andy Reite was Almklov's early day druggist.  The frame building burned down and was replaced by a two-story cement block building and Norman Hoel still runs the drugstore.

I could tell you a lot about the next place but will try and be brief.  Julius Retzlaff operated a meat market here.  They were a German family and lived near us when we lived in the old Whidden building.  They had boys my age and I was over there most of the time.  Otto, the oldest boy, helped his father in the shop.  Orry was a little older than I, but we were pals.  Rudy was my age.  Hank was pretty young for us.  There were also Emma and Tony.  Julius later sold the business to E. E. Downe and farmed west of town for some years before moving west.

A short time after Downe bought the meat market he married H. P. Hammer's sister who had had a ladies hat shop in a small building next door for several years and he then built living quarters for themselves at the rear.  Later Joe Salisbury had a barbershop there.

We next come to the second rather large general store, belonging to C. T. Whidden.  He had a large trade with the farming community.  About this time we should meet John Benson, manager and Richard Howden, clerk.  Stella's sister Grace (Stella was Mrs. Edmondson) worked here for some time also and T. E. Warner also worked for Whidden.  The main grocery clerk was George Newberry.  George had a small building at the rear where he worked over the butter taken in trade from the farmers and turned it into about three grades.  The first was fairly usable and if you left your order with George you would get good wholesome butter from a well-known supplier.  The second wasn't good enough for local trade and the third was stale grease.  These two grades he packed in 50-lb firkins and shipped out.  Tupper had no children of his own, but a nephew, Blair Whidden, lived with him.  He was a nice kid.  The business prospered for several years but eventually ran into financial difficulties and closed out.  The building was then turned into a moving picture theater and confectionery store.

A congenial pioneer, William Stringer and his brother George had a harness shop next door and living quarters upstairs.

We now come to P. K. Moe's hotel.  This hotel was first started by Pete Johnson, but was taken over by P. K. about the time of our visit.  We could have a cup of coffee at the counter or a meal in the dining room.  P. K. was a good businessman.  Mrs. Moe was a sister of Mrs. Jack Flynn.  Flynn became sheriff of Griggs County and quite a race horseman.  He and John McDermott owned the trotter Wyandotte that was quite a racehorse at the time.  The Moes had two daughters, Mollie and Olga.  Mollie never married but worked in the county auditor's office for years.  Olga married Johnnie Mack, who came to town as a painter.

The next stop is Reier Anderson's pool hall.  He would also serve a light lunch and he used to bake pork chops that would melt in your mouth.  It seems to me that at this time the family was living up near Vinegar hill and later they lived above the pool hall.  When Reier closed it in 1918, I rented it and had a variety store there for four years.  Reier had three daughters.

The next two lots were covered by a livery stable.  I don't remember who ran it.  I think Reier Anderson had an interest in it.  When it was done away with, Tom Irgens and Walt Nelson built a one-story brick building and put in a stock of men's clothing and the Bergs built a filling station on the corner.

We have now reached the corner and there is nothing to speak of until we reach the railroad tracks, but in order to cross the street to the north we have to go back to Moe's Hotel and go through a tunnel, remember I told you this was the winter of the deep snow and no team up main street from fall until spring.  We will now go back west to the corner and here we find the old Union House, a very mediocre hotel, run by Sam Clark.

The next building was a rooming house built by William Schmidt, Anna and Billie Schmidt's father.  This was later turned into the printing office when the Sentinel and Courier merged.

Next door was a one-story building where Prof. Hodge started a store when he left the school, but did not operate it very long.  When it was closed D. B. McDonald put in a bakery that operated for years and years.

Here we have a small building that is Hans Hanson's shoe shop, at first it was just shoe repairing, but he later put in a line of men's shoes.  Hans was an old batch.

Now we come to another eating shop, Perchert's restaurant.  I think August was a brother of Mrs. Emil Marquardt.  His wife was the boss.  There used to be a new baby arrive about every year.

I think I missed Pete Tang's pool hall that was just beside Percherts'.  He was a husky man and had four husky sons and I think, three daughters.

We now come to a big new department store, put up by the Berg Brothers Larson and Erick Erickson had an interest in it.

The next two buildings that now occupy these lots did not appear until later.  Erick Erickson used to have some farm machinery here for sale, but no building to house it.  Of the two brick buildings that were built on this space, Pat Costello had his drug store in one and Hank Hammer had a hardware store in the other.  Of course you all know that Pat married Janette Bergstrom and Hank married Lois Cussons.

The next building covered two lots and was the Hammer & Condy store.  Condy was married to H. P. 's sister.  Condy was a sharp financier, Hammer was a shrewd horse trader, and they did a large general store business.  They had a large barn at the rear and always a bunch of trading horses on hand.  Later this became a large machine warehouse, when they took in as partners Elijah Hamilton and William Butler.  The building in the picture has the sign "BANE" on it.  In the early days this was Virgo's drug store where Dr. Kerr hung out.  Do you remember the old plug tobacco?  Dr. Kerr would take a plug and cut it into 4 pieces.  He would put one in each cheek and it would be there for half a day.  At one time there was a bank in here, run by Sharp and Clark, but it didn't last very long.  It was Hammer & Condy's office until Thompson, McDermott took it over and it became a part of their general store.

We again cross the street as we travel east.  I can't remember just what year the First National Bank was built.  It may be that Cooper had his office here at this time, at least it was about due to arrive and they swung the small building around on the rear of the lot and built a two-story brick building and Cooper had nice quarters upstairs.  M. W. Buck was cashier.  Edith Sinclair was teller.  Later we find a man named Jones as cashier and then Friswold.  Working at the window were Andrew G. Hoel, N. A. Patterson, Barney Martin.

Next door to the bank was William Glass's land office and next to it another building of similar construction, two-story.  William Glass was the most fastidious man I ever knew, precise in every detail and he never married.

I understand that Claus Jackson operated a saloon in the next building before prohibition.  It had to close of course in 1889 and he put in a general store, but I do not think it operated very long.  At one time there was a photography shop, then Mr. Scott had his barbershop and lived upstairs.  After Scott moved out Dr. Plonty had a dental office upstairs.  Claus Jackson became Sheriff of Griggs County and later a general merchant in Hannaford.

We now come to the building where the Griggs County Sentinel was born, started by the Farmers Alliance with Jas.  Sinclair as editor and A. P. Jones as manager, Gilman Nordhougen as devil.

For years the question of high and low tariff was the chief political issue dividing the farmer from the businessman.  The Sentinel was started to present the Democratic viewpoint and the Courier represented the Republican views.  Ben Tufte, a promising young lawyer, used to drop in Wednesday nights and furnish the power for running the press.  I worked here for a short time, but I got my big toe broken in the press and that was the end of that.  Upstairs Dr. Wanner had his office and his brother was high school professor.

C. J. Lucken, an old batch, had a machine business next door.  He invented an early day washing machine.  It worked like a large wringer, two rollers made of wood and used with two ordinary tug tubs.  The clothes were rolled from one tub to the other.  Small pieces had to be folded into the sheets.  It was fine for bedding and a lot of them were saved for that purpose.

John O. Oie had a land and collection office next and handled land for the D. S. B. Johnson Land Company, who had a large amount of Railroad right of way land for sale.  Reier Lunde was office manager.

In 1892 when we came to Cooperstown there was a meat market in the next building run by a man named Rasmussen and in the fall when they got Syverson's store basement in, Dad went to work in this shop and worked that winter, walking back and forth to the Cooper cottage, four miles southwest of town, every day.  I think the shop closed up in the spring and a drug store was in there for a while, then the Courier print shop and post office.  After Theo.  Thompson put up a new building for the post office, Charley Hall moved in from his farm and started a garage.  Oliver Stevens worked for him for a while.

We now come to the corner where stood the old landmark built in 1883, the Palace Hotel.  A lot of local history was made here, but I will have to make my remarks brief.  I first saw this building in 1889 when my uncle Joe McCulloch was running it.  He was married to Josie Haskell and Florence, her sister, who later married And. Sinclair, helped in the hotel.  My uncle Dave McCulloch drove us over from Blanchard for a visit the first summer we were in the United States I suppose it had several other people running it, but I can only remember two, the Arneson sisters who later became Mrs. Bergstrom and Mrs. McDermott.  Somewhere in here Fred Stone took it over and managed it for many years.  It was finally bought by Martin Wold, Thor Hetager's brother who tore it down and built three houses out of the salvaged lumber.  A garage now occupies the corner.

To make a town there has to be other services besides main street so we will stop at the Courthouse, two blocks south of main street.

I can't tell you who the early county officials were.  There was a bitter struggle between Hope and Cooperstown for the county seat for at this time Griggs extended to Traill county on the east and at a later date Steele County was formed out of a portion of Griggs and Traill and the county seat went to Sherbrook, an inland town that eventually died and Finley took over, so Hope never did get its heart's desire.  In our time William Carleton was Probate Judge, Fred Stone Treasurer, P. A. Melgard Auditor, Clara Feiring Superintendent of Schools, O. D. Purinton Clerk of Court, Frithjof Greenland Sheriff, or Jack Flynn.  Once a county officer was elected he usually held the office for quite some time.

The railroad tracks were two blocks west of the stores on main street.  The land in between was used for baseball games.  Four of the Sinclair boys played positions on the team at the same time.  Chet Hoar was a whirlwind pitcher, Tamber a catcher.  Later a second team was organized - the Cooperstown Grays.  Baseball and horse racing were about the only sports available at the time.  Jack Flynn and John McDermott owned a fast racehorse named Wyandotte, the Sinclair Brothers owned a running horse named Linden, and they had a standing challenge to anyone who wanted to race.

The Depot was two blocks north with R. M. Cowan in charge.  I don't remember if I mentioned the part played by the Railroad when prohibition came in.  They set up what was called the original package deal.  Gallons of liquor were put up in jugs and shipped to John Doe.  Anyone who wanted a gallon could sign the register, pay the C. O. D. charges, and walk away with a gallon of liquor.  Legislation finally stopped it.

Cooperstown became one of the largest shipping points on the Northern Pacific system for wheat and flax, drawing trade for 30 miles to the north and west until the road was extended to McHenry in 1905, so had several elevators strung along the tracks.  Al Bliss, W. D. Marsh, Carl Johnson, A. B. Stewart, A. M. Bowden, John Byers, Frank Barkee and August Anderson were some of the early day grain buyers.  R. C. Cooper built the first elevator in the town, a round one.  It burned after a few years.  The first elevators were operated by horse or mule power.  They were hitched to a sweep that went round and round.  So that they would not know when the driver left them and stop, these animals were blinded.  This cruel practice ended when gasoline engines were introduced.  Down at the south end of the yards was the round-house.  Ben Brown was in charge and it was his duty to have the engine oiled, steamed up and ready to go every morning.  William Buckley was engineer and J. E. Johnson was the conductor.  It was a mixed train, freight cars with a passenger coach on behind.

There were two lumberyards

the Gull River Lumber Company was managed by Ed Blackwell.  When Mr. Blackwell quit to become cashier of the State Bank it was taken over by Salzer Lumber Company.  The other was Crane-Johnson Company, and I think it is still there.  Maynard Crane was an early day state senator and upon retiring moved to Florida.  He had two daughters.  Mrs. Crane's sister, Miss Fitch, lived with them.  John E. Johnson, Crane's partner, had a daughter Lizzie who married Ed Blocker.

Down near the Depot was Phipp's Mill where they ground Phipps Best flour.  W. H. had two sons, Ben and Roy.  Bert married Anna Hammer.  He was running an elevator up at Mose and drowned while hunting on Red Willow Lake.  Afterwards Anna married R. M. Cowan.

Professor Hodge was the first principal of the school that I remember.  A two-room, two-story building was situated in the same place that the brick one is now.  The grades were downstairs and the high school upstairs.  Thirze Gimblett was the grade teacher.  Later she married a Reverend Taylor and William Carlton's wife taught the grades.  By the time of the deep snow, they had built a school down where the Berg Memorial building now stands for the first four grades.  During that severe winter my dad was janitor and it was my job to sweep and dust the little school.  A few of the early principals were Jas.  H. Sinclair, Prof. Warner and Prof. LaBoe.

When O. D. Purinton, pastor of the Baptist church, became County Clerk, Reverend Smithers took his place.  An evangelist named Rust had a gospel car that came to Cooperstown sponsored by the Baptists and I can remember the night that Ed Blackwell, Jack Flynn and several others were baptized in a tank under the pulpit by Reverend Purinton.

The Methodist church changed pastors quite often.  I can remember a man named Collins who was more interested in horse racing than in preaching.  The Congregational had a Reverend Shaw for quite a while.  I got $5 a month for doing the janitor work there.  The old time minister for the Lutherans was Reverend Silness.  I remember Mother taking me there once and it struck me so funny that all the men sat on one side and the women on the other.  I sat with Mother and felt very uncomfortable all through the service.

When the fire department bought the steam fire engine it ran into quite a little money so one method to help with the cost was to sell chances on the name of the engine at so much a vote.  Some wanted it named after the first baby boy born in town, Otto Marquardt.  Others were equally keen to name it after the first girl, Grace Thompson.  There were a lot of Norwegians in town and they wanted it named after the Viking god Oden.  When the votes were counted they found the Norwegians had won.  If you will look on the side of this old engine you will see a nameplate with the name ODEN on it.

When the thaw came in the spring the town was completely surrounded by water, and the only way in or out for about three weeks was by horseback over the Railroad grade to higher ground to the south.  We kids built a raft out of Railroad ties and rafted clear around the town and down south to Langford's farm where Langford had built a dam and a big swimming pool was located.  The water found its way from here to the Sheyenne River.

I can hardly bring this long tale to a close without mentioning the Masonic Temple.  The first recorded meeting was held July 5, 1895, and was authorized by the Grand Lodge in 1896.  They rented quarters from the Odd Fellows in the hall above the drug store.  It started with 19 charter members.
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THE DEVASTATING THIRTIES

Many a historian has written the story of the Great Depression in terms of economics, but they who do so bat only in the major leagues.  On the Great Plains drought choked life from the land.  It was the incidence of drought and depression at the same time that produced the greatest social disaster the North American continent has known since the white man ca to these shores.

In the early twenties Griggs County was included in the richest counties per capita in the United States.  By 1936 it was among the poorest.  And before the decade of the thirties was over, Cooperstown, as the county seat, had become a mirror of the dismal tide.

Cooperstown was founded in 1882.  Griggs County organized in 1884.  When the "dirty" thirties came upon the nation, some fifty years later, the pioneer generation that had provided the character and the dedication and the toil were dying out.  That was the toughest part of the story, for the pioneers had given there all to the area, the county, Cooperstown, the nation, and somehow it seemed to have betrayed them.  Most of them had come here penniless, invested a lifetime of hard work only to lose everything they had at the end of their days.

I saw them, their bleak, beleaguered faces and the smile they froze upon their lips to keep the hurt from showing.  I watched them being buried as old age cut them down in endless, repetitive fashion, going to their graves as poor as when they came.  I wrote obituary after obituary, sometimes as many as a dozen in a single issue for the Sentinel- Courier, and I cried over every one of them.

John Syverson and Sons,' Inc., Thompson-McDermott, Albert Larson and Company were the big names on Burrell Avenue in the days before the Great Depression.  There were three banks, The First National, The First State and The Farmers and Merchants Bank, all of Cooperstown, but when the tide of that era had run its course, every one of them were gone.  The present First State Bank stands on the site of the old First National, while the Farmers and Merchants is a revival of a later date.

And so it came about that the depression and the drought and the deaths of the pioneers descended on Griggs County in a single decade.  The social and cultural dislocations were as bad as the economic.  Indeed the continuity of cultural traditions was completely disrupted, and the distinguishments of local history were, for the most part, lost for following generations.

But the same situation seemed to prevail almost everywhere in the United States so Griggs County is really a capsule reflection of the change that engulfed the nation.

It is said that a people who ignore history are fated to repeat it, but it is equally true that a people who worship it are fated to succumb to it.  I like best the attitude of Great Nels who was a farmer in Helena Township on the Ball Hill Creek.  It was in the depths of the Depression.  Great Nels, with a mortgage on his farm, was in danger of losing everything that he had worked for forty years.  But he smiled and shook his fist and he said, "Ven I come to dis country I haf five dollar in my pocket.  It is a good country.  I still got five dollar in my pocket, by jimminy.”

The pioneers didn't believe in money.  They believed in work.  They believed that a man who worked hard earned his reward in money or property or whatever.  But they did not believe in these things without work.  indeed, they believed that work put value to money.  And they were right.

They were right about a lot of other things, too.  If a farmer became ill and couldn't work, his neighbors would plow his land and put in his crop.  Dr. Carl Brimi flagged down the Fast Mail at Sutton to get a sick child to a Fargo hospital.  R. C. Cooper carried a sack of flour on his back all the way from Valley City to Cooperstown in the winter of 1882.  You did what you had to do, and you did not complain.  You took the cards that life had dealt and played them out.  Dr. Brimi thought the Fast Mail was going to run him down, but he stood in the tracks waving his flag and refused to yield.  The founder of Cooperstown did not know whether he could make it or not, but he knew he had to try.

Such was the code that prevailed up to and through the Thirties.  It was a simple, unsophisticated code.  But it was honest, decent, and sacrificial, and it worked.  And that is a whole lot to say for any era.

Source Page 41

MEMORIES

By Jean (Howden) Evans

As the wife of an Army officer I have traveled through and made my home in many states and several foreign countries.  I have made countless friends, seen sights and places everyone dreams of, had harrowing experiences, been a pan of amusing incidents, lived through unusual circumstances, and in unbelievable surroundings.  But the sharpest, most lasting, poignant memories are of my girlhood in Griggs County, North Dakota.

· The lilacs blooming in the spring 

· the water freezing in my water

· glass in my bedroom window 

· the horse on the steps of the high school on Halloween 

· my Shetland pony, Dolly, and I flying as one being through the fields and down the roads with endless space and limitless freedom 

· the May-baskets we girls made from construction paper and then delivered to boys' homes hoping the boys would chase us 

· my Dad stopping our Model A, getting out and walking through the fields picking a head of wheat and checking the grain 

· our exciting trip to the Badlands in our Model A in 1934 

· winning an essay contest and a prize of $2.50! 

· Planting a tree to commemorate George Washington's Bicentennial 

· the spring one of our classmates lost her mother in a blizzard 

· the almost unbearable excitement of Play Day when merchants gave things away and we might have new tennis shoes, and we'd run races and maybe win a blue ribbon! 

· the occasional (and therefore rare) treat of a carnival or circus or show 

· Fred Ashby on the corner with his popcorn maker (the little red-suited monkey never got tired and we never got tired of watching him) 

· the contest my brother and I had every time we came to town to see who could see Cooper first as we came over the rise on Highway 7 near the Baily farm 

· the ugly sand dunes heaped over fences and buildings during the never-ending drought years 

· the one Christmas without a tree and the terrible hurt in my parents' faces because of the lack 

· a ride in the rumble seat of my big cousin's Whippet 

· the snow-plough piling the snow up higher than our house 

· our first radio (a battery set from Wards) and the absolute magic of hearing "There's a Rainbow 'Round My Shoulder, " when we turned the knob the first time 

· staying up late to watch election returns (Township by Township) being posted on a blackboard in the Court House when my Dad was running for office 

· coffee cups left in different parts of our yard by my Mother as she enjoyed her early mornings 

· being pulled on our skis behind a car down a snowy Main Street 

· the tingling excitement when my Mother would open her steamer trunk and let me see her souvenir spoons (many gathered on her trip to Europe) and her high top button shoes (and she'd tell me of the gowns and parasols and hats she used to wear) and her opera glasses, and our baby rings, and oh so many treasures 

· the fluffy baby chicks as they pecked their way into the world 

· the time our dog had eight puppies 

· the feel of the rough tongue of a baby calf as I tried to teach it to drink milk from a pail 

· ice skating across from the grade school and trying to get warm in the old Palace Garage 

· picking crocuses in the spring on my way home from school 

· and the cowslips and the buttercups 

· the high school football games where we didn't sit in seats far from the action, but followed the team up and down the field 

· my pet lamb, Betty, given to me by our neighbor, Lige Pratt 

· the basketball games in Berg Gym where you had to pull back to give the player room to throw in the ball from out of bounds 

· the absolutely scrubbed look of all pupils for the Christmas program 

· the time Phyllis Lende and I had a fight (just to see who was the toughest) and I was afraid my brother would tell my parents 

· the covered Valentine box at school stuffed with homemade cards 

· my first job at Penneys at twenty-two and a half cents an hour 

· Mr. Edmondson in his white apron, meat cleaver in hand, in his store, smiling and saying "What do you need today, Jeanie?" 

· winning a croquet set in a contest where you put your name on IGA labels and dropped them in a box for a drawing 

· the embarrassment of my Mother when she learned Dodo Hammer and I had gathered labels from cans at the dump and stuffed the box 

· my puzzlement at why that should bother her 

· my trip to the lumberyard to select two bricks to be made into book ends as my Dad's Christmas gift 

All these things and many more are not just vague memories of another place and time - they were absorbed by me and are a part of me.
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Albert Larson Company

By Boyd A. Larson

For over half a century the firm of Albert Larson and Company was in business on main street in Cooperstown.

To pick up the thread of ancestry of Albert Larson, one must travel back to Telemarken, Norway, where Albert's father, Halvor S. Larson, was born in 1824.  Halvor migrated to the United States in 1847 and first settled in Boone County, Illinois.  In 1856 Halvor married Kari Berg and this family later settled in the Lake Mills, Iowa, area.  Halvor and Kari had six children:  

1. Soren Larson

2. Albert Larson

3. Maria (Larson) Berg

4. Emma (Larson) Berg

5. Lewis Larson and 

6. Sara (Larson) Saxerud.

Around 1880 Albert and one of his cousins bought a threshing machine and threshed for several seasons around the Lake Mills area.  About two years later Albert, one brother, two cousins and a friend decided to try Dakota and moved to the Goose River settlement near Mayville where they worked for the railroad, and broke sod and threshed for local established farmers.  Following this Albert filed a claim on some land near Binford where he was again involved with threshing rigs and the buying and selling of horses.

Albert and a cousin, Rollef Berg, entered the machinery business in Cooperstown around 1885.

Dorthea Qualey of Romness Township, Griggs County and Albert Larson were wed in 1889.  Mr. and Mrs. Larson's family was made up of four children:  

1. Oliver

2. Mabel

3. Selmer and Rolf.  

Mrs. Larson was fatally burned in a household accident in 1928.  Oliver died at the age of 24 and Rolf died in infancy.  Mabel, who has spent her life in Christian education work, is a resident of Minneapolis.  Albert died in 1930.

Albert Larson, Andrew Berg, Lewis Berg, Eric Erickson and a Mr. Johnson formed a partnership that was known as Berg Brothers and Company in 1895.  This was really quite a significant business enterprise as it involved a general mercantile establishment, machinery outlets, vast farm holdings and interests in fine-blooded livestock.

It is to be noted that the Andrew Berg mentioned, as a partner with Albert in Berg Brothers and Company is the same Berg whose name is associated with Berg Memorial Gymnasium in Cooperstown.  'Just prior to this, Albert Larson had donated a parcel of land north of the high school for a playground.  This has since been developed as a part of the current Cooperstown High School athletic field.

A picture of the employees of Berg Brothers and Company taken around the turn of the century shows many unidentified men but one can identify Gustav Hanson, Albert Larson, Eric Erickson, Lewis Berg, Andrew Berg, Andrew Hoel and Martin Garlid.

The two Berg gentlemen associated in Berg Brothers were, of course, brothers and were cousins of Albert Larson.  In addition, Albert's sister, Emma, was married to Andrew Berg.

As is sometimes wont to happen with partnerships, especially when relatives are involved, it was deemed wise to dissolve the partner ' ship with each partner getting a portion of the holdings.

As his share, Albert Larson received the general mercantile store in 1905.  This then was the origin of the landmark on Cooperstown's main street, Albert Larson and Company.

Albert Larson and Company was open every business day from 1905 to December 1956 when the death of Albert's son Selmer and the retirement of his partner Gustav Hanson caused the closing of this community institution.

Albert Larson and Company had as its slogan, "The One Price Department Store.”  This has a story behind it.  In early days prices were not marked on the items as they are today but rather a "code" would appear.  The code indicated the wholesale cost of the merchandise to the store.  The clerks could read the code but hopefully the customers could not.  Everyone liked to make deals so the clerk and the customer would haggle over the price.  The code told the clerk how low he could go.  About the time Albert Larson and Company was established this practice was disappearing, and the merchant would take the cost plus a fair markup to cover his overhead and profit, and this became the selling price.  Albert Larson and Company took advantage of this new trend in merchandising in their slogan to advertise the fact that they charged the same price to everyone, no matter who they were.

Several years after assuming ownership of the store, Albert Larson invited two employees, Gustav Hanson and Peter H. Carlson to join him in a partnership.

Self'-service was unheard of, when a clerk waited on a person that's what he really did.  The customer would read his grocery list and the clerk would write it down on his pad and then go to the many shelves, bins and drawers and get each and every item for the customer.

Until the 1940's most people did not call it shopping or marketing but rather "trading" and that is literally what many did.  They would bring in eggs, butter, potatoes, handmade fancy work or whatever they might have that was salable and trade it for groceries they needed.  If the grocery bill was larger than the worth of the goods or produce, then they had to pay the difference in cash "to boot.”  If it were less, then they received "chips" that were redeemable only at that given store.  Albert Larson and Company had chips minted in the denominations of $10.00, $5.00, $1.00, 500, 250, 100, and 50.  They used real pennies in this form of barter.  Albert Larson and Company stopped trading in butter in the late teens or early '20s but continued to trade in eggs way into the '40s when the State egg grading laws became so strict it was no longer practical.  They would still accept garden produce and fancy work right up to the time the store closed.

Albert Larson's son, Selmer, married a teacher in the Cooperstown school system, May Boyd, in 1922.  To this marriage three children were born:  

1. twin daughters Dorthea and 

2. Jeannette who died in infancy 

3. and a son Boyd who is a school administrator at Chaska, Minnesota.  

He married LaVonne Herberg of Crookston, Minnesota and they have one son Eric Rolf born in 1964.  Boyd had the distinction of being Cooperstown's first Eagle Scout.

Selmer and May Larson were members of Trinity Lutheran Church and were active in the life of Cooperstown.

Selmer participated in the Democratic Party, served several terms on the City Council, was an organizer and charter member of the Griggs County Wildlife Association as well as being a long time secretary and life member of the Cooperstown Fire Department.

May Larson served for years as a member of the Cooperstown school board and was president of that elected body.  She was active in the program of Christian education at Trinity Lutheran Church, a charter member of Chapter W. of the P. E. O. , as well as being a member on good standing of the Order Of Eastern Star and Past Matrons Club.  She also had a part in founding the public library in 1944, and served as librarian.

May died in 1953 and Selmer in 1956.
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Almklov's Pharmacy

One of the oldest drug and pharmaceutical enterprises in North Dakota, Almklov's Drug Store is perhaps the oldest in the state under the management of direct family descendant of the founder.

At the time Mr. S. Almklov purchased the store from Dr. Newell in 1888, Cooperstown and environs were a part of Dakota Territory and consequently Mr. Almklov and his Pharmacy were among the first to be licensed to operate when North Dakota was admitted to statehood.

Mr. Almklov remained in active management of the pharmacy until 1935 when he suffered a heart attack, and retired.

During the nearly 50 years in the drug business he developed many private formulae.  The best known and widely used was the X. E. M. SALVE which has been sold nation-wide and in Canada and Norway and Sweden.

Upon the retirement of Mr. Almklov the business was continued as a family partnership with Dr. L. Almklov and a grandson, Norman Hoel in charge of the operations.

When Dr. Almklov retired and moved to California in 1951, Norman Hoel assumed management, and he and his wife Marie bought the business from the partnership, the store was enlarged and remodeled.  Norman and Marie Hoel continue to operate the Pharmacy as the third generation link in this 87-year-old establishment.
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Crane-Johnson Lumber
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Company, Cooperstown

In 1883 Cooperstown was in the throes of early growth.  Lumber up to that time had been hauled overland from Valley City, a slow, tedious process that each individual builder was forced to assume for himself.  Meanwhile, the rapidly increasing population in the county, the influx of settlers streaming into the territory by twos, threes and fours, some on covered wagons pulled by teams of oxen, demanded the creation of a lumber service.

Maynard Crane opened the first lumber plant in Griggs County on March 1, 1883, in Cooperstown.  He operated the business alone for almost a decade.  In 1887 he employed a farmer-settler from southern Nelson County, John E. Johnson.  In 1896 Johnson became a partner in the business and the firm became known as Crane-Johnson.

In 1890 Crane-Johnson expanded to Hannaford, with Archie Sinclair manager there.  Twelve years later when the Sanborn Cooperstown and Turtle Mountain Railway had been expanded to McHenry another yard was established at that point and the manager's job was given to F. C. Potter of Sanborn.  Potter was brought to Cooperstown in 1907 and seven years later became general manager of the corporation, a position he held until his death in 1935.

The company continued to establish yards in many other communities.  In 1932 the general office was moved to Fargo.  Maynard Crane remained president of the company until his death in 1947, at the age of 92.  After Crane's death, Ward D. Briggs became president.  In 1956, after the death of Briggs, Andy Hvidsten became president and served in that capacity until his death in 1968.  Lee Briggs, son of Ward, succeeded to the presidency, and is president at this time.

The managers and the yards they operate are:  

Ted Sonderby, Cooperstown

Warren Stromberg, Hope

Charles Tabor, Mayville

Myron Lonneberg, Enderlin

Grant Walker, Lidgerwood

Herbert Werner, Fargo

Paul Vance, West Fargo

Sterling Haugen, Pelican Rapids, Minnesota

Roger Haugrud, Perham, Minnesota, and Robert Cameron, Hallock, Minnesota.

Crane-Johnson Company was incorporated in 1903 with capital stock of $100,000 by Maynard Crane, John E. Johnson, G. E. McConnel and E. F. Crane.

F. C. Potter was appointed manager of the Cooperstown yard in 1907 and served in that capacity for seven years.  When he was made general manager of the firm,

A. K. Sorvik became manager of the Cooperstown yard.  Jim Hovern succeeded Sorvik and served as manager until 1938.

In the spring of 1938 a new office was built onto the yard and was almost completed when a fire broke out June 10 and the entire yard was destroyed.  The company rebuilt immediately and the new yard was completed and open for business August 27 of the same year.  Leonard Thorson was manager of the new yard, the most modern in North Dakota at that time.

In 1946 Thorson was transferred to West Fargo, and Ben H. Fink became manager until his retirement in 1967.  Ted Sonderby is the present manager,

In 1974 extensive remodeling was done at the Cooperstown yard to enlarge the display area.
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Griggs County Farmers Mutual Fire & Lightning Insurance Company

A meeting was held June 10, 1916 at the Griggs County Court House, Cooperstown, North Dakota to organize a county mutual insurance company in Griggs County for the purpose of insuring the property of its members against loss, damage by fire, and lightning on the county mutual plan.  At this meeting W. P. Houghton was named chairman

Louis Berg, secretary

and H. P. Hammer, Treasurer.  Twenty-two farmers signified their intention of becoming members by paying a membership fee.  The name chosen for the company was Griggs County Farmers Mutual Fire and Lightning Insurance Company.

Nothing further was done until sometime in the winter when M. F. Washburn and Louis Berg secured $25, 000 worth of insurance applications.  This was enough to allow them to secure a charter from the state.

At a meeting held March 10, 1917 in Berg Brothers office the first board of directors was elected as follows:  

T. A. Huso, Gunder Trostad, E. E. Iverson, Henry Asmus, A. O. Retzlaff, B. W. Hazard, C. K. Stromme, H. G. Rohlwing, M. Mogaard, E. Savre, H. H. Langford, Wilmot Houghton, Fred Detwiller, M. F. Washburn, and Frank J. Pfeifer.  The Directors then held a meeting and elected the first officers to serve for a one year term with E. Savre elected President

Fred Detwiller, Vice-President

M. F. Washburn, Secretary, and Louis Berg, Treasurer.

The Company commenced business on May 15, 1917, with its home office and principal place of business at Cooperstown, North Dakota.  On this date the first policies were also issued.

The Company is controlled by its membership, which consists of persons or organizations having insurance in force therein, and the management of its business affairs is vested in a board of directors composed of fifteen members elected at the annual meeting of the membership by a plurality vote.  Annual meetings of the membership are held on the last Friday in June of each year.  Directors are elected for staggered terms of three years each and the directors select from their members a President and Vice President.  They also select a Secretary and Treasurer who may or may not be members of the Board.  An adjuster- inspector is also appointed.

In 1963 the Company began writing windstorm and hail coverage (except on growing crops) and reinsures these risk, 100%.  The home office building is located on the main street of Cooperstown, is a two-story frame structure, and was purchased by the Company in 1970.
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Griggs County Sentinel-Courier

Cooperstown was only two months old when citizens received the first issue of the Cooperstown Courier.  Ed Stair, a former student of the University of Michigan, was only 23 when he came to Cooperstown to start a newspaper.  Cooper was anxious to have a newspaper and he furnished, or loaned, $500 to pay for the printing press and the type.  It came by train to the "end of the track" where it was unloaded and brought the rest of the way by Mule Freight.

The first printing office still stands.  remodeled as the Anton Oien residence.  All lumber, hardware and other supplies were hauled to Cooperstown by Cooper's Mule Freight overland from Sanborn in wagons in summer or sleighs in winter.

Stair had been a newspaper publisher since he was fourteen years old, when, with his brother, two years older, he founded the WEEKLY REVIEW in his hometown of Morenci, Michigan.  After working on several other papers he came to North Dakota to launch a newspaper.  He spent some time in Fargo and wrote a series of articles for the Fargo ARGUS about the Hope-Cooperstown county seat dispute.

The first Cooperstown Courier was published January 26, 1883.  Stair sold the paper to Frederick H. Adams, an attorney from Valley City, in April 1884.

Adams was editor from April 1884 until May 1889.  During that time he was a member of the legislature.  It was Adams who donated to the county the complete volumes of the first four years of the paper's publication.

Adams sold the Courier to Percy Trubshaw and a man named Thompson in 1889, and in the following year Trubshaw bought his partner's interest.  The Courier was a Republican paper, and Trubshaw wrote peppery editorials.  A native of England, he had worked for Adams for some time.  He stayed here until 1912 when he went to Valley City, where he was editor of the Valley City Courier and later the Times-Record.

Meanwhile, the Sentinel, a Democratic paper, came into being.  Although no copies of the earliest Sentinels are available and no dates can be given, there is a record of a meeting to organize the "Griggs County Publishing Company" in February 1898.  W. T. McCulloch was president, Albert Larson secretary, C. J. Lukken treasurer, and J. H. Sinclair, manager.

H. S. Rearick took over the Sentinel in 1901, and for the next several years engaged in political duels with Editor Trubshaw.  Rearick bought the Courier from Trubshaw in 1912 and merged the papers.  From that time the paper has been known at the Griggs County Sentinel- Courier.  The Rearick Publishing Company, which included Rearick, O. A. Lee and W. G. Schannach, operated the paper until 1919 when they sold it to the Griggs County Farmers' Press, a group of Nonpartisan League members.  Rearick, Lee and Schannach bought a paper in Leavenworth, Washington, and Gerald P. Nye came to Cooperstown to be managing editor of the paper.  In 1925 Editor Nye became Senator Nye and moved to Washington.

Harry L. Thompson assumed management of the paper and remained as editor until his death in July 1948, except for a short time in the mid-thirties when he was in business in Idaho.  During that time Kermit Overby edited the newspaper.

Thompson, a veteran of World War I, first came to Cooperstown in 1919.  He served one term in the North Dakota legislature.  A well-known writer for the paper during Thompson's time was Oswald Tufte.

For a short time after the death of Harry Thompson the paper was run by Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Anderson.

In 1949 the paper was purchased by Mrs. M. G. (Nora) Frigaard and her sons, Gordon J. and Alan E. Alan Frigaard was editor until 1954, when he moved to Minnesota.  G. J. Frigaard and his wife, Eugenia (Duna) have run the paper since that time.

In 1973 the paper was converted from letterpress to offset operation.
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Griggs County Telephone Company

Telephones came to Cooperstown very early in its history.  The Griggs Courier of January 25, 1884, reported that two telephones had arrived in town and would soon be installed.  A line would be strung from the Palace Hotel to the depot, and another from the Bank of Cooperstown to the Cooperstown Livery.

In about 1898 Andy and Charles Goff secured a franchise for a telephone system in Cooperstown.  At that time there were about 40 phones in town.  By 1900 there were 62 phones in town and the first rural line was extended to the Cooper Ranch.

In 1907 a switchboard was installed in the Van Blon building (now known as the Lende building) on Ninth Street half a block south of Burrel Avenue.  Other men joined the company that year and they formed the Griggs County Telephone Company Corporation, and prepared to extend service about the county.  The following year they acquired property for the telephone building in Binford.  A few years later they moved the Cooperstown Switchboard to the upstairs of the Peter E. Nelson Hardware Store.

Harold Brown went to work for the telephone company in 1907 and later that year was married to Clara Mabel Francis.  They were moved to Binford and both worked for the telephone company, Mrs. Brown as switchboard operator.  In 1909 they- returned to Cooperstown, shortly afterward went to McVille.  returned to Cooperstown where Mr. Brown was hired as manager in 1913.  In that year, several rural lines to the east, south and northeast of Cooperstown were sold to farmers' groups and were switched by the company for many years.  The last of these were bought back by the company approximately sixty years later.

The McHenry Telephone Company became part of the Griggs County Telephone system in 1923.  About this time Mr. and Mrs. Brown purchased the company.  Mrs. Brown became the manager and has retained the position to the present time.

Various improvements have been made over the years.  As early as 1926 several of the aerial lines in Cooperstown were replaced by underground cable.  About that time the office and switchboard were moved to the upstairs front rooms of the old First National Bank building.

The office remained there until dial service was installed in Cooperstown.  Then the telephone company moved into a new building to the rear of the bank lot.

Binford first had dial service in 1940, Cooperstown in 1942 and McHenry in 1957.

In the sixties and seventies more of the aerial cables were replaced with underground cables, and most of the system is now underground.

New buildings were completed in Cooperstown in 1971, and in Binford and McHenry in 1974.

The new buildings housed new equipment.  In 1974, subscribers of the Griggs County Telephone Company had available to them DDD (Direct Distance Dialing), EAS (Extended Area Service) serving the three exchanges, and a number of other new services.

In 1945 Willis Nilson and his wife Lucille, daughter of the Harold Browns, came to Cooperstown and started working for the company.

Harold Brown died in 1953 and his son, Gordon Brown of Enderlin became president of the company.  He had worked with his father from time to time since he was in high school, and had supervised the installation of the dial systems in Binford and Cooperstown in 1939 and 1941.

Gordon Brown and his two sons, Harold and Ray, have been involved in the Griggs County Telephone Company's most recent modernization program.  Harold is manager of the Western Telephone Company in Faulkton, South Dakota, and Ray is associated with his father at the Moore and Liberty Telephone Company in Enderlin.
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History of Melroe - Cooperstown Plant

The Cooperstown Plant of Melroe Division, Clark Equipment, had a modest beginning in 1938 when Ed Reiten purchased a small welding shop and started his business as a repair shop for area farmers.  By the time the plant was purchased by the former Melroe Company in 1967, the Reiten plant had played its role in the production of more than a dozen agricultural products.  Ed Reiten recognized the needs of area farmers and built products to do the job better than any other available farm equipment.

The first products produced by the Cooperstown plant were steel tanks, but the product most well known prior to 1960 were the steel teeth produced for making haystacks.  There is no question that the world's first automatic reset moldboard plow is the most famous of the many products in Cooperstown plant history.

Besides the steel hay-stacking teeth, which was the primary product produced at Cooperstown for many years, the plant has also made a dozen other products, including swathers, grain augers, aluminum grain boxes, field sprayers, steel buildings, E-Z friction throttles, machinery trailers, snow buckets, a corn and other row crops harvester, grain drill packers and the famous moldboard plow.

The Cooperstown plant has been a major parts supplier to many other companies.  Prior to being acquired by Melroe in 1967, the Cooperstown plant had been producing fabricated parts for the Gwinner, North Dakota plant since 1943.  Parts made at Cooperstown for Melroe's Gwinner, North Dakota plant included sheet metal parts, fabricated parts for the Windrow Pickup and components for the Bobcat loader.

Recent production moves have left only side-tanks and throttles used in Bobcat production, still being produced at Cooperstown for the Gwinner, North Dakota plant.

The agricultural products still produced by the Melroe plant in Cooperstown are the automatic reset plow, Cooperstown packers for the reset plow, steel haystacking teeth and E-Z friction throttles used for tractors and the Bobcat.

Many factors have led to products being discontinued at Cooperstown over the years.  One of the most dramatic reasons was the great Cooperstown plant fire in January of 1954 that destroyed the dies for producing Reiten swathers and grain augers.

The 1960's marked the beginning of a new era for Reiten Manufacturing when the reset plow was introduced as an experimental model in 1961 and full production started in 1962 with 50 reset plows produced.  By 1963, a dealer organization had been established to market Reiten plows.  Also in 1963 the Reiten Manufacturing Company became the first company in the world to offer a pull-type 8-bottom plow, just another of many firsts in farm equipment that have been recorded at the Cooperstown plant.

The latest major development in the reset plow has been the change from the Railroad to the 900 series plow that started in August of 1971.  Currently the Cooperstown plant produces the 902, 903, 911 and 914 Melroe Automatic reset plows.
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Model Clothing Company

Model Clothing Company started business in Cooperstown in September 1917 as a branch store of Model Clothing Company of New Rockford, North Dakota.  The owners were Thomas Irgens, J. E. Forstein of New Rockford and H. R. Noftalin of Elbow Lake, Minnesota.  In 1935 Thomas Irgens purchased his partners' interest in the Cooperstown store and in the same year entered into partnership with Ludvig Olson who had purchased his partner's interest in the Olson and Nelson Clothing Company.  These two business concerns then consolidated, retaining the name of Model Clothing Company.  In 1948 Irgens purchased his partner's interest.

The original Model store was housed in the Stevens building, which later housed the photography studio.  The building was torn down in the summer of 1975.  The Model moved to its present building in 1925.  Thomas Irgens died in 1961 and his wife, Mary Irgens, assumed ownership at that time.  The business was managed by his son Donald Irgens and son-in-law Julian Mrozla.  In 1964 Donald Irgens left Cooperstown and the Model was managed by Julian Mrozla until July 1973, when Julian and Donna Mrozla purchased the store from Mrs. Irgens.

Donna Mrozla is the youngest of the Irgens family so the Model Clothing has remained in the same family since its establishment in 1917.
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Sarsten Motor Company

In 1924 Art Sarsten came to Cooperstown and started an auto repair shop in what is now the Lende Apartment building at Tenth and Roberts.  This building had originally been built by Chet Piatt and used for a light plant.  Later it was used as a mission meeting place, still later as a garage, and today, it is an apartment building.

Mr. Sarsten was born and raised on a farm at Litchville, North Dakota, and was the oldest son of Mr. and Mrs. P. G. Sarsten, pioneer settlers in Barnes County.  Before coming to Cooperstown, he had worked three years in the mail department of the Union Railway passenger depot in St. Paul, Minnesota.

Shortly after starting in business here he formed a partnership with Christ Haaland, and it became known as the Haaland-Sarsten Garage.  Three years later he sold his interest to Haaland.  After that he worked for King Bruns Auto Company (the Ford dealer at that time) in the Main Motor Company building, now occupied by the Melroe Company.

In 1932 he started working for Farmers Oil Company.  While there he and Ted Stone secured the Chrysler-Plymouth agency.  In 1935 he purchased Mr. Stone's interest and moved to the old Mobil service station.  Later he bought lots on what was then Highway 7, built a building there and had the Chrysler- Plymouth agency for 27 years.  He also had the Allis Chalmers farm machinery dealership for 24 years.

At one time Sarsten Motor Company was known as the largest Briggs and Stratton engine dealership in North Dakota, having sold over $10, 000 worth of small gasoline engines in one year.  In 1942 he was one of seven candidates for sheriff of Griggs County.

In 1960 Mr. Sarsten sold his business to Ted Vigesaa and Gene Wuflestad, retaining ownership of the building.  They established the V-W Motor Company, which is still located in the same place at 10th St. and Rollin Ave.

In 1964 the frame part of the building burned down, including four new cars and a good inventory of parts.  Mr. Sarsten then sold his interest to Ted Vigesaa, present owner.
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Cooperstown Veterinarians

Samuel B. Langford has been referred to as the first veterinary doctor in Griggs County.  Mr. Langford was born in England in 1837.  He came to Canada in 1858, and to Michigan in 1872.  He farmed there until 1881 when he came to Griggs County.  Mr. Langford died here in 1913.

Dr. J. A. H. Winsloe was also born in England.  He graduated from the Veterinary College at Toronto, Canada in 1897.  After investigating various places he decided upon Cooperstown as a favorable location.  Dr. Winsloe was also widely known as an auctioneer.  He continued his practice here until shortly before his death in 1921.

Dr. W. D. Foss graduated from Kansas State University.  He practiced at Cooperstown, Page, North Dakota and in Minnesota, as well as other states for the Department of Agriculture.  Dr. Foss married Clara Frigaard at Cooperstown in 1926.  He died in 1968.

Dr. H. O. Helmer was born near Cooperstown in 1886.  Dr. Helmer attended Kansas City College and took graduate work at Indiana Veterinary College in 1923.  The doctor practiced his profession for 43 years and was in Cooperstown until 1948, when he accepted employment as a government inspector.  Dr. Helmer died in 1965.

Drs. D. D. Clark and George Chapman came to Cooperstown in 1945 where they bought the practice of Dr. H. O. Helmer.  In October 1946, they entered the service.  After a year and a half in the Army, Dr. Clark returned to Cooperstown to resume his practice in the spring of 1948.  Dr. Chapman did not return.

Dr. Laverne Larson of Bottineau, North Dakota joined Dr. Clark in 1955, and Dr. Vernon Knudson of Taylor, North Dakota came in 1962.

In the fall of 1974 the Cooperstown Veterinary Clinic had an open house in their new building in the southwest addition to Cooperstown.  The building had been completed in the spring of 1974 and put into use.

For the Cooperstown Veterinarians, Drs. D. D. Clark, L. C. Larson and Vernon Knudson, the new veterinary clinic represented a radical change in their practice.  As their practice had grown, the territory had reached a point where they felt they spent too much of their time on the road which could be put to better use treating animals.
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Bethlehem Evangelical Free Church, Cooperstown

The Reverend H. F. Josephson began to hold evening services in the hall above the Bateman Drug Store in 1907.  About that time the Saron Evangelical Free Church started a branch Sunday School on Sunday afternoons in the Bateman Hall.  R. S. Lunde was the Superintendent.  The evening service and the Sunday School continued in the Bateman Hall until 1909 when the Saron Church purchased the electrical building for a reading room.  The Sunday evening service and the Sunday School were then conducted in the reading room, which became known as the Mission Hall.

During this time a number of people were meeting in homes for a mid-week service and a number of women were active in mission aid work.  Reverend H. F. Josephson left Cooperstown in 1916 and Reverend L. R. Lunde of the Saron Church continued to hold services in the Mission Hall on Sunday evenings.

In 1920 Reverend Krag Wuflestad organized the "Cooperstown Skandinaviske Missions-forening" and the services continued in the Mission Hall for a short time.  On April 28, 1920, a resolution was drawn up to organize the Scandinavian Mission Society with Reverend K. P. Wuflestad as Pastor.  A constitution was accepted, a membership list of the Society was made up, and nine members joined.

They were allowed to use the Baptist Church in the fall of 1920 for a series of special meetings.  The building is the oldest church in Cooperstown, and was built in 1887, five years after Cooperstown was founded.  The inscription on the bell in the steeple reads:  

"Cast by H. Stucstede & Company, St. Louis, Missouri, 1887, Victor Memorial Baptist Church, Cooperstown, Dakota " The society bought the building in 1921, and has since made several changes.

The tower has been removed, a basement added, and various improvements have been made to keep up with the times.  An organ was purchased in 1959, a piano in 1963.  A new parsonage was built just south of the church in 1952.

The name "Bethlehem Evangelical Free Church" was adopted in 1921.

In 1922 it was resolved to dissolve the Cooperstown Mission Society and change it to a congregation.  Christian Haaland, K. P. Wuflestad and Emma Skaar drew up a constitution.  Charter members were:  

K. P. Wuflestad, R. S. Lunde, Mrs. Inga Anderson, Mrs. R. S. Lunde, Mrs. M. R. Wagle, Miss Hilma Anderson, Mr. and Mrs. Christ Seldahl, Mrs. Clarence Lunde, Mr. and Mrs. E. T. Thompson, Miss Emma Skaar, Christian Haaland, Miss Elise Wuflestad, Miss Nora Wuflestad, Miss Cam Wuflestad, and Mrs. O. M. Otteson.

Early members were:  

Mrs. N. P. Nelson, Miss Emma Dahlbom, Ole Herigstad and Elise Roisland.

The congregation was incorporated February 28, 1929.

From 1929 until 1931 Bethlehem Evangelical Free Church shared Pastor Larson and Pastor Mars with the Swedish Mission Church west of Cooperstown.  On January 23, 1931, the Swedish Mission Church voted to affiliate with Bethlehem.  Their church was sold to the Methodists at Sutton and is still in use there.

In 1949 the congregation voted to join the Evangelical Free Church Association, and voted to join the Cooperstown Bible Camp Association February 14, 1955, when the Association was organized.

Since 1938 the Christian Fellowship Church has shared the pastor with Bethlehem.  When Pastor Haglund left in 1968, Saron Evangelical Free Church joined Fellowship and Bethlehem in making a three-point parish with Howard Matson the first pastor.

Bethlehem's present membership stands at 52.
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Grace Lutheran Church - Missouri Synod

Grace Lutheran Church was established in 1947 as a joint congregation with Zion Lutheran of Binford, rural.  The first pastor was Reverend Willard C. Laatz of Chicago.  The church was officially incorporated in August 1948.  The first church building was an unused schoolhouse from southeast of Cooperstown, which was moved into town on lots located west of the old Oie house in the southwest part of town.  This building served the congregation until April 28, 1957 when a new building was dedicated.  In 1963 Grace and Zion joined with Trinity of Hope to form a three-point parish.

Charter members of the congregation were:  

Mrs. and Mr. Glenn Johnson, Mr. and Mrs. Clifford Pittenger, Mr. and Mrs. Carroll Retzlaff, Mr. and Mrs. Henry Winning, Mr. and Mrs. Lester Winning, Sr., Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Stalvik.

Building committee members were:  

Alfred Retzlaff, Norwin Hanson, Walter Rothert, Lester Winning and Reynold Retzlaff.

Pastors serving Grace Congregation:  

Reverend Willard C. Laatz, 1947-1955, Reverend George Schubarth, 1956-1958, Reverend Vernon Knight, 1959-1962, Reverend John A. Krueger, 1963-1972, Reverend Ronald Nichols 1972-present.

Ladies Aid - organized in April 1948.  The first officers were:  

President Mrs. Glenn Johnson, Vice-President Mrs. Clifford Pittenger, Treasurer Mrs. Lester Winning, Secretary Mrs. Harry Weitenhagen.  They and the following ladies were charter members:  

Mrs. Henry Winning, Mrs. Oscar Stalvik, Mrs. Carroll Retzlaff and Mrs. Willard Laatz.

The Aid assisted in decorating and furnishing the new church.  Special projects were the organ fund, kitchen and chancel and the baptismal font.

In January 1949 they joined the Synod-wide Lutheran Women Missionary League.  During the years of the church's existence, the Ladies Aid has distinguished itself as an enthusiastic group, whose members have done a great deal to see to it that the congregation has flourished and prospered.

In September 1949 Mrs. Henry Winning began the first Sunday School at Grace Lutheran, serving as Sunday School Superintendent.  She was the only teacher at first, with sixteen children enrolled.  The Sunday School enrollment increased rapidly and two new teachers were added - Mrs. James Rich and Mrs. Glenn Johnson.  The Sunday School has continued to flourish, the members fluctuating with the population growth and decrease.  It has been primarily a self-supporting organization.  Succeeding superintendents have been Mr. Norwin Hanson, Edgar Krenz, Reuben Weber, Marvin Retzlaff and Mrs. Evelyn Dahl.

In 1953 Mr. Reynold Retzlaff organized a joint league with Zion of Binford for the young people of the congregations.  This Organization is now called TAC (Teen-Age- Christians.)
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Presbyterian Church History

From 1887 to 1923, a Methodist congregation flourished in Cooperstown.  It is reported that their church building was built across from the Palace Hotel because it was too far for persons living at the hotel to walk to the Congregational Church!

A record book for this Methodist group reveals that some pastors enlivened the statistics with their own side comments.  One such comment (in a slightly serious vein) reports that the marriage of Graham McCulloch and Edith M. Erickson on March 3, 1905, was "a joy in the heart and a true friend in the pocket with $10.00 - true love is unrivaled happiness.  “In a more humorous vein, the Reverend H. Styles Harris reports that the marriage of William A. McCulloch and Mary Hufteland on June 28, 1905, was "good for the preacher - $20.00.”

No local records have been found of the Congregational Church except that of the joining of this group with the Methodists in 1923 in order to form a Presbyterian Church.  On April 25, 1924, the former Congregational Church transferred their building to the Presbyterians.  The trustees of the Congregational Church at that time were W. M. Ayrea, C. L. Cooper, M. D. Wheatley and E. S. Hamilton.  On August 4 of that same year, officers for the Presbyterian Church were elected.  They were: 

W. M. Ayrea, president and 

F. B. King, secretary.

It wasn't until June 17, 1929, that the former Methodist church building was transferred to the Presbyterians.  This building was used as a social hall for several years.  In 1940, the Presbyterians sold the building used for worship services (the former Congregational church building) to the Roman Catholic congregation.  The social hall was then converted to use as a center for worship and for social events.

The pastors of the Presbyterian Church have been as follows:  

The Reverends Curtis, L. C. Cooley, C. C. Converse, W. R. Radliff, W. S. Henderson, Harvey Senecal, Robert Schurr, and Robert Maharry.  These ministers also served the Presbyterian churches in Sharon and Hannaford.

August of 1974 saw a new era begin for the Cooperstown United Presbyterian Church.  They formed a yoke with the Sharon and the Courtenay United Presbyterian Churches to call a team of pastors, the Reverends James R. and Faye A. Fedlam.  They are husband and wife as well as being co-pastors and are the first such team in North Dakota churches.  Both are graduates of Louisville Presbyterian Theological Seminary in Louisville, Kentucky.  James hails from New Jersey, and Faye grew up in Kansas.  Jim is third generation Hungarian.  Faye claims the British Isles many generations back.  The possibilities and the challenges for this new yoke and for this team are just beginning.  The future awaits!
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St. George's.  Church

The history of St. George's Catholic Parish, Cooperstown, North Dakota, emphasizes its youthfulness.  The records of the parish do not record any Catholics among the early settlers of the Cooperstown area.  Even when Cooperstown was a well -established city, Catholics were but a handful in number.  Until 1931, the few Catholics who did reside in the area attended Mass at Jessie or station Mass at Sutton.

When Fr. Charles Schneider assumed the pastorate of St. Lawrence Church, Jessie, he established Cooperstown as a station.

In 1936, the Catholics were able to purchase the church formerly used by the Congregationalists for $900.00.  The new church was named in honor of the patron saint of the pastor the people loved so much, Fr. George Miller.  The first Mass was offered in the newly acquired church on November 26, 1939.

The parish church had earlier been incorporated with the state of North Dakota.  The Corporation Board listed Bishop Muench, Fr. George Miller, Fr. Leo Dworshack, Mr. William M. Pfeifer and Mr. Frank Bednar as officers.  The document of incorporation is dated August 29, 1941.

The first wedding in the newly dedicated St. George's Church was that of Loretta Bednar and John Paintner on June 6, 1944.  August 14, 1944 marked the inception of daily Mass in the church.  The Catholic Youth Organization began on November 2, 1944 and the Adult St. George Study Club with Mrs. S. L. Lemna, president, began on December 10 of the same year.  The first Midnight Mass in Cooperstown was offered December 25.  Bishop Muench confirmed the first confirmation class on June 16, 1945.  In August 1945, Fr. Bernard Guenther, C. S. S. R. succeeded Fr. Huber as pastor of St. George's.

In December 1945, Fr. Guenther prevailed upon the parishioners to purchase land for a cemetery.  Fr. Breitenbeck offered the first memorial Mass at the cemetery on July 4, 1952.  The first burial in the cemetery was that of Mrs. Mary Hovel on July 2, 1948.

In 1952, the parishioners voted to build a new church.  On August 9, the feast of St. Alphonsus, patron of the Redemptorist Order, Bishop Leo F. Dworschak, Auxiliary Bishop of Fargo, solemnly blessed the new church.  The cost of construction and furnishing was approximately $120, 000.00.  To finance the project the parish borrowed $72,000.00.  The debt was staggering and it would take many years to repay.

Among the missionary priests who called Cooperstown home during and following the years of the pastors already mentioned were Frs.  Schumaker, Dalton, Zeller, Langfield, Kalvelege, Gherman, Morrisey, Cosgrove, Murphy, Novak, Mulligan, Justin, Hassler and Winter.  Of importance too, both to the Mission House and to the parish, were the services of the Redemptorist Brothers, namely Liguori, George, John Bosco, Walter and Daniel.

Fr. B. J. Langton became the fourth Redemptorist pastor in April 1956.  He remained until October 1959, when he was succeeded by Fr. Stanley Burke.  Both Fr. Langton and Fr. Burke spent much of their time in the parish raising funds to pay the crushing debt.  Still, when Fr. Burke left St. George's, and the spiritual care of the Cooperstown Catholics was transferred to diocesan priests in the person of Fr. C. Jaillet, the debt stood at $25, 000.00.  Fr. Jaillet came in 1964.  he stayed less than a year.  in early 1965 he left the Diocese and Cooperstown for the mission fields of the Bahamas.

Fr. Adam Hasey, who had been stationed in nearby Tolna, came to St. George's in summer of 1965.  During his tenure of eight years the parish of St. George's seemed to get its second breath.  With a continually growing parish roster of over 300 souls by the time he left and the debt all but paid, Fr. Hasey led the parish in building a large new rectory with a full sized catechetical center in the rectory basement.  The new rectory was attached to the church and the old rectory, once St. George's Mission House, and before that, the residence of Dr. C. F. Craig, was torn down to make room for a parking lot for the church.  More importantly, Fr. Hasey led the parish through the sensitive years of the Church renewal that followed on the Second Vatican Council.  The parishioners were sad to bid him farewell in July 1973.  His had been the longest stay of any pastor in the parish and during his pastorate the parish saw its greatest growth numerically.  Fr. George Schneider, the present pastor, was appointed to St. George's in July 1973, and was installed in September of the same year.
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Trinity Lutheran Church

Lutheran church services were first conducted in Cooperstown in 1886 by Mission Pastor O. K. Quamme (also spelled Kvamme).  It is recorded that the Norwegian Lutherans held a Christmas Tree festival in the courthouse in 1888.  Pastor Quamme spoke in Norwegian and the children's program was given in both English and Norwegian.

Meanwhile, in November 1888 a group of nine women met to organize a ladies aid with its main purpose the raising of money for a Lutheran church building.

It was in April 1890, that the Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Congregation in Cooperstown, North Dakota, was established with fifteen families (56 souls) as members.  Pastor Quamme was asked to serve as pastor, which he did until 1895.

In that year the constitution was rewritten, once more in Norwegian, and the congregation was incorporated under North Dakota law.  Services were to be conducted alternatively in Norwegian and English, a practice that continued until 1940.  In that year the constitution was rewritten, this time in English, and the Norwegian language services were dropped.

By 1895 the congregation had grown and plans for a church building took definite shape.  The congregation bought the north half of block 62 for $100, and in the next year the white frame church was built and completed in November.  It was in use for just over sixty years.  On June 30, 1957, the congregation made its formal exit from the old church and entry into the new brick building, which was constructed just behind the original church.  The bell from the first church was moved into the steeple of the new building.  The parsonage, still in use, was built in 1914.

During the years when the congregation was part of the Evangelical Lutheran Church, numerous special organizations were formed.  The ladies aid, Women's Missionary Federation, as it was officially called, was instrumental in establishing a Sunday School and a vacation Bible school, in organizing a church library and establishing youth groups.  Some of the organizations of the ELC were the Lutheran Daughters of the Reformation, Little Helpers, Cradle Roll, Luther League and Lutheran Brotherhood.  There were also choirs for singers of various ages.

In 1960 the Evangelical Lutheran Church and two other Lutheran bodies merged to become the American Lutheran Church, or ALC.  Within the member ALC congregations, the old organizations were disbanded or reorganized, leaving three auxiliary organizations:  

American Lutheran Church Women (ALCW), American Lutheran Church Men (ALCM) and Luther League for the youth of the congregation.  With one exception, all other women's organizations were disbanded.  All women of the congregation became members of the ALCW.  The exception was the Mission Circle, organized many years earlier by friends of Lillian Young Otte.  Mrs. Otte was originally a member of Trinity congregation, and served about 40 years as a missionary in Zululand, South Africa.  She was one of four members of the congregation who entered full-time ministry of the church.

A pipe organ was installed in the first church in 1915.  The organ console and pipes were removed from the old church and later moved into the new where a new organ was built using the old as the nucleus.  Six new ranks were added, making a 14-rank organ with 890 pipes placed in a specially arranged chamber behind the altar.  The console pipes and all mechanisms were custom made.  The newly built organ was dedicated at a concert October 30, 1966.  The organ builder, Eugene Doutt, was the concert organist.

In 1918 Ness Lutheran congregation of rural Cooperstown was disbanded and many of its members joined the Trinity congregation.

To date, the Trinity congregation has been served by twelve pastors, had 960 baptisms, confirmed 724 members, and at present has a total membership of 927.

Pastors of Trinity since its beginnings are:  

O. K. Quamme, J. E. Johnson, J. N. Jensen, T. E. Sweger, E. H. Estrem, I. O. Jacobson, Dr. P. H. Holm-Jensen, H. J. Hansen, C. M. Rasmussen, A. P. Tidemann, E. R. Schmidt and Marvin Williamson.
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Eighty Years of Masonry in Northern Light Lodge

Masonry in Hope was established six years prior to Cooperstown and drew candidates and affiliates from Cooperstown territory.  During this time the branch train used to leave about 7:00 AM, and return about 4:00 PM.  Among its crew was John E. Johnson, the conductor.  On occasion after completing the run the Brothers were assembled, consisting usually of:  

J. E. Johnson, W. D. Marsh, David Bartlett, Charles Houghton, and William Stringer.  A few miles east of the river, they would pick up E. C. Butler, Ben Upton and Glen Dyson - and the trek was on for Hope, horse and buggy fashion.  Rain or shine they had to be back in time to take Old 58 out on its run in the morning.  On occasions, J. E. stepped out of the buggy on to the train and gave the high sign to go.  The long ride and the town rivalry prompted the idea of a Masonic Lodge for Cooperstown.

The first recorded meeting was held in the I. O. O. F. Hall on July 5, 1895.  Two informal meetings were held earlier.  At one of the previous meetings a request went to the Grand Lodge for Letters of Dispensation, which was granted, appointing the acting officers and the official date of meeting.

A set of by-laws as adopted, arrangements were made with the I. O. O. F. for the use of the hall at $7.00 per month.

A minute was made of borrowing $105.00 for organization expenses and the records show that this debt was paid November 15, of the same year.

According to Brother Dyson the name Northern Light was suggested by Brother J. N. Brown because of a very brilliant display of northern lights that occurred the night of organization.

On August 9, 1895, the first "work" was undertaken, the E. A. Degree being conferred on Maynard Crane and A. B. Stewart.  Brother Stewart received his F. C. Degree on September 6 and M. M. Degree on October 18, thus becoming the first M. M. raised in the lodge.

The charter was granted August 6, 1896, and still remains in the lodge.  Charter members were W. D. Marsh, J. E. Johnson, David Bartlett, B. A. Upton, J. N. Brown, Marvin Buck, George Stringer, B. B. Brown, Glen Dyson, William Stringer, S. B. Langford, R. C. Cooper, F. J. Stone, C. H. Mosley, E. C. Butler, Charles Houghton, Knud Thompson, W. C. Jimeson, and Alex Curry.  Eight of the members had been members at Hope.

In 1904 the lodge loaned its moral support and $25 to help organize a chapter of Eastern Star, which adopted the name of Northern Light.

In 1916 the order built the present building.

The latest brothers to be raised to Master Mason are:  

Scott Sayer, a third generation Mason, and Ricky Hazard, a 4th generation Mason in the Northern Light Lodge No. 45.
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Griggs County Library

Attempts to establish library service in Cooperstown began almost as soon as the town was founded.  Collections were found in many of the early homes.  Reading rooms were established for a period of time, and then discontinued.  Later the State Library sent out Traveling Library collections to be circulated.  In 1926 the Congregational Church had such a collection.  For a time the Evangelical Lutheran Church maintained a small lending library in its basement.  This was a permanent collection and most of the books were donated.

Continuous public library service in Cooperstown dates back to 1944.  A group of interested women, realizing the need of a permanent service invited delegates from the men's and women's religious, civic, and fraternal organizations in the city to meet at the Windsor Hotel February 5, 1944 for the purpose of forming a library board.  Mrs. M. D. Westley explained the necessary procedure as outlined by Lillian B. Cook, of the State Library Commission.

The first board members were:  

Mrs. M. D. Westley, Chairman, Mrs. Carl Johnson, Vice-chairman, Mrs. Pat Morrisey, Corresponding Secretary, Mr. E. E. Tracy, recording and financial secretary.  Mr. George Reid of Central Light offered space in their building to house the library and the offer was accepted.  The first librarian was Mrs. Selmer Larson, followed by Mrs. William Barr.

As the library grew it needed more money for its operation.  In 1964 the library board requested and was granted an operating mill levy from the city.  At that time other changes in the organization were made to bring the library into conformity with state laws dealing with libraries.  A small grant was received from the State Library Commission to bring the collection up to standard.  This made the library eligible for grants and assistance under the Library Services and Construction Act.  Frieda Hatton and Nora Mohberg from the State Library Commission made several visits here to explain the LSCA and the processes for qualifying for aid in improving the library facilities.  Federal monies were available.  The board and SLC representatives appeared at the city council meetings to explain the procedure to them.  If the city library would sponsor a demonstration they would be eligible for funds to purchase a building.  The council gave its approval and voted to appropriate $10,000 toward a building.  In July of 1968 application was made for funds to the State Library Commission, and in August the demonstration was approved.  The funds in the amount of $13,600 were received from the state in November to supplement the $10,000 from the city to purchase the building (which formerly was used by the ASCS).  The library move was made the week of October 18, 1968.  The multi-county demonstration began in 1969 and continued until 1971.  In July 1971, the Griggs County Commissioners, upon presentation of petitions signed by 5156 of the qualified voters of Griggs County, levied a tax of one mill for county library support.  The new county library was known as Prairie Bookmobile Library.  Prior to this any county library service was furnished by the city of Cooperstown on a limited basis.  From this time on the library collection and services have grown rapidly.  The two libraries operated as separate units until the spring of 1975 when they combined their facilities to form the Griggs County Library.

An indication of the growth of the library is seen in the increase in circulation and the hours open to the public as shown by the following:  

Circulation:  

1946 - 493 books loaned

1954 - 2990 books loaned

1964 - 7674 books loaned

and 1974 - 21,331 books loaned.

The hours open have increased from 2-3 hours a week to the present schedule of 42 hours a week (7 hours a day 6 days a week).

The board chairman since the library's origin have been:  

Mrs. M. D. Westley - 1944-1950

Mrs. Editha Holter - 1950-1952

Mrs. J. O. Fredrickson – 1952-1963

Mrs. Hamlin Saxerud - 1963-1967

Mrs. G. J. Frigaard - 1967-1968

Mrs. Lester Winning, Sr. – 1968-1969

Mrs. Peter P. Patton - 1969-1971

Mrs. G. J. Frigaard - 1971-1975

Mrs. Donald Larson – 1975 to present.

Librarians who have served the library are:  

Mrs. Selmer Larson, 

Mrs. William Barr, 

Mrs. S. L. Lemna, 

Mrs. John Edward Erickson 

Mrs. Allan Larson - present.
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Griggs County Hospital and Nursing Home

The Griggs County Hospital opened February 15, 1951.  E. S. Bardahl was the first patient.

Sandra Overby, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Einar Overby, was the first baby born in the hospital, February 17, 1951.  Dr. L. Almklov attended the delivery.

Dr. K. M. Wakefield was on the medical staff of the hospital when it opened, and has served ever since.  Beulah Baird, R. N. , has also been on the hospital staff from the day it opened.

Carl O. Johnson, a charter director of the hospital, has served as treasurer of the board since 1946.

Jovone Mack, R. N. , was superintendent of the hospital for the first three years.  At present she is in public health nursing in Griggs and Nelson counties.

Several others began work shortly after the hospital opened and are employed at the present time, though they have not worked continuously.  Among those are Registered Nurses Shirley Erickson, Merle Haerter, Beverly Kloster (now Soma), and Licensed Practical Nurse Josephine Johnson (now Olson).

There were 21 names on the first payroll.  Now, with the nursing home in operation, there are approximately 90 employees, including those who work part-time.

Mrs. Mack was succeeded in the administrative position by Ruth Syverson, R. N. , who was followed by Beulah Baird, R. N.  After the nursing home was opened, Thomas McMorrow became administrator.  Gary Ryba is administrator at present.

At this writing there have been 17,034 admissions to the hospital and 1689 births.

Medicare has brought about major changes in the health care field, and other federal regulations have also affected the operation of the hospital.

The fifty-bed nursing home addition was completed in 1971, and the first resident admitted December 7.  Merle Haerter, R. N. , was employed as nursing home supervisor.  The facility offers skilled nursing care and with it recreational, social, rehabilitation and reality therapy.

A volunteer program, which includes persons of all ages, is coordinated by the activities director.  The Griggs County Hospital -Nursing Home Auxiliary has played a major role in the volunteer program.

C. S. Arneson was chairman of the first hospital board during its building program.  Leon A. Sayer, Jr., was chairman of the board at the time the nursing home was built.  Eric L. Berdal is chairman at the present time.  In 1974 the charter was rewritten to include the nursing home, and the governing body is known as the Griggs County Hospital and Nursing Home Association.

Cost of construction of the hospital in 1951 totaled $379,700 with a square footage of 18,562 square feet, which came to $2,045.50 per square foot.  The funding for the construction of the hospital building was a government grant in the amount of $125,870, a loan in the amount of $60,000 and the balance contributed by the community.

Total cost of construction of the nursing home in 1971 was $633,534 with an area of 15,661 square feet at a cost of $4,045 per square foot.

The construction of the nursing home was funded by a government grant in the amount of $135,874, a loan in the amount of $315, 000 and the balance by community donations.
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Griggs County Hospital-Nursing Home Auxiliary

In 1949, two years before the hospital's opening, the Griggs County Hospital Auxiliary was organized with the avowed aim "to promote best health facilities in the county, raise funds for support, assist in the financial side of the work at any time and to choose furnishings for rooms.”

Mrs. A. C. Loder was elected president, Mrs. William Phelps vice president, Mrs. Thomas Boe secretary and Mrs. Oscar Idsvoog treasurer.

In the years since that time the auxiliary has adopted a variety of projects and has done a great deal of volunteer work.  One regular task was the making of surgical sponges, a project that was discontinued in 1975 because of changing hospital regulations.

The auxiliary has purchased a great variety of items for the hospital and has undertaken an equally varied list of projects to pay for the purchases.

At present the annual ice cream social is the main money-raiser.

In 1972, after the opening of the nursing home, the group reorganized as the Griggs County Hospital and Nursing Home Auxiliary with emphasis on direct volunteer service to the residents of the nursing home as well as the purchase of needed items in the hospital and nursing home.  Both men and women are eligible to join.

Many of the charter members of the original auxiliary are still active in the organization.

At this time Mrs. Willis Nilson is president and Mrs. Larry Hinschberger is vice president and chairman of the project committee.
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Settlers

ALMKLOV

S. Almklov was born in Vanelvyn, Norway in 1850 and attended school there and at Tromso Seminary.

After finishing school in Tromso in 1871, Mr. Almklov was employed with a Doctor's family in Senju, Norway.  He served as a tutor to the children in the morning and worked with the Doctor in the afternoon.  There was no Pharmacy in the community so he prepared the medications they needed and for the doctor's patients.

In June 1874 Mr. Almklov emigrated to the United States at the instigation of an old Professor, Mr. A. Wenaas, who was teaching at the Augsburg Seminary in Minneapolis.  Professor Wenaas interested him in the study of theology and enrolled him in the school.

He completed his studies at Augsburg in 1877.

The same year he was married to Hansina Wadel, daughter of a merchant of Tromso, Norway, and was ordained a pastor in the Benson, Minnesota vicinity where he served several churches for 12 years.

During the years in the Benson Community four children were born to the Almklovs:  

1. Christian, who died as an infant, 

2. Wadel, Leif, Ruth and Agnes.

It was while in Benson he resumed interest in the studies he left in Norway, prompted by the need for a larger income to support a growing family.

In 1888 he purchased the drug store in Cooperstown, Dakota Territory from Dr. Newell and moved the family here.

The drug store was a small frame building on the main street and served quite well until damaged by fire in 1905.  The building was reconditioned somewhat and moved into the street where business was conducted while the new cement block building was under construction on the old site.

One more son, Sigurd, was born in Cooperstown

The children grew to adulthood, finishing school in Cooperstown, and continued to further accomplishments.

As the years passed and the family grew up Mrs. Almklov's health slowly became more critical and this kindly, devout and loving little lady died in the autumn of 1933.

The elder son, Wadel, lost his sight while still in high school but continued his education until he received his Bachelor of Arts and a Law Degree from the University of North Dakota.

At 93 years Wadel is presently a resident at Griggs County Hospital.

Leif was graduated with a degree in Medicine from Hamline University, St. Paul, and practiced Medicine in Cooperstown from 1906 until retirement 1951.  He moved to California where his son, John R. had established a practice in medicine.  Leif and his wife both died in California.

Ruth, the elder daughter, was married to Andrew Hoel who was associated with the Hannaford Mercantile.  They lived in Hannaford until Mr. Hoel became auditor for the First National Bank of Cooperstown.  They were the parents of a son, Norman and a daughter Bernice.  Ruth died in 1918.

Agnes went on to nurses training and was graduated from the Deaconess Hospital Nurses Training program.  She was married to William G. Cook and later moved to St. Paul, Minnesota.  They were the parents of a son, William A. Cook.  Mrs. Cook died quite suddenly from a heart attack.

Sigurd operated one of his father's farms until he moved to Fargo where he was employed until his retirement.  He continued to reside in Fargo until his death.

In addition to the Pharmacy, Mr. S. Almklov was stockholder and director of the First National Bank of Cooperstown.  He had acquired several farms and operated these land holdings until retirement in 1935 (at age 85).

There are three grandchildren:  

1. Norman Hoel, Cooperstown, North Dakota

2. William A. Cook, St. Paul, Minnesota

3. Dr. John R. Almklov, Bakersfield, California 

There are also seven great-grandchildren and six great - great-grand - children.
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JOHN ARNESON FAMILY

Johannes (John) Arneson and Kristi Nelson were born and married near Bergen, Norway.  They came to the United States in 1865, settling in Iowa.  In 1872 they moved to Minnesota after which they decided to move west, and lived in the Washington- Oregon area for three years.  They returned to Minnesota.

Grandpa and Grandma Arneson's family was large, by our modern standard, five girls and three boys and two infant deaths.  The eight children were:  

1. Arne, Anna, Ella, Martha, Dorthea, Nels, Hans and Josie.  They lived together and shared together, in the little log cabin Grandpa built for them before their long trek to Dakota in 1881.  They came with two other families in covered wagons, pulled by oxen after the grasshoppers destroyed their crop in Minnesota.  The sky, thick with grasshoppers was as though there was a dark cloud covering the sun.  The wagon wheels made trails of the dead insects as they crunched over the thick grasshoppers.  The children took turns driving the cattle behind the wagons.

Arnesons homesteaded on the NW quarter of Section 6, which was then Griggs County (now Steele).  The soil was virgin with grass as high as a man.  How were they able to get it ready for the seed?  They did and the crops were bountiful.  There was pestilence and much disappointment, but they had goals and purposes that seemed to overcome the hardships.

Later the Arneson family took over the complete management of the Palace Hotel, which was the chief hostelry of Cooperstown.  Their lovely daughters wallpapered, cooked and served the dinners.  With Arne as manager, the young Arnesons made a home for travelers, and local people who found this right for their way of living.  It was a success and soon became the focal point in the community for good food and lodging.  It was an important place for social functions.  The parties held there were elegant:  

the ladies, radiant in their satins and laces and pointed shoes.  the men in their swallow-tails and celluloid collars.

Here the young eligible bachelors came to live, and to become acquainted with the charming young women of Cooperstown.

Here Arne met Maria (Mary) Halvorson.  Anna met John McDermott, Ella met Dr. Bergstrom, and Martha met Bryon Hazard.  Wedding bells rang for all of them.

Grandpa Arneson, who was preceded in death by Grandma, died in 1926.

Arne then operated the farm home from 1911 till his death in 1917.  His son, Albin, married to Hazel Monson, took over the homestead then.  He still resides there.  Uncle Arne's other children are:  

1. John died as a young man

2. Lillian married Helmer Hilstad.  They have a daughter, Dorothy

3. Clarence married Jessie Campbell.  He was in partnership with Al Loder in Arneson-Loder Implement of Cooperstown.  They dealt in farm implements.  Clarence was on the hospital board during the planning and building.  He was Past Master of Masonic Lodge and a member of K. P. 's, City Council and volunteer fireman.

4. Mildred married F. E. Berger, a teacher here

5. Stella died at the age of five

Clarence and Jessie have two children:  

1. Mrs. C. K. Steffen (Mary) who farm near here and Dr. Harold Arneson.  Clarence lived in Cooperstown until his death in 1967.

Our Aunt Dorthea married Tollef Tobieson.  They have three daughters.  

Aunt Josephine, better known as Josie, married William Hartman.  They have one daughter.  

Hans and his wife and daughters lived near Velva.

Nels homesteaded near Velva.  He married Lizzie Olson in 1903.  They later moved to a farm by Cooperstown in the Sheyenne Valley.  Tragedy struck and Lizzie died in an auto accident leaving four children:

1. James, Esther, Marion, and Raymond.  

Esther married L. E. Burnett.  Marion made her home with Aunt Ella (Mrs. Bergstrom), but Marion, too died suddenly after a very short illness.  Raymond only 3 years old, made his home with Aunt Martha (Mrs. Byron Hazard).  James, only 11 years old at the time of his mother's death, continued to live and farm with his father.  He married Ruth Skaar in 1933.  They have five children:  

1. James and Ruth are retired now and live in Cooperstown, but they still own their family farm in the Sheyenne Valley.

Our father John McDermott found Griggs County a fine place to live.  He made his home here and became a landowner and partner in the department store, the Thompson McDermott Company.  He was active in this business until his death in 1908.

Our mother Anna Arneson McDermott carried on gallantly, in operation of the store as well as in his farming until her family was grown.  She was a tower of strength, taking a dual role as parent to her four living children.  

One daughter, Della, died in infancy.  There were two sons:

1. Edward Henry

2. Willard

two daughters:  

1. Aveline Genireue

2. myself.  

We all four graduated from Cooperstown High School and participated in all phases of school life.  We also all attended the University of North Dakota.

By Myrtle McDermott Clark
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BARNEY E. BAKKEN FAMILY

Barney Bakken, son of Mr. and Mrs. Bjarne Bakken of Abercrombie, came to Cooperstown in September 1940, from Gwinner.  He purchased the Coast-to-Coast store from Mr. Wilson and owned it until 1963 when he sold it to his son, Roger.

Mr. Bakken and his wife Amanda were the parents of four children:  

1. Evelyn married Anthony Hildebrandt

2. Orville married Marjean Johnston

3. Roger married Myrleen Kramvik.  Roger and Myrleen were married in 1948.  Their children are:  

i. Daniel and David, who also help in the family store.

4. Shirley married Dale Kleingartner.

Marjean and Myrleen were both Cooperstown residents.
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THE BERG FAMILY

The earliest recorded information about the Berg family, which we have in, our possession dates back to May 9, 1851.  On that date, the pastor of the Saude parish in Telemark, Norway, wrote and impressed his seal on a document vouching for the character of grandfather Berg's widowed mother and three children for the purpose of helping their plans to immigrate to America.  One of her children, a son, the oldest of her four children had emigrated a year or two earlier.

Grandfather's mother was identified as Anne Sigurdsdatter Berg, and the three children were identified as:  

1. Halvor Halvorsen, born in 1822

2. Kari Harvorsdatter, born in 1826 

3. Peder Halvorson, born in 1829

We assume, from the name of the children, and that of their mother, that the old Norwegian custom had been followed, and that the grandfather's father's name was Halvor Berg.  Sometime after they arrived in America, they officially adopted Berg as their surname.  My grandfather, then, became Halvor Berg instead of continuing as Halvor Halvorsen.

From all accounts, the family settled in northern Iowa.  Later, perhaps after he was married, grandfather Berg moved to some land he bought from the Minnesota and Southern Railway Company, about six miles north of Lanesboro in Fillmore County, Minnesota.  He also homesteaded on some land nearby, and that became the family home.

As nearly as we can reconstruct from the information we have and that which is told us, Halvor and Margit (Larsen) Berg had seven children, five of whom eventually found their way to Griggs County, either in the late 1880's or early 1890's.  Their father, who was widowed in 1873 when a bolt of lightning killed his wife as she was preparing the evening meal, continued to live on the farm in Minnesota until about 1900.

Soren, born in 1859 and the eldest, probably arrived in Griggs County first.  He settled in Hannaford, where he engaged in farming and the mercantile business until he moved to Washington State about 1920.

Andrew, born in 1861, came next - and directly to Cooperstown.  He, too, started in both business and farming.

A sister, probably born in 1863, died at a very young age.

From all accounts, Lewis, my father, came next, but I do not know the year.  He was born in 1865, so it is probable that he came in 1889.

In 1896, Andrew and Lewis, together with their cousin Albert Larson and a friend, Erick Erickson, organized a partnership under the name of Berg Brothers & Company.  This partnership had various businesses, and at one time had some fifty-five quarters of land, mostly in Griggs County.  When they dissolved their partnership in 1906, they all received some equities and land.

Albert Larson got the store and some land.  Erick Erickson got the implement business and some land.  Andrew Berg, who probably had the biggest investment in the company, received some banking equity and mercantile business in Hannaford and some land.  Lewis Berg received equity in a hardware business in Binford, and he also received land.

Halvor and John came to Cooperstown.  Halvor died a short while later, but John had a long life in Griggs County.  His principal occupations were in real estate, fire insurance, and farming.  After Andrew's death in 1914, John did much of the management of his (Andrew's) estate at the request of the widow, Mrs. Emma Berg.

During his lifetime, Andrew was vitally interested in the affairs of his chosen community, the city, and his church.  After his death, his widow donated funds for the school/city gymnasium in his memory.

Lewis, my father, was the managing partner of the department store owned by Berg Brothers and Company.  As part of his duties he made the daily trip to the post office.  He was attracted to the gentle and personable young woman who worked for the postmaster, Mr. Jimeson.  Attraction ripened into courtship and courtship led to marriage to Ingeborg Alfson on February 6, 1899.  She was the eldest child of Olav and Kari Alfson, who then lived about six miles north of Jessie.  That marriage was a happy one, and the couple made a good home for their five children.

My father was a member of the early town council or board and later member of the school board for several years.  It was during his time on that board that what was then known as the "little school" was built, and father was the liaison between the board and the architect and contractor.  Later, at the request of Andrew's widow, he assumed the general managership of the building of the gymnasium.

After the period 1906-1910, father's principal occupation was in farming and breeding dual-purpose Shorthorn cattle.  When the American Milking Shorthorn Association was organized, father was elected its first president - very likely in recognition of the fact that some of his cattle had set national records for production.

Anton Berg never lived in Griggs County except for a very short while.  His base was in Courtenay, Stutsman County, where he engaged in farming until he, too, moved to Washington State.

There no longer are any of grandfather Halvor Berg's descendants living in Griggs County.  

By Monroe Berg 

Source Page 58 

BERGSTROM FAMILY

Dr. Nils Anders Bergstrom was one of Cooperstown's pioneer doctors.

He came here from Montevideo, Minnesota, where he had operated a drug store in connection with his medical practice.  He was a graduate of Upsala Medical School in Sweden and attended Rush Medical College in Chicago, Illinois.

Olaf, a brother of Dr. Bergstrom, had settled on a farm near Ottofy Post Office and had established himself and his family in Dakota.  Olaf told his brother of the new village of Cooperstown.  The young doctor went there to investigate the town and was so favorably impressed that he decided to locate there.

The newly opened Palace Hotel was available and in a short time space was found in the thriving new village for the doctor's office.

About this time the John Arneson family had taken the complete management of the Palace Hotel, which was the chief hostelry of the rapidly growing community.

The young doctor joined in the social life of the town including the popular Terpsichorean Club.  Wedding bells were gaily ringing in the community and before long Dr. Bergstrom's friends were invited to attend his marriage, March 19, 1892, to the lovely Ella N. Arneson of the Palace Hotel.

Sometime after their wedding, a baby girl was left homeless by the death of her mother, a transient in the town.  Dr. Bergstrom was then the county coroner.  He took the baby home to his wife, as there was no provision in town for such a situation.  Mrs. Bergstrom was delighted to provide a home for the tiny waif, but one day a couple came with positive identification as relatives, so the baby was sadly relinquished to them and taken to their eastern home.

Later, the Bergstrom home was brightened by the arrival of a baby daughter named Jeannette Eleanor, who lives today at the age of eighty-one to tell this story.

A couple of years later a second baby girl named Brynhilde Constance arrived to make their joy complete.

Both daughters were attended by Doctor Kerr.

Can you imagine a town with no electric lights, no telephone, no sewer system or conveniences?  Churches and schools were held in odd buildings.  The first sidewalks were built high, as water in the spring or when it rained was a menace to walkers.

Hitching posts were installed along main street.  The city was proud of its first street lamps, which were hand lighted by the village constable, Anton Christianson, before curfew was rung.  Al Shue's livery stable was a popular place and Dave Sansburn's blacksmith shop served the horses well.

Fred King's bicycle rental and sales was a popular place, especially for Sunday recreation.  Churches and schools were rapidly built.  Mrs. Maynard Crane's sister, Miss Fitch, was an eastern college graduate who opened a kindergarten upstairs in the new fire hall, janitored by Jake Arnold.

I was an animated pupil in this new project, which was a delight for youngsters.
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SILAS W. BLACK FAMILY

Silas William Black was born in Illinois in 1868 and lived in Minneapolis before coming to Cooperstown in 1885 with his wife, Martha, their baby son, and Mrs. Black's mother.  For 30 years he owned and operated a barbershop on the south side of Main Street.  Then in 1909 when the Canadian government offered land to anyone who wished to start farming, he went there and filed on a claim.  His family joined him when a house was ready, and he farmed the land with his sons for many years.  When he became blind his sons took over the farm and he went to live with his daughter, Ella and her husband on their farm near Bengough, Saskatchewan.  He died in 1942, at 89 years of age.  Mrs. Black died during the Spanish Flu epidemic in 1919 at 51 years.

Nora Black, eldest of this large family, became dental assistant to Dr. Fred Rose, who had his office in the old State Bank Building.  Later she was apprenticed to two young Norwegian women who were dressmakers.  When she had learned the skills she set up her own establishment in two upper rooms at home.  She married P. C. Paulson in 1913.  Their son, Orion was born 1915.  A second son born in 1923, died in infancy.  Nora died in 1937 at 51 years.  P. C. Paulson died in 1934.

Iola was co-manager of the household, played the bass viol in the family musical group, and married Adin Johnson in 1914.  They operated a hotel in Jessie with his mother.  Later they moved to Minneapolis where he died, at 24, leaving her with two small children.  Iola then moved to Canada to join her parents.  after some years she was married to Jack Peters, a farmer.  After his death the family moved to Calgary, Alberta, where youngest son, Henry is at present supervisor of music.  Iola died in January 1971, at 84.

Anna became a schoolteacher.  Her first term was in a school ten miles from Cooperstown in Steele County.  Anna came home on weekends occasionally and would bring home a fifty-dollar gold piece as her wages for the month.  It was my proud privilege to take that gold piece to the bank for deposit in her account.  Anna married Iver Alfstad in 1912.  They farmed near Mose, and later tried restaurant business in Binford and McHenry.  In 1921 they moved to Regina, Saskatchewan, where they farmed.  Their several children live in and near Regina except for a son in British Columbia.  Anna died in April 1974, at 84.  Her husband is still hale and hearty at 91.

Ella, the fourth daughter, was also a schoolteacher.  She taught in Griggs, Foster and Steele counties.  One summer she went for a visit with her family in Saskatchewan, Canada and was asked to substitute for a teacher who became ill.  She remained to teach for many years in that province, both before and after her marriage in 1920 to Audrey Kimmerly, a World War I veteran.  They farmed near Bengough until his death in 1963.  Their son-in-law and daughter now are on the farm.  Ella now lives in the town of Bengough.

Ella likes to tell of her visit with friends on a farm near Wimbledon, North Dakota.  She arrived just as "Norwegian School" was about to begin.  Norwegian School was a two-week session of Bible study and Catechism, conducted in the Norse Language.  Children of Lutheran parents were obliged to attend, so Ella with her friends trudged the mile to attend Norwegian school.  

There were about twenty children ranging in age from six to fourteen.  The teacher was a young seminarian who was well liked by the children and parents.  At lunchtime, the teacher walked the half mile to his boarding place and was gone about three fourths of an hour.  Then the children gobbled their lunches and dashed outside for their fun.  One boy brought forth his mouth organ and couples formed for square dancing.  All farm children knew how to dance in those days.  A sentry was posted on the barn roof to warn of the teacher's return.  The sentry was a small boy who didn't like dancing.  He was plied with cake, cookies and candy as long as he was on duty.  When the teacher finally arrived the mouth organ was back in its hiding place and everyone was playing tag or hide-and-go-seek including the sentry.  Dancing was frowned upon by Lutherans in those days and perhaps still is.

Emma also became a teacher and taught 23 years in Griggs and Foster counties before and after marriage to Louis J. Pella, June 14, 1921.  They farmed near Revere, Jessie and Aneta and had five sons and one daughter.  All five sons served as Marines in World War II and Korea.  All of the family is now living in the state of Washington, except for one who lives in Ohio.  Emma lives in Seattle.

Frances taught in Griggs County schools for two years, when she was obliged to quit for health reasons.  She worked in a post office and various department stores in Canada, and lived in Bengough until her death in 1961.  She never married.

Myrtle also taught for several years in Griggs and Nelson counties before she, also, took up residence in Canada.  After a few years she returned to North Dakota and taught a term.  She was married, in 1927, to Carl Martinson and they farmed near McVille until World War II.  He became a security guard for the 1500 Japanese and German detainees in a compound just outside Bismarck, until the end of the war.  After that he was transferred to California and then to Seattle as an immigration officer.  Myrtle died at Yakima in 1971.  Carl is still living there.

Oscar was the first son born to Silas and Martha after seven girls.  You can imagine the fuss made over him by parents and sisters as well.  He was a beautiful little boy but looked more like a girl with shoulder length golden curls until he was six years old.  Oscar became a barber in Prince Albert, Saskatchewan, where he still lives though retired these many years.  He married Emma Runspiel and they had three sons and two daughters.

Harold Black took over the management of the farm.  He was also a carpenter and interior decorator when the farm work was done.  For many years he was head carpenter for the Pool Elevator Company in Saskatchewan.  Harold, Adolph and Edna formed a small orchestra when they were very young.  Harold married Thelma McCarriger and had four children:

one of whom died in infancy.  Two daughters live near Edmonton, Alberta and one daughter lives in Denver, Colorado.

Adolph also was a carpenter and interior decorator.  He married Evelyn Burns and they have two sons, one a professor of math in Toronto University, the other a professor of science in Montreal University.  Adolph has long since retired and lives in Murillo, Ontario.

Edna was about ten years old when the family moved to Canada, and received most of her education there.  She kept house for her father and brothers until her marriage to Joe Sweeney in 1924.  They farmed near Horizon, Saskatchewan, until 1965.  they now live in Bengough.  Their seven children live in and near Estevan.
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DR. CARL L. BRIMI

Dr. Carl L. Brimi practiced medicine in Cooperstown from 1898 to 1925, taking an active part in the life of the community for twenty-seven years.  The oldest of nine children, he was born in 1876 in Eau Claire, Wisconsin, where his father, Sever E. Brimi (1853-1936) had settled after immigrating from Gudsbrandsdal to Chicago in 1869.  Since Sever's story belongs to Wisconsin we won't pursue it here except to mention that he was an early conservationist.  As a member of the Wisconsin legislature in 1887 he wrote and secured passage of a bill that outlawed the wholesale slaughter of songbirds by hunters for the millinery industry and for sport.

Upon finishing high school at sixteen Carl entered Rush Medical College, Chicago, in 1892.  Like many other students then, he took part-time jobs as guard and gate attendant at the world's fair - the Columbian Exposition of 1892-93.

After graduation in 1897 Dr. Brimi completed his internship at Norwegian- American Hospital in Chicago.  What led him to Cooperstown we really don't know, perhaps a medical placement service, but we suspect the good proportion of Norwegian settlers in this area was an important consideration.  He had grown up in a Norwegian speaking family, been churched and confirmed in Norwegian, and throughout his life he enjoyed speaking and reading the language.  Many of his patients were to say that it made them feel better to discuss their illnesses with him in the mother tongue.

Dr. Brimi arrived in Cooperstown on January 17, 1898.  He had established some credit with a St. Paul medical supply house and began to practice, taking an office in Syverson's bank building kitty-corner from the Palace Hotel.  Dr. F. W. Rose, Cooperstown's longtime dentist opened his office in the building a few years later.

The Palace, where several young and not so young bachelors and a few married couples lived (as well as the transient guests, mainly salesmen) was, in its heyday, an attractive center for sociable gatherings or for casual visiting with the occupants of the chairs that faced the passing scene, shaded by trees and the balcony (an added improvement to the original structure) that ran along the south and east sides.  The proprietors, Mr. and Mrs. F. J. Stone, were responsible for the remarkably pleasant, family atmosphere of the hotel.  Evenings when a piano player was present an unscheduled dance could start up in the dining room.  Maynard Crane was considered the most elegant ballroom dancer in town.  His daughter, Kathleen, was much admired as a singer and pianist.

Here in 1903 Dr. Brimi met Elizabeth Manske, who was working at the Palace on loan "for maybe three months" from the Kindred Hotel in Valley City.  The Kindred's proprietor, Mrs. Lane (a well-known early Dakotan) had asked Elizabeth to help out her friends, the Stones, who were shorthanded at the time.  In the long run, as Carl married Elizabeth in 1904 - in St. Louis during the Louisiana Purchase Exposition - her "three months" in Cooperstown stretched to over forty years.

From the first Dr. Brimi discovered his practice made him cover a lot of ground.  Calls were made as far as Dazey, McHenry, McVille, and Finley.  Livery stable teams and rigs, and later, livery autos (weather permitting) were hired for many of these trips.  For some years he had his own buggy and Hambletonian team - Nancy and Fanny.  And by 1910 a gray Hudson roadster, then a cream Buick roadster, which Albert Larson's son Oliver fell in love with and persuaded the doctor to let him buy, and the inevitable Model T's that were all over the landscape by 1920.  And there was one - one only - terrific ride with Reverend Charles Evans in Chet Piatt's homemade kerosene -burning boneshaker with a plank seat.

There were some car-related emergencies in the days before outright car accidents became common.  The doctor once delivered a baby in a Studebaker touring car.  pioneer Millard Washburn died of a stroke in his car one July 4th near Mose.  and there was the man from Karnak who threw his wife from his moving car - she suffered only minor injuries if immeasurable mental anguish.

Kitchen-table surgery, if not always dramatic, had to be performed sometimes in emergencies.  There were even a few appendectomies, one for a member of the Hill family near Hannaford in 1899.  The usual emergency was a farm accident involving hands caught in machinery or a broken bone.  There were always kids falling off the windmills.  And there were tragedies like these from the early 1920's:  

two girls from Finley who drowned near the Qualey bridge.  two children who died in a farmhouse fire at Sutton.  a suicide in a lonely hotel room.  a drifter who fell from a train.

Outbreak of scarlet fever, typhoid, and diphtheria called for house quarantines and school closings, virtually unknown today.  Worst of all was the historic influenza epidemic of 1918.  Dr. Brimi, just out of the army, found himself to be one of the few physicians available to the county in this crisis, as Drs. Almklov and Westley were still with the service.  The disease struck hardest at young adults and the elderly, with many deaths, and kept the doctor on the road day and night.

Andy Tufteland, who often drove the rig in the early days once said that on clear nights Dr. Brimi would point out the constellations, and on the way back to town would sometimes make Andy stop for a spell to study the sky or take in the Northern Lights.  Then Andy, eager to get home, would hear a lot more about astronomy than he really wanted to know.

Sometimes a friend like I. D. Allen or Dr. Winsloe would ride along to help pass the time in conversation.  The roads were run over the hills, not cut through them, and an extra shoulder to the wheels could be a great help.  Mrs. Brimi recalled drives to the river with Mrs. Julia Stevens and her daughter Ida, Mrs. Iver Udgaard, and Mrs. Vic Nelson, in the Stevens's Ford touring car.  When the car balked at a steep grade the girls got out and pushed.

Dr. Brimi was a constant reader.  Apart from keeping up a medical library, he read just about everything that came his way.  He was a pushover for itinerant book agents.  Mrs. Brimi thought they had their secret mark on his door in the style of the old-time hoboes.  He collected books about the plains Indians and the Indian wars.  Chet Piatt's father often told him about the campaigns along the Missouri River from firsthand experience.  The Civil War, a favorite topic of the GAR veteran, E. C. Butler, and the western mining experiences of T. J. and R. C. Cooper, and their early days in Dakota, also deeply interested him.

Religion, philosophy - the heavier ponderables of life - were often taken up with P. A. Melgard, Will Carleton, Reverend Charles Evans, Carl Scott, Basil Edmondson, and Reverend Sweger, who all exchanged books on occasion.  John Syverson and Dr. Brimi were readers of John Burroughs, a nature writer now almost forgotten.

The doctor's all-time favorite preacher was one of the old school, mild-mannered and soft-spoken except when in the pulpit:  

then, when Pastor Vikingstad assailed the dark designs of the Pope at Rome and envisioned the frightful possibility of the Vatican moving to St. Paul - and all this in high-flown Norwegian - "he made us shake in our pews today! "

Dr. Brimi's daughter, Mrs. H. A. Leighton, remembers how much her parents enjoyed the golden wedding observances for the Ole Rorvigs at Binford in 1923, and near that time, a ladies aid lawn social with Japanese lanterns at the home of Mrs. Emma Berg.

For many years Dr. Brimi was superintendent of the board of health, county coroner, official physician for the railroads, and held various offices in the state medical association.  He belonged to a number of fraternal organizations - naturally the Sons of Norway, and in February 1900 he became a Shriner at Fargo along with Peter E. Nelson, John Syverson, and P. A. Melgard.

Dr. Brimi died suddenly at the age of 48 on January 19, 1925.  In the Sentinel -Courier Gerald P. Nye wrote:  

"he lived to serve mankind.”

Mrs. Brimi died in Minneapolis on February 23, 1947, at the age of 66.  She reared four children, the youngest born shortly after his father's death in 1925.  Their children are:  

1. Elizabeth, now Mrs. Horace Leighton

2. Dr. Robert, physician in Knoxville, Tennessee

3. William, a faculty member at the University of Minnesota and Carl, an employee of Amtrak railway.

For the record, there are two Dr. Brimis practicing medicine today, in Tennessee:  

a son Robert, in Knoxville, and a grandson John, in Memphis.
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THE COOPERS OF COOPERSTOWN

Thomas and Caroline Cooper of Vermont were the parents of 11 children.  Three of their children died quite young.  Two of their sons played an important part in the early history of Cooperstown and Griggs County.  Thomas J. spent very little time here but provided much of the finances while Rollin C. managed their bonanza farm.  One sister, Mrs. Barnard lived here for a time.

1. Their oldest sister, Julia, was married to T. J. Smith.  She lived at Red Wing, Minnesota the greater part of her life and was a widow for many years.

2. James B. Cooper, the oldest son in the Cooper family, spent most of his life mining and lived in California.

3. Thomas J. was the third child and the father of Charles L. and Julia Cooper Merriell.  Charles L. was associated with his father and uncle in the farming enterprise.

4. Mary Elizabeth Cooper died at 8 years of age.

5. Eliza Jane (Lizzie) married Mr. Palmatier.  They had one daughter.  She lived in Colorado for a time.

6. Henry Harrison Cooper lived in Colorado.  He had four daughters and one son.

7. Nellie and Edwin were twins.  Edwin died at age 21.  Nellie married Mr. Rice who lived only a few years.  She then married George Barnard Sr., a widower.  They lived in Griggs County and farmed on Section 28 in Washburn Township until the big freeze in 1888 caused them to quit farming.

8. Rollin C. Cooper was married to Miss Emma Hutchins.  They had two children who died in infancy and they adopted a daughter, Florence, who passed away at the age of twenty-seven.

9. George Baker Cooper died at three months.  10.  Arabella Jenny Cooper died at 17 years.

In September of 1974 a great-great-granddaughter of James Burnett Cooper wrote a letter from Florida.  In her letter she states a distant cousin, Robert L. Cooper, who is a grandson of Henry Cooper, has two young sons, who are the last of Thomas and Caroline Cooper's descendants to bear the name of Cooper.
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P. H. COSTELLO FAMILY

Patrick Henry Costello was born January 17, 1897 at Sauk Centre, Minnesota, son of Patrick H. and Julia Frisks Costello, and died in 1970.

Patrick graduated from Litchville High School in 1913 and attended the University of North Dakota at Grand Forks, taking a course in medicine, which was interrupted when World War I began.  He served in the medical unit of the Army at Fort Dodge Iowa.

After the war his medical course changed to Pharmacy and he entered North Dakota Agriculture College at Fargo.  He graduated with honors and took the Board of Pharmacy examination.

He worked at Sanborn for W. A. Siegfried until he acquired his own pharmacy at Cooperstown in 1919.

He and Jeannette E. Bergstrom of Cooperstown were married July 7, 1920.  Their only son, Curtis, was born June 30, 1921.

Curtis received much of his early training in his father's local pharmacy.

Like his father, Curtis's college education was interrupted by World War II.  He enlisted and became a hospital pharmacist in Paris.  He operated a pharmacy in Berlin many months after the armistice was signed.

Later Curtis had a pharmacy ...  Evanston, Illinois.  He was married to Kathryn Birkland of Lakefield, Minnesota February 14, 1951.  Together they operated a Pharmacy in Lakefield.  Curtis died in 1973.  Kathryn and their three children:  

1. Patrick, John and Karen, continued to operate this business.  Jeannette also lives in Lakefield.
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MRS. ELIZA JANE CRAWFORD

Mrs. Crawford moved to Cooperstown as a young widow in January 1898.  She moved from Fountain, Minnesota where she had lost her husband from tuberculosis November 11, 1897.

Mrs. Crawford was a sister of Mrs. Elije Hamilton whose husband was to become a part owner in the Hammer and Condy Company of Cooperstown.

Times were very hard for Mrs. Crawford and her two small children as the only means for her to make a living was by doing cleaning and washing by hand for those who could afford to hire her.  For this work she was paid ten cents per hour and yet from this small wage she always gave one-tenth to her church.

In 1906 she left her oldest child, Ruth, with her sister, Mrs. Hamilton and took her 12-year-old son Paul with her to Dickinson, North Dakota, to homestead a 160-acre claim.  After proving up on the land she returned to Cooperstown.  She retained ownership of this land as long as she lived and it now belongs to her grandson, Arthur Mostad.

She later became very active as a practical nurse and did much nursing for Dr. Westley in Griggs County.

In 1936 she moved from Griggs County with her son-in-law and her daughter, Henry and Ruth Mostad and family, to Osakis, Minnesota where she resided on a farm until her death January 24, 1949 at the age of 80.

Mrs. Crawford's children were:  

Ruth and Paul.  Ruth married Henry Mostad, children:  

1. Art, Robert and Helen.  Paul married Sophie Archambault, one son, Robert.
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JAMES MARSAR CUSSONS FAMILY

James Marsar Cussons Sr. first set eyes on the thriving little town of Cooperstown in 1902.  Coming from a long line of flour millers in England, Mars Cussons, as he was called by his friends, was interested in purchasing the mill.

Mars Cussons was first introduced to the milling trade in Horicon, Wisconsin, where he was born in 1871.  His family migrated to southern Minnesota where they established flourmills in Stewartville and Chatfield.

It was in Chatfield where he met his wife-to-be, Josephine Shermerhorn, and they were married in April 1898.

Mr. Cussons liked what he saw in Cooperstown and purchased the Cooperstown Milling Company.

Later that same year he sent for his family and the rented living quarters until their home was built 1908.

Mr. Cussons was very fond of children and furnished all the material for a playground that was built in the block where the post office is now located.

He served several terms on the City Council.  When L. A. Sayer, Sr. was mayor, the senior James Marsar Cussons served as an alderman.  Years later James Marsar Cussons, Jr., served on the council when L. A. Sayer, Jr. was mayor.

During his years in Cooperstown Mr. Cussons was a member of the Cooperstown Commercial Club from the time he arrived until he retired in 1958, and had served as its president.  He was a member of the Masonic, Knights of Pythias and Odd Fellows lodges.

Josephine Cussons died in 1954 and James Marsar Cussons in 1961.  Their children are:  

1. Marcia (Mrs. Glen Miner), Grand Forks, North Dakota, Lois (Mrs. H. G. Hammer), Scottsdale, Arizona, Doris of Cooperstown, Barton of Turner, Oregon, and James, Cooperstown.
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TORVAL FOSHOLDT

Torval Fosholdt was born November 13, 1874, in Hedalen, Norway.  He immigrated with his parents in 1881, settling in Mitchell County, Iowa.  The next year they moved to North Dakota, the parents, with sons, Torval, John, Ole, and daughter Sigrid who later was married to Martin Wold.  Torval was the youngest of the family.  The mother passed away in 1888.

Torval homesteaded on land near Charlson, in McKenzie County, North Dakota, in 1903, and had a cattle ranch there.  He returned to his parents' home in 1906.  On July 8, 1908, he was united in marriage to Sophia Gunderson by Reverend J. M. Jenson.

They built up a farm in Tyrol Township where they lived until his death, August 11, 1911.  Besides being a rancher and farmer, Torval was also a photographer, and took many excellent pictures.
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JOHN FREDRICKSON

John Fredrickson was born in Linkoping Sweden January 5, 1872 and immigrated to the United States at the age of twenty-one.  He settled in Valley City, North Dakota, working in leather-goods for which he had been trained in Sweden in his father's shoe shop.

In 1902 he married Alphild Larson, who was also from Sweden.  They moved to Cooperstown, Griggs County, North Dakota, with son John Jr. in 1904.  Mr. Fredrickson entered the harness business in partnership with Anton Christianson, who was a city policeman.

Mr. Fredrickson sewed the harnesses by hand the first years of the business but later sewing machines were used.  The horses were brought to the front of the shop in order to be fitted properly with harnesses.

Five children were born to John and Alphild Fredrickson after they settled in Cooperstown.  Three of the children, Carl, Ella and Ina died of complications following measles during a three weeks period of time in November of 1909.

After several years Mr. Fredrickson became sole owner of the harness shop and business.

John Fredrickson, Sr. Harness Shop in 1915

In 1932 the store was converted to a Gamble Store and operated by sons, John and Ralph.

John Fredrickson Sr. died in 1936.  Ralph died in 1964 leaving his wife Kennes, sons Michael and Thomas, and daughters Mary and Sharon.

Alphild Fredrickson died in 1966.  Daughter Irene (Mrs. William Crowder) and son John O. Fredrickson survived her.

John O. Fredrickson continued operation of the Gamble Store in the same building in which his father had operated the harness business until his retirement in 1970.  He died in 1975.

John O. Fredrickson was married to the former Ruth Clark.  They had a son, John H. and a daughter Lynne.  There are also three grandchildren:  

1. Sarah, Kathleen and Aaron, children of Lynne and husband Kevin Effert.
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PAUL HAGEN

Paul and Marilyn Hagen came to Cooperstown from Glenwood, Minnesota in 1966 with their five children:  

1. Pamela, Vicki, Judy, Jerald and Kathy.

Paul was born and raised at Glenwood, Minnesota on a farm.  Marilyn was born and raised near Estherville, Iowa.

The winter and spring of 1974 Gustavo Kronawetter from Asuncion Paraguay stayed with the Hagens and went to the Cooperstown school as a sophomore.  He was 16 shortly after he came here.

Paul has an insurance agency in Cooperstown.  He had his office in his home until he rented the former Duffy law office for one year before buying it in the fall of 1970.
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GUNDER C. FRIGAARD FAMILY

Gunder C. Frigaard was born July 24, 1864 in Stjordalen, Norway.  The family settled in southern Minnesota, and he attended St. Olaf College at Northfield for two years, after which he taught school in Goodhue and Lac Qui Parle counties for a number of years.  He married Marie Vingness of Zumbrota, Minnesota, March 7, 1891.  They had twelve children:  

1. Marie, Bertha, Martin, Clara, Gertrude, Harold, Myrtle, George, Adolph, Agnes, Arthur, and Thelma.  The oldest four members of the family were born in Minnesota.

In 1903 Gunder came to Cooperstown to work for a land company, and his family arrived from Zumbrota the following year.  He was Clerk of District Court at Cooperstown from 1906-1922, after which he farmed north of Cooperstown for a short while and later sold insurance.  Mrs. Frigaard died July 10, 1929 and Gunder died November 7, 1929.

Surviving members of the Gunder Frigaard family in 1975 are:  

1. Mrs. Alfred (Marie) Bolkan, Mrs. Leo (Bertha) Sinner, Mrs. W. D. (Clara) Foss, Harold, Mrs. H. O. (Myrtle) Nelson, Adolph, Arthur, and Mrs. J. (Thelma) O'Shea.  Martin, Mrs. Roy (Gertrude) Tinguely, George and Agnes are deceased.

In 1975, only the Martin G. Frigaard branch of the family is still represented in Cooperstown.  Martin (1896-1938) served in the Army in World War I

married Nora Boraas of Goodhue, Minnesota, (1893-1972):  

sons Gordon (1921-) and Alan (1925-).  Gordon married Eugenia (Duna) Hagen (1929-), children:  

1. Lisa (1953), Karl (1962), Mark (1966).  

Alan married Eula Seffens (1927-), three children:  

1. Sherryl (1951) who married Eric Hanf, son Colby Hanf (1970), Rebecca (1963) and Marty (1965).

Gordon Frigaard and his family reside in Cooperstown at the present time.
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HALVOR HALVORSON FAMILY

Not all people who came to Griggs County in the late 1870's and early 1880's made their fortunes entirely by farming.  Rollin Cooper sold land, besides farming it.  H. P. Hammer expanded from farming into hardware stores, implements, banking and real estate.  Peter E. Nelson began in farming before he went into bookkeeping and hardwares.

But there were also people in Griggs County who made their fortunes in business that did not start in farming at all.  One of these was Halvor S. Halvorson.

His parents, Syver and Anne Halvorson, immigrated to the United States in 1867 and for 14 years tried farming in Wisconsin.  Their move to Dakota Territory in 1881 brought many difficulties including the death of two of their six children from diphtheria contracted at a farmhouse during the move.

Additional difficulties arose two years later when Halvor's father died.  The Griggs County Courier noted his death this way, in the November 9, 1883 edition:

"Sever Halvorson, living 6 miles east of this place (Cooperstown), and brother of the first precinct County- Commissioner Elect died Tuesday of typhoid pneumonia at the age of 38 years.  He was an industrious farmer, and leaves a wife and several children to deplore the fate that called him away.”

A year later, Anne and her five children, including one born shortly after Syver's death, were badly impoverished.  In an affidavit filed in December 1884, Anne said that:

"At the time of his death said Syver Halvorson left the following property viz: one team of oxen, three cows, which was all the personal property of which he was possessed.”

She pleaded that a fee due on her homestead claim be postponed until she could pay it.  She had found no one who would loan her the money to pay for it and without the homestead claim her family would be destitute.

It was this poverty that Halvor left several years later for a job with Hammer & Condy at age ten in Cooperstown.

By 1899, Halvorson had started his own business in McHenry.

In 1904 Halvorson and his former employer, H. P. Hammer, formed the H. S. Halvorson Company.  It was the first of many business enterprises that Halvorson became involved with Hammer.  The McHenry TRIBUNE often took note of his frequent travels to Montana, Fargo and other places to conduct business.

He began an association about this time with the First National Bank of McHenry that would end with his death.  In 1912 the Federal Reserve conducted one of its regular examinations of the bank's operations and finances.  Halvorson was president of the bank at this time.  The audit reported the bank to be in good financial condition and estimated Halvorson's personal net worth at $200,000.  It did note that "loans exceeding limits of Section 5200" have been issued to -H. S. Halvorson Company (corp.) $2500, and overdraft $412.93 - not secured, maker thoroughly responsible.”

The bank was declared insolvent July 3, 1929, almost three years after Halvorsorn’s death.

While busy building his business empire, Halvorson also took an interest in building a family.  He married Clara Johnson of Moorhead, Minnesota in 1904, and five years later she left him a widower with two small children, Carvel and Ernest.  The two children were primarily cared for by their grandparents during the next few years.

Anna Dvorak, the daughter of Bohemian immigrants, arrived in McHenry in 1910 to "make her fortune" and teach school.  She taught school for two years before she returned to her family's home in Muscoda, Wisconsin.  She returned to McHenry in the spring of 1913 as Mrs. Halvor Halvorson.  Halvor, probably wealthy enough to afford it, took her on a five-week-long honeymoon to Florida and Cuba after their January 1913 wedding in Wisconsin.

On his return to McHenry from the honeymoon it was business as usual for Halvor.  A week after it noted the return of the newlyweds from their honeymoon, the McHenry TRIBUNE wrote

-H. S. Halvorson is looking after some business at points in Montana this week.”

The Halvor Halvorsons moved to Cooperstown in 1915, buying a fashionable brick house across the street from the courthouse from their business friend, H. P. Hammer.  Their new home made it easier to visit Halvor's mother who lived on the family homestead claim in Washburn Township.  Even after she moved to town the Halvorsons made regular trips to the farm and the adjacent Ness church.  Halvor and Anna's only child, Marianne, was baptized at the church in April 1920 two months after she was born.

He made varying impressions on people during this time.  Clarence Arneson, who worked for him at the McHenry bank, remembered his ability to count quickly several columns of numbers in his head.  His daughter, Marianne, remembers his inability to say the “v" sound.  He made it more like a "wh" sound, "whisiting" instead of "visiting." others who did not know him personally may have noticed his automobile, one of the first in Cooperstown.

But the strain of Halvorson's work started taking its toll on Halvor in the fall of 1925 when:

"He fell victim to pneumonia.  He recovered, however, and again conducted his business affairs.  The results of his former illness...again told on him and he was taken with influenza, which told in his appearance and vitality.  He persisted in his work, however, in spite of his weakened constitution, and while attending to business matters in McHenry on October 20, 1926, he was taken with a partial stroke of paralysis.  Very slow improvement was noted in his condition, but relatives and friends were optimistic that he would regain health.  Friday morning (December 24, 1926), however, a change occurred and he failed rapidly, passing away between half past four and five o'clock that evening."

The worsening economic conditions in North Dakota in the 1920's may have reduced Halvor's personal wealth before his death but it is not known if it had or by how much.  It is not known how much his widow ever received of his estate, although it was very little if anything.  Halvor and Anna's only child recalled the years immediately after her father's death.

Anna Halvorson opened the Halvorson Shoppe, a dress shop, in 1930, which she operated until her retirement in 1955.  Like her husband, she had found a way to survive the death of a family member whose death had left the family destitute.  She never made a fortune as large as her husband's but she sought it in business like her husband.  And it was in business that many early Griggs County settlers made their fortunes.
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H. P. HAMMER

Halvor P. Hammer, born December 7, 1857 in Solar, Norway, came to America in 1879 and died in Cooperstown December 2, 1932.  His crossing of the Atlantic, in a sailing ship, took six weeks.  He arrived in Northfield, Minnesota, on the day the James gang held up the bank, and, so the story goes, witnessed some of the commotion.  Asked later what his impression was, he replied, "Well, they told me America was wild.”  His manner was in the best tradition of dry, understated Norwegian humor.

He married Carrie Anderson of Lakeville, Minnesota, while he was living in Northfield.  They came to Griggs County in 1882 and homesteaded near Lee post office~, some 20 miles north of Cooperstown.  In 1886 he purchased the livery stable from the Green Mountain Stock Ranch Company and a meat market from Julius Retzlaff, and went into business in Cooperstown.  His ventures here ultimately included general merchandise business, banking, real estate, farming and stock raising.  In 1888 he entered into partnership with George N. Condy, a brother-in-law, in general merchandising.

Mr. Hammer left here for a few years at the turn of the century.  He left here in 1898 for St. Paul, but returned to Cooperstown five years later.  In time, Mr. Hammer had business interests in Cooperstown, Binford, Sutton, Glenfield, McHenry and Grace City.

Early in his residence here Mr. Hammer began developing and breeding high-grade stock on his farm, including Belgian and Percheron horses and Shorthorn cattle.  In 1929 he was honored by having his portrait hung in the Saddle and Sirloin Hall of Fame at NDAC (now North Dakota State University).

For 20 years he was president of the First National Bank of Cooperstown, and served as mayor of the city from 1921 to 1927.

His nine children:  

1. Mrs. O '.  J. Melgard, Mrs. R. Cowan, Mrs. T. G. Thompson, Mrs. M. T. Houghton, Mrs. E. O. Erickson, Mrs. H. O. Grangaard, William, Ralph and Henry.
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ANDREW HOEL

Andrew G. Hoel, a native of the Lanesboro, Minnesota vicinity moved to Hannaford where he became associated with the Hannaford Mercantile Company for several years.

Mr. Hoel terminated his employment with the Mercantile Company and became accountant for the First National Bank in Cooperstown.

Mr. Hoel married Ruth Almklov and they became the parents of two children:  

1. Norman A. Hoel and Bernice.

Because of his mother's ill health Norman spent much time in the home of the Almklovs and when Ruth died in 1918 Norman continued to live with his grandparents.

Andrew Hoel was married a second time to Christie Boe, and they were the parents of two daughters Anna Marie and Esther.

Bernice Hoel was married to Ray Compton and lived in California with their two children:  

1. Paul and Joan.  Bernice died after several years of ill health.

After Mr. Hoel's death, Mrs. Christie Hoel moved to Seattle and resides near her daughter Anna Marie - Mrs. James Wiger.

Esther was graduated from Cooperstown High School and St. Luke's School of Nursing.  For several years she was employed in a hospital in California.  It was while in California that Esther met and married Harry Leber.

Esther now widowed works at her profession and lives in Deerfield Beach, Florida.
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NORMAN HOEL

Norman Almklov Hoel, the son of Andrew and Ruth Hoel was born in Cooperstown, and after the death of his mother, lived with his grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. S. Almklov.

Norman attended school in Cooperstown and finished high school here.  He worked part time in the drug store and after high school matriculated to North Dakota State University’s College of Pharmacy, Fargo.

It was while attending school in Fargo that Norman met and married Marie Hermanson of Fargo.  They continued to live in Fargo until Norman was graduated from the school of Pharmacy.  Their daughter Erlys was born while they lived in Fargo.

After graduation the family moved to Cooperstown where "Norm" was employed as pharmacist with his grandfather, S. Almklov.  His uncle, Dr. Leif Almklov, was in practice in the same building.

After moving to Cooperstown a son, Donald Bruce was born.

When Dr. Almklov retired Norman and Marie bought the balance of the business and continue to operate Almklov's Pharmacy.

Norman was president of the P. T. A. , a 10-year member of the school board, -two years as president-, president of the Commercial Club.

Church activities included tenure on the Board of Trustees, and as Deacon of Trinity Lutheran Church.

Mr. Hoel also served as Master of Northern Light Lodge of Masons as well as District Deputy.

Marie Hoel served as Worthy Matron of Northern Light Chapter of the Order of Eastern Star when they celebrated their 50th Anniversary.

After graduation from Cooperstown High School Erlys Hoel enrolled at Mayville College.  After completing her studies she taught school at Borup, Minnesota for two years.

Erlys was married to Paul Haerter and continued to live in Cooperstown.  Paul was employed at Farmers Oil Company for several years before moving to Parshall, North Dakota where they operated a hardware store.  They later sold out and moved to Williston.

Erlys and Paul are the parents of three children:  

1. James Paul, Ruth and Robert.

Bruce was graduated from the local High School and attended D. D. S. U. entering the School of Pharmacy, after which he enlisted in the Air Force.  After basic and some special detail at Alamagordo AFB (Sandia) New Mexico.  He was stationed at Lackenheath Aerdrome in England.

Following his enlistment Bruce returned to the study of Pharmacy, and after completing this curriculum he returned to Cooperstown to work in the drug store.  After several years in the retail trade Bruce re-entered the Air Force and was stationed at the Tachikawa AF Hospital near Tokyo, Japan -

On his return from the service Bruce moved to Oregon and went into hospital Pharmacy.  He is now chief Pharmacist at Oregon State Hospital in Pendleton.

In Oregon he met and married Marie Hanggi, a native of Munich, North Dakota.  They have one son, Jarrod.
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THE DICK HOWDEN FAMILY

My knowledge of my father's (Richard James Howden) ancestry is sketchy.  His grandfather, James Howden, was born in County Derry, Fermanah, Ireland, in 1811.  In those days the wagons were made by hand and he was a wagon-maker.  About 1840, James Howden moved to Ontario, Wentworth County, Canada, where his son William (my father's father), was born in 1850.  In 1862, James Howden died leaving twelve year old William to make a living for his mother and sisters and brothers.  William Howden hauled material for a sawmill and later he became a framer - a rough carpenter who prepared the material before a raising.  A raising was a kind of celebration where all the families gathered together to build a framework for a building, usually a barn.  Two men, designated captains, chose sides, each choosing the fastest and most skilled workers.  Then the two sides raced to complete their portions of the building - the losers gave the winners a supper.  William Howden married and moved to Huron County, Ontario, Canada, where my father, Richard James, was born in November of 1876.  Later William Howden moved his family to a small inland village called Kintail, located on Lake Huron, where he ran a butcher business.  (My father remembered delivering meat to the customers.)

In 1882 William Howden came to what was then Dakota Territory and settled near Sanborn or Jamestown.  The following year he went after his family.  They came to Sanborn and lived with relatives while waiting for the railroad to be completed to Cooperstown and for their home to be built.  Then they came to Sutton and then settled on a homestead on the bank of Bald Hill Creek in Clearfield Township ten miles west and two miles south of Cooperstown.  My father was seven years old then and this homestead was his home the rest of his boyhood except that they built a nice new house, which was the best in the neighborhood.

My father went to a one-room schoolhouse for his first few grades and when he was ready he came to Cooperstown and attended what would now be called high school.  When through there he would work summers and in the winter go to Valparaiso, Indiana, to school until his money would run out.  When still quite a young man he settled in Carrington, North Dakota, and was elected to the office of Register of Deeds in Foster County.  It was here he met my mother - Agnes Everson, whose parents had come from Christiania, Norway, to settle in Montivideo, Minnesota.

My parents were married in St. Paul, Minnesota, in 1915, and they lived there for seven years.  During this time my father ran a silent motion picture theater and my brother, William Tupper, was born in 1918 and I, Jean Marie, in 1921.

In the spring of 1922, Dick Howden brought his family to North Dakota to his homestead 8 miles west and 2 miles south of Cooperstown - just two miles from his father's homestead where he had grown up.  We lived here in the summers and in Cooperstown in the winters until 1925 when we moved to my grandfather's homestead.  Here we lived until 1930 when my father was elected County Treasurer of Griggs County and we moved to Cooperstown.  He held this office until 1934, and then, having held it two terms he was not eligible for reelection.  He then successfully ran for County Auditor of Griggs County and he held this office until his death in January of 1939.  My mother remained in Cooperstown until January 1940 when she moved to Bismarck, North Dakota, to become secretary to Mr. G. B. Edmondson, State Purchasing Agent.  She held this position until her death in April 1958.

My brother, William Tupper, attended first grade in Cooperstown, rest of the grades in a one-room schoolhouse in Helena Township, and graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1934 and from the School of Pharmacy, North Dakota Agricultural College in June 1940.  That same month he married Margaret Knauss of Hannaford, North Dakota.  He worked as a pharmacist in Devils Lake, North Dakota and in 1942 purchased the Rexall Drug Store in Cooperstown from P. H. Costello and moved to Cooperstown.  In 1957 he purchased the Larson General Store and operated the Howden Store until 1972 when he sold his business and retired.  He and Margaret now divide their time between Mesa, Arizona, and Red Willow Lake, and Cooperstown.  They have four children:  

1. Diane (now Mrs. Dennis Larson and mother of Lori, Greg, and Susie)

2. Richard (Dick)

3. Jeane (now Mrs. Jerry Marshke and mother of Jay, Steve, Ryan and Robin)

4. and William (Bill).

I attended the one-room school in Helena Township for the first four grades, Cooperstown Elementary for rest of grades and graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1939, attended State School of Science in Wahpeton, worked in Bismarck, and later in Washington, D. C.  In 1942 I married David E. Evans of Scranton, Pennsylvania.  In 1969 my husband retired from the US Army after twenty-eight years of service and we now live in El Paso, Texas, where I am still working for Civil Service.  We have two children:  

1. Barbara Jean (Bobbi) (now Mrs. Fred Daughtry and mother of Teresa (Terry) and Tommy)

2. and David Richard (Rick).
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THOMAS IRGENS FAMILY

Thomas Irgens married Mary Clavin of New Rockford in January 1914 in New Rockford, North Dakota He had originally come from Glenwood, Minnesota to New Rockford to work in a men's clothing store.  In 1915 their daughter Kathryn was born, and in 1916 their son James was born.  In 1917 they moved to Cooperstown, North Dakota to establish the Model Clothing Company.  In the same year 1917 their son Donald was born.  In 1930 their daughter Donna was born.

Mr. Irgens was active in civic and community activities and was a long time member of the Cooperstown city council.  Thomas Irgens died in 1961 and his widow Mary Irgens still resides in Cooperstown.  Their daughter Kathryn married Leo Gilcrest of Sioux Falls, South Dakota and they have one son John.  They now live in Estes Park, Colorado where they own a gift shop.  James Irgens married Nora Johnson of Fargo, North Dakota and they have five children:  

1. Tom, James, Terry, Linda, and Lori.  After their marriage they moved to Williston, North Dakota and have resided there since where James owns and operates two Pharmacies and has farming interests.  Donald Irgens married Doris Solberg of Cooperstown, North Dakota and they have three children:  

1. Steve, Mary and Donna.  Donald is a retired Commander from the Naval Air Corps and is presently living in Azle, Texas where he and his wife are both teaching and also engaged in a potting soil business.  Donna Irgens married Julian Mrozla of Long Prairie, Minnesota and they have seven children:  

1. Donald, John, James, Patrick, Julie, Kathryn, and David.  Shortly after their marriage they returned to Cooperstown, have been associated with the Model Clothing men’s store, and are now present owners of the store.

There are sixteen grandchildren and five great-grandchildren in the Irgens family.
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CHARLES HENRY JOHNSON

Charles Henry Johnson, a Civil War veteran, who with his wife and two small daughters, May and Emma, moved from Maine to Fargo, North Dakota in 1880.  In 1882 his wife died and his daughters lived for a time with relatives in the Grandin-Kelso area north of Fargo.  The Fargo Fire of 1884, which was so disastrous to so many including himself, was probably the reason for his move to the new town of Cooperstown.

In Cooperstown he worked at the carpenter trade.  He built houses, sold them, and did very well for himself.  He remarried and had five children.  He started a new venture, which proved to be a total disaster.  He took his family and moved to the Willow Lake area and here he started a mercantile business and a blacksmith shop.  He called this new little inland town "Willow.”  The next years were drouth years and crop failure after crop failure finally 'did the little would-be town of Willow in'.

The Johnson family then moved back to Cooperstown and back to the carpenter trade, building and selling homes to recoup his fortune.  One building he built still stands in the same place.  It was the Larson Store for many years.  He was a partner of Albert Larson for a short time when the store was first started.  He then became County Judge and held that office until his death in 1899.  So important did he consider the job to be that on his deathbed he sent for C. C. Purinton so that he could be sworn in by him and the County would not be left without a Judge.

May and Emma Johnson attended school in the first school building in Cooperstown.  They were later sent to Fargo to boarding school.  Emma, at the age of 17, went out to teach a school west of Cooperstown (Frigaard School).  In the spring she died of pneumonia.  May married Glenn Dyson in 1898.
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DICK JOHNSON

Baseball player, builder of model airplanes, flyer of a crate powered by a Model-T engine - Richard Johnson was all of these while in Cooperstown.  His early interest in flying led him to a lifetime career in aviation such as few others have had.

In WW II he served in the Army Air Force and flew 180 missions as a fighter pilot in the Mediterranean area.  After the war he remained with the Air Force as a test pilot, and attained the rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

He later joined General Dynamics and served as chief engineering test pilot.  He tested several supersonic fighters including the F102 and the F106.  In 1948 he broke the world's speed record, when he flew an army jet fighter, the F86 at a speed of 670.98 m.p.h.  He was awarded the French Henri de la Vaulx medal in recognition of this.

In 1967 he was awarded the title of the nation's best test pilot.  He received the Iven C. Kincheloe Award at the convention of the society of experimental test pilots.  At that time he had been engaged in flying the F111A fighter, also known as the TFX. 

Three thousand hometown people honored him October 30, 1948 at "Dick Johnson Day" at the local airport.  On that day after a spectacular acrobatic show, Dick landed his F51 fighter on the sod runway.  A considerable feat in itself because the "51" lands at near 100 mph.

He became manager of flight in the Ft.  Worth division of General Dynamics in 1960 and subsequently was named director of flight and quality assurance.  General Dynamics' new airplane, which was sold to four European countries in addition to our own, is the F16, a single engine fighter airplane.  It is the first fly-by-wire airplane in which all control is electric rather than mechanical or hydro mach as most recent aircraft have been.  The principal advantages of fly-by-wire are reliability and versatility.

To quote Dick Johnson "I helped design the F16.  I have not flown it.  I would love to and could with the greatest of ease and delight.  With great reluctance I assigned another test pilot.  I am sure the government authorities, who really run our business would have said 'you're too old.’  I didn't give them the chance.  I have no complaints.  I've had more than my share of fun with my life's work - flying.  My work is no longer fun for me.  I am the boss of lots of things and lots of people - most of them great, lovely men - I prefer sky and fast airplanes however and I stay homesick for new adventure.”

Dick and his wife Alvina live in Aledo, Texas.  They have three children

1. Rick, - a graduate of U. of Texas who is completing his pre-med requirements for medical school, a daughter Christy, a nurse and Lisa fourteen going on fifteen and "the best catcher on the girls softball league.  She can make kumla, lefse, cake, pie and cookies like any good farm girl from North Dakota.  She can ski, skate, swim, ride a motorcycle, fly, back-pack eighteen to twenty miles in a day in the high mountains - and is my best friend - and I like her," Dick said.
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ISAAC AND INGRID JOHNSON

Isaac Johnson was born February 13, 1856, in Vaage, Gudbrandsdalen, Norway.  He immigrated to the United States in August 1906 with his wife Ingrid and his four young unmarried daughters:

1. Ella (Mrs. Arndt Taxdahl), 

2. Paulina (Lina) (Mrs. Adolph Larson), 

3. Jurgina (Gina) (Mrs. Christian Rustad), and 

4. Hannah (Mrs. Thomas Vormedal).  

Another daughter, Anna, had died in Norway at the age of 14 years.  

A son, Syvert, had come eighteen years earlier, in 1888, at the age of eight years with his grandparents, John I. and Anna Sevenson Johnson.  

Isaac was the oldest of seven children born to John I. and Anna Sevenson Johnson.  

His brothers and sisters were:  

1. Anna (Mrs. Oliver Thorson), 

2. Carrie (Mrs. Ed.  Barnes), 

3. Andrew of Riverside Township, Steele County, 

4. Mary (Mrs. Ole Bakke), 

5. Annie (died quite young), and 

6. Ole of Hannaford, North Dakota and later Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Ingrid Ofsteng was born on September 25, 1855, in Vaage, Gudbrandsdalen, Norway to Paul and Ella Hagen Ofsteng.  She had one brother and three sisters.  None of her family - parents or brother and sisters came to America.

After coming to America, Isaac and his family bought a home and settled in Cooperstown - the far southwest comer of the city.  Isaac was employed by the city Street Department for many years until the death of his wife in 1927 when he went to live with his daughter Ella in Helena Township, where he died in 1928.

Paulina (Mrs. Adolph Larson) born December 19, 1886 lives with a daughter in Bend, Oregon and Jurgina (Mrs. Christian Rustad) born April 20, 1890 lives at Lakeridge Health Care Center, St. Paul, Minnesota.  Hannah (Mrs. Thomas Vormedal) born September 6, 1892, died in 1972 in Anaconda, Montana, Ella (Mrs. Arndt Taxdahl) born January 30, 1883, died in 1965 at Valley City, North Dakota.  All of these women were preceded in death by their husbands.  Syvert born October 7, 1880, married Thorbjorg Kalvik in 1919.  He died in 1936 in Hannaford, North Dakota and his wife died in 1938.
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THEODORE KITTELSON

Theodore Kittelson was born June 17, 1882, in Spring Grove, Minnesota.  He was brought up in the Lutheran faith.  Theodore came to Binford, North Dakota, in 1904 where he worked for Greenland and Pritz, dealers in farm machinery.  One occupation at that time was assembling and putting up windmills.  He married Marie Rorvig in 1908.  The couple moved to Cooperstown in 1912 where Mr. Kittelson went into partnership with Greenland and Lunde Company where he was a cattle buyer and dealer of farm implements and automobiles.  During these years he played in the local band, served as a volunteer fireman and for many years was on the city council.  He was a member of the Lutheran Church, Masonic Lodge, K of P Lodge and Sons of Norway.  Mr. Kittelson passed away in 1944.  Mrs. Kittelson resides in the family home in Cooperstown.  They have one daughter, Madeline, now Mrs. Elwood Lund of Shelly, Minnesota.

There was also a son who died in infancy.
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JOHN KRAMVIK FAMILY

John Kramvik was born August 8, 1898 in Vardo, Norway, son of Mr. and Mrs. Louis Kramvik.  He came to Cooperstown in 1913.

John Kramvik and Lydia Michaelis were married in Cooperstown June 24, 1925:  

four children:  

1. Lauretta, married W. O. Brown

2. John Louis married Lorraine Gunderson

3. Myrleen, married Roger Bakken

4. LeRoy, married Mujoko Shimabakuro.

John farmed until 1941 when he moved into town and worked as a mechanic until he retired.  His hobby was collecting antiques, especially engines.  He died July 12, 1970.  Lydia still lives in Cooperstown.
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THE HANS J. KOLSTADS

Hans, J. Kolstad was born September 1880 in Gulbransdalen, Norway.  He came to Minnesota with his parents and two sisters in 1882.  His father, Jorgen Kolstad, homesteaded in Swift County, Minnesota.  Hans attended the Willmar Seminary and the University of Minnesota before moving to Cooperstown in 1904, where he was associated with Hammer-Condy Company.

He was married to Sina Kaarboe in Cooperstown in 1914.  They had two children:  

1. Hazel, Mrs. Robert Finnegan of Los Angeles, California and William Kolstad of Fresno.  William has two sons, Robert and William.

Hans Kolstad was well known through the implement business and had many friends throughout Griggs County and the surrounding countryside.  He died in 1965.

Mrs. Kolstad was born in 1880 in Lesje, Norway, and spent her early years in Oslo, Norway.  She came to Cooperstown in 1904 with her brother Olav.

Sina Kolstad was known for her many examples of exquisitely beautiful needlework and in this she perhaps had no peer.  She died in 1938.
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EDWARD LARSON

Edward Larson came to Cooperstown with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Emil Larson in 1934 from Steele County.  His parents operated a cream station for around 15 years.

He graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1936.

He then attended welding school in Wahpeton and worked in an auto body shop in Minneapolis.

He married Mabel Bettenhausen of Wishek, North Dakota on

August 16, 1942 at Binford, North Dakota

He served in the United States Air Force in World War II from

October 1942 till February 1946, and was stationed in India for 18 months.

After he came back from the service he returned to Cooperstown and started an Auto Body Shop in 1947 with a partner, Bill Turner, in the Adam Chevrolet garage.  After 10 years at the Chevrolet garage he went to work at Main Motors.  In 1963 he opened his own auto body shop on the east end of town under the name of Eddie's Auto Body Shop, which he presently owns.

Edward and Mabel have four children:  

1. Kathryn Grace, 

2. Jane Marion, 

3. Paul Edward, and 

4. David John.  

Kathy is married to Rodney Strand of Hannaford, North Dakota They have two daughters, Angela Jane and Kelly Anne and make their home in Knoxville, Tennessee.

Jane is married to Joseph Anesta of Brooklyn, New York.  They presently live in Fargo, North Dakota.  Paul graduated in 1975 from the University of North Dakota with a B. S. in Music.  David is presently attending the University of North Dakota pursuing a degree in accounting.

Mabel has been employed as a Nurse's Aide at the Griggs County Nursing Home since 1973.

The Larsons presently live at 1432 Lenham Avenue and are members of Hofva Lutheran Church.
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THORVALD LENDE FAMILY

Thorvald Lende was born in Stavanger, Norway May 18, 1884 and came as a newcomer to America in 1902.  He worked Northwest of valley City for a while on a farm, and then came to the Cooperstown area.  His brother, Ludvig came about a year later and they went out to Montana and homesteaded for a while.  His Uncle, Carl Lende lived in Sverdrup Township for a while.  Thorvald came to the old Wuflestad farm a mile west of the Westley Church and worked there.  While there he met his bride to be, Hilda Johnson who lived near Hope, as she was visiting her friend, Nora Wuflestad.  Thorvald rented a quarter of land from Oscar Johnson, near Hope, and then he moved over to the R. S. Lunde farm, where Melvin Stokka now lives.  He lived about two years on that place.

He married Hilda Constance Marie Johnson, daughter of Oscar and Anna Marie Johnson June 16, 1908.  She was born on July 21, 1888 in Muskegon, Michigan  They were married at her farm home near Hope, North Dakota in Steele County.  They rented a quarter of land from Swen Olson and moved there.  In 1910 they had an auction sale, took their first child, about a year old, and went to Norway for a visit.  While they were in Norway, his brother, Ludvig, bought that quarter of land and then sold it to Thorvald when they came back.  They then built a nice house and a large barn on the place, living there until in 1919 they moved to Cooperstown.  He did dray work for awhile and then started buying cream in back of the Farmers store, later purchased his own building and for a good many years bought cream, eggs, poultry, hides and wool, and also was in the insurance business.  In later years he was in the car business.  His wife died in 1939 from diabetes and he died in 1958, about a month after he had been struck by a car in Valley City.

They had a family of twelve children, six girls and six boys.  All are still living, except one girl, Doris who died at the age of twelve years from after effects of scarlet fever.  When Cooperstown celebrated its 50th anniversary, the Thorvald Lende family were all present, rode in the parade, and were the largest family in the county at that time.  The names of the children are as follows:  

1. Floyd

2. Palmer

3. Mrs. Nels H. Francis (Arvilla)

4. Wendell

5. Mrs. Irving Standley (Hannah)

6. Mrs. Dennis Anundson (Bernice)

7. Mrs. Harley Fogderud (Beatrice)

8. Bernice (twins) 

9. Beatrice (twins)

10. Mrs. Theo.  Curtis (Phyllis)

11. Doris (deceased)

12. Donald

13. Thorvald Lende, Jr.

14. Carroll.
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RUEBEN B. LOUDEN

Rueben B. and Edgar G. Louden, twins, were born February 10, 1902 in Main Prairie, Minnesota to Charles D. and Maggie Louden.  There were four other boys and five girls in the family.  They moved to Cooperstown around 1912.

Rueben worked around Cooperstown and neighboring towns most of his life.  He learned the cement business from Hallie Wall in 1940, and afterward went into business for himself.  He continued until about a year before his death in 1974.

He married Katherine Taylor June 11, 1927, Cooperstown.  She died 1954

2 children:  

1. Charles T. (1929-)

2. Patricia (1934-1941).  Rueben later married again.  His second wife, Florence, died 1970.  

Charles married Katherine Van DeHoven of Fargo:  

two children:

1.  Charles and Patricia.  Lived in Cooperstown until 1950.  moved to west coast, presently resides in Lynnwood, Washington where he is a partner in a construction firm.
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NILS M. LUNDE

Nils M. Lunde was born in 1881 in Stavanger, Norway.  He was the eldest son of Martin and Carn Lunde who immigrated from Norway to Griggs County in 1882.  He died in 1956.

Nils M. Lunde joined Greenland Farm Machinery firm in 1908 and the name was changed to Greenland Lunde Company.  The firm sold farm equipment including Case steam engines and separators, Delco light plants, Mogel tractors, Overland and Buick automobiles and a complete line of seeders, drags, buggies, binders.  The company obtained the John Deere franchise in approximately 1925 and later the Chevrolet franchise also.  He was active in this business until 1946 and was elected president of the North Dakota Implement Dealers Association in this period of time.

Mr. Lunde served as president of the Farmers & Merchants Bank, board member of the Griggs County Oil Company, in partnership with Martin Garlid and Martin Bolstad in the construction of the J. C. Penney building as owners.

Mr. Lunde was elected mayor in 1918 and during his term a bond issue was passed for the Cooperstown Water Works.  This action helped establish Cooperstown as one of the most progressive and booming trade centers in the state.  He served as a county commissioner.  The commission was known as one of the hardest boiled boards of county commissioners in the state.  He was active in the Trinity Lutheran Church serving on various boards including the board of trustees.  He was a long time member of the fire department also.

In 1910 Nils married Clemence Krantz of Enderlin, North Dakota.  The children born were:  

1. Eunice

2. Donald (died in childhood)

3. Mayvis

4. Lorraine

5. Corinne 

6. Arlys 
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JOHN HENRY McDERMOTT

John Henry McDermott, my father, was a son of Farrel McDermott and his wife, Catherine (Burns) McDermott.  Their other children were:

1. Margaret (Maggie), Daniel and Marie.

In about 1850 Farrel with his younger brother, Daniel, farmers from Londonderry, North Ireland, emigrated to the New World.  Farrel met, and shortly married Catherine Burns in New York.  She had emigrated from Sligo County, Ireland, at about the same year Farrel emigrated.

Farrel and Catherine lived for a time in Boston and New York, where their first child Margaret (Maggie) was born, then moved west to the area of Cleveland, Ohio, where their oldest son John was born.  They moved again, this time to the area of Madison, Wisconsin.  Still later, toward the end of the Civil War, they moved to Pawnee County, Nebraska.

Near the close of the Civil War, Farrel filed as a homesteader on 160 acres near Burchard, Pawnee County, Nebraska.

Though Farrel may well have had a limited education, their children:  

1. John

2. Margaret

3. Daniel and Marie seemed to have had some elementary education.

For some years before moving to Dakota in 1881 John had operated a harness shop in Pawnee, Nebraska.  Part of the time his sister Marie (later Mrs. Wahlmeier) kept house for him.  In 1881, John moved from Pawnee to Valley City, North Dakota.  There he was a proprietor of the N. P. Hotel and the Sherman Hotel.  He sold out his interest in both and came to Cooperstown in 1884.

Some comments on John's early days in Dakota appear in The Courier for December 26, 1884:

"HARNESS SHOP.  Nebraska sends, to swell the population of the garden of the Northwest, John McDermott, the proprietor of the Pioneer Harness Shop.  Mr. McDermott is, by birth, an Ohioan and how, with his popularity, he has escaped holding a federal office, is a problem that might puzzle a politician.  His first venture in the harness and leather business was in Pawnee City, Nebraska.  His business was successful and Mr. McDermott acquired a fair capital and removed to Dakota in 1881 with the idea of increasing it rather than improving his health.  He worked for some time with Henry Wold of Valley City and, as a compositor remarks, 'You can't say too much about how he understands his business.’  He was afterward one of the proprietors of the N. P. Hotel and the Sherman Hotel, in Valley City.  He made good.  In the spring of 1884 he sold out his hotel business, removed to Cooperstown, and started the first harness shop.  He has done a first class business, turned out the best work and is in a fair way to prosper.”

John participated in the activities and interests of the Cooperstown community.

In 1884 he served on the nominating committee of the Republican legislative caucus.

The Courier of August 1, 1884, tells of an interesting Sunday trip to the mounds by a party of ten under the guidance of John McDermott.

In the decade or two after his arrival in Cooperstown, John McDermott's business affairs seem to have prospered reasonably well.  He acquired an interest in Thompson- McDermott Company, a mercantile firm.  In addition to the harness shop he continued his interest in farm properties.  He built a substantial home.  At one time he was interested, with others, in cattle feeding.

Near the end of the first decade he married Anna Arneson, daughter of John Arneson, one of the early pioneers.  They were married January 1, 1894, by Reverend Oscar D. Purinton, a Baptist minister.

Five children were born to John and Anna.  

1. Della Josephine, born February 10, 1895, died about a year later and is buried in the Cooperstown cemetery.  

2. Edward Henry, born August 17, 1896, lives with his family in Chicago.  

3. Willard, was born April 1, 1898, and died in Denver, Colorado, March 9, 1971.  

4. Avelyn (Avaleen), who was born March 30, 1900, married E. Vernon Ladd, lived in Cleveland, Ohio, and died May 2, 1953.  

5. Myrtle was born June 12, 1903, married Roger Clark, now deceased, and lives in Sun City, California.

John H. McDermott died July 5, 1908.  Anna, his widow, died April 21, 1966.  Both are buried with Della Josephine in the Cooperstown cemetery.
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C. C. McDONALD

Charles C. McDonald came to Cooperstown in 1885.
He was born in New York in 1846.
His parents were William (1801-?) and Christina Henry McDonald (18119).
Two of C. C. 's brothers died in Confederate prisons and another one was wounded in the Battle of Bull Run in the Civil War.
Emily, (February 1840-January 24, 1891), married Jared C. Hazard in 1858.

Charles married Margaretta Fairchild on December 14, 1871 in Marguette, Wisconsin in 1890.

C. C. ran the Palace Hotel during his lifetime in Cooperstown.
He died March 14, 1890 of Consumption.
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ALBERT I. MONSON

Albert I. Monson was born in Alamakee County, Hanover Township, Iowa on May 6, 1867.

His parents were Even and Ingeborg Monson.

In 1879 they left Iowa and went to Montevideo, Minnesota by covered wagon.

They lived here for two years when they started for Dakota Territory.

The covered wagon was pulled by horses to Tower City, where they traded the horses for a yoke of oxen.  

A company of two other wagons followed the Monsons - John Arneson and Thor Halvorson.  

The children walked behind chasing the stock.

The party arrived in Dakota Territory in October 1881 after a six weeks journey.

Even Monson and Arneson had been to Dakota in the spring of 1881.  Even Monson had taken a homestead on Section 6, Greenview Township, Steele County and Arneson helped him build a shanty.

The shanty was fourteen by eighteen feet and made from logs, with bark and sod for the roof.  A barn was built to last through the winter for the stock.  This was done when they came in October.

They all got busy stacking up wood etc., to prepare for the winter.

Albert worked on the farm for George Barnard for two weeks in November.

In the middle of November with his father, Omund Opheim, and John Arneson, he went to Valley City for provisions for the winter.  The trip took them four and one-half days.  The men slept outside under the wagon and by haystacks every night.  On their way back they were in the midst of a prairie fire.  To save themselves they lit the prairie and followed the fire.

In the spring of 1882 the Monsons broke up their land for farming.  The first two years they broke it with oxen.

The same year Albert worked in Mayville for James Knutson through haying, threshing and plowing for five months.  He came back just before Christmas.

In March, 1883 he went back to work for Knutson again and stayed there until the middle of November when he went back on the farm to help his folks.

The crops were good until 1888 when there was a frost and froze all the crops.

The same year Albert started farming on his own in Section 2, Washburn Township.

On June 24, 1890 Albert was married to Mathilda Qualey by Reverend Larson at John Qualey's home.

Albert lived on his farm until 1896 when he traded his farm for a livery barn in Cooperstown.

After owning the livery barn a little over 2 years he traded it for another farm in Lenora Township.

In 1898 Mr. Monson worked for a machinery dealer in Cooperstown until the spring of 1899 when he started in the machine business of his own at Finley, North Dakota.

In the spring of 1900 he sold his interests in the machinery to Julius Brua and went into the butcher business for one year.

In the spring of 1901 he moved to Section one in Washburn Township.

In 1914 Mr. Monson moved to Cooperstown when he was elected sheriff and held that position for four years and then went back to his farm.

Six children were born to this marriage:  

1. Myrtle, 1891

2. Elmer, 1893

3. Lillian (Mrs. Edwin Bolkan), 1895

4. Elma, 1898

5. Mrs. Henry Hanson, 1900

6. and Mel red, 1907.  Albert Monson died in 1947.  Mrs. Monson die in 1969 at the age of 97.  Three of the children are living at the present time:  

1. Mrs. Edwin Bolkan and Melfred in Cooperstown and Mrs. Henry Hanson in California.
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THE NELSON FAMILY

In 1900 the population of Cooperstown officially was 648.  By 1910 it had increased to 1019.  Part of the increase was due to the arrival of several of the Nelsons who came to Cooperstown from Horace, North Dakota in the early 1900's.

Henry, the oldest, and Martin found work as clerks in a grocery store.  Victor was the local depot agent.  Joe became a printer and Ida and a friend opened a millinery shop.

The older brothers rented a house for their younger brothers and sisters.  There were Ella, Esther, Nora, Ted, Bert and Floyd.  Mabel was brought up in her uncle John's home in Horace.

Several members of the family played musical instruments and were much in demand for dances and parties.

None of the girls lived in Griggs County after they grew up.

Henry married Mildred Richardson who was one of the telephone operators.  In 1910 they homesteaded in Montana but returned to Griggs County in 1918 and spent the rest of their lives here.  They had two children.

Victor married Margaret Neary.  They had one son, Picky (Vic Jr.).  Vic became postmaster and stayed in Cooperstown till the middle twenties.

Joe married Bessie Simpson.  They had four sons.  Joe spent all his working years in Chicago.

Martin was the only one to serve in the army.  He was in service on the front lines in France during World War I.  He married Agnes Lenhardt.  They had two children.

Ted married Ann Swanson.  They had one son, James.  Floyd was a mail carrier till his retirement.  Floyd was married twice - the second time to Hazel Haaland.

Bert married Ann Stone.  They had two children.  Martin, Bert and Henry all served as County Treasurer.

Space will not permit the inclusion of the second and third generations.  These twelve brothers and sisters accounted for thirty-one children, who now have children and grandchildren of their own.

Of the twelve brothers and sisters, at this writing, Bert, the last brother, has just passed away and only three sisters

Esther, Ella and Mabel are still with us.

Henry's daughter, Marian, who is Mrs. Theo. Stone and her son Ricky and family are at present the only Nelson descendants living here.
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SWEN S. OLGAARD

Swen S. Olgaard, oldest son of Mr. and Mrs. Swen Olgaard was born in St. Paul, Minnesota on March 7, 1885 and came to Cooperstown with his parents in May 1886.  He grew up on the home farm east of Cooperstown.  He worked with his father and ran the steam threshing machine for many seasons.

In 1906 he moved to Cooperstown and lived in Cooperstown the rest of his life.  That year he worked for C. J. Lucken selling washing machines and farm machinery besides threshing in the fall.  During the winter of 1908-9 he attended Concordia College.  In the summer of 1909 he worked for the Peter E. Nelson hardware store as a plumber and tinsmith and the following winter he attended Dakota Business College in Fargo.

He worked on the R. C. Cooper ranch in the summer of 1910 and in the fall went to work for Hammer Condy Company as a mechanic until the fall of 1915.  Every fall in that time he went out threshing.

In the fall of 1915 he went into the automobile business with Charles Hall, forming the Hall-Olgaard Auto Company.  Mr. Hall sold out of the business in 1924 and in 1926 Olgaard also sold out.  From 1926 to 1935 Mr. Olgaard worked as a plumber with Thor Hetager and Selmer Jacobson, as a mechanic for Palace Motor Company and King Bruns Auto Company and also as a machinist remaking connecting rods for motors, etc.

From 1935 to 1939 he served as sheriff of Griggs County, and in 1942 he became the first sheriff to be re-elected after leaving the office.  He served then until 1946.

He then returned to the plumbing and heating business, later taking his son Kenneth as a partner.  Mr. Olgaard died June 2, 1971.

He married Hilma Erickson, daughter of Daniel and Edrika Erickson November 26, 1914, and they were the parents of five sons.  All attended the Cooperstown schools.

Daniel, born October 15, 1915, worked in various stores in Cooperstown before serving in World War II.  married Ardys Peerson in 1951, (one son and one daughter), lives in Fargo.

Oswald, born July 8, 1917, married Thelma Edland, (two sons), lived and worked in Cooperstown except for service in World War II, until his death December 2, 1965.

Ralph, born April 12, 1919, attended Valley City State College, taught school, served as Griggs County Superintendent of Schools, married Senora Lura, (three sons, one daughter), now lives in Rapid City, South Dakota

Kermit, born September 23, 1925, attended North Dakota Agricultural College, served in Army World War II, married Gloria Anderson, (two sons, one daughter), resides in Frankenmuth, Michigan.

Kenneth, born September 23, 1925, attended North Dakota Agricultural College, served in the Army World War II, went into business with his dad and still resides in Cooperstown.  He married Paula Bovaird, (one son, one daughter).

For over sixty years "old Swen" as he was known, was a member of the Cooperstown fire department.  He was a member of the Knights of Pythias lodge for nearly as long.  He joined Sons of Norway in 1913 and served as president in 1933.  When the lodge was reorganized in the 1960's he again took an active part.

His philosophy may have been summed up in a favorite statement, "I may not have a lot of money but I am a rich man for having so many friends.”
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SELMER J. QUAM FAMILY

Selmer J. Quam, son of Theodore and Ingeborg Quam of Forde Township, Nelson County, attended North Dakota State University and the University of Minnesota.  Della Quam, daughter of John and Bertha Johnson of Fargo, North Dakota graduated from Moorhead State College and attended Dakota Conservatory of Music in Fargo.

We were married March 30, 1932 after which we lived in Enderlin for about a year, where Mr. Quam was a mortician.

We moved to Cooperstown in 1934 and established a funeral home and ambulance service in the Martin Garlid residence.  Mr. Quam served as coroner of Griggs County for 39 years.  In 1950 he built a funeral home, adjacent to the former building.  In 1954 we became a partner in the Boe funeral home in Finley.  In 1959, Mr. and Mrs. Glen Plaisted became a partner at Finley and in Cooperstown in 1964.  In 1974 we retired from the funeral business.

We have two children.  

1. Delores, who is married to Larry Vigesaa, lives in Billings, Montana.  She teaches music in the public schools and Larry has established an architectural firm.  They have three boys, Erik, Bryan and Benjamin.  

2. Mylo, our son, is in New York City.  He attended Concordia College for one year and then attended several colleges in the New York area.  He was in theatrical work but is now engaged in the art of painting.

Mr. Quam is also a veteran of World War II, served as a laboratory technician in the medical corps.

Mr. and Mrs. S. J. Quam
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THE REITEN FAMILY

It was a letter from a cousin in Petersburg, North Dakota that first set young Peter I. Reiten's (1872-1963) thoughts wandering to that new country in America.  A letter of great green fields, far inland, a truly wonderful place to farm.  The thoughts of that new land were intriguing to him.  But, what a decision he would have to make.  For at this time, he was also offered a chance to rent a farm near the Reiten family home at Hildrestrand, Norway.

It was 1893 when he arrived in Petersburg, North Dakota.  Here he married Johanna Knudson (1884-1957) in 1907.  They raised four boys:  

1. Ingvard (1909)

2. Carl (1910-1974)

3. Edwin (1912) and 

4. Palmer (1917).

In not too many years it would be Edwin's decision to leave the farm.  Ed Reiten was eventually to settle in Cooperstown, where he would establish both his family and his business.  In 1940 he married Lillian Hamre (1914).  Their children are:  

1. Joann (Mrs. Morris Saxerud) born in 1941 and 

2. Richard born in 1943.  And, his business would be Reiten Manufacturing Company.

In 1935, Ed Reiten had just graduated from the State School of Science at Wahpeton.  Unable to find work, he took to the road in a Model A Ford and offered on-the-farm welding service.  The fall of that year, a 23-year-old Ed came to Cooperstown to help Bruce Wright in his repair shop.  Ed had come to relieve Wright while he went to Bismarck for parts for his airplane.  After Wright returned Ed went to Petersburg and worked for the Petersburg Garage until the fall of 1936, and from there he went to the Fargo Foundry.

In 1938, Ed Reiten returned to Cooperstown, this time to buy the repair shop and start building Reiten Manufacturing Company.  During that first year he was the company.  And, he now had the opportunity he had longed for, a place to utilize his inventive abilities.

During the second year he added one employee, Victor Hopewell.  Besides doing repair work they started manufacturing water tanks and trailers.  One of his early experiments was a steel tooth for hay sweeps.  But, because of the war and shortages of steel, further development wouldn't be possible until 1946.  With his outlook adjusted, he began to specialize in keeping worn-out farm equipment in working condition.

The year 1941 saw the beginning of pull-type swather production.  As the war wound down the manufacturing pace increased.  Reiten's were now making tanks, trailers, swathers, elevators, truck boxes, pontoon boats, and stacker teeth.  Custom manufacturing was also becoming a very important part of their business.  In 1946 they began supplying parts to the Melroe Company of Gwinner, North Dakota.

In December of 1953 Reiten signed the long awaited tooth contract with the Farmhand Company of Hopkins, Minnesota.  It was then, that same day, Reiten's plant burned to the ground.  Jigs and fixtures necessary for swather production were destroyed.  However, the basic equipment used in the tooth line - a press brake that exerted 200 tons pressure and a squaring shear - were saved.  Following the fire, Reiten and his employees were joined by local farmers and merchants in their clean-up and salvage work.

The story could very well have changed here.  for it was at this point that other communities began to attract Reiten.  Promises of new plants and facilities came from several areas.  It was now up to him to decide- His roots were here and not damaged by the fire.  His family and home were here.  The community that had helped was here.  He would rebuild in Cooperstown.

The tooth production line was set up in only three weeks and when they had fulfilled their 1954 contract to Farmhand, they had produced 33,000 steel teeth.  And, at the same time, a new building had been under construction to house this fast-growing firm.

The year 1955 was the 17th birthday for the company, and at that time they employed 17 people.  All of them were local people and many had been trained in Reiten's shop.

Further product development and expansion was to lead to the Reiten Reset Plow.  It was with the marketing of this product that the plant would grow to employ more than 100 employees.  And, in 1967 led the Melroe Manufacturing Company to Cooperstown to purchase the Reiten firm.

It was now time for the second generation of the Cooperstown Reitens.  As Melroe no longer wished to do farm repair, Richard Reiten would build Reiten Machine Shop to specialize in farm repair.  He too, during his first year, was the company.  Later, he added his first employee, Harold Oettle.  The third year saw plant expansion and more employees.  Custom manufacturing was now becoming an important part of their business too.  The fifth year saw more employees and more plant expansion.  And now after nearly eight years in business, several building projects and employing 19 people, his company is known nationally as Reiten, Inc.
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MARTIN ROOD

Martin Rood was born in Vestre Toten, Norway, on October 2, 1870.  He came to America in 1889 at the age of 19, and stayed with relatives in Wisconsin.  Later he lived with relatives in Oakes, and Ellendale, North Dakota He came to Cooperstown in early 1900, and worked for his brother-in-law, Earnest Johnson, who owned a livery stable.  He told of many experiences he had while taking Dr. Brimi out in the country to see his patients.  He also delivered the mail - one day he would go North of Cooperstown, and the next day South.

He married Ranghild Kobbervig of Lake Mills, Iowa, in 1905, she died in 1906.  They had one daughter, Inez, Mrs. Walter Nystuen, who now lives in Northwood, Iowa.

He married Hannah Hanson of Pekin, North Dakota, in 1910.  They lived in Binford where Mr. Rood was in partnership with H. P. Hammer in the hardware business.  They moved to Pekin in 1911 where he was in partnership with Otto Knapp in a general store.  In 1918 he moved to Sutton where he owned a store with Oliver Hoff.  One year later the store burned down, and the Roods moved to Cooperstown where they managed the Andrews Hotel.  Mr. Rood also sold groceries to farmers, and later on was the night policeman in Cooperstown, and custodian of the high school.  He died in 1937, and his wife died in 1959.

Mr. Rood's descendants are:

1. Hazel - Mrs. Kenneth J. Leininger of Binford, North Dakota

2. Blanche - Mrs. Norton Stangeland of Carrington, North Dakota

3. Elaine - Mrs. William Brosnahan of Seattle, Washington

4. Milton of Spokane, Washington

5. Stanley of Seattle, Washington.  Leonard died in 1934.

The following sisters and brothers of Mr. Rood also came to Griggs County in the early 1900's - Tia (Mrs. Earnest Johnson), Tillie, Tena, Carl, Nels and Ole Rood.
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DR. FRED ROSE

Dr. Fred W. Rose was born March 22, 1874 in Georgetown, Ontario, Canada.  Following his graduation from the Chicago College of Dental Surgery in 1896 and after practicing in Chicago, Illinois and Fargo, North Dakota, he came to Cooperstown in 1898.

Dad always told us Cooperstown was a very small, quaint, quiet picturesque town but with an air of friendliness, gaiety and hospitality.

He was single when he first came to Cooperstown and made his home at the Palace Hotel where he enjoyed cards, billiards and pool and just plain talk after a busy day.  (The six-dollar a week room and board was most enticing.)

At this time our Dad did not have an office.  He traveled by horse and buggy to Edgeley, Lisbon, LaMoure, Hope and other villages with a portable dental chair and equipment.

After building up a little reserve, he returned to Canada and married Emma Hewer in 1904.  They made the long trip to North Dakota by train.  Being very tired after many hours of travel, mother asked the conductor, "Just where is Cooperstown, " and fie replied, "My dear lady it is just beyond Hope.”  This was a shock to mother and she put her head on dad's shoulder, shedding a few tears.

Dad practiced 54 years in Cooperstown.  He held every office in the State Dental Association and became the Dean of North Dakota dentists.

Giving the best dental care possible, every day, pleased him the most.  Over 70, 000 patients were treated and he loved each one.  During his first years, extractions were only 500 and these he did any time of the day or night.

In his leisure time, he was a great hunter and fisherman and enjoyed golf.

Mother said she soon learned to love Cooperstown.  There were not many things she could not do.  Besides being a great wife and Mother, she had a beautiful voice and as the years went by she sang at most of the weddings and funerals in our church for 50 years.

Indeed she kept up with Dad too and was the first President of the State Dental Association Women's Auxiliary and its sweetheart every year after.

We are the daughters of Dr. Fred and Emma Rose, in name, Frances and Eugenia.

Frances was born July 10, 1907 and Eugenia April 2, 1910, in our home at Cooperstown.

Our growing up years there were great.  We had the finest schools with excellent teachers in all grades.  Extra curricular activities included debates, speech contests, gym shows, school plays, basketball, cheerleading, picnics, parties, etc. etc.  On cold days after school we went "catching Bobs" on the roads packed hard with snow.  (Really not allowed but such fun.)

We can never forget our Church, Sunday School, Christian Endeavor and Confirmation.  The many Church dinners and programs.  Christmases never to be forgotten because of the huge tree that was lit with candles.  Every child received a present and a bag of candy and nuts.  This was the one winter night we could go out without wearing our long winter underwear.

Our summers were a delight, from the time of making mud pies, playing dolls, picnics on Vinegar Hill, picking choke cherries, beating rugs during house cleaning time, going down town on a Saturday night and having an ice cream cone, to going to the Griggs County Fair days!

We graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1925 and 1927.

After graduation our lives varied.  Frances attended the University of North Dakota at Grand Forks for 2 years and then entered the Evanston Hospital School of Nursing, graduating in 1931.  Her nursing career included private duty, office nursing and Public Health.  She married in 1933, has a daughter Sara, now Mrs. Dave Spencer of Longview, Washington.  She was married a second time in 1964 to Mr. Frank Davis and they now reside in Kennewick, Washington.

Eugenia entered Northwestern Dental School and received her Dental Hygiene degree in 1928.  Following this she took nursing and graduated from the Evanston Hospital in 1933.  She married and had three children:  

1. Margaret, now Mrs. Gerald Monteith, Germany

2. Freddra, now Mrs. Lyle Piggott, Waterloo, Iowa

3. Robert Burr, Seattle, Washington.  

Following her first husband's death she moved to Fargo, North Dakota and worked in Public Health for 26 years.  In 1969 she married her cousin, Mr. Charles Rose and they now reside in Arlington Heights, Illinois.

We always love to return to Cooperstown, a real home town, never to be forgotten.
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SAXERUDS

Hamlin and Mae Saxerud and family came to Cooperstown from Courtenay in 1939 to manage the Griggs County Oil Company.  He had previously been employed by the same company in Courtenay for twelve years.

The children are:  

1. Gerald, now in St. Paul

2. Marion Radliff, Grand Forks

3. Kenneth, Cooperstown

4. Audree Corwin, San Manuel, Arizona

5. Morris of Albany, Minnesota.  

There are 14 grandchildren and 1 great-grandchild.

In 1949 Mr. Saxerud became the owner of the oil company and operated it until 1969 when he retired.  Since then the Saxeruds spend the winters in Arizona and summers in Cooperstown.

Hamlin served on the City Council for fourteen years, is a life member of the Volunteer Fire Department, and a Past Master of the Masonic order.  He was a nephew of pioneers Albert Larson and Mrs. Emma Berg and a cousin of the late Selmer Larson.  His mother, Sarah Larson Saxerud taught school in Griggs County in territorial days.
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LEON A. SAYER, JR. 

Leon Alerton Sayer, Jr. was born in Warwick, North Dakota in 1919 and is the oldest son of L. A. and Catherine Sayer.  He attended grade schools in Warwick, McHenry and Cooperstown and graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1938.  After attending Jamestown College for two years he entered the service in 1941 and was honorably discharged from the Airborne Infantry in 1945.  He married Helen Hornig of Los Angeles, California, returned to North Dakota where both graduated from University of North Dakota in the summer of '47.  Before returning to Cooperstown in 1954 they made their home in Finley, North Dakota and Santa Maria, California.

Leon was elected mayor of Cooperstown in 1972 and had served on the City Council eight years prior to that time.  He is the Griggs County Director of the Garrison Conservancy District since its inception in 1955 and has been active in Scouting, Hospital Board, American Legion and the Presbyterian Church.  His wife Helen teaches piano and organ and is active in P. E. O. , North Dakota M. T. A. and the Cooperstown Presbyterian Church.  Their children are:  

1. David Leon, born in Fargo, North Dakota 1948, graduated from Cooperstown High School, Oregon State University and presently studying at the University of T(bingen, West Germany

2. Nicolette, now Mrs. Ryan Larson of Minneapolis, Minnesota, born in Glendale, California in 1951, graduated from Cooperstown High School and University of North Dakota

3. Walter Scott of Cooperstown, born in Santa Maria, California in 1954 and graduated from Cooperstown High School and presently attending University of North Dakota
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L. A. SAYER

Leon Alerton Sayer, fondly known as L. A. to family and friends, was born September 9, 1891, in Britton, South Dakota on his mother's homestead.  He was the third son of Emmett and Rose Otto Sayer.

He started in banking at the First National Bank, Columbus, North Dakota and from there to the Farmers and Merchants Bank, Warwick, North Dakota and later the First National Bank of McHenry, North Dakota, before moving to Cooperstown in 1929 where he formed the Farm Credit Company.  Later he was president of the Farmers and Merchants Bank and the L. A. Sayer Company in Cooperstown and the Citizen's State Bank of Finley, North Dakota.

Through the years he served as a State Senator from the 16th District between 1953 and 1957, president of the 7th District Association of Agricultural Credit Companies, master of the Cooperstown Masonic Lodge, District Deputy Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of North Dakota, AFAM, Mayor of Cooperstown for 10 years, president of the Cooperstown Commercial Club, active in the United Presbyterian Church and recipient of the Boy Scouts of America Silver Beaver Award for outstanding service to youth.

During his tenure as Mayor of Cooperstown the Municipal Liquor Store, which is a non-profit organization, dedicated to the service of the community was established with its primary objective to support the Griggs County Hospital.  This the organization has been doing for many years.

Catherine Elliott was born March 12, 1890 in Kansas City, Missouri and a graduate of Momingside College in 1913.  She taught school in Thief River Falls, Minnesota and Britton, South Dakota where she met L. A.  They were married at her home in Kansas City, November 28, 1916, and have three children:  

1. Leon Alerton

2. Mark Elliott

3. Elizabeth Rose (Mrs. Frank Baker) of Portland, Oregon

There are 5 grandchildren:  

1. David Leon

2. Nicolette (Mrs. Ryan Larson) of Minneapolis, Minnesota

3. Walter Scott.  David, Nicolette, & Walter are children of Leon and Helen Sayer)

4. Jeffrey Frank 

5. Catherine (Mrs. Dale Dekkers) of Galveston, Texas.  Jeffrey & Catherine are children of Elizabeth Rose and Frank Baker)

The following stories were from a life history written by L. A. , June 22, 1973:

My mother, who was widely known as Rose of the Prairie, was born in Sycamore, Illinois, February 11, 1858, and had driven alone by horse and buggy from Independence, Iowa to Britton, South Dakota where she taught school and homesteaded in 1882.

One of my earliest recollections when I was four years old was of standing barefoot and shivering in the snow watching a fire destroy the shack my mother and family were living in.  My brother Harold, who was a year older than me, died in the fire while searching for our baby sister, Lillian.  Mother came from the barn and rescued her but she too died several days later from smoke inhalation.

I remember the terrible winter following the fire when mother pooled her resources with another family in Britton and the only fuel we had for heat was flax straw.  The family had a large barn loft and wisely stored a lot of flax, which was packed into two large steel drums and taken into the house and connected to a stovepipe and burned.  My job, being the smallest, was to get inside the drums and pack down the flax straw as hard as I could for it would burn longer and slower.  We could only have one drum an evening and when that was burned out everyone buried themselves in quilts or whatever was handy and went to bed with no fire in the house.

As a young man in the winter of 1906, my friend Leonard Strock and I got our heads together and decided to see some of the Wild West.  One morning we took off on our horses for the Missouri River Country in South Dakota.  He had a pony of his own and I took a buckskin gelding called Slim.  First, we went into the blacksmith shop in Spain to get some horseshoes for our horses.  Never had shod a horse before, but had seen it done and managed to get Slim shod for the trip.  I then went to a Mr. Williams that owned the store in Spain and gave him some kind of a story that I needed five dollars.  He was sort of suspicious, but he finally gave it to me.  That was all the money I had and I think Leonard had about the same amount.  We started out and left Mother at home alone with my older brother Emmet, who was sick in bed with pneumonia.  This we never stopped to think about and the next morning told Mother we were going to Spain for the mail and instead started out.  We made Pierpont the first day and stopped at a farm for lodging and a meal.  Finally we made it to Ipswitch where we got a job at the livery barn.  The man there said he needed help to take care of the horses and clean the barn for .50¢ a day and keep our horses in the barn providing they only got hay and no oats.  Well, we thought our horses deserved better fare so one night we sneaked some oats to our horses, as we had to sleep in the haymow in the barn.  Well our boss was too smart for us, watched the droppings of the horses, and discovered that they had been fed oats and fired us.  Nothing left to do but move on so we headed out again for a little town in the Missouri River Bottom called Everts, which is now under Lake Oahe and found a job with a half-breed Indian called Benway whose ranch was 30 miles west of the river.  Well it was still winter and my job was to saw out blocks of ice by hand, load up the wagon and take them to the ice house for summer.  Also rode the range to check on cattle since there were no barns or sheds for them.  Since my boss decided to break up sod land for corn, we decided to move on and be cow-punchers instead of farmers.

After working on the Milwaukee Railroad gang near where Mobridge now stands, Leonard and I had a little grubstake and went back to the hotel at Everts.  This is where Mother found me and promised me a new saddle if I would come home with her.  So we went to the woman who owned the hotel and got my horse out of hock and I started for home on old Slim.  That was in the Spring and I stayed home that Summer and broke a bunch of broncs with my new saddle, which I later gave to the Griggs County Museum.

The first organization I ever joined was known as the Coming Men of America, sort of a forerunner of the Boy Scouts, which had not come into existence at that time.  It was a boys lodge and we met at houses usually at the Jay King Farm, which was centrally located among the members.  We had lots of fun with our initiation ceremonies, eats and have many fond memories of our meetings.

I have always been partial to the Boy Scouts and have assisted and contributed to it liberally for many years.  I guess I took a liking to this from my early experience as a member of the Coming Men of America.
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W. A. SKJOLDEN

W. A. (Bill) Skjolden was born, in 1911, in Kloten, North Dakota, and received his schooling there and at McVille.  He later attended St. Olaf College.

He was manager of the Kloten Mercantile Company before coming to Cooperstown.  For some time he was employed with the L. A. Sayer Company here.  In 1952 he started an insurance company and represented the Griggs County Farmers Mutual Fire and Lightning Insurance Company.  At the same time he served as City Auditor of Cooperstown, and was also secretary of the Griggs County Hospital board.  He was interested in the Cooperstown Library and in his position as City Auditor assisted it in many ways.

In World War II he was a member of the armed forces in the European Theatre.  He belonged to the American Legion, Knights of Pythias, Masons and Shrine.

He married Nellie Pritz of Binford.  She taught in the Cooperstown High School.

Mr. Skjolden died in 1970.

Mrs. Skjolden presently resides in Jamestown, as does their daughter, Mrs. Herman (Elizabeth) Haugen.  Mr. and Mrs. Haugen are the parents of three daughters and one son.

Source Page 79 

EDITH OLSON SKOFSTAD

Edith Olson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Nels Olson, was one of the first registered nurses in Griggs County.  She has spent her entire life here with the exception of the training period at St. Luke's School of Nursing in Fargo.  After her graduation she returned to Cooperstown to serve as Dr. M. D. Westley's regular assistant, serving in or out of his office as occasion demanded.  She continued her career after her marriage to Arnold Skofstad.

There was a feeling of security in having a nurse easily available in a small town like Cooperstown.  Most memorable, perhaps, was her attending the birth of a baby in an automobile.  On that occasion, Dr. Westley was removing tonsils and could not leave his patient.  Edith couldn't have gone, either, if ether had been used for an anesthetic, but on that occasion, a local had been administered, so the doctor could release his nurse.

As soon as he could safely leave his patient, he followed in another car, but by that time, the nurse had welcomed the baby, and the mother had been carried into the house where she originally planned to spend her confinement.  No harm came to either mother or child.

Of course, this emergency occurred at a time when transportation had made great advancements over the days of horse and buggy for summer and bobsled in winter, when the doctor would drive miles and miles out into the country to attend to the needs of his patients.  Sometimes, too, the assistance of a nurse was anticipated, and Edith bundled up and went, too.

One of the most frightening experiences recalled by Mrs. Skofstad occurred one winter night when the roads were blocked with snow and Dr. Westley was summoned to a farmhouse near Hannaford to attend the birth of a baby.  A severe blizzard had left the roads blocked, and it was decided that an attempt would be made to reach the place by plane.  It was a moonlight night, but even so, landing in a strange field would be a hazardous undertaking.  The nurse prepared to go too, but Dr. Westley turned to her and said, "You'd better stay at home, so one of us will be sure to be here.”  That "one" had an ominous sound, and the nurse felt cold chills, now and then, while she waited for the plane to return.  Bruce Wright, the local pilot, was taking great risks for himself and his passenger, as he had no regular airport and had to land in open fields with no ground lights to help him.  The doctor stayed in Hannaford overnight and returned to Cooperstown on the train the next day.

Edith worked for Dr. Westley more than twenty years and for his son Kent for three years after he returned from his army service.  After that, he left for a residency in radiology in New York City.

When the hospital opened in Cooperstown, Edith was employed there.  She retired from full time work in 1965, but continued to work part time until the spring of 1972.

Among the more difficult problems of her career was walking to work at 6:30 AM during the blizzard of 1966.  She feels that the greatest discoveries in the science of medicine have been made during her lifetime.  She feels it has been a privilege to witness the change.
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JULIUS AND JULIA B. STEVENS,

Julius Stevens and his wife, Julia B. Stevens, were both early business owners in Cooperstown.

The hardware store of Stevens and Enger, which had been at Mardell previously, was moved to Cooperstown and opened for business here in January, 1883, the second retail business (Odegaard and Thompson was first) established in Cooperstown.

About the time his Cooperstown store was opening, Julius Stevens made a trip to Lanesboro, Minnesota, and was married there to Julia Boleta Iverson, sister of his partner's wife, Mrs. Anton (Anna) Enger.  Julius Stevens was later in the banking business here as well.

Julia Stevens was only 27 when her husband died in 1889.  Faced with the responsibility of providing for her four children, she opened a millinery shop and later expanded the business with a line of women's and children's ready-to-wear clothing.  She continued in business until her death in 1916.

Mrs. Stevens was actively involved in community affairs as well as rearing her children and managing her business.  A charter member of the Cooperstown Lutheran church, she took the initiative in organizing, in 1889, the Ladies Aid society of the church, and served as its president for ten years.  The society had as its goal the building of a Lutheran church in Cooperstown, a project which, it is said, "Mrs. Stevens aided very materially in accomplishing.“  She was described as "a motherly woman, interested in all which has a tendency to make the community better, an able business woman, active and successful in her chosen career.”

The Stevens children were:  

Ida Marie Evenson, Oliver, Leo and Frederick.
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LUDVIG STOKKELAND 

Ludvig Stokkeland was born July 15, 1883, near Brusand Jaren, Norway.  He was a fisherman, fished lobsters and herring, living only a mile from the ocean.  He left his home and went to America the spring of 1906.  He worked for a while on farms around Cooperstown, North Dakota.

Then his brothers Lauritz and Teodor also came to America.  The three then rented the farm from O. B. Westley and started farming in 1910.  In 1911 they also took over and finished harvesting the crop on the Torval Fosholdt farm, after Torval's death in August.  The Stokkeland brothers also rented the land, the widow remaining on the home place to care for the cows and ponies.

In the spring, Ludvig was married to Sophie Gunderson Fosholdt.  Three children were born to them:  

Torval, Lillian and Arnold.  They went to school in Tyrol school No. 4, District #10.  In October 1946, Torval took a trip back to Norway to visit his homeland and his four brothers and five sisters.  His father and mother had passed away.  He returned from Norway the first part of May, 1947, just in time to take care of the sheep that were due to lamb.

In 1954 he took sick with coronary heart trouble and could do little or no work, so they decided to sell the farm and move to Cooperstown.

In the spring they sold the farm to Raymond Monson, and bought a house from Mr. Hook, where they resided until Ludwig's death November 26, 1965.
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CARL AND CLARA SOLBERG

Clara O. Trostad and Carl B. Solberg lived in Cooperstown, North Dakota from the time of their wedding in December 1914, until the fall of 1942 when Carl left to seek work in Washington state.

Clara was born in America to Ole and Ronnaug Trostad on December 5, 1890.  She was the last of seven children:  

1. Lewis, Gunder, Guy, Anna, Malina, Clara (died in infancy) and Clara.  Her parents and the first six children had come from Gubransdalen, Norway in 1884.  It is believed that the family first lived in a dug out - part sod house when they homesteaded near the Sheyenne River on the southeast comer of Section 7, now Lenora / Township, Griggs County, North Dakota They later moved to a log cabin on the west side of the river, in the west comer of Section 12, now Pilot Mound Township.

Clara, at age two, was carried away by the river during a flood and saved only by the quick action of her father who managed to grab her skirts and pull her to safety.  She told once of having to be sent to live with an older couple across the river while attending a few months of school during the year.  Her father died when she was only twelve years old.  She missed him so much when a heart attack in the barn took his life.  At thirteen she was out working for a family in the McVille area.  She stayed with her brothers and sisters more often than her mother's home after that.  Her mother had remarried a former schoolteacher from Gubransdalen, Norway, who had come to the area to work.  His name was John Ness.

Carl was born in a log cabin on a "ridge farm" near Rockland, Wisconsin, on November 10, 1889.  His father, Martin Solberg was married twice.  To this point no record has been found as to which part of Norway he came from probably in the 1860s.  It is assumed he married his first wife in Norway and then came to America homesteading a "ridge farm" near Rockland, Wisconsin.  Martin had changed his name upon coming to America simply because there was another man with the same name in his area and their mail was always confused.  Martin sold some acres for a most reasonable price for the building of Fish Creek Church, which became the "home church" throughout Carl's childhood.  He told of many times his father "filled" the pulpit when no minister was able to come.

Five children were born to the first marriage:  

1. Emil, Anna, Oscar, Hilda (died in infancy) and Hilda.  Anna and Hilda married and came to "Dakota" to live.  Anna was Mrs. Ole Anderson of Sutton, North Dakota and Hilda was Mrs. Anton Gilbertson of Hannaford.  Martin remarried his housekeeper:  

2. Hannah Hanson.  To this marriage eight children were born:  

1. Dena, Harry, Carl, Otto (died in infancy), Valborg, Fridtjoph, Florence and Otto.  Dena married Sam Simenson of Sutton, North Dakota Carl came from Wisconsin to work for his sister, Dena, and her husband, and it was there he met Clara Trostad who was hired for cooking in the cook car during harvest.

Carl and Clara had their first small home in Cooperstown directly west of the old high school.  Then, they moved to the southwest part of town and later to "the only house" on one downtown block, just one block north of the courthouse.  The Coachman Inn, and parking lot now occupy that area.  Where the motel area is was the site of the old "Sons of Norway" Hall and it was very exciting to live around it.

Carl worked as a mechanic for the first part of their married life.  Then, he became a Standard Oil bulk agent.  He started at least as early as 1929 for one of our pictures shows his gas truck, his helper " Shorty, " and himself.  The truck was complete with wooden cab!  As the years went on the trucks grew bigger and Carl grew stronger.  He told of being seventeen years old, six feet tall and weighing one-hundred and 17 pounds when he first came to North Dakota to work.  That was a far cry from "Big Carl" who could lift a hundred pound barrel of oil with little or no effort.  Small wonder that he was often "deputized" for the dances at the Sons-of-Norway Hall.  The offenders had small chance when Carl held them at arm's length.  Their fists couldn't reach him!

Later the Solbergs moved to Washington State.  There, Carl was hired as a steam crane operator at a Weyerhauser logging camp in the Cascade Mountain watershed during the spring, summer and fall, and collecting scrap iron during the winter.  He was taken ill one time and the family feels that he was gassed from working inside on the machines after the logging quit one year.  One day, after loading scrap iron onto the truck he was stricken with a fatal heart attack.  Clara remained out west until her death many years later.  Both are buried in the Cooperstown Cemetery.

Four children were born to this marriage:  

1. Clarence, Seattle, Washington, Doris (Mrs. Donald Irgens), Azle, Texas, Eunice May (Mrs. Edward Nesheim), Mayville, North Dakota and Gary, Seattle, Washington.

Clarence and Helen have three children:  

1. Timothy, Mary and Carol.  

Doris and Don have three children:  

1. Steven, Mary and Donna.  

Eunice and Edward have four:  

1. Tessa, Sonja, Edward and Eric.  

Gary and Jean have three:  

1. Scott, Glen and Kevin.
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MRS. SOPHIE STOKKELAND

Sophie Gunderson was born on September 4, 1886 in Gol, Hallingdal, Norway.  She came to America in 1889 and stayed with relatives in various places until her mother and stepfather settled in Pleasant Township, later known as Lenora.  There she attended a school in Pilot Mound Township right across the line, where she completed the eighth grade.  Later she went to Concordia College for one term in Home Economics.

In July 1908, she was married to Torval Fosholdt and they made their home on a farm in Tyrol Township until his death on August 11, 1911, leaving his wife with a bountiful crop to be harvested.

Ludvig Stokkeland and two of his brothers came to assist with the harvest that fall.  The widow stayed on the farm and took care of the cows and the team of Shetland ponies.  She sold the horses to the Stokkelands.

In the spring of 1913, she was married to Ludvig Stokkeland.  They had three children:  

1. Torval who lives on a farm in Tyrol Township, Arnold in the city of Cooperstown, and Lillian (Mrs. Eldred Savre) of Gresham, Oregon.

There are 18 living grandchildren and 30 great-grandchildren.

Mrs. Stokkeland's memories include the big prairie fire of 1896 which started out near New Rockford on a Sunday afternoon, and Monday afternoon it got across the river near the Tanse bridge, where some dry trees lying across the river made it possible for the fire to cross.  The Sever Odegaard family lived east of the bridge and just barely made it to save their log house.  From there it didn't take long for the fire to reach the Gunderson place in the valley.  Her father had broken up some land around their place so there were just a few rods to fight the fire.  Mother and Dad put the children on the plowing, while they were fighting the fire.  Luckily enough, their uncle and father were able to plow a firebreak around their grain stacks and those of the uncle he was renting from, so their grain stacks were saved.  They heard later that the fire went east past the Rinde farm and two Rinde girls climbed into the well and sat there until the fire went by.  A great deal of hay and grain along its path was destroyed.

Sophia Stokkeland
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JOHN SYVERSON,

John Syverson, who came to Cooperstown in 1884, made his mark in the community in many ways.

A highly successful merchant, he built a large brick store building on the corner of 10th and Burrell that still stands.  Old-timers still recall the grandeurs of the Syverson Store, or The Big Store, as it was sometimes called.

In 1896, when Cooperstown incorporated as a village, Mr. Syverson was elected the first mayor.

His financial contributions to the churches, lodges and other institutions of Cooperstown were also well known.

Yet, at his funeral service in the local Masonic lodge, his eulogist did not dwell on any of these points.  Instead, he predicted that the name of John Syverson would go down into Cooperstown history as a man who gave most of his life to beautifying the town.  His last public act before his death, in 1932, at age 83, was the planting of an elm on the high school campus in observance of the George Washington bicentennial.

Mr. Syverson personally planted hundreds of trees in Cooperstown, and it was estimated that thousands more were planted through his efforts.  Sometimes the efforts took the form of thrusting a spade and a small tree into the hand of a householder, with instructions on planting and caring for the tree!

Mr. Syverson landscaped the Masonic Temple, the school and gymnasium grounds as well as the grounds of numerous private homes, and his interest in horticulture occupied a large part of his time after he retired from store business.

Mr. Syverson was born March 17, 1849 at Vaage, Norway, and came to the United States in 1869, settling at St. James, Minnesota.  He worked in a store and was married there to Annie Odegaard in 1876.  Their three children died, apparently in an epidemic.  and they left St. James in 1883.  The following year he bought the store in Cooperstown from Knud Thompson.  After they moved to Cooperstown, three more children were born, all of whom survived to adulthood:  

1. Theodore, John and Gertrude, who was married to J. Earl Fladeland.
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PETER J. TANG

Peter J. Tang was a member of a pioneer family who came to the United States in 1886.  He was born October 1, 1875 in Hafslo, Sogn, Norway (near the innermost tip of Sognfjord) and came to the United States at the age of eleven.  His parents settled near Lake Cormorant, Minnesota.  He worked on farms in the Cormorant area.

In the spring of 1899 he started out with his team of horses - destination his homestead to which he had acquired rights a year before.  The homestead was about 1½ miles from what is now McHenry, North Dakota.  It took five days to come from Cormorant to Cooperstown.  and after a week there to secure provisions, he finally reached his homestead.  Thereafter when he needed provisions, he came to Cooperstown as that was as far as the railroad had been built.  He lived in his homestead for about three years, and at that time also worked for farmers in the Binford and McHenry areas, and also had a job hauling ties for the railroad that was being built to McHenry.  He encountered many hardships, especially in winter, as the buildings on his homestead were very inadequate.

In 1903 he entered business in Cooperstown with P. K. Moe and operated a restaurant and billiard parlor (then known as pool hall) that he called "Klondike."  He also mentioned he had part interest in the Exchange Hotel, which was operated by P. K. Moe.  In a few years each sold his interest to the other, and he owned the Pool Hall alone.  Later he discontinued the restaurant and served only lunches.  His juicy, delicious hamburgers became well-known.  His "Klondike" was a gathering place for the farmers in the area, especially on Saturday nights.  He was a friendly, genial man who loved to visit with them, but he often talked about returning to the farm.  Later he also had pan interest in the Strand Theatre.

In February 1904 he married Elizabeth Loge, who came from Bryne, near Stavanger, Norway.  She came to the Cooperstown area in 1902 through the help of her uncle, Sven Loge.  She worked in the Sverdrup area, and at the Exchange Hotel in Cooperstown.  She was a strong, quiet, reserved woman who cared for her family well.

They purchased nine lots in the eastern part of Cooperstown and built a home there.  At that time Cooperstown was in a building boom, as it was expected that the Great Northern Railroad would also go through Cooperstown, and that Section would soon be in the very heart of the town.  A sturdy fence was built around the front of the property to keep runaway horses from harming the children at play.  The runaway horses were a frequent occurrence, especially at the advent of the horseless carriage.

At least once a year they would hire a surrey from the livery stable and take trips to visit friends and relatives, especially in the Sverdrup area.  What a delight to the children when the surrey had a cover with a fringe on top!  If it was an open surrey, the girls had been given colorful parasols to use.  On those little "big" trips he would always bring a bag of candy for the children they visited.

He was an early member of Trinity Lutheran Church, other organizations, and business activities of the growing town.  He was especially delighted when the businessmen were instrumental in getting a playground for the children.  This was located on the block on which the Johnson store now stands.

He died in August 1935, and his wife Elizabeth, in December 1955.  Children:  

1. Jeanette (died in 1923) - Senior in High School.  

Josephine, a Schoolteacher for 11 years, married Walter Rothert (died in 1954) Children:  

1. Arlen, Joanne (Mrs. Larry White), Jolene (Mrs. Loren Bell).  

Selma - Deputy Company Superintendent of Schools - 39 years, Deputy Company Treasurer approximately 5 years  

Arthur - (died in 1971) - In business in Cooperstown many years, also in Parks and Recreation Department, Eugene, Oregon for approximately 15 years, Served as Park Maintenance Foreman at the time of his death, married - Wally Bork, Children:  

1. Donald, Dolores (Mrs. Doran), Gail (Mrs. Dean Warner) died 1959.  

Ernest (died in 1966) in Army.  He was ill for many years before his death.  

Oscar - In Navy - In business partnership with Arthur in Cooperstown a number of years, at present Postmaster in Cooperstown - a position he has held for 23 years, Married - Mercedes Qualey, Children:  

1. Larry, Susan (Mrs. Lyle Best).  

Palmer - in Army Certified Public Accountant, at present partner in accounting firm in Minneapolis, Minnesota, - a position he has held for 20 years.  He married Sophie Waller, Children:  

1. Warren, Lucinda (Mrs. Michael Gibbs), Vicki.
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ABRAHAM THIME

Abraham (Abe) Thime was born at Thime, Norway, April 28, 1879.  He emigrated to America in March 1899, and came by train to Cooperstown, where he hired a man to take him out to his uncle, Tobias Thime's place about 9 miles southeast of Cooperstown.  From there he worked for Torkel Njaa and attended Gallatin school to learn the English language.

Tiring of farm work, he worked as a Section hand for the railroad for a while, then decided to strike out on his own, and opened a confectionary store on Burrell Avenue located about where the laundry now stands.  He married Elisabeth Loge February 22, 1902.  He bought and moved out on a farm, where his daughter Ann was born.  The family went to Norway for a visit, and on their return, Abe bought a meat market, which was located about where Model Clothing is now.

He continued farming, and took another trip to Norway, where he and his family were interred until the end of the war which broke-out while they were there.  Five years later, in 1919, they returned to Cooperstown and he became associated with Reier Lunde in the real estate business until he and G. B. Edmondson established a meat market.

Late in 1930, he sold out and took over Main Motors, which he soon sold to Torgerson and Davidson.  Then he operated sales barns in New Rockford and Valley City, and continued as cattle buyer until his retirement a few years ago.  Although retired he continued being active by selling gas at his garage in Walum until a short time before his death.  He made several trips to Norway, the last one at age 93.

Mr. Thime died June 26, 1974 after a short illness.  His wife preceded him in death in July 1958.
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GENIAL KNUD THOMPSON

In a very literal sense the Knud Thompsons were the first family of Cooperstown.

Mr. Thompson (1850-1924) opened the first store in Cooperstown January 5, 1883.  His wife, Anna, was the first woman to live here and their daughter, Grace, was the first child born in Cooperstown (May 15, 1883).

The Odegaard and Thompson Pioneer Emporium was a building 24' x 64' and was built on Burrell Avenue, near the comer of Tenth Street.  Mr. John Odegaard, a brother of Mrs. Thompson, had a financial interest in the store, but apparently no part in the management.

Mr. Thompson was born in Wisconsin, was in business in Minnesota and South Dakota before coming to Cooperstown.  Known for his sense of humor and his urge to trade anything or everything, Knud Thompson was well-liked.  When he was mentioned in the Griggs Courier he was seldom referred to as simply Knud Thompson.  Usually there was an adjective, such as jovial or genial.  The Courier made frequent mention of his horse trades.

John Syverson, whose wife was a twin sister of Mrs. Thompson, (Mrs. N. C. Rukke was another sister), bought Thompson's interest in the store in July 1884.  The Courier reported that "Mr. Thompson will still remain and trade, dicker and rustle as of yore, " which he did.

Knud and Anna Thompson had four children.  They were:

1. Theodore, who had interests in a grocery store and a garage, married Helga Hammer, daughter of H. P. , and they had three children:  

1. Kenneth, Mary Helen (Mrs. William Cheney), both of Helena, Montana, and Eleanor, (Mrs. William Snell), deceased.

Adolph was a lawyer, a district judge in Montana and an assistant secretary of state in North Dakota.  He married Maude Longfellow and they had three children:  

1. James, deceased, Ila in Idaho and Thora (Mrs. G. H. Donaldson), Santa Barbara, California.

Grace married Earl Seekins.  Their three sons, Earl, Tom and Bob, all live in the Minneapolis area.

Oscar, a lawyer, practiced in Montana, and for many years in Cooperstown, was in partnership for several years with his neighbor, M. W. Duffy, and they each served several terms as states attorney for Griggs County.  Oscar married Florence Topping.  Their three children:  

1. John, Valley City

2. James, Devils Lake and Carolyn (Mrs. Ray Pfeifer), Buffalo.

The following poem appeared in the Griggs Courier February 12, 1886.

KNUD THOMPSON'S

`YANKEE DOODLE"

The Christmas frolics now are o'er,

Old '85 has fled, sir;

Now Cooperstown has no saloons,

And Vanderbilt is dead, sir.

But still, the bums and dudes in town

Feel good - it makes them snicker,

To loaf around, and hear the fun,

When Thompson makes a dicker.

CHORUS. 

Yankee Doodle is the tune,

Which Thompson thinks so handy;

He makes his trades, and takes his notes

With "Yankee Doodle - dandy! "

And what has Knud to sell?  you ask;

Why, simpleton, I answer:

What has he not that cuts or grinds,

Or walks upon the land, sir?

He's sure to have a specimen

Of each and every class, sir,

From J. I.  C. Eclipse machines

To Balaam's speaking ass, sir.

Chorus.

He'll sell you, farmers, what you want -

A mower, plow, or rake, sir;

A mule, a horse, a cow, an ox,

And binders that won't break, sir.

But best of all, he sells them cheap,

And never minds the cash, sirs;

He'll take your notes, and give you time,

Till next year's crop you thresh, sirs.

Chorus.

He never cares to make a cent -

He dickers for his health, sirs;

For trading seems to make him fit,

Then come and make your wealth, sirs.

He's the innocentest man in town,

You're sure to "take him in, " sirs -

Just trade your old truck for his new,

To "stick" him is no sin, sirs.
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BENJAMIN TUFTE

Benjamin Tufte was born on a farm among the mountains north and east of Bergen, Norway.  There was a waterfall just beside the house, and he grew up with the sound of it in his ears.  His birth date was August 23, 1861.

His father was both a farmer and a schoolteacher, and the boy got his first rudiments of education from him.  He had one brother, Christain, and one sister, Britha.

After completing grammar school and the gymnasium (a name given to what today corresponds to junior high school) Benjamin sought work in Bergen, and from Bergen he went to Oslo (then called Christiania) where he attended the University.  After finishing at the University he returned to Bergen, but employment was hard to find.  He put in a year in the Norwegian army, and while in the military service earned himself a marksmanship medal.  (Enlistments were normally for two years, but anyone displaying supreme skill with a rifle was allowed to leave after a year, if they so desired.)

Out of the army, he found himself a job as a harbor pilot.  He would go out in a small boat to meet the ocean liners coming in from all parts of the world, climb aboard, and direct the ship along the fjord and into a safe mooring.  How long he remained as a harbor pilot is not known, but from conversing with passengers and crews on the big ships, he found his interest in the United States of America steadily increasing.

At the University he had studied some English and he had also taken courses in American history.  Abraham Lincoln, the War Between the states, were recent episodes, and above all, there was Tom Jefferson and The Rights of Man, which had made a deep impression on him while a student at the University.  Eventually, he decided to bum all his bridges behind him and emigrate to the United States.  But before he left, he memorized the second paragraph of the Declaration of Independence:  

"We hold these truths --

The ship docked in New York in the summer of 1889.  Benjamin was already 28 years old, alone, and spoke English very poorly.  But he made his way from New York City to Minneapolis, Minnesota, because he had heard that many Scandinavian people lived in that area, and he would at least be able to communicate with them.

Minneapolis was then the largest lumber-milling center in the world.  A lot of men were needed to work in the North Woods, but that was about all.  Ben worked in the lumber camps for the next three years, trying to learn the language and save some money.  At the end of that time he presented himself in the office of John W. Arctander, an eminent Minneapolis lawyer, and asked for a job.  Arctander was impressed with the determination of the young man and hired him.  Ben's next move was to enroll in night school at the University of Minnesota's College of Law.

The next three years were a lot of work.  He worked from eight to five in Arctander's office, learning all he could there about the law in the process, and attended classes in the evening.  In 1895 he received his law degree from the University of Minnesota, went to Red Wing, Minnesota and set out his shingle.

However, it wasn't long until he realized that his Scandinavian accent was doing him no good in Red Wing.  There was too much competition from established lawyers.  So he packed up his few belongings and hitched rides, walked and drove teams of horses for others until he arrived in Cooperstown, North Dakota.

In Cooperstown, beginning in 1896, Benjamin Tufte practiced law for forty years.  During 24 years of that time, he served as states attorney of Griggs County.

In 1905 he went back to Norway to see his mother who was in poor health and died shortly after his visit.  On January 1, 1908, he was married to Clara Feiring, who had been the county superintendent of schools of Griggs County.  They had one son, Oswald, who was born October 23, 1909.

In 1928, the Farmers and Merchants Bank of Cooperstown failed, and because he felt that many people had placed their savings in the bank only because he was a director of it, Tufte felt obligated to pay off the depositors.  Three other directors agreed, and between them they succeeded in their task.  But the financial strain was so great that Tufte lost everything he owned (two farms, house in Cooperstown, stocks, bonds, insurance).  From a well-to-do status, he tumbled almost overnight into poverty.  this forced him eventually to seek the states attorney's office at the age of 71, an office he had given up voluntarily some years back, in order to earn a livelihood.  He was elected overwhelmingly but the next year his wife, who had been in poor health for many years, died December 1, 1933.

He went on doggedly, serving the people who had elected him, through the great depression until he died on October 25, 1936.
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RENA UDGAARD

Rena (Ragnhild) Udgaard came to Cooperstown from Lesja, Norway, to her brother, Iver Udgaard.  She was employed by the George Condy family and moved with them to Minneapolis and California.  She outlived them both and died in January 1952.  The Condy daughters, Minnie, Pearl, Hazel and Blanche were very dear to her.  She is buried in Forest Lawn, Los Angeles.
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DR. K. M. WAKEFIELD

Dr. Wakefield cannot qualify as a pioneer in Griggs County in any sense other than that he came here just in time to open the first hospital in Griggs County in 1951.

Kenneth Wakefield, son of John and Margaret Wakefield, was born in Gladstone, Manitoba Canada in 1924.  Kenneth's father, John, was a civil engineer who was involved in the first hydroelectric project for the city of Winnipeg, Canada and his mother, Margaret, was Treasurer of Westburn Municipality (county).  Dr. Wakefield's grandfather McGregor was the first mayor of Gladstone, Manitoba.  The family moved to Winnipeg in 1940 and Kenneth received his MD from the University of Manitoba in 1948.  He is the only member of his family to leave Canada to live in the United States.  Kenneth Wakefield and Lois LaPlante were married in 1957.  Lois 86

LaPlante is the daughter of Bruce and Edna Lewis LaPlante.  Bruce LaPlante's parents, William and Rosa LaPlant, came to North Dakota from Kansas in a covered wagon and settled in Tyrol Township.  Edna Lewis' family history is published elsewhere in this book.  Bruce LaPlante's main interest was a love of farming but he also enjoyed the political scene and he was a lifelong Democrat.  Edna Lewis LaPlante was an athletic young woman who at age eleven swam the length of Red Willow Lake.  As a great-grandmother she still enjoys swimming though now in a heated pool when visiting at the home of her daughter, Mrs. Shirley (Ed.) Haight of Mesa, Arizona

Lois was born in Binford at the home of her great-aunt and uncle, Mr. and Mrs. Otto Pritz.  She graduated from Binford High School and North Dakota State University in Fargo, and taught Home Economics Education before her marriage.  Dr. and Mrs. Wakefield have three children:  

John born in 1959, Charles in 1961 and Dawn in 1964.

One of Dr. Wakefield's main interests in medicine has been in the field of Mental Health.  He served in various capacities in the local and state Mental Health organization and was President of the state organization from 1965-1967.

Lois took a two-year course from the University of Chicago and the American Medical Record Association and later received her national rating as a Medical Records Administrator.  She serves in this capacity at the Griggs County Hospital and Nursing Home.  In 1971 Dr. Wakefield became a member of the newly founded American Board of Family Practice and in 1973 a charter Fellow of the American Academy of Family Practice.

The Wakefields' spare time during the warmer months of the year is spent at their cottage at Red Willow Lake.  The cottage has been enjoyed by four generations.  It originally belonged to Fred and Belle Lewis who were Lois' grandparents.
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DR. M. D. WESTLEY, M. D. 

Martin D. Westley was born near Stavanger, Norway, November 2, 1873 and came to Griggs County with his parents in 1882.  He attended school in Sverdrup Township in his early years, and later attended Red Wing Academy in Minnesota.  He taught school to finance his further education and attended Hamline University in St. Paul, Minnesota, and Jefferson Medical College (now Temple University) in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Dr. Westley established a medical practice in Cooperstown in 1904 and practiced here more than forty years.  He served as an officer in the Army Medical Corps in Europe in World War I and was discharged with the rank of captain.

He married a Cooperstown teacher, Miss Eva Hutchinson, in February 1911.  She died in June 1913.  He married Margaret Hutchinson January 1, 1915.  She died in 1971.  Dr. Westley died in 1946.

The Westleys were active in community life.  He was a member of the school board, served as Cooperstown's first Scoutmaster, and was active in military, fraternal and professional organizations.  Mrs. Westley was first president of the Cooperstown library board and was a founder of the Cooperstown chapter of P. E. O. They were members of the Presbyterian Church.

Dr. Westley's children:  

Richard O. , Winnetka, Illinois

Bruce, Lexington, Kentucky

Dr. Kent, Little Falls, Minnesota and Mrs. Donald (Ruth Ann) Buck, State Center, Iowa.  There are 19 grandchildren.

Dr. Kent Westley practiced in Cooperstown in his father's old office, for a short time, following the death of the elder Dr. Westley.

TO OUR DOCTOR

A Humble Tribute in Memory of

Dr. M. D. Westley

Now, the last page in his life's book turned, 

The volume closed, and put away, 

We who have read have newly learned 

That our full hearts have words to say:  

Words for this man who touched every life 

Within reach and need, and gently healed.  

His years, each a chapter of courage, strife, 

Struggles, and sacrifice he concealed.  

His early manhood saw pioneer days – 

He watched his home town, country grow.  

He rode the horse and buggy ways.  

In winter braved the blinding snow.  

Deep-rutted roads and rains in spring 

Would challenge him, but never won

And wanting sleep could never bring 

This man to leave his work undone.  

Ideals, the highest shining kind, 

Were his always, for fellow men:

These, in an eager, able mind, 

Made him a noble citizen, 

One who gave, in act and thought, 

Beyond his practice, so he could see 

Molded of standards that he taught, 

A strong upright community.  

And now the book his life portrayed 

Has closed.  Yet will his living part 

Be wondrously as it was played, 

Immortalized in every heart.

- Dorothy Herigstad Whitaker.
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FARMERS OIL COMPANY

Farmers Oil Company was organized April 5, 1932 with the following Board of Directors:  

Harry Kolpin, Alfred O. Retzlaff, Bjorn Fuglestad, Nels J. Thune, M. J. Leininger, R. H. Pratt, and Theo Stone.  Omud Soma replaced M. J. Leininger when he became manager.

Theo Stone became manager June 27, 1932.  In 1946, Roy Ashland became manager, and on January 1, 1950, Robert W. Baker assumed this position and currently holds this position.  The present Board of Directors are:  

President, Carroll Retzlaff, Secretary- Treasurer, Arnold Sola, E. H. Ellefson, John E. Erickson, Irwin Froiland, Jorgen Soma, and Erling Lunde replacing Vice President, Leonard Anderson.

Directors serving over twenty years were Arnold Sola, Clarence Edland and Alfred Retzlaff.  Employees serving over thirty years are Archie Flick and Quentin Dahl.

Gross sales in 1932 - $13,690.47

Gross Sales in 1974 - $4,372,124.98
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COOPERSTOWN FARMERS ELEVATOR COMPANY

The Farmers Elevator Company of Cooperstown, North Dakota, was incorporated in 1917 and has been the major grain market in Cooperstown ever since.

The firm is one of the larger Gold Label Feed Dealers in the area, and with the installation of a 100 horse power Hammer-mill doing custom grinding for a thirty-mile radius for cattle and hog feeders.

Bernard Zimprich is the President.  Lester Erickson, Vice-President.  Harry Eide is Secretary- Treasurer.  Other Directors are:  

Frank Heinz, Gerald Dahl, Donald Retzlaff, and Oliver Anderson.  The Elevator has been managed by Norman Heisz since 1952 and has been paying a dividend every year.  The Elevator has increased its storage capacity of 42,000 bushels in 1917 to 300,000 in 1975.

Other employees are Jeff Sedler and Mike Sola.
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North Dakota FARM BUREAU* *NODAK MUTUAL INSURANCE

The first Farm Bureau was in Broome County, New York on October 10, 1914.

North Dakota Farm Bureau came into existence in November of 1942.  Griggs County organized in 1953.  Griggs County received recognition for membership progress at the National Convention in December 1945.

The Farm Bureau women organized November 1949.  North Dakota Farm Bureau Young People made an attempt to organize in November of 1950 and finally came into existence in 1952.

A Uniform Cooperative Agreement between Griggs County and the North Dakota Farm Bureau came in March 1950.  President was Irvin Froiland.

Griggs County Incorporated October 7, 1955.  Directors were:  

James Hazard, Archie Marson and Arthur Smogard.

PRESIDENTS 

Alfred Retzlaff 
1943

Casper Aarestad 
1948

Irvin Froiland 
1949

Richard Qualey 
1953

James Hazard 
1955

Bjorn Fuglestad 
1956

Elmer Iverson 
1958

Art Torgerson 
1960

Ted Monson 
1961

Art Torgerson 
1962

Myron Erickson 
1963

Carrol Retzlaff 
1964

George Vigesaa 
1965

Arthur Smogard 
1969

Robert Berge
1973

Ralph Bender became the first agent for Nodak Insurance in 1953.  He served on county board up to his death, June 12, 1974.
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HANNAFORD

It isn't easy to visualize the area in and around Hannaford in 1879 and the years following when government surveyors came into the area and were followed by the first settlers, but we must try to picture in our mind's eye a view of the countryside then as compared to 1975.  What was to become Wheatland and later Greenfield Township was surveyed in November 1879.  The surveyors noted there were a few trees along the creek and a little brush.  When we stop to notice the creek even today, there aren't many, if any trees, along its bank, but the countryside has taken on a whole new face due to the continuous efforts of the people through the years.  Notice the lack of trees on the early picture of Hannaford.  How hot it must have been in the summer and how cold in the winter without tree protection.  The dusty or muddy roads over which the early settlers traveled and which started out as trails are also hard to fully picture.  Immigration into the area really began in 1881.

The first post office in the area was called the Montclair Post Office and was located 41/2 miles northwest of the present Hannaford in the SW corner of Section 20145-59, according to an early map.  One account states that the name Montclair was a composite name - the last syllable of Sinclair and Mont for hill.  Another account says it was probably imported from Scotland by the Sinclairs.  The Sinclairs owned the land in that area and Montclair overlooked Bald Hill Creek.  The Montclair Post Office was established July 11, 1882 with Archibald M. Sinclair as postmaster.  Montclair was also the name of the Township.  This was changed to Bald Hill Township in 1888.

The Cooper Brothers, bonanza farmers around Cooperstown, harvested their first crop in 1881.  They felt a great need for a railroad in the area and worked to make this a reality.  The Sanborn, Cooperstown and Turtle Mountain Railroad, a branch off the Northern Pacific at Sanborn, reached a point midway between Dazey and Hannaford in 1882.  During the summer of 1883 it was completed through Hannaford and reached Cooperstown on August 27, 1883.  This was as far as it was to go until 1899.

In July of 1883 the Cooperstown Courier reported that two new towns were to be platted between Sanborn and Cooperstown, 1 at Daisy's and the other on Bald Creek, by the railroad.  In August they reported these towns were platted and on the market.  Hannaford was named for J. M. Hannaford of St. Paul who started as chief clerk in the general freight office of the Northern Pacific Railway and eventually became president and chairman of the board.  Mr. Hannaford came through on the railroad on several occasions and died in 1934.

Andrew Langdon owned much of the land on which Hannaford was located.  He and his son W. C. Langdon, who was called Chancey, came from Buffalo, N. Y.  At one time they owned eight Sections of land in the area.  They called their farmstead, Wallow Hill Farm.  It was located in Section 7-144-59 of Greenfield Township where Lester Steiners live today.  A foreman was in charge of the farming operation and the Langdons would spend their winters in the east.  Chancey also attended the Agricultural College in Fargo.

The first Wheatland School District was outlined by the County Commissioners in March of 1883.  It was made up of pans of Sverdrup, Broadview, Bald Hill and all of Wheatland Townships.  For the first election of school Township officers the polling place was the house of Joseph Downing and the judges were Charley Nelson, S. B. Merryman, and John G. Mills.  The first schoolhouse for the children in the Hannaford area was built in May 1884 on the Merryman land.  It was located on the SE corner of 6-144-59, which is on the west edge of Hannaford today - part of the Louis Larson farm.  Hannah Martin Roberts, Lottie Riley and Belle Merryman were some of the first teachers.  School was held for only short periods in the summer and the teacher received $30 a month.

The telegraph line was completed in the fall of 1883 and a loading platform erected so grain could be hauled in sacks up to the tracks and loaded into boxcars.  The year 1883 saw most of the homesteads in the area around Hannaford taken up.  These men and women came in most cases with nothing more than two strong arms and a determination to make a home for their loved ones.  All they asked was a piece of land and a long day to work in.  This they got.

Wheat was king in the early days.  With four oxen the pioneer turned the sod and in the early spring would sow his fields with wheat.  A small strip was reserved for oats to raise feed for his oxen or horses.  In December of 1883 the Cooperstown Courier reported the cost of raising wheat per acre in Griggs County.  They said the first year, the breaking would cost $3.00, the back-setting from $1.50 to $2.00, harrowing and seeding, $.75, seed wheat (11/2 bushels) $1.50, and harvesting and threshing $3.25 for a total cost of $10.50 per acre.  Each succeeding season it would cost $3.00 less.  Crops averaged 20-30 bushels and would safely bring $.90 at threshing, giving the farmer $18-$27 per acre for his crop or a profit of from $7.50-$17.50 per acre cultivated with $3.00 more following years.

Early in 1884 the first building was erected in Hannaford by the Lenham Brothers of Sanborn.  It was a small shack west of the track and was used for storing grain.  When it blew down it was replaced by the Cargill Elevator, which was a flat warehouse.  The railroad erected a water tank at Bald Hill Creek to supply water for the trains in 1884.  Bridges were erected across Bald Hill Creek in Sections 33 and 29 of Montclair Township.  Citizens were beginning to petition for roads that year too.  The first road began at the Barnes County line at the SW corner of Section 32-144-59 and followed the Section line (the Cooper Trail) to the NE corner of Section 6-144-59.  It then went in a northeasterly direction to the NW corner of Section 34-145-59, due north to the north boundary of Wheatland School Township diagonally across Section 15-145-59 to the NW corner of Section 14, due north on the Section line to the NW corner of Section 26-146-59.

By the end of 1885 the Lenham warehouse was shipping a large amount of grain and it was beginning to look as if a good town would grow up.  Another grain warehouse was also completed and ready to receive grain.  The farmers of Montclair had formed a club called the Farmers Club for the purpose of discussing farm questions.  Mr. Mills was the president and A. M. Sinclair, secretary.

Little building was done until 1886.  R. C. Brophy arrived in Hannaford in August of 1886 to take the Cargill Elevator.  He also started a store.  His ads in the Courier said he would buy wheat and all kinds of country produce, carry in stock flour, feed, lumber, coal, wood and a full line of general merchandise, groceries, dry goods, clothing and hardware.  Reuben Brophy was a native of Illinois and a nephew of Grover Cleveland.  He studied dentistry under his brother, Prof. T. W. Brophy, a professor in Rush Medical College in Chicago and had practiced dentistry for two years.  He'd been in the machine business at Glyndon, Minnesota, the wheat business in Duluth and in Cooperstown, had been in the employ of the Lenham Elevator and Lumber Company, and later ran the Cooper Brothers' elevators.  After leaving Hannaford he continued in the wheat business.

After Brophy arrived, a large station platform was erected at Hannaford and Tom Robinson built a livery and feed stable and a lunchroom.  November 20, 1886, R. C. Brophy was appointed postmaster at Hannaford and this was the first Hannaford had a post office.  The Montclair post office was then discontinued and that mail was sent to the post office at Helena.  The townsite of Hannaford was platted by the Langdons the end of 1886 and Postmaster Brophy took care of the handling of the lots.

Mr. Brophy built a house in Hannaford and moved his family from Cooperstown in 1887.  The house, which we know today as the Boe House, was described as a handsome and convenient residence with the finest cellar in the country.  It was back-plastered all over an inch thick with an air space making it as warm as possible.  When Brophy left, this became the E. H. Groven home.

The Hannaford Machine Company, which transacted business with J. I. Case, was established in January 1887 with Edwin Olsen as the largest stockholder.  John Brekke started a hotel and Nelson Kiil moved his blacksmith shop from Cooperstown to Hannaford.  That year too the Hannaford Baseball Club was organized with W. D. Mills as captain and A. Sinclair, secretary.  They were ready to receive challenges from any other club in Griggs County.

The first elevator as we know them today was built in 1888 by Cargill.  They used their warehouse as an annex.  December of that year Brophy sold his business to E. H. Groven and left for Duluth.  Groven had been living in Hannaford since 1887 and farming here since possibly 1884.  Groven also became postmaster.

Crops in the area had been poor for several years.  Crops were late in 1885 and frost in August destroyed a lot of them.  They continued poor from 1886 through 1890.  In 1889 the county commissioners floated seed wheat bonds amounting to $12,000 to aid needy farmers.

The year 1890 found a Blacksmith Olsen in Hannaford and Tom Olson groomsman for E. H. Groven that winter.  Fred Markwood was prepared to teach the winter term in the school, but it was decided that winter school in Hannaford was not a success.  A. M. Sinclair purchased the stock and merchandise of E. H. Groven in March of 1891 and went into the store business.  John Berg built a blacksmith shop in 1892 and M. L. Patterson a carpenter shop.  In 1893 the Groven Brothers, E. H. and Halvor, were selling all kinds of farm implements.  H. Arestad and Thos.  Helland formed a partnership to carry on a general merchandise business, which gave Hannaford two general stores.

Hannaford had its first celebration July 4, 1896.  It turned out to be a fair day, a good crowd and program.  There were pony, foot, bag and potato races, a ball game and fireworks.  This was the first of many Fourth of July Celebrations.  Social life was very active in these early years.  Birthdays for all ages were celebrated.  Dances were held in the homes, school and Groven's Hall.  Hannaford had a literary society and a dramatic club, a very active baseball club, a racetrack was reported in 1895.  The Hannaford Amusement Club scheduled a dance in 1902 with tickets, including supper, selling for $1.25.  Tennis courts were installed in 1904, a community band started, and baseball grounds two blocks west of the school installed in 1905.

Wheatland Township became Greenfield in 1895.  Moore Brothers erected a livery barn and also a restaurant in 1896 and in 1897 Stonemason Brakke was in business.  Also in 1897 Crane & Johnson bought out the small stock of lumber, which Groven carried and opened, with a complete stock of lumber.  They also had a yard in Cooperstown.  Mr. Hetherington managed the lumberyard.

In March of 1893 Merchant Sinclair informed the Northern Pacific Railroad that Hannaford demanded a depot, but no action was forthcoming until October of 1897 when the Northern Pacific depot at Odell was moved to Hannaford.

The old schoolhouse was for sale in the spring of 1898 and the school board advertised for bids for the erection of a new one.  The original school, which stood on the Merryman land, had been moved into town in previous years and still stands today.  It is now the home of Mr. and Mrs. Bill Anundson.  The new school was built by C. H. Johnson and was built as a one-room structure.  In 1900 a partition was put in to provide for two teachers.  The comment was made that now the building was spoiled for church meetings.  This school stood where the Lutheran church stands today.

Claus Jackson and Halvor Arestad formed a partnership to go into the farm machinery business in January of 1898.  The Helland and Arestad partnership then dissolved.  Berg Brothers & Company of Cooperstown opened a branch of their farm machinery business and Olson & Cox had a farm machinery business.  The Langdons erected a barn, house and windmill outfit on their farm and Walter Richardson decided to make Dakota his home and rented the Hyde farm for 5 years.

In 1899 Ole Jaeger, an experienced tinner was employed by Groven Hardware to fix anything and everything.  A. M. Sinclair erected a store building on Wheat Street for a mercantile business and Emelie Fjelstad (later Mrs. Conrad Kolberg) opened a millinery shop.  Miss Colby also sold bonnets.  The Lutheran Church was erected that year.

The population of Hannaford in 1900 was 120.  In the spring Groven sold his merchandise business to Andrew Strandness and Knut Furaas.  Mr. Strandness had worked for Syverson in Cooperstown and Mr. Furaas farmed in the Hannaford area.  Groven now gave his entire attention to the hardware business.  Other business places in operation that year were Arestad & Jackson, Berg Brothers & Company, Crane & Johnson, and the Hannaford House (rooms, meals and livery).  W. S. Hyde was a dealer in feed, seed and a shipper of grain.  Miss Fjelstad sold millinery and together with Miss Claudia Jackson also had a dressmaking establishment.  A. M. Sinclair sold furniture, undertaking supplies and insurance.  R. M. Kerr and John Berg were blacksmiths, M. L. Patterson and Louis Larson were carpenters, Mrs. N. E. Farrington had a restaurant and Ed Olson the meat market.  H. Anundson had a dray line, which he sold to John Brekke and a wood yard, which he sold to Hiram Guest.  Dr. Tymms, M. D. from Dazey came to Hannaford every Thursday and held office hours.

Mr. Hyde was editing a page in the Cooperstown Courier during part of 1900, which was called the HANNAFORD BUDGET.  He reported quite a number of trees were being set out that spring.  He said, "The next move should be towards seeing that no stock is allowed to run at large on the townsite.  We surely have got past pasture stages of progression."  In June of that year the Hannaford merchants decided not to open their places of business on Sunday.  The post office, however, would be open from 12 to 1 o'clock.  In the fall the long distance phone lines were in and being used.

The Olson Elevator was built in 1901 and the Hyde Elevator in 1902.  The Hannaford State Bank was organized in the spring of 1902 and both this and a drug store went into Sinclair's building.  H. A. Langlie received a druggist permit.  In 1903 Strandness & Furaas left to start a business in Finley and Groven sold his hardware business to Aarestad Brothers & Troseth, who came from Shelly, Minnesota Groven was back in the general merchandise business.  Hans Peterson was in the meat market and Crane & Johnson changed to Crane-Johnson Company.  Dr. Leslie moved to town and had his office and operating room over the bank.

Dr. Berg established a magnetic institute in 1903.  Mr. Hemmingsen and others were involved in the purchase of the building and fixing it up for a hospital.  It was called the Hannaford Sanitarium.  C. L. Berg, Dakota Territory was a masseur.  Treatment of rheumatism was the specialty and people would spend several days and even a week here for treatment.

The Presbyterian Church was built in 1903.  In the spring of 1904 a new bank building was built of stone.  Today this building is the Hannaford Post Office.  Mr. J. B. Arbogast started publication of a weekly newspaper, the Hannaford Enterprise.

Houses weren't all painted white in the early 1900's as we may imagine.  H. H. Groven's house (now the home of the Gerald Andersons) was described as having deep red siding, all white trim, the shingled parts of the walls were the color of grass in June, and the panels between the windows in the upper story were buggy black.  Homes were also painted blue, green, or ivory.

The population of Hannaford in 1905 was 215 people.  It was a flourishing town boasting of 2 general stores, 2 hotels, 3 farm machinery firms, 2 livery and feed barns, I drug store, 1 harness shop, I blacksmith shop, 1 railway station, I concrete block factory, 2 furniture stores, 2 barber shops, 2 contractors and builders, 3 brick and stone masons, 1 newspaper, 1 hardware store, 2 lumber, coal and wood yards, 2 restaurants, 1 bank, 1 doctor, 1 shoemaker shop, 4 elevators, 1 meat market, 1 creamery, 1 tin shop, 2 pool rooms, 2 painters and paper hangers, 2 dray men, 1 telephone exchange and 2 churches.  Over 2000 people attended the Fourth of July celebration.  Carpenters and painters were paid $4.00 a day, brick and stone masons $3-$4 a day, farm hands $30-$40 a month for a season of 7 or 8 months and household help got $445 a week.

Ole Almklov bought the Langlie drug store in 1905.  Also that year the Hannaford Lumber Company was organized with H. H. Swingen as manager.  William VanScoik established a concrete building block manufacturing plant on a lot behind where the Hannaford Mercantile was built.  In 1905 the Hannaford -Cooperstown Concrete Company was reorganized.  Its officers were:  

S. H. Berg president, Henry Haugen vice-president, A. O. Anderson secretary and treasurer, and Tom Swingen manager.  This factory was temporarily located at the sand pit.  In 1906 the Edlund Brothers built a concrete block manufacturing plant on the creek bottom in the south part of town.  Most of the original sidewalks in Hannaford were manufactured by them.  They also made a large outdoor flowerpot.  It is believed that they manufactured the block for the cement block buildings in town such as the Mercantile, Jackson's store, telephone building, Ray's Barber Shop, schoolhouse and several homes.  It is not known when any of these businesses were discontinued.  The first two, at least, were not in operation for very long.  Mr. VanScoik took charge of the business operated by George F. Campbell, which consisted of a poolroom and confectionery in January 1907.  The school was built in 1907.

The Hannaford Mercantile was built in 1906 and was the successor to the Anderson-Reite business.  A. G. Hoel was the president, Asher Anderson vice-president and C. Reite secretary -treasurer of the first Hannaford Mercantile business.  In 1908 Asher Anderson and Ed Savre, who had been working in the Mercantile, bought the farm machinery business of the Mercantile and started to conduct the business under the firm name of Anderson & Savre.  The Mercantile continued to sell general merchandise.

By a vote of 32 to 2 Hannaford decided to incorporate as a village in 1906.  Members of the first village board were E. H. Groven, I. A. Kampen and A. O. Anderson, trustees, W. A. Olmstead, clerk, Richard E. Leiser, assessor, W. S. Hyde, treasurer, C. L. Berg, Marshall and I. A. Kampen, Justice of the Peace.

The year 1910 found Hannaford with a population of 340 people.  That year the town organized a fire department.  They had purchased equipment for fighting fires in 1907.  In 1911 a Commercial Club was organized and work was beginning on the Surrey Cut-off through Hannaford by the Great Northern Railroad.

Many businesses were flourishing by 1915.  Claus Jackson was in the general mercantile business, Aarestad Brothers & Troseth had a hardware and farm machinery business, William Angus had been in charge of the Farmers' State Bank since 1912 and E. E. Thoreson was president and R. L. Jones, Cashier of the First National Bank.  Asher Anderson was the agent for the John Deere Line of machinery.  Nording and Alm were in the Hannaford Hotel and also owned and operated a meat market, pool hall, confectionery and lunchroom, barbershop and a livery barn.  A. E. Johnston had a jewelry store, W. D. Sinclair a furniture store, L. B. Moore a garage, W. H. Richardson operated a sale and feed barn, owned a meat market, was superintendent of several threshing rigs, ground feed and moved houses and other buildings.  Crane Johnson was the only lumberyard in town with Henry Swingen as manager.  A creamery had been started in 1914 along the creek.  A. F. Kencke had the drug store, Rasmus Olson the blacksmith shop, Frank Paulson the dray line, and the Central North Dakota Co-operative Telephone Company was owned by businessmen and farmers.  Dr. Taylor was the dentist, Dr. Bensen, the physician, and John Sad, attorney and counselor - at- law.  Ole J. Kalvik had a dray line and delivered oil for Standard Oil.  John Dahl drove the delivery wagon for the Manhatten Oil Company C. L. Berg was proprietor of the Continental Hotel and Cafe, S. B. Clark had a barber shop and Mrs. Clark a lunch counter.  Zweig & Berg had a recreation parlor, Mrs. Clara Peterson a millinery shop, Krag's a lodging and eating place, Alfred Gustafson a shoe shop, Charles Hanson a dray line, Mrs. S. B. Clark a business for cleaning, pressing and repairing clothes, and Christ Reite was secretary and treasurer for the Griggs County Land Company Melvin Markuson managed the N. J. Olson & Sons Elevator and George Knauss had already managed the Farmers Elevator for 9 years.  The Commercial Club had charge of the Opera House and there was an A. O. U. W. Lodge and a Literary Society.  On the Board of Education in 1915 were Claus Jackson, president, Mrs. William Angus, Mrs. C. P. Schmidt, O. M. Westly, R. L. Jones and John Sad, clerk.  C. L. Codding was principal of the school and Frances Lauder, assistant.  Teachers were Cora Lykken, Margaret Rehberg, and Mrs. Mabelle Breesegard.  By 1920 the population had increased to 420.

There was a flash flood on the Creek in 1921 and after this a dam was built on the north side of the highway bridge.  The swimming hole was then moved from the north side of bridge to the south.  Red Cross swimming lessons have been given at the swimming hole most years since 1920 and now in 1975 it is still the swimming pool for the community.  A ski slide was erected in 1923 overlooking the creek and ski tournaments were held every winter.  The slide was taken down in 1963.

The thirties brought the depression years.  Grain prices in January 1933 were 26¢ a bushel for dark northern wheat, 88¢ for flax, 4¢ for oats.  Crops of wheat ran 2 and 3 bushels per acre with a few reports of 10 bushels per acre.  Food prices were also low.  Post Toasties sold two packages for 23¢, prunes, 2 pounds for 19¢, hamburger and sausage 10¢ a pound, home-rendered lard 3 pounds for 25¢, P & G soap 10 bars for 29¢ on sale or regularly 6 for 25¢.  Railroad fares were: 

2¢ a mile one-way or 1.8¢ round trip

3¢ a mile for a sleeper one-way and 

2¢ a mile round trip.  At one time a total of 248 men were employed under P. W. A. Local farmers worked on graveling roads where wages were $15 a week for a 30-hour week.  Later the hours and wages were cut in half so twice as many men could be employed.

The town continued, however, and in 1935 the Benson & Son Poultry Hatchery was built.  Hareland & Sons were manufacturing concrete well curbings.  In 1936 construction began on the Community Hall located uptown.  Before it was completed that summer it was partly demolished by a tornado, but work continued after the rubbish was cleaned up.  This hall was used as a school gymnasium and for all other school and community activities.  Its use was discontinued after a gymnasium was built onto the school in 1968.  Also in 1936 the overpass on Highway 1 was built over the Great Northern track.  It was a hot, dry, windy summer, which blew dust from the excavating over the entire town.  The Sinclair building which housed the post office and Spenningsby Cafe burned that summer and the post office moved into the empty Farmers State Bank building and remained there until 1959 when the Security State Bank, which had been started in 1927, built a new building and the Post Office moved into their old building.  Sinclair built another building and Spenningsby opened the Green Lantern Cafe in the north half of the building and Bill Mohart the C & D Market in the south half.

Fire again raged in March of 1942 during a blizzard.  Burned were the Hannaford Hotel operated by Fred and Dorothy Mathisen, pool hall operated by Douglas Lee, meat market operated by Frank Kaha and a barbershop.  The building was not replaced.  In 1948 the Locker Plant owned by Power Appliance Company of Jamestown was opened.  It later was operated by B. A. Baling, Duane Baukol and Floyd Fogderud and probably others.  This building was demolished in 1975.

Hannaford celebrated its 50th Anniversary in 1956 with a three-day celebration.  In 1958 a grade school addition was built onto the school and in 1959 the city water system was installed with the water tower coming from the capitol grounds in Bismarck.  That year too Cal Vincent started a construction business and Intercommunity Telephone Company rebuilt old telephone lines and installed dial telephones.  Stri-King Bowling Lanes were built in 1960 by stockholders and by that year the population had dropped to 277.

The Bald Hill Horseshoe club organized in 1967 and built courts in the northwest corner of Hannaford.  An open tournament has been held every year since 1968 with people from several states entered.  

The Commercial Club dissolved in 1968 and in its place a Community Club was formed to include the farmers as well as the businessmen of the city.  Also that year a four-unit housing development for the elderly was built and a $175,000 addition to the school, which included a gymnasium.  

The census in 1970 was 244.  

In 1974 garbage removal was started with a man from Hope providing the service.

Cal Vincent is the mayor of Hannaford in 1975.  

The Farmers Elevator is managed by Marvin Grosser, assisted by Allen Klipfel.  

Joe's Coop Service Station is owned by Joe Simpkins.  

Gerald and James Anderson have a laundromat, hardware and sporting supply store.  

Farmland Coop built storage tanks and other facilities in Hannaford in 1975 and their bulk agent is Mark Almklov.  

Jeanette Richardson Arbuckle is the Postmistress.  

Melvin Haugen manages Stri-King Bowling Lanes.

W. O. Brown is President of Security State Bank. 

Ray Arbuckle owns and operates Ray's Barber and Beauty Shop with Ruth C. Anderson as beautician.  

Paulsen's Standard Station is owned and operated by Elgar Paulsen.

Hannaford Supply in the Mercantile Building is managed by Donna Larson.

Cal Vincent Construction is owned by Calvin Vincent.  

The Liquor Store is owned by Butch Baird of Cooperstown 

Mike's Recreation by Mike Adams.

Marcus Hook runs a repair shop at his home.

Floyd Olson is in the carpenter business.  

Inter-Community Telephone Company began putting all their lines underground during the summer of 1975.  

Roger Nilsen is their local service man.  

Organizations active in the community include the Commercial Club, American Legion along with their Women's Auxiliary and Junior Auxiliary, Homemaker's Club, Park Board, Fire Department, Youth Summer Program sponsored by the Park Board and American Legion, Parent-Teachers Organization and Music Mothers in connection with the school, and Faith Lutheran Church with its Sunday School, American Church Women with their three circles, and Luther League.  

The Hannaford School has 12 grades with kindergarten in the spring.  It employs a superintendent and 11 teachers plus a custodian, secretary -teacher's aide, and 2 cooks.
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Faith Lutheran Church

The Lutherans in and around Hannaford worshiped together in the early years and were known as the Baldhill Congregation.  Records show that the first meeting to organize a Lutheran congregation was held in June of 1885.  As a result of this meeting, two congregations, Baldhill and Eidfjord, were organized.

The Baldhill congregation met in the Gunderson School most of the time.  This school was located 1 mile south of Walum on the east side of the highway.  Plans to build a church building began as early as 1888.  Dry years and hard times delayed these plans and when they were discussed in earnest in 1892 there were mixed feelings as to where the church should be built.  The people in the north part of the area felt Hannaford was the most suitable place and the people from the area to the south felt Walum to be the best place.  Land had already been given for a church site in Walum and a cemetery started.  The congregation's differences over the church site were discussed at several meetings over a period of several years.  On February 8, 1898 the decision was made to build on the church site in Walum.  This church today is known as St. Olaf Lutheran Church.

Eidfjord took in a territory that reached into Mabel Township.  There were also differences of opinion about where to locate this church when the time came to build.  The result was the organization of a new congregation in Mabel Township in 1896 and the erection of a church in 1899.  Eidfjord Congregation built their church in 1901.

Several families from Baldhill still felt a church should be built in Hannaford and as a result plans were made to form a congregation in Hannaford.  The first recorded minutes of a meeting are dated February 12, 1898.  The meeting had been called by Even Olsen.  He was chosen chairman and H. H. Groven, acting secretary.  A committee of three was named to draw up a constitution and by-laws with Even Olsen, chairman, Ole Edlund and Halvor Sorenson committee members.  They named the congregation Hannaford Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church.  On March 5, 1898 a constitution was adopted which was signed by:  

Even Olsen, Halvor Sorenson, Halvor C. Johnson, H. H. Groven, Halvor Anundson, Thomas Olson, Niels Hemmingson, Walter Hemmingson, John K. Stromme, E. H. Groven and Christ Sonju.  Reverend P. A. Thoreson was called to be their first pastor in March of 1898.  He was already serving Baldhill, Eidfjord and Mabel congregations.  Pastor Thoreson served in this area for 32 years.

A church building was erected in 1899.  Andrew Langdon donated the building site and also gave the land for the cemetery north of town.  Mrs. E. H. Groven who died in 1902 was the first burial in the cemetery.  The building committee for the first church was Pastor Thoreson, Even Olsen, Niels Hemmingson, Christ Sonju, and H. H. Groven.

In 1900 the congregation affiliated with the United Lutheran Church.  There were several mergers over the years.  The United Synod merged with the Hauge and Norwegian Synods in 1917 to form the Norwegian Lutheran Church of America.  The name was changed to the Evangelical Lutheran Church in 1946.  A merger of the United Evangelical Lutheran Church, the American Lutheran Church and the Evangelical Lutheran Church took place January 1, 1961 and the American Lutheran Church came into being.  Faith Lutheran is a part of this synod.

The original church building did not have a basement or general meeting room and this made it difficult for the women of the congregation.  They held their Ladies Aid meetings in the various homes until 1909 when they purchased the two-room school, which had been vacated when the cement block school building was built in 1907.  They called their newly acquired building the Ladies Hall.  This stood where the present church stands.

By the late forties the church building was beginning to show the effects of time and weather.  The floor was sagging toward the center under which was the furnace and the whole church would sway with strong winds.  On September 22, 1949 it was decided to sell the Ladies Hall and build a new church.  The Hall was moved uptown a block east of where it stood to make room for the new church.  Donald Knauss purchased it and used it for an appliance store.  It was later used for a cafe and today is the American Legion Hall.  September 3, 1950 H. H. Swingen, Gustav Sonju, Louis Larson, C. O. Johnson and John Priebe were elected to the building committee.  By November 19, 1950 the first worship service was held in the first unit of the new church.  This unit is the dining room.  The second unit of the church or the sanctuary was completed in 1952.  Ludvig Hareland was the contractor.  During the years 1970 through 1973 the church was extensively remodeled with Clifford Johnson as head carpenter and Claude Freer working with him.  Many hours of labor were also put in by the men and women of the congregation.

A realignment of churches took place in 1924 when Mabel joined the Binford parish and Union joined to form a parish with Hannaford, St. Olaf and Eidfjord.  In December 1959 Hannaford resigned from the four-point parish to form a parish by themselves.  At this time Mabel was part of a two-point parish with Trinity in Cooperstown.  In 1962 Pastor Alvin Bergh began serving Mabel Church along with Hannaford and now in 1975 these two congregations make up a two-point parish.  Hannaford changed the name of their church to Faith Lutheran in 1960.

Prior to 1920 Pastor Thoreson owned his own home.  That year the congregations purchased the home of G. M. Aarestad for their parsonage.  When Hannaford became a one point parish, the parsonage was sold to the rural churches and a new home for the pastor was built across the street to the south of the church.

Many faithful pastors have served the congregation over the years.  Pastor P. A. Thoreson served the longest from 1898 to 1921.  He was followed by George S. Natwick, John M. Haaland, E. C. Tollefsen, E. O. Stenson, Elmer O. Lee, Lewis E. Bakke, Roy W. Gilbertson, Edwin L. Bersagel, Alexander Thompson, Alvin J. Bergh, Roger C. Paulson, Neil Thompson, and Michael J. Lockerby.

Four members of the congregation have served in full time service of the Lord.  Claire Ouren spent 13 years as a missionary in West Pakistan.  In 1961 she married Kenneth Lunn and returned to Hannaford to make her home.  Her sister Bernice has been a missionary among the Mexican Indians of Tamazunchale, Mexico since 1943.  Claire and Bernice are the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Ouren.  Lyle A. Rich, son of Mr. and Mrs. Lyle E. Rich and Darrel R. Olson, son of Mr. and Mrs. Otto Olson are both pastors in congregations of the American Lutheran Church.
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United Presbyterian Church

In 1886, Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Sinclair were instrumental in getting neighbors together to organize a Sunday School and have church services.  Reverend O. D. Purintan conducted services - Baptists, Methodists, Presbyterians, English speaking church people assembled to hear the word of God.  Meetings were held in the Mills School north of town.  Services were continued until 1899.  In the spring of 1899 discussion for a permanent organization was brought up with the majority favoring Hannaford as the place to erect a church building.

On May 20, 1900 the First Presbyterian Church of Hannaford was organized under the Fargo Presbytery.  Officers elected were:  

Trustees, W. J. Langdon, W. S. Hyde, Archie Sinclair

Elders, Daniel Sinclair, Duncan Sinclair, Donald Campbell.  J. B. Armstrong was elected treasurer

John Mills was Sunday School Superintendent and Mrs. W. S. Hyde, music director.  Services were held in the Hannaford schoolhouse.  In the spring of 1902 money for the building of a church in Hannaford was solicited by Donald Campbell west of the Bald Hill Creek and by James Sinclair east of the Creek.  They obtained $2200 by noon of the second day.  The church site was donated by W. J. Langdon.  Late in the summer the foundations were laid, but an early snow stopped work until the next spring.  On August 2, 1903 the church was dedicated and all the bills were paid.

W. D. Sinclair was elected an elder to succeed his father, Daniel Sinclair, who passed away on September 15, 1905.  From the beginning of the church until W. D. Sinclair's death in 1961 a Sinclair was an officer of the church.

In 1911 a building was purchased for a manse.  During World War I the church was closed for five successive Sundays due to the influenza epidemic.  Average Sunday School attendance in 1917 was 52.  In 1918 the church was wired for electric lights.  In 1926 the church was remodeled with a basement and the entire structure was improved.  Pews were secured from the church in Fargo when their new church was built.  October 17 and 18, 1926 were days of rejoicing and thanksgiving for members and friends of the church.  There was a harvest festival to celebrate the remodeling and redecorating which was now completed.  The total cost was $4900, which was met locally with the exception of a $1000 loan from the Board of National Missions.  Programs and special music and services were held both evenings and a supper and a rededication service was held on the 17th.

In 1932 it was decided to combine with the Cooperstown church and hire one minister to serve both places.  At times when there was no resident pastor the pulpit was supplied by ministers from Jamestown College.

Due to the depression and drought years, it wasn't until November 1945 that the final payment was made on the loan.  To celebrate the event a mortgage burning ceremony was held.  A history of the church was read by Mary Armstrong and the history of the Ladies Aid by Mrs. Melvin Sonju.  At the close of the program the mortgage was set on fire and the congregation watched it bum.

Because the membership decreased to such a few, the church was declared officially closed in 1973.  The building was sold to Leslie Peterson and torn down the winter of 1974-75.

People prominent in the church those many years were:  

Sinclairs, Armstrongs, Campbells, Beatties, Hyde, Mills, Langdon, Jones, Angus, Reite, Schmidts, Knauss, Benson, Boe, Flesjer, Westley, Palm, Sonju, Grover, Hoffman, Richardson, Wilson, Brown, Olsen, Steiner, Kerber, Olaf Johnson, Hagen, Wait.

Ministers through the years were:  

O. D. Puritan, J. H. Baldwin, J. N. Carnine, Oscar Bostrom, J. N. Robertson, J. S. Simpson, C. N. Miller McCoy, J. D. McCellan, J. A. McEwen, H. L. Taylor, J. C. Wilson, Nathan Wood, G. O. Vikan, E. J. Meyers, LeRoy C. Cooley, C. C. Converse, W. Ray Radliff, W. James Henderson, Harvey Senecal, Robert Schurr, Robert Maharry, and a number of "fill-ins" that almost became regulars.
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Hannaford School

The first schoolhouse for the children in the Hannaford area was built in May 1884 on the Merryman land.  It was located on the SE corner of Section 6-144-59, which is on the west edge of Hannaford - the Louis Larson farm.  Hannah Martin Roberts, Lottie Riley, and Belle Merryman were the first teachers.  School was held for only short periods in the summer and the teacher received $30 a month.  

Among the first pupils were:  

Walter Hemmingsen, Bob Martin, the Ed Olson and Patterson children.  

This building was later moved into the village of Hannaford and eventually was used for a home.  Mr. and Mrs. Bill Anundson live in it today.  The second school building was built by C. H. Johnson in 1898 and was built as a one-room structure.  In 1900 a partition was put in to provide for two teachers.  The comment was made that now the building was spoiled for church meetings.  This school stood where the Lutheran church stands today.  The women of the church bought it in 1909 and used it for their activities until the present church was built in 1950.  In 1949 in preparation for building the church, the "Ladies Hall" was sold to Donald Knauss and he moved it uptown a block east of where it stood and used it for an appliance store.  Later it was used as a cafe and today it is the American Legion Hall.
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Hannaford Public School

The cement block school, which is the high school building today, was built in 1907 at a cost of $11,000.  Ludvig Hareland was the contractor.  Hannaford Special School District came into being at the same time.  In 1926 a two room wood building was built south of the school to alleviate crowded conditions.  This was considered a temporary building and cost $6000.  The lower grades were in this building.  Prior to this, the Ladies Hall or old school building had again been used temporarily for school classes.

In 1936 a community hall was built uptown and used for town and school activities.  This was the school gymnasium and used for all basketball games, etc.  In 1958 a new cement block grade school building was attached to the main school building.  The little building was then used for music and shop classes.  School reorganization took place in 1959 and the surrounding school districts became a part of the Hannaford School District.  School bus service, as we know it today started then too.

A gymnasium attached to the school was built in 1968.  This addition also provided a kitchen and dining room for the hot lunch program, furnace room and music facilities.  This left only shop classes for the little building.

Miss Minnie Anderson began teaching in the commercial department of the high school in 1934.  She taught in the Hannaford School system until 1973.  During the years of World War II she was also superintendent.

Members of the faculty in 1974-75 were Dale Donat, Superintendent, Roger Stokka, John Bakken, James Dietz, Richard Cole, DelWayne Zachrison, Louise Laber, Debra Dreier, Mrs. Gilbert Haugen, Mrs. Richard Vogel, Mrs. Mark Hill, and Mrs. Lester Steiner.  Mrs. John Bakken was a teacher's aid in the grades.  Custodian was James Donahue.  Mrs. Lloyd Hareland and Mrs. Algot Aalgaard were in charge of the hot lunch program.

Members of the Board of Education were Roger Nilsen, Alvin Ramsey, Donald Larson, Allan Stokka and Lloyd Smith.  John C. Grover was the clerk and W. O. Brown the treasurer.
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Northern Pacific Railroad

Griggs County's first railroad was constructed and operated by the Sanborn, Cooperstown and Turtle Mountain Railway Company.  It was completed through Hannaford during the summer of 1883, reaching Cooperstown on August 27.

The railroad reached a point between Dazey and Hannaford in the fall of 1882.  The building crew camped over winter 1882-83 51h miles south of Hannaford by the trestle bridge.  A dugout in the bank of the creek was the living quarters of the crew.  The men were on guard to protect the railroad material.  From 50 to 60 men camped here.  There were several railroad coaches, which stood on the thus far completed tract from the south to supply the camp and a few nearby neighbors with groceries, supplies and coal.  These neighbors and men would have had to go to the present site of Ashtabula east of the camp for wood if they had not been supplied this way.

In August of 1883 the Cooperstown Courier reported that the tracklayers were quitting and this was the second time this had been reported during that summer.  This time the men were demanding $2.50 a day with mince pie thrown in.  As before, they were discharged and a new crew brought in from Fargo.

The Northern Pacific -depot at Odell was moved to Hannaford in October of 1897.  Odell was one of five stations (Odell, Lowry, Booth, Clive, and Mattison) on the Northern Pacific and Soo Lines, which were consolidated to form the town of Rogers in 1897.  This depot still stands in Hannaford much as it was when it was moved.  The office part was fixed up in 1902.  Mr. Meeker was the first station agent.  Another in the early years was W. L. Cave.  C. P. Schmidt came in November of 1901 and continued until his retirement in 1946.  Among the agents since have been Norman Livers, Kenneth Stennes and Hillard Johnson.

Passenger service was discontinued in 1960 and in 1969 the depot was closed.  Hillard was the last Northern Pacific depot agent stationed in Hannaford.  Most branch line depots are closed now.  A traveling agent stationed in Valley City takes care of the business in the various towns.

The first Section foreman of the Cooperstown Branch was Abe Lent.  He was followed by Sandberg and August Olson.  Charles Cederson began as Section foreman in 1899.  He'd been with the railroad since 1890.  The railroad built a Section house two miles north of Hannaford near the railroad bridge in about 1899.  It got a coat of paint in May of 1900.  A water tank to supply the trains was built at Bald Hill Creek in 1884.  It burned in 1897, but was rebuilt.  In 1906 a water tank was erected in town between the Monarch and Farmers Elevators.  Mr. Cederson retired in 1926 and the same fall the Hannaford Section headquarters were moved to Cooperstown.

Among the men who have worked on the Northern Pacific Railroad Section crew and who have made their homes in Hannaford are:  

Andrew Sonju, Wallum, Al Lind, Matt Lyngby, Peter Aalgaard, and Arne Nevland.

Great Northern Railroad

In 1910 the Great Northern Railroad announced it was going to build a cut-off line across North Dakota from Fargo to Surrey in Ward County.  This was to relieve as far as possible the exceedingly heavy traffic on the main line in North Dakota.  This branch became known as the Surrey Cut-off and made Hannaford a busy railroad town for many years.  This line connects Chicago to the West Coast and Fargo to Minot in North Dakota

The spring of 1910 found work crews in the area.  Camp was set up a mile east of town and water was piped from the creek for the engines and horses.  Work continued through 1910, 1911 and 1912.  A wood trestle bridge was built across the creek.  A water tank with a capacity of 100, 000 gallons and a pumper were erected at the west end of the bridge.  The depot, a residence for the Section foreman, a bunk house for the Section crews, a signal tower near where the Northern Pacific and Great Northern crossed, and a coal chute west of the depot were all erected in 1912.  The first passenger train over the new line passed through Hannaford from Minot on July 23, 1912.  At one time two mainline passenger trains and a mail train went through besides the freight trains.

In 1924 the wood bridge needed repair so two huge concrete tunnels were laid in the creek directly under the bridge.  The entire bridge was filled with dirt to the top to form an embankment.  Dirt was hauled by gravel cars on the track from a hillside 21h miles west of the bridge site.  A sidetrack off the main line was built to where the dirt was loaded by crane onto the railroad cars.  Two tunnels were installed in case of severe flooding of the creek.  During the winter the children of the community would skate right through the tunnels.  In later years more fill was hauled in as the filled area settled and the track was raised accordingly.

In the earlier years, a stockyard was located on the Great Northern enabling the shipping of cattle, pigs, etc. to and from Hannaford.  The stockyards were a great place for hoboes for their cookouts while waiting for the next freight.  The Ely-Salyards Elevator was built on the Great Northern in 1913.  This burned in 1960 and was not rebuilt.  The coal chute was taken down in 1941.  A water treating plant was built in 1930 by the bridge across the creek.  This operation continued into the 1940's when steam engines were replaced by diesel.  Operators of the treating plant were Ole Forseth and John Bruns.

The Great Northern Tower had to be operated and maintained by the railroad to enable the Northern Pacific trains to go through.  The crossing point was called the diamond.  Among the men who worked here were Harvey Benson, Earl Heacock, Clyde Harris and Dick Aamoth.

Miles Tate was the first signal maintainer out of Hannaford.  Jack Priebe came in 1939 and retired in 1959 for health reasons.  Jim Divine has held this job and presently it is Bob Clemens.  Oscar Ashland, Syvert Johnson, Andrew Lura, Harry Lenning, and Matt Lyngby were among those employed at the coal chute.

Depot agents were on duty night and day until the railroad merger when only one pan-time agent was required and finally the depot was closed entirely.  Among the depot agents were Pete Eiden, Spooner, Oscar Skorheim, Ralph Bailey, George Malmin, Walter Kreie, Lawrence Ericson, A. Day, Bliss Littler, Annerude, A. Zimkoski, Larry Almers, Dean Mogard, and several short-term operators.

At one time the Great Northern at Hannaford employed ten full-time people and two full Section crews lived in town.  Section foremen have been Axel Swanson, Ott Harris, Ole Stafne, H. Stubjon, Andrew Midstokke, Emil Lee, Lloyd Johnson and presently Art Nelson.  Working on these crews have been Clifford Ouren, Anton Gilbertson, Gust Fliflet, LeRoy McCallson, Ingvald Lyngby, Harold Steinborn, Selmer Fliflet, Roy Richardson, George Malmin, Michael Fliflet, Al Aalgaard, Lawrence Fliflet and Ira Larson.

After the Great Northern became a transcontinental railroad and as years went by, they made up a special train of 10-12 cars, which was called the "Silk Train.  “Cargoes of silk valued at millions of dollars were hauled to Chicago and then New York.  This raw silk was unloaded from the Blue Funnel line steamers at Seattle and transferred to this special train, which rushed the raw silk to factories in the east.  Many of these special trains went through Hannaford.

One foreman related an incident when the fast mail train came around the bend unexpectedly.  He yelled to his Section men "jump" and men and dinner buckets flew off the motor car both sides of the track and seconds later the motor car was hit by the train.  LeRoy McCallsen recalls when the crew was called out at night on a secret patrol of the tracks as President Franklin Roosevelt was on the passenger train en-route from the West Coast.  Mrs. Gustav Sonju tells about President "Teddy" Roosevelt going through on a passenger train en-route to the West Coast in 1912.  A band was present and the bystanders waved as President Roosevelt waved back.  In 1914 the Great Northern passenger train stopped 21h miles west of town to let people off and on to attend the "Big Auction Sale" on the Donald Campbell farm, which was, located about ¼ mile from the track.

A three-day blizzard March 3-5, 1966 practically buried a mile long freight at Luverne.  Hannaford Section crew and snowplows, and crews from Breckenridge and New Rockford were called to the scene.  Two rotary plows from the Rocky Mountain area and a flanch plow were used.  This was the first time in the history of the Great Northern Surrey Cut-off when transportation was nil for a week.  Snow banks were piled up to and covered the telegraph lines for stretches as long as a mile.  The men crawled on their hands and knees to enter the engine through a window.

In 1934 the Great Northern abolished the use of the Great Northern tower and also one Section crew.  The Section lines were made longer as years went by thereby abolishing several Sections in various towns.  After 1934 the depot agents took charge of the tower to let the Northern Pacific trains pass over the Great Northern tracks.

In September of 1967 the rail postal service on the Great Northern was discontinued.  Carriers of mail bags were several during the years including Bob Martin, Harry Lenning, Evelyn Lenning, Leonard Pederson, Bill and Esther Weller.  Robert Martin was the Star Route mail carrier from Hannaford to Cooperstown for a number of years.  The Star Route was also discontinued in 1967.

The Public Service commission granted the Great Northern authority to reroute its passenger train the "Western Star" via Grand Forks in 1968 and this left Hannaford without passenger service.

Today neither the Great Northern or Northern Pacific Railroads exist as such due to the merger in 1970 of the Great Northern

Northern Pacific

Chicago, Burlington & Quincy

and Spokane, Portland & Seattle Railroads into what we know today as the Burlington Northern Railroad.  The passenger service since the merger has been called Amtrak, but does not go through Hannaford.  Today only freight trains travel on the Surrey Cut-off.  The depot was closed in 1972.  Grain service for the Farmers Elevator is handled by a traveling agent.  Elgar Paulson bought the depot in 1973 and moved it to his lots behind his home.  Dean Mogard was the last agent stationed at the G. N. depot in Hannaford.

Hannaford Banks

The first bank in Hannaford was organized in June 1902 and was located in Sinclair's Store together with the Langlie Drug Store.  H. A. Langlie was the cashier

A. M. Sinclair and N. G. Eggen were directors.  Jas.  Sinclair purchased Mr. Langlie's share in December 1903.  This bank was called the Hannaford State Bank and moved into its new quarters in the stone building in October of 1904.  Today this building is Hannaford's post office.

In November 1904 the Griggs County State Bank was organized and this was located in the offices of S. H. Berg & Company The organizers of this bank were A. H. Berg, S. H. Berg, and A. O. Anderson, who was also the cashier.

Soon after, in February 1905, the Griggs County State Bank increased its capital stock to $25,000 and reorganized as the First National Bank of Hannaford.  In the spring the business of the Hannaford State Bank was also taken over.  The Hannaford State Bank had been closed in previous months.  A. H. Berg was the president, W. S. Hyde vice-president, and A. O. Anderson cashier of the newly organized First National Bank.  It was located in the building of the Hannaford State Bank.

The Farmer's State Bank was organized in March of 1909 and was temporarily located in the International Hotel Property.  That same spring they built the cement block building which today is Ray's Barber Shop.  E. J. Aarestad was president of this bank, O. Stordahl cashier, O. M. Westley assistant cashier and A. M. Eckmann vice-president.

Also in March 1909 the Citizens State Bank was organized with all local stockholders.  They were located in the cement block building just west of the Mercantile, which has now been the telephone building for many years.  Donald Campbell was president, A. O. Anderson vice-president and cashier, O. M. Brunsvold second vice-president, and C. Reite assistant cashier.  This bank did not exist for very long.  It consolidated with the First National Bank in February 1910 and the business was conducted under the name of the First National Bank and in their building.  A. O. Anderson was now president, Donald Campbell and Claus Jackson vice -presidents.

Mr. Angus bought Mr. Stordahl's interest in the Farmer's State Bank in November 1912 and became affiliated with the bank as cashier.  He was still in this bank when it was forced to close in June of 1926.  In December 1926 the First National Bank was also forced to close.  Hannaford was then without a bank until the Security State Bank was opened with A. C. Brown as Cashier in September 1927.  This bank was located in the First National Bank building (our post office in 1975) until 1959 when Mr. Brown built a new bank building, which is serving the residents of Hannaford and surrounding area today.  Officers of Security State Bank are:

 W. O. Brown, president, C. A. Brown, vice-president, John Brown, vice-president, John C. Grover, cashier and Kathleen Grover Erickson, assistant cashier.
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Hannaford Elevators

The first businesses referred to as elevators were really only warehouses.  The first building in Hannaford was a small shack set up on posts and used for storing grain in sacks.  This blew down and was replaced by another warehouse by Cargill.  When R. C. Brophy came to Hannaford in 1886 it was reported he took the job in the Cargill Elevator, but this *~as the warehouse.  In 1888 Cargill did build an elevator and their warehouse was used as an annex.  Mr. Brophy left Hannaford in 1888, but returned in 1891 to build an elevator for which he had an agent in charge.

The Monarch Elevator was built in 1898 and the Olson Elevator in 1901.  W. S. Hyde started a custom grinding business in 1895.  In 1897 he had an office at Crane & Johnson and bought all kinds of grain in car lots, but he did not build an elevator until 1902.  An elevator burned in 1903, which must have been the Brophy elevator.  In 1905 the Enterprise reported there were four elevators in Hannaford and they were run by N. K. Markuson, Holmes, Gad and Isaacson.

In June of 1905 the farmers began to think about organizing their own elevator.  Mr. Armstrong was chairman and Mr. Hoggarth secretary of their first meeting.  Niels Hemmingsen, R. Hadlock, Christ Jackson, Olai Fogderud and John Mulroy formed a committee to contact the area farmers to see if they were interested.  At the next meeting Hemmingsen was chairman and I. A. Kampen secretary and they found they had raised $2000 towards an elevator.  A board of directors was elected consisting of John B. Armstrong, Donald Campbell, Ole Fogderud, H. Robinson, J. M. Freer, Andrew J. Anderson and Mark Curtis.  Soon $4000 in shares had been raised.  Mr. Hyde offered to sell his elevator for $8000.  This was considered too high, but it was already the middle of July and they decided they either had to buy it or wait another year to go into the elevator business.  Mr. Hyde bound himself to take the elevator back for the same price in a year if the farmers were not satisfied with the deal at the end of that time.  C. J. Holmes, who had been with the Cargill Elevator the past year.  He was hired as buyer.  Turle & Company of Duluth was chosen as commission firm for the elevator.  Armstrong and Campbell resigned from the board of directors because they did not feel they had the time necessary to look after the business properly and Niels Hemmingsen and Paul Troseth were elected to take their place.  This new enterprise came into being in August of 1905.  Four elevators stood in a line on Wheat Street.  Beginning at the south end of the street where it still is located was the Farmer's Elevator.  North from it stood the Monarch (P V), Olson and then the Cargill Elevators.

The Farmer's Elevator burned in January of 1906, but it was rebuilt.  The Monarch Elevator burned in June of 1910 and was not replaced.  In 1913 the Cargill Elevator was torn down and shipped to Grace City.  The Cargill coal sheds were purchased by the Farmer's Elevator and moved to their property.  Crane-Johnson built additional buildings on the site of the Cargill Elevator.

Also in 1913 an elevator was built west of the Great Northern depot and was called the Ely-Salyard Elevator.  Mr. Ely was the buyer.  In 1927 this elevator was taken over by the Wheat Grower's Warehouse Company and in later years it was used for overflow grain by the Farmer's Elevator.  This elevator burned in 1960 and was not rebuilt.

The Farmer's Elevator burned in October of 1931.  It was the only elevator operating in Hannaford at that time.  The Olson elevator had been standing idle for many years and the Wheat Grower's Elevator was also closed.  After the fire the Farmer's Elevator purchased the Olson Elevator from the Woodworth Elevator Company who had owned it since 1926.  By December of 1931 this elevator had been moved from its site where the American Legion Hall stands today to the site of the Farmer's Elevator.  W. H. Richardson and a Jamestown contractor had the contract for moving the elevator.

Today the Farmer's Elevator is managed by Marvin Grosser with Allen Klipfel as his assistant.  Directors are:  

Herbert Sonju, President, Ernest J. Johnson, Vice-president, Milford Gronneberg, Treasurer, Clinton Brown, Secretary, and Emil Eslinger.

Hannaford Enterprise

John B. Arbogast, a native of Virginia was the first publisher and editor of the Hannaford Enterprise.  He was the editor of the Free Press at McHenry before coming to Hannaford and went on to publish other newspapers after leaving Hannaford.

The first issue of the Hannaford Enterprise was published May 24, 1904 and was issued every Tuesday thereafter.  A year's subscription was $1.50.  Mr. Arbogast continued in the business until June 1905 when he sold out to I. A. Kampen and Paul A. Anderson, brothers.  A few years later Mr. Kampen sold his interest to George C. Epler.  In 1913 Paul Anderson purchased Mr. Epler's interest in the business and became the sole owner.  Mr. Anderson continued as publisher and editor until his death in 1928.  I. A. Kampen then returned to Hannaford and published the paper together with Paul's wife, Emelia, until it was sold in October of 1935 to the Griggs County Publishing Company of Cooperstown.  A month later the Hannaford Commercial Club acquired the property and sold it to H. A. Gifford and Kenneth Enstad, instructors in the Hannaford Public School.  However, two weeks later, the Commercial Club again became owner of the business.  In December of 1935 H. C. Burk of Grace City, North Dakota made a deal with the Commercial Club whereby he became owner of the newspaper property and editor-publisher of the Hannaford Enterprise.  Mr. Burk was with the Enterprise until March 1940, when Bremen I. Johnson came to be the editor for the next year.  In July of 1941 Mr. and Mrs. D. A. Patrick became editor and publisher and remained until September 23, 1948 when the last issue of the Hannaford Enterprise came off the press.
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Hannaford Lumber Yards

The first settlers in the Hannaford area had to haul the lumber for their homes and farm buildings from Sanborn, Valley City or Cooperstown.  E. H. Groven carried a small stock of lumber in his general merchandise business and this Crane & Johnson bought out in 1897 and put in a complete stock of lumber.  Their name was changed to Crane-Johnson in 1903 when they incorporated.

The Hannaford Lumber Company was organized in February 1905 with a capital stock of $25,000.  The stockholders were H. Anundson, president, A. H. Berg, S. H. Berg, N. K. Markuson, W. S. Hyde, and H. H. Swingen.  Mr. Swingen was the promoter of the enterprise.  He was an experienced lumberman from Lake Mills, Iowa and was the manager of the new yard.  This lumberyard was sold to the McCoy Lumber Company in January 1906, but Mr. Swingen remained as the manager.  In January 1915 Crane-Johnson purchased the McCoy Lumber Yards at Hannaford, Karnak and Revere and from then on Hannaford had only one lumberyard.  Mr. Swingen also managed this combined yard.  He was with Crane-Johnson until his death in 1957.  After Mr. Swingen, Paul Vance managed the Crane-Johnson yard for many years.  He was followed by Ted Sonderby, Elton Kloster, Roger Haugrud and Ed Carlson.  Crane-Johnson closed its yard in Hannaford in 1972.  Claude Freer served as assistant manager for 15 years prior to the closing.
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Hannaford Post Office

The first post office in Hannaford was established November 17, 1886 with R. C. Brophy the first postmaster.  Prior to this time, postal service was available at the Montclair post office.  The first post offices were located in the place of business of whomever was postmaster at the time.  Mr. Brophy was postmaster until February 13, 1889 when E. H. Groven was appointed.  He was followed by Archibald Sinclair in 1895, Claus Jackson in 1899, Christian Reite in 1913, William D. Sinclair in 1919, George Knauss in 1936, Fred Knauss in 1951 and Jeanette Richardson Arbuckle in 1974.  The post office was located in the old bank building, which is now Ray's Barber Shop from 1936 until 1959.  When Security State Bank built their new bank building in 1959, the post office moved into the old bank building and remains there in 1975.

Two rural free delivery routes were established out of Hannaford on November 1, 1905.  The carriers were to leave Hannaford every day at 10:30 AM and return no later than 6:30 PM.  Their salaries were $720 per year.  A. M. Sinclair was the first mail carrier going east and his route covered 29 miles and 106 houses.  Lars Alm had the route going west and this was 31 miles long with 104 houses.  Johnny Haugen took A. M. Sinclair's route in 1906.  L. A. McCallson started as a mail carrier in 1909 and retired in 1943.  In 1924 a third route was added, but was discontinued in 1943.  Other carriers during the years have been Harry Richardson and Carl Heyerdahl.  Homer Benson has been carrying mail since 1946.  When Heyerdahl retired in 1966 the two routes were combined into one.  The Revere Post Office was closed in 1954 and the Walum Post Office in 1973.  Both areas are served by the Hannaford carrier.

Today the one rural route covers 132 miles, serves 161 families and there are 156 boxes, 21 of which are right in Hannaford.
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Telephone Service

Long distance telephone service came first to Hannaford and this was separate from local service, which came later.  Long distance service was installed in October of 1900 and the long distance telephone was located in Jackson's store.  In 1905 the statement was made that if the local telephone service wanted to get to Cooperstown they would have to build a line of their own.

Local service for the communities of Hannaford, Dazey and Walum was installed in 1905.  Mr. E. A. Duff was the manager for the three communities and the Hannaford exchange was located on the second story of the drug store building.  Miss Anna Nelson and Miss Cora Berg were the first telephone operators.  It was called the Central North Dakota Co-operative Telephone Company.  There were 258 names in the directory, which included 40 in Hannaford and 80 on the rural Hannaford lines.  At the beginning the lines were so busy it was decided that non-subscribers would pay 15 cents each time they used the phone to talk to a subscriber and 25 cents when they talked to a non-subscriber.  By this means they hoped the people who had telephones would get better service.  The company was owned by the people of the area as they had purchased shares when the lines were built.  In 1922 the head office of the company was moved from Dazey to Hannaford.  Mr. McGinnes was another early day manager.

In 1946 John Nilson of Nome and Harry Schnider of Buffalo purchased the "Central Electric and Telephone Company" which was under the management of Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Shaw.  Leonard was the lineman and Mrs. Shaw was in charge of the switchboard.  Mrs. Esther Weller began as switchboard operator under Mrs. Shaw in 1936.

The name was changed to Intercommunity Telephone Company, Inc., in July 1947 and Duane (Digger) Hare became the lineman for the local community.  The dial system was installed in August of 1959.  When the change-over was completed Esther Weller placed the first long distance call to her sister-in-law in Oregon.  The call was made promptly at midnight, July 31.  Trouble came shortly after the change-over when the long distance line service went out.  H. I. Anderson, Manager of Northwestern Bell came to check and found the trouble in our locality.  A duck had flown against the wire, become caught and hung itself.  (The day before opening of duck season.)

Roger Nilson and family came to make their home in Hannaford in June 1963 when Roger became lineman for the Hannaford Exchange.  He is still here in 1975 and reports the exchange will be upgraded to a one party system and it will also be the beginning of direct dialing for the community.  The work is in progress the summer of 1975.

Telephone No. 51 was placed in the bathhouse for emergencies in 1937 but misuse and destruction caused it to be removed.  There were 65 telephones in 1937-38 and 350 in 1975.
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Hannaford Ski Slide

Peder Falstad (a national skier) formerly of Devils Lake fostered the ski sport while living in Hannaford.  In 1924, the ski slide was erected on the top west bank of Bald Hill Creek.  Erection of slide was sponsored by local American Legion at a cost of $600.

Peder Falstad and Chuck Cole both affiliated in the AFC Garage in Hannaford (A is 1st letter of third partner Austad) erected the slide.

The steel Section of slide was the John J. Haugens' (pioneer farmer) windmill brought into town by Sections and put together again.  a platform was built on top and slide built on down to make the jump.

During the years several tournaments were held each year.  The tournaments drew hundreds of people to watch.  Early skiers were:  

Peder Falstad, National Skier, Hannaford, Casper Oimem, National Skier from Oslo, Norway and local participants.

During the years community participants also included:  

Marcus Bakken, Ole Kalvik, Helmer Rasmussen, Philip Schmidt, Sid and Lloyd Hareland, Otto Olson, Alf Kalvik, Gordon Olson, Oswald Kalvik, Pete Kalvik and many others.  Russell and Harry Richardson performed clown skiing.

1923:  

Peter Falstad won first among 33 contestants and also prize for longest standing jump at Fargo Ski Tournament.

1934:  

Art Bakken, Otto Olson and Alf Kalvik attended a tournament in Mayville.

In about 1936-37, a tournament was held for local people.  Ole Kalvik and his three boys took four places in their classes as follows:  

1) Men's:  

Ole Kalvik, 1st place

2) 2nd class, Alf Kalvik, 1st place

3) 3rd class, Oswald Kalvik, 1st place

4) 4th class, Pete Kalvik, 1st place.

Gordon Olson furnished this bit of tournament news - he placed 2nd in the 4th class division.

1950 ski tournament was one of the last tournaments to be held in Hannaford:  

Some recognized skiers are:  

Art Bakken, John Bakken, Alf Kalvik.  Others were from Kathryn, Devils Lake, Fordville, Oslo, Minnesota and other towns.

In 1960 the entire slide was taken down as there was no longer anyone interested in this sport.  The slide deteriorated and became a hazard for children who still liked to climb to the top.

Mervin J. Armstrong Post # 113

Markus Thorson contacted 17 WW I ex-servicemen in November 1919 and they met in his office on November 22, 1919, and applied to the State Department for a charter.  This was approved at Department headquarters in November 1919 and a charter issued at National Headquarters December 23, 1919.  The following officers were elected:

Commander - M. A. Thorson Sergeant at Arms - George Bjor

Vice-Commander - H. H. Hagen Stone

Adjutant - W. A. Eiden Chaplain - O. H. Hoffman Finance Off.  - J. B. Westley

The other members were:  

Soren Krag, Lester Moore, Alfred Swingen, Carl H. Johnson, Bert A. Olson, Peder Falstad, Otelius Aaker, Earl H. Bustrack, Nick C. Cederson, Olaf H. Stafney.  The officers held over in 1920.  The number of the Post was 113, and named after the first war fatality from Hannaford, Mervin J. Armstrong, the son of Mr. and Mrs. John Armstrong.  By the end of 1920 the membership was 32.

In 1923, construction of a ski slide was started.  The new slide was completed by January 8, 1924.

In the years following the completion of the ski slide numerous tournaments were held in Hannaford.  One tournament included a special train secured on the Great Northern from Page to Hannaford.  This train brought 103 skiers and spectators.

The Mervin J. Armstrong Post # 113 has sent at least one boy to Boys' State nearly every year since 1941.

Other activities the Legion has been involved with include improving the swimming area, Jr. Legion Baseball, Boy Scouts of America, and others.

Historian - Erick

American Legion Auxiliary

The American Legion Auxiliary, the Mervin J. Armstrong Unit #113, was organized on January 19, 1926, the first meeting being held at the First National Bank Building.  The following were charter members:  

Mrs. J. B. Armstrong, Miss Thelma Armstrong, Miss Carroll E. Cole, Mrs. Charles Cole, Mrs. W. A. Eiden, Mrs. Peter Falstad, Mrs. H. H. Hagen, Mrs. O. H. Hoffman, Mrs. F. B. Kimbell, Mrs. Soren Krag, Miss Mary Armstrong, Mrs. Sverre Rice, Mrs. Frank Schnur, Mrs. Andrew Wahl, Miss Thelma Richardson, Mrs. Amanda Larson, Mrs. B. M. Lunde, Mrs. Charles Michaelson, Mrs. O. A. Otteson, Mrs. David Palm, Mrs. Lizzie Richardson, Mrs. C. F. Wait, Miss Ellen Johnson, Mrs. O. T. Harris, Miss Erma Armstrong, Mrs. Carl Heyerdahl, Mrs. Charles Christopherson, Miss Christine Johnson, Mrs. Frank Carmon.

The following officers were elected at this first meeting:  

President:  Mrs. Soren Krag

Vice President:  Mrs. O. H. Hoffman

Secretary:  Mrs. C. F. Wait

Treasurer:  Mrs. H. H. Hagen.

Throughout the years, the American Legion Auxiliary has assisted the Legion whenever possible.  Annual bazaars have been held to raise money for the various projects sponsored by the auxiliary.  Two of the main projects, are child welfare and Girls' State.  Besides an assigned child, who at present is a son of a North Dakota soldier killed in Vietnam, two Grafton children are sponsored along with any others needing assistance.

The auxiliary meets regularly at the Legion Hall, and at present, there are approximately 100 members, which includes Junior members.

American Legion Junior Auxiliary

The American Legion Junior Auxiliary became active in September 1972 with 16 members.  Mrs. BerLyle Lunn and Mrs. Maynard Haugen were chosen by Mrs. John Bakken, President of Auxiliary, to be co-chairmen.  Mrs. Bakken also helped with all meetings the first year.  The first full slate of officers were as follows:  

President:  Connie Johnson

Vice-President:  Vicki Everson

Secretary- Treasurer:  Karla Haugen

Historian:  Kaye Haugen

Chaplain:  Julie Eslinger

Sergeant  -at- Arms:  Cindy Clemens.

Membership in 1975 is 27 members.  A girl for Girls' State was sponsored by the Juniors in 1975.

Julie Eslinger is our present president, Becky Everson is our vice-president and Connie Eslinger is our chaplain, while the others are the same.

Parks and Recreation

The ol' Swimming hole below the hills on the east end of town in the valley of the Bald Hill Creek (a gift of nature) has been the "highlight" of almost every child and adult of Hannaford and community.  Before the flash flood of 1921, the creek had 2 channels and 2 bridges and at that time the Swimming pool was on the north side of the bridge.  the flood changed the two channel creek into one channel and eliminating one bridge.  The south side of bridge then became the site of the swimming hole.  Early residents tell that at one time the men and women were segregated, the men swimming on north side of bridge and women on south side.  The women soon became tired of this as who do you suppose was stuck with the children?  The women; so being the south pool was best for swimming the men gradually joined the women and it thus became the pool as it is today in 1975.  Community organizations and residents sponsor the upkeep and along with the summer youth program a swimming instructor is provided.  Annual water carnivals were held some years ago.  Bathing houses and diving boards were put up in 1926.

Baseball is provided each summer through the recreation program.

Basketball through the school program.

A golf course was maintained at one time one mile north of town on old Highway North Dakota 1.

Before the drought a tourist park existed on north end of town, with picnic facilities, apple trees provided after dark treats for the kids!

A park was started also at the pool site but the dry years prevented the growth of trees and few trees remain today.

The present park sponsored by the Park Board sits in the center of town west of the Northern Pacific track is equipped with a playground and picnic tables.

During the winter months, the great hills and the creek have provided skating and skiing.  in later years a town rink was provided.  The "one time" ski slide was an attraction for skiers and watchers.

The Hannaford P. T. A. (Parent-Teacher's Association) was organized March 10, 1922.  The first officers were:  

President  - Reverend George Natwick, Vice-President  - Mrs. C. P. Schmidt, Secretary - Inga Olson, Treasurer  - Mrs. R. L. Jones.

In 1924 the Hannaford P. T. A. was affiliated with the North Dakota State P. T. A. organization.  In April 1966 the P. T. A. voted to become the P. T. O. and severed their affiliation with the state and national organization.

P. T. O. now meets 4 times a year (October, November, March, April).  All parents and teachers are considered members.  The 1975 P. T. O. officers are:  

President  - Murray Haugen, Vice-President  - Mrs. Oscar Stockeland, Secretary - Mrs. Roland Johnson, Treasurer  - Mrs. Ronald Berge.

HENRY HARRIS

Henry (Hank) Harris, Proprietor and owner in front of Standard Oil Station pumps.  Hank purchased the Station from An Johnston.  In the background and to the right is the huge gasoline tank from which Hank pumped gasoline by hand into a smaller tank.  Early morning risers would see Hank pumping hard for his day's supply at the station.  Before Hank purchased the station, he was a bulk agent for same company, using a team of horses to haul gas to various places until the gasoline trucks took over the horse-power.  Hank came to Hannaford in 1916.  Henry was an outstanding man both in personality, business, and size.  He died in April 1975.

Elgar Paulson purchased the Standard Station from Hank, December 1, 1967.  Hank was a Standard dealer for 47 years, 18 years as bulk dealer and 29 years as a station operator.

B. Marvin Ouren began working for Standard Oil as Bulk agent in Hannaford in 1942, and retired after 25(plus) years in the summer of 1968.  For a short time during those years, he had two gas trucks operating.  In the winter seasons, along with his oil truck work, he also repaired furnaces after taking a course of instruction in it.  He was active in community affairs, serving as mayor of the town for many years.  He and his wife Lillian now live in Reno, Nevada.
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ALMKLOV

Olaf Almklov was born November 31, 1882 in Norway and came to the United States as a young man with his brother Andrew.  Olaf was a graduate of the University of Oslo.  He attended the Drew School of Pharmacy in Minneapolis graduating about 1906.  This was about the same time as his cousin Dr. L. A. Almklov attended medical school.  He was employed at Portal and Minot, North Dakota until September 1905 when he came to the Hannaford drug store.  He bought the drug store a short time later.  During the flu epidemic of 1918, Ole worked at the Almklov drug store in Cooperstown.  during World War II, on the west coast.  After he returned to North Dakota he was employed as a pharmacist at Almklov drug in Cooperstown until his retirement.

In 1911 Olaf married Rose Hoiby.  She was born at Osakis, Minnesota April 2, 1887.  She taught school at Dickinson and Hannaford before her marriage.  When she stepped off the train at Hannaford for the first time, the desolate prairie was a fearful thing.  She carried a small pistol with her at all times while teaching.  She married Olaf in Moorhead, Minnesota.  they made their home in Hannaford.  Rose Almklov died December 17, 1966.  Olaf Almklov died May 1969.  They are survived by two children:  

1. Mark of Hannaford and Audrey of Lisbon, North Dakota

Mark married Lou Randall of Foley, Minnesota November 24, 1951.  She had two children from a previous marriage:  

Nancy Randall born March 16, 1946 and James (Murky) Randall born February 28, 1949.  Nancy is married to Michael Hook.  they have two children:  

Lisa Alvern born April 30, 1966 and Linda Lu born July 31, 1968.  They reside in Hannaford.  James (Murky) Randall died, at age eighteen, in a car-train accident at Hannaford in 1967.

Mark and Lou Almklov have two sons.  Reginald, born in 1952 is serving his fifth year in the United States Army at Camp Roberts, California.  Marc, born in 1953, will begin his junior year at Valley City State College, majoring in Bio-Chemistry.

Mark was bulk-agent for Mobil Oil Company for 6 years, then agent for the Farmers Oil Company at Cooperstown for 21 years.  This is his present employer.  The company has changed over to Farmland products and at this time are building a bulk-station on the site of the Olson black-smith shop in Hannaford.  It will be completed this summer of 1975.
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ASHER ANDERSON

Asher Anderson was born in Lakes Mills, Iowa, January 21, 1883, in a family of three boys and one girl: 

1. Addie

2. Alfred, also known as A. O. 

3. Asher

4. Andrew  

They came to Hannaford separately over several years.  Alfred came first.  When he got a position as cashier in the First National Bank he sent for his brothers and his mother.  Their father had died when they were all in school from lung congestion.  Addie, the only girl and the oldest child had married and was settled in Lakes Mills.

Asher's first job was running a meat wagon for Walt Richardson in harvest time.  He went from crew to crew selling meat.  When he was out of meat he would buy a critter, have it butchered and go on to the next place.

His next venture was with Christ Reite in the Anderson-Reite Company in 1905.  It was supposed to be a furniture store.  everyone had one of those.  But according to their ads in the Hannaford Enterprise, they handled the Hero Fanning Mill and many other farm related items.  Before too long, they sold stock and reorganized their company and called it the Hannaford Mercantile Company They expanded their operation and handled everything from "soup to nuts".  McCormack binders, Dowajiac shoe drills, Hero Fanning Mills, P & O Canton plows, Studebaker buggies, Hart Parr tractors and wonder of wonders, a self-feeder for grain separators called the Ruth feeder.

When the Anderson family came to Hannaford they were not alone.  Henry and Tom Swingen and Ed Savre came from the same part of Iowa.  The Andersons and Savres were cousins.  The Brunsvolds were another cousin of the family.

In March 1908 Christ Reite sold his share in the machinery division of the Hannaford Mercantile Company to Ed Savre.  They dealt in farm machinery, threshers, and real estate.  Ed Savre sold his share to Anderson-Sinclair Company in 1909.

A. O. Anderson went to Seattle but returned in about 6 months.  He had diabetes and went to a clinic in Michigan for treatment.  He returned in 1909 and helped organize the Citizens State Bank of which he was Vice President and Cashier.  A. O. married Sadie Sinclair and they had two sons, Greg and Keith.  Sadie was the daughter of Daniel Sinclair.

In February 1909 Asher and his brother Andrew organized the Anderson Brothers Company featuring the new Kentucky grain drills, Emerson grain cleaners, Corn King manure spreaders and the fanciest of buggies.  Andrew left his brother's business later and went to farming on a farm the brothers made a down payment on for their mother.  This farm was in Helena Township, the NE quarter of Section 20-145-60.  Andrew married Elsie Sanden of Luverne and they had two sons, Dean Anderson now of Valley City and Maurice of Lake Park, Minnesota.

W. D. Sinclair and George Knauss were in business featuring the Rambler automobiles.  They had a demonstrator on hand, but they sold cars from a catalog.  Young men had come to a new territory to make their way.  People were building a home and place for themselves.  They were young and tried their hand at everything.  Times were hard, but it did not take too much money to start farming or business.

Asher went on a trip in 1908 to Curtiss, Wisconsin.  When he returned he brought with him a bride, Clara Peterson, who had been teaching school in the Happy Hollow School southeast of Walum and at schools southwest of Dazey.  Mrs. Anderson died in 1921.  Three children were born to them:  

Gerald, Wayne and Kent.  Wayne works for the government in Yakima, Washington and Kent has a paint ana glass store in Sidney, Montana.  Gerald was in business with his father.  He married Ruth Olson in 1932.  They have three sons

Jerry, who has his own engineering company in San Diego, California, Richard is an engineer in Colorado Springs, Colorado and James is in business with his father in Hannaford.

The Anderson- Sinclair partnership lasted several years until Sinclair was appointed postmaster in 1919.  After the crash of 1929, things were at a standstill, but Asher used the experience he had gained in trading to make a living during those lean years.  He became an auctioneer and he was a good country auctioneer.  He started as an auctioneer with Frank Paulson as partner, but Frank had too many other interests.  Asher and Harry Kolpin then formed a partnership, which lasted until they both retired.

In the W. P. A. days things were slow, but Asher was a trader.  He had good teachers - the itinerant horse traders and wandering gypsies had taught him well.  Some of the farmers' wives did not like to see Asher come on the farm.  They were afraid he might trade their "old man" out of the kitchen stove.  Asher and his son Gerald were together during the middle -30's.  "Gerald bought cream, eggs and chickens.  Asher bought hides, jackrabbits, and furs.  They sold a few mower repairs and buck rakes.  Gerald was gone in 1938-39.  In 1940 they went together and took on the Minneapolis -Moline line and in 1946 they built the building, which Gerald uses for his laundromat and hardware store.  Gerald and his son, Jim, sell hardware, sporting goods, electrical goods, and lawn and garden products in the Anderson Hardware now in 1975.

Asher passed away May 7, 1955, but he was still making trades when he died.
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GERALD ANDERSON

His business years from 1930 until now in 1975 and also additions of proprietors on his property.

The early 1930's were tough years for everyone.  Hannaford had two disastrous fires in the late 1920's.  The sidewalks on Main Street were broken up.  Business was practically nil.  Asher had two Minneapolis combines that had been repossessed.  My brother Wayne, Roy Richardson and I operated these combines in the fall for a few years.  Crops were short and the weeds were high.  I remember combining wheat that made 4 bushels per acre.  We would combine during the day and fix rattles and chains at night.

At this time Carl Brudwick had a cream station next to Sinclair's post office and the restaurant.  He got another job and I bought him out.  I bought cream, eggs, and poultry.  In the late fall Peterson- Biddick from Jamestown would send a turkey truck out and we would go from farm to farm buying turkeys.  Our machine business consisted of repairs for Moline Monitor drills, McCormick and John Deere mower parts and what was called back-rakes for gathering hay.  These consisted of a set of 9-foot wooden teeth bolted to a simple frame with a single-tree on each side to hook a horse to.  The hay was brought up to an over-shot stacker that was the height of efficiency.  A team of horses hooked to a rope pulled the hay up on a slide and dumped it on the stack.  One or two men were in the stack to level out the hay.  Most farmers were very fussy about the way the hay was laid in the stack.

Our old shop was in pretty bad shape.  The front windows were broken and the floor sagged.  But after the Sinclair building burned, part of my cream station burned also.  So I moved my equipment back to the old store and went together with Asher.  We still bought cream, eggs, and poultry.  And sold a few repairs, a monitor drill once in a while, we sold seed corn and we owned the L. B. Moore Blacksmith shop, where we set up a seed cleaning plant.  We scarified and cleaned alfalfa and sweet clover seed.  We sold seed corn, millet, sudan grass and a full line of Oscar H. Wills garden seed.  Asher was the country salesman.  He traded sheep bucks and anything the farmer wanted.

In between times Asher had a few auction sales.  And in 1940 we took on the full line of Minneapolis- Moline line of machinery.  He sold the first Minneapolis "U" tractor to Christenson Brothers of Rogers.  Beginning with the better crops and fair prices for farm goods, we prospered and in 1946 we built the building I now have.  In 1947, before the building was entirely completed we had a Minneapolis- Moline show and a State Mill & Elevator pancake feed that was well attended and greatly enjoyed by everyone.  All I remember for sure is, we used over 5 gallons of syrup.  In the fall of the year for three years we had a seed demonstration sponsored by Northrup King & Company Charles Palm always won the seed corn display with a circular arrangement of Rainbow flint corn.

After 1948 we sold Zenith radios and wonder of wonders Zenith TVs.  Zenith allowed each dealer to demonstrate a 27" console T. V. for a month.  It was quite a conversation piece.  And Minneapolis- Moline sent out the first tractor with a factory built cab.

O. A. Otteson closed his restaurant and drug store in the 30's and after the fire that took Aarestad Brothers & Troseth Hardware.  Paul Troseth opened his hardware store next to us.  In the early 40's my sons opened a small restaurant in our old office building.  This changed hands several times.  Martin and Borghild Haugen operated it at one time.  Then when a bowling alley was proposed for Hannaford we got Eslingers to demolish the building for the lumber and a little cash.  The lots were sold to the Stri-King Lanes Corp. for a bowling lanes.  About this time I went out of the implement business and put in the Automatic Laundry.
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MR. AND MRS. PAUL A. ANDERSON

Paul A. Anderson was born in Biri, Norway on December 17, 1882, the youngest of a family of five boys and two girls.  His parents were Johannes and Pernilla Anderson.  Paul was only 11/2 years old when the family emigrated to America in the spring of 1884.  The first years of his life were spent on the old Feiring farm near Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin.  Later he came with his family to his brother Andrew's farm south of Sutton, North Dakota.  At one time his brother Andrew was the largest farm operator in that part of the county.  Before the railroad came to Sutton in 1912, Andrew also had a country store and was postmaster at the end of the star route from Hannaford.  Paul's brother Ole stayed in Wisconsin on the Feiring farm, Peter J. was a teacher, and Ingvald, I. A. Kampen, came to Griggs County with the family.  Paul took his high school work at the Loftfield School in Minneapolis and attended the University of Minnesota for two years.  Earlier he had attended district school near Sutton.

In 1905 Paul came to Hannaford to work in the Hannaford Enterprise with his brother I. A. Kampen.  A few years later Mr. Kampen sold his interest to George C. Epler, who was married to Ella Jackson, daughter of Claus Jackson.  In 1913 Paul became the sole owner of the Enterprise and spent the rest of his life in Hannaford in the publishing and job printing business.  Also in 1913 Paul was married to Emelia Dunnum on June 19.

Emelia Dunnum was born January 1, 1885 at Lanesboro, Minnesota to Edward and Martha Dunnum.  Her parents had come from Norway and her father was a mail carrier.  She had two sisters and two brothers, Ingwald and C. O.  C. O. worked for the Larson Company in Cooperstown and his wife was a dressmaker.  In 1902 Emelia came to Cooperstown to work for her brother and his wife and when they moved to Hannaford in 1909 she moved with them.  C. O. worked in the Hannaford Mercantile for Bill Lunde and O. M. Westley.  While working for her brother and his wife she also worked for the telephone company, particularly at night.  At that time the telephone office was upstairs over the Almklov drug store.

After Paul and Emelia were married, Emelia worked with her husband in the Enterprise.  Paul died July 12, 1928, but Emelia continued in the newspaper office until 1935 when the newspaper was sold.  I. A. Kampan came back to Hannaford to run the newspaper after his brother's death.  Emelia took in boarders until 1943 when she went to work for the telephone company under Mrs. William Weller.  Paul and Emelia had lived downstairs in Miss Kaas's home and she continued living there until 1950 when she moved to the rooms behind the telephone office.  Emelia lived and worked there until 1959 when the telephone system switched to the dial phones.  From 1959 until 1973 Emelia and Mrs. Henry Swingen, who was also a widow, made their home together.  Since that time, she has made her home with Miss Mary Larson and there she celebrated her 90th birthday, January 1, 1975.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Anderson were members of the Hannaford Lutheran Church.  Mrs. Anderson was a Sunday School teacher and superintendent for many years.  She served many years as treasurer of the Ladies Aid and also served as president and in other offices.  From 1929 until 1955 she was clerk of the Hannaford Board of Education.
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THE WILLIAM ANGUS FAMILY

My father and mother, William Angus and Maud Campbell Angus, lived in Hannaford, Griggs County, North Dakota from 1912 until my father's death in 1950.  They moved with their family to Hannaford from Staples, Minnesota, (Todd County).  the last of a number of Minnesota communities in which my father had served as Superintendent of Schools.  Their family consisted of three children:  

Alice (myself), Dorothy and Robert, whose ages at that time were nine, 6, and 2 years.  In Hannaford, my father was the cashier of the Farmer's State Bank, in which he had bought out the controlling interest from his predecessor.  The bank was closed along with hundreds of others during the 1926 agricultural depression, after which my father supported his family by selling insurance and real estate, preparing income tax returns, drawing up sales agreements and various other kinds of business documents.

William Angus was a first generation American born in 1867 in a log cabin on a farm near Garfield, Douglas County, Minnesota.  His father, Robert Angus, was born in Perth, Scotland and came to New York City in the 1860's with his four brothers.  There they all separated, each going to a different part of the United States.  Robert, my grandfather, went to Minnesota, where he took out a homestead.  He married Elsie Andrus, the daughter of another homesteader who had brought his family from Pennsylvania to Minnesota by horse and wagon.  As a child in Scotland, Robert Angus had received an elementary education in the Three R's by attending classes held in the Presbyterian Church.  After his marriage, he spent much of his time teaching children in a one-room country schoolhouse, leaving most of the farm management and work to his wife and the hired help.  In any case, my father finished country school and since there was no high school then in Garfield, the nearest town, my grandmother took him by horse and wagon to Alexandria, the county seat, making the return trip twice daily, a distance of some 8 miles each way.  After graduating from the Alexandria High School, my father went to Minneapolis, where he enrolled at the University of Minnesota in 1889.  He remained there seven years, during which he supported himself entirely by his own efforts, selling newspapers on the streets of Minneapolis, working as night janitor with "sleep-in" privileges, and performing various odd jobs.  Toward the end of this period, he also tutored private classes and taught summer school.  He graduated from the Liberal Arts College with an A. B. degree in 1893 and from the University Law School, with an LlB in 1896, being admitted to practice law that same year.  Instead, he accepted the position of Superintendent of Schools in Warren, Marshall County, Minnesota, where he later met and married my mother.

Maud Campbell Angus, also of Scottish descent, came from a family with a long background in the United States, some members having fought in the Revolution.  Her father, Joseph Campbell, was born in Machiasport, Maine.  went to medical school in Chicago, where he obtained the M. D. degree.  settled in Melrose, Stearn County, Minnesota, where he practiced medicine for more than 50 years.  In Melrose, he married Alice Steward, the daughter of a nearby farmer.  They had eight children, of which my mother was the eldest.  Since Melrose at that time offered only two years of high school, my mother was sent for two years to Hamlin College, St. Paul, where she graduated from high school.  after that she attended St. Cloud Normal School for two years, obtaining a teaching certificate for the elementary grades.  Her first teaching position was in Warren, Minnesota, where she met my father.  They were married in 1902.

One of my early childhood memories concerns our trip from Staples, Minnesota to Hannaford, which we made during the hot summer months.  My father arrived there several weeks in advance, traveling in a boxcar with the family horse, Dexter, and the furniture.  My mother and we three children went by train from Staples to Fargo, where we spent the night, my first overnight stay in a hotel.  We then took the Great Northern local train from Fargo to Hannaford, and moved into a bungalow on the west edge of town, which my father had bought from the previous cashier.

Life in Hannaford in the early days had a number of pioneer aspects.  The house that we moved into had only one bedroom, plus an attic.  A coal-burning stove in the dining room provided the only heat.  But the greatest difference between it and houses we had lived in up to that time was the lack of a bathroom.  Water came from a cistern and it had to be used sparingly at all times.  As children, we took our weekly baths in a washtub in the kitchen, being careful to save the water in summer to put on the plants outdoors.  The toilet was also outdoors.

Some five years later when Hannaford, in the wheat-growing country, was prospering from the war in Europe, my family built a new house on an adjoining lot.  The new house had a bathroom, but the water still came from a cistern and there was seldom enough of it.  We carried water upstairs by the pail-ful for our baths and we installed a sanitary toilet indoors, in the basement.  My father and our near neighbor, Mr. Richardson, hired a well-digging rig and spent considerable money trying to get a well into operation between their two properties, but they were unsuccessful.  The cistern water was not safe for drinking, so my father during all of his years in Hannaford carried all of our drinking water home by the pail-ful from the town pump located near the end of main street.

Our horse, Dexter, that we had brought with us from Minnesota, died during our second or third summer in Hannaford.  He had been put to pasture east of Bald Hill Creek, jumped the fence, and (we were told) died from eating too much un-ripened grain.  I used to ride him bareback to visit my best friends, Dorothy and Phyllis Schmidt, who lived at the other end of town.  My sister also rode Dexter to visit Myrtle Westley, who lived near the Schmidt family and whose father worked in the bank.  After the horse died, my family acquired its first automobile, a two-seated Ford, open to the wind and sun, but with detachable "isin-glass" windows that could be fastened on when it rained.  Getting the car was the start of our annual pilgrimages to Minnesota, which usually occupied about a month of our summer vacation.  We would start out early one morning and spend all day driving over unpaved, dirt roads to Fargo where we spent the night with my mother's sister.  On the second day we would manage to get to Garfield.

Not surprisingly in view of his background and origins, the field of education continued to be one of my father's major, continuing interests.  In Hannaford, he served on the School Board more or less permanently, and most of the time as its President.  He spent much thought and effort trying to get well-qualified teachers, supported school projects, and worked to improve standards.  He arranged for a traveling library from the State Library at Bismarck, which sent periodic shipments in large quantities, housed at the bank, so that both adults and children could take them out on loan without charge.  My father himself was a "born teacher".  he not only had a great fund of knowledge, but also great patience and skill in imparting it to young people.  While I was attending Hannaford High School, he held early morning classes in 3rd and 4th year Latin (not taught in the H. S. but necessary to enter college), giving instruction in Virgil and Cicero to Bertha Wilson, the Presbyterian minister's daughter and to me.  These classes enabled me to complete High School in three years, pass the State Board examinations, and enter college at an earlier age.  My brother Robert benefited greatly from my father's instruction at home, achieving a high degree of proficiency in mathematics and completing high school at age 14.

During summer vacation, we went swimming nearly every day in Bald Hill Creek, where boys and girls ad separate swimming-holes.  At that time they were really "holes," as the cows also used them, and we had to spend time after each swim pulling off the leeches.  We used to take long walks exploring the big rocks on the hills east of the creek, and in the late fall we had weiner roasts with bonfires in the corn fields after harvest was finished.  Probably our most important daily event during the summer months was to go to the Great Northern Railway depot about 9 PM to meet the cross-country train, the Orient Express, which traveled to the west coast via Hannaford and Minot, over the Surrey Cut-off.  The train itself, which at that time stopped in Hannaford for water and occasional passengers, excited us with its brightly- lighted parlor cars, busy mail cars, and long Pullmans, a glimpse of another world.  But for us children, the biggest attraction was the dining-car (sometimes there were two), in which the waiter had by that hour practically finished serving dinner and would come to the open doors to talk to us, more often than not giving us hand-outs of pie and other goodies.

Life in those days also had its sober side, centered around the Presbyterian Church.  My father, a strict Presbyterian, attended church twice on Sunday as well as the weekly prayer meetings.  my mother taught Sunday School, which we attended.  The rest of the day we usually had to remain in the house and couldn't go out to play.

After my father's death in 1950, my mother moved to Minneapolis, then to Virginia, where she died in 1961.  My brother died in 1965.  My sister has lived in Oregon with her husband since the 1930s.  they have 4 children and 10 grandchildren.  The major part of my adult life has been spent in Washington, working for the Federal Government, from which I am now retired.  My husband, Stuart Morrison, died in 1973.
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ELINDER ANTONSEN HISTORY

Elinder and Anna Antonsen came to Hannaford in 1907 from Sweden.  They located on Anna's uncle's farm about one mile east of Hannaford in Greenfield Township.  This farm belonged to John Brekke.  They rented the place for a few years, but later purchased the farm.  They lived here until 1928, when they moved to Plentywood, Montana where Elinder worked as a Carpenter.

During this stay on the farm four children were born, three boys and one daughter.

They are:  

1. Erick, now living in Plentywood, Montana

2. Eugene is living in Boise, Idaho

3. and LeRoy in Wolf Paint, Montana.  Their daughter, Mrs. Mae Stone, is living in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  

Anna Antonsen passed away in April 1973, but Elinder Antonsen is still living in Plentywood, Montana.
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ARBUCKLE FAMILY

Raymond Arbuckle married Jeanette Richardson December 2, 1950.  They have four children:  

Jerome, Thomas, Donald and Patti, all graduates of Hannaford High School.  They live in the former Frank Paulson house.  Raymond owns and operates a Barber and Beauty shop.  Jeanette is our Postmaster.
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OSCAR ASHLAND

Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Ashland came to Hannaford November 27, 1919 and lived in the house then owned by Malena Aasen later known as the elevator house.  In 1920 they bought a 14-room home formerly used as a hotel and rooming house.

Oscar worked in the signal tower - Section and coal chute for 20 years.  He was known as the handy fix it man around town by all ages, and Margaret was known for her seamstress work and cutting hair on Saturdays.

One incident many may remember was when there was a dangerous ice jam down by the Great Northern powerhouse and Oscar was hired to dynamite this.  He crawled out on the top of this to set off the dynamite with ropes around his waist to aid the men in pulling him back to safety when it exploded.  Several who witnessed this said he was in danger getting back to the bank before it went off - time was running short.

In 1945 they bought the Omund Westley home where they yet reside.
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RALPH BAILEY

Ralph Bailey took over as agent for the Great Northern Railroad in March of 1948.  In June, his wife moved from Ayr where she had been teaching.

On June 30, 1949, their oldest daughter, Pamela, was born in Valley City.  They have another daughter, Penny, born March 18, 1952.  Both children were baptized in the Hannaford Lutheran Church by Reverend Roy Gilbertson.  Pamela attended first grade in Hannaford with Mrs. Loge as her teacher.

Ralph held the agent's job for nine years before transferring to Minot in 1956.  Ralph commuted to Hannaford and worked as agent, living in the old depot for three years after that (1958-1960).

Lester Larson, Section Foreman and Ralph Bailey, Depot Agent - 1959.
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MARKUS BAKKEN

Life for the Markus Bakken family began in Hannaford in the early 1900's coming from his native land, Norway and met Anna Sabbe, of Bergen, Norway who at this time was the gourmet chef of the famous Hannaford Hotel.  Markus worked as a carpenter and constructed many homes and buildings in the area.  He worked much of the time with Oscar Ouren.  The lives of others were often improved by his interest and assistance in community projects and he was very active in city government.  Throughout the years he was deputy policeman and fireman.  Many hours of pleasure were enjoyed by the community from the ski slide and slope, which he instigated and helped construct along with the help of Rasmussens and others.  He was an ace jumper himself and many tournaments were promoted in Hannaford.  He taught Arthur and other boys the art of jumping also and participated in tournaments here and many other cities as well.  All the while Mother Bakken sat home worrying and praying.  Fishing and hunting were his pleasures and Arthur and John enjoyed these with him.  Of course don't forget J. B. 's Pool Room.  Markus was a sharpy at cards.  Anna and Markus were naturalized citizens.  He gave much enthusiasm for life to his four children:  

Arthur (1912), Myrtle (1914), Thelma (1916), and then came the ever-lovable "Bucky Boy,” John Allen in 1929 who participated in all athletic activities at Hannaford High School.  After four years in the United States Air Force, with one year in Japan, he attended North Dakota State University and graduated from Moorhead State College.  John settled in Hannaford to teach and coach and is currently here enjoying the hunting and fishing.  Judy, his- wife, has been active in the community and with American Legion Auxiliary work.

Thel, the chubby, mischievous, twinkle eyed, (Markus' pet) was active in sports, basketball and cheerleading.  (Remember those half time performances in the 1930's through '34).  And what about those swim meets in the old creek.  (Mother designed her first suit from Dad's old underwear, - at least it covered).  Growing up with "Ingy" as her buddy for many years and pal Mabel are not forgotten.  Thelma now resides in Pennsylvania after a varied career in hairdressing, hospital service and 10 years as city clerk in Florida.  Two children:  

Mark and Fay, reside in Geneva, New York.

Myrt, always studious and intellectually busy, and with a quiet humor attended college in Valley City and spent a few years teaching before Claude convinced her he needed her to tend his turkeys on the farm near Walum.  Myrtle was also substitute Post Mistress in Walum and very active in church projects.  Their two children, Carol of San Juan Capistrano, California and Claudia of Luverne are both married.

Arthur, a strong athlete was successful in basketball, swimming and diving, ski jumping and baseball as a catcher, and played along with the great pitcher Tunney Schmidt.  After Graduation in 1930 he took up carpentry.  He moved to Crookston, Minnesota with his devoted wife Lena, where two boys were raised.  (Ronald of Sacramento, California and David of Clinton, Minnesota)  Art worked for Ziegler Caterpillar Company of Crookston for nearly 30 years of his life, which ended in September of 1974.  Lena now resides in Clinton, Minnesota

Markus ended his career in Hannaford as one of the most able maintenance men of the Hannaford Schools.  He just didn't make the last fishing trip and slept away on July 26, 1958 at 71 years of age.  His wife Anna preceded him and passed away on November 5, 1957 at 75.  She had spent her life doing good and caring for others.  Guess everyone remembers how thunderstorms frightened her.  She even hid in the basement of Art Johnston's service station once.  Now that's all there is and as the song goes - H. H. S. we love the Hannaford High.  It was a great life.
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ANDREW BENSON

Andrew Benson, son of Andreas and Johanna Benson was born 1865 in Iowa.  His parents came from Norway and settled in Decorah, Iowa before coming by covered wagon to his territory where they homesteaded near Cooperstown, North Dakota

Andrew married Helena Bustrack in 1892 and lived in Griggs County until they left in 1907 for Ellensburg, Washington with their children:  

Harvey, Lillian, Nora, and George.  There he contacted typhoid fever and died a young man at the age of 42.  His wife and four children came back to the Hannaford area and worked in Bartley Township and other places.

In December of 1913 Mrs. Andrew Benson and family departed for Zurich, Montana near which place she was to take a claim.  Harvey came back to North Dakota when his mother settled on the homestead near Harlem, Montana.

In 1915 Harvey Benson married Mabel Larson, daughter of Peter and Dora Larson from Baldhill Township.  Twins, Arvid and Dorothy, were born to them while on the parent's farm.  In the fall of 1916 Harvey moved his family to Hannaford where he started working for the Great Northern Railroad.  He worked in the tower there most of the time and worked for the railroad until his death at the age of 47.

In 1936 he started a chicken hatchery, which his wife and sons, Arvid and Homer continued to operate.

The family, nine children, were born in Hannaford, except the two oldest, and grew up there.

Arvid Benson married Patricia Durbahn and lives in Moorhead, Minnesota, where he is in business.  They have three children:  

Cheryl, Michael, and Kimberly.

Dorothy Benson married Russell Wahl and lives in Bartley Township where they farm.  They have five children:  

John, Margaret, Cynthia, Rebecca, and Richard.

Geraldine Benson married Alph Westley and they live in Plaistou, New Hampshire.  They have three children:  

Geradee, Grieg, and Brandon.

Homer Benson married Helen Nelson from Binford and they live on his grandparents farm in Baldhill Township.  He is a mail carrier from Hannaford.  They have two children:  

Karen and Harvey.  Harvey is in the furniture business in Cooperstown.

Richard Benson lives in Kalamazoo, Michigan and has two children:  

Brent and Linda.

Mary Benson married Harry Hiebert and lives in Great Falls, Montana.  They have four children:

 Pamela, Randall, James, and Gregg.

Ruth Benson married Ronald Berge and they live near Dazey, North Dakota on a farm and have six children.  They are:  

1. Debra, Ronald, Rhonda, Kathryn, Elizabeth, and Daniel.

George Lloyd, died in infancy and Richard's twin, Robert, died when he was seven years old.

Mabel Benson continues to reside in Hannaford.
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GEORGE BJOR

George Bjor came to Hannaford in 1916.  George operated the Barber Shop at the Nording Hotel.  He married Nora Moren in 1919

Nora came to Hannaford from Minnesota in 1918.  Nora was employed at the Nording Hotel as waitress.

George and Nora had five children:  

Johnnie, who passed away at 5 years of age.  Pearl Lucille, who married John Grover and lives at Hannaford.  Sara Caroline, who married Selmer Fliflet and lives at Hannaford.  John Monroe, who married Helen Christopherson and lives at Anchorage, Alaska.  Mary Ann, who married Gil Haugen and lives in Hannaford.

George Bjor was a World War I Veteran.
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MABEL BOE

The first impression of Hannaford that Mabel Boe, nee Ronnie, had was a memorable one.  It was Easter time, 1910.  Arriving from Wisconsin, along with her sister Betsy (Later Mrs. C. B. Kjelgaard), attired in the finest spring fashions from LaCrosse millinery and dress shops, she stepped from the train into a howling blizzard!  That Easter storm was enough to prompt most "Easterners" to purchase a return trip ticket at once.  But Mabel Ronnie was determined and she adopted the bustling prairie village as her new home.

Employed by the Nordeng and Alm Hotel, Mabel grew to like the community and its people.  Frequently she looked from windows of the hotel across the small ravine and admired the neat house on the hill overlooking Bald Hill Creek.  This was considered to be the first house in Hannaford and was known as the Groven house for its owners.  The spacious lot was carefully landscaped and completely surrounded by a double row of trees and a hedge of caragana.  Board sidewalks led from the gate to the front and side porches.  Mabel envied the people who lived there, not dreaming that that house was to become a big part of her life, her own home for more than half a century.

On August 2, 1911, Mabel married Swen Boe.  He was son of Nicholai Boe of Cooperstown and was then a grocery clerk at the Hannaford Mercantile Store.  He later was a traveling salesman for a wholesale grocery company and later an automobile dealer.  As a mechanical designer he invented and patented such things as a new type of road grader, an early camper-trailer, and several auto accessories.  He passed away suddenly in California in 1968.

It was in 1917, after an interim of farming near Hannaford and Dazey that Mabel and Swen moved back into town and into the Groven house.  Seven children were born to this couple.  All are still living.  They are:

1. Norman, a retired United States Meat Inspector, lives with his wife Martha in St. Paul, Minnesota They have two children.  

2. Junice (Mrs. Robert Garross) an employee of Boeing Aircraft, lives in Seattle.  She is a widow and has two children.  

3. Selmer, known as Sam, has four children and lives with his wife Jean in Fort Worth, Texas where he is a school custodian after many years of doing construction work.  

4. Myrtle lives in Saratoga, California with her husband H. Sterling Gladwin, a retired scientific engineer.  

5. Orvil, retired from the United States Army, lives in Tacoma, Washington with his wife Muriel.  

6. Eldred, retired after a career in grocery store management, lives with his wife Theresa in Seattle, Washington.  They have four children.  

7. Eldora married Russell Christianson and lives in Jamestown, North Dakota where he is supervisor for the United States Soil Conservation Service.  They have five children and Eldora is employed by Sears Roebuck.

In 1969, after more than a half-century in Hannaford, Mom Boe moved to Jamestown and resides at the Central Dakota Nursing Home.  No longer does she fire a big iron kitchen range or "cook" coffee, but she has time now for her more artistic talents.  She designs and makes ceramic items, afghans, and dolls, which are much in demand for gift-giving.  The weathered old house on a hill overlooking Bald Hill Creek now has its doors locked and its windows boarded, but it will never be vacant as it is forever filled with memories.
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JOHN BREKKE

John Brekke came to Valley City in 1882, from Wisconsin.  He came to Hannaford a year later, starting a hotel and livery bam.

About 10 years later he sold his interests in Hannaford and moved out to his farm about two miles east in Greenfield Township.  He lived on the farm until he passed away in 1918.  He was never married.

During the time he was on the farm he rented the place to Elinder and Anna Antonsen, who came from Sweden in 1907.  Mr. Brekke was Anna's uncle.  They later purchased the farm from Mr. Brekke, but he continued to live with them until his death.
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A. C. BROWN FAMILY

Arthur C. Brown was born to Mary and Omer Brown at Clinton, Iowa on May 23, 1898.  His father had a furniture store in partnership with a brother.  A fire wiped out the business and all their records were burned so they collected no insurance.  From there they moved to Albert Lea, Minnesota where they operated a mattress factory, sewing the mattresses by hand.  They later moved to Walters, Minnesota, where they had a drug store and a general merchandise business.  A. C. 's father wanted him to take over the store but his mother wanted him to go on and get more schooling.  A. C. attended Mankato Commercial College, Mankato, Minnesota and the University of Minnesota.  A. C. recalled his father purchasing a 1914 Ford 4 door sedan for $550.00.  Ford had agreed to refund $50.00 if a certain number of cars were sold.  They sold this particular amount so the $50.00 was refunded.  A. C. recalled going to Kiester, Minnesota which was 6 miles away to get the car, and having never driven a car before, he drove in the ditch on the way home.  A. C. 's folks finally disposed of the store, and they retired to Spring Valley, Minnesota.

A. C. was a World War I veteran and after the war came to Pillsbury, North Dakota to work in a bank.  He often told about his first trip into North Dakota and seeing the unusual sight of burning straw stacks all over the countryside, an unheard of practice in southern Minnesota.  While at Pillsbury, he met and married Viola Sowden of rural Pillsbury.  He later worked in the bank at Luverne, and in 1927 came to Hannaford, at which time he organized the Security State Bank.

A. C. and Vi were very active in all community affairs, as well as many different fraternal organizations.  They were always working to promote Hannaford at every opportunity and A. C. has been referred to by some as "Mr. Hannaford.”

Mr. and Mrs. Brown had two sons, Clinton and William, and after returning from service, Clinton has been engaged in farming and William has worked in the bank.  Clinton married the former Eleanore Lerum of Hannaford and they have four children:  

Dr. Richard Brown, a dentist residing at Carmichael, California and married to the former Julie Davis of Lakewood, California and they have a daughter, Amy Lynn

Robert, an economist with the United States Department of Labor with headquarters at Kansas* City, Missouri

Timothy, an engineer with Factory Mutual Engineering at Milwaukee, Wisconsin and married to the former Caroyle Haugen of Dazey, North Dakota

and Vicki Lynne, a senior at the University of North Dakota , majoring in music.

William is married to the former Lauretta Kramvik of Cooperstown and they also have four children:

Mrs. Steve Steinborn (Cheryl), who teaches music at Moorhead, Minnesota

John, with the Security State Bank and married to the former Nancy Jennings of Hettinger, North Dakota

Alan, attending the University of North Dakota

and Mark, with the Security State Bank and married to Marlys Gronneberg of Hannaford on June 14.

Mrs. Viola Brown passed away in 1956 and Mr. Brown later married Mrs. Edna Frorath.

The Security State Bank used to be located in what is now the Hannaford post office, but a new building was built in 1959.  It has served the community since its beginning in 1927.

A. C. Brown worked up to the day he suffered a stroke on June 25, 1973.  He spent approximately 4 months at Dakota Hospital and 4 months at Bethany Rest Home at Fargo, passing away on February 25, 1974.
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CHARLES CEDERSON

My father Charlie Cederson, born January 21, 1859 came from Smaaland, Sweden to America in 1880 and mother, Helena Langaard, born March 6, 1868 came from LilleLamar, Norway.

After their marriage they settled in Hannaford, built a little house, (son Nick was born here in 1892,) which still stands, (the Bill Weller residence) located next to the old Printing Office, where the Hannaford Enterprise Newspaper was published.  Then later, as father was Section foreman for the Northern Pacific road, they moved into the newly built house located a mile and a half north of Hannaford, a beautiful country surrounded by hills and Bald Hill Creek running through.  

The railroad track, Northern Pacific, ran close by our house, also a water-tank that supplied the water for the trains.

Our favorite trains those days were the circus trains that ran by on this track on its way to Cooperstown.  Our parents would awaken us kids early in the morning to watch that train go by, and for us to dress, eat breakfast and get ready to board the passenger when it had to stop for the engine to fill with water.  We were then on our way.  On our way back, the train didn't stop so we'd ride into town and walk home.  What a big day it was!  And lots of popcorn too.

The highway, a dirt road, also runs close to our home.  There was not too much traffic those days.  I remember one time an incident our father telling us about an early spring some Indians came by in their covered wagons driven by horses, and camped overnight close to our home.  During the night a snowstorm came up.  Father got up and dressed to go over to their camp to ask them to pack as many horses as they could into our barn.

After I, Lillian, finished school, I worked in the Post Office with Chris Reite as postmaster.  I felt sorry for our mail carriers Johnny Haugen and Lauris McCallson especially in the wintertime.  They drove in sleighs, which were partly enclosed to help them carry their mail sacks in.  their faces were white with frost, so cold.

When Mr. Reite resigned to become President of the First National Bank, Billie Sinclair became postmaster, and his wife Jennie had my job.  I then worked as operator in the telephone office.  When Eleanor finished school she taught school around Elgin, North Dakota, also in the Helena Township School.

Our father and mother had six children.  Four sons:  

Nick, Gust, Ingvald and baby Albert.  All are deceased.  

There were 2 daughters:  

1. Eleanor Campbell residing in Stevens Point, Wisconsin and Lillian Hanson in Grand Forks, North Dakota.

Mother died in 1906.  In 1908 dad was married to Jennie Johnson, three years after the death of his first wife.  Five children:  

Nick, Gust, Lillian, Eleanor and Ingvald were raised by Jennie Cederson.  These were the family of the first marriage.  Two daughters, Mabelle (Mae in 1914), and Alice (in 1920) were born to the second marriage.

An outdoor bricked lined oven was built into a small hillside near the house to enable the family to bake bread etc., without having to heat up the house in hot summer months by the regular coal and wood cook stoves.

An icehouse also furnished ice for the year for the early day refrigeration the "ice box."

A harp, phonograph, banjo, mouth organs.  were musical instruments of the family.

Much knitting, tatting, quilting, carding of wool, whist, Flinch, checkers, and dominoes were the pastimes.  Jennie knitted wool stockings for World War I Veterans.  The oldest son Nick was among the first to go into service.

Taffy pulls, popcorn and home-made root-beer were all enjoyed.  The sleigh rides were just great!

When the Section house burned in 1925, the family moved to Hannaford.  No Section house was rebuilt as in the fall of 1926 after Charles Cederson retirement in the spring of 1926, the Hannaford Section was moved to Cooperstown as its headquarters.  The two daughters of Charles and Jennie lived here thereafter.

Mabelle married LeRoy McCallson and lives in Hannaford.  They have two children:  

Judy and Jerome.

Alice married Douglas Lee and lives in West Fargo, North Dakota.  They have two sons, Donald and Charles.

Mr. and Mrs. Charlie Cederson and Son, Nick
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JAMES A. COTTON

J. A. Cotton came to Hannaford, North Dakota in 1918 from St. Paul, Minnesota where he owned and operated Barber shop and pool hall.  In Hannaford he owned and operated a lunch counter in the Pool Hall for about one year.

Moving to the building owned by Mr. Claus Jackson, the Hannaford Cafeteria was established.  Also parties and other catering services.  Home baked goods were served and sold.  Complete fountain service, fancy candies:  

bulk and box.  A large stock on hand at all times.  In 1919, Miss Anna O'Banion, who knew Mr. Cotton in St. Paul, joined him in business as pastry cook, waitress, and sales lady.  April 3, 1920, Miss O'Banion became Mrs. Cotton remaining in Hannaford until moving to Chicago and engaged in groceries and meat market leaving a host of loyal friends in Hannaford.

The early part of 1919 Mr. Cotton saved the life of a young boy (Weisman) who was swimming in back of the cafeteria just at noontime in Bald Hill Creek.  When the cry for help was heard, Mr. Cotton answered his cry, jumped into the water fully clothed as he was going down for the third time, pulling him to shore.  The Cottons were loyal members of the community helping whoever they could in every way they could.  Mrs. Cotton can never forget the happy times spent in Hannaford.

Mr. Cotton passed away in Chicago 1941.  Mrs. Cotton remained in Chicago until 1950.  Their foster daughter Miss LaVern Cotton was attending Teachers College finishing that year.  Mrs. Cotton moved to her native state and town, Maysville, Kentucky.

Recollection from a local resident recalls one time several young men from town were swimming and diving from the north side of bridge into creek.  (This was after the flash flood in 1921 and the current was swift and formed a whirlpool on South side of bridge.)  Peter Falstad dived and was caught in the current, which carried him into the whirlpool.  Mr. Cotton, a good swimmer and a strong man, dived in and rescued Peter from drowning.
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THE THOMAS DAILEY FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Dailey came to the Hannaford community in 1916 after their marriage in Wadena, Minnesota.  Mrs. Dailey, the former Lillie Pihlstrom, was born in Wahpeton, North Dakota, and moved to Minnesota at an early age.  Thomas Dailey was born on a farm near Sebeka, Minnesota.

Their first year in the Hannaford community was spent working for the Ote Harris family on a farm west of Hannaford.  The following year they set up farming near Karnak, and remained there until the 1940's when they moved into Hannaford.  There were four children:

Sylvia, who now resides in Fairfax, Virginia

Loretta (Mrs. Robert Eckhardt) who has two sons lives in Salt Lake City, Utah

Byron, who married Gladys Malmin of Hannaford and had five children, passed away in 1960

and another son, Myron died in infancy.

There are five children in the Byron Dailey family, four born in Hannaford and one in Mandan, North Dakota, where they moved in the late 1950's.  Their children are:  

1. Rita, Mrs. Clinton Kopp of Chicago, Illinois

2. Rosemary, Mrs. John Swanson, Seattle, Washington

3. Renee, Mrs. Daniel Ulmer, Mandan

4. and Thomas and John who reside with their mother in Mandan.

Besides farming, Thomas Dailey was in the livestock business and at one time had a German police dog kennel shipping dogs to all parts of the United States A. as well as to several foreign countries.  For several years he served as County Commissioner of his district in Griggs County as well as being a member of the Griggs County Welfare Board.

Thomas Dailey passed away in December 1967, and Mrs. Lillie Dailey passed away in April 1975.
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THE DAVIDSON FAMILY

Our father, Robert Davidson, was born in Canada of Scottish parents in 1882.  Mother was born in Iowa of English parents in 1884.  Both families moved to Wadena, Minnesota and settled on neighboring farms.  There they grew to man and womanhood and were married in 1901.  Soon after three children were born at Wadena:  

Lucille, Vivian, and Kenneth.  They moved to Roseau, Minnesota where Dad and his brother Will operated a mill.  Dad also worked in lumber camps after discontinuing the mill business.  In 1909 we moved to Barnes County, North Dakota and farmed for many years till the depression of '29 hit.  Dad gave up farming as the boys were old enough to get out and into a trade or business of their own.  Dad went into the meat business and Harold Dick, Bill, and Butch also became butchers and meat cutters.  Dad in Luverne for a while and then to Hannaford and with the help of the boys ran a meat market and grocery store for some time.  Failing health forced him to quit.  Donald (Dick) went into meat business in Dazey for a short time, came to Ada and worked several years for A. R. Herman as "meat man.”  Dad, Butch, and Margaret also worked there.  Dick, after 8 years at the Herman Market, moved to Bottineau where he operated and owned his own Meat Processing Plant, a Gamble Store, and had interests also in a grocery store.

We were a family of 14 children - 13 single births and Roland (Butch) was one of twins.  The line-up:

1. Lucille born February 20, 1902 - married Charles Anthony

2. Vivian born March 18, 1903 - married Emil Strom (both are now in nursing home in North Bend, Oregon)

3. Kenneth born December 5, 1904 - died August 3, 1966

4. Harold born February 12, 1905 - living in Oregon

5. Donald born September 12, 1907 - living in Oregon

6. Vernon born December 18, 1910 - died January 15, 1969

7. William born January 6, 1911 - living in Oregon

8. Wayne born April 3, 1913 - died in infancy at 6 weeks of age

9. Roland born March 6, 1915 - died December 25, 1964

10. Russel born March 6, 1915 - died April 3, 1915

11. Raymond born February 6, 1909 - died Aug., 1966, Margaret born April 7, 1916 - died June 30, 1967

12. Ida Larraine born January 6, 1918 - died October 7, 1922

13. Berniece born October 1, 1920 - 1508 Main Fargo, North Dakota

14. Betty Jane born December 14, 1922 - died December 3, 1960

15. Robert Davidson (father) born February 22, 1881 - died May 5, 1950

16. Pearl Edna (mother) born April 3, 1884 - died May 11, 1965.

Harold, Bill, and Roland all served in WW II.  Harold in the European sector, Bill in the medical care in India, and Roland in Africa.  They all returned safe and no injuries.  Harold married Marie Nelson from South Dakota, who was working in Hannaford at that time.  While in Ada, Dick married Helen Breving from Twin Valley, Minnesota.  While stationed in Georgia, Bill married Christine Bassett.  They live in Eugene, Oregon.  Vernon married Constance Neagle from Luverne.  Raymond, Kenneth, and Roland never married.  Margaret married Ingvald Lyngby in Hannaford.  Vivian married Emil Strom from Oregon.

Dad and Mother worked very hard and provided us with all the necessities required.  I can still see the 1820 loaves of bread piled to cool on the old kitchen table and smell homemade soup or baking beans as we came home from school.  So God Bless my dear parents for their many sacrifices made for us.

Lucille, Harold, Dick, and Bill graduated from high school at Baldwin Cons.  Margaret, Berniece, and Roland from Hannaford High.
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LAURENCE ERICKSON

Laurence Erickson was depot agent and telegrapher on the Great Northern railroad in Hannaford and Karnak.

We moved to Hannaford, June 30, 1938, from Doubin, North Dakota when I was sixteen years old.  Our family (Mr. and Mrs. Laurence N. Erickson, Doris, Ina, Vivian, and Merna) lived in Asher Anderson's home with Asher and Paddy for a short time, then moved into the now Mr. and Mrs. John Brun's home while waiting for Kenneth Enstads to move so we could have their home to live in.  Doris graduated from Hannaford High School in 1939, Ina in 1941, Vivian 1943, and Merna in 1945.

Ina and Doris took first place in a piano duet and went to the State music contest in Grand Forks, North Dakota the spring of 1939.

Doris married Bruce Ashland in 1944, a Navy pilot (Ensign) during WW II and had four boys and two girls.  The two girls passed away a short time after their births.  They now live in Minneapolis, Minnesota

Ina married Leonard (Curley) Haugen in 1948.  They have no children and live in Detroit Lakes, Minnesota

Vivian married Vernon Kinn in 1946.  They had four boys.  They're divorced and she remarried Mac McGlaughlin.  They live in Pennsylvania at present.

Merna married Herman Hareland in 1945.  They had three girls.  Their second girl drowned two years ago.  (1973) They live at Wahpeton, North Dakota

Mr. L. N. Erickson passed away in 1953 and Mrs. Erickson (Goldie) passed away in 1957.

Father loved hunting and always had a dog, which he took with him during the hunting season, and he would get his limit of birds most of the time.  Mother picked the feathers from ducks and saved them for making feather pillows.  She also made quilts and lined them from carded lamb's wool, which she sent to a woolen mill for making wool bats.

Ina is City Clerk for the city of Detroit Lakes, Minnesota Doris works at Cambridge State Hospital with the handicapped, profoundly retarded as an HDSS (Human Developmental Services Specialist) instructing the basics of Speech and Language.
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ALBIN FORSBERG

Albin Forsberg and his wife, Hilda, left Stockholm, Sweden the early summer of 1881 for South Hampton, England, to visit with Hilda's brother, John Pousette, who was a sea captain.  Then leaving South Hampton, England, a few weeks later for Montreal, Canada, where they had thought some about making their home, but then changing their mind because Albin Forsberg's two brothers, John and Gustov Forsberg had 2 years earlier arrived at Chicago in July 1879.  Then working their way west, and finally arriving in Griggs Company from Minnesota with the Lars Johnsons, July 4th 1881, so this beckoned Albin and Hilda Forsberg to come to America.  They arrived in New York City July 1882 then onward west coming to Valley City then arriving in Griggs Company January 11 1883.

After coming here they worked the remainder of the winter for Arne Lokkeson who lived down by the Sheyenne River.  Then in the spring of 18H Albin and Hilda Forsberg located on the land nine miles south of Cooperstown Section 2 NE Range 59 Township 144.  Where they built their first house, half the house was dug into the hillside for protection and shelter from the wind and storms.  The first barn was built by the same manner possibly dug in the side of the hill.

In this first house is where Charlotte Forsberg was born the 9th of June 1885, perhaps the first girl born in Greenfield Township.  Albin and Hilda Forsberg had two girls born in Stockholm, Sweden, (1877) Ida Ingeborg "Forsberg" (1879) Mrs. Anna Forsberg (1879) Mrs. Paul Troseth.

Charlotte Forsberg born in 1889, Greenfield Township.  Alfred Forsberg 1890 - deceased 1891.  Albert Forsberg 1896 deceased 1896.  And Minnie Forsberg, Mrs. Edwin Pousette.  Albin Forsberg in 1888 acquired more land, Section 1 NW quarter and Section 1 NW quarter and Section 3 NE quarter Range 59 Township 144.  Also back in 1883 Albin Forsberg donated five acres of land to the Union Church and Cemetery.  This was from Section 2.

Albin and Hilda Forsberg farmed but in later years rented the farm but continued to live there their remaining years.  Hilda Forsberg died first, on December 6, 1931 at the age of 80.

Albin Forsberg died on October 12, 1936, age 85.  Both are buried at the Union Cemetery.  It is also known that in 1883 before the Union Church was built the Forsberg farm was built into the Hillside in such a manner one could slide over the hay mound door and walk directly in from the hillside enabling them to have Sunday Church services and also Ladies Aid.  This they did through the late summer and fall of 1883.
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MILFORD GRONNEBERG

Milford Gronneberg, son of Mr. and Mrs. Crist Gronneberg, was born and raised in Mabel Township He lived at home until he married Sylvia Johnson of Bottineau, North Dakota, on December 29th, 1946.  They made their home in Dover Township on a farm.  Then in November 1965, they purchased the house formerly known as the "Angus House" from Micky Almklovs.  Milford and Sylvia have a family of five.  Duane is an employee of the Fargo Post Office.  Gary, a student of the University of Minnesota Law School, is married and living in Minneapolis.  Marlys, recently married to Mark Brown, is living in Hannaford.  Mark is an employee of the Security State Bank.  Mavis, a teacher, will be at Beulah, North Dakota, teaching Biology and girls Phy.  Ed.  All are graduates of Hannaford High School.  Ronald is at home helping with farming and will be a Sr. at Hannaford High.  Milford still farms 8 miles west of Hannaford.  Sylvia works part-time at Stri-King Lanes Cafe.
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E. H. GROVEN

Eivind Halvorson Groven was born in Aamotsdal, Telemarken, Norway on February 7, 1858.  He was the oldest of six children.  His parents were Halvor Eivindson Groven, a farmer in Aamotsdal and Ingebjorg Bjornsdatter from Rauland.  His brothers and sisters were:  

Bjorn H. , who lived all his life in Norway

Halvor H. who came to America, Aasne, Norway, Anne Groven Johnson who came to America in 1890, and Olav H. Groven who died in Norway at 15 years of age.

Eivind or Edwin as he became known, came to stay with relatives at Stoughton, Wisconsin, when he was but 13 years of age.  He worked on a farm near Koshkonong Lake for about 18 months.  From there he went to Dakota County, Minnesota where he worked on a farm for a year and then attended school in Minneapolis for one term in order to learn a bit of English.  He worked as a collector for C. E. Thomas, a dealer in general merchandise in St. Paul for 18 months.  Indications are that he came to Hannaford as early as 1884.  At the time of his death in 1914 the Hannaford Enterprise said, "He was really the first man to make his home in Hannaford.”  When he first came to Griggs County he shipped horses for sale and farmed.  In December 1888 he rented his farm and stock and bought the business of R. C. Brophy.  From then until 1912 he was back and forth in the general merchandise and hardware business.  He was also postmaster from 1889 until 1895.

Mr. Groven was a charter member of the Hannaford Lutheran Church and its first treasurer.  He retired from business about 1912 and went to live in Minneapolis.  His health had been failing for some time and he died in the Swedish Hospital on March 11, 1914 at the age of 56 years.

Aslaug (Alice) Storli was also from Telemarken, Norway.  She was the second child in a family of nine children.  The family left early in the spring of 1870 for America.  The trip lasted 13 weeks.  They landed at Newfoundland, and then went on to Quebec, Canada.  They came by train to Hastings, Minnesota July 10, 1870.  Alice had been baptized in the Rauland Church in Norway and was confirmed in the East Christiania Church at Hastings.  She and her sister Agnes went to school until they were 14 years old, then worked in the cities for 500 a week.  After a few years she came to visit her cousins, the Even Olsons in Hannaford and it was here she met E. H. Groven, her future husband.  They were married in 1887.  To them were born two children:  

Isabelle, December 31, 1888, the first child born in Hannaford, and Oscar.

Mrs. Groven's activities outside her home were in the Lutheran Church.  She was a charter member of the "Kvindeforening" and also its treasurer.  She was responsible to a great extent in acquiring properties for the new church, including the new bell.  One day the Grovens and their friends the Claus Jacksons drove in their surrey with a team of horses a mile north of town to see the new cemetery which had just been given to the church by Andrew Langdon.  Alice made the remark, "I wonder who will be the first laid to rest here.”  Less than three weeks later on July 24, 1902 the bell was tolled for the first time at her funeral.  Pneumonia was the cause of her death.

Isabelle and Oscar attended school in Hannaford.  Oscar finishing high school here and Isabelle attending Red Wing Seminary in Red Wing, Minnesota for a time.  She was church organist for several years.  After her mother died, housekeepers were hired for their home until she could manage the housework.  This she did until her marriage to George Stokkeland, the barber in Hannaford.  They moved to Luverne where he had a barbershop and bowling alley.  They had seven children:  

Edwin, now of Clifford, North Dakota, Mrs. Henry Mortenson (Alice), Luverne, Oscar, Hannaford, Mrs. August 134

Bartkowski (Dorcas), Wimbledon, Gordon, Omaha, Neb., Thomas, Binford, and George, Lake Villa, III.  Isabelle's brother, Oscar, made his home in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan, Canada.

Two children of George and Isabelle Stokkeland live in Griggs County.  Oscar married Inez Haugen, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Magnus Haugen.  They farm and live on Section 11-144-59 in Greenfield Township.  Their children are:  

Mrs. Jim Somsen (Ione) of Kensal, Donald, James and Marlene.  Thomas married Marion Bowder, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Clarence Bowder.  They live in Binford and Thomas works for the Melroe Company in Cooperstown.  Their children are:  

Mrs. Craig Sturlaugson (Pamela), Minneapolis, Minnesota, David, Gayland, Neal, Linnea and Layne.
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H. H. GROVEN

Halvor H. Groven, a younger brother of E. H. Groven, came to Hannaford in the early 1890's.  In 1893 he was in the implement business with his brother selling and trading horses, all kinds of farm implements such as drills, harrows, mowers, rakes, buggies, carts, wagons and whatever was needed.

Sophie Storli, the youngest sister of Alice Storli Groven, was born in Lakeville, Minnesota, January 24, 1877.  Upon their mother's death she came to stay and help at her sister's home when she was 16 years of age.  It was here she met Halvor Groven.  They were married in the East Christiania Church in Lakeville, Minnesota where Pastor Quammen had baptized, confirmed and then performed the marriage ceremony for Sophie on September 29, 1898.

Halvor and Sophie came to live on a farm near Walum, which is the Edwin Everson farm today.  They built their house, farmed, and raised cattle.  This house burned to the ground in 1903.  They lost many- wedding gifts they had stored in barrels in the cellar.  A house was moved in from the Halvor Johnson farm as they had just completed building their new home.  Later they sold the farm and moved to Hannaford.  Halvor built the house now owned by the Gerald Andersons.  A few years later he went from farming to grain buying at Walum.  At first he commuted to his work, but then sold the house in Hannaford and built another in Walum.

When a general merchandise business became available in Walum, Halvor with the assistance of his brother E. H. became manager of the Walum Store.  This was sold to Andrew Wogsland in 1910 and H. H. returned to farming for the next 3 years.  The desire to own his own land again started him to explore possibilities in Montana.  He filed on a claim 40 miles north of Chinook, Montana and moved there in April 1914.  He had a ranch on which he had range cattle.  In addition he was postmaster in the country post office he called Norheim.  He also kept a small grocery store for the convenience of his neighbor ranchers.

Mrs. Groven had taken music lessons as a young girl in Lakeville, Minnesota.  Besides caring for her family she gave music lessons and was church organist both in Hannaford and Walum.

They had seven children.  

The eldest died in 1902 at 21/2 years of age.  The others were Inez, Mrs. John Betz, deceased

Orvin, unmarried and living near Chinook, Montana

Alice, Mrs. Rudy Bakken, Seattle, Washington

Harold, Atle and Ernest who with their families are living in the Seattle area.

H. H. retired from active work in 1934 and moved to Chinook where he passed away in 1941.  Sophie died in 1949.
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ADOLPH GROVER

Mr. and Mrs. Adolph Grover came to Hannaford in July 1936.  They moved here from Leal where Adolph managed the Leal Grain Company.  He managed the Hannaford Farmers Elevator until 1952 when he retired because of illness.

Mr. and Mrs. Grover had two children:  

(Annabel and John).

Annabel graduated from Hannaford High School in 1937.  She took a Civil Service test and worked in the Navy Department and with the American Intelligence in Washington, D. C. , London and Germany.  She returned to the states in 1946 and married Joe B. Stover.  They have two children:  

(Margaret and Joseph) and now reside in Alexandria, Virginia.

John graduated from Hannaford High School in 1939.  He worked in the Security State Bank for a year and then enlisted in the Army.  Upon returning from the Service, he operated the grocery store in Hannaford for a time and then rejoined the staff at Security State Bank where he is presently employed.  He married Pearl Bjor of Hannaford.  They have three children:  

Kathleen (married Lyonel D. Erickson of Cooperstown, North Dakota).  They have one child, Jill, and farm east of Hannaford

John A. Grover (married Sharon Ramsey of Hannaford).  They have three children:  

Jay, Jason and Janae.  John is employed by the State Highway Department Valley City, North Dakota and they reside in Hannaford.  (John was an outstanding baseball player during his school years and was voted most valuable player during his last year on the Jr. Legion Baseball Team.)  Nancy (married Bryan Wiger of Fargo, North Dakota) Bryan is employed by the International Harvester Company and Nancy is working with the Computer Program.  They are presently living in Waterloo, Iowa.
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JOSEPH GRUMAN FAMILY

County commissioner is his current title, but Joseph Casper Gruman also has been called precinct committeeman and school board member.  He was born April 2, 1907 in Springvale Township in Barnes County to Teresa Wolf Gruman (December 13, 1884-June 17, 1970) and Charles Gruman (October 7, 1882-March 9, 1959), immigrants from Austria, Hungry.  Joe grew up with four brothers (Frank, John, Carl, and Edward) and twin sisters (Clara and Mary).

In 1927 Joe came to Jessie as a farm laborer for Lawrence and Edward Zimprich.  In 1932 he struck off on his own farm north of Jessie.  Romance blossomed as he courted Rosey Johana Fiebiger with his horse and buggy.  On June 27, 1933 they were married.

Rosey Johana Fiebiger was born March 29, 1913 to Edward Francis Fiebiger (February 23, 1877-August 5, 1973) and Mary Josephina Zimprich (April 9, 1887-Oct, 5, 1973).  She grew up with five sisters (Mary, Martha, Ida, Annie, and Florence) and five brothers (Edward, Lawrence, Frank, Richard, and William).  Her ancestors were from Hungary.

Joe and Rosey moved to a farm 7 miles west of Walum in 1940.  They moved into Hannaford in 1966.  Five sons were born to them.

Robert Joseph Gruman married Mary Alice Kelly.  They have two sons Joseph James and John Robert.  He is vice-president in the Aberdeen, South Dakota National Bank.

Charles Edward Gruman married Carmen Sigrid Johnson.  They have three children:  

Sue Ellen, Audra Rose, and Karla Charlene.  Chuck is engaged in farming with his brothers Jerry and Larry.

Larry Frank Gruman farms with his brothers Chuck and Jerry.  He married Pamela Rae Lawrence.  They have three children:  

Julie Ann, Kimberly K. and Wade Martin.

Jerry John Gruman is engaged in farming with Chuck and Larry.  He married Glenna Mae Becherl.  Their children are:  

1. Cynthia Ann, Melissa Rae, and Gary John.

Allen Wayne Gruman is engaged in a custom combining operation.  Recently he purchased a cafe and service station in Walum.
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LUDVIG HARELAND

Ludvig Hareland was born in Stavanger, Norway, November 14, 1878 and came to United States in 1899, going first to Minnesota, then to the Hannaford Community in 1900, where he filed on land located two miles east of Hannaford in Greenfield Township.

At Valley City, North Dakota, Ludvig and Martina Hetland were united in marriage August 17, 1907.  She also had immigrated to United States from Stavanger where she was born August 27, 1884.  They continued to live on the farm and had a family of seven children, four daughters and three sons.

Martina Hareland had a natural talent as nurse, and many times acted as mid-wife in the delivery of a baby.  Those days women had their babies at home with the help of a mid-wife or doctor if available.  She also assisted Dr. R. D. Benson of Hannaford on several occasions.

During the bad flu epidemic, Mrs. Hareland also became ill, as did the entire family with the exception of Ludvig who had to be nurse to his own family as well as some of near neighbors.  Three of the children contracted pneumonia.  Mrs. Hareland had to get out of bed to apply mustard plasters and all recovered.

Life on farm was not uneventful for the family.  One summer when Dad was out doing carpentry work and away from home, a severe electrical storm came up during the night.  Mother was confined to bed with milk leg and had our cousin Dagny Hetland staying with us.  Mother heard this terrible crash and having a hard time awakening Dagny, had her go upstairs to see what happened to the three children sleeping there.  Dagny was speechless when she saw plaster strewn all over the floor.  The children were unharmed, but lightning had struck the house, followed the iron bedstead and went out at foot of bed through a nail and into telephone ground outside.  Many nights we were called from our beds to go into storm cellar because of bad storms.

Another event standing out in memory was the runaway of a team of horses on a buggy when a piece of paper blew across road and frightened the horses, causing Mrs. Hareland to be thrown from the buggy and injured to the extent of having one breast removed at Valley City Hospital.  Mrs. Hareland passed away January 1937.

Ludvig Hareland had learned the carpentry trade as a youth in Norway and worked at his trade through much of his life.  An old landmark in Hannaford is the Public School he built in 1907 and which all seven children and some of the grandchildren attended.  He built the church in Walum, the Faith Lutheran Church in Hannaford, many homes and hip-roofed barns in the surrounding community.  Mr. Hareland would have quite a crew working as there were no power tools and all work had to be done by hand.  Some job that would seem impossible to do was always a challenge to him.

Mr. Hareland built a second house and rented the farm to Gabriel and Anna Malmin for several years, and later to Magnus and Malena Haugen as newlyweds, while he continued to work at his trade as a carpenter in the community and at shipyards in Duluth.  Later years he went into concrete work, making well curbings, and birdbaths among other things.

On December 4, 1944, Mr. Hareland married Millie Watne, and spent 27 years together.  Since he enjoyed traveling, they made several trips to Norway, Alaska, and through many states.

Ludvig Hareland passed away October 12, 1971, and was active until cancer disabled him a year earlier.

Surviving members of the L. Hareland family besides Millie are:  

1. Mrs. Charles (Marie) Hilyard and Mrs. Virgil (Dorothy) Bakke both of Plentywood, Montana

2. Sidney of Anaconda, Montana

3. Lloyd of Hannaford, North Dakota

4. Mrs. Ray (Myrtle) Ohman of Rigby, Idaho

5. Mrs. Willard (Irene) Jordet of Anchorage, Alaska

6. and Herman of Wahpeton, North Dakota.  The three Hareland sons are also skilled carpenters as are some of grandsons.
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NIELS AND WALTER HEMMINGSEN

One of the earliest settlers in the Hannaford area was Niels Hemmingsen who made his home and farmed on Section 10 in Greenfield Township.  Mr. Hemmingsen was born on the island of Moen, Denmark, December 22, 1845, the tenth in a family of eleven children, seven sons and four daughters, the children of Hemming and Caren (Hanson) Rasmussen, both of whom were natives of Denmark.  His father was a soldier in the regular army of Denmark and served six years as corporal.

Niels completed his education in his native land and remained at home until 22 years of age, when he emigrated to America in 1866 to seek his fortune in the new world.  He located in Ford County, Illinois where he worked on a farm for some time and from there went to Manistee, Michigan and into the lumber camps and saw mills where he worked 15 winters and spent his summers at farm labor in Wisconsin and Minnesota.

Mr. Hemmingsen was married in Racine County, Wisconsin in 1872 to Mary Skarie, a native of Norway.  Mrs. Hemmingsen was born in 1843 and came to America when a child of 4 years.  Their one son, Henry Walter was born at Manistee, Michigan, January 5, 1874.  Later the family moved to Lanesboro, Minnesota where Mrs. Hemmingsen died just two years after their marriage.

Father and son came to Griggs County, Dakota Territory in 1883 and filed claim to the land on which they resided.  They came to Dakota without means, but by 1900 possessed 480 acres of land.

Niels Hemmingsen was active in community affairs.  He was appointed county commissioner during territorial days and served on that body for 12 years.  He was also a member of the lower house of the state assembly for 3 terms ending in 1909.  He held numerous offices in his Township and the honor of christening the Township was conferred upon him.  He was a member of Union Lutheran Church and later a charter member of the Hannaford Lutheran Church.  He died April 23, 1915 and was buried at Lanesboro, Minnesota He was an incorruptibly honest man and fought stubbornly for what he believed to be right.

Walter, his son, was one of the first pupils in the Hannaford Public School.  Confirmed in Union Lutheran Church, he became a charter member of the Hannaford Lutheran Church and served as secretary of the church from 1907 until 1949.  He was also Township supervisor and an officer in many organizations.  Walter spent the greater part of his life farming the land he and his father had homesteaded.  He grew to be highly respected in the community and held many positions of trust.  He was a true friend of anyone in need.  In 1951, Walter became a resident of Bethany Rest Home in Fargo.  He died in a Fargo hospital following amputation of both legs on March 13, 1959 at the age of 85 years and was buried in the Hannaford Lutheran Cemetery.
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DR. O. H. HOFFMAN

Oscar Hoffman was born in Fillmore, Illinois on December 21, 1889.  His parents were Caroline and Berthold Hoffman.  He had two sisters, Lillie and Agnes and one brother Edward.  He spent his boyhood years in Illinois.  His parents decided to move to North Dakota.  A brother of Bertholds, Herman Hoffman, had already come and had a farm west of Walum.  In August 1906 his parents and the rest of the family came by train, but Oscar and a hired man came by freight in an immigrant car that contained all their household goods, a cow, a horse, lots of building supplies and Oscar's rabbits.  The hired man was to take care of the livestock and watch that the goods were not damaged or stolen.  By the time the car got to St. Paul, Oscar was tired of the inactivity and decided to go the rest of the way by regular passenger train.

Berthold Hoffman was a contractor and builder.  He rented a place for the family to live and store their things while he built a home.  The next spring he hired a crew and went into partnership with a Mr. Haugen.  They contracted to build a house for R. C. Cooper, for whom the town of Cooperstown was named.  This is the large house across the street from the courthouse.  It was later purchased by Mr. and Mrs. Harold Brown and for several years part of it was used for a telephone office.

Berthold and Sons and his crew built many large homes in Cooperstown and area.  He liked to make designs with the flooring by bay windows and in front of a fireplace.  It was almost a trademark of Berthold Hoffman, builder.  He also built the Swedish Lutheran Church located west of Cooperstown.  This church was later purchased by the Methodists and moved to Sutton where it is still in use as their church building.  When Berthold retired from the building trade, he started bee culture.  At one time he had the largest apiary in North Dakota.  The Amenia Bee Company finally bought most of his bee supplies and they became the nucleus for that Company which still exists.

Oscar and Agnes both graduated from Cooperstown High School.  Oscar in 1909 and Agnes in 1912.  Lillie lived with the family in Cooperstown one year then married a young farmer from Illinois and moved back to Fillmore.  Edward worked with his father a few years, and then married his sweetheart from Illinois.  He and his wife proved up a homestead near Dupree, South Dakota.  The dry years finally forced them to come back to North Dakota.  They farmed west of Walum, later moved to Murphysboro, Illinois where he was farm overseer for a mining company.  Agnes taught in a rural school east of Cooperstown, and then married Ray Wilkinson from Jessie, North Dakota.  They homesteaded in Montana, later moved back to North Dakota and lived in Fargo several years, then moved to Blaine, Washington.  Agnes now lives in Santa Rosa, California.

After Oscar completed High School he took the teacher's examinations given by I. A. Kampen, who was County Superintendent of Schools.  Little did he dream that several years later he would marry Kampen's daughter.  In the winter months he taught rural schools in Bartley Township and the Bailey School east of Sutton.  In the summer months, he worked with his father building homes.  In 1911 the Rose Bud Indian Reservation was opened for homesteaders.  His brother was living there with his family on a homestead adjacent to one Oscar could file for.  So on his 21st birthday.  Oscar was en-route to South Dakota to file for a homestead.  He bought a ticket at Mobridge for Dupree, which was the town closest to the reservation, on the first day tickets were sold as the railroad was just being completed.  He wasn't able to ride all the way as some work was still being done although he could ride a work-train the next day.  He and two other men hired a man to take them by car the remaining twenty miles.  Because he didn't ride the train all the way he still has possession of his ticket.  He built a shack to live in and became the teacher for the first school for whites on the reservation.  Previously there had been only Indian schools.  After this experience he decided he wanted to become a dentist.  He graduated from Northwestern University Dental School in 1918.  World War I was going on at the time.  A month after graduation he was inducted into the United States Army.  He was sent to Fort Oglethorpe near Chattanooga, Tennessee as a member of Medical Company #1.  Later he was transferred to Carlyle, Pennsylvania and was there when the Armistice was signed.

Upon returning to his home in Cooperstown, Dr. Ross Benson, physician, O. A. Otteson, druggist, and Chris Reite, president of the First National Bank, called on him and asked him to come to Hannaford and open a dental office.  In February 1919 he started his practice in an office with Dr. Benson, M. D. and continued there until ill health forced him to retire in January 1968.

In 1925 he married Winifred Kampen.  The depression years came and both Hannaford banks closed.  Then the dust bowl years hit.  Conditions were pretty bad.  No use to leave, things were tough everywhere, so they stuck it out and conditions gradually improved.  They have three children, Mrs. Ronald Rose (Joan), Wimbledon, Larry, a dentist in Jamestown and Verne, a science teacher in Karlstad, Minnesota.

The Hoffmans were both active in community affairs.  Oscar was chairman of the town board for many years, helped organize and was a charter member of the local American Legion Post, was vice-president of the Griggs County Red Cross and was water safety chairman for the county.  He was instrumental in getting trained instructors for swimming and life saving.  He was an elder in the Presbyterian Church.  He held various offices in the North Dakota State Dental Association, treasurer, program chairman and President.  He was District Commander of the American Legion and helped to organize the first American Legion Junior baseball team in Hannaford.  He was state treasurer of the 40 et 8 for 37 years and was Grand Chef for one year.  He was also president of the International War Veterans Alliance.

The building in which Dr. Hoffman practiced dentistry was built in 1918 by Drs. Benson and Taylor.  In 1974 it was moved to Spiritwood Lake to be used as a lake cottage by the Larry Hoffman family.
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MR. AND MRS. CLAUS JACKSON

Claus Jackson was born March 14, 1860 in Vestre Totten, Norway.  When a lad of 12, the family emigrated to America, settling at Coon Prairie, Wisconsin and later at Sparta.  On April 20, 1880, Claus, together with his brother Chris, came to Volga, Dakota Territory where they worked freighting with mule teams on the construction of the railroad from Volga to Pierre.  The Indians, watching suspiciously and averse to the railroad being built through their reservation, were a real and threatening menace.  Guards were on duty all night while the railroad builders slept.

Hearing about a new town being started north of Sanborn and wishing LO start an enterprise of his own, on February 23, 1883, the two brothers came by team as far north as the track of the new railroad had been laid - to about the "Halfway House," so-called because it was about halfway between Sanborn and Cooperstown.  Chris Jackson stayed at Thomas Stee's while Claus went to Cooperstown by team to buy a village lot.  After buying the lot, he rejoined his brother, but returned again to Cooperstown in April of the same year and established a business with Thomas Knudson of Sparta, Wisconsin.

Claus married Ida Hegg on November 20, 1886.  She had been born in Decorah, Iowa, October 4, 1861 and had come to Dakota Territory in 1884 settling at Cooperstown.  Their first home was in Cooperstown above the present Allen's Jewelry Store.  Five children were born to them, Clara, who became Mrs. A. F. Kencke, Ella, who became Mrs. George Epler, Chester, and twins, Inez and Edna, Mrs. Melvin Markuson.

Claus proved up on a homestead on Section 4-144-61 and lived on the land for a few years.  In 1892 he started a machinery -implement business in Cooperstown.  In 1890 he was appointed deputy sheriff and in 1894 was elected sheriff, which office he held for two terms.  The family was living in the courthouse the winter of 1896-97 when the snow in the county was so deep that when walking along in Cooperstown you were liable to walk on somebody's roof.  Tunnels were made in the business Section and youngsters slid on their sleds out of the courtroom windows.  The last week in November, Sheriff Jackson was out summoning jurors for the District Court when the storm caught him 12 miles from town.  He was forced to take refuge on a Thursday staying at the Martinius Wallum home south of Hannaford.  Saturday morning Mr. Wallum drove him as far as Hannaford, but the horses floundered and plunged in the drifts until they had to give up and Claus struggled on foot to Cooperstown reaching home at 11 PM  He said if he had another mile to go he didn't see how he could have endured it.

In 1899 Claus purchased Thomas Helland's share of the mercantile business of Aarestad-Helland in Hannaford and the family moved into their newly built home there.  This general store was well-stocked with groceries, flour, fruit, shoes, dry goods, ladies' and gents' furnishings.  Two years later he purchased Halvor Aarestad's share of the business and in 1906 he built the concrete block building, which still bears his name.  Machinery was added to the line of merchandise that he sold.

Claus Jackson was a director and vice-president of the First National Bank at Hannaford, president of the Board of Education from 1912-1921, served as postmaster for 14 years (1899-1913), and was a member of the Village Board of Trustees.

Mrs. Jackson passed away February 15, 1948 and Mr. Jackson February 12, 1952.

Mr. and Mrs. Jackson's twin daughters were born August 30, 1896 in Cooperstown while Claus was sheriff of Griggs County.  Inez spent her entire life in the Cooperstown- Hannaford area.  She was employed in her father's store and for 27 years in the Hannaford post office.  She also served for many years as superintendent of the Hannaford Sunday School.  Inez passed away November 5, 1958.
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MR. AND MRS. ALBERT JOHNSON FAMILY

My parents were married in 1912 in the grove at the Lars Johnson farm in Sverdrup Township in Griggs County.  My mother, Louise, was born at this farm on March 31, 1888 in a log cabin.

My mother's parents came from Sweden and pioneered in Griggs County.  There were six children in that family, Brita Elizabeth, Nickalous, Margareta, Christina, Mathilda, and Louise.  They are all deceased except my mother Louise, who is living in Hannaford.

My dad, Albert was born in Muskegon, Michigan on December 10, 1884 to Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Johnson.  His father, Oscar, worked in the lumber business and for the railroad while there.  They moved to Hope.  North Dakota in 1895 and settled in Greenfield Township, Griggs County in 1916.  There were five children in that family, Laura, Albert, Francis, Hilda, and Esther.  They are all deceased except my father, Albert, who lives in Hannaford.

After my parents were married they lived in Steele County one year and then moved to Griggs County in Broadview Township in 1913.  They farmed five miles East of Hannaford until 1969 when they moved to Hannaford.  Five children were born to them, Loal, Marjorie, Doris, Howard, and Bert.

When my parents first lived on the farm they had 3 quarters of land, one cow, and some machinery they had when farming at Hope, North Dakota.

Our social functions were Church and school programs and P. T. A.  In the wintertime we would go to them in a bobsled pulled by horses.  We would dress warm and cover ourselves with blankets and robes.  We would heat sad irons and put at our feet to keep them warm.  We would travel this way to visit relatives and have a real enjoyable time.

My dad liked spirited horses as he had broken broncos in his early life, so we had several runaways with machinery and hay wagons.  The first car we had was a touring car.  When it rained we buckled on the side curtains.  We had to crank the car to start it and sometimes were disappointed when planning a visit somewhere and could not get the car started.

We attended church and Sunday school at the Saron Evangelical Free Church, and went to parochial school for a few weeks in the summer time in the schoolhouses where we could study the Swede or Norwegian language besides our Bible lessons.

Marjorie's husband, James Donahue, was born at Winona, Minnesota on April 12, 1912 and she was born at her parents farm 5 miles east of Hannaford on April 18, 1915.

They have three children - all girls.  Mrs. Jean Severson - Willow Springs, Illinois, Kay Donahue - Hannaford, and Mrs. Colleen Witte, Anchorage, Alaska.
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AUGUST JOHNSON

Sven August Johnson was born in Sweden on October 1, 1835.  He was baptized and confirmed in Sweden.  While he was still a young man, he went to Guldbrandsdalen, Norway, and there on July 12, 1874 he married Berit Ingebritsdalen.  On the following day, he and his wife left for America and came to Filmore County, Minnesota.  residing there for six years.  Leaving there, he came to Valley City.  After living there for two years, a flash flood drove them from their home during the night.  They then left for Sverdrup Township of Griggs County in 1883.  homesteaded and established their first real home, (a sod house), and later built a real home.  This home is located about one and one half miles north of the Union Church.

Journey made from Minnesota by oxen, the Fjelstad family accompanied the Johnsons.  Mr. Johnson was a charter member of Union Church.  To this family the following children were born:  

One son (died in infancy)

Emma (Mrs. Tronson, Cation City, Colorado)

Aletta (Mrs. Arnie Rers, Missoula, Montana)

Janna (known as Jennie, Mrs. Charles Cederson, Hannaford, North Dakota)

Stina (Mrs. Andrew Lura, Anaconda, Montana).

Mrs. Johnson died at early age, and was buried at Union Cemetery.

Mr. Johnson and his girls continued to carry on at his farm home in Sverdrup until his retirement, when he and his girls moved to Hannaford in the early 1900's.

August Johnson passed away November 2, 1923 at the age of 88 years.  His remains are laid to rest at Union Cemetery.

Jennie told many incidents of early childhood.  At the age of 15, her mother passed away.  she and her four sisters and father carried on responsibility of farm and home.  Jennie walked to Cooperstown and back home, a distance of 13 miles, for Confirmation lessons and carried a basket of eggs to sell and buy groceries to carry home.  Her egg money received six cents a dozen.

To assist a doctor or midwife at a neighbor when a newcomer was expected was an early experience.  Jennie recalled a time when Theodore Stone's eye was injured, and he stopped at their home for water.  Ted and his parents were en-route to a Cooperstown doctor.

Of the eight grades of school, Jennie quit at the end of six to assist at home.  Friends were Edna Johnson (Mrs. Oscar Ouren), Anna Forsberg (Mrs. Paul Troseth), Lottie Forsberg (Mrs. Gust Lind), Kroogsgaard family, Amelia Fjelstad (Mrs. Conrad Kolberg), Anna Stai, (Mrs. Henry Swingen), and many others.

Luxuries and gifts were few, love and togetherness was plentiful.  A ruby ring and pin given by her father and her Mother's Bible (given to the Mother in 1872), a high stemmed fruit bowl, Mother's lefsa rolling pin (from Norway), and her father's watch were about the only cherished possessions of Jennie when she passed away at the age of 94 and a half years.

On November 11, 1899, the Land Grant from the government was received.  The location is described as follows:

Southeast of the southwest quarters lots 3 and 4.  Section 30 of 145 Township Range 58 Sverdrup.

In March 1907 he sold the land to Betuel Heritzstad for $4,000.
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CLAYTON JOHNSON HISTORY

Clayton Johnson, son of Francis Johnson, married Ruby Koprek of Sauk Rapids, Minnesota in 1953.
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Mrs. Ruby Koprek came to Hannaford with her three children, Barbara, Jackie and Dick in 1950.  Her husband was killed in the "Belgian Bulge" in World War II in 1944.

Ruby and Clayton have two children, James and Shelley.  They lived in Hannaford for 6 years, then moving to Portland, Oregon and later moving to Fortuna, California where they established a Rest Home.  In 1975 Ruby and Clayton are semi-retired.

Barbara and Dick live in Portland, Oregon.  and Jackie and his wife and four children live in Vancouver, Washington.  Jackie works for Nabisco as bakery manager.

James and Shelly are at home, James going to law school and Shelly is a Junior in High School.
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HALVOR C. JOHNSON

On December 15, 1855 Halvor C. Johnson was born to Knut Johansen Hyttedalen and his wife, formerly Gro Halvorsdatter Hombredk in Oifjeld, near Rauland, Telemarken, Norway.

When Halvor was living in Norway he was known as Halvor Johnansen and he chose to retain this name in America, only Americanizing it to Johnson.  He first worked as a farm laborer near the Twin Cities in Goodhue and Dakota Counties and spent his winters working in the woods near Northfield and Dundas.  He took out his Homestead Rights in McPherson County, near Frederick and Leola, South Dakota.  He saved up enough money to put up a shack and buy a small amount of equipment to put in a few acres of crop.

In 1889 Halvor's father passed away at his home in Norway.  He bought a round trip ticket and went to visit his mother, brother and sisters.  At the same time he renewed acquaintance with Anne Groven in Aamotsdol.  Unbeknown to him, she had received a ticket to come to Hannaford from her brother E. H. Groven.  Halvor and Anne came on the same boat, he steerage, and she second-class.  They came by train past Niagara Falls on the way to the Groven home in Hannaford.  Here they stayed for a short time before going by train to Ellendale, North Dakota on their way to his Homestead in South Dakota.  While in Ellendale she had her wedding dress made by a seamstress.  They were married in Ellendale in 1890 and drove to the Homestead.  It turned out to be a hot, dry summer and they lost their crop to drought and grasshoppers.  Halvor sold the Homestead Rights and land to a Russian for $100.  He got a promissory note for the amount, but never collected on it.  They loaded their light wagon with their possessions and drove back to Hannaford across country leading a horse and a cow.  This was the fall of 1890.  Back at Hannaford they set up housekeeping in the house on the Custer place near town.

There was need for rock to be shipped out to Bismarck where the Northern Pacific Railroad was building a bridge across the Missouri River.  Rocks were picked on the bluffs of the Bald Hill Creek, loaded on flat cars to be shipped to Bismarck, by the men of the area.  This was one of several temporary jobs that helped support the family after coming back to Hannaford.  Their two oldest sons, Carl and Henry, were born during this time

Carl, December 15, 1890 and Henry, January 23, 1892.

Halvor looked over land in Barnes County and bought a half Section of Section 1-143-59 for $2.75 an acre.  A few years later the school land to the north in Griggs County was up for bids.  Several prospective buyers were on hand at the Court House in Cooperstown and bidding lasted throughout the day.  He bought the S1/2 of Section 36-144-59, Griggs County, for $18.00 per acre.  After they moved onto the farm in 1893, their third son, Albert, was born on November 24.  Joseph was born February 20, 1897 and daughters Hazel, March 8, 1899 and Ellen, December 14, 1900.

The first barn was made with posts and poles across for a roof covered with hay or straw.  Snowstorms would cover the barn with snow that had to be shoveled to get the door open in order to reach the stock inside.  The later barn, still on the farm, was the first hip roof in the area.  The original house was replaced by a larger one in 1903 and was built by the three Carrol brothers.

Treeless prairies of the Dakotas were a common sight.  River bottoms were well covered with a variety of trees and berry bushes.  In order to start a shelter grove around the homes, trees and bushes were brought from the Sheyenne, four miles to the east.  Cottonwood and a few ash seedlings, in addition to willow cuttings were planted on the west side of the farmstead.  Gooseberry and currant bushes were also brought the same way.  It wasn't long before tree agents came directly to the farms taking orders for young trees.  These were shipped in and distributed.  The box-elder grove north of the buildings was started this way in 1906.  Apple trees were added about the same time.

In those early days Indians would camp on the school Section on their way between reservations.  They would dig ginseng roots, which were supposed to having healing qualities.  The Indians would stop at the house for food or water and would offer game in return.

The children attended grade school in the Ladbury School about 2½ miles away in Barnes County.  Henry was needed on the farm so only finished the 6th grade.  Carl, Albert, Joseph and Ellen attended Concordia Academy.  Carl also attended a term at St. Olaf Academy in Northfield, Minnesota, while Joseph and Albert finished college at St. Olaf.

The Lutheran Church at Hannaford was organized in 1898.  Halvor was one of the charter members and a trustee until the late 1930's.  Before the Hannaford church was organized they attended services in Walum.

In 1920 the parents retired from farming, moved to Hannaford, and within two years built a house in town.  Carl then took over the farming.  Henry had died in January 1919 of the dreaded 1918 flu-pneumonia.  Albert became a practicing attorney and was vice-counsel for Norway for 25 years.  He married Alma J. Peterson of Pelican Rapids and they became the parents of three children, Robert, Ruth and Rebecca.  They made their home in Fargo.  Alma passed away in January of 1971 after which Albert married Mae Haroldson.  Joseph also became an attorney.  He was a member of the FBI for 22 years and following his retirement taught criminal law at the University of Louisville, Kentucky.  He married Elizabeth Buckley in 1932.  Joseph passed away August 17, 1970 at Tampa, Florida.  Hazel passed away March 28, 1914 having been ill since childhood.  Ellen married Louis Larson of Hannaford, June 1, 1927.  They farm near Hannaford.  Anne Groven Johnson died in July of 1932 and Halvor in December 1939.

Carl lived on the family farm until 1945 when he moved into Hannaford.  He married Emma Haugen Johnson, daughter of John J. Haugen, November 1, 1923.  She was a widow with a son Ernest.  The children born to the couple were Willard, Arthur, Esther, and twins Richard and Roland.  Carl died in June 1962.  He had served on the board of directors of the Karnak Farmers Elevator, as president of the Board of Directors of Security State Bank of Hannaford, as a member of the 1947 state legislature, as a county commissioner from 1954 until 1958, as a member of the Griggs County Hospital Board and as a trustee of Faith Lutheran Church.

Ernest Johnson married Della Nelson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Anton Nelson, and they farm near the Johnson home place in Barnes County.  Their children are:  

1. Wayne and Mavis (Mrs. Albert Grorud).  Willard was killed in action in the European Theatre during WW II.  Arthur married Florence Loge, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John Loge.  They have two children, Nancy and Gary.  Arthur is superintendent of the school at Carrington.  Esther lives in Long Beach, California with her husband Ronald Neuman and their children Carolyn and Jerry.

Roland farms and lives on the SE quarter of Section 32-14459 in Griggs County.  His wife, Helen Poe, is from Modesto, California.  They have four children, Connie, Dean, and twins Gwen and Gail.

Richard lives on and farms the home farm, which had been farmed by his grandfather and father before him.  He married Phyllis Bjugstad of Barron, Wisconsin and they have four children, Sandra, Lynn, Kenley and Laurie.
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LOUISE C. KAAS

Louise Kaas was born in Veldre, Hedmark, Norway, July 10, 1855, the daughter of Kristian and Pernille Kaas.  She - as baptized in the Veldre Church.  In 1861, when she was six years old the family left for the United States.  Taking passage on the sailing ship NORDLYSET at Oslo, they arrived in Quebec, Canada, July 10 of that year after 11 weeks and three days on the ocean.  There was much sickness among the passengers and many, mostly children, died and were buried in the Atlantic.

The family came to Long Coulee, Wisconsin near LaCross, where a brother of Mr. Kaas had settled three years previously.  Three years later, July 1866, they moved to Pigeon Falls, where Mr. Kaas secured land, built a home for his family, and remained the rest of his life.

The oldest of six children, Louise began teaching at 16 years.  When her mother died she had to take her youngest brother Albert, then of pre-school age, along with her to school when she taught.  Her first school term she received $22 a month.  She recalled vividly the days when she taught 85 robust boys and girls in the one room school provided at that time.  After 15 years of teaching in Wisconsin she went to Cass County, North Dakota and taught schools in the Fargo vicinity until 1889, when she moved to Griggs County.  Here she continued to teach until she retired in 1918.  She taught in rural schools in the Mabel Township area and in and around Walum.  When teaching in the Goplen School in Greenfield Township she would walk back and forth to Hannaford weekends.  Following her public school teaching of 40 years she taught Sunday School for 20 years.

Soon after moving to Griggs County, Louise built a home in Hannaford.  That was in 1907.  She continued to reside in Hannaford until 1947 when she moved to the home of a niece, Mrs. Melvin Jackson, in Minneapolis.  She died February 11, 1951 at the age of 94 years and seven months.  Of six brothers and sisters, Louise was the last survivor.

Louise Kaas was a faithful member of the Hannaford Lutheran Church.  Although she never married, she was intensely interested in young people and they loved to visit her home.
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HANS KALLAND

One of the old timers of Hannaford is Hans Kalland.  He arrived here from Norway in August 1904, going to his uncle David Kalland who had sponsored him and sent money for his ticket.  He worked on the Kalland farm until he had repaid his debt.

In 1906 he was employed by the Hannaford Dray Line, hauling freight from the railroad depot to the various stores with horses and dray wagon.  He also worked at the Livery Stable where they had horses and buggies for rent.  Traveling salesmen would come to town by train and it was his job to take them to other towns or farms wherever they had business to attend to.  He was also called by ministers and doctors whenever they had errands in the country and spent many a night at farm homes while the doctor delivered a baby or attended to other sick people.

Hans was an adventurous young man and after a few years went to McLean County to file on a homestead.  He stayed with a cousin there for a time but decided he did not like that part of the country so came back to Hannaford.

Then he went to Duluth, Minnesota where he secured a job as coachman for a rich widow.

He soon got tired of that kind of life and around 1918 he was employed as a motorman on the Street Cars of Duluth.  This job he held for about five years.

In the spring of 1925 he came to visit his Aunt Anna Kalland and work for a neighbor during spring's work.  He met a young woman during spring's work at Union Church.  After spring's work was completed he returned to Duluth but he was bitten by the "love bug" and came back to Hannaford for harvest and threshing.  He bought an old Dort car and during this time saw the young lady quite often.  In November 1925 he was married to Josephine Watne of rural Dazey, in Union church east of Hannaford.

They rented several farms in Barnes and Griggs County until he retired from Doc.  Hoffman's farm south of Walum in 1956 and moved into Hannaford.  They were members of Union Church and celebrated their 40th anniversary there in 1965.  He was in poor health for many years and died in 1969 at the age of 84 years

Hans was especially proud of his three children all who graduated from Hannaford High School.  Bernice (married to Vern Martin) manager of Midwest Motor Express in Valley City has a Bachelor of Science degree from V.  C. State College and is head librarian at the Public Library in Valley City and also teaches a course in remedial reading there.  Irvin (married Shirly Vogt Anderson) has a mechanical Engineering degree from North Dakota State University, lives at Hudson, Wisconsin and works for 3 M Company in St. Paul.  Joanne worked for several years at the Security State Bank of Hannaford, one year as a telephone operator at Jamestown and has spent the last 15 years as bookkeeper in the pharmacy at Fargo Clinic, in Fargo.  There are ten grandchildren and one great-grandchild.

Mrs. Kalland is a graduate of Dazey High School in 1918, and still lives in Hannaford as a companion to Mrs. Johnson.
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INGVALD A. KAMPEN

Ingvald A. Kampen was born in Biri, Norway, January 3, 1869.  Biri is in the south central part of Norway about 88 miles north of Oslo.  It is on the west side of Lake Mjösen near the lake's north end.  The nearest cities are Lillehammer six miles north of Biri and Gjövik fourteen miles south.  At the age of fifteen he came to America in 1884 with his parents, four brothers and -two sisters.  The family name was Anderson.  Ingvald kept the Anderson as his second name, using the initial A.  He considered taking his Mother's name for his surname, but there was a low rounded hill in the skyline, visible from the home in Biri.  "It was lit up by the sun first thing in the morning and caught the last rays of the sun in the evening.”  The name of the hill was Kampen.  That is where he got his na-me.  This practice was not uncommon in Norway.  The four brothers, Ole, Andrew, Peter J. and Paul A. , all kept the name Anderson.

The family came to Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin to the farm home, of his father's cousin, Ole P. Feiring.  Many families from Biri were already in the area, so the transition from Norway to America was not difficult.  The spring the family arrived, Mr. Feiring was moving to Cooperstown, North Dakota where he had purchased a Section of land.  Andrew, the oldest brother went with him and Ole, the second brother took over the Feiring farm at Pigeon Falls, and there the family remained.  Later Ole bought the farm and lived there until his death in 1937.  Brother Andrew acquired land in Mabel Township south of what is now Sutton.  When Ole married, the family moved to North Dakota and made their home with Andrew.  Their mother died there in 1911.  The father died in Norway while he was back there for a visit at the age of 79.

In Norway, Ingvald attended the district school for six years.  Each school term was for 18 weeks.  While residing in Pigeon Falls, Ingvald attended the rural school during the winter months.  One winter he attended the town school in Osseo.  The next winter he went to Albert Lea, Minnesota and studied at the Academy, a private school offering grade and high school studies.  From there he went to Luther College in Decorah, Iowa where he took high school subjects and two years of college.  Next he went to the University of Minnesota where he earned his B. A. degree and was also on the University football team.  In 1904 he got his Master's degree with a major in English language and literature.  To finance his Schooling he worked on farms, but mostly taught rural schools.  While teaching at Medora, North Dakota he met and married Estella May Harmon on August 19, 1903.  Mrs. Kampen died September 25, 1909 leaving one daughter, Winifred, now Mrs. O. H. Hoffman of Hannaford.

After teaching some years, Mr. Kampen acquired the Hannaford Enterprise in 1905 and became the editor and publisher.  He moved there with his wife and infant daughter, Winifred.  He was instrumental in getting Hannaford incorporated as a village in 1906.  In 1913 he sold the Hannaford Enterprise to his brother Paul.

In 1907, Mr. Kampen became Griggs County Superintendent of Schools, which position he held for ten years.  There were many rural schools in the county at that time.  He would visit all of them every term traveling by horse and buggy.  He began the practice of issuing a monthly school bulletin and also having an annual County school play day.

Before World War I times had been rather rough on farmers.  His brother Andrew had made some poor investments and was having a rough time of it.  He had three Sections of land so Mr. Kampen purchased half of it and they farmed together until Andrew's death in 1927.  That same year his brother Paul came down with cancer.  Kampen sold everything and returned to Hannaford to help Paul with the Enterprise.  Paul died in 1928.  After his death, Kampen and Paul's widow continued to publish the paper until 1935.

From 1939 until 1950, Mr. Kampen was secretary of the Mjösen Oplands Bygdelag, a nationwide organization of Americans from the, southeast districts of Norway.  Mr. Kampen went back to teaching rural schools during World War II, as teachers were hard to get.

His later years he made his home with his daughter and her husband and family, Dr. and Mrs. O. H. Hoff - man and Joan, Larry and Verne.  He died September 28, 1953 at the age of 84, the last survivor of the family of five boys and two girls.

I. A. Kampen
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KERBER-STEINER

William F. Kerber was born in 1854 in Germany.  Hearing of the free land in America, he came and homesteaded the NE quarter of Section 20-144-58 of the Dakota Territory, Broadview Township in the 1880's.  He married Marie Krapf, who had come from Germany to visit the Jacob Steiner's in 1904.  Kerber's lived in a granary for a few months until their house was built.

Marie and William Kerber had four children:  

Emma, Robert, Flora, and Edward.  William died after only six years of marriage.  Marie then rented the land to someone and took her small children back to Germany since she had no way of supporting them here.  She returned in 1924 when the children were grown.  Robert then farmed his mother's land.  Emma worked for the Andrew Morgan's at Luverne.  She could not speak English and they could not speak German, but they managed to communicate.  Edward and Flora worked on farms near Valley City.  Robert farmed only four years and then went east.  The homestead was again rented to others.  Marie Kerber owned this quarter until her death in 1959.  Her grandson, Howard Steiner, bought it.

Emma Kerber married William Henry August Steiner in 1925.  William was better known as August.  His father, Jacob, had homesteaded in 1885 in Steele County.  In December 1887 Jacob's fiancee, Eva Schaal, came from Germany to join him.  They traveled by oxen over the ice of the Sheyenne River to Valley City to be married.  August, born in 1891, was one of three children.  His parents retired in Valley City in 1926.

August and Emma Steiner rented various farms in the Karnak area.  August supplemented their income by putting up ice during the winter, driving school bus with a team of horses and a sleigh with covered box, and custom sheep shearing.  Emma and August's three children, Howard, Leah, and Lester, were born in the Wild maternity home in Cooperstown in the late 1920's.  In 1943 they bought what was known as the Langdon farm, Section 7-144-59, Greenfield Township and farmed together until August's death in 1961.  Emma moved to Hannaford a couple of years later.  Her son, Lester, married Doreen Stangeland and they bought the farm from Emma.  They are presently living there with their children, Scott and Stacey.

Howard Steiner worked in Fargo the winter of 194647.  There he met Eva Block who was a nurse at St. Luke's Hospital.  They were married in 1947.  Howard and his bride lived in an apartment within August and Emma's house until 1949 when they bought the NW quarter of Section 18-144-59 in Greenfield Township.  It was known as the Warn place.  They have four children:  

Dayle, William, Nichi, and Dorothy.

As a young woman, Leah Steiner worked as a secretary in Fargo.  There she met and married Frank Green.  They and their two children, Robert and Karen, live in Cheyenne, Wyoming.
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ALLEN J. KLIPFEL

I moved down to Hannaford in February 1968 from Cando.  I was born on a farm thirteen miles north of Cando to Mr. and Mrs. Jack Klipfel.  I have one brother living in Klamath Falls, Oregon.

When I moved down here, I stayed with Gerald Anderson from the Nineteenth of February until the Twenty-eighth of April.  Then I bought a twenty-eight foot trailer house that I got from a guy in Cando.  I lived in the trailer house for six years, and then bought Mrs. Gina Lerum's home on April 11, 1974.
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GEORGE KNAUSS, JR. 

George Knauss, Jr. - Son of George Knauss, Sr. and Sarah Staples was born December 14, 1879 at Bethlehem, Pennsylvania.  His folks came to North Dakota when he was young and they lived on a farm near Lakota.  He helped haul grain from their farm (by team) across frozen Stump Lake to market at Lakota in the winter.

He married Mary Ellen Brown on July 15, 1900.  They lived on a farm with his folks for a while and then moved to Binford, where he worked in an Elevator with Fred G. Lewis.  Here, they had a son, Ralph C. Knauss born February 24, 1902.  They moved to Rogers, North Dakota where he worked in an Elevator and Rachel Lillian joined the family in July of 1903.  Later, they moved to Hannaford, which became their permanent residence.  Here, Fred was born in 1908, Harry L. in 1910, Elizabeth and Margaret, twins, in 1912, (were delivered by Dr. R. D. Benson), Donald in 1914 and Helen in 1916.

The Knausses lived in the Tom Swingen home when they first came to Hannaford and in the fall bought their home across the road from Dr. O. H. Hoffman's dentist office where they lived for sixty-eight years.  One of the lots of the Knauss home was given to the Lutheran Church for a parsonage and one sold to M. H. Lunn.  The old home remains on the comer lot.

While in Hannaford, George managed the Farmers Elevator for thirty years, during which time he saw many good crops brought in and also strived through the lean years of the depression.  He became Postmaster in 1937 and was in office until he retired at age 72.

George was an avid baseball fan, a Presbyterian, democrat, Mason, worked on the town board and was Griggs County Commissioner for many years.  He was a sportsman and spent many hours waiting for the geese to fly in to the old slough.  The other hunters wondered why he could sit in the boat so long, not knowing he had lined his pants with fur.  Another favorite pastime in later years was fishing for the big ones on Lake Ashtabula with "Bill" Weller and "Steiner."

While George was busy with all his activities, Mrs. Knauss (Mae) wasn't loafing, taking care of the family of eight healthy, vigorous children.  George did cut their hair and put soles on all those shoes.

Ralph Knauss, graduated from Jamestown College, and married Alice Hempstead at Jamestown in 1925.  They lived in Hannaford for a short time and then he went to work for Armour & Company, West Fargo, St. Paul and Indianapolis.  He later worked for Thorp Real Estate, Minneapolis.  They now reside at 1888 Juliet Ave., St. Paul, Minnesota

Rachel Knauss, attended Jamestown College, taught school, married Berlin Day, Spiritwood.  He died in 1945.  She later married Rollin Day.  Two children were born to her and Berlin:  

John Day, MacArthur, California

George Day, Minneapolis, Minnesota Rachel now resides at Burney, California

Fred G. Knauss attended school in Hannaford, married Lucile VanScoik of Jamestown.  They farmed and he later became Postmaster of Hannaford until his retirement in 1974.  They now reside at Cooperstown.  Children:  

Phyllis (Mrs. John Nelson), Burns, Oregon

Patricia (Mrs. Duane Baukol), Cooperstown

Fred, Portland, Oregon

Mary Jane, Dazey

Rebecca (Mrs. M. S. Moe), Mt Ayr, Iowa

Harry L. married Eleanor Peterson of Sutton.  They lived in the Hannaford area for a number of years, moved to Anaconda, Montana and later to Spokane, Washington where he works for the Burlington Railroad Children:  

Donald, Idaho

Caroline (Mrs. Pat Michielli, Jr.), Spokane, Washington.  He is now married to Barbara Jones and they reside in Spokane.

Elizabeth married Carl Lyngby of Hannaford, December 24, 1931.  They lived at Cooperstown, North Dakota where he worked with Greenland and Lunde (John Deere) and Mrs. Lyngby (Bess) worked at the Extension Office.  They now reside at Grand Forks where Carl works for John Deere and Mrs. Lyngby for the Extension Service.  Children:  

Joan (Mrs. Rick Brown), Grand Forks

Allison Winslow, Germany.

Margaret Knauss - married Tupper Howden, Cooperstown, June 1940.  Tupper owned and operated the Howden's Drug Store for many years.  They reside at Cooperstown and Mesa, Arizona in the winter.  Children:  

Diane (Mrs. Dennis Larson) Mayville, North Dakota

Richard, Denver, Colorado

Jean (Mrs. Jerome A. Marshke) Valley City

William (Bill) Denver, Colorado.

Donald Knauss married Letha Kolberg, Hannaford, in 1933.  They farmed, operated a store in Hannaford for many years and have been residing in Valley City while he worked for the State Highway Department.  Children:  

Dona Lu (Mrs. Lowell Thompson), Grand Forks

James, Cincinnati, Ohio

Ronald, Duluth, Minnesota

Donald, Jr., Verona, North Dakota

Helen Knauss - married to Olaf Broten, Hannaford on December 15, 1940.  Helen was the first clerk of the Griggs Company Draft Board in October 1940.  They have farmed at Dazey since 1941.  Children:  

Linda (Mrs. Vernon Schuler), Valley City

Louise (Mrs. Paul Henderson), Tower City

James, District Manager, Clark Equipment Company, Grand Forks

Judith Ann, Dazey, North Dakota

Mr. Knauss died in March of 1970 and Mrs. Knauss, age 92, lives with her daughter, Helen on the farm at Dazey, where she still keeps an eye on the Knauss family.

Source Page 145

AMANDA SWINGEN LARSON

Amanda Swingen was born in Lake Mills, Iowa on April 17, 1894, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Martin Swingen.  After graduation from the Lake Mills High School in 1913, Amanda went to North Dakota to join her oldest brother Henry, who had previously come to Hannaford.  After attending the Valley City Normal School, Amanda was hired as teacher at the Curtis School in Karnak, North Dakota.  From there she went to the Revere School, Revere, North Dakota.  Here she met Ludvig Larson, who she married on February 14, 1918 at Minot, North Dakota.  They lived above the general store, which Ludvig operated in Revere.

Ludvig entered the service during the late summer, and by October 1918 he contracted influenza at Camp Grant, Illinois and died, leaving Amanda a widow who was expecting a child.  She gave birth to a daughter, Helen Lucille on January 22, 1919, and shortly thereafter she and the child moved to Hannaford, residing in the upstairs of Andrew Fortney's house.

In 1924 Amanda purchased the Aarestad home, where she and Lucille lived until Lucille graduated from the Hannaford High School in 1936.  They then moved to Moorhead, Minnesota so that Lucille could go to Concordia College.  After Lucille graduated in 1940 she taught home economics at Annandale, Minnesota and Anoka, Minnesota.  Amanda stayed on in Moorhead until 1945 when she moved back to Hannaford and again set up residence in her house there.

In 1942 Amanda had begun to notice difficulty with walking, and by 1943 it was diagnosed as peripheral neuritis at Rochester Clinic.  During her last years she endured many trips to the hospital and got around only with the aid of a walker.  Her sister Julia Holte lived with her and cared for her.  On December 17, 1954 Amanda died at the age of 60 years.  Her daughter Lucille married Warren Gale Forslund on October 4, 1953 and their home is in Arden Hills, Minnesota.  Warren works with the Health-Science Planning Unit at the University of Minnesota and Lucille teaches home economics to retarded children at the Child Development Center in St. Paul, Minnesota.
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ANDREW LARSON

Andrew Larson was born in Dalsland, Sweden, August 3.  1860- and came to America when 19 years of age to Kandiyohi County in Minnesota.  Mina Olson was born in Varmland, Sweden, November 20, 1865 and came to America with her parents when she was not yet one year old to Brooten, Minnesota.  They were married at Benson, Minnesota in 1884 by Reverend S. Almklov, the Lutheran pastor.  Rev Almklov later left the ministry and became a druggist, establishing the Almklov Drug Store in Cooperstown.  He attended Andrew and Mina's Golden Wedding Anniversary in Hannaford in 1934.

Andrew took out his Homestead Rights near Minong, Wisconsin where he farmed and also worked in the steel mills at Duluth and the sawmills at Minong.  In 1908, encouraged by friends, the family moved to Hannaford.  Here they worked for John Wam on his farm in Greenfield Township.  A few years later they rented the Claus Jackson farm nearby.  The fall of 1913 they moved to Benson County where they farmed for four years until Mr. Warn asked them to come back to Hannaford in 1918 due to Mr. Wam's failing health.  They rented this farm until 1935 when Andrew Larson passed away.  Mina Larson passed away in May of 1953.

Four children were born to Andrew and Mina Larson.  Annie, the oldest, was born February 24, 1885.  She married Nels Hill and moved to Benson County and then Canada where she lived the rest of her life.  She died in the early 1930's.  Mary, the third child, was born February 13, 1898, and has lived most of her life in the Hannaford area.  She cared for her mother for many years and worked at a variety of jobs, most recently as the cook in the local restaurant.

The brothers, Daniel and Louis, rented various farms in the community.  They bought their first tractor in 1928, doing tractor farming and considerable custom work.  They also helped their father when needed.  During this time they were experimenting with tractor wheel cleaners.  All tractors had steel wheels equipped with spade lugs.  The main difficulty was keeping the wheels from filling up with dirt.  After experimenting for a year or two they succeeded in making a successful cleaner upon which patents were obtained.  The Trip-O-Sales Company was then formed consisting of John Moody, Dan and Louis Larson.  Manufacturing was done in the basement of the Hannaford Mercantile Store.  The wheel cleaners were sold to dealers throughout the United States.  Several sets were sold to the International Harvester Export Company of Chicago, Illinois, who in turn shipped to their agencies in several foreign countries.  This was a flourishing business between the years 1929 and 1939 until rubber tires replaced steel wheels on tractors.

Dan married Etta Anna Marjorie Derraugh, better known as Betty, on November 7, 1923.  Betty had been born in Ottawa, Canada, on January 9, 1903.  They were married in Kindersley, Saskatchewan and shortly afterwards came to Hannaford to make their home.  Betty died July 26, 1934 leaving one son Robert Daniel.  Another son, William Louis died as a child.  After his Mother passed away, Robert lived with his grandmother and Aunt Mary until he entered military service and later Concordia College.  Bob married Dorothy Erickson of Fisher, Minnesota and they have four children, Elizabeth, Roger, Ruth and Marilyn.  They live in Moorhead, Minnesota where Bob is a teacher in the high school.

In 1938 Dan was married to Emily Nevland, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Arne Nevland and they are the parents of two daughters:  

1. Bonnie lives in Minot, North Dakota with her husband Milbert Zastrow and children Bradley and Shelly.  Donna lives in Hannaford where she is office manager for Vincent Construction and manager of the Hannaford Supply.

Dan, who was born August 28, 1892, farmed until 1942 when he began work in the Hannaford Meat Market.  He had worked there also while still farming.  During succeeding years he worked in the Farmers Elevator, managed the Hannaford Auditorium and worked in meat markets in Hannaford, Cooperstown and Valley City.

Louis was born May 5, 1900 and has farmed in the Hannaford community all his life.  He married Ellen Johnson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Halvor Johnson, June 1, 1927.  They have lived and farmed on Section 6-144-59 in Greenfield Township since 1941.  Their children are:  

1. Dorothy, Donald and Paul.  Dorothy lives in Moorhead with her husband, Donald Dale, registrar at Concordia College, and children, Anne, Robert and Mark.  Paul married Betty Michaelson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Omer Michaelson and they have three children, Naomi, Thomas and Rebecca.  Paul teaches at the Junior College at Fergus Falls, Minnesota.  Donald and his wife, Lois Bjorke of Abercrombie, North Dakota, farm in Bartley Township and live on the W ½ of Section 14-144-60.  Their children are:  

2. Daniel, Lee Anna and Lu Andrea.
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HANS LENNING

Mr. and Mrs. Hans Lenning came to the Hannaford vicinity in 1908.  She was the former Tillie Aasen and was married in Pennsylvania in 1893.

Hans was a handy man in the area - paper hanging, painting, decorating and carpenter work.  He and Olaus Kraag built the former locker plant.  He was a great gardener and fisherman.

Six children were born to the Lennings:

Bertha (Mrs. Reir Olgard)

Margaret (Mrs. Oscar Ashland)

Lewis, Tom, Lars and Harry.

His last home in Hannaford was up by the railroads back of the signal tower where his garden was praised by all.
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MATHIAS LYNGBY FAMILY

Mathias Lyngby was born October 26, 1884, in Biri, Norway to Karenius and Agnetha Lyngby.  He was baptized and confirmed in the Biri Church.  He was one of seven children, and there is one surviving brother, still living in Norway.  Mathias, or Matt as he was called came to America at the young age of seventeen.  He came to Hannaford, and his first job there, was working in the livery stable, which was in connection with the hotel, and I am sure that he did other odd jobs around there, too.

On September 16, 1911, Mathias Lyngby and Karen Thuen (who also worked at the hotel) were married, in Cooperstown, North Dakota.  The minister was N. J. Vikingstad, Lutheran Pastor, and witnesses were Ole Forseth, and Valborg Christianson.

Mathias was a jack-of-all-trades.  He drove the dray for a number of years, and in the early thirties, he ran the threshing rig at the Ted Stone farm, east of Hannaford.  In 1933-34, he operated a meat market located on the north side of Hannaford.  In the late 30's and 40's he worked on the Great Northern Railroad, and retired from there, at the age of sixty-two.  Farm work was another job that kept him busy, -during the summer months.  He worked on the Odney Winningland Farm, in the fields and with farm chores.  Karen, his wife, also worked there for a couple of summers, and helped with the cooking and cleaning.

Mathias did much cement work, too, building sidewalks, cisterns, and chimneys.  During the time when he was in the dray business, he would also haul tanks of water for the cisterns in Hannaford.  The water was hauled from the Bald Hill Creek.

Skiing was also a sport that interested him very much.  This was in the 1933-36 years.  He did not do any skiing himself, but he would help keep the ski slope in good condition and help measure the distance the skiers would jump.  Many tournaments were held in Hannaford, in the early 30's.

Mathias and Karen had five children, all born in Hannaford:  

Carl of Grand Forks, North Dakota, married and has two daughters.  Amelia (Mrs. Orval Jahr), of Moorhead, Minnesota, married, and has three daughters and four grandchildren.  Ingvold, living in Littleton, Colorado, married and has one son and two granddaughters.  Reynard, living in Moorhead, Minnesota, married and has five children and two grandsons.  Myrtle (Mrs. Melvin Corneliussen), Comstock, Minnesota, has four children and one granddaughter.

In 1971, Reynard and his wife, Marlyn, and their family visited in Norway with many relatives.  There, they visited Uncle Olaf Lyngby, (Mathias' brother), and Aunt Kathinka Asp, (Karen's Sister), in Stienkjer, who is 88 years old at this time.

Mathias died July 6, 1960.

Karen Thuen was born in Trondhjem, Norway, March 29, 1890 to Leonard and Amelia Thuen.  Her father was a shoemaker, in Norway.  She was baptized on the Seventeenth of May, in the Malm Church, that same year.  She came to America, at the age of nineteen.  Karen found work at the hotel and worked there until she was married to Mathias.  Michael later went to Canada to farm.

Karen was very active in the Hannaford Lutheran Ladies Aid.  Her favorite pastime was crocheting and she donated many lovely articles to the Ladies Aid bazaars.  Her brother, Michael, of Canada is still living at the age of 90.  Her sister, Kathinka Asp lives in Stienkjer, Norway and will be 89 years old at her next birthday.

Karen and Mathias had fifteen grandchildren.  She died October 24, 1963.

MALMINS 

Gabriel Malmin and Anna Lee were married in Norway and came to Hannaford in 1914.  In 1915 they worked for Arne Skjelset on a farm east of Hannaford.  In 1916 and 1917 they farmed on the Ludvig Hareland farm east of Hannaford.  In 1918 they moved to a farm 31h miles northwest of Hannaford - the old Guest farm.  They had four children - George, Arthur deceased in the 1920's, Gladys, and Agnes.  They also lived on a farm in the southeast corner of Hannaford.  Gabriel passed away in 1940.  Anna Malmin worked in Seattle for over 10 years and rived her retirement in Hannaford in the old Lizzie Simonson house.  She passed away in 1966.  George works for the Burlington Northern and lives in Minot.  Gladys married Byron Dailey and now lives in Mandan.  Byron passed away in 1960.  They had five children - Rita Rae - now Mrs. Clint Kopp who lives in Waucondia, Illinois, Rosemary - now Mrs. John Swanson who lives in Auburn, Washington.  They have two girls, Renee - now Mrs. Dan Welmer and they live in Mandan.  They have one girl.  Tom and John are at home in Mandan.  Agnes Malmin married Gerald Pomeroy and they live in Renton, Washington.  They have five girls - Shirley - now Mrs. Don Lindberg.  They have two girls - Patti - now Mrs. Steve Cramer, they have a boy and a girl and live in Arizona.  - Kaye works and lives in Seattle.  - Marcia is married to John Weaver and lives in Seattle.  - Lois is at home and works in Renton.
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MR. AND MRS. MELVIN MARKUSON

Melvin Markuson was born near Kenyon, Minnesota, on May 17, 1882, the youngest of 15 children of Knute and Martha Markuson, who had immigrated to America from Norway in 1853.

Melvin moved to the Hannaford area when a young man and was married to Edna Jackson there on July 20, 1918.  Edna was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Claus Jackson and the twin sister of Inez.  Edna was born in the Courthouse at Cooperstown August 30, 1896 while her father was sheriff of Griggs County.  After their marriage, Melvin and Edna lived in New Rockford, North Dakota until 1920 when they moved to Montana where he was active in the elevator business.  At the time of Melvin's death in 1936 the family was living in Richey, Montana where he managed the Farmers' Cooperative Elevator.

After Melvin's death, the family moved back to Hannaford to make their home.  While in Hannaford, Edna was in the restaurant and grocery business until her death in a car accident in July 1968.  Their children were Phyllis, Mrs. Joe Schaller of Jamestown, North Dakota

Douglas, Billings, Montana

Dale and Gerald, both Moorhead, Minnesota.  Their oldest daughter, Geraldine, died in 1934 at the age of 15.
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NELS AND MARTIN MARKUSON

Nels and Martin Markuson were brothers of Melvin Markuson.  Nels was born December 14, 1869 and died April 21, 1937.  He was a grain buyer for Olson & Cox at Hannaford for about 25 years and later moved to Montana.  Nels married May Olson who died in 1903.  Later he married Anna Nelson, daughter of Charles Nelson, who was one of the earliest settlers in the Hannaford area.

Martin was born December 21, 1868.  He never married and died from smoke inhalation while fighting a prairie fire at Hannaford on May 12, 1889.
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LAURES McCALLSEN

As a young man Laures McCallsen came from Lansboro, Minnesota, to work in his uncle Thinglestod's Hardware Store at Binford, North Dakota for a while.  In 1905, he came to Hannaford, North Dakota and found employment as a clerk at the Claus Jackson Store.

Laures father Conrad McCallsen and his mother Johanna, came from Hardingar, Norway.  They settled around Lansboro, Minnesota on a homestead of 80 acres of land.  Conrad was a Methodist minister and preached throughout the area in the pioneer homes.  The offering usually consisted of pennies from the families.

Conrad and Johanna had eight children and both parents passed away young.  The oldest boy, Albert, continued the farm and the oldest girl, Amelia, took care of the children and house.  They kept the children together.

Ida Efteland came from Shelly, Minnesota in 1905 as a young lady seeking work.  Some of her friends from Shelly had come to Hannaford a few years before.  Ida found employment as a waitress at the Nording and Alm Hotel.  Ida's parents were born in Norway.  Her father Enock Efteland was born in Helleland, Norway.  He came by ship to Canada, and then went to Coon Prairie, Wisconsin, where he spent three years doing various jobs.  He came to Norman County, Minnesota, where Shelly is now, and took a homestead of 160 acres.  A part of his home became a part of the townsite of Shelly.  He acquired and farmed 320 acres or more of land.

When Ida and Laures McCallsen were married in 1906, they lived upstairs in the house now owned by Oscar Ashland, the former Omen Westley house, and Rasmuss Olson and his wife lived downstairs.  Mr. Olson was a blacksmith.

Laures worked at the store for about a year, than he changed jobs, and sold Dr. Wards Medicine in a medicine wagon around the country.

In 1909, he built a house, which is owned by his son LeRoy and wife Mae.  The same year he became a rural mail carrier, a position he held for 34 years.  The pay was only $60.00 a month.  He had miles for the mail route.  His slogan was, "the mail had to be delivered, rain or shine, even in snow storms in the coldest weather.”  He had an open cutter in winter snow and his only heat was a foot warmer, good horsehide robes, and good warm mittens.  He drove his 32 miles a day.  In the winter, when he had gone half the route, he stopped to feed the mules and had a hot dinner.  There were so many kind patrons on his route.  Some of the older women knitted wool wristlets, and mittens, which helped to keep him, warm during the winter months.  I remember a couple names

Hetlands, Swensen, and many more that Dad said were so kind to him.

When I was a child, I remember Dad coming home in the dark in the winter.  He was chilled to the bone on the cold days.  Then he had to put the mules in the bam and hurry to the post-office with the mailbag.  When he came home supper was ready, and then he had the chores to do.  When son LeRoy got older, he always did the chores for his Dad, and so did Raymond when he got older.  The mules had to be led over to Jackson's well to be watered, which was about a block away.

Dad had to haul mail on Christmas Day in the early years but on Christmas Eve when the children had their program at the Lutheran Church, which was located about a mile from our house.  Dad would take mother and all us small children in the cutter to the church program (after he had been on the route all day).  He was a very kind Dad.  He would then wait until the program was over and come and get us.

Ida and Laures had five children, Claris, married to Bert Kent, in Casselton, North Dakota Then there was Edna who passed away at the age of fifteen years.  LeRoy who married Mabelle Cederson, who lives at Hannaford, North Dakota, Mildred who is married to Earl Sager at Anaconda, Montana, and Raymond who lives in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Ida passed away in 1955, and Laures passed away in 1967.

LeRoy and Mae McCallsen (son of L. A. McCallsen and Mabelle, daughter of Charles and Jennie Cederson) are living in Hannaford.  Both were born in Hannaford.

A daughter Judith (Judy), and a son Jerome are the two children.  They are both graduates of Hannaford High School.

Judy married Donald Isaacson in 1960, and has twin boys, James and Jeffrey who were born in 1963.  Mr. Isaacson is an employee of Bell Telephone.

Jerome graduated from University of Grand Forks and a C. P. A. now employed with Minnesota State Legislature.  He resides at St. Paul, Minnesota.

LeRoy, employee of Great Northern Maintenance of Ways at Hannaford for 29 years.  He served in the Military Services in World War II. 

Mae has been employed throughout the years at Fred Mathisons Hotel, C. M. Jacobson Cafe, Joe Meyers Cafe, operated "Mae's Cafe" for five years, Donald Knauss Mercantile, Don Lende Cafe in Walum, and now in 1975 has been employed for eleven years at the Stri-King Cafe.

The greatest and most welcome surprise in our family was the birth of twin grandsons, James and Jeffrey Isaacson.
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MR. AND MRS. ANDREW MIDSTOKKE

Andrew and Inga Midstokke moved from Luverne, North Dakota to Hannaford in 1936.  Andrew was the Section foreman on the Great Northern Railway at Hannaford from 1936 until his retirement in 1943.  He died in 1945 at age 69.

His wife, Inga Palm, still lives in Hannaford as does his daughter, Bergetta Rich.

A son, Magnus, is deceased.  Another son, Arnold, lives in California.
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THE ROGER NILSEN FAMILY HISTORY

Roger and Janice along with their sons Timothy aged 41h and David who was 9 months old, moved to Hannaford in June of 1963.

Roger was to be the telephone lineman for Inter-Community Telephone Company.

They lived in a trailer house behind the George Knauss home until July of 1964.  In 1965 they purchased the Donald Knauss home.

Brenda Sue was born on September 19, 1969.
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ARNE NEVLAND

Arne Nevland was born in Gjesdal, Norway on June 21, 1882.  He was the youngest of four children born to Lors Torkelson Nevland and Ingeboro Oftedal.  She died when Arne was two years old.  His father remarried.  His second wife was Marta Haye.  To this union, five children were born.  She died in 1920.

After the death of his mother, he spent most of his childhood with relatives who later came to America to make their homes.  In the early 1900's, he said farewell to his father and families, and joined others who settled here.  He got a job working for the late Sam Langford who lived on a farm near Cooperstown.  He couldn't speak a word of English or understand the language.  He became discouraged and homesick for his native land many a time, but as time went on, more friends and acquaintances began arriving.  Then he and a few of his friends started working on the Northern Pacific railway.  Charlie Cederson was Section foreman at the time.  They were neighbors and friends in the country and in town until his death.

Arne decided to go into farming and farmed the O. M. Westley place east of Hannaford, now known as the Melvin Haugen farm.

On February 6, 1909, he married Tina Marie Samuelson of Sandnes, Norway.  She came by boat, but luckily missed the one she was to sail on which was the Titanic, and that sank at sea.  She arrived at Rochelle, Illinois, where she worked for some time, then came to Cooperstown where she worked for the Greenlands.  (There was a Nora Greenland in that family.)  It was at that time Arne met his future wife.  They were married in Union Church, each having three attendants.  It was a very cold day and the janitor had forgotten to heat the church.  The celebration lasted three days.

Two daughters, Mrs. Dan (Emily) Larson (Griggs County Nursing Home), and Mrs. A. L. (Signe) Brown of Livingston, Montana were born on that farm.

Four boys were born on a farm north of Hannaford

Gust, of Wilton and Tom, of Miles City

Montana.  Two have passed away.

Mrs. Nevland's mother, Mrs. Gretts Samuelson, one brother William Samuelson and a sister Mrs. Ingvald (Karina) Arneson, came later to reside in Griggs County.  A sister, Mrs. Rachel Brown remained in Chicago.  One brother Ingvold was a sea captain.  William is the only remaining living relative in that family, and he is a resident of a Nursing Home in Bremerton, Washington.

Arne's brother, Torkel Nevland also came to the United States A. and remained until his death.  Two half brothers spent some time here, but returned to Norway.  A brother, Martin Nevland, visited here in 1974 and also in 1967 along with his sister Lisa Hegre and husband who visited Arne.  Torkel had passed away shortly before they arrived.

Arne was a rugged pioneer.  He worked hard all his life.

During World War I, Mrs. Nevland knitted countless numbers of sweaters and socks for the service men.

As an added income, Arne started raising pure-bred German Police Dogs and was sent overseas for Military purposes.

Arne was told he had a gold mine when he lived north of Hannaford.  He sold hundreds of loads of sand and gravel.  Many never paid him.  He also dug a large number of graves by hand at Union, St. Olaf, and Hannaford cemeteries.

He retired from farming in the mid-forties and moved to Hannaford.

After years of hard work, he wasn't content to remain idle.  so he started a dray line, hauling coal for one thing.  He never did forget the time when he hauled a load to the wrong house (Dr. O. H. Hoffman and Mrs. Hoffman - Winifred), who had just finished house cleaning.  Later he started gardening not only for himself, but for others.  He kept their trees and landscaped areas weed free and also the park where he spent many hours digging and weeding.  He also helped plant many trees.

Mrs. Nevland suffered a stroke and was bed-ridden for almost seven and a half years.  She died in 1957.

Arne who was the oldest citizen in Hannaford, became a resident of the Griggs County Nursing Home in 1974 and died in October that same year at the age of 92 years.  He and his wife, one son, one grandson and grandmother Samuelson are buried in the Hannaford Lutheran Cemetery.
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RASMUS (HELGELAND) OLSON

Rasmus Olson was born October 2, 1866, at Helgeland, Stavanger, Norway.  He was baptized and confirmed in the Hoiland Church at Sandnes.  At the age of 21, he emigrated to America, first settling at Granite Falls, Minnesota , where he farmed for several years.  Then journeying westward by team and wagon, he came to Cooperstown where he engaged in blacksmithing.  He returned to Norway in 1904.  There he was married to Maria Buggeland June 3, 1906.

He returned to America and resumed his former trade at Cooperstown.  In 1907 he came to Hannaford where he again entered the blacksmith business.  He continued in his business until his death on October 29, 1940.  He was in partnership with John Ober for a number of years.  Their son, Otto, took over the business after his death.  Otto, their only child, was born at Hannaford on October 6, 1909.  He attended school in Hannaford and went into blacksmithing with his father.  He married Clara Lerum, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Lars Lerum of rural Hannaford, on April 11, 1937, in Hannaford.  They were active members of Faith Lutheran Church.  Mrs. Olson died August 26, 1957 and Otto died on May 19, 1973 in the Griggs County Nursing Home in Cooperstown.  He had retired from his business a number of years before due to ill health.

Their children are:  

1. Charlotte Oline, born February 28, 1941 in Hannaford.  She attended schools there and worked at Security State Bank before going to Fargo.  She attended Business College there and then worked for Northwestern Bell Tel.  Company She married Roger Walter Olgard at Hannaford, May 6, 1961.  They have two sons:  

2. Shawn Scott, born October 6, 1962 in Moorhead, Minnesota and Mark Lane, born October 26, 1967 in Fargo.  They make their home in Fargo.

Darrel Richard, born November 11, 1942 in Hannaford.  He attended schools there and also North Dakota State University in Fargo, graduating from Concordia College in Moorhead.  He worked with the missiles before attending Luther Theological Seminary in St. Paul.  He married

Phyllis Diane Kent of Casselton on August 17, 1968, in Casselton.  They have two sons:  

Matthew Kent, born January 21, 1970 in Sisseton, South Dakota while Darrel was an intern pastor at Peever, South Dakota , and Paul Richard, born March 12, 1974, in Redfield, South Dakota when Darrel was serving as pastor in Orient and Falkton, South Dakota.  They now make their home in Ellendale, where Darrel is pastor of Christ the King Lutheran Church.

Rodney Lane, born September 17, 1948 in Valley City.  He attended schools at Hannaford and graduated from Valley City State College.  He has been teaching elementary school in Hallock, Minnesota since that time.  He married Pauline Kay Wangerud of Fargo, on November 28, 1970, in Fargo.  They have one son, Brian Lane, born August 18, 1974, in Grand Forks.

Constance Diane, born July 13, 1951, in Valley City.  She attended school in Hannaford and then Valley City State College.  On August 28, 1971, she married Lloyd Doyle Hass of Valley City, in Hannaford.  They have one son, Kevin Duane, born February 27, 1972.  They now live in Fargo, after previously living in Valley City, Grand Forks and Moorhead, Minnesota
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FLOYD I. OLSON FAMILY

Floyd Olson son of Gust and Agnes (Anderson) Olson, born at Cooperstown, North Dakota on February 22, 1925.  Baptized and confirmed in the Lutheran Faith at rural Hova Lutheran Church.  Attended school at Cooperstown, North Dakota Married Elna Knutson of Hannaford, North Dakota , daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Knutson.  Born at Binford, North Dakota on April 23, 1926 and moved to Hannaford with her parents in 1934.  Baptized at Binford, North Dakota and confirmed in the Lutheran Faith at Hannaford.  Attended school in Hannaford and graduated from Hannaford High School in 1944.  Lived at Cooperstown after being married until 1949 when we moved to Hannaford where Floyd worked with the Great Northern Railway and at Crane Johnson Lumber Company until going into carpenter work by himself in 1964 and is still doing the same.  We have 4 children:  

Jerry born in 1945, graduated from Hannaford High School in 1963 attended Valley City State College, was in the National Guard.  He lives in Burnsville, Minnesota and works at Dexon, Inc.  in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  Cyndi born in 1951, graduated from Hannaford High School in 1969 attended Interstate Business College at Fargo, North Dakota Lives at Bismarck, North Dakota and works for the State Highway Department at Bismarck.  She is also in the Army Reserves.  Karen born in 1955 graduated from Hannaford High School in 1973 and is attending Moorhead State College, Moorhead, Minnesota She will graduate in July and be employed in the Registrar's Office at Moorhead State College.  Kimberly born in 1964 attends Hannaford School and is in the 5th grade.

In 1962 we purchased the former Lizzie Simenson house and remodeled it where we still live.  We are members of the Faith Lutheran Church.  I work as part-time clerk at the Hannaford Post Office and also at Hannaford Supply.
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WILLIAM M. OLSON FAMILY

William was born March 4, 1889 in Eastlake, Michigan to Swedish parents, Alec and Johannah Olson.  They had nine children, William was their fourth child.

Emma M. Kruse derives from German origins.  Her parents both immigrated in 1883 from Olderburg, Germany.  They first settled in Chicago, later went to Manistee, Michigan.  Dietrick and Anna Kruse had eight children.  Emma was their fifth child.

William, yet better known as Bill in Hannaford, North Dakota was a sportsman.  When in Michigan he pitched baseball for the lower peninsula of Michigan, also was an expert ice skater.

In his courting days in Michigan, in the winter he skated seven miles across the bay to see Emma, in the summer he rowed an old boat from Eastlake to Manistee to see Emma.

In the year 1915 Bill went to Hannaford, North Dakota.  He went looking for work, secured a job as Section Hand on the Great Northern Railroad.

Emma came to Hannaford later, and they were married in Moorhead, Minnesota.

Bill was offered and accepted a job in the Farmers Grain Elevator as Assistant Manager.  This work he held for thirteen years,

The children born to Bill and Emma are:  

1. Mae, Florence, Gordon, Edith and Ralph.

Depression came, forces were cut, and Bill was out of a job.  Bill accepted every job available, did carpenter work, sharpened saws, anything to care for his family.  Next came W. P. A. days in the area.

Bill's sister Freda Palm wrote Bill that work in the Anaconda Montana Copper Smelter looked good.  Bill at the time was doing carpenter work.

Gordon, the oldest son of Bill and Emma, had just graduated from the Hannaford High School, no work to be had for him, so he told his parents, "I'm going to Montana and see about work.”  Gordon hitch-hiked to Anaconda with about $2.00 in his pocket.  He went to work at the Smelter, he wrote his parents to come out there.

In 1941 Bill and Emma and four children moved to Anaconda, Montana.

Bill worked at the Smelter until he passed away in 1952, age 61, of cancer.

Emma maintained the home for the family.  She was known for her excellent baking, also a seamstress.  She did these things, making extra spending money.

Emma now 82 resides in Anaconda, Montana in a Senior Citizen's Apartment building.  Still baking for others, an art she loves.

Bill and Emma's family at the present writing is:  

Mae, in St. Louis Park, Minnesota

Florence, in Dillon, Montana

Gordon, in Anaconda, Montana

Edith, in Olivia, Minnesota

Ralph at the age of 43 passed away from cancer at Lander, Wyoming.  Also - many Grandchildren and Great-Grandchildren.
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OSCAR OUREN

Oscar Ouren was born in Norway in 1886 and was five years old when he came to the United States with his sisters Bertha (Bess) and Christine and his mother.  His father, Jergen Johnson, a sea captain, had died some time before.  His mother was a sister of Ed Stai, Mrs. Henry Gullickson and Mrs. Christ Nolen.  His mother, Bertha, married Simon Ouren, a widower with three children in 1892.  They lived on Simon's homestead.  Later Bess married Thorvald (Tom) Vigesaa.  Christine became a registered nurse and was never married.

Oscar tried his luck at homesteading near Grassy Lake, Alberta, Canada and in 1909 came back to Cooperstown and married Edna Johnson, daughter of Andrew Johnson, and they both returned to Canada.  Oscar farmed and also did carpentry work until 1911 when they returned to Cooperstown due to the illness of his mother.  Their first son Clifford had been born in Canada.

In 1914 he built a house in Hannaford and moved his family there.  He worked as a carpenter/contractor, and at one time had two crews of men working for him.  They built many barns and houses in the area.  During the depression he repaired barns and property for the Bank of North Dakota.

Oscar and Edna had seven children:  

Clifford of Fargo - married Lorraine Barry, worked for a bread company of Fargo, and also the Fargo Park Board.  No children.  Marvin of Reno, Nevada.  Worked with his dad doing carpentry for some time, then worked 25 years as Standard Oil Bulk agent in Hannaford before moving to Reno.  He married Lillian Walen of Hannaford.  Their children are:  

1. Virgil, Carolyn, Janice and Richard.  Bernice - missionary in Mexico since 1944.  She never married.  Thelma - Mrs. Otto Watne, of Cooperstown where they farm.  Son Paul.  Glenn of Huntsville, Alabama.  Married Audrey Skjeret of Dazey.  Children are:  

2. Glenn Allen and Candace.  Claire - Mrs. Kenneth Lunn of Hannaford where they farm.  She had spent 11 years in West Pakistan as a missionary prior to her marriage.  They have two children - Joanne and James.

Stanley of Jamestown.  He married Estella Runnels.  They have two sons - Steven and Gregory.  He works for the Burlington Northern Railway as a cook.

Oscar died in 1942 and Edna in 1971.  Grandson Virgil, a grade school principal, was killed in Reno, Nevada, in 1972.

During WW II Clifford and Glenn served in the Air Force and Stanley in the Navy.
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SIMON J. OUREN

Simon Johnson Ouren was born in Totten, Norway, on September 10, 1850, and came to the United States when he was 21, in 1871.  His trip to Minnesota was very eventful as his train reached Chicago just at the time of the great Chicago fire and had to make a detour.  In 1873 he began working the Halvor Brurack farm in Filmore County, Minnesota and the following spring married his boss's daughter, Sophia, and rented the Brurack farm.  He bought a hand corn planter for $10, a binder for $72, and bought wood delivered at $4 a cord.  In April 1881, he and his family set out for Valley City, using horses and a prairie schooner for transportation.  In June he took a homestead in Sverdrup Township, NW quarter of Section 8-145-58 and E ½ of SW quarter of Section 5-145-58.

Besides farming, Simon hauled freight from Valley City to Cooperstown for three years until the railroad proved too tough competition.  On these trips he crossed the river at Ashtabula crossing (near it).  In those days wolves caused trouble in the winter by attacking the horses and driver.  Simon had poles sticking out of the sides of the sled to protect himself.  Simon planted most of the first trees around the court house and hauled stones for the foundations of many buildings in Cooperstown.  He also hauled buffalo bones.  He was proud of his horses and declared he could drive a mile in three minutes with a favorite team.  In 1893 he raced the train from Hannaford to Cooperstown - and won!  Another time he made a trip from Grand Forks to Cooperstown in one day.

The soil on a certain marshy area on his homestead was gray and sticky, and was good for "chinking" the log cabins as it would harden to a concrete consistency.  People came from all around to get some of this soil.

In 1925 a news item appeared saying Simon was taking the same harrow into the fields for the 51st time.

Simon and Sophia had three children - Anna Mathilda, Henry and Anton.  Sophia died in 1891.  Daughter "Tillie" was married to Olai Fogderud in 1893, and had three children - Senora, Lester and a daughter who died in infancy.  Tillie died in 1898.  Senora remained with her father and baby Lester went to live with his grandfather.

In 1892 Simon married a widow with three small children who had recently come from Tonsberg, Norway.  She was Mrs. Bertha Johnson, widow of Jergen Johnson, a sea captain.  Her children's names were Bertha (Bess), Oscar and Christine.  The children took Simon's last name.  (His middle initial stands for Johnson also, but he took the name Ouren when he came to America.)  Bess later married Thorvald (Tom) Vigesaa and adopted Lester's half-sister, Lila Fogderud.  Later Oscar's second son, Marvin, spent part of his boyhood with his grandparents.  Lester farmed in the Hannaford area and later moved to Moorhead to work as a carpenter.  He built many houses.  He married Borghild Anderson and had two children - Gordon and Marlyn.  Senora worked in Japan for many years as a secretary and married her boss, Basil Ryan, of the Canadian Steamship Lines.

Area living descendants of Simon Ouren include Lester Fogderud, his son Gordon and daughter Mrs. Reynard Lyngby (Marlyn), Mrs. Senora Ryan, Mrs. Lila Torson and the children of Oscar Ouren - Clifford, Marvin, Bernice, Thelma (Mrs. Otto Watne), Glenn, Claire (Mrs. Kenneth Lunn), and Stanley and their families.

This historic pioneer who helped develop Griggs County out of the wild prairie died at his homestead in Sverdrup Township in October 1937.  His wife Bertha died in 1945.
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MR. AND MRS. EVEN OLSEN

The urge to move on in quest of better surroundings for themselves and their children has always been a characteristic of the Scandinavian race.  In the Viking Age they traveled Eastward to Russia, Southward to England and France and Westward to Greenland, Iceland and "Vineland.

Again during the Middle of the 19th Century, great numbers migrated from the Motherland to the North Central Section of the United States.  Among these were Andreas and Karen Maria Johnson, who sailed from their home in Porsgrund, near Oslo, Norway, in 1850 westward towards the setting sun.  After long weeks on a sailing vessel and an arduous journey overland, they finally settled near Muskego, Wisconsin, where Andreas Johnson supplemented their farm income by helping his neighbors build their houses and barns.  Here in 1854 was born Ingeborg Maria, one of eight children, four boys and four girls.  Here Ingeborg spent her early youth, being baptized in the small log church which was the first Norwegian Lutheran Church in America.

The urge to travel was still strong in the mind of Andreas Johnson so he moved westward again, this time settling near Northfield, Minnesota where the family lived happily in spite of occasional raids by Indians and outlaws.  The Indian up-rising during the Civil War, and the Jesse James' and Younger Brothers' Raid on Northfield were vivid memories.

On the 5th day of June, 1874 another milestone in the life of Ingeborg Johnson was passed as on that date she became the wife of Even Olsen who had come to this country as a boy and who within a short time had taught himself to speak, read and write the English language, doing this at the same time that he was acquiring a home and a piece of land.

In 1883 he with his wife, two daughters, Karen M. and Aneta A. and son, Oliver E. unloaded their immigrant car at Sanborn, North Dakota and from there drove north some 30 miles to the new home.

The homestead was situated near the Indian trail that ran from Sisseton, South Dakota north to Fort Totten.  The Red man like his White brother enjoys visiting.  During the summer months, it was a common sight to see a procession of Indians with their dogs, ponies and papooses pass by.  On many occasions, the Indians were fed.  This courtesy was often returned as the Indians brought back prairie chickens, venison and even gophers.  "You no like 'm" was the puzzled exclamation voiced by an old chief when dead gophers were not accepted.

Meanwhile the family grew until it included three girls and five boys.  The oldest girl Karen M. became Mrs. Nels Markuson, Aneta A. , Mrs. R. E. Leiser, Oliver E. , Alfred C. was one of the first children born in Griggs County, Sydney T. , Edgar I. , Chester W. and Ruth M. , Mrs. R. H. Wilhan, made up the family.

Work increased as not only were the children to be fed and clothed ' but they also had to receive the best possible education that limited finances permitted.  The oldest girl was one of the first students at the Valley City Normal School and one of the first teachers in the county.  She was the only one whose death preceded her mother's.  The rest of the children also received some education other than that afforded by the local schools.  Not only were the children taught English but they also had to learn the rudiments of the Mother Tongue, this so that they could be confirmed in the faith of their fathers which always has emphasized the importance of education.  this to the extent that in the Motherland, only those mentally incapable were illiterate.  Vivid memories in the minds of all the children was Mother teaching them to read their A-B-C's while at the same time she knitted the seemingly endless requirements of stockings and mittens.

A life of work and a life of service:  

Work to provide food and clothing, service to the church, to the school and to the neighbors.  Pennies were saved - not for things for one's self, but to be used to support the church, the school and to help the unfortunate neighbor.  Much of the service was personal.  What can be more personal than the day or night long attendance at the bedside of a neighbor's wife, coming back to a house full of work, with the news of a new baby at the Larsons or the Pattersons.

A Pioneer's life is a hard life - only the exceptionally strong are granted the full three score year and ten.  Ingeborg Olsen lived a full life, although short in time as she died on January 26, 1912 at the age of 57.  She lies where she wanted to - in a small prairie cemetery only a stones' throw from her first small home in Dakota.  Even Olsen died in 1920.  He had been born in 1843.
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PAULSEN, ELGAR AND ERNESTINE

Elgar came to Griggs County from Finley, North Dakota in 1955 and farmed August Sonju's land.  He married Ernestine Grady Peterson December 27, 1958 in Moorhead, Minnesota.  Ernestine was originally from Hendrum, Minnesota.  They farmed several farms in the area before buying the Standard Oil service station from Henry Harris on December 1, 1967.  Henry Harris had been a Standard dealer for 47 years, 18 years as a bulk dealer and 29 years as a service station operator.

Ernestine has been employed at the Griggs County ASCS office in Cooperstown for the last 14 years.

The Paulsens bought the Trinity Lutheran parsonage in 1969, where they presently live.

They have one son Scott Peterson.

Source page 154

TRAIAN POPP

Traian Popp came from Rumania to the United States in 1910.  He worked in the cities in the East until 1920 when he came to the Walum and Hannaford area.  He worked on farms for several years and then went into the trucking business.  He built a home in Hannaford and from there continued trucking and hauling water until the early 1970's.

"Popp" as he was called by his friends had many interesting stories to relate about his homeland and early life in Rumania, his trucking, his trips, which included hitch hiking, and other experiences.  In 1932 he took a group of Campfire Girls to the Black Hills and the girls and "Popp" can tell many a story about that memorable time.

Traian Popp now resides in the nursing home in Cooperstown, North Dakota
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PRIEBE HISTORY

John L. Priebe, wife - Lila - married 1930, moved to Hannaford in 1939 to take the Signal Maintainer job with the Great Northern Railroad.  He had been with the Great Northern since 1923 in various line jobs.

Son Larry John born 1939 in Superior, Wisconsin.  Came to Hannaford in 1939.

Alan Grant born 1942 Fargo, North Dakota.

Larry graduated from Hannaford High School in 1957 and Alan in 1959.

Larry went on to graduate from Minot State College and now (1975) teaches school at Austin, Minnesota

Alan graduated from Moorhead State and is in marketing for Steiger Tractor Inc.  in Fargo, North Dakota.

John and Lila left Hannaford in 1959 and now reside in Minot, North Dakota.

John had a total of 37 years with the Great Northern and was forced to retire due to health reasons.
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THE LYLE E. RICH FAMILY

The Lyle E. Rich family moved from Luverne, North Dakota , to Hannaford in 1941.  Mr. Rich worked for the Great Northern Railroad on the Minot division until his retirement in 1974.  He served the railway company for 47 years.

The Riches have four children, all graduates of the Hannaford School.

Lyle, Jr. , graduated from Concordia College in Moorhead and also from Luther Seminary in St. Paul.  He is a pastor of the American Lutheran Church.

Gene graduated from Concordia College in Moorhead.  He is a school counselor at Tacoma, Washington.  He spent three years teaching at a school in Lagos, Nigeria.  He is an Army veteran, also.

Joan, graduated from the St. Francis School of Nursing in Minot, and is a Registered Nurse.  She is a surgical nurse in Lubbock, Texas.

Donald served in the United States Army.  He is now employed by the Burlington Northern Railroad.
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RICHARDSON FAMILY

In 1902 John O. Richardson and his wife Melissa moved to Griggs County from River Falls, Wisconsin.  The oldest son, Walter had come here in 1897 and the rest of the family followed.  It was a large family, there were Walter, Harvey, Nevia, Mildred, Olifer, Margaret, children of his first wife and Roy, John, Merle, Lyman, Mabel, Exzilda and Thelma, children of Melissa.

The family first lived on a farm 3 miles east of Revere where they raised purebred beef cattle.  Later they farmed in Steele County near the Sheyenne River.  After retirement they lived in Hannaford where John spent enjoyable summers working in his garden.  John O. Richardson died March 12th, 1939.  At the time he died he was 86 years old and Hannaford's oldest resident.  The young people grew up and married except for Lyman, who remained a bachelor.  Walter married Ethyl Knapp and had five children

Harry, Russel, Helen, Raymond and Alice Lu.  Walter farmed extensively and had other business interests.

Harvey married Bessie Ward, they had 5 children

Glen, Inez, Gordon, Ruth and Gerald.  This family moved from the state in 1927.

Margaret married Oscar Solberg of Carrington.  Their children were Isaac, Oliver, Arnold, Blanche, Myrtle and Gertrude.  They were farmers.

Mildred married Henry Nelson who was a grocery clerk in Cooperstown at the time.  They had two children

Norman and Marian.  They lived in Montana for 8 years and then came back to Griggs County.

Nevia married Perry Haugen.  Their children were Leonard and Edna.  After farming in Griggs County for some years they moved to Montana.

Oliver married Helen Johnson.  They had four children

Gladys, Florence, Douglas, and Donald.  They also farmed before moving to Montana.

Roy married Clara Jordet.  They farmed near Hannaford, later moving into town.  Roy worked on the Great Northern Railroad until he retired.  Their children were Kenneth, Lila, Willard, Vern, Jeanette, and Carol Mae.  John C. married Ann Kaastad.  They had two boys, John Alan and Robert.  "Jack" worked for the railroad until his retirement.

Merle married Lee Otis Harris.  They had 7 children

Howard, lone, Rachel, Marian, Mary Jean and two who died.  He worked on the Section.  They moved first to Montana and then to Washington.

Lyman was unmarried.  He lived in Montana until his death.  Exzilda taught in rural schools until she married James Abelman.  They had 5 children

Lorraine, James, Robert, Janet and Mary.

Mabel married Alvin Johnson, had three children:  

Dale, Delores, and Shirley.  Thelma married Clarence Dunn, had one daughter Gwenevere.  They live in Washington.

Of the large number of grand and great grandchildren, only a few remain in the community.
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HISTORY OF THE SCHMIDT FAMILY

Charles Philip and Laura (Webber) Schmidt were married April 7th, 1901 at Davenport, North Dakota at which time he was with the Northern Pacific Railway Company In November 1901, he was transferred to Hannaford, North Dakota to be agent and telegrapher.  Mr. Schmidt who was better known to his trains-men friends as "Charlie, " was born at Fort Shaw, Montana, April 24, 1876.  In 1881 his folks moved to Sunrise, Minnesota, and in 1887, his folks again moved to North Branch, Minnesota Mrs. Schmidt was born in Inwood, Ontario, Canada, July 13, 1874.  She was in later years raised and educated by an Aunt, Mrs. Belle Ellis of Eau Claire, Wisconsin.  She taught school in North Branch, Minnesota This is where Mr. Schmidt started working in the depot as helper and was taught telegraphy.

When they came to Hannaford from Davenport in 1901, there was no place to live so they tried living in the depot.  Later the Claus Jacksons took them in.  They asked them to stay with them until a place could be found.  One day Mrs. Jackson said "Why don't you go over and ask this bachelor next door if he will sell you his house.”  It was a four room house, two rooms down and two up, and no water on the place.  This became the Schmidt house.

To them six children were born:  

Dorothy, Mary Phyllis, Philip, Helen, Kathleen and Laura Jean.  All six of them became avid Sunday School pupils of the Presbyterian church which was built in 1903, and all attended the Hannaford Public School which is still in use.  This school was built in 1907.

In the parents early days there was much social life, dinner parties, whist playing, dancing, chatauquas, circuses, church suppers, ice cream socials, traveling medicine shows - some of them having their own railroad cars, fourth of July celebrations, the first July celebration was 1896.  In the later years Mr. Schmidt was the one to set off the fire works at night.  In those days at the Schmidt household to have watermelon and ice cream on the fourth of July was a real treat.

Mr. Schmidt always took an active part in music.  There were three bands.  he had the leadership of the Hannaford Brass Band and was active in this for a number of years.  He played cornet and could hit high " C, " he also could play tenor banjo, guitar, mandolin and chord on the piano.

There was another sport Mr. Schmidt enjoyed with his fellow friends, and that was Fall hunting of geese, ducks and prairie chicken.  He and Mr. Nordeng used to go every chance they had.  There seemed to be no limit those days.  His last hunting license was issued September 30, 1932 by Mollie Moe, Deputy - County Auditor.

The trains held a fascination for the children.  There was sort of a bay window in the depot and if any of the children were at the depot at train time, they were not allowed on the platform but could look out at the trains sitting in the bay window.

one of the hardships was the maintaining of the Northern Pacific Pump House in the severe winter months.  There were two big engines that would pump the water up the hill to the water tank that was located right beside the tracks.  In the dead of winter there had to be heat at the pump house so the water would not freeze and also easier for the engines to start.  Several trips a day had to be made to keep those fires going as there were two stoves.

Mrs. Schmidt was rather a quiet and demure woman, she didn't like the prairies at all and really thought she would never live here all her life, but she did!  In the summers she would take the children and go see her mother in Chicago and back to North Branch and Eau Claire.  She was a very active person in church work, also the Degree of Honor Lodge and was on the School Board for many years.  What more can one say of the prairie wives and mothers in the early 1900's.  They were stable, trustworthy and worked hard to raise their families.

June 1951 the Schmidts celebrated their 50th Golden Wedding anniversary, all their children came.  This was held in the Presbyterian Church.  They also celebrated their 60th, a few friends gathered at the home for this.  Mr. Schmidt retired in 1946, having worked for the Northern Pacific for 45 years in Hannaford.  They continued to live in Hannaford until Mrs. Schmidt's passing in 1963 at the age of 89.  Mr. Schmidt could not live alone so went to California where he had two daughters, he passed away in 1967 at the age of 91.  One of their daughters, Mary Phyllis Bloom, died in 1973.
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OSCAR V.  SKORHEIM HISTORY

Oscar V.  Skorheim came to Hannaford as a telegrapher and agent for Great Northern Railroad.  He married Mildred Punson of Glenfield, North Dakota to which two children were born, namely Janet Rae - now Mrs. Loren Walsky of Edin Prairie, Minnesota, and Gary Norval now of Minneapolis.  The Skorheims lived in Hannaford 18 years - leaving for Dwight, North Dakota in 1948.
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W. D. SINCLAIR

William Daniel Sinclair was born July 13, 1875, in St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada, he moved to Hannaford with his parents (Daniel Sinclair and Mary Jane Bothwell Sinclair) at an early age.  His first wife, Ethel Mae Sinclair, whom he married in Hannaford in 1903, died in 1913.  He married Jennie Gregerson on October 26th, 1927.  He served 50 years as an elder of the First Presbyterian church, 20 years as treasurer of the school board and was a member of the Masonic lodge.  He died in 1961.

Billy (William Daniel) Sinclair was the youngest of five brothers.  They included James (Congressman in later years), Frederick (Fred) the eldest son, had ranching interests in Canada and his own bank in Leavenworth, Washington.  Andrew Sinclair was a county superintendent of schools in Griggs County.  In 1913 he became a farmer in Potter Valley, near Ukiah, California Wallace John left Hannaford and came to California in 1913 settling in Fairmead where he had a dairy ranch.

Edith Rachel Sinclair did not marry.  She reared Gregg and Keith Anderson, her sister Sadie's two sons after her sister's death.

DANIEL SINCLAIR (Born 1/12/39 - Died 9/15/05) Married MARY JANE BOTHWELL (Born 1/19/37 - Died in 1924).

They had seven children, all born in St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada.  The family moved to Bald Hill Township, near Cooperstown, in Griggs Company North Dakota, in 1884.  After building a home for his family, Daniel Sinclair was active in organizing a school and a Presbyterian church.

A leading star in the North Dakota baseball drama at the turn of the century when Griggs County dominated state semi-pro baseball play was W. D. (Billy) Sinclair, retired Hannaford Postmaster and brother or former congressman James Sinclair.  The eyes of baseball fans of that period were directed first on Cooperstown, then on Hannaford.  Sinclair played with both clubs during their heyday.

Billy's active playing years number 26, while he played occasionally for 15 years thereafter.  His last baseball appearance was at Red Willow Lake in 1933 when he pitched three innings with an old timers team mustered together by Irish Peterson, Binford's baseball veteran.

The highlight of his thrill-studded baseball career was an iron man stunt performed in 1907 in Cooperstown when Sinclair pitched Hannaford to a 2-1 victory over Binford, another strong Griggs baseball center of the period, in 22 innings.  Gulliver Peterson was Binford's mounds-man.  Sinclair allowed only 6 hits.  Hannaford got 16, but sensational fielding by Adolph Melgard, Binford shortstop, prolonged the game time and again.  On another occasion, in 1904, he pitched a full game for Litchville against Marion, and, after 15 minutes intermission, he took the mound for the same team against LaMoure in another nine-inning encounter.  Litchville won both contests.

Billy was the youngest of five brothers, all of whom including James, performed on the Cooperstown and Hannaford teams at one time or another.  The Sinclair family settled in Bald Hill Township, near Cooperstown, in 1884, ai , -he next year a good, sod-peeled diamond was laid out in the center of the community near the Sinclair farm by these early baseball enthusiasts.  After these farm youths had developed a strong team, Cooperstown business men heard of the promising farm team and persuaded the group to represent that city in baseball campaigns.

Billy made his debut with the Cooperstown club in 1892 when a youth weighing only 114 pounds.  During the following 12 years, he didn't miss a game for Cooperstown, playing third, shortstop and doing some pitching.  The 1900 and 1901 Cooperstown aggregations are acclaimed by oldtimers the best the state had at that period.  The lineup, coached by Attorney A. M. Baldwin, boasted an excellent battery in Chester Hoar and Tamber.  Field trips to Minnesota baseball centers of the period, Litchfield and Willmar, were taken when amateur teams in the state objected to scheduling games with a team that they could not defeat.  Fargo, Valley City and Jamestown clubs were shut out repeatedly.  In fact, the club members would make wagers that they would shut out an opposing team as a method of making the game interesting.

In 1904 Sinclair moved to Hannaford and began campaigning for that city's club.  Hannaford had its best team in 1907 when their aggregation of fast fielders and heavy stickers proved practically unbeatable.  Members of that team included, in addition to Sinclair, Dick Leiser of Colgate, Henry Westrum of Bowbells, Eli Parker of Minneapolis and Attorney John Sad of Valley City.

Sinclair remarked about the enthusiasm displayed by old time fans and players toward the national pastime.  In 1905 he played third for Portal against Minot in a game which would net the winner $1,000.  Practically the entire population of Portal came to Minot by special train to witness the game.  Enthusiasm at game time was reflected in betting and bonuses.  Gilmore, the Portal hurler, had $165 in his baseball uniform at the end of the game, all of which had been handed him for strikeouts.  Portal won 6-3.

Constant practice and rigid training are attributed by Sinclair as the reason for his long baseball career.  During the best years of his playing days, he never had a sore arm or was out of condition to take his pitching turn or handle an infield assignment.

"I have advised many of our present promising young throwers of the need of sufficient practice while young to avert possible soreness and later injury, but they simply will not do the necessary work.”  He says the American Legion through its junior baseball program is doing much to provide this training.

Cap Anson, Chicago first baseman, was Sinclair's baseball idol.

In addition to his baseball activities, Sinclair was quite some bicycle racer.  He defeated Olof B. Holten, now of the naturalization department at St. Paul, for the North Dakota championship in a five mile race at Jamestown in 1897.
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SORENSON-GUSTAFSON

Two sisters, Emma and Maria came to Griggs County from Sweden.  Their parents were Johannes Erikson and Nina Kajsa Erikson.  Emma was born March 21, 1863 and Maria, January 18, 1865.

Emma married Halvor Sorenson, a stone mason and carpenter, then later custodian of the Hannaford School.  He was a charter member of the Lutheran Church of Hannaford that was organized in 1898.  Three children were born to them:  

Sadie, John and the first born who died in infancy.  John and Sadie attended school in Hannaford.  As a young man, John worked in the Hannaford Mercantile Store for several years.  Sadie enrolled in a business school, then later married Dias Moller and moved to the state of Washington.  Upon the father's death in 1924, John was the sole support of his mother.  Some time later, they too moved to the state of Washington where he was a building contractor.  Mrs. Sorenson passed away in 1948.

Maria married Alfred Gustafson, a shoemaker, who had his shop in Hannaford.  She and her sister, Emma, were both charter members of the Ladies Aid or " Kvinde Forensing.”  Alfred was a charter member of the Lutheran Church.  To them was born one son, Edgar.

Edgar tells of an event in their lives when he was a young boy.  "I recall an incident that shows what a fine character my mother was.  A mother of two small boys had died.  They lived with their father in a cook car that was part of every threshing outfit in those days.  One bitter cold winter night the feet of the boys were frozen and they were in miserable condition when found.  Mother took one of the boys into our home and cared for him for several months until he recovered.  This was probably in 1900."  Mrs. Gustafson passed away in Fargo April 3, 1951.  Alfred was 85 in 1953 and living in Fargo.

Edgar, their son, was born February 10, 1892.  He became a printer's devil on the Hannaford Enterprise when 14 years old.  In spite of his young age, he put out the newspaper as a solo job when the editor was away for 2 or 3 weeks.  After graduating from Hannaford High School, he received his bachelor and Master's degrees from the University of North Dakota.  After teaching economics at the University of Wisconsin he started work as a clerk with the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, parent concern of the Bell System, in New York.  From there he went to the Ohio Bell in Cleveland as commercial engineer and worked his way up through various positions until appointed vice-president in charge of personnel.  A considerable part of his activity was devoted to labor relations.  He was elected a member of the Ohio Bell board of directors and its executive committee in August 1948.  In December 1951 he relinquished his personnel duties to assist the company's president in executive and administrative problems.  He retired in 1953 and is still living in Ohio.
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EDWARD O. AND MARTHEA STAI

Edward Olson Stai was born on September 20, 1850 in Stai Osterdalen, Norway.  Marthea Hanson Stai was born on January 29, 1857 at Ringebu Gulbrandsdalen, Norway.  The couple was married in Norway on May 3, 1878 and emigrated to the United States in 1880 settling first in Minnesota and thence homesteading in Sverdrup Township.  They had two children born to them:  

Ole Henry Stai who married Adelia Freer, daughter of a pioneer Griggs County couple, who now resides in Eugene, Oregon upon Ole's death in 1946

and Anna Beata Stai Swingen who married Henry H. Swingen.  Anna died in 1973.

The Stais had a fierce pride in the soil - in the land.  They were charter members of Union Lutheran Church where interment was held for Mr. Stai after his death on September 21, 1938 at the age of 88 years and for Mrs. Stai after her death on October 13, 1939.

The stories they related relative to fighting prairie fires to save the crops and hay, even leaving church to do so, point out the price that was paid by the pioneers to hold the land.  The Stais with their neighbors did exemplify the Griggs County pioneer spirit.
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HENRY H. AND ANNA B. SWINGEN

Henri H. Swingen was born August 17, 1880 in Lake Mills, Winnebago County, Iowa.  He was educated in the Lake Mills public schools and attended Cornell College, Mt.  Vernon, Iowa.  His early business training was in the retail lumber business in Iowa and he came to Hannaford in 1904 where he helped found the Hannaford Lumber Company.  This company was merged with Crane-Johnson Company and Mr. Swingen managed the Hannaford yard and was a director of the company until his death in 1957.  He was active in community and church affairs serving over 25 years as treasurer of Hannaford Lutheran Church.  Mr. Swingen had great pride in the lumber business and in North Dakota agriculture.  He was preceded in death on May 19, 1957 by brothers Thomas M. Swingen, Alfred T. Swingen, and Lewis Swingen and by sister Amanda Larson.  One sister survives, Mrs. Julia Holte, Fargo, North Dakota

Anna Beata Stai Swingen was born on April 20, 1885 in a sod shanty on the Stai homestead.  She was educated in the Township schools and attended the Valley City School of Music.  She was the only daughter of Edward and Marthea Stai.  Anna B. Stai was married to Henry H. Swingen on October 5, 1910 and made their home in Hannaford until parted by death.  Mrs. Swingen's recollections of the country schools were vivid.  The couple is survived by one son, Eldred M. Swingen, attorney-at-law, Madison, Wisconsin and by one granddaughter, Regina Anne Swingen.  Mrs. Swingen died June 6, 1973 having been preceded in death by her only brother, O. H. Stai.
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PAUL O. TROSETH

Paul O. Troseth was born in Mosviker, Trondheim, Norway on August 23, 1868.  At twenty-one he emigrated to America.  He stayed for a while in Todd County, Minnesota, later moving to Shelly, Minnesota, where he was employed on the homestead farm of Ole P. Oien.  He came to Hannaford in 1903 and joined in a hardware business partnership with the Aarestad Brothers, Gustav and Elling.  Farm machinery and equipment, and home appliances and small items of hardware of every description were sold.  Comfort items for horses were prominent such as nose baskets, fly nets and hitching halters.  The business was twice destroyed by fire, the second time in the fall of 1928 after Aarestads had left, and Paul had become sole owner.  He began again and continued until he sold the business in 1944 due to ill health.  The last site of the store is the present location of Security State Bank.

Paul served as a County Commissioner for six years, from 1915 to 1921, and also for many years on the Hannaford school board.

In May 1908 he married Annie Forsberg.  Three sons and a daughter were born to them.  All three boys were notable in sports, Ole in baseball and bowling, Paul Eugene in baseball and Lloyd in track and basketball.  Viola became a nurse and served in the Army Nurse Corps in World War II.  all three boys also serving in the armed forces.  Paul O. Troseth died in his home at Hannaford in August 1947.
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WILLIAM E. VAN SCOIK

William E. Van Scoik came to Hannaford at the turn of the century from Friend, Nebraska.  Two friends came with him, Albert "Riley" Rooth and Arthur Hughes.  Al Rooth who was originally from Texas stayed on many years, whereas, Art Hughes left after 2 or 3 years.

Minnie Lee Reynolds and sister Laura came to Hannaford just before 1900 to cook in a "Cook Car" for their brother-in-law, Soren Berg, a threshing machine rig owner.  Thus, my mother and dad met at Hannaford.  They were married at Cooperstown on November 15, 1902 by Reverend Oscar D. Purinton who was the first minister in the Presbyterian Church in Hannaford.  Minnie worked with the doctors, Dr. Benson and Dr. Wolverton of Hannaford and Dr. Westley of Cooperstown.  in many homes she was the mid-wife when a baby was about to put in its appearance.

In 1901 William Van Scoik established a concrete building block manufacturing plant on a lot behind where the Hannaford Mercantile was built.  He manufactured the blocks for that store building and also the house that was known as the R. L. Jones home and several other concrete buildings and homes.  He made the blocks and built the house which was later the Walter Richardson home.  That house was Mom and Dad's first home after they were married.

At that time they operated a hotel known as the West Side Hotel which stood beside a Meat Market (Butch Shop) owned by Walter Richardson and operated by Otto Hagen in the locale west of the telephone office on a lot later occupied by AFC Garage.  The hotel burned down some years later.

My dad sold the concrete business to brothers by the name of Edlund.  He then bought a building on the main street and established a pool hall and bowling alley.  He ran that business until he sold out to Soren and Gile Berg in 1912 and moved to a farm one mile south and three miles west of Hannaford known as the William Margach farm.  Mr. Margach lived with them until they returned to Hannaford in 1924.  After moving back to town they operated a lunch room in the old Ole Almklov Drug Store Building.  In 1928 they moved to Anaconda, Montana

William passed away April 28, 1937 and Minnie on May 27, 1968.  I am their daughter Leah Wilma Van Scoik Holmgren.  I graduated from Hannaford High School with the class of 1926.

Ed Van Scoik was a brother of William who married Carrie Larson and lived in Bartley Township.  Carrie was a daughter of Rasmus Larson, one of Bartley's early settlers.  They had three children who live in the St. Cloud, Minnesota area.

Another brother John was the contractor who built the Bartley Consolidated School.  Later the Fred Knauss children attended the school that Grandpa built.  All the brothers and their wives have passed away.
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CALVIN VINCENT

The Calvin Vincents have lived in the Hannaford area since 1968 when they moved here from Binford.

Calvin came to North Dakota from Minnesota in 1948.  He was working in that area and in 1950 he married Alna Larson.  They stayed with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Larson, while Calvin worked for a Contractor from McVille.

In August 1951, a son David was born, and in August 1953, a son Owen was born, and in September 1959, a daughter Barbara was born.

In 1960, Calvin came to the Hannaford area to start a contracting of his own.  He opened his office in 1961 which is now the Hannaford Beauty and Barber Shop.  In 1962, he built his own office and shop of which he is presently in.

In the fall of 1967 they purchased the home LeRoy Paulson had built, but were unable to move in until January 1968.  In March 1970, a daughter Becky was born.

In August 1974, Owen was married to Naomi Jacobson who are presently living here in Hannaford.  Owen works with his Father.

David is not married but also works with his Father.

Barbara will be a Junior at Hannaford High School and Becky will start Kindergarten in the spring of next year.

Calvin had served as Mayor since 1968, and still holds this position.
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CHAUNCY WAIT HISTORY

Chauncey and Alice Wait, and daughter Lois Marie, aged sixteen months, left Erhard, Minnesota in the spring of 1920 and came to Hannaford, North Dakota.

Chauncey had spent twenty-one months in the service of his country, eight of these in France.  When he received his discharge there were nothing but seasonal jobs available.  and so when he was offered a job to work for the Olson Brothers on a farm in North Dakota, he accepted.  After one year of farm life, he was offered the agency of the Manhattan Oil Company's bulk station in Hannaford.  He continued in the oil business until 1948.  The name of the company changed several times and is now The Mobil Oil Company.  A filling station was added to the business in 1935.

Chancey suffered a heart attack in 1948 and passed away in 1955.

Four children were brought up and educated in North Dakota.  Lois became a nurse, Beth Elise, Mark Alton, and Vonna Lou all became schoolteachers.  Mark, being deaf, received his college education in Gallaudet College for the Deaf in Washington, D. C. 

There were two other children in the family, one a girl born in 1920 died in infancy, and a boy, Roger Alan, who died in 1927 at the age of two years.

Chauncey and Alice were reluctant to leave their native State of Minnesota for North Dakota, because of the beautiful woods and lakes.  However North Dakota with its wide open spaces, where blizzards in the winter time, and dust storms in the spring, had full sway, sort of grew on them.  After all, places and climates weren't the important part of life.  The folks are really what counted.  And those were the good old days when honesty was the best policy, and there was liberty and justice for all.  This was America.
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CARL J. WATNE

Carl J. Watne was born December 10, 1876 and died January 28, 1938.  He married Judith Amelia (Millie) Eastwold on March 10, 1909.  Millie was born February 18, 1887.  They lived on their farm 29 years in Helena Township.  When Carl passed away, Millie and sons Earl, Leo, and Clair lived on the farm for several years.  Their children were:  

Earl Wallace Watne born November 29, 1911

Leo Merle Watne born April 5, 1912

Carmen Adelaide Watne born October 24, 1913 - died November 3, 1925

Clair Allen Watne born January 22, 1927.

They all went to school in Helena Township.  Earl and Leo graduated from Hannaford High School.  Clair graduated from Cooperstown and also has his B. S. from the University of Minneapolis, Minnesota.  He served two years in the Army in WW II and is now President of Watne Realty Company in Minot, North Dakota, where Clair, wife Darlene, and family live.

Earl Watne served in WW II for 3 years.  He and wife Hazel live in El Sobiante, California and he is employed as a machinist.

Leo Watne married Agnes Strend on June 22, 1942.  Agnes died May 4, 1970.  Agnes taught school for 24 years, 11 years in Cooperstown.  They lived on their farm in Helena Township.  They had one son, Lee John Watne.  Lee John married Jean Shafer and moved to Anchorage, Alaska in June 3, 1972, where they now reside.  Leo has retired but lives on his farm in Helena Township.
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WILLIAM AND ESTHER WELLER

Esther Anderson was born January 5, 1907 at the farm home of her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Theo.  S. Anderson.  She was baptized May 19, 1907.  She attended grade school in Laketown Township and finished High School in Dazey in 1926.  She went to confirmation under Pastor Sweningson and worked at the cafe in Dazey known then as the John Carlson Cafe.

She was united in marriage to William Weller, Dazey, son of Gotlieb and Caroline Weller on June 30, 1928, at Our Saviour's Lutheran Church in Dazey, Reverend I. O. Jacobson was pastor at that time.  After their marriage, they were employed at the John Oppegaard farm and the Ray Kuder farm and also the Gotlieb Weller farm.  Bill started work at Hannaford in 1934 and Esther joined him in 1935.

Hannaford garage was first owned by H. F. Cole.  His part owner was Peder Falstad.

Peter Bryn of Dazey and Harry Schwenger then purchased it in May 1932.  They in turn rented it to Ole Stai (Ole Jorgenson and Algot Lind worked for him).  Harry Schwenger sold out his partnership to Peter Bryn.  Bill Weller then went to work for Peter in the fall of 1934.  In February 1942 he purchased the garage from Mr. Bryn.  In 1961, Bill leased the garage to Marcus Hook and his son.  At this time, Bill began working for Reiten Manufacturing in Cooperstown.  In 1970, the garage was sold to Myron Adams.

Before coming to Hannaford, Bill worked for the Southern Pacific Railroad in San Francisco, California

Those who were employed at Bill's garage during his ownership were Ingmar Opphoen, Montana, John Mickleson, Dazey, Trygve Loberg, Herb Steinborn, Dan Larson and others.

The Hannaford garage was under the ownership of Bill Weller for 27 years.

Esther and Bill enjoyed children very much.  Their home was always open to them.  Esther's hobbies were crocheting and knitting, babysitting, etc.

Bill enjoyed fishing and hunting and he took great pride in his hunting dogs.  Bill and Esther took several hunting trips to South Dakota.  Bill also ran many of the steam engines for steam threshing festivals in the fall.

Perhaps an interesting incident of theirs is how they met.  Esther's father introduced Bill to her on their kitchen step at her home west of Dazey.

They are members of the Faith Lutheran Church, Hannaford and Esther is very active in Auxiliary and other offices of the ALCW. 

Bill's health started failing in 1974.  He passed away on February 3, 1975.  Bill was born east of Dazey in Sibly Trail Township March 3, 1901.  He received his education in Sibley Trail School.  He also attended the Agricultural College in Fargo.
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HERITAGE OF OLE T. WESTLEY LLOYD HARELAND FAMILY INCLUDED

Ole T. Westley and Bertha Rosseland Westley came to Cooperstown, North Dakota, from Bryne, Norway, in the early 1900's.  Ole worked as a carpenter and later bought a farm in Sverdrup Township.  Ole and Bertha had four daughters:  

Othelia (Othelia Dyneneson Figenschau), Agnes (Mrs. Lloyd Hareland), Thelma (Mrs. Ervin Topp), and Borgny (Mrs. Sig Roalkvam).  Ole T. passed away in 1917 and the family then returned to Norway.

Olaf Vasvig, who had farm-steaded in Greenfield Township in 1909, returned to Norway in 1920.  He was then married to Bertha Westley in 1921 and to them a daughter, Margit (Mrs. Oscar Horvie), was born.  Prior to the death of Bertha in 1925, Olaf returned to Greenfield Township to resume farming.

Agnes and Thelma joined Olaf on the farmstead in 1929.  Thelma married Ervin Topp of Grace City in 1936.  Agnes married Lloyd Hareland, son of Ludwig

and Martine Hareland in 1935.  Lloyd and Agnes have resided in Griggs County for forty years.  During these years, Lloyd farmed east of Hannaford until 1945, moved to Cooperstown, and returned to Hannaford in 1947, where they presently have their home.  Lloyd and Agnes had 7 children - Marjorie, born in 1936, passed away the same year.  Donald and his wife Marlys (Schuler) live in Fargo with their three boys, David, Thomas, and Steven.  Don is founder of Agazzie Chemical Company Willard and his wife Alice (Mehring) live in St. Paul, where Willard is pursuing a Ph.D. degree in Analytical Chemistry at the University of Minnesota.  They have three children:  

Scott, Michele, and Robert.  Gary married Hazel Bode and they live in Moorhead with their daughter Gretchen.  Gary teaches in the Moorhead School System.  Dorothy presently is employed in the Anoka-Hennepin School District, Anoka, Minnesota.  John is employed at Melroe in Cooperstown and Wesley is presently a student at Wahpeton State School of Science.
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SUTTON

History

The townsite of Sutton is located 18 miles west of Hannaford on the Burlington Northern Rail Road, and is connected to the county seat, Cooperstown by North Dakota highway 200.  The three miles north to 200 and five miles south have recently been blacktopped.

This year, 1975, finds it hard to believe that in 1912, the townsite was part of a wheat field.  The land is level, with rich black soil, and with ample rainfall and good climatic conditions, produces large yielding crops.  Early years found the farmers hauling produce and grain to Cooperstown, Binford, Hannaford, Wimbledon and Courtenay, all about fifteen miles away.  The coming of the railroad in 1913 was the realization of a dream.

Many homestead shacks were replaced with spacious houses.  Business places sprang up, as fast as deeds were available for business lots.  Early business in Sutton included:  

banks (three), a feed mill, Auto and Horse Livery, Blacksmith Shop, Mercantile Store, Cox-Nelson Farm Store, Meat Market, Rice Grocery, Barber Shop and Restaurant, Confectionery Store, Printing Shop, which printed the weekly paper, "The Sutton Reporter,'' Hammer- Thinglestad Company , Drug Store, Doctor's Office, Crane-Johnson Lumber Company , City Pool Hall, City Dray, Grain and Feed Store and the Hotel.

A four room, two story, brick schoolhouse was erected and served the community needs until it was demolished by a wind storm in 1957.  This was replaced by a new school, on a new site, and was ready for use, mid term of the 1958-59 year.  Shortly thereafter, Sutton and Glenfield dualized the school systems, the first six years being in Sutton and the upper six years in Glenfield.

In the early years of Sutton, a band was organized, and later, under the direction of F. S. Marrs, another unit was started.  Of course, in later years the music program is taken care of in the school system.

Fire has been the fate of different places.  Mabel Lutheran Church, located south of town, burned in 1926.  This was rebuilt, this time in town.  In 1940 the Methodist Church was struck by lightning, and burned.  Another church was purchased and moved onto the same site.  In May, 1962 the old Farmers Union Elevator caught fire, on a very windy day, and, having no fire fighting equipment, it and three elevators belonging to the Osborne, McMillan Company , burned.  Binford, Cooperstown, Carrington, McHenry and Wimbledon answered the call for help, and saved several other buildings endangered.  All available water hauling equipment was used, including the gasoline bulk trucks, hauling water from a rain filled ditch near town.  Loss of the fire was approximately $500,000.  O and M didn't rebuild, but shares were sold, and the present Farmers Elevator is located on the old site.
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Settlers

MELVIN DIETRICHS

Melvin, son of Mr. and Mrs. Fred Dietrich, married opal Martin, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Martin, all of Sutton, in 1939.

Melvin worked for a Federal Land Bank carpenter crew.  They lived in a trailer and moved around the state.

Opal had been supervisor of the Cooperation Nursery School.  After two years they farmed near Sutton until 1950 when they moved to Florida.

Here they also farmed.  Mel did carpenter work several years and for several years worked for a lumber company, becoming manager.

Two sons, Perry and Jim were born to them while at Sutton, two girls, Deena and Diane in Florida.  They have two grandchildren, Jess and Julie Dietrich, children of Perry and wife, Glenda.

Melvin is now retired but has a beef herd.  One of his most interesting crops was one that took 15 years to mature.  Some of it is still growing, 109 acres of slosh pine.

Two years ago they bought the farm next to theirs and are selling that in lots and small acreages for new homes.  Several new homes are being built there this summer.

The Dictrichs come "Home" quite often to visit friends and relatives in Sutton and other parts of Griggs County.

Mel likes to sit in the coffee shop in Florida and tell tales of cutting huge cakes of ice from Bald Hill Creek, being caught in a blizzard, stories of the huge snow banks, growing acres and acres of wheat, about the enormous tractors and machinery now used.  His buddies just shake their heads.
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CHARLES O. JOHNSON

Charles O. Johnson was born September 9, 1863 near Gottenborg, Sweden.  He came to the United States at the age of 16 and worked in the wire mills at Worchester, Mass.  For one year, then moved to St. Paul, Minnesota.  In 1881 he went to Grand Forks, Dakota Territory and worked on Keystone Ranch during the summer, and cut wood in Minnesota woods during the winter.  In 1882 he moved to Fargo and went to work for the Hicks Brothers, putting together machinery.

In Fargo, he met and married Kari Clauson.  She was born in Nord Fjord, Norway on January 21, 1862, and came to Swift Falls, Minnesota in 1878, and lived there for two years.  She then moved to Fargo and worked as a house maid, later took up sewing and at the time of her marriage, she was working as a dressmaker.  The owner of the shop was Miss Marie Roe.  Mr. and Mrs. Johnson were married October 25, 1884 and lived in Fargo for six months.  After which they left and drove an ox team from Fargo to Pilot Mound Township where they settled.  Their first home was a sod house.  Here they homesteaded and made their home on that farm until 1915 when they bought the Dr. Platto home at Cooperstown, North Dakota (The home was owned at that time by Erick Erickson).  They lived there for 4 years.  They then bought a home in Eagle Bend, Minnesota and lived there until the death of Mrs. Johnson, August 19, 1930.  Mr. Johnson then sold the home and began to travel.  He came to Sutton, North Dakota and for a year made his home with his daughter and family, Mr. and Mrs. W. A. Sutton.  From there he went to Minot, North Dakota and lived part time with his son John and family, and part time at a boarding house.  Charles O. Johnson passed away June 18, 1942.  Both Mr. and Mrs. Johnson are buried at West Prairie Church, North of Jessie, where they were active members for many years.  Mr. Johnson also served on the school board for many years.  He served many years as a county commissioner in Pilot Mound Township.  He was a director of the First State Bank at Jessie, North Dakota

The Charles Johnsons had 8 children.  Clara Johnson born April 6, 1886 and married Henry Alfson February 22, 1905.  They had one daughter, Mildred, who married Melvin Nelson and lives in Cooperstown.  Henry Alfson, born October 7, 1880, passed away at Cooperstown in 1944.  Clara Johnson Alfson passed away March 13, 1970.  They are both buried at Cooperstown cemetery.  Oscar Johnson was born on August 28, 1887 and died on August 23, 1905.  He was killed by a horse.  He is buried at West Prairie Church.  Frank M. Johnson was born August 20, 1889.  He attended Cooperstown High School.  Went to Concordia College at Moorhead, Minnesota and Agriculture College at Fargo, North Dakota.  Frank married Mathilda Hanson in 1910.  They farmed near Jessie, North Dakota and later in Canada.  In 1919 he moved to Bertha, Minnesota and continued farming.  His wife passed away in 1944.  Frank passed away at his home at Island Lake, Minnesota March 11, 1967.  There are two children:  

1. Oscar Johnson, Lengby, Minnesota and Mrs. Cora (Harold) Kendall, Motley, Minnesota

John M. Johnson was born November 3, 1892.  He served in the United States Army during World War I.  He returned and farmed near Aneta, North Dakota.  Later he went to Minot where he was service foreman for Minot Gas Company for 28 years.  After several months of illness he died December 25, 1955.  John Johnson married Helen Hegle at Minot, North Dakota They had 6 children.  A son and daughter preceded him in death.  At this time 2 sons are living in Minot, James Johnson and Harlan Johnson, also a daughter Mrs. Lois (Gene) Billehus, and the other daughter, Mrs. Carol (Cletus) Swinson living in Durham, North Carolina.

MayBell C. Johnson was born January 5, 1895, north of Jessie, North Dakota.  She attended Oak Grove Ladies Seminary, a Lutheran High School in Fargo, North Dakota MayBell Johnson was confirmed May 27, 1910 at Pontoppidan Lutheran Church in Fargo.  She worked in millinery for Mrs. Stevens at Cooperstown for two years, then became a saleslady for 41/2 years at the John Syverson & Sons Store.  She married William A. Sutton December 20, 1916 and lived in Sutton, North Dakota until 1937 when they moved to Auburndale, Florida, where she still lives.  William Sutton passed away December 20, 1965 at his home.  There are 4 children:  

1. LaDeaux Sutton, James E. Sutton, Harlan Sutton, and Shirley (Sutton), Mrs. Harry Wilson, all of Auburndale, Florida.

Signe Emilia Johnson was born April 15, 1897 and died January 6, 1899.  She is buried at West Prairie Church.  Maynard S. Johnson was born June 15, 1900 and has lived in Griggs County nearly all his life, except for a short while in Eagle Bend, Minnesota and one year serving in the United States Army during World War II.  Presently he is living in Cooperstown, North Dakota

Bertha C. Johnson was born December 6, 1902.  She attended school in Cooperstown also at Eagle Bend, Minnesota Later she attended Teachers College at St. Cloud, Minnesota She worked in Griggs County in the Superintendent of School Office under Mrs. Mathilda Johnson for 4 years.  August 1, 1925 she married Gilbert Turban of Sutton, North Dakota.  Presently, they are living at Jamestown, North Dakota, both retired.  Bert (Gilbert) retired from Jamestown National Bank.  Bertha retired as Deputy Auditor at Stutsman County Courthouse in Jamestown.  They have two sons

Gilbert T. Urban, O. D. , Jamestown, North Dakota and Wayne K. Urban of Edgemont, South Dakota.

The Charles O. Johnson home was 7 miles north of Jessie, North Dakota It became well known throughout the area as a meeting place for young and old.  The house built in 1901 had a large recreation room on the second floor, so large that the young people of the neighborhood would come to dance, and could easily dance two sets of square dance at a time.  Basket socials were held there, and other fund raising projects for West Prairie

Ladies Aid.  (Apron and Fancy Work Sales, Etc.)  There were skiing and toboggan parties on Sundays in the wintertime, only 1/2 mile north on Creek Hill, also along the Sheyenne River, 2 miles east, where the Trostad and Ellefson young folks always joined in the fun.  One thing always looked forward to during the Christmas holidays was to go "Jule Buke.  “We would have a large grain tank on sleighs and go from house to house and dance.  Seemed everyone had the coffee pot on and lots of homemade kringle and Christmas breads and cookies, such as Fattigman, Kranser, and Sunbakels.

Many times in the 1900's blizzards would hit and last 3-4 days and no one could leave the place.  Ropes had to be fastened between house and barn in order to reach the stock.

Of friends left in this age group are:  

Ernestine and Eddie Ressler at Jessie, Martha Anderson Bakken at Cooperstown, Mrs. (Olof) Alma Arneson at McVille, Mrs. (Joe) Julia Boyer, Mrs. (Randolph) Julia Knudtson, all living north of Jessie, North Dakota
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ROBERT JOHNSON

Robert Johnson came to Sutton August 20, 1934.  His wife, Selma, and three daughters - Ardelle, Virginia and Leota - joined him September 10, the day before the school term began.

Robert was grain buyer for the Minnesota Elevator Company and for Osborne- McMillan when the elevator was sold to them.  In 1941 he was appointed Postmaster in Sutton and remained in this position until his retirement in 1966.  At this time his wife, Selma, became Postmaster having been career clerk since 1946.

Robert, Jr. joined the family circle in 1936 and Gerald in 1939.  Robert, Sr. passed away February 27, 1968 from a heart condition.  Gerald was killed in a car accident May 12, 1974.
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LEWIS MARTIN FAMILY

Lewis Martin and wife, Bertha, moved from Glenfield, Foster County, to Sutton in 1932.  They were both originally from Iowa.

They lived on the "Rhodes" farm one mile north of Sutton, now the Edgar Krenz home.  Merle, Clifford and Opal were still at home.  Gerald had married Ada Leininger and Hazel, Carl Leininger.

About 1944 Lew and Bertha retired and moved into Sutton.  Merle had married Adam Weisz of Lehr

Opal, Melvin Dietrich, Sutton

and Clifford, Doris Dean of Hatton.

Lew was "Caller" for the square dances in and around Sutton and Glenfield.  He knew them all from memory, and needed no amplifier to be heard.  When new ones were called he would come down among the dances, and show them how.  He loved to play cards and horseshoes.
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MERLE MARTIN WEISZ

Our parents, Lewis and Bertha Martin and family did not come directly to Griggs County from their place of origin in Iowa.  There were five years of homesteading in Ward County.  There my sister Hazel (Mrs. Carl Leininger) was born.  My brother Gerald (Jerry) and I were born in Iowa.  We were again for five years in Iowa where brother Clifford and sister Opal (Mrs. Melvin Dietrich) were born.

In 1916 we returned to North Dakota to stay.  We grew up on a farm four miles east of Glenfield, right on the border of Griggs County.  Although we went to school in Glenfield, Sutton was almost as much home to us.  Many of our friends and neighbors were in Griggs County.

Perhaps time and space do lend enchantment but it seems to me that we grew up in the best of places, in the best of times and among the best of people to be found anywhere at anytime.  Prairie life was not dull and we were not bored.  Besides the well marked change of times and seasons and work to be done there were dances (sometimes several a week in winter), house par-ties, card parties, church parties and in summer the baseball games (What excitement and rivalry).  besides various celebrations and the Farmers Union meetings where we not only had fun but learned more than we knew.  Can anything modern compare with these?

Threshing was the highlight of the year, the culmination of the year's work.  Rejoicing in good years and even in bad there was something to be thankful for.

An exciting day when the big rig pulled into the barnyard or field.  Cook car and all!  The shouting, joking and fun, the sparkling clear air, the shimmering sunlight on the golden shocks and stubble.  Even the long rainy days were sometimes fun and the workers enjoyed the rest.  Later, toward the end of the season, the early mornings were chilly and sometimes frosty.  Then the air and sounds were even more clear and crisp - the rattle of wagons, the jingle of harnesses, the sharp clop, clop of horses hooves, the shouting and good natured banter among the men as they rattled off to the field.

In 1933 the Martin family became permanent residents of Griggs County.  I was at college in Valley City at the time of the "emigration.“  There on a farm one mile north of Sutton - now owned by Edgar Krenz - Mother and Dad Martin lived until they retired to Sutton in 1943.

Two years later I married Adam Weisz and we lived for two years a mile east of them.  There are no buildings there now.  In 1940 we bought and moved on the farm seven miles south east of Sutton.  It was known as the Hall place.  We now had daughter Janis and three years after our move Carolyn was born.

The next ten years we remember as good years in spite of the war.  We think with great affection of that home, of Sutton, and of the good neighbors and friends.  However, we did start roaming and in 1951 we bought a farm-ranch and moved to Florida.

Daughter Janis - now Mrs. Don Piotrowski - lives in Tallahassee.  They have "Little" Adam and twins Joel and Eric.  She is office manager and private secretary to a law firm in Tallahassee.  She was secretary of the year for Florida in 1966.  Don is with an air conditioning and heating service.  Carolyn is now Mrs. Paul Cave and lives at Ft.  Bragg, North Carolina.  She is a bank teller and Paul is a helicopter pilot.  They have sons Paul III (Bucky) and Jonathon.

Lewis and Bertha Martin celebrated their golden wedding anniversary in Sutton in 1953.  being honored by a great many of the good friends and neighbors who they loved.  Lew (our dad) passed away in 1957 and Bertha (our mom) in 1970.

We have been "Home" to visit often - about every two years - and expect to be there this year.  Griggs County and especially Sutton is very dear to us.
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FAMILY HISTORY OF JOHN E. SUTTON

John E. Sutton, born in Crestline, Ohio on July 4, 1861 came to Dakota Territory in the spring of 1879.  He worked for Mr. Hazard, who lived west of Cooperstown and made his home with this family for two years.  He then took a tree claim in Mable Township.

He married Tyla M. Kingsley on November 27, 1889 in Cooperstown, North Dakota by Reverend Purinton.  Tyla M. Kingsley was born January 30, 1863 in Lebanon, New York.  She came to the Dakota Territory with her parents at the age of 14, Mr. and Mrs. William Kingsley.  The John E. Suttons made their home in Cooperstown from 1910 until 1913 when they built their home in Sutton, North Dakota.

The town of Sutton was christened in 1910.  Surveyors for the Great Northern Railroad, which was preparing to build the surrey cut-off across North Dakota, found no boarding accommodations when they reached the point of the line where Sutton now stands.  Four miles northwest of the present townsite, however, lived John E. Sutton, Mable Township farmer, who consented to board them at his homestead.  So the surveyors worked at their jobs by the day and stayed at the Sutton place by night.  In appreciation of Mr. Sutton's hospitality, the surveyors suggested to officials of the company that any townsite that might be established in that locality be named for him.  During the year of 1910 settlers began to congregate in a sort of town and it was platted June 29 by the Revere-Sutton Realty Company.  A year earlier, it so happened that Dr. Charles McLachian, president of a bank in New Rockford, had written a letter to Great Northern officials, in which he listed several names that might be used for town-sites along the surrey cut-off.  Sutton was among the names.

The two references to Mr. Sutton was enough for the railroad officials and Sutton the town was christened.  The Great Northern track reached Sutton May 22, 1912, and in the following January a post-office was established with Proctor W. Rice as Postmaster.  The town of Sutton is not incorporated.  The surrounding territory includes many early pioneers.

The John E. Suttons had one son, William A. Sutton born February 25, 1893.  Mrs. John E. (Tyla) Sutton died at her home in Sutton, North Dakota on May 24, 1939 and is buried at the Cooperstown cemetery.  John E. Sutton sold his home at Sutton to Sverre Rice and moved to Auburndale, Florida to live with his son and family in 1939.  He made his home with the William Suttons until his death on June 24, 1945, after a lengthy illness at Morrell Memorial Hospital in Lakeland, Florida.  He was returned to North Dakota and buried July 2, 1945 at the Cooperstown cemetery.

William A. Sutton, only son of Mr. and Mrs. John E. Sutton was born in Mable Township, February 25, 1893.  He attended local schools and high school at Richardton, North Dakota.  On December 20, 1916 he married Maybell C. Johnson at Moorhead, Minnesota They made there home at Sutton, North Dakota where he operated a garage in partnership with Carl Lien.  They also had a taxi service, since Sutton was on the mainline railroad, salesman, called traveling men in those days, came to Sutton by train, and hired "Bill" as they called him to take them to all the other small towns in the area, to get orders for their "Line of Goods."

The William A. Sutton family moved to Auburndale, Florida in 1937 to go into the citrus grove business:  

The William Suttons had four children:  

LaDeaux born November 19, 1917, James E. born November 8, 1920, Harlan S. born February 1, 1923, and Shirley Mae (Wilson) born April 7, 1925.

William Sutton passed away on December 20, 1965 at his home on Lake Juliana, Auburndale, Florida.  Mrs. W. A. Sutton has continued to live at her home since Mr. Sutton's death.  All four of William Suttons children live in Auburndale at this time.  There are ten grandchildren:  

1. LaDeaux and Lucille, Daughters, Mary and Connie, Son Charles.  James and June, daughters, Susan and Debra.  Harlan and Billie, daughter, Jennifer and son, Mark.  Shirley (Sutton) Wilson and husband Harry, son, Wayne and two daughters Brenda and Joann.
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ARTHUR W. WRIGHT FAMILY

Arthur W. Wright was born near Sharon, in Steele County.  His father was James Wright, a native of Indiana, who married Catherine Curry.  She was born in Northern Ireland, and they homesteaded in Steele County.

Arthur married Edith Flack, who was born at Milton, Cavalier County.  Her father was a Canadian by birth and her mother was born in Illinois, coming to North Dakota as a child in 1883.

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Wright came to Griggs County in October 1926.  They purchased a general store in Sutton, which they operated until October 1948.  They were in business during the -30's, " with the drouth, two bank closings, and poor farm prices.  But it was a good time, too, because of the wonderful people in the community.  The Wrights attended the Methodist Church in Sutton and took part in all community affairs.

The Wrights had two sons, James and Kenneth.  James finished high school at Sutton and graduated from University of North Dakota He served two years in the Air Force.  Kenneth graduated from Cooperstown High School and attended University of North Dakota for three years.  He was killed in a car accident, in 1955.

James is married, has three children, and lives in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  He is a CPA and is Director of Audit for United States Steel Transportation and Utility Companies.

Mr. and Mrs. A. W. Wright moved to Cooperstown in October 1949.  In 1954, they bought the Dairy Dreem Drive-in, which they ran until June 1958, when they retired.  Since coming to Cooperstown, Mr. Wright has been an active member of the Masonic Lodge, in which he holds a 50-year membership.  The Wrights are members of the Presbyterian Church, and of the Golden Age Club.  Art served as president of that organization.  Edith has held offices in the Presbyterian Women's Association, the Republican Women's Club, Ladies Golf Club and Senior Citizens.

In June 1973, the Wrights observed their golden wedding anniversary, with many relatives and friends present.
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WALUM

History

Prior to the founding of Walum, Aslak Gunderson deeded land to the Northern Pacific Railroad Company for the right of way thru his land.

In 1882 the railroad was built to a point at the south line of Griggs County.  When winter set in the building crew dug into the creek bank over which a small bridge extends to this day.  In 1883 the railroad was built through the present site of Walum, parallel to the road leading to and from Sansburn.

Walum, in Greenfield Township, Griggs Company, was founded in 1900 on land owned by Peter Gunderson, purchased from his father, Aslak Gunderson who was one of the first white settlers to bring his family to this area, in 1880.  The townsite was platted by Peter Gunderson.  On May 17, 1905 the plat was filed at the County Court House.

As Walum was built on the land of Gunderson the name Gunderson was considered as a possible name for the village.  Trainmaster J. Johnson named it after Marten O. Wallum as a more suitable name.  Wallum's land adjoined Gunderson's on the north and the railway ran through Wallum's land also.  Due to controversy Over this name, Johnson conceded to spelling the name with one 'l'.  Thus Walum was named.

The first building erected in Walum was the Great Northern Elevator in 1900.  The elevator manager M. Olson built a house, the second structure in Walum.  Mrs. Olson taught the Dobbedahl School two miles west of Walum.  In 1904 Olson sold his home to T. T. Mossing and moved to Atwater, Minnesota

Area farmers organized a Farmers Elevator Company They purchased the Great Northern Elevator and built an elevator beside it making a dual elevator operation.  Carl Nelson became the manager in 1904.  He built a home, the second in Walum.

When the Great Western Elevator Company sold out to the Farmers Elevator Company there was a "gentlemen's agreement" that they would not build another elevator in Walum.  However, they did build one a few rods south of the other.  It was completed in December 1904 and was named The Acme to honor the agreement.

By 1904 Tom and Martin Mossing had built homes.  In 1900 they started a feed mill and wood yard.  By fall they had formed a partnership with John Nelson.  He sold his share to M. H. Hagen.  This firm also sold fuel (wood and coal) and machinery.  A post office was established November 7, 1904 M. Mossing was appointed the first postmaster.

By 1905 Walum had 50 inhabitants and the following businesses were begun.  Crane Johnson Company set up a lumberyard with a hardware line.  The manager, Mr. Quisling had an elaborate array of plants and greenery in the front office room.  In 1916 the lumberyard blew away and in 1921 the hardware store burned.  Peter and Gunder Gunderson with John Broten built a store, which opened for business in August 1905.

Nelson and Coon opened a restaurant by harvest time and the Hanson Brothers had a first class hotel complete with dining room.  Matt Hanson set up a blacksmith shop, which he sold to Gust Leitzke.  The next owner was A. Wippert who sold it to Mr. Carr.  John Anderson started a pool hall, Mr. Pete Peterson, a livery barn.  Charles Kins set up a butcher shop.  C. Berger, a later butcher was killed in a fall.  He left a wife and several children.

A photo gallery was opened but the photographer's name was forgotten.  A telephone office was set up in 1905.  Some of the telephone operators were:  

Anna Jerstad, Ellen Larson, Mabel Everson and Signe Wallum.  There were two dray-lines and one livery barn.  In 1906 an addition to Walum was platted east of the road and railroad.  This is the Parr plat.  In 1907 another addition was platted west of Main St. block.  Four homes sat along this street.  Two remain.  One of these houses was built by Peter Gunderson in 1907.

Andrew Wogsland opened a store in 1910 and purchased Peter Gunderson's new home for several pure bred Percheron horses.  The store and pool hall burned in 1913.  Gunderson moved to Canada.  The date of putting in a depot is uncertain, as is the first depot agent.  The first depot burned down.  The next one was a nice spacious station but it also burned.  It was replaced by a boxcar depot.  Some early depot agents were C. A. Evenson, Opdahl, Oscar Gilbertson, Gallepo, McClure Melvin Scamber, and George Standahl.

C. A. Evenson left the depot agency to set up a machine business with Carl Nelson.  Later he began farming and operated a gas station.  He was postmaster for a number of years.  He handled a line of groceries until his death in 1962.  He was married to Olga Wallum.  They had no family.

Oscar A. Gilbertson, was born in 1891 in Moorhead, Minnesota, came to Walum to be the depot agent in 1913.  In 1912 he married Clara Everson of Walum, who was born in River Falls, Wisconsin in 1885.  Gilbertson was in partnership in a general store from 1923-1928 then moved to Binford, North Dakota to continue as depot agent there.  Gilbertsons had five children.  Olive, a Lutheran pastor's wife in Seattle, Washington

Everett, Bishop of the Eastern South Dakota District of the ALC

Donald, pastor in California

Violet resides in Minneapolis and Roy is Bishop of the Western North Dakota of the ALC. Mr. Gilbertson died in 1939.  His widow resides in Seattle, Washington

Nels Nielson and family lived in Walum.  He served as village Cop for a number of years and has a son living in Valley City at the present time.

George Jacobson built a frame bank building with upstairs living quarters, this burned so as president of the bank, a concrete building was built on the same location, also a modern home.  Another bank was built of which were managed by Mr. Hartwick Sonjue, Mr. Brunsvold and Mr. Parker.  There was a third bank for a while.  Edwin Everson set up the Motor Inn Garage, which he operated until 1921.  The building was sold to Wright of Cooperstown and moved to the Cooperstown Air Way.

In 1915 a Farmers Cooperative Store was opened.  A. D. Anderson was the first manager, then Carl Werner assisted by Henry Lewis until it dissolved in 1922.  Werner started anew in the Motor Inn office for a few months.  then moved to the empty pool hall building to continue business.  Carl Heyerdahl entered partnership for a time.  Werner sold out to Heyerdahl and moved to Eckelson.  Heyerdahl later sold out to William Bothwell and went farming then served as mail-carrier at Hannaford till his retirement.

Carl Heyerdahl and wife Anna (Sad) are both deceased.  Children surviving are:  

1. Elenore Jordan, Fargo, Earl and Charles farming the home farm, Dorothy Lommen Valley City, Margaret Agnew, Bismarck and Barbara Melke, Wimbledon.  Wm Bothwell is deceased.  His wife resides in Washington, Daughter Joyce in California and Wayne in Penn.  Thelma and Virginia Everson operated the store until William Chamley came.  The Everson sisters continued to operate in the old hotel building until it burned in 1943.  Chamley continued the store business until 1945 when they retired and moved to Cooperstown where they passed away.  They had two sons, Boyd and Emmett.

Claude Freer and wife Myrtle bought the store in 1945.  They had one daughter Carole.  Claudia was born in 1945.  They sold the business to Conrad Michalson in 1947.  They continued to live in Walum and he was employed by Crane Johnson Company, in Hannaford, (until he retired).  Carole McKinney lives in California and Claudia Jacobson at Laverne, North Dakota

Conrad Michaelson and wife Arlien with children, Judy and Jerry continued to live in Walum until they sold out to Wallace Halverson in 1948.  The Michealsons now live in Turner, Oregon.  One more daughter, Mary Lou was born to the family.  Wallace Halverson and wife, Max with two sons Larry and Ronald lived here one year while they operated the store.  They sold out to Hans Haugen and moved to Binford.

Hans Haugen and wife Maxine operated the store until Hans became manager of the Miller elevator.  Maxine continued with the store until in 1950 when skunks got under the floor of the building and forced the closure of the store with loss to some of the stock.  Mrs. Haugen taught the Walum School for several years until Mr. Haugen took over an elevator at Wimbledon in 1960.  The Haugens now reside in Columbia Falls, Montana.  Three children are married:  

1. James lives in Idaho, Darrel in Minneapolis, Janet in California and Vicki at home.

In 1947 Donald Lende and wife June started a garage and gas station.  They expanded to include a cafe.  Lende also sold a line of machinery.  June was postmistress for nine months.  They left for Fargo with their children Donald, Jr., Donna, Dean, Dale, Roger, Clinton, Julie and John.

One elevator, J. C. Miller, serves the Walum area at present.  Lloyd Smith is the manager and Michiel Hook, assistant.  Lloyd Smith and wife Doris moved from Pillsbury in 1961 to Walum with their daughters, Melody, Renae and Lori.

Noralf Tweit and wife Bessie moved to Walum from Washington in 1947.  Tweit, a former native resident of Dover and Bently Township, has engaged in various construction work.  Bessie Tweit operated a store for several years in her home.  They continue to live in Walum.  One son, Mark, is married and lives in Valley City.  There are three children.  The eldest son, Lawrence, served in United States Aviation field.  He died in 1971.  His wife and two sons survive in Eng.

Merlin Lende with wife, Evelyn had car salvage business here from 1967-1974 when they moved to Cooperstown.  They have two children, Sonia and Kim.

A recent cafe business has been opened by Murray and Barbara Haugen of Hannaford.

The Walum post office was closed in 1973 when postmaster Glen Broten retired.  The Hannaford mail route now serves Walum.

The branch line of the Northern Pacific Railroad sent its little one car train called the "Goose" on its last run thru Walum on June 16, 1961.  A number of people took a last ride on "the goose" that day.  The mail has been carried by truck since.

Walum reached a population of 175 at one time.

Histories of the school and the Lutheran Church must be included and are interwoven.  A school was built but there is no record of the beginning.  The first record is for 1897 with A. P. Jones as teacher for the months of July and August at $35.00 per month.  However, the records of the church prove that the school was in use earlier.  The Norwegian Lutheran Church organized a congregation at the home of Aslack Gunderson in 1885.  They first called themselves the Bald Hill Congregation but later changed it to St. Olaf Norwegian Lutheran Church.  The church records state that following their organizational meeting church services were held in the Gunderson School, until a church building was built in 1899.  This church was built on land given by Aslack Gunderson.  The church is still in the same location.  The original church blew down in 1916 but a new church was built on the same spot in 1917.  This is now a member of the American Lutheran Church.  The population of Walum has been predominantly Scandinavian and predominantly Lutheran throughout the years.

The Gunderson School was situated 1/2 mile south of Walum on the east side of the road.  The school was moved into town in the early 1900's and set on a lot north of the church.  The enrollment outgrew the old school so a new 2-room school was built with large, airy, well-lighted rooms.  The first teacher in the new school was Christine Olson.  Soon two teachers held classes for grades one thru ten.  The old schoolhouse was sold to Ben Stromme and moved out to his farm.

The depression brought changes causing an enrollment decline and the school went back to a one room rural.  The school district was annexed to the Hannaford school district in 1959.  In 1960 it was closed.  Mrs. Helen Parker was the last teacher.  The schoolhouse was sold to the Eslinger Brothers and moved west of Hannaford for a farm shed.

Persons residing in Walum not included in businesses are:  

Mrs. Clarence Evenson, nee Olga Wallum, daughter of Martin Wallum.  She has lived in the area all her life.  She married Clarence Evenson in 1912.  She resides in their home since Evenson's death.

Carl Goplen and Martha Norgard Goplen moved to Walum in 1971.  They put a Mobile home on the site of the old schoolhouse.  Carl farms near Walum.

Dorthy Rahlf Everson from Binford, widow of the late Robert Everson, who was killed in a car accident in 1971, lives in their home with her children, Vicky, Ronald, Beckey and Daniel at home.  Edwin is married to Cindy Bonhoffer and lives at home.  Cindy married Dale Kunze of Dazey.  Robert Jr. and wife Nancy Jewett

Everson and son Dan live in the home yard in a mobile home.  Dorthy and Robert Sr. engaged in the hotel business, in service station business and farming in several places before settling in Walum.  He was the son of Edwin and Sylvia Everson, rural Walum and was employed by Melroe Company of Cooperstown at the time of his death.  Robert Jr. is presently employed by Melroe Company

Residents presently living in Walum who are offsprings of pioneers will be included in the histories of their pioneer parents and grandparents.  These include Percy Nelson, Glen Broten, Richard and Vernon Wogsland.

Carl Nelson was born in Farmington, Minnesota He came to the Walum area with his pioneer father, Charles Nelson and Mother, Isabelle Nelson in 1881.  The Nelsons helped to develop the Lutheran Church, the school and the community.  They farmed in South Greenfield Township.  Carl attended pioneer schools and grew to manhood here.  He married Margaret McInnes of Kelso, North Dakota He was the second grain buyer in Walum and was so engaged most of his life until he retired.  Margaret Nelson died in 1918.  Carl Nelson served as Greenfield Township clerk for fifty-five years.  He died in 1955.

Percy Nelson, son of Carl and Margaret Nelson was born in Walum.  He attended the local school and church and married Ruth Wogsland, daughter of Andrew Wogsland in 1939.  Percy was a grain buyer for St. Anthony Elevator Company In 1942 they went west to work in defense plants, Ruth resigning as postmistress.  After World War II Percy and Ruth returned to Walum where Percy took a job with the North Dakota Highway Department and continued for 26 years, until his retirement in 1973.  His wife, Ruth died in 1970.  Percy resides in Walum.

Andrew Wogsland and family

Andrew Wogsland was born in Amherst, Wisconsin in 1863.  In 1880 at age 17 he left for Dakota to work on bonanza farms in the Red River Valley.  He worked for bonanza farmer Dalrymple.  Later he moved to Dazey where he met and married Florence Zing in 1899.  Florence Zing was born in Walkerton, Ontario, Canada in 1875.  She came to Sanborn with her parents in 1880 where they operated a hotel.  Later they moved to Dazey to operate a hotel.

The Wogslands moved to Greenfield Township where they farmed and raised purebred Percheron horses.  In 1910 they moved to Walum.  They purchased the Peter Gunderson house for an agreed number of Percheron horses.  Wogsland owned and operated a grocery store from 1910-1913.  It burned down when the pool hall next door caught fire and burned down also.  Mr. Wogsland purchased land west of Walum that he farmed.  He died in 1924.  His sons continued to farm the home farm.  Mrs. Wogsland lived here until her death in 1966.

Children of the Andrew Wogsland family:  

Mrs. Grace Howard (deceased) Clifford (retired) in Sun City, Arizona, Raymond (retired) Seattle, Washington, Mrs. Alberta Gast, Auburn, Washington.  Mrs. Florence McGlynn, Auburn, Washington, Mrs. Luella Rand, Oakville Washington, Vernon and Richard, Walum, North Dakota, Ruth Nelson (deceased).  Richard married Evelyn Jenner of Lehr, North Dakota in 1944.  A son, Daniel was born in 1956.  Richard and Vernon continue to farm land near Walum.

John Broten was born in Kraagro, Norway in 1872, the son of a commercial ice shipper.  He came to Iowa at 18.  Later he went to Princeton, Minnesota He came to the Walum area in 1898 and bought land west of Walum.  In 1901 he married Alice Gunderson, daughter of Aslak Gunderson and built a home on their land.  Later they moved the house into Walum.  They had two sons, Kenneth, who died in infancy and Glen who owns a home and land at Walum.  In 1905 John Broten went into partnership with his brother-in-law, Peter Gunderson in the general store business.  In 1907 his wife, Alice, died.  He became owner of the store in 1909 after buying Gunderson's interest in the business.  In December 1911 the store burned.  In January 1913 he purchased a general store at Glenfield, North Dakota.  In 1914 he married Martha Quistat, Centuria, Wisconsin the home of the bride.  She is a graduate nurse of the Swedish Hospital in Minneapolis, Minnesota She was a nurse at the Platou hospital in Valley City, North Dakota before the marriage.  John Broten sold his store at Glenfield in 1920.  He purchased a farm on the north end of Walum and spent much time during his retirement years improving this farm.  He died in 1932.  His widow, Martha, operated a convalescent home in Valley City.  Later she moved to Minneapolis, Minnesota where she now resides in a nursing home.

Glen Broten attended school in Walum, Glenfield, New Rockford High School and Concordia Academy.  He farmed land west of Walum and married Bernice Alfson Anderson, a widow with two girls, Rhoda Marie and Sylvia in 1944.  She taught school in Walum.  They have two more girls, Brenda and Shelley.  In 1960 Glen became-Walum Postmaster until his retirement in 1973.  The P. O. was taken out of Walum and Walum was put on the Hannaford route.  Glen sold land to James Broten in 1974.  He still has farm and home interests in Walum.  Daughters:  

Mrs. Rhoda Marie Schmaltz at Spokane, Mrs. Sylvia Lyngby at Sioux Falls, South Dakota, Mrs. Brenda Utter of Renton, Washington and Shelley at home.

POST MASTERS

Martini.  Mossing, November 7 1904

John Broten, 1908

Andrew Wogsland, 1912

Carl T. Werner, 1913

Andrew D. Anderson, 1913

Carl T. Werner, 1916

Franklin Zingg (acting), 1925

Franklin Zingg, 1927

Wn Bothwell, 1940

Ruth Nelson, 1941

Carl Nelson (acting), 1943

Clarence Evenson, 1945

June Lende, 1959

Glen Broten, 19601973.

Some grain buyers in Walum included:  

M. Olson, Carl Nelson, Oscar Evenson, George Peterson, Fred Butler, Walt Hanson, Tingdahl, Towsend, J. Haugness, R. Hoffland, Gebhardt, Percy Nelson, Martin Strand, Arnold Skofstad, H. Rutherford, Hoover, Schoepash, Hans Haugen, Lloyd Smith - present operator.

More could be written of those we have included.  Some have been omitted due to inaccurate conflicting information.  No family has been omitted purposely and no slight intended to any deleted histories.
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THE GUNDERSONS

Aslak Gunderson was born in Telemark District Norway in 18- His wife Thoren was born at Kraagers in 1836.  Both were well educated in Norway for that time.  Their children who were to be educated in short term prairie schools were not to be as fortunate.  They immigrated to Baldwin, Wisconsin, United States of America, with their four oldest children, where they lived for about seven years.

They moved to Dakota where they took out a tree claim in southern Griggs Company in Greenfield Township in 1880.  They built the first frame house in this area.  The original house still stands on the same spot 1/4 mile south of Walum with modernization and a few changes made.  Floyd and wife Evelyn Fodgerud reside in the house at present.

Gunderson's daughter Minnie was the first white child born in Greenfield Township.  As Gunderson's home was situated on the main road, it became a stopping place or "Halfway House" for travelers and grain haulers from Cooper Ranch and other farms to the closest shipping point at Sanborn.  At Gunderson's, horses were cared for, travelers or teamsters were fed, given lodging when needed and sent on their way with a packed lunch for no remuneration.  We might insert here that Al Shue, foreman of Cooper Ranch, met Belle Gunderson here.  They were married and moved to Cooperstown until her death.  Both are buried in the Walum Cemetery.  They had two daughters, Belle and Nettie.

Gundersons had thirteen children.  Nine lived to grow up in North Dakota.  They are:  

1. Betty, Belle, Gunder, Peter, Tillie, George, Edith, Alice, and Minnie.

Aslak owned and farmed the land where Walum stands.  He and his wife were Charter members of the Bald Hill Lutheran Church, later called St. Olaf, and he donated 4 acres of land for the church and cemetery.  Their children were all confirmed in the Lutheran faith.  They aided in organizing school, built cast of the road 1/2-1/4 mile south of their farm.  It was called the Gunderson School, often called "Happy Hollow" also.

Aslak Gunderson died in 1900 just as Walum was begun.  He had sold the land to his son, Peter.  His wife died in 1913.

Betsy married George Kins and moved to Montana where they raised a large family.  Histories of Peter and Gunder will be listed separately.

Tillie Gunderson married Nelson.  They had a daughter Alma, Deceased and Alan of Oregon Nelson died and his widow remarried John (Jack) Stewart.  They had two sons, Lester in Washington and Lori in Oregon.  Two daughters, Mrs. Belle Stewart Swan and Florence deceased.  Both lived in Canada where the Stewarts moved to farm and raise their family.

Georgine Gunderson married Walter (Larimore) of Hope, where they farmed.  They moved to Portal where they died.  They had several children.

Edith Gunderson married Sam Nickey who was a baseball player hired by the Cooperstown Baseball Team one season.  They moved to Montana and had three sons and one daughter.

Alice Gunderson married John Broton, parents of Glen Broten, still of Walum.

Minnie Gunderson married A. P. Jones - a colorful figure.

A. P. Jones taught in the Gunderson School or (Happy Hollow) for a two month summer term in 1897 in July and August for a salary of $35.00 per month.  His pupils and friends call him 'Apple Pie Jones'.  In 1900 he attended a summer session at a teachers college.

In 1901 he was assistant to Rearcik, editor of the Sentinel, a Cooperstown newspaper.  He soon became the editor until 1903.

Jones was an avid checker player and played checkers by mail.  He was Section to the North Dakota Checkers Club for several years.  He and Minnie Gunderson married in 1903 when he became a postal clerk on the Northern Pacific train on the run between Jamestown and Shelby, Montana.  They had four sons, two of whom grew to adulthood.

Gunder Gunderson was born in Norway, son of Aslak and Thoren Gunderson.  He came to Baldwin, Wisconsin as a small child.  In 1880 the family moved to Dakota where they took out a tree claim in south part of Griggs Company He married Ida Larson and purchased land south west of his father's home.  Here he and his wife built a home, which burned down.  In 1915 they moved to Modesto, California where he dealt in real estate.  He lived there till his death.  His wife, Ida lived to be 102 years old.  Their children:  

Mrs. Alpha Cummings, deceased.  Ira killed in a motor cycle accident, Mrs. Viola Crouch, Mrs. Berdella Johnson and Vernon all of Modesto, California
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THE PETER GUNDERSON FAMILY

Peter Gunderson was born to Aslak and Thoren Gunderson in Norway.  He came to Baldwin, Wisconsin, United States of America, with his parents at the age of two.  In 1880 they came to Griggs County.  He attended the Gunderson School and St. Olaf Church while growing to manhood here.

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Gunderson

As a young man he was sent to Pekin for a special purchase of timber.  He lost his hat while he was there.  Inga Vrem found it.  They met and were later married.  Their wedding was in May 1889, Reverend P. A. Thoreson officiating.  Inga kept the hat, however, and wore it out.  They lived on the Rognlien farm a while.  Adventurous Peter moved with his family to Washington State where they lived for a few years.  They returned to the Turtle Mountain area of North Dakota for a short time, and then returned to the Nicholson place near Walum.  He purchased his father's land on which Walum was located.

Peter went into a partnership with his brother-in-law John Broten in purchasing the Gunderson and Broten Store in 1905.

The Gundersons were active in St. Olaf Lutheran Church and in community affairs.  In 1909 they built a new home.  The store burned down and thereupon Gunderson sold his house to Andrew Wogsland for several pure bred Percheron horses.

The children of the Gundersons are:  

1. Mrs. Alvin Hauge, Mrs. Arla Goudy, Orris of Ols, all in Alberta, Canada, and Irwin who was killed in a mowing accident.
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ADDIE TOWNSHIP

History

A Caravan of covered wagons drawn by oxen came to Griggs County in 1882 and camped by Jessie Lake.  Among these was Gilbert P. Olson, Oscar's father who settled by Long Lake.  John Paulson and his wife settled on the south bank of Norway Lake, where there were a couple acres of trees such as Elm, Ash, Asp, Hackleberry, Boxelder, cottonwood and bunch of chokecherries trees.  Fish were found in Norway Lake.  Ole K. Olson came later that year and he settled with his wife and daughter on the west side bank of Norway Lake.  The remainder of the caravan settled by Red Willow Lake.

John Paulson and Ole K. Olson had dug-outs in the hillside of Norway Lake.  They got their logs and poles from trees by Jessie Lake, also some from the Sheyenne River.  They got some rough lumber for floors, doors and such from Portland, North Dakota about 45 miles away.  They drove to Valley City, about 60 miles to buy flour and other supply of food that would last them over the fall and winter months.

The early settlers raised cattle, sheep and hogs and also had dairy products.  Spinning wheels were used for spinning wool.  In the winter months trees were chopped down to be used for fuel to produce heat and for cooking.  They trapped minks, muskrats and weasels for furs to sell.

Wild geese and ducks were plentiful on the lakes and ponds.  Prairie chickens were numerous and rabbits and cottontails were found in the bushes.  There was no hunting season restriction in those days.  The biggest pests were gophers and crows, also coyotes and foxes.  The county paid a one-cent bounty for gopher tails and also a bounty on coyotes but not on foxes.  Buffalo bones were picked up to sell for fertilizer products.

Early day farmers threshed grain with horse power.  Teams of horses pulled a long pole shaft extending from a center of a gear casing.  Horses were stepping around in a circle all day pulling that gear shaft, a steel shaft from the gear-case to the threshing machine.  One man stood on each side of the machine cutting the twine of the grain bundles and fed it to the machine, all done by hand.  One man he knew lost a hand that way.  One team of horses bucked the straw away before blowers were used, grain was put in two-bushel bags and hauled to grain bins that way.

The first steam threshing rigs Mr. Olson saw in early nineties consisted of a movable steam engine and a threshing machine that had to be moved from one setting to another by horses or mules.  These were used both for stack threshing as well as shock threshing.

There was a weekly mail route from Cooperstown to Jessie Lake where Mr. McCulloch was the postmaster.  From Jessie Lake the route went to Cottonwood post office, 5 miles north of Jessie.  Ole Alfson was a local postmaster there.

Mr. Oscar Olson remembers visiting the construction crew camps of tents of the Northern Pacific railroad from Cooperstown to McHenry.  He watched the chefs cooking meals for the men, also how the men worked, grading up the railroad beds, and laying rails.  In the fall another crew came along and put up the telegraph poles and line.  Another crew built the depot in Binford and Jessie.  Mr. Olson remembers when they built the first grain-elevators in Jessie and Binford.  Binford got its name from Mr. Binford who built the first general store there.
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A Pioneer Relates

(Translated January 17, 193? from the Norse language by Mr. I. A. Kampen, former County Superintendent of Schools, Griggs Company)

John P. Vangen, Binford, North Dakota, called at the "Tidende's" office while attending the church meeting in Minneapolis.  Vangen is one of the sturdy pioneers at Lake Sibley, where he has resided since 1883.

Vangen has much of interest to relate.  It was in 1871 he left his birthplace Hauesetera, Ullensaker, Norway, and came to America.  He crossed the Atlantic on the sailing vessel "Nordlyset.“  It took 14 weeks to cross the ocean.  The worst of it was that the food and drinking water were running dangerously low.  For 14 days they had little or nothing to drink and eat:  

barely enough to keep alive.  Finally they landed at Newfoundland where they secured provisions and also tobacco.  It was the sweet English tobacco, which tasted so good that even the women liked to try it.

The first year and a half he spent in Minneapolis, and then moved to Northfield, Minnesota.  In 1883 he went to Dakota and came to Lake Sibley.  The soil appeared fertile, there was plenty of water and grass - in fact the land looked good to him, and he took a homestead and settled down.  But it was rather dreary to begin with, far between the neighbors.  The nearest white neighbor to the west was 18 miles away.  To make up for it, there were crowds of Indians who trekked from the Devils Lake reservation to the reservation at Sisseton.  On the trips the Indians generally remained at Lake Sibley several days, often an entire week.  There could be up to 30 Indian tents at a time.  But the Indians were honest and peaceable.  From Vangen they often borrowed one thing and another, but they always returned what they borrowed.  Once he gave them something they did not use.  He had just butchered and the Indians came and begged for some meat.  Vangen gave them a large piece, and he thought they needed salt with it so he threw in a bag of it.  The salt he later discovered left untouched.  Evidently salt was not a part of their recipe for cooking.

Lake Sibley is a historic place, and several things could be discovered around the lake.  The lake is named after the well known Minnesota governor and general in the Indian War, Henry H. Sibley, and here he built Camp Atchison, July 8, 1863.  At that time there were 4,000 men assembled and they had in the course of one day dug many long trenches and fully prepared to battle the Indians.  Most of these trenches were on land belonging to Vangen, but could not be considered as of any special value as instruments for farming, and in course of time he leveled them out.  But on the land of his neighbor, Nels Thune, there are still some remnants of the trenches.  Thune has deeded the trenches to the North Dakota Historical society and a fence has been put up around the place.  On the highest point of Thune's land there is also a grave.  For a long time people thought it was an Indian grave, but it has been established that a soldier of Sibley's forces is buried there.  George Brent is his name, and he lost his life over near the present village of Courtenay when his gun went off as he dismounted from his horse.  The government has erected a monument over his grave.

Vangen and Thune found many things that reminded them of the Sibley expedition against the Indians.  Vangen found a cook stove used by the soldiers.  At that time he did not think that old scrap iron like that had any historic interest and he dumped it on a stone pile where pieces of the stove has since remained.  He thought more of a sword that was picked up, and he gave the finder a dollar for it.  He sold it later for five dollars and considered it a good bargain.  but the buyer sold it again, receiving twenty-five dollars for it.

Big piles of buffalo skulls and bones lay scattered over the prairies.  Indian arrows in the skulls testified to the manner of death of the animals.  These bones were a source of income to the settlers.  They picked them up and sold them for as high as 18 dollars a ton.  It gave Vangen money to buy lumber for a frame house so he could move out of the sod shanty.  However, the bone piles did not last long when the Indians found out that the bones were worth money.  They swarmed everywhere over the prairie picking up the bones.

Vangen also has much else of interest to relate from pioneer days and later.  It was not always easy to get along.  There were few farm machines and implements in those days.  no modern threshing machines, only those operated by horse power.  Often it got late into the winter before threshing was finished.  Vangen recalled one time he threshed for Gabriel Gabrielson, at New Year's in bitterly cold weather.

Lake Sibley later became a rendezvous for hunters.  There was no fish in the lake, but an enormous lot of geese, and hunters came from far away places.  From Chicago there were many and those Chicago nimrods were anything but dry.  They brought large liquor kegs along and they drank firewater by the pail-ful.  It was not difficult to secure roast duck.  Vangen once fired a couple of shots into a flock of geese and then picked up 13 geese.  However, the birds did considerable damage to the crops, especially in the fall of the year.

Much has changed around Lake Sibley since Vangen came here in 1883.  His settler's sod shanty has long ago given way to a fine, modern two and one-half story dwelling and the virgin lands have become fields and meadows, the result of a long life of work and industry.  Vangen, as most farmers, is wondering how things will turn out if better times and more equitable conditions for the farmers do not come soon.  It was often difficult in the old days, but the farmers got along and forged ahead, while now many farmers lose everything that they have struggled to obtain these many years.

June 1932
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Most Unforgettable Character

The title of this story should have been, "A Tribute to Gilbert Olsen, " but the title also fits the most unforgettable person in Griggs County.  He did live in Griggs County - half way between Binford and Jessie, right on the shore of Long Lake, and I worked for him one winter and spring around the year of 1926.

Each one is asked to identify himself as material is sent to the Griggs County Heritage book.

I suppose most of the people keenly interested in the heritage of said county knew, or knew about, my brother, F. A. Helland.  Selma and Rudy on the committee are, of course, my sister and brother.  I have been living on the West Coast since 1937.  When I worked for Gilbert Olson (and I have to call him Gilbert Olsen.  it seems disrespectful to call him Mr. Olsen.  There have been hundreds, and, at present, many Mr. Olsens but I only knew one Gilbert Olsen, and I must call him that).

From Gilbert Olsen's place across the range of hills to our home place was not very far and many times on Sunday I would walk for a visit.  I have always despised slovenliness and waste, and on my way home and back I noticed road-working equipment laying rusting by the side of the road since the last year's roadwork.  Gilbert was a county supervisor or officer of some kind, and I asked him, "Why is this not taken care of?”  He questioned me as to location and number of pieces and what it was.  Then he went directly to the phone and called someone, and I heard him say, "This must be taken care of at once!  The party he talked to must have asked him, "Who told you?”  He answered, "A responsible party saw them and then told me.”

When I heard myself referred to as a responsible party that was just what I needed to help me grow in stature right at that time.  The other thing that the word "responsible party" did, it crushed the notion I had always had that older folks were rather stupid.  Now here was an older man who recognized me as a responsible party.  That proved that he was a man among men and I NEVER FORGOT it.

Another time he told me something that has had more of an influence on me than anything I can think of.  He asked me one day, "What is your goal and motto, Sig?”  I said, "I don't have any.”  He said, "You should have.”  So, of course, I asked him, "What is yours?”  He said, "My motto is to take care of what I have and not what I'm going to get.”  Right then I took that as my motto also never dreaming of the benefits that I would reap from this motto, and the countless times I have seen the benefits the motto could have had on others beside myself.

Then I asked, "What IS your goal?”  And I attribute a great percentage of the success in my life to this goal I accepted that day.

He told me this story:  

A successful businessman needed a boy to run errands and put an ad in the window, "Boy Wanted.”  In the several applications he always asked the boys, "What is your goal?”  This one boy said, "The same as yours, sir.“  "And how do you know what my goal is, Boy?”  He answered, "It is tacked to your door.  It is spelled, P U S H. " That boy was hired.”  That is my goal," Gilbert Olsen said.  "I grabbed that goal at once also.  And as the years have gone by I have never regretted it.”

And so I am glad to send in this tribute to Gilbert Olsen.  The only thing I could hold against him is that he had a thick head of snow-white hair and here I am only bald headed.  - Sig Helland
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Settlers

THORVALD H. DAHL

Thorvald H. (Haakenson) Dahl was born in Smalaning Norway, on a farm called Dahl, on March 24, 1858.  Thorvald changed his name from Haakenson to Dahl after the place of his birth.

He immigrated to America in 1880 in the company of two other families.  Thorvald lived in Northfield, Minnesota, a while, then later at Granite Falls.  He was married at Granite Falls on November 16, 1883 to Ingeborg Thune.

He and his family moved to Trail County, North Dakota, and later to Binford where they homesteaded on SE quarter of Section 28-147-60, Addie Township, Griggs County in 1884.  He was a carpenter by trade, and a farmer.  He also was assessor of Addie Township for many years.

Mrs. T. H. Dahl was a midwife, for all the neighbors, and brought many babies into the world.  They were pioneers on the Dakota prairies during territorial days.  Here they resided a lifetime.

In the winter of 1922 there was so much snow that Mr. Dahl had to make steps in the snow to go down to the door to feed his hogs.

Mr. and Mrs. Dahl had ten children:  

1. Ida Kristine (Pittenger) died February 29, 1960

2. Anne Caroline (Johnson) died October 6, 1963

3. Helga Serine (Vangen) died September 25, 1964

4. Carl Anton died June 3, 190?

5. Gurina Mathilda (Edwards) lives at Killdeer, North Dakota

6. John Gustav died June 7, 1967

7. Olaf Edwin lives at Cooperstown, North Dakota

8. Thomas Emil died January 4, 1972

9. Knute Martinus lives at Binford, North Dakota

10. Iver Harold lives at Cooperstown, North Dakota

Olaf Edwin (better known as Edwin Dahl) was born April 15, 1896 near Binford.  He served in the Medical Corps in World War I at the Base Hospital at Waco, Texas.  After his return from service he began farming south of Binford in Clearfield Township.  Here he continued to farm on two separate farms for forty-three years.

He met Carrie B. Plummer who came from Downing, Wisconsin to Binford to teach school in the rural school for four years in 1920.  They were married at Colfax, Wisconsin on June 27, 1923.

They lived in Clearfield Township until October 20, 1962 when they retired and moved to Cooperstown.  They have five children:  

1. Duane of Cooperstown, Dallas of Kirkland, Washington, Shirley Vasfaret on the home farm, rural Binford, North Dakota

2. Darwin of Valley- City

3. Lilias Bruns of Moorhead, Minnesota

4. they have 24 grandchildren and 6 great- grandchildren.

Knute M. Dahl was born at Binford North Dakota on June 16, 1900.  He was a farmer and carpenter.  He married Irene Tufto at Tolna North Dakota She died October 27, 1943 and is buried in the cemetery at Binford, North Dakota Knute retired and now lives in Binford.  They had four children:  

1. Clinton of Binford, North Dakota, Clayton of Merrifield, Minnesota, lone (Law) died July 18, 1960.  Illa (Hines) of Brainerd Minnesota He has 18 grandchildren and 6 great- grandchildren.

Iver Dahl was born October 15, 1903 at Binford.  He was a farmer, moved into Cooperstown, and worked for the county.  He was married in Aneta North Dakota, to Thelma Johnson of Kloten, North Dakota They have four children:  

1. Delores (Rickford) Rosemount

2. Minnesota

3. Vilma (Sanders)

4. David at Farmington Minnesota

5. Myrna (Leininger) Tower City, North Dakota 

They have 14 grandchildren and several great- grandchildren.
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MR. AND MRS. DAFFIN (D. A. ) GOPLEN

Daffin (D. A. ) Goplen, born in Minnesota, was the son of Andrew and Sigrid Goplen pioneer immigrants who settled in southeastern Minnesota (Goodhue County) near Zumbrota in the 1860's.  As a young man of twenty-two years he came to Binford, North Dakota from Zumbrota via railroad emigrant car on April 7, 1902.  He related that during the journey some of the horses on the loaded car started to crowd and lean against each other making it necessary to throw one of the horses to the floor and to keep him down by sitting on his head and neck.  It could therefore be said that D. A. literally rode into North Dakota on a horse's neck.

Among his principal possessions upon his arrival in Binford were 4 horses, a walking plow, and a $160.00 debt.  The first year he broke virgin soil, seeded and harvested a flax crop.  In addition to this he had spare time employment with the railroad burning firebreaks, and he also followed a sixty-day "threshing run" hauling bundles for which he received $2.00 per day for himself and team.

In the spring of 1903, his parents, brothers and sisters moved from Zumbrota, Minnesota to North Dakota and purchased a farm in Kingsley Township, southwest of Binford.  During that year D. A. lived with the family and continued to farm land on his own near Binford.

On June 25, 1903, D. A. Goplen was united in marriage with a native Minnesotan, Marie Follingstad, a teacher and daughter of pioneer parents, Ole O. and Inger O. Follingstad from Norway, who in the 1860's settled in Goodhue County near Wanamingo, Minnesota.  As was the custom of the day, the wedding took place at the farm home of the bride's parents.  In the spring of 1904, the newlyweds settled on a farm one mile northwest of Binford where they continued to live until moving in the fall of 1911, to their newly constructed house and farmstead located in close proximity to the north of the town limits of Binford.  This continued as the family home and is currently owned and occupied by Mr. and Mrs. Maynard D. Goplen.

During his fifty-eight years in the Binford area he, with the able assistance of his good wife, Marie, realized his boyhood dream of acquiring one thousand acres of North Dakota land.  In the process he continually strove to improve the farming operation by the acquisition of better power, machinery and equipment.  In 1904, a sulky plow replaced the walking plow and in 1909, a steam engine, threshing machine, an eight-bottom plow and a clod-crusher packer were added.  In 1915, with the purchase of a 1914 Model T Ford, the horse and buggy waned in importance.  Other purchases such as a Wallis tractor in 1920, a shock-loader in 1922, a combine in 1928, and rubber tires for the tractor in 1935 were examples of progress and modernization.  D. A. took an active interest in local and state politics.  He served twelve years on the Binford school board, and for many years on the Addie Township board of supervisors.

Mr. and Mrs. D. A. Goplen were the parents of four children:  

Ida, Arnold, Maynard and Joel.  During their grade and high school years they enjoyed easy walking distance to the Binford School.  Because of the deep family concern and interest in education and through the establishment, in 1922, of a family revolving fund for college education, each of the four children is a graduate of the University of North Dakota in Grand Forks.  As a strong supporter of education, Mrs. D. A. Goplen often said, "You may lose property and money, but a good education cannot be taken away or lost.”  Mrs. Goplen took an active interest in religious work and for many years contributed financial support to a native missionary in the Santal Mission in India.  She was author of a book written in the Norwegian language entitled "Draaper Af Guds Glaeders Strom" which literally translated means "Drops from God's Streams of Joy.”

Ida, born prematurely, weighed only two pounds and eight ounces and was not expected to live.  She survived because of a hastily constructed incubator fashioned by her father and her uncle, Albert.  The materials consisted of an apple box, a piece of downspout and a kerosene lamp.  Ida's first intake was from a solution of two drops of brandy in a teaspoon of water.  Ida has spent her adult life in teaching and religious work.  For the past twenty-nine years she has served as a Captain in the Salvation Army in California and Arizona.  Although currently semi-retired, she is serving with the Salvation Army and residing in Tucson, Arizona.

Arnold married a teacher, Beatrice Bean, at Finley, North Dakota in 1933.  They have lived in Bismarck, North Dakota since 1937, and their only son, Arman, currently resides in Denver, Colorado.  Arnold who is a member of the North Dakota Bar has been engaged in teaching, and in professional employment with federal, state, and private agencies.  For the past twenty-six years, until his retirement in June 1974, he served in legal and administrative capacities in the hospital and health care fields.

Maynard married Minnie Clausen of Devils Lake, North Dakota in 1938.  Before her marriage she was a teacher and also taught in the Binford School.  Prior to moving to the home farm at Binford in 1945, which they purchased in 1957, Maynard was for a number of years engaged in professional engineering, the field of his college training.  Their two children are:  

1. Bruce, who with his wife Donnelle, lives in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and Judith who lives in Hibbing, Minnesota.

Joel married a former teacher, Winifred Olson, daughter of Rowena Rinde Olson and the late Emil Olson of Binford.  Their three children:  

1. David, Cynthia and Susan live with their parents in Binford.  Joel, a law school graduate, in addition to his cattle and grain farming operations, is currently Griggs County Justice.

Mrs. D. A. Goplen died November 8, 1943, and Mr. D. A. Goplen died April 30, 1960.
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JOHN AND MATHILDE HANSTAD

John was born in Norway and came to North Dakota while a very young man.  He arrived at Dazey, North Dakota, to where two of his sisters had already come.  From a family of nine children all came to the United States except one sister.

John came to the Binford community as a farm worker where he met and married Mathilde Olson, daughter of Ole K. and Aslaug Olson.  She was born in Minnesota and came here with her parents at a young age.  They settled in a dug-out and later a small house was built just a short distance from where they spent the rest of their lives on the banks of what is now known as Norway Lake.

To this union four girls were born:  

1. twin daughters dying in infancy

2. Alma (Mrs. Carl Fredrickson) deceased

3. Mrs. John Maurer, living in Binford

John and Mathilde spent their time as farm workers, he during the fall as a separator man on an old fashioned threshing machine and she as a general housewife and mother, cooking for large crews and responsible for chores and other duties while he was gone.
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ARNT HELLAND

Arnt Helland was born February 9, 1855 at Thime, Norway.  His parents were Jonas and Maria Tuni.  Later when they moved to the area of Helland, they took that name as their family name.  This was a common practice at that time.  Herding sheep in partnership with his brothers and helping with blacksmith work were his occupations prior to military service.

In 1885 he left for America using money saved from service to pay his fare.  He arrived at Big Timber, Montana where some relatives lived.  He herded sheep there for four years.

This was rattlesnake country and he had a healthy respect for them.  He had heard that they never strike without rattling first.  One day, to test this, he came across a coiled snake and using the stick he was carrying, poked the snake, expecting the warning rattle.  Instead, the snake immediately uncoiled and struck the stick, just inches from Arnt's hand.  The healthy respect was now a genuine fear.  Another time he came to an abandoned sod house and stooped down to peer into the dim interior.  There on a block of sod, just inches from his face, lay a coiled rattlesnake.  Needless to say, the sheepherder didn't stay for a second look.

In the fall of 1889 Arnt took a stock train to Chicago and returned to Norway to spend the winter.  The following spring he returned to Montana and continued herding sheep.  He left Montana and went to South Dakota where his brother, Carl, lived and helped with stack threshing.

From South Dakota he came to the Cooperstown area to meet his bride-to-be, her parents and three brothers for whom he had paid the fare from Norway.

Martha (his bride-to-be) was born in Sannes, Norway on May 12, 1873.  Her parents were Hans and Christina Helland.  Arnt and Martha were married on December 13, 1892 by Reverend Marcus Njust.

They rented some land in Bald Hill Township for one season.  Their first son, Jonas, was born here.  Being dissatisfied with farming and wanting to raise sheep, Arnt took sheep on shares with Mr. Fuglestad and moved north to Addie Township and took a homestead in the NE quarter of Section 34.  They lived here in a house that had been deserted by some cattle raisers, Heddington and Crane.  The second son, Hans, was born in that home.

Later Arnt built a dug-out and sod home in a hillside and moved his family there.  This home was covered with snow in winter and wolves roamed and howled on the roof.  A third son, Hjalmer, was born in the sod house.

Then in 1899 Arnt was able to build a frame house.  It was not large but was really splendid compared to the three other homes.  That fall the fourth son, Fritz, was born.  The Helland's were & parents of seven other children, five more sons and two daughters.

The oldest son, Jonas, died in France in World War I. 

Hans also served in World War I, but returned home.  He died in 1923.

Hjalmer married Julia Gilbertson.  They moved to Plains, Montana where Julia died in 1967 and Hjalmer in 1973.  Their children are:  

1. Myrtle, Sylvia, Howard, Irene, Gordon, Arthur and Gladys.

Fritz married Florence Palm.  Both have passed away, she in 1964 and he in 1969.

Minnie, who faithfully cared for the home and younger children when the mother died, now is employed in Everett, Washington.

Otto lives in Fargo and is employed at the Powers Hotel.

Sig is married to Judith Garberg and lives in Aberdeen, Washington.  They have two daughters, Sharon and Susan.

Selma lives in Cooperstown where she is County Superintendent of Schools.

Rudolph married Thelma Bakken and they live on a farm in Addie Township.  They have four children:

1. Arden, David, Lowell and Karen.

Kermit married Edith Evenson.  Their home is in Addie Township.  They had three children:  

1. Wayne, Roberta and Lyle.  Edith passed away in 1973.

Walter is a dentist in Wahpeton, North Dakota.  He married Sybilla Kline.  They have two children:  

2. Tom and Mary.

Martha Helland passed away in 1920 and Arnt Helland in 1940.

The following poem written by a granddaughter, Karen Helland Nordvall, is lovingly dedicated to the memory of Grandpa Helland:

PRAIRIE-WORN FARMER

The sun had tried to lie about his years 

But I could tell, and from the old man's face 

Subtracted half a score of summer's fierce 

But one or ten?  What mattered was the pace

As long as autumn is fulfilled from spring, 

As long as there is sweat and hope and bread, 

He is content to be a simple thing – 

Sensitive as grass, yet like a rock instead.  

He has small joys, the entire earth including

Rejoicing in the rain, with empathy 

Toward sun-parched hills with ribs of rock protruding, 

For he is one of them and soon will be.

Although he sees a life of different light, 

Who is to say he does not have good sight?
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TOLLEF HELLAND

Tollef Helland moved with his family from Mount Vernon, South Dakota to Addie Township in August of 1908, having bought some land 2-3 years earlier.  He intended to build but instead bought a quarter Section with buildings on it from T. H. Dahl, which is still in the family.

Mr. Helland had the first sweep rake used in the neighborhood as he had it along from South Dakota They were not in use here at that time.  He seeded the first field of alfalfa, but very little interest in that crop was taken at that time.

The McHenry- Cooperstown main road went through south Binford going in a SE direction.  In the NW corner of the NE quarter section you can still see the grade and where the earth fill was taken.  From there it went in a SE direction until it came to the Section line and then south.
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W. T. McCULLOCH

William Thomas McCulloch was born December 11, 1843 in the Province of Ontario, Canada.  Land was high priced and he was poor, so he came to Dakota Territory because it was booming.  He came here in the year 1880.  That winter he worked for R. C. Cooper, teaming between Sanborn and the Cooper Ranch, also doing carpenter work.  In the spring he went into the cook shack and acted as a cook.  The second winter he carpentered in and around Sanborn and built schoolhouses.

He bought a relinquishment about two miles west of Sanborn and lived on it for two years.  A frame shanty was built on to another shanty that was on the place.  The shanty was built of railroad ties.  The barn was built out of an old discarded railroad bridge, which had been across Lake Eckelson.  After living there the two years, he took up a homestead at Lake Jessie about 1883.  The lumber for the first house was hauled from Sanborn, also food, provisions, etc.  The closest neighbors were Ole Thorn, E. L. Watne and Tollef Tweed.

The first team was a team of oxen.  then a team of balky horses.  The oxen and horses were driven together until more horses were raised.  The machinery consisted of an eight-foot spring-tooth harrow and a breaking plow.  The first two or three years he did the seeding by hand.  He made a box, which held about one-half bushel, and this was held by a strap over his head and shoulder.  Next he got an eight-foot broadcast seeder.  Later he and Mr. Thorn got a wagon seeder, which did not prove a success.

The crops consisted of oats and hard wheat, which yielded about thirty bushels per acre.  The price received ranged from forty to seventy-five cents per bushel.  The threshing was done with a twelve horsepower machine.  By putting on more horses the power was increased so generally eighteen horses were put on.  The separator was an Aultman Taylor, thirty-two inch cylinder and a thirty-six inch rear.  Owing to the fact that machines were scarce and the crops heavy, the threshing often continued into the winter.  One instance was the threshing for three or four days with half the bundle racks on sleighs.  The threshers were often caught in storms and blizzards.  The experiences were very uncomfortable.  The fuel consisted of wood and most of the pioneers settled near the woods.

Mr. McCulloch married Miss Sarah Ann Sansborn at St. Marys, Perth County, Ontario, Canada.

The claim shanty was L shaped.  One portion was 8 by 16 feet and the other 8 by 12 feet.  This was built of common twelve-inch rough lumber, boarded up and down.  The boards shrank considerably, leaving large cracks.  Mrs. W. T. McCulloch pasted rags over the cracks in order to keep out the snow and cold.  James, being the oldest in the family, received the duty of building the fire in the mornings.  He had to be careful in getting out of bed in stormy weather to avoid stepping into snow banks.  In cold weather the boys wore their caps to keep their ears from freezing.  They lived in this shanty from the spring of 1883 until the fall of 1893, after which the brick house was built.

Mrs. W. T. McCulloch died January 16, 1908.  Mr. McCulloch married again.  He died in 1924 and was buried at Cooperstown.
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MR. AND MRS. SEVER ODEGAARD

Mr. and Mrs. Sever Odegaard and their children, Albert, Erik, Aagot and Bertha, started out from Rice County, Minnesota in 1882 with two oxen pulling the covered wagon.  They were in a company with several other families.  It was a long, slow journey.  taking them most of the summer to get to the Sheyenne River.  They homesteaded on the NE quarter of Section 18 in Lenora Township.  They built a log house before winter set in.

Aagot Odegaard married Peter Christenson.  They settled on a quarter by the river near McVille.

Albert Odegaard homesteaded the NW quarter in Section 18 of Lenora Township.

Erik died when he was still a young man.

Bertha Odegaard married Ole Olsgard in 1900 and moved to Spring Grove, Minnesota.  They farmed on his home place until 1905.  They then moved to Binford and bought the SE quarter of Section 17 in Addie Township.  He built his own house and barn.  They lived there until 1912 when they bought the SW quarter of Section 16 in Addie Township.  They hired carpenters and built a house and farm buildings.  They moved in that fall.  This farm is still owned by members of the Olsgard family.

While working in a straw-stack in December 1919, Ole Olsgard died of suffocation when covered by a snowslide.  Mrs. Olsgard died in 1943.

Mr. and Mrs. Olsgard had eight children:  

Mrs. Herbert (Lillian) Johnson, Fargo, North Dakota, Mrs. Peter (Tinka) Lee, Reynolds, North Dakota, Oren Olsgard (deceased), Selven Olsgard (deceased), Mrs. James (Bertha) Foss, Alexandria, Minnesota, Ole Olsgard, Fargo, North Dakota, Albert Olsgard, Binford, North Dakota, Viola Olsgard, Grand Forks, North Dakota
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KNUTE A. 0IEN

Knute A. Oien married Berit Lien at Valders, Norway.  The Knute Lien Family and Knute and Berit Oien immigrated to Wisconsin.  Fredrick Oien, their first son, was born November 25, 1875 at Vernon County, Wisconsin.  The Knute Lien family accompanied Knute, Berit and son Fredrick by wagon to Portland, North Dakota where they first farmed after coming to Dakota.  Anton Oien was born at Portland.  There were also two more sons and two daughters born who died as infants.  They were Andres, Eric, Anna and Marie.  In 1903 Mr. and Mrs. Knute Oien and sons Fredrick and Anton moved to the Binford community.  They lived first six miles northwest of Jessie, North Dakota.  In December 1904, Knute, Berit, Fredrick and Anton joined the Bethany Lutheran Congregation.  Knute farmed in the Binford community.
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ANTON OIEN

Anton, with brother Fredrick, known as Fred, owned and operated a business known as, custom sod breaking and custom steam threshing.  Anton later moved to Cooperstown where he worked as a bookkeeper for Hammer and Condy Company.  Anton Oien married Emma Hovde from the Mayville, Portland community.  They had one daughter, Ardis, who now lives at Valley City, North Dakota.  Anton built a Standard Service Station at Cooperstown, which is now operated by Francis Anton.  Anton Oien operated the station until his death.
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FRED OIEN

On August 6, 1908 Fred Oien married Olive Gabrielson, now changed to Gilbertson, daughter of Gabriel Gabrielsen.  The first home for Fred and Olive after their marriage was the farm where their son, George Oien, now lives.  Three children:  

1. George, Belle, and Frank, were born on this farm.  

The Fred Oiens later moved to the farm now known as the LeRoy Alfson farm.  Here they lived for a number of years and six more children were born to them.  They were:  

1. Alvin, Ernest, Ruth, Daniel, Florance and Glenna.

Fred operated a business known as the Oien Dairy.  Fred and the children delivered milk and cream in bottles from door to door in the city of Binford through all sorts of weather conditions.  This was the first delivery service Binford had, and Fred continued it until he retired and moved into Binford.  For several years, while still on the farm, he was also substitute mail carrier.

Even though Fred and Olive were kept busy raising nine children, Fred served as an active member of the Binford School Board for several years.  Fred, Olive and their children were active church members in the Bethany Lutheran Congregation.  On April 8, 1943, Olive Oien passed away.  Fred remained active in his community and church up until the time of his passing on July 17, 1967, at which time he was ninety-one years and eight months of age.

The children and grandchildren of Fred and Olive Oien are:

1. George who married Helga Rude on November 1, 1939.  They farmed near Binford, where George is still operating.  They had two sons, George Jr. and Douglas.

Belle married Dale Mullins on August 26, 1933.  After their marriage they moved to Fargo where Dale owned and operated Mullins Nursery.  They had four children:  

Jerald, Vonna Lou, Robert and Donnely.

Frank married Esther Rude on November 30, 1938.  They farmed near Binford.  They are the parents of three children, Donna Mae, Elouise and Wayne.

Alvin married Geraldine Hanson.  They farm near Mose and Alvin is also an electrician.  They have three children, Rayette, Calvin and Gina.

Ernest married Marjene Haakenson on July 31, 1953.

They live in Binford where Ernest is self-employed.  They have six children, James, Linda, David, Ivan, Yvonne and Timothy.

Ruth married Richard Thune on December 25, 1943.  They live at Great Falls, Montana, where Richard is a Government employee.  They have three sons, Kenny, Ronnel and Gary.

Daniel married Ione Leean on December 10, 1948.  They farm near Red Willow Lake.  They have three children, Deanna, Janice and Daniel Jr.

Florance married Wallace H. Thime on November 24, 1945.  Wally is a Fargo policeman.  Florence is a Vanda Beauty Counselor Unit Manager.  They have seven children, Wallace Jr., Odell, Roger, Jeffery, Dennis, David and Diane.

Glenna married Halvor Larson on October 31, 1948.  They live west of Binford where Mr. and Mrs. Larson are farming.  They have seven children, Galen, Loretta, Bradley, Lennis, Elaine, Colleen and Sonya.
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GILBERT P. OLSON FAMILY

Gilbert P. Olson was born in Beloit, Wisconsin, March 27, 1861.  At the age of 13 he came with his parents to Big Stone County, Minnesota.  At the age of 21 he started for Dakota Territory in a covered wagon.  There were about seven covered wagons in the company and each had some stock and belongings along.  They came by way of Fort Ransom where four of the families remained.  Those who continued along were Gilbert P. Olson, John Paulson, Anton Stromme, Erick Jacobson, Anton Pederson and Joseph Hope.  They arrived near Lake Jessie the 7th of June, 1882.

Mr. Olson settled on Section 10, Addie Township.  He and others then went to Cooper's ranch and after being turned down several times were told if they wanted to work they could start shocking.  In the fall of 1882 Cooper's men including Mr. Olson hauled grain to Sanborn and lumber back for buildings.  Each trip took three days.  There were about 20 wagons hauling grain.  The first lumber was hauled for Knut Thompson.  Mr. Olson worked at Coopers until Christmas.  The winter of 1882-83 he stayed with John Paulson, a neighbor.  In the spring of 1883 he purchased a yoke of oxen from Knute Thompson and broke up his land.  He put in 7 acres of crop and received 105 bushels of grain.  His first machinery was a Buckeye seeder and a sulky plow.  Early in the winter of 1882 with his oxen hitched unto a wagon he went to Portland for provisions.  In the fall of 1883 Mr. Olson went back to Cooper's ranch and was put to work in the elevator unloading grain.

Mr. Olson was married in 1889 to Eli Walen by Reverend Lundeby and built his first house in 1891.  Four children were born to this union:  

Oscar Olson, 1889  

Clara, 1891  

Ludvig, 1892

and Mrs. Ralph Manning in 1894.  Mrs. Gilbert Olson passed away in 1896.

Gilbert Olson remarried January 18, 1901 to Amanda Nelson.  She had been married to a Mr. Anderson and two daughters had been born to them.  Mr. Anderson had passed away when the girls were quite small.

To Mr. Olson's second marriage seven children were born:  

Myrtle Anderson born in 1909 and now lives at Cooperstown.  She had four children, Mrs. Sylvan Loegering, Mrs. Kenneth (Lavenn) Bjornson, Mrs. Fred (Eileen) Meyers and Clayton.  She is a widow.

Arthur Olson worked on the home farm until 1943 and was married to Marian Leir of Mose.  He farmed at Mose for 2 years, moving to Seattle where he has worked for a plywood factory for 25 years.

Floyd Olson worked on the home farm for many years and has since been at Kensal and Wimbledon.

Ludvig Olson married Elaine Johnson of Binford.  They moved to Binford in 1957 and he worked in an elevator.  He passed away in 1971.

Edna was married to Arne Haukaas.  Mr. Haukaas has passed away and she now works at Leal, North Dakota
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OSCAR L. OLSON

Oscar L. Olson was born December 2, 1889 in a rude sod shanty on a farm on the NW corner of Section 12, Addie Township.  His parents were Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert P. Olson.  Oscar was the oldest of their four children when his mother passed away.  He was taken to a close-by neighbor, Mr. and Mrs. John Paulson, and had over two miles to a schoolhouse with no roads or paths to follow.  School terms were from four to six months, mostly in the fall and winter months.

When Mr. Olson was eighteen years old he decided to get some more education.  He went to St. Olaf College in 1909-10 and next year to Aaker Business College at Fargo, North Dakota, and later to Minnesota College at Minneapolis, in 1914-15.

Mr. Olson was married June 16, 1915 to Mabel Olsen at Warren, North Dakota.  she passed away suddenly in 1937.  He was left with a daughter, Eunice Stella.  She was married to Elmer R. Johnson.  He passed away in 1966.  Surviving was his wife, Eunice and son, Eldred Johnson and two grandchildren.  Eldred is Oscar's only grandson, and his children are Oscar's only great -grandchildren.  Eunice remarried Steve Kluzak, and they all live at Bemidji, Minnesota

Mr. Olson was a confirmed member of West Prairie Church, was its secretary for some years and also a trustee with C. P. Dahl and Harris Aslakson until the fall of 1942 when he moved to Portland, Oregon where he worked at the Kaiser Swan Island Shipyard, and 15 years at Esco Corporation.

Oscar Olson was Township clerk and treasurer for Addie Township and a member of the school board for many years.  He also served as a Committeeman for the Griggs County Agr.  Adjustment Administration.

In 1912 Mr. Olson was the first owner of an automobile in Addie Township, a Studebaker Flanders Twenty Runabout.

Indians traveled on an old road called Government road about one mile west of his home place, between Section 2 and 3.  He saw them many times traveling in long caravans.  Many times they stopped and came over to their house and asked for something to eat and to reload their muzzle-loaders.  They camped at Sibley and Jessie lakes before going north.  In 1900 when Binford was started they changed their routes.
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JOHN THUNE FAMILY

John Thune was born in Norway and was married to Annie Hauge before emigrating to America.  The first home of the Thunes was made of sod well supported by logs.

The Thune farm was located on part of the widespread campsite of the Sibley Expedition of 1863.  As at all of Sibley's camp sites, there were extensive earthworks thrown up around the camp, and these remained visible long after most of the land had been broken up for fields.

Nels, the oldest of the four Thune children grew up to serve as sheriff of Griggs County for a time, and Clara, the eldest daughter was married to Carl Anderson.  Nellie, one of the twin girls, married Elva Weldon, and Ida became mother to Kenneth Ethen.

It was the Ethens who made their home on the old Thune farm and helped to identify the various historic sites on their farm and immediate vicinity.  The Ethen family consisted of Clarice, Kenneth, Wallace and Chester, all of whom were born and raised in Addie Township like their mother.

Their father, Theodore Ethen, came from Cold Springs, Minnesota in the early 1900's.  He worked for a time for Herb Church, one of the bonanza farmers, who owned a great many good horses, which were allowed to run loose all winter.  The family has taken a keen interest in the historical lore of the county and in the sites located on their property.

John Thune was born in Vang, Valdres, Norway on June 19, 1855.  In 1877 he came to America with his sister and her husband.  They first settled near Northfield, Minnesota

In 1882 John Thune went with his brother-in-law, Knute Alstad, to Dakota Territory.  They came up the Great Northern railroad to Hope, North Dakota From Hope they drove with their wagonload of goods towards Lake Jessie.  At Mardell they had to stay about a week because of high water at the river crossing.

When they reached Lake Jessie, the man who had advised them, in 1881, to come out, had only a little sod shanty to live in and could not take them in, so he sent them on to Frank Pfeifer.  Mr. Pfeifer, at that time, lived on the spot where the town of Jessie was later located.  He had the room and disposition to take them in.  He had just received a barrel of pork from his relatives in the east and was able to feed his guests.

They spent several days prospecting for land, in a westerly direction.  The land seekers spent one dreary, rainy day at the home of Jens Anderson, about one mile south of where Binford was later built.  This was the first pan of April 1882.

Mr. Thune was able to find some vacant land on the W ½ of Section 28-147-60.  His relatives got the east half of the same Section.  They first built a sod house for Mr. Thune's relatives.  This house was quite large in order to have a place to live while they were building the other places.

When they had some building done, they went back to Hope to get the goods they had left when they unloaded there.  They also got some lumber to roof their sod shanties.  They spent the summer of 1882 improving their new homes.  They had no income or way of earning money until fall.

The first winter Mr. Thune had his mother keep house in his sod shanty on the prairie.  They went to Lake Jessie for fuel.  By this time most of the hard wood had been cut away.  The poorer stuff was good enough for fuel and there was enough for several years.  In later years they went back and dug out the big oak stumps from the lake.  These were broken up into smaller pieces.  They also hauled out some old logs that had been submerged in the lakebed.

None of the first settlers wanted the timberland bad enough to file on it.  They preferred to take a full quarter Section when they used their homestead rights.  Finally Mr. W. T. McCulloch came out and he, and his sons, filed on the land in the vicinity of Lake Jessie.

Mr. Thune gradually improved his land.  The first years were very dry and they had little crop in and had to make most of their living by working out.  He gradually added to his cattle herd by natural increase, and they pulled him through many hard years.  His mother lived with him part of the time.  The remainder of the time she was with his brother who lived some miles West.

The girl, Anna Hauge, who had encouraged him to go out to America, soon came to be his housekeeper and they were married.  She was his companion and helper for many years.  (Their daughter, Ida, to whom this record was sent, was born in January, 1887.)

Mr. Thune has cooperated with the State Historical Society in protecting and marking this place and is always willing to help with such things for the improvement of the community.  Such men are the ones who have built the foundation on which the prosperity and safety of the state rests and they are entitled to the respect and consideration of all good citizens.  The explorer, the soldier and then the pioneer, have each done their part but none are entitled to more respect than such honest, hardworking, and Christian men as John Thune.
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O. E. THORN

Mr. O. E. Thorn was born July 31, 1853 on a farm in Wisconsin close to Amherst.  He lived there until 1879 when he married Martha Tronson.  They decided to make their home in North Dakota because they had heard how easy it was to get land, and get started farming.  So Ole and Martha, Ole's brother Alex, and Ole and Martha's son T. Edwin started for North Dakota in a covered wagon.  They had a team of horses and a few supplies.  After a few weeks of hardship they arrived in Barnes County, and settled on a farm six miles north of Valley City.  There were already so many people there that he could not get more than a quarter Section of land, and he wasn't satisfied with that - so he sold out after he had been there two years.  He had heard about the railroad line that was going to Cooperstown, so he moved on the farm one mile west of Jessie, he got a homestead there and bought 1280 more acres of land paying from $1.50 to $30.00 per acre for it.  A short while after the railroad was completed the land was worth very much more.  Before the railroad was completed he had to haul his grain to Valley City, and also get supplies there.  These trips took up very much of their time because it took three to four days for a trip.

Martha and Ole had three sons, Thomas Edwin born in Wisconsin before they left, and Robert and Julius born while they were living in Barnes County, near Valley City.  When they moved to the Jessie farm these three boys grew to manhood working for their dad until they went their separate ways in the world.

Thomas Edwin married Nellie Laatvedt and farmed North of Jessie, later he moved into Jessie, and at various times operated a livery barn, blacksmith shop, repair shop and a grocery store.  In later years he had grocery stores in Binford, Jessie and Cooperstown.  Children born to them in Jessie were:  

Esther Mack (deceased) Pearl Carpenter Cooperstown, Edwin Thorn (deceased) and Neva Retzlaff Cooperstown.  After Nellie's death Edwin spent the last 16 years of his life on the farm with his daughter Neva and her husband Marvin.

Martha and Ole's second son, Robert, married Annie Groven and spent most of his life in Cooperstown as a grain buyer and elevator operator.  Here their three children were born - Irving (deceased) Muriel Frigaard, Anaconda, Montana, and Eunice Wichman, Timomium, Maryland.

Martha and Ole's third son, Julius, married Clara Hitterdahl, and worked as a salesman and also had varied farming interests in the Binford and Jessie areas for many years.

Thomas Edwin's oldest daughter, Esther, married C. H. Mack of Cooperstown, and they had two children Robert and Patricia.  Robert married Jovanne Voland and they had three children Michael, Patrick, and Peter.  Patricia married Clifford Storsved and they had three children Cullen, David and Timothy.

Pearl married Frank Carpenter and they had one son Roger, who married Delores Starr.  Children born to this marriage are:  

1. Candy, Carter, Kevin and Kerry.

Erwin married Palma Herberg and had two children Kenneth (deceased) and Margaret who is married to Harold Paulson, Chicago.

Neva married Marvin Retzlaff and they had three children Robin, Julie and Jody.  Robin married Kathy Haaland and they have two daughters Cammille and Rochelle.
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TVEDTE - TWEED

Tollef Tvedte was born March 25, 1859 and his wife Dorthea Eidsvag was born Sept 25, 1859 both in Valestrand, Norway, and they married on Aug 15, 1880.  To this union were born 10 children, all of whom they lived to see married and in*homes of their own.  The first two children, Willie and Louis were born in Norway prior to the parents emigrating to America in 1884.  After a short period of living in Stoughton, Wis for 3 months they moved to Belgrade, Minnesota where they lived for three years.  Two sons, Alfred and Carl were born while living at Belgrade, Minnesota.

Hearing of the Homestead opportunities in North Dakota they decided to try it there.  It is presumed that Mr. Tvedte landed in Griggs County the later part of April 1887.  On account of a snowstorm and lack of accommodations there at the time of arrival, he was forced to spend his first night in the county jail at Cooperstown.  The following day he located his brother-in-law Erick Watne and though there was not a full quarter of vacant land adjoining the homestead of Erick it was on May 3, 1387 he filed on the NE quarter of Section 14 Twp 147, Range 60 West of the 5th Prime Meridian in Addie Township.

He, his wife, and four small sons moved into this dugout, which had first been built by Erick Watne.  Watne sold his homestead and bought the place east of the Tweed farm, and Tollef Tvedte bought Watnes first homestead.  They remained there until such time as Mr. Tvedte could get his shack built on his homestead on the next quarter to the east.  Today a few trees remain where this shack was built.  Mr. Tvedte later building the fine farm home where a grandson, Orville now lives.

Six more children were born to the Tvedtes - Dinah (Mrs. E. A. Johnson), Bertha (Mrs. Roy Frazier), Joseph, Oscar, Maynard and Thoralph.

When the Tweed Girls, Dinah and Bertha were teenagers they remembered how the Indians would camp in the pasture and they would go down and visit them in their tents.  The Indians would give them beans or pieces of bread.  The Indians spoke some English and used signs by hands to indicate what they meant.

It was during school days that one of the teachers, who couldn't get the "Tvedte" to sound like the children pronounced it, changed the spelling to "TWEED" and the children afterward spelled their names Tweed, but the parents used the original spelling especially on legal documents.

When the elder Tvedtes moved into Binford to make their home, a son Oscar continued to farm the homestead farm.  Mr. and Mrs. Tvedte celebrated their golden wedding at the farm on August 12, 1930 and also lived to celebrate their 60th wedding anniversary on July 7, 1940 at the Binford Free Church.  Mr. Tvedte passed away AT the age of 81 years in 1940 and Mrs. Tvedte at the age of 82 years in 1942.

Oscar and his brother Alfred had a steam-threshing rig and threshed for the area farmers, and several years later he purchased an Advance Rumley to use on the rig.  In one of those threshing experiences he had hired several Indians to help haul bundles, and one day a spark from the Runley set fire to the straw stack.  The Indians saved the day by stamping out the fire with their feet very quickly and became the heroes of the day.  There were a lot of horses on the Tweed farm and at one time there were 22 head tied in the barn.

On October 12, 1924 Oscar married Helga Johnson at Belgrade, Minnesota and they continued to make their home on the Tweed farm.  They were active in Bethany Free Church and community affairs.  Oscar served on the Addie Township Board for many years, and on the ASC board and from 1952 to 1959 served as director and treasurer on the Sheyenne Valley REA board.

They celebrated their Silver Wedding on the farm on Oct 12, 1948.  Mr. Tweed passed away on July 10, 1959 and Helga made her home in Cooperstown until her death in Nov 29, 1970.

Their two children are:  

1. Betty (Mrs. Arnold Sola) and Orville (married Louise Lura).  

Grandchildren are:  

1.  David and Janine Sola and Kevin, Karen and Kraig Tweed.

Orville Tweed and son Kevin are the third and fourth generations to farm the original Tvedte-Tweed homestead.  They have a diversified farm and raise a large herd of Hereford cattle.
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JOHN P. VANGEN

John Vangen was born April 19, 1858 in Olsaker Prestegjeld, Norway.  In 1871 with his father, he left Norway for America.  They went in a sailboat named the "Nolisse," (probably Nordlyset).  After fourteen weeks on the water they landed at Quebec.  From Quebec they went to Milwaukee, and by train to St. Paul.  Mr. Vangen's father got work in a sawmill, but there was no work for John.  He walked to Minneapolis and got work for his board, for a married couple.  His father soon after worked on the railroad.  Mr. Vangen stayed at this place for one and one-half years.

In 1872 Mr. Vangen's mother came to Minneapolis with her five children.  Very shortly after, she died from smallpox.  The rest of the family went to Goodhue County, Minnesota, in 1873, where each child was taken into some other family.  John was old enough to earn a living and took to hiring out to farmers.

In 1875 John Vangen was confirmed, and learned to read.  His father and he bought some land at Northfield, Minnesota, and farmed there for seven years.  He was married in 1881 to Bertha Hanson in Faribault, Minnesota, by Reverend Peterson.

Mr. Vangen then left the farm to his father and in 1884 with his brother, Carl, and Andrew Overby, started for Dakota Territory.  He took with him some stock, four oxen, horses and machinery.  He came to Cooperstown and took pre-emption on Section 20, (12??), Bryan Township.

Nine children were born to Mr. and Mrs. Vangen.  Mrs. Vangen died on April 14, 1927.  Mr. Vangen then left the farm and rented it out to his boys, and moved to Binford.  Mr. Vangen died November 11, 1949, at the age of 91 years.

Paul J. Vangen was the first son born to John P. and Bertha Vangen.  He married Helga Dahl at Binford.  They were the parents of six children.

Dora Vangen was the first daughter of the Vangen's.  She married Peter Hanson.  They had two daughters.

Hans J. , was born May 11, 1887.  He married Martha Rohme and five children were born to them.

The second daughter was named Bertha.  She became the wife of Martin Nelson, a blacksmith in Binford.  They had two children.

A son, Anton J. , was born in 1891 but this child died in infancy.  The next son was also named Anton J.  He was married to Bertha Lockrem and they had one daughter.

The next son was Christian or Christ.  He married Della Roland in Minnesota.

The youngest daughter of the Vangen's was Mary.  She married John Overby and they farmed west of Binford.

The last son born to the John Vangen's was also named John.  His wife is the former Lillian Madsen of Northfield, Minnesota.  They have two daughters.
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BALL HILL TOWNSHIP

History

SHEPARD FARMERS ELEVATOR COMPANY

The Shepard Farmers Elevator Company was first organized in 1904.  It was built in the fall of 1904.  The first board of directors was as follows:  

Jorgan Soma – President

Martin Ueland - Vice President

F. Greenland - Secretary

Edward Michaelis – Treasurer

Ole Lima - Director

Duncan Sinclair - Director

Carl Lende - Director.

The capacity of the elevator was approximately 34000 bushels at cost of $6800.00 or about twenty cents per bushel.  According to the minutes, the mortgage was paid off in the year 1908.  Grain prices at Shepard on July 9, 1906 were wheat $.70, Barley $.38, Flax $1.05, oats $.32.

The organization was reorganized in 1945 in that anyone who sells grain and earns a dividend could become a member.  The first commission company to help finance the elevator operation was McCarthy Brothers of Minneapolis, Minnesota in 1904.  The elevator stayed with McCarthy Brothers until they merged with Atwood Larson Company of Minneapolis in the middle of the 1960's.

In reading through the minutes it is difficult to determine who the different managers were and how long they served the elevator up tll Andrew Sharpe started on July 8, 1912 and managed until June 1, 1923.  A. M. Hansen then served one year.  Gabriel Sharpe served until October 7, 1936.  V.  F. Bunde managed from July 5, 1937, to December 1939.  Roy Ashland served starting in February or March 1940 and was manager till March 1, 1946.  Carrol Torgerson served till March 1952.  Al Boe then took over and managed till the later part of 1957.  Orville Eckert then served as manager till June 1, 1961.  Wally Rislov took the manager job beginning July 1, 1961 and is presently managing.

The present Shepard Elevator complex consists of the original elevator plus one flat storage Butler bin north of the elevator, capacity about 61,000 bushels, two round steel bins next to driveway and office each about 9500 bushels capacity, three round steel bins southeast of the elevator each about 9500 bushels, five round steel bins south of the elevator each about 4000 bushels, each used mainly for seed.  There are two wooden warehouses and one 1200 bushels, wooden grain bin on the elevator premises.

In reading through the minutes it was noted that on July 8, 1907 that the elevator ordered three boxcars, which were set in and immediately loaded.  The loaded cars sat on the siding for nearly three months before being picked up by the railroad.
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WALLY AND MILDRED RISLOV

Wally and Mildred Rislov with children Larry, Mark, Kay, and Dave moved to Shepard on July 5, 1961 where Mr. Rislov took a job to manage the Shepard Farmers Elevator Company Larry, Mark and Kay graduated from college after which they took jobs elsewhere.  Larry married Karla Soma daughter of Inga Krogsgard.  Mark married Vickie Ellingson daughter of Kenny Ellingson who used to operate a Jewelry store in Cooperstown.  Kay married Larry Larson son of Allen Larson who is pans manager at Hildre Implement in Cooperstown.  Dave married Sherry Vigesaa daughter of George Vigesaa who farms north of Cooperstown.  Dave is currently employed at Loder Implement Company in Cooperstown.  Wally and Mildred have two grandchildren Stephani and Ryan.
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Settlers

ENDRE AARESTED FAMILY

An immigrant of Stavanger, Norway, Endre Aarested arrived in Ball Hill Township in 1882, having walked from Valley City, North Dakota.  He proceeded to build a sod hut about four miles south of Cooperstown.

A year later, his wife, Anna, and two sons, Hans and Torkel, stepped off the train where it turned around by the old Swen Haaland place.  She took one look at the waving, treeless prairie, sat on a suitcase and cried, "Let's go back to Norway! “  Endre soon came, however, and they walked home to the sod hut.

In 1890 Endre, who had been a carpenter in Norway, added a 14' x 16' frame room to the sod house.  While they lived there, four more boys were born:  

Steven, Invald, John, and Elmer.  During the spring of 1899, the frame house was skidded by oxen one-half mile northwest to Section 15, and it is now the central room of the home on the present Aarestad farm.  Casper, the youngest child, and his mother rode in the house as it was being moved to the other place that summer.

In 1905 a major addition was built to the frame room, making a two-story home.  It has been remodeled countless times as ideas changed over the years.

The barn was built in 1916.  Endre contracted with Chris Rudd to build the barn for the sum of $300.  When Endre saw the good job that was done, he gave a bonus to the carpenter.  The barn still stands straight in its original condition.

There is a hill on the farmstead that still has the excavation where John Aarestad had his icehouse in 1905.  He would cut ice from the Bald Hill Creek in winter and cool beef in the summer.  During this time, he had a meat business and delivered meat on three routes.  His day began at 4:00 AM, so that all his customers could have their meat by noon.  He continued this business for about ten years and decided to buy a meat market in McHenry, which is still in operation.

As the other brothers elected to live elsewhere, Casper started farming in 1919.  He took time out in 1922 to finish his education at the agricultural college in Fargo and then he returned to resume farming.  He married Caspara Carlson Strand in 1926.  She had lost her husband Haf Strand a few years before and had two children:  

Harland and Lorraine (Mrs. Russell Barr).

Audrey (Mrs. William Hammer), Sally (Mrs. James Thompson), Everett and Janice (Mrs. David Vigesaa) were all born while Casper was farming.  Then, in 1938, they rented out their land and bought a Red Owl Store in Pillsbury, living there for five years.  Casper Jr. was born while they lived there.

The family returned to the farm in 1943 where Casper farmed until he retired in 1965.  They moved to Cooperstown in 1967 when Casper Jr. began farming at the old farmstead.
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OMUND ASHLAND

Mr. Omund Ashlund was born in Stavanger, Norway in 1868.  He was 12 years of age when his mother and stepfather decided to go to America.  This journey was filled with troubles.  A storm on the Skagerak endangered their lives before they had even boarded the ocean liner, Thingvalla, which was to take them to New York.  The long sea journey was barely begun when engine trouble necessitated another week's delay at Copenhagen, Denmark.  The mother had contracted rheumatic fever and was unable to walk.  She had to be carried on board the train at New York and was not able to care for the children even after they reached their destination in Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota.

Their first year in America had brought little of either joy or wealth, so the Ashlands decided to move to Dakota Territory.  They had heard of the free land, and the great opportunities there, and they also had some relatives living in the east central part of what is now North Dakota.  Preparations were made for the long journey, which was to be made in covered wagons with oxen to draw them.  The drive was a hard and tedious trip.  The roads were poor and there were very few bridges in those days.  Oftentimes all the loads had to be carried across the streams, article by article, for the water was high and the wagons low.  One team of oxen became lame.  They stopped at a farmhouse and a man trimmed the oxens’ hoofs, but he clipped them so close that they were worse than ever.  So the farmer made heavy felt boots and bound them on the animals' feet.  This protected them and their lameness was soon gone.  The family met with few obstacles after that, and in less than three weeks, they reached their destination, then called Gallatin Post Office, on the Sheyenne River, 9 miles southeast of Cooperstown.  There they stayed for a short time with relatives.

In the spring of 1883, Omund and his father planned to take a claim.  This was done by "squatting" as it was then called, or setting up a residence on a quarter of land.  Each settler was entitled to the land he lived on.  The Ashlands chose theirs in Section 10, Range 55, Township 145.  They built a sod house and barn.  The house was fourteen feet square.  Most of the sod houses at that time were all sod and logs, but the Ashlands put a good floor in their home.  The walls were two feet thick at the base and thinner at the top.  The roof was made of branches and twigs laid over three large poles across the top.  To fill in the open spaces, they used hay.  This structure had one window and one door.  In 1884, an addition was made to the hut.  This part was 14x10 and gave them a good-sized room.

The parents were busy at all times.  The father made all the shoes and furniture.  Even some of the dishes were carved out of wood.  The mother spun, wove, and knit for the family.  The beds were wooden frames with straw mattresses.  Chairs and tables were made from logs brought from the Sheyenne.  Aside from those things, furnishings were scarce.  The Froilands were the most fortunate people in the community, for they owned a sewing machine.

Gurina Froiland, an aunt, stayed with the pioneer family and sewed her wedding outfit during the summer of 1885.

The Froiland's neighbors were Fred Williams, T. T. Fuglestad, Jens Bull, and an uncle to the pioneer, Jorgen Soma.  Axeline Bull, daughter of Jens Bull married the pioneer, Omund Ashland, in June 1890.

To this union 8 children were born:  

Arnold, Dora, Jens, Oscar, Albert, Henry, Walter and Roy.  The pioneer later bought a farm where he resided till his death at the age of 64.

Omund's son, Jens, still lives in Griggs County.  He was born here October 5, 1895.  He worked with his father till he was called to service in WW I, and served two years.

He married Myrtle Leir, March 13, 1922.  They have four children:  

Gordon, Clifford, Donna Lou and LeRoy.

Jens bought land in Cooperstown Township, then later purchased more land, consisting of 1280 acres.  This is being farmed by his son, Gordon, grandson, Barton, and son-in-law, Maynard Walen.
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ANDREW BENSON FAMILY

The farm located four miles south and one-half mile west of Cooperstown, was homesteaded by Andrew Benson.  He came here in 1881.  The land is still owned and operated by the third, fourth, and fifth generation.  Andrew was born in Bergen, Norway, November 12, 1831.  He married Johanna Standal while in Norway.  Johanna was born in Norway, January 14, 1828.  They came to America and lived in Decorah, Iowa, for about six years.  Deciding to leave Iowa, they journeyed northward to Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota.  Andrew and his family then decided to leave Minnesota and came by covered wagon and oxen in 1881 to the present farm.  Here they settled, built a house, and started farming.

They had six children:  

Berent, born January 11, 1863 - died February 8, 1886 in Oregon

Andrew Jr., born April 10, 1865 - died September 7, 1907 in Washington

Gjert, born October 1866 - died November 18, 1866 in Oregon

John, born March 8, 1869 - died July 26, 1942 at his farm home

Bertha, born April 11, 1871 - died January 2, 1912, in Washington

Sophie, born January 3, 1873 in Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota - died, May 9, 1887.  She was the first one to be buried in the Union Cemetery, south of Cooperstown.

As time passed, a place of worship was needed.  Andrew was a member of the group that met and decided to build the Union Church.  He was the first member to show up for work the day construction began on June 1, 1895.

On September 29, 1898, Andrew sold the land to his son, John.  A year later in September of 1899, Andrew and Johanna left and went to Ferndale, Washington.  Here they bought an acre of land and lived there until they passed away.  Johanna died January 2, 1907

Andrew died April 22, 1915.  They are both buried at Ferndale, Washington.
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JOHN A. BENSON FAMILY

After buying the farm from his father, John added to the farm by buying a quarter Section of land.  He married Serina Ravndal in 1893.  She was born in Stavanger, Norway on May 2, 1871 and came to Cooperstown in 1892.  Five children were born:  

Jeanette, born 1894 - died in 1895 in Norway

Arthur, born February 4, 1896 - died August 22, 1967, at the farm

Joseph, born May 26, 1897 - died before he started grade school

Jeanette Benson Lura born February 22, 1900, now lives in Cooperstown

and Iva born June 5, 1901 - died July 27, 1924, at the farm.

When he had finished the regular school, he decided to take a business course at Concordia College.  He came back to the farm and continued farming, and he also worked in the C. T. Whidden store in Cooperstown in 1899.

On April 10, 1896, Serina and John built a new house located northeast from the Cooperstown courthouse.  The story and a half house was 18' x 28' with 14-foot posts.  A few years later he added more rooms to the now present farmhouse.  By 1909 the house, barn and graineries were completed.

John became interested in store business, so he rented his land out.  He moved his family to Grand Forks and worked for a number of years at the R. B. Griffith Store, which is still in operation.

John also held the offices of president and secretary of the Griggs County Farmers Cooperative Telephone Association for a number of years.  He was also a director of Shepard Elevator for a while.  Jorgen Soma and John went into partnership and started a store at Shepard, which was discontinued after a few years.  Serina died March 30, 1939

John passed away July 26, 1942.
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ARTHUR J. BENSON FAMILY

Arthur Benson took over the farm from his father, John.  As a young man, he was a lineman for the Griggs County Telephone Company.  He worked in the Anaconda Smelter, Anaconda, Montana in the late twenties.  He married Emma Sortaasen on July 27, 1926.  She was born in Lismarken, Lillihammer, Norway, on June 17, 1901.  She came to Hannaford, North Dakota in September of 1925 to visit an uncle, Lars Alm.  Arthur continued living on the farm till his death on August 22, 1967.

Two children were born:  

Swanhild Benson Pedersen and Eva Benson McCullough.

Swanhild, her husband Byron, and family reside near Luverne, North Dakota, and operate the home farm at the present time.
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JEANETTE BENSON LURA

Jeanette Benson Lura, sister of Arthur married Erling Lura September 28, 1922, and they now reside in Cooperstown.  Five children were born:  

James, Senora Lura Olgaard, June Lura Berg, Louise Lura Tweed, and Robert.

James Lura married Dorothy Solfield.  They have four children.  Denise, Janel, Sandra, and Mark.  They reside on a farm in Washburn Township.

Senora Lura married Ralph Olgaard.  They and their four children live at Rapid City, South Dakota.

June Lura married Maurice Berg.  They and their three children live in Lincoln, Nebraska.

Louise Lura married Orville Tweed.  They have three children:  

Kevin, Karen, and Kraig.  They reside on a farm in Addie Township.

Robert Lura married Mildred Hagle.  They live in Cooperstown, North Dakota, and have one child, Sheila.
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THOMAS DAHL FAMILY

Thomas Emil Dahl was born to Thorvald and Engeborg (Emma) Dahl, May 12, 1898.  His father came from Smalaning, Norway, on March 24, 1858.  He was confirmed on October 6, 1872.  Thorvald changed his name from Haakenson to Dahl, after the place of his birth.  He died May 7, 1941, near Hannaford, North Dakota, at the home of his daughter Helga (Mrs. Paul Vangen).

Engeborg (Thune) Dahl was born July 9, 1958 in Vang Valdres, Norway.  She was baptized on October 3, 1858, and confirmed on June 18, 1873.  She came to Northfield, Minnesota, in 1879.  She died February 27, 1931, at their farm home near Binford, North Dakota.

Thomas attended a rural school near Binford, North Dakota known as the Helland School.  He was confirmed in the Norwegian faith, on December 14, 1913, by Reverend Sweger.  He worked in the woods in Minnesota a couple winters, and also was a mail carrier.  Later he farmed his father's farm for a couple of years.  On July 23, 1925, he married Sophia Amanda Trost.

Sophia Trost was born July 23, 1902, to William and Sophia Trost.  Her father came from Germany in 1883 and settled on a place in Addie Township.  Later he moved one mile east to Tyrol Township where he set up farming, built new buildings, etc.  He lived there until he passed away on October 3, 1930.

Sophia (Michaelis) Trost was born March 9, 1878, in Ontario, Canada.  She passed away on February 10, 1948.

Sophia attended the Jessie school and she was baptized, and confirmed by Reverend J. F. L. Bohnhoff of Valley City, North Dakota.

Thomas and Sophia Dahl farmed the Dahl farm for a couple of years and then they moved to a farm southwest of Binford, known then as the Pete Idsvoog farm.  They farmed there till the spring of 1930, and decided to move once more.  This time they moved into the Hannaford territory, Ball Hill Township, then known as the Edward Michaelis farm.  They rented this land for a number of years and later bought it.  In the 30's it was a life of hardship for them.

Roger, their son, rented the farm for a couple years and later he bought it.

Seven children were born to the marriage of Thomas and Sophia Dahl.  They are:

1. Betty Jane and her husband Dale Erickson.  They live at Gridley, California.  They have four children.

Roger Thomas and his wife, Darlene, live near Hannaford, North Dakota on a dairy farm.  They have seven children:  

Kathy, Judy, Thomas, Deanna, Susan, Mary, Beth, and one grandchild, Echo Jennifer.

Donald Eldon and his wife Elaine live in Fargo, North

Dakota.  They have seven children.

David Gordon and his wife Connie live in Valley City, North Dakota.  They have five children.

Evelyn LaVerne and her husband Du Wayne Braaten live at Riverside, California.  They have three children.

Lyle Dale and his wife Betty live in Fargo, North Dakota.  They have two children.

Arlene Joyce and her husband Verel Moore live on a dairy farm near Doran, Minnesota.  They have five children.

Thomas passed away January 4, 1972, and Mrs. Dahl makes her home in Valley City, North Dakota.
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THE TORKEL T. FUGLESTAUS

Torkel T. Fuglestad was born March 13, 1856 at Fuglestads, a mountain community, in western Norway.  When he was eighteen years old, he went to military school.  He married Abigail Osland in June 15, 1880.  He did not want to take over the family farm, so worked in a foundry building steamboats.  He found himself jobless one day, after being laid off with one hundred other men.  Since he had a real love for trees and plants, he had applied for the position of city gardener, in Stavanger, but that too seemed fruitless.  So he then decided to go to America.  When he was ready to go, he found he could have the position of city gardener.  But since all the plans were made, they left Norway.  His sister, Mrs. Endre Aarestad, and her two children left with them in the summer of 1883.

They traveled by steamboat from Rotterdam, Holland.  After fourteen days of travel, they landed in New York.  They, then, went to Buffalo, where they traveled by boat for a week through the Great Lakes to Duluth.  It was a very uncomfortable trip, for they were moved around during the nights to make room for cargo and livestock.

After the month's travel, they were met by E. Aarestad in Valley City in August of 1883.  The next day they followed the work train to where the tracks ended near Hannaford.  A railroad worker drove them with his oxen two miles to the Aarestad homestead where they stayed part of that winter.

After two days on the prairie, Torkel met his first skunk.  Since it was so beautiful, he chased it and ended in the most common, but unpleasant circumstances.

The next day, Torkel filed on the Southwest quarter of Section 10 - Township 145 - Range 59, with the help of Jens Bull's, 10 year old daughter as interpreter.  Jens Bull had earlier filed on the same Section as had Elling Froiland and, therefore, were Torkel's new neighbors.

Next, he needed a house on his claim.  He bought a shanty, standing on Elling Froiland's land, belonging to a man named Nelson, for a Meerschaum pipe, brought by Torkel from Norway.  Froiland pulled the shanty over to Torkel's quarter with his oxen.

Since it was too late in the year to work the land, Torkel helped complete the railroad to Cooperstown.

During this time, he suffered from typhoid fever.

Later, that same fall of 1883, he helped build a grade to a bridge that was to be built five miles cast of Cooperstown over the Sheyenne River.  He contracted to supply dirt for this grade from a piece of land near the bluff for 150 per yard.  He used only a spade and wheelbarrow but earned $3 a day, enough to live on through the winter.

A few days before Christmas of 1883, Aarestad and Torkel lost their way coming home from Cooperstown.  There was no moon or stars, and they went west instead of south.  Toward midnight they stumbled across an old empty shanty.  They burned floorboards started with the last of three matches.  It had saved their lives (It later belonged to Peter Larson, Section four, Ball Hill).

Through the New Year in 1884, they stayed at Ola Stokka's.  They were happy to be near a place where church services were held by a layman, Ola Westley.  The early settlers organized a community church named Elim, of which the Fuglestads were members.  It was when they stayed at Ola Stokka's they experienced their first three-day blizzard.

They moved to their own land in the spring of 1884, and lived in the shanty.  They had two oxen, a cow, and a small calf.

The spring of 1884, Torkel with the oxen broke up fourteen acres of land.  That summer he built a sod house.  It was a good house, warm in winter and cool in summer.  They needed no fire at night, and still the water never froze.  The three oldest children were born in the sod house:  

Stephen, 1884

Inga, 1887

and Gudrin, 1889.

Torkel enjoyed building many stone fences from the rocks on his land.  He also sold buffalo bones for $8 a ton.

In October of 1885, a three-day prairie fire burned all of Torkel's grain stacks except for one, by the house and barn where he had plowed a firebreak around, the summer before.  That one stack was his first crop, which amounted to 50 bushels.

On August 12, 1888, a hard frost killed their crops.  Torkel was able to save twelve acres that he had planted, early in the spring.

Later, he hauled logs from R. C. Cooper's brother-in-law's quarter, who had gone bankrupt, for 750 a load.  With a good supply of elm logs, they built a log house in 1890.  The six youngest children were born in this house:  

Lisa, 1892

Bjorn 1894

Thorwald 1896

Ralph 1898

R. Edwin, 1901

and Thelma, 1905.  The log house was replaced in 1905 with the present house.

In 1891, Torkel and his neighbor Omund Ashland bought a threshing machine for $600, which they paid off by threshing three jobs in a week.

Both Torkel and Abigail lived on the homestead all their lives.  Torkel died in June 24, 1954, at the age of 98.  Abigail lived till January 6, 1956.  She was 96 years old, had seven children and thirty-four grandchildren.

The present owner of the homestead is the youngest son, R. E. Fuglestad -
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THE HAALAND FAMILY

Edward S. Haaland (1846-1937) immigrated to the United States in the spring of 1886 from near Stavanger, Norway, and he settled near Ostrander in southeastern Minnesota.  The following spring he sent for his wife Johanna (1849-1907) and two daughters, Christina (1871-1955), and Maria, Mrs. Johan Watne, (18781962), and four sons, Edgar (1876-1954), Swen (18801959), Christian (1883-1970), and Carl (1886-1974).

Three daughters were born in Minnesota.  One daughter, born in 1888, died before the age of two.  Emma and Gena are still living.

They farmed in Minnesota until 1896 when they moved to North Dakota to be near Edward's brother, Per Wuflestad, and other relatives who had emigrated from Norway.  Edward homesteaded on a half Section of land in Ball Hill Township.  The farm is still in the Haaland family.

Mrs. Haaland passed away in January 1907, and he (Edward) married her sister, Ellen, (1855-1937) who had immigrated to North Dakota in 1907.

They continued their farming interest until October 1919, when they moved to Valley City where they resided the rest of their lives.

They passed away four weeks apart in the winter of 1937.  Because of heavy snow and blocked roads, a double funeral was held in March, and burial was made in the family plot at the Westley Church Cemetery in Sverdrup Township.

Edgar Haaland purchased a half Section of land in Section 27, Ball Hill Township, where he and family grew up and lived until 1938.  After retiring from farming, they moved to Cooperstown where they lived until passing away.

Edgar married Hannah Herigstad (1875-1957) who had come from Time, Norway to live with her sister, Mrs. Arnt Njaa.  The Njaa farm was only half mile away from the Haaland farm.

To this couple were born five children:  

Elvin (1902-1904) who died after being run over by the train, Clarence, Perry, Willard, and Hazel.

Perry took over the farm in the fall of 1938 and farmed for several years until moving into Cooperstown.  The others have moved out of Griggs County.

Swen Haaland married Regina Klubben (1887-1959), and to this couple were born four boys and two girls:  

Eugene, Byron, Phillip, Merle, and Ruth and Stanfield.

Eugene was killed in an accident when he was ten years old.

Swen continued farming the Edward Haaland farm until 1959 when he and his wife were killed in a car accident.

Their son, Byron, took over active farming and continued until 1972 when he drowned in an accident on Lake Ashtabula.

The farm is still in the family, but Byron was the last of the family living in Griggs County.

Carl, Emma, and Gena moved to eastern Oregon before 1908 and have lived there since.

Christ Haaland moved to Oregon with his brother and sisters and was active in the sawmill and lumber business until he returned to Griggs County.  For several years he owned and operated a garage in Cooperstown.  For a time he was in partnership with Art Sarsten.

Christ was Register of Deeds in Griggs County for several terms until retiring.
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ELLING JOHNSON (FROILAND)

Mr. and Mrs. Elling Johnson (Maria Dorthea) came to Granite Falls, Minnesota in 1882 from Stavanger, Norway.  They had three daughters:  

Inga, Aagot, and Amelia, and two stepchildren:  

Omund and Dora Ashland.  They stayed in this area for a year, where they had friends and neighbors from Norway.

In the spring of 1883 he bought two yoke of oxen, two covered wagons and two milk cows, and started for the Cooperstown area where they had a step-daughter, Mrs. Nels (Maria) Herigstad.  She had homesteaded in Sverdrup Township in 1882.  Elling also had a sister, Jergen Soma's first wife, Gurina.  They had taken a homestead in Ball Hill Township in 1882.

Elling homesteaded the northeast quarter of Section 10 in Ball Hill when he arrived here.  A son, Hans, was born in 1884.  Elling farmed until 1907, when Hans married Louise Carstens, who had come to Fargo in 1905 from Trysil, Norway.  She worked in Fargo for a year before coming to Cooperstown.

During the early years they endured many hardships.  Dorthea, wife and mother, died in 1893.  He married Severina Hagen of Grand Forks in 1903.  She died in 1914.  In 1918 he came to live with his son, Hans, who was on the farm, and he lived there until his death in 1935.

Hans continued farming until 1941, when his son, Irwin, took over the farm operation and farmed until 1972.

Mr. and Mrs. Hans Froiland had four children:  

Elwin, Irwin, Ovidia and Lloyd.

Lloyd and Ovidia and their families live in California.  Elwin and his wife live in Fargo and Mesa, Arizona.

Irwin married Esther Njaa in 1934.  They had three sons:  

Edward, who lives in Seattle, and is married.  Kenneth lives in Pembina, North Dakota, and has two children, Sheila, and Timothy.  Stephen, the youngest, his wife, Bernice (Anton), and daughter, Melinda, live on the farm in Ball Hall Township - (fourth generation to be there).
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MATHIAS JOHNSON FAMILY

Mathias Johnson came to North Dakota from Norway when he was fourteen years old with his mother and a brother, Gubrud.  They stayed with relatives in Minnesota for a while and then proceeded westward to settle near the Goose River.  Later they moved to a claim that was six miles south of Cooperstown.

When Mathias was 25 years old, his mother thought he should get himself a wife.  Because there were no neighbor girls around, his mother remembered their neighbor in Norway had a girl named Karen Langaard.  Consequently, they sent money for her passage to America, and five years later they were married (1886).

Three of their children were born in the sod house.  When the others arrived, a house was built.

Some of their neighbors were Fjelstads, Greenlands, and Krogsgaards.

Ten children were born to this marriage:  

John, Martin, Helen (Mrs. Oliver Richardson), Clara (Mrs. John D. Erickson), Bert, Anton, and Gilbert, all of whom are deceased.  Those living are:  

1. Gunda (Mrs. Carl Peterson), Baldwin, Wisconsin

2. Christine (Mrs. Bert Lundstrom), Marysville, Washington

3. and Edna, (Mrs. Adolph Olson), Cooperstown, North Dakota.

Mathias Johnson's granddaughter, Joanne, and her husband, Sanford Brekke, make their home in Cooperstown with their family.  They are:  

1. Scott, Kent, and Andrea.
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CARL "CHARLIE" KJELGAARD FAMILY

Carl ''Charlie" Kjelgaard came to North Dakota from Denmark in 1909.  When his family, Mr. and Mrs. Mogens Kjelgaard, Gregers, Peter, Harold, Marius, and Margaret, came to America in 1910, they began farming in Ball Hill Township.  They bought the farm in 1915.

Charlie and Betsy Ronnie of Wisconsin were married in 1915.  Two years later, all of the Kjelgaards except Harold and Charlie moved to New York.  The two brothers farmed together until Harold was married in 1927.

Four children were born to Betsy and Charlie:  

Karen, Marion, Marjorie, and Orland.  They attended school in and near Hannaford.  They also attended various colleges in the state.

Horses were a very important part of the Kjelgaard farm.  Charlie, who had served in the Danish cavalry, had a special love for horses and a special knack for handling them.  There were usually about 24 of them, including a saddle horse or two.  Charlie trained his best pony to jump hurdles and rode him in races at the county fairs.  In the thirties, he bought unbroken broncos in the West, broke them, and took many of them east by freight train where he sold them for a good profit.  There were many exciting and hazardous experiences in breaking these broncos, and many runaways.  Though Charlie was usually lucky, he had many close calls, such as being kicked and trampled by a wild horse in a stall.  In 1948 he was thrown into a rock pile while riding, and he suffered from a fractured pelvis.

Harold Kjelgaard had outstanding mechanical ability and kept the early automobiles and machinery in good working order.  He remodeled a touring car into a sedan for the comfort and delight of the family.  His gentle good humor, patience, and kindness was appreciated by all who knew him.

In 1927 Harold and Minnie Olson of Wisconsin were married and moved to their own farm near Revere.  They had one son, Myron (Mike).  Minnie passed away in 1936.  Harold worked for the Bank of North Dakota as a carpenter fixing storm-damaged barns.  He married Myrtle Knutson in 1939.  They had two sons:  

Richard and Harold Jr. (Butch).  They lived in Cooperstown where Harold installed furnaces for several years.  When the Griggs County Hospital opened, he was janitor there and worked at the hospital until his death in 1958.  He is survived by his wife, Myrtle, Minneapolis, Minnesota, and his sons, Myron, McHenry, North Dakota (three children)

Richard, Minneapolis (one child)

and Harold Jr., Fargo, North Dakota (one child).

In the forties, Charlie was able to devote more time to his great interest in politics and Farmers' Union activities.  In 1946 he was elected sheriff of Griggs County, serving in 1947 and 1948.  In 1949 he was elected to serve as state legislator in Bismarck where he served for one term.

He passed away on June 11, 1950, and is survived by his wife, Betsy, Spring Valley, California

Mrs. Warren Lundeen, Hannaford, North Dakota (two children)

Mrs. William Sloan, El Cajon, California (four children)

Mrs. Ralph Landers, Spring Valley, California (two children)

and his son Orland, Portland, Oregon (two children).
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MYRON KJELGAARD

Myron and Virginia Kjelgaard lived in Romness Township for several years.  They rented the Edwin B. Anderson farm and lived at the farm.

They have three children:  

Nancy, Bruce, and Peggy.
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THE EMIL KROGSGAARD FAMILY

Emil Krogsgaard was born June 10, 1859, in Ringsaker, Hedemark, Norway.  His parents were Even and Johanna Krogsgaard.  They had four sons and one daughter.  Since American production had lowered European prices for grain, farming was depressed and many persons migrated.  Besides a son who was next to the youngest had little prospect of getting the family farm.  After studying telegraphy for a time, Emil decided to go to America.

Emil Krogsgaard arrived by sailship, in Halifax, Nova Scotia.  He then went to the Albert Lea area in Minnesota where he had friends.  Being only twenty years old, he was too young to homestead, so he took various jobs until the next year.  He then went to his cousin, Mrs. Mathias Fjelstad in Ball Hill Township.  She and her husband had already homesteaded on the NE quarter os Section 24.  Sverdrup Township had been surveyed.  Bald Hill would be next year.  The distance from the Sverdrup line was stepped out to the nearest unoccupied quarter, and stakes were placed near the center of what was to be the SW quarter of Section 14.

The first and second years the breaking of the land was hired.  Sowing was done by broadcasting.  The third year two oxen were purchased, also a plow and a seeder.  Later two more oxen were obtained.  The only crop put in was wheat except for some potatoes for food.  The crops were good, but the prices were poor.

To supplement his income, Mr. Krogsgaard worked one winter in Valley City, another winter for Syversons in Cooperstown.  When the railroad was extended north from Hannaford, he helped lay the track.  With his brother, Martinus, he worked on building the bridge over the river east of Cooperstown (1883).

Martinus Krogsgaard had homesteaded the NE quarter of Section 22.  His wife found the prairie and its climate too severe.  After proving up the land they sold it, and with their young daughter who was born here, they returned to Norway.

In 1888 the NE quarter of Section 23 was obtained from the railroad.  A new house was built into the hill.  The entrance to the second floor was at the back from the top of the hill.  It was usual at the time for those newly arrived to find quarters with whoever had room.  The Rothert and the Skjelset families each spent a winter in the first floor of this house.  Mr. Krogsgaard would then live on the second floor.  This house was later moved to the present site.  That house now constitutes the living room, the low bedroom and hall on the second floor of the present house.

Emil Krogsgaard was married to Bergine Wold February 2, 1898.  Gina, as she was always called, was born March 6, 1869 to Lars and Mathea Wold, also of Ringsaker, Norway.  The Wold farm was about ten miles from the Krogsgaard farm.  She came to Philadelphia in 1892 or 1893 where she worked.  Later she went to Milwaukee where the two were married.  They had seven children.  The oldest was Edgar; next Mabel, Mrs. Sam Schmidt

Hjordis, Mrs. Otto Therkelsen

Lulu

Leif who died when two

Elbjorg

and Alice Krogsgaard Mason.  There are six grandchildren, to date (1975) fourteen great -grandchildren, and three great -great - grandchildren.  Emil Krogsgaard passed away May 18, 1940 and Gina Krogsgaard the following year on April sixth.
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PETER LARSON FAMILY

Peter Larson born December 13, 1866.  He was one of eleven children of Lars and Kristense Hansen who lived at Midstrom, near Hemnes, Norway.

At age of 21 years, he accompanied three brothers and three sisters to United States leaving his folks, three sisters, and one brother back in Norway.

His early days in America were spent working on the Cooper ranch to get his start in this county.  He filed a claim on land near Cooperstown, North Dakota, and received his homestead patent in 1893.

In 1893 he married Martha Dorthea Aasland - daughter of Aadne and Martha Dorthea Aasland.  She was from a family of ten children and came to this country at age eleven years.

Peter's sisters lived with him in his claim home when not out working.  Their herding cattle brought them in contact with Martha Dorthea Aasland, who was herding her folks' cattle.  While herding cattle and knitting stockings, these girls became good friends and helped bring about courtship and marriage.

Four children were born to this couple:

Mabel Cora - daughter - married Harvey Alvin Benson, moved to Hannaford, North Dakota.  They had seven children.

Leonard P. Larson - son - married Eunice Plummer from Wisconsin.  He farmed in partnership until 1939 when Peter died.  Leonard raised registered Colombia sheep on this farm until 1964.  He lived on the farm until his death in 1966.

Lillian Ruth - daughter - taught school in the county and eventually went to the west coast and married.

Eleanor Mercedes - daughter - married Alfred Odegaard, Hawley, Minnesota and raised four children.

Peter's farm has been farmed by relatives all but three years.  In 1903 he leased it out for three years and went to Oregon.  He came back from Oregon in one year and purchased a house on Vinegar Hill in Cooperstown to wait out his lease.

In 1967 Homer and Helen Benson, a grandson, purchased the farm from Eunice Larson and at the present time are raising registered Shorthorn cattle.
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CHRISTIAN LEE (LIA)

Christian Lia and his wife Torina, accompanied by Christian's mother, emigrated from near Bergen, Norway, to Minnesota in 1867 to Fillmore County where Mr. Lia bought a farm and began to subdue the forest which covered his farm and convert it into tillable land.  Shortly after their arrival in the United States, Christian Lia changed the spelling of his surname, Lia, to Lee.

On this farm 2 miles west of Fountain, Gilbert Lee and his sisters, Hannah, Lina and Christine were born.  Gilbert was born October 14, 1871.  Christian Lee increased his tillable acres year by year, but during the latter half of the seventies, his crops were destroyed by rust for a number of years in succession.  These losses induced him to seek his fortune in Dakota Territory.

Christian Lee deserted his farm in Minnesota, loaded their personal effects into an immigrant car, and followed his family to Dakota Territory.  Soon after his arrival at Valley City, he began looking for a suitable location on which to homestead.  There were no settlers 15 miles beyond Valley City, and on May 3, 1881 he squatted on a claim five miles south of Cooperstown where the station of Shepard is located.

The day after he arrived at his claim, he broke prairie to get sod for his sod house.  The house was 18 x 18 feet, one room, and one story high with shingle roof.  It had one window and one door, hung on hinges and fastened with a lock.  The wall was of sod three feet thick at the bottom tapering to less than half that thickness at the top.  The inside of the wall was perpendicular but sloped inward on the outside.  The eaves extended beyond the outside of the wall so that water running off the roof would not soak and rot the sod.  The blocks of sod were laid lengthwise and crosswise in alternate tiers so as to bind the sod.  When the hut was completed, the wall was cut smooth on the inside and whitewashed.  This coating of lime prevented the wall from crumbling and gave it an appearance of being plastered.

The furnishings consisted of a grandfather's clock, a 4-hole iron cookstove with oven, 2 beds - one small enough and low enough so it could be shoved underneath the other bed, and a table which was fastened to the wall with hinges and 2 legs on the other side.  After meals the table was raised up against the wall where it was secured with a button.  In this way, and by shoving one bed underneath the other there was more room in the house.  Benches served as chairs.  All the furniture was made of lumber bought in Valley City, where the lumber and shingles for the roof were bought also.  Water was secured from a nearby slough, which had been filled by melting snows and run off-water from spring rains.  However, this water became stagnant and Grandpa Lee dug a well striking a vein at 14 feet below the surface, which furnished an ample supply of water for years.  Mr. Lee had located the vein with the aid of a willow wand.

Gilbert C. Lee lived with his parents and worked on his father's farm until he was 20 years old.  In the meantime he attended, along with his sisters, Hannah and Christine, school in four different districts:  

Ball Hill, Greenfield, Gallatin and Langford schools.  The first school in Ball Hill Township was a 2-month term held in the home of Andrew Benson in 1883.  The teacher was Nat.  Siften.  His salary was $60 paid from Cooperstown.  The pupils were Gilbert, Hannah and Christine Lee, John, Bertha, and Sofie Benson, Elling Froiland, Dora and Belle Johnson and Axel Bull.  The scholars furnished their own books, which were the Appleton Series.  The first schoolhouse built in Ball Hill Township was built in 1883.  Fretjof Greenland, a theological student, taught the children religion in the Norwegian language.

In 1891 Gilbert Lee went to Minnesota where he worked for a few years on a farm cast of Moorhead.  He returned to the home farm near Cooperstown and later bought a farm, which was the E ½ of the W ½ of Section 1 in Ball Hill Township.  The purchase was on a crop-payment contract.  Mr. Lee was to deliver one-half of the crop each year.  The purchase price was $10 per acre at 10% with no cash payment.  It was on this land that Grandpa Lee and Gilbert planted hundreds of trees and here too, the second home was constructed which later came to be called the "summer kitchen.”

In January 1902 Gilbert married Clara Josephine Hemness from near Martell, Wisconsin.  He brought his bride to North Dakota, and shortly afterward he erected a large, lovely house and a barn for the horses and a few cattle.  With the exception of the oldest son, Sidney, it was here that the Lee children were born - Adelaide, Florence, Robert, Lillian and Douglas.  Florence died at age 12 in 1918 on Christmas Eve when the flu epidemic ravaged the country.

While farming Mr. Lee had a half interest in a threshing rig, the earnings of which augmented the farm income.  During WW I Mrs. Lee, under the supervision and assistance of Dr. Almklov in Cooperstown embarked in the business of raising pedigreed, German Police dogs, which commanded a high price.

Mr. Lee was active and interested in community affairs and busied himself in many political issues.  He was a road boss, assessor, and supervisor at various times in Ball Hill Township, and he also served on the school board.  He was appointed deputy sheriff of Griggs County under Claus Jackson and held this job for eight years.  In 1910 he was elected sheriff.  During his four years as sheriff, he leased his farm to his brother-in-law, Louis Hemness from Wisconsin.  Christian Lee continued to make his home at the farm, but years later when Gilbert sold the homestead to his neighbor, Jorgen Soma, Christian went to live at the Lutheran Old Folks Home at Northwood.  He passed away at 94 years of age.

Gilbert maintained an active and keen interest in political issues and the cause of education.  He submitted numerous articles expounding the good and bad of projects and issues to various newspapers.  He was 1001o behind A. C. Townley in organizing the Nonpartisan League, which had its beginning in Bowman County.  The new organization, operating on a paid membership basis, spread like wildfire.  The most spectacular political uprising that had yet occurred in America was on its way with a vast program of laws enacted to protect the farmers' interests.  Gilbert worked tirelessly, often traveling on snowshoes in the dead of winter to induce farmers to join the movement.  Much of the program was lifted out of North Dakota and set down in Washington, D. C. to be known as Roosevelt's New Deal.  Gilbert remained a staunch Democrat all his life and loved nothing better than being able to attend political rallies and listen to gifted orators expound their pet causes.

After several years of leasing land in Griggs County, Gilbert Lee sold the farm near Shepard and he purchased a farm near Dazey.  After selling this farm in -1938, Mr. and Mrs. Lee moved to Fargo where Gilbert died in February 1945 and Clara in July 1962.

While living near Shepard, the Lee children, Sidney, Adelaide, Florence and Lillian attended the Shepard School.  They together with Robert were graduated from Cooperstown High School.  Sidney began his teaching career in the Gallatin school in 1922 and eventually became the Dean of the Bismarck Junior College.  He died in August 1961 a week before the opening of the New College.  The auditorium on the campus is named the Sidney J. Lee Auditorium in his memory.  He had one son.  Adelaide Lee began her teaching career in 1923 in the Bolkan School east of Cooperstown.  Her salary was $85 a month, but because of a more-than-ample supply of teachers, she considered herself fortunate to have a job.  She married Fred O. Mitchell of Hannaford and they have two children, Nola and Gile.  In 1941 they moved to Montana.  In 1971 Adelaide retired from 31 years of teaching and now lives in Lima.  Mr. Mitchell passed away in 1972.  Robert Lee, now retired, held a government position in Portland, Oregon.  He did not marry.  Lillian Lee was also a teacher and is now associated with her husband, Donald Herzog, in the insurance business in Portland, Oregon

They have one daughter, Ann Lee.  Douglas Lee lives in West Fargo where he was employed by Corwin-Churchill Company He has two sons, Donald and Charles.
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ARCHIE MARSON

Archie W. Marson was born January 24, 1911, at New England, North Dakota.  Agnes E. Evenson was born November 10, 1910, at Binford, North Dakota.

Archie lived the first ten years of his life in Slope County, North Dakota.  While living there, he attended elementary school, and he clearly remembers having three teachers in the fourth grade.  Archie's parents decided to sell out in 1921 and return to the old place they had left in the fall of 1906, which was known as the Jacob Watne farm, southeast quarter of Section 13-14559, Ball Hill Township.  Archie and his wife have lived on this same place ever since.  He farmed in partnership with his brother, Deland, for fifteen years after their father died in 1934.  Their mother lived with them during this time.

Agnes lived at Binford, North Dakota, on her father's farm until she was through high school and occasionally afterwards depending on where she was teaching.  She taught school for one year in McIntosh County.  She served as County Superintendent of Schools from 1942 until she was married.

Archie Marson and Agnes Evenson were married December 18, 1949.  On December 23, 1949, while on their wedding trip, they became involved in an automobile accident at Ellensburg, Washington and spent a month in the hospital.  Both were somewhat broken and bruised, but they recovered and have been living on the home place since then.

One son was born to this union, George Edward, born November 13, 1952.  He married Marlene K. Hoyt of McHenry, North Dakota, June 29, 1972.  They have one daughter, Wendy Renee.

George farmed for two years with his father, and then they decided to sell out.  The farm was purchased by Leland Harvey.  Archie and Agnes continue to live on the farm, but George and his family moved to Jamestown, North Dakota, where he works for Western Gear Company.
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CHARLES C. MARSON

Charles C. Marson was born at Derby, England, January 11, 1841.  Sarah Halford was born at Walton-on the Wolds, Leicestershire, England, July 7, 1842.  They were married April 10, 1864.  Ten children were born to this union.  Nine were born in England and one in America.  Two died in infancy.

They lived in a town in England named Quorn in a thatched house.  They were in a small business and also owned a few houses, which they sold and decided to go to America.  They came across the Atlantic Ocean in two weeks in a sailboat called BRITISH KING.  They left England May 22, 1889.  They arrived in Philadelphia June 5, 1889, and at Cooperstown, North Dakota June 13, 1889.

They lived for one year four miles north of Cooperstown on the northeast quarter of Section 1.  While living there, the tenth child was born.  But they found out they could not buy that piece of land, so they decided to move south of town where they bought the east 1/2 of Section 12, Ball Hill Township, from a man whose name was Montgomery.

They had some hard years in America at that time because of adverse weather such as drought and hail storms.  One year their crops blew out because of high winds and dry weather.  They lost some from prairie fire.  The winter of 1896 was severe with lots of snow and blizzards.

In 1904 they built the big brick house, which still stands.

Their children were:  

Mrs. W. F. (Fannie) Thompson, Hannaford, North Dakota

Mrs. Harry (Polly) Spencer, Bucyrus, North Dakota

David H. Marson, Los Angeles, California

George W. Marson, Cooperstown, North Dakota

Mrs. Ira (Lilly) Shroyer, New Rockford, North Dakota

Algernon L. Marson, Richmond, California

Mrs. Lee (Leone) Violett, Lothair, Montana

Samuel R. 

Marson, Cooperstown, North Dakota.  These have all passed away now.  Charles C. Marson passed away April 27, 1933.  Sarah Marson passed away October 19, 1919.
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GEORGE W. MARSON

George W. Marson was born October 9, 1874, at Quorn, England, and he came-to America when he was fifteen years old with his parents in 1889.  He worked for R. C. Cooper in the summer seasons for several years, and winters he would go to the woods in northern Minnesota to work in the lumber camps.

Christine Rorvig was born on June 26, 1874, at Gulbransdalem, Norway, and in 1882 at the age of 8, she came to America with her parents, the Ole Rorvigs.  They lived for a short time in Minnesota before coming to the Binford area.  They traveled by ox team for the last portion of their trip between Hope, North Dakota and Binford.  Christine believed that the wind would never blow in North Dakota because there were no trees to make it blow.

George and Christine first met while they both worked at the same farm on the north edge of Cooperstown, known then as the Great Northern Stork Dairy Farm about the turn of the century.  This farm later became the H. P. Hammer Stock Farm.

They were married November 26, 1902, and at first they lived on the farm located on the northeast quarter of Section 31, known as the Fred William's west place.  After living there for two years, they moved to Jake Watne's place, which his father had previously purchased from Jacob Watne.  It was here that Deland, their first child, was born.  They moved on the Watne place before spring in 1904 and 1905.  A pair of twins were born, but they died when they were about a month old.  They are buried in Westley Church Cemetery.  In October 1906, Reynold was born.

It was in November of that year that they decided to move to western North Dakota and homestead on the NW quarter of Section 26, Rainy Butte Township in Slope County.  While living there, they experienced prairie fires, droughts, and rust.

More of their children were born in Slope County:  

Lilly in 1909, and Archie in 1911.  Because of many dry years, they decided to sell out and return to the Jacob Watne place to live.

George Marson passed away November 21, 1934.  Then Deland and Archie farmed together until Archie's marriage in 1949.  At this time, Deland and his mother moved to Cooperstown to live.  Christine Marson passed away on December 16, 1965, and Deland passed away July 15, 1971.

Reynold Marson and his wife Ceil Heister had five children, three of which are living.  They live at McClusky.

Lilly Marson lives at Renton, Washington.
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EDWARD MICHAELIS FAMILY

Edward Otto Michaelis was born September 12, 1842, in Germany and immigrated to Canada in 1860.  In 1882, he came to Dakota Territory, homesteaded, and tree claimed near Cooperstown, North Dakota, south half of Section 8-145-59, Ball Hill Township where he farmed until 1906.

He married Wilhelmina Bertha Grane (born August 16, 1846 in Germany), and they came to Eganville, Ontario, Canada, in 1868.  They were married that same year.

Their children are:  

1. Sophia (Mrs. William Trost) Susan (Mrs. George Stevens) who is 94 years old and lives at Battleground, Washington

2. Fredrica (Mrs. Luther Rowley)

3. Ernest, Paul, Martha (Mrs. Harry Husel)

4. Herman

5. and Mathilda.

After the children married, Mr. and Mrs. Michaelis moved to their new home in Cooperstown in 1906.  That house is where Mr. and Mrs. Perry Haaland live now.  Mrs. Edward Michaelis passed away in October 1914.  Edward later married Mrs. Marie Nehring (whose husband had passed away) at Paynesville, Minnesota, and he brought her to Cooperstown to live.

Edward passed away December 15, 1927.  A few years after he died, his wife went back to Paynesville where she passed away in the early 1940's.
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HERMAN JULIUS MICHAELIS FAMILY

Herman Julius Michaelis was born March 11, 1876, in Pernbroke, Ontario, Canada.  Annie E. Rowley was born June 3, 1885, in Paisley, Ontario, Canada.  They were married on December 27, 1905, in Griggs County and lived in a small three-room house on the farm in Ball Hill Township, which is now occupied by their son, Raymond.

To this union seven children were born.  They are:  

1. Lydia A. , born December 18, 1906.  She married John Kramvik June 24, 1925

2. Marcella E. , born February 15, 1909.  She married Henry Urness on November 1, 1933.  Raymond J. , was born January 15, 1915.  He was married to Bernice Larson, September 14, 1941.  Since the old house was too small for the family, a new one was built.  On April 30, 1917, sister Jeanette was born in this house.  She married Melvin Ulstad on June 10, 1935.  The little old house was then moved up to where is now the Roger Dahl farm, but it has since burned.  Grace M. was born September 18, 1918.  She married Kenneth Beattie July 5, 1940.  Richard A. , was born July 11, 1921.  He passed away July 3, 1936.  Harold E. , was born July 27, 1923.  He married Marcella Larson June 1 1943.

About 1926 Mr. Michaelis bought a new Buick car, and in June the family accompanied by his sister, Mrs. William Trost, made a trip back to Davidson, Saskatchewan, Canada, to visit relatives.  While they were there, Grandfather Rowley passed away.  The family returned about two weeks later.

In 1936 everyone experienced one of the hottest and driest summers on record, and it was that year on July 3 that our brother, Richard, passed away.  In August that same year a terrific wind and hailstorm went through that area taking out many windows and destroying what little crop there was.

Mr. and Mrs. Michaelis moved to Cooperstown in 1951 where they lived until their death.  Herman passed away on August 2, 1955, and Annie passed away on December 2, 1968.

Their son, Raymond, and his wife reside on the home farm near Hannaford.  They have four children.

First born was Richard Julius on October 1, 1943.  He married Lynda McCarthy on September 14, 1973.  They have one son, Jason, and live at Paynesville, Minnesota.

Second born was James Roy on May 12, 1946.  He married Lorretta Midstokke on August 4, 1967.  They have one daughter, Mindy Rae, and live in Cooperstown.

Third born was Sylvia Faye on May 19, 1948.  She married James Bergren on August 15, 1973.  They have a daughter, Debrah Lynn, and live in Cooperstown.

Darrell Edward was born March 30, 1952.  He married Mary Wright on June 30, 1973.  They are living on Raymond and Bernice's home place.
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ERNEST MICHAELIS FAMILY

The farm on which Ernest Michaelis, son of Edward, lived on all his life until his retirement in 1944, was also his birthplace (June 19, 1888).  He married Emma Hogie, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ludvig Hogie.  She was born at Lanesboro, Minnesota, and came to North Dakota with her parents at an early age.  Ernest and Emma were married at the Hogie farm on November 23, 1911, and he took his bride to the home farm.

They were grain farmers, but they also raised German Police dogs, sheep, cattle, hogs, etc.

They had four children:  

Walter Edward, who still resides on the same farm

Thelma (Mrs. William Jungels), Cooperstown

Kenneth Luel, Cannon Falls, Minnesota

Delores (Mrs. Ralph Wisdahl), Alderwood Manor, Washington.  They all went to the Michaelis School, the same school their dad had attended.

When Ernest moved to town in 1944, it was not to retire but to enjoy going to the farm every day.  Walter and his wife moved to the fa= at this time.

Ernest and Emma celebrated their 60th wedding anniversary with an open house at their home in Cooperstown in 1971 with over 100 relatives and friends attending.  It was a surprise to them, and they enjoyed it to the utmost.

Ernest was 87 years old on June 19, 1975, and Emma will be 84 on September 26, 1975.  They enjoy having people come to visit them.
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THELMA MICHAELIS

Thelma Michaelis married William Jungels on December 15, 1936.  He was the son of the late Mr. and Mrs. Peter Jungels.  They lived and farmed near Picken, North Dakota, until the fall of 1941 when they moved southwest of Cooperstown in Ball Hill Township.

They had three boys:  

LeRoy, Dennis, and Duane.

LeRoy John was born May 18, 1940.  He married Eva Lafferty of Walhalla, North Dakota, on April 14, 1973.  Children are:  

1. Jerry, Floyd, Lloyd, Wanda, Travis, Zaccary, and Barbara Lafferty, and Denice (Mrs. Larry Feske).  Jerry works at Shepard Elevator.  They have three children:  

2. Tina, Ruthie, and Jacob.

LeRoy and family live on Mrs. C. M. Brown's farm south of town.  He came to this farm when he was four years old and lived with his parents there for 29 years.  When he married, his parents moved to Cooperstown.  His farm, the Jungels' Shorthorn Farm, is known for their registered Shorthorn cattle.

Dennis William was born August 1, 1943.  He married Rita Bugbee on June 29, 1968.  He taught school for eight years, but he recently bought a farm in Steele County and raises Shorthorn cattle, known as D J's Shorthorns.
Duane Allen was born on July 3, 1945.  He married Debbie Coons on June 8, 1972.  They live at Crookston, Minnesota.
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WALTER EDWARD MICHAELIS FAMILY

Walter Edward Michaelis, son of Mr. and Mrs. Ernest Michaelis, was born March 2, 1913, on the farm where he still lives.  Walter married Borghild Johnson on June 17, 1944.  She was the daughter of Mrs. Taletta Johnson and Arndt Johnson who passed away in 1933.  Walter and his wife moved to the home farm after their marriage.

They have two children:  

Bennett Walter and Charlotte.

Bennett, a fourth generation descendant, is farming the land that his great grandfather once homesteaded and tree claimed.  This is also the land that his grandfather and his father farmed until they retired.  Bennett lives with his parents on the farm.

Their daughter, Charlotte, is a medical secretary for a plastic surgeon in Minneapolis.

It was in 1969 that Walter and Borghild celebrated their 25th wedding anniversary where his folks had theirs several years ago.  Many changes and improvements have been made on the farm over the years.

The old Michaelis School, which all the family members attended, is still located one-half mile east of the farm.
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JOHN GRAHAM MILLS

John Graham Mills was born in the province of Quebec, Canada May 23, 1854 the eldest of twelve children.  He stayed at home until he was twenty-one and then came west to Ontario.  Here he lived six years during which time he learned his best lessons in real farming and in taking care of stock of all kinds among the old country farmers of different nationalities.  In the spring of 1881, he decided to come west and landed in Ball Hill Township, Griggs County.

Although he settled on a quarter of land in this Township in 1881 it was not filed upon until 1883.  The reason for the delay was that the land was not surveyed until 1882 and did not come into the market until the following July.  Incidentally, this was the first quarter of land filed on in Ball Hill Township.  This initial acquirement was later to be increased by an additional 640 acres.

Being a livestock man he became interested in exhibiting his stock at livestock shows throughout the country.  He first exhibited in Fargo in 1910.  In 1912, he made a complete show circuit.  This he considers his best year, as the Fairs were all good.  He was one of the Charter Members of the State Fair Board, and was president of the Griggs County Fair Association for nineteen years.  He missed only one Fair meeting in all that time.

For twenty-three years after his retirement from the farm in 1912, he lived in the village of Hannaford.  He continued to keep an active interest in his farm, however, along with community and civic affairs - especially his church.

He and Mrs. Mills made several trips back to their old home in Canada.  They also visited their son, Milton, in New York State, and traveled throughout the West during the San Francisco Exposition.

On July 14, 1932 they celebrated their Golden Wedding Anniversary.  The banquet and program was held in the church parlors of the Presbyterian Church and was attended by their three children, a brother and sister from Canada, and about seventy-five old friends and neighbors.

Shortly after this his health began to fail and on November 27, 1935 he passed away survived by his wife, three children and seven grandchildren.  He left behind him the memory of a loving husband, a good father and a life of service and good will to his fellow men and community.

His wife survived him ten years, passing away March 16, 1946 at the home of a daughter in Minneapolis.  Mr. and Mrs. John Graham Mills now rest in the Hannaford Cemetery in a State they loved and watched grow from a vast prairie to what it is today.
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JOHN GRAHAM MILLS

John Graham Mills was born in the province of Quebec, Canada, on May 23, 1854.  In 1875 he took Horace Greeley's advice, "Go west, young man, " and left for Ontario.  It was there that he received his training in how to raise good stock.  He spent six or seven years in Ontario and then proceeded westward.

Mr. Mills came to Dakota Territory in March 1881.  He was married March 15, 1882, to Mary C. Fletcher, who also came from Ontario.

Mr. John Mills bought four head of purebred Hereford cattle in 1903.  In 1910 he exhibited at the fair in Fargo.  In 1912 he again exhibited all around the circuit and was then made charter member of the State Fair Board.  He was president of the Griggs County Fair Association for 19 years.  When Mr. Mills left the farm in 1912, his son, George, bought all the stock.  John Mills and his wife lived in Hannaford for the remaining years of their lives.

In 1925 Mr. John Graham Mills was honored by having his picture hung in the Saddle and Sirloin Club Hall of Fame for his outstanding efforts in the improvements of agriculture in North Dakota.

Their first son, Milton, was born in 1883.  At the age of 23, he started his own farm one-half mile west of the old homestead (Section 22-145-59), where he lived until 1919 when he moved to New York State.

A daughter, Mabel, was born to Mr. and Mrs. Mills in 1886.  She attended high school in Minneapolis and studied and taught music until her marriage to Eli Parker.

A second son, George W. , was born in 1888.  He lived on the old homestead and was married in March 1912.  The family moved to Spokane, Washington, in 1942.  George Mills died there in 1968.
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MR. AND MRS. ARNT NJAA

Mr. and Mrs. Arnt Njaa lived on a farm in Ball Hill Township, having emigrated from Norway to America.  Mr. Njaa passed away on June 29, 1926, and Mrs. Njaa died on June 13, 1956.  Two children preceded them in death.

Those in the family were:  

Arnt (deceased), Hannah (deceased), Gudrid of Fargo, North Dakota, Sigvald of Cohasset, Minnesota, Clarence of Cooperstown, Norman of Grants Pass, Oregon, and Pearl of Fargo, North Dakota.
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MARKUS M. NJUST FAMILY

Markus M. Njust was born at Nord Odal, Norway, on September 26, 1860.  He received his early schooling in the home area and later was graduated from military school in Oslo, Norway.

In 1886 Markus immigrated to the United States, and for some time he lived at Minneapolis, Minnesota, where he met Thea Holter.  Later, he attended the Red Wing Seminary at Red Wing, Minnesota, and was ordained into the Lutheran ministry.

He was called to serve as pastor of the Westley Church east of Cooperstown.  Shortly after this, approximately 1892, Markus took out a homestead claim, and the area that most appealed to him was an 80-acre tract which is the south half of the southwest quarter of Section 4, Township 145.

Other churches Reverend Njust served were St. Petri Congregation at Pickert, North Dakota, and Lyster Congregation west of Hannaford, North Dakota.  He also served other congregations located in Minnesota, which required three days to make the round trip by horse and buggy.

On September 26, 1893, Markus Njust and Thea Holter were married at Mayville, North Dakota.  They set up housekeeping in the ''claim shanty" as it was called.  By degrees five more rooms were added, and it was here that they raised two sons and two daughters.  The older son, Manford Njust, lives at Junction City, Oregon.  Mabel Braa, the eldest of the children, lives in Salem, Oregon.  Lily Holland, the youngest, lives at Silverton, Oregon, while Henry Njust remains on the old homestead.  Henry has replaced the old house with a modern two-bedroom home.  The other original farm buildings remain intact and are well-kept.  The home area has been transformed into a virtual garden spot with evergreens as well as fruit trees and many varieties of flowers.

Frequently, Indians came through the neighborhood begging for food.  Mrs. Njust allowed them to come in and help themselves.  She feared for her life, but they would always leave just enough food for one day's supply, helping themselves to everything else.

The country school in Ball Hill Township was located a mile and one half away from home.  There were times when storms made it quite difficult to travel, but this was the usual thing, and nobody seemed to mind.

Reverend and Mrs. Njust spent their last years at Silverton, Oregon.  Markus passed away in May of 1946, and Thea in November of 1954.  All the children mentioned are still living, as are five grandchildren, sixteen great grandchildren, and one great-great grandchild.
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THE SAXBERGS

Bernt (Ben) Saxberg, a mason, and Lena Smesrud, a pastry cook, were married March 15, 1900, in Norway.  John and Erick (1902-) were born there before they left for America on a stock boat to Liverpool, England.  Then they took a steamboat to America in the fall of 1905.  They arrived northeast of Jessie where two sisters and husbands were farming.  While living there, a son, Albin, was born on Christmas Eve.

In 1907 Ben decided to go back to Norway but only made it to Cooperstown where he began working for the railroad and later worked at the Blackwell Lumber yard.

They began building a house southwest of the tracks.  Ben would build the sides of the house on the ground, and Lena helped him raise the walls.  It was small, but home to them.  Selma was born in this home.

Ben later did mason work.  He laid many of the sidewalks in McVille, North Dakota, at that time.  He stayed there during the week and drove back to Cooperstown for the weekends with horses.  The weather was treacherous many of those trips.

In 1912 they decided to try farming again and rented land until 1928 when he bought a farm southwest of Cooperstown where his son, Erick is now living.  In 1943 they bought a house in Cooperstown and moved into town.

Ben helped Edwin Pousette with cement work until his health failed.  He passed away in June of 1954 at the age of 74 years.

Lena then made her home with two of their son's families, Erick and Albin, and the daughter in Minnesota until she passed away in 1959 at the age of 87.

When Erick helped John move to Minnesota in 1932, he drove one team of horses and load and had another team and load behind.  It took a week on the road in all kinds of weather.  They slept in haystacks or barns wherever they could.

In 1942 Erick married Dorothy Hegeland.  To this union two children:  

David in 1943, and Elain in 1945.

Comparable to the blizzards in the pioneer days, in 1966, after the 3-day storm, Erick and his family couldn't get out through the door, so they had to crawl in and out a window.  The house was covered and surrounded with snow-banks.  Bruce Hazards got worried because they couldn't see lights.  So one evening, the Saxbergs heard a knock on the roof.  Going to the room where they had been going through the window, they saw the Hazards bending down, looking in.  So much snow was in the yard that it came nearly to the top of the REA pole.

Erick and Dorothy are still living on the farm with David, who now owns it.

Their daughter, Elain, is married to Roy Ackland and they lived in Waco, Texas.
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ANDREW I. SHARPE

Andrew I. Sharpe (Ole Andreas Skjerpe) was born to Iver and Helene Grosfield Skjerpe on November 26, 1886, in Heskestad, Norway, the fourth son in a family of seven children.  At the age of sixteen, after his confirmation, he followed the path of three elder brothers and emigrated to America, coming to the home of his father's brother, his uncle Martin Ueland, in Griggs County in 1903.

Here he attended public school and then was graduated from Aaker's Business College in 1907.  He first worked as a bookkeeper and stenographer for R. S. Lunde in Cooperstown and then became manager of the Shepard Farmers Elevator, south of town, where he stayed from 1910-1923.  He moved to Glenfield in 1923, where he owned and operated the Glenfield Grain Company until 1931, and then managed the Peavey Elevator and Lumber Yard until 1957.  Having also dealt in insurance all through his grain-buying days, he continued his own Glenfield Insurance Company until 1967.  He died in Carrington in January 1968.

He married a native Griggs County girl, Janna Vatne, daughter of Tommes and Bertha Watne Vatne, at her home southeast of Cooperstown, October 9, 1910.  There are four children:  

1. Ira, now of Minot

2. Bernice, Mrs. LeRoy Alfson, Binford

3. Doris, Mrs. James Bronaugh, Carrington

4. and Stella, Mrs. John Cooley, Anchorage, Alaska.  There are sixteen grandchildren.  Mrs. Sharpe died at Cooperstown in January 1961.

Always a man of vision and a civic leader, Andrew Sharpe was instrumental in establishing an early road that passed through Cooperstown and Glenfield as State Highway No. 7 (now 200) during the 1920's.  He helped organize the Tri-County Electric Company in 1937, serving as its president for six years and as director for 25.  He was a member of the House of Representatives in the State Legislature from 1939-1945.  He served on the Township board for sixteen years and the school board for fifteen.  He was a member of the American Lutheran Church, of the Masonic Order (master of the Cooperstown lodge in 1932), the Shrine, the Elks, and the Modern Woodmen of America.
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JORGEN SOMA FAMILY

Ole Jorgen Omundson Soma was born on October 28, 1853, in Stavanger locality near Sandness, Norway.  His mother and father were Omund and Agnethe Soma.

Jorgen left Norway in 1882 because he had read that there were good chances of getting land in America.

Mr. Soma looked for land south of Cooperstown where he took a homestead.  He erected a frame shanty where the Shepard Farmers' Elevator now stands.  His land is located in Range 159, Township 145.  He dug his barn four feet deep into the ground.  The dimensions were 24' x 40', and it proved to be very efficient.  The nearest town was Valley City, to which he made his trips on foot.

Cooperstown was then a village of a few dwelling places.  His neighbors were Elling Johnson, T. T. Fuglestad, Andrew Benson, Messrs. Montgomery, and Zimmerman.  All the machinery he had was one plow, one drag, and one wagon.  He also had some oxen.  For fuel he used cow dung and grass seed.  There were no schools or churches when he came to this locality.  In the winter he had to drive his oxen 11/2 miles every day to water them because there wasn't any water nearby.

In 1885 he married Gurina Froiland.  They had four children:  

Omund, Nettie, Jonas, and Oscar Jergen.

Omund was born October 10, 1885, and passed away July 1, 1971.  He married Kirsten Tangen, and they had two children:  

Howard and Irene (Mrs. Roy Simenson).  Irene and Roy have two boys, Jerry and Rodney.

Nettie was born August 17, 1890, and died September 6, 1968.  She had one child, Erle.

Jonas was born August 17, 1893, and passed away August 10, 1969.  He married Helga Otterson Flick on October 12, 1937.  Their children were Donovan, Mary Ellen, Judy, and Roger David.  Judy works at the First State Bank in Cooperstown.

Oscar Jergen was born October 27, 1896, and died July 25, 1956.  He married Tora Lauretsenn Larson on November 11, 1919.  Their children were Jeanette Gurina, who died when she was three days old, Joyce (Mrs. Lloyd Law), Leila, and Ovidia (Mrs. Lloyd Thompson).  Joyce and her husband farm in Steele County, Leila lives in Seattle, and Ovidia lives in Cooperstown with her children:  

Suzanne, Lisa, Gina, Laura, and Russell.

Mr. Jorgen Soma was married for a short time to Lena Lee.  In 1902 Gina Kydland came to America from Norway.  In November of 1903, she and Jorgen Soma were married.  She was born on January 14, 1877, and died on November 6, 1959.  Their children were:  

Lise, Torger, Gurina, Ingvald, Mildred, and Judy.

Lise married Carl Johnson and they have one son, Charles.  Lise and Carl live in Cooperstown.

Torger married Inga Njaa.  They had six children:  

Jergen, Georgine, Margaret, Kaarin, Karla, and David.  Torger was born February 6, 1906, and he was killed in an airplane crash on July 2, 1955.

Gurina married Carl Jordahl.  They have a daughter, Mary Ann (Mrs. Warren Waytossak).  Gurina and Carl live at Lidgerwood, North Dakota.

Ingvald is retired and lives in Cooperstown.

Mildred married Ray Campbell, and they live in Springfield, Oregon.  They have a son, Peter.

Judy married Ev Vermilyea, and they reside at Kenyon, Minnesota.  They have three children:  

Cheryl, Susan, and Bruce.
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JONAS VILLUMSON WATNE

Jonas Watne was born September 19, 1827, in Sandnes, Norway.  He was married March 18, 1857, in Sandnes, Norway, in the Höiland Church to Jorgine Larson Sandeid.  She was born September 26, 1834, in Sandeid, Norway.  To this union twelve children were born.

Jonas was a fisherman, and with his fishing fleet he visited many parts of the world.  He had a fish house in Karmoi where they smoked, salted, and dried the fish depending on the kind and season.  He also went on whaling trips.

During the Civil War, he and a brother were in the United States.  It was then he decided to some day immigrate to America.

The steamer they came on was an uncomfortable old cattle boat that had been converted to haul passengers.  They docked in Hull, England, and had to wait for one week for the ship that would take them to America.  Their voyage lasted for six weeks before docking at Newport News, Rhode Island.  From there they traveled by train to Dakota Territory, and they arrived in Cooperstown in 1887.  They spent their first year in a log cabin near the Sheyenne River where the tabernacle is now located.  The neighbors, many from the Sandnes and Stavanger area in Norway, made the family feel right at home.

Jonas homesteaded a quarter Section of land in Ball Hill Township, south of Cooperstown.  Several of the sons also proved up on a quarter Section of land.  Buildings were erected and trees were planted.  It was nothing elaborate, but comfortable and homelike.

Jonas became ill, and he passed away in 1900.  Son Cornelius took over the farming, and he and Grandma lived there until Cornelius was married in 1907.

The family of Jonas Watne who came together to America are as follows:  

1. two daughters, Maria and Jorgina (Gina)

2. and sons, Johan, Cornelius, George, Lars, and Carl.  Bertha, an older daughter, and her husband, Tonnes Vatne, came a few years earlier and settled in what is still referred to as "Vatne Dalen," the Vatne Valley, south and east of Cooperstown.  Jacob and Laura arrived the year before the folks, and Wilhelm and his wife, Ane Lima, had come here before that.  He became ill and died soon after the folks arrived.  His widow later married Andreas Vatne.

Laura married Swen Lima, Jacob married Anna Haugen, and Maria married Nicholai Boe.  Gina married C. P. Anderson, Johan married Maria Haaland, George married Cora Skanse

Lars married Sophia Helgeson, Carl married Judith Amelia Eastvold, and Cornelius married Lena Stokkeland Amundson on September 26, 1907.

Jorgina Watne passed away April 1, 1919, at the age of 85 years.

Cornelius and family left the homestead and bought the old Smith farm northeast of Cooperstown in 1913.  In the fall of 1915, he moved his family to the old Herbert Church farm near Binford.  They later moved southwest of Binford where they lived until 1932, when they bought the Paul Vangen farm on Lake Sibley, south of Binford where Stanley lives.

The Cornelius Watne family of eight children are:  

1. Lillian (Mrs. Willard Mergenthal), Hillsboro, North Dakota, Gladys Mar-tin, Cooperstown, North Dakota, Raymond, Chester, and Stanley at Binford, North Dakota, Vernie of Detroit, Michigan, Mable (Mrs. Earl Mergenthal), Hillsboro, North Dakota, Shirley (Mrs. Carrol Retzlaff), Cooperstown, and Bernard, who passed away October 24, 1917, at the age of four months.

Cornelius farmed until his illness became so acute the boys took over.  He passed away May 28, 1932.  Lena continued to live on the farm with son Stanley until she passed away on July 4, 1968.
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BARTLEY TOWNSHIP

History

In Volume A (page 250) of Commissioner's Proceedings there appears the following under date of November 19, 1888:  

Commissioner Nels Hemmingsen made the motion that Township 144-60 be organized as a CIVIL Township known as Bartley, and Commissioner DeForest Conant seconded the motion.  The commissioners ordered that a meeting be held to elect the officers at the Fortney Schoolhouse on December 8, 1888.  Since the Township petitioners had not suggested a name, it was County Commissioner Charles Mosely who suggested the name of Bartley for BARTLEY BROWN called by pioneer Erick Heyerdahl "the outlaw of the Township who never paid taxes.  - So Bartley was off to an illustrious start!

The Township clerk's minutes for March 26, 1889 report the following as first officers of the Township:  

Nicolai Swenson, chairman of the board of supervisors, Peter Margach and Andrew Fortney, supervisors, Isaac Isaacson (also known as Dobbedal), clerk, Peter C. Nelson, treasurer, Ole L. Fogderud, assessor, Andrew Hanson, and Richard H. Larson, constables, Donald Campbell, road overseer north half, Erick Heyerdahl, road overseer, south half, H. M. Hanson, justice of the peace.

On February 1, 1890 the board of supervisors met to select a list of 12 people qualified to serve as jurors at the term of circuit court to be held in Griggs County for the year 1890.  Those drawn were Andrew Fortney, Donald Campbell, Ole Fogderud, E. C. Evenson, Andrew Hanson, Rasmus Larson, Nicolai Swenson, P. C. Nelson, J. B. Armstrong, Erick Heyerdahl, Isaac Isaacson, and Andrew Sonju.

The cost of materials and labor were brought out in some of the minutes such as on March 25, 1890.  Nicolai Swenson, chairman of the board was instructed to buy and haul materials for a pound yard.  The material cost was $14.75 and on June 23, 1890 Halvor Mikkelson was paid $1.50 for erecting it.  In 1894 Knut Quisel and Halvor Mikkelson were paid $3.00 to move the pound yard to Section 26.

Prior to 1891 all Township meetings were held in the office of the Township clerk.  Beginning March 3, 1891 and for sometime after all annual meetings were held in the Fortney School.  In 1890 the board of supervisors was made up of Nicolai Swenson, Peter Margach and Andrew Fortney and they estimated the valuations of the Township at about $67,000 and felt a 3 mill levy would bring in enough revenue to cover expenses for a year's time.  Total revenue would be about $201.

In the year 1893 Bartley was divided into 4 road districts.  Knut Furaas was the overseer for the NE quarter, District No. 1, Richard Larson, the NW quarter, District No. 2, Rasmus Larson, SW quarter, District No. 3, and Knut Quisel, SE quarter, District No. 4.  Mention was made in some of the early minutes as to cost of labor and materials such as the year February 25, 1890.  Peter Margach and Nicolai Swenson were paid $2.25 each for 11/2 days labor which was performed in the fall of 1889.  On July 5, 1890 a road scraper was purchased for $9.50.  February 28, 1892, two scrapers were purchased from T. M. Roberts for a total of $11.00.  At the same time, Peter C. Nelson was paid $15.22 for 51/4 days of roadwork, which at this time was figured from $1.50 to $2.00 per day.

Andrew H. Sonju was Township clerk from March 1891 to March 1893.  Isaac Isaacson was then reelected, but resigned in December 1893 and Andrew Sonju was appointed to fill out that term and was elected each time thereafter to serve a total of 8 years.  Some of the past Township officers and their length of services are:  

1. John B. Armstrong, supervisor 44 years, Swen Swenson 28 years, Andrew Wahl 26 years.  Peter C. Nelson, Township treasurer for 36 years, Gustav C. Sonju, treasurer, 35 years, William Margach, clerk, 30 years, Marcus Palm clerk 16 years, Herbert Sonju, clerk, 17 years.

On August 12, 1899 the town board met to consider bids on the grade west of Walum between Sections 23 and 26.  The bids of Peter Mossing and George Gunderson were accepted at 7 ¾¢ per yard.  In the year 1900 on the 11th day of September a special meeting was called regarding the construction of a grade across the big slough between Sections 9 and 16.  The 400 feet on the east side was estimated at 673 yards and was let to the Hedlock Brothers for 6¾¢ per yard.  The 700 feet on the west side was estimated at 1009 yards and was let to Andrew Sonju for 7¼¢ per yard.  On July 27, 1910 a special meeting was held to let the contract for reconstruction of the grade across the Big Slough.  The contract was let to Albert Sletten and Anton Peterson at 23½¢ per yard, the grade to be finished by Oct 15, 1910.  In 1905 Nicolai Swenson, Donald Campbell and W. J. Sinclair made up a Drainage Commission for the Township and the drainage ditch crossing Sections 22 and 23 was built.

A Lutheran Church called the LYSTER (FORTNEY) CHURCH once stood on Section 12.  It was likely built in the late 1890's by the early settlers in the area.  They named it after their church in Norway and it stood on land owned by Andrew Fortney.  During a bad storm in 1935 it was picked up and set down in the middle of the road after which it was torn down.  Its only known pastor was N. NJUST.  The cemetery remains in Section 12.

Township officers in 1975 are:  

Russell Wahl, Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, Donald J. Larson and Charles Heyerdahl, supervisors, Walden Sonju, treasurer and Kenneth Lunn, clerk.
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SCHOOLS

Like all other things, this organization had its beginnings in a past more remote than we realize.  In 1873 the territorial legislature had divided all of the area into 27 counties.  To quote from THE HISTORY OF North Dakota by Elwyn Robinson:  

"As soon as the Dakota Territory was organized the legislature began to pass school laws.  It gradually gave the people a school system, a territorial superintendent of public instruction, county superintendents, a pattern of SCHOOL DISTRICTS and standards for the training and certification of teachers.”

In 1883 Dakota Territory passed a law declaring that Township and school district areas should coincide.  Many alterations took place before this was actually true.  More immediate to our purpose is an action taken May 18, 1895 by the county commissioners by which Bartley School District #12 was created from that portion of the original Helena Township embraced in Township 144-60.

Evidently pupils from what became the new District # 12 had been attending the Helena School for at a meeting held in Cooperstown June 22, 1895 a motion was passed that warrants issued to Ethel Warner for $70 for two months' wages in the White School be paid by the joint districts.  James G. White, Helena, Nicolai Swenson, Bartley, and Andrew Sinclair, County Superintendent were members of the committee.  They also made arrangements for the division of property as follows:  

All money now on hand and to hereafter come in from assessments already made to be equally divided and that Helena #3 pay warrant #110 for building and furniture for new school for which warrant has not been issued and that Bartley #12 pay warrant for removal and repair of schoolhouse on Section 8-144-60 and that Bartley keep the desk used by the treasurer and that Helena keep the desk used by the clerk.

Shortly thereafter Superintendent Andrew Sinclair sent to John B. Armstrong (probably because he was chairman of the Township Board of Bartley) the papers calling for the organization of Bartley School District # 12.  Those attending the organizational meeting were Peter C. Nelson, Isaac Dobbedahl, Ole Fogerud, Nicolai Swenson, Richard Larson, August Palm, Andrew Fortney, Donald Campbell, Rasmus Larson and John B. Armstrong.  Chosen as members of the first school board of Bartley were Rasmus Larson, president, August Palm, Isaac Dobbedahl, and John Armstrong, Clerk.  The first known school census sent to Superintendent Andrew Sinclair in December 1898 shows that 21 boys and 20 girls over six years of age and under 20 had legal residence in the area of Bartley.

Four schools were built to serve the district.  From the private diary of the school district clerk the following is taken:  

"On Monday, January 22, 1900 a special school meeting was held at Dobbedahls to locate a site in the SE Division of Bartley Township # 12.”  Bids were received for the construction of the building and at a February 22 school board meeting the contract was let for $412.  WOW!  This was located on the NW corner of the NE quarter of Section 26 and was likely called the Dobbedahl School as long as the Dobbedahls lived on the land.  Again a quote:  

"On Tuesday, April 10, 1900, a district meeting was held to locate ~ schoolhouse in the NE Division of Bartley.  A location in the center of Section 11 was selected.  Votes were Yea - 17, Nay - O. Records dating back to 1895 show that School Number 1 (Palm School) was in operation and was located in the center of Section 8 and School Number 2 (Swenson School) was also in operation and located in the center of Section 29.

On May 24, 1916 a tornado destroyed three of the four Bartley School Houses.  The Palm School was the only one not destroyed.  A special election was held June 22, 1916 for the purpose of determining the question of consolidating the schools destroyed by the tornado or rebuilding three separate structures.  Eight votes were cast for 3 separate schools and 16 for consolidation.  The site chosen for the new school was the south quarter line of Section 16.  Acting upon a petition signed by 25 legal voters a special election was held December 5, 1916 to determine the question of issuing bonds for $7500 for the purpose of purchasing a site and for the building and equipment of the school.  The question was carried by a majority of seven votes.

Russell Wahl, Kenneth Hanson, Mrs. Joe Gruman, Swen Swenson, Treasurer and Mrs. Herbert Sonju, clerk, served on the last Board of Education in Bartley Township.  The last teacher was Mrs. Glen Broten.  The school was closed in 1956 and the children then attended the school in Hannaford.  In 1963 a Bartley School Reunion was held at the school.
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Settlers

FRED ADAMS

Fred Adams was one of eleven children born to Ezra and Sophie Adams.  They lived in Illinois until 1906 when they moved to North Dakota and homesteaded southwest of Mandan.  They lived there for 13 years and moved to Valley City where they lived several years.  They started farming again and lived in Griggs and Barnes Counties until 1930 when they retired and moved to Valley City where they spent the rest of their lives.

Fred married Bernice Pederson in 1928 and farmed in Bartley Township until 1937 when they moved to the Tower City area.  They lived there until 1942.  That year they returned to Bartley Township where they purchased the Einar Hovi farm.  In 1946 a tornado destroyed their large barn and many other buildings, leaving the house and several small sheds with only minor damage.  Building material was scarce because of the war.  They were able to find a large barn south of Karnak, which they moved to the site of the original barn.  This building on wheels caused a lot of excitement as it inched its way through the streets of Hannaford.  Some trees along the streets had to be removed because of the wide building.  The other buildings were built as material became available.  Several years later another tornado passed near the farmstead doing considerable tree damage and minor damage to the roof on the present barn.  In 1973 Orville Ramsey purchased the farm from the Adams.  They still live on the farm.  Myron, their only child, lives at home and owns and operates a recreation center in Hannaford.
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J. B. ARMSTRONG

John B. Armstrong was born in a log cabin in the Township of Downe, County Perth, St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada, January 29, 1861.  When six years old he began school and had to learn English for Gaelic (spoken by the Highland Scotch) had been his language.  Often sixty pupils attended the one-room brick building.  At 15 he had completed the sixth reader.  (The fourth reader corresponded to the eighth grade.)

He was employed by an uncle William Armstrong on the home place until he was twenty-one.  Since exchange of labor was frequent these years, it included work on many neighboring farms.  Most of the days went into "man power" labor - sawing logs, splitting rails, chopping firewood "in the bush," plowing sod and "root" ground.  His diary mentions taking milk to the cheese factory, grist to the mill, ditching for drainage of the swamp acres, shearing sheep, roadwork and hoeing turnips and carrots.  Potatoes were SCUFFLED - thistles were SPUDDED.  Church was regularly attended.  But there were diversions such as singing school, parties in the homes, a literary club, traveling library and barn raising - some worthy of note because nobody was hurt.”

Uncle Adam Armstrong was in North Dakota Territory so John's plans turned to the United States.  Friends tried to dissuade him, but when their warnings did not deter him, he was provided with hand knit socks and underwear in quantities to last a lifetime in a "wild and threatening new land.”  April 3, 1885 found John Armstrong in Fargo.  There had been four feet of snow on the ground when he left Ontario.  Now no snow.  The mixed train went north from Sanborn only when there was a load.  He debarked at a place marked Hannaford.  Sitting on a corner of his trunk he was the total population, but looking at the waving grass he decided "it was good" and that he had come to a cattleman's paradise.  Uncle Adam arrived after he saw the smoke of the train on its way to the county seat Cooperstown.  For the first year he made his home with Uncle Adam.

In 1889 he filed Declaration of Intention to become a citizen, took out an option on a quarter of land in Bartley Township and with a team of oxen borrowed from Jim Campbell (a brother-in-law to be) he broke twenty acres of land, the average amount that a homesteader could break the first year.  In order to show establishment of residence he put up a twelve by sixteen foot shanty, but shortly a terrific blizzard made firewood of it.

In 1890 Mr. Armstrong bought his first machinery - a binder, a plow and a harrow.  He put in 12 acres of flax, which yielded fourteen bushels to the acre.  This year, too, saw his citizenship papers granted, and the purchase of another quarter of land.

Five years passed in the proving up on the claim.  A deed to the property was issued by the Department of the Interior and signed by President William McKinley.

On November 14, 1894 he was married to Anne Campbell of Wellington County, Ontario.  She had come to Dakota Territory at the age of sixteen to keep house for her brother Donald Campbell.  O. D. Purington, Clerk of Court and a Baptist minister, was to marry the couple but he forgot he had a court session at the same hour.  Less than an hour before the ceremony, he secured the Methodist minister to perform the ceremony.  Six children were born to Mr. and Mrs. J. B. Armstrong.  The oldest son, Mervin, died in the Argonne Forest offensive of World War I on July 22, 1918.  He is buried in Arlington National Cemetery.  The American Legion Post of Hannaford was named in his honor since he was the first boy of the community to die in WW I.  The youngest in the family, Morris Campbell Armstrong, died in the fall of 1920.  The mother's death occurred in 1934.  Of the four daughters, two survive in 1975.  Erma, (Mrs. H. L. Taylor) retired teacher and widow of a Presbyterian minister, Mandan, and Thelma Armstrong, Director of Social Services in Morton County, Mandan, North Dakota Mary Armstrong, Assistant Director in the Morton County Office died March 1974.  The youngest daughter, Donelda, Mrs. Oscar Palm, mother of 2 sons and a daughter, died in Tacoma, Washington, October 1964.

The story of many pioneer heads of families is not restricted to their own personal interests.  John Armstrong served on the Township Board for over 40 years, was elected as the first clerk of the Bartley School District and served for many years.  He was a County Commissioner for one term.  When the Presbyterian Church was organized in 1900 he was chosen as one of the trustees and served as an elder.  His name appears on the boards of the Farmers Elevator of Hannaford, the Creamery Company, Telephone Company and the Griggs County Fair Association.  Among his personal priorities were books, trees, Shorthorn cattle, Clydesdale horses, and education of his family.  His personal philosophy was, "Let each man do the best that he can with what he has in his own time and place
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JAMES BEATTIE

James Beattie was born in St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada on June 25, 1875.  He passed away March 15, 1943.

In that dry year of 1900 he came to North Dakota and was so unhappy with the looks of the state that he longed to go back but when he did for a visit, he realized how much North Dakota meant to him.  No matter what she later handed out, he was her staunchest supporter.  He worked for his half brother, John Armstrong and for Donald Campbell before renting land from Albert Retzlaff, later the Alfred Retzlaff home.

In 1905 he was united in marriage to Anna Furaas.  That was the year of the "big snow.”  The day before was a blizzard so when they got to Hannaford, they found that the train couldn't get through.  They drove on the railroad track to Cooperstown all the time fearing that the train might have gotten through after all.  O. B. Westley and his wife, Karen Herigstad, had taught in Bartley and invited them to be married at their home.  This also made the day special!  Many gifts sent from Viroqua, Wisconsin, Mrs. Beattie's hometown, including a sewing machine sent by her father, J. K. Furos, got only as far as Valley City.  They arrived in Cooperstown the next spring.  The year of the "big snow" indeed!  In 1910 they returned to the Hannaford area moving to the Knute Furaas farm, a brother of Mrs. Beattie.

In 1914 he bought the Donald Campbell farm.  Thus began a series of dire calamities, one of which was the cyclone of 1916.  Nearly every building but the house was destroyed.  That had burned the fall before and a new one was just completed.  The Campbell school was completely destroyed - books all over the field.  How grateful the parents were that the storm came early in the morning!

In 1942 James and his sons bought the Ole Fogderud farm.  Arthur is still on the farm.  He and his brother farm land together, but Wallace lives in Helena Township.

Arthur married Joyce Klubben.  They together with their son, Curt, carry on in Bartley for the family.  Lillian and Florence also live in Helena Township, Kenneth passed away in 1968, Belle lives at Dazey and Adeline at Binford.

Mrs. Beattie died very suddenly June 29, 1952.
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CARL J. BERG

Carl Johnson Berg and Maria Katherina Larson came from Hova, Sweden, west of Stockholm.  Carl came to Buxton, North Dakota in 1881.  After a few months he settled on a farmstead eight and a half miles west of

Hannaford, North Dakota.  Maria came to Chicago, Illinois in 1884 and on May 25 of the same year she married Carl Berg.

Ten children grew up in the Berg family:  

Ella, Mrs. Fred Wallbridge, of Grace City, North Dakota

Emma, Mrs. Roy Culp, Spokane, Washington

Elenora, Mrs. Albert Rickford, Spokane, Washington

Hannah of Hannaford, later of Grafton, North Dakota

Carl Artur farmed by Juanita, North Dakota, and later moved to Spokane, Washington

Ida, Mrs. Ingvald Aarestad, Northwood, North Dakota

Josephine, Mrs. Robert Johnson of Spokane, Washington

Hjalmer farmed west of Hannaford, North Dakota and moved to Spokane, Washington

Clifton farmed the home place west of Hannaford, North Dakota and moved to Spokane, Washington

Henning lived at Revere, North Dakota and later moved to Portland, Oregon.

Mrs. Ingvald Aarestad and Mrs. Robert Johnson are the only living members of the family of ten brothers and sisters.  Carl Berg, Sr. passed away at Hannaford, North Dakota July in 1936.  Maria Berg moved to Spokane, Washington where she passed away in January 1956.
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JAMES BOTHWELL

James Bothwell was born in eastern Canada in 1850.  He migrated to an area south of Binford in 1884.  Around 1900 he moved his family to Bartley Township.  There he built a home and lived until 1930 when he passed away.  He was always aware of the hospitable ways of the pioneer and no beggar ever failed to find food and shelter at his home.

His wife passed away 15 years earlier and a son Andrew died in 1927.  His two other children, W. W. Bothwell and Mrs. Downe remained and lived at the home until Mrs. Downe moved to Cooperstown and Bill to Walum.  Later he and his family moved to the Tacoma area.  He passed away in 1941 leaving his wife Lillian, a daughter Joyce and a son Wayne.  During the time of his illness he had to give up most activities, but he took up knitting and became well-known throughout the northwest for his work.
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OLE G. BROTEN

Ole G. Broten, a brother of John Broten, was born at Krager, Norway on November 16, 1875, the son of Gunvold Broten, an ice shipper.  He came to the United States at the age of 24 and later to Griggs County to make his home on a farm near Walum.

In 1914 he married Ingeborg Norderhaug Brekke who had two daughters, Hilda and Inga.  Three sons were born to them, Garfield, Olaf and Vernon.

Garfield married Clarice Lunn of Hannaford in 1941.  They farmed near Hannaford and then moved to a farm 3 miles west of Dazey where they farmed until he retired due to ill health and moved to Valley City, where Mrs. Broten now resides.  They had one son, Lyle, who is married and living at Fargo.

Olaf married Helen Knuass, December 15, 1940.  They moved on a farm 3 miles west and 1/2 mile south of Dazey, which they later purchased and where they still live.  Their children are:  

1. Linda (Mrs. Vernon Schuler), Valley City, Louise (Mrs. Paul Henderson), Tower City, James, Grand Forks, and Judith Ann at home.

VERNON married Grace Kolberg, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Conrad Kolberg, October 7, 1941.  They farmed on his father's farm for a number of years, and then moved to Hannaford where they operated the Cafe in part of the Sinclair Building for a few years.  Vernon then became manager of the Hannaford Municipal Store, later moving to Fargo where they now live.  Their children are:  

1. Larry, married and living in Chicago, Robert, married and living in Chicago, John, married and living in Fargo, Jennifer (Mrs. James Link), Minot, and Susan (Mrs. Steven P. Detwiller) whose husband is in service.

Ole G. Broten died on December 3 at his home, one mile west and one mile north of Walum, at the age of 50 years and 17 days.  Mrs. Broten continued to live on the farm until the boys were grown.  She put in many long hours of work to operate the farm until her boys were old enough to farm.

Mrs. Ole (Inga) Broten lived on the farm until the early 40's when she purchased a house in Hannaford just east of the W. D. Sinclair residence.  She lived here until the late 60's when she moved to Fargo to live with her son, Vernon, because of ill health.  She died in July of 1971.

Garfield was in ill health a number of years and died in January of 1972.

Olaf recalls the many trips made on a bus by team to the Bartley School.  It was a long way from their home and they started early and got home late and their feet were often very cold by the end of the trip.  Lunches had to be carried every day.  He recalls, too, that when they went to high school in Hannaford, the room they rented wasn't heated and their soup would be frozen when they wanted to prepare it for a meal.
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DONALD CAMPBELL

Donald Campbell was born in Huron County, Ontario, Canada on September 9, 1865.  His father, Colin Campbell, was a member of the clan of Campbells whose chief was the Duke of Argyl, the largest landowner in Scotland.

In 1885 Donald took up his residence in Griggs County.  He farmed 1000 acres in Bartley Township, two and one half miles from Hannaford, North Dakota and raised and imported pure-bred Clydesdale and Percheron horses.  His residence and barns were considered one of the finest in the state.

In 1905 Mr. Campbell sold his threshing outfit to J. B. Armstrong, Ole Fogderud, Andrew Fortney, and August Palm.  He had been in the threshing business for twenty years.

Donald Campbell was President of the Citizens State Bank of Hannaford, which he helped organize.  He also held several Township offices.

He was married twice.  His first wife was Miss Jennie Peterson who he married in 1896 at Hannaford.  She passed away and in 1904 he married Miss Seva Kins of Buffalo County, Wisconsin.  Two children were born to each union - Gordon and Norman to the first and Douglas and Annie to the second.  The family attended the Presbyterian Church at Hannaford.

In the fall of 1914 Mr. Campbell sold his property in Griggs County.  The sale was a large one - even the train stopped near his buildings to bring people from all over.

Then he moved back to his old home in Ontario, Canada.  Yet so vivid was his personality and so great the influence he had upon the current affairs during his residence here that when word was received that he had died, it seemed to all of us who knew him that we had lost a dear personal friend.  He had lived in Griggs County for thirty years and the work he accomplished will be felt for years to come.  He was President of the North Dakota Livestock Association and his work on the County and State Fair Boards exerted an influence on the development of all kinds of pure-bred stock in the state.

He passed away at Mitchell, Ontario on March 24, 1927 of heart trouble.
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ALVIN DAHL

Alvin Dahl, son of Mr. and Mrs. John G. Dahl, was born June 17, 1927.  Ruth Arlene Haugen was born July 17, 1933.  They were united in marriage September 7, 1952.  Their five children are:  

1. Alton, who farms in Bartley Township with his Dad, Darlene, a student at North Dakota State University at Fargo, Linda, a student at Wahpeton School of Science and Ardis, Wayne and Steven who are students in the Hannaford School.
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ISAAC DOBBEDAL

Isaac Dobbedal was one of the early homesteaders in Bartley Township.  Julia Malmin came to teach.  They both took claims.  Mr. Dobbedal's deed was signed by Grover Cleveland.  The Dobbedal School was later built on land donated by Mrs. Dobbedal.

When this couple decided to marry they returned to Minnesota to wed, then returned to their homestead where they had built a shack.  Mr. Dobbedal's land was excellent for grain farming and hers made ideal pastureland - a fine combination for a farm.  When the drought conditions became too severe they went back to Minnesota to help Grandpa Malmin.  Mr. Dobbedal drove with horses and wagon while the rest of the family came by train.  Grandma and Grandpa's house seemed like a mansion compared with their home on the prairie.

After a few years they returned to North Dakota.  In those days any mention of pregnancy was taboo so it was a big surprise to return from school and find a midwife and a new baby brother.  Justin and his friend, Marcus Thoreson, were so excited about the baby.  They wanted to show Mrs. Thoreson, so Annie (hired girl) gave them permission to take the baby to the Thoresons.  No doubt, Mrs. Thoreson returned the baby herself!

Soon a little Indian pony was purchased for $15 and a buggy too, in order that the children could ride to school.  They went to the Swenson School, which was a long drive in cold weather.  After the weather became too severe, Mrs. Dobbedal taught the children.  Soon they summoned all the neighbors to their home in order to get a school closer to home.  This was accomplished and it became the Dobbedal School.

O. B. Westley was their teacher and gave her guitar lessons when she was unable to go to school.  This Mr. Westley owned some land in Minnesota and he took Mr. Dobbedal to see the land, driving the 150 miles with horses and buggy.  They had no trouble finding lodging when people learned that Mr. Westley could play the violin he had along.  Mr. Dobbedal bought 160 acres before starting home.

Karen Herigstad also taught their school and was really loved by the Dobbedal family.  She later married O. B. Westley.

The information for this account was given by Arla Getty of Albuquerque, New Mexico.  She was the fourth child born to the Dobbedals.  She remembers their neighbors:  

Reverend Thoreson, Peter Nelson, Andrew Fortney, Knute Furos, Pete and Gunder Gunderson, Carl Berge, Pete Kins, Faukales, Andrew and Ole Fogderud, Arne Hovelands and Andrew and Charlie Nelsons.
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ED EVANSON

Ed Evanson came from Wisconsin and was one of the early homesteaders in Bartley Township.  He married Emma Stee and to this union four children were born, Rose, Manly, Mary and Lillian.  They moved away in 1926 or 27.  Rose was Mrs. Sletten and passed away many years ago.

MELVIN EVANSON, a brother of Ed's lived just one half mile south of Ed's.  He married Mollie Warberg.  Three children were born, Leonard, Bernice and Carlyle.
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ANDREW FORTNEY

Andrew Fortney was born at Forthun, Sogn, Norway in 1852.  At 19 he emigrated to America with his sister and brother-in-law, Mr. and Mrs. Jens Furaas.  They bought a farm in Wisconsin but in 1876 Andrew moved to Portland in the Goose River district and then in 1877 came to Bartley Township where he homesteaded.

Andrew married Susanne Bringe December 15, 1882 who passed away in 1918 during the "flu" epidemic.

He took an active part in Bartley Township being one of its first supervisors.  We found recorded a note to the effect that Nicolai Swenson, Peter Margach and Andrew Fortney estimated the value of the Township at $67,000 at a 3-mill levy would bring in $201 - enough to run the Township for a year.  Mr. Fortney was instrumental in building the LYSTER CHURCH, which stood on his land until blown away during a storm.

He moved into Hannaford in 1918 and resided there until his death August 28, 1928.  The only way to tell that Mr. Fortney was laughing was by seeing his shoulders shake.  One day he gave me a ride to a school party.  I was four, I think.  I thought I must thank him in Norwegian so I did my best but when I looked back his shoulders were shaking.  It turned out I had thanked him for the kiss instead of the ride.
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CHRIS FURAAS

Chris Furaas came to Bartley Township, perhaps being urged by his Uncle Andrew Fortney.  He worked for him and bought a quarter of land, building a home there.

In 1898 he married Hattie Kins from Modina, Wisconsin at the home of Reverend N. Njust.  Mrs. Njust had prepared a lovely dinner for them while they were in Cooperstown getting their license.  They lived in Bartley Township until 1931 when they moved into Hannaford.

Six children were born - the three still living are:  

1. Forrest, Anaconda, Montana

2. Philip, Harvey

3. and Jennie Williams of Jamestown, North Dakota Mrs. Furaas passed away in 1954 and Mr. Furaas in 1964.

As Mrs. Furaas' sisters came, they stayed with her until they found work.  They were Seva and Emma Kins and Mary Hovland and family.  The Hovlands established a home at once, Seva became Mrs. Donald Campbell and Emma married Mr. Wangansteen of Lake Park, Minnesota.

Mr. and Mrs. Furaas celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary in Hannaford.

Mr. and Mrs. Chris Furaas
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KNUTE FUROS

Knute Furos, a native of Norway, homesteaded in Bartley Township in 1892.  The farm was sold in 1916 and is now owned by Donald Larson.

In 1900 he moved into Hannaford where he and Strandness operated a store.  In 1903 they bought a business in Finley and were pioneer merchants there for many years.

The home he built on the farm was in use until 1969 when the Larsons built their new home.  He continued his threshing operations for many years after living in Finley.  It is recorded that he threshed for Christ Sonju for 25 years.

It seemed he always owned a car and it was in his automobile I first recall a car ride.
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ANTON GILBERTSON

Mr. and Mrs. Anton Gilbertson farmed the Ole Fogderud farm.  They had four children, Raymond, Myrtle, Cora and Dorothy.

Myrtle married Oscar Sonju who died in 1923.  Later she married Reverend Glen Ballard.  Cora married Frank Barber - she later passed away.  Dorothy married LeRoy Wohrem and still lives in Wahpeton.  Later Mr. and Mrs. Gilbertson moved into Hannaford.  There Raymond and Mr. Gilbertson died.  Mrs. Gilbertson later moved to Wahpeton to be near her daughter.
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VELLECK HANSON

The Velleck and Anne Marie Hanson family were early settlers in Bartley Township.  They emigrated to the United States from Norway in 1867 to St. Croix County, Wisconsin in Rush River Township with three children.  They lived in Wisconsin a few years, later moving to Minnesota.  In 1883 they came to Dakota territory settling in Bartley Township on the NW quarter of Section 30.  They had a family of six sons and a daughter.  Five sons came with them to Dakota.  They resided on this farm until about 1908 when they sold the farm and moved to Iowa to live with a son.

Mr. Hanson died there in 1910 and she came back to North Dakota to live at the home of another son, Christ Hanson, until her death in 1916.  They were charter members of the Eidfjord Congregation and she of the Ladies Aid.  They are buried at a country church cemetery near Waukon, Iowa.

CHRIST HANSON was the only son to make his home in this territory, Dover Township and live there until his death May 31, 1931.  He married Carrie (Kari) Legried January 6, 1895.  She had come to the United States in 1881 from Hardanger, Norway with her parents Odmund and Martha Legried and three brothers.  They had settled in Deerfield, Wisconsin.  Christ and Carrie were married at a Dover School house used for church services, as there was no church built at that time.  Reverend P. A. Thoreson was the minister.  January 5, 1899 Christ purchased government land in Dover Township, NE quarter of Section 26-144-61.  Here they continued to live until their passing except for 4 ½ years when they operated a hotel at Maddock, North Dakota Carrie died March 22, 1952.

Nine children were born to them:  

Mabel Mathilda died at 5 years and Mable Marion at 4 years.  Almer, 1895-1974, married Mable Renwick and lived at Missoula, Montana.  Their children are:  

1. Kathryn (Mrs. Clifford Traxler), Ohio, Maynard E. , Butte, Montana and James C. , Pocatello, Idaho.  Marvin born in 1902 married Lillian Knapp and they live at Everett, Washington.  Their six children are:  

2. Marion (Mrs. Wayne Cross), Lorrain (Mrs. Ken Otis), Dorothy (Mrs. Don Watson), Vernon, deceased, Carolyn (Mrs. Gene Reynolds), and Marline.  Melvin, 1904-1968, married Emma Kicker and lived at Sycamore, Illinois.  They owned and operated a Coast-to-Coast Store for 17 years and have two sons, Richard and David.  Harold born in 1911 married Gladys Forster and lives at Kalispell, Montana.  They have three children, Judy (Mrs. Larry Brooten), Roger and Harland.  Markus, 1916-1961, was married to Mrs. Helen Crites who had three children, Georgie Ann (Mrs. Jerry Haugen), Kay (Mrs. Hedges), and Gladys (Mrs. Allen Turnquist).

JOHN HANSON born in 1906 married Josephine Ahart and they reside on the home farm where John was born.  They have two children, Robert, who farms in Dover Township, and Sheryl (Mrs. Robert Treitline), Bloomington, Indiana.

KENNETH HANSON and his family moved to the farm formerly owned by Richard Larson, E1/2 of Section 17 and NW quarter of Section 8 in Bartley Township in October 1948.  Kenneth was born in 1899 while the family lived at Maddock.  He married Neva Quick of Dazey, North Dakota, the daughter of William and Dora Brox Quick, early settlers in Barnes County, in 1925.  They had four children:  

Lorna (Mrs. Thor Auren) and Marilyn (Mrs. D. D. Clark) both of Cooperstown, Queva (Mrs. Charles Morrow), Springfield, Virginia, and Kenneth at the farm home.  The family lived near Dazey and a few years on a farm near Cooperstown before moving to the present farm.  They farmed and had dairy cattle all the years and for a time had a milk processing plant on the farm.  Kenneth died of leukemia in 1963.  Kenneth rented the farm and lived there with his mother.

In 1964 Kenneth married Carolyn Messer, a neighbor girl.  They have three children, Kristen, Kent and Kenley.  They are continuing the dairy operation, but sell Grade A milk to Cass-Clay Creamery.  They have over a hundred registered Guernsey cattle and also registered Shorthorns.  They are assisted on the farm by Jeff Morrow, a nephew, during the summer and when he is home from North Dakota State University.  Neva Hanson moved to Hannaford in the fall of 1974.
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ERICK HEYERDAHL

Erick Heyerdahl was born January 1, 1859 in Pierce County, Wisconsin.  His parents were Christopher and Margaret Heyerdahl and were both born in Norway.  When Erick was old enough to work he helped his father on the farm and worked in the woods in the winter.

In the spring of 1882 Erick Heyerdahl came by train to Dakota to seek a homestead.  There was prairie all around except here and there a shanty.  April 16, 1882 Erick filed on Section 30-144-60 and broke thirty acres of land.  In the fall of 1882 he built a claim shanty 14 feet by 16 feet and rented out his farm until 1888.

Erick Heyerdahl worked for Charlie Mosley in Helena Township for five years and in the fall of each year went back to Wisconsin to work in the woods.  The first few years Mr. Heyerdahl hauled wood for Mr. Mosley from the Sheyenne River twenty miles from his farm.  He left in the morning at three o'clock with horses and sleigh and got back in the evening around nine o'clock.

Erick Heyerdahl was married in Valley City in 1887 to Madle Warberg.  They came to Griggs County and started farming.  Mr. Heyerdahl bought his first machinery in 1888, which consisted of a binder, plow, wagon, and drag.  He got nothing out of his crop this year as all the crops around were frozen.

Five children were born to Mr. and Mrs. Heyerdahl and all were born in Griggs County.  They were Melvin, Gilbert, Carl, Elmer and Myrtle.  Elmer passed away when 3 years old.  The other boys farmed in the area.  Carl farmed the home place until he left the farm to be mail carrier out of Hannaford.  Charles and Earl farm the home place now, making the third generation there.

Mr. and Mrs. Heyerdahl farmed for many years there going through the usual hardships of the early days.  Their home burned in 1889 and a new home was built in 1900, same year as the first Eidfjord Church was built and that year they had no crop as it dried up.  They bought a home in Valley City so as to be close to school.  For many years the schools were open only a few months during the summer.  I can remember them making trips to Valley City with a horse and buggy.  Also them telling of trips they made to Maddock, North Dakota where they had relatives.  Mrs. Heyerdahl came from Norway with her mother, brothers and sisters.  She was 17 years when they came here and went directly to Fergus Falls, Minnesota She came to North Dakota to visit a sister, Mrs. Christ Sabby, who had come here earlier.  She got a job at the Charles Mosley home where Mr. Heyerdahl was employed at the time.  They lived in Griggs County most of their lives and celebrated their 60th anniversary in 1947.

Their son Melvin married Gertrude Nelson and farmed in Barnes County.  Gilbert married Agnes Halvorson.  They farmed for a few years and then moved to Minneapolis where he was a carpenter.  Their daughters Alpha and Elizabeth both live in Minneapolis.  Agnes lives in River Falls, Wisconsin.  Myrtle married Omer Michaelson.

CARL, born on the farm, January 18, 1897 lived at home and went to University of North Dakota for two years.  He spent one year in the Navy being stationed at Great Lakes Naval Training Center.  On April 1, 1919 Carl and Anna Sad, whose parents homesteaded in Dover Township, were married at Moorhead, Minnesota and farmed the home place.  There were seven children born of this marriage:  

Eleanor (Mrs. George Jordan), Fargo, Earl, Hannaford, Charles, Hannaford, Margaret (Mrs. Lee Agnew), Bismarck, Eric who passed away in 1945, Dorothy (Mrs. Al Lommen), Valley City, and Barbara Mahlke of Wimbledon.

Carl ran a grocery store in Walum from about 19261939 and then was a rural mail carrier at Hannaford until he retired.  Carl passed away May 26, 1968 and his wife, Anna, August 24, 1971.

CHARLES, Carl's son, was born February 22, 1925 on his Grandfather's Homestead in Bartley Township.  On December 31, 1948 he married Martha Lunde at Williston, North Dakota There were four children born of this marriage:  

Linda (Mrs. Douglas Dahl, Jr.), Melrose, Minnesota, Pamela, Fargo, Eric in the United States Air Force, Beale AFB, California, and Gary at home and a student at North Dakota State University at Fargo.

EARL and Charles farm together on the land their grandfather homesteaded.  Martha and Charles reside on the farm in Bartley Township and Earl resides in Hannaford.  Earl and Charles remember spending their summer vacations in the 1930's on the farm with no electricity, cars or tractors.  Their grandfather, Erick, who had not mastered motorized transportation, had the most beautiful team of ponies, Bud and Freckles, which were the most reliable transportation a person could hope for.
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JOSEPH HOGGARTH

Joseph Hoggarth was born in Hibbert Township, Perth County, Ontario on May 21, 1853, the third child of John Hoggarth and Sarah Garnett.  His parents, grandparents (Joseph Hoggarth and Agnes Bailiff), and four uncles sailed from Westmorland, England to Canada about 1849, living for a time in Cavan Township, Ontario (near Peterborough) before moving to Hibbert in 1851.  They were the first settlers on Lot 23, Concession X.  The father and grandfather were stone cutters and stone masons by trade, one uncle had been a printer in England and another had been a gentleman servant to Lord Derby, but in Canada they farmed and made potash on their farms.  When Joe was 11 his father died of smallpox, leaving the widow pregnant with her eighth child.  Joe worked on the farm of one of his uncles for a time and later in a wagon shop doing carpenter work.  The shop burned down once, but with help from neighbors he soon built it up again.  In 1878 he married Hannah Francis, the daughter of Scotch-born Jane Campbell and English-born James Francis.  Some time after 1881 they moved with one or two of their children to the Red River Valley, finally settling in Cooperstown about 1885, where four of their children were born.  He farmed as well as worked as a carpenter and wheelwright.  In about 1900 the family moved to the farm in Bartley Township.

Many of their relatives settled in this same area.  Hannah's brother, Jack Francis, and her first cousin, Alex Campbell farmed in Helena Township.  Her sister, Margaret Sinclair lived in Ball Hill Township.  Her first cousins, Donald, James, John, and Margaret Campbell, and Mrs. J. B. Armstrong all owned farms in Bartley Township.  Joe's first cousins "Big Joe" Hoggarth (whose second wife was a half-sister of Hannah) and Sarah Ann (Mrs. Dan) Clancy settled near Wimbledon and Glenfield.  Joseph Hoggarth was sometimes called "Long Joe" or "Wooden Joe" to distinguish him from "Big Joe, " who certainly was.

The children born to Hannah Francis and Joseph Hoggarth were:  

1. Sarah Jane, who died at 3 and may have been the oldest or second oldest child.  

2. James Franklin, born in 1881

3. John Milton, born in 1885

4. Amy Ruthella, born in 1887

5. Florence Josephine, born in 1889

6. Ernest LeRoy, born in 1892.

Frank married Theresa Nelson in 1906 and moved to Minneapolis where he was a carpenter for many years.  They had four children:  

Cora, 

Jean, 

James Franklin, Jr. (Buddy), and 

Willis K. Tress died in 1951 and Frank in 1954.

Milt was married twice - first to Delia Coombs and sometime after her death he married Ethel Dempsey.  He and Delia lived in Minneapolis for a while and then moved to Chicago where he worked for a cereal company.  He had no children with either wife.  He died in 1955.

Amy was married to Charles McEachern and lived in Minneapolis.  They had three children:  

Randall Joseph, Sara Floraine, and Anna Francis.  Charlie died in 1949 and Amy in 1958.

Florence married Melvin Sonju and moved to their farm home about a mile from her parents', where she lived all her married life.  They had two children:  

Lawrence, who has recently retired for health reasons from the Seattle School System as an electrician, and Dorothea, who lives in Seattle and is a Certified Public Accountant.  Lawrence and his wife, Daisy, have one son, Doug who teaches music and lives in Armstrong, B. C. Florence died in 1948.  Melvin remained alone on the farm until 1971 when he moved to an apartment in town.  In 1972 after hospitalization he was transferred to the nursing home at Cooperstown where he died in 1972.

Ernie, who is still remembered by the ladies, married Elizabeth "Dolly" Jerdeau of McCluskey, North Dakota Their four children were:  

John, Joseph, Alice and Murray.  John and Joe were born in Hannaford before the family moved to Yakima, Washington to become pioneers in that area.  Ernie was a carpenter, working on the Grand Coulee Dam in the 30's and also had a fruit farm until the doctor diagnosed his diabetes as fruit poisoning and told him to get away from the fruit.  Dolly was a practical nurse.  Ernie died of a heart attack in 1967 and Dolly of cancer in 1973.  John retired from the army and then went back to college at 50 to obtain his degree to teach industrial arts.  Joe has his own construction business.

Joseph Hoggarth died on July 22, 1914.  Hannah in August 1916.  He was the type of man who took the time to tell the neighbor girls ghost stories, played the violin, and had a sense of humor, writing on the back of a picture of his house, "and this is the house that Joe built.”  He built the large -L- shaped barn for the J. B. ARMSTRONGS and also built furniture.  The story is told about his ordering a steak, rare, in a restaurant.  When the steak was served, it was still dripping blood and he told the waiter, "take that back and rare on it again.”
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EINAR HOVI

Einar Hovi came to America in 1902 from Norway and worked around Audubon, Minnesota Later in North Dakota he worked for Arndt Njaa and others for several years.  From 1912 to 1917 Einar Hovi and JOHN LOBERG rented the E1/2 of Section 1, Bartley Township and S1/2 of Section 36 of Bald Hill Township.

Einar went to Norway in 1911, visited his parents, and met his future wife, Hilda.  She was sent for and arrived in October 1916.  They were married at the farm, which Einar had now purchased.  They lived there until 1942 when they moved to Fargo, North Dakota.  Their children, Tina and Eilif went to school in Hannaford.  Every day we were taken by horse and buggy or sleigh the 21/2 miles to school and picked up, until cars were more in use.  County roads were not ploughed in the winter, so we would cut across fields in a special coup (enclosed) on runners that Dad had built.

One Christmas there was a blizzard and we were looking and hoping for a special package.  Our mailman, HARRY RICHARDSON, with a similar coup and horses had made the complete route and it was dark.  Mother put a GAS lamp in the window and Dad walked to the mailbox to check for the fourth time to see if the mailman had gone.  He had, and our packages were there!

Dad prided himself on having one of the nicest landscaped farms in the county.  He was also very proud of plowing with six horses the straightest furrows in the country.

Mother worked hard raising chickens and turkeys, churning butter to sell and eat.  The products also helped buy clothes and food and sent us to school.  We had a gas driven engine in the basement that hooked up to our washing machine, butter churn and also meat grinder at the time of butchering.  Butchering involved days of work - cutting beef and pork into roasts, stew, grinding - much was canned and processed in the oven for hours.  Hams, bacon, dried beef were taken to town to the butcher shop to be smoked.  What wasn't canned, smoked, eaten, or brought to the minister, was kept in containers outside frozen in the winter, as there were no freezers and refrigerators.
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CHRIS JENSEN

In Viborg, South Dakota the fathers of Chris Jensen and Praven Christianson with some extra cash on hand decided their sons might like to buy land in North Dakota.  After looking over the situation they bought the Knute Furos farm in 1916.

Praven later went back to farm his father's home place, but Chris remained here until he died.

Chris married Martha Herried in 1917.  To this union two girls were born, Marian, (Mrs. Del Mesgades) of Minneapolis and Lois, (Mrs. Ron Neave) of Minot.  After farming and threshing for years, Chris retired in 1952, bought a home in Hannaford and lived there until he passed away.

For several years he was bedridden, but was well cared for by his good wife, Martha.  Martha as a very young girl in Eidfjord, Hardanger, Norway received a ticket to come to America from her uncle Richard Larson.  She must have been both elated and frightened at the thought of going so far away where the language was different and most of the people strange.  Many a young emigrant experienced those feelings.  Martha still lives in her home in Hannaford.
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RASMUS LARSON

Rasmus Larson and wife Karen were early settlers of Bartley.  Their patent was dated April 1, 1892.  They sold their land to A. H. Wije of Moorhead, Minnesota, in 1902.

Their children were Lillie, Minnie, Ermie, Carrie, Julius and Ellen.  Ermie, Mrs. Christopherson died in 1961.  Minnie is Mrs. Homer Carroll and lives in Minnesota.  Carrie, Mrs. Van Scoick passed away many years ago.
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RICHARD LARSON

Richard H. Larson was born at Legreid, Eidfjord, Norway on December 11, 1852.  He came to this country at the age of 15 years and made his home at Baldwin, Wisconsin where he lived until he came to North Dakota in 1882.  He was a pioneer settler having homesteaded in Bartley Township.

In 1895 he was married to Mary Michaelson.  To this union six children were born.  One son Ludwig and one daughter Myrtle preceded him in death.  In 1908 his wife passed away leaving him with five children.  In 1917 he was married to Inga Wahl who died in 1931.

Richard Larson developed and built a farm in Bartley Township on which the family lived until 1919 when he retired from farming and moved into Hannaford.  During his long residence in Bartley Township, Mr. Larson became an outstanding character in the community and had many offices.  He was for many years a member of the town board and also of the school board.  He was along organizing the Eidfjord congregation.  He had a stroke and never fully recovered from that and died in June 1931.

Ludwig Larson married Amanda Swingen in 1917 and died in 1918 while in the service of WW I.  A daughter Lucille was born three months after his death.

Minnie Larson married Andrew Wahl and they lived in Bartley Township.  They had one son Russell.

Walter Larson married Mamie Jorstad from Manfred, North Dakota and they lived on the home place until moving to Harvey, North Dakota in 1928.

Hazel Larson taught school in the area and then left for Minneapolis to work.  She married Herman Anderson and they reside in Minneapolis.

Lester Larson married Violet Rose in Wisconsin and made their home there until his death in 1966.  He spent some time in the service of WW II. 
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LARS LERUM

Lars Lerum was born in Sogndal, Norway, August 26, 1880.  He came to the United States when a young man.  When he arrived, he came to his uncle, Andrew Fortney at Hannaford.  He was engaged in farming - farming with a good friend, Louis Quissel from Montana for some time.

Mrs. Lerum, the former Gina Erikson, was born in Solvorn, Norway on June 19, 1889 and also came to the United States when a young girl, at the age of 20.  She went directly to relatives at South Dakota and remained there until informed of an opening as cook at the Finley Hotel, Finley, North Dakota.  While working there she met and married Lars, getting married at Cooperstown on December 5, 1911.

When looking for a site to build a new house, Lars picked a hill southwest of Hannaford from which, on a clear day, he could see seven churches.  They farmed until 1918.  When boom times came, they listed their land for sale for $3500, thinking no one would ever pay that much for one quarter of land.  Much to their surprise, the land was sold the following day.  They then moved into Hannaford for winter months with their two young daughters, Jeanette and Clara.  In May of 1919 they went back to Norway, Jeanette attending her first year of school in Norway.  Not being satisfied there, they returned to North Dakota in March of 1920 and again resumed farming.  Two other children were born to them, Eleanore and Lloyd.

Jeanette is married to Henry Montplaisir and they have an apartment house at Fargo, North Dakota.  They have twelve children.  Clara was married to the late Otto Olson and passed away in 1957 at the age of 39, leaving four children.  Eleanore is married to Clinton Brown and lives at Hannaford.  They have four children.  Lloyd is city engineer for the city of Santa Rosa, California and resides at Sebastapol, California Lloyd is married to the former Marilyn Peterson of Petaluma, California and they have four children.

Mr. Lerum passed away at the age of 69 in January 1950.  Mrs. Lerum moved to Hannaford and resided there until she suffered a stroke and passed away in April 1974 at the age of 84.  '
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JAMES M. LUNN

James M. Lunn was born in Garner, Iowa in 1888.  He followed his brother Miller to Strain, North Dakota in 1909 and worked for John Dawson while he began homesteading 80 acres in Morton County.  James and Miller brought a push binder and horses from Iowa.  The horses, used to the long grass of Iowa, nearly starved to death before they became accustomed to the short grass of Western North Dakota.  Jim married Florence Boutilier of Britt, Iowa, and brought her to his homestead.  One day while Jim was digging a well, he hit his foot and almost cut off his big toe.  Florence cleaned the cut with peroxide, put the toe in place, used toothpicks for splints, and wrapped it with bandages.  Later, when they got to the doctor, he said, "That's just as good a job as I could have done.“  The toe healed perfectly.

Two sons were born to them, Maurice and Kenneth.  In 1936 they moved to Bartley Township, lived seven years on the NE quarter of Section 17-144-60, and then moved to the NE quarter of Section 18-144-60.  Florence died in December 1960 and Jim in October 1965.

Maurice married Nevo Bosworth of Flasher, North Dakota, farmed with his father in Bartley Township for a * while and then moved to a farm in Helena Township before moving to Indiana where he farmed near Portland.  In 1961 Maurice and family came back to Hannaford and farmed with father Jim for five years.  They now live in Dunkirk, Indiana where they run a restaurant.  They have four children

Ronald, Geneva, Indiana, twin daughters Gladys (Mrs. John Fiebiger) Cooperstown, Grace Saxberg, Dunkirk, Indiana, and Robert, Wabash, Indiana

They also have eleven grandchildren.

KENNETH LUNN farmed with his father and took over the farm after his father's death.  He married Claire Ouren of Hannaford in 1961 and built a second house on the home place.  When his father died and brother moved to Indiana, Ken and family moved into the father's house and later the second house was sold and moved away.  Ken and Claire have two children, Joanne and James.
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CHRIS MADSEN

Chris and Alma Madsen were born in Denmark.  They were married at Luverne, North Dakota and farmed at Luverne, Sutton, and Hannaford.  In 1939 they left their farm in Bartley Township and moved to Walum.

Mr. Madsen passed away in 1945.  Mrs. Madsen is a resident of Central Dakota Nursing Home in Jamestown, North Dakota They had five children, Alfred L. , Postmaster at Winnebago, Nebr., Leo, retired Army Major, Tacoma, Washington, Earl, retired Army Sergeant, Jamestown, North Dakota, Millard, Professor at UCLA, Los Angeles, California, and Jewll (Mrs. Ray Colville), Valley City, North Dakota
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WILLIAM AND PETER MARGACH

William and Peter Margach were two well-remembered men of Bartley Township.  They were born in Morayshire, Scotland.  Will came to North Dakota in 1882 and we believe Peter Margach homesteaded in Bartley before that.

William did carpenter work in Fargo and Casselton before going to Emmons County where he homesteaded.  He built a "shanty" and broke up about 20 acres.  The first year he hauled his wheat to Bismarck, forty miles away and later to Steele, hauling coal back to the farm.  Wheat sold for 550 a bushel in 1891.  While in Emmons County he was elected County Commissioner.  He then moved to Bartley Township trading the quarter he had bought for $5 an acre in Emmons County for one in Bartley.  He was Township clerk of Bartley Township from 1898 to 1931.

He was married to Christine Berge in 1907 by Judge

Carlton in Cooperstown.  Mrs. Margach passed away in 1910.  Mr. Margach spent his last years with the W. D. Sinclair family in Hannaford.  On his 90th birthday, November 11, 1949, the whole area gathered in the Presbyterian Church to pay homage to this grand old man.

Peter Margach had passed away much earlier.  He always said, "What's mine is Will's, and what is Will's is mine.” 
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CARL W. MICHAELSON

Carl Charlie Michaelson was born at Courtenay, North Dakota on December 4, 1891, the son of Ole and Mary Michaelson.  Ole Michaelson operated a livery barn and blacksmith shop there.  In 1902 they moved to Dover Township, Section 11-144-61, 8 miles west of Hannaford where they farmed until he passed away March 14, 1905.  Carl and Melvin, sons, then operated the farm.

On June 14, 1922 Carl was married to Esther Pederson, daughter of Lars and Sigrud Pederson, early settlers in Dover Township.  In 1924 he built on Section 19-14460 in Bartley Township and farmed until 1947.  Esther taught school for 25 years, five years in Bartley and also in Dover, Walum, rural Cooperstown and Wimbledon.

Three sons were born to Carl and Esther.  Conrad resides in Turner, Oregon and is an employee of the Sprout Waldron Company Carl Dennis of Marion, Iowa is employed by Collins Radio of Cedar Rapids.  JOHN farms the home farm west of Walum.
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PETER C. NELSON

Peter C. Nelson was born near Trondheim, Norway.  He came with his parents and three brothers, Christ, John and Stengel and one sister, Petrene, to the United States.  Petrene married Andrew Nelson.  Peter lived with them until he homesteaded in Bartley Township in 1882.

Later Walum had a post office, but in the meantime Peter hiked to Sanborn to bring mail to the community.  He and ANDREW NELSON cut wood at the river, as there was no coal available.  He married Anna Regina Swanson, daughter of Ole Swanson.  They had three children, Elmer, Clara and Willard.  Elmer lives in Maucos, Colorado.  Willard and wife Marjorie live near Clatskaine, Oregon.  Clara and her husband J. B. Stafney live at Woodburn, Oregon.  Staff Sergeant Eldred Stafney was shot down while on mission during WW II.  Jalmer Jr., and Donald live near Woodburn, Oregon

Peter Nelson served as Bartley Township treasurer for 36 years.  He passed away at the farm home in 1928 and his wife in 1961 at Woodburn, Oregon.
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AUGUST PALM

August Palm was born in Sweden on October 26, 1856.  He grew up in Sweden and came to America in 1880.  One of the first difficulties he encountered was in delivery of his mail as there were a number of Olsons and he decided at this time to change his name from Olson to Palm.  He chose the name Palm from either a town in Sweden or some association with his native country.

Selma (Johnson) Palm was born in Nerke, Sweden on October 18, 1857.  It was in 1881 that she came TO America and eventually to Chicago, where she stayed until November of the following year, when she came to Mayville.  On May 22, 1884 she became the bride of August Palm.  The ceremony was performed by Reverend Ohman in Hillsboro.  Two weeks later the newlyweds came to Bartley Township to live on the farm where Mr. Palm had erected a sod house the previous year.

This sod house was quite different from many sod houses at this time as it was boarded on the inside, while others had no frame work excepting the window frames and door cases.  This was to be their home until in 1887, when they moved into a small frame house, the lumber for which was hauled from Valley City.  Ten more years rolled on, when C. L. Peterson was hired to build an addition to the house.

As a busy mother and housewife can you imagine anything more disheartening than to have a quilt all ready for tying and then to come and find your yarn twisted this way and that about the stove and table legs?  Such was the case with Mother Palm when she set about to complete the first quilt made on the farm.  Her cat and dog were resting peacefully beside their finished work.  Besides taking care of a family of nine children Mother Palm laundered clothes for neighboring hired help.  This included patching also and netted her $3 a week.  All the clothes worn by the family were sewed by hand until in 1894 when she became the owner of a sewing machine.  All the mittens and socks were also handmade and for these she spun the yarn.  Another way in which she earned extra money was to board the schoolteacher, which was her job as long as the one-room schools were in use.

During the haying season, Mr. Palm would cut the hay before going out to work and it was Mrs. Palm's duty to rake and bunch the hay with a hand rake.  The children were along to do what they could which consisted usually in emptying the water jug.  As the years rolled by, more land was acquired until at one time eight quarters were owned and operated by Mr. Palm and all the work was done by horse power.  Threshing time came with even more work.  For mother it meant the added task of cooking for 24 men without additional help.

In times of sickness when the father was away at work it was necessary for the mother to walk about 31/2 miles to a kindly neighbor lady, Mrs. V. HANSON, for assistance.  One of these times it was Henry who took sick.  With him in her arms and Charley, about two years old, toddling behind, they set out for Mrs. Hanson who often times took the place of a doctor in those early days.  Going to church on Sunday mornings was another real pioneer experience as they traveled in a lumber wagon for twenty miles.

Eleven children were born to Mr. and Mrs. Palm:  

Charles, Henry, David, Marcus, Fritz, Arthur (twin sister Jennie died at birth), Gustav, Oscar, Minnie and John, who died at birth.  Only one is still living and she is Mrs. Oscar (Minnie) Torkelson, who with her husband who is retired, live in Tacoma, Washington.  Mother Palm lived with her daughter and family until her death.  She was bothered with rheumatism for a great number of years but this never hampered her sunny disposition or the friendly greeting she had for everyone.  Her hands were never idle, especially if there was a crochet hook within her reach and she enjoyed this hobby for many years.

Mr. Palm passed away in 1915 at the age of 59.  Mrs. Palm passed away in 1950 at the age of 92.
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ARTHUR PALM

Arthur Palm was born on February 11, 1894 to August and Selma Palm, Hannaford, North Dakota This was really a special event because Arthur shared the spotlight with a twin sister, Jennie, but she passed away shortly after birth.  Arthur grew up at the Palm family home with his parents, brothers Charles, Henry, David, Marcus, Fritz, Gustav and Oscar and a sister Minnie.

Clara Palm was born at Ashby, Minnesota on August 23, 1894, the daughter of Peter and Ellen Woldahl.  She grew up on a farm at Ashby with her parents, five brothers, Evan, Ole, Henry, Philip and Joe and four sisters, Amanda, Emma, Juel and Ida.  A brother Peter died at the age of 12.  Amanda passed away in her early married life.  Two of her small children, a boy and a girl, were taken in and raised by the grandparents, plus a niece who joined the household as a young child.

After leaving home Clara worked at a hospital in Fergus Falls, Minnesota, and before coming to North Dakota spent a short time at Culbertson, Montana

On November 17, 1920, Arthur Palm and Clara Woldahl were married in Cooperstown with witnesses Minnie Palm (Torkelson) and Walter Larson.  Prior to marriage Arthur had rented a farm in Helena Township, which was at that time known as the Skjelset farm.  Shortly thereafter they moved to Bartley Township to the farm known as the Sonju farm.

A daughter Viola was born December 13, 1921 and a daughter Elsie October 18, 1923.  Viola passed away at the age of 18 months.

Around the early 30's Art and Clara moved to the Palm home farm located also in Bartley Township, six miles west of Hannaford.  Around March of 1960 a fire destroyed their home and possessions.  Among the many prized articles lost was the Palm family Bible, which was used to record all family information and events.  To replace the house an empty building on the farm, which had been used as a schoolhouse when the Palm’s were growing up, was rebuilt and put in place of the burned out house.

Arthur semi-retired from farming around 1960 but lived on the farm until his death in August 1970.  Clara is presently living at Sheyenne Manor in Valley City.  Their daughter Elsie (Cruse), husband Ted and family, Michael and Cheri, live at Kent, Washington.  Clara also has a sister Juel living in New Jersey and a brother Joe in Detroit Lakes, Minnesota The land has long been rented by the Beattie brothers.
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LARS PEDERSON

Lars was young, strong and ambitious.  He had lots of courage and a strong Christian faith.  He decided to move westward to Dakota.  Armed with these qualities he bought a team of horses, a wagon and a cow and left Wisconsin in April 1882 for North Dakota taking along Nicholi, Tarfin and Anna Swenson.  They arrived in Dover Township May 11, 1882.  The ground was covered with snow when they arrived.  In the years to follow there were countless hardships to endure.  Food and clothing were not always easy to get.  On one occasion Lars had to kill his dogs to use the hide for shoes.

Being a devout Christian Lars was instrumental in getting churches organized and donated two acres of land for a church.  He was a charter member of the Eidfjord congregation.  When a minister was not available Lars would conduct the services and officiate at funerals in the absence of the pastor.

In addition to the three children born in Norway, seven more were born in North Dakota, Martin, Bessie, Martha, Oscar, Carl, Clara and Esther.

A tornado destroyed the church in 1916.  Two years later the church was rebuilt.  This coming July EIDFJORD will celebrate its 90th anniversary.

Sever Pederson and Tina Michaelson were married in the Eidfjord church on February 14, 1902.  Eleven children were born to this couple of which six still survive:  

Leonard, Laura Rasmusson, Bernice Adams, Orville, Sylvia Fliflet and Gladys Fliflet.  They farmed and lived in Dover Township all of their lives on the farm where Sever's father lived.

Sever was only six weeks old when his parents brought him here from Norway.  He often told stories of the hardships encountered during his childhood in the Dakotas.  Oxen and walking plows were the only means of working the soil.  Indians and prairie fires were some other problems they had to be alert for.  Sever was clerk of Dover School and Township treasurer for many years.  The Pedersons were life-long members of the Eidfjord Church.

Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Pederson lived in the rural Hannaford area until moving into Hannaford around 1952.  Leonard worked on the dray line in Hannaford for a number of years and is now employed by the city.

They had nine children:  

Herman, Hannaford, Mrs. Dan (Myrtle) Eberhardt, Aneta, Mrs. Cleo (Clarice) Eberhardt, Aneta, Howard, who died November 1956 in a construction accident at Bowdon, North Dakota, Mrs. David (Doris) Dahl, Farmington, Minnesota, Mrs. Larry (Sylvia) Beattie, Rolette, North Dakota, Mrs. Lyle (Jeannette) Pfeifer, Cooperstown, Edward, Litchville, North Dakota and Joyce, Chicago, 111.

Mrs. Pederson passed away in March of 1960 after a long illness.  There are 28 grandchildren and 1 great-grandchild.
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CARL LUDVIG PETERSON

Ludvig (C. L) Peterson was born in Dalsland, Sweden, April 14, 1865 to parents who were farmers by trade.  Many Swedes made their way to America, the country that promised good land for an economic success.  Ludvig came with his grandparents in 1872 to Levis, Wisconsin.  There he lived with his grandparents in a log cabin, which was made out of logs cleared off their land.  He lived there several years.  By this time his Mother, brothers and sisters had arrived in America.  His father having arrived ten years earlier had planned to settle here, but less than a year after he arrived he died.  In a few years Ludvig as he was called and his family moved to Colorado.  Ludvig was employed in an iron-smelting factory.  Again they moved back to Levis, Wisconsin in a few years.

Ludvig stayed there for several years.  It was at this time that he changed his name to Peterson.  There were so many Persons Families in the community.  He had an uncle by the name of Ludvig, so the change was made to eliminate the confusion.  Ludvig and a cousin decided to go to North Dakota to see what the land was like there.  In 1895 they reached Hannaford where they found land and decided to settle.  Ludvig settled in Bartley Township and Sivert in Mabel Township.

The first few years of farming in North Dakota took a lot of hard work and patience.  The farmers did not have much power in those days.  Carl Berg, who owned a farm next to his helped him as his power consisted of two oxen, one horse and a breaking plow.  Needless-to-say not much work was accomplished in a day.  Ludvig in his spare time built a basic house to live in on his own land.  Later this house was moved to Dover Township.  A second story was added and also a large kitchen.  This house remained for the rest of the family to be raised in.  Grandson Leslie and his family lived there from 1944 until 1962 when they moved to the A. L. Peterson home.

Ludvig married Berthilda Sletten April 7, 1897.  Their family consisted of Aloander, (A. L. ), Hazel

 (Mrs. Peter Falstad), now of Santa Anna, California, Mildred (Mrs. Laverne Richardson), deceased, and Thelma (Mrs. Hal Thorogood), also now of Santa Anna.

Aloander or A. L. as he is better known, was born June 14, 1898 and received his education in Bartley School and Concordia College.  As he grew up he was in partnership in farming with his father.

Stories of the horse and buggy days, also sleigh days have been especially interesting for the grandchildren.  Days of the severe snowstorms have left some memories of hardships.  One storm especially was recalled, as the Peterson family, among others, were at a Christmas program at the schoolhouse.  In those days weather forecasting ahead of time was not heard of and the families stayed at the schoolhouse until 10 AM the next day.  Luckily food was always brought along to such gatherings so there was plenty to eat.

School was held only six months out of the year.  In the summer A. L. stayed with his uncle and aunt, Pastor and Mrs. P. A. Thoreson, to attend parochial school for a month.  In 1920 Al moved to Fargo with his parents and it was here that he met Dena Wick of Underwood, Minnesota On May 22, 1922 they were married at Moorhead, Minnesota by his uncle, Pastor Thoreson.  Dena passed away June 18, 1961.

Leslie Peterson, son of A. L. and Dena, was an only child with the exception of raising a foster son, Myron Richardson, son of Mildred Peterson Richardson, who died when Myron was born.  Myron made his home with them until he reached his junior year of high school when he went to Devils Lake and made his home with his aunt Hazel Falstad to finish high school.  He now lives in Canoga Park, California with his wife and three children.

A move was made back to the farm in 1924 in Dover Township, living on several farms in the area before purchasing the present farm in Dover.  In partnership with his Dad, Leslie continued to expand the farm acres by purchasing the former Carl Berg farm in 1946.  With more land, new and larger machinery, farming became an easier task and with the prosperous years has been quite a contrast to the beginning of the Peterson farm in 1895.

Leslie married Sylvia Haugen March 4, 1944 at Eidfjord Church.  Their daughters are:  

1. Dianne, married to Charles Hetland Jr. and living on their farm in Helena Township

2. Karen, married to Garrett Hoerer and living in West Fargo

3. and Ellen, married to Larry Moe and living in Fargo.
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CHRIST SONJU

Christ Sonju was born in Eiker, Norway, June 27, 1853.  In May 1879 he emigrated to Baldwin, Wisconsin where he lived for seven years.  On October 20, 1883 he was united in marriage to Ellen Dorothea Fjerdingstad who also came from Eiker, Norway in 1883.

In 1886 they came to Bartley Township after the grasshoppers had destroyed everything in their area of Wisconsin.  They built a small house on their homesteaded land and for the first year kept their cattle at the OLE FOGDERUD farm three quarters of a mile away.  Mrs. Sonju often told how she tied up her two youngsters to be sure they would be safe - then walked to the Fogderud home where she milked the cows and carried two pails of milk back home.  Usually she had to pump water for all the cattle before she could start milking.  How she must have hurried to get back to the children.

They were charter members of the Hannaford Lutheran Church.

To this union three children were born:  

Oscar who passed away at the age of 23, Melvin, who built a home in Helena Township, and Gustav who operated the home farm until he passed away in 1961.

GUSTAV married Delia Brumberg December 25, 1919.  To this union three children were born:  

Delores (Mrs. Dokken), Audrey (Mrs. Markuson) and Walden.  Gustav was an active member of the church council and served as Township treasurer for 35 years.

WALDEN is the third generation of Sonju's to operate this farm.  Besides his large farming interests he finds time for a hobby - raising quarter horses.  You can imagine how the nephews and nieces love to visit Uncle Walden and Grandma who is still on the farm with Walden.  Grandma, also a great grandmother, is a mighty sharp lady.  She has not given up her work with her church or other outside activities and gives no hint of the fact that she will be 79 in September 1975.  She is an avid bowler and plans to attend their National Convention in Denver this summer.
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ANDREW SONJU

Andrew Sonju was born in Dane County Wisconsin, January 2, 1856.  After a short duration his parents moved to St. Croix County, Wisconsin near Hammond where he grew to manhood attending grade and Normal school at River Falls.  He taught school for a few terms and had the experience of a log roller on the Menomonie River floating logs from the woods to the Saw Mills.

In 1883 he immigrated to Griggs County where he worked in construction of the Northern Pacific Railroad between Hannaford and Cooperstown.  He spent the winter in a dug out with a Mr. Fortney located on a hillside of the SW quarter of Section 12 in Bartley Township.  The site is still plainly visible.  In 1888 on October 29, he filed for Homestead Rights on the SW quarter of Section 10-144-60, acquiring more land as time went by.

Andrew was united in marriage to Omaranda Fosness, November 1903 in St. Paul, Minnesota There were eight children, Herbert, Theodore, Alfred A. , Amor, Elswerth, Maynard, Eleanor, and Raymond.  Mrs. Sonju passed away in 1918 and Andrew in 1936.  They were early members of St. Olaf Church at Walum.

Theodore Sonju married Gerda Martens in Milwaukee, Wisconsin in 1929 and now lives in Seal Beach, California.  They have three children Jon, Marlene and Theodore, Jr. Alfred Augustine born in 1908 married Eileen Andreas and they had seven children, Margaret, Irene, Andrew, Eleanor, Alfred and Michael, Stephanie.  Alfred passed away April 1955.  Amor, Pine River, Wisconsin, was born in 1910 and passed away December 1965.  His children are:  

1. Allen, Eileen, Suzanne, and Lee.  Elswerth born in 1912 was married to Vera Campbell and they had two children, Richard and Sandra.  Elswerth died December 1960.  A daughter Joan preceded him in death.  Maynard born in 1914 married Jean Ann Chester and they live in Libby, Montana with their children Tammy, Steven, Richard, Joan and Debra.  Eleanor was born in 1916 and died in 1965.  Her children are:  

1. Annah, Patricia, and Karen O'Brien.  Raymond born in 1917 lives in Minneapolis with his wife June.  Their children are:  

2. Craig, Gary, Jean, David and Daniel.

HERBERT was born December 30, 1904 and married January 15, 1948 to Hilda Hoehn of Milwaukee, Wisconsin He attended the Palm and Campbell Schools and was in the first eighth grade class which graduated from the Bartley Consolidated School.  Herb has been engaged in farming since 1931 and has occupied the home farm in Bartley Township since the spring of 1942.  He was a breeder of registered Shorthorn cattle for 26 years.  Hilda has baked and decorated wedding and other special occasion cakes since coming to live in Bartley Township.
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HENRY STEENSON

Henry Steenson and his wife came to Bartley Township in 1919 after he had trouble with his voice, which became so bad that he could not continue in the mercantile business.  He was a Bartley assessor for many years.  In 1936 they moved to California where they spent the rest of their lives.

Kimbel and Theron farmed in Bartley during the time the Steensons were there.  Hattie their only daughter passed away many years ago.
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NICOLAI SWENSON

Nicolai Swenson was born in Eidfjord, Hardanger, Norway on December 31, 1855 and came to the United States in 1875.  His older brothers, Torfin, and two by the name of Ole arrived earlier, one as early as 1856.  The name of Ole in the Swenson family was very important so when a son named Ole died in infancy the next son born was named Ole.  The second Ole was a very frail baby, fearing he might also die the next son born was also named Ole, and both grew to manhood.  These two brothers of Nicolai took Homesteads, one in Bartley Township on the SW quarter of Section 32 and the other settled in Dover Township.  Due to conflict with mail the Ole in Bartley Township changed his name to Thompson.

After graduating from Northwestern Business College at Madison, Wisconsin, Nicolai Swenson looked for Homestead land in Cass County in the area near Gardner, North Dakota He filed a claim on 160 acres there but this was the era of bonanza farmers and there were owners of large farms all around so he soon discovered he would have no neighbors so gave up his claim there and sought land in Griggs County.  He took a Homestead in Bartley Township on the NE quarter of Section 32.  He also acquired the SE quarter of the same Section by pre-emption.  This land was proved up in 1890.

Nicolai's sister, Anna, came with him from Norway and she took a Homestead on the NW quarter of Section 32 next to the land of her two brothers.  After a few years she sold her land to brother Ole and went back to Norway to live the remainder of her life.  In the history of the Ladies Aid of Eidfjord Church, Anna Swenson is recorded as a charter member of that organization.  This half Section once owned by Ole Thompson is now owned by Earl and Charles Heyerdahl.

When Bartley Township was organized in 1887 Nicolai Swenson was chosen chairman of the board of supervisors and held that position a number of years.

It was very important to these pioneers that churches and schools should be established and Nicolai Swenson took an active part in these projects and was the first secretary -treasurer of EIDFJORD LUTHERAN Church.  Most of the early settlers in this area were from Eidfjord, Norway and they named their church after their birthplace.

Nicolai was elected treasurer of Griggs County in 1892 serving one term as he was elected to the state legislature as representative in 1894 and served the fourth and fifth sessions, 1895-1897.  When the Bartley school district was organized, Nicolai was chosen treasurer and served in that capacity until he died.

Seven children were born to Mr. and Mrs. Swenson - Swen Theodore, January 18, 1890, Clara Emelia, September 26, 1892, Minnie Bergetta, October 10, 1894, Albert Selmer, November 26, 1896, Walter Nicolai, June 1, 1900, Gladys Oliva, January 23, 1902 and Alvin John, July 22, 1906.  As the family grew so did the house so in these early years more rooms were added to the claim shanty to accommodate the growing family and the hired help necessary for the farm work when more land was also acquired.  This same house is now occupied by a grandson, Norman, and his mother.

Mr. Swenson bought a house in Valley City where they lived for a few years during the school year so the children could have educational advantages.  At these times a hired couple took care of the farm.  The Swensons were living in Valley City when Mr. Swenson became ill with a respiratory disease and died February 3, 1918.  A few months later the youngest son, Alvin, drowned in the Sheyenne River near their home.  The family then sold the house and came back to the farm to live.  The oldest son, Swen, then managed the farm home.  There were other deaths over the years.  Minnie, the second daughter, died April 7, 1911, Walter in 1915, and Alvin in 1918.

Farm power gradually shifted from horses to tractors so Swen Swenson took a course in gas engineering and automobile mechanics in Fargo to be prepared for this different mode of farming and transportation.  SWEN married Clara Pederson the fall of 1917.  She died early in 1918 from the flu that took so many lives at that time.  In 1927 he married Cora Fladland-Blilie and they had one son, Norman.  They lived on the SW quarter of Section 29 the first ten years of their married life while Albert Swenson lived on the Homestead farm with his mother.  Then came the depression years and Albert decided farming was not a paying business and the winters here were too severe so he left for the West Coast.  He found work in California and is still living there in his retirement.  Clara also was employed in California, but came back to Valley City to live when she retired.  Gladys married Perry Stowman and they lived in Barnes County.

Mr. and Mrs. Swen Swenson moved to the home place after his brother left and his mother lived with them until she went to the nursing home.  Swen was elected school treasurer of Bartley Consolidated when his father died in 1918 and held that office for 41 years until, through redistricting, Bartley school district was annexed to Hannaford.  He also served as Township supervisor for 35 years.  Swen suffered a stroke in October 1967 and the family moved to Valley City in 1971 where Swen died shortly afterwards, November 29, 1971.

NORMAN Swenson was born July 5, 1928.  He graduated from Hannaford High School in 1946 and attended State Science School at Wahpeton graduating in 1948.  He enlisted in the Air Force in December 1950 and served four years as an aircraft electrician with one year stationed in Korea during the combat there.  Norman continues farming and lives on the Homestead farm with his mother the six summer months of the year.
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CHRIST TOMPSON

Mr. and Mrs. Christ Tompson lived near Walum, but in Bartley Township.  They came from South Dakota at the same time that Chris Jensen and Proven Christensen did.  Rudolph is well remembered for organizing the Bartley School Reunion.  Harold lives near Valley City and is a Barnes County Commissioner.  Asta, Edythe, and their oldest brother Leo are all dead.  Oda lives near Minneapolis.
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ANDREW TWEIT

Andrew Tweit was born in Simahal, Hardanger, Norway in 1876.  He grew to manhood there and worked as powder man on the mountain roads where a lot of blasting had to be done.

He heard of the great opportunities in America and decided to leave his homeland and seek his fortune in America.  He landed in Philadelphia in 1903 and sought employment in the coal mines as a powder man, but decided work so far underground was not for him so he went on to Wisconsin and worked in a cheese factory for a time.  From there he went to Red Wing, Minnesota where he was employed by the Red Wing Crockery Company.

The urge to come further west caused him to come to North Dakota where he worked as a farm hand for Ivor Skaar in Dover Township.  He began farming on his own in 1908.  In 1907 he married Helena Legreid who was working at the time as a "hired girl" at the Tom Sad farm, also in Dover.  To them eight children were born

Noralf, Walum, Theodore, Dazey, Anna (Mrs. Ernest Kloster), Kingston, Washington, Valborg (Mrs. Casper Thompson), Hannaford, Olaf, Dazey, Einar, Devils Lake, Hjordes (Mrs. John Paulson), Oberon, and Harold, Hannaford.

Andrew rented a farm in Bartley Township from Nicolai Swenson and lived in an old house that had originally belonged to Nicolai's sister, Anna.  It was a small house, but fairly comfortable.  In 1916 when a tornado went through parts of Dover and Bartley Townships, Andrew and his hired man held the door of the house with all their might and the house stood, but many barns and churches went in that storm.  A new house was built on the farm by Mr. Swenson for the Tweit family and the little old house used as a schoolhouse because the school had been destroyed by the tornado.  Miss Minnie Anderson taught for the first time in this school that summer.  She had all eight grades.  The little house was later moved back to the Swenson farm and is still there.

With the exception of five years spent in Washington State, Andrew lived in Bartley and Dover Townships.  He died March 21, 1969.  Mrs. Tweit died April 21, 1953 at the age of 71.

Harold Tweit is at present living on the home place.  He married Gladys Sorenson of Oberon in May 1955.  They have four children, Joan, John, Julie and Joel.
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CORNELIUS VENHUIZEN

Cornelius Venhuizen, son of Ralph and Jantze Boeze Venhuizen, was born at Baflo, Netherlands, November 17, 1888.  He came to the United States when 7 years old and lived in Fulton, Illinois before coming to North Dakota.  They were members of the Dover Reformed Church until it closed.

Cornelius married Stella Rose, daughter of Herman Rose of Fenton, Illinois, on December 24, 1918.  After coming to North Dakota they lived in the Courtney, Wimbledon and Hannaford Communities and Bartley Township.  Four children were born, Herman in 1919 and died in 1952.  Ralph, farms at Wimbledon and is married to Laurel Fluetsch.  They have five children, Holly (Mrs. Harvey Cain), Joanne (Mrs. Pat Fielder), Carol, Randy and Scott.  Minnie married Kasper Severson and they have four children, Howard married to Dianne Paasch, Darlene, Kelly, and Dawn.  They farm at Wimbledon.

Eugene married Ruth Vos and they have two children, Robert and Michael.  They farm at Hannaford.

Cornelius passed away February 1950 and Stella October 1972.
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ANDREW WAHL

Andrew Wahl came to Bartley Township as a young man in 1902 from River Falls, Wisconsin.  He worked on farms in the Township and in 1914 married Minnie Larson.  They rented several different farms in Bartley until 1943 when he and son Russell bought their own land and lived on the E1/2 of Section 23-144-60.  Minnie Wahl died very suddenly in March of 1945 at a Homemaker's meeting.  Andrew continued to live with his son and family until his death in 1966 at the age of 86.

Russell Wahl married Dorothy Benson in 1941 and they have five children.  John, practicing medicine in Cavalier, North Dakota, Margaret, living in Grand Forks, North Dakota with her husband Ronald Lima and son Scott Andrew, Cynthia, living in Minneapolis with her husband Arden LaBonte and daughter Melinda Jo, Rebecca attending nursing school in Jamestown, North Dakota and Richard a student at North Dakota State University in Fargo.
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MR. AND MRS. FERDINAND WERTH

A week ago last Sunday friends and neighbors of Mr. and Mrs. Ferdinand Werth of Bartley Township gathered to celebrate an occasion that literally may be said to happen once in a blue moon - a 70th wedding anniversary.

The exact date of their marriage is recorded in a family book of records as May 27, 1865.

It was a church wedding in the little German village of Saalfield, East Prussia, during the reign of Emperor Fredrick William IV.  The entire village turned out to celebrate the event for to the Prussian peasants it was a gala affair.

Seventy years later, transplanted as it were, from the native soil of the Fatherland to the depression -ridden prairies of Dakota, that same couple, their shoulders carrying the weight of years that lack but five of being a century, stepped delightedly forward to renew the vows they spoke before the church altar 70 years ago.

As on that memorable occasion, friends by the hundreds visited the August Werth home to assist in the celebration and wish them "a long life of wedded happiness.”  To the world at large they are Mr. and Mrs. Ferdinand Werth, another aged couple, but to their host of friends in Bartley Township and their numberless acquaintances among young people in Griggs County they are "Gram'ma and Gram'pa.”

In Germany Grandpa Werth was a coachman in the service of a huge estate.  The landlord paid his tenants $12.00 per year and a yearly allowance from the produce of the land from which advances were made as they were needed.

Sometimes, Grandma says, the allowance used up before the year was over and then the tenants had to skimp and save the year following to make up the difference.

On one occasion a drought hit the country that lasted for seven years.  Food was so scarce that at the end of that time Mr. and Mrs. Werth discovered they had but two bushel of potatoes after all the years of hard effort.  Meanwhile they had heard of the "land of opportunity" and they decided to come to America.

They landed in New York in 1890 and came to

Maiden Rock, Wisconsin, where they farmed for 15 years before moving to Hannaford.

At the present time they are making their home with their only surviving son, August Werth, four miles west of Walum.  The couple had five boys and two girls, but five of the children died in infancy.  Another died in Canada.

There are 5 grandchildren, 17 great grandchildren, and 1 great, great grandchild, who is thus a member of the fifth generation.
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BROADVIEW TOWNSHIP

History

The name Broadview is most appropriate for the Township.  The view is broad even with today's shelterbelts in the picture.  From any prominent knoll one can virtually see beyond its boundaries in three directions.  On mornings with favorable atmospheric conditions, and the help of the mystical mirage, the trees and farmsteads in the eastern one-third of the Township seem to cross the Sheyenne valley and come within calling distance.

It might be of interest to note here that of the pioneers that settled in Broadview in the 1800's some came from the state of Michigan, namely, Mark Curtis, Henry Curtis, J. M. Freer and John Kerber, Sr.

Before the coming of the Great Northern railroad in 1912, a small town, Karnak, had started in the northeast corner of Section 20.  An elevator and a grocery store were the first signs.  In 1913 another grocery store was built.  From then on it progressed quite rapidly until at the height of its existence it had two grocery stores, three elevators, (St. Anthony, International and Farmers), a depot, pool hall, blacksmith shop, lumberyard, shoe repair and harness shop, a small restaurant, post office in one of the stores, a bank and a church.

The Presbyterian Church was organized in 1917 and built in 1919 under the supervision of a local carpenter, HOWARD RISING, plus a lot of volunteer help.  In membership, about fourteen charter members, the church was small, but the spiritual enthusiasm was great.  It functioned for approximately twenty-seven years.  Membership by then had declined and its doors closed.  The building was sold, and became a farm residence in Bartley Township.

The first pastor of the church was a traveling minister from Oakes, later it was served by the Presbyterian pastor from Cooperstown.  The charter members were:  

Mr. and Mrs. E. W. Trapp, Mr. and Mrs. R. Kinn, Howard Rising, Edith and Jennie, Mr. and Mrs. Fred Mosher, John Nolting, Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Sigle, Mr. and Mrs. Don Healy, Mrs. John Kerber, Sylvia, Norman and Howard Kerber, Mr. and Mrs. Fred Peterson and Theodore Curtis.

Ole Lima's First Summer in America.

Ole Lima came from Stavanger, Norway, to Cooperstown, Dakota Territory, on April 25, 1886 - waiting in Sanborn for the train, from morning till night.  Wilhelm and Ane Vatne were with him.  They had come by the Imman Line from Norway.  They had waited a week in Liverpool, from Tuesday to Tuesday.  They Reached Cooperstown between 6 and 7 PM.  There was rain and thunder, the mules on Cooper's farm were visible from the train, shiny with rain-water.  It was Holy Thursday.  Andrew Vatne was at the station.  Thomas Sporaland, who worked at Watne's, was there to meet them with oxen and wagon.  Their trunks filled the lumber wagon and they sat on the trunks.  It seemed strange to see people working on Holy Thursday, and to see the stores open.

There were no roads.  They crossed the creek (Meadow Creek) straight east from Cooperstown and then drove straight south.  It was dark when they reached home.  They drove down "kjinne-hauen."

Andreas Vatne had hired out to Stokka for the spring work.  He gave the job to Father, who worked for three weeks on the Stokka homestead while Stokka taught Norwegian school in the Soma schoolhouse.  Dad got the same wages as paid by Cooper, $22 a month.

Some of those confirmed in 1887 were Martin Westley, Jakob Stokka, Hans Stokka, Axeliana (Bull) Aasland, Dorothea (Aasland) Larson, Betsy Johnson, and Chris Wuflestad.  No doubt Stokka helped prepare these pupils.  Father taught the next year, for two weeks, in Galatin, but "had too little self-confidence.”

Oluf Stokka, a three-year-old, was so little he didn't dare go in from the woodpile alone.  Father had to leave his wood-cutting to go with him.  Bernard was a tiny baby and very poorly.  Dad began work on Tuesday after Easter.

Stokka lived in a log house, and had a frame house down by the river where they lived in winter, close to SVEN LUNDE'S.  They had no water on the prairie, and had several cattle (2 oxen and about 2 cows).  Therefore, they stayed near the river in winter.

Father began dragging after the grain (wheat) had come up.  It was slow work, with oxen.  There were no weeds in the field.  About 25 acres were seeded.  It was the fifth year of seeding.  Nothing but wheat was seeded in about the first eight years.  Then some had horses and had to have oats.  Wheat was sometimes sowed in the same field for thirteen years (Sven Loge).

Andreas Vatne had told Sven Lunde that he had advised Father, Wilhelm, and Ane to come to America, and being asked what they would do here, he had said, "They could fish in the creek.”  Sven Lunde looked darkly at the situation then.  Cooper was the only one who hired people.  Everyone went to the ranch, sometimes by the half-dozen.  JOHN HOUGHTON, Cooper's ranch-boss, turned them away time and again.

Cooper's house was half a mile from the ranch.  Laura Watne worked there and Aunt Ane helped her.  Father had an errand to one of them from Berta Watne.  Cooper happened to be around the house.  When he heard of Father's relationship to Ane (his sister), Cooper said he should come on Monday - this was Saturday.  This was the last part of July or first part of August.

Tonnes Watne also had work and had been there in the spring.  In threshing Andreas Vatne, Reier Lunde, and perhaps others.  Wilhelm was there all summer, because some worker was sick.  The next summer Wilhelm and Dad worked all summer (1887), Tónnes worked in the spring and fall and Erik Lima worked all summer in '86 and '87.

In the middle of the summer Father helped JENS BULL break land.  The Bulls lived in a sod house - two rooms - in one of them a din floor only.  Each room perhaps 12 by 14 feet.  The earth on the roof cracked in the sunshine.  When it rained they threw dirt up to fill in so it shouldn't pour into the house.  Jorina was one year old.  Axeliana and Julius were at home.  Malla had just married Ommund Westley.  Jens and Hans were away.  Hans in St. Paul and Jens in Cooperstown.
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KARNAK

Karnak was first called Fairview but because there was another town named Fairview in North Dakota, it was changed to Karnak, November 20, 1912.  Henry Curtis owned the land that is now Karnak but in 1910 the Great Northern Railway bought it and sold it by lots.

In the fall of 1910, the St. Anthony Grain Elevator and J. Hogness store were built.  The following spring the Karnak Grain and Fuel Company elevator, the E. W. Trapp store and Fieber blacksmith shop started in business, also the Crane-Johnson Lumber yards.  In 1916 the Farmers Elevator and several dwelling houses were erected.  The early settlers of the community were J. W. Freer, John Kerber Sr., Mark Curtis, Henry Curtis, M. Magnuson and Albert Larson.

The rumbling of the trains and the shrieking whistles could be heard at intervals day and night.  Freights came to unload lignite coal or to pick up grain or livestock for St. Paul.  The fast passenger train made its appearance daily.  Last but not least there was the little multi-purpose train fondly called the "Dinkie.”  It must have been related to Margaret Shank's "Coffee Train" because it showed up at Karnak at "Coffee Time" both forenoon and afternoon.  It stopped to pick up passengers, mail and cans of cream or drop off passengers, and empty cream cans.

As the dry years and the depression came in the late 20's and 30's Karnak's population declined and business places closed.  Two of the three elevators closed.  Owners of the first grocery store left for Tacoma, Washington.  Store number two closed about ten years later.  The Trapp Family exodus was unique in that they took their house and store building with them.  The pool hall burned down.  The bank closed and the building became another grocery store plus post-office.

By the middle 1900's the decline was accelerated to the extent that Karnak is now back to one-grain elevator as a place of business and a population of seven.

Mrs. E. W. Trapp, still living in West Fargo, 90 plus years young, helped with some of the data for this project, as did Mary Kerber of San Francisco, the only surviving member of the John Kerber, Sr., immediate family.
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Settlers

THE FREER FAMILY

Jonas Melville Freer, pioneer of Cass County, and Griggs County homesteader was born at Sharon, Michigan on October 19, 1855, the second son of Elisha and Amanda LaFarge Freer.  He died at Hannaford, North Dakota on May 22, 1930 and is buried at Cooperstown, North Dakota

The immigrant ancestor of the Freer family was Hugo the Patentee.  He was one of the twelve French Huguenots who purchased the land, where New Paltz, New York is now situated, from the Indians on May 26, 1677.  For this land they paid 40 kettles (10 large and 30 small), 40 axes, 40 adzes, 40 shirts, 400 fathoms of white net work, 300 fathoms of black net work, 60 pairs of stockings, (half small size) 100 bars lead, 1 keg powder, 100 knives, 4 kegs of wine, 40 oars, 40 pieces of duffel (heavy wool), 60 blankets, 100 needles, 100 awls, 1 measure of tobacco and 2 horses.  The stone home of Hugo Freer, erected about 1710, has been restored and is always open to the public.  It is the oldest home on Huguenot Street and a thirteen star Betsy Ross flag is flown above it every day.

Jonas Freer married Ella Pratt Cooke at Sharon, Michigan on November 14, 1877.  She was born there on June 21, 1858 and died at Cooperstown, North Dakota on June 21, 1911, and is buried in the Cooperstown cemetery.  She was the daughter of George Cooke, who was a veteran of the Civil War, and his wife Dolly Jane Townsend.  Her immigrant ancestor, Aaron Cooke, came to America with his mother and step-father at the age of 16.  The family left Portsmouth, England in 1629/1630 and sailed on the Mary & John which came with the Winthrop fleet.  The Cooke family first settled at Dorchester, Connecticut, but moved to Windsor, Connecticut in 1636.

Grandfather Freer came to Dakota Territory on March 17, 1880 and resided for a time in the Casselton - Amenia vicinity.  I have a letter dated at Amenia on April 1, 1880, which he wrote to my grandmother who was still in Michigan, and one that they both wrote from Casselton on January 15, 1881.  In the 1881 letter he told of a feed store in Casselton where they bought oats for 30 cents and sold it for 60 cents.

In 1882/83 grandfather met up with R. C. Cooper and moved his family to the vicinity of Cooperstown, about where the Conference Grounds are now located.  It wasn't long before he filed on a homestead on the NE quarter of Section 8-144-58 in Broadview Township.  This was home for the Freer family until about 1928 when they moved in to Hannaford.  On March 22, 1886 he bought the NW quarter of Section 18-145-58 from Edward O. Stai and on November 25, 1889 he purchased the NE quarter and NW quarter of Section 16 - 145 - 58 from John Pates.

Jonas and Ella Freer were the parents of six children.

Norma Amelia was born October 10, 1879 at Sharon, Michigan, married November 10, 1898 at Cooperstown to Frank E. Dier.  He died at Sequim, Wisconsin on 6 April 1959.  Their children:  

Raymond - Ella - Irene.

Ina May was born at Casselton, Dakota Territory on October 26, 1881.  She died in January 1931 at Eugene, Oregon.  She was married first to Otto Fenner and second to Alfred Anderson.  Children:  

Marjorie Fenner - Mae Tina Anderson, and Richard LeRoy Anderson.

Parke Melville Freer was born October 1, 1883 at Hannaford, died September 8, 1969 and buried at Cooperstown.  Married December 24, 1905 at Granville, Missouri to Goldie Kimmel Key who was born in Missouri on February 9, 1887 and died at Minneapolis, Minnesota on January 14, 1965.  Their children:  

Claude M. married Myrtle Bakken (resides Walum, North Dakota), Jewell Mae, married David Normandin, Rhoda E. married Ralph Newman, Bertrand Russell, and Patricia Marilyn who married Clifford Ernst.

George Elisha born 6 August 1885 at Hannaford, married 19 February 1909 to Edith Elizabeth Key who was born in Missouri on 2 February 1885.  This couple has celebrated their 66th wedding anniversary and reside in a home at Manson, Wisconsin.  Their children:  

Willard E. , Merle, Ella Ethel, Harold LeRoy, Frank Ellsworth, Percy Melvin and Phyllis Evelyn.

Ella Adelia was born 17 November 1889 in Broadview Township, Griggs Company, married Ole Henry Stai on 25 June 1912.  He was born at Cooperstown on 18 April 1890 and died at Eugene, Oregon 13 October 1946.

Rollin Ellsworth was born 26 June 1899 at Hannaford and died 17 July 1964.  He married Leila Stewart on 19 October 1921.  Their children:  

Gwendolyn Joanne and Melville Stewart.

Jonas Melville Freer married for the second time to Anna Nordstrum and to this union a daughter Vivian Jeanette Margaret was born 4t Eugene, Oregon on 10 December 1917.  Vivian is married to Charles Dwight Whittemore.
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ELDREN HAUGEN FAMILY

Eldren Olaf Haugen, the second son of Emma and Julius Haugen was born in Broadview Township in 1917.  He grew to manhood here, receiving his education at the Freer school and religious instruction at the Union church.  He lived in the drought of the thirties, remembers when his Dad with the help of the boys stacked thistle, using molasses to make a better feed for the cattle.  There was a water shortage and cattle were herded wherever there was grass.  Eldren worked for Tom Dailey for $8 to $10 a month hauling corn bundles chopped out of ice and snow, and doing other chores.  He was in the CCC for a short time.

Eldren married Gerda Haugen, daughter of Gunhild and Iver Haugen at the Union church in 1942.  They have five children:  

Eldo James born in 1944, married to Coleen Tharaldson in 1965, have two sons, Troy and Lynn.  ELDO farms with his Dad and also has two semi-trucks on the road

Ronald Gary born in 1947, married to Diane Bryn, lives at Dazey, is a truck driver and mechanic.  They have two daughters, DeLayne and Nicoli

Jeanne born in 1952 is a music major teaching at Robinson

Karen born in 1954 a secretary for ADT at Denver, Colorado

Kathleen born 1961 is a freshman at Hannaford public schools.

Eldren and Gerda have lived all their married life on the same farm except a short time at the John Nelson farm.  They have both been active in community and church work.  Eldren has been supervisor of Broadview Township, since 1950 and on the Union church council for many years.

One year while Eldren was combining a severe hailstorm hit.  He hid underneath the grain load but had to get out when it started to settle.  He walked home and his back showed large red spots where the hail hit.  After the storm was over, the fields looked like they had been plowed.
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JULIUS HAUGEN FAMILY

Julius Andreas Haugen, the third son of John and Kari Haugen was born in 1885 at Ada, Minnesota.  He moved with his parents to Greenfield Township where they homesteaded.  He grew to manhood, received his education and religious instruction in the Greenfield area.  He married Emma Carlson in 1910 at the Union church.

She was born in Norway in 1889 and came with her parents, John and Jorgina Carlson to the United States 

The first year after their marriage they lived on the Henry Curtis farm south of Karnak.  They then purchased the Baker farm west of Karnak.  Their children are:  

1. Maurice of Hannaford, a farmer

2. Evelyn (Mrs. Edwin Lausch), Hannaford, a housewife with sewing talents

3. Eldren of Hannaford, a farmer

4. Kermit of Plains, Montana, a gas station operator

5. June, (Mrs. Lien) deceased

6. Gilmer of Hannaford, a trucker

7. Delores, (Mrs. Harold Steinborn) works as nurses aid in hospitals and nursing homes.

Julius threshed for his neighbors and ground feed for them in winter.  He was an active outdoors man with special interests in mechanics.

Emma was also active in her community and was treasurer of Union Ladies Aid for many years.  She cared for her seven children and also for George, Betty and Dolores Gullickson while their mother was ill.  The teachers that taught at the Freer school boarded at her home.  She helped with the milking, raised poultry, canned fruits and vegetables and worked late at night after the family had gone to bed.  She drove "Fleet" on the buggy to town to sell butter and eggs and purchase groceries.

In the storm of 1941 Julius, Emma, Eldren, Gilmer and Delores were on their way to a birthday party when the blizzard moved in suddenly.  The horses lost their way, the sled upset and by the Grace of God they walked onto the fence that they followed hand in hand until they came to Fred Peterson's home in Karnak, somewhat chilled and frozen but happy to be safe.

They moved to the John Nelson farm by the Union church in November 1941.  Eldren with his family live on the farm by Karnak.  Julius lives at the Sheyenne Nursing Home in Valley City.  He is 89 years old.  Emma passed away in 1959, daughter June in 1969.  There are 30 grandchildren and 20 great -grandchildren.
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JOHN HENDRICKSON

Unaware that fifteen years later he would claim a homestead where he walked, the Sheyenne Valley and adjacent area was observed as "uninhabited" by our father, John, in 1883.  At seventeen he had first cast his lot with his brother, Andrew, age thirty-three, who was planning a claim directly two miles east.  We don't know Andrew's first arrival in the area, but one version has it he trundled his first load of supplies from Valley City in a wheelbarrow.  When county lines were established in years that followed, he lived in Steele County, and in Griggs.

In the following months the Northern Pacific was completed and John went to Oregon where the forests were.  Almost a decade passed when in the depression of 1893, his savings were lost in a bank failure and being out of work he returned to Andrew's place.  Then a building boom developed in Fargo after a disastrous fire and he went there to find work.

While there he met a young lady, Adeline, who spoke of his own cradle-land.  Both had come from Osterbotten, a Swedish language area of Finland.  Ancestral records, originating in 1546, show a name Jakob Hendrickson, 1775.  Our father's name was John Hendrickson.

In 1896, as happy parents, Mother and Father moved to Uncle Andrew's place and rented his farm.  Earlier the first child, Stella, had been born at a friend's home beside the lower reaches of the Sheyenne River.  Our brother, Emil, was born in Andrew's homestead shanty in 1897.  That year Father set out to stake a claim of his own.  Good places were now scarce, but on the eastern rim of the Sheyenne Valley where he had gazed at the landscape fifteen years earlier, he found a strip of land a quarter mile wide and a mile long.  There he built a shanty with a small kitchenette attached and lastly a covered pole barn.  Abbreviated, its description is:  

W ½ of the NW quarter and the W ½ of the SW quarter of Section 12 Township 144 Range 58.  (It is now a part of the next farm West.)

After the first snow fell, the new family moved onto their claim to America.  The next summer a buggy was acquired so Mother could go to Hope to shop, twelve miles east.  In the valley was a large range herd and cowboy camp that bought bread at our place.  Late in the fall the herd and camp left never to return.  As time continued treacherous prairie fires and winter storms that buried small buildings became the family's lot at times.  Our sister, Esther, was born here, 1899.

In 1903 Stella walked a grass trail to school, two miles south, where Minnie Hillerson taught.  Later when Uncle Andrew died and our family moved to his place so Father could farm the daughter's estate till settled, the school was within forty rods with Will Northrop as teacher.  In 1905 our brother, Arthur, was born in Andrew's homestead shanty.

In 1910, while Father was having a new house built, the Great Northern railway spanned the valley within view of our doorway.  Sometimes Father took one of us in the buggy and drove down to see the action.  The whirring cranes, din of stone crushers and pile drivers required to make the immense footings for the giant bridge, all made an awesome sound for young ears.  In time we got new towns out our way:  

Luverne, and Karnak, a small station stop.

Our youngest brother, Chester, was born in 1913.  He did not return after the war's end, 1945.  As a boy, his favorite climbing tree was an ash Father had planted to shade the shanty years earlier.  We had a grand view of the valley from our place.  If at times a heavy mist fell into its cool and verdant vessel at night, at sunrise it would appear a cloud lay there.  When the morning breeze came the tree lined river winding through fields framed by hills would make its own pastoral grandeur.

From our parents time a fifth generation, presently numbering nineteen, lives in varied places of California, Oregon, Ohio, New Jersey, and New York.  Of our original family, three are still living with fond memories of the people and country where the wild roses grew.
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OLE HELMER FAMILY

Ole Helmer Eliason and wife Kristine left Telemarken, Norway June 1, 1881.  They arrived in Preston, Minnesota, June 9 with three children:  

Elise, John and Mary.  They lived one year near Preston.  They decided they wanted to go farther west so they left together with Simon Ouren and Simon Bustrak.  They got to Valley City June 3, 1882, which was the end of the railroad.  They homesteaded in Sverdrup Township.

Ole Helmer and family lived in a sod house with dirt floor for ten years.  Ole decided he liked the land farther south so he sold out to John Lende.  They went and bought the homestead rights of Martin Ueland, as he had not proved it yet because he had not planted trees.  Helmers moved on this claim in April 22, 1892.  They planted trees and broke sod with oxen.  Homestead rights were awarded to Ole Helmer from the United States Government.

The settlers didn't have an easy time of it.  Hard work and dangers from prairie fires were a hazard being the grass was so tall.  Sickness was another danger being no doctors were close by.  Many a time Mrs. Ole Helmer had to help friends as mid-wife.  It is surprising how many things these people could do.  Most of the women could spin yarn from wool, knit stockings, mittens, make quilts and also make cheese.

Ole and Kristine had 11 children born to them.  Elise, John, Mary, Hannah, Elling, Hans, Minnie, Alma, Ole, George and Melvin.

Ole's wife died in July 1915 and Ole died in June 1924.  George and Melvin, their sons, stayed home with their Dad during his last years.

George Helmer married Alida Glende September 22, 1928.  Three children were born to them, Marlya Kristine, Janice Elaine and James George.

James George Helmer started farming the homestead in 1959.  On September 12, 1960 he married Carole Ruth Johnson.  Three children were born to them, Joseph James, Scott Anthony and Annette Robin.
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GUDRID VIGESAA HETLAND

My father, TORKEL T. VIGESAA, came to America from Vikesaa, Bjerkrem, Norway in 1888 as a twenty year old single man.  He spent a year in the Grafton area before coming to the Cooperstown area where he homesteaded in the beautiful Sheyenne Valley, Broadview Township, Griggs County.  Although not the most convenient land for farming since the river bisected the farm, still it consisted of very fertile soil, free of rocks.

In the early days, he did considerable herding of horses and cattle in the hills along the valley where grass was abundant.

My mother, Lovisa Osland, arrived in America in 1891, coming mainly for the purpose of visiting her sister and family, namely the Torkel T. Fuglestads, who had come to America in 1883.  Her plan was to remain a year, but in the meantime she met Torkel, the young man who had arrived a few years earlier.  Although not previously acquainted, they were from nearly the same locality in Norway near Stavanger.  They were married November 28, 1894, and took up residence on the homestead in Broadview Township approximately fifteen miles southeast of the village of Cooperstown.

Their first child, Betsy, was born August 22, 1895.  My birthday was April 24, two years later.

Since the title of my story is "Early School Days, " I shall now tell about it as I remember it to the best of my ability.

Since no schoolhouse had been erected in the new settlement, there was no chance to attend school at the prescribed age of six or seven.  Betsy became nine years and I was seven before being introduced to the common, rural one-room school and teacher.  It was located one mile to the south of our home down the valley, so we had some very enjoyable early morning and late afternoon walks when weather permitted.  However, in winter, we were privileged to ride by team and sleigh on the icy "pavement" provided by the river itself.  There we were entertained by the many rabbits and other animals as we rode along, often with our Uncle Martin as driver.
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CHRISTOPHER JONASEN FAMILY

Christopher Jonasen, wife Marie and 4 small children (Ole, John, Anna and Helen) from Toten, Norway, crossed a stormy North Sea to England and on to the United States in the winter of 1905.  They settled in Griggs County because Mrs. Jonasen had an uncle, Simon Ouren, and an aunt, Mrs. Iver Hanson, living in Sverdrup Township.

The Jonasens lived on several farms in eastern Griggs and reared a family here.  She died in 1924 and Christ in 1938.  Sons and daughters are:  

1. Ole, who operated a garage in Hope for many years, presently a patient at the Veterans' Hospital in Fargo

2. John, a retired farmer, Dazey, North Dakota

3. Anna, Mrs. Marius Rasmussen, Luverne, North Dakota

4. Helen, Mrs. Alfred Skjeret, Dazey, North Dakota

5. Axel, deceased

6. Minnie, Mrs. G. D. Sherman, Honolulu, Hawaii

7. Chrystine, Mrs. Loftin, Pacific Palisades, California

8. Alf, Duarte, California

9. Nina, Mrs. Leonard Moudy, Capitola Beach, California

10. Mabel, Mrs. Paul Cornwall, Monterey, California
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KNUT J. KALVIK

Knut J. Kalvik was born May 15, 1850, in Norway.  He left Norway and arrived by boat in the Port of Baltimore in May of 1883.  No information has been found when he settled in Greenfield Township.  A paper was found in the Griggs County Courthouse that stated that Knut filed an intent to become a citizen on July 24, 1888.  He became a citizen on October 20, 1898.

Knut homesteaded and built a sod house on the northeast quarter of Section 12 in Greenfield Township.  Knut filed for the homestead on July 28, 1899, and it was approved on December 21, 1899.  This he added to when he bought land east of his homestead on the NW quarter of Section 7 of Broadview Township in 1902.  This is now the farm on which his grandson Orville Kalvik now lives.

Knut Kalvik married Ingeborg J. Taskedal (September 17, 1855-April 26, 1907) in Norway.  No wedding date was found in any records.  Their children are:  

1. Herborg (December 23, 1883-January 31, 1890), John (October 3, 1886-September 13, 1901), Marie (April 8, 1889-January 12, 1967), Olaf (February 25, 1892-May 1, 1958), Herborg (February 9, 1895-October 7, 1897), and Hilda (October 25, 1897-December 20, 1972).

On December 3, 1909, Knut married Torbjor Bjorsvik (1864-December 30, 1938).  They had no children.

Knut died on February 10, 1913.  Knut and Ingeborg are buried in Union Lutheran Church cemetery south of Cooperstown.  Torbjor married Severt Johnson later and is buried in Faith Lutheran Church cemetery near Hannaford.

Marie married Asmund Oppeboen.  Their children:  

Carl, John, Ingmar, Milton, Harry, Margaret, Kenneth, Cora, Agnes.

Olaf married Dorthea (Dora) Haugen.  Their children:  

Inga married Howard Larson.  Their children:  

Carol married Robert Hallett.  Their children:  

DeAnn and Randy.  Darrell married Dianne Grosser.  Their child:  

Dana.  DeVon, Duane, Roger, Debra, and Larry.  Clarence Eugene died at the age of seven.  Doris married John Rondestvedt.  No children.  Doris's second marriage was to Melvin Girling.  Their child:  

Scott.  Orville married Agnes Aaserud.  Their children:  

Arlen and Keith.

Hilda married Lars Harvey.  Their children:  

Kenneth married Esther Sola Haugen.  Their children:  

Elliott Haugen married Vicki Kurtti.  Their child:  

Jay.  Kent Haugen married Diane Stenhjem.  No children.  Sidney married Beatrice Urness.  Their children:  

Gregory, Michael, Mariann, and Karen.  Leonard married Esther Melland.  Their children:  

Linda married Jim Becker.  No children.  Patti, Kathy and Cindy.  Delores married Clifford Johnson.  Their children:  

Jerry, Laurie, and Kimberly.  Leland married Virginia Hendrickson.  Their children:  

Cathy and David.
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JOHN KERBER, SR. 

John Kerber was born in Poland in 1845, married Henrietta Krebs.  They came to the United States in the late 1890's and lived a short time in Michigan.  They came to Griggs County in 1893 and bought Section 17 in Broadview Township, which was originally owned by the Northern Pacific Railway.

Of the nine children born to them, seven came to Griggs County:  

twins John W. and William R. , Henry, George, Hilda, Ann and Mary.  Mary Kerber is the only one still living at this time.

George took over the farm in the early 20's and married Mabel Selbo in 1923.  Three children were born:  

Richard, who is not married, lives on the home farm.  Phyllis, now Mrs. Ralph Schmidt, lives at Audubon, Minnesota Carol is deceased.  George died in 1956, Mabel in 1975.

In the early twenties John W. and his family built up a farmstead on the NW quarter of the Section, and lived there until 1946 when they retired and moved to Minnesota.
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JOHN KERBER

John Kerber came with his family, wife and seven children, to Griggs County in 1893, after four years residence in Michigan.  He eventually became the owner of Section 17 in Broadview Township and built up the farmstead, which still exists on the south half.  It is now owned and operated by a grandson, Richard Kerber.  Other farms in Broadview are also owned by the second or third generation.
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ARNE LIMA

Arne Lima was born at Gjesdal near Stavanger, Norway on July 4, 1872.  Like so many others he decided to seek his fortune in the land of opportunity and in the spring of 1893 he emigrated to America.

He had borrowed money for his ticket so the uppermost thought in his mind was to find work as soon as possible in order that he might pay off this debt.  He worked for different farmers from time to time and for a number of years he worked at the R. C. Cooper Ranch, as did also his brother Ole.  His sister, Ane Vatne, worked for Mrs. Cooper.

Later he filed on a homestead in Broadview Township where he put up a small claim shanty.  After living in this one-room shanty for some time, he had HANS SELDAL build a two-room house.  In the kitchen he had a range, which served for heating as well as for cooking.  Much of the time flax straw was the main fuel used.  One night after he had gone to bed in the other room he noticed in the darkness something glittering in the region of the chimney, and upon closer investigation he found that the rags he had stuffed into the chimney hole to keep the smoke from coming into his room had caught fire.  The fire was quickly extinguished but this would no doubt have ended in tragedy had he been asleep.

After a few years he bought an adjoining quarter Section of land.  Many and varied were his experiences as he began farming in 1902.  He did his cooking and washing, and from a neighbor he learned to make bread.  In order that he might learn to speak, read and write the English language he attended the Freer School for a couple of, winters at the end of which time he received an eighth grade diploma.  Upon being asked by his teacher what he now was going to do he replied that he was going to be a farmer.

In due time he became tired of being a bachelor and on his third visit to Norway to decided to look for a helpmeet.  He became acquainted with Karoline Vormedal from Haugesund, whom he married and brought with him back to America.  He continued to live on the farm until his death, which occurred in 1954.  His wife passed away in 1969.

He was very much interested in politics and civic affairs.  He helped organize the Karnak Farmer's Elevator Company in 1916 and he served as its secretary -treasurer for many years.  He also served as Township supervisor and as Township clerk.

Their four children include:  

Ragnhild (Mrs. Gilbert Johnson), Hope, North Dakota, Gunhild (Mrs. Virgil DeCerbo), East Quogue, N. Y. , Ansgar, Phoenix, Arizona and Jacob, Leonard, North Dakota
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OLE DAVIDSON LIMA

Ole Davidson Lima, father, 1860-1931, Martha Lima, mother, 1868-1900, David Olson Lima, son, 1895-, Gunhild Lima, daughter, 1896-1898, Edith Ruth Lima, daughter, 1897-, Mathilda Lima, daughter, 18981907.

Ole's first trip to America was in 1886.  He remained about five years working as a farm hand.  The going pay for such work was twenty to twenty-two dollars a month.  He saved what he could of his earnings and returned to Norway in 1891, and bought his father's farm.  After two years of operating the farm he could see little future in continuing, so he sold the farm to his brother-in-law, T. Gjesdal.

In the spring of 1893 Ole returned to Cooperstown with Martha, his betrothed.  During the remainder of 1893 Ole did day labor and Martha was a waitress at the Palace Hotel in Cooperstown.  She had worked for two years in London, England, in order to learn the English language and to observe English customs.  Ole and Martha had their wedding at Uncle A. Vatne's home on December 31, 1893.

In 1894 they bought A. Vatne's tree claim, which consisted of SW quarter of Section 4 Broadview Township.  The price paid was $300.  In 1895 Ole rented the Gustav Forsberg farm.  David was born there in 1895.  Gunhild was also born there in the spring of 1896.  She died July 22, 1898.  In 1896 they moved to the tree claim, which became their permanent home.

In the fall of 1899 Martha became ill.  She died November 2, 1900.

Martha's death broke up the family except for a few short intervals.  Ole did not remarry.  David and Ruth were boarded and cared for by relatives, mostly by A. Vatne's but also at times by Baard Herigstad.  Mrs. Vatne was Ole's sister, and Mrs. Herigstad was a first cousin of Martha.  Mathilde was cared for by Sven Lunde (also a relative) during nearly all of her nine years of life.

In May 1906 Ole took a vacation trip to Norway with David along, returning in November of the same year.

David graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1916 and from the University at Grand Forks in 1920.  Ruth did her preparatory schooling in Wahpeton and her college work at St. Olaf College in Northfield, Minnesota.  In one winter Ruth taught school in Hannaford (7 miles straight west from the Lima home) and kept house for Ole.  She drove a model T coupe back and forth.  Another term she taught at Concordia College in Moorhead, Minnesota, and drove up to Ole's farm on week-ends to do housework.  The distance from Moorhead to the farm was about 80 miles.

In May 1924 Ole and Ruth took another vacation trip to Norway in company with Mr. and Mrs. A. Vatne.  The following winter Ruth attended the University of Edinburgh for some special studies.  The following spring they returned to America.
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SKJERET FAMILY

Members of the Skjeret family lived in Broadview Township from 1916 to 1930.  Nicolai Skjeret, a fisherman from Trondheim, Norway, his wife, Anna, and family lived in the Moorhead -Comstock area before coming to Karnak to farm.  Their children - Magdalene, Dina, Fredrika, Alfred, Magnus and Nina - had all grown up in Norway.  All are now deceased.

Nina and her husband, Anders Torgerson, farmed for a number of years in Romness Township.

Alfred married Helen Jonasen in 1923.  They moved south of Walum just across the line into Barnes County in 1930.  However, their children attended school in Walum and in Hannaford.  Alfred died in 1963 and Mrs. Skjeret continues to live on the farm.  Their family:  

Audrey, Mrs. Glenn Ouren, Huntsville, Alabama

Vivian, Mrs. Gilman Goplen, Hannaford

Alfred Jr., Dazey

Leon, Jamestown

Myrna, Mrs. Barton Thompson, Bozeman, Montana

Connie, Mrs. Duane Louden, Cooperstown

Loren, Fargo.
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BERNARD O. STOKKA

Bernard O. Stokka was born to Ola and Maria Stokka on February 7, 1386 in Sverdrup Township, Griggs County, North Dakota.  He was the fourth of six sons.  He spent most of his life in Sverdrup Township.  He married Celina Loge on March 17, 1912.  She was the Daughter of Lars and Berta Loge of Stavanger, Norway.  She came to the Cooperstown area from Norway in 1905.  They farmed in Sverdrup Township until 1939 when they moved to a farm in Broadview Township.  To this union were born six children.

Stanley married Shirley Pollock.  They have one child, Tracy.  They live and farm in Broadview Township.

Clifford died in 1942 at the age of 28 years.

Doris married ERNEST ERICKSON.  He is Griggs County Auditor.  He farmed in Sverdrup Township, where he now lives, till 1959 when he was elected auditor and his sons took over the farming operation.  They have five children, LYONEL married Kathleen Grover, lives and farms in Broadview Township, has one child, Jill.  WARREN, unmarried, lives at home, and farms.  SHERIDAN married Janette Trautman, lives and farms in Washburn Township.  They have three children:  

Shannon, Angela and Ryan.  Dawn unmarried is a Social Worker in the Chicago area.  Beth, unmarried, is presently at home.

Gordon resides in Fargo, North Dakota and works for the railroad as depot agent.  He married Joyce Anderson and they have four children.  Terry, with the Air Force, is married to Artha Tatro, lives in California, and has one child, Bethany.  Cameron, who is studying to be a medical doctor, is attending school in Texas.  He married Susan Melheim.  Darlis and Kari Jo are at home.

Agnes married Virgil Jensen and they farmed in Washburn Township.  Virgil passed away in 1975.  Their children are

1. Jerry, a trucker and farmer, lives at home and has two sons.  Dennis lives in Hibbing, Minnesota, works with Youth for Christ, is married to Edna Gage.  Aurel and Virginia are in secretarial work in Fargo, North Dakota.  Merlyn is a farm laborer in the Cooperstown area.  Audrey, Marilyn, and Wanda are still at home.

Helen married Reverend Richard Hess and resides in Indiana, Pennsylvania where he serves as pastor of an Evangelical Free Church.  They have three children, David who works on a farm near Maddock, North Dakota, Jerri and Jon at home.

Bernard O. Stokka passed away at the Elim Rest Home at Fargo, North Dakota on February 9, 1969.  Mrs. Stokka passed away at home in June 1962.
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TORKEL VIGESAA FAMILY

Torkel Vigesaa was born in Norway in 1868.  He came to America in 1888 and settled in Broadview Township, two years later.  He was married to Lovisa Osland in 1894.  They were the parents of eight children, Betsy, Gudrid, Agnes, Ruth, Mildred, Trygve, Lawrence and Hurluf.  Mr. Vigesaa passed away in 1937, Mrs. Vigesaa in 1959.

Betsy Vigesaa married Albert Berge in 1919.  They were the parents of five children, Luella, Ellen, Torry, Robert and Ronald.  Albert Berge passed away in 1959.  They farmed in Sverdrup Township.

Gudrid married Carl Hetland.  They were the parents of three children, Mavis, Phillip, and Glenn.  The Hetlands farmed in Sverdrup Township.

Agnes married Lars Nevland and they have one daughter, LeVon.  In addition to farming, Mr. Nevland was a carpenter in Sverdrup Township.

Ruth married Oswald Wuflestad and they are the parents of four children:  

1. Gene, Monroe, Mary Lou and Dorothy.  They farmed in Sverdrup Township.

Mildred married Lester Erickson.  They have served as Missionaries in Africa, plus churches in Canada and the states.  They are presently (1975) at Barnesville, Minnesota They have four children, Ruth, Rachel, Joel and Phillip.

Trygve Vigesaa married Elsie Bergstad of Lake Park, Minnesota.  They have six children, Karen, Loren.  Daniel, Harold, Steven and Rebecca.  The Trygve Vigesaa family farmed the home farm in Broadview Township.

Lawrence Vigesaa married Constance Watne.  They were the parents of six sons and one daughter, Theodore, George, David, Larry, Torkel, Peter and Carolyn.  Mrs. Vigesaa passed away in 1963.  They farmed in Sverdrup Township.

Herluf Vigesaa married Ruth Bergstad from Menarga, Minnesota They have four children, Everett, Kathy, Roald and Jeanne.  They farmed in Sverdrup Township.
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BRYAN TOWNSHIP

History

Respect and Admiration for the "Great Commoner" is largely responsible for the selection of the above name for this well-known Griggs Township.  It was suggested by OLE BAKKEN, who was a great admirer of William Jennings Bryan.

Bryan was created as a civil Township on August 13, 1900 upon petition by 22 persons.  The commissioners ordered an election to be held on September 4, 1900.  On that date officers were named and a general organization of the Township launched.  The officers elected were:  

A. H. Overby, Albert Turk and Andrew Dahlin for supervisors, Hans H. Helland for treasurer, and J. D. Johnson was chosen as clerk.  Evidently Andrew T. Falla replaced Dahlin as supervisor in 1902, as the records show Dahlin as assessor in 1902.

The first settlers in Bryan are not known, but A. H. OVERBY seems to have been there since 1884.  Henry Cole, Grant Richardson, S. R. Klein, Ed Evenson, F. Jeffords, Nils Iverson, John Hagberg, Thune, Hogie, William Lucht and Pugh were familiar names in the early 1900's.
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BRYAN SCHOOLS

The first school on record in Bryan was the Overby School taught by Henry Peterson for a short term in 1900.  It was called the Red Willow district at that time.  In 1901 the Bryan School District was organized and Edith Anderson taught a four months term in school No. 1, (Overby).  The salary was $35.00 a month.

The first school in the NW corner of the Township (school No. 2) was in the fall of 1903 for a six months term.  There were 21 pupils enrolled.  Orris E. Wood was the teacher.  He taught for three consecutive terms.  In 1904-1905 there were 39 pupils enrolled.  Clara Feiring was County Superintendent at that time.  Prior to 1903 some of the children from Bryan attended school in Rosendal Township.

The new schoolhouse was built on the SW corner of Section 5, but was moved to Mose in either 1906 or 1907.  Mathilda L. Johnson is believed to have been the first teacher there.  A new and larger schoolhouse was built about 1909.  Mrs. Ed Rorvig taught the first term there.  Miss Regina Klubben taught the 1910-1911 term.

In 1961 the Bryan School District joined with Binford School District.  The No. 2 schoolhouse is now used as a Township hall.
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MOSE

The Northern Pacific Railroad came through in 1899 and the town of Mose came into existence.  It was called Lewis from the beginning but was later changed to Mose.  It was named after MORRIS (MOSE) GREENLAND who was one of the first businessmen there.  It was considered to call it Florence at one time, as FLORENCE PHIPPS was the first child born there.

K. Thompson is believed to have built the first store building, but Olaf Johnson and Carl Hagman probably took over shortly afterwards.  They were there until about 1911 when Hans Aarestad bought them out.  Mose was a good little town at that time having two elevators, a lumberyard, blacksmith shop, hardware store and a general merchandise store.  It also had a post office, livery barn and a Hotel -Restaurant.

Henry Peterson took over the store in 1913 and called it the Mose Mercantile.  In 1917 or 1918 B. C. Week bought him out, He operated the store until the late 30's when Grant Peterson took over.

In the evening of July 12, 1943 a terrible wind storm swept across this part of the state blowing down barns, trees and doing damage to other buildings.  The elevators and the store building were badly damaged.  The contents of the store were moved to another building, and the elevators were torn down shortly afterwards.  After the elevators were gone there was not enough business for the store either, so that too was soon discontinued.
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Mose Nareon Church

The Nareon Lutheran Congregation was organized by Pastor E. T. Silness of the Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church.  The meeting was held on the 25th day of August, 1901 at the J. D. Barclay home.  There were eleven charter members, as follows:  

J. D. Johnson, Anton A. Falla, Christian Leir, A. P. Ramsey, John A. Carlson, J. D. Barclay, Andrew N. Overby, Anton T. Falla, Adolph Carlson, M. C. Leir and Hans Dyrdal.

In the early years Reverend Dybvig served the congregation for funerals, baptisms and occasional services, which were held in homes or in the schoolhouse.

In 1932 a church was moved in from the S. R. KLEIN farm in Section 20, Bryan.  The Reverends Wangen, Ordahl, Overgaard and Borlaug served the congregation until it was dissolved in November 1958.  The few members left joined with Trinity in Binford or Our Savior's at McHenry.

A cemetery association was then organized, and the church was later sold and torn down.
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Settlers

EVENSON FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Oliver Evenson emigrated from Norway and settled in Minnesota near Fergus Falls in Ottertail County.  They had six children, three girls, two boys, and a son from a former marriage of Mrs. Evenson.

The Oliver Evenson family moved to North Dakota in 1888.  They settled on a homestead in Bryan Township, which consisted of the W 1/2 of the W 1/2 of Section 26.  During these first years the oxen were used as their only source of power.

Oliver passed away in 1904 and Dorothea, his wife, in 1905.  The girls were married and moved away.  Ole Olson, the step-son, was a mail carrier in Devils Lake.  John Evenson a veteran of World War I, died in 1918.

Edward was 13 years old, when his family settled in Bryan Township.  He continued to live on the homestead and enlarged it when he purchased the mile long strip along the homestead from Hank Hogie.  He now owned the west half of Section 26.

In November 1905 he married Soverine Iverson.  She had moved to North Dakota, from Brooten, Minnesota with her brother, Embrick Iverson.  They each homesteaded land, but when she married Edward she sold this land to her brother.

In 1905 Edward sold a piece of land to the Bryan School District.  A schoolhouse was built and later all six of the children attended school here.

They planted a large grove of trees, which included all kinds of fruit trees and bushes.  The fruit and grove was a great joy to the family.

Edward practiced diversified farming.  He, too, endured the hardships of blizzards, drought, hail, etc., throughout his lifetime on the farm.  For some time now he had been using horses as his source of energy.

After the dry years he practiced strip-cropping to eliminate soil erosion.  About this time his two sons, Julius and Carl, were gradually beginning to help with much of the work.

By 1934 all the children had left home with the exception of Julius.  Julius stayed on the farm and had gradually turned from horses to mechanical power.  Since turning to grain farming he needed more land.  He rented 240 acres in Section 23 for a few years.  He purchased this land from William Lucht.  Then later he enlarged the farm again when he purchased the east half of Section 26.

Due to the poor health of the folks Julius purchased a house in Cooperstown.  He and the folks moved off the farm in 1959.  Edward passed away in 1962 and Soverine in 1964.  Julius still owns and farms the land in Bryan Township, but lives in Cooperstown.

The six children are:  

1. Helen - Mrs. Palmer C. Ramsey, Odessa, Texas, Olga - Mrs. Charles D. Francis, Odessa, Texas (deceased)

2. Agnes - Mrs. Archie Marson, Cooperstown, North Dakota

3. Clara - Mrs. G. B. Anderson, Minneapolis, Kansas

4. Julius - Cooperstown, North Dakota

5. Carl and family, Odessa, Texas.
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P. J. FINSTUEN FAMILY

Peter John Finstuen and Gitta Bjugan were born and grew up on neighboring farms in Goodhue County, Minnesota.  They were married there on September 19, 1900.  They lived on a rented farm the first year of their marriage.

In the meantime Peter P. Finstuen, John's father, had made a payment on two quarters of railroad land in Bryan Township in Section 32 and 35.  John and his brother, Oscar, who was single, left for North Dakota in the fall of 1901 and dug wells, built stables and started to build a house.  When winter set in they returned to Minnesota for the winter.

In the spring of 1902 John and Oscar left for North Dakota with equipment, seed, household goods, food and livestock loaded in railroad boxcars.  One horse had gotten down, trampled by other animals, and so had to be destroyed.  John had only a hammer and jackknife to do the job.  In mid April Mrs. Finstuen and 9-month-old son, Hartvig, arrived.  They rode on a quilt spread on top of a load of lumber needed for the farm buildings.  They rode across the prairie, crossing creeks, sloughs and going around a few hills to make it easier for the horses.  The house was not completely shingled so they could see the stars shining between the roof boards at night.

Their greatest comfort as early settlers were the neighbors who helped where and whenever help was needed.  Among these were the Hogie family.  Mattie Hogie, who grew up to be Mrs. Meldor Solee, was the girl who often came to baby-sit and help Mrs. Finstuen.

Andrew Dybwad stopped by one day when hauling lumber from Binford to his home in the Glenfield area.  They spoke the same kind of Norwegian, and gave the Finstuens their first dinner invitation and the friendship began which still exists today.

All the babies were born at home, often without a doctor's care.  They were a healthy family but 19171918 was different.  During a three-day blizzard 10-year-old Arnold became very ill.  Dr. Truscott diagnosed his illness as appendicitis.  There was no train service to Binford because of snow-blocked cuts.  He was taken to Sutton to catch the train to Fargo.  Arnold recovered from the ruptured appendix but picked up a virulent type of measles, which he shared with the family.  His seven-year-old sister had to be taken to Fargo for mastoid surgery, but passed away in April 1917.  Illness plagued the family until the spring of 1918.

Peter John Finstuen died in March 1924 but the children carried on until they started homes of their own.  Mrs. Finstuen and daughter, Thelma, tended the Binford switchboard for the Griggs County Telephone Company

At present the family members live in the following places:  

Hartvig, Arizona

Mrs. Harold (Valborg) Nelson, Ohio

Palmer, Arnold and Mrs. Warren (Evelyn) Bruns all of Tacoma, Washington

Mrs. Clifford (Thelma) Christopherson, Marysville, Wisconsin, and Mrs. Edward (Ruth) Moe in Binford.
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THE LEWIS IVERSON FAMILY

My father, Lewis Iverson, was born in Spring Grove, Minnesota in 1872 and came to Sharon, North Dakota and then to Hatton, North Dakota from Brooten, Minnesota to work and also as a tree salesman during the 1890's.  He then homesteaded in Bryan Township of Griggs County.  He used to tell my brother Lloyd how he came to homestead on that particular place.  MARTIN WOLD, who had a homestead just west of our farm came to Sharon one day and informed my father that there was a good piece of land that could be had.  Dad liked the looks of that land and decided to file a homestead claim after first looking over several other areas.

Dad built a small house to begin with and lived alone for several years.  In 1907 he married my mother (Nettie Rinde) from Sharon, North Dakota.  She was born at Albert Lea, Minnesota in 1878.  My mother used to tell how very lonesome she was those first five years, because they did not seem to be able to have any children.

My uncle, NELS IVERSON, homesteaded on the farm where my brother Norris Iverson now lives.  Lisa (who was Nels's wife) and my mother were very close friends and pals besides being sisters-in-law.  Mother and Lisa would be together a lot, attending Ladies Aid and other functions of the day.  Lisa passed away when their last girl was born.  This of course was a terrible tragedy for that family and my mother missed her very much.  My folks were then to keep one of her children, Myrtle, for a while and it was during this time that mother came into a "family way" as she put it.

At home in the early days horses and buggy were used for transportation plus the covered sleigh in the winter.  The horses were used for fieldwork and we needed between 20 and 30 of them at times.  This type of farming required a great deal of hired help in addition to the household chores until we children became old enough to be of some help.

While we were growing up the language used was Norwegian.  When we started school it was difficult for us, as we had to learn English besides learning how to read and write.  It soon became apparent to our parents that we use the English language at home, which we all did, and Norwegian became secondary except that Hazel, my sister, was confirmed in Norwegian.  In the summers we were required by our parents to attend parochial school for one month.  This we did until we were all confirmed.  We also learned to read and write in Norwegian those first years at this school but eventually was not used at all and we gradually forgot almost all of the Norwegian we had learned.  The little I remember helped immensely though when we visited the Scandinavian Countries on two occasions.

The nineteen thirties were of course the very hard years for most others and us.  We had some enjoyment along with the hard times but it seemed like the work was never done.  We had good guidance though, but at times we thought our father a little too stern but know now that he had to be to save what we had.  One thing we knew was that our parents loved us and were concerned, but when you are very young, it is hard to understand their feelings.  He used to say even then that he had not lost faith in North Dakota.  He had lived there in good times too.

I graduated from high school in 1932 just when things were beginning to get very hard.  I wanted to go on to school but mother was not well and Hazel had started Nurse's training in Fargo.  My father and I had a serious talk and after discussing this idea of college back and forth, I could borrow the money, however he said he would let me have a pure-bred heifer that he had bought along with all of her off-spring as long as I would stay home and help.  Now I knew that he was really worrying about Mother and my brothers.  He figured if we would stay together we could make it.  I was to stay home for the next three years.  Finally he felt that I could leave and try my wings, which I did.

I think of ELMER one of those years when it was so dry, he had to re-dig a big waterhole in the creek bottom for the livestock.  He used a scoop and a team of horses to make this hole.  After making several passes he was waist deep in mud.  He did get water after almost drowning!  Those dry years, Dad would have us plant potatoes in a slough bottom in order to get enough moisture to get them to grow.  There is a bright spot here and that is we always had plenty of good food.  Our parents were very resourceful and ambitious.  They were able to keep their farm and acquire more land as years went by.  There must be a moral here somewhere.  Our parents are deceased, Dad passed away in 1944 and Mother in 1973.

Hazel Iverson McBride lives in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  She has two children.  Penny (Mrs. Richard Rood) who has one son, Michael, and lives in Minneapolis.  Thomas and his wife Joan and two sons also live in Minneapolis.

Anne Iverson Nielsen lives in West Fargo, North Dakota with her husband Kenneth.  They have one daughter, Nola, who lives near Kindred with her husband Edward Hahn and three children.

Elmer Iverson lives in Scottsdale, Arizona and at Red Willow Lake in the summer with his wife Dorothy.  He has three children.  ROD, who lives and farms on the Elmer Iverson home farm with his wife Marilyn and son Ryan.  Paul, who lives in Arizona with his wife Elaine and son Troy.  Laurie, who is married to Tom Beattie, and lives with him in Germany. 

LLOYD IVERSON lives on the home farm with his wife Adeline and son Blair who attends college.

NORRIS IVERSON lives on the Nels Iverson homestead with his wife Virginia.  They have three sons.  Gregory, who is a doctor and lives in Iowa with his wife Dianne.  Jarl, who teaches music in Elmore, Minnesota and Louis, who is at home and also attends college.

Anne Iverson Nielsen
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J. D. JOHNSON FAMILY

J. D. Johnson was born in Sogn, Norway and his wife, Mina Falla, was born at Hurdal, Norway.  They came with their parents and settled in Grant county, Minnesota Mr. Johnson's name was originally John D. Barclay, but when they came to Minnesota, his cousin by the same name was a close neighbor.  This caused quite a mix-up with the mail and the identity of each man.  So, as to avoid trouble the man who later came to Mose, North Dakota, changed his name from Barclay to Johnson.

J. D. Johnson and Mina Falla were married in Elbow Lake, Minnesota and farmed there until 1899.  ANDREW T. FALLA, a brother of Mina, left Grant county for a homestead in North Dakota, in May 1899 and Mr. and Mrs. J. D. Johnson followed him in the fall.  Several others from the same neighborhood also came about the same time and settled in Bryan and Rosendal Township.  Mr. Falla homesteaded on the NW quarter of Section 6 and the Johnsons took the E1/2 of the E1/2 of Section 6, Bryan Township.  They came by immigrant car to Courtenay and drove across from there with team and wagon.

There were four children in the J. D. Johnson family at that time.  There were no buildings on their farm so they stayed with Falla's until a small house could be built.  Mr. Falla had built a good-sized barn and they all lived in the hayloft.

Mr. Johnson worked for Anton Jenson in his store in McHenry so as to get some groceries, as money was scarce when starting a new home.  He was very interested in politics, and helped organize the Township.  He was elected Township clerk and held that office until his death in 1940, when his son took over for the next thirty years.

There were 16 children born to the J. D. Johnsons.  They were:  

John, W. , Bina, Thomas, Henry, George, Tillie, Arthur, Joseph, Mabel, Myrtle, Elmer, Annie and Margaret.  Three others had died very young.  Henry Johnson (who submitted this history) and four sisters are the only ones living now (1975).

HENRY JOHNSON married Agnes Adrian in 1941 and they have three children:  

Shirley, Ellen and Eugene.  Shirley married Loren Johnson, a teacher.  They have two children and live at Fairfield, Montana.  Ellen married Larry Hoiberg, a principal in a Grand Forks school.  They have two children.  Eugene married Debra Williams and he teaches school at St. John, North Dakota.  They have one child.
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SIVERT LARSON

Sivert Larson was born June 19, 1925 (son of Tom and Guri Larson) on the home farm 21/2 miles west of Binford, North Dakota.  After finishing High School he was engaged in farming with his Dad.

On June 25, 1944 Sivert and Joyce Helen Edlund (daughter of Kenneth and Alice Edlund Binford, North Dakota) were united in marriage in the Trinity Lutheran Church in Binford, North Dakota.

They purchased a farm 2 miles west and 1 mile south of Binford, North Dakota in 1946.  Grain farming and a high producing Holstein herd of dairy cows was the principal means of income.  A family of five daughters was born and raised on the farm and the family as a unit helping with the work made farming an enjoyable and successful way of living and bring up a family.

On May 14, 1962 Joyce was killed when the tractor she was attempting to pull but a stalled milk truck with tipped and killed her instantly.

Sivert, with the help of the older daughters, raised the younger girls, continued with the grain farming and milking until 1964 when the 80 head of Holstein cattle were sold at public Auction.  It was the dispersal of one of the 10 top Holstein herds in North Dakota on D. H. I. A. testing Program.
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TOM LARSON FAMILY

Tom Larson was born on a small farm in Nodlund, Egersund, Norway on June 27, 1886.  Guri (Carlson) Larson was born December 6, 1889 at Asse, Egersund, Norway.  Knowing he wouldn't be able to support a family on the old farm home beside the North Sea in Norway, he left Norway in 1907, at the age of 21 years to seek a new life in America.  He was employed as a farm laborer near Jessie, North Dakota until 1910 when he returned to Norway.  On January 19, 1911 Tom and Guri were united in marriage in a church in Egersund, Norway where they both had been confirmed and baptized.  They left Norway March 1, 1911 and arrived back on March 14, 1911 on a farm near Binford.  They lived on a farm 21h miles west of Binford from 1919 to 1946, this farm was purchased in 1925, and provisions from the farm raised a family of six sons and four daughters.

They retired in 1946 from the farm and purchased a home in Binford, North Dakota, where Tom is presently residing and still real active and in good health.

Tom and Guri returned to their homeland in Norway in 1958 after an absence of 47 years.  They spent nine months visiting their relatives and old neighbors and Tom fished almost daily in the North Sea, which he enjoyed so much.  They returned to Binford and enjoyed many more years of good health and in 1970 returned again for a visit to Egersund, Norway.  They were accompanied by their nephew Dwight Larson and joined later by a son, Sivert Larson.  It was an enjoyable trip in which Dwight and Sivert were shown the home farm, relatives and mostly beautiful Norway itself.

Tom and Guri celebrated their 63rd wedding anniversary on January 19, 1974 and the following September 4th, 1974 Guri Larson passed away.  A family of two had raised 6 sons, 4 daughters, 53 grandchildren and 39 great-grandchildren.  Tom and Guri were proud of the community in which they lived, thankful for all their friends, thankful for having been given the opportunity to live and raise such a large family in a great country like America.

Their children:  

Thelford, 4 children

Carl, 3 children

Johanna (Kurti), 7 children

Ann (Storkson), 4 children-, Halvor, 7 children

Melvin, 2 children

Trygve, 4 children

Sivert, 5 children

Vivian (Avdem), 8 children

Gladys (Marquart), 7 children.
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CARL R. MILLER FAMILY

Carl R. Miller was born April 23, 1893 on a farm in Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County.  His parents were Peter C. and Marit (Flagstad) Miller.  There were ten children in the family.  Carl's older brother died at the age of nine years from measles.  Other brothers and sisters were:  

Theodore, Henry, Elmer, Arthur, Clara, Hilma and Marie.  One sister died in infancy.  Theodore and Hilma have also passed away.

Carl grew to manhood on the farm in Pilot Mound Township.  In 1919 he started farming in Nelson county near Pekin, North Dakota On January 1, 1925 he was married to Mary Anna Donahue of Forde Township, Nelson county, near Pekin, North Dakota.  This farm was known as the Lars Fredrickson farm.  In the fall of 1927 they bought and moved on what was then the John Hageberg farm in Bryan Township, four miles southwest of Binford, North Dakota.  Here they farmed for 45 years.  Mr. Miller served on the Bryan Township school board for twenty years.  During the depression and drought years of the thirties the visibility was at times down to zero from blowing dust and the temperature registered as high as 118 degrees in the shade.

Seven children were born to the Millers, including one set of twins, Duane and Darwin.  The seven children, all married are:

Mrs. Trygve (Marian) Thompson, Cooperstown, North Dakota, they have five daughters and one grand-daughter in their family.

Mrs. Robert (Florence) Stahl, Binford, North Dakota, they have two sons and five daughters in their family.

Robert Miller, Moorhead, Minnesota, his wife is Jean Johnson.  They have two daughters, one son and one grandson.

Mrs. Walter (Dolores Ann) Boe, Fargo, North Dakota, they have three sons and one daughter.

Mrs. Roger (Shirley) Adrian, Madison, Minnesota, they have three sons and one daughter.

Duane Miller, Captain in the Air Force is stationed in Japan.  His wife is Gayle Evans they have one daughter.

Darvin Miller, Moorhead, Minnesota.  His wife is Karen Froiland and they have two daughters.

In 1972 the Millers moved from the farm to Fargo, North Dakota Carl Miller died August 1, 1973 at the age of 80.  Mrs. Miller is living in Moorhead, Minnesota.
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HANS NIELSON OVERBY

In 1874 Hans Nielson immigrated to America from Norway together with his wife and four children.  Hans Nielson was the son of Niels Hansen and Anne Paulsdatter, born January 5, 1830 at Vardal, Opplund, Norway.  On March 3, 1851, he was united in marriage to Berte Christiansdatter.  Four children were born to this union:  

Niels Hansen (this son did not come to America with his family)

Mathea Hansdatter, born August 13, 1853 (Mrs. Ole Lockrem)

Berte Helene Nielsdatter born July 11, 1860 (Mrs. John Vangen)

and Andreas Hansen (known as Andrew H. Overby) born November 30, 1863.  In 1871, Berte, Hans' wife died of cancer and on May 8, 1872 Hans Nielsen married Ambjor (Emma) Andersdatter.  Before immigrating to America a son Bernt Hansen (known as Ben Overby) was born on January 25, 1873.

Upon coming to America Hans Nielsen took the name Overby derived from the farm name in Norway, which was Overbyeie.  Hans and Ambjor settled in Little Chicago, Minnesota, (about 8 miles west of Northfield).  While living in Minnesota four children were born:  

Andrew N. , born February 11, 1876

Anne born February 1, 1877 (Mrs. John Johnson)

Christian born June 12, 1880

and Betsy born February 11, 1883 (Mrs. Tom Rendahl).

In 1884 Hans, Ambjor and their family, along with their son Andrew H. Overby and his wife (Ingeborg Vangen), came to Dakota Territory and settled in Bryan Township, Griggs County.  Also at that time Ingeborg's brothers, John Vangen and family and Carl Vangen came to Bryan Township.  These four all settled on the same Section of land (Section 12, Bryan Township).  These women were the only white women in the Township.  In time they could borrow $300.00 per quarter and let the land go back when it came due, if they so desired.

In 1885 another daughter, Clara (Mrs. Lewis Williamson) was born.

Hans Nielsen Overby died on June 2, 1895 and was buried at the West Prairie Church northeast of Binford, as it was the closest cemetery at that time.  Ambjor died on January 30, 1917 and was buried at the Binford cemetery.
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THE ANDREW H. OVERBY FAMILY

Andrew H. Overby and Ingeborg Vangen, married in April 1884, had three children while living in their sod house in Bryan Township.  Hans was born November 15, 1884

Paul was born March 13, 1886, and Bertha (Mrs. Walter Kile) was born December 23, 1888.  They could well have spent more years in that sod house had it not been for an incident that occurred in the fall of 1889 or 1890.  That particular fall day, Ingeborg went to the field to dig potatoes and left three small children in the house.  Hans decided to entertain his little sister Bertha, so took sticks from the wood-box and held them in the stove.  When one stick got too short, he'd throw that piece back in the wood box and take a new one.  It wasn't long until the wood box caught fire.  The three stood and watched it burn until the smoke got too thick and they opened the door and went outside.  The hay in the roof caught fire and made all the smoke.  Hans had to pull Bertha up the eight-inch rise to get her out the door.  *(The sod house was built by digging a shallow hole about 8 inches deep and then building it up with sod.)  When Ingeborg looked toward the house from the field and saw all the smoke she came running.

That winter they lived with Andrew's dad and wife, Hans Neilsen Overby who ' at that time had a small frame house.  The next spring Andrew H. built a frame shanty and put it on Section 11 about the same site where the chicken coop now stands on the Paul Overby farm.  This was not their land but at that time they just built wherever they wanted.  They dug a hole under the shanty for a cellar.  It did not have inside walls, so Ingeborg plastered it with several layers of newspaper to help ward off the cold of winter.  Paul said that whenever his mother ran out of silverware in that shanty, she'd just lift the trap door to the cellar and there was plenty of it down there.  It would fall right through the floor.

Andrew H. bought a barn from Andrew Thorne of Jessie and moved it over to his quarter in about 1895.  Then later that year they moved it over west to Section 10 of Bryan Township.  Here Andrew H. had a larger frame house that he had moved in a year or so before from the McHenry area.  Before they moved up there, John Peterson fixed up the house for them, putting in the window upstairs and a gable on the south side.  There was no basement under the house and it was very cold.  In 1895 Andrew H. pulled over the shanty they were living in and used it as a kitchen.  They dug a small cellar under that part.

From the information that Andrew H. 's son Paul gave, it was the quarter Section where the buildings stood in Section 10 that his father homesteaded.  He also obtained a quarter by preemption and another for a tree claim.  When Andrew H. built his barn in 1902 or 1903, he built that across the Section line in Section 3, on land that he did not own.  When more settlers started coming in from Minnesota, he bought that land so he wouldn't lose his new barn.  That barn was a real swell building in its day.  It had three double walls with shiplap both outside and inside, except the wall where the lean was.

Andrew H. and Ingeborg had 14 children, two of whom were stillborn.  Besides the three born in the sod house, there were:  

Nels, Dora, (Mrs. Eric Moe)

Petra (Mrs. Hustav Haugen)

Chris, Olai, Johnny

Marie

and Mattie (Mrs. Gilman Moe).

In 1909 Andrew H. purchased the steam rig.  It had a 16-bottom plow that it pulled.  The front of the engine had a large iron door.  Every morning early it was Paul's job to open that door and clean out the 72 flues that were filled with soot.  After that it took quite a while to fire up and get up enough steam to operate.  In the field for plowing they fired with coal, but in threshing they often fired with straw to cut the expense.  Next to the fire-stack was another piece not quite so tall.  That was the steam whistle.  It was used as a signal to give different messages.  Two long blows might mean "we are low on water, hurry! “  Then the water wagon driver would press his horses into a run.  These water-monkeys, as they were called, had a real job to keep up.  Andrew H. 's daughter Dora was the water monkey.  She got the water from a spring down below Gordon Overby's on the way to Binford.  Threshing time was the most exciting time for the kids - next to Christmas.  Louis Williamson was the separator man on the rig.  When he married Clara Overby, Andrew's half sister, and moved to Kidder County to take up a homestead, they lost a lot of grain as it went into the straw-pile due to lack of adjustment.  In the depression years of the 1930's when people were so hard up, everyone sold every scrap of iron they weren't using and an offer of $25.00 was made for this machine.  It was in perfect running order so they steamed it up and ran it into Binford and sold it for $25.00.  It had cost $3,000.00 when they bought it new.

Andrew H. Overby died on April 15, 1932 and was buried at the Binford cemetery.  His wife Ingeborg died May 20, 1938 and was buried at the Binford cemetery.
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PAUL OVERBY

In January of 1908 Paul Overby made a trip to Northfield, Minnesota, its purpose unknown to the family.  On the 25th of January that year he was joined in wedlock to Sophia Jorgine Haugen, daughter of Gilbert Nelson Haugen and Ingeborg Isabel Estrem.  On returning to Binford on a cold winter day he met his brother Hans on the street and asked him to take his horse and wagon and go pick up his wife at the store.  Hans didn't believe he was married and neither did anyone else in town that day.

That winter Paul and Sophia lived with his parents and in the spring they moved to Andrew H. 's quarter of Section 12.  Then after crops were in that spring they dug a basement in the middle of the flax field on the NW quarter of Section 11.  A Mr. Nordstrom was hired to build their frame house.  He made it four feet longer than the foundation as he said it made for better rooms.  The cost of that house was about $2, 000.00.  It wasn't until about 1940 that the bedroom to the west of the house was added.  Then in 1909 the old barn that Andrew H. had gotten from Andrew Thorne was moved again and put on Paul's farm.  Paul raised the roof about four feet to make a haymow.  In 1909 they dug the well.  It was dug by a machine powered by horses going around and around.  Then they went over by Jessie, dug small trees, and planted them north of the house.  A little later they ordered box elders and finished their planting.

Paul and Sophia had ten children.  Twins, Hans and Clara were born October 7, 1908, and died about the age of two weeks.  Inga, born in 1909 became Mrs. Leon Willett, Emma, born in 1911 (Mrs. Paul Baker)

Andrew born in 1913

twins, Clarence Herman (killed in World War II) and Clara Hermina born November 8, 1916

Byron Gilbert born in 1919

Roy Palmer, in 1922 and a baby girl who died at birth.  Cleon Moe born in 1934 was adopted by Paul and Sophie.  His mother, Paul's sister Mattie, died shortly after Cleon's birth.

Even as late as 1928 when their last baby was born and died, everything was taken care of at home.  The morning the baby was born Paul awoke all the children much earlier than usual and they were all instructed to go to work in the potato field.  Paul then went and got Martha (Mrs. Nels Overby) who at that time lived where the Johnny Overby farm is now located.  She came over and delivered the baby girl who died at birth.  Had there been medical facilities available and used it is very likely that the baby could have been saved.  After the baby was born the children were called back to the house.  They all watched while Martha bathed and dressed their dead little sister.  Paul made a little wooden coffin and Martha lined it with pink fabric and placed the baby in it.

Paul and Sophie lived to enjoy 64 years of married life together and nearly all of that time was spent in the same house they built the first year they were married.  Sophia Overby died on April 30, 1972, and Paul on

December 28, 1972.  They are buried at the Binford cemetery.  They were a wonderful couple and their children and grandchildren have some very special and cherished memories of them to carry with us.
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JACOB RAMSEY HISTORY

Jacob Peder Ramsey was born in Gudvagen, Norway May 20, 1875.  He immigrated to United States when he was 14 to Emmons, Minnesota, where he met and married Anna Bertina Thompson, October 23, 1897.  He became a naturalized citizen in Freeborn Company, Minnesota on May 22, 1900.

Eleven children were born to them and they are all living yet.  In 1916 they came by train to Binford with two carloads of livestock, machinery and furniture.  The first night they spent with his brother, Andrew Ramsey and family, who farmed north west of Binford.  The next day they began moving their property to a farm that they had rented from Oscar Greenland, south west of Binford, about eight miles.  They lived there one year and then they moved one mile north and a half a mile west, to a farm owned by the Halvorson Thompson Land Company.  He later bought the farm and built a new eight room house and a big granary, cattle shed, machine shed and a lean on the barn.  The children walked 11/2 miles to school, in Bryan Township.  The children are:  

1. PALMER, 77 years of age.  He married Helen Evenson and they have seven children.  They moved to Texas in 1938 and he worked in the Oil Fields as a mechanic until retiring.  ALBERT, 75 years of age married Minnie Brudvig Rothert, they farmed here a few years, and then they moved to Arlington, Washington where they also farmed.  Two daughters were born to them.  Minnie passed away in 1966.  Albert married again in 1973.  ALVIN married Ruth Knutson and they have seven children.  They farm close to Hannaford.  EILERT married Eleanor Johnson, he teaches in Devils Lake, and they have three children.  EMMA married Joe Harpestad and they have eight children.  They farmed in Alsen, North Dakota.  Joe passed away in January of 1960.  Emma lives in Devils Lake.  JENSINA married Hilmer Forsberg.  They have four daughters.  Hilmer passed away April 16, 1961.  He had been a farmer at Juanita.  Jensina now lives in Grace City and is head cook at the school there.  MATHILDA married Palmer Hayden.  They lived in McHenry for a while and then moved to McVille where he was a mechanic and later a Cop.  Eight children were born to them.  He is retired now.  CARINA married Casper Rice and they moved to Hibbing, Minnesota.  He worked in the Iron Mines until he passed away February 2, 1961.  They had four children.  NORA married Raymond Hagen.  They farmed north west of Cooperstown until he retired, because of poor health.  They had three children.  He passed away in March of 1962.  She married Ray Anton in 1965.  OLGA married Albert Hayden and they farmed for 15 years.  Then he sold his farm and went to work for a road construction company for a few years.  He was accidentally electrocuted in April of 1958.  They had seven children.  Olga lives in Detroit Lakes and works for Swift and Company.
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THE HISTORY OF OLE THUNE

Ole Thune was born November 2, 1845, and passed away May 17, 1904, at 59 years.  He came to America in 1882 with his mother, two brothers, and two sisters from Vang Valdres, Norway.  His grandparents were Knut Johanneson and Ingeborg Iverson.  He lived on a small place called Fossum, Norway, belonging to the Thune estate.  He spent a short time in Goodhue County, Minnesota.  Then he moved to Griggs County, North Dakota, where he homesteaded near Binford and lived until he passed away.

Ole Thune married Karrie K. Skatteboe in 1887.  She was born in Ostre Slire Valders, Norway, on November 6, 1854.  She immigrated to America in 1881 and lived in Goodhue County, Minnesota, for a few years before coming to Cooperstown, North Dakota, on November 6, 1886.  After her marriage, she lived on the homestead until she passed away November 13, 1924.

Five children were born to this union of Ole Thune and Karrie Skatteboe.  They are Knut Thune, Mrs. Louis (Emma) Trelstad, Mrs. Ole (Caroline) Knutson, Mrs. Oscar (Christine) Ongstad, and Carl Thune.  They were all born at Binford, North Dakota.  The son Carl died at one year of age in August 1895.

After Karrie's husband passed away, she kept the farm going.  She had a good head for business.

She bought and gave the bell at the Lutheran Free Church at Binford.  She also boarded many peddlers in the horse and buggy days.  They were always welcome at her home at no charge.

Besides the quarter they homesteaded she bought a quarter of land for each of the children.

She sheared her own sheep and supported a missionary from her church.
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CLEARFIELD TOWNSHIP

History

On February 9, 1888, PLEASANT VIEW Township was designated by Congress.  As far as our available records show David Gorthy was the treasurer but there was no money to pay bills.  W. S. Booth received the first warrant and James Bothwell the second.  Perhaps John Evers and William Howden were two of the supervisors.

On February 23, 1893, the town board met and discussed the possibility of dividing Pleasant View into two Townships - Clearfield and Kingsley.  There is no record of any action being taken.  However, on July 9, 1894, it seemed to have been separated and Clearfield Township was in existence.

Clearfield began to have a few deaths, but nowhere to bury them.  DAVID AND PETER GORTHY donated land for a cemetery called Clearfield Cemetery.  The graves that show now are of Mrs. William Howden the first, David Gorthy, Fenners, Richardsons, the Evers babies and others.

John Evers was a Township officer for 44 years and his son, Albert, was Township treasurer for 42 years.

The first school was for the children of Clearfield, but the pupils came from the Clearfield and Kingsley areas.  John Evers helped the other men to build the first schoolhouse.  The President was John Ebentier, Secretary, Charles S. Anderson, Treasurer, William Howden, Directors P. M. Johnson and John Evers, and County Superintendent Clara Feiring.  June 28, 1905 records show that Olbert Hoiby was the teacher and the pupils were:  

Anna Goplen, Ellen Goplen, Willie Rothert, Emma Rothert, Martin Goplen, Willie Olson, Andrew Olson, Herman Lucht, Cynthia French, Carrie French, Orvie French, Howard Olson, William Lucht, Christian Lucht, Meldrum Asmos, Siger Olson, Charles French, Oscar Olson, Edwin Olson, Otto Lucht, Albert Evers, Lizzie Richert.
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SCHOOLS OF KINGSLEY TOWNSHIP. 

In the 1880's a schoolhouse was built on Section 36 in Kingsley Township, land now owned by Jim Bailey.  Kingsley Township was not organized at this time, so the school was in the Pleasant View School District which included land that later became Clearfield, Kingsley, Mabel, and Helena Townships.  This district was formed May 25, 1883.  The polling place was the home of Hiram Williams.  A tax levy of five mills was voted in.  Ferdinand Fenner was the treasurer.

In 1884 a school district did not go by Township lines.  The following districts were then in existence, and their areas were:  

Red Willow, 12x12 miles

Greenwood, 9x12 miles

Pleasant View, 12x9 miles

Pleasant, 3x13 miles-, Greendale, 9x9 - less one square mile

Nelson, 3x7 miles

Helena, 9x12 miles

Wheatland, 9x8 miles

Gallatin, 4x10 miles.  (This was copied by Brown Photo

Company from "Atlas of Dakota" 1884.)

In 1884 this first school in Kingsley had two terms from June 23 to August 15, and was taught by Grace Van Voorhis, and the second term taught by Nina Van Voorhis, which was in session from August 25 to December 12, 1884.  The pupils in this year were Willie, Charlie, Otto and Delia Fenner, Millie and John Feske, Mary, Lizzie and Rosy Gartman, Richard Howden, Lena and Eddie Michaelis.

Some of the teachers during the 1880's and '90's were A. M. Sinclair, Albert Retzlaff, Laura and May Retzlaff, and Anna McInnes.  The County Superintendent was Dr. Kerr, who was also the first doctor in Cooperstown.

In 1890 Maggie, Richard and George Howden, Leland, Eddie and Orin Rhodes, Elsie Lewis, Harry Ames, Frank Kingsley, and Pearl Paintner were pupils.  About 1895 the pupils were, Frank, Edith, Jack and Bessie Howden

Jay, Byron and Hazel Van De Bogart, Frank and Bert Starr, Frank Britton, Mabel and Roy Nichol, Loren and Verner Thomas, Elsie Lewis, Ed, Violet and Frank Bailey.

In 1906 this school was moved to the southwest corner of Section 27.  Some of the pupils who attended the school then were, Albert, Florence, and Arthur Ebentier, Ella and Hazel Starr, Alex, Hilda and Alonzo Youngbeck, and Laura Fadness.

In 1909 the Kingsley School District was organized.  Kampen was the County Superintendent.  Mike Leininger was elected director for three years, W. F. Moodie director for two years, John Ebentier for one year.  Earnest Johnson was named the treasurer, and W. A. Amos, Clerk.

The receipts for 1909 were $2089.06.  The teachers' wages were $876.75, and other expenses were $1154.89.

A school had been built by Knute Olson, and two nephews in 1905 southeast of the present Rudolph Olson land.  Ella Nelson was the teacher from January 10, 1910, to March 11, 1910.  Geneva Wilson had the second term - March 30 to June 17.  The following were pupils that year:  

Everett and Meldrun Amos, Fredricka Behm, Veronica and Ludvig Ethen, Albert, Norman and Martha Evers, Floyd Hess, Sigur, Howard, Emma and Rudolph Olson, Florence Moodie, and Roy Troutden.  This school was moved in 1923 to the southwest on land donated by Ed Hunsberger.  When reorganization took place this school was sold to Garfield Clemens who lives on Section 3 in Kingsley.  He uses it for a garage.

The school in the western part of Kingsley was moved out from Binford when they built their school.  It was located on land owned by Mike Leininger.  In 1907 Laura Nierenberg was the teacher of this school.  The pupils were, Iva Brown, Helen, Haakon, Anna, Agnes, Peter, and Alma Dybwad, Leah and Ellis Hartman, Olga and Melvin Johnson, Carl, Esther, Marie and Walter Leininger, Laura Neeham, Hollis and Madelena Pressler

Russel Remington, and Frances Shaefer.  This school is now the Township hall, and was moved to Section 8 on land owned by Loren Briss.

In 1914 the twelve Sections in the south part of Kingsley were organized into the Sutton School District.  Buses, pulled by horses, were used to transport the pupils to school.  The school was sold to Clarence Linse who used it for a shop.  Later Donald Hunsberger of Sutton bought it and uses it for a garage.
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ZION EVANGELICAL CHURCH

It was in the 1880's that the parish, comprising a group of Lutherans near Jessie, North Dakota, and another group near what is known as Binford, was established and served by pastors of the Ohio Synod.

In 1900 the group near Binford transferred to the Missouri Synod.  The church was served by neighboring pastors until their own pastor was installed on September 1, 1901.  The services were held in the Church schoolhouse, which is one mile east of the present church.  At the first service ten adults and three children were present.

Among the charter members of this congregation were Fred and Albert Wilke, Karl Rothert, Albert Retzlaff, Fred Lucht, Carl Behm, and William Steffen.  The first children baptized by the new pastor were Esther Retzlaff, and Clarence Steffen.  Carl Behm and Maria Todtz were the first to be married, August 30, 1902.  The first pastor was Reverend C. H. LUEKER who lived in Courtney, and also served that congregation.

During the winter of 1906-1907, which was very severe, with snow many feet deep on the level it made the roads impassable.  The pastor, knowing travel by team was impossible, attempted to get to Binford by railroad.  Several times he succeeded in making the trip, but on January 16 of that winter he left Kensal only to find himself snowbound in Rogers, where he had to remain until January 26, because no train could get through to Binford, or back to Courtney.

The congregation continued to grow, and in 1907 the church was organized with Albert Retzlaff, Carl Retzlaff, Charles Rothert, Carl Behm, Fred Lucht, Fred Wilke, John Bruns, M. D. Leininger, and John Leininger signing the Constitution.

In 1907 Reverend F. H. Reininga was installed and he served until 1909 when he accepted a call to Kansas, because he could not stand the sharp wind in his eyes.

The Congregation was incorporated June 19, 1908, with Charles Retzlaff, Albert Retzlaff, and John Leininger as incorporators.  The church building was finished in the spring of 1909 at the cost of $2400.00.  During the summer of 1938, the church building was enlarged and completely remodeled at a cost of $2400.00.

Because of the depression in the 1930's, the congregation was served by neighboring pastors.  In 1935 the congregation decided to combine with the Wimbledon-Courtney parish.  In 1936 L. J. Mehl became the pastor, and in 1941 he was granted a leave of absence to become an Army Chaplain.  His brother, Reverend C. H. Mehl, took over his pastoral duties.  In 1944 he asked for a year's leave of absence to serve as pastor in a Lutheran Service Center at Santa Ana, California.

In 1947 a new parish was formed in the Binford-Cooperstown area.  In 1960 another parish was formed including Binford, Hope and Cooperstown.

Other pastors who have served Zion Lutheran Church besides those mentioned are:  

Reverend Paul Siegal, Reverend William Gierke, Reverend E. Wille, Reverend G. Haaz, Reverend W. Ringstorf, Reverend W. C. Laatz, Reverend George Schubarth, Reverend V. Knight, Reverend John Krueger, and the present pastor, Reverend Ronald Nichols.
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Settlers

ABBOTT FAMILY

The ABBOTT family lived near Appleton, Wisconsin.  The mother was Irish and the father an Englishman and the area where they lived was populated by the Orangemen and the wearers of the green as well as some Holland Dutch.  The two factions of the Irishmen fought viciously especially at St. Patrick's Day and the Orangemen's Day just as they have done for 300 years.  The Abbott family was very tall - the pygmy of the group was 5'11" and all of his nine brothers were 6'2" to 6'7".  The two daughters were 6'.  The Giants of Appleton County was an apt nickname.

They were also very strong, especially one brother.  As was customary, physical feats were a Sunday entertainment.  This 6'4" brother had sworn off weight lifting at age 24.  One Sunday some visitors in the community could not believe the stories they heard.  They had to be shown so the young Abbotts persuaded their brother to do it just once more.  He did, but something came apart in his back so he was carried home paralyzed.  He lived 2 years more, never able to move again.

Grandfather Abbott was only 6'2", a long, lean man never weighing over 160 pounds.  He never even once shaved his luxuriant curly beard.  If he had shaved, he believed, he would have lost his virility.  He and a brother went to Kansas at about age 25.  In Kansas the Abbott brothers built a barn and had a few cattle and horses.  When all the settlers were called into the fort because of an Indian uprising, they refused to leave their livestock.  Edward explored the schoolhouse to inspect the 15-year-old teacher.  She doodled her name on a piece of paper - he took the pencil and added his name to hers.  Sadie Schooley Abbott!  They were married rather soon after that.

The War Between the States was very real to the Abbott family.  The father and three sons became soldiers.  The father eventually came back clumping down the road on his peg leg.  His leg had been wounded so it was decided to amputate it.  The ordinary anesthetic was a lot of whiskey, but Abbott did not like the way they were sawing the bone.  He sat up and sawed it off himself.  Usually amputees died from infection, but Abbott survived.  One of the three sons came back in reasonably good health.  Another died at Andersonville, and the third also a prisoner at Andersonville lived but came home a lifelong invalid.  Grandfather Abbott also yearned to be a soldier and at 15, his mother said, "No.“  A year later the recruiter came back to talk to 16 year old Edward in the field behind the trees.  Edward agreed, but his mother drove the officer away with a shotgun.

The daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Abbott was married to W. E. Colvin and came to Griggs County in 1905.  In 1921 Grandfather Abbott broke his hip and came to live with his daughter's family.

Edward Abbott in Mining Claim in Idaho
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BENDICK BENDICKSON FAMILY

Bendick and Severine Bendickson were born in Norway and lived at Rognaldsvog on an Island near Flora all their life.  Two months out of the year in the middle of the summer, they have twenty-four hours of daylight.

They were the parents of thirteen children, four died very young.  A number of the children came to settle at Cooperstown, North Dakota

The oldest child was Solomon who was a sailor on the North Sea for fifteen years.

Henry left Norway in 1900 for New York, was on a sail ship and died at sea.

MATT came to America in 1905 and worked as a hired man four years in Minnesota, before coming to Cooperstown in 1909, where he rented the farm from Albert Retzlaff.  He met Anna Erickson who had come from Norway in 1911, and were married the same year.  She died in 1955.  Their children were:  

Borghild, Milo, Art, (deceased) Lil and Ralph.  Matt now resides at Wenatchee, Washington

Carl migrated to Cooperstown with sister Julia in 1910 and worked on a farm for a year, then went to the Great Lakes, had an accident on a ship and died.

Julia came to Cooperstown in 1910 to work for her brother Matt, also worked in Cooperstown and for others.  She returned to Norway with Brothers Matt and Ben in 1916 and stayed 3 months.  In 1917 she returned to Cooperstown and married ALFRED RETZLAFF in 1917.  The Retzlaff farmed west of Cooperstown until 1950 when they moved to Cooperstown, built their home and retired in 1960.  The same year they went with Mrs. Retzlaff's brothers, Matt, Ben and his wife to Norway and the second day out on the ocean Mr. Retzlaff died of a heart attack on the boat.  The Retzlaffs were the parents of two sons, Carrol and Marvin and also brought up a little girl, Mildred Clauson at the age of ten, when her mother died, and kept her until she married LeRoy Schmidt, living at Tacoma, Washington.

Helen married Midtved in 1913. They were the parents of nine children.

BEN came to Cooperstown in 1914, returned to Norway in 1916.  He was married in Norway in 1919 to Sanna Olson.  Their children are:  

1. Elsie and Sigrid in Chicago and Bennie near Cooperstown.  Ben returned to North Dakota, in 1923 and his family came in 1926.  They made their home on farms west of Cooperstown, and in 1950 retired and moved to town.

Constance migrated from Norway to Cooperstown in 1914 and worked in the area before she married Frank Papenfuss in 1919.  They farmed in Foster County and her husband died several years later.  They had a large family.

Olufine married Emil Mikkelson.  He died when the children were very young.  They were Kristian and Karen.  Mrs. Mikkelson, son Kristian and a friend made their first trip to America, spending the month of July 1975, visiting with her brothers Matt and Ben and sister Julia at Cooperstown.  Matt of Wenatchee, Washington, at the age of 90, arrived at the home of his sister, Julia, June 25, 1975 to visit his sister Olufine and nephew from Norway, and other relatives at Cooperstown.
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COLVIN FAMILY

Grandfather Colvin - William Henry Harrison Colvin - was born in Connecticut, but was reared in western New York.  Thus beginning his life long trek westward.  "Go west, young man!”  Like most of the other young men of his time he was a soldier in the War Between the States.

Without doubt Grandfather Colvin remembered the War Between the States vividly all his life, but he talked about the camp life.  "Tenting Tonight on the Old Camp Ground" was one of the songs he sang.  At evening the men built campfires to cook their suppers and one could see the twinkling fires for a mile.  Often the Rebel army was also cooking supper not far away.  One young man would start singing and then more and more joined.  Sometimes the "Rebs" would sing along.

When the army was mustered out, the men were released to get home in any way they could.  He went to Dundee, Illinois, where he had relatives, earning his living by farming a little, sawing wood, and as a hired man for the neighbors.  The depression following the War was terrible.  Wages for a hired man were 500 per month.

However, he and Armenia Aurelia Perry were married.  Their son WILLIAM ELMER COLVIN was born in 1870 in Dundee.  Six years later the family moved to Iowa where Will grew up.

Will grew up and became a mathematics professor in a junior college.  In Grand Island, Nebraska, he courted the high school language teacher - Ada Flavia Abbott.  Ada was born in Kansas, the daughter of Edward and Sadie Schooley Abbott.  Will and Ada were married in Denver in 1904.  They set up housekeeping in Arthur, Iowa while Will worked in his father's hardware store.

The next year Will set out to scout out new country on his bicycle.  He bought the NE quarter of Section 7-146-60 in Clearfield Township and his father bought the West ½ of Section 7-146-60.  Grandfather Colvin did not like North Dakota so he left 3 years later to raise apples in Yakima, Washington.

Will and Ada stayed in North Dakota and farmed for many years.  They lost their first baby in 1906.  A few months later a buggy with 2 women and a baby drove into the yard.  The mother of the baby offered the baby to the Colvins to "replace" the baby they had lost.  After a little discussion, the deal was made.  The mother saw her baby once more.  He was legally adopted about two years later.  Three daughters added to the family:  

Priscilla Colvin Evers, Jacinth Colvin Zipf, and Dorothea Colvin Meeker.

There were no buildings on the farm when it was bought.  Will hastily built a barn with a corner partitioned off for family living quarters.  There baby Edwin, Priscilla, and Jacinth were born and lived until they moved into the partially built house.

Mrs. Colvin had been a thin frail child with luxuriant curly hair.  Her father knew that her strength was growing hair instead of more acute vision.  He cut off all her hair in an effort to improve her eyes.

The children and their parents were very short of money.  Because the Colvins valued education, the children were free to leave home and earn their own way through high school and college.  Priscilla was given $5.00 when she started high school at 14 and was never given any more.

Mrs. Colvin died in 1941 at 68.  Mr. Colvin was lonely and did not know what to do.  But he reorganized his life to include genealogy, letter writing, and politics.  He died July 1, 1970, a 100 years after his birth.
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EVERS FAMILY

Heinrich Evers left Germany as a young man to come to America via a sailing ship.  A fierce storm at sea blew the ship on to the rocks off Newfoundland where it broke up.  So Heinrich was very glad to got to shore in a barrel.  He went to Neustadt, Ontario where he married and settled.

Many of the children of this couple came to "prove up" on land in North Dakota.  Some settled in Clearfield, Kingsley, Bryan, and Addie Townships.

Johannes or John came to Clearfield Township in the spring of 1882 at age 22.  Sanborn was the nearest railroad station so the young man walked around or through the overflowing potholes.  He selected the NW quarter of the NW Section of Clearfield Township.  The Townships had been surveyed in Township size but not into the Section and Quarter Section size.  Therefore Johannes knew the identity of the quarter Section he selected and did not have to pay for a surveyors fee.

The first summer he worked for W. T. McCullouch and in the fall built two shanties 4' X 5' on Clearfield Section 6-146-60.  This land was assigned to him November 3, 1890 under the Homestead Act.

The next year June 16, 1891 WILLIAM HOWDEN "proved up" the SW quarter of Section 32-146-60.  His son, GEORGE, later married Sadie Koch the daughter of Mary Evers Koch a daughter of Heinrich Evers.  They are the parents of Ethel Howden Jacobs, Edward - deceased, Leland, Georgine Paulsberg, Eileen Krueger, River Forest, Olive (Mickey) Shannon and James.  Ralph lives in Hannaford.  The others live in Oconomawoc, Wisconsin.

A Homestead patent was issued to FRIEDRIG LUGHT for the NE quarter of Section 12-146-61 dated December 12, 1891.  His son WILLIAM married a daughter (Louisa) of Henirich Evers.  They lived on Section 34-147-61 in Bryan Township.  Louisa Evers had been issued a Homestead patent for SW quarter NE quarter W1/2 SE quarter if Section 6-14660.  She had been her brother John's housekeeper while she was "proving up" her homestead.  She and William Lucht had four sons and I daughter, namely Frank, Otto, William, Christian, and Mary Lucht Dooley all of the Spokane area.

Another brother, SIMON, was issued a patent via the Timber Culture Certificate or tree claim to El/2-SW quarter of Section 6-146-60, March 3, 1893.  Simon Evers also filed for another tract of land SW quarter of Section 8-146-60, which was dated November 22, 1897, under the Homestead Act.

AUGUST EVERS, a brother of John, filed under the Homestead Act for E1/2 SE quarter of Section 6-146-60 in Clearfield Township and got his title to the land March 27, 1895.  He married Allie Ford, the daughter of his neighbor, BEN FORD, and continued to live on their adjoining land for some years.  They had no children.

LOUIS EVERS - another brother was issued a Homestead Patent for NE quarter of Section 10-146-61 Kingsley Township, dated March 8, 1898.

To return to John or Johannes Evers - he was an expert of all trades - a plasterer, a stonemason, a tanner of wolf and badger hides, a small game hunter, a butcher, and a farmer.  When he first came to North Dakota he carried a double-barreled pistol - hand-loaded - to shoot ducks, prairie chickens, geese, and rabbits for food.  He took eggs from wild nests to use for food.

When he returned to Ontario to spend a few months to pick out a wife, he put in many hours roaming the forests with a sack, which he filled with tree seeds - ash and box elder.  He had plowed a strip of land on the west edge of his homestead to plant into trees.  It was a landmark for 40 years, at least.  He sold small trees to both Binford and Cooperstown.  Many of the older trees of both towns came from his shelterbelt.  This freshly plowed shelterbelt saved the buildings from the great prairie fire.

John Evers also picked out a fine woman, Sarah Hellwig, to be his wife.  They were married in Ontario and returned to the Evers homestead in North Dakota.

Living was hard, but they could see that they were slowly getting ahead.  One fall there were only seven pennies left after the bills were paid.  Sarah wondered how they would ever last through the winter, but springtime found the same seven pennies still saved.

Albert started farming in 1920 renting his parents farm for 1/3 of the gross.  At that time men's wages were $10 to $30 per month and a woman's wage was $200 a year.  Prices of things bought and sold were very different from what they are in 1975.

There are three living children all near Binford.  ALBERT married Priscilla Colvin, daughter of W. E. Colvin and they have three sons and two daughters, JOHN, AUGUST, CLARENCE and RUTH. 

NORMAN - John's son - married Olga Olson and they have one daughter, Shirley Evers Lundeby.  Norman's son Norman Jr. is married and has three daughters and one son.

John and Sarah's daughter, Martha, lives in Cooperstown and is unmarried.

It was the Dakota Territory - the golden northwest and the land of paying wages - that John Evers started out for when he was just reaching manhood.  He was born in Ontario, Canada, September 14, 1860.

In March of 1882 John Evers completed the trip to Sanborn by train with Con Wiesman, Harmon Hertel, Ben Betcher and Mr. Pole.  That first summer he worked on the farm for W. T. McCulloch.

That fall Will Carter helped him build his two claim shanties on Section six of Clearfield Township.  They were anything but spacious being only four by five feet.  The lumber was hauled from Sanborn.

The next spring, in 1883, he built a 10 by 12 house and broke thirty acres of land.  Evers then went back to work around Sanborn.

In the spring of 1884 Mr. Evers bought a team of horses and with his sister and brother came back to Griggs County to live on his homestead.  When they left Sanborn, they were headed for the Fiero farm where they planned to put up for the night before starting the next leg of their journey.  But west of Dazey they went the wrong direction at the turn at the bottom of the large hill.  They continued all the time thinking that they were on the right road.

Towards noon it started to rain but they continued the journey.  By dusk they reached a farmhouse, which they believed to be the Fiero farm.  A woman, unknown to them, appeared at the door.  She refused them when they asked permission to stay over night, but she did direct them to a place further along the road.  The horses played out before they did get there so they turned back and notified the woman that they would have to stay.  Places were made for them in the granary.

The next day the party retraced their trail to the turn at the foot of the hill and then turned the right direction to reach the Fiero farm by dark.  But here there was no room and they were directed to cross Bald Hill Creek and continue to the Will Howden place on Section 32 in Clearfield Township.  The creek came higher than the horses and only after much difficulty were they able to cross.  The next day they finally reached the Evers' homestead.

John Evers lived in his shanty until 1891 when he went back to Ontario to marry Sarah Hellwig in 1892.  They returned to North Dakota and built a new house in 1902.

Since that time John Evers has been farming steadily.  Years that have been abundant and then the lean years all have gone to make fuller the life of one of Griggs County's pioneers.
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SYLVESTER FLICK

Sylvester Flick and his wife, Martha, came to Griggs County and bought the south half of Section 26 in Clearfield Township.  They lived at the Fenner place (Section 2145-60) while building the barn and garage.  Milton Flick, brother of Sylvester, built the barn and garage.  They lived in the garage until the house was built in 1908.  Mr. Hoffman, father of Dr. Hoffman from Hannaford built the house.

Sylvester bought one of the larger steam threshing machines in 1912.  This rig used 12 bundle haulers, two spike pitchers, one waterman, one fireman besides the separator man and engineer.  Walter Flick ran the engine, which was fired with straw.

Sylvester Flick was director of the school board and his son, Walter, attended the school on the SW of Section 27, which was 1 ½ miles west of his home.  When young Walter was small and turned up missing he was always found outside sleeping by a foxhole or a gopher hole.

Frances Procknow, the youngest of 7 children, came to Cooperstown in 1912.  Her parents, August and Augusta Procknow came to Hutchinson, Minnesota from Germany.  Frances worked for a number of different people in Cooperstown, including Gilbert Johnson, George Adams, John Johnson, I. D. Allen and MacDonald's restaurant.  She also cooked in cook-cars for the threshers.

WALTER AND FRANCES were married in 1916.  They farmed all their lives until Walter retired in 1956.  Walter also owned a threshing machine and done threshing for several neighbors.

They were the parents of three children:  

Berniece, Evelyn and Donald.
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GEORGE HIGGINS

George Higgins came to Griggs County from Zimmerman, Minnesota in 1903 at the age of 16 years.  He was one of four children.  The rest of the family remained in Minnesota Traveling with a group of horse traders, he stopped off in Hannaford and went to work for Boyd Knapp, father of George and Clay Knapp, on his farm west of Hannaford.  He worked for the Knapps about five years and then went farming for himself, across the road south of what is known as the Alfred Retzlaff farm.

Anna May Jones came to Griggs County in 1899 from Sparta, Wisconsin with her parents Mr. and Mrs. S. R. (STEPHEN AND FLORA) Jones and two older brothers, Henry and Thomas.  She was 8 years old and had long curls, but the Dakota wind tangled them so her hair was soon put in braids.  The family also brought Mrs. Jones mother, Mary Wheeler, a widow.  She was born in New York State and had moved to Walworth County, Wisconsin  as a baby with her parents and two older sisters, in a covered wagon.  She had lived in Wisconsin until coming to North Dakota with the family.  The Joneses settled on a farm about five miles west of Hannaford in Bartley Township Section 9.

S. R. Jones had a brother, TOM JONES, that came to Cooperstown in 1897 and farmed east of town on what was known as the Newell farm.  In 1905 he purchased the Model Meat Market, which was on the street the theatre is on.  He lived on or near the Glen Dyson farm.  He died in 1909 and his wife Margaret moved back to Lake Crystal, Minnesota where her family lived.

The Jones family only lived west of Hannaford a few years and then moved 91/2 miles west of Cooperstown in Clearfield Township Section 21 on the slough, which is still known as the Jones Slough (or Lake).

Mrs. S. R. (Flora) Jones died in 1908.  Soon after that Henry moved to Gull Lake, Saskatchewan, Canada where he took a claim.  He remained there and married Minnie Becker.  They raised seven children.  Later S. R. Jones moved to Canada and made his home with Henry and his family.  TOM JONES married Blanche Flick in 1914 and lived on the farm by the Jones Slough for several years.  They had four children.

George Higgins and Anna Jones were married March 6, 1912 in Cooperstown at the Methodist Parsonage.  George was then still on the farm across the road from the Alfred Retzlaff farm.  At that time the William Jungles family were their neighbors.  Later Mr. and Mrs. Matt Bendickson moved there.  Mrs. Bendickson had just recently come from Norway and spoke very little English, so needless to say a lot of the ladies visiting was done with hand motions.

In the spring of 1917 George went to Malta, Montana and took a claim.  Anna stayed with her brother Tom and his wife Blanche while he was gone.  He didn't like Montana, so he returned in the fall and they moved 71/2 miles north of Jessie, on the Lewis Berg farm in Pilot Mound Township.

Their daughter Flora was born there.  She started school in the Boyer school, her first teacher was Henry Beck and the other first graders were Mildred Cunningham and Nels Nelson.  The next two years her teacher was Mildred (Alfson) Nelson.

In February 1926 George and Anna Higgins moved to a farm 6 miles west of Cooperstown that they rented from Hammer and Condy.  After the depression in the late thirties, they bought the farm and lived there until they retired and moved to Cooperstown in 1966.
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THEODORE HOVEL

Theodore (Ted) Hovel is one of five boys and three girls born to Mr. and Mrs. Herman Hovel of rural Jessie.  He married Mary Charlotte Weber of Casselton, North Dakota on July 15, 1925.  In December of that year, the young couple moved to the farm on which he now lives in Clearfield Township.  Mary Weber was the daughter of Julius Weber, a farmer in rural Casselton.

Of this marriage, there was I living child, Harold John Hovel.  HAROLD was born March 30, 1927.  Mary Hovel passed away June 29, 1948.  Harold remained on the farm with his father, farming together.  Harold was married July 8, 1970 to Isabel Ramey Prescott.  He has a stepdaughter Elizabeth Prescott and a son, Douglas Hovel.
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HELMER JOHNSON FAMILY

Helmer Johnson was born in Lofoten, Norway on June 28, 1886.  He came to Minnesota in 1907 and to Griggs County in 1908.  He worked on farms in Pilot Mound Township for a time and then started farming near Binford in 1911.  He married Alfrida Susag of Vergas, Minnesota at Cooperstown in 1912.  They lived in Bryan Township several years and then moved to the A. Evers farm in Clearfield Township where they lived 23 years.  They were the parents of seven boys and three girls.

By Mrs. Roy Trostad
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GORDON (Boggy) JONES and His Two Sisters, GERTRUDE and SHIRLEY. 

Stephen (Steve) Jones married Flora Arminta Wheeler.  She was Scotch, Irish, and English.

Stephen's parents came from Wales.  He spoke the language fluently.

Flora had lived among the Indians, her family got along fine with them.  They treated them the same as their white neighbors.  At the time of the Civil War they could trace Grandpa Wheeler's family tree several generations.  They had no idea then when the first ones came to this country.  Flora Wheeler's father, Henry Wheeler and one brother served in the Northern Army, and two brothers in the Southern Army.  Hardships were greater during the Civil War than any other American War, with loved ones on both sides.

Flora and Stephen Jones came to Griggs in 1899.  They lived west of Hannaford, on Section 9.  Then moved 91/2 miles west of Cooperstown, on Section 21 where they lived till after Flora's death in 1908.  The Jones Slough was named after Stephen Jones.  It is called Jones Lake by many today.  In 1919 Stephen moved to Gull Lake, Saskatchewan.  They had three children, Henry moved to Gull Lake, Saskatchewan after his mother's death.  Thomas (Tom) of Griggs Company and Anna (Higgins) also of Griggs Company Anna had one daughter, Flora.  Married to Douglus Carlson of Pine City, Minnesota They have four children, Cheryl, Gloria, Boyd, Myon.

Thomas (Tom) homesteaded three years at Tomkins, Saskatchewan just long enough to prove up his land.  Then he returned to Cooperstown, to marry Blanche Flick in 1914.  They had four children, Marjorie, Gertrude, Gordon, and Shirley.

Marjorie the oldest passed away at the age of 14, in 1930.

Gertrude (Mrs. Carl Merle Jonhson) twin to Gordon is living in Anchorage, Alaska.  They have one child Cynthia Jo (Cinndy), Mrs. Micheal Andrew McKenna.  They have three children.  Micheal Andrew Jr., the twins Matthew Carl and Marc Gregary.  They are living in Anchorage, Alaska.  Gordon (Boggy) lives on the old Truscott farm six miles south of Binford.  He is not married.

Shirley (Mrs. Kenneth Arthur Ethen).  They live five miles south of Binford.  They had three children.  Gary Wallace, Daniel Thomas, and Scott Kenneth.

Gary is living six miles south of Binford.  He is married to Carole Olsen daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Reuben Olsen of Binford.  Gary and Carole own the Our Own Hardware in Binford.  They have one son Patrick Daniel.  Also one daughter from a former marriage, Michelle Rae Parker.

Daniel Thomas passed away at the age of 17 years, in 1968.

Scott Kenneth is farming with his father and uncles, Wallace and Chester Ethen.

Blanche Flick Jones's parents were Slvester (Wes) Flick and Martha Wylie.  Martha was born at Westport, New York.  April 16, 1854.  Her father's name was Eli Todd Wylie, son of Robert Wylie.  Her mother's name was Hula Lyon Clapp daughter of Alonzo Clapp and Hulda Lyon Clapp.  Hulda was named after her mother who died when she was two years old.

Their nationality was Scotch English.  Slvester's parents came from Holland to Pennsylvania.  He was born in Dane County, Wisconsin April 15, 1855.  He came to Dakota Territory in 1879.  He lived in Worthington (Valley City) for a time.  He came to Griggs County in 1880.  Nine years before the Dakota Territory became a state.  He hauled lumber from Sanborn for the first buildings to be erected in Cooperstown.  Before making their home west of Cooperstown, they lived east of Red Willow Lake near a little Country store, called Cottonwood.  There was a cheese factory there at that time.

They had four children Roy, Ray, Walter, and Blanche.  There were also three from a former marriage, Almond, Gertrude.  Earl.

Roy, Walter, and Blanche all lived out their lives in Griggs Company

One of Roy's children still lives in Cooperstown.  One of Walter's children is living west of Cooperstown (Mrs. Clinton Dahl).  Two of Blanche's children are living south of Binford, Gordon, and Shirley (Mrs. Kenneth Ethen).
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KJORMOE FAMILY

Elias Kjormoe - born in Stavanger, Norway, June 19, 1863.  Entered United States A. 1878.  Julia Eithum - born in Hardanger, Norway, May 10, 1872.  Entered United States A. 1890.  They were married in Marshalltown, Iowa, April 5, 1898.  Farmed in Marshall County, Iowa until 1910 when they moved to Pipestone County, Minnesota.  Moved to Griggs County, North Dakota in November of 1917 and lived in Clearfield Township until they passed away.  Elias Kjormoe died March 8, 1924.  Julia Kjormoe died September 28, 1947.  They are survived by three sons:  

1. Elmer of Aberdeen, South Dakota

2. Oliver of Binford, North Dakota

3. Carl of Duluth, Minnesota.
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WILL H. AND BERENICE PHELPS

In the early days many young men from neighboring states came to North Dakota to work during the harvest season.  Will Phelps was one of these, coming to Cooperstown in 1906 from Grantsburg, Wisconsin.  He first worked at the Steve Jones farm 9 miles west of Coopers - town.  Mr. Jones' children - Henry, Tom, and Anna (later Mrs. George Higgins) were young people at the time.  The farm was located on the north side of a body of water, which has been known for many years as the Jones slough and is now occupied by Clarence Peterson.  Will came to the area of Clearfield Township year after year working for various farmers, some of whom were Olaf Stromme, Wes Flick, and Fred Widlund.  His younger brother, Clarence, was killed by lightning in 1908 in the barn on the now Ted and Harold Hovel farm.

Will Phelps' wife to be, Berenice came to North Dakota and Clearfield Township from Grantsburg, Wisconsin in 1912 and taught school in the Church School.  Some of her pupils were Arthur Colvin, Cassie Graber, and Ester Lundeen McCullough.  A newer building now stands on the same location, and is now used as the Township hall.  She boarded with the Fred Widlund family, which is the farm now occupied by Kenneth Dahls.

Will and Berenice were married in January 1913, and started farming that same spring on the Robertson farm, now occupied by Loren Dramstad.  They lived and farmed all their years, with the exception of one year in Foster County, in Clearfield Township rearing three children

William, Jesslyn, and Robert.  They were very active in the community - Will serving on school and Township boards

Berenice worked with the Parent Teacher and Community Clubs, directed plays, very active in Homemakers, Hospital Auxiliary, and Ladies Aid of the Church.  Will died in 1955 and Berenice in 1963.  It was their wish that they be buried in Clearfield Township and are so resting in Zion Lutheran Cemetery, about 2 miles from their farm, formerly being the Gust Evers farm in Sections 5 and 6.

Will Phelps' father was in the Civil War, having first served under General McClellan, and later due to an injury, was placed on lighter duty with General Sibley to quell the Indian uprisings in 1863.  This expedition passed thru Griggs County, Clearfield and Addie Townships and camped at Camp Atchision south of Binford.
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ALBERT RETZLAFF FAMILY

Michael Retzlaff (1819-1896) was born at Pommern, Prussia.  He married and had six sons - Henry, William, Julius, Ferdinand, Charles and Herman.  Their mother died.

In 1861 he married Wilhelmina Brock.  To this union five children were born:  

August (1862-1963), Albert (1866-1950), Elizabeth, Orrie and Max, the three youngest died at an early age.

Michael and his family immigrated to St. Ansgar, Iowa in 1872 and to Griggs County in 1881.

AUGUST and Albert taught country schools.  In 1892 they homesteaded west of Cooperstown.

ALBERT married Otelia Fenner.  She was born in Sheboygan, Wisconsin, and came to Griggs County with her parents Ferdinand and Carolin Fenner.  During the years Albert and Otelia lived on the homestead west of Cooperstown, nine children were born:

(1) Alfred married Julia Bendickson

children:  

Carrol married Shirley Watne, their children:  

Wayne, Rollin and James.  Marvin married Neva Thorn, their children:  

Robin, Julie and Jody.

(2) Irene married Carl Rickford, he died and she married Howard Dodson.  Children:  

Enid.

(3) Arnold married Alice Anderson, granddaughter of Elling Johnson.  Children:  

Virginia and Donald.  Arnold died young.

(4) Esther married Henry Beck.  Children:  

Donna, and Carl.

(5) Eva married Robert Truscott, children:  

Dean

(6) Alma married Gordon Brown, children:  

Harold and Ray.

(7) Max married Elizabeth Mulroy.  Children:  

John and Geffrey.

(8) Lilas married Dr. Richard Dock.  Children:  

Sharon, John and Darrel.

(9) Reynold married Mabel Knutson.  Children:  

Dianne, Bonnie and Gregory.
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DONALD RETZLAFF FAMILY

C. JULIUS RISTE and Alma Stromme were married in 1915 and started farming in Romness Township, on what is now the Oscar Christopherson farm.  They lived there until 1936 when they moved into Cooperstown.  Julius died in 1955.  They had four children:  

Orinda, (Mrs. A. W. Beiers), Casper, Milo and Arleen.  Orinda moved with her family to Washington in 1948 and "Cap" and Milo also settled there after serving overseas during World War II.  Milo died in 1971.

Arleen married Donald Retzlaff in 1944.  After living near Hunter, North Dakota a few years they bought the farm on Highway 220, near the "Jones slough.”  This had been Grandpa and Grandma Retzlaff's home the last few years of their lives.  The Donald Retzlaffs were blessed with three daughters.

Peder Hansen and Elsie Stromme came from Nordland, Norway, in May 1891, to settle in Griggs County with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Ole Stromme, on what is now the Gerald Dahl farm.  Peder changed his name from Hansen to STROMME as he felt there were too many others with his name.  Six children had been born to PEDER AND ELSIE before they left Norway:  

Edward, Henrietta, Mathilda, Annetta, John and Paul.  Alma, Ole, Mabel and Ada were born after they settled in Griggs County.  Alma (Riste) the first of the children born in America was born in 1891.
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CHARLES ROTHERT FAMILY

In May 1881 Charles (Johann Carl) and Emelia Steinke Rothert with their five children:  

Annie Reames (1872-1942), Gustav (1874-1953), Pauline Starr (18761950), Fred (1878-1968) and Martha Sperger (18811929) left Poznon, Prussia and traveled approximately five hundred miles to the port city of Bremen, from where they set sail for America.

After sailing the Atlantic for three weeks they disembarked at Baltimore, on to Chicago and from there to Porter, Indiana where they lived for two years and Mr. Rothert worked on the railroad for $30.00 a month.

By now the great northwest was beckoning and the family came to North Dakota in June 1883.  Mr. Rothert filed on the S1/2 of NE quarter, and W1/2 of SE quarter of Section 8 in Township 146 (Clearfield) range 60, Griggs County, North Dakota A sod house was built and was improved with some wooden structure in 1885.

Several children were born:  

Helen McCulloch (18851965), William (1887-1922), and Emma Pittenger (1891-1974).

Mr. Rothert was one of the men who built the Sanborn-Cooperstown branch of the Northern Pacific Railroad.  He also worked on Cooper's Ranch and several large farms to earn money with which to purchase farm machinery.  During this time Mrs. Rothert was seeing to home operations, she broadcast seed, harvested with a scythe and "threshed" with a flail.  She often walked the thirteen miles to Cooperstown for family provisions and either carried or used a wheelbarrow to get them home.

Mr. Rothert's earthly sojourn ended September 7, 1908.  He was laid to rest on Zion Lutheran cemetery, Binford, North Dakota, which is a part of his homestead.  Mrs. Rothert passed on March 5, 1914 and is also buried there.  All but three of their children are buried within a twelve-mile radius.
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THE WILLIAM STEFFEN FAMILY

William Steffen came to America from Stutzgard, Germany at the age of 17.

He married Elizabeth Danner in 1879.  She was from Fort Wayne, Indiana.  They lived in St. Paul, Minnesota He was a bricklayer by trade.  In 1889 he went to Seattle to help build up after the Seattle Fire.  While walking back to St. Paul, the North Dakota countryside appealed to him.  He returned to the Cooperstown area to homestead in 1890 on the NE quarter of Section 26, Clearfield Township.  A year later his family followed in an immigrant car.  Among their belongings they brought along one cow.  George Paintner came with the Steffen family at the time to look over the land.  He decided to stay and located in Helena Township.

The first furrows on the homestead were turned by a yoke of oxen.  The oxen must have had a built in clock because whether he was in the center of the field or not he would stop at noon.

Besides farming here, William continued his bricklaying.  He helped to build several buildings in Cooperstown.  Among them was the original First National Bank.

Thanksgiving Day of 1900 the home burned with all their belongings, winter's supply of coal and vegetables.

William Steffen died July 1911.  Mrs. Steffen remained on the homestead until her death in November 1942.

They were the parents of twelve children:  

1. Ferdinand, William, Clarence, Helena, Louise, and Myrtle (all deceased).  Surviving are:  

1. Mrs. Christine Coutts and Mrs. Emma Adamson of Billings, Montana, Mrs. Edna Wandke and Mrs. Freida Holland of Anacortes, Washington, Mrs. Florence Culver of Richy, Montana, and Erwin Steffen of Cooperstown, North Dakota (refer to Helena Twp).

The youngest son CLARENCE remained on the homestead to farm.  He married Nina Keyes on June 16, 1935.  He had served as a board member and V.  President of the Sheyenne Valley Electric Coop.  Board member of

Minnkota Power Coop., he was Treasurer of Zion Church for over 35 years, on the Township board for 44 years and also served on the county ASC committee.  He continued to farm with his sons until his death January 15, 1970.

He is survived by his wife Nina who remains on the homestead.  They were the parents of four children:  

Clarence of Luverne, North Dakota who married Mary Arneson they have five children.  Elizabeth (Mrs. Dennis Flick) who has three children and lives at Billings, Montana.  Audrey is a teacher and lives at Mandan, North Dakota.  The oldest son DALE is now farming the original homestead.  He married Janice Sund.  They have two boys:  

Todd and William Illinois
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COOPERSTOWN TOWNSHIP

History

COOPERS OF COOPERSTOWN

Rollin Charles Cooper was born in a little farm home near Ann Arbor, Michigan, September 29, 1845 to Thomas and Caroline Baker Cooper.  This family was not rich in this world's goods, but was able to sustain food to build strong bodies.  This family had 11 children.

Rollin reached almost his full stature by the time he was twelve years old, when he hired out to a neighbor for a full season's work at $8.00 a month and ‘Keep.’  When he received his $32.00 in a lump sum it seemed like a king's ransom to a boy who had never had 500 at a time.  The next year he left home to start a life of his own, under the sponsorship of Thomas J. his brother, in Red Wing, in 1858.

Rollin and T. J. tried mining and farming.  The crops were poor and they spent a winter eating corn meal and moldy salt bacon.

Rollin married his wife Emma Hutchin in September 14, 1870.  He was 25 and she was 19.  They began their married life in Pueblo, Colorado, where he and Henry were tinners.  Tin roofs were common then.  In ten years they sold the tinners shop and Rollin went mining.  He made a strike, which he sold for $10, 000, then went into cattle buying and selling.  He and T. J. became interested in the Northern Pacific land-grant lands offered to the public for nominal prices, so together they set out for North Dakota.

R. C. Cooper followed the Sibley Trail across Barnes County to the sod house of Ed Ladbury near Sibleys old camp Corning.  There was no room for him in the house so he slept in a haystack.  No one suspected that this large bearded man of 35 carried on his person $25,000 to invest in new land.

He wanted to farm on a large-scale - the bonanza way, so this meant the prairie where others had not dared to locate.  Cooper did not need the River valley for protection.  He was a rich man and could build protection for his animals and his men.  He knew from his own experience the value of grass, water, fuel and protection, as he was experienced in farming, mule freight hauling, mining, and cattle raising.

Thomas J. Cooper invested in land and Rollin in equipment.  T. J. bought 10,400 acres from the Northern Pacific Railroad on November 27, 1880, at a cost of $21,314.00 or $2.05 an acre.

A "squatter" could select his land, do some breaking and build a house, then file when the survey was completed.  This offered the chance Mr. Cooper was looking for for his out of state friends and himself.  He could buy odd numbered Sections of land at less than preemption costs from Northern Pacific then buy additional homesteads adjoining this land after their final proof.  Several of the young men who came with Cooper took pre-emptions on good land on even numbered Sections adjoining Cooper's railroad land.  They worked for Cooper.  For these Cooper paid from $500 to $800.00 and their pre-emption costs of $400.00 per 160 acres.

Thomas Cooper's son, Charles L. had secured power of attorney to obtain "additional homesteads" for a veteran, or his widow, all duly described in the document issued before the Townships were Sectionalized.  One was dated August 24, 1878, and five in 1880 from January 21, to September 14, all before Cooper had seen the land.

R. C. knew exactly what he was getting when he located his own homestead and his brother's tree claim as he talked to Township line surveyors.  On November 27, 1880, only one month later he began building his barn and 'boarding house' for the men on a protected southern slope of a glacial hill, this was on T. J. 's tree claim.

As only Township lines were marked, Cooper used a compass and a wheel with a marker to survey his own land.  T. J. 's son Charles rode the buggy and counted the turns.  It proved to be only a few rods from surveyor's line.

It is estimated that the Cooper Brothers either owned or controlled close to 20, 000 acres.

The Coopers had 15 carloads of lumber shipped to Sanborn and from there had to haul to the farm-site.  They used 75 teams to haul this lumber, general supplies and merchandise.  The farmers nearby were also hired to make these trips and earn money.  Later that fall they hauled 1000 bushels of oats.  Coopers freight line was continually hauling for their Bonanza farm.  The halfway house where they camped was managed by William Glass at that time.

In 1886 when the partnership of T. J. and R. C. was liquidated, R. C. bought from T. J. 7000 acres of land, which carried a mortgage of $25,000.  He also rented 4,400 acres on a cash rental basis.

After the dissolution of the partnership, Mr. and Mrs. Cooper kept 100 to 200 head of cattle for a period of years.  About half were assessed to each.

Cooper was the largest pioneer hog raiser in Griggs County.  In 1886, one of his mortgages included 400 hogs as security.  At one time he had 700 hogs.  One year the market was very poor.  The men butchered 500 hogs, froze them, piled them like cordwood in hayracks on runners and took them to Hope with mule teams.  They sold for 21/20 a pound.

In 1888, Cooper along with the other farmers suffered a great loss as a result of the "big freeze.“  Poor yields and low prices had been bringing on the ''big Squeeze.” The Coopers were going broke and had to mortgage as did most of the farmers who stayed in Griggs County.  Times improved again and in 1903 Cooper got his last mortgage.

Cooper was a large man and very strong.  The Courier at that time called him a 'genial giant.’  He would have sacks of seed filled and extra men along the edge of the fields to fill the drills during planting.  R. C. could reach down from his horse, pick up a 150-pound sack of grain and lay it over the horse.  Money talked too.  He was always sure pay, and many pioneers would have had to give up if they couldn't have worked on the Cooper ranch to earn money to 'tie them over.’  Cooper liked people.  He was naturally friendly.  The Valley City Times Record described him as "Generous to a fault.”

The Masonic Temple in Cooperstown, the pride of Masons in this town and over the state, was built mostly by funds given by R. C. Cooper.

In September 1920, seventy-five guests helped Mr. and Mrs. Rollin Cooper celebrate their fiftieth Wedding Anniversary.  The program consisted of a greeting by W. H. Butler, presenting baskets of roses and chrysanthemums to the couple.  There were two vocal solos by Hattie Smith and a reading of "That Old Sweetheart of Mine" by Mildred Udgaard.  Mrs. J. N. Brown recalled incidents in the lives of the couple.

There was a meeting called by the county clerk of Griggs County on February 9, 1888 at 2 PM for organizing Township - 146-59 also known as Cooperstown Township.

The first Township meeting was held February 23, 1888.  The first election board was paid November 19th, 1888:  

T. E. Warner (Clerk) - $2, F. L. Cowen - $2, Jas.  Allen (Judge) - $2, C. W. Hodge (Judge) - $2, Jas.  W. Christie (judge) - $2.

Cooperstown and Cooperstown Township had the same board.  First Township records had been destroyed.
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HOUGHTON SCHOOL

The first Houghton School was built on Section 29.  It was moved to Wilmot Houghtons farm and used for a woodshed when a better building became a necessity.  The new Houghton School was across Highway #7 on Section 20.

The well on this school ground was famous for its "good drinking water.”  People from nearby would come to fill their cream cans and pails.  Before Cooperstown received their piped in city water, this well was often a 'gathering place.'

The Houghton school was dissolved in 1959.  The building was sold to The K. P. Lodge and they moved it to Cooperstown for their meeting hall.  The grounds are now this 'Rest Area' with a new water pump, but the same good water.
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SWEDISH MISSION CHURCH

The Swedish Mission Church was built in 1914 on Section 30 in Cooperstown Township.  Religious services had been held in the homes and later in the Houghton School.  The pioneers that built this church were Per, Jens and Anders Person and another brother named Jonas Skanse, Lars Sunberg, Ludvig Anderson and Petrus Erickson.

This church later dissolved and the building was moved to Sutton where it still holds services.

When the Person child died, Mrs. Brita Johnson donated land for the Cemetery Plot, which was used by other neighbors too, in time.
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Settlers

ADOLPHSON FAMILY

Elsa Louisa Ogren was born in Sweden December 30, 1890.  She came to Cooperstown October 17, 1923.  Carl Adolphson was born February 12, 1893.  He came to Griggs County from Sweden in 1921.  They were married at Aneta October 27, 1923.  They bought a farm in Cooperstown Township and there they lived for about 35 years till he died in 1957 and she in 1958.

Carl and Elsa had only one child, a daughter Gertrude, who married Russell Edland.  Gertrude and Russell have two sons.  Their oldest is Ronnie who farms the family farm with his father.  The youngest boy is still in school.
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LUDVIG ANDERSON

Johanna and Ludvig Anderson were married in Sweden in 1874.  They, with their daughter Emma, came to America in 1880, settling near Mayville, North Dakota Mr. Anderson worked for other newcomers in that area.  Their home was a sod hut, while living in it Edith Anderson was born in 1882.  The desire for their own home, and to find a Swedish settlement prompted their move westward via wagon and horses.  The trip was uneventful except some trouble trying to get the horses to cross the river, near where the Fluto Bridge now is.  In 1883 the Andersons homesteaded on NW quarter of Section 20 Griggs County, again their home was a sod hut.  Their third daughter Hilma was born there in 1885, a son Milton was adopted in 1899.  In 18~6-87 a wooden structure was built, it still stands as a portion of the house on the farm later known as Tom Boe's.  Ludvig was born in Sweden in 1848 and died on the farm near Cooperstown in 1917.  Johanna was born in Sweden in 1853 and died on the farm in 1930.  Emma Anderson Hagberg was born in Sweden in 1875, married John Hagberg in 1903.  They lived in the Binford area, where their children, John, Christ, Edith (Mrs. Maynard Langford, Cooperstown.), Edwin and George were born.  Emma died in 1916.

Edith Anderson Boe, born in 1882, attended the local high school, Valley City State Teachers College and Interstate Bus.  School in Fargo.  She taught rural schools in this area for 13 years before her marriage.  She taught in the Thune, Houghton, Swenson, Steffen, Shepard and Michealis schools, often she and her sister Hilma would live in the schoolhouse during the school term.

Hilma Anderson born in 1885 died in 1921, she worked for several years in the Thompson dry goods store.  After her Dad's death, Hilma and her Mother moved into town and lived in the house, which is now the home of Edith and Maynard Langford.  After Hilma's death, Mrs. Anderson moved back to the farm and lived with Tom and Edith until her death.  Milton Anderson who was adopted in 1899, left this area as a young man and has made his home in Southern California
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NICKOLI BOE

Josephine Halvorson and Nickoli Boe were married in Stavanger Norway in 1884.  Nickoli, a shoemaker by trade, and his wife immigrated to America in 1886, settling first in Sverdrup Township, where he herded cattle for the farmers in the community.  They also lived on Section 8 and 7 in Baldhill Township.  They were the parents of five sons, Thomas, Swen, Racine, Alfred and Magnus.  In 1898 Josephine died, Nickoli sold his land and worked as a hired man for several farmers, including, Swen Lima, T. T. Fugelstad and Martin Lunde.  In 1902 Nickoli bought SE quarter of Section 12 in Helena Township, from Jim Sinclair.  In 1903 he married Maria Wathne, she passed away in 1922, he continued to farm until 1925, when he went to live with his son Thomas and family until his death in 1953.
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THOMAS BOE

Thomas, the oldest son of Nickoli and Josephine Boe was born in 1888.  As a young man he worked for several farmers in this area and in 1910 went to work for Ludvig Anderson.  Four years later he married one of the daughters, Edith.  The ceremony was performed in the Anderson home on the farm by Reverend Josephson, the father of the late Mesdames Conrad and Henry Herigstad.  Except for a short period of time they made their home on the farm homesteaded by Edith's parents in 1883.  In 1955 Tom and Edith retired and moved to Cooperstown, where he built his own home and helped build a house for his son Alvin and one for his daughter Arla Schilbred.  Lars Larson came from Norway in 1914, and started working for Tom in 1920, making his home with them for over 35 years.  Although not related he is thought of as one of the family along with Audrey, Arla, Edsel and Alvin.  One daughter died in 1919 at the age of two.  Edith died in the fall of 1971 at the age of 92, about one month after they had celebrated their 60th wedding anniversary.  Of their children only one continues to live in Cooperstown, Alvin, who is the manager of the Melroe Division of Clark Equipment Company He is married to the former Myrleen Luran they have 2 sons, Tom and Scott.
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BORCHERT FAMILY

Gottfried Michael Borchert and his wife Fredricka Behm came to Griggs County from Neue Kircken, Prussia, Germany in 1888.  They took a homestead on Section 32 in Tyrol Township.  They had been married in 1879.  Some of their 10 children were born in Germany.  Fredrica died in 1899.  In 1905 Gottfried returned to Germany to visit relatives and friends.  There he remarried to Maria Schwan of Midling, Bavaria, Germany.  Of this family, three are living.

By 1887, Gottfried had a frame house and a sod barn.  A snowstorm covered the barn and almost covered the house.  They dug a tunnel from house to barn and had steps down in the snow bank to the well.  Snow lasted till May.

One day this family hooked up their team of oxen intending to drive on to visit a neighbor near by.  They never did get there for the oxen took them into a slough.  The outcome of this story is not remembered!

The Borchert family attended German Lutheran Church in homes and schoolhouses.

Max Borchert, their son, married Ida Urness on January 24, 1920.  They bought the farm from Gottfried and also bought Section 4 in Cooperstown Township.  Two sons were born to this union:  

Hillard of Oklahoma is married and has a son, Ronald and a daughter, Marilyn.  The other son Floyd married Lucille Hayder who taught in The Frigaard School.  They have six children:  

Gene, Terry, Sherry, Randy, Coleen and Brent.

When Floyd and Hillard were going to Country school, their parents bought them a Shetland pony so they didn't have to walk.

This family always looked forward to neighbor-get-to-gethers when they would have ball games in the pastures or schoolyard.

The love of horses and ballgames continues in Floyd's family.

Max and Ida are retired now but they still live on the homestead where they raise raspberries, strawberries and a large garden.

Another of Gottfried sons remained in Griggs County.  He was Frank, married to Elsie Tetzlaff.  From this union 4 children were born:  

Richard, Marvin, Dorine and Frances.  All have moved away except Marvin.  He and his family live in Jamestown, North Dakota.  Frank lost his life in an auto accident in 1948.
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THE S. A. BRAA FAMILY

In 1915 North Dakota had a bonanza wheat

Richness and prosperity was roundabout.  Loud hosannas emanated throughout the land.  A land boom of semi-national proportions had been born.  The Duffy Brothers Land Company of Pipestone, Minnesota furnished the link between the Hammer-Condy Company of Cooperstown and the Braa family of Dell Rapids, South Dakota.  The papers for sale were signed on Memorial Day of 1916.  By so doing the Braas disposed of a quarter Section of improved South Dakota land in exchange for a full Section of North Dakota at $65 per acre.  Besides the inflation of the War, North Dakota had another bonanza wheat crop in 1918.  It brought much happiness and fresh hopes.  I recall Dad speaking joyfully about each hopper dumped by the machine as placing another dollar's worth in the bin.  With a forty inch Case thresher, powered by a twin cylinder Reeves steam engine caused the hoppers to come in rapid succession.  Indeed the bonanza of 1918 added to the search for North Dakota land.  And so they came from South Dakota, Minnesota, Illinois - they came to buy land.  My grandparents Mr. and Mrs. Anders S. Braa came and bought a quarter Section about one mile west from the Section my folks had bought.

We arrived at Cooperstown aboard the Northern Pacific Branch line on March 27, 1917.  There were four sons and two daughters.  The thinking of the day was that all four sons would be farmers, each eventually to inherit a quarter Section of land upon which new farmsteads would be built.  Was all this really the impossible dream?

I am compelled at this point to interpose a few memories of a thirteen-year-old boy in South Dakota.  My folks had a 1912 Reo.  It seldom went farther than to town ten miles away.  One time I recall dad taking us to our one-room schoolhouse at the terrific speed of forty miles per hour.  We kids were thrilled in seeing that speedometer creeping up to that magic number of forty!  Radios, television and electronics were nonexistent.  We had a telephone hanging on the wall.  One requirement in the use of it was to crank like crazy.  Many a time it was necessary to go out and crank up the old REO to get the message through.  And in school the kids marveled at us as our departure time arrived - in that we would be going way up north toward the North Pole with all its ice and cold weather!  They reasoned there would be hostile Indians and consequent dangers.  They felt for us.  According to modern thinking we were being catapulted into ORBIT.  Our geography books must have been more theoretical than practical.

Our new home was known as the Old Cooper Ranch.  Much emphasis was placed on the saga that eighty mule teams were hitched and sent out for miles around to do the work for the Cooper Ranch.  Wagons would be hitched into long trains many times in desperation in order to get the grain in from the threshers.  Next it became a larger problem to get the grain on to market.  Mule teams were not capable in this task.  As I recall the story Mr. R. C. Cooper made attempts at bringing in an engine - tractor- locomotive facility.  Mainly for lack of suitable roads this project failed.  In his continued efforts, however, Mr. Cooper constructed a roadway, which the Northern Pacific Railroad later negotiated for and on which the Northern Pacific laid the rails for the McHenry Branch Line.  Oh yes, the Old Cooper Ranch was rich in historical lore and we kids were enriched in the glamour of it all.

As I recall it now, the Braas moved away from the Cooper Ranch in 1930 to a small farm near Dazey.

The dream of any of the Braa boys becoming landowners by inheritance was a lost cause.  I might mention as it had been reported to me years ago that the land my folks bought at $65 per acre in 1916 was finally purchased by the renter somewhere in the mid 1930s at $14.50 per acre.  That I believe gives credence to the axiom that ROLLING STONES GATHER NO MOSS.  With modernized tractor power, commercial fertilizer and effective weed control the land has been made productive.  With proper management, PLOW, PLANT AND PROSPER is the correct formula for success.

In conclusion I wish to indicate some of the benefits that came to me personally because of the land boom of 1916.  Cooperstown High School was a mere three and a half miles away from our home.  On my way to school I usually ran across the fields.  That made the miles shorter.  The closeness to a high school gave me splendid opportunities for more education.  Such opportunities were not in the thinking as circumstances were in our South Dakota home.  At that point in time a high school education was not considered for farm boys.  Obviously the nearness of Cooperstown High School furnished a much-needed transition for this farm boy.  I think back with the deepest gratitude to Superintendent F. Ray Rogers, Principal Erma Armstrong, coach and chemistry teacher Edmund Bryant, and to Mrs. Porterville from whom I received social sciences.  Others might well be mentioned, however, these four I believed displayed to me the golden sheaves of wealth that were lodged in the wheat lands of Griggs County in the state of North Dakota.
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GUST EDSTROM

August (Gust) Edstrom was born in Sweden August 29, 1886.  He came to the United States about 1905 from Sweden.  He worked on different farms in Griggs County and later started to farm with Isack Aaker.  After a time he moved to West Houghton farm and rented it for many years.  This was in Cooperstown Township, part of Section 32 and part of 29, also part of 33.  He later bought this farm and farmed with horses.  One day the horses ran away when he was drilling and the drill went over him.  It took some time for him to recover from that accident.  He used to hire the neighborhood girls to keep house for him.  EVELYN HOUGHTON kept house for him for many years and helped him buy the farm so both made their home there until Gust's death in the spring of 1961.  Gust loved children and was like a grandfather to the children in the neighborhood.  He was a real good neighbor and friend in every way.
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THE EGELAND FAMILY HISTORY

Ale Egeland was born June 4, 1868 at Qlekkefiord, Norway.  He came to the United States as a young man.  It took one month to cross the ocean and a propeller broke.

Sophie Torgerson was born December 20, 1874 at Qlekkefiord, Norway.  She came to the United States shortly after Ale Egeland and her brother came.

Ale and Sophie were married December 19, 1897 at Warren, Minnesota They lived in Grand Forks a few years.  They came to Aneta about 1930.  They spent the rest of the years on farms in the Aneta and Cooperstown vicinity.

While at Rugby Ale Egeland was a lay Methodist preacher.  He would go up to the small communities in the Turtle Mountains - preaching a week at a time.  He also preached in the Rommen Methodist Church.

There were 10 children born.  Two died in infancy.  Oscar who lives at Hayward, California, Thilmar who lives at Aneta, North Dakota, Anna (Mrs. H. B. Blanchard) who lives at Grafton, North Dakota, Arthur is deceased, Theodore who lives at Cooperstown, North Dakota, Alfred is deceased, Esther (Mrs. D. A. Cuba) lives at Macomb, Illinois, Selma (Mrs. C. P. Bradohl) is deceased.  There are 9 grandchildren and 20 great grandchildren.
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ERICK ERICKSON

Erick Erickson was a grain merchant, banker and one of the extensive landowners of Griggs County.  Born in Bergen, Norway June 20, 1853 he was youngest of three sons and two daughters.  His step-father, Jacob Wallen, brought the family to Dane County Wisconsin.  Absalem, Erick's brother, enlisted in the Union Army as a member of a Wisconsin cavalry.  Many cousins fought for the southern army.  Erick was too young for the service.

In 1882 Erick came to Nelson County where he filed on a homestead.  Later he moved to Cooperstown where he engaged in implement business and general merchandise.  In 1906 he sold this store, bought in Jessie, and soon went into partnership with J. G. Thompson and Oliver Hoff in the newly established town of Sutton in general stores.  Still broadening his scope of activities, he became a stockholder in the First State Banks of Sutton, Jessie and Cooperstown, where he was vice president.  He was stockholder in many elevators and owned the one 'Erickson Company' of Cooperstown.  He soon owned 2,500 acres of land.  He rented out the greater part of it.  At that time he was agent for the J. I. Case Threshing Machine Company handling its output at Cooperstown.

In 1884 Mr. Erickson married Isabella Tvetaken a native of Norway.  They had a son and daughter

Edwin C. and Myrtle S. Edwin married Clara Hammer.

Erick Erickson was a member of Sons of Norway, Masonic Lodge and he filled the office of assessor for four years.  He was actively involved when the Masons built their $35, 000 building.
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MARTIN A. FRIGAARD

Martin A. Frigaard and Anna Kindseth were married on June 15, 1907 in the Mineola Church, Goodhue, Minnesota where both had been baptized and confirmed.  News of bumper crops from Mr. Frigaard's uncle, Gunder Frigaard, encouraged them to move to North Dakota.  In April 1914 they came with their possessions to Cooperstown by emigrant railroad car.  They settled north of Cooperstown on the Chamberlain farm, which they rented for three years.

THE R. J. LOCKNERS moved to the next farm on the east of the Chamberlain farm.  On the day that the Lockners were married, Mrs. Frigaard went to their house while they were gone, prepared a nice meal and set the table fancily, etc.  As she saw the Lockners returning from the ceremony she slipped out the back way and went home.

In 1917, the Frigaards purchased the west 1/2 of Section 12, 146-59.  This farm is about 2 miles north of Cooperstown and has the railroad running through it, which, in early years, had a passenger train and two freight trains daily.

Mr. Frigaard served on the church board of the Trinity Lutheran Church in Cooperstown for several years.  In the 1930's Mrs. Frigaard organized the "Otte Mission Circle" to help support Lillian Young Otte, a medical missionary in South Africa.

Mr. Frigaard served on the Township board for several years.  As there was no welfare department in the 1920's or 1930's, the members of the town board took care of this also.  One elderly man with only one leg came limping along on an artificial leg, which he had crudely fashioned, from a limb of a tree.  M. A. took him to Valley City where he was fitted for a limb.  Later, when this man received his limb, he came and "danced" for M. A. to show his appreciation.

Mr. Frigaard also served on the school board for several years.  In the late 1930's he decided he did not want the position any longer.  Mrs. Frigaard was elected in his place.  She was later replaced by their son, James.

The Frigaards had four children.  The first two were born in Goodhue, Minnesota.  Alma Margaret was born on August 10, 1911.  She married Ingwals (Bing) Rood on December 28, 1933.  They later purchased the Ole Rood farm in Broadview Township where they lived until moving to Fargo shortly before Alma's death in 1963.  They had one son, Wayne, and one foster son, James Ness.

James Martin was born on May 3, 1913.  He married Bernette Bakken of Sharon, North Dakota in 1942 and farmed until they moved to Hood River, Oregon in 1965.  James still owns the home farm.  They have five children.

Andrew Millard was born on the Chamberlain farm on November 22, 1915.  He married Alice Schenstad of Hanks, North Dakota and purchased the Ben Johnson farm in Washburn Township, which he farmed until moving to Oregon in 1964.  They have eight children.  One of their daughters, Alice Mae, is married to Robert Myers who farms west of Cooperstown.

Ruth Viola was born March 27, 1918 on the farm north of Cooperstown.  She attended Mayville State College and taught school in Washburn and Tyrol Townships.  She married Arthur Mostad of Romness Township.

Mr. and Mrs. M. A. Frigaard farmed north of Cooperstown until 1946.  At that time, they retired and moved into Cooperstown where they lived for 19 years.  In the fall of 1964, they entered a rest home at Zumbrota.
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THE MARTIN HAGEN FAMILY

Martin Hagen came from Littlehammer, Norway to North Dakota in 1882 at the age of 16.  He stayed at Melvin Feiring's folks and went to school.

Helga came from Trondhjem, Norway to Griggs County in 1884.  She worked for Byron Hazard and the Houghtons.

Martin and Helga were married in Cooperstown on August 7, 1907.  They farmed on Section 14 Cooperstown Township where their first son was born, Harold.

They moved to Steele County and farmed and Clarence, their second son was born.

They moved from Steele County to Mose, North Dakota in Foster County in 1913, where they resided for 14 years.  Two sons, Alf and Raymond, were born there.  Also one daughter, Evelyn, and one son, Milton were born in Cooperstown while they still lived in Mose.

In the fall of 1927, they moved to Cooperstown Township and farmed for Mr. Ed.  Savre until the spring of 1931 when they moved to Pilot Mound Township on Byron Hazard's farm.  They farmed there until Martin died in 1944.  Harold and Helga farmed from 1944 until 1958, when they quit farming and moved to Cooperstown.

Harold died in 1970 and Helga resided in a nursing home until she passed away in August 1974 at the age of 90.
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HAZARD FAMILY

On his 91st birthday Jared C. Hazard received congratulations from Calvin Coolidge, then President of the United States.  President Coolidge wrote:

"I have received a letter telling me of your 91st birthday anniversary and also telling me something of your life and family.  It is fine to know you are enjoying the rewards of an active, useful and well-ordered life.”

''May I add my congratulations to those of your many relatives and friends who will be wishing you continued health and happiness.”

Jared was born in 1836 in Courtland County, New York to Clark and Delia Hazard.  Clark's father was Steward and his mother, Sarah.  Delia's father was Robert Tennant.  Jared's great grandfather, Thomas Tennant, enlisted in the Revolutionary War in 1777.  At that time his address was Greenwich, Mass.

When he was five years old the family moved to a farm forty miles west of Kingston, Upper Canada.  Later Hazards moved to Salmon River, Canada where Clark operated a sawmill.

In 1846 Hazards traveled by boat to Milton Junction, Rock County, Wisconsin.  Clark Hazard purchased a farm at Hampton, Columbia County.

Jared married Emily A. McDonald in 1858.  They lived in Columbia County, Wisconsin where their eight children were born.  In 1887 they came to Griggs County by train (Cooperstown at that time was the end of the route), and homesteaded on the NE quarter of Section 28 146-59 with 3 of their children:  

Randal, Byron, and Lucius.  Randal later moved into Cooperstown.  In 1895 he remarried to Cora St. John in Columbia, Wisconsin.  Cora St. John had one son, Harry St. John by a previous marriage.

LUCIUS HAZARD lived on the homestead (Hillside Farm), except for a few years in railroad work.  He married Elizabeth Dorman Miner in 1914.  They added several buildings to the homestead and continued farming until his retirement.  A daughter, Virginia (Mrs. Roger Stohle, Moorhead, Minnesota) was born in 1928.  After his death in December 1949, the homestead was sold and Mrs. Hazard lived in Fargo-Moorhead until her death in February 1970.  He had a daughter, Dorothy, of Montana by a previous marriage.

BYRON (1873-1953) married Martha Arneson (18721950) on October 3, 1893.  They took a homestead on NW quarter of Section 14 146-59.  In order to hold the homestead they had to show they were living on it, so in February after a few warm days, Byron took a team of horses and with his wife and small son James went over there to live.  It turned bitterly cold and the stove wouldn't heat the house so at night the water froze so hard it bulged the bottom of the pail.  Byron would walk to the neighbors each day to get eggs and milk, and to prove he was living on the place.  (Bruce Lee Hazard a great grandson is now farming this homestead.)  Later, they moved to Valley City where Byron was maintenance engineer for the highway department.

Raymond N. Arneson, a nephew of Martha, had made his home with the Hazards since infancy.

JAMES married Cora Houghton in 1918.  From that union are seven children:  

1. Mrs. Clifford (Marjorie) Ashland of Missouri

2. Mrs. Richard (Joanne) Schwappach of Bismarck, North Dakota

3. Mrs. Don (Ardys) Rundle of La Cross, Wisconsin

4. Edwin married Evelyn Hagen, they now live in Warren, Minnesota

5. William married Marjorie Steffan.  They have two children:  

6. Greg and Susan.  They farm near Cooperstown.  Bruce married Marilyn Simpson.  They farm on Section 29 and have three children:  

7. Mrs. Wayne (Vickie) Iverson, Ricky, and Bruce Lee.  James Jr. still lives on the home farm.

When James and Byron farmed together this notice was seen in the Courier:

"Dr. J. A. H. Winsloe shipped a pure bred Duroc boar pig last Saturday to his father in Pasadena, Maryland.  The pig was purchased from B. W. Hazard and Son.  The Winsloes know the right breed to raise for the biggest profits and do not hesitate in shipping long distances when they can get good ones.”

James and Cora hosted a party for their parents, Byron and Martha on their 55th wedding anniversary.  Among the 50 relatives and guests gathered at the James Hazard home three miles west of Cooperstown were six who had been present at the wedding 55 years ago.  They were:  

Mr. and Mrs. Nels Opheim of Cooperstown, married a few months before the Hazards were

Mr. Hazard's brother, Lucius, of Cooperstown

his sister, Mrs. Cloie Ayrea, of Hobart, Indiana

Mrs. Anna McDermott and Mrs. W. D. Hartman, both of Fargo, sisters of Mrs. Byron Hazard.

The Hazards were and are active members of the community.  They hold and have held offices in the Masonic Lodge, Township Board, and Presbyterian Church.

KNUTE HOLLAND

Knute Holland and wife Serina (Ashland) were among the early pioneer settlers in Griggs County, North Dakota.  Knute Holland, at the age of 26 years arrived in 1881.  His wife Serina arrived the following year in 1882 at the age of 16 years.  They both came from Stavanger, Norway.

Knute Holland was born on April 13, 1855.  In the spring of 1881, he came to America, pausing first at Granite Falls, Minnesota, from where, in the same year, he came to North Dakota.  From Valley City he came Northward, settling on a farm in the Southeast quarter of Griggs County.  In 1891 he purchased a half Section of land just south of Shephard.

He was married to Miss Serina Ashland on November 10, 1887 and to this union a happy family of ten children, six daughters and four sons, were born.  In 1904 Mr. Holland, with his family, went to Oregon, this removal being caused by Mr. Holland's ill health following pneumonia.  But the Oregon climate was not agreeable to him as that of North Dakota, and his return to Griggs County marked the start of a lasting residence here.  Since that return the Holland family has resided in the immediate vicinity of Cooperstown except for their removal to the farm home west of Binford.

The children are:  

1. Mrs. Abbin Larson (Bertha) of Hannaford

2. Mrs. A. A. Shoberg (Marie), of Cooperstown

3. Carl, Alfred and Mrs. O. W. Olson (Clara), of Binford

4. Melvin, Herman and Alice, Esther and Florence of Cooperstown.

Andrew Brosten and Knute Holland were cousins and together bought a quarter Section of land in 1885, it being the NE quarter of Section 23, which they owned jointly for a short time.

In 1883, Knute Holland and Sven Olgaad together bought a threshing machine and for many years they were the only threshers in that settlement.
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HELM

Christ A. Helm came to Griggs County in 1937 from McClusky, North Dakota.  He worked for Eddie Fiebiger, also Sam Langford and Matt Bendickson.

Christ Helm and Elizabeth Fiebiger were married November 1, 1939 at the manse by C. C. Converse.  We started to farm East of the Bible Camp.  On the Fredrick Lee farm.

Our Oldest boy, Arnold was born at the Court Bonewell home.  Our Daughter Mary was born on the Fredrick Lee Farm.  The spring of 1943 we moved to Hammer and Condy farm across the road from Charley Cooper Ranch until October 1946 when we had an auction sale.  Christ Jr., Martha, Adeline all 3 born on Hammer Condy farm.

Richard, DuWayne, Albert, Darlene, Robert and Wanda were born in Griggs County.

Arnold was married June 11, 1961 to Phyllis Schmiginske from McVille and had five children when he was killed May 16, 1971 at New Castle, Wyoming in Oil Rig accident.  His wife and the children live at Fargo, North Dakota

Mary married James Bender, June 24, 1961.  Jim in Propane Gas business they had Steven, and Deborah.

Christ Jr. married Jan Marks of Denver, Colorado on September 5, 1970, they have Melissa and Christ is an auditor and at present live at Upper Marlboro, Maryland.

Martha is single and is manager of the "Youth Recreation Center.”

Adeline married Ronald Olson of McVille December 12, 1965.  They have three boys, one girl, Ronald Jr., Daniel, Robin, and Aaron.  Ronald in partnership with Allen Kenniger on Valley Truck Lines.

Richard was in Service 2 years, married Irene Brooks of McVille August 9, 1969 they have Matthew, Lynnette.  Richard works for Melroe.

DuWayne works at Fargo and married Beverly Runge of Wessington, South Dakota November 9, 1974.

Albert was in Service 2 years, lives at Yakima, Washington.

Darlene and Robert born August 19, 1953 Darlene passed away February 6, 1954.  Robert in Service 11/2 years now at Fort Carson, Colorado.  Wanda will be senior this fall at Cooperstown High School, working in Olson's Floral Shop.
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MILLIE ZUEHIKE HOLLOWAY

Millie Zuehike was born May 6, 1877 in Brandenberg, Germany.  In 1892, she and a brother William Zuehike and a sister Bertha came to the home of their uncle who lived in Jamestown, North Dakota.

She married Oscar Opheim at Cooperstown in 1898.  He passed away the following year shortly before the birth of a son Oscar.  Oscar Jr. died in 1929.

On October 1, 1902 she married Clark Holloway.  They farmed in Sutton, North Dakota before buying 1/2 Section in Cooperstown Township.  Clark passed away August 22, 1916.

Millie Holloway moved to Cooperstown in 1937 and passed away there September 1, 1951.

A son George Robert, born April 27, 1908 died in 1955.

A daughter, Ruth Arneson lives in Fargo.
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HOUGHTON FAMILY

Ruth likes to remember the evenings the family used to spend around the fire telling stories of the olden days.  There was one story that the Houghtons were living on a farm in northern Maine or Vermont at the time England retook Quebec.  The farm was split by the new boundary.  A Houghton crossed the Delaware with Washington is another family story.

In Ontario, Canada there is a Houghton Township in Norfolk County, next to Haldimand County, where Grandfather Joshua was born.  There is also a County of Houghton in Michigan on the Keeweenaw Peninsula, which sticks up into Lake Superior organized in 1845.  A Douglas Houghton was drowned off the Eagle River.  The county was named for him.  The county seat eventually became Houghton, Wisconsin.  Douglas Houghton, according to the history, was a cousin to Stephen A. Douglas of Lincoln-debate fame.

Ruth remembers how they told of her grandfather, JOSHUA HOUGHTON, and her grandmother, Miranda Button, moving from Coleberg, Ontario, Canada to St. Clair County, Michigan with 4 children.  Seven more children were born there.  Then the family, with seven of the sons, moved to North Dakota, though not all at the same time.

Ruth's Uncle JOHN, who was born on October 22, 1854, and married to Sarah A. Pike, who came to Griggs County in 1882.  He was a carpenter who had helped to build the first buildings on the Cooper Ranch and also the granary where the county records were kept.

Uncle John and Aunt Sarah had two children, Walter and Willard.  WALTER, born in July of 1884, married Nellie Barton, born in 1880.  Nellie had taught school in the Houghton School.  Walter farmed in Griggs County, sold insurance, and was a School Clerk.  They had three children:  

Robert, Charlott, and Evelyn who is, at present, residing in the Griggs County Nursing Home.  Both Nellie and Walter died as a result of an auto accident.  Willard, born in 1888, worked, for a time, in the Post Office in Cooperstown.

Uncle GEORGE was born in 1856 in Burnside, Ontario and died in 1940.  He and Mrs. Houghton had seven children:  

Lloyd, Harry, Arthur, Luther, Mrs. Basil (Stella) Edmondson, Mary Harvey, Grace Harvey, and Pearl.  Arthur farmed in Griggs County.  Luther was Assistant Postmaster around 1905 and Basil Edmondsons had a meat market in Cooperstown.

Uncle George had come to Griggs County in 1885 and bought land in Section 32-146-59.  The family left Griggs County to homestead in Montana.  In 1915 they moved to Vergas, Minnesota.

Ruth's Uncle WILMOT was born in 1861 in St. Clair County, Michigan.  He had come to Griggs County in 1881 and married Olivia Langford in 1894.  They had no children.  Uncle Wilmot bought land in Section 29-14659 where they built a home.  Wilmot's parents came to live with them there.

Uncle Wilmot owned the threshing machine that later became the Loudon Steam Rig.  Cora, Ruth's sister, did the cooking for 2 years for the threshing crew in the chuck wagon.  Ruth helped and James Hazard said he sometimes helped Cora dry dishes.

Uncle Wilmot had shot a white crane that measured 9 feet across the wings.  He had it taxidermized.

Bertie, Charles and Ruth Houghton

Ruth's Father, CHARLES HOUGHTON, was born in 1863.  At the age of 14 he went into a lumber camp in Northern Michigan.  He spent 4 years preparing logs to be sent down the river in the spring.  Letters had come from his brothers in North Dakota telling of the opportunities there.  Thus in 1886 he had set out to come to North Dakota and was met at the train station in Cooperstown by his brothers.

Ruth's father homesteaded in 1887, filed on 1/4 of Section 32-146-59, and then pre-empted for a quarter of Section 5 in Bald Hill Township.

On March 3, 1892 Charles was married to Alberta Langford and four children were born to them:  

Cora, Milton, Kenneth, and Ruth.  Kenneth died at the age of 2 years.

Charles Houghton served on the City Council of Cooperstown and was active in founding and running the Griggs County Fair.  His wife, Bertie, was an Eastern Star, going through all the offices, a Past Matron, and an active member of the Methodist Church.  Both of Ruth's parents served on the Cooperstown School Board.  Charley used to call for square dancing.  His natural rhythm was apparent, and it was said that one could set one's watch by the times he came and went from his fields.

In 1902 Charles Houghton moved to Cooperstown.  He died in 1931.  His homestead is now owned and farmed by one of his grandsons, Bruce Hazard.

Ruth's sister, Cora, married James Hazard on November 27, 1918.  Before her marriage she taught school in several Townships as well as in the Houghton School.  Milton married Ida Hammer and had no children.  Ruth married Paul Brent.

In 1889 Uncle WESTERN Houghton bought the homestead rights from Charles McDonald who then took over the management of the Palace Hotel.

Uncle Wes married Nina E. Blanchard in 1890 and had three children:  

Laura, born in 1891

Earl, born September 16, 1892

and Ethyl.  Western worked for Hammer-Condy for many years and did much of their collecting.  Nina died at the young age of 36 in 1902 giving birth to twin girls who also died at an early age.

Laura, Ruth's cousin, married Aadne Vigesaa in 1911 and Earl married Jennie Magnuson in 1917.

Uncle HORACE was born on August 15, 1870, came to Griggs County in 1890, and married Sarah L. Wilson in 1902.  They had five children:  

Howard, Wilton, Alfred, Mrs. Sig (Edith) Vigesaa, and Mrs. Glen McCumber.  Horace homesteaded on Section 28-146-59.  They moved to Cooperstown where he worked for the E. W. Blackwell Lumberyard.

Uncle DOUGLAS, the youngest of the Houghton boys, was born in 1875.  He came to Griggs County in 1892 and worked for R. C. Cooper.  He later farmed.

Douglas married Alice Blanchard and Ruth's cousins from that family were:  

Blanchard, Margaret, Nina, and Lucille.

Blanchard married Jean Barton and lived on the John Houghton homestead until they moved to St. Paul, 

Minnesota.  Margaret married Gerald Nierenberg and they continued to live on the home farm for many years.  Nina married Clarence Olein and Lucille married Emil Magnuson.

Is this Uncle Douglas a namesake of the Douglas Houghton of Houghton County, Michigan?  These Houghtons lived in Northern Michigan.  Ruth wonders:  

"Does it all tie together?  Are they related?"
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JOHN JOHNSON

John and Elna Johnson lived four miles west of Cooperstown I they both came from Sweden at an early age.

Mrs. Johnson was born November 30, 1878 and died November 16, 1925.

Mrs. Johnson was born in Sweden.  She came to Minneapolis as a young lady.  In 1903 she and John were married.  They moved to the Cooperstown community, and there John farmed until his death, in 1925.

They were survived by 4 daughters and five sons:  

Adolph of Duluth, Lilly Hill of Lake Mills, Wisconsin, Kermont deceased, Mrs. Clarence (Vina) Njaa, Carl, Anchorage, Alaska, Mrs. R. L. (Ann) Muster, Mrs. H. C. (Margaret) Lear, R. L. (Dick), Alemeda, Texas, Roger (Bud) of Duluth, Minnesota

Source Page 274 

PETER AND ALMA JOHNSON

Peter and Alma Johnson came to Griggs Company in 1915.  Peter was born near Bergen, Norway in 1866 and Alma in Sweden in 1868.  At the age of sixteen Peter went to sea as a cabin boy on a Norwegian merchant ship.  He advanced as a sailor until six years later he was the ship's pilot.  His buddy at sea was HANS FERDINAND JOSEPHSON who many years later became one of the early pastors of the Bethlehem Free Church of Cooperstown.

While he was sailing there were great discussions of the wonderful new country, the United States, where there was free land and equal opportunity for all.  Peter and Hans Ferdinand determined to emigrate to the United States, in 1887 Hans gave up sailing and came to the United States, and Pete did likewise in 1888.

After Peter came to the United States he sailed on the Great Lakes in summer and worked in a foundry in winter in Racine, Wisconsin.  He married Alma Josephson, his buddy's sister and moved to a farm in Navarino, Wisconsin where he farmed.  Ten children were born to Alma and Pete in Wisconsin.  The land was low and swampy, and Pete was subject to colds and pneumonia so in 1915 he decided to move to the prairies of North Dakota where he hoped the drier climate would be beneficial to his health.

Pete and Alma farmed in Cooperstown Township west of Cooperstown until they retired in the later thirties and moved to Cooperstown.

They were members of the Swedish Evangelical Free Church west of Cooperstown and after it was dissolved they became members of the Bethlehem church.  Peter died in Cooperstown in 1945.  After his death Alma lived with her daughters until her death in 1962 at the age of 94.

The family of Peter and Alma are:  

1. Mrs. M. A. (Jennie) Sischo

2. Stanley

3. Harold

4. Paul

5. Mrs. J. W. (Agnes) Smith

6. Kelly

7. Alf

8. Mrs. Jess (Elna) Gibson

9. Mrs. Ted (Edyth) Turnquist

10. and Mrs. Melfred (Margaret) Monson.  ALF JOHNSON farms in Cooperstown Township.  He is the only son still living.  The Melfred Monsons live in Cooperstown.
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SIGURD KRISTIANSEN

Sigurd Kristiansen, known as Sig, came to America as a young man.  He worked on farms in Griggs County until he decided to try his luck at farming himself.

He rented two different farms in Cooperstown Township until he bought the SE quarter of Section 10.

He bought a house and a barn in Cooperstown and moved them out to this farm.  There he lived and farmed till the early 1930s.  He decided to go back to Norway and he is still living there at the age of 85 years.
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LEISURE

Mr. and Mrs. Ross Leisure were married in Fingal, North Dakota on May 18, 1914.  She was the former Anna Bosch.  She was born August 11, 1890 and Ross was born August 10, 1885 in Barnesville, Ohio.  He was the son of Mr. and Mrs. Walker Leisure.  He came to Cooperstown in the fall when he was 19 years old.  He worked here that fall, and then went to Colorado and Canada to work before returning here to farm.

Ross and Anna had a son, Clarence and two daughters, Marion and Frances.

Anna Leisure died in 1953 and Ross died in 1965.

Clarence is still farming the family farm at Cooperstown.

Source Page 275

AXEL LILJENQUIST

Axel Liljenquist was born at Klösjo, Jamtland, Sweden in a family with 2 older sisters.  His mother passed away when he was born.  His father remarried about 11h years later.  In 1902 he with his wife and three children sailed for America.  Here they settled at Aitkin, Minnesota where many former friends and relatives had already made their homes.  They worked hard logging and made their buildings of logs.  There 9 children were born.  They had a struggle to care for the family but all were amply clothed and fed.  The father worked for others for a few extra dollars.

However when the youngest of the children was 8 months the mother died, scattering the family.  The oldest ones, Axel being the oldest boy, had to go out to work for themselves and also to keep the home going.  He also stayed at home for 3 years to do the housework and cooking for the family.

In 1916 he came to North Dakota to work during the harvest season where he met his future wife, Inga Person.  They then lived at Aitkin, Minnesota for 4 years.  In 1935 he and his wife moved to Cooperstown to the Person farm where their three children were born.  WILBUR on the farm with his wife and 4 children, Timothy, 13, Scott 10, Susan 7, and Stacy 4.  There were also Margaret, Mrs. Allan Stokka, Hannaford and Julienne, Mrs. David Johnson of Benson, Minnesota
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EVEN J. LURA

Lisa Stangeland and Even J. Lura were married in Norway in 1881.  E. J. , as he was known, and several of his family came to America in 1906 and settled in the Canton, South Dakota area.  In 1920 they moved to Griggs County and bought a farm in Section 8 Cooperstown Township from Mike Peterson, the land sold for $50.00 an acre.  Two of their nine children came with them, Erling and Olaf.  ERLING married the former Jeanette Benson and OLAF married the former Geneva Olson.  Both sons have engaged in farming in Griggs County.  Olaf although retired continues to live on ' the home place.  E. J. and Lisa moved to Cooperstown in 1945, living there until his death.  E. J. was born in Norway in 1860 and died in 1948.  Lisa was born in Norway in 1862 and died in 1950.
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LARS LURA

Martha Lima and Lars Lura were married in Norway in 1907.  Lars, the son of Even J. and Lisa Lura joined his parents in Canton, South Dakota in 1910.  In 1911 Martha and their two children, Gertrude and Ole came to join Lars in South Dakota They farmed near Mortrose, South Dakota until 1917 when they moved to Griggs County.  They bought Section 11 in Cooperstown Township from Erick Erickson for approximately 42 dollars an acre.  There they made their home until moving to Cooperstown in 1956.  They are the parents of five children:  

1. Gertrude, Ole, George, Lilianne, and Myrleen.  Two of their children continue to live in Cooperstown, George, who works for Farmers Oil Company is married to the former Alyce Overby, they have 3 sons David, Dennis and Duane.  Duane is Principal of the Elementary school in Cooperstown.  He and his wife Terrie have one son, Davis.  Myrleen Lura is married to Alvin Boe and lives in Cooperstown.  Lars and Martha were born in Norway in 1886, they will have been married 68 years in the fall of 1975, believed to be the oldest married couple in Griggs County.
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JOHN ALBIN OST

John Albin Ost, originally from Minnesota, homesteaded in South Dakota.  Later he came to Griggs County to farm on Section 20.  There he met and married his close neighbor, Betsy Johnson, daughter of Mrs. Brita Johnson.

Mrs. Brita Johnson, with her children Olaf, John and Betsy came to America on the same boat as Margareta Olson in 1882.  Unlike many of the pioneers, Brita Johnson was a widow, but she had some money and wanted to give her children the opportunities that America had to offer.  Times weren't too good in Sweden then.

Margareta Olson married Per Person.  While on the boat she helped the widow care for her small children.  They became neighbors in Cooperstown Township.

Later Olaf had a grocery store in Hannaford and John farmed on Section 20.

J. Albin and Betsy Ost had three children.  Evelyn and Ellen are living in Seattle, Washington and Elmer is a professor in College in Chicago, Illinois
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NEIRENBERG FAMILY HISTORY

Carl Neirenberg and Wilhelmina Gabert were both born in Germany.  They came to Ashland, Wisconsin.  In 1871 they came to Sibley County, Minnesota where Carl died in 1876.  The large family farmed there for about 10 years then moved to Otter Tail County, Minnesota.  Oscar worked at different jobs around Casselton, North Dakota and surrounding places.

In 1884 Oscar, Ed, and Theodore came by train to Cooperstown, North Dakota All they could see on their way was prairie, except here and there a sod house and bam.  Like many other pioneers, they worked on Cooper Ranch.  One night a dance was held in the courthouse.  There weren't very many women living here then.  Thirty men and three women attended.  A band was organized in 1884 it consisted of R. A. Melgard, Mr. Stevens, and Pete Nelson.

OSCAR (1863-1954) and Hattie Mielke (1874-1964) were married in 1891.  To this union were three children:  

Fredrick - who died in 1913, Mrs. J. N. (Laura) Skein of Minnesota, and Carl of Cooperstown who died in 1966.

The first year of their married life he worked out threshing etc.  In 1892 he took a homestead on Section 8 and built a lumber shanty.  They lived on the homestead till they moved to town.  He commented that he had good crops all those years, and he was thankful he stayed in North Dakota.

THEODORE lived to be 96 years old.  While he was working for R. C. Cooper he wintered 100 head of cattle on Section 5.  He watered and fed these cattle all alone.

Later he homesteaded and the homestead is still in the family.

Theodore's first wife Viola Ashby died in 1936.  They had one son named Edward, who married Clara Fluto.  His second wife Eva Williams also preceded him in death.  He fathered two more children, Mrs. Carrie Menord and FRANK who married Minnie Clemens and they live on the homestead with their family.  When Theodore was 90 years old his family held a very large birthday party for him.  He had a cake with 90 candles.

EDWARD also lived to a very old age (1869-1953).  He married Jenny Williams at Cooperstown January 22, 1898.  She died in 1931.  Ed also took a homestead where they lived with their only child.  A daughter Florence.  Florence married Carl Urness and their son, Edward, still farms the family homestead.

Two brothers Charles and Fredrick came to Cooperstown later.  Charles was a carpenter.  He built the house on Theodore Neirenberg's farm, and several other buildings, and then went back to Minnesota to live.

FREDRICK (1872-1957) married Ida Borchert in 1903 from this union 6 children were born:  

Clarence, Gerald who married Margaret Houghton in 1933, Ralph, Mrs. Merle (Elenore) Haugen, Lester and Fred Jr. on the farm.  Fredrick was famous for making delicious sauerkraut.  When asked his secret he said, "I tramp it with my bare feet.”

The Neirenberg boy said that from 1884-1892 this country was full of wild geese.  They covered a stretch of 15-20 acres and the land looked like huge snow-banks.  At night it was difficult to sleep - the geese made so much noise.
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OTTO PERCHERT

Otto Perchert and Florantine Bagermann married in Stutgurdt Germany and migrated to Cooperstown, North Dakota in 1892.  They started a restaurant in the building that now houses Griggs County Farmers Mutual Insurance.  The Percherts had seven children born while living in Cooperstown.  They moved to a farm 5 miles from town in 1914, giving birth to their eighth child in 1915.  They farmed until 1921 when they moved back to town.

The children, Annie now in Griggs County Nursing Home was the oldest, Albert deceased in 1974, August deceased 1968, Robert and Gustave still living in Cooperstown, Hazel deceased 1947, Otto Jr. deceased 1969 and Walter living in California.  Two children born prior to Annie died in infancy.  A portion of the land is still in the Perchert family.  Otto Perchert passed away in 1933 at age of 81 and Florantine in 1954 at the age of 86.
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THE PERSON PIONEERS

Per Person and Margareta Olson, both Swedish immigrants, were married at Mayville in Dakota Territory in 1883.  Their attempt at renting land in the Goose River Valley was not rewarding so they decided to find a homestead.  Father walked the fifty miles to the new homestead area west of the new village of Cooperstown.  He found a disillusioned bachelor who was glad to sell his shack and any right to the land.  He had spent one winter there and that was quite enough for him.  Father paid him a few dollars and re-filed for the homestead.  It was a two room tarpaper covered shack and a well.

Early in the summer of 1884 they set forth to their new home in the west.  The trek was undertaken in an old lumber-wagon drawn by a team of old and tired horses.  In the wagon beside my father, my mother sat holding a sick baby in her arms.

The first year there would be no crop and they were in dire need of money.  Father hired out as a harvest hand on the large Cooper ranch.  Mother remained on the homestead while father walked to and from his daily task.  In the fall he was paid in "gold."

In the "Section" where the folks now made their home there were two other neighbors, the LUDVIG ANDERSONS and the PETRUS ERICKSONS, the latter, near relatives of the Persons.  Then there was one quarter of Tree Claim on which father filed.

Other relatives from Sweden later arrived, three brothers of father:  

JENS who took a homestead and built a sod-house

JONAS (SKANSE) who, with several members of his family, located in the community, and ANDERS who arrived, with his family, too late to get a homestead in the vicinity but located in Foster county.  One neighbor though not a relative, took a homestead and built a dugout in the side of the hill, LARS SUNDBERG. 

The Person homestead consisted of low land with a large slough with shores covered with dry buffalo bones, the remains of either an epidemic among the big beasts or wholesale slaughter.  Father had exchanged the two old nags for a yoke of half domestic young oxen.  While the oxen were at noon rest from pulling the plow, father picked dry bones to be sold in town and later shipped east to be ground up for fertilizer.  The tree-claim consisted of higher ground, so the two-room home was moved to higher ground.  In that two-room "palace" five children were born and survived.  The first two children died in infancy.  The five that survived were:  

Peter, now living in Santa Barbara, California

John, deceased

Margaret, Mrs. Thorvald Gilje, now of Spring Valley, California

and two, still living on the old farm:  

Julia, and Inga, Mrs. Axel Liljenquist.  The Axel Liljenquists had three children, Wilbur, Margaret, Mrs. Allan Stokka and Julienne, Mrs. David Johnson

The courthouse records preserve the name Per Person Hodal.  There were two Per Persons that received their mail at Cooperstown.  They conferred and decided to add to their names the name of the place in Sweden from which they had come.  The one who had come from KINDSO and the one who had come from Hogdal decided not to take the porcine name HOGDAL but HODAL.  We children never liked the new name.  We dropped it even though our farm was for a time registered as "The HODAL Grain and Stock Farm.”
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JENS TOM THORSEN

Jens Thomas Thorsen, known as Tom Thorsen, was born October 19, 1892 in Christiania, Norway (now Oslo) to Thor and Jeanette Olson.  His name of Jens Thomas Olsen was changed TO Jens Thomas Thorsen at about 15 years of age.  This was Tom's choice as he could have left it as it was.

He finished the required schooling at 15, and then entered the Norwegian navy for training.  When he got out of the navy, he went to work at a factory that made boxes.  The money to be made working in Norway was not very much and his best friend, Sigurd Kritiansen, was in America making much more money.

With Sig's help Tom was able to come to America.  He arrived in New York City in April of 1912 where he boarded a train that took him through Canada and to Cooperstown, North Dakota.  Sigrud met him and helped him get settled.

The next four years Tom worked on farms for farmers around the area.  He then sharecropped for two years.

World War I began and Tom entered the United States Infantry and was sent to France, where he saw action and received a sharpshooters medal and the Purple Heart.

He returned to Cooperstown in early 1919 and worked in the power plant.  He had to go to Minneapolis for treatment in the Veteran's hospital for his war injuries.

In 1920 Tom married Minnie Johnson who was born in Spring Valley, Wisconsin and moved to Williston, North Dakota.

After being released from the Veterans Hospital, Tom returned to Cooperstown to work and live.  Minnie and Tom ran the Baldwin Hotel in Cooperstown for a time.

In 1923 they headed back to Minneapolis, where Tom worked on construction jobs, as a salesman, janitor, installing oil burners, etc.  He spent most of his working years at Northern States Power Company, and retired from there in 1957 as a Watchman Engineer.

Minnie and Tom had seven children, three sons, Richard, Floyd and Thomas Jr. all of the Twin Cities area.  Their four daughters were Mrs. Lyle (Thelma) McClish, Mrs. John (Carvel) Beres, Mrs. Dennis (Dorothy) Ecklund, all of Minneapolis, and Mrs. Edward (Dolores) Norum, of Nebraska.

Minnie was born 4/23/91 and passed away 4/10/66 at 74 years, 11 months and 17 days.  Tom was born 10/19/ 92 and passed away 3/19/73 at 80 years and 5 months.
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THE TURNQUIST FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Charles Turnquist moved from Lake Benton, Minnesota in 1910 to Section 15 Cooperstown Township, North Dakota with seven of their children.  The oldest son remained in Minnesota.  They bought a farm from Albert Retzlaff for $42.50 an acre that came to $27,200.  In 1917 the crops were poor.  In 1918 the crops were good, but the ducks moved in and destroyed 25 acres of the best wheat.  They lost the farm and moved into Cooperstown after the three youngest children graduated from High School.  Three of the children were still home, Martin, William, and Hulda.  Mrs. Turnquist died on March 25, 1936.  Mr. Turnquist died on November 11, 1942.

Karl married Carrie Nielsen in Minnesota and farmed for a few years before coming to North Dakota to farm near Mose.  Later they moved to Minnesota.  Then they, with the family of five children, moved to Lake Worth, Florida in 1947.  He died in 1961.  His family still lives in Florida.

MARTIN went into the army for 10 months.  Later he did farm work and construction work for T. S. Swingen until he was appointed Rural Mail Carrier out of Cooperstown in 1937.  He retired after 28 years on November 30, 1965.  He married Berniece Jensen, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Fred Jensen of Cooperstown in 1937.  She was his substitute, then regular carrier for 25 years until the routes were divided.  They have three children who live in Miles City, Montana.

William did farm labor and worked for Dr. Newell looking after his farming interests for many years before moving to Lake Worth, Florida to make his home.  He died on May 9, 1974.

Hanna married Albert Perchert of Cooperstown in 1922.  They and their five children, one son died at the age of 2, lived on the farm west of Cooperstown.  They lived in Cooperstown for a few years before moving to California in 1943.  Albert died in 1974.  Hanna makes her home with her son, Dale, in El Cerrito, California.

George married Marvelle Langford of Cooperstown and moved to Ambrose, North Dakota.  He did farm labor and was a school custodian for many years.  He died December 18, 1943.  They had five boys and one girl who died at the age of seven.  Marvelle lives in Fergus Falls, Minnesota.

Hulda after 3 years of college taught school for 25 years.  She was a clerk in the Chicago Post Office one summer.  Married Martin Dramstad of Binford, North Dakota.  They live on their farm west of Cooperstown.

Theodore after graduating from High School taught school for one year then went to Chicago, Illinois.  He was appointed a clerk in the Chicago Post Office.  After retiring in 1965 he has been working in the Villa Park Bank, Illinois.  He married Edith Johnson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Peter Johnson of Cooperstown, a member of his High School class.  They make their home in Villa Park, Illinois.  They have three children:  

son, Floyd, works in Hong Kong for a New York Bank.  Two daughters, one in Illinois, and one in Indiana.

Helen started teaching school at age of 17 from High School.  She married Fred Parker who died in 1973.  They made their home in Minnesota.  Two sons were killed, one in a runaway, and one in a snowmobile accident.  Two children died in childhood.  Eight live in Minnesota.  After the children were grown Helen went to college and received her B. A. degree from the Valley City College.  She taught school for a few years.  Now she makes her home in Brainerd, Minnesota and is a Foster Grandparent at the State Hospital in Brainerd.
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THE URNESS FAMILY

My parents Halvor and Bertina Urness were born at Lansboro, Minnesota, in Folmore County.  They were married March 29, 1894.  Five of the children were born in Minnesota Halvor came to Griggs County and thrashed for 2 falls, then in 1905 they moved here and bought land.  Four more children were born and one died in infancy.

I was born in Cooperstown Township and at the age of three we moved to Tyrol where Dad built the big Urness house.  It is still standing.

We went to country school about two miles from our home.  Sometimes we'd walk or we would be allowed to drive horse and buggy.  I had a trap-line and would often check my traps on the way to school.  I wanted to save money to buy an accordion.  When I was 13 years old my folks gave me one for Christmas.  Oh!  How I would practice.  Mother had to call up to me to go to bed.  I finally got so I could play for many house parties.  I also played for P. T. A. at school.

My brother Nels was going with a girl and he introduced me to her sister, who I later fell in love with and married.  Agnes Halvig was her name and she was from Aneta.

In 1935 Agnes left for California, I thought I had lost her forever.  I finally got up enough nerve to write her.

I got her address from her sister Alfield who was by then married to my brother.  In 1938 I wrote and asked her to marry me.  She said she would, she was not happy in California We were married in the Parsonage in Aneta by Reverend Overbo, the same minister who confirmed us both.  It poured down rain that day.  When we got home my Mother and sisters had a big wedding reception for us.  There were about a hundred guests and many gifts.

We lived with my Mother and farmed with her for 5 years.  Later we bought the Ost place and started to remodel it.  We put in bathroom and running water.  We had to have a big tank upstairs for water pressure.  Later we got R. E. A. 

Our Mother Bertina Urness lived to attend the 25th Wedding Anniversary of all her children.  She was 93 when she died.

My sisters and brothers:

Bertha, married Henry Quam.  They bought a farm in Griggs County.  They were both deaf mutes, but they did real well.  She died in 1946.

Nels married Alfield Halvig.  They farmed till they bought a house in Cooperstown where they ran a Drive In and Nels worked at the Hospital.  They have two girls, Beatrice, married to Sydney Harvey of Finley.  Arlene is married to Clarence Bednar of Bald Hill.

Carl is married to Florence Nierenberg.  They also farmed till they retired in Cooperstown.  They have two children, Edward and Mavis.  Edward lives on the Nierenberg Homestead.  He married Julianne Erickson.  They have four daughters:  

Linda, Brenda Kay, Eva Jane, and Luanne, and one son Mark.

Ida married Max Borchert.  They still live on the Borchert farm in Tyrol.

Andrew married Clara Wahl.  They have a son Harlan who lives at home and a daughter, Beverly, married to Earl Palmer who live at rural Sharon with their children, Marlene, Janine, Kevin, and Keith.  The Andrew Urnesses purchased the farm where they live in 1938 from Dr. Almklov located in Cooperstown Township.

Bernice married Elmer Arndt they farmed in Tyrol.  

Their only daughter is Elaine.  Bernice died on April 20, 1973.

Agnes and I have three in our family.  Allen is married, has four children.  He taught 2 years in Chico University.  Harold is a licensed contractor.  He also is married and has three children.  Shirley's husband has his own tree service.  They have four sons.

We moved to Chico, California in 1955 where I work at Victor Industries.  We sold the farm in North Dakota, so we don't go back as often now, but we will never forget all the good memories we have as children growing up in Griggs County.

Source Page 279

WATHNE HISTORY

My dad, Johannes Wathne, was born in Stavanger, Norway, December 1883.  He attended school there and also in Bergen, as his family moved there later.

He learned the photography trade, and had his own studio for two years.  Then the studio building was to be closed for several months for remodeling.  Dad wanted to go to America, and as he had relatives in the Cooperstown area, he thought it a good idea to come to Griggs County.  He worked several years as hired man on farms, and in 1913 started farming for himself on the Johan Watne farm, where Otto Watne lives now.  January, 1918 dad married Maria (Vatne) Sharpe.  She was the daughter of Tonnes and Bertha Vatne, who came to America in 1884.  They wanted a farm of their own.  Grandpa bought the homestead rights for $200.00 from Julia Busrack, on the Northeast quarter of Section 8, in Sverdreep Township, 145 range 58.  The farm now owned by Mark and Mary Lou Johnson.

Mother went to the Langford school, where I went also.  She worked as a hired girl, also was a seamstress.  In 1904 she married Barhild Sharpe (Bill), they had one son, Irvin, who lives at Olympia, Washington.  Bill died when Irvin was 3 years old.  Then her brother Simon Vatne and also Gabe Sharpe worked for her on the farm.  In January 1918 she married dad (Johannes).  They had two children.  I (MAURICE) was born March 1920.  I helped on the farm at home.  June - '51 Dorcas Wuflestad and I were married.  We live five miles SW of Cooperstown with our two sons, Larry and Bart.  In September 1924, Florence was born.  She attended the Langford school, Cooperstown school and Jamestown College.  She taught many years before her marriage to Harvey Sletten of Jamestown in December 1969.  They now reside at Fort Ransom, North Dakota

Mother died April 19, 1934.  Dad married Margaret Person in 1938.  They moved to the Walter Houghton farm in 1941.  Dad died in 1949.  Margaret married Thorwald Gilji in Seattle, Washington in 1956.  He died in 1974 and Margaret now resides at Spring Valley, California

We rent our land, but we as a family enjoy living on the farm.
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WUFLESTAD HISTORY

My dad, Conrad Wuflestad was born in Stavanger, Norway, November 1878.  He came to America in 1886, with his parents, four sisters, and three brothers.  They settled on a farm in Griggs County.  Dad worked on the Cooper Ranch as a young man, the Wuflestad Brothers had a threshing rig too.  Later he attended a business college in Fargo, North Dakota, and Moody Institute in Chicago, Illinois.  He traveled with Reverend Ludwig Lunde, singing together.

Dad married Emma Kopperud at Hawley, Minnesota June 18, 1915.  Mother was born at Grafton, North Dakota in November 1888.  She attended Minnehaka Academy in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and a business college in Fargo, North Dakota.  She did secretarial work before her marriage.  They built a new home on a farm southeast of Cooperstown.  Dad did threshing for others, besides farming and having cattle.  Mother was a busy lady doing her duties.  A son was born in 1916 who died at birth.  October 1917, Ruth was born, who died in Minneapolis, Minnesota in 1936.  October 1919 Enoch was born, and July 1923 was my birth date.

Our family enjoyed singing and playing instruments together.  We moved to Minnesota the fall of 1931.  Erick Saxberg, and dad drove horses and hayracks loaded with machinery, the 200-mile trip.  They camped at farm places, nights.  It was a slow trip.  Quite different from the present day way of moving.  Hans Seldal with his truck, and with Oswald Wuflestad's help moved our furniture.

In June of 1951, Maurice Wathne and I were married at Hawley, Minnesota at the same place where mother and dad were married.

We went to the Langford school as kids, as did dad and Maurice's.  We settled west of Cooperstown, on the Wathne farm, where we live at the present time.  Larry was born May 1952.  He attended Cooperstown schools, Valley City College, and is employed at Melroe, Bart was born July 1956.  He attended Cooperstown schools, Wahpeton, S. S. S. , and is employed in a store at Mayville, North Dakota Maurice is employed at Melroe also.  Melroe is a boost to Cooperstown like Cooper's Ranch was.

Dad, mother, and Enoch moved back to Cooperstown in 1956.  Dad died in 1968.  Mother and Enoch reside at the Nursing Home.

We're members of Bethlehem Church.  Also I have enjoyed playing for the Country Four Quartet, and soloist Mike Nevland.

Source Page 280

Dover Township

History

I am proud to recount the role that my father, WILLIAM SANDY, played in the settlement of this small, but very important part of North Dakota.

My parents were Canadians, born in Ontario, and the families were large.  Young men sought opportunities early in life.  The people who had come from Europe, settled in pan of Canada and the United States.  Now the United States was offering great tracts to settlers to induce the opening up of this vast territory.  Citizens could obtain a quarter Section of land after filing and living on it a short time - five years.  Signs were seen all over the East "Go West Young Men.”

The railroads were also generous in their offers for transportations.  William was lured by all this and had visions that some day he would be a land-owner.  He worked hard and saved his money and when he was 22 years old, in 1882, he boarded the train for Sanborn, North Dakota where a home family, the Alex Moffats had gone before.  Mr. Moffat was a splendid carpenter and assured the young man he could have plenty of work.  He found out that his first duty was to declare his intentions to become an "American Citizen" before he could file on any land.  This he did at the Land Office in Fargo, and he was on his way to become a landowner.  Somehow after much consideration, he filed on a piece of land in Griggs County.

Now the laws for landowners were rigid and to show his intentions were sincere, he built a small house and barn on his new land.  He was obliged to live on the land a certain part of each year.  What a wonderful feeling it was when he could announced, "This is my homestead.  -

Before much could be accomplished, he went back to his old home in Ontario and persuaded his old sweetheart, my mother, Isabel Murdock, to become a pioneer, too.  This was a different life on the prairie, but they managed somehow.

Several families of settlers from Norway soon were neighbors, but all were young and soon only English was spoken.  They were:  

The Mickelsons, Olsons, Swensons, etc.  The descendants of these families still live in this part of the state.  Then a group of people came from Pennsylvania to make their fortune - two families of Berlins, Foe Baums, Charles Kribbs family.

This group of settlers all worked together and soon found out that a school must be built, as all were eager to have their children educated.  There were no cars to take us to school, but the mile we walked down the road was very healthy for us.

The schoolhouse served as a church and meeting place of all sorts until a cyclone changed everything for them.  The settlers did not neglect the finer things in life for their children.

The county commissioners in Cooperstown notified this group to submit a name for their Township and at a small group meeting of land owners, the name, Dover, was submitted by my father after a small town in England.  It was agreed upon and all the children's children living now are proud to say, "We* came from Dover.”

After the ownership of the land was approved, many trees were planted and roads were built.  The government gave each landowner a quarter Section of land if he considered planting a certain part to trees.

The families were not neglected either.  William and Isabel Sandy had five children to care for and both of them took their obligations seriously.  The oldest died shortly after he was born, and the good catholic lady, who brought all of us into this world, baptized him before he passed away.  She was a good Christian woman and loved by all.  David, the next one in the family, became a dentist.  Two daughters, Janet and Margaret, became teachers.  Margaret became Mrs. Frank Shearer.  Wardle was the last baby the stork delivered.  He enlisted in World War I and after his release he became a salesman for a wholesale fruit concern.

Now all the family has passed on to the great beyond except Janet, and surely I am proud to look back and to declare, "Surely I have a goodly heritage.”

Dover Township was originally called Union Township, and was created from part of Helena Township.  It was organized on May 24, 1890.  Union was to comprise all of Township 144, range 61.  After being organized into a civil Township, the County Commissioners requested the landowners to submit a new name for their Township.  The name "Dover," after a small town in England, was submitted by William Sandy, an early settler, and was chosen to be the new name.
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DOVER REFORMED CHURCH

Early in the spring of 1914, March 5, to be exact, five families arrived in Wimbledon from Fulton, Illinois.  They were farmers, and came here because of the high cost of buying or renting land there, and the Dutch are known for their fear of debt.

The Martin Rose, Claus C. Huisenga, William Kamphuis, Ben Tervelt and Art Ven Huizen families were the first arrivals.  The Sunday after their arrival they held services at the MARTIN ROSE home, and continued to have them that way for four years.

Meanwhile, several more families arrived, and several of the young people were married.  The church services were conducted as the people were accustomed to doing in their former churches.  Mr. Kampuis read a sermon, volunteers led prayers, and the old Dutch Psalms were sung.

Every now and then ministers were sent to the congregation by the Board of the Dakota Classes, most often the Reverend H. Vanderploeg of Litchville.  As the crowd was becoming too large for the Rose home, services were held in the old Hemp school north of Wimbledon.

When the group organized a church with the help from Reverend Vanderploeg, each family promised to give the proceeds from an acre of potatoes.  Building was started in the spring and all work was done by the men with the help of one carpenter.  This was in the spring of 1917.  Ground was donated by WILLIAM KAMPHUIS.  The men made pews and other furnishings were donated or purchased.  Dedication services were held in June.  A ladies aid was organized with Mrs. Martin Rose as president.  Harry Bultema was leader of the young people's society.

Elders and deacons were elected, services and Sunday school were held every Sunday.  During summer months a seminary student conducted services and stayed at one of the homes.

About 1954 they joined the Presbyterian church of Courtenay and called a minister, a graduate student from Western Theological Seminary at Holland, Michigan.  He stayed 31/2 years.  After that the two churches had their summer student and the rest of the time a minister sent by the Dakota Classes from Jamestown College to conduct the services.

Meanwhile the congregation grew smaller.  Several members died, some moved back to Illinois, and some joined other churches because they wanted their children to have more Christian education than a church without a leader can give.

The congregation's last meeting was held October 1, 1963.  The money on hand was distributed to three new mission churches and the congregation unit as a whole attended the Wimbledon Methodist church.  On Palm Sunday the Dover group joined the congregation, together with other new members.
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EIDFJORD EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH

The name for the church was chosen because many of the early pioneers had come from Eidfjord, in Hardanger, Norway.

On July 13, 1885 a meeting was held in school No. 1 in Helena Township for the purpose of organizing a congregation and employing the services of a pastor.  At this meeting a constitution was drawn up and signed by the following:  

Lars Pederson, Thorsten Michaelson, Ole Swenson, Vellik Hanson, Tollef W. Hanson, Ivar Skaar, Thorsten Haatle, Christian Sabby, Arne F. Haatle, Erik Heyerdahl, Isaac Elefson, Edmund Skaar, Elling Skove, Anders Iverson and Even C. Evenson.

A Ladies Aid was organized in September 1888.  Meetings were held in various homes, with dinner served and all the family attended.

Each year $50.00 was kept in the aid treasury for the church building fund.  When the first church was built the ladies aid had $400.00 to apply on the building fund.

In December 1888 it was decided at a yearly meeting that each member should set aside one half to one acre of his wheat harvest for the church fund.  At this meeting it was decided that the church and cemetery were to be on the Vellik Hanson land, but early in January 1889 the committee thought the proper place should be on Thorsten Michaelson's tree claim.  Many discussions were held where the location should be.  The death of Mrs. Christian Sabby caused a final decision to be reached.

LARS PEDERSON offered two acres of land on SW quarter of Section 24-T144-R61 and the committee in charge accepted, and at the yearly meeting in December 1891 the congregation voted to accept the committee decision.

Depression in the early nineties delayed the building of a church.  In 1900 a building committee of five men were appointed, which were Erik Heyerdahl, C. L. Pederson, R. H. Larson, Christ Sabby and Tom Sad.  In December 1900 the building plans were accepted.

By 1901 the church was far enough along to begin services.

Dedication services were held for the church and cemetery on July 24, 1907.

On May 25, 1916 a tornado struck through the community destroying the church, and services were again held in school buildings in No. 1, Dover Township.

Again a building committee was elected in July of 1916.  The congregation met on March 23, 1918 and it was decided to change the building site to the north side of the ravine.  Mr. Rud, owner of the land, agreed to this decision.  On July 6, 1918 John Hanson of Fingal was given the contract to build the present church including all inside and outside work for $7600.00.

The Ladies Aid had $1000.00 to apply to the building fund which helped pay for the serving parlors and some of the interior furnishings.  On November 5, 1919 the yearly meeting was held in the new church.  For his good and speedy work the contractor was given an extra $350.00.

On Sunday October 17, 1920 the dedication of the second Eidfjord Lutheran church took place.

From the beginning services and religious instruction were in the Norwegian language, but as time went on the younger people were using the English language more than the Norwegian.  In 1921 every third service was in English, later every other and by 1938 every fourth was in Norwegian and later it was dropped altogether.

In 1930 the congregation still owed a $1000.00 note to the church extension fund.  These were depression years again, but the ladies aid pledged the payment of the note by paying $200.00 a year and by 1936 the note was paid in full.

In July 1935 the Eidfjord church celebrated its 50th anniversary.  In June 1960 it celebrated its 75th anniversary.

Parochial school was held every summer for 6 weeks with all day sessions from nine o'clock till four o'clock.  These later years it has been held for only two weeks.  On July 13, 1975 the Eidfjord church celebrated its 90th anniversary.

The first pastor, Ole E. Gronvold traveled through the country holding services wherever he could.  He lived eight miles northwest of Cooperstown.  He served Eidfjord two years.  The following pastors have served since that time:  

P. A. Thoreson, 1888-1921

George S. Natvick, 1921-24

John M. Haaland, 1924-27

Reverend Tollefson served when the parish had no permanent pastor

Reverend E. O. Stenson, one year, Reverend E. O. Lee 1930-47

Student pastor Lewis served temporarily after Pastor Lee left

Roy Gilbertson, 1949-53

Reverend Jersing Thompson, 1953-54

Reverend Edward Bersagel, 1954-57

Reverend Alexander Thompson, 1957-59

Reverend Soren Urberg, 1959-63

Reverend Milton Olson, 1963-68

Reverend L. A. Staveness, 1968-71

and Reverend Arvild Jacobson 1971-75
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DOVER SCHOOL

The school was originally one of four situated in the Township.  In early days school was held only for several months in the summer.  In 1891, for example, the term ran from April 20 to August 20.  The teacher was Alice C. Boss and the pupils were:  

Florence and Maud Berlin, Susie Olson, Ida and Hugo Brueske, Mary Altringer, Silas Miller, Ida Swarthout and Josie Elefson, with ages up to 18.  The teacher's salary was $30.00 per month.

In 1895 the term ran from June 5 to July 28.  Pupils were Tilla, Ida, Christina and Mike Michaelson, Sam.  Ole, Morris and Oliver Simenson, Melvin E. Michaelson, Charley and Earnest Anderson, Mathilda, Elemena and Oleana Ellefson and Leonard Skaar.  That year there was available one dictionary, no library books, and only one parent visited the school.  Teachers did their own janitor work, and were required to report on the condition of the building, the outhouses and the stables, which in one case were said to be filthy.  The school board in 1900 consisted of Silas Miller, president

Tom Michaelson, B. E. Berlin, directors

and Howard Wilson, Clerk.

On August 1, 1916 a special meeting was called to decide upon consolidating schools in the district into one.  The vote was 24 for consolidation and 19 against.  For the site at or near the SE corner of Section 16, the vote was 18 for and 10 against.

On June 23, 1917 another special election was held to decide on bonding the district.  Seventy votes were cast, 39 for bonding the district for $8800.00 and 31 opposing.  The bonds were payable in 20 years from date of issue, bearing 4 percent per annum interest.  The board resolved to issue the bonds and to levy an annual tax upon taxable property for the years 1917-1937.  $352. was to be set aside for payment of annual interest and $440.  to be put in a sinking fund to pay off the principal when due.

By 1918 the number of library books had increased to six and the teacher's salary rose to $60 per month with 21 classes a day being held.

The new consolidated school building was erected and the first term began October 1, 1918 and ran through June 27, 1919.  The teachers were Esther Pederson (Mrs. C. W. Michaelson) Anna Larson and Minnie Anderson, with 76 pupils in grades 1 through 10.

On a cold winter morning on January 18, 1923 the janitor, who was also a bus-driver, had remarked to the other bus-drivers what a good draft the furnace had that morning and how he'd "fired it good.”  Not long after, pupils and teachers noticed smoke coming through the registers, so the building was hastily cleared, the children leaving behind their coats, caps, etc., which were lost in the blaze that followed along with most of the school equipment.  School was held in several churches to finish out the term, and no school was held in 1924.

By 1925 a new school building had been erected and classes were resumed.  The first high school graduation class consisted of Casper Thompson and Florence Walks in 1933, with some graduating each year until 1943 which was the last year a full 4-year high school term was held.  The 1943 graduates were Albert Thompson, Minnie VenHuizen, Inez Cresap, Calvin Ekstrand, Gloria Jacobson, and Norman Johnson.  After that classes were held only for grades 1 through 8.  This continued until 1958 when reorganization plans were introduced.  Although many were opposed to it the plan went through and Dover children were sent to schools in Wimbledon and Sutton, with buses picking them up.  The school building was sold to Harry Dramstad of Sutton who razed the building, taking the usable material and the rest was bull-dozed into the basement hole, covered with dirt, and now is farmland.

During its active years the school was the social center of the community with PTA the highlight of each month, being attended by all family members, and many good programs being presented with both adults and children participating.  A good lunch with coffee was served after the meeting by several mothers.

Usually a school carnival was held each fall, and the big event of the year was the Christmas program, both for its enthusiastic participants and the audience of proud parents.  Plays were presented by the high school and also home-talent productions were presented.  One of the latter was presented in other towns as well.

Sports had its place in our curriculum also, and everyone eagerly looked forward to the annual "play day" held in various towns.  Even though Dover was one of the smaller schools competing in the events, the contestants came back each year with a goodly number of ribbons.  Although the gymnasium was small and low-ceilinged, they had a basketball team, which was often victorious over teams from much larger, better equipped schools.  For several years the gym was also used for roller-skating with the skates being provided by Carl Nyquist of Wimbledon who also operated a rink there.  So the young people did not have to travel far to find good, clean fun, and those with an eye to romance found the school to be a good meeting place.

Today no trace of the once busy, active school remains except in the hearts and memories of those who spent happy years there as students, teachers or parents.
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Settlers

LOREN AHART

Mr. and Mrs. Loren Ahart, and their two children, Marion and Roy, arrived at Wimbledon, North Dakota, January 1919 from Marble Rock, Iowa, to live on the farm they had purchased from the Denstead Land Company.

This farm was located on the SW quarter of Section 16-144-61 in Dover Township, in Griggs County.  At that time the Joseph Yunck family was living there.

Two more children were born to the Aharts while living there.  Their children's names were:  

Maria L. (Mrs. Paul Schatzer), Roy V.  Ahart, Lucile E. (Mrs. Galen Lines), Ruby A. (Mrs. Spurbeck).

In winter travel was done mostly with horses and a bobsleigh.  One evening they decided to go to the Ole Michaelson's, which was about one mile west, to surprise Omer Michaelson on his birthday.  This was March 17, as he had heard about them coming on the 18th, which was the date.  It was snowing a little but not too cold.  But not too long after they got there, the wind began to blow and it got very cold, so no one left till daylight.  Then the children were left and the grownups went home and got the fires going and house warmed up and then they went back and got the children in late afternoon.

Another time the Aharts visited the Lewis Schultz, which lived about six miles away.  The wind started to blow and one could hardly see so they had to stay over night.

Sometimes neighbors borrowed coal till they could get to town to get a new supply if they got caught short and a storm kept them from getting to town.

When the Aharts moved here there were only shallow dug wells, the water was bad, and it couldn't be used.  They lost four horses before they discovered the reason so water had to be hauled until they could drill a well and that was 236 feet deep.

The Dover school burned the first year their girl started school so she went to stay with her grandparents in Iowa to continue school until the new schoolhouse was built.

In the fall of 1925 the Aharts moved back to Marble Rock, Iowa.  They have returned several times to visit their niece, Mrs. John Hanson, and things look so different to them with so many trees now.  There were no trees at all on the farm when they came here in 1919.
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THE CRESAP FARM

The farm now owned by ELDON CRESAP was once part of the Dennstedt farms.  The farm now owned by Norris Brudvig was also part of the Dennstedt farms and there were over 100 horses kept there around 1900.  The land originally belonged to the Northern Pacific Railroad and in 1881 it was sold to Addison G. Foster and Chauncey Griggs.

There were many more transfers of titles including the Dennstedts.  In 1943 the farm was bought from the Federal Land Bank of St. Paul by CLARENCE CRESAP.  Mr. Cresap came from Spirit Lake, Iowa as a young boy.  His family farmed north of Valley City.  In 1922 he married Nettie Vogel.  They first lived northwest of Valley City, then at Dazey coming to Dover Township in 1933.  They rented land there until buying the farm in 1943.

There are six children in the family:  

1. Wesley, who lives in Hawley, Minnesota, has six children:  

2. Inez (Mrs. Frank Leigman) lives in Wimbledon, has four children

3. Elva (Mrs. Herb Witthauer) lives in Jamestown and has four children

4. Joyce, (Mrs. Merle Michaelson) of rural Wimbledon has five children

5. Bob, of Cloquet, Minnesota, has four children

6. and Eldon Cresap of rural Wimbledon, has five children.  Eldon bought the farm in 1967.

Thomas Cresap, ancestor of the Cresaps came from England as an orphan in 1710 at the age of 15 years.  He was a soldier and a frontiersman, and fought in many of the Indian Wars.  Many of his descendants fought in the Revolutionary, Civil, and World War I and World War II. 

Thomas Cresap was instrumental in opening up new territories.  They first settled in Maryland and moved west as new territories were opened.

Mrs. Clarence Cresap's father and mother came from Germany as young people.  Her mother and two other girls, at the ages of 17 and 18 came alone to relatives in America.  Her parents, the Jacob Rohdes came later and homesteaded near the Sheyenne River north west of Valley City.  This land was later sold to Mrs. Clarence Cresap's father, Robert Vogel and family.  They lived there until the parents death.  A son, Herman Vogel, lived there till his death.  Then it was sold outside the family.
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BENNIE MARTIN HAUGEN

Bennie Martin Haugen was born January 21, 1883 to John and Kari Haugen at Ada, Minnesota.  The year he was born the family came to Griggs County and homesteaded in Greenfield Township.  They lived in a sod shanty and as the story goes it was so cold that as a baby Bennie's hair froze to the wall while he was sleeping.  These staunch and hard working Norwegians were very determined to make the best of a situation.

When only nine years old Bennie with his older brother, Henry, began to ride the oxen out in the field and began to learn how to farm from their father.

Bennie married Oline Harvey who had left Norway March 10, 1909, and after three weeks crossing the Atlantic Ocean came to Hannaford where her sister Bertha, Mrs. Henry Haugen, lived.  Bennie married Oline December 11, 1909 at the Union Church.

They began farming by renting land.  They rented it through 1917.  Then in 1917 they bought 320 acres for $45.00 per acre.  A new house was built with a full basement under it.

The land was bought from the landowners on the deal that one half the crop would go to the person the land was purchased from and the other half was what Mr. Haugen kept.  He had to pay taxes, the expense of farming and still make a living for his family out of that one half income.  He was to keep doing this until the land was paid for.  In 1930 the prices dropped in the depression and he could not make it so he let the land go back in 1932.  Depression prices were so low that they sold wheat for twenty cents a bushel, oats for five cents and cattle at $20. a head.  Drought and hail also took its toll of crops.

In 1932 the family moved to Bald Hill Township renting the farm of John Mills.  Here he farmed until 1937.  During this time the government set up a project to help through the depression.  It was called C. C. C. , (Civil Conservation Corps).  Two sons joined the C. C. C. going to Minnesota and Idaho camps working in forest and road building.  Their pay was $30.00 a month and they sent home $25 of that check to help the family.

In 1937 Bennie bought a farm in Dover Township and settled there.  In 1945 they bought more land.  He farmed with horses until 1940 when he purchased his first tractor.

For entertainment he played the fiddle.  In his younger days he also played a Alto-Bass horn in the community band.

Eleven children were born to this family, they are:  

1. Sophie Peterson, Oscar (deceased), Clarence, Bernice Johnson, Lillian Leslie, Mildred Dawson, (deceased), Sylvia Peterson, Esther Thompson, Norman, Melford and Beverly Cooper.

Bennie died May 10, 1960 and Oline is presently a resident of the Griggs County Nursing Home.
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THE CLARENCE HAUGEN FAMILY

Clarence Eugene Haugen was born in Griggs County, Broadview Township to Mr. and Mrs. Bennie M. Haugen.  He was the third born of a large family of 11 children.  His father was a farmer.

He married on November 16, 1948, Gertrude Dorothy Johnson of Page, North Dakota, who was among the 12 children born to Mr. and Mrs. Iver Johnson.  Clarence and Gertrude lived in Barnes County until 1950, when they moved to Griggs, where they have resided ever since.

Clarence rented and lived on a farm owned by Julius Thorn, seven miles west of Hannaford until Thorn's death, in 1965 when he decided to buy the farm.  It was here, for the most part, that Clarence and Gertrude reared their four children - Donald Norman, Virgil Eugene, Marilyn Oline, and Wayne Allen.

Clarence and his family as of date live on his mother's farm in Dover Township.  He is still farming and has a few livestock.

Of the children, Wayne, age 15, is the only one remaining with his parents.  He attends high school at Hannaford.  Donald married Mary Hinschberger of Cooperstown and resides in Windsor, North Dakota They have two children, Tony, and Sheila.  Virgil, after graduating from high school, served four years in the Air Force, and now operates a business in Fargo, North Dakota Marilyn, married Keith Otto of Cooperstown, where they now are living.  They have one daughter, Michele.  Clarence's mother, Oline Haugen, now 85, is residing in the Griggs County Nursing Home.
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HENRY JACOBSON

Henry Jacobson of Pekin, North Dakota and Leona Dietrich of Sutton were married June 30, 1942.  They rented farms in the Sutton area until 1950 when they purchased the Melvin Dietrich farm in Section 5, Dover Township, where they now live.  Their four children are:

1. ALAN, born December 19, 1943.  He started farming in 1962, was married to Lynne House of Grace City October 19, 1963.  In 1971 they purchased a farm in Section 5, Dover Township where they now live.  They have two children, Alana Ruth, 6 years and Chris Timothy, 1 year

CLINTON, born January 14, 1947.  After high school he served two years in the United States Army including one year in Vietnam.  He married Carla Buechler of Sutton, May 5, 1973.  They live on his parents' farm and are engaged in farming.  They have one child, Kimberly, 1 year

Pat, born March 4, 1949.  He married Ione Paczkowski of Kensal, November 14, 1969.  He is employed as industrial engineer with a firm in Fargo, where they live.  They have two children, Thomas, 4 years and Anne 2 years

Kay, born August 3, 1950.  She married Anthony Tanata of Courtenay, North Dakota where they are engaged in farming.  They have one child, Daniel, 1 year
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OLE T. MICHAELSON

Ole T. Michaelson came to Dover Township with his parents, Tom and Bertha in 1884.  His parents were both born in Norway.  Ole was born in Baldwin, Wisconsin August 20, 1877.  When 22 years old he filed on a homestead near Portal, North Dakota, in Ward County.  After proving up his claim he returned to the Dover community.  About this time a young lady, Helen Dale, arrived from Blair, Wisconsin to visit her sister, Mrs. Isaac Ellefson, in Dover.  She planned to stay 2 weeks, but Ole persuaded her to stay longer.

They were married January 14, 1903 at his parents home by Reverend P. A. Thoreson of Hannaford.  Their first summer they lived in a cook car while their home was being built on the farm now occupied by the George Samek family.  In 1939 they moved to the former Carl Ekstrand farm where they lived until 1947 when they moved into Wimbledon.  Lester Clarence remaining on the farm.  They had eight children, 2 died in infancy.  The others are:  

1. Hilda T. (Mrs. McMillan), of Wimbledon

2. Omer, Wimbledon

3. Norman, Cornelius, Oregon

4. Lester, Wimbledon, Hazel (Mrs. Rudy Lange), Superior, Montana

5. Clarence, Eau Claire, Wisconsin.

Mr. and Mrs. Michaelson lived in Wimbledon until 1959.  Due to poor health they lived with Frank McMillans and Omer Michaelsons and spent some time at Sheyenne Manor in Valley City.  Mrs. Michaelson passed away December 1, 1963 and Mr. Michaelson June 11, 1968.  They celebrated their 60th anniversary at Eidfjord Church in 1963, with all their children present.  They had 20 grandchildren and 46 great -grandchildren.
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OMER MICHAELSON

Omer Michaelson was born in 1905 and raised in Dover Township, Griggs County.  His parents, Mr. and Mrs. Ole T. Michaelson, lived and farmed there most of their lives.

Omer married Myrtle Heyerdahl in 1924.  Their first home was in Moorhead, Minnesota, where Omer was employed by the Fairmont Creamery.  In the spring of 1927 they moved to Dover Township where he farmed with his father at first and later on his own.  He farmed in Dover 48 years except for 2 years spent at Buffalo, North Dakota In the spring of 1946 they bought the former John Miklethun farm in Dover which they still operate with a son, James, also raising registered Hereford cattle.

There are four sons and one daughter in the Omer Michaelson family:  

1. James at Wimbledon on the farm

2. Gordon at Lake Park, Minnesota

3. Harlyn (Bud) at Bronson, Missouri

4. Betty at Fergus Falls, Minnesota

5. and Merle at Wimbledon.  All were active in school, church and 4-H. Omer was the first 4-H leader in Dover, and James was also a leader for many years.  Merle is a 4-H leader in Stutsman County where they live.

Omer served as a Township officer for 30 years, as clerk ans supervisor.  He also served as president of the North Dakota, Hereford Association and served on the ASC board.  He also held offices on the school board and the Eidfjord Lutheran church of which they have been life long members.  In 1974 they built a home in Valley City where they spend winter months.

JAMES is on the home place.  He farms and raises registered Hereford cattle.  Gordon married Marian Thompson and is employed by Cennex at Lake Park, Minnesota.  They have four sons and two daughters, Rolland, Gene, Marlene, Peggy, Richard and Robert.  Merle married Joyce Cresap and live near Wimbledon.  They farm and also raise Registered Hereford cattle.  They have three daughters and two sons, Amy, Dean, Carmen, Barry and Beth.  Harlyn married Marlys Mutchler and lives in Bronson, Missouri, where they operate a helicopter service.  They have three sons and one daughter, Joel, Craig, Cynthia and Scott.  Betty married Paul Larson who is an instructor at Fergus Falls Junior College.  They have two daughters, and one son.  Naomi, Tom and Rebecca Jo.
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MARTIN ROSE FAMILY

Martin Rose was born in the Netherlands March 1, 1875 and came to the United States when he was 16, settling in Fulton, Illinois.

He married Miss Gertie Zeeryp in 1895.  They were the parents of eight children.  Their children:  

John, married in 1924 to Susan Bultema

Clarence, married Peggy Larson

Herman, married Henrietta Gollard

Anna May, married in 1930 to Henry Bultema

Katheryn, married Won Zuidema at Morrison, Illinois

Cornelia, married Henry Suart of Morrison, Illinois

Rena married Walter Dornbusch also of Morrison, Illinois

Peter, single lived on a farm near Wimbledon.

Mrs. Martin Rose, (Gertie Zeeryp) died in September 1909, and in January 1912 Mr. Rose married Mrs. Theresa Bultema.  They had one daughter, Jeanette, born in 1913.  The children of the second Mrs. Rose, and step children of Martin Rose were:  

Harry Bultema, born in Holland, married Dean Drolema of Illinois

Gertie, married Ben Tervelt, she died during the flu in 1919

Grace, married Art Ven Huizen, (see their history on another page)

Henry Richard Bultema, married Anna May Rose (see above)

Annie Bultema married Henry Smith in 1916

Georgia Bultema married Ernest Larson of Courtenay.

The Rose family and four other families came together to North Dakota in the spring of 1914, settling in the Wimbledon area.  Church services were held the first Sunday at the Rose home and were held there for four years.  It was then decided to build a church.  Mr. Rose was elected as elder and president of the consistory, a service he held until 1950 when he retired.  He was superintendent of the Sunday school for many years.

Mr. and Mrs. Rose retired from the farm and moved to Wimbledon several years before her death.  Mr. Martin Rose died March 2, 1963 at the age of 88 years.
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OTTIS B. SKARLOKEN

This is a short paragraph in the life of Ottis B. Skarloken, a Griggs County farmer, written by Mrs. Sylvester Pederson as she remembers him telling about it.

He had just been married, leaving his wife in South Dakota.  He decided to come to North Dakota to find employment and later send for his wife.  He had no way of traveling and money was very short.  He decided to ride his bicycle.  It was a very hard trip and he had to stop many times to patch a tire or repair the chain.  He came to Hannaford to find work.  The only job he could get was setting up machinery.  He was able to save enough to send for his wife.  He also worked at Finley, where he had several cousins living.  It was there that my brother LeRoy was born.  I remember my mother telling me that he was baptized by a Reverend Boe who was a pastor there at that time.

My parents later moved back to Hannaford and the Dover Township community where they farmed and he also owned and operated a steam threshing machine for many years.  His partnership was with MR. KNUTE THOMPSON and later MELVIN MICHAELSON.  They threshed for many farmers in the community.  There was also a cook car where they fed the many threshers.  Many of them were strangers who came to Hannaford to look for work.  All the neighbors hired out their teams and bundle racks to make a little money in the fall.

Cooks in the cook car were Mrs. Selma Rise and Mrs. Nora Nelson.  Both of these ladies now live in Cooperstown.  Later cooks were Alma, Inga and Myrtle Stamnes, all who live in Wimbledon and Jamestown.  Threshing was a very exciting time of the year.
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KNUTE M. THOMPSON

Knute M. Thompson was born in Hardanger, Norway, June 13, 1873.  He came to the United States at the age of 19 in 1892.  Homesteaded in Sargent County in 1905 and came to Griggs County in 1906 where he bought a farm in Dover Township and lived there until his death in February 1950.  Martha continued living on this farm until the fall of 1958 when she moved to Sutton and lived there until her death in June 1971.  He was a member of the Dover school board for many years.  He also served on the Eidfjord Church board, and was a member of this church until his death.

Martha Amanda Jacobson was born at Bruce, South Dakota, September 21, 1888.  She came with her parents to North Dakota in 1896.  They were married November 17, 1907 by Reverend Thoreson at the home of the bride's parents and went to the farm that Knute had been farming before their marriage.  They lived on this farm all their married life.

Ten children were born to this marriage.  Two girls died in infancy and one son, Clarence died in France November 1, 1944 during World War II.  The other seven children are:  

1. Morris of Sutton, Casper of Hannaford, Oscar of Cooperstown, Mrs. Ray Walks (Clara) of Wimbledon, John of Hannaford, Albert of Cooperstown, Mrs. Gordon Michaelson (Marion) of Lake Park, Minnesota.  At the time of this writing they have 29 grandchildren and 24 great- grandchildren.

Their children were all baptized and confirmed at Eidfjord Church and at this time, Casper, John, and Clara are still active members of Eidfjord Church.
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MR. AND MRS. ARTHUR VEN HUIZEN

An and Grace Ven Huizen were both born in Holland, in the northern province of Groningen.  Art was born on November 28, 1891 and came to America with his family in 1893.  Grace's family went to America in March of 1901.  Grace was 7 years of age.  Both families, although unacquainted, settled in the little town of Fulton, Illinois, on the banks of the Mississippi.  Fulton was distinctly a town comprised of mostly Dutch people.  After a few years the families both moved to farms in Newton Township where later they helped to organize and build the Newton Reformed Church.  The young couple met at the church and 31/2 years later were married on January 16, 1913.

An agent of the Denstedt Land Company, of Wimbledon, North Dakota, contacted families there.  As farm rent was high and farms were scarce it was arranged for several couples to go on an excursion to North Dakota, in August of 1913.  They were taken to see different farms, some of which were for sale.  Crops in North Dakota were good that year.  Several men were interested enough to go again later with more interested farmers and so in the spring of 1914 five families moved to North Dakota, the men going ahead with box cars loaded with horses, farm machinery and furniture, the wives going a week later.

Art and Grace Ven Huizen and baby Raymond rented the Tom Michaelson farm in Dover Township where they lived for 15 years.  The place was then sold, and being unable to rent a farm in Dover, they had to move to a farm SW of Courtenay.  They had three sons and a daughter at that time.  Another daughter, Ruth, passed away at the age of two.  They spent four years on that farm, and then they were fortunate in being able to again move to Dover on the old Barney Berlin farm.  This farm was well known for the big round barn.  A windmill in the center was used to grind the grain held in the bins upstairs.  A load of hay could be driven into the driveway and be pulled up in different directions on three tracks.  A few years after they moved there it was partially destroyed by a windstorm and was then torn down and replaced by a conventional barn.  Some time later they remodeled the big 13-room house and landscaped the yard.

By this time the Ven Huizen children were grown and married one by one.  RAY has a farm, is married, and lives in Hannaford.  He has three children, all married.

George taught school for 3 years, and then was in service for 31/2 years in World War II.  During this time he was married.  He went back to College at Washington University in St. Louis to earn his Master's degree.  At this time (1975) he is still teaching in Anoka, Minnesota, where he has been for 17 years.

Jim is married and lives in Fulton, Illinois.  He works in a shop and his wife teaches.  They have five children, two boys and three girls.  Shirley, the only daughter, taught for 2 years and was married in 1943 to Ken Johnson who is presently sheriff of Griggs County.  They have four children.

Art passed away on September 5, 1969.  Grace remained on the farm with Don, the youngest son, until his marriage 5 years ago, and now is comfortably settled in a very nice apartment in her hometown of Wimbledon.

Except for the 4 years spent at Courtenay the Van Huizen family has been residents of Dover for almost 62 years.
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GREENFIELD TOWNSHIP

History

Greenfield Township was organized on February 9, 1888, according to the files of commissioners' Proceedings at the Court House.

The Township records go back only to February 26, 1895, as there seems to have been a fire and all previous records were lost.  The minutes of the meeting on February 26, 1895 indicate that C. E. Skarie was the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and other members named were Nels Hemmingson and Ed Olson.  A. M. Sinclair was the clerk.  No treasurer was named in the minutes.

MR. CARL A. NELSON was elected to the office of Township clerk in March 1899.  He served continuously until 1954, thereby holding the same office for 55 years - a record that has not been broken.

The Township name was suggested by NELS HEMMINGSON after a place where the same people had lived in Minnesota.  Since this Township has Bald Hill Creek running across it full length, it probably qualified for the name on its own account.  Two railroads also cross the Township full length:  

the Northern Pacific north and south, and the Great Northern Surrey Cut-off east and west.
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ST. OLAF LUTHERAN CHURCH

St. Olaf Church at Walum, in Greenfield Township, was organized June 1, 1885 at the Aslak Gunderson home by Pastor Gronvold.  Andrew Nelson and Martin Mossing, early pioneers, had been discussing this as they thought they should have church services and baptism for their children.  Present at this first meeting besides Aslak Gunderson, were Andrew Nelson, Charles Nelson, Martin Mossing, Evan Olson, Ole Fogderud, Isaac (Isaacson) Dobbedal, T. Mossing, Nels Austad, Tom Stee, and Knud Quisel.  The congregation's first officers were - Andrew Nelson and Even Olson, trustees

Isaac Dobbedal, secretary

Martin Mossing, song leader.

The services were held at the Gunderson schoolhouse, very irregular at first, whenever Pastor Gronvold could be there.  In 1888 Pastor P. A. THORESON was called as a resident Pastor.  He accepted and was installed September 23, 1888 for St. Olaf and Eidfjord congregations.  At first the congregation was named Bald Hill but was now changed to St. Olaf.

In December they voted to set aside one acre of land and contribute that towards a church building.  However, with dry years and hard times the actual building was postponed.  There was much discussion*on where the church should be located.  Some wanted it to be built at Hannaford, but the majority wanted it to be built on the plot of ground donated by ASLAK GUNDERSON since he had given it with that understanding, and also because many had their loved ones buried there.  On February 8, 1898 it was decided to build on the churchyard.  However as a result several families withdrew their membership and formed a congregation in Hannaford.  In October the same year a building committee was elected:  

Andrew Fogderud, T. Mossing, Charles Nelson, Ole Fogderud, and Aslak Gunderson.  During the following summer the church was completed and the cornerstone laid August 13, 1899.

On Tuesday, May 25, 1916:  

a cyclone broke over the southern part of the county.  Many buildings were ruined but people's lives were spared.  St. Olaf church was completely destroyed and was the sister church in Eidfjord.  In 1917 a new church was built with free-will gifts.  The cornerstone ceremony was held Thanksgiving Day, November 29, 1917.  Pastor I. D. Ylvisaker, President of North Dakota District, gave the festival sermon.  Also that year D. N. ANDERSON was laid to rest in St. Olaf cemetery.  He painted the altar painting for the first church and also for the second church.  It is still in the church and means so much.

On July 11, 1920, Pastor Thoreson resigned after thirty-two years of service.  Before he left, the new church was dedicated on October 16, 17, 18, 1920.  Early in 1921, Reverend and Mrs. Thoreson and family retired to Fargo, and Reverend George Natwick arrived to become our pastor.  Then it was decided to have English for services five Sundays and Norwegian the sixth Sunday.  Soon the Norwegian was omitted entirely.  George Peterson re-organized the church choir, which he directed.  St. Olaf held their 40th anniversary celebration October 31 and November 1, 1925.  Reverend Haaland was pastor by this time and Rolf Syrdal was interne.  Reverend Thoreson attended this celebration.

In March 1926, Reverend Thoreson passed away and was brought back to be laid to rest in St. Olaf cemetery at his request.  His family attended the funeral together with the ministers of the Circuit and a great many friends.

On March 1927, Reverend Haaland resigned and Reverend E. C. Tollefson filled in until Reverend E. O. Stenson came in 1928.  He resigned in 1930 and Reverend E. O. Lee came.

During 1948 our parish was served by students from Concordia College.  We had services in the morning every Sunday.  In 1949 Reverend Roy Gilbertson came as our pastor.  He was a son of the congregation having been born in Walum and baptized in St. Olaf Church.  The Gilbertson's first son arrived during the year and was baptized in St. Olaf Church at the same baptismal fount as his father.  Joel Warren was the name given the baby.

Later in 1954, Pastor Bersagel came.  During this year Alfred Fogderud was appointed to translate the Constitution of the church from Norwegian to English.  A new Allen electric organ was purchased and the dedication was held Sunday, May 20 with Ralph Wallin as guest organist.  December 16, 1956 Reverend Bersagel resigned.

In June 1957 Reverend Alexander Thompson arrived with his family.  The Lutheran Herald was ordered for all members as a congregational project and at the annual meeting in 1958 the women were given the right to vote.  Reverend Thompson resigned in 1959.  Hannaford decided to resign from the parish leaving St. Olaf, Eidfjord and Union as a three-congregation parish.  It chose the name Trinity Parish.  Pastor Soren Urberg arrived in August 1959.  He organized a parish choir, which gave Christmas concerts in our three churches.  They also sang for our 75th Anniversary in June 1960, which was celebrated together with Eidfjord.

The next pastor was Reverend Milton Olson who served from 1964 to 1968.

Two of our oldest members - Mrs. Florence Wogsland, 91, and A. P. Nelson, 80, passed away this year of 1966.  Nelson was trustee for many years and, assisted by Percy Nelson, made a map of the cemetery, which hangs in the Sacristy.  A lighted cross on the church was given in memory of Mrs. Wogland and Mr. Nelson.

Reverend L. A. Staveness came next and served from 1968 to 1971.  The new parsonage was completed and Reverend and Mrs. Staveness were the first to live in it.

The names of a few who have the longest record of service as trustee are:  

A. P. Nelson, 20 years

Herbert Sonju, 16 years

Russel Wahl, 15 years

Christ Grinager, 12 years.  The present trustees are:  

Gilman Goplen, Carl J. L. Haugen, and Gerald Fogderud.  Deacons are:  

Marvin Linder, Ronald Berge, and Edwin Everson.  As Secretary:  

Nils Austad, 19 years

Gilman Goplen, 18 years

Glen Broten, 16 years.  As Treasurer, A. P. Nelson, 17 years

Conrad Fogderud, 18 years

Present treasurer, Mrs. C. Fogderud.  As organist:  

Margaret Hovland, 25 years, and Mrs. Glen Broten, 30 years.

Bible school and Sunday school were considered very important from the beginning.  Mrs. Thoreson brought her little ones with horse and buggy from the farm to the Gunderson schoolhouse on Sunday afternoons and conducted Sunday school.  Several succeeded her but Mrs. A. P. Nelson had the longest record of service, 40 years.  Mrs. Gilman Goplen came next and at present Ronald Berge is Superintendent.

Mrs. Thoreson organized the Ladies Aid at her home in 1892, and was President for 25 years.  Following her were Mrs. John Warn, Mrs. Betsy Everson, Mrs. O. M. Rognlien, Mrs. Ole Broten, Mrs. Nels Olson, Mrs. John Overby, Mrs. E. O. Lee, Mrs. Alfred Fogderud, Mrs. Edwin Everson, Mrs. A. P. Nelson, Mrs. Glen Broten, Mrs. Chris Grinager, Mrs. Richard Wogsland, and at present Mrs. H. O. Sonju with a record of 20 years.

Source Page 290 

UNION LUTHERAN CHURCH

Around 1880, Pastor I. L. Lundeby was stationed at Valley City, North Dakota as a mission preacher sent out by the Norwegian and Danish Conference of North America.  His mission field extended from Lisbon, Ransom County along the Sheyenne River and way up to Devils Lake.  At that time there were two small congregations organized in the area.  They were called Haabet (Hope) and Wheatland.  Later on it was decided to organize these two small congregations into one congregation so, therefore, on November 2, 1884 these two congregations merged and thus came into being Union Lutheran Congregation.  At this meeting a Letter of Call was issued to Pastor Lundeby for their permanent pastor.  This required Pastor Lundeby to give them at least six Sunday and Holiday Services, and six everyday services during the year at a salary of $90.00.  At this same meeting, NELS HEMMINGSON offered the congregation a piece of land for a cemetery.  The first regular officers elected were as follows:  

Deacons - Andreas Benson, John J. Haugen and Kristian Lee

Trustees - Edward Stai, Mathias Fjelsland and Einar Stromme

Treasurer, Nels Hemmingson and Secretary, Frithjof Greenland.  During the next few years services were held in homes and later in schoolhouses.  Many services were held in the hayloft in ALBIN FORSBERG'S barn during the summer months.

According to information received from relatives, Knut Kalvik was baptized at services in this barn, as perhaps others were as well.

On May 1, 1895, the Union Congregation voted to begin the building of a church.  The work on the church foundation was started June 1, 1895.  The following met to take part in labor of making the foundation of the first Norwegian Lutheran building in Griggs County, North Dakota:  

Johannes Haugen, Hans Haugen, Ole O. Kaastad, Knut Kalvik, Albin Forsberg, Daniel Syverson, David Kalland, John J. Haugen, Johannes Kalvik, Haldor Stromme, Fritjof Greenland, August Johnson, Edward Stai, and John Vik.  The first services held in this church were held July 28, 1895.  Of the first baptized in the new building, Mrs. Gertrude (Kalvik) Vedo is the oldest living baptized member.  She now lives at Benedict, North Dakota.  Iver Haugen is the oldest living member at this writing.

On June 16, 1896, at a legal congregational meeting, a request was made to be taken up as a member in the conference of the Norse-Danish Evangelical Lutheran Church.  Andrew Benson was the delegate chosen to attend the convention at Sandhill, Minnesota.

There not having been any deaths, the land received from Nels Hemmingson was returned to him and a more suitable place for church and cemetery was chosen on the Albin Forsberg farm where the church now stands.

In 1924 a re-alignment took place and Union, Eidfjord, St. Olaf and Hannaford became a parish.  Before that time Union, Ness and Lund had been a parish.  The following pastors have served Union through the years:  

Pastor I. L. Lundeby from beginning until 1886

Reverend O. K. Quamme, 1886-1904

Pastor P. A. Thoreson, temporary, January 1905-September 1905

Reverend Henrik Voldal, 1905-1908

Pastor A. E. Midthun, temporary

Pastor N. J. Vikingstad, 1909-1914

Reverend Sigurd Olson, 1914-1921

Reverend John M. Haaland, 1921-1927

Reverend E. C. Tollefson, temporary, 1927-1928

Pastor E. O. Stenson, 1928-1929

Pastor E. O. Lee, 1930-1947

Student Pastor Lewis Bakke, 19471949

Reverend Roy Gilbertson, 1949-1953

Reverend E. L. Bersagel, 1953-1957

Reverend Alexander Thompson, 1957-1959

Reverend Soren S. Urberg, 1959-1963

Pastor Milton Olson, 1963-1968

Pastor L. A. Staveness, 1968-1971

Reverend Arvild Jacobson, 1971 to present time.

On February 1, 1959, Hannaford Congregation was granted a release from the Hannaford parish.  This resulted in the formation of the Trinity parish of Union, St. Olaf and Eidfjord congregations.

In the fall and winter of 1957-1958, an addition to the original church was built as an overflow room, Sunday School and educational building, as well as a Ladies Aid parlor.  This addition included a kitchen.  Recently completed was some remodeling and repair and a small addition to the present entrance.

Union is still a very active congregation and celebrated their 90th Anniversary June 24, 1973.
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Settlers

MR. AND MRS. ANDREW L. FOGDERUD

Andrew L. Fogderud was born in Eker, Norway on November 8, 1861.  At the age of twenty, he left his homeland and came to the United States of America.  The first two years he lived in Wisconsin.  Most of that time was spent in the lumber, camps in Northern Wisconsin where he endured many hardships.

In 1883 he came to North Dakota and homesteaded three miles east of Walum on the SW quarter of Section 22 in Greenfield Township.  April 8, 1888 he was married to Ellen Anna Mossing.

Ellen Anna Mossing had also come from Norway.  She was born March 25, 1868 in Aasen, Norway.  When she was 15 years old, she decided she wanted to come to America.  Her father, Peter Mossing, had gone to America, to Brandon, Minnesota, the previous year.  She made the trip alone and the crossing took three weeks.  The ticket cost $53, and she had to work more than a year to pay for it.

Three years later, in 1886, her mother and two of her sisters also came to this country to Brandon, Minnesota.  The family then left Brandon and went to North Dakota.  They traveled in a covered wagon drawn by oxen.  They also brought a few cows with them and they had to be urged along, so part of Ellen's time was spent in walking behind the covered wagon.  They traveled a distance of about 200 miles and it took them almost two weeks.

PETER MOSSING homesteaded three miles east of Walum on the NE quarter of Section 22 in Greenfield Township, so it happened that Ellen Anna and Andrew were neighbors when they met and later decided to get married.  The marriage was performed in the Gunderson School located about one mile south of Walum.  There was no church building in Walum at that time.  When St. Olaf Church was built, they were charter members.

To this union were born six children:  

Peter Ludvig, Cora, Alfred, Laura, Eva, and Conrad.  Peter Ludvig died in infancy.  Cora married Eric Wallin and later moved to Steele, North Dakota.  Eric passed away in 1969.  They had five boys:  

Clarence, Norman, Wayne, Ralph, and Lloyd.  Clarence passed away in 1964.

Alfred married Millie Bjugstad.  Alfred passed away in 1957.  They had four children:  

Floyd, Harley, Gerald, and June.

Laura lived in Steele and passed away in 1965.

Conrad married Sylvia Syvertson.  Conrad passed away in 1970.  They had two daughters:  

Myrna and Connie.

Cora and Eva live in Steele, North Dakota.

Even though their brothers and sisters moved to Canada and California, Andrew and Ellen remained on the original homestead.  Both of them were active workers in the community and church.  Andrew passed away in 1926, and Ellen passed away in 1953.
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CONRAD FOGDERUD (1903-1970)

Conrad Fogderud was the son of a pioneer couple, Andrew and Ellen Fogderud.  His dad homesteaded on Section 22-144-59 in Griggs County where they made their home.

Conrad attended a rural school nearby, but was forced to miss often, as he was needed to work on the farm.  He had to assume responsibilities early in life as his father became ill and died in 1926.  He continued to live on the farm with his mother.

In 1938 he married Sylvia Syvertson of rural Litchville, North Dakota.  They continued to live on the same farm.  They have two children.  Myrna is married to Harland Haugen and they have two children, Kimberly and Ricky.  Connie graduated from Valley City State College and has been teaching in Oakes, North Dakota.

Conrad was asked many times why he stayed on that farm because it seemed to be a storm center.  He loved the farm and the many challenges that went with it.  Four barns have been completely destroyed by tornadoes besides many other buildings being destroyed or damaged.  The first one went in 1916, the second in the early 1930's, the third in 1957, and the fourth in 1973.  The tornado in 1957 did the most extensive damage.  It destroyed or damaged all the buildings on the farm except a brooder house.  The permanent damage to the house was so great that a new one was built beside the old one.  Conrad lived in the new house only two years before his sudden death May 1, 1970.
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THE HARLEY FOGDERUD FAMILY

October 19, 1941 was the day that Harley Alfred Fogderud, son of the Alfred Fogderuds, took as his bride - Beatrice Lola Lende, daughter of the Thorvald Lendes, Cooperstown.  They moved to a farm, two and a half miles east and three-fourths miles south of Hannaford.  This was the old Nels Hemmingson farm.  The house they lived in for the first five years was the first house built from lumber in the entire community.  It was a small three-room house, the west side was built into a large hill and the closet space on the west was quite damp.  On July 3, 1935 a tornado had destroyed the bam.  On this hill west of the house, there is a 240 foot drilled well that has a windmill to pump water to a large cistern which is then piped to the house and the bam.  The water is soft and good drinking water.  For many years water was hauled from this well to many people in the Cooperstown and Binford areas, pumping about 20 barrels of water a day.  In the early days this well supplied three threshing rigs with water.  In 1945 a new house was moved to the farmstead but the old house remains there also.  In the hayfield east of the farmstead, the original trail from the Sibley Expedition still shows.  Harley joined the Gideons International in 1959 and together with his wife, Beatrice, travel all over the state, presenting the work of the Gideons in various churches.  In the past they have hosted two statewide Gideon picnics and also many Homemaker picnics.  There were over 200 people at the Gideon picnics.

There are five children in the family:  

1. David, Beloit, Wisconsin

2. Sharon, Bismarck

3. Timothy Wayne, Rugby

4. Rebecca Jean Hager, Duluth, Minnesota

5. and Douglas Harley, Hannaford.  The whole family has been active in 4H work, the children as members, Harley as a leader of 20 years and Beatrice as a leader for 10 years.  As a musical family, they all enjoy singing and have presented programs in churches all over the state with instrumentals, quartets, trios, duets, solos and short meditations by Harley.  Timothy Wayne plays the Baritone horn and the piano as a duet.  The baritone horn is held in his left hand and fingered backwards and he plays full accompaniment on the piano with his right hand.  Another novelty number he does is playing two trumpets at the same time in harmony.  Besides farming, Harley worked at Melroe Mfg.  Company in Cooperstown for 81/2 years and this past year has been an instructor in the Vocational Center at Cooperstown, teaching welding.
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HOME IN A HILLSIDE The Albin Forsberg Family

Mr. and Mrs. Albin Forsberg and their daughters, Ida, Anna and Clara came to Griggs County from their home in Sweden in 1882, at the invitation of two Forsberg brothers already here.  John Forsberg and his bachelor brother, Gustaf, had hoped to comply with the Homestead Law which required each applicant to make a home on his own land and live there at least part of the year.  They built a double log house across the quarter line between their two quarter- Sections of free land.  John and his wife and family occupied quarters in one end of the building while Gustaf lived alone in the other.

As it happened, they had missed the line by a few feet, after all, and the house turned out to be all on the bachelor brother's side of the line.  This made no difference at the time, because they didn't know of their mistake until the final survey was completed.  Though almost all of the free land in Griggs County had been taken by the time Albin Forsberg and his family arrived, a few quarters were still available by a process called preemption, which involved a small cash payment.  Albin fortunately came prepared to buy his land.

These later immigrants reported that a storm at sea and a broken propeller had delayed their journey.  One of these bad storms was described in an interview with their granddaughter Linnea Olson many years later.  Her account reads as follows:  

"A sudden storm broke out.  Before the sailors could get the covers on the stairways, the waves dashed overboard and water ran down the stairs into the rooms of the passengers below.”  *

When the ship finally reached New York, the Forsbergs took passage on a boat that was going up the Erie Canal to Buffalo, New York, continuing through the Great Lakes:  

Erie, Huron, and Superior, to disembark at Two Harbors, Minnesota.  Going on to Brainerd, they were then able to take the Northern Pacific Railroad all the way to Valley City where their two brothers met them.

Paper written by Linnea Olson in 1926, after an interview with her grandfather.

They all managed to live in the log duplex until a quarter of land could be located for Albin.  He was fortunate enough to obtain a quarter -Section in Greenfield Township by paying a modest sum.  The Surrey Cut-off on the Great Northern Railroad was being built at that time and Albin was fortunate enough to obtain work on that project after hastily preparing a 12X12 sod house against a hillside on his land for the family to live in until something better could be provided for them.

Valley City, the closest town, was thirty miles away, and since the Forsbergs still had no rig of their own to drive, and were now miles away from their generous brothers, Albin made many trips on foot to bring his family the most necessary supplies.  He himself ate with the railroad crew.  As long as their work continued, simple cooking equipment was moved with their other supplies from place to place.

By 1885 Albin Forsberg had raised a team of oxen for himself.  After that the family often drove out on the prairie to pick up buffalo bones, which were sold to a buyer named Knute Thompson for ten to fourteen dollars a ton.  Like their neighbors, the Forsbergs considered those bones a free gift that came with their land, proving that not so many years ago the American Bison had found good grazing on the land that was now theirs.

The land on which the Union Lutheran Church stands was donated by Albin Forsberg.  His children attended the nearby Westley School.
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JOHN GOPLEN FAMILY

John Goplen, together with his twin brother, Gilbert, came to the United States from Nord Torpa, Nordreland, Norway in 1893.  They both worked for a number of years in Richland County, Wisconsin, where two older brothers had established homes.

The Goplen Brothers began farming in Greenfield Township, Griggs County, in 1902.  Gilbert married Andrea Schou, a Danish girl, in 1905.  Several years later they left to make their permanent home in Wisconsin.

In 1906 John moved to the farm where he resided until his death in 1958.  This farm located in Section 22 of Greenfield Township had been homesteaded by MARTIN MOSSING in 1885.  The basement of the house on the Goplen farm was dug out and the walls stoned up by Mr. Mossing to provide a first home for his family.  The Mossing family moved into Walum in 1905 and to Canada in 1908.

The Griggs County Progress Club published a booklet in 1911 in which a number of residents wrote testimonials as to the merits of living here.  John's statement reads in part:

"I first came to Griggs County thirteen years ago and worked by the month on a farm.  I stayed here two years and then went back to Wisconsin.  Nine years ago I came back, having at that time about $1,000, which I used to make a payment on 320 acres of land.  Crops yielded abundantly and I made good headway despite my heavy expense.  Five years ago I bought another half Section, paying a good strong price for it, but the same land is now worth all of $3,000 more than I paid for it.  Wisconsin people may think that we have no groves and trees here, but as for shade trees and shrubbery can say that I have had very good success with them.  My fruit trees and berries are doing very well, and garden vegetables and grain have always been satisfactory.”

In 1911 John Goplen married Anne Odegaard who had come to the United States from Nord Torpa, Norway in 1909.  Three sons were born to them:

Orville, now of Cocoa Beach, Florida, is a retired United States Information Agency officer.  He married Esther Nelson, a native of Britton, South Dakota.  They have twin sons, John and Richard.

CARL, a farmer in Greenfield Township, is married to Martha Norgaard formerly of Cooperstown.

GILMAN, who farms in partnership with Carl, married Vivian Skjeret.  Their children are:  

Neal, Gary, Ellen, Jon and Susan.

Mrs. John (Anne) Goplen has resided at the Griggs County Nursing Home since its opening day, which was December 6, 1971.
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CHRISTIAN GRINAGER

Christian Grinager was born in Spring Grove, Minnesota.  He came to North Dakota in 1928 and married Thelma Olson of Oberon, North Dakota in 1931.  They farmed in several places before coming to the farm 1 mile east of Walum living there until 1956.

There were two children in the family:  

Delores (Mrs. Marvin Linder) and Eugene, of Sutton, North Dakota

Mr. and Mrs. Grinager moved one half mile east of the home farm in 1958 when their daughter, Delores, and her husband Took over the operation of the farm.

Source page 295

LARS HARVEY

Lars Harvey was born February 2, 1896 near Stavanger, Norway.  He came to North Dakota in March, 1915 with his mother, Mrs. Sigvor Harvey, and three sisters

Lena (Mrs. B. M. Haugen), Bertha (Mrs. Henry Haugen), and Lydia (Mrs. Fred Fredrickson).

On March 25, 1920 he married Hilda Kalvik.  They homesteaded on a farm east of Hannaford.  They had four sons and one daughter:  

Kenneth, Cooperstown

Sidney, Finley

Leonard, Park Rapids, Minnesota

Leland, Cooperstown

and Delores (Mrs. Clifford Johnson), Hannaford.  They also had three other children who were all still-born.

Mr. Harvey passed away in 1967 and Mrs. Harvey in 1972.
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BENNIE H. HAUGEN FAMILY

Bennie H. Haugen was born February 15, 1893 in Greenfield Township.  He attended the Stromme School and was graduated in 1908.  He was married to Bertha Jordet from Mapleton, Minnesota.  He wrote the Greenfield News from about the time of World War I.  The Griggs County Farmers Press with Bennie as one of the Stockholders bought the Sentinel Courier in 1919 and hired Gerald P. Nye as editor.  Soon after that he began writing the Greenfield News.  He continued to write this news long after the last stockholders sold their shares to a private owner.  His news of Greenfield contained news of weather, neighborhood gatherings, births, deaths, weddings, illnesses, accidents, church and school events - his own comments were added as well.  He had served in a number of church, Township and school district offices over the years.  Bennie and Bertha Haugen had four children.  Burnell married Gerhard Mikkelson on September 28, 1952 and they have one daughter - Leila.  Mervin married Corlyn Stangeland, October 15, 1955 - they have two children - Kaye Marie and Karla Mae, Gilbert married Harriet Stangeland, October 5, 1957.  They have two children - Neal Howard and Brent Harold.  Richard married Marella Fischer - September 11, 1955 - they have three children - Loehle, Todd and Troy.

Some interesting items found in a notebook kept by them from about 1923 to 1925 are as follows:  

On January 11, 1924 bought one pound of Coffee for thirty-five cents, bought one hundred pounds of Sugar on June 15, 1925 for seven dollars and forty cents.  In September and October of 1925 a veal calf was sold for fourteen dollars, a cow shipped for nineteen dollars and fifty-seven cents, and a heifer for eleven dollars and thirteen cents.

They celebrated their 50th Anniversary at the Union Lutheran Church in 1968.  Bennie H. Haugen passed away June 7, 1973 and Mrs. Bennie H. Haugen passed away September 18, 1973.

Source Page 296

HANS J. HAUGEN FAMILY

As He Has Written It

Hans J. Haugen was born May 27, 1855, baptized June 3, 1855.  He married Monsine Hansdatter Sabe January 9, 1882 by Pastor Bul.  The 10th of April 1882 we left from Bergen, Norway on our way to America.  We came to Ada, Minnesota the 4th of May 1882.  As we got off the train, my brother John met us at the depot.  We got a ride with a man John had talked to, went to Hendrum, Minnesota and had dinner there.  I got work at a farm at (Grandin for Oliver Dalrymple) - we both worked until fall, we then moved over to Minnesota near Hendrum.  In 1883 we came to North Dakota, Griggs County, Greenfield Township.  We were well satisfied with the land, which was filed for, sight unseen.  On November 25, 1883, John was born - was married August 1, 1904 to Elisa Gjervik at Union Lutheran Church by Pastor Quamme.  On May 4, 1885 - Helmer A. was born - he died when 21/2 years old.  On April 17, 1887 Mikel was born and was married when 25 years old to a Norwegian girl from Hardanger, Norway - Madli Saby.  Both Mikel and Madli passed away in 1937.  They had three children - 2 living.  Helmer was born October 20, 1890 and was married at age 21 to a girl from Norland Norway - Lovise Bjorneby.  They had 10 children.  Bennie H. was born February 15, 1893 and was married March 21, 1918 to Bertha Jordet from Mapleton, Minnesota.  They had four children.

All of the children of Hans J. Haugen's were married in UNION LUTHER-AN CHURCH rural Hannaford.  Mr. and Mrs. Hans J. Haugen were charter members of Union Lutheran Church.  In January of 1932 they celebrated their Golden Wedding Anniversary.  Mrs. Haugen lived to about 92 years and Hans was a little past 93 when he passed away.  Blessed be the memory of these two pioneers.
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JOHANNES HAUGEN FAMILY

- Johannes was born 1845 to Jon Johannesson (Stamnes) Fylehaugen and his wife, Brita Davidsdatter Fylingslid Fylehaugen.  He was the eldest of the brothers:  

John, Hans Haugen and David Kalland.

Johannes Jonsson Fylehaugen was married to Anna Ivarsdatter Grötoen (also born in 1845) in 1872.  He immigrated from Stamnes, Norway (near Bergen) with his wife, Anna (whose parents were Ivar Grötoen and Brita Fylingslid Grötoen) and six children:  

John (Joe), Anna, Bertha, Ivar (Iver), Johannes (Johnny), and Berthin (Bert).  Three of their children, Anna, Ivar, and Amelia, had died in Norway.  They came over on a freighter that took seven days across the Atlantic, hoping to find a better life for themselves and their children.

Johannes became Johannes Haugen when he became a naturalized citizen of United States of America.

The Johannes Haugen family arrived in Hannaford August 10, 1893.  They lived in a neighbors sod house until sod buildings were temporarily erected on their farm, which they purchased from Andrew Langdon through his son Chauncy Langdon who then had the farm where Lester Steinars, Hannaford, now lives.

Johannes was interested in woodwork, making tables, benches, fancy shelves.  He made a long barrel churn for his daughter-in-law, Mrs. Iver Haugen, which Carl J. L. Haugen still has in good condition.  He made rolling pins for lefsa baking, and also did the repair work on the family shoes.  Wooden shoes were used by the family in Norway - Anna was interested in having the children learn their three R's and the family enjoyed reading.  The earliest mode of travel was a second hand wagon and a team of oxen.  To put in his first crop, Johannes purchased a walking plow and borrowed a broadcast seeder.  He also purchased two cows, two lambs, pigs and chickens.  The hay was mowed and raked by a neighbor and stacked by the family.  Some of the hay went into the ticking made by Anna for mattresses.

Johannes cut the stones for the basement when Union Lutheran Church was built at rural Hannaford.  Anna was active helping out the neighbors when needed and also a member of Union Ladies Aid.

Anna died in 1917 and Johannes died in 1920.

The eldest son of Johannes and Anna, JOHN (Joe) was born in 1874.  He married Malena Oie from Stamness Sogn, Norway in 1900.  They farmed at Dazey until his accidental death in 1912.  There were seven children:  

Robert, Nels, Alma, Martin, Albert, Alfhild, and Johnny.  Robert died at an early age.  The rest of the children except Johnny took the name of Arneson when their mother re-married.  Johnny has the name of Bakkene.

ANNA, born in 1876, married Jacob Watne in 1897.  They farmed for a while on what is now known as the Archie Marson farm until they moved to their farm east of Dazey.  Their son Ingvald still retains ownership of the farm.  Jacob and Anna's children are:  

1. Josephine - 1898 (Mrs. Hans Kalland)

2. Ingvald - 1900

3. Alma - 1902-1910

4. Almer - 1909-1944

5. Clarence - 1918.  The interest of this family was in their homes, music and mechanics.  Jacob passed away in 1959 and Anna in 1960.

BERTHA, born in 1880, married Hans Stromme in 1899.  They farmed in Broadview Township until moving to a farm in Barnes County.  Their children are:  

Agnes (Mrs. Sever Severson) - 1900

Cora (Mrs. Hugh T. Mosher) - 1902

Nels - 1906

and Oscar - 1912.  Bertha died in 1923 and Hans in 1949.

IVER was born in 1883.  He married Astrid Olson from Norway in 1908.  A child, Anna Amalie was born in 1909 and died the same year.  The mother died of pneumonia in 1910.  Iver left for Petersburg, Florida returning to marry Gunhild Fyllingslid from Stamnes, Norway in 191%.  They lived a while at St. Petersburg, Florida raising poultry then moved to Fargo and back to farming in Greenfield Township.  Their children are:  

Irene (Mrs. Lars Mikkelson) - 1915-1958

John - 1917-1954

Carl J. L. - 1918, Walum

Gerda (Mrs. Eldren Haugen) - 1920, Hannaford

Howard.  - 1921, Fargo.  Iver was a member of the old Union brass band, played clarinet.  He also belonged to a band at Petersburg, Fla.

Gunhild died in 1956.  Iver is now 92 years old and has lived with his daughter, Gerda, and family since 1956.

JOHANNES (Johnny) Haugen was born 1885, married Anna Brun from Norway in 1906.  Their children are:  

Carl B. - 1906-1945

Arthur - 1908-deceased

Alyce (Mrs. Oliver Haugen) - 1909

Clifford - 1912-1941

Leonard - 1914

Borghild (Mrs. Gordon Lundquist) - 1917

Raymond - 1922-1938

Lila (Mrs. Myron Schroeder) 1925

and Eugene - 1927.

Johnny began carrying mail for Hannaford rural routes when he was 21 years old and retired after 41 years of service to the public.  He carried the mail on horseback, buggy, sled, and heated cutter until purchasing his first car.  He gave good service in spite of bad weather and hardships.  His pet peeve was the pennies in the mailbox for mailing a letter.  Can you imagine in 30 below weather picking up loose coins with fur mittens?  Anna died in 1956.  Johnny was killed in a traffic accident in 1953.

BERTHIN (Bert) was born in 1887 and married Valborg Nelson in 1913.  They farmed at Dazey, Medina and Hannaford.  Their children are:  

Ida (Mrs. Norwin Hanson) - 1914

Joseph - 1915

Harold - 1917

Virginia Mae (Mrs. Kenneth A. Monson) - 1923.  Bert loved music and made a pitchfork violin, which he played often.  He also sang and directed the Union Choir.  He was killed by a train at the Karnak crossing in 1941.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHN H. HAUGEN

John was born in a sod house in Greenfield Township on November 25, 1883, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Hans Haugen.  The first boy born in Greenfield Township, baptized January 6, 1884, confirmed in Union Lutheran Church.

He was married to Elisa Nelson Gjervik from Hamre, Bergen, Norway on August 1, 1904.  They bought the farmland, N1/2 of Section 36 (Sibley Trail went through this land) and lived there until they moved to Cooperstown in 1944.

John H. was elected treasurer of Union Church and held that office for 12 years.  Was also Trustee of the same church for 30 years.  He served as director of the Farmers Elevator at Karnak, and also director for the Farmers Oil Company at Cooperstown for a number of years.  He served in the 31st Legislative Assembly from the 16th District for 2 years starting in 1949.

Five children were born to this family:

SOPHIA, married to Bennie Kalland, Hannaford.

HANS, married to Maxine Qualey.  They live in Columbia Falls, Montana and have four children:  

James, Darryl, Janet and Vicki.

ELLA, married to Carl Brudwick.  They live in Minneapolis, Minnesota and have three children:  

Keith, Elaine and David.

MARTIN married to Borghild Foyen.  Their address is Dazey, North Dakota.  They have three children:  

Beverly, John and Michael.

ADOLPH married to Ruby Honey.  They live in Phoenix, Arizona and have three children:  

Eileen, Gary and Margaret.

Mr. and Mrs. John H. Haugen celebrated their Golden Wedding August 1, 1954.  Mrs. Haugen passed away December 28, 1959 and John H. passed away February 23, 1970.  Blessed be their memory.

John H. Haugen Family Golden Wedding Day - 1954
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JOHN J. HAUGEN

John J. Haugen and Kari Sabe were married in Stamnes, Norway on March 28, 1881 and emigrated to United States three weeks later.  After working in Hendrum, Minnesota for two years they came to Griggs County and homesteaded in Greenfield Township on a farm six miles southeast of Hannaford in 1883 - first in a sod house and later built a house which is still on the farm but has been remodeled.

It took a lot of hard work to bring up a family of 13 children.  One child died in infancy.  John walked from Cooperstown and carried a sack of flour on his shoulder, after work, to their home and the next morning walked back to the Cooper farm in time for work.  This was one of the many tasks of a true pioneer.  Their children were Henry, Bennie, Anna, Julius, Julia, Marie, Emma, Dora, Magnus, Carl, Melvin and Herman.

HENRY married Bertha Harvey and their children were:  

Oliver, Clara, Selma, Hazel, Sigvard, Florence and Vivian.

BENNIE married Oline Harvey.  Their children were:  

Sophie, Oscar, Clarence, Bernice, Lillian, Mildred, Sylvia, Esther, Norman, Melford and Beverly.

ANNA married Charles Bergren and had four boys:

John, Thomas, Ernest and Robert.

JULIUS married Emma Carlson and their children are:

Maurice, Evelyn, Eldren, Kermit, June, Gilmer, and Delores.

JULIA married Alfred Brudwick and had Carl, Ann, Agnes, Edith and Berdella.

MARIE married Sigvard Fliflet and their children are:

Carl, Maynard, Selma, Julius, Orville, Marvin and Joyce.

EMMA married Olaf Johnson and they had Ernest.

Olaf passed away, she then married Carl Johnson, and they had Willard, Arthur, Esther, Richard and Roland.

DORA married Olaf Kalvik and they had Inga, Eugene, Doris and Orville.

MAGNUS married Malena Lee and their children are:  

Ingvard, Maynard, Inez and Lorraine.

CARL married Elsie Hougland and they had Ruth, Elverne, Merle, Curtis, Leland and Ruth.

MELVIN married Andina Kalland and they had Millard, Dorothy, Robert and Carolyn.

HERMAN married Effie Hanson.

In 1931, Mr. and Mrs. John Haugen observed their 50th Wedding Anniversary with all twelve children present.

John passed away in 1934 and Kari in 1936.
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MAGNUS HAUGEN

Magnus Haugen, son of Mr. and Mrs. John J. Haugen, and Malena (Fyllingslid) Lee were united in marriage at the Union Church March 17, 1917 and lived all their days in Greenfield Township.  They farmed until 1956 when they moved into Hannaford.

To their union four children were born:  

Ingvard, Maynard, Inez and Lorraine.  They also brought up Gordon and Hazel Gullickson.

Mr. and Mrs. Haugen observed their 50th Wedding Anniversary in 1967 with all their children, husbands, wives and grandchildren and over 400 other guests present.

Mr. Haugen passed away November 16, 1970.
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OLE AND CAROLINE KNUTSON FAMILY

Ole Knutson, son of Reinhart and Ingeborg Knutson, was born at Ekersund, Norway, on May 12, 1887.  He came to the United States in 1905 at the age of 18.  After arriving in North Dakota, he worked for his brother "Tom" Knutson on his farm in the Binford area where he met and married Caroline Thune, daughter of Ole and Carrie Thune.  They were married September 9, 1911.

"Lena" Thune Knutson was born in Binford, North Dakota on February 2, 1892.  (See Thune History)

Ole and Lena farmed west of Binford until 1932.  In 1939 they settled in Greenfield Township northwest of Hannaford.  Mrs. Knutson passed away on January 2, 1971, at the age of 79.  Ole, 88 years of age, still lives on the farm but spends winters in California with his son and daughter.  He has 35 grandchildren and 26 great-grandchildren.

Of their thirteen children, two died in infancy:  

Rueben (1921) and Eunice (1928).  Irene died at four years from scarlet fever in 1927 and Clayton was killed in an accident in 1946 at 24 years of age.

The remaining Knutson children are:

Conrad, born March 21, 1912, married Faye Mickielson Nielson at Moorhead, Minnesota, November 23, 1954.

Ruth, born July 31, 1914 at Binford, North Dakota, married Alvin Ramsey of Binford.  They farm at Hannaford, North Dakota They have seven children:  

Orville, Delores, Arlene, Sharon, Dennis, Peggy, and Steven.

Mildred, born October 24, 1916 at Binford, North Dakota, married Charles Hetland of Hannaford.  They farm at Hannaford, North Dakota They have three children:  

Charles Jr., David, and Allen.

Thelma, born March 3, 1918 in Binford, North Dakota married Albert S. Erlandson of Norway.  They have three sons:  

Wayne, Peter, and Terry.

Melvin, born November 1, 1919, in Binford, North Dakota, married Constance Fulmer of Conneaut, Ohio on August 21, 1954.  They have four children:  

Saundra, Alan, Dean, and Gene.  They live in Lakewood, California.

Elna, born April 23, 1926 at Binford, North Dakota, is married to Floyd Olson of Hannaford.  Floyd is self-employed as a carpenter and Elna is a clerk at the United States post office, Hannaford.  They have four children:  

Jerry, Cyndi, Karen, and Kimberly.

Robert, born December 10, 1929, married Marie Monson in Finley, North Dakota in 1954.  They have five children:  

Paul, Barbara, Ruth, Dale, and Kathryn.

Hillard, born March 11, 1932, at Binford, North Dakota, married Ann Schwarz of Sauk City, Wisconsin in 1968.  They have two children:  

Jason and Amy.

Gordon, born March 13, 1934 near Cooperstown, North Dakota, married Rebecca Monson at Hannaford, North Dakota on March 26, 1955.  They have three children:  

Vicky, Terri, and Traci.

All of the Knutson sons served in the Armed Forces during World War II and the Korean Conflict.

Many of the children's clothes were made out of flour sacks sometimes dyed a different color.

Things were pretty skimpy in the '30's, the depression years.  Mush was the main dish many a day but we always had a big garden and everyone worked in it.  At haying time we all went to the hay field, whoever was the baby slept under the hayrack.

In the summer we rarely missed a Sunday that we didn't go to Red Willow in the surrey.  It even had side curtains just in case it would rain.  We must have loved picnics.

In 1927, all the children had scarlet fever and our house was quarantined, no one could come in and we couldn't go anywhere.  We could not sell the dairy products and we milked many cows so had to throw it all away.

When Irene died of scarlet fever Ole and Lenna had to get her ready for the casket.  Someone brought it and put it on the front porch and none were allowed to go to the funeral from the family.
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GLADYS ANN HOLMGREN

RICHARDSON, JULY 10, 11910

My grandfather Perr Gustav Lofgren born April 18, 1851 (Died Oct 16, 1939 at Hannaford, North Dakota) at Vermland Sweden (a widower) and his daughter ELLEN MARIE born at Filipstad Sweden July 11, 1875 (Died September 26, 1961 at Spokane, Wisconsin) Came to Hannaford, North Dakota Griggs County September 1903 to the John and Carolina Forsberg farm 41/2 miles East of Hannaford because Carolina and my Grandfather were brother and sister.  My Mother started a small restaurant at Carpio, North Dakota there she met and later married Nels E. Holmgren.  They farmed three miles out of Donnybrook North Dakota in Renville county until June 1919 when she and her three children came back to Hannaford, North Dakota In 1925 until 1928 I was a relief Operator at the Telephone Office at 150 an hour.  The month of June Helen Brekke Michaelson and I received thirty dollars she was the night operator and I the day operator.  We stayed there at the Office.  February 4, 1929 Dr. O. H. Hoffman hired me as his assistant until June 1, 1931 when I left to Marry GLEN H. RICHARDSON.  Glen was the son of BESSIE AND HARVEY RICHARDSON.  They moved to Hannaford where they had a Dairy Farm.  Glen used to deliver Milk with a cart and a horse before he went to school in the morning.  Harvey Franklin Richardson was born in Butler County Pennsylvania May 20th 1882 Died at Bellingham Wisconsin where they had moved June 12, 1927.

Bessie Ward Richardson was born December 16, 1883 at Boscobel Wisconsin and died March 13 1966 at Burlington Wisconsin

Glen Elwood Richardson our son went to the University of Wisconsin and resides at San Diego California We have twin grandsons and a granddaughter nine.  We are grateful to all the kind people living and those gone ahead that gave us help and guidance in our past lives in Griggs County and around Hannaford.  Thanks to all.
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MR. AND MRS. ARNE HOVLAND

Mr. and Mrs. Arne Hovland were both born in Buffalo County, Wisconsin and both belonged to the Lyster Lutheran Congregation.  They were married in 1891 and came to North Dakota in 1902 where they joined St. Olaf Church at Walum North Dakota.  They had five children:  

Sylvia (Mrs. A. P. Nelson), Albert, Margaret, Minnie and Joseph.  Two of these passed away in infancy, one at age twenty-five and Margaret at age seventy-six.

They bought the Gunderson farm south of Walum where they lived for many years.  Later they purchased a home in Walum where they spent their declining years.  The Hovlands were active in church and Ladies Aid.  They celebrated both their Silver and Golden weddings.

Mrs. Hovland passed away in 1947 and Mrs. Hovland in 1958.  He was eighty-seven years old and she was eighty-nine.
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DR. SAMUEL JUELL

Dr. Samuel Juell and his wife, Eliza, lived in Greenfield Township on the SW quarter of Section 34-144-59.  They bought the land from Mrs. McQuae and lived there from 1905 to 1919.

They had two children:  

Alf and George.  The boys attended school at the Mossing school (known as the Goplen school in later years).

Dr. Samuel Juell was the Justice of Peace.  Dr. Juell is remembered by many people as he drove two donkeys on a two-wheel cart with a buggy body sitting on the springs.  He would travel to Dazey, Walum, Hannaford and his neighbors to practice medicine.  The Juell house is still a landmark where it sits by itself on a hill.
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THE MR. AND MRS. OLE A. KAASTAD FAMILY

Ole A. Kaastad immigrated to the United States from Norway in the year of 1882 at the age of sixteen years.  Oline E. Stromme was born at Redwing, Minnesota in the year of 1874.  Her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Einar E. Stromme, some years later, moved from the Red River Valley to Griggs County.  Grandfather Stromme was among the first early settlers in Griggs County.

My parents were married on August 7, 1893, in Griggs County.  A short time later, they took up a homestead in Greenfield Township.  They lived on this farm until our father's death on December 8, 1932.  In a span of forty-two years, eight children were born to this family, six that are still living.

Mrs. John Kvamme, nee Gudrid Kaastad, the first born, was born in June of 1894 and was married to John Kvamme on March 15, 1910.  Ten children were born to this family, eight that are still living in various parts of Canada.  John Kvamme passed away on December 29, 1930.  Our beloved sister passed away on April 24, 1955.

Andrew Kaastad was born on October 29, 1896.  He married Freida Weller on June 24, 1929.  They were blessed with four children, one boy and three girls.

Mrs. JOHN RICHARDSON, nee Ann Kaastad, was born on November 10, 1904.  Ann and John were married on December 30, 1925.  Ann was a grade schoolteacher in Griggs County for a number of years.  Two boys were born to this family and they all live in the

Minot area.

Oscar Kaastad was born on July 18, 1901.  Our dear brother passed away in December of the same year.

Mrs. John Ronnie, nee Oline B. Kaastad, was born on March 10, 1907.  Oline was also a grade schoolteacher for a few years.  On December 31, 1926, she married John Ronnie of Mindoro, Wisconsin.  Four boys and two girls were born to this family.

Mrs. Everett C. Edgar, nee Caroline Kaastad, was born on January 21, 1909.  After high school graduation, Caroline found employment at Fargo, North Dakota.  At Fargo she married Mr. Everett C. Edgar on August 24, 1936.

Einar Kaastad, the writer of this article, was born on December 13, 1911.  I was married at Camp Gordon, Georgia to Miss Rosemary Beckler from Richardton, North Dakota on August 5, 1944.  I was drafted for military service from Griggs County in November of 1942 and spent three years in the service during World War II, two years in the states and one year in combat in Europe.  We have two children, one boy and one girl.  I am now semi-retired after working for thirty years for the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior.  We now live in Blair, Nebraska.

Mrs. Richard Klein, nee Gudrun Kaastad, the youngest of the family, was born on January 8, 1915.  After graduation from high school, she found employment at Minneapolis, Minnesota.  On March 5, 1936, she married Richard Klein, who was in the military service at Fort Snelling, Minnesota at that time.  They are the parents of two daughters.

In bygone days, it seemed common to have three and four day blizzards.  Often, as children, we had to walk to school into a stiff, north wind in sub-zero temperatures.  Occasionally, hailstorms destroyed what little crop we had.  Then came the "dirty 30's" with the billowing clouds of dust and a difficult time for everyone.  Yet, through it all, people seemed to persevere.  I can remember my father's remark if one of us made some scathing remark about North Dakota's weather, "North Dakota has the most healthy climate in the United States.”

During one tough winter, our father was called up for jury duty in Cooperstown.  Since all the roads were blocked and there was even too much snow for horse travel, he walked the railroad tracks to Karnak, then took the local train to Hannaford and the second local from Hannaford to Cooperstown.  In a few hours, a blizzard did blow up and its fury raged for three days.  No one left the house.  On the fourth day, the storm subsided.  Now one must look after the livestock.  Although only nine years old, I made my way through huge drifts to the barns.  In the main barn, all livestock appeared to be alright but in a lean-to attached to the barn where the calves were penned, there was only a large snow bank.  Where had it come in?  In the northwest corner of the lean-to, I found a small crack, perhaps less than half an inch in width and perhaps six inches long.  It seemed impossible that so much snow could have blown in from such a small crack.  It seems incredible even to this day.  After some shoveling, I found the calves under the snow bank and none the worse except for hunger and thirst.  Needless to say, when the livestock had been cared for, I was a tired boy.

From the little house on the prairie with only three rooms and a root cellar, ~ generation grew up.  As of this date, I believe that house is still standing and no other family has lived there since.  I have enclosed a picture taken some years ago.  Two members of the family are viewing it, no doubt with many fond memories.  The little house had many happy days and some sad days, some good days and some days of adversity but through it all emerged a good people.  Though living many miles apart, we have always remained a close family and are considerate of each other in time of need and in happy events and in time of sorrow.

We must also thank our neighbors and many Griggs Countians who helped us through the years.  We must also count the blessings that we all grew up in a church oriented community.  The old Union Lutheran Church was the center of community affairs in the early days.  Most of all, we thank our parents for their loving guidance.

Since all of us have had a modicum of success, each in our fields of endeavor, one must conclude that from a humble beginning, many good things can happen.

In the affluent society of today, many people cannot cope, the reasons not for me to judge.  As for myself, I am thankful to have grown up in an era where one had to cope to survive.  In the coming bicentennial year of our nation, it is fitting that we should review our heritage.

Indeed, the little house on the Griggs County Prairie is our "Heritage.’  ‘  Respectfully submitted Einar Kaastad
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DAVID J. KALLAND

David J. Kalland was born December 2, 1849, the son of Johannes and Brita Fyllingslid.  He assumed the name Kalland from the place where he worked for many years.  He was united in marriage to Anna Fyllingslee in October 1874.  Anna was born at Kalland Stamnes Hella, February 2, 1852.  They operated a small farm.  Four of their children were born in Norway.  The oldest son, John died in Norway and was buried at Stamnes Lutheran Church.  The three children, Ole, John and Bertha, accompanied their parents to America in 1885.  They came to Greenfield Township, Griggs County, where they homesteaded on the SE quarter of Section Twenty-six.  This is the home place of Mr. and Mrs. BENNIE KALLAND. 

The children born to the Kallands in America were Beata, Dora Marie, Melvin Bertin, Carl, Melvin David, and Bennie.  The children were all born in the sod house.  Joe married Caroline Kaastad from Dale Kvam, Norway.  They had one daughter, Andina (Mrs. Melvin Haugen).

Dora was married to Ole O. Kaastad.  They had four daughters:  

Mrs. Alma Jenson, Mrs. Olga Ludwig, Odelia (Mrs. Arvid Kalvik), and Grace Kaastad.  Grace passed away in 1938.

David Kalland passed away in 1914 and Anna Kalland passed away in 1931.

Blessed be their memory.
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JOHANNES KALVIK

Johannes Kalvik, the oldest son of Ole and Guri Kallestad Kalvik, was born at Stamnes, Norway, not far from the city of Bergen, in the year of 1858.  He was married to Britha Fyllingslee, Stamnes, who was also born in 1858.  They were the parents of seven children:  

Ole, Britha and Jon, born in Norway:  

Knut, Gertrude, and a set of twins, Anna and Berthin, born in America.

Mrs. Kalvik had three brothers, who had immigrated to America, as early as 1881, 1882 and 1885 and had settled in Griggs County.  They left their homeland, immigrated to America hoping to be able to make a better living for their families.

It was in 1892 that Johannes Kalvik, with his wife and three children bid Good-by to their homeland and came to America.  It made it easier for them being they had relatives to come to.

They came across in what was a cattle boat, bringing cattle to Norway and people back to America.  It was no pleasure trip to travel by boat at that time.  They had to have their own food along, food that would keep - such as dried beef, mutton, and, of course, flat bread.

The Kalvik family came by way of Quebec, Canada and on to the United States, and then to North Dakota to be welcomed by the Haugens and Kallands, brothers of Mrs. Kalvik.

Johannes Kalvik homesteaded on a quarter of land in Greenfield Township.  He did some herding of cattle as it was all prairie and not far to water in the Bald Hill Creek.  Oxen were used for breaking and later on horses were used.  The family lived in a sod house with lumber for inside walls and ceiling and wooden floors.  There were two rooms heated by a small cook stove.  This was the family home until 1905.

Johannes Kalvik passed away in 1905 at the age of forty-seven years, shortly after the family had moved into their new home.  That left the mother to bring up the children, the youngest, being the twins, were six years old.  She remained on the farm until the children were confirmed and able to earn a living for themselves.  Before they left Norway, she worked in a wool and cotton factory, located at Dale, not too far from Bergen.  She was healthy and strong and lived a full life.  She passed away in 1948 - close to the age of ninety years.

The only sister of Britha Kalvik, Mrs. Andrew Oie, lived a short time in Griggs County then she, with her husband, moved to McLean County, North Dakota.

The children of Johannes Kalvik who are still living are:  

Ole, Trinity Medical Center, Minot

Joe, Moorhead Manor, Moorhead, Minnesota

Berthin, Hannaford and Gertrude (Kalvik) Vedo, lives near Garrison Dam, Benedict, North Dakota.  Those who have passed away are Britha Forseth

Anna Odegaard

and Knut Kalvik.

"I often think of these early pioneers who dared the trip across the great ocean and came to make this country their home.  They toiled so hard - most of them came with empty hands.  Their struggles were many and it was hard to make a living.  But one thing I really do believe - they had a strong faith in their Maker and Lord to keep them going.  They lived a good life - a Christian Life.  They were helpful, satisfied and happy and it seems they should have been worthy of a great honor, helping to make this country what it is today.”

- Mrs. Gertrude (Kalvik) Vedo
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GUSTOV TEOFILIUS LIND

Gustov Teofilius Lind was born at Norrtalye Sweden, Norrtalye being sixteen miles North of Stockholm on the Baltic Coast, on October 13, 1882.  When he was twelve years old his folks moved to Karlstad, Sweden, at the age of sixteen Gustov Lind sailed for Montreal, Canada, and from there to America, arriving in Griggs County - Greenfield Township June 26th, 1899.

The very first place he worked was the Knute Stromme farm (Section 11 SE Quarter) at the very beginning of harvest.  Carl Stromme drove the Binder using two oxen and a horse and KNUTE STROMME gave Gustov Lind his first lesson in how to put up grain shocks.

Then that same fall "1899" Gustov Lind hauled bundles during threshing for JOHN NELSON in those steam threshing days.  The only water they had to drink was from the water tanks being hauled for the steam engines, and of course this water was taken from old wells and so the result Gustov Lind contracted Typhoid fever, and after several days, became unconscious.  John Nelson was then putting blankets around Gustov Lind and hauled him to Doctor Rickstrom.  Doctor Rickstrom after examining Gustov informed John Nelson that Gustov has Typhoid fever but that he, Gustov, had had it too long there was not a thing that could be done, except that John Nelson could take Gustov home, then, once home, pump a wash tub full of cold water from the well, then dunk Gustov in this cold water.  Doctor Rickstrom told John Nelson if that does not break the fever, Gustov will die.  By the way, Gustov was unconscious for seven days.  Gustov said it took most of the winter to regain his strength.  During that same winter of 1900 he stayed at Carl Sharie, and attended the Stromme school #4 District to learn as much English as possible.  In 1902 he went to Bagley, Minnesota where he filed for a Homestead, thirteen miles south of Bagley, then in the winter months Gustov would go north around Black Duck, Minnesota, to work in logging camps.  Then in 1905 he worked for Andrew Norstrom at Binford doing carpenter work until 1909 when he finally decided to start farming.

In June 1906 Gustov Lind and Charlotte Forsberg were united in marriage renting the Albin Forsberg farm from 1909 until 1919.

To this Union were born five sons:  

W. Algot Lind, Hannaford, North Dakota

Adolph H. Lind

Vincent Lind, Hannaford, North Dakota, Deceased

Robert Lind, Hannaford, North Dakota, Deceased

Walter P. Lind, Hannaford, North Dakota.
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NELS ALGOT LIND

Nels Algot Lind was born August 11, 1906.  I was the first of five boys born to Charlotte and Gustuf Lind.  My next brother Adolph being born nine years later.

In 1927 I attended The Hanson Auto School and Aviation school at Fargo.  In the spring of 1928 I took and passed a Government Civil Aviation Mechanics Test, receiving my Civil Aviation Mechanics License at ere obtaining an Aviation Mechanics job with Canfield Flying Service at Fargo, also receiving my first Airplane flying lessons June 1928 at Hector field, Fargo, just a wheat stubble field then - no buildings.  My experiences were many and very interesting.  I met Carl Ben Eilson and Sir Hubert Wilkins first hand - shook hands with them, as I was one of only three people out at Hector Field.  When this North Pole expedition plane landed there almost crashing in mud on take off the next day.  We had had some very heavy rainfalls and that Red River gumbo is really something.  I saw many planes damaged there because of mud.

I spent two years with Canfield flying Service, had 340 hours of Certified Solo hour time, also made a Parachute jump over the State Capital at Bismarck in a 45 mile an hour wind, drifting from just North of the Capitol between Fort Lincoln and the Missouri River just a short distance from the River.

The depression days interfering with my hopes of a career in Aviation, prompted me in securing a job at the Hannaford Garage starting there as a Mechanic the second day of April 1931 and continuing this line of work until March 1942 when I enlisted in the United States army being inducted April 10th, 1942 until September 21, 1945 when I received my discharge at Camp McCoy, Wisconsin.  On Sept 6 1969 Nels Algot Lind was united in marriage to Jennie Wallum.  Ceremonies took place at the (Our Saviors) Lutheran Church at Dazey, North Dakota.  Rev Knutson officiating.

N. Algot and Jennie Lind have their home here in Hannaford and are Hoping and Praying that the future days will not be unkind to us.

Compiled By Nels Algot Lind
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MARVIN LINDER

Marvin Linder was born at Underwood, North Dakota.  He moved to Hannaford with his parents.  He married Delores Grinager in 1956.  They live on a farm the former Christ Grinager farm in Section 28.

There are two children in the family:  

Keith and Denise.
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OLE MOSSING

Ole Mossing was born in Selbo, Norway on April 27, 1826.  He met and married Christine Egen in 1854.  They had two children, Johan Martin and Betsy.  Betsy was born April 12, 1862.

When they came to America they settled in Wisconsin.  Johan Martin later came to Greenfield Township.  His homestead Section 22, Township 144 - Range 59 was proved on July 14, 1891.  Martin and his wife Ann had seven (7) children, Carl, Oscar, Mable, Burnard, Ester, Arthur, and Christian.  During those days before the St. Olaf Church, in Walum, was built, Martin and his friend, NELS AUSTED, first walked to the Gunderson School house (west of Walum) to teach Sunday School, from there to Hannaford and then they walked home again.  They also helped organize the Walum Church in 1885.  With the hard times they had at that time the church was not built until 1899.

Later Martin went into business in Walum.  He had a Mercantile Store (General).  Johan Martin was also the first Post Master in Walum.  In 1906 the Mossing men shipped a bunch of horses to Canada and went to Canada to homestead new land.  In the fall of the year, they had broken up land they needed to prove their homestead.  Then they started on their 450-mile journey back to Greenfield Township in a wagon.  They gathered their families and supplies and in the Spring of 1908 they went back to Canada.  Their new home in Canada was named after their home in Griggs County.  They built a new St. Olaf Church and named their Township Greenfield.

Betsy Mossing came to North Dakota from Wisconsin in a Lumber Wagon.  The year was 1884.  Betsy then worked in a Hotel in Sanborn (Barnes County).  Betsy did not go to Canada.  She stayed in North Dakota and married Edwin W. Everson, Sr.

EDWIN W. EVERSON, SR. came to America from Norway when he was nine (9) years old.  He and his father settled in Wisconsin.  Edwin later came to Greenfield Township and on June 20, 1883 the land he homesteaded was proved.  The SW quarter of Section 20-144-59.

Later Edwin sold his claim so he could marry Betsy and they moved to Wisconsin.  Three children were born, Clara (Gilbertson), Mable (Jensen), and Adeline (Cooley).

In 1894 they returned to Greenfield Township and for a short time worked for O. M. Ronglein.  At this time their first son was born on October 6, 1894.  They named him Edwin W. Everson, Jr.  When Edwin was six weeks old the family moved one mile east, NW quarter of Section 34-14459.  Betsy's mother and father, Ole and Christine, had come to Greenfield Township too.  The homestead was taken out in Betsy's father's name as Edwin had filed a claim earlier.  Edwin and Betsy had five (5) more children, Julia (Danielson), Benton, Axel, Myrtle (Iverson), and Helen (Gilbertson).  Edwin Sr. and Betsy later in 1922 moved to Walum and went into business, a General Store with their son-in-law OSCAR GILBERTSON.  Edwin Sr. was a member of the N. P. L. and he was a Representative in 1916-1917.

EDWIN EVERSON, JR. took the farm NW quarter of Section 34 and farmed the land.  He met and married Sylvia Brumberg on October 9, 1918.  Sylvia came to North Dakota from Menoga, Minnesota.  They had seven (7) boys and seven (7) girls.  They are all still living except Robert.  He died in 1971.

Edwin and Sylvia lived on their home place until 1938.  They bought and moved to the former Medley farm, NW quarter of Section 33.  They are still living at this location with son James.

In 1964 their daughter Marion and her husband, Herben Doele, Jr. and family (from New Jersey) bought and moved to the home place, NW quarter of Section 34.  In 1971 Herb was killed while working with the State Highway Department.  In 1973 Marion married ERNEST J. JOHNSON.  They live on the home place.  Their grandchild Jeromy Doele, born September 28, 1971, is the sixth generation at this location.  - 1975

Mrs. Ernest J. Johnson
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ALFRED P. NELSON

Mr. and Mrs. A. P. Nelson had as parents Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Nelson and Mr. and Mrs. Arne Hovland.  They were married October 12, 1921 and after a trip to Saskatchewan, Canada to visit relatives and friends, they settled on the Nelson homestead in Greenfield Township since his parents had retired to a home in Walum.  With some help from sister Margaret, they looked after both sets of parents.

Very soon the dirty thirties arrived with rust, grasshoppers, dust storms and drought.  Since there was no crop in 1936, they rigged up a covered wagon from a hayrack, binder canvasses and tarps over the top.  Here they had their bed, oil stove, small chest of drawers, table, etc. and groceries.  They set out for Park River, North Dakota.  A cow was milked on the way so there was fresh milk to drink.  Two neighbors rode ponies to drive a small herd of Herefords, and eight mules hauled the wagons.  The boys were Vernon Wogsland and Urban Potter.  Another neighbor, Edwin Everson, drove the old Ford and went ahead to lay out the stopping places.  The cattle grazed at noon and nights while camp cook, Mrs. Nelson, made the meals.  Mr. Everson shot some pheasants and ducks along the way and they added variety to our dinners.  It took four and one-half days to reach the farm near Park River where it had rained and feed could be purchased for the cattle.  The cattle were trucked back home in May.

Mr. Nelson held many Township, school, and St. Olaf Church offices.  He was secretary, treasurer, and trustee at different times.  Mrs. Nelson was president of the Ladies Aid and superintendent of St. Olaf Sunday School for many years.  Also Secretary of GreenBarts Homemaker Club.  Mr. Nelson passed away in March 1966.
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ANDREW NELSON

Andrew Nelson was born near Oslo, Norway, April 23, 1847.  He came with his parents to America as a young boy, and was confirmed in the historic Muskego Church in Wisconsin, which was later moved to the Seminary Campus in St. Paul, Minnesota.  The family moved to Cottonwood County, Minnesota where in 1880 Mr. Nelson married Petrena Nelson.  They moved to their homestead in southern Greenfield Township in 1882.  His brother, CHARLES, had the homestead joining theirs.

To this union four children were born:  

Clara (Mrs. Wallace Sinclair)

Rosetta (Mrs. John Monson)

Alfred (A. P. )

and Evangeline.  -Death visited this home in June 1888 and took away the young wife and infant daughter leaving Mr. Nelson alone with three small children and help hard to get in those pioneer days.  Mr. Nelson later married Jennie Thompson of Farmington, Minnesota Reverend Thoreson performed the ceremony at Dazey, North Dakota November 15, 1888.  Mr. and Mrs. Nelson passed away in 1928 and 1929.
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JOHN NELSON

John Nelson was born October 7, 1867 and Ida (Carlson) Nelson was born December 27, 1866 in Blekinge, Sweden.  Mr. Nelson was a stonemason and Mrs. Nelson a hand weaver.  They owned and operated a General Merchandise store in Sweden from 1898 to 1900.  In 1900 Mr. Nelson came to United States and to Greenfield Township.  He bought a quarter of land – SE quarter of Section 1 - in Greenfield Township and built a one-room shanty there.  Mrs. Nelson came in 1901.  They built an extra room on the shanty and then sent for their two girls, Ellen (12 years old) and Valborg (10 years old) who had been left in the care of their Grandmother in Sweden.  The two girls arrived in 1902.  They traveled across the ocean and to Hannaford with Olaf and Betsy Johnson who had been to Sweden on their wedding trip.

Four more girls were born:  

Mrs. Ellen Olson, Los Angeles, California

Mrs. Valborg Haugen, Cooperstown

Mrs. L. B. Williams, deceased

Mrs. Lily Wright, Chico, California

and twins, Mrs. Norman (Eugenia) Njaa, Grants Pass, Oregon and Mrs. Theron (Evely) Steenson, Viroqua, Wisconsin.

They all lived in the 2-room house until they built a large 2-story home in 1908.  Being a family with no boys to help with fieldwork, the girls did their share helping with plowing (driving 7 horses on the plow), raking hay, doing chores, etc.

John Nelson helped lay bricks in the construction of the Binford School.  He also did all the stone work in the foundation in their new home they built in 1908, making use of the trade he brought with him from Sweden.

John and Ida Nelson lived on this farm until 1939.  At that time their son-in-law and daughter, Mr. and Mrs. Bert Haugen moved there and lived until Bert's death in 1941.

Mrs. Nelson died in 1939 and Mr. Nelson died in 1942.

Source Page 306

MR. AND MRS. NELS OLSON

Mr. and Mrs. Nels Olson were born in Sweden and came to America in their early years.  In 1901 they were married and farmed near Benson, Minnesota until they came to North Dakota and settled on a farm one-half mile east of Walum.  There were no trees on the place and as they were used to having trees in Minnesota, Mrs. Olson planted all the trees that are now there.  They had three sons and three daughters.  One daughter passed away at the age of four years.  Alfred is married and lives in Jamestown

Richard married Kathleen Brewster and lives in Miles City, Montana.  They have four children.  Ruth married Gerald Anderson and lives in Hannaford.  They have three sons.  Gladys Peterson lives in Sacred Heart, Minnesota.  Chester married Marian Johnson and lives on a farm east of Walum.  They have one daughter.  Mrs. Olson passed away in 1936 and Mr. Olson in 1961.
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OTTO ROGNUEN

Otto Rognlien and his wife, Ellen, settled in Greenfield Township in the late 1800's.  Otto was considered to be a big farmer in those days.  He farmed Section 29144-59 and the southwest quarter of 28 and the northeast quarter of 20.  To plow these six quarters of land, two men used three gangplows with five horses on each plow.  The men would start the horses out on one end of the field and let them go by themselves to the other end.  One man would be on each end of the field to turn the horses around.

Otto is remembered for having one of the first phonographs along in his buggy.  At that time the records would introduce themselves.  As Otto came down the road with his buggy, one would hear, "Song by the Edison Record Company.”

The Rognliens lived at this location for many years.  They were active members of the St. Olaf Church in Walum.

Otto Rognlien is also remembered for writing the Norwegian book, Fabrikpigen, published in 1905.
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THE STONE FAMILY

Little is known on the background of Thosten D. Stone but he was born Thor Stein on September 26, 1852.  He married Gjertrud Norekval (born April 22, 1864), one of eight children of Erik and Torbjor Norkeval who lived near Voss, Norway.

The Stones' first child, Erick, was born near Voss in 1889, the year before the family immigrated to the

United States.  They came to ' North Dakota and settled about a mile east of Hannaford (Section 4, Township 144, Range 59).  Records show that the homestead application was granted May 31, 1899.

Six children were born to the union of Thosten and Gjertrud Stone.  They are:  

Erick (born 1889 in Voss, Norway - died 1965), Jurina (born 1890 died 1944), David (born 1892 died 1941), Theodore (born 1894 died 1972), Ivar (born 1896 died 1905), Anna (born 1898 died 1933).  The life on the prairie was primitive and the first dwelling was a sod house.  A small frame house was constructed shortly thereafter to take care of the growing family.

Although the Northern Pacific line from Valley City to Cooperstown was completed in the 1880's, riding as a passenger was a luxury few of the homesteaders could afford.  An annual family shopping trip was made by horse and buggy and required a full day each way.

Tragedy struck the family in 1905 when the youngest son, Ivar, died after an accident in which he was kicked by a horse.

A new and larger home was completed in 1907.  Very shortly thereafter Thosten died after a short illness leaving his wife with five children ranging in age from 9 to 18.  The family managed to continue to operate the farm, which eventually grew to nearly two Sections.  By the early 1920's the brothers had acquired several threshing rigs and did custom threshing for the farmers in the Hannaford and Walum area.  (This actually continued until the early 1940's by which time the combine had almost completely replaced the thresher.)

In 1919, the eldest son, ERICK, married Amelia Boom (born 1887) who had immigrated from Dalsland, Sweden in 1904.  She spent several years in the Wheaton, Minnesota area coming to Hannaford in 1907 to visit the Elinder Antonson family who had also immigrated from Dalsland.  She remained in the Hannaford area and worked for a number of years for the W. D. Sinclair family.  One son, (Noel, born 1920) was born to this union.

The youngest daughter, Anna, was married about 1930 to Bert Nelson of Cooperstown but she passed away in 1933.  The couple had no children.

In 1938 Theodore was married to Marian Nelson of Cooperstown.  Four children were born:  

Richard (born 1939), Nancy (born 1941), Karol (born 1943), Theodore (born 1948).

David continued to operate the family farm until 1941 when he was killed in an automobile accident.  His mother, Gjertrud, suffered a stroke in 1943 and passed away February 15, 1943 at the age of 78.

After renting for several years, THEODORE returned to operate the family farm until his retirement in 1964.  His death on December 28, 1972 marked the passing of the last of the immediate family of Thosten and Gjertrud Stone.

Theodore's wife, Marian, continues to reside on the family farm.
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THE DESCENDANTS OF EINAR O. AND GURI STROMME

Pioneer Stromme came to North Dakota from Norway in the Mid Eighties.  He first homesteaded in Greenfield Township, approximately three miles east and one mile south of Hannaford, were he built a Sod House.

He married Guri Tyssen prior to coming to the United States.  Their youngest child Anna Christina Stromme was born while they lived in the Sod House.  Anna talked about how the house would get covered with snow in the winter snow storms and how they would have to dig the snow into the house to be able to shovel steps up the surface.  In the spring and summer she said that the Indians traveling by would trade almost anything for food and clothing.  These were friendly Indians who as far as she knew never caused any trouble.

Later, Einar Stromme moved to a farm about a mile west of the Sod House location where he built a modern house and barn and raised his family.  Guri, his wife, died in 1922 at the age of 66.  Einar lived to the age of 88.  He died in 1937.

Anna Christina had one brother, Carl.  Her sisters, Alitta married Oscar Nelson, Olina married Ole Kaastad, Gusta married E. Steffenson, Emma married Iver Kvamme, and Mary married Haldor Stromme.  Anna Christina married PETER AALGAARD on January 12, 1910.  Peter came from Norway in 1903.  Their first home was on a farm rented from Haldor Stromme, a few miles west and north of Karnak.  On this farm, Rose and Leif, their two eldest children were born.  They later moved to a farm west of Hannaford owned by a Mr. Stuart.  Here Algot, Margaret and Leonard were born.  Later on a farm north of Hannaford Rachel, Stella and Selmer were born.  Robert and Albert were born on a farm east of Hannaford, this farm their Grandparents, Einar and Guri Stromme owned at one time.  Peter and Anna later moved to Hannaford where they resided for most of their remaining years.  Peter and Anna died in 1969 and lie at rest in the Union Cemetery.

Peter and Anna Aalgaard raised ten children and as of this summary there are a total of 29 Grandchildren and 29 Great Grandchildren.

Peter and Anna's oldest child, Rose, married Helmer Brudvig.  They have four sons and six grandchildren.  Rose and Helmer Brudvig now reside in Fargo, North Dakota Leif Aalgaard married Helen Vance.  They have two children and two grandchildren.  Leif and Helen presently live in California.  Their third child, Algot, married Bernice Flifflet.  Algot and Bernice have three children and two Grandchildren.  Algot and Bernice live in Hannaford, North Dakota.  Margaret married James Porter.  They have five children and eight grandchildren.  Mr. and Mrs. Porter live in Minnesota.  Leonard married Ruth Seaman.  They have four children and three grandchildren.  Leonard and Ruth Aalgaard live in Grand Forks, North Dakota Rachel married Lawrence Pratt.  They have four children and four grandchildren.  Rachel and Lawrence Pratt live in Cooperstown, North Dakota Stella married Ira Larson who have three children and four grandchildren.  They make their home in Oregon.  Selmar married Vera Sartout:  

they have one child.  Their home is in California.  Robert and Geneveive Aalgaard have one child and also, reside in California.  The youngest, Albert is single.

By Leonard Aalgaard
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MR. AND MRS. KNUTE J. STROMME

Knute Stromme was born at Dalseide, Voss, Norway, in the year 1842.  In 1875 he came to the United States and made his home in Goodhue, Minnesota.

Gusta Rustad was born August 7, 1841 of the parents, Mr. and Mrs. Elias Paulson Rustad in Urlandet, Tronjhem, Norway.  Gusta came to Red Wing, Minnesota in 1874 where she remained with her brother, Peter E. Rustad, until the spring of 1879.  On March 28, 1879, Knute J. Stromme and Gusta Rustad were married.  Two years later they came to Fargo where they remained until the latter part of May 1882 when they came to Greenfield Township to take up a homestead.  This homestead, in Section 11, was their residence until their death.

Knute and Gusta Stromme were charter members of the Union Church.  Mrs. Stromme was the first president of the Ladies Aid.  The meeting at which the congregation was organized was held in their sod shanty.

Mr. Stromme was a quiet, unassuming man, happiest in his small family circle.  Mrs. Stromme was a cheerful soul and their home reflected pioneer hospitality.  They had one son, CARL K. STROMME, born in 1880.  He married Stina Jordal from Goodhue, Minnesota.

Carl and Stina were very active in Union Church.  Carl as Trustee, Choir director, and choir member.

Stina as organist, Ladies Aid President and Choir.

Stina Stromme died in 1950 at the age of 76.  Carl died in 1960 at the age of 80.
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MARTIN AND CLARA WALLUM

Martin and Clara Wallum were born in Norway.  They emigrated to America when each was still young - Mr. Wallum at two years of age and Mrs. Wallum when she was seventeen years old.

Martin Wallum homesteaded land located 1/2 mile from the town of Walum.  It was to this homestead that Mr. Wallum brought his new bride after their marriage in Cooperstown in 1887.

Mr. Wallum became prominent in community affairs, attending many meetings held in the surrounding towns.  He frequently drove from their home all the way to Fargo for provisions.  This trip took from ten to twelve days depending on the weather and the roads.

The present town of Walum was named after Mr. Wallum.  Both Mr. and Mrs. Wallum are buried in St. Olaf's Cemetery in Walum.

The Wallums had ten children, six of whom are deceased:  

Mable Anson, California

Justin Wallum, Walum

Marvin Wallum, Minnesota

Dena Espeseth, Wisconsin

Chester Wallum, Hannaford

and John Wallum of Bismarck.

The surviving members of the family and their residences are:  

Olga Evenson, Walum

Theresa Trangsrud, Wimbledon

Berneice Vogt, Wilmont, Minnesota

and Edna Becker, Wilmont, Minnesota.
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REVERE, HELENA TOWNSHIP

History

Revere, North Dakota, came on the map in the spring of 1913 when the Great Northern built their railroad from Fargo to Minot, and provided each town with a depot, a loading platform and a stockyard.  Revere was the only station that had its depot on the south side of the track.  The first depot agent was Mr. Simkoski.

The St Anthony Company built a grain elevator with Arthur Caine from Carrington as the first manager.  A little later the Minnkota Company came in with an elevator and Charles Elliott was its first manager, coming from Iowa.  The Crane Johnson Lumber Company had moved in a large shed that had served them in another town, stocked it with lumber, and soon added an open shed for storage.  The first man to handle this business was Nels Nelson, a single man and carpenter from Hannaford.

The Helena School district located one of its four new schools in Revere No. 3.  The first teacher in the new schoolhouse in the fall of 1913 was Miss Mathilda Britton, cousin of Mrs. Asher Anderson of Hannaford.  Twenty pupils, grade one to eight attended.  A store with living quarters upstairs was constructed and stocked with groceries and men's work clothes.  A young Minneapolis, Minnesota, man and wife came to operate this business.  His name was C. W. Broom.  The school children were delighted to know there would be a place to spend their pennies and nickels for candy but very disappointed on opening day to find only fancy chocolates displayed on glass trays in a glass show case and priced by the half and quarter pound.  All went out with long faces and no candy.  Evidently Mr. Broom was not hep to children and their pennies and nickels, but he soon learned.

A bank in Hannaford put up a small building south of the store to serve as The State Bank of Revere, and L. O. Skjelset came in April 1913 to handle the banking business.  When lumberman Nelson left about 1916, Skjelset took on his job.  Moved the bank equipment into the lumberyard office and held down both jobs.

Some excitement occurred in early fall about 1925 when the Skjelsets were awakened after midnight by an explosion and a dim light in the bank.  Skjelset realized the bank was being robbed and spent most of the rest of the night with a rifle watching from an upstairs window.  They were much relieved when he heard them leave.

The robbers had blown open the safe door but did not get into the moneybox.  They came back a few weeks later and got into the small safe that was temporarily used until the bank could install a new safe.  This time they got some cash.

The first men that came to Revere to manage the various business places were single men and needed a place to board as there was no place to eat in Revere.  They induced the nearest farmer, a fourth of a mile north, Mr. and Mrs. Mikal Mogaard to supply them with their three daily meals.

There was no school in this immediate area the fall of 1912.  Since the Crane Johnson lumberyard office in Revere was not yet in use, desks and other equipment from the old schoolhouse northeast were moved in and Miss Senora Fogderud was hired to teach for five months, January to May.  There were 17 pupils.

Revere has a wide range of temperature from 100 degrees above zero in summer to 45 degrees below zero in winter but as the atmosphere is dry and the altitude high (1,459 feet) it is not unpleasant.  The average rainfall is 18 inches.

Helena Post Office was the first post office established in this vicinity northwest of Sanborn and was named (Helena) after the wife of Peter Fiero.  The only time the early settlers received the mail was when someone in the neighborhood went to Sanborn (37 miles SE).  There was no regular mail carrier.  The Helena P. O. was moved after a few years to the Richard Sellwood farm and then later moved to the Eimon ranch where it remained until 1912 when it was moved to Revere.

Among the early settlers in the Revere vicinity were J. W. Fiero, Peter Fiero, A. G. Lindsey, and J. S. Byington, all from New York State, C. H. Mosely from Michigan who came in 1882.  Iver Eimon of Wisconsin arrived in 1882 also.  In 1883, the new settlers that came were Hans O. Lien, Claus Jackson, Chris Jackson, Chris Sonju and August Palm.  Other early settlers at Revere were Mikal Mogard, Hubbard Knapp, and W. S. Hyde.

In 1911, a bank was organized at Revere by G. C. Epler, at present a resident of Williston.  The cashier was L. O. Skjelset.  The McCoy Lumber Company established a lumberyard whose manager was Nels Nelson now a resident of Leeds, North Dakota  C. W. Broom from Minneapolis, now a resident of Seattle, Washington, owned a general store at Revere.  He was also the first postmaster.  The St. Anthony elevator was erected in 1912.  THOMAS KOKAL was the first blacksmith and did custom (feed) grinding.  The first restaurant was operated by T. KATE in the building now used as the residence of the manager of the St. Anthony elevator.  School was held in the lumber-office until 1913 when a one-room school was erected.

The first Great Northern station agent at Revere was John Jefferson of Hope, North Dakota  He was killed in the World War.

Four miles west of Revere is the "ghost" town of Helena.  The buildings have been removed.

Revere was a busy thriving hamlet until 1929.

At present, Revere has a general store, oil station, elevator and produce station.

Religious services are held in the schoolhouse and also in the Revere Community Hall.

The Revere Homemakers' Club was organized November 1934, with a charter membership of 15.  Since 1926, the Parent Teachers' organization had been very active but in 1932 this organization merged with the Revere Homemakers Club.  The club has remodeled a Township machine shed and use it as their club-house or Community Hall.  The club sponsors home-talent plays, Christmas trees, annual picnics and all community celebrations.  Revere is surrounded by rolling prairie and is situated near the banks of a branch of Bald Hill Creek.
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Christian Fellowship Church

Sunday School was organized in the Revere Community Hall around May 11, 1939, by Reverend Huey, head of the Presbyterian Sunday School.  Mrs. Melvin Sonju was the first Superintendent and Leona Feske, treasurer.  Sunday School was held every Sunday and Reverend Huey, Reverend Tittemore or Reverend Converse held church services occasionally.  Later Reverend Newlin, pastor of the Bethlehem Free church held services every other Sunday at first, later every Sunday.

The Christian Fellowship church was organized by Reverend Folden, September 21, 1949 with 14 members.

In 1952 with Reverend Nyquist as the Pastor a motion was made and carried that they build or buy a building for a church.

The following fall and winter the church was built with members and friends doing most of the work.

Dedication services were held June 14, 1953 with Reverend Folden as the guest speaker.
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Settlers

THE C. P. ANDERSON FAMILY

Charles Peter Anderson, better known as Charley or C. P. , " was born in Trondhjem, Norway on October 26, 1876 and came to the United States with his parents when six years old.  The family settled in Minneapolis, Minnesota where his father became a policeman.  When " C. P. " was a young man he worked in a sash and door factory in Minneapolis.  About 1900 he came to Cooperstown, was married January 12, 1907 to Jorgina (Gina) Watne.  She too was born in Norway, in Stavanger, on January 26, 1874, came to America in 1888 with her parents, and worked at the Cooper Ranch.  Later she was employed at the Palace Hotel, in Cooperstown, as second cook.

After their marriage the Andersons lived in Cooperstown where he worked as a drayman for a short time and then for the Standard Oil Company hauling oil with a small tank and four-horse team between Cooperstown and McHenry.  He was a member of the fire department and played the bass drum in the town band.

In 1909 they rented a farm two miles north of Cooperstown.  In 1913 they bought a half Section of land near Revere:  

This was their home the rest of their lives.

Gina passed away November 22, 1945 and " C. P. on June 30, 1955.  They were the parents of nine children.  Three died in infancy, Millard when two years old and Iver in 1949 at the age of thirty-three.  The surviving children are:  

Ronald of Guthrie, Oklahoma.  Mrs. Arthur Johnson (Maria) of Barrett, Minnesota.  Mrs. Clara Eide of Cooperstown and Mrs. Grace Walker of San Francisco, California.

Submitted By Mrs. Clara Eide
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BEATTIE FAMILY

Wallace James Beattie was born the son of James and Anna Beattie, June 8, 1917 in Bartley Township.  He grew to manhood there and attended the Bartley School.

On December 27, 1940 he was united in marriage to Ingle Storm, a teacher from New Lipzig, North Dakota In June 1942 they moved to the old Kjelgard place in Helena Township where they have lived and farmed ever since.

They have five children:  

LARRY, a teacher, who married Sylvia Pederson of Hannaford, North Dakota They have four children.  At this time they live at Rolette, North Dakota LAVONNE, a secretary, married Ron Kissam of Anaheim, California.  They have I little girl.  They now live in Costa Mesa, California MARILYN, a teacher in the Anoka Minnesota School.  She is married to Goren Gossman of Minneapolis.  They live in Plymouth, Minnesota MURIEL, a secretary, married Raymond Haugen of Dazey, North Dakota They have 2 little boys and live in Valley City, North Dakota DEBORAH is at home.  She attends Trinity College in Deerfield, 111.
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CAMPBELL FAMILY

Alexander (sandy) Campbell was born in Minto Township, Ontario, Canada October 24, 1874.

He came to Griggs County North Dakota in 1901 and secured a warranty Deed on the NW quarter of Section 11-144-60 in Bartley Township.  Later in 1903 disposing of it and homesteading the SE quarter of Section 34-145-60 in Helena Township.  He returned to Harriston Ontario, Canada in 1905 and married Bella Greenwood.

Three children were born to this union.  Elizabeth, Lloyd and Vera.  LLOYD continued to live on the farm.  He was married to Thelma Johnson.  They had two sons:  

Donald and Robert.

Lloyd passed away in 1971.  Thelma and son Robert still reside on the original homestead.  The Campbell's were lifelong members of the United Presbyterian Church of Hannaford, North Dakota

Donald is married to the former Carol Brunsch of Woodworth, North Dakota and are living on the Alvin and Ernest Johnson farm Section 23-145-59 in Greenfield Township.
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FENNER

Ferdnand D. Fenner (1844-1890) and his wife Carol (1848-1892) were the parents of the following:  

Charles, Otto married to Ina Freer, Otelia married to Albert Retzlaff, Henry A. married to Bertha Feske, Lizzie married to Fred Williams, William married to Mary Gartman and Andrew married to Lissie Gartman.

Ferdnand was treasurer of Township election June 30, 1883 and director of 'Blooded Stock Association' in 1889.  He was named as a juror in 1885 and became a naturalized citizen in 1887.

A most beautiful granite tombstone in the Cooperstown Cemetery marks the graves of these pioneers.
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JOHN D. FESKE FAMILY

John D. and Augusta A. Feske were married in Falkenstein, Prussia in 1864.  They came to America in 1871 and settled in Michigan for 9 years.  They then moved to Valley City for one year.  At that time they moved to Griggs County and homesteaded near Sutton.  John and Augusta Feske had 10 children.  Bertha Mary Lizzie - Married Henry Fenner

John August - died when he was 12 years old

Otto Frank - Married Annie Nylander

John William - Hannah Helmer

Augusta Emilie - Married John Riber

Herman William - Unmarried

Charles G. - Married Hattie Clark

Three died at birth.  John died in 1901.  Augusta continued to farm with her youngest son, Charles G. , until he married.  She then lived with her son Herman, until her death in 1924.

CHARLES G. FESKE was born in Griggs County February 28, 1884.  He lived on the home farm 11 miles southwest of Cooperstown, where his son CHARLES JR. lives now.  Charles married Hattie Clark in Minnesota in 1917.  They had three children, Berniece, now Mrs. R. A. Madison living in Seattle, Washington.  Leona, Mrs. Mel Dewanz, New Ulm, Minnesota, and Charles Jr. Cooperstown.

Charles D. Feske was born in Cooperstown in 1930.  Married Rosemary Willis in Cooperstown in 1952.  They have four children, Vicky - married Marvin Holweger and lives in Milton Florida, and they have one daughter.

Larry married Denise Lafferty and lives near Cooperstown.  They have one son.

Kathleen and Steven are at home.

When Charles G. was about a year old a prairie fire went through their farm.  His dad was gone so his mother told him to get behind a cabbage plant and stay there.  When the fire was over she came to look for him and he was safe behind his cabbage plant.

When Charles was older, he and his brother (Herman) had the job of herding cattle for the neighbors.  When they would go across the creek they would grab the tail of a cow and stay over on the other side of the creek all day and then grab a tail and go back home.
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JOHN WILLIAM FESKE (JACK)

Jack was born February 19, 1875 in Griggs County.  He grew to manhood in Helena Township.  He married Hannah Helmer on March 25, 1899.  Hannah was born November 19, 1881.  They lived near Karnak for a few years.  The Feskes had four children.  Rudolph - born - 1900 - died 1970

Pearl - born 1902 - died 1964

Violet - born 1903

Earl - born 1907 - died 1923.  In 1912-1914 he and Charles G. were partners in farming and did custom threshing.  In 1915 John and Hannah moved back to Helena Township on the Benjamin Tufte farm.  They lived there for twelve years.  At this time Earl (the youngest) died from sleeping sickness and pneumonia at the age of 16.  They then moved to the Charles Steinborn farm and lived there for thirteen years.  Then they moved near Cooperstown.

Violet, the only one remaining of the John William family was born on the John D. Feske farm (Charles Feske, Jr. farm now) in a terrific snowstorm on April 22, 1903.  Violet, the only one to get married, wed H. M. Taxdahl December 20, 1928 at Cooperstown.  They have four children.

Norma - married John Boschee and lives at Binford - 2 children

Milo - married Zella Nicholson and lives at Cooperstown - 4 children

John M. - married Joyce Leininger and lives at Sutton - 3 children

Joann - married Alfred Frappier and lives at McHenry - 6 children

Jack and Charlie made a trip to Canada by bicycle.  They ran into gumbo and had to push their bicycles.  Also rode bicycle many times to Jamestown to see their sister, Millie.  John was good-natured and also lots of humor, but jokes are forgotten.
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OTTO F. FESKE

Otto Frank Feske was born in Michigan in 1873.  He moved with his family to Helena Township when he was a young lad.  He married Annie Johnson Nylander.  They farmed in Helena Township.  They had eight children.

Edward - married Ethel Titus and lives in Dallas, Texas, - 2 sons

Lyda - married Oscar Frydenberg and lives in Arlington, Texas, 2 sons

Elsie - married Robert Cunningham and lives in Greencastle, Pennsylvania, 2 sons and 2 daughters

Lewis - married Blanche Husel - 2 sons, 1 daughter (deceased)

Robert - died at 6 months

Andrew - married Elvira and lives in Long Beach, California, 1 son and 1 daughter

Myrtle - married Earl Knapp and lives in Arlington, Texas, 4 daughters and 1 son

Oscar - married Gladys Overbeck and lives in Spokane, Washington, 2 daughters

Otto died in 1941.
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FLIFLET FAMILY

The family of Ben and Sidsel Fliflet were from Lillehammer, Norway.  Sig was the first of his family to come to America.  He went to Wisconsin where he worked at various jobs to earn money to bring his mother to this country.  Sig was sixteen years old when he came.  After a time his mother and the family were able to come and they settled in North Dakota.

There was John, his wife Julia and daughter, Magna

Gust, Carl, Bertha and Sig.  They lived in the Revere and Hannaford vicinity.  Later Carl and his family moved to South Dakota and eventually settled in Minnesota.  Carl had six children and two step-children.  Gust had seven children, Bertha Gustafson a son and a daughter.

Sig married Marie Haugen and had seven children, Carl, Selma, Maynard, Julius, Orval, Marvin and Joyce.  They farmed until they retired and purchased the Kaas home in Hannaford.  Sig passed away in 1962 and his wife Marie in 1971.  Carl married Gladys Pederson and have four children.  Orval married Maxine Fliflet and have four children.  Marvin married Gladys Dahl, have a son and a daughter.  Joyce married Rodney Carlson and have five children.  Selma had a daughter.  Selma and Maynard are deceased.  Julius married Sylvia Pederson and they have two daughters and one son.
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JOHN FRANCIS

John Francis was born in Mary's Ontario October 1855.  He came to Griggs Company about 1885.

He first filed for a preemption west of Hannaford but later homesteaded and bought land in Helena Township.  He married Edith Stienborn and they raised their four children there.  Jim, Clara (Mrs. Brown), John II, and Maynard.  He was a part time Jeweler and fixed watches as he had the time.  He died in September 1917.  His wife died July 1945.  Mrs. Clara Brown is the only surviving child.  JOHN III is still living on the farm, Section 22.

It sounds interesting now but the pioneers had to be a rugged people.  He told of walking to Valley City for a sack of flour and carrying it back and also of grasshoppers destroying whole fields of grain one fall.  How the Indians camped in the pasture, summers, where they dug wild roots like 'yarrow' for medicine and the gypsies would camp across the road.  The men would try to trade horses.  The women would beg for milk, eggs, etc.  They couldn't let them in the house, as they'd take whatever was loose.

Times got better, wheat 40 to 60¢, eggs 60 per dozen, hogs 3 to 40, but you could buy flour for $2.50 to $3.00 per 100, sugar 10 pounds for 49¢.  By this time there were 32 horses on the farm.  The boys had their driving teams, which they thought were like Cadillacs today.  Then by 1914 there was a few cars in the country and soon you'd have to drive in the ditch to let the cars have the roads.
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CARL GARTMAN

Carl Gartman was born in Brandenburg Province, Germany in 1842.  He came to the United States in 1870.

Carl married Caroline Michaelis in Keeweenaw County, Michigan in 1873.  She was born near Berlin, Germany in 1849, the daughter of Wilhelm Michaelis.

Mr. Gartman worked for a time in the copper mines in Michigan.  They moved to Valley City, North Dakota in 1877, coming to Helena Township in 1882.  They were known as squatters at that time and later homesteaders.  Sanborn was the closest town at that time.

Five children were born to Carl and Caroline.  The daughters were:  

Mary, Caroline and Rose, (who married George Paintner).  The sons were, George and Robert.  The girls were all born in Michigan and the boys at Valley City, North Dakota.

Mr. Gartman (Carl) died in 1916 and Caroline in 1914.  Both are buried in the Cooperstown cemetery.

Written By William Paintner
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LASSE HEGVIK

My husband and I came to Griggs County in April 1946 from Seattle, Washington.  Lasse had been discharged from the Army the previous fall, having spent 21h years stationed at Fortaleza, Brazil, with the Army Air Force.  I had taught school at Svea Consolidated, Litchville, North Dakota, for two years and Solway, Minnesota, for seven years.  Lasse wanted to resume farming as he had farmed in Foster County previous to World War II.  He asked L. A. Sayer to let us know if there were any farms for rent, and in March he called us in Seattle.  Mr. and Mrs. HERMAN MICHAELIS wanted renters.  This is how we happened to come to Griggs County and establish our first home on the Michaelis farm.  They continued to live in the "big" house while we lived on the same farmstead in the "small" house.  These were happy years in spite of no modern conveniences.  Our three children were born while we lived there:  

Larry Alan - July 30, 1946, Ronald Barton - May 29, 1948 and Janelle Elaine - July 6, 1951.

Lasse bought Herman's machinery, cattle and horses.  The International H tractor was our first new equipment and is still in use and in good condition

In the fall of 1948, the year Ronnie was born, we had our first electricity.  (We had had a stand-by plant for a couple of years.)  We remember the night the lights went on in our Section of the county.  They twinkled in the dark night like so many stars because everyone had their yard light on.  Then came all the modern electrical appliances and conveniences that accompany electricity.  What is so amazing is that we didn't have them until 1948.  We were indeed entering a new era.

Lasse was born in Griggs County near West Prairie Church where his parents had settled after arriving from Norway in the early 1900's.  They moved to Foster County in 1918.  He again became a Griggs County resident in 1946 when we moved to the Cooperstown area.  I was born at Juanita in Foster County, on the same farm HIS parents later owned and which we now own in partnership with Alton Hegvik.

Lasse raised pure-bred Shorthorn cattle for a time.  He was a 4-H leader and our children were active in 4H.  His health greatly curtailed his farming operation, but he continued actively engaged in farming until 1974.
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The Old Timers Reminisce

"It was a memorable pastime to listen to the three Hetland brothers reminisce, " wrote one of the numerous descendants, years later.  Alfred often talked of the Reo automobile that was purchased by the three brothers and was one of the first automobiles in the area.  It was a Reo two-cylinder machine with the crank on the side.  They went joy riding one day and stopped to look their new auto over.  One brother was cranking it and another was fooling around with the spark plugs.  The brother who was cranking received a shock that went right through his body and gave him such a jolt that he fell back into the road.  They became afraid of the car and walked home leaving the machine behind.  The next day, they pulled it home with horses.  They felt safer with horses.  At least they knew what made them go.

They often spoke of the years when there was shortage of coal.  When they heard rumors of coal coming, they would leave home at three AM to be sure of getting their share.  When their turn came to get coal, they were given each a few shovels full.  Families with small children were first on the list and the bachelors did not get as much.  They would talk of eating frozen food for want of heat to warm the food up.  They would spend as much of their time as possible in the barn with the cattle to keep warm.

The brothers would relate many stories of interest.  Alfred talked of the first time he saw coffee cooked in Norway.  He said that the ladies boiled the grounds and then poured off the water and ate what was left.  They could not understand why Americans were so fond of coffee.
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Threshing

The Hetland brothers, Krist, Rasmus, and Alfred acquired a threshing machine that was run by a steam engine.  During the threshing season, they took the TWO machines and threshed for neighbors.  These brothers could spend hours talking of this adventure.

A cook car drawn by horses, accompanied the rig.  In this small room on wheels, a woman or two cooked meals for the entire crew, at least twenty men.  They often moved at night so one person had to walk ahead with a lantern to guide the way.

In later years, the cook car was abandoned and the farmers had to feed the crew.  When this change took place, the farmers wives tried to outdo each other my making the biggest and best meals.  The men enjoyed this wonderful food with much talk and laughter at the table.  The children of these families, of course, loved everything about threshing time.  It was an exciting time and also one of neighborhood sociability.  Both the men and women worked hard.

The women usually did the milking after the men took the many horses out of the barn in the morning.  They also tried to make sure that the cows were milked before the men came home in the evening as the teams of the threshers took up all the room.  Sometimes, if the cows were left until the men came, the milking would have to be done out in the yard.  If the cow decided to graze while being milked, the person doing the milking would just have to follow her around the yard until the milking was done.

During threshing time a typical schedule was this:  

breakfast, 6 AM, coffee 9 AM, dinner, 12 noon, afternoon lunch, 4 PM, and supper 7:30 PM.  The women carried the lunches to the fields to serve the men.  Some of the dinners were also carried out to the fields to the part of the crew that kept the machines going.  These men kept the work going while the others went to the house to eat, as they didn't want to shut down their machines.

One of the men was kept busy hauling water for the steam engine.  At 5 AM this engine was then ready to sound off as a signal for the crew to get up and start the day of work.

The work in the field was exciting.  The men would take great pride in being able to make a straw pile that would stand graceful and shed the rain.  It became quite an art to accomplish this piling of straw as the machine separated the grain from the straw.  The grain would fall into horse drawn wagons, hauled from the field and stored on the farm.  Every kernel of grain would have to be handled by a scoop shovel.

But before the grain could be put through the threshing rig, it had been cut by the binders.  As it was cut, the stalks fell to the ground in twine-tied bundles.  These bundles were then picked off the ground, set up into shocks, 10 to 12 bundles per shock.  The shocking was done by the family or by men who drifted into town, in or on boxcars.  These men would come up from the south looking for work.  They were usually found hanging around the streets or stockyards, where they slept and cooked their meals.  The farmer or boss of the machine would make a trip into town and secure as many workers as needed.

Many times the same men would come back, year after year.  At night the workers would sleep in the haymows.  A washbasin and clean towels were placed in a shed or outside for the men to clean up.  Later bunkhouses were built for the men to sleep in.  When it rained, the whole crew stayed at the farm where they were threshing.  This would deplete the potato patch and the supply of oats and hay for the horses.

It was so exciting to see the men pitching bundles into the separator.  When the horse-drawn hayracks were emptied, they would dash back to the field to get another load.  These loads would have to be loaded evenly or they would tip.  Sometimes the horses would decide not to go up to the separator, and then there would be a runaway.
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HETLAND HISTORY

We are now in the fifth generation of the Hetland family to live in Griggs County.

Karl Hetland, born in Norway in 1844, came to the United States in the late eighties.  He first settled in Chicago where he worked until coming to Griggs County, Sverdup Township.  He made his home here until he passed away in 1924.  Karl married Ane Madland in Norway.  Six children were born to them, Kristian, Rasmus, Alfred, Tanuel, Gunhilde, and Dina.

Kristian, born in 1873, was the first of the children to come to the United States.  He Arrived in New York from Stavanger on November 12, 1889.  He sailed on the vessel Loconia.  He met his father in Chicago and they traveled to the Cooperstown area where they settled.  Krist became a United States citizen in 1907.  He passed away in 1949.

Rasmus Hetland came from Stavanger to Boston in June 1902.  He died in Cooperstown in January 1953.  He never married.

Alfred and his mother joined the family in March 1905.  They sailed on the vessel Eturia from Stavanger.  The mother died in 1919.  Alfred became a United States citizen in 1910.  He died at Cooperstown in January 1956.  Another brother, Tanuel, came from Stavanger later, but returned to Norway.  He later lost his life at sea.  Dina married Martin Nevland in Norway.  They and their children came to Greenfield Township to make their home.  The Nevland family consisted of eight boys and one girl.  They later moved to a farm near Juanita, North Dakota.

Gunhild married Rasmus Hai and remained in Norway.  Nine children were born to them.

Rasmus, Kristian and Alfred settled on the Swingen-McCoy farm in Helena Township.  They farmed and raised pure-bred Percheron horses and German Shepard dogs.

Krist, an excellent blacksmith, did all the plowshare sharpening for the farm.  With his skillful hands he made many tools that they used on the farm.  He spent much time working at the Torkel Njaa farm southeast of Cooperstown.

Alfred married Lena Oakland, his childhood sweetheart, who came to North Dakota from Stavanger.  Three children were born to them, Signa, Charles and Ann.  Lena died during the flu epidemic in 1918, at the age of 33.  The family without a mother needed some help, so in 1923, Aunt Carrie Walen, Lena's sister, came to help.  She kept house and cared for the children though she also had children of her own.

Charles Hetland, Alfred's only son, was born December 13, 1915.  He and his father farmed together for many years, purchasing 3 more quarters of land in 1929, one quarter in Section 17, Helena Township, and two in Section 25.  Charles was married to Mildred Knutson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Knutson of Hannaford, on April 12, 1936.  The first year they were married, they never took the binder out of the yard.  What grain the gophers didn't eat was shriveled up by the drought.  Gopher poison was passed out to farmers and many a day was spent putting poison down gopher holes.

That first year of marriage has many memories for them, such as putting up Russian Thistle for hay.  A type of silo was dug in the ground and the thistle was put in it.  The cattle were fed this that winter.  The dirt storms were so dense that many times they had to light the kerosene lamp to see what they were doing during the noonday meal.

Charles got the job of driving the school bus and kept the family with food and the horses with oats.  Only good advice and common sense kept them from losing their lives in the March 17, storm of 1941.  They had the horses all hitched up to the covered sled ready to go visiting at a neighbor's house.  There was a coal stove warming up in the enclosed sled and they were ready to climb in and go when Charles remembered the advice his father always gave.  Alfred Hetland had always warned against leaving home when there was much loose snow on the ground.  At that time, there were several inches of loose snow all over.  Charles decided to put the horses back in the barn and while he was doing this, a terrible storm struck.  By following the grandfather's well-remembered advice, all were safe inside the house in a few minutes.

Charles and Mildred had three sons, Charles, Jr., David, and Allen.  Charles Jr. attended Wahpeton Science School, and the Greer Technical Institute in Illinois worked on construction work in Montana for some time and has also spent some time in Alaska.  He married Dianne Peterson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Peterson, who was a schoolteacher.  They built a new home in Helena Township where they now farm.  They have one daughter, Lynette.

David married Dorothe Jean Anderson, daughter of Donald Anderson of Dazey.  They have twin sons, Dick and David, also another son, Dale, and a daughter, Karoll Allen.

Alfred's two sisters moved away from the state, though Signa and her husband J. V.  Martinson farmed for a time in the Hannaford.  They had two daughters, Leona and Shirley.  Leona was married to Carl Knutson, son of Mr. and Mrs. Krist Knutson of Hannaford.  They have four children and live in Wisconsin.  Shirley married Dwight Alwin at Hannaford.  They have three children and also live in Wisconsin.

Ann Hetland married Carl Hobbie of St. Paul, Minnesota.  They have two children, Judy and Jim.

Charles, the only member of the family to remain in Griggs County, has been engaged in farming all his life.  He and his father and uncles had their threshing rig and he continued threshing until the coming of the combine.  During recent years he has been building up a business in excavating.
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ANDREAS (ANDREW) JACOBSEN

Andreas Jacobsen was born April 29, 1875 in Rostvej, Denmark.  He came to Griggs County in 1905.  Magdalene Christoffa Haukland was born in Norway on June 27, 1883, and arrived in the United States when she was eighteen.  They were married on December 5, 1903, and farmed in the southeast corner of Griggs County, in Broadview Township.

Three children were born to Andrew and Magdelena.  Nina Marie in 1904, Doris Louise, in 1906, and Jacob Veinthor in 1908.  On September 12, 1931, Jacob was married to Florence Marie Beattie.  They have farmed in Griggs County since 1935.  Their home is on Section 13, Helena Township.  "Jake" served as a precinct committeeman for the Democratic Party for several years and had a part in the founding of the Baldhill Horseshoe Club.  Florence has worked for the past twenty years as a cook in the Griggs County Hospital and is an active member of the Christian Fellowship Church.

Janet Joyce was born May 13, 1933.  She attended Prairie Bible Institute in Three Hills, Alberta, Canada, where she met and married William T. Cowger on July 7, 1955.  They now live in Edmonton, Alberta where he is manager of the Pacific Western Trucking Company.  They have four children, Thomas, LeeAnn Marie, Arthur Dean, and Le Dawn Joy.

Andrew James was born July 5, 1936, married Frances Jacobson in 1975.  He has two daughters, Ronalda and Patti Ann by a former marriage to Linda McDonald.  Androw (Jim) is a career man in the United States Navy, and is stationed at Atlanta, Georgia.

Jacob V.  Jacobson, Jr., was born July 17, 1939 and died the same day.

Athalie Ann was born May 13, 1941, attended Valley State College and taught elementary school in North Dakota, Minnesota, and California She married Monty R. Okken.  He is a Baptist Minister and they live in San Diego, California, with two sons, Jonathan and David.

Patricia Lurie was born August 5, 1947, attended Valley City State College and taught school.  She married Peter J. Edwards of Nekoosa, Wisconsin.
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THE HUBBARD KNAPP FAMILY

In 1896 Hubbard Knapp and son George came from Kalamazoo, Michigan, and bought a half-Section of land in Section 33, cast of Dahls'.  In the spring of 1897, his wife, nee Alice Longwell, and family joined him.  The family consisted of Mason, who married Mamie Remington, Boyd, who married Mae Inman, Lou who married Bert Wheeling, Ethel who married Walt Richardson, George who married Mabel Anderson, Alley, who married Frank Myers, and CLAY, who married Agnes Solee, who still live on the original homestead.  Clay Knapps had three children, namely Duane, Betty (Detwiller), Gertrude (Keeling).  One son, Clifford, deceased.

Hubbard Knapp passed away in 1907 and Alice in 1926.
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LOBERG

John Loberg (my Father) was born December 3, 1874 in Trysil, Norway, came to America in 1904 to Audubon, Minnesota, where he worked for the Northern Pacific Railroad for 7 or 8 years.  He married Thea Hovi January 1, 1905, who also came from Trysil.

In 1912 we moved to the Hannaford community.  Dad and Einar Hovi, Mother's brother, started farming in Bartley Township the East 1/2 of Section 1, Township 144 North Range 60, also South 1/2 Section 36 Baldhill Township.  At that time the land was owned by Nels Markuson.  I started school in Hannaford.  While living here it seemed our big trip for the summer was to drive the Sheyenne River with horse and buggy where the Cooperstown Bible Camp is now located.  I cannot recall any building there at that time.  EINAR HOVI purchased a 1911 Buick in 1916.  Buicks were not too dependable at that time.  Anyway, one beautiful Sunday morning we started for the river, after crossing the bridge across Baldhill Creek one mile North of Hannaford.  This bridge has long since disappeared.  Mechanical problems developed and the Buick "conked out.”  A minor repair job was done by Dad and Einar, and we were on our way.  The EDGAR HAALAND family were also on their way to the river with a team and wagon with a few boards across the box for seats.  Of course the Buick had no problem passing them.  Shortly after that the car "conked out" again, Haalands passed us.  Again a minor repair job by our mechanics and we were on our way.  This happened several times.  When we got to the river the Haalands had their horses unhitched from the wagon and tied up, as we pass the Haalands this time they waved and cheered us on, slightly to our embarrassment.

We moved from Bartley Township in the fall of 1917 to Helena Township South 1/2 of Section 28, Township 145 N Range 60 for 1 year.  In the fall of 1918 we again moved to Section 36, Baldhill Township 145 N Range 60, where Dad farmed until 1928.  Needless to say times were tough.  Dad sold out in 1928 and went into carpenter work.  The folks passed away in 1935.  Their final resting place is Dazey Cemetery.

Descendants of John and Thea were Jennie (Mrs. Algot Lind) myself Trygve Elvin, Willie and Isabelle (Mrs. Win.  Ohman).  I married Audrey Mosher, daughter of Fred Mosher of Dazey, in 1937.  We have two sons, Duane a Pharmacist and Myron a Math teacher and track coach.  We are retired and residing in Dazey in 1975.

Trygve Loberg
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MIKAL MOGAARD

He was born December 12, 1874 in Goodhue County, Minnesota.  He came to Griggs County in the spring of 1902 with his wife, Ingeboranna Bordson, and their daughter, Beatrice.

They farmed in Helena Township, Section 21.  He was a thresher.

There were three sons and six daughters in the family.

He served as a trustee at Mabel Lutheran Church.

He was a county commissioner.

Mrs. Mogaard died in 1923.

In 1930 he retired from farming and worked in California and Minnesota until returning to Griggs County in 1943 where he lived until his death on December 14, 1956 at age 82.  Survivors are four daughters, Beatrice, Selma, Hilda and Mabel.
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GEORGE PAINTNER

George Paintner was born in Swansforf, Germany in 1869.  He came with his family to the United States A. in 1884 at the age of fifteen.  They settled in New York State.  He worked for a time in a tannery.  Later he came to St. Paul, Minnesota, working as a stave joiner in a brewery.

It was in St. Paul that he met Bill Steffin.  Together they came to North Dakota for spring threshing, at that time the bundles were stacked in the fall and threshed in the spring.  They worked for Howden's and Gartman's among others.  It was there he met Rose Gartman, whom he married in 1893.

George then took a homestead on Section 14 in Helena Township.  He broke the land with oxen, later buying horses and more land.  As their family increased he purchased three quarters of land from William Headlock and one quarter from Mr. Hyde of New York, also a half Section of school land.  Mrs. Paintner (Rose) died in 1922, and George in 1944.

Mr. and Mrs. Paintner had a large family of two daughters and twelve sons.  One son, Herbert, a twin of Robert, died at about two months of age.

The oldest daughter, Mary, married Felix Pella, and lived all her life in Griggs County.  Mr. Pella still lives.

Theresa married Emil Kuntz, and they lived for a time in the Jessie area, later moving to Butte, Montana.  Both are deceased.

Following the two girls were 11 sons:  

Joe, Louis, George, Anton, Robert, Charles, John, Fred, William, Twins - Lawrence and Clarence.  As of 1975, Joe, Louis, Charles and Fred are deceased.

There are 34 grandchildren, 84 great -grandchildren and 18 great-great -grandchildren, as descendants of Mr. and Mrs. George Paintner at the time of writing in 1975.  

Written By William Paintner
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CHARLES PALM

Charles Palm was born in 1885 in Bartley Township.

In 1908 he bought the east 1/2 of Section 33 in Helena Township and moved there.

For the first year he was a bachelor and soon decided that there must be a better way to live.  So in 1909 he married Agness Johnson from Glenfield, North Dakota Unfortunately, she died from the flu and pneumonia in 1918 leaving Mr. Palm and 4 children, Florence, Laurel, William and Orlano aged 8 years to 22 months.  William and Orlano lived part time with their grandmother, Mrs. Selma Palm and their aunt Minnie.  For the next few years many hired girls in various shapes and sizes kept house for Mr. Palm, Florence and Laurel.  Many times no hired girl could be found so Florence was the cook and even washed clothes by hand for her Dad and brothers while still a young girl.

One day when Florence and Laurel were still small and home alone 2 gypsy women driving a team and buggy stopped at the farm looking for food.  They were shown where to find everything they asked for so they made a big haul.  Apparently they were well supplied with kids at that time for as Laurel said, "They didn't offer to kidnap us.”  Luckily for them they made a quick getaway so were gone when Mr. Palm came home.

Mr. Palm died in 1951.

Florence married Fritz Helland and lived in Cooperstown until her death January 26, 1964.  William and wife Helen have three sons and live in Seattle, Washington.  Orlano and wife Phyllis have one daughter and one son and live in Anaconda, Montana.  LAUREL and wife Hilda along with 3 of their 6 children, Rodney, Roy and Rachel still live on the home farm.
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EUGENE AND IDA PITTENGER

Eugene Pittenger was born June 17, 1879 and was married to Ida Dahl.  She was born July 25, 1885.  Ida Dahl was a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Thorvald Dahl, early settlers in Addie Township in Griggs County.  They moved on the farm in Section 5 in Helena Township in 1912.  The farm is now owned and operated by their son, Monroe.  He was married to Miranda Olson, June 17, 1973.

Eugene's parents were John and Ida Pittenger.
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ALVIN AND RUTH RAMSEY

Alvin Tilford Ramsey was born May 13, 1912 at Emmons, Minnesota.  His parents were Jacob and Anna Ramsey.  They moved to the Binford area when Alvin was four years of age.  Alvin has six sisters, and four brothers:  

Emma, Jennie, Tillie, Corina, Nora and Olga

Palmer, Albert, Ben and Eilert.

Ruth Oline Knutson Ramsey was born July 31

Binford, North Dakota She has three sisters and five brothers:  

Mildred, Thelma, Elna, Conrad, Melvin, Robert, Hillard and Gordon.

Alvin and Ruth were married in Hannaford, in 1934.  Seven children were born to this union.  They lived at Binford when first married and in 1938 they moved to Helena Township where they rented a farm.

Besides farming, Alvin has had positions on the Helena Township Board, Council member of the Faith Lutheran Church, Sunday School teacher and Hannaford School Board member.  Ruth has been a Sunday schoolteacher, American Legion Auxiliary President, and President of the Faith ALCW which position she now holds.  Alvin and Ruth celebrated their 40th wedding anniversary in 1974 with all of their children present.

The Ramsey children are:

Orville Duane, born in 1935.  He is a graduate of North Dakota State University, served in the United States Army three years, one year in Germany.  Orville married Connie Bork of Cooperstown, North Dakota

Delores Ann, born in 1936, married Robert Haugen of Hannaford in 1955.  They have seven children.

Arlene Ruth was born in 1938.  She married Ephriam Himmerich of Rogers, North Dakota, in 1957.  Four children were added to their family.

Sharon Kay was born in 1944.  She married John Grover, Jr. of Hannaford in 1966.  She was employed at the TIMES RECORD, Valley City, and now is at home with their three children, Jay, Jason and Janae.

Alvin Dennis, born in 1945, is a graduate of Valley City State College and served in the United States Army two years.  He married Susan Allen of LaCrosse, Wisconsin, in 1972.

Peggy Janel, born in 1947, attends North Dakota State University, majoring in Pharmacy and also works at Osco Drug.  Peggy married Michael Whitney of Oregon in 1974.

Steven Dale, born in 1953, is a student at North Dakota State University, and farms with his father during the summer.
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THE JOHN SAXBERGS 

John Saxberg was born at Snertindal, Norway on July 19, 1900.  He came to America with his brother Erick in October 1905.  They came to Jessie, North Dakota, where they lived first.  Albin Saxberg was born there on December 24, 1906.  

John started school in Cooperstown and the first day he was to go with George Adams, but when he got to George's home, he had already left, so John went home, but his mother wanted him to go to school so he could learn to speak English.  So she chased him with the broom.  After the first day he didn't need to be chased.

John worked for farmers for several years.  In 1922, he went to Circle, Montana, to visit Albert and Vera

Jacobson who were both from Cooperstown.  He met Bessie Wilhelm there and was married to her on May 17, 1924.

They farmed in Griggs County and in 1946 bought the farm where they now live.  They have five children and nine grandchildren.  Also one grandson.

They had Open House for their 50th wedding anniversary on July 14, 1974.  All the children and grandchildren were at home to attend, the first time they had all been together at the same time in eight years.

John retired from farming because of ill health in 1964, but still helps his neighbors, now and then.
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LARS O. SKJELSET

He was born October 3, 1883.  He came to the United States in 1893 with his parents, Lars and Ellen (Njaa) Skjelset and brothers Arne and Laurits and sister Ragna from Time, Jaren, Norway that is south of Stavanger.  They lived in Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota for two years.  In June 1895 Lars came in a covered wagon with his father, brother Arne and a neighbor Arne Saland to Ball Hill Township in Griggs County where they farmed.  The rest of the family came later in the year.  There were four boys and five girls in the family.

Lars was a thresher for several years.  In 1909 he attended Aaker's Business College in Fargo and then entered the banking business at Rhame, North Dakota and Revere, North Dakota.  He married Beatrice Mogaard in 1918.  For several years he managed the Crane-Johnson Lumber Company in Revere.  Later he managed the Revere Store.  He was custodian at the Great Northern depot in Revere for 24 years.  He served as school board clerk and Township treasurer for many years.  In 1930 he farmed in Helena Township where he lived until his death on March 11, 1975 at age 91.  Survivors are his wife and four children, Marvin, Evelyn, Ruth and Raechel.
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REMINISCING

By Erwin Steffen

From 1899-1975

I was born January 27, 1899 in Clearfield Township to Mr. and Mrs. William Steffen.  When I was 12, my dad died.  It was up to brother Clarence and me to help Mother keep the farm going.  Mother promised when I was 21 that I'd get the going wages.  In the next four years I saved about $600.  In 1924 I met Ruth Messner whom I married.

Ruth and I lived in Nelson County for one year on her folks' farm.  Roger, our oldest child, was born October 15, 1925.  Roger now lives in Fortuna, California He has eight children and three grandchildren.

We moved back to Griggs county in October of '26 and rented the farm that I live on now from George Condy.  (Section 3, Helena Township)

December 1, 1926 we were expecting our second child.  I called mother and said, "Ruth is going to have her baby.”  Mother said, "You don't have to worry.  It takes a long time sometimes before the baby arrives.” But we were fooled.  Marjorie was real ambitious even before she was born because in no time at all she was with us.  Marjorie is now Mrs. Bill Hazard.  She lives on a farm near Cooperstown and has two children.

I thought I was going to get rich fast just before the crash of '29.  I spent all my money to buy option on wheat and before I could protect myself in the market, I was sold out.  I lost all of the crop through this gambling.  It sure didn't pay for me.  That same year my car burned in the garage.

Ruthie was born July 12, 1931.  When it was time to call the doctor we thought that everything would be alright.  But it didn't turn out that way.  Her mother died at the time of her birth.  Now I was left alone with three children.  Ruthie is now Mrs. Carrol Lende.  They have four children and live in Fortuna, California

I was fortunate at this time of trial when left alone with three small children.  To keep them together it took the goodness of those who helped me.  Clara Anderson (Eide) kept house for a while and later on Mrs. Emma Thorn.  They were wonderful women and mothered those children as if they were their own.  Mrs. Thorn got sick and had to quit so I had to look for help again.  A neighbor boy, Bernard Clark, said, "I believe I know a girl you can get that is really good for keeping house for you, Lillian Beattie.”  I didn't know her but I asked him to go with me to ask her.  Yes he would, so we hooked the team on the old Surrey (the roads were bad so we couldn't take the car).  On the way over Bernard was going to give Lil a boost and said, "You know that Lillian can sure make good soup.”

Lillian's dad was quite a horseman.  When we got there he really sized up the team to see how they were harnessed before he sized me up.  She went home with me and decided to stick it out for a while.  In those days it wasn't for money that they were doing kind deeds but because they wanted to do things that were good.  Otherwise, how could anyone keep house for $2 or $3 a week, which they got for taking care of someone else's family.  I can't help but express my love and appreciation for those who were so kind to help keep my family together.  Lillian stayed.  She must have been a courageous girl

We got married June 16, 1935.  We have two girls born to our union.  Kay was born November 27, 1938.  Kay is now Mrs. Charles Johnson.  She lives in San Jose, California and has three children.  Connie was born September 16, 1949.  Our only child born in the hospital.  She had a good start.  11 pounds!  Connie is a teacher and lives in Rockford, Illinois

Lil and I have had a good life together.  We're celebrating our 40th Anniversary this summer.  We have a small farm, good neighbors, and loving families.  This has been our Heritage.
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MR. AND MRS. AUGUST STEINBORN

Mr. and Mrs. August Steinborn came to this country on May 11, 1881.  They came from Germany by steamboat and settled at Cleveland, Ohio, where they lived for two years.

In 1883, they migrated to North Dakota where they settled in Helena Township, homesteading there.  A 14 X 10 foot sod house was built.  Straw and buffalo chips were their main source of fuel.  Wheat was hauled to Valley City to be ground into flour.  It took two days to accomplish this as it took one day to get there and another day to get home.

They raised a family of eight children, Edith, Carl, Annie, Mabel, Willie, Fred, Herbert, and George, who have all passed away.

Mr. Steinborn passed away during one of the harvest seasons and Wilhelmina Steinborn and her children continued farming.  They built a large home on this farm.  This home was located on the farm presently owned by Lasse Hegvik.

One of their early means of transportation was a two-seated surrey with a fringe on top.  It still stands out in my memory (Gertrude) of the fear I had of riding in it, as the sides weren't enclosed.

Mrs. Steinborn and Carl left the farm and moved into Cooperstown.  Minnie Wells, a granddaughter, made her home with them and when she finished high school they moved to Fargo where Minnie attended business college.  It was in Fargo that Mrs. Steinborn passed away.  Carl returned to Cooperstown and continued with farming interests until 1947 when he retired in Cooperstown.
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ARNDT AND ELLA JOHNSON TAXDAHL

Arndt Taxdahl was born on October 24, 1876, in Jaderen, Stavanger, Norway to Jonas and Anna Taksdal (as the name was spelled in Norway).  He had one brother, Jesper, and a sister, Anna (Mrs. Karl Berentsen), and two half-brothers, Jonas and Ole.  Arndt, Jesper and Anna all came to America separately but only Arndt and Jesper came this far West.  Arndt arrived in America in 1893, going to South Dakota and after spending a year and half there returned to Norway, where he spent two and a half years, at the end of which time he came once again to the United States, this time spending a year in Griggs County before going to Montana.  For approximately six years he lived the life of a sheep-herder near Big Timber, Montana.  Evidently he was unafraid of traveling the plains alone.  He traveled from Big Timber to Cooperstown, some 800 miles, in a horse drawn hay rack with a wild mare tamed only to be tied behind the rack and brought her to his brother Jesper's farm in Sverdrup Township.  The mare was a "wild bronco" who gave them no end of trouble before she was tamed.

Upon his return to Griggs County in 1905, Arndt rented the farm where Syvert and Hannah Arneson later made their home.  It was here that Ella Johnson came to keep house for him, and on October 20, 1907 they were married.

Ella, a seamstress from Norway, was the daughter of Isaac and Ingrid Johnson of Cooperstown, North Dakota She was born in Vaage, Gudbrandsdalen, Norway on January 30, 1883 and came to America in 1906 with her parents and three sisters.  The family settled in Cooperstown.  All the daughters worked as "hired girls" until they married.  Ella had one brother, Syvert, who had come to America in 1888 at eight years of age with his grandparents, John I. and Anna Johnson settling with them and his Uncle Andrew Johnson in Riverside Township, Steele County, North Dakota.  She also had a sister who died at fourteen years of age in Norway.

After their marriage, Arndt purchased two quarters of land about seven miles northwest of Hannaford, in Section 13, Helena Township He erected a house and outbuildings and farmed the land until the time of his death in 1927, at which time his wife assumed the responsibility, working the land until 1940, with the aid of her sons.

Arndt Taxdahl died of heart failure on November 7, 1927 at the age of 51.  Mrs. Ella Taxdahl passed away on December 1, 1965, at the age of 82.  They are both buried in the Zion Lutheran Cemetery, southeast of Cooperstown.

Arndt and Ella had eight children:

Hartvick was born in 1908.  He is married to Violet Feske and they reside in Cooperstown.  They have four children, Norma, Milo, John and Joanne.

Eugene (Gene) was born in 1910.  He married Margaret Sorum.  They farmed near Cannon Falls, Minnesota until his death in 1953.  They had three children, Marlys, Donna and Gary.

Elmer was born in 1912.  He married Marie Bickel and they farm near Nerstrand, Minnesota They have two adopted children, Evelyn and John.

Arthur was born in 1913.  He was married to Bernice Feske.  They had three sons, LeRoy, Ronald and Roger.  Arthur Taxdahl died in 1970 at Arlington, Washington.

Myrtle was born in 1917, passed away in 1921.

Olaf born in 1919, passed away at the age of 2 months and 12 days.

Irene was born in 1922, married Bert Westman.  They live in Waseca, Minnesota.  They have two sons, Paul and James.

Archie was born in 1925.  He married Maxine Mueller.  They have four children, Janet, Joyce, Jeffrey and Jon.  They live at Waseca, Minnesota.
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CARL WATNE FAMILY

Carl Wame, born December 10, 1876 died January 28 1938.  He married Judith Amelia (Millie) Eastwold March 10, 1909.  Millie born February 18 1887.  They lived on their farm near Hannaford in Helena Township for about 30 years.

Children born:  

Earl Wallace born November 29, 1911

Leo Merle born April 5, 1912

Carmen Adlaide born October 24, 1913 (died November 3, 1925 at age of 12)

Clair Albin born January 22, 1927.

They all went to school in Helena Township.  Earl and Leo graduated from Hannaford Hi School.  Clair graduate from Cooperstown High School.  He has his B. S. from University of Minneapolis, Minnesota and served 2 years in the Army WW II.  He married Darlene Waddel.  They live at Minot, North Dakota He is in Real estate business and is president of Reallative Go.  They have four children:  

Carmen Kay born November 9, 1955, Steven Clair born January 11, 1957, Nancy Ann born April 30, 1959, and Mathew Carl born January 22, 1961.

Earl Watne served three years in WW II.  He flew combat missions as radio gunner and navigator.  He received five orange Oak-leave Clusters in lieu of additional medals for achievement.  Earl and wife Hazel live in El Sabrante, California where he is employed as a machinist.

LEO married Agnes Strand.  They farmed the homeplace.  Agnes taught school for 24 years (in Cooperstown for 11 years) besides keeping house.  Their son Lee John was born April 3, 1944.  He married June 3, 1972 to Jean Schafer and they live in Anchorage, Alaska.  Leo has retired and lives on the farm.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHN E. WELLS

John Wells was born January 7, 1878 in London, England.  He migrated to Canada as a young lad.

He went to Ashland, Wisconsin where he spent some years working in lumber camps.  Then he came to North Dakota and worked as a farm hand for Mr. and Mrs. August Steinborn in Helena Township

In 1904, he married Mabel Steinborn.  They lived with the Steinborn's for nine years.  They then moved to a home they had built one mile south of the Steinborn farm.

They raised a family of 10 children.  Minnie, Gertrude, Edward, Margaret, Beatrice, Hazel, Lucille, June, Lorraine, and Waldo.  All are still living except Minnie.

There was no school in the area so Minnie and Gertrude were taken to Steffen's and transported from there with their youngsters to the Retzlaff school on highway 200.  Land was donated and a new schoolhouse was built just South of the home place and all 10 children attended this school.

Their years were spent farming until their retirement to Cooperstown in 1947, to enjoy their remaining years.

They celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary in December of 1954.

Mrs. Wells passed away in January of 1955 at the age of 66.

Mr. Wells passed away in April of 1958 at the age of 80.

KINGSLEY TOWNSHIP

History

Settlers

THE A. R. BOISJOLIE FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Leon Boisjolie came to North Dakota from Bell Prairie, Minnesota.  There were thirteen children from this union.  Adolph R. Boisjolie was the next to the oldest in the family and he and his wife, Olive Denis of Wild Rice, North Dakota came to the Sutton area about 1918 where they farmed 31/2 miles North.  It was truly "The little house on the prairie.”

Five children were born to Adolph (or A. R. as he was known) and Olive.  Raymond was their first born on September 8, 1916.  Wayne came along on January 20, 1918.  Francis (Bud) put in his appearance on January 26, 1919.  Then on May 18, 1922 the pattern changed and their first girl, Genevieve, was born.  Florence came along on February 24, 1922 to complete this part of the family.

Tragedy struck when Mother (Olive) passed away in Oct 1928, after a long illness.  Hospital bills and five small children were Dad's (A. R. ) full responsibility.  Many relatives offered to take one child or the other but Dad stubbornly said, "The kids are going to stay together.”  Dad must have had a standing ad in the paper for a hired girl because we had many but none stayed very long.  Five small children was too much for any hired help.  During the times when there was no help Dad did the cooking.  I remember him mixing bread and making buns, only his buns often got to be the size of loaves, but to us they were the best in the country.  French pancakes were one of his specialties.

I Dad's violin was his friend and companion.  Every night he played for hours and as I think back at the type of music he played, I'm sure all the trials of the day and his loneliness were told as he played.  He only had to hear a waltz once on the radio and he would play it until he had it mastered.  To us it was the sweetest music this side of heaven.

The three boys helped Dad a lot with the farm work but I remember one incident that had nothing to do with work.  Early one morning the three boys decided to see who could stand it the longest in the snow in their bare feet.  Boys will be boys!

I think of all the jobs on the farm, Dad enjoyed butchering the best.  There were always hams and bacons in the smoke house and the most delicious homemade sausage that you ever tasted.

We did a lot of visiting in the evenings the days that we were growing up.  Especially with the Ed Hunsberger family.  We would put either hay or straw in the hayrack and as the horses pulled us along we watched the stars.  My sister and I did a lot of singing and brother Bud (Francis) played the harmonica.

Finally Alma Bibelheimer applied for the job of housekeeper and after a few years she and Dad were married.  They had one child, Dale.
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THE BOISJOLIE'S

The Boisjolie's remember having a man come to help their father with barn cleaning and doing morning chores for his breakfast and dinner.  This man's name was Charlie Lindholm and he lived in a dugout in a pasture about three-quarters of a mile from the house.  After a snowstorm that lasted three days, Mr. Boisjolie sent his son Raymond over on horseback and he saw that the dugout was covered with snow and all that could be seen was the stovepipe.  The boy hollered down the stovepipe and received no answer, so he went home and got his father to help shovel Lindblom out.  When they had him out, they asked why he hadn't answered when they yelled down the stovepipe.  He said, "I thought they were coming to get me.”

The Boisjolies attended a country school, which was two and half miles from their home.  Sometimes they had to walk because the horses were being used.  One time a stray horse came to their place, and since no one claimed him, they used him on the buggy to drive to school.

Being Catholic, they went to Sutton and had church services in the schoolhouse because there was no Catholic Church near there.  In later years, they went to services in Jessie or Cooperstown.
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BOLTZ FAMILY FLORENCE LIEN FAMILY

My father, Glenn J. Boltz (5-7-1880 - 5-19-1946) came to Cooperstown in the fall of 1907, from Muskegan, Michigan to find himself some farmland.  One year later, on October 28, 1908 he was married to Annabelle McKinnon (1-28-1885 - 12-23-1970) from St. Clair, Michigan.  They were married at Cooperstown by Reverend H. C. Kishpaugh.  My Father was an orphan and was adopted out.  Years later fie found his brothers and sister.  My Mother had nine brothers and sisters, who all lived in Michigan.  She was the daughter of Murdock and Anna McKinnon of St. Clair, Michigan.

 My parents first lived on SW of Section 18-147-58 in Romness Township.  This is where my oldest sister, Marjorie was born December 3, 1909.  My Mother went back to her parents home in the fall of 1910 and I was born in St. Clair, Michigan, November 11, 1910.  Shortly afterwards my folks moved to Tyrol Township SE 34-14759.  This is where my youngest sister, Marian was born, April 5, 1915.  She died in early childhood from Polio.  We lived there through our grade school years and attended the Tyrol School District Number 10.  There were thirty-two pupils in school during my first grade and my first teacher was Elizabeth M. Ryan.  These were happy years and I still have many friends from this wonderful neighborhood.

My family moved to Sverdrup Township NW of Section 19-145-58.  I was married, October 31, 1935 to Howard M. Lien, the son of Henry and Gena Lien.  They also farmed in Sverdrup Township.  Howard was born July 11, 1908 in Vienna, South Dakota.  We started farming the year of 1940 in Kingsley Township NE 9-146-61, eighteen miles west of Cooperstown.  We bought this farm from Mrs. Jack Rule and lived there until the fall of 1967.

We had two children, a daughter Frances Ann Lien born on January 7, 1940 at Valley City, North Dakota and a son, Darrell Glenn Lien born on December 27, 1941 at Cooperstown, North Dakota.

I have been living in Cooperstown since the fall of 1967.  Howard passed away October 1, 1970.  He was employed at Melroe's at the time of his death.

Written By Mrs. Florence Lien
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THE BRUNS FAMILY

John W. Bruns, born of immigrant parents in Jefferson Township, Bremer County, Iowa, in 1855, completed his cycle 81 years later in Cooperstown.  He grew up on his father's farm and married Sophia Buesing of Waverly.  They prospered and raised six children - Otto, Lydia, Martha, Malinda, Alma, Walter.  All came to Griggs County and Kingsley Township.

In 1902 he arrived in Cooperstown with his brother-in-law, Henry G. Rohlwing of Sumner, Iowa.  They bought 1041 acres three miles North of Cooperstown, operating in partnership until selling to Edward Savre (son-in-law) and others, 1910.

Circa 1904-08 he bought and commenced farming three quarters in Kingsley Township.  Together with others he helped organize the German (Zion) Lutheran Church five miles East.  Sadly, his wife was the first to enter its cemetery, 1909.  He sold the farm to Otto and operations devolved to Walter, assisted for some time by Fred and Lydia (Bruns) Boeckman.  In 1911 he married Mrs. Jennie Holman of Cooperstown and worked in the light plant some years.  Thereafter, in season, he alternated between the Savre and Bruns farms.

Otto H. Bruns arrived in 1901-2.  A bookkeeper, he was employed by Syverson Departments Store in Cooperstown several years.  In 1907 he married Henrietta C. Holman of Dazey.  Later he became a partner in King-Bruns Auto Company, Cooperstown, retaining this interest for years.

Tragically, Walter Bruns followed his mother in 1914, age 23 years.  Otto and "Etta" moved to the farm.  1915 was a banner year never quite repeated.  Full-scale operations followed.  Eventually there were new and larger buildings.  Miles of fence were added.  Three quarters became five, and five sons - Oswald, Raymond, Warren, Wayne and Quentin gradually became a part of the total effort.  Certainly there were many good and happy years prior to 1929.

Reacting to the attrition of the drought- depression years, the Bruns family opted for Washington.  Disengagement was completed in 1938.

Prepared By R. E. Bruns (one of five) 6/10/75 

With the help of dad's notes.
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THE DRAMSTAD FAMILY

In 1904, at the age of twenty-two, Hans Johan Dramstad emigrated from Norway to America.  He came to St. Paul and worked on a farm near there and went to school for two years.  Shortly after that he went to Seattle and worked in a shipyard for a short time then he went to San Francisco following the fire and earthquake of 1906.  Finding no work there, he returned to St. Paul, then made a visit back to Norway.  After returning to America that fall he came to Griggs County.  Until the fall of Nineteen Ten he worked for the late B. W. Hazard west of Cooperstown.  In Nineteen Ten he rented a farm from Mr. Hazard in Kingsley Township.  This rental agreement (oral) continued for thirty-seven years, until he purchased the farm, which is now owned by his son Martin.  He was married December third, nineteen hundred ten to Bergina Hagen of Lilliehammer, Norway.  Eight children were born to this union, all of them still living in different Sections of the country.

Albert, the oldest son, went to Montana the early part of the thirties and has made his home there since.  He was married to Etta Bryson and they now have ten children.

Esther, the oldest daughter, married Oscar Lundeen who has worked as a carpenter in and around the Cooperstown area.  They have five children, three living in Minneapolis and one at home.  Their oldest daughter, Shirley, died under rather mysterious circumstances in Minnesota.

Martin now lives on the Dramstad farm, with his wife Hulda, where he was born and spent most of his life.

Bjarne, the fourth child born to the Hans Dramstad family, married Clara Bakke of Union, North Dakota.  They have four children, two boys and two girls.

Harry a Lay minister and now working as a minister in Jamison, Nebraska married Lorraine Arneson and they have three boys.

Sigurd married to Eleanor Bonar, they have four children.

Edwin E. married Sylvia Sogn of Barnesville.

Evelyn married Darold Anderson.  They have four children, all girls.
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ANDREW DYBWAD AND FAMILY

Andrew Dybwad came to the United States as an immigrant from Stjordal, -Norway in the year 1890 and settled at Colman, South Dakota.  His wife to be, Margrethe Hegre, came a year later and they were married in January 1892.  They rented a small farm near Colman and lived there until 1900 when they decided to move to North Dakota because of loss of crops from hail and drought.  By now they had been blessed with five children, but the first born, a son, lived to be only 21 months old.  The others were Peter, Agnes, Helen, and Haakon.  They came to McHenry, lived with a relative the first winter.  The next spring bought a quarter of land on the west edge of Griggs County in Kingsley Township.  A small house was built on the place where the Dybwad farm is now.  Here the rest of the family were born

Anna, Alma, Inga and Nina.  There was no school near for the older children to attend when they reached school age, but by 1909 a schoolhouse was moved to within a mile and one-half of the home so the other children could start at the right age.  This was called the Leininger School.

The closest town was McHenry, ten miles away and with horses the only means of travel.  There were many hardships to endure especially in the winter when groceries and coal were needed.  Papa suffered a stroke in October 1909, which left him so paralyzed for three months that mother had to feed him.  As time went on he improved so rapidly that when the harvest season arrived he walked with crutches to the binder.  The horses had been harnessed and hitched to the binder by Peter and Haakon.  Peter was only fifteen years old at that time.  That fall Papa cut all the grain.  Besides caring for papa, mama had to care for the youngest, who was only ten months old.  She also had to help with the outside chores.  It was also mama who had to make the necessary trips to McHENRY. 

Mother was a charter member of the Lutheran auxiliary and she helped organize by using a horse and buggy going to visit the ladies of the congregation.

In 1912 a larger house was built and also that year the Surrey Cut-off of the Great Northern railroad came through so many little towns sprung up along the line with Glenfield being only five miles away.  Father passed away July 13, 1932.  Mother passed away January 13, 1933.

This family as of now:  

Peter still on the home place

Agnes Molskness a widow lives at Colman, South Dakota

Helen Walen a widow lives near Glenfield

Haakon left for his Heavenly home in January this year (1975)

Anna Lampert lives near Glenfield

Alma Walen a widow lives with Peter on home place

Inga Rorvig a retired schoolteacher lives at Binford and Nina Christopherson a pastor's wife lives at Red Deer, Alberta, Canada.

Written By Mrs. Martin Rorvig (Inga Dybwad)
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ALBERT GOPLEN

The Andrew and Sigrid Goplen family came to Kingsley Township from Goodhue County in Minnesota in 1903 and settled on Section 14-146-61.  This farm was owned by Alva W. Richardson.  The Goplen family included the parents, the children as follows:  

Albert, Martin, Edwin, Julia, Marie, Anna and Ellen.  Another son, D. A. came to North Dakota the year before, 1902.

In 1906 the family returned to Minnesota leaving Albert Goplen in charge of the farm, which he eventually bought from his parents.

In the year 1904 Albert Goplen bought a steam-threshing rig from Mike Mogard of Revere and from then until 1927 he threshed for himself and a number of other farmers with his steam rig.  The threshing rig included bundle wagons and cook car.  Albert's first automobile was a 1906 Rambler.

Albert Goplen was married to Laura Bakke from Norway.  A son Arne was born in 1913 and a daughter Irene was born in 1916 and passed away in 1938.  They continued farming until they retired to their home in Cooperstown in 1947, and lived there until they passed away December 11, 1957.

Arne took over the farm in 1942, and was married the same year.  He and his wife, Mildred, have two sons, Sherman and Marvin, who helped with the farming until they graduated from college.  The farming these years consisted of a cattle operation and small grain farming.  This continued until 1968 when they rented the farm to Dolar LaPlant, and moved to Binford to operate a Machine and Welding shop.
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HAROLD HONEY

Harold Honey came to North Dakota in the fall of 1914 from

Putney, South Dakota in search of work.  He worked on a threshing crew.  Rented Section 36 from Robert Bailey that fall.  Returned to South Dakota in fall, and brought his wife and family back with him next spring.

They moved to a farm in Section 31 in 1923, owned by Hammer, Condy.  In 1937 moved into Sutton, where they owned and operated a restaurant until 1941 when Mrs. Honey went to Seattle, Washington.  Mr. Honey followed in the fall.

Mrs. Honey passed away in 1961.  There were nine children, Glen, Ruby, Kenneth (deceased 1974), Marion, Vincent, Edgar, Frank (deceased 1967), Helen and Orman.  Mr. Honey resides in Seattle, Washington at present.
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EDWARD A. HUNSBERGER

Edward was born to Mr. and Mrs. Louis Hunsberger November 13, 1887 near Wadena, Iowa.

He farmed with his father until he married Amelia Overbeck February 23, 1910.  They farmed in Iowa and had two children there, Alfred and Lavone.  His Dr. suggested he change climate, so in 1917, with a brother-in-law already near Glenfield, he decided to give North Dakota a try.

He, another brother-in-law and a friend rented two boxcars, bringing their cattle, machinery, and other necessities, such as "milk pails.”  These came in handy as they became stranded in Breckenridge, Minnesota.  They had to milk the cows and throw the milk away.

A few days later the ladies arrived in Glenfield, accompanied by their father and their three children.  There was no home ready for them because of the husbands being stranded in the snowstorm.

A few days later they arrived at their new home, purchased from Mrs. Florence M. Brady, which is located 5 miles north and 1/2 mile east of Sutton.  (S ½ of Section 10-Township 146-Range 61)

In 1919 another son Donald arrived.

Until 1924 the nearest school was 3 miles away.  Then the Kingsley School #2 was moved onto Hunsberger land 1/2 mile East from their home.  The land was donated by Ed Hunsberger.

Good times were shared by many at basket socials and Community programs held there.  Another way of entertainment was house parties, square dancing and other dances.

1949 was a bad winter with so much snow - When Ed Hunsberger passed away, the snow plow had to go ahead to get the Dr. there.  The snowplow again had to open the road from Cooperstown to Sutton for the funeral.  Pastor Crain flew in from Grace City.

Donald Hunsberger and family moved to the farm and took care of the chores until April 6 when Harry Weitenhagen (Lavon) and family moved there to take over.  In 1955 the Weitenhagen family decided to go to Washington State where Alfred Hunsberger and family live.

Donald and family moved back and farmed until 1960.  The farm was rented to Wallace Myers and then sold to him in 1962.  It is now being farmed by his son, Robert.

Amelia Hunsberger and Mr. and Mrs. Donald Hunsberger are residing in Sutton, North Dakota
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EARNEST N. JOHNSON

Horses and a cowboy hat!  Those are two things that come to mind when one talks about Earnest Johnson.  About the most important thing in his life were his horses.  They are what brought him to Griggs County.  In 1893 he brought a load of horses to Cooperstown for his father and other farmers who lived in Minnesota.  Earnest decided he would like to live here, and in the spring of 1894 he came to Cooperstown, and worked for Hammer and Condy.  His work was to buy and herd horses.  The winters were very severe, and he endured many hardships.  In 1896 and 1897, which is called the I snow winter, " he hauled the mail from Sanborn as the trains were snowbound.  The only road he had to follow was the railroad track, which was often hard to find.  He made six trips during the winter.

He purchased his own livery barn, and continued buying and selling horses, hauling mail and providing transportation for the doctors and others in the community.  Earnest Johnson was born November 28, 1874, to Ole Lars Johnson, and Caroline Steenrup Johnson, near Farmington, Minnesota.  He married Natalie Rood November 29, 1895, at Cooperstown.

The week he was to be married he was sent out to get a herd of cattle.  As usual there was a blizzard.  He took refuge from the storm in a small house.  He waited three days for the storm to clear up.  That day he remembered it was his birthday, and the day he was to be married.  Rather than disappoint his future wife before they were even married, he started out driving the cattle.  It was hard, slow work due to the storm.  He finally got the cattle to the Hammer and Condy farm, which was eight miles from Cooperstown.  He hurried his horse, and finally reached town.  His bride-to-be was waiting for him, and they were married at 10:00 PM that night.

After his marriage he settled down to real bronco busting.  This afforded him many runaways.  On one trip the team ran away, and the pole went into the ground hurling the wagon far into the air.  Earnest fell out hitting the pole.  He was unconscious for several hours.  When he fell, he injured his ear severely, which caused the blood to flow.  As the day was very cold, the blood froze, and this cold ice caused him to become conscious again.  This trip cost him much physically as his face became paralyzed on one side - this was only temporary, however - and he cracked his ear drum which caused him to be partially deaf the rest of his life.

In 1906 he took a claim near New England, North Dakota.  He went to Dickinson by train and to New England by stage.  Then he went by team to look for land and found some that was satisfactory, ten miles from town between Rainy Buttes and the Teepees.  Their home was a one room frame shanty 14x16, and sod outside.  They had three children by this time, Willie, Melvin and Olga.

In the fall his brother filed on a claim near Earnest's land.  That winter there was a diphtheria epidemic.  Two of his brother's children died, and Earnest started across the snow-laden hills to purchase coffins at Dickinson, which was forty miles away.  His children also got the disease, and his oldest son died.  The winter was very cold but they succeeded in getting sufficient fuel from the coal veins in the Badlands.

In 1907 he moved back to Cooperstown.  He sold his livery barn, and bought the "West Prairie" stock farm, which was on Section 8 in Kingsley Township.  Here he started raising racehorses.  He made a track on the farm so he could train them.

In the spring before the roads were even dry, he would drive his horses on his cart around the neighborhood.  He often named his horses after people he knew.  The following were the names of some of them:  

Mollie Moe, Dora Wayne, Elmer Clark, and Hal M.  During the summer he would race his horses at the County and State fairs in North Dakota.

In 1925 Earnest was elected sheriff of Griggs County, and served one term.  He then went back to his farm.  His wife died in 1938, and he lived with his daughter, Olga, Mrs. Harry McLaughlin, of Hendrum, Minnesota, most of the time after that until his death on November 8, 1941.

His children were Willie, Casper, Melvin, and Arthur, who are all deceased, and Mrs. McLaughlin who still lives in Hendrum, and Louella Johnson of Anoka, Minnesota.
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THE KINGSLEY FAMILY

William A. Kingsley, a Civil War veteran, born 1833 in Lebanon, New York, was an 8th generation American.  His Puritan ancestor, John Kingsley, emigrated to Boston, Mass., in 1634.  William married Harriet Sherman of Sherbourne, New York, in 1853.  In 1865, he moved with his family to Grass Lake, Michigan, where he farmed until 1879, at which time he migrated to Dakota Territory in search of homestead land.  Arriving at Sanborn, North Dakota, he remained there while searching for land on which to file a homestead.  Determined to find the best land possible, he found what he wanted in Griggs County in the Township that bears his name, moving there with his family in 1883.

William Kingsley's children all homesteaded in Griggs County.  They were Mrs. Frank (Helen) Sanford, a schoolteacher and wife of a prominent Barnes County farmer

Mrs. John E. (Tyla) Sutton, for whom the town of Sutton was named

Mrs. J. W. (Alice) Wilsie, who homesteaded in Mabel Township

and Frank J. Kingsley.  The oldest son, Fred, was killed while working as a brakeman on a railroad in Michigan in the 1870's.

Insight, diligence, and energy made William A. Kingsley a successful and prosperous farmer.  On July 25, 1887, he was mustered into the G. A. R.  Death, due to injuries suffered in the Civil War, came in 1899.  He and his wife, who died in 1912, are buried in the Cooperstown Cemetery.

Avery Z. Kingsley, the father of William, who was a prosperous lumber and hardware dealer in Hamilton, New York, must have been intrigued by the letters from his son in North Dakota, for at the age of 73, he came to North Dakota to look the country over and to homestead.  Avery's father was Amos D. Kingsley, a Baptist minister and one of the 13 founders of what is now Colgate University, Hamilton, New York.

William Kingsley's son, Frank J. Kingsley, farmed the old homestead, his own land, and other land for forty years.  Born in 1877, in Michigan, he married Marie Falla Stoneburg, a widow with three children who assumed the Kingsley name.  They were Milo, who married Edna Wild

Vanetta Mae (Etta), who married Hans Goodnow

Avelow (Pete), single.  None survive.  Mrs. Frank Kingsley's father was Anders A. Falla, who came from Norway in the 1890's and homesteaded near Red Willow Lake, in Griggs County.  Mrs. Kingsley also homesteaded, in Bryan Township.

Frank and Marie Kingsley's children were Fred H. Kingsley, a mechanic, now at Kensal, North Dakota

Frank W. , deceased

Harriet H. , married to George Lisowski, Rogers, North Dakota

Burton E. , deceased

Evelyn M. , who married Keith Baker, now living in Hammond, Indiana

Ira D. Kingsley, who married Helen Honey, lives in Sutton, North Dakota and farms

Alger L. , who married Leah Kolpin, and lives near Valley City, North Dakota.

Frank Jesse Kingsley was a farmer who believed in acquiring huge acreages and the latest farm machinery.  In 1906, he built a modern grain elevator on his farm similar to those still seen in small towns of North Dakota.  It had a weigh scale, a dump pit, cleaning mills and a storage capacity of 25,000 bushels.  He owned a huge, gasoline Twin City tractor that pulled a sixteen-bottom plow.  Also, he operated steam engines and threshed his own crops as well as those of many of his neighbors.  At one time, he farmed in excess of six Sections of land.  He will, perhaps, be remembered by the old-timers by the fancy car he drove, a white Paige touring car, about a 1920 vintage, with collapsible top and side curtains.  The car was large enough to take the whole family of ten on a drive.  The great depression of the 1980's left him disillusioned and unwilling to reacquire the land that he lost.  He died in 1938.  His widow died in 1967, at the age of 90.  Both are buried in the Hartman Cemetery at Sutton, North Dakota

Ira D. Kingsley, a grandson of William A. Kingsley, now owns and farms the old Kingsley homestead and the land homesteaded by Mrs. Helen Sanford.  The Kingsley homestead is located one mile north and one and a half miles west of the town of Sutton.
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THE J. WILKESON WILSIE FAMILY

J. Wilkeson Wilsie, a native of Wisconsin, married Mary Alice Kingsley, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. William A. Kingsley, first settlers in Kingsley Township.  Mrs. Wilsie was born at Grass Lake, Michigan, on August 3, 1866.  She immigrated with her parents to Griggs County and filed on a homestead of her own in 1884.  After their marriage, she and her husband continued to live on this farm.  The Wilsie's had one daughter, Maude, who died in 1932.  Mr. Wilsie died in 1938.

The Wilsie farm was a beautiful place, with a large glassed-in porch.  The yard contained beautiful trees, including evergreens, and shrubs and flowers.  The Neil Peters now own and reside on the Wilsie Place.  Mrs. Wilsie was the sister of Frank J. Kingsley, Mrs. Frank (Helen) Sanford, and Mrs. John E. (Tyla) Sutton.  The Wilsies are buried in the Cooperstown Cemetery.
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THE JOHN LEININGER FAMILY

John Leininger was born in Boone County, Iowa, on August 16, 1858.  His wife, Louise, was born in Hannover, Germany, May 8, 1860, and was brought to the United States by her parents at the age of two years.  After their marriage they farmed near his parents 8 miles northeast of Boone, raised a family of eight children (5 sons and 3 daughters) and built up a fine farm with all the necessary buildings and a beautiful eleven-room house.

In 1904 Mr. Leininger came to North Dakota and bought Sections 15, 16, and 17 in Kingsley Township, dealing with a land agent.  At the same time he had Mr. Knut Olson (father of Howard, Rudolph, etc.) build three buildings on Section 17.  One was about 16 x 20

the next about 16 x 40 (these two were to be used as granaries)

and the third about 16 x 30 (with a one-sided roof) which was to be used temporarily as a barn for 3 or 4 teams that were brought along from Iowa the following year when the family moved to Dakota (1905).  The parents lived in the smaller granary and there the cooking was done.  The next granary was used as dining room and dormitory for those children still at home:  

(John W. , Emelia, Louise, Albert, Walter, and Marie.)

That same summer of 1905 the permanent home, a two-story, 8-room house, was built as well as a 30 x 40 foot barn with large haymow.  This barn is no longer standing.  In 1909 another barn the same size as the first was built about 150 feet south of the first one.

The land was all virgin prairie that Mr. Leininger owned and only about 60 or 80 acres had been broken up the preceding year.

By 1909 all the usable land on the three Sections had been broken up, and buildings erected on the west side of Section 15.  One son, John, lived there and farmed some until he passed away.  Then his son, Kenneth, took over and is still there.

In 1910 Mr. Leininger sold Section 17, intending to retire.  In January 1911, he passed away and his wife, with the two youngest children, moved to St. Paul, Minnesota.

Written By Reverend Walter E. Leininger
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THE JOHN WILLIAM LEININGER FAMILY

John William Leininger was born in Iowa in 1883.  Years later when his brother Mike was to be married, John went to Nebraska for the wedding.  The bride was Clara Gutknecht.  That is where our parents met.  A new romance and they were married on January 31, 1906.  They chose Cooperstown to make their first home and Dad built their house himself.  He also did other carpenter work in Cooperstown.  Their first child, Margaret, was born in Cooperstown.  After several years they moved to the old family home - a farm in Kingsley Township, Section 10.  They had three more daughters, Alma, Theressa and Ada, and two sons - Kenneth and Walter.

Margaret was the first to leave.  She married Bob Parsons in October 1926 in Waukegan, Illinois.  He died in 1957 of a heart attack.

Alma married Ben Ramsey in 1927 and they farmed since that time mostly in Griggs County.  Now they have retired and their youngest son, Gary, runs the farm.  It is not far from Sutton.

Theressa married Clarence Christianson in 1936.  They met in Mayville where he was in college and she was Traill County nurse.  They lived in Walum one year while Clarence taught school there.  The following year they moved to Sutton where he taught until they moved to Portland, Oregon in 1942.  They have two children.  John is a career man in the Air Force.  Their daughter Sharon lives in Portland.

Ada married Gerald Martin in 1934.  They owned and operated Jerry's Cafe in Cooperstown a number of years and then they moved to Fargo.  They have four children.  Roland is married and lives in Seattle.  He works for Boeing.  Barbara is married and also lives in Seattle.  Daniel is a pastor in Blaine, Washington, and Tommy is with the Border Patrol in Nogales, Arizona

Kenneth married Hazel Rood in 1939.  They live on the farm where he grew up.  They have four children.  John has been a teacher in Montana but hopes to move back to North Dakota soon.  Kay lives in Watertown, Wisconsin with her husband and two sons.  Karen is married to Rick Alm and they farm near Page.  Lynn and her husband, Quentin Spitzer farm near Kensal.

Our younger brother is a pastor in Wisconsin.  He married Ruth Knutson in 1947.  They have five children.

Our Dad died in Oregon in 1958.  Mother is at present in the Cooperstown nursing home and is quite content.  She will be 94 years old in July.

Written By Mrs. C. O. (Tres) Christianson
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MICHAEL LEININGER

Michael Leininger was born August 21, 1879 in Boone, Iowa.  Being the oldest of eight children he helped his father, John Leininger farm their quarter Section of land.

He met his wife, Clara Gutkneckt, at choir practice.  She was teaching school in Boone, but they were married at her home in Nebraska on December 4, 1900, her father, Reverend Carl Gutkneckt performed the wedding ceremony.

Mike and Clara lived in Boone, Iowa until 1903 when they moved to Tower City, North Dakota.  Their family had grown to four as they had a daughter, Esther, and a son Carl.

Mike farmed two years in Tower City and in 1905 bought Section 5 of Kingsley Township near Binford.

His father had also purchased land and was living in this area.

Mike built his farm home and they moved into it December 27, 1905, just one day before their third child, Alice, was born.

When Binford built a new school, Mike gave a portion of his land for the old school building to be moved onto and the Leininger and Dybwad children were some of the first pupils to attend from that area.

Five more children were born to them, Clara, Thelma, Alfred, Gertrude and Edith.

The family attended church at Zion Lutheran of rural Binford and this Church is still being used.

Mike owned a threshing machine and did threshing for neighboring farmers.  He also had a cook car to provide meals for the men threshing.

In the fall of 1933 smoke could be seen for miles as the barn burned, because of too green hay stacked in it.  The barn was later rebuilt.

In 1938, Mike and Clara moved to Sutton and Mike worked two years for the State Highway Department.

They moved back to the farm for two years, but returned to Sutton when their youngest son, Alfred, took over the farm.

Mike and Clara celebrated their Golden Wedding Anniversary in 1950.

Mike passed away in 1952 at the age of 73 and Clara one year later in 1953 at the age of 74.

The farm is now owned by grandchildren of Michael Leininger, Mr. and Mrs. Charles DeHoff and William M. Rahlf.
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LOUIS LAPLANT

Louis LaPlant was born in Ottawa County Kansas in 1893.  He came to North Dakota in 1895 in a covered wagon with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. William LaPlant and another family.  They settled in Romness Township and later built a home in Tyrol Township presently owned by Oliver Andersons.

At the age of seven Louis went out about dusk to bring home the cattle, and shortly after a snowstorm came up making it impossible for him to find his way home.  Of course there were no fences or close farms to guide him, and after hours of frustration, trying to get shelter in granaries, only to find them boarded up, etc., he decided to take the bridle off his horse and let it find the way.  It did take him to the nearest neighbors where folks were gathered and searching.  All ended well and there was a cold boy, but OH!  So proud of his pony.

They farmed in Tyrol Township except for a couple of years that Louis worked in the Ford Garage at Casselton.  He married Helen Retzlaff in 1932 and they farmed in Tyrol until 1945 when they purchased the farm in Kingsley Township where they continued farming until retirement.

 In 1966 following the big March blizzard they lost their barn and entire flock of registered Suffolk sheep in a morning fire.

Seven children were born to this union, namely:  

Beverly Kelly, Glendive, Montana

Dolar and Darrel, Binford, North Dakota

Donald, Bozeman, Montana and "The Slope" Alaska

Joanne Burleson, Medina, North Dakota

Sharon Fors, presently in Germany

Darlene Quam, Tolna, North Dakota

Louis passed away October 4, 1974.
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CLARENCE LINSE

Clarence Linse was born in Britton, South Dakota August 13, 1885.  He later moved near Nerstrand, Minnesota with his parents and left at age 16 to try his trades in Binford.  He was a carpenter by trade, along with other building, painting and paper hanging.

He made his home with the Maurer family in their hotel in Binford.  It was here he met Anna Schmidt who worked in the Maurer Hotel for 7 years.  They married January 15, 1910.  Two children were born here, Lawrence and Lola.  "Annie" ran a dress shop along with Clarences' sister Mae.

In 1918 they moved to the Boeckman farm (now owned by Rueben Weber).  In 1923, June was born and while only a few months old they moved to the Ebentire farm 2 miles north of Sutton.  The land passed on to the Travelers Insurance Company Clarence farmed this land for 10 years for the Insurance Company before buying from them.  The land is now owned by Rueben Weber.

During the depression of the 30's, Clarence tried to make silage from the Russian Thistles to feed the cattle.  The result was a lot of hard work and a terrible stench.  In time he sold his fine teams of horses to purchase a tractor, only to find he was unable to buy a plow.  In desperation he wrote Senator William Langer.  Soon he received word that one was being shipped in his name.

Clarence and Annie sold part of the farm to Chris Larson about 1946, retaining one quarter.  NE quarter of Section 33, in Township 146, Range 61, West.  They moved to Sutton where they lived for 6 years before Annie passed away in 1951.  Clarence passed away in 1967.
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WALLACE MYERS FAMILY

Wallace Myers was born in Illinois and moved with his parents to North Dakota in the fall of 1914 from South Dakota.  Hazel Iverson was born near Washburn, North Dakota in a log cabin and moved to Coleharbor, North Dakota with her parents in 1913.  Wallace and Hazel both went to school in Coleharbor where they met when they were in the grades.  They were married October 15, 1928.  That winter they operated a coalmine near Garrison.  Wallace and Hazel were blessed with four children, Calvin, Marvin, Adline, and Robert.  They attended the same school as their parents.  Living in the country required travel three to seven miles each morning and evening.

In the summer of 1948 the government bought their farm for the Garrison Dam Reservoir.  Wallace went farm hunting and in August decided on a Section of land eleven and one half miles west of Cooperstown known as the Brede Wamstad farm.  The long move was made November 10, 1948.

The children were active in 4-H and won many awards.  Robert was on the 4-H judging team and won a Duroc gilt.  This started the Myers in raising Duroc.  Adline won the Columbia ewe the same year.  Mrs. Myers was assistant 4-H leader one year and leader of the Kingsley Climbers girls for ten years.  Wallace Myers won many blue ribbons and a number of grand champion and reserve champion ribbons in the Griggs County Fair and the North Dakota Winter Show in Valley City on his hogs.  He held an office on the Griggs County Livestock Committee for several years.
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THE KNUTE OLSON FAMILY

Knute H. Olson and his wife, the former Selia Rugtive, and family of six children ranging in age from 20 months to 15 years, came to Binford on an immigrant train from Eagle Grove, Iowa on March 24, 1904.  Two nephews came with them.  They brought a carload of furniture, two cows and a horse.  After arriving in Binford on the train, they stayed at the "West Hotel" for a few days until they moved out temporarily to a small house on Andrew Goplen's land north of the Goplen farm (presently occupied by Dolar LaPlant).

They settled and built their house in spring 1904 on a quarter of land in Section 2 of Kingsley Township, which Knute had purchased for $25 per acre prior to coming to North Dakota.  The land was purchased from H. P. Hammer of Cooperstown and had been previously owned by a Messner.  Later in 1904, a barn and a granary were added to the farmstead.  In 1906, they bought a second quarter of land from Charles Behm.  A third quarter, bought from Fred Lewis, was added to the farm later.

Oscar was the oldest of the Olson children.  He was married in 1917 to Maybelle Aylen of Pembina, North Dakota, who passed away in 1966.  They had no children.  He now resides in Oakland, California.

Bill was married in 1918 to Clara Holland from the rural Cooperstown area.  They lived on the former Charles Behm farm, which his dad purchased, from 1921 until 1923 when they moved to Silverton, Oregon where Bill presently resides.  Clara Olson passed away in 1974.  There are two daughters.

Siger was married in 1922 to Clarice Boisjolie of the rural Binford area.  They lived for a time at Sutton and are now living in Grand Forks.  They have two daughters.

Howard was married in 1928 to Frieda Erickson of rural Glenfield.  They have one son.  They lived on his father's farm for approximately ten years after they were married.  They are presently living on a farm near Moorhead, Minnesota.

Emma was married in 1929 to Ingebrigt Limmesand, a Kingsley Township resident.  They lived on the farm, which the Robert Meyer's now occupy, until 1938, when they and their two daughters moved to the Knute Olson farm (Both Mr. and Mrs. Olson had passed away in 1937).  They lived on the Knute Olson farm until 1950 when they moved into Binford.  (From 1950 until 1956 there were renters on the Olson farm.  In 1956, it was sold to Wallace Volker.)  Mr. Limmesand passed away in 1955.  Emma presently lives in Binford.

Rudolph, the youngest of the Olson children, married Olga Siverson from Churches Ferry, North Dakota in 1927.  Since that time, they have lived on the farm where Charles Behm formerly lived.  (Knute Olson bought 2 quarters in Section 2 of Kingsley Township from Behm in 1921, then sold them to his son Rudolph in 1927.)  Later Rudolph bought two quarters in Section 11.  They have a son and a daughter.  The daughter, Betty (Mrs. Raymond Allen) has three children and lives in California.  The son, Richard, married Nila Sandland from McLaughlin, South Dakota in 1970.  They have one son, Allen, and are presently farming on his parents (Rudolph Olsons) farm.
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INGEBRIGT LIMMESAND

Ingebrigt O. (Bert) Limmesand, originally from Vic Sogn, Norway, came to Cooperstown at age 23 in 1906 from Lake Mills, Iowa.  His brother, Jens Limmesand had immigrated to Cooperstown in 1905.

Ingebrigt worked on a Cooper farm for Lewis Berg for a time in 1906.  During harvest season in 1906, he drove a binder for John Bruns on what is known as the Tom and Bill Robertson farm in Clearfield Township.  In the fall of 1906, he began working as a hired man for William Amos who lived on the farm presently occupied by the Robert Myers's.

He worked for William Amos until 1912, with the exception of 15 months beginning in 1908 that he spent with his parents, brother and sister in Vic Sogn, Norway.  When Mr. and Mrs. Amos and sons Meldrum and Everett moved to Seven Persons, Alberta, Canada in 1912, Ingebrigt rented the farm.

Ingebrigt (Bert) Limmesand and the former Emma Olson (only daughter of Knute H. Olsons) were married in March of 1929.  There are two daughters - Enid (Mrs. Clarence Nelson) who has five children, in Minnesota and Wanda (Mrs. Doug Bruns) who has four children, in Florida.

The Limmesand family lived on the Amos farm until 1938, and then moved to the former Knute Olson farm.  They lived on the Olson farm until 1950, when Ingebrigt and Emma moved to Binford.  Ingebrigt passed away in October of 1955.
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GUY A. PETERS, "LARSON" OR "SIMONSON" PLACE. 

In the spring of 1915, Guy Peters, then a young man, with his elderly parents, Abram Sovine (vine) Peters and mother Jerusha, along with a younger sister Pearl, moved to a 640 acre farm four miles northeast of Glenfield North Dakota.  It was then known as the "Larson Place.”

Guy, with his parents, had given up the homestead at Max, North Dakota and had shipped an emigrant car from Max to Glenfield.  In it he brought all the horses, cattle, machinery and furniture.  Pearl Peters who still makes her home in Glenfield still uses that same furniture, which includes an old organ, which was purchased in Minot, North Dakota in 1907.

In the winter of 1916, Guy Peters married R. Ruth Horine.  Their first child was born in 1917.  Irene, now Mrs. Bert Enger, lives at Gig Harbor, Washington.

In the spring of 1919 Guy and Ruth with their one child left the "Larson" place and moved to another farm near Courtney.  Their second child was born there, Helen, now Mrs. Fred Miller, lives at Deer Lake, Washington.  That year of 1919, the grasshoppers destroyed the crop, so Guy sold out his livestock and machinery and the family now with two children moved to Washington state.  Guy worked in the woods for four years then in 1924 returned to North Dakota.  Their third child was born in Washington, Walter, now living in Salem, Oregon.  Guy and Ruth farmed again at Juanita and McHenry, North Dakota.  Their fourth child, Elaine, was born at McHenry.  Elaine, now Mrs. Wally Smith, lives at Port Orchard, Washington.

In 1933, after suffering depression and drought, Guy again left North Dakota and returned to Washington State.  They retired from the farm at Rosalia, Washington in 1960 and have since made their home in Spokane, Washington.

Mrs. Guy A. Peters 

106 N. Bowdish 

Spokane, Washington 99206
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THE LEWIS SIMENSON FAMILY

In the year 1883 Lewis Simonson came to the United States from Norway with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Mathies Simenson, at the age of 10.  They settled near Cooperstown and in 1896 they joined the Lutheran church there.

On December 4, 1902, Lewis Simonson and Anna Trostad were married.  She came from Norway with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Ole Trostad, in 1884.  The Trostad family settled in northern Griggs County near the banks of the Sheyenne River in a log cabin with a dirt floor.  Lewis and Anna had nine children:  

Mabel, Olaf, Theodore, Cora, Leonard, Helen, Sever, Nora and Margaret.

Lewis and Anna lived with Mathies Simensons for about 2 years when they moved to Bryan Township.  They operated the farm until 1918 when Lewis took his family to Section 7 in Kingsley Township.  In 1945 Lewis purchased the farm from Travelers Insurance Company It was here that the children attended school.  They joined the Lutheran Church in Glenfield and were members until their death, Lewis in 1958 and Anna in 1963.

Mabel married Robert Christ in November 26, 1925, and they have four children:  

Robert, Jr., Virginia, Elaine and Richard.  The Christs live on a farm near Leal, North Dakota and Mabel and Bob now spend their winters in Texas.

Olaf married Catherine Pulver in May 18, 1929 and they have four children:  

Kenneth, Clarence, Mavis and Marjorie.  Olaf went to Zap, North Dakota where he worked in a coal mine, later becoming owner of a strip coalmine at Underwood, North Dakota.

Theodore remained a bachelor, staying at home with his parents and farming.

Cora married Irvin Shelstad on June 23, 1936 and lived in Finley where Irvin owned a creamery.  After Irv's death, she accepted a position with the State Health Department in Bismarck.

Leonard never married and died unexpectedly at the age of 33 from a heart attack.

Helen married Earl Rickford on July 2, 1940 and moved to a farm in Willow Township.  They had two children:  

William and Patricia.

Sever entered the service during World War II and was stationed in the European area.  He married Phyllis Langager on June 10, 1946 and they came to the home farm where they lived until Sever's death in June 1974.  Sever had three children:  

Leonard, Rebecca and Susan.

Nora married Nordeen Ronningen in April 29, 1945 and Nordeen accepted a position with the Veteran's Hospital in Fargo.  They had two children:  

Barbara and Steven.

Margaret married Leonard Seim on December 10, 1942 while Leonard was still in the service.  On his return they farmed near Finley until Leonard's death in 1967.  They had three children:  

Janice, Peggy and Leonard.  Margaret remarried Elverne Haugen on June 19, 1971 and they operate a farm near Hannaford.

Lewis and Anna Simonson purchased a home in Binford and moved there.  After Sever's death his son, Leonard, decided to come home to farm.  He married Joanne Johnson in 1969.  Rebecca married Robert Delfs in 1974 and Susan married Ronald Bakko in 1974.  With Leonard farming, this is the third generation of Simensons operating this farm in Kingsley.

All belong to the American Lutheran Church.

Lewis Simonson Family
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THE R. B. PITTENGER FAMILY

"Rob" Pittenger was born in Chickasaw County near Alta Vista, Iowa on September 27, 1879.  It was there he spent his boyhood.  As a young man he worked at various logging camps in Minnesota in an area believed to be between Brainerd and Wadena.  His sister, Lillian, living at Staples was married to a custom thresher who annually came to Griggs County for threshing.  During the fall season of threshing, he and his older brother, Gene, would journey with bundle teams to Griggs County, particularly the Clearfield and Kingsley Township area.  It was during this time that Rob met and married Miss Emma Rothert.

Emma Rothert was born May 2, 1891 the last-born child of Charles and Emilie Rothert in their first wood structure house.  This was located just north east of Zion Lutheran Church in Section #8 of Clearfield Township.  As a very little girl the family built a new farmstead house, still standing about 1/2 mile west of the church.  From this home she attended school at the same location as the building still used as Township Hall on Highway # 1, 2 miles north of Highway # 200.

After Rob and Emma's marriage in 1907, they farmed.  Their first farm home was on the east side of Section 6 in Clearfield Township.  At this writing, the Terry Hall family still occupy the farmstead.  It was here that Ellis J. , was born in 1908.  About 1910 they moved to the NE quarter of Section 12, Clearfield Township on a farmstead where only a granary remains.  It was here that Stanley L. was born in 1913.  Opportunity arose to purchase land in Bald Hill Township and in 1919 the family moved to Section 28.  The vacant house still stands were Robert D. Jr. was born in 1929.  The depression and dry thirties forced moving again and in 1932 a new house was built on Section 14 in Kingsley Township.  On this farm they remained until 1954 when Rob passed away at the age of 74.

Emma Pittenger a short time later moved a house to Cooperstown where she lived her remaining years.  She passed away at age 83 on May 5, 1974.

The eldest son, Ellis, grew to manhood near Hannaford, lived in Cooperstown until 1941 and moved to Spokane, Washington where he is retired and still resides.

Stanley is now retired in Cooperstown after spending several years in Los Angeles.

Robert D. grew to manhood in Kingsley Township and operated the home farm for ten years after his father's death.  In 1966 he moved to Portland, North Dakota, where he still resides.

Submitted By Robert D. Pittenger, Box 335, Portland, North Dakota 58274.
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ALONZO RHODES, SR. 

Rhodes, Alonzo Sr. 1855-1940 married Eldora Viroqua Hubbard 1858-1946 in Wisconsin in 1875.  The following are their descendants:  

Leland Eugene 1876-1960 married Clara Wild 1876-1928

Children:  

Alonzo Jr. 1905-1948 married Louise Tebeaux

Children:  

Maxine 1922 (Mrs. Carrol Torgerson) one child, Michael

Loretta 1938 (Mrs. Ralph Tobias) four children

Rebecca (Mrs. Harold Maeder) 1916.  Edward Alonzo 1880-1962 married Thelma Henevit

Children:  

William 1928 and Marian 1938 (Mrs. N. Thue) two children.  Orion Elmer 1881-1957 married Frances Lang

Children:  

Betty 1929 (Mrs. Donald Knisley) five children, Ruth 1931 (Mrs. Lloyd Shervheim) seven children, Eldora 1932 (Mrs. James Moulder) two children, John 1941 three children, Larry 1949.

Great-grandfather Alonzo and his wife and three small boys came to Griggs County in 1886 and settled near the present site of Sutton in Kingsley Township.  They came partway from their home in Wisconsin by train and the rest of the way by wagon and oxen.  Their first home was a cross between a sod shanty and a dugout.  I remember Great-grandmother telling me that she burned buffalo dung and twisted straw in this "shanty.”  The three little boys rarely attended school as their help was needed at home but later on, Leland, the oldest and my Grandfather was sent to Cooperstown to school and also on to college at Mayville.  To the end of his days, Grandfather Leland wrote in the most beautiful penmanship I've ever seen.

The whole lot of Rhodes men, including my Dad, Alonzo, were considered to be ''mechanically inclined.” My Great Uncle Orion and his wife, Frances built "The Busy Little Farm" and "Paul Bunyan's Logging Camp" with Walt Disney perfection and showed them at Fairs and Carnivals until his death in 1957.  My Dad, Alonzo Jr. built racing cars and early versions of the snowmobile.  He also flew early airplanes, barnstormed, and walked wings with the well-known early aviator, Verne Roberts.  At one time, when he jumped parachute, the plane cut his parachute lines and he fell 500 feet, into a plowed field.  He walked away from the accident.

Great Grandfather Alonzo and his wife Eldora built a home near Lake Lida in Minnesota about 1918 where they lived the rest of their days.  There, in his woodworking shop, he and his son, Leland, made all sorts of wooden things like rolling pins, footstools, etc.  They were both master woodworkers and I'm sure many of their products are now considered prize antiques.  Great grandmother Viroqua and her daughter-in-law, Clara, took painting lessons at the summertime Chautauquas held near Devils Lake.  They both painted beautifully and even had a kiln in which to bake their china.

Great-grandmother Eldora was a descendant of the Mannings and I believe there is still a Manning Manse maintained someplace in the East as an historical landmark.  One of her ancestors, a Manning, was an officer in the American Revolutionary War.  The Rhodes family owned and operated a hardware store in Cooperstown for many years until it was destroyed by fire in 1927 or thereabouts.  The location of the store was directly north of Lima's blacksmith shop.  Alonzo Sr. lived in the home now occupied by the Ennar Olson family and the Leland Rhodes family lived in the house now owned and lived in by the Konow Knutsons.  The only descendant living here at present is Maxine (Rhodes) Torgerson who owns and operates a Ladies' shop in Cooperstown.

Much of the above information was written to me by my Great Aunt Frances Rhodes, now Mrs. Clair Coleman of Macks Creek, Missouri.

Submitted By Maxine Torgerson
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LEWIS SCHMIDT

Lewis Michael Schmidt was born in Boone county Iowa October 10, 1878, and was raised on a farm east of the city of Boone Iowa.

Louise K. Leininger also was born in Boone County Iowa October 10, 1888, 7 miles north of the city of Boone.  Both Lewis and Louise received their education in country schools.

In 1904 the John Leininger Sr., family, including Louise, headed west, and settled in Griggs County in Kingsley Township.  They built a new home 11 miles SW of Binford and started farming.  Soon after, Lewis Schmidt came to work for John Leininger.  A romance developed between Louise Leininger and Lewis Schmidt, and wedding bells rang for them on June 20, 1905.  To this union a son was born on March 8, 1906 named LeRoy Marvin Schmidt.  Some of the old timers might remember LeRoy as playing banjo with "Art Johnson and His Melody Kings.”  He also serviced radios for I. D. Allen in Cooperstown.

Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Schmidt adopted a daughter who was born April 11, 1913 by the name of Dorothy Louise Schmidt.  She was educated in Griggs County and moved to Tacoma Washington with the rest of the Schmidt family in 1936.  She was married to Francis T. Moore June 10, 1938.

LeRoy Schmidt married Mildred Clauson who was being raised by the Alfred Retzlaff family 12 miles west of Cooperstown.  They were married in the Zion Evangelical Lutheran church west of Cooperstown on October 28, 1927.  They lived in Cooperstown several years before deciding the pastures looked greener on the west coast.  In 1936 LeRoy, Mildred and a family of four headed for the west coast and settled in Tacoma, Washington where LeRoy worked for the St. Regis Paper Company, for 34 years before being pensioned off at the age of 65 years.
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ROBERT STARR

Robert Starr, son of Mr. and Mrs. Marcus Starr, was born in Mayville, Wisconsin, June 4, 1864.  He grew to manhood in that state and came to North Dakota, in 1881.  He homesteaded one mile north of the present site of Sutton.

In 1887 he married Miss Cressie Sperger of Mayville, Wisconsin.  Four children were born to this union, Frank, Albert, Ella and Clarence.

In May of 1900 his wife passed away.  In 1901 he married Mrs. Pauline Scott of Cooperstown, who had a daughter, Hazel, two years old.

A daughter, Doris, was born to this couple.  She married Joe Pennell in 1930.  She passed away in 1932 leaving a baby daughter.  This girl, Dona Larson, now lives in Gresham, Oregon.

Frank married Miss Marie Bergman.  Their two daughters, Beatrice Bailey and Florence Talle, as well as his wife live in the Sutton community.  He passed away in 1920.

Albert married Miss Ida Jackson.  They are now residents of Cooperstown.  One of their daughters, Dorothy Wagoner, lives in the Sutton vicinity.  The other daughter, Delores Carpenter, lives in Hunter, North Dakota

Clarence married Miss Bessie Fallen.  They have both passed away.  Their daughter, Betty, lives in Wisconsin.

Ella married Emil Ringlee.  She lives in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho.  Their adopted daughter, Joyce, lives in Chicago.

Hazel married Kenneth Fitch.  They have both passed away.  Their daughter, Joan, lives in Hawaii.

Robert Starr passed away April 9, 1944.  His wife, Pauline, died 5 years later.

There are 8 grandchildren and 29 great - grandchildren.

Source Page 333
ALFRED TENNESON FAMILY

Alfred Tenneson was born January 2, 1886 in Christiansand, Norway.  During his childhood years he lived on a small farm with his family.  His elder brother, who was a sailor, had been to America, and came home with stories of untold opportunities in this New Land.  Alfred, at age nineteen, decided to leave home and country, and venture out on his own.  He sailed for New York in 1905, and from there traveled by rail and horses to Antler, North Dakota.  He acquired land there and began to farm.  During this period he met Clara Marie Overland, whose parents had emigrated from Boe, Telemarken, Norway in 1878.  They were among the earliest pioneers to reach the area of Grand Forks, North Dakota, and had settled in the Mekinock area.

Marie Overland Tenneson was born in 1889 at Mekinock, North Dakota She had come to Antler with her parents, and at this time met Alfred.  They were married in 1918.  They lived at Antler until 1926, and then moved to Mekinock, North Dakota, where they purchased a farm.  They continued to farm there until 1950 when an opportunity to expand the farming operation was presented.  Since some of the children were interested in farming, Alfred and Marie bought land in the Sutton area and lived there until their deaths in 1961 and 1963, respectively.

Since his early training in Norway at the Agricultural Institute Alfred had a great interest in natural resources - maintaining good land conditions, and especially the planting of trees.  During his time at Sutton he planted several miles of trees in shelterbelts - improving the land as well as the countryside.  Wherever he lived there are trees of various types, which stand as a living memorial to him and his contribution to the land and country.

Marie is especially remembered for her ability in writing poetry and in music.  She wrote many poems - some of which were published.  These are a source of inspiration and pride to her family, and a continuing tribute to her memory.
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LENORA TOWNSHIP

History

There were four schools in Lenora Township.  The oldest school, No. 1, built in 1883.  The first location was on SE quarter of Section 7.  At that time it was Tande school and in Greenwood Township.  From this location it was moved to NW quarter of Section 15.  The patrons of this school wanted it moved again and since permission was denied, decided to move it anyway, one night, using Iver Udgaards mules, to a site on Section 17, near Simenson farm.  A number of years later it was moved to SE quarter of Section 4.  When closed it was sold and moved away.

School No. 2 was located on SW quarter of Section 26.  It was known at that time as Torfin School in Pleasant Township.  Andrew Torfin was the first clerk of said school district.  J. H. Thomas was one teacher in 1884 and O. H. Olson in 1885.  This school was sold when closed and dismantled.

School No. 3 is located on SE quarter of Section 11.  It was known as the Huso School.  It is still used as a Township Hall for voting and other doings.  J. H. Thomas and F. A. Markwood were teachers in 1885.  O. P. Strand was issued $150.00 for building this school in July 1885.

Pladson School No. 4 was located on NW quarter of Section 29.  This school was also sold when closed and moved away.  In 1914 Martha Hansen was the teacher and G. W. Simpson, clerk of the school board.

Teachers in those early days taught a 3-month period and school was held in the spring, part of the summer, and fall.  Teachers salary, $30 to $35 and $40 for the upper grades.

The 1885 school boards officers were T. A. Huso, Martin Johnson, Andrew Torfin and A. V.  Johnson.

A teachers duties comprised not only of teaching but all around janitor as well.  Coaxing those old wood and coal stoves to start mornings was quite a chore, many times smoking everyone out.  The teacher walked to school then as well as the pupils, some several miles, teaching all grades 1 to 8 with up to 30 students at times.  The programs by the pupils - the every so prominent basket socials to make some money - examination and graduation time.  There is always some nostalgia in memories of the one room country school.

Source Page 334

EARLY DAY ITEMS OF INTEREST IN LENORA TOWNSHIP

Lenora Township was named in honor of Lenora Torfin, the first girl born in the Township.  She was the daughter of Andrew Torfin.

December 17, 1903 land was selling for $15.00 an acre.

April 16, 1906 - Lars Borreson lost a valuable team Saturday night.  They became frightened of a stone in 334

Mrs. Charley Stermers pasture and ran away, going through fences.  Next day one horse was found dead and the other badly cut.

November 5, 1908 - Gilbert Davis was coming to Aneta with a load of cats and got about halfway between the Stermer Lake and corner turning in towards town when an automobile came tearing past from behind, as fast as it could go, taking the team by surprise.  The team made one lunge, got half way out of the road when the horse on the right hand side dropped dead right there.  Mr. Davis said it could be nothing else, as he had driven on a walk all the way, he, himself, walking beside the wagon.  The animal has shown no symptoms of ailment whatever.  It seems the animal was scared to death.  This ought to serve as warning to autoists, be more careful in passing teams.  The horse belonged to Mr. Summer who rented the Charley Simonson farm.

Gypsies were frequent visitors to farm homes in early days.  They came begging for food.  Some would come to the door while others stayed in the farmyard, helping themselves to chickens and little pigs.

Many of us remember the Syrian peddlers who came calling.  Some walking, carrying their suitcases, others in horse and buggy.  They had items of clothing and other ware.  A novelty for the young folks in those days.

Before the railroad was built through Cooperstown, mail was hauled from Lakota, North Dakota on the Great Northern, a distance of 50 miles.  Part of the trail followed the Sheyenne River from a point west of McVille.  Mail was delivered to the inland Post Offices of Bue, Lee and Ottowa.  The trail ran along the west line on Charley Simonson's Land.  Iver Udgaard was one of the early mail carriers, using a two-wheel cart drawn by a spotted pony.
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Settlers

J. A. AMES

J. A. Ames was born in New York in 1859, came to Dakota in 1887, and settled in what is now Griggs County.  Lenora Township on Section 12.  He was married to Mary J. Harsk.  He hauled all the trees from the Sheyenne River woods and planted them on their homestead.  He was a sheep man and also built small houses in Aneta, North Dakota in the early days using only a hammer and saw, no other tools.  Eventually they moved to Aneta.  Many picnics were held in Mr. Ames' grove of trees.
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RAGNILD LAURA AMLIE

Ragnild Laura Amlie was born November 25, 1859 near Ridgway Winnashak Company Iowa.  Her father died when she was five years.  In spite of handicaps she was successful in securing an education for teaching.  Taught schools in Iowa and South Dakota before coming to North Dakota in 1886 and homesteaded on Section 32 North East corner, new Lenora Township Griggs County.  She taught schools for 23 years, one located near Ottawa Church.  Mrs. Stokkeland (Sophia Gunderson), Mrs. Herberg (Mabel Gunderson), Elvina Torgerson, Clara (Torgerson) Seim, Clara Trostad Selberg were some of her students.  Also owned a house in Cooperstown and often would bicycle into town from the farm.  At one time she had bought lumber to build on an addition to the house on the farm and one day two men drove in with a team and wagon.  Thinking no one lived there, they began loading this lumber.  But lo and behold out came Laura with her pistol.  The lumber was quickly unloaded and the men left in a hurry.

When retiring from teaching she moved to Cooperstown, to care for her aged mother, her nieces and nephews and took interest in furthering their education.  A nephew Thomas became a lawyer and representative to Washington from Wisconsin.

Miss Amlie saw much of the hardships of pioneer life in Iowa and the Dakotas.  This Griggs County Pioneer teacher died October 1934 in Cooperstown, North Dakota.

Emil Amundson was born in Aamodt Osterdalen, Norway January 21, 1869.  He was 14 years old when, with his parents, Erik and Lisbeth Amundson, two sisters and two brothers they came to Sioux Falls, South Dakota in 1881.  Few years later arriving in which is now Lenora Township Griggs County and homesteaded with his parents on the NW quarter of Section 32.

Emil was married to Martha Urness at her sister's home, Mrs. Andrew Rusten, on December 9, 1874.  They homesteaded a half-mile North of the present Ottawa Church, west half of Section 30 Lenora Township Griggs County.

They built a small home and there Emil began farming for himself.  Later they built a new and larger home, where they lived until retiring to Jessie, North Dakota.  There Emil passed away November 25, 1942 and Martha passed away July 1, 1940.

There were two daughters, one died in infancy and Lilly married Ed.  Arnt and resides at Little Falls, Minnesota

Amundsons had three grandchildren:  

Edna Arndt married to Gordon Carlsen, Finley, North Dakota, Eugene Arndt of Las Vegas, Nev., LeRoy Arndt of Rochester, Minnesota
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ERICK AMUNDSON

Erick Amundson was born in Aamodt Osterdalen, Norway in 1836 and Lisbeth Gulbrandson was born in Aamodt Osterdalen, Norway in 1838.  They were married there and with their two daughters Mathie and Anae, three sons, August, Emil, and Ludvig left Norway, came to the United States in the year 1881, and settled in Sioux Falls, South Dakota.  Then in 1888 they came to what is now Lenora Township Griggs County in a covered wagon and four oxen.  The best-looking oxen ever seen.  They homesteaded East of where the Ottawa Church now stands, the NW quarter of Section 31.  Mr. Amundson also purchased NW quarter of Section 31.  The Erick Amundsons were among the first members of the Ottawa Church congregation.

Erick farmed the land until his passing away in 1902.  After his death his wife Lisbeth built a small home near her son Emil and family, half a mile North of Ottawa Church, West half of Section 30.  She passed away there in October 1933.

August born in 1865 was a Carpenter, died in 1945.  Emil born in 1869 died 1942

Annie born in 1873 died 1950

Ludvig, Manager at the Elevator in Binford, born 1879, died 1957.
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GUSTAF ANDERSON UNNIE SVORI ANDERSON

Gustaf Anderson was born March 25, 1854 in Vermland, Sweden.  He came to America in 1872 and made his home in Gowrie, Iowa until moving to Lanesboro, Minnesota.  Unnie Svori Anderson was born April 16, 1860 in Filmore County, Minnesota.  She and Gustaf Anderson were married in 1878.  In 1903, they, and their ten children, came to Griggs County and began farming in Romness Township on the Ivar Udgaard farm.  In 1910 they moved to S1/2 of Section 33 in Lenora Township.

The children in the family were:  

Carrie (Mrs. Jack McCann), Swift Current, Saskatchewan, Canada

Andrina (Mrs. Jens Lobland), Hibbing, Minnesota

Lavina, died in infancy

Amanda (Mrs. Andrew Herberg), Aneta, North Dakota

Andrew, Aneta, North Dakota

Lavina (Mrs. Andrew Brudvig), Aneta, North Dakota

Ole, Cooperstown

Josephine (Mrs. Walter Ramsey), Kent, Washington

John, Sharon, North Dakota

Ulrick, Aneta, North Dakota

and Nels, Omaha, Nebraska.  All the children are deceased except:  

Ole, Josephine, and Nels.

Unnie Anderson died March 24, 1932 and Gustaf died March 29, 1935.
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MARIA AUSETH

Maria Auseth was born in Trownjeim, Norway June 25, 1869.  Her first husband died in Norway and she came to the United States September 18, 1905 with her daughter Anna, 3 years old, to Cooperstown.  She worked for Theo. Idsvoog's in Romness Township, then worked for Gudmundson in Lenora Township, where she met Harting Hanson also employed there.  They were married in March of 1907.  Their first home was on one of Gudmundsons farms NW quarter Section 34.  They lived there seven years.  They had four children, Henry, Esther, Borghild, and Helge born after his father passed away in March 1914.  Mrs. Hanson continued to farm another year, and then built a home on a few acres Mr. Gudmundson gave her.  North corner of Section 25 Lenora Township, Henry lived with his mother and farmed until her death November 8, 1941.  In that same year Henry purchased the East half of Section 25, selling the house and moving to this home.  He is married to Esther Hofferman.  He retired from farming in the fall of 1974, but continues to live on the place.

Esther married John Mustad, now a widow and lives in Alberta, Canada.

Borghild is married to Leon Upton lives in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Helge is married to Clarice Kasted and settled in Lenora Township in 1948 after purchasing the West half of Section 25 in 1947.  They have three children, Patty, Connie and Dale.  They first lived in Steele County after their marriage and a few years with Helge's brother Henry before moving to their present home.
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R. H. BELDEN

R. H. Belden was born in Ontario, Canada in 1857 and settled in Griggs County in 1880.  He homesteaded on East half of Section 28 in Lenora Township where he began farming.  He married Irene Trina Tockle who came from Norway.  He became acquainted with Miss Tockle at the time she operated a boarding house in Cooperstown.  There were three children, 2 died in infancy.  Mabel, the surviving child, married Evan Gutormson who had come from Iowa and had purchased the East half of Section 28 and West half of Section 29 in Lenora Township.

Mr. Belden had a large windmill on his farm, which was also used to grind feed.  One time when the windmill would not start, he climbed up to fix it.  It suddenly started, his thumb was caught, and Mr. Belden had no choice but to jerk the thumb off.

Mr. Belden was active in community and Township affairs.

Source Page 336

LARS BORRESON 

Lars Borreson was born November 11, 1873 in Bere, Norway to Bere Hanson and wife.  In 1888 he came to the USA to live with his sister near Benson, Minnesota He later moved to North Dakota and was employed near Portland.

In 1901 he married Anna Lunde who was born at Ringsaker, Norway in 1875.  She had come to the USA in 1898 to live with her brother, Nels Lunde, near Portland, North Dakota.

Lars and Anna Borreson farmed the W1/2 of Section 21 in Lenora Township until the fall of 1912.  There were four children born to the Borreson family on the farm in Griggs County, Bertha, Cora, Leonard and Arne.  Three Hanson children also came and made their home with the family.  They were a niece and two nephews of Mr. Borreson.  Their parents were dead.  They were Minnie, Bennie and Olaf Hanson.  Two more children, Solveig and Einar, were born to the Borreson family after they left the farm in Lenora Township.

In 1913 the Borreson family left Griggs County moving to the western part of the state.  Later they moved to the West Coast.  They returned to North Dakota in 1958 residing there until deaths, Mr. Borreson died in May 1968 and Mrs. Borreson died in December 1968.
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ANDREW AND LAVINA BRUDVIG

Andrew Brudvig left Valvaag, Norway at the age of 17 and headed overseas to New York, then to Chicago and eventually landing in Cooperstown, North Dakota in June of 1903.  He was met at the station by Andrew Idsvoog who had sent Andrew $63.50 for passage on the boat to New York and train fare to Cooperstown.  The trip of 17 miles by lumber wagon to Idsvoog's farm in Romness Township did not seem very long as Andrew was awed by the wide open spaces having been raised on an 8-acre farm with 4 brothers and a sister in Norway.

He attended Romness School to learn the English language and was employed on farms in the area.  He moved to Cooperstown and worked for King Bruns Company who sold Ramblers and Model "T" Fords.  In 1909 he won a trip to Kenosha, Wisconsin to see how Rambler cars were built.  He stayed there, got a job in the factory and trained as an upholsterer, building cushions for cars, a trade at which he was an expert.

In 1909 he married Lavina Anderson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Gustaf Anderson of Romness Township, at Waukeegan, Illinois.  They had two sons, Art and Lloyd.  In 1918 the family returned to Griggs County to Andrew Idsvoog's farm in Romness Township, which they rented.  Their first crop was good with wheat selling for $2.50 to $3.25

flax, $7.00

oats, $1.00 and barley, $2.00.  In 1923 they moved to S1/2 of Section 35, Lenora Township, which they rented until they purchased the land in 1942.

Andrew Brudvig was a grower of flowers for which he is well remembered.  Many people got flowers from him for weddings and other occasions.  Andrew died in 1973 and Lavina died in 1975.  They had two children, Arthur and Lloyd.
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JOHN A. CARLSON

John A. Carlson was born in Vermeland, Sweden, June 11, 1869.  He was the eldest of a family of six children, four girls and two boys, born to Carl and Christine Johnson.  He came to America in 1886 to Manitoba Junction (now Dale), Minnesota.

One November 13, 1900 he married Anna Charlotte Mattson who had also come from Vermeland, Sweden.  To this union 5 children were born

Carl, Lillian (Mrs. I. O. Helgeland), Levi, John and Anna.

John A. and Anna Carlson came to North Dakota in 1902.  He had purchased some land in Griggs County with the intention to begin farming as soon as possible.  The journey was made in a wagon drawn by three horses.  The progress was slow as it rained a great deal of the time.  Their first house was a one-room shack of boards, which still remains on the farm as a granary on the NE quarter of Section 6 in Lenora Township.  The stable was a structure of poles and flax straw.

Mr. Carlson continued to farm and raise cattle.  Each fall he would ship a carload of beef to market.

Mrs. Carlson died in 1955.  Mr. John A. Carlson died in 1961.  Two of their sons, Carl and John, continued to farm until John's death in 1969.  Carl now resides in Aneta.
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MR. AND MRS. OTTO EBERHARDT

Mr. and Mrs. Otto Eberhardt were married at Aneta, North Dakota, March 5, 1916.  She is the former Anna Hillesland.  They moved to Lenora Township in 1933.  They purchased the W1/2 of Section 28.

They have four sons and four daughters:  

Robert, on the home place

Ina, Grafton

Ernest, Aneta

Evelyn (Mrs. John Smallbeck), Aneta

Marian (Mrs. Elmer Edwardson), Pelican Rapids, Minnesota

Cleo, Aneta

Don, Aneta

Annabelle, (Mrs. Lawrence Johnson), Cooperstown.

Mrs. Otto (Annie) Eberhardt died in 1970 at the age of 78.  Otto Eberhardt now resides at the home of his daughter, Marian, at Pelican Rapids, Minnesota
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JOSEPH B. FORBERG

In the spring of 1919, Joseph B. Forberg started farming on land owned by his father, SE quarter of Section 29 - Lenora Township, one mile east of Sheyenne River.  World War I was just over, most of the boys were back home, and everyone was glad it was over.

Joseph had never had any experience in farming, but it seemed like a good way to live.  He started out with four horses, some old machinery bought on auction sales and with lots of help from the neighbors across the road.  A combination barn and house, 40 feet by 12 feet, was built with one room in one end for living quarters.  In 1922 a new barn was built and also a basement for a house where they lived for a few years.

Alice Pladson and Joseph Forberg were married in the fall of 1924.  She was teaching school in Romness Township.  She taught there several years, driving the 3 miles to school each day with horse and buggy.  In 1926 a house was built on the farm.  Mrs. Forberg continued teaching rural schools in Pilot Mound and Lenora.

There were two children in the family, Joe, Jr. and Marion.  After 15 years on the first farm, the Forbergs moved to the farm on the E1/2 of Section 19, Lenora Township where they farmed until selling it in 1957 and moved to Detroit Lakes, Minnesota where they have resided since.
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CHARLIE GROFF

Charlie GROFF was born August 30, 1885, Lenora Township, Griggs County on his parents farm.  North East corner of Section 23.

One time in his youth when about 14, Charlie and another youth, Chester Myer staying at Beldens.  They decided to escape and tied a twine from where they started and then walked as far as the twine brought them.  It was no problem to locate them.

Eventually Charlie built his own little house a short distance from his parents, and bought land around there.  The first house burned, then he built four rooms around a garage on land he had purchased on Section 27 East half.

He worked for John Sletten, met and married Gladys Richardson, employed at Slettens.  She came from Michigan State with one small child Merle.  After his first wife's death in October 1933, he was remarried on September 16, 1936 to Hannah Zacharison from Kulm.  Hannah was born July 16, 1885 in Sweden and came to the United States when she was 4 years old.  She was a Home Economics teacher.

Charlie was active in Township affairs.  He also owned a steam-thrashing rig and at one time blew it up.  Charlie received very severe burns.  His face, black, and his hair singed.  He was very lucky to be alive.

In 1949 Hannah and Charlie moved to Cooperstown

North Dakota where he worked as a bookkeeper for the Griggs County Highway Department.  After Hannah's death in 1960, he sold the house and came to live with his cousin and wife Ludvig Stokkelands.  He presented his cousin with a Humanflygiekiste (large trunk), which had belonged to his dad's first wife, Berget Röteim.  The inscription bares her name, date 1877, which she used on her journey across the Atlantic.

Charlie continued to live at his cousin's until he became ill, was taken to the Griggs County Hospital.  Cooperstown, North Dakota and died there Sunday morning, October 18, 1964.  Buried by his wife at Silent Hill Cemetery near Aneta, North Dakota
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GUDMUND GUDMONDSON

Gudmund GUDMONDSON was born in Haugesund, Norway, came to Griggs County Lenora Township in 1890’s, and settled on the South half of Section 35.  In time he owned 10 quarters of land.  He never did farming himself but rented out and usually had a room at one of the places.  Mr. Gudmondson was very much interested in church work and would hold tent meetings, with the help of Pastor Jacobson at his farm where Baalruds lived.  West half of Section 36, Lenora Township.  These camp meetings would run for 10 days.  Lumber from McCoy lumberyard in Aneta was furnished free, 2 X 12 to use for seating.  Many people were encouraged in the Lord and brought into Christian experience by these meetings.

At the time Hartvig Hanson farmed the South half of Section 35 in 1911, half of his crop was hailed out and as it was the custom then only half of the crop would be thrashed at each farm, then at the end of the run, finish the rest on the way back.  This time then, Mr. Gudmondson wanted them to finish Mr. Hanson's crop first time around, because of the hail loss.  Another renter argued with Gudmondson, No, No!  While they were arguing, the thrashing boss started moving the machine and pulled it back home.  Imagine how Mr. Gudmondson felt then.  He would walk back and forth in the yards and kept on saying “it's all my fault.”  He also went to every farmer and said, “It's all my fault.”  For it would be 3 or 4 weeks before another machine could come to thrash, so one farmer Peter Horne and son Martin who drove the horses and plow, would move the shocks as they plowed.

Mr. Gudmondson was active in Township affairs.  He passed away in 1930 and is buried at Romness Methodist Cemetery, Romness Township Griggs County.

Randy GUNDERSON, Peter Gunderson's sister homesteaded South 1/4 of Section 30.  She was married to a Torgerson and they also lived on Emil Amundson's place.  She had a Randy Boy staying with her, who died when he was ten years old and is buried at Ottawa Church.  Randy later moved to Cooperstown and had a boarding house there.  Later moving to Velva, North Dakota from there to Saskatchewan, Canada where she died and burial was at Ottawa Cemetery.
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ALFRED P. GUNDERSON

Alfred P. Gunderson was born in Lenora Township, August 6, 1891.  He grew up there and farmed with his brother Gilbert for a time, then moved to Canada, and later to California.  There he was employed in a warehouse until his retirement in 1961.  He made his home in Chico.

He died on April 22, 1971.  Survivors were:  

his wife, Amy

three daughters and one son

four half sisters, Mrs. Sophia Stokkeland, Mrs. Minnie Edland, and Mrs. Esther Muncy, all of North Dakota, and Mrs. Julia Weberg of Ontario, Canada

15 grandchildren and five great grandchildren.

He was preceded in death by a son, John, one brother, Henry

one sister, Mrs. Theodore Herberg (Mabel) and four half brothers:  

Gilbert, Palmer, Adolph and Edwin.
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PETER GUNDERSON

Peter Gunderson, son of Mr. and Mrs. Gunder Enerson, was born October 15, 1860 in Veron County, Wisconsin.  Viroqua was their closest town, which was one store and the post office.

Peter and his brother, Ed, left Minnesota in 1881 because of hard times, the insects destroyed what little crop they raised.  Another reason for coming to North Dakota was the land available for homesteads.

They started out on their trip with a team of horses and a covered wagon.  At Fergus Falls, Minnesota they traded their team of horses for a yoke of oxen.  When they reached Fargo they crossed the river on a raft, then drove to Mayville and then on to the Sheyenne River.  Peter Gunderson homesteaded 14 miles north of Cooperstown in Lenora Township.

Mr. Gunderson's farming equipment consisted of a walking plow, smoothing drag and a broadcast seeder drill.  The first crop raised yielded 25 bushels per acre, a total of 150 bushels of wheat.  Reier Anderson threshed the grain with a horsepower thresher.

There were many blizzards the first three winters.  In January of one year they had to get out in the cold and fight a prairie fire.

In 1883, Peter Gunderson married Annie Koloen.  They had three children:  

Mable, Henry and Alfred.  Mrs. Gunderson died in 1892.

In 1903 Annie Groff and Peter Gunderson were married.  To this union seven children were born:  

Gilbert, Julia, Palmer, Adolph, Edwin, Esther and Minnie.  Annie Gunderson died in 1943 and Peter Gunderson died in 1944.
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GILBERT GUNDERSON

GILBERT GUNDERSON was born in Lenora Township in 1894, son of Peter and Anna Gunderson.  He married Judith Halvig in 1928.  They farmed in Lenora Township until fall of 1942.  Mr. Gunderson was employed in Nebraska for a year then returned to Cooperstown where he was employed at Reiten Manufacturing Company until his retirement.

There were five children in the family:  

Mrs. Douglas (June) Dahl, Cooperstown

Mrs. Thomas (Doris) Blaz, Anaconda, Montana

Mrs. Jerome (Lorraine) Peterson, Moorhead, Minnesota

Gilmer, Vista, California, and Dennis of Cooperstown.  Gilbert Gunderson died in 1970 and Mrs. Gunderson died in 1975.
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MR. AND MRS. ALFRED HALVIG

In 1900 Emma Jensen and Alfred Halvig were just 18 years old at the time of their marriage ceremony in Trondhjem, Norway.  They came to North Dakota a decade later, he in 1910, she followed in 1912.  They farmed here for 25 years, first by Revere then with horses and a hayrack they moved to a farm by Aneta.

Many times their children had to walk the 3 miles to the Huso School.  In winter they had a cab on runners, pulled by a team of horses.  They would pick up children all the way.  By the time they got there they would have about 16 in the cab.  Many a time there was such a storm, they had to let the horses find their way home.  Agnes, their daughter, said they would be nearly frozen, but their Mom fixed hot chocolate and hot toast so it was not very long before they warmed up again.  When Agnes was in the 6th grade her Dad bought the Stromme and Graby stagecoach.  They used it to go to school in and sure felt big when they rode in that.  When Governor Langer spoke at Jessie Lake in 1935, Mr. and Mrs. Holvig drove the many miles to hear him.

In 1937 Emma and Alfred moved to Oakland California.  In this Bay area Mr. Holvig returned to the marine engineering profession he had learned in Norway.  Even though he spent many days aboard ship and she in the home, the Halvigs continued to ''work together" always showing "love and respect for each other.”

In 1960 this couple celebrated their 60th Wedding Anniversary.  They got a wire from Governor Brown and a special delivery letter from President Eisenhower.

This Information Received From Mrs. Alfred (Agnes)

Urness Their Daughter 
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BENJAMIN HANSON

Benjamin Hanson was born on January 20, 1896 at Lumber-ton, Minnesota and later homesteaded at Bainville, Montana.  He moved to the Aneta community in 1920 and married Ida Marie Huso on August 20, 1920.  They farmed, living on the SW quarter of Section 11, Lenora Township, until 1967 when they retired and made their home in Aneta.

Mr. Hanson had been a member of the Sundahl Lutheran Church and its choir for fifty years when he passed away in October 1971.  He was a Griggs County Commissioner for twenty years and served on the elevator board, the Farmers Union Oil Company, and the school board for a number of years.

The Hansons had one son, Gordon, who is Chaplain at Fort Snelling, Minnesota and one daughter, Mrs. Gordon (Constance) Gunderson, Casselton, North Dakota.  A grandson, Steven R. Hanson, was killed in Viet Nam on September 24, 1971, less than a month before the grandfather's death.

Mrs. Hanson passed away the following June at McVille where she had spent several months in a nursing home.
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ANDRES HEGNA

Andres Hegna and his wife, Anttonette, came here from Telemarkan, Norway.  They first lived in a hay field south of Kasson, Minnesota before coming to Portland, North Dakota.  They came by covered wagon along with others.  The men and boys walked most of the way to save the strength of the horses.  When they arrived they had one cow, one pig, and some chickens and less than one dollar left.  They homesteaded in Lenora Township, SW quarter of Section 18, by the Sheyenne River in 1881.  Their first home was a log cabin.  There were antelope here at that time and they made their money trapping.

Andres and Anttonnette had a family of eight children:  

Ingeborg, Kare, Ostie, John, Ole, Kristian, Halvor, and Andrew.

Andrew married Anne Lee who came from Lom Gulbransdal, Norway in 1920.  They had four children:  

Alice, Melvin, Edna, and Arthur.  Melvin owns and operates the home farm.

Andrew Hegna lived on the homestead all his life, living close to the age of 85 years.
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PETER HORNE

Peter Horne was born in Sänder Lund, Norway, January 12, 1870.  Sophia was born in Roijkevik, Norway, April 7, 1873.  They were married in Norway and while there Peter's occupation was floating logs on the Rands Fjord.  They came to America in 1902 with three children:  

Gina, Anna Marie, and Olga.  Gina, the oldest became ill and passed away soon after their arrival in the United States 

Peter began working for Iver Udgaard in Lenora Township soon after they arrived in Cooperstown, North Dakota In 1903 he rented a farm from Gudmundson, there Martin, Gina and Dora were born.  He farmed this place for 5 years.  In 1907 Peter Horne staked a claim on the NW quarter of Section 25, with a shanty on it.  He lived there six months and had a new house built on the property, moving his family there in September of 1908.  Here Jennie, Esther, Ruth, and Alice were born.

One winter day, Peter Horne went to town for coal, a bad blizzard blew up.  A neighbor stopped by to comfort Mrs. Horne, by telling her that Peter would not make it home in this storm.  But he did.  This storm lasted several days.  When the sun finally came out, a couple of neighbors said they could not see Nels Torgerson's house, so they took a team and road scraper and before they realized where the house was they had driven the team over the house.  The snow was packed so hard, horses stayed on top.

Peter Horne lived 7 miles from the Romness M. E. Church they attended and it took 1 hour one way with horses and a buggy.  He went twice on Sunday.  A full day, which was hard on the horses since they worked in the field all the other days.

In 1917 the Ford salesman came and told Peter Horne, a carload of Fords had just arrived in Aneta.  He persuaded Mr. Horne to go along into town and sure enough Mr. Horne came back home driving a brand new Ford.  Now the horses could rest on Sundays and they could go to church in style.  Two years later, a second Ford was felt needed to take the Horne family of eleven to Church.  In the early days cars were a real scare to the horses.

Maria is married to Iver Amundson from this area, and they live at White Salmon, Washington.  Olga is married to Ben Becker and live at Beaver, Oregon.  Martin and his wife Esther live at Nampa, Idaho.  Gina, Dora and Ruth are single, live at Portland, Oregon.  Jennie is married to James Becker and live at Aloha, Oregon.  Esther a retired nurse, and Alice married to Harold Keller live in Nampa, Idaho.
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JON HUSO

In the early spring of 1878, Jon (Oddson) Huso and Engeborg Urbo were married in Telemarken, Norway.  Following the ceremony word came that someone passed up his ticket to go to America.  The ticket had been sent by a relative of Jon's.  Jon accepted and left for America immediately.  He earned enough during the summer to send his wife a ticket.  She joined him in Minneota, Minnesota in the fall.

The next few years they bought cows, yoke of oxen, wagon, stove, a breaking plow, chickens and a shotgun (to shoot game along the way West).  In the spring of 1883 they, and their two sons, Adolph (1880) and Torger (1882) joined a caravan going West.  They came to Lenora Township and homesteaded on the SW quarter of Section 12.

At this time Portland, North Dakota was the closest town.  As time went on, the NP railroad came to Cooperstown, which opened a market for buffalo bones.  The prairie around was covered with bones, which the settlers gathered and sold for $12.00 a ton.  This helped them raise money to purchase seed wheat, barley and oats.  The Lee Mill was erected near the county line.  This is where they had their wheat ground for flour.

Two more children were born to this family, Oscar (1884) and a daughter, Tillie.

TORGER J. HUSO grew up in the Aneta vicinity, farmed in the area, purchasing the E1/2 of Section 23 in Lenora Township.  In 1923 Torger married Cora Johnson.  They had three boys:  

John Eberg, Curtis Torger and Thomas Jerome.

Torger J. Huso died in 1952 and his wife, Cora, died in 1962.

OSCAR J. HUSO married Signe Engen and started farming in 1918 on the SE quarter of Section 1 and NE quarter of Section 2, Lenora Township.  They had three children:  

Eunice, Donna and Oscar, Jr.

Oscar Huso, Sr. passed away in 1970.  Oscar Huso, Jr. and his wife Nola (Westman) now own and operate the farm.

Source Page 341

TORBJORN HUSO

In 1883 Torbjorn Huso came to Lenora Township in a covered wagon from Minnesota with his wife, Kari, and children Mary, Birgit, and Adolph and the grandfather, Ole Groff.  They homesteaded on the NE quarter of Section 14, Lenora Township.  He also took a tree claim on NW quarter of Section 14, Lenora Township.  This farm became the home of his son, Adolph.

They lived in a sod house.  In 1886 Birgit and the mother, Kari, died of tuberculosis.  The oldest daughter, Mary, did the cooking and cared for her brother, Adolph, and sister, Ida, until they were grown.

Adolph T. Huso married Minnie Hanson in 1913.  They had five children:  

Herlof, owner and operator of the home farm, Aneta

Alpha (Mrs. Del Voiles), Roseburg, Oregon

Olger (deceased)

Maurice, Long Beach, California

and Thoris, Aneta.

Ida Huso married Benjamin Hanson in 1920.  They resided on the SW quarter of Section 11 in Lenora Township.  They had two children, Gordon, chaplain in the United States Army, and Constance (Mrs. Gordon Gunderson), Casselton.

Mary Huso married Herman Torgerson in 1916.  They resided in Lenora Township.  They had four children:  

Mayo, Norden, California

Carrol, Cooperstown

Miles, Fargo, North Dakota

and Margaret (Mrs. Tee Weyland), Moorhead, Minnesota

Source Page 342

MR. AND MRS. CHARLES F. KRAUSE

Mr. and Mrs. Charles F. Krause and family moved to North Dakota from Minnesota in 1917 to the farm vacated by J. McDonald family - W1/2 Of Section 25, Lenora Township.

There were five children in the family:  

Esther, Ernest, Irene, Russell and Stanley.  They attended the Seim School, Lenora Township.  Esther and Ernest graduated from eighth grade at Cooperstown.  Later the Charles Krauses moved to Sharon, North Dakota

Ernest was killed in World War II. 
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KNUT S. MOEN

Knut S. Moen was born at Hallingdal, Norway on March 27, 1849.  He was the son of Sever and Bergat Moen.  Knut married Sissel Odegaard in Norway in 1872.  There were eight children born to this union, three were born in Norway and five in North Dakota.  A son, Carl, the only survivor, resides in Tacoma, Washington.  Knut Moen immigrated to America in 1881 coming to Hillsboro, North Dakota.  He chose North Dakota because of the free homesteads, and it offered great opportunities for a person with small financial means.  His wife and children stayed at Hillsboro with relatives while Mr. Moen came to Griggs County in the spring of 1882 and homesteaded on the SE quarter of Section 18, Lenora Township.

Their first home was a one-room frame house (12X14) partly sodded on the outside.  They lived there for seven years and all the while had crop failures due to drought and sometimes frost.  Mr. Moen walked to Hillsboro, North Dakota and worked through harvest and threshing to make money for food and clothing for his family.  Their fuel was wood, which was bought from homesteaders living near the Sheyenne River.  Trees were chopped down, hauled home, then sawed and chopped for wood.  They were endangered by several prairie fires but each time were able to save the buildings and property.

In 1889, Mrs. Moen inherited her father's homestead in SW quarter of Section 3, Lenora Township.  The family moved to this location living there until 1908 when they moved to Aneta, North Dakota.  Knut Moen died in 1926 and Mrs. Moen died in 1932.
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THE MICKELS FAMILY 

By Edgar N. Mickels, Mapes, North Dakota.

Ole and Betsy Mickels were born in Wenneshick County Iowa.  Father was born April 1862 and Mother was born May 1869.  They were married in March 1893.  In March 1893 they moved to North Dakota and purchased the south 1/2 of Section 34 in Lenora Township from G. C. Thomas and Andrew Lyneer.  They lived and farmed in Lenora Township until the spring of 1917 when they moved to McVille, North Dakota where they spent the rest of their lives.

Their children were Edgar, Mae, Ruth and Lloyd.  Edgar was born August 21, 1894 in Lenora Township.  On August 18, 1918 he married Josie Dahl, who was born August 2, 1895 at Michigan, North Dakota

They have four girls and three boys, 17 grandchildren and 6 great grandchildren.  Two boys and one girl served in the air force during World War II.  One boy served in the Korean War part time in the field artillery and later in the Headquarters Company.  Three grandsons were in Vietnam.  Edgar served a time in World War I. 

Thankfully everyone came back safely.

Mae was born in Lenora Township on June 16, 1896.  On March 1920 she married Elmer Gudim at McVille, North Dakota.  They live in Pillager, Minnesota.  They have one daughter, four grandchildren and one great grandchild.  One son passed away in infancy.

Ruth was born in Lenora Township on November 8, 1901.  In July 1928 she married Melvin Thorson.  They are now semi-retired and live in Oakland, California.  They had one boy born in 1929 who passed away in 1973.

Lloyd was born in Lenora Township on December 6, 1905.  He worked as auto mechanic in Fargo for several years and also out on the west coast.  On June 1935 he married Marie Johnson at Fargo who passed away on January 1963.  He is now semi-retired and lives in Oakland, California.

Edgar and Josie celebrated their golden wedding anniversary in August 1968.  His brother and sisters were present and all but one of the grandchildren and several of our old neighbors from down in Lenora.

There is always some nostalgia when we think of our years in Lenora and of the happy memories there.
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JOHN AND MARGARET MILLER

In the early 1890's, John and Margaret Miller of Kewanee, Illinois came to Portland, North Dakota with their eight children

John, Joe, James, George, David, Adam, Margaret and Jane.  Most of them settled in Lenora Township the following spring.

The parents, John and Margaret, settled on NW quarter of Section 11, Lenora Township.  Joe homesteaded west of where the original home is and Nellie Simpson homesteaded 1/4 mile from there.  Her parents, James Simpsons, immigrated from Colfoldie, Scotland in 1890's to Steele County.

JOE MILLER and Nellie Simpson were married December 25, 1893 at Cooperstown.  Their first home was on Nellie's homestead located on N ½ of Section 3.  A sod house, granary, and barn were built.  They had quite a battle with bed bugs.  A new home was built on W ½ of Section 2.  They had one son, Joseph Simpson Miller.  Nellie was one of the first teachers in Lenora Township at Torfin and Huso schools, driving an old mule from Simpson farm in Steele County.

Twice a year Indians passed through the farm on their way, coming and going, from Fort Totten and to reservations in South Dakota They were friendly Indians and grateful for any gifts farmers would give them.  This was before the town of Aneta was started and grain was hauled to Cooperstown, fording the river in a shallow place.

They had one son, Joseph Simpson Miller, who married Vivian Hamre in 1938.  They still live on this homestead.  They have three children

Joseph Hamre Miller, Bonairie Netherland, Antilles Island

Janice (Mrs. James Mills), Temple City, California

and William, farms the home place.

JAMES MILLER married Anne Carr.  They homesteaded on SE quarter of Section 4, Lenora Township.  They had five children.  Later years moved to Aneta and operated a restaurant and bakery before moving to California.

GEORGE MILLER was born in 1872 in Illinois.  He came to Lenora Township with his parents in the 1890's.  He married Emma Omlid who was born in Norway in 1880 and had come to Aneta, North Dakota with her parents in 1883.  They were married in 1903.  They settled on the NW quarter of Section 10 and NE quarter of Section 11 in Lenora Township.  They had six children:  

Violet, deceased

Gordon, deceased

LeRoy, deceased

Clifford, McVille, North Dakota

Wilford, Bismarck, North Dakota and Laurence, Detroit Lakes, Minnesota George Miller died in 1923.

DAVID MILLER married Tina Brekke and they homesteaded on NW quarter of Section 14, Lenora Township.  They had one son, Earl.  They moved to Aneta in later years and owned the bakery.

ADAM MILLER stayed with his folks, the John Millers, where they homesteaded.  After his father's death, Adam and his mother, Margaret, owned a grocery store in Aneta, North Dakota Adam was a painter and drummer.
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MR. AND MRS. ANDREW MOEN

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Moen were born in Valders, Norway in 1842 and 1844.  They came to the United States in 1881 and to North Dakota area in 1886, homesteaded on Section 1 North East corner, and lived there until 1910 when they moved into Aneta, North Dakota.  They celebrated their 70th Anniversary in 1933.  They had five children, Mrs. John Jenson, Mrs. Oscar Quamme, Mrs. John Brekke, Arne and Ole Moen.  Their son Arne married Marie Slinde and lived on the homestead, after Arne's death in 1954, Mrs. Moen moved into Aneta.  She sold the farm to John and Margit Lee who reside there.  They have six children.  Besides farming they also are turkey growers.
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SEVER K. MOEN

Sever K. Moen born August 13, 1882 and Hattie Jacobson born July 10, 1888, were married June 24, 1909 at her home.  Sever was the son of Knut and Sissel Moen.  Hattie the daughter of Christ and Ingeborg Jacobson.

Their first home was on the Knut Moen homestead, SW quarter of Section 3, until they built a new house on the former Ben Westman farm in 1919, NE quarter of Section 4.  A barn was moved from the Sherve farm.  Sever in his youth drove his fathers oxen until later when they were traded for horses.

One spring day when Sever Moen and family were coming from Aneta by horse and buggy they were caught in a blinding snowstorm, scaring everyone.  Sever had to lead the team following a fence and they finally found home.  Mrs. Sever Moen passed away May 15, 1952 and Sever Moen passed away July 10, 1961.

There were 4 children, Kenneth married to Agnes Field, they live North of Kloten, North Dakota They have two children, Milton, West Fargo, North Dakota and Shirley lives in Fargo, North Dakota

Stanley married Lena Thompson living in Lenora Township, NW quarter of Section 4.  They have two sons, Micheal of Red Lake Falls, Minnesota Gary and wife Deloris farm with his father Stanley by Aneta.  Lena Moen passed away in 1974.

Gordon married Jean Vangsness and live in Aneta, their one daughter Nancy married Donald Fougner and they live on and farm the original Sever Moen homestead.

Beulah married to Arthur Miller and live near Binford, North Dakota.  They have one son Dennis, Starkweather and a daughter Diane, lives in Minot, North Dakota
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ELIAS MOAN

Pioneer Elias Moan was born in Laksvik, Norway 1847 and Gurina was also born in Laksvik 1836.  Both came to Spring Grove, Minnesota in 1870 and were married at Spring Grove.  They rented land there.  They had five children.  Jeanette who died at the age 15, Ellen Moan Albin, who lived to be 95 years old.  Peter and John both died of diptheria the first year they came to North Dakota.  Adolph lived to be 84 years old.

They all came to North Dakota Territory in a covered wagon in 1882 with three cows, a dog, and belongings.

Thought they were much better off than many, because they had horses to pull their covered wagon.  They homesteaded on North East corner of Section 4, which is now Lenora Township, Griggs County, later building on North West corner of Section 4, where they began farming.  There were many hardships during those early days but they were good Christian parents that were interested in church and the welfare of their family.  At one time Elias Moan sent $2000 to an old folks home, to be built in Laksvik, Norway, in 1950, 15 years later.

Ellen had a dress making shop in Cooperstown, North Dakota and made many wedding dresses for the young girls of that time.  She married Nels Albin who had homesteaded near Spiritwood, North Dakota

Adolph lived on the original homestead until he became ill, then lived with his sister Ellen for a few years until his death.  He, too, was interested in his Church and the welfare of the community.

Ellens family are:  

Hazel married to Norman Buhaug living in Moorhead, Minnesota, Gilmore and Clifford at Spiritwood, North Dakota Evlyn married a Roberts living in Fargo, North Dakota, died February 6, 1975.
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CARL OVERBY

Carl Overby was born December 8, 1875, in Norway.  He was married to Amanda Overby from Norway.  They lived for many years in Lenora Township, on a farm known as the Andrew Brudvig farm.  They were members of the Norwegian- Danish Methodist Episcopal church in Romness Township.

They had four children:  

Berglioth Overby (Gudmundsen) Richards

Erling Overby

Amy (Overby) Taylor and Wesley Overby.

As a family, they moved to Portland, Oregon.  His wife, Amanda, passed away there.

Later on, he married Alvilde (Berg) from Chicago.  Her birthplace was Norway.

She passed away after his passing.

He had one brother, Pete Overby, and one sister, Mrs. Hans (Hilma) Heidahl, who lived in Griggs County at one time.
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A Pioneer Tragedy

A tragedy which shocked and saddened relatives and friends of Sharon, Aneta and surrounding area, was the accidental death by poisoning of John Newlands, Sr., and his son, John Jr., in May of 1902.

John Jr., had come by boat from Cullen, Scotland to Port Huron, Michigan in May of 1893 and from there, came to Sharon, North Dakota.  His father joined him later on.  John Jr., claimed and established a homestead, five miles West of Sharon and 1/2 mile North West 1/2 of Section 25 Lenora Township Griggs County.  They built a shanty on the land and since gophers were a serious problem, they planned to put out poisonous bait.

That morning they had a mixture of oats, water and strychnine cooking on the stove.  They went out to do their chores, and without their knowledge some of the liquid had boiled over and spilled into a pail of drinking water, which was setting on the floor in front of the stove.  They made oatmeal for their breakfast, using this water.

A nephew, George Simpson, Sr., who lived about 1/2 mile across the field from them didn't see any activity on the farm, so he drove over and found the door locked.  Looking in the window, he saw his Uncle was dead, so he broke down the door and found his cousin dying in great agony.  John Sr., died May 6, 1902 and John Jr., on May 7, 1902.  Both were buried at Silent Hill Cemetery in Aneta.

A daughter of John Newlands Sr. (Mary) was notified in Cullen, Scotland.  She and her husband, James McDonald came by boat with their son and daughter (John and Agnes) to take over the homestead in August 1902.  John and Agnes were 5 and 3 years of age at that time.  It was a very rough, hard voyage.  James farmed the land and built onto the shack.  A daughter Mary-Belle was born there.

They lived there until 1917, when they sold out and moved to Lake Worth, Florida where James worked as a carpenter and commercial fisherman.  In 1930 they moved back to Sharon to stay with Agnes and her husband, Leo J. Long to assist with the farm work for some time.

Their son John then rented a farm near Sharon and they made their home with him to help with the farm work and housework until the three of them and Mary-Belle moved into Sharon to reside.  On May 29, 1939 Mrs. (Mary) McDonald passed away of a stroke and three months later on August 31, 1939 her husband James died of a heart attack.  John the son died unexpectedly of a heart attack on April 13, 1956.  All three are buried at Sharon Cemetery.  Surviving are Agnes (Mrs. Leo J. Long) and Mary-Belle (Mrs. Leonard S. Walzak).

Direct descendants are Andrew L. Long (son of Agnes and Leo J. Long) and a daughter Maribel (Mrs. Parnell Osto).  Maribel and Parnell have four children - Mrs. Myron (Peggy) Brager - Robert, Julie Marie and Perry.

Peggy and Myron have a daughter, Julie Michelle who was born in Fairbanks, Alaska on April 12, 1974.  She is a great, great, great granddaughter of John and Mary Newlands, Sr., Mary (Simpson) Newlands died August 1894 in Cullen, Scotland before her husband John Sr., came as a pioneer to North Dakota.

Leo J. Long passed away of a heart attack on February 22, 1974.
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AMUND T. PLADSON

Amund T. Pladson was born in Gol.  Halingdal, Norway May 30, 1860.  His childhood and youth were spent in Norway.  At the age of 32 years he came to Northwood, Iowa.  There he met Sarah Wikbo, born September 23, 1875.  They were married March 6, 1900.  That same year they moved to Sharon, North Dakota, Steele County where they lived for one year.

In 1902 they came to Lenora Township, Griggs County and homesteaded on the East half of Section 20.  Mr. Pladson bought Mr. Beldens old house and moved it over on this Section 20.  He added a small addition to the house and this was to be their home for six years.  In 1908 Mr. Pladson purchased the Shervea farm, the east half of Section 19, and moved his family there.  Mr. Pladson raised cattle.  He was also a cattle buyer and owned a steam-threshing rig.  He lived here most of their married life, except for 8 years in Aneta, North Dakota In those days, they would hitch up the team to the bob sled, children along too, and take off for a neighbors.  For a good time, visiting, cards and dancing and lots of good food.  This type of recreation is but a memory but a nostalgic one.

There were six children, Nels, Beatrice, Alice, Gilma, Theodore, and Sophia.

Sarah Wikbo Pladson died June 27, 1931 and Amund Pladson died October 4, 1933.

Beatrice married to Dave Palmer lived on the original homestead for several years before moving to Steele County.

Nels married Myrt Palmer and live in Finley, North Dakota.

Alice married Joseph Forberg, farming in Lenora Township for many years before moving to Detroit Lakes, Minnesota

Gilma married Obert Tharaldson they lived and farmed in Lenora Township.  Gilma passed away August 31, 1950.

Theodore was married to Orpha Midstokke first living in Lenora Township then moving to Cooperstown, North Dakota where Theodore passed away August 31, 1969.

Sophia lives in California.
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JEN SEIM

Jens Seim, son of Mr. and Mrs. Iver Seim, was born August 22, 1881 in a log cabin on his parents homestead in Steele County.

Jens came to Lenora Township and settled on S1/2 of Section 26 in 1907.  The farm had been purchased from Andrew Torfin a few years preceding the time Jens moved to Lenora Township.

On December 22, 1917, Jens Seim was married to Mabel Halvorson from Brooten, Minnesota.  They had two girls

Irene and Ruby.

This was their home until 1947 when they retired from farming and moved to Cooperstown.  Jens Seim passed away in 1956.  With the exception of a few more years living in Cooperstown, Mabel has made her home with her daughters.

Irene is married to Arne Thorson, they live in Pacifica, California, Ruby is married to Barnarr Hayden, and they live in Carson City, Nevada.
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OLE SHERVEN

Ole Sherven was born in November 1870 in Vardals Parish, Norway.  He came to the USA from Gjovik, Norway in 1892.  He lived for a time in Minneapolis, Minnesota working there and in the woods around Stillwater, Minnesota.  In the summer of 1893, he went to Portland, North Dakota to do farm labor work.  He spent several years in that area.

Ingeborg Haugen was born in Hedalen, Valders, Norway.  She and Ole Sherven were married in 1899.  They homesteaded on the E1/2 of Section 19, Lenora Township, living there until 1909.

There were five children in the family:  

Alma, Ludvik, Mark, Norman, and Dagny (Mrs. G. E. Zuelow) who is the only surviving member of the family.
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CHARLEY C. SIMONSON

Charley C. Simonson, son of Carl and Lovisa Olsdotter Simonson, was born November 3, 1875 in Wanamingo Township, Goodhue County, Minnesota.  His parents emigrated from Tocksfors, Varmland, Sweden in 1869.

On June 30, 1904, he married Pauline Lovine Helgeson at Kenyon, Minnesota.  Pauline, daughter of Peder and Liv Oleson Helgeson, was born October 27, 1883 in Richland Township, Rice County, Minnesota.  Pauline's grandparents emigrated from Gol, Hallingdal, Norway in 1852.

Children born to them are:  

Irene, married to Lyle L. Dawson, Flasher, North Dakota

Oscar, married to Adra Bunkowske, Argusville, North Dakota

Myrtle, married to Gerhard E. Fredrick, Fargo, North Dakota

J. Victor, married to Judith Tosse, Argusville, North Dakota

and Lyle, married to Clayton E. Kitchen, Fargo, North Dakota.  There are 13 grandchildren and 13 great grandchildren.

Charley became interested in settling in North Dakota in the late 1800s when he and his brother went to the Goose River area near Mayville to help with threshing.  Charley was a fireman with steam rigs.  In the fall of 1903 he bought two quarters of land in Lenora Township, SE quarter of Section 8.

Charley was a member and ardent worker for the Nonpartisan League and was a member of the first team of Farmers Union organizers in the state.

Charley Simonson owned several spirited horses.  He broke a bronco and a colt, which he named Cyclone and Spitfire, to drive.  One sunny fall afternoon in 1906 he decided to try them on the buggy and visit the Huso family about three miles away.  He took his one and one-half year old daughter with him.  She soon fell asleep on the seat beside him as they drove quietly along on the dirt road.

Charley noticed there was something wrong with Spitfire's bridle and stopped to correct it.  As he was making the adjustment a prairie chicken flew up from the roadside, frightening the horses, who set off at a gallop with the child bouncing on the seat.  Charley was knocked off his feet and the buttons, which held the suspenders on his pants snapped off.  Holding up his pants he ran as best he could after the racing team.

The Huso brothers in their yard saw the runaway team and the child.  Oscar ran for the barn and his saddle horse.  The team was out of sight but he found the little girl on the road with blood streaming down her face from a cut on top of her head.  Oscar carried the weeping child and went back to meet Charley.  He took them to Aneta to the doctor who put stitches in her scalp.  To this day she has a scar on her head where no hair grows.

The subdued horses were found the following day in a pasture, badly cut from going through a fence.  The top buggy needed much repair and the fancy carriage robe was never found.

He helped organize the Consumers United Store Company The Farmers Union Oil Company The Peoples State Bank all of Aneta.

Charley was the Griggs Company Chairman of the Holiday Association in the thirties.  They would bid in machinery at (Foreclosure Sales) for a few cents on the dollar, as it wasn't the farmers fault that there was no rain, and wheat was twenty-five cents per bus.  Results were that not many farmers were able to stay on their farm.  The Simonsons moved to Aneta in 1908, built a home (now owned by the Carl Tringstads) Charley worked as a salesman for the Lee Implement Company Moving back to the farm in the fall of 1910.  Charley and Hans Lund had a threshing rig in partnership and did custom work in the area.

Pauline died March 6, 1929, having had a heart condition for several years.  In November 1930 Charley married Ella Skadeland, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Helge H. Skadeland.  She was born August 14, 1892 at Portland, North Dakota.

In 1938 the Charley Simonson family moved to a farm in Cass County, near Argusville.  Ella died October 20, 1950 in Fargo.  Charley died July 1, 1952 in Fargo.
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THE SIMPSON HISTORY

At the age of 23 James Simpson III left Calfoldie, Kieth, Banffshire, Scotland in the year 1880 and went to Canada with Alex Curry, also of Scotland.  They lived in London, Ontario about one year then came to North Dakota.  When they came through Fargo it was "no much more than a depot wi a light post wae in the sky.”  In 1882 they both filed on homesteads about five miles west of Sharon and built sod houses.  About that time it was Griggs County.

James walked to St. Cloud, Minnesota to buy a team of oxen.  He made ready a farm for his father and mother on Section 30 148-57.  They came with their other nine children in 1882.  The other children were:  

John Maver, from a former marriage

Helen (Nellie), married Joe Miller of Lenora Township

Mary Ann

Jessie

Isabella

George, who homesteaded in Griggs County Section 24-148-58

Margaret

Maria

Robert

Charles.

James returned to Great Britain where he married Isobelle McKay in London, England on April 10, 1893.  They came to America that same spring and resided on their farm on the NW quarter of Section 6 147-57 where they built a stone house comparable to the houses in Scotland.  The climate is different in North Dakota and so were the stones.  They nearly froze to death and had to abandon their stone home.  "Bella" insisted on a wood ceiling in the new home because dirt fell into her soup from the old one.  James went to Hope for the lumber.

One day when James was hunting by his big slough he came upon an Indian, also hunting.  The Indian had a rabbit and James had nothing.  They waved a friendly greeting and went on.

Bella and James became parents of two sons.  James George, born June 30, 1895, married Alice Gudmonson.  They farmed in Griggs County on the SE quarter of Section 36-14858.  From that union 3 children were born.  James IV, now of Indianapolis, Indiana

Mrs. Bruce (Marilyn) Hazard, farming in Cooperstown Township

and Roger of Youngstown, Ohio.

William McKay, born February 15, 1897, married Luella King.  They had two sons:  

Alford, president of Merchants Bank in Fargo

and William, of Ohio.

In 1909 Bella and James moved to Sharon where he was president of Citizen's State bank and they were very active in the Presbyterian Church and community activities.

When John Maver, James' half brother, came from Scotland, he planned to settle in a southwest state where the climate is warmer.  James told him, "Dunno go there, they'll shoot ye for a sixpence.”  He stayed in North Dakota.
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OLE AND OLEANA SLETTEN

Pioneers Ole and Oleana (Johnson) Sletten came from Aamodt Osterdalen, Norway to what is now Lenora Township in 1883, homesteading on the NW quarter of Section 29.  They were the first members of the Ottowa Lutheran Church.  Oleana was a midwife and assisted Dr. Flato with his cases.

There were four children in the family:  

John, Otto, Thea and Olava.  The family later settled in Romness Township.

John Sletten married Sisel Idsvoog in 1890's.  They had two sons, Otto and Oscar.  Oscar died at the age of 17 in the US Navy.  Otto married Clara Knutson in 1922 and settled in Lenora Township in 1942 on S 1/2 of Section 33.  They had two children:  

Orpha (Mrs. Arnold Stokkeland) and Arnold.  Arnold married Freda Engen and lives on the home place in Lenora Township.  Mrs. Otto (Clara) Sletten passed away in June 1974.

Otto Sletten married Maria Bakken and settled in Pekin, North Dakota

Thea Sletten married John Gunderson and they settled in Romness Township.

Olava Sletten married Torval Gunderson and they also settled in Romness Township.
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MR. AND MRS. ALEX SUTHERLAND

Alex Sutherland and Martha Mitchel were married in 1911, in Boot of Garten, Invernesshire of Bonny Scotland.

In the fall of 1913 they came to Boston, then 4 days on the train to Pingree, North Dakota Alex worked 15 hours a day and 7 days a week on a farm in Pingree.  Mrs. Sutherland and Mrs. Geoge Simpson met at the county fair, in Pingree and became friends.  George asked Alex to stay on his farm while they were away that winter.  He then stayed on as a hired man, later he rented the farm for 10 years, and then moved to Aneta when he became employed at the First State Bank.  Alex got his citizenship papers in Cooperstown.

They came to America on the ship "Carpathie," which later was one of the first ships the Germans sank during World War I.  It went down in the Irish Channel as it was nearing England.  Many lives were lost.

Alex, an active member is familiar to Masonic Lodge in this area.  With his noted Scottish accent and marvelous voice, he sings many a song for Masonic programs.  These solos and his Scottish readings are always very much enjoyed and praised.  Mrs. Sutherland is dead now, but Alex, 90 years old, resides at home in Aneta.
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MARY AND CHARLIE STERMER

Mary and Charlie Stermer homesteaded in Lenora Township Griggs County on the North half of Section 1, sometime in the 1890's or before then.

They had two sons Charlie and Edwin.  Charlie stayed with his mother after Mr. Stermer left, and Edwin decided to go west and work in the shipyards in Portland, Oregon.

Often one would see this petite little lady walk to the town of Aneta carrying her basket full of eggs for trade, or she would be driving her white horse and two wheel gig.  Always wearing her sunbonnet and long old fashion dresses.

Folks say she was a wonderful neighbor, sharing her garden vegetables and taught Mrs. Mark Long how to make doughnuts.  She was a frequent visitor at their home, as was Charlie Jr.

Mrs. Stermer loved animals and any stray cats or dogs would find a home there.  Every Easter morning she would fry her cats an egg.

Mrs. Stermer, son Charlie and Mark Long spent one winter in Cuba, as Mrs. Stermer had interests there.

Mary Stermer passed away in 1935, and after her death Charlie went to live with Edwin in Portland, Oregon.  None of the family survives.
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OBERT THARALDSON

Obert Tharaldson and Gilma Pladson were married and lived on the S 1/2 of Section 34, Lenora Township.  They had three children:  

Shirley (Mrs. Donald Arneson), Cooperstown

Burton, Cooperstown

and Owen.  Gilma Tharaldson died in 1950.

In 1952 Obert married Margaret Gustafson.  They have two girls:  

Truley and Wanda.
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OLIVER AND DOROTHY HAUGO

Oliver and Dorothy Haugo farm in Lenora Township.  Oliver purchased his parents, Ed Haugo's, home farm, W 1/2 and NE quarter of Section 26, when they moved to Aneta, North Dakota in 1952.  They have one daughter, Pam.
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RALPH AND ARDELLA FUGLESTAD

Ralph and Ardella Fuglestad moved to Lenora Township in the summer of 1957.  They farm the E 1/2 of Section 19.  They have five children:  

Nancy, Rodney, Karen, Ranae, and Ralph, Jr.
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ARTHUR AND MARDELL OSTENSON

Arthur and Mardell Ostenson moved to Lenora Township in 1970 to their land on Section 24 where they built a new home.  They had farmed in the Township for many years.  They have four children:  

Dwight, Marsha, Jacky and Dean.
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ANDREW TORFIN

Andrew Torfin's parents came to Decorah, Iowa from Hardanger, Norway in the early 1800's.  They were Mr. and Mrs. Torfin Anvidson.  Later the last name was changed to Torfin.  There were eight children and the oldest son, Arvid, was murdered while on his way home from town by three men at a crossroads where they blocked the road.  Many neighbors formed a mob to hang the three men but authorities stopped them and the three were given penitentiary terms.

Andrew Torfin and Mathilda Stenson were married at the Big Canoe Lutheran Church in Winneshish County, Minnesota and came in a covered wagon to Dakota Territory in 1881 and homesteaded in what is now Lenora Township, Griggs County on East half of Section 26.  Hope was then the nearest town, 40 miles away.  Then Cooperstown was settled later.  Andrew Torfin was the first clerk of the Pleasant School District and when a schoolhouse was built near the homestead it was called Torfin School.

There were 10 children:  

Alvina, born 1877 in Iowa, married Ed.  Barnes

Anna born in 1879 in Iowa, married William Rukke, Kloten, North Dakota

Cyrus born 1881, married Nellie Howden

Fred born 1883, Dakota Territory, married Mathea Erickson, Kloten, North Dakota

Clarence died in 1918

Isabel born Griggs County, married Elmer Goodyear

Lenora born Dakota Territory in 1889 (Lenora Township is named for her), married Charles Lusk

Adrian born 1894 was a veteran of World War I

Myrtle born 1899, married Chester Keeper.

In the early 1900's Andrew Torfin moved to Aneta, North Dakota and they operated a restaurant.  Later years Andrew Torfin was elected town constable, which position he held 12 years.

In 1920 they moved to Olympia, Washington.  Andrew Torfin passed away in 1927 and Mathilda Torfin in 1938.
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HERMAN JOHAN TORGERSON

Torgerson, Herman Johan (1877-1939) married Margit (Mary) Huso (1880-1974) in Plentywood, Montana in 1916.  Children:  

Mayo (1917) married Melva Brewer, California.  Children:  

Arlen (married, 2 children) California.  Sonja (Mrs. Roger Steinbeck), California.  Kari (at home), California.  Carol (1919) married Maxine Rhodes, Cooperstown.  Children:  

Michael (1951) married Peggy Suess, Cooperstown.  Miles (1921) married Phyllis Nystrom, Aneta.  Children:  

Eloise (Mrs. Ray Haaland - 2 children), Fargo.  Paulette (Mrs. Ken Olson - 2 children), Portland, Oregon.  Lynn (married Donna Detriech), Fargo.  Denise (Mrs. Tim Jewel), Portland, Oregon.  Marc - (1955-1971).  Margaret (Margie) (1926) Married Ted Weyland, Moorhead, Minnesota Children:  

Pamela (Mrs. Keith Jones), Grand Forks.  Grant (married), Moorhead.  Gregory (at home), Moorhead.  Cynthia (at home), Moorhead.  Jeffrey (at home), Moorhead.

Herman Torgerson was born in Ottertail Company Minnesota His parents, Michael and Helga, came from Norway.  He worked as a lumberjack in the Northern part of Minnesota, farmed and ranched in South Dakota and homesteaded in Montana.  He came to Lenora Township in Griggs County with his wife and two sons in 1919, from Bainville, Montana, where he had homesteaded.  Two more children were born in Griggs County.  Herman, Mary, and family attended Sundahl Lutheran Church in Aneta where Herman was an officer on the church board.  He was a farmer, trapper, and fur buyer.  Raising turkeys brought him many prizes at State and County Fairs.  Carrol recalls the excitement when Bruce Wright, the pilot in these parts during the 20's and 30's would land in their pasture in order to sell furs to his dad.  The pilots would shoot coyotes and fox from the airplanes and then collect bounty, since the animals were a great source of trouble to the turkey and sheep farmers.

Mary (Huso) Torgerson came from Minnesota in a covered wagon caravan in 1883 with her parents, Torbjorn and Kari Huso, and her sister Birgit and brother, Adolph, as well as her Grandfather, Ole Groff.  She lived in a sod house where her sister Birgit and mother Kari died of tuberculosis when Mary was only six years old.  She then cooked for and cared for the family, her brother Adolph, and sister Ida (Mrs. Benj.  Hanson) until the children were grown.

Mary recalled coming to Cooperstown in an open wagon to have all of her teeth pulled when she was just a young girl.  The dentist was Dr. Rose.  She told of Indians coming to dig Snake Root by their home when she was just a young child.  Later, when she was a young lady, her father helped finance her in starting a millinery shop in Aneta, and later, one in McVille.

She lived in Moorhead with her daughter Margaret, until her death in 1974.  She would have been 94 years old in 2 weeks at the time of her passing, and yet, with the same cheerfulness and determination that she displayed all of her life, she remained active and alert until the day of her death.

Mayo, the oldest son, owns and operates Ski-Inn Lodge at Donner Pass, Norden, California.

Carrol is a realtor and auctioneer at Cooperstown.  He was State Commander of the American Legion in 1959-1960 and served as State Senator for 8 years.

Miles is a fur buyer, trapper and operates a landscaping service with his son, Lynn at Aneta and Fargo.

Margaret (Margie) is married to Ted Weyland who is owner and operator of Ingberg's Upholstery at Fargo.
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MR. AND MRS. NELS TORGERSON

Mr. and Mrs. Nels Torgerson lived on a farm in the N 1h of Section 35, Lenora Township.  Two sons were born to them, Arthur in 1900 and Manley in 1903.  In 1913 they rented the farm to Carl Overby and they moved to McKenzie County where Nels Torgerson had homesteaded some time before.  Nels died there in 1914 *

In 1919, Manley, Arthur and their mother came back to their farm in Lenora Township where Manley and Arthur began farming.  Their mother died in 1920.  Their sister, Clara and family came to make their home with them when her husband, Adolph Seim died.  Clara made her home there until her death.

Arthur married Clara Dock from Aneta in 1950 and remained on the farm until his wife's death in 1960.  He retired then and moved to Aneta.  In 1967 he married Thenora (Myer) Svaren and they continue to live in Aneta.

Manley married Josephine Trostad in 1939.  They built a new home on the place Manley had purchased, W 1h of Section 36, Lenora Township.  After farming for 48 years, Manley retired in 1967.  They still live on the farm and Manley does carpenter work.
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ALBERT G. WELLS

Albert G. Wells was born in Ontario, Canada and settled on Section 15, Lenora Township in 1898.  He was married to Jessie Matheson.  Albert's father first homesteaded on Section 15.  Mr. Wells was active in Township affairs.  Besides farming he raised Percheron horses and was well known as a horse trader.

After Mrs. Wells' death, a nephew and wife came from Canada and stayed with him until his second marriage to Constance Ness.  They sold the farm to Fiebigers and returned to Auroa, Canada.  A number of years later they came back to the farm.

A sister of Mrs. Wells, Ragna Ness, stayed at their home and taught in the Simenson School.
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NICHOLAS O. WESTMAN

Nicholas O. Westman, born in Meeker County, Minnesota, came to North Dakota in the 1880's to join his brother, Ben, who had homesteaded in Lenora Township, NW quarter of Section 10.  Later he bought that homestead along with that of Jim Miller.

In 1898 Nick was married to Matilda Erickson.  Born in Norway, she came with her family to Minnesota.  When she was 9 or 10 years old the family moved to North Dakota by covered wagon in the early 80's.

The Westmans had 6 children, 4 of whom survive:  

Roland of El Cajon, California

Sydney of Huntington Beach, California

Iris of Worthington, Minnesota

and Odin, who has operated the farm since his father's death in 1930.  Mrs. Westman died in 1940.

They first lived in a 2-room house, later building around these 2 rooms.  Mrs. Westman at one time owned two steam threshing rigs.  He threshed for the Simpsons and also drove his steam engine to the Lee Mill to use as power.  They traveled to Cooperstown for supplies and hauled grain there.

Odin married Esther Erlandson and they have four children:  

Connie, Nola, Nicholas and Owen.
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JOE ZIMPRICH, SR. 

Joe Zimprich, Sr. married Anna Fiebiger June 21, 1921.  They moved to the farm in Lenora Township, Section 22, in the spring of 1922.  Joe's father bought the land in 1918.  Joe and Anna had a family of 6 children:  

Rozella Ann (Mrs. Roy Evenstad), Northwood, North Dakota

Mary Jane (Mrs. Harvey Sears), lives on a farm in Section 27, Lenora Township

Joyce (Mrs. Richard Heinz), Cooperstown

Anne (Mrs. Gene Spedrick), Sykeston, North Dakota

Joe, Jr., lives on the home place in Lenora Township, Section 22

Edward, lives in Section 17, Lenora Township.

One of the times Joe and Anna Zimprich often mentioned was the time during the '30s when they saw the crop burning up before it was hardly out of the ground, wells went dry, pastures dried up, cattle had to be herded anywhere some grass could be found and water had to be hauled from the river for the stock.

Joe and Anna Zimprich, Sr. moved to Cooperstown in 1958.  Anna passed away in 1967 and Joe, Sr. passed away in 1975.
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MABEL TOWNSHIP

History

The following is from field notes of government surveyors in Griggs County in 1873-1884.

"Township 145 North of Range 61 West of 5th principal meridian, Dakota Territory, Surveyed November 6-10, 1882 by Scott and Sturdivant, Deputy Surveyors.  Mentions:  

many houses, dry drain, meadow, breaking

The surface of the Township is gently rolling.  The soil is a black sandy loam with clay subsoil and gravel on the higher ground.  The greater part of the Township is good farming land.  All the marshes contain fresh water and good water can be obtained by digging 20 or 25 feet.

There is a heavy growth of grass all over the Township, of good quality for grazing and there is an abundance of good hay in the meadows and low-lands.

About 1/4 of the government lands is occupied by actual settlers.  About twenty shacks were marked during the survey.”

Probably, the earliest settlers were a group from Ontario that arrived and selected their future homesteads in June 1882.

The earliest organization on record placed the area, now Mabel Township, in 1884 as part of Pleasant View School District.  The north half of Helena and Mabel Townships together with Kingsley and Clearfield Townships comprised the school district and also the election precinct with the David Nicoll farm home on Section 6-145-60 the polling place.

The south 1/2 of present Mabel and Helena Townships, together with Bartley and Dover Townships comprised the rest of the election precinct and another school district known as Helena School District.  The Peter Fiero farm in Helena Township was the polling place for this area.

This was in Territorial days.  The state was admitted to the Union November 2, 1889.

In 1890 Pleasant View School District was still in existence with the school located on the SW quarter of Section 36-14661.  Ida Pratt was the teacher and the following eleven students were enrolled:  

Maggie Howden, Elsie Lewis, Raymond Lewis, Harry Ames, Eddie Rhodes, Orrin Rhodes, Leland Rhodes, Richard Howden, George Howden, Pearl Painter, and Frank Kingsley.

In July 1895, with a little prodding by the County Commissioners the Townships of the county were organized.  On July 9, 1895 Township 145-61 with the name of Kickapoo attached to it by the County Commissioners petitioned for organization.  The petition was signed by John S. Byington, Hans O. Lien, R. Bailey and 28 others.  At the township meeting held July 27, 1895, at a schoolhouse located on the SE corner of SE quarter of Section 23145-61, the voters of the township voted to name the township.

Mabel in honor of Mabel Nicoll, the first girl born in the Township.  She was the daughter of J. L. Nicoll whose homestead was located on NW quarter of Section 4-145-61.

John S. Byington was elected Clerk and held the position continuously until his death in 1942.

The early Township records were lost so there is no accurate information on their proceedings available.  However, B. N. Howden was the Township assessor all through the early years until his death in 1933.  J. W. Wilsie held the office of Township treasurer during the early years.

The schoolhouse where the original meeting was held was the polling place until about 1914 when it was changed to Sutton.

As far as the Town Boards duties are concerned, the No. 1 problem from the unbroken prairie days to this has been road building.

In the beginning all farmers had the privilege of working out the tax levied against their land for road purposes.  The first roadwork consisted of a man and a team of horses with a slip scraper filling in the low spots and putting in culverts made out of 4-2" x 12 " planks.  Larger streams were bridged with stone curbed bridges with plank covering varying according to the size of the stream.

About the year 1900, a Fort Wayne Road grader with an eight-foot blade was purchased and put into operation.  Eight or ten horses were used to pull this machine.  It was a crude affair, but did improve the roads a lot.

In 1918 a second road grader, an Adams Leaning Wheel, was purchased and put into use.  This machine was a vast improvement over the older machine as a much higher grade could be built.  In addition to the horse hitch, a tractor could also be used to pull this machine.  Another grader of this type was purchased in 1920.

The automobile was getting to be the No. 1 mode of transportation at this time and most roads were graded at this time.

Another road improvement was the 4-horse road drag.  This smoothed up the grade and kept the ruts out of the road.  It also was used to fill in the low places.

The four-horse Fresno scraper came into use.  One man and four horses could accomplish as much with this outfit as three men and six horses with the old slip scraper.

After 1910 all culverts used in the Township were made of steel.

In 1912 the Great Northern Railroad was completed and trains put into operation through Sutton, a town located on the SE quarter of Section 4-145-61.  This ended the long haul and long hours necessary in grain hauling by horses.

Sutton, in a period of three years, from 1912-1915, grew from nothing to a town with a population of nearly 200.  Nearly every kind of business enterprise was represented.  In 1914 Mabel Township together with-12 Sections of land in Kingsley Township became a consolidated school district with the school located in Sutton.

A new two-story building was built with four rooms and three years of high school was offered.  Beginning in 1930 or 31, a fourth year of high school was taught.

In 1957 this school was destroyed by a tornado.  In 1958 a new modern school with eight rooms was built.  It was occupied in January 1959.

In the school year 1960-61, the Sutton and Glenfield school districts merged, grades 1-6 remained in Sutton and grades 7-12 moved to Glenfield.  This plan is still in effect.

Their were five homesteaders listed in the assessor's report in 1884 as landowners.  They were:  

William Wilson (NE-2), H. Lien (SW-20), Andrew Anderson (SE-26), Jim McGregor (NW 30), Iver Eimon (SW-34).  The following is a partial list of original homesteaders that I was able to verify in the Griggs County courthouse:  

George Hartman (SE-2), Eliza Nicoll (SW-2), William Wilson (NE-2), Robert Starr (NE-4), Jacob Westerhausen (SE-4), John Nicoll (NW-4), John W. Wilsie (NE-6), William R. Dasch (SE-6), William Green (NW-6), Oscar O. Kjelson (NW-8), Pitter A. Kjelson (SE-8), Swan C. Swanson (SW-8), Lyman W. Lewis (NE-10), Wallace H. Percy (NW-10), Mathias Thiel (SE-10), Benjamin A. Witham (NE-12), Robert Bailey (NW-12), Alfred E. Thomas (NW-14), John Riber (SW-14), Henry C. Ames (NE-14), Albert E. Thomas (SE-14).  Christian Kjelson (NE-18), Anthony C. Kjelson (SW-18), Alfred A. Olson (NW-20), Hans Olson Lien (SW-20), Ole P. Fiering (NW-22), Harry Ames (NW-24), John S. Byington (NE-24), Adolphus G. Lindsey (SE-24), Varnum VanVleet (SW-24), Christian Erlandson (NW-26), Christian Jacobson (SW-26), Andrew Anderson (SE-26), Andrew F. Anderson (NE-28), Solfest Fortney (SE-28), Otto A. Thorsgaard (NW-30), Bernt A. Thorsgaard (SE-30), Edward A. Thorsgaard (NW-32), and Beathe Eimoen (NW-34).
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MABEL LUTHERAN CHURCH

The Mabel Congregation was organized March 2, 1896 in the Andrew Anderson schoolhouse.  Twenty-five members and their families comprised the first membership roll.  They were:  

Ingebret Simmonson, Christ Jackson, Christ Kjelson, Oscar Kjelson, Otto Simmonson, Hans P. Fuglestad, Thorston Michaelson, Andrew J. Anderson, Christ J. Erlandson, Syver Peterson, Henrik Larson, Johan P. Larson, John Simenson, Ole O. Anderson, Anthon C. Kjelson, Lars O. Klundby, Otto Thorsgard, Falk Larson, Charles C. Frydenberg, John Stering, Iver Elvrem, Anton Christopherson, Mikal Norgaard, Martin Thompson, and Ole T. Michaelson.

In 1899 a church was erected three miles south and one mile west of Sutton.  Until this time this group of faithful workers were holding meetings in a schoolhouse or in private homes.  In order to raise funds for the new church, members rented land and raised flax.  In the spring of 1926 the congregation had the misfortune of losing their church and all of the contents by fire.  In the fall of 1928 it was decided to build a new church in the Sutton village.  When the building was far enough along, services were held in the church basement and while during the building period services were held in the schoolhouse and the Methodist Church.  Several years passed before work continued on the church because of the critical period from 1928-1935, with depression and the closing of the bank where the church funds were deposited.  In 1936 the congregation began thinking of completing the church, in 1941 the cornerstone was laid, and by November 9, 1943 the ladies aid and congregation joined for the mortgage burning.

Pastors who have served Mabel Lutheran Church are:  

Reverend P. A. Thoreson who was the first pastor of the church, Reverend George Natwick, Reverend John Haaland, Reverend M. B. Ordahl, Reverend John Meling, Reverend P. H. Holm Jensen, Reverend H. J. Hanson, Reverend C. M. Rasmussen, Reverend A. P. Tidemann, Reverend Edwin Schmidt, Reverend Roger Paulson, Reverend Neil Thompson, and presently Reverend Michael Lockerby.

Mrs. Isabelle Kjelson, one of the older members willed her estate of $7,685 to the Mabel Lutheran Church.  Of this amount the congregation agreed to give $500 to the cemetery fund.  The rest of the amount was applied to the building of a new narthex and a back entrance to the basement.  A new furnace for heating the basement and narthex was installed and also carpeting the narthex.

Harry Kolpin, also one of the older members of Mabel Lutheran, needs mentioning.  He retired from his farming operations, moved into Sutton to live in February 1959, and has been custodian of the church for sixteen years.  He and his wife, Rena who passed away December 31, 1967 will be remembered to having devoted much of their time and effort to the church, and will be remembered by fellow members for their kindness.
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Settlers

ANDREW J. ANDERSON

Andrew J. Anderson was born in Biri, Norway March 18, 1861.  He was the oldest of seven children of Pernille and Johannes Anderson.  When he was 19 he became restless and wanted to go to America.  He left for the United States in 1880, worked a year, and sent for the next older brother, Ole.  To keep the family together, the parents also decided to leave for the New World.  In the spring of 1884, Pernille and Johannes Anderson and their five younger children arrived at Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin at the farm home of Johannes' cousin, Ole P. Feiring.  Many other families from Biri had already become established there so the transition to a foreign land was not difficult.  The spring they arrived, Ole Feiring was moving to North Dakota.  Andrew went with him and Ole took over the Feiring farm in Pigeon Falls and later bought it.  There the family made their home.

Andrew came to North Dakota in 1884 when this was still Dakota Territory.  He worked at various jobs and on farms and gradually acquired land of his own.  He could do most anything.  He would take a team and wagon and pick up buffalo bones on the prairie.  Many carloads of these bones were shipped out of Cooperstown to be made into fertilizer.  His land was located south of Sutton.  At one time he was the largest farm operator in that part of the county.  He built a large farmhouse and it was the place where the newcomers from the Old Country would come.  He gave them a home and work until they found other places to work or acquired land of their own.  Before the Great Northern Railroad came to Sutton in 1912, he had a country store, a feed mill, a machinery repair shop, was a good vet and was postmaster at the end of the Star Route from Hannaford.  Ole Hanson from Hannaford drove the team and brought the mail once or twice a week.  He befriended and helped many of his neighbors and was generous in his support of the Mabel Lutheran Church.

For some years Andrew's parents, brothers, and sisters lived with his brother, Ole, in Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin.  When Ole married his father planned to buy a nearby farm, which was for sale.  However, his mother suffered greatly from asthma and Andrew thought a change of climate might be helpful, so the family moved to his farm in North Dakota.  His mother remained there until her death in 1911.  She is buried in the Mabel cemetery.  His father paid a visit to Norway several years after his wife died and died there, as he was getting ready to return to the United States.

Andrew remained a bachelor until late in life when he married a widow, Christine Rugtiv.  After Andrew's death she went to live with her daughter in Froid, Montana.

Andrew died on his Griggs County farm in 1927.  He is buried in Mable Cemetery.  He was truly a pioneer who helped to make this part of the country a great place in which to live.
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ANDERSONS

Louis Anderson (1886-1959) was the oldest of ten children.  He came to North Dakota in 1909, at the age of 23, living around the Courtenay area.  He returned to his home in Minnesota for a short visit, coming back with a sister, Regina (1891-).  This time he settled around the Cooperstown area, doing farm work for Andrew Berg.

In the spring of 1910, Louis' parents, Andrew L. Anderson (1864-1948) and Martha Hoium Anderson (1868-1921) joined him, with the rest of the children.  As the children grew and left home to make their own way, most stayed close in the area:  

Mrs. Regina Hedquist, Arthur M. Anderson (1895-1966), Walter Anderson (1901-), Carl Anderson (1904-), Sidney Anderson (1907-1969).  Edward Anderson (1893-1959) lived in the area for a long time but eventually left.  Three of the girls married and moved away:  

Mrs. Betsy Bonnewell (1897-1966), Mrs. Josephine H. Johannson (18981968), and Mrs. Myrtle Howden (1911-), Myrtle returning to the Hannaford area recently.

In the winter of 1910, Louis married Ida Walen (1892-1959).  They made their living as farmers in Foster county but doing most of their business in Cooperstown, retiring there in 1947.  They had four children:  

Leonard, Manvil, Alfred, and Irene.

Leonard Anderson (1913-) married Sara Hadey (1919-) in 1937.  They made their home in the winter in Cooperstown and in the summer on a farm southwest of Sutton.  They had three children:  

Marcella, DuWayne, and Ronald.  Marcella (1938-) married Donald Fors (1935-) in 1955, in Cooperstown.  They and their two children, Sharon (1955-) and Steven (1959-) live on a farm near the area.  Ronald (1943-) married Joyce Fritz in 1962, and with their two children, Pamela (1962-) and Kieth (1965-) made their home in Washington.  DuWayne (1940-) married Elan Lund (1940-) in 1959, and with their two daughters, Brenda (1962-) and Lynnette (1965-) live on the farm and farms with his father.

Manvil Anderson (1914-) married C. Marie Pewe (1918-) in Cooperstown in 1936.  They made their home on a farm south of Sutton.  They had four children:  

Lyle (1944-1952), Mary Carol (1947-1952), Renee (1954-), and Ruth (1957-).  Renee married Bart Bevis in 1974 and they are making their home in Florida.

Alfred Anderson (1916-1972) married Joan Morris (1923-) in St. Johns, Newfoundland, while serving in the army, in 1943.  They lived on in Foster County until 1957, when moving to Cooperstown for the winter months and back to the farm for the summer.  Alfred retired from farming in 1968 because of a kidney ailment.  Later he had his kidneys removed and had the first home artificial kidney unit in the state of North Dakota in 1969.  They had four children:  

Douglas, Wayne, Richard, and Judy.  Douglas (1945-) married Berniece Wunder (1949-) in 1968 and they have made their home on the family farm.  Wayne (1946-) married Diane Reese (1948-) in 1965, and have made their home, with their three children:  

Loran (1965-), Kurtis (1973-), and Terri (1974-) in Cooperstown.  Wayne started his own business in 1971, Anderson's Texaco.  Richard (1949-) married Linda Kurtti (1948-) in 1968, and they are making their home in Fargo.  Judy (1950-) married David Zimprich (1945-) in 1970, and with their son, Chad (1972-) are making their home just west of Cooperstown.

Irene Anderson (1917-1938) married Wallace Topp in 1938.  They made their home in Grace City.
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OLE ANDERSON 

Ole Anderson was born in Norway in 1870 and came to Wisconsin at four years of age.  He came to North Dakota in 1886 and lived with his uncle, Hans Lein, south of Sutton for several years.  He returned to Wisconsin, returned several years later to the Sutton area, and married Anna Solberg who was born in Wisconsin in 1874.  They purchased the S 1/2 of Section 6, Mabel Township in 1895, from a man named Bill Dasch.

Five children were born to this union - 3 survivors remain

Mrs. Homer (Florence) Hill, Mrs. John (Verna) Jones of Towner, North Dakota, and Arnold of Sutton.

Additional land has been added to the original farm and is now owned jointly by two grandsons, Darold of Glenfield and Kent of Sutton.
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ROBERT BAILEY

My great- grandfather (Robert Bailey) emigrated to America in the year 1834, settling in Huron County Ontario on the shore of Lake Huron.  My grandfather (Richard Bailey) then 15 years old grew up and lived in that vicinity for about 50 years.  My father (Robert Bailey) was born at that place January 24, 1859.  His mother Sarah Ann Harris was born in England.  My mother's folks were both born in Scotland and lived on a farm adjoining my father's folks.  Life didn't seem to hold much future for the young people in Canada at that time so in the spring of 1882 my father and George Hartman after hearing about the big wheat farms in North Dakota decided to see life in the great Northwest.

They arrived in Fargo on March 17 (St. Patrick's Day) in the morning.  They found employment on farms owned by the Johnson Brothers (Jack and Jim) in the Kelso Grandin area.

About the first of June, about 8 or 10 men from Huron County in Ontario got together and started out in search of a homestead.  With a team of horses pulling a light wagon, loaded with a tent, bedding etc.  They headed up the Red River Valley until they reached Pembina.  Then they changed directions going southwest to Devils Lake.  Here they found the Sibley Trail and followed it to Griggs County.  My father chose the NW quarter of Section 12-145-61 as his future home and George Hartman took the SE quarter of Section 2-145-61.  Others in the group Ben Howden SE quarter of Section 12-145-61 - Jack Nicoll SW quarter of Section 2-145-61 - Billy Wilson NE quarter of Section 2-145-61 - Dave Nicoll NE quarter of Section 6-145-60 - A man whose last name was Witham filed on NE quarter of Section 12-145-61.

This land was opened for filing homestead claims at Fargo on July 7, 1882.  All the aforementioned made it a point to be there on opening day.

By the fall of 1885 Dad had built a small barn and the front part of the house that is still in use.  At this time George Hartman and Dad went back to visit their homefolks.  In the spring of 1886 they with another old-timer, William Howden, brought 12 horses and other equipment in two emigrant freight cars.  This marked the end of oxen power and the beginning of horse power.

On July 14, 1898 I arrived on the scene.  

About 1905 I started going to school and my recollections at that time, the farm contained 1020 acres owned and he rented 480 acres more.  

Prior to 1912, all grain had to be hauled and marketed at Cooperstown or Binford - a never-ending chore.  

In the year 1912, the railroad came to Sutton, ending the long haul that took all the spare time from freeze up till the next harvest.  

1913 - Brother Frank went to Glentana, Montana where he filed on a homestead.  

1920 - We three brothers Ed, Jim and I took over the farm by the renter's route.  

1923 - Dad, Mother and sister Laura moved to Sutton - Ed married Mrs. Marie Starr and started farming on the farm now owned by Clarence Gronneberg.  Brother Jim married Charlotte Jackson.  Jim and I were in partnership two years.  

1925 - I alone was in charge of the farm operation.  My sister, Mrs. Violet Taylor, was the housekeeper until my marriage to Beatrice Starr June 16, 1938.  

And now, 1975 - eight children and seven grandchildren later, I am making plans to turn the operation over to my two sons Tom and Dan.

This is the 93rd year of continued operation in one family.
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JOHAN CHRISTIANSON

Johan Skatrud Christianson was born in Vestre Gausdal, Norway, September 22, 1885.  His parents' names were Kristian and Sofie Skatrud.  As was the custom with many at that time, Johan changed his name Skatrud to Christianson when he came to this country.  Johan had 10 sisters and brothers:  

Karen, Amun, Martinus, Peter, Severine, Asmun, Sigre, Kristine, Johanne, and Mary, she died in infancy.  His family were poor and Tillie remembers him telling about his Mother working for the wealthier class of people.  She always walked to work and had knitting along in summer time knitting both going and coming from work - never a minute wasted.

Johan immigrated to America in 1905 coming to Chippewa Falls, Wisconsin where he worked in the woods cutting timber and living with Relatives.  Later he came to Hannaford where Sam Hagen, foreman for Beatta Eimon came and hired him to work on the Eimon ranch south of Sutton.  He was married to Grace Frydenberg, daughter of the late Mr. and Mrs. Charlie Frydenberg in 1910 and started farming in the Sutton area.  This farm was located 41h miles south of Sutton.  To this union six children were born.  Clarence married Tres Leininger, they have a son John, his wife Lou Ann and family live in Fairfield, California Oswald never married, and has lived on the home place all his life.  Lloyd married Myrtle Dahlen the daughter of the late Mr. and Mrs. Olaf Dahlen.  They live on a farm in Helena Township close to Revere.  Elmer married Ruth Auren daughter of the late Gilbert T. Auren, his wife Gunhild is living in Crosby, Minnesota.  They both lived in Cooperstown in their earlier years.  Elmer and his wife are living on the farm formerly owned by Adolph and Isabelle Kjelson.  Ralph married Luella May Auren.  George John died when he was almost 2 years old.  Their Mother Grace passed away in the flu epidemic in 1920.

On March 21, 1933, Johan married Tillie Auren daughter of Thor and Marit Auren.  Tillie was born June 23rd, 1905 in the log house where Torfins lived near the Sheyenne River in Washburn Township the Alf Welands live there now.  Johan and Tillie had a daughter Gale Marie.  She is married to Howard Hanson and they live in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  They have three children:  

Rebecca, Rachel, and John.

Johan and Tillie have lived in Mabel Township Section 28 and farmed all the while.  He passed away October 20, 1969.  Oswald and Tillie live on the farm and continue its operations.
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THE ANTON CHRISTOPHERSON FAMILY

Anton and Ella (Johnson) Christopherson came to Griggs County, North Dakota after they were married in Cashton, Wisconsin on March 22, 1901.

They purchased a farm about four miles South of Sutton from John Stering.  The homestead papers were signed by President William McKinley, and are now in the Griggs County Historical Museum at Cooperstown, North Dakota

There were five children in the family:  

Gilmer, Theodore, Earl, Selma and Clifford.  Theodore died in infancy and Gilmer in 1971.  Gilmer and Earl attended country school until the consolidated school was built in Sutton, in 1915.  This comprised Mabel Township and one-half of Kingsley Township.  Gilmer and Earl did not get to finish High School, as they were needed to work on the farm.  Sutton High School had only three years of High School at that time so Selma and Clifford took their Senior year of High School in Cooperstown and graduated there.

The Christophersons were members of Mabel Lutheran Church, which was next to their farm.  They were also caretakers until the Church burned on April 12, 1926.  A new church was then built in Sutton.

They resided on the farm until the fall of 1932.  Ella had died in 1931.  Anton and daughter Selma then went to Cashton, Wisconsin to live with Mrs. Thea Johnson, Ella's mother.  Anton died in 1938.  He, his wife and Theodore are buried in Mabel Lutheran Cemetery near the farm where they lived.

Gilmer married Mabel Falle and they farmed near Mose, North Dakota until her death in 1931.  In 1935 Gilmer married Mabel Monson.  They lived in Cooperstown, North Dakota until about 1940 when they moved to Minot, North Dakota

Earl served about four years in the military service in World War II - 1941-1945 of which twenty-eight months were served overseas.  Earl married Mae Dyson in 1952.  They resided in California where she died in the early sixties.  In the fall of 1963 he married Myrtle Gryde who died in 1974.

Selma resided in Cashton until after the death of her Grandmother in 1941.  She then moved to Sparta, Wisconsin.  In 1945 she married G. Harold Backenstoe and they made their home in Sparta.  They had no family.

Clifford married Thelma Finstuen from Binford, North Dakota in 1940.
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FREDERICK GEORGE DIETRICH

Frederick George Dietrich was born at LeRoy, Wisconsin June 12, 1883.  Mary Catherine Albrecht was born at Dane, Wisconsin on March 6, 1887.  They were married June 25, 1912 at Auburndale, Wisconsin and left the same day for Binford, North Dakota where Fred had already begun farming.  About four years later they moved to the Sutton area living for a short time on the farm directly south of Sutton.  In the fall of 1917 they went to Wisconsin, bought a farm and operated it one year, sold and came back to Sutton, farmed Rhodes farm 1 mile N and I mile E of Sutton until 1928 when they purchased the John Ebentier farm 11/4 miles NE of Sutton.  Here they lived and farmed until selling in October, 1944, and retired into Sutton where they lived remainder of their lives.  Fred died March 10, 1968 and Mary died July 10, 1974.  Their four children are:  

Mrs. Henry (Leona) Jacobson, born at Binford, now of Sutton

Melvin Dietrich, born at Binford, now of Madison, Fla.

Robert Dietrich, born at Sutton, now of McIntosh, Minnesota

Mrs. Gordon (Ruth) Hagen, born at Sutton, now of Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Source Page 356
CHRISTIAN (C. J. ) ERLANDSON

Christian (C. J. ) Erlandson was born in Guldbrandsdalen, Norway, December 22, 1862.  He was two and one half years old when his parents, Karen and Johannes Erlandson Slette came to America.  They spent six weeks crossing the Atlantic on a sailing vessel.  During the trip the family's meals consisted of cheese, flat bread and dried beef, which they had brought along in a trunk.

They settled near Coon Valley, Vernon County, Wisconsin in a colorful setting of hills, trees and bluffs, which reminded them of their homeland.

When Christ became a young man he decided to work.  During the summer he worked on a farm.  It was there that he met his future bride, Agnetta Komprud.

In 1886 he came to North Dakota and homesteaded on the NW quarter of Section 26 in Mable Township.  Later he bought two quarters from the railroad.  In 1888 Agnetta Komprud came to North Dakota and she and Christ were married in Cooperstown.

Christ enlarged the homestead shanty by adding on a lean-to which served as a bedroom, and an entry shed to help keep out the cold winter winds.  Many times after a heavy snowstorm a snow bank would cover the shanty, leaving only the stovepipe visible.  Christ built the door on the entry shed to open inward so that he would always be able to tunnel out of the snowbank.

In 1898 Christ built a two-story house and a year later he built a barn.  The shanty became a blacksmith shop a few years later, enabling Christ to sharpen his own plowshares, as well as the neighbor's.

In the late 1880's and early 1890's times were hard and Christ didn't have much land broke up so he decided to take a job selling "Watkins Products.”  He traveled by horse and buggy, house to house, covering Stutsman, Foster, Eddy, Wells and Nelson Counties.  In the early 1900's he became tired of traveling and so he bought a steam-threshing outfit and threshed for neighbors for a number of years.

Over the years he acquired other land holdings north of Warwick and west of Minot.  In 1905 he bought his first car, a "Rambler," from King-Bruns Company at Cooperstown.

He and one other, a Larson from Binford, started the Farmers Bank in Sutton.  The bank closed in 1926.

Christ and Agnetta Erlandson were charter members of Mable Lutheran Church.  He served on the Church, School and Township boards.

Christ and Agnetta had four children:  

Josephine, Alfred, Mabel (who passed away at the age of 2 years 3 months) and Amanda.

Agnetta Erlandson died in 1940 and Christ in 1941.

Alfred took over the farming operation in 1911.  In 1913 he married Alice Posey.  They moved a schoolhouse onto the farmstead and remodeled it into the home in which they are still living.

Alfred's son, Ivan, started farming in partnership with his father in 1937 and he too is still on the home farm.  He built his house on the site where his grandfather, Christ, had built his house some 65 years earlier.
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ARNOLD GRONNEBERG FAMILY

Arnold Gronneberg was born at Walum, North Dakota on October 6, 1912 to Christ and Inga Gronneberg.  He graduated from the Cooperstown High School and North Dakota State University, Bottineau branch.

Christine Sabby was born at Wimbledon, North Dakota on January 19, 1922 to Torger and Anne Sabby.

They were married July 16, 1941.  They have four children, Douglas, who farms with his father, Carol Ann (Mrs. George White) who is a schoolteacher at Indio, California, Sandra Avis (Mrs. Jerome Francis) who is a secretary for a business firm in Fargo, and Lee Alan, a student in the Glenfield -Sutton school system.

Employed at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard from March 1941 until the fall of 1947, returning to engage in farming on the home place northwest of Hannaford, North Dakota

Elected as a State Representative from the 23rd Legislative in 1970.
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MR. AND MRS. C. N. GRONNEBERG

Christ N. Gronneberg was born August 24, 1883 at Larvik, Norway.  He came to America in 1900 and became a farm hand at Kenyon, Minnesota.

After four years of saving his money, he was ready to try his wings.  He took off for Divide County and homesteaded a quarter Section of land near Crosby.  After breaking and tilling this land for three dry years, he had produced 16 bushels of flax in a slough.  With these results, Christ left his homestead and his Minnesota nest egg there and ventured to Hannaford, North Dakota to again be employed as a farm hand.

He met and became acquainted with Inga Bjornseth born September 1, 1890 at Bottineau, North Dakota.  They were married December 20, 1911.  After a honeymoon trip on the train from Bottineau to Walum, they made their first home on a rented farm Southeast of town.  The following October, Arnold came to make his home with them.  Christ, Inga and their son lived in that first home until 1914, when they rented the Furas farm three miles Southwest of Hannaford, moving in there on Thanksgiving day.  That fall Inga looked forward to the arrival of a girl, but it was Clarence who made his appearance on December 29!  Arnold and Clarence were baptized in the Walum church.  After approximately three months the landlord sold the farm.  Christ then decided that renting was no good, so he bought a quarter Section joining Knute Thompson to the East, moving into the Eidfjord neighborhood in April 1915

Dover Township.

Clifford joined the happy family on November 9, 1917.

In 1919 Christ realized that the horse and buggy days were gone so he purchased his first Ford.  Owning such a fine, fast vehicle they decided to take a trip to Bottineau to visit Inga's family and old friends.

They dressed and fed the boys, packed a lunch, and started out in their new car.  Zigzagging along the prairie trails northwesterly, reaching their destination after two full days.

In 1920 and 1922 two more husky farmers joined the family, Elmer and Milford, respectively.  The dry years came, and having a good sized family to provide for made it necessary for Christ to look for a larger farm.  He sold the quarter and rented the Widje farm near Revere, moving in there in 1923.  Arthur was born in this home.  Clifford, Elmer, Milford and Arthur all were baptized in Eidfjord Lutheran Church.

In 1929 Christ saw the opportunity for a change for the better and purchased the Urquhart farm, two miles West and half a mile South of Revere.  This came to be the real "Gronneberg Home.”  Sadness came to this home in 1934 when little Arthur was suddenly taken away at the age of ten.

Arnold and Clarence were confirmed in the Mabel Lutheran church of Sutton since Eidfjord did not have a pastor at that time.  Clifford, Elmer, and Milford were confirmed in Eidfjord.  Clifford served as Chaplain in the Navy in the Pacific theatre and Elmer served in the European theatre during World War II.  Clifford went into the ministry, while Arnold, Clarence, Elmer and Milford chose farming.  Christ served as County Commissioner for several years while they lived here.

Christ and Inga celebrated their Golden Anniversary in 1961.  One year after their golden anniversary, the family was saddened by the sudden death of wife and mother.  Inga passed away July 11, 1962.  Father passed away on May 22, 1969.
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MR. AND MRS. CLARENCE GRONNEBERG

Clarence, second son of Christ and Inga Gronneberg born December 29, 1914 at Walum, North Dakota He received his high school education at Sutton, North Dakota and graduated from North Dakota State University in 1940.  Taught Vocational Agriculture at Walhalla, North Dakota for two years, where he met his wife, Della Anderson, born at Vang, North Dakota May 25, 1922.  They lived at Walhalla until Clarence decided to quit teaching for a while, moved to Bremerton, Washington, where both worked at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard for approximately four years.  Returned to Sutton and purchased the Ed.  Bailey farm south of Sutton, which they still own and operate.

Clarence decided a little sidewalk farming would be nice, so they built a home in Cooperstown in 1959.

They have two children:  

Bruce LeRoy born August 23, 1947 and Benda Lou born June 9, 1950.
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FRED HOCHBERGER

Fred Hochberger was born November 2, 1880 in Fayette County, Sumner, Iowa where he grew to manhood.  He was united in marriage September 26, 1901 to Hulda Hehmke.  They farmed in Iowa until 1917 when they moved to North Dakota, coming by rail in two immigrant cars in which contained their horses, machinery and all their household belongings.  Coming to Wimbledon, the family was taken across the country to Sutton in a school bus and settled on the John Ebentier farm one mile north and 1/4 mile east of Sutton.

Ten children were born, six boys and four girls

Walter, Aaron, Hilda, Mabel, Richard, Hugo and Elsie all born in Iowa and Laura, Charles and Clarence born in Sutton, North Dakota.

Aaron and Laura both are deceased and Fred Hochberger passed away March 7, 1926 and his was the last funeral conducted in Mabel Lutheran Church which was then located in the country, three miles south and one mile west of Sutton, before it was destroyed by fire.

Mrs. Fred Hochberger and family continued to farm one mile north and 1/4 mile east of Sutton for two years.  They then moved to the farm in Section 20, Kingsley Township and lived there until 1945, when they bought the farm in Section 17, Mabel Township.

Walter was married to Ida Dahlen in 1949 and Walter's mother moved to Sutton where she died on September 5, 1970.
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THE KJELSONS OF MABEL TOWNSHIP

Among the pioneers who settled in Mabel Township were the four Kjelson brothers who came from the wooded hills of Wisconsin to homestead on the prairie in the 1880's and 1890's.  Their parents had emigrated from southeastern Norway in 1852, had lived three years with the Ole Bull Colony in Pennsylvania, and had finally settled at Martell, Wisconsin.  Anthon, the oldest brother, had been born aboard the sailing vessel during the ten weeks long Atlantic crossing.  Their father, Ame, became a Civil War veteran and died in 1867, leaving Karen, the mother to raise eight young children.

Some of the brothers worked as young men in the lumber camps of Wisconsin and Minnesota before coming to Dakota.  Oscar, the first to come, homesteaded the NW quarter of Section 8 in 1882.  Several years later Adolph chose the northeast quarter.  In 1889 Christian filed on the northeast quarter of nearby Section 18, and two years later Anthon brought his family to his homestead on the southwest quarter.  Anthon returned to Wisconsin with his small daughter Orianna after the death of his wife in 1901.

Christian, my father, married Mina Larson at Walum in 1890 in a double ceremony shared with her sister Ida and Gunder Gunderson.  The Gunderson family moved to Modesto, California about twenty-five years later.  The twin girls, Ida and Mina, had been born in Wisconsin, also of Norwegian parents.  Their mother Olava had brought them to Walum about the year 1883 and had died a year or two later.  The girls lived with their stepfather Ole Fogderud until they married.  Christian and Mina had five children:  

Alfred, Clarence, Ernest, Lester and Myra.

Adolph married a widow, Isabelle Mayer, in 1901 at Cooperstown and acquired two stepchildren, Harold and Iva Mayer.

Oscar married Karn Christopherson in Wisconsin in 1902.  Having no children of their own, they raised her nephew, Sidney Christopherson.

The first years on the prairie must have been times of loneliness and hardship.  The settlers would search the rim of the horizon for signs of smoke or building, hoping for new neighbors.  Christian built a one-room sod shack and while alone the first winter used his eight bags of seed grain for a bed.  His possessions included a sulky wagon, one mare and one ox for transportation and sod-busting.  The prairie grass was covered with dry white buffalo bones and skulls, and dotted with circular hollows (buffalo wallows).  The settlers gathered the bones into their wagons and hauled them a distance of forty miles to Sanborn, the nearest railroad town.  Father was paid two dollars for a wagonload of bones.

The nearest town where supplies could be purchased was Courtenay, about fourteen miles.  The children walked about a mile to their one-room school.  As soon as possible the settlers formed a congregation and called a pastor.  The Kjelson brothers were charter members of Mabel Lutheran Church.  I remember riding the three miles to the country church in a horse-drawn buggy and listening to the Norwegian language service.  Father had many stories to tell of Old Pastor Thoreson, who served the congregation for thirty-three years.

My parents added to their small house one room at a time as the family grew.  Oscar and Adolph, who were more prosperous, built large new homes.  In time the Great Northern Railroad came, Sutton was built, and when I was ready for school I had the privilege of riding the bus (horse-drawn or Model T) to the two-story brick schoolhouse.

The threshing season was an exciting time for me as a child.  It began with the arrival of the steam engine pulling the big threshing machine.  I was fascinated by the cook car and begged to visit the cooks so I could see the cots where they slept and the long table and benches where the crew ate.  My uncles would come with their teams and wagons to haul grain to the granary or to Sutton.

The Kjelson brothers lived out their lives on their homesteads and were buried in Mabel Lutheran Cemetery.  Ernest, the only son to remain at home was also buried there, and the three farms were sold to people outside the family.

Survivors are Clarence of Portland, Oregon, now 82 and Myra of Deer Lodge, Montana, Clarence's four children and Myra's two.  There are nine great-grandchildren, several of whom are now parents, but none bear the Kjelson name.
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ALFRED OLSON FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Alfred Olson, Griggs Company, North Dakota homesteaded 31h miles southwest of Sutton in Mabel Township.  Alfred Olson, son of Ole and Stena Anderson came from Sweden to the Fargo area in 1881 and to Griggs Company in 1885.  Emma Charlotte Peterson came from Sweden and worked at the Kingsley farm near Sutton.  Alfred met her there and they were married in 1891.  They built a small home where they lived until 1905 when they built a larger house and barn.  Two sons and seven daughters were born to the Olsons.  Alfred went to Sweden and brought his parents to Griggs Company and they made their home with them until their death in 1907.

The children were Frank, Arthur, Edith (Mrs. Olaf Sortland), Signe, Agda (Mrs. Art Sarsten), Mabel (Mrs. Clarence Haaland), Emma, Myrtle and baby girl.  Those who survive are Agda, Mabel, Myrtle and Arthur.  Mabel lives in Fargo and the others in Cooperstown.

Many hardships were encountered in those early years using oxen and then horses.  Building a home, planting trees and etc. kept them busy.  Even driving to Fargo with horses and buggy were later pleasant memories.

July 4, 1927 Alfred Olson passed away and Frank who worked in the Sutton Bank took over the work on the farm until his death.  Mrs. Olson died in December 1950.  Arthur, Myrtle and Agda taught school a number of years and Mabel worked in a store at Sutton before her marriage.  As a family we appreciate our Christian heritage and praise God for a community where churches were established.
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PILOT MOUND TOWNSHIP

History

Petition was presented to County Commissioners to organize Township on February 25, 1887.

Pilot Mound's first Township meeting was on March 15, 1887 at schoolhouse in Section 25.  The meeting was called to order by N. E. Rukke.  John K. Olson was chosen clerk of the meeting.  Alfred Jacobson and Andrew A. Lee were chosen judges.  Edward U. Koloen was chosen as moderator.  The following were elected:  

Rolly Johnson, Chairman Supervisor

Henry Olson, Supervisor

Ole Alfson, Supervisor

John Olson, Clerk

A. P. Rusten, Treasurer

G. P. Flagstad, Assessor

Joe A. Arpagance, Justice of the Peace (2 year term)

I. E. Mills, Justice of the Peace (I year term)

Andrew A. Lee, Constable (2 year term)

Alfred Jackson, Constable (1 year term).

Name of Township was voted on:  

Pilot Mound received 25 votes, Ottawa received I vote.

Alfred Jackson, overseer of Road District No. 1

Fingar Larson, overseer of Road District No. 2

John K. Olson, overseer of Road District No. 3

I. E. Mills, overseer of Road District No. 4.

Pound for impounding animals established at Alfred Jackson, John A. Rrath, Jens Thingelstad, and Engebret Gunderson's.

Levy for general Township purpose, $75.00

Roads and Bridges, $50.00.

On motion resolved that Stock be allowed to run at large between the 15th day of November and the 15th day of April and stock to be shut up at sunset.

Next annual meeting to be held at Charley Johnson in Section 14.
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POST OFFICE

A rural post office established on Section 25-148-59 in 1882 with Isaac Mills as first Postmaster.  N. C. Rukke is credited with establishing and naming it Ottawa, Minnesota.  He was one of the first settlers in Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County or Greenwood Township as it was called then.  He also was one of the first county commissioners.  After a time Mrs. Peter Gunderson (Annie Koleen) became postmaster and it was then moved to the East of where Ottawa Church now stands.  On the flat of the hill, North part of Section 31, Lenora Township, Griggs County.  It was part dug out and pan sod house.  This was where Annie Koleen homesteaded, also where they lived after she married Peter Gunderson.  At the time the post office was in existence the Township was called Pleasant 1.  This Ottawa Post Office was discontinued in 1892.
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Butte Michaud

Butte Michaud is located 12 miles north of Cooperstown close to the Griggs-Nelson County Line.  The elevation is 1305 at the foot of the hill, and 1600 feet at the top.  Because it is so easy to identify, Butte Michaud has always been helpful as a landmark, not only for the Indians, but for the early Hudson's Bay fur traders, and also for the explorers and military expeditions that passed through this area later.

Many a fierce Indian battle was fought on this hill, and in times of peace, it was a good place for a hunter to conceal himself for a "beautiful shoot" as the Indians were thought to say.

The Sheyenne River a short distance away provided its own harvest of fur-bearing animals, and Hudson's Bay Company maintained a large post there even after the first settlers arrived.  A permanent Indian village was located across the river a mile north of the hill.

Many exploring and surveying expeditions noted this landmark, including the Nicollet -Fremont Expedition in 1839 and the Issaac J. Stevens railroad survey in 1853.  Later the permanent military trail from Fort Ransom to Fort Totten followed the same route past Lake Jessie and Camp Atchison.

The early settlers found the Indians very friendly and some of the white children spent a good deal of time at the Indian camp.

At the present time ten towns in three counties can be seen from the top of Butte Michaud on a bright day.  These are Cooperstown, Jessie, Binford and Sutton in Griggs County, Tolna, McVille, Aneta and Kloten in Nelson, and Sharon and Finley in Steele County.

*Butte Michaud Height Sheyenne River to NE 1305 feet

SE comer of Section 35 1449 feet.  Top of butte just over 1600 feet.
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Vest Prairie Norske Evangeliske Lutherske Kirke

"THE FEAR OF THE LORD IS THE BEGINNING OF KNOWLEDGE; BUT FOOLS DESPISE WISDOM AND INSTRUCTION. ”  PROVERBS 1:  

7.

The prairie settlers of the West District of Valley Grove Menighed (congregation) decided at a meeting Sunday May 31, 1885 to form for themselves a self standing congregation of their own closer to their home.

At a later meeting, held at the home of Torger O. Torgerson, in July of 1885, nine (9) families met and chose the name of West Prairie for their congregation.  They transacted other necessary business and accepted five (5) members into their new church.  At this meeting Ole Alfson donated two (2) acres of the land for the church and cemetery site, located on the NW quarter of Section 30-148-59, just 1/2 mile east of Cottonwood Post Office, or five (5) miles north and 1/2 mile east of Jessie, North Dakota.

Ole Alfson states in his memoirs of 1923 that nine families attended that July 1885 meeting and they were

Ole Olson Laatvedt med familie, Ole Alfson med familie, Herjus Osmundson med familie, Sigvart Tande, Johan Tande med familie, Torger Olsen Torgerson med familie, Ole Aslakson Hegstol med familie, Solfust A. Ness med familie.

The ninth one there must have been Pastor O. C. Gronvold, since he was serving as pastor of Valley Grove and Sheyenne Congregation.

West Prairie Congregation used the Thinglestad schoolhouse, just 1/2 mile east of the church site, for services until the present church was built in 1896.
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PIGEFORENING AND LADIES AID HISTORY

The first records we could find that the ladies had of helping were that on November 19, 1888, a motion was made to have a festival the next summer and the ladies were asked to make articles to sell for the festival and the proceeds to be used for the church.

The first records of the Ladies Aid as it was called at that time, was in 1899 and the members were

Mrs. H. Eliason, Mrs. Ole Trostad, Mrs. Gabriel Gilbertson, Mrs. Charlie Johnson, Mrs. Olaus Krogfoss, Mrs. Kari Alfson.  In 1900 Mrs. S. Ness, Mrs. Tvedte, Mrs. Ole Alfson, Mrs. Ole K. Olson, Mrs. S. Tande, Mrs. Tollef Tweed, Mrs. Erick Watne, Mrs. Janna Rorvig, Mrs. Anna Rorvig, Mrs. Marie Rorvig, Mrs. Herjus Osmundson, Mrs. Ole Thorn, Mrs. Anna Laatvedt, Mrs. Fingar Larson, Oline Aslakson, Mrs. Aslaug Olson, Mrs. Ingeborg Pederson joined in serving the Ladies Aid.

These ladies did a lot of handwork, made quilts, also silk quilts, had oyster suppers, and had annual sales, which proceeds went to pay for articles for the church.  It is interesting to note the difference in prices of merchandise, shining 15¢ per yard, gingham 8¢ per yard and 12½¢ per yard, one dozen spools of thread for 50¢, print 5¢ per yard and ribbon at 10¢ per yard.

These ladies, after helping pay for the organ, chairs, fence, pulpit, and altar and altar ring, were very generous in giving to missions both home and foreign which included

Indremissionen Hedningmissionen

Ydre Missionen

Library war fund

testaments for the soldiers

Fairview Hospital and building fund

Lake Park Orphans Home

Ladies Hall, Northfield, Minnesota and Ebenezeer Home.

The ladies aid has now been changed to A. L. C. W. (American Lutheran Church Women), and at present we have 12 (twelve) active members and 7 (seven) honorary members.  One member is the oldest confirmed member in our church being Julianna Knutson, confirmed in 1901 by Pastor Eliason.  All seven (7) members were present and honored at the 90th anniversary of West Prairie Church on May 18, 1975.  These members are

Mrs. Julianna Knutson, Mrs. Gurine Osmundson, Mrs. Neva Anderson, Mrs. Henry Knutson, Mrs. Sigvart York, Mrs. Julia Boyer, Mrs. Fred Arndt.

The following pastors have served our beloved church well these past years

Pastor Gronvold, 1885 to 1887

Pastor Larson, 1887 to 1892

Pastor H. Eliason, 1892 to 1912

Pastor K. Mjaanes, 1912 to 1916

Pastor H. Fjelstad, 1916 to 1918

Pastor H. O. Bach, 1919 to 1924

Pastor M. Tufteland, 1924 to 1956

Student pastor L. Jacobson, 1957

Pastor O. J. Sunde, 1958 to 1964

Pastor J. Knutson, 1964 to 1967

Pastor E. Nieman, 1968 to 1971

Pastor E. Okarke, 1971.

The Grace of our Lord Jesus Christ be with you all.  Amen.  Revelations 22:21.
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OTTAWA CHURCH

In 1880 people began settling in the Sheyenne River valley.  They chose the valley because here was water, wood for fuel and timber for log houses.  These people organized the Ottawa congregation because they felt a need for God's word to be taught and the Sacraments administered.

The first report found in the secretary's book was a meeting held at the Thore Olson home in February 1885.  They chose the name to be Ottawa Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran.  (Ottawa is an Indian name and means "The center of Good Things.)

On April 8, 1885 it was decided that the cemetery of 2 acres be in the SE corner of Section 25-148-59 on Hans Koloen's land.  By December 24 lots had been measured out.

On May 15, 1885, a congregational meeting was held and Pastor Lundeby was called as minister at $125.00 for 12 services.  The first officers:  

Hans Koloen, A. P. Rusten and A. H. Berg were elected deacons

John Fosholdt, secretary

John K. Olson, sexton

and John K. Olson, Ole O. Groff and Nils Torgerson were elected trustees.  By the end of 1885 28 families had joined the congregation.  The constitution was accepted on December 15, 1885.

The first ladies aid meeting of any record was held in May of 1887.  Mrs. John Olson was elected president.  The aid met once a month at the home of members, full dinners usually being served.

On May 13, 1888, the congregation decided to call Pastor O. K. Quamme.  The pastor had four services on weekdays and six services on Sundays.  He served from 1888-1904.

In 1889 a committee was elected to gather in money for a building fund.  Donations ranged from $3.00 to $7.00, with $55.00 donated in 1898, $56, more by December 1899 and by the end of 1902 there was $185.25 in the church building fund.  On March 28, 1903 a committee of three was given the authority to hire and get the church built and enclosed.  The church building fund in pledges and cash now totaled $1178.80, and the church was built in 1903.

Pastors who have served Ottawa are:  

Pastor V.  E. Boe, 1904-06

J. M. Jensen, 1906-11

T. E. Sweger, 1912-18

O. J. Ovrebo, 1919-41.  Reverend Ovrebo retired in 1941 and lived in Aneta until his death in 1944.  Mrs. Ovrebo passed away in 1957 and they are both interred at the Ottawa cemetery.

Pastors serving since 1941 are:  

Reverend E. O. Lee, 194143

Reverend William J. Madsen, 1943-48

Reverend Carl Holm, 1948-52

Ralph Johnshoy served as student pastor in 1950 and was pastor from 1953-56.  Reverend Quentin G. Quanbeck served as student pastor in 1955-56 and returned as pastor after the parish was divided and Ottawa, Ringsaker and Trinity in Sharon became the new Sharon Lutheran Parish in 1956.  Pastor Quanbeck served the parish until November 1961.  Pastor L. R. Vanderpan served from 1961-63.  Dr. Harald Dordal served as interim pastor until 1964, when Reverend Arlington Mitskog accepted the call and served until July 1968.  Dr. Harald Dordal served as interim pastor again until Reverend Hans Floan arrived and served from July 1969 to March 1972.

Ottawa celebrated its 90th anniversary on June 15, 1975.
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Lee Mill

In the 1880's there was a unique and unusual structure on the Sheyenne River just south of where the Sheyenne River enters Griggs County near the Nelson County line.  A dam had been constructed here and a water-powered mill built to grind feed and flour for the homesteaders.  It was known as the Lee Mill.  The Lee post office was nearby and also a Township by the name of Lee in Nelson County.

The dam and the mill seem to have been very well built and necessarily so to withstand the ice jams, spring floods and summer downpours.  The mill had a very high foundation and it was a tall building.  From its appearance it must have had a leg for elevating grain to bins for grinding or cleaning.  In 1910, which was a dry year, a large pulley and shaft were installed so Nick Westmann's steam engine could be used if the river should cease to flow.  In cold weather, men had to watch so the wheel wouldn't freeze up, it was better to have the wheel turning and mill grinding.  The mill was very modern for that period and the frame was solid cast.  The residence for the mill operators was on high-ground.

The dam had ice breakers to protect it during the spring ice break up.  Logs were placed across the channel, parallel to the dam beneath the spillway, to prevent water from eroding the riverbed.  The logs were probably also used as a foot bridge as there were no bridges to begin with and persons living on the east side had to carry the grain across in sacks below the dam.  Water was diverted to the large water wheel under the mill, which was on the west side of the river.

From courthouse records, some interesting information was added to the history of Lee Mill.  NELS C. RUKKE was the first owner of the mill-site of 91h acres by homestead patent dated February 5, 1884.  Mr. Rukke petitioned the court to be granted a right to erect and maintain a mill-dam across the Sheyenne of Section 1, Township 148, Range 59, Griggs County, Dakota Territory.  The dam was not to exceed eleven feet in height.  In Mr. Rukke's petition it was stated that the demand for such a mill was urgent, there being no mill for making flour or grinding feed within the County of Griggs or within a radius of forty miles of the proposed mill and dam.

Three disinterested persons to be appointed to make an assessment of any damage resulting from erection of the dam.  The three appointed were:  

George W. Pratt, Stewart McRoberts and Henry Pinkerton.  The following persons were found to be entitled to damages as follows:  

Aslak Nelson $2.00

Nels Nelson $1.00

Ben Nelson .50

and Ole C. Nelson $3.00.   .  .  .  Signed March 28, 1888.

On May 21, 1888 Nels C. Rukke and his wife gave deed to FRANK GOLDTHRITE (1/2 int.) and Hillen McCrea (V2 int.).  The Goldthrites were Canadians and experienced in mill operations.  There were several transfers of deed between Scotts and Goldthrits until September 19, 1913 when John G. and Anna Goldthrite made the deed to Ole Reinhart.  The mill site is still in the Reinhart family, now the property of Melvin Reinhart.

The mill and dam are now only a memory, but a precious one to those that remember grinding feed or flour there.  There are persons still living that remember going with their fathers to grind flour at the mill, one of these is Ed Ressler of Jessie.  The mill served a radius of more than 20 miles and served its purpose for many years.

There still are stones at the site where the mill stood, and the place where the house stood is marked by evidence of the basement.

At one time there was a picnic area beside the mill site.
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Hilltop Burial Ground

High on a hilltop on the NW quarter of Section 13, Pilot Mound Township is a small exclusive cemetery.  There are only five mounds on a level shelf that would have made an impressive location for a church.

Those graves have been unmarked through all the years since 1882 when sympathetic neighbors assembled to bury the bodies of Helgi and Barbara Olson and their two small daughters.  The family had succumbed to typhoid fever and the woman who came to care for them lost her own baby at the same time.  (Note.  The name of this woman is not known.)

The unfortunate Olson family had arrived there in a covered wagon in 1881.  Four young sons survived, Ole, Benjie, Thomas and Henry, but they were too young to handle this catastrophe by themselves.  The closest neighbors were Ellef Olson Ellefson, Sigvard Tande, Ole Alfson, Ole O. Groff, and Andrias H. Hegnia.  They all did what they could to help the orphans.

The graves were placed about a hundred yards southwest of the log cabin on a five-acre plot of flat land where some of the neighbors had hopes of building a church at some future time.  Looking back at this location almost a hundred years later, a visitor can plainly see that the graves were placed in one corner of the plot, as a church cemetery would be located.  The location is so beautiful that it is not difficult to imagine a church steeple rising only a few yards away, but this never came to pass.

Time went by and the little cemetery was neither moved nor added to.  In 1975 the neighbors decided that a marker of some kind should be erected there.  On this marker will be placed the names of all these unfortunate typhoid victims.

The stories of the survivors follow:

Thomas Olson (Taken from his obituary in 1955).

Thomas Olson came to Dakota with his parents when they settled in Griggs County in 1881.  His parents and two sisters died from typhoid fever in the summer of 1882 when he was twelve years old.  Bennie, one of his three brothers left to live with relatives in Colorado at that time, and the others got along as best they could on their own.

In 1888, Tom hauled mail from Cooperstown to the post office in the Lee Mill on the Sheyenne River near the Nelson County line.  He also hauled groceries to the Lee store for Ole Kjorvesestad.  Once he tipped over with a load of groceries coming from Cooperstown.  He was pinned under the wheels of the wagon and his leg was broken.  The injury never healed properly so he limped all the rest of his life.  After that, he started to farm.

He was married to Anna Kvale.  They had six children, Alfred, Thomas or Thelmer, Mansfield, Helga, Elaine and Odela.

At the time of Tom's death, one brother, Henry, still survived at Retsel, Washington, having gone west some time earlier.

Ole Olson, the fourth, had become quite a familiar figure in Nelson County by that time.  He was hired as a coal and water supply man for the railroad at Aneta.  He was thoroughly dependable and was always on hand to supply every train as soon as one came to town.  He was soft-spoken, easy going and liked by everyone.

He earned the name of Coal Chute Ole because his face, hands and clothes were often perfectly black from coal dust.  He was pumping water from a storage tank one day and his clothes caught in the pulley of the pump engine.  He lost his life on February 14, 1930.
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 Pilot Mound's Man of Mystery Old Pete

After the death of the Helgi Olson family a stranger came to live in their cabin.  Little was ever known about him except that he received regular checks from Norway.  Many strange tales were circulated.  Some of the story tellers believed him to be related to Old Country Royalty because he had so much money sent to him.  In his free time he was said to use quantities of grain, prunes, raisins, and potatoes to brew a potion, which was later distilled.  Many would stop by for some of his brew.

Afterwards he became ill and was taken to Grand Forks for treatment.  One of his neighbors buried his still somewhere on that hill.  Many looked for it out of pure curiosity but never found it.  Nor did they ever discover the whole truth about this well-to-do exile from Norway.
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School No. 3 of Greenwood

In a teacher's report filed with Theodore F. Kerr, County Superintendent of Schools, in 1885, some interesting information is recorded.

The School District was known as Greenwood.  It consisted of the present Townships of Pilot Mound, Tyrol, the west half of Lenora, and the west half of Romness.

The school referred to was located in Pilot Mound Township, in Section 25.  Its location was about 20 rods northwest of where the Ottawa Church now stands.  This schoolhouse also served as church and town hall.  Hitching posts had been placed on the grounds where horses could be tied during meetings.

In 1885 the school term began on June 15 and ended on August 31.  The teacher was Julia M. Jacobson.  The total number of days taught was fifty-nine, and average attendance was six pupils.  The salary of the teacher was $40.00 per month.

Four branches of learning were taught:  

Reading, Writing, Spelling, and Arithmetic.  Three textbooks were used: 

1. Reader (Appleton's)

2. Spelling (Appleton's) 

3. Robinson's Arithmetic

Four students studied written Arithmetic, the rest were taught numbers orally.

Thirteen pupils were admitted during the term.  Their ages ranged from 5 years to 24 years.  The number of days the pupils attended ranged from 5 to 58.

Names of the pupils were:  

John Syverson, Anton Knudtson, and George.  Bruseth, Otto O. Sletten, Peter Christianson, Hans H. Kollern, Edward H. Kollern, Stella Drake, Maud S. Mills, Lena Johnson, John Gunderson, Tollef Ellefson and Julia Ellefson.
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Settlers

LARS ANDERSON

Lars Anderson was born in Lanesboro, Minnesota May 10, 1890.  He came to North Dakota in March of 1903 with his parents Mr. and Mrs. Ole L. Anderson, who settled on a farm known as the J. C. Thingelstad farm in Pilot Mound Township Griggs County North Dakota In March 1908 they moved on to a farm in Willow Township known as the Ness farm where he grew to manhood.

On January 1, 1915 he married Neva LaPlante, who lived in Tyrol Township Griggs Company North Dakota.  To this union eight children were born, five preceded him in death.  Raymond Anderson who passed away in 1958 and 4 who were infants who passed away at birth.  Lars Anderson passed away July 3, 1970.  His widow Neva Anderson and three children survive:

Oliver Anderson, Cooperstown, North Dakota

Mrs. Paul Satrom (Loretta), Galesburg.  North Dakota

Carol Anderson, Fargo, North Dakota

Six grandchildren and four great -grandchildren.

He started farming in 1913 on NE quarter of 33-148-59 and NE quarter of 20-148-59.

He was active in community affairs and made his home in Pilot Mound Township until his death.
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HARRIS ASLAKSON FAMILY

Harris Aslakson, son of Ole and Gunhild Aslakson, was born at Farmington, Minnesota December 3, 1878.  He came to North Dakota with his family in 1882 at the age of four.  He married Clara Olson January 7, 1903.  She was the daughter of Beret Nelson and Ole Aspelien of Starbuck, Minnesota.  She was born May 16, 1884.  Mr. and Mrs. Harris Aslakson's first home was in Griggs County North West quarter of Section 8 on the farm homesteaded by Ole Aslakson's.  Later Harris bought land from Mr. Canning, which is the West quarter of Section 9 in Griggs County.  The Aslaksons were active in church and community affairs.  Harris was Township Supervisor for a number of years.

Children born to this union were Ovidia (Mrs. Jacob Quanbeck), Pekin, North Dakota, Hazel (Mrs. Nils Birkeland), Buxton, North Dakota, Myrtle (Mrs. Torval Stokkeland), Cooperstown, North Dakota, twin daughters Lenora (Mrs. Carl Bratager), Nielsville, Minnesota, Marion (Mrs. Norman Askelson), Gresham, Oregon, Juliet (Mrs. Edwin Palm), Cummings, North Dakota, Syvilia (Mrs. Merle Sutton), Cooperstown, North Dakota, Helen (Mrs. Kenneth Lillioien), McVille, North Dakota and Norman, Aneta, North Dakota.

Harris Aslakson died March 24, 1963

Clara Aslakson died October 31, 1971.  They are both buried at West Prairie Church Cemetery, North of Jessie North Dakota.
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OLE ASLAKSON (HEGSTAL) FAMILY

Ole Aslakson (Hegstal) son of Aslak Johnsons was born at Telemarken Norway 1853.  He arrived in New York City in 1874.  They first settled by Farmington, Minnesota.  In 1882 the Aslaksons, Osmundson and others came to North Dakota in ox drawn wagons bringing seven cattle along.

Ole Aslakson planted a tree claim in Nelson County, south of McVille, at the South East quarter of 34.  Here he built their sod house after a few years he obtained lumber for a house from the Lee Mill on the Sheyenne River.  This house was one of the first wood frame houses in Nelson County.  The children recalled the old sod house was where the family stayed during summer storms.  It seemed more secure.  A few years later the family moved this house to Griggs County North West quarter of Section 8.  The two tree claims can still be seen.

The Aslaksons were among the early pioneers who started a Lutheran Congregation south of Kloten, North Dakota.  This group split and formed West Prairie Congregation and Valley Grove Church.

The Ole Aslakson (Hegstal) children were Olina (Mrs. Hans Sten), Bucyrus, North Dakota, Harris, Aneta, North Dakota, Anne (Mrs. Ole G. Anderson), Adolph, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, Julia (Mrs. Randolph Knutson), Binford, North Dakota, Mary (Mrs. Andrew Larson), Binford, North Dakota, Albert, Camrose, Alberta Canada, and Clara (Mrs. Fred Newcomb), Vancouver, British Columbia Canada.

Mrs. Ole Aslakson died October 28, 1896.  Ole Aslakson died December 1900.  They are both buried at West Prairie Lutheran Church Cemetery North of Jessie, North Dakota.

Mr. and Mrs. Ole Aslakson (Hegstal) and Harris
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OLE T. BOTNAN FAMILY

Ole T. Botnan born April 19, 1850, at Lyngdal Numdal, Norway

Jarand Holton was born November 5, 1849, also Lyngdal, Norway

Ole and Jarand were married in 1874 and lived on the Botnan place in Lyngdal Numdal.  Seven children were born to them, three died in infancy.

In the Spring of 1893 Ole T. Botnan and son Ole O. Botnan came to the United States.  They came first to the Cooperstown area, then to Ole Moen place, who had sent for Ole T. Botnan to come here.  They stayed there for several years before filing a claim on NW quarter of Section 28 Greenwood, now being Pilot Mound.

A year later, on April 14, 1894, his wife, Jorand T. Botnan, and three daughters, came to Cooperstown, North Dakota

Jorand (Jenny) age 14 (Mrs. Louis Trostad), Guri (Julia) age 9 (Mrs. Joe O. Boyer), Marit (Mary) age 7 (Mrs. Palmer Nelson).  Four tickets from Christansand, Norway, to Cooperstown, North Dakota, two adults and two children cost $145.00.

They came to stay with HENRY MOEN in his log cabin, on South East Quarter, Section 28.  This was to be their home for some years before moving to where Ole T. Botnan homesteaded.

Ole T. broke land with one horse and a walking plow.  Their first home was one large room, and additional rooms were added later.  He also built a barn and granary.

Later years the son, Ole O. Botnan, left to work at a lumber camp in the winter months, during the summer months he worked on a farm near Hope, North Dakota.  One day while planting potatoes, he was killed by lightning, at the age of 21.

Ole and Jarand Botnan continued to live on their original homestead until 1922, when they built a home near their daughter, Mrs. Louis Trostad, where they lived until Ole's death in July 1930.  His wife Jorand died January, 1934.  Both are buried at West Prairie cemetery where they were members of the church.

Jenny married Louis Trostad and lived in Pilot Mound Township.  Julia married Joe O. Boyer and she continues to live in Pilot Mound Township, she was 90 years old last November 23, 1974, with her son Oswald Boyer, a grandson of Ole T. Botnan, who now owns the original homestead.  Mary married Palmer Nelson and moved to York, North Dakota.
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JOE O. BOYER FAMILY

In the year of 1897, Joe O. Boyer came to the United States.  Joe was born October 16, 1884 at Gudbrandsdalen, Norway.  His family in Norway consisted of three brothers and two sisters.  Joe came to the Borup, Minnesota area where he worked for the Great Northern Railway.  Some years later he came to the Cooperstown, North Dakota area where he worked on the Louis Trostad Farm.

On February 22, 1908, Joe married Julia Botnan, at Cooperstown.  Julia had come to the United States in 1894, at the age of nine, together with her two sisters and her mother.  Her father, Ole T. Botnan, had come a year earlier.  They stayed at Henry Moens.

When Julia was eleven years old, she worked for a family at Churches Ferry, North Dakota.  She also tells of the days when she and her sister, Mary, cooked for a threshing crew.  They were up at four o'clock each morning preparing breakfast and baking for the meals and lunches for the rest of the day.  She baked bread, rolls and pies every day.  When the threshing rig moved, the cook car was pulled behind the rig.  They would have to pack all the dishes and cookware to prevent breakage.  The threshing season would last around thirty or more days.  Julia later attended a sewing school in Moorhead and became an adept seamstress, sewing her own wedding dress.

Five children were born to them:  

Oswald, Binford

Signa (Mrs. John Stusiak), East Grand Forks, Minnesota

Myrtle (Mrs. Hamlin Ellefson), Aneta

Laura (Mrs. Chester Watne), Binford

Lyla (Mrs. Donald Rea), Glyndon, Minnesota

The year 1940, Joe rented land in Section 28, Pilot Mound Township, which he later bought, and farmed with his son until his death in November 1955.  His wife, Julia, continues to live on the farm with her son Oswald.  She was 90 years old on her last birthday, November 23, 1974, and is still very active.
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CHRIST CLAUSON

Kristian L. Clauson was born in 1881 in Hjelledalen, Oppetryn, Nordfjord, Norway.  He came to the home of his uncle, Iver Clauson, in Nesheim Township, Nelson County, North Dakota, April 10, 1902.  Iver had sent him twenty-five dollars for his ticket so when he arrived here he was already in debt.  The family name was Hjelle but when the ship arrived in England he learned that the English pronounced it as Hell, and although he did not speak English, he very well knew what it was.  So he took the same surname as his Uncle Iver and the name Kristian became Christ.

In 1904 Christ Clauson married Gurine Larson, eldest daughter of Fingar and Kari Larson.  She was born at Hillsboro, North Dakota, then known as Hill City, in 1881.  She came with her parents, in a covered wagon, in 1882, to what is now Nesheim Township, Nelson County.

Christ worked for his Uncle Iver in 1902-1903, and then rented his farm for five years.  Mr. and Mrs. Clauson lived on Iver's farm until 1908 when they moved to Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County.  They built up their farm on the NE quarter of Section 6.

They were the parents of five children:  

Lillian (Mrs. Melvin Nesheim) of McVille, North Dakota, Florence (Mrs. Karin Norgaard), Erskine, Minnesota, Gladys (Mrs. Helmer Swanson), Moorhead, Minnesota, Myrtle (Mrs. William Stahl), Pekin, North Dakota, and Leo, Aneta, North Dakota

In 1943 the farm was purchased by their son, Leo.

Mr. and Mrs. Clauson remained on the farm, with their son, until 1950, when they moved to McVille, North Dakota Mr. Clauson died in 1966.

Leo Clauson married Eunice Rasmusson of Hannaford, North Dakota, in 1949.  She was the daughter of Hans and Julia Rasmusson, both now deceased.  Leo and Eunice are the parents of three children, Theresa (Mrs. Lonnie Fiebiger) of Binford, and Monte and Miles.
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OLE OLSON ELLEFSON (Big Ole)

Ole Ellefson was born on October 12, 1861 in Davistown, Illinois.  While his father came to North Dakota to look for a place to homestead, Ole worked to support the family.  In 1880 he came to North Dakota with his parents, Ellef and Barbra Olson.

Ole worked for several years on the Grandin Farm near Grandin and on the Dalrymple Farm.  These were large bonanza farms.  He later worked on the Cooper Ranch near Cooperstown.

In the early 1900's Ole married Lizzie Larson and they lived on a farm in Pilot Mound Township.  Lizzie had come here from Minnesota.

Ole was assessor for several years.  He knew where all the best cooks lived and by chance would often reach their home at the noon hour.

Ole was a very superstitious fellow.  One day as he was driving to town a black cat crossed the road in front of his horses.  He promptly turned the horses around and went home again.  He was a very easygoing person and welcomed any distraction that would take him away from the hum-drum duties of everyday work.  His wife never lacked someone to take her to Ladies Aid, town or just visiting.

In June 1916 Lizzie was kicked in the face by a colt.  She was bedridden until she passed away on December 7, 1916.

In 1922 Ole married Annie Buoan.  She had four grown children:  

Hannah, Marie, Martha and Clifford.  Annie and Ole continued to live on the farm with the exception of one year, which they spent in the John Hovel house in Jessie.

Annie passed away in 1928 and Ole then stayed with his brother, Tollef, until his death on October 30, 1936.

Ole never had children.
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OSCAR OLSON ELLEFSON (Little Ole)

Oscar Ellefson was born September 23, 1872 in Minnesota.

In 1880 he came by covered wagon to North Dakota with his parents Barbra and Ellef Olson.

Little Ole had a brother called Big Ole.  The names stuck by them all their lives.  When they grew up, Little Ole turned out to be the bigger.

Ole was a man of many interests and big ideas.  For several years he owned a hotel in Aneta named the Commercial Hotel.  He also owned a drugstore and a livery stable with his brother, Tollef.

Ole loved to break horses and neighbors feared for their children because of his frequent run-aways.  He was usually the first to buy any new machine that came out.  He bought a brand new drill and hooked up four horses to go out seeding.  When he had finished filling the drill he threw the pail into the grain tank.  The horses became frightened and ended up two on each side of a big tree.  The drill could never be fixed, so he borrowed one from a neighbor to get his crop seeded.

Ole at one time owned two threshing rigs, complete with water wagon and cook car.

Early in the 1920's Ole married Carey Gilbertson.  She had two children, Grace and Elliot.  They lived on a farm in Pilot Mound Township, NE Section 21.

Carey died in a car accident in 1924.

Ole died March 28, 1926 at the age of 54.
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TOLLEF OLSON ELLEFSON

Tollef Ellefson was born on January 14, 1875 in Steams County, Minnesota.  In 1880 he came to North Dakota in a covered wagon with his parents, Ellef and Barbra Olson.  They lived in a log cabin in Pilot Mound Section 25.

Since there were so many settlers named Olson, the children all changed their name to Ellefson.

There was an Indian camp nearby and Tollef and his brothers and sisters spent many happy hours playing with the friendly Indian children.  They ran home for supper in a hurry when they saw an Indian squaw throw a muskrat on the bonfire to roast.

School records show that in 1885 Tollef went to school for five days in Greenwood Township School.  That year school was held from July 1 to August 30.  The Greenwood school was built in 1885 and stood a very short distance north of Ottawa Church.

Tollef and his brother Oscar (Little Ole) had a livery stable in Aneta.  They took the doctor on his rounds.  The driver would sleep in the bus while the doctor attended his patients - then the doctor would sleep while they drove.  Sometimes when they returned to town they would find another call, so they would change horses and go out again.

On January 22, 1912 Tollef married Nora Halvorson and they built a house on part of the homestead near the Sheyenne River.

Nora was born in Stearns County, Minnesota on October 19, 1886.  She had come to North Dakota to cook in the cook car during the harvest season.  She was a quiet, gentle person, always ready to help a friend and neighbor, and was at times called on to act as midwife when a doctor wasn't available.

From an early age Nora had suffered from a heart ailment, which kept her hospitalized frequently at McVille and at Rochester Hospital.  This was cause for much concern to her family and friends and fear to her children.  Nora passed away on April 12, 1934 at the age of 47.

Tollef continued to live on the farm until his death on April 2, 1945.

The four children all live in Griggs County:  

Bernice, married to Oriel Larson, Hamlin and Myrtle (Boyer) Ellefson, Gordon and Frances (Bloomensaat) Ellefson all live on farms in Pilot Mound.  Gordon and Bernice are the third generation to live on parts of the old homestead.  Richard and Margaret (Herberg) Ellefson live in Cooperstown.
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ELLEF OLSON TIEGEN * ELLEFSON

Ellef Olson Tiegen* was born in Dromen, Norway, 1837.  He was a fisherman by trade.  He was married in 1860 and the next year he decided to move to America.  He wanted to have his mother go, too, but could not afford to spend all his savings on tickets.  He decided to work his way across the ocean by a special arrangement of his own.  He bought tickets for his wife and his mother, and then hid in a coal bin on the ship until they were well out to sea.  Then he appeared before the captain and asked for a chance to work his way across as a seaman.  This he was permitted to do, and after an eight-weeks' journey, they landed at Quebec, Canada, on July 4, 1861.

From there they went on to Rock County, Wisconsin, where they spent one year before moving on to North Fork, Minnesota.  This was a three-hundred -mile trip in a covered wagon with a large group of immigrants who camped out all the way.

It was in November 1864, that Ellef agreed to take another man's place in the Northern Army, receiving $35 for this service.  He took part in the Battles of the Missionary Ridge and Lookout Mountain and was badly wounded.  For that reason he was in the prison hospital for four months, so did not receive his discharge until July 1865.  *

After recovering from his injuries, he farmed for some years in Minnesota, but in 1878, he once more felt an urge to move along to a new region where free land was now available.  He and Hans Halvorson set off for Dakota Territory to look for homesteads.  They followed a trail along the Goose River north of Fargo, but after a while the wilderness discouraged Halvorson and he went back home.  Ellef continued along a faintly marked trail to Northwood where he filed on a homestead a half-mile south of the town.  He quickly began to make some improvements on his free land.

• Name later changed to Ellefson.

• On April 9, 1965, Generals Grant and Lee had their final meeting at Appomatox Court House, where Lee surrendered his sword to Grant.

That fall, however, he went on a tour of discovery.  He walked west from Northwood to a trail leading south to Sanborn.  When he reached the Sheyenne River, he liked that pan of the country because it had both wood and water readily available.  For that reason he returned to Northwood and sold his homestead for $25.  Then he went south to Sanborn to take the train back to his family in Minnesota.

The following spring he walked back from Sanborn, bringing with him two axes and a saw.  The only item of food included in his supplies was salt.  He built a log cabin not far from an Indian camp where he was sometimes invited to share in the meals that were prepared in crude handmade fireplaces.  Missionaries, passing that way in 1881, complained a bit about the strong odor of skunk around this same camp, but everyone gave the Indians credit for being generous and hospitable.  *

In the spring of 1880, Mrs. Ellefson, the grandmother, and the family came to Sanborn, shipping two oxen, two cows, two pigs and a number of chickens in an emigrant car on the Northern Pacific Railroad.  They left Sanborn in a covered wagon, arriving at the claim safely.  This claim was along the river, in Section 26, would be easier to raise crops.  The first year he plowed ten acres.

In 1884 he lost his left arm in the cylinder of a threshing machine.  He was cutting bands and feeding the bundles into the machine and his sleeve got caught in some cogs so that the arm was badly mangled.  They took him to Cooperstown in a wagon box and the doctor sawed off the bone, sewed up the end, and sent him home.

* Hillsboro Banner Centennial edition, July 24, 1975.

The nearest town was Mayville, about fifty miles southeast, and in the fall Ellef would walk that far to buy the very few items of food and other supplies that they couldn't raise.  These shopping lists always included salt and sugar, but very little more.  As soon as they were able to raise their own wheat, they ground their own whole-wheat flour in a hollow rock.  From the friendly Indians, the settlers learned many aids to survival.  Trapping muskrats and other small fur-bearing animals to sell to the Hudson's Bay traders who came to spend a couple of months each winter at their permanent post along the Sheyenne River was one way.  Picking buffalo bones and hauling them to Cooperstown to sell was another.

When the West Prairie Church was organized the Ellefsons attended services there, but later joined the Ottawa congregation, which was closer to their home.  The children attended the rural school.

The family consisted of three boys, Ole, Oscar, and Tollef, also three girls, Mary, Julia, and Randy.  The family name of "Tiegen" was dropped first and after that the "Olson, " as there were a great many Olsons in the Territory.  They finally settled on "Ellefson" as the easiest one to distinguish in their Scandinavian neighborhood.

Mary Ellefson was married to Angus Blasky.  They homesteaded in Eddy County.  They had two children, Elmer and Walter.

Julia was married to Charley Johnson.  They lived in Aneta and had one girl, Carmen.

Randy was married to Julian Ree of Kloten.  They had one girl, Edna, and three boys, Adolph, Elvin and Jens.

Mr. and Mrs. Ellef Olson
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CHRISTIAN AND INGER FOSSE

It was on December 22, 1870 that Inger Martha Tobiason was born in Jevanker, Hadeland, Norway.  Her parents had her baptized in the Jevanker church on April 9, 1871.  She came to America with her Mother, four brothers and sister, they settled in Hatton, North Dakota

Now Christian Fosse was born in Vig-i-Sogn, Norway on March 25, 1858, he also came to America, settled in Iowa at the age of 17, and later moved to Hatton.  We might add here that the Fosses were members of the old Stav Church in Norway, and each member in good standing at that church had their name engraved in wood on a door and put on their pew and that's where the family would sit.  Now, that church is for tourists and the pews have been taken out, but the doors have been nailed on the walls and the Fosse Door is still hanging in this church.

Inger and Christ were married in 1886 and started farming near Hatton for 10 years.  Later they moved to Griggs County and farmed.  This was located 10 miles south from McVille.

In 1902 they built a new house on their farm, Halvor Bjerntness was the carpenter and he was also Mrs. Fosse's brother.  They also built a new barn on their farm.  After the barn was built they held a big barn dance there.  Mrs. Fosse was one of the first Presidents of the Norway Ladies Aid.  She had that job so long as no one else wanted it.  Pastor Eliason was the first minister in the Norway Church.

The Fosse farm was the stopping place for all the friends and relatives, like Mrs. Fosse always said, "Where there is room in your heart, there is always room to stay.”

After our parents retired from farming, Ted Fosse took over the farm and the folks moved to Kloten to live with Gilbert Hanson.  During their stay there the house burnt down and they lost lot of their things.  Later they moved to McVille with the Gilbert Hanson's.

Mr. and Mrs. Fosse celebrated their Golden Wedding Anniversary in 1936 on the farm with a lot of friends and relatives attending, Mr. Ingvold Larson was Master of Ceremonies.  Ted lived on the farm for several years and later sold the place to Glimsdals and they are still living there.

Christ and Inger had 10 living children, one passed away at birth.  Mrs. Christ Gronfur (Mina)

Mrs. Andrew Skaare (Dina)

Fred Fosse

Mrs. Nels Boostrom (Tina)

Mrs. Gilbert Hanson (Anna)

Mrs. August Schminginske (Marie)

Mrs. George Bakke (Hilda)

Ted Fosse

Mrs. Ed Hanson (Ida)

and Mrs. Francis Johnson (Clara).  Mina, Dina, and Fred have passed away.

Mrs. Christian Fosse passed away on February 23, 1943 and Christian Fosse passed away on March 14, 1947.
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LARS GLIMSDAL

Lars Glimsdal was born October 11, 1886 in Lom Gulbransdalen Norway a son of Ole and Maria Glimsdal.  He had one sister (Anna) and one brother (John) who also came to this country.  Lars left Norway at the age of 14 years.  He first came to Summit, South Dakota and Appleton, Minnesota in the year 1900.  He came to Griggs County and Pilot Mound Township in 1904.  He worked as farm laborer for John Ness, Trostads, Odegaards, Ellefsons, until he started farming on his own in Willow Township.  He married Malla Paulsrud June 30, 1915 at Moorhead, Minnesota She was the daughter of John and Pernella Paulsrud.  She was born April 19, 1888 in Nelson County.  They have 5 children:  

(Marian) Mrs. Ralph Nelson, Grand Forks, North Dakota

(Eleanor) Mrs. Melford Bratvold, E. Grand Forks, Minnesota

Leonard and Gordon, Aneta, North Dakota

(Ruth) Mrs. Maunce Gjelsness, Reynolds, North Dakota

They lived and farmed in Willow Township until 1934 when they moved to the A. K. Anderson farm in Pilot Mound Township.  Lars retired from farming in 1956.  He continued to live on the farm until he entered the Griggs County Nursing home in December 1971 where he lived until he passed away December 8, 1974.  Mrs. Glimsdal still lives on the farm.
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OLE GROFF

Ole Groff born in Gol, Halingdol, Norway and Bergit Rotniem born June 12, 1829 also in Gol, were married there and came to the United States sometime in the 1880's.  First to Minnesota, then to Dakota Territory, they settled near the Sheyenne River, East half of Section 24, Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County.  Later they moved to 40 acres in Lenora Township, South East corner of Section 23.

Ole Groff was a brother of Mrs. Ludvig Stokkeland's Grandmother, Lina Groff, who was married to John Johnson living near Cooperstown, North Dakota

Ole Groffs had seven children:

Käri married Thorbjorn Huso from Telemark, Norway.  They lived near Aneta in Lenora Township.

Barbo married a Hanson and lived in Minnesota.

Belsey married Sveinum Knutson.  They lived near Aneta and later moved to California.

Ole married Bella Lestul.

Mabel married a Helgeland near Kloten, North Dakota

Seword married a Kloten lass, lived in Tacoma, Washington.

Engebret lived in Minnesota.

Berget died in 1893 and Ole Groff married again to a Swedish girl, Belsey.  They lived on this farm of 40 acres.  They had one son:  

Charley.  Ole Groff raised mostly cattle and in her youth, Mrs. Ludvig Stokkeland herded cattle for them.

Ole Groff died July 22, 1926.  89 years old.

Belsey Groff died March 23, 1924.  79 years old.

Belsey was a midwife and was on hand when Manley Torgerson was born at the home of Nels Torgerson.
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ALFRED JOHNSON

Alfred Johnson was born in Sweden and came to America as a young man.

Alfred married Lena Johnson.  She was the daughter of Syver Johnson, who had a dugout near the Sheyenne River.

Lena and Alfred had a small house in SE quarter of Section 34.  In 1914 they built a new home just across the road from the old one.  It was one of the largest and most elaborate homes in Griggs County.  Children who visited were impressed by the two stairways to the second story and a large moose head, which was on a wall in the front hallway.

Lena was an invalid for several years before her death.

Alfred passed away in April 1945.

Lena and Alfred had eight children.  Two girls died in infancy.  The boys:  

Adolph, Clarence, Reinhart, Edwin, Leonard and Manfield.
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ASLAX JOHNSON

Aslak Johnson came to New York City with his children in 1874.  His wife died in Norway.  He had a stepson Avien Hanson and a son Ole Aslakson (Hegstal).  Aslak was born in Telemarken, Norway, date unknown, as the church with records was destroyed by fire.  He lived to be between 103-109 years old.  He came to Griggs County around 1895 by train to Cooperstown.  He made his home with the Ole Aslakson (Hegstal) family who had come to North Dakota in 1882.  He became a United States Citizen November 18, 1897.  He was blind quite a few years before his death January 2, 1903.  He is buried at West Prairie Church Cemetery north of Jessie, North Dakota.
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THE ADLER HEGNA FARM

This farm was first settled by Ole O. Groff on the NE quarter of Section 24, in 1884.  Thor Olson also homesteaded here on Section 24.

There is also evidence of two cellars where earlier settlers had lived for a short time.

An Indian camp was located on this farm.  The Hudson's Bay Company had a trading post west of where the present buildings are now located.
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HALVOR HEGNA

The first settler to homestead on the SE quarter of Section 13 was Andrew Lee in 1881.  Rolley Johnson settled here in 1883 on the NE quarter of Section 24 in Pilot Mound Township.  Later Halvor Hegna bought the land.  Mr. Hegna came from Hayfield, Minnesota, which is in the southeastern part of the state.  He came here with his parents, Andreas and Attonette Hegna, in 1881.

Halvor Hegna married Nina Kvale from Norway, and they had eight children:  

Adler, Alvina, Agnes, Johnny, Olene, Hilda, Lillian and Manley.
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HANS H. KOLOEN

Hans H. Koloen was born in Gulbransdalen, Norway, August 18, 1865.  He came to America with his parents in 1872 where they lived in Fillmore County, Minnesota, 10 years, before coming to Pilot Mound Township in 1882.

His first schooling was in a school built in 1885, called Greenwood.  This school was close to his home, just north of the Ottawa Church.  He was 20 years old at that time and attended school eight days.  School was held from June 15 until August 31.  The teacher was Julia M. Jacobson.  The County School Superintendent was Theodore F. Kerr.  They studied reading, writing and arithmetic.

Most of the money he made as a boy was earned by trapping.  Muskrats were plentiful and he got 5 cents for each muskrat.  Other fur bearing animals were also plentiful.

Hans H. Koloen married Anne Amundson in 1892.  They lived in a sod and log cabin near his parents home.  The Koloens were parents of six children, five daughters and one son, Harry, who passed away while young.

Louise married Albert Arneson, and made their home in Washington.  Ruth married Arthur Vallem and lived in Wisconsin.  Hazel married Olaf Gunderson.  The Gundersons are living on the farm settled on by his grandfather and homesteaded by his father.  Alice married Melvin Seim and lived in Oregon.  Florence married Olaf Reinhart.  They lived in Romness Township before moving to Cooperstown.

Mr. Koloen donated the land for the building site for the Ottawa Church and cemetery.  He was among those who hauled the lumber by horses and wagon from Cooperstown for the church building.  He also helped with the building of the church, and was active in other church work.

Besides farming, Mr. Koloen owned and operated a steam-threshing outfit.

A picnic area, closer to the Koloen farm than the first one, became a popular gathering place for social doings, and Sunday afternoon ball games.  The largest attendance at this picnic area was in June 1927 when a new automobile was given to Reverend Ovrebo, who served there for many years.

The Koloens spent several years with their daughters in Montana and Oregon.  Hans passed away in 1933, Mrs. Koloen in 1950.
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HANS N. KOLOEN

Hans N. Koloen, (Norwegian spelling, Kolun), was born in Norway in 1814.  His wife, Kati, was born in Norway in 1817.  They came to America in 1872, settling in Fillmore County, Minnesota.  Their five children, Syver, Edward, Hans H. , Anna and Anne came with their parents.

In 1882 the Koloen family came to Griggs County.  They homesteaded on the SE of Section 25, Pilot Mound Township.  Their supplies were procured either from Sanborn or Portland.  These trips would take several days.  Their home was a two-room house.  Their son, Hans H. and family, lived in a log and sod house nearby.

Mr. Koloen gave two acres of land, measured out in chain lengths, to the school known as Greenwood, located just north of the Ottawa Church.

An old Indian trail went close by the house.  There was an Indian camp just across the river from their home.  These Indians were very friendly.

There was a picnic ground just north of the Ottawa Bridge.  This picnic ground was used for various gatherings, including revival meetings.  Later an area nearer the Koloen buildings was used for picnics.  This was referred to as Koloen Park.

The Koloen family were among those who organized the Ottawa congregation.

After Hans N. Koloen's death in 1892, his widow, Kari, made her home with her son, Hans H. until her death in 1900.
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RANDOLPH KNUTSON 

Randolph Knutson was born September 23, 1884 in Norway.  He came to the United States in 1904.  He worked on different farms in the Binford area while staying with his brother, Tom.  At the present time he has three living brothers, Ole Knutson of Hannaford, Ingvall and Severen in Minnesota.

In 1908 Randolph Knutson was joined in matrimony with Julia Aslakson at the West Prairie Church by Reverend Henry Eliasen.  For seven years they lived on the Morris Roach place, now owned by Elmer A. Miller.  They moved to the Hans Helland place five miles west of Binford, later to the Lewis Berg farm which they rented.  They purchased a farm one mile from the Berg Farm.

Mr. and Mrs. Knutson were the parents of ten children, they are:  

Mrs. Reuben (Luella) Olson, Binford

 Irving, Fargo

 Mrs. Paul (Harriet) Wickersham, California

 Willard, Fargo

 Mrs. Alfred (Eunice) Jenson, Fargo

 Mrs. Norman (Phyliss) Barnard, Fargo

 Harland, Binford

 Mrs. Leon (Joyce) Robinson, Moorhead, Minnesota.  They lost two children, Raymond Knutson who passed away in 1950 and Mrs. Willard (Ruby) Anderson, a few years later.

Randolph Knutson passed away in 1962.  Julia Knutson will be 90 years old on December 9, 1975.  She still lives on the home place with her son Harland and family.
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ANDREW LARSON

Andrew Larson (1888-1974) was the son of Mr. and Mrs. Tonness Larson of Domesgaard, Norway.  At the age of eighteen he left Norway and came to Chicago, Illinois where he worked in a furniture factory for a couple years and then came to Pilot Mound Township in Griggs County in 1906.  November 20, 1909 he married Maria Aslakson (1890-1968) daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Aslakson, at West Prairie Parsonage, and started farming on the Ole Alfson farm.  In 1931 moved to the Thinglestad farm until 1944 and then bought the farm north of Jessie where they lived until the time of his wife's death.

Mr. Larson was elected to Kirkesanger (chanter) in the West Prairie Church for many years.  The Larsons were faithful church workers and members in the church.  Mrs. Larson had a life membership in both the church and Ladies Aid.

Arthur (1910-1956) married Verna Bjornson December 16, 1934 - died 1974.

Oriel (1911) married Bernice Ellefson 1939.

Helmer (1915) married Ella Larson October 20, 1973.

Evelyn (1916) married Helmer Pittenger June 6, 1939.

Bernice (1917) married Raymond Michaelis 1941.

Marcella (1921) married Harold Michaelis 1943.

Agnes LaVain (1924) married Arthur Sola, 1947.

Alna (1930) married Calvin Vincent, 1950.
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CLARENCE LARSON

Clarence Larson, youngest son of the late Fingar and Kari Larson, was married to Hazel Koloen, Binford, North Dakota, on June 9, 1931.  She is the daughter of the Mr. and Mrs. Syver N. Koloen.

The Larsons have one daughter, Betty, born March 19, 1932, a Medical Lab.  Technician.  She married Osborne Brekken of Pekin, North Dakota on October 7, 1951.

Clarence purchased the estate and has lived on the farm all his life.  He retired from farming in 1972, but still lives on the farm in the house they built in 1963.

The Larsons have three grandchildren.  Rodney, born in 1952

 Patti in 1958

 and Janet in 1960.

Their grandson Rodney Brekken married Miss Jane Henningsgard, Tolna, North Dakota, on June 24, 1972.  In the spring of 1973 they came to rent his grandfather's farm, living in a trailer house.  On August 4, 1974, Kristopher Allen Brekken was born.  He is the 5th generation to live on the farm.
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FINGAR LARSON

Fingar Larson of Raaen married Kari Erickson of Updahl, Numedal, Norway.  In 1881 they came to Hill City, Dakota Territory, now known as Hillsboro, North Dakota He worked on a farm for $8.00 a month.

In the summer of 1882, he walked to Nelson County carrying a scythe to put up hay for the winter.  In the fall they bought a team of oxen, a covered wagon, and a few things they would need and moved to their preemption in Nelson County, Section 33.  It was October, and the day after they arrived there was a snowstorm.

Mrs. Larson did not feel safe in the covered wagon, so they tipped the box over and lived under it until they got the sod shanty built.  Frost was on the ground each morning.  They had one girl, Gurina, 10 months old.

They bought a cow that was to have a calf in 2 months, but this blessed event failed to occur.  So milk was bought from a neighbor and carried home.  It was so cold that it froze and busted the jug.  They later remedied that by freezing it first in a container, then carrying it home to thaw.

In 1884 they moved one mile east to Section 5 in Pilot Mound Township in Griggs Company, where he had a homestead and built a log cabin.  The Severson Brothers helped him build, this being heavy work.  He later built onto the house and built a barn.  Two barns were lost in prairie fires.

Potatoes and milk was the main diet through the first tough years.  Ten years passed before they had a fair crop.  In 1888 the crop froze in August, in spite of smudges burnt from flax straw.

Mr. Larson hauled grain to Cooperstown.  The 20-mile trip took all day.  He also drove to Larimore for supplies.

They walked 5 miles for the mail to Lee post office by the Sheyenne River after it was established.

In 1927 Mr. Larson bought the first combine used in eastern North Dakota from his son Martin, who sold them in western North Dakota Neighbors laughed, thought it would never work.  The elevators were also disbelieving at first, but found out that not one bushel was lost from spoilage.  The combine was shipped to Cooperstown.  Ingvald and Clarence went to bring it home.  A farmer saw it coming down the road, came out and asked what it was.  After telling him, he shook his head and said it would never work.

The Larsons were members of the West Prairie Lutheran Church until 1900 when the Norway Lutheran Church was organized.

The family had 14 children.  Mr. Larson died in 1928 at the age of 68.  Mrs. Larson died in 1959 at the age of 98 years, 10 months.  She spent her last years with sons and daughters.

Clarence, the youngest son, spent all his life on the farm.  He purchased the estate and married Hazel Koloen of Binford, North Dakota on June 9, 1931.  They have one daughter, Betty who is married to Osborne Brekken of Pekin, North Dakota They have three children, Rodney, Patti and Janet.

Clarence retired from farming in 1972.

On June 24, 1972 Rodney Brekken married Jane Henningsgard of Tolna, North Dakota They came in 1973 to rent the farm.  On August 4, 1974 Kristopher Allen Brekken was born.
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OLE E. LARSON FAMILY

Ole E. Larson was born in Sweden, March 18, 1864.  Mrs. Larson was born in Norway, January 17, 1870.  Mr. and Mrs. Larson came from Middle River, Minnesota, to North Dakota in 1923.  They farmed in Section 21, Pilot Mound Township, on the Tollef Ellefson farm.  Later they moved to Willow Township where they farmed the Osmundson farm.  The Larsons were members of the West Prairie Lutheran Church of rural Binford.

There were two girls in the family.  Margaret married Orville Sondreal.  They live in LaCrosse, Wisconsin.  Bertha married Clifford Lundstrom of Finely, North Dakota and they are engaged in farming there.

Mrs. Larson passed away in 1946, her husband in 1949.
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HAROLD EDWARD MICHAELIS

Harold Edward Michaelis and Marcella Jeanette Larson were married June 10, 1943 in West Prairie Church, Pilot Mound Township.  We lived and farmed Harold's Father's farm (Herman Michaelis) in Bald Hill Township for two years.

In the spring of 1946 we moved to our present farm, known as the Thinglestad farm, which we bought in 1947 in Pilot Mound Township.  Harold worked for a short time at the Anaconda Cooper Mining Company in Montana.
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EMIL A. MILLER

Emil A. Miller came from Lansboro, Minnesota with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Hans Miller and three brothers and two sisters in 1886 and they started farming a few miles north of Jessie, North Dakota.  He also worked at the R. C. Cooper Ranch for a while.  He later moved to the northern part of Pilot Mound Township where he was engaged in farming the remainder of his life.

In 1905 he married Anne Knutson from Gudbransdalen, Norway.

Mr. Emil A. Miller passed away in 1958.  Mrs. Emil A. Miller passed away in 1973.
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PETER MILLER FAMILY

Grandfather and Grandmother, Mr. and Mrs. Hans (Moller) Miller are believed to have been married in Norway, coming to Minnesota, and later to North Dakota.  They lived on Section 32, Pilot Mound Township.  Mr. and Mrs. Miller were the parents of four sons, Peter, Anton, Emil and Henry, and two daughters, Sorine and Hannah (Mrs. Hans Helland).

Hans Miller's son, Peter, was born in Gulbransdalen, Norway.  He came to Wisconsin first and then to Minnesota.  After some time he came to Jessie, North Dakota, living on a farm south of that town at one time.  Peter worked at the Cooper Ranch in the early days.  He later married Marit Flagstad (also born in Gulbransdalen, Norway), and they farmed in Section 20-148-59, in the early eighties, where four children were born.  They were Henry, Carl, Theodore and Clara.  They later moved to Section 7-148-59, where five children were born, beside the one who died in infancy.  These were Hilma, Marie, Henry, Elmer and Arthur.  All the children attended school No. 4 in Pilot Mound Township.

Peter Miller plowed land with walking plow and horses.  He later owned more than thirty horses, besides some cattle.  The Indians seemed friendly but were curious, looking in through the settler's windows.

Peter Miller's son, Carl, was married to Mary Donahue of Pekin, North Dakota.  They were the parents of three sons and two daughters, Marian, Florence, Robert, Darwin and Duane, (twins).  Marian taught school in Romness Township and married Trygve Thompson of Cooperstown.  They have five daughters.  Florence worked at the Binford Bank.  She married Robert Stahl of Binford, North Dakota, and have seven children.  Robert Miller served in World War II and is now with Northwestern Bell Telephone Company, at Fargo.  Captain Duane Miller married Gayle Evans of Silver Springs, Maryland.  They are presently stationed in Japan and have one daughter, Laura.  Darwin teaches school in Moorhead, Minnesota, in Senior High.  He is married to Karen Froiland, of Aberdeen, South Dakota, and have two daughters.

Hilma Miller and her husband had two sons.  Edwin Stromme served in Okinawa in World War II.  He was married to Eleanor Thompson of Binford.  Their other son was Howard.  Howard Stromme served in the Army in Italy and Korea.  He is a veteran of more than twenty years of service.  He seen a lot of action and was wounded.  Howard was married to Carol Aarestad of Cooperstown.

Elmer Miller married Edith Hanson from Canada.  They were the parents of five children.  Darrell is married, and has one son.  He served in the Army in Vietnam.  Keith lives in St. Paul, Minnesota He works in a trucking station, is married to Velma Saxberg of Cooperstown.  They have two children.  Nancy is married and lives in Minneapolis.  Nancy Miller and her husband have two daughters

 Norman Miller is married, lives in Fargo, and works at Nodak Company.  Mavis Miller works in Cooperstown as a Nurse's Aid.

Arthur Miller lives at Red Willow Lake.  He manages a riding stable there.  Arthur married Beuhal Moen of Aneta, North Dakota They are the parents of two children.  Their son Dennis is Principal and Coach at Starkweather, North Dakota Dennis married Vickie Quick of Starkweather.  They have three daughters.  Arthur Miller's daughter, Dianne, a nurse, married Darell Evanson, a schoolteacher.  They are now living at Minot where Mr. Evanson is a librarian at the school there.  They have one son and two daughters.

The present occupants on the Peter Miller farm are Henry and Marie Miller.
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ALMER MYER

Almer Myer was born in Fillmore County, Minnesota in 1882, after working on the Section as a Railroad hand for a few years, married Alva Olson, and decided to move West.

Almer H. Myer, his wife Alva and son Milo, age two, moved from Whalen, Minnesota in 1910 to Binford, North Dakota, and worked on a farm for Nels Halvorson.  It was customary for whole families to work for a farmer in those days, when many horses, cows and other domestic animals made hours of chores necessary.  (Now the Henry Miller farm.)

The family was able to put together sufficient funds to rent the Christianson Farm by 1913 where they lived for about 5 years.  Muriel was born there in May of 1913.  Another farm offered greater opportunity (now called the Skarsbo Farm) and they lived there until 1920.  Son, Vernon was born there in 1916.

Vernon died in the flu epidemic of 1918.  Many memories remain of the hardships of that epidemic.

Almer Myer passed away in December of 1957.  His funeral at West Prairie Church was attended by his many friends.  He is remembered by all for his constant interest and concern for the well-being of others.
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OLE AND KARI OPHAUG

Ole and Kari Ophaug together with four sons, one daughter came to America from Lom Gudsbrandsdalen Norway in the late fall of the year 1891.  Two sons and two daughters had come years earlier.

They arrived at Michigan, North Dakota by train.  Jens Lindrud offered to give them a ride.

They arrived late in the evening at Jens, so they stayed there overnight.  Mr. Lindred took them to Ole Sloulins where they stayed a few days.

Sloulin took them down to their daughter and son-in-laws, ANNA AND OLE KROKE, who lived by the Sheyenne River, Pilot Mound Township.

They stayed with them and also with ELEF OLSON for a while.  Elef was also another friend from Norway.

But with their large family they had to look for a place of their own to live.

Being so late in the fall they did not have time to build a house so they made a dugout in a hill by the Sheyenne River close to the home of Elef Olson.  At this writing 1975 there is still evidence of the dugout.  They covered it with logs, branches, grass and dirt.  They kept a cow in another dugout in the riverbank.

In the spring Ole and Kari homesteaded on NE quarter of Section 25-148-59 Pilot Mound Township Griggs County where they lived until 1900 when they sold their farm and went to Nelson Company to rent the farm of their son Erick and wife Marit who had homesteaded there four years previous.

He passed away at the age of 94 and was laid to rest beside his wife at Our Saviors Cemetery, Rural Kloten, North Dakota
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SYVER ODEGAARD FAMILY

Syver Odegaard, one of eight children, was born in Lom, Gulbransdalen, Norway, February 16, 1878, and came to Cooperstown area in 1900 to his brother, Ole.  In Norway the family name was pronounced Storustodegaard.  Upon coming to America the first part of the name was dropped.

Syver started farming in 1904 in Pilot Mound Township.  He married Malina Trostad, January 6, 1906.  She was one of seven children, and was born November 19, 1882, to Ole and Ronnaug Trostad in Norway.

The Ole Trostad family came to America in 1884, to homestead in Pilot Mound Township.  Their first home was near the Sheyenne River.  Then they moved to a log cabin near by, just west of the Tande Bridge.  They later moved to a farm on NE quarter of Section 22, Pilot Mound Township, where they lived until their deaths.  Theodore Trostad now owns this farm.

Syver and Malina Odegaard started farming the east half of Section 11, Pilot Mound Township, called the Parson Place.  They later moved to the west half of Section 15, Pilot Mound Township, which they purchased from Hammer and Condy Company They were members of the West Prairie Church, and are buried in the West Prairie cemetery.  They had three children, O'Della, Helen and Raymond.

Submitted By Raymond Odegaard
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JACOB PELLA FAMILY

Jacob and Mary Druschba Pella moved to Griggs County from Morrison County, Minnesota, in 1907.  They resided north of Jessie for a short time, and then moved to the Perchert farm west of Cooperstown.  For a few years they lived on the Paul Doll farm in Nelson County.  In the 1902's they lived on the "Johnson Farm" in Pilot Mound Township.

Jacob Pella was born July 24, 1868 in Germany and came to the United States in the 1890's.  Family legend says that he left hurriedly to escape court-martial for taking part in the whipping of a hated army officer.

He married Mary Druschba Peschel, a young widow, at Buchman, Minnesota

The winter after arriving in Griggs County, Jake's Norwegian friends told him how good lutefisk tasted.  Liking fish, he decided to buy some but neglected to ask how to prepare it.  Mrs. Pella had never seen anything quite like it before, but she prepared it for dinner like other fish, by pan-frying it!  Later she learned how to serve it and the family included lutefisk, along with other Norwegian foods, in their diet.

There were eight children in the Pella family:  

Louis, Barbara, Anna, Margaret, Caroline, Elizabeth, Emma, and Sophia.

Jacob and Mary Pella lived in Jessie after leaving the farm.  Jake died in 1945, and Mary died in 1954.  They had fourteen grandchildren, only one, Mrs. Gerald Dahl, lives in Griggs County.
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LEANDER QUANBECK FAMILY

Leander Quanbeck, oldest son of Mr. and Mrs. William Quanbeck, was born in Pilot Mound Township.  In 1915 the family moved to a farm near Bowbells in Burke County, where he finished the elementary grades and graduated from high school.  Leander graduated from Augsburg College in 1931 and began teaching at Zahl, North Dakota.

The Quanbeck family returned to their Griggs County farm in 1934.  Leander taught several terms in rural schools in addition to assisting his father with farming.

Leander Quanbeck was married to Anne Collins on July 19, 1938.  Miss Collins had come from Cass Lake, Minnesota, in 1924, making her home with her sister and brother-in-law, Reverend and Mrs. Marcus Tufteland.  Her parents had resided at Mekinock and Emerado, North Dakota, before returning to Cass Lake, Minnesota, where she graduated from high school.  Miss Collins worked in the Superintendent of School's office and was bookkeeper for a department store before coming to North Dakota.  After attending Mayville Teachers College, Miss Collins taught in a number of rural schools before her mar-

Mr. and Mrs. Quanbeck farmed for a few years south of McVille, and then in 1943 they moved to his father's farm, which they later purchased.  They were the parents of three children

 Orville, born in 1941, Donald, born in 1944 and Mary Evelyn in 1946.

In 1954 the Quanbecks returned to the teaching profession.  Mr. Quanbeck was Superintendent of Schools at Alkabo and Norwich while Mrs. Quanbeck taught in the elementary grades.  From Norwich they moved to Garrison, North Dakota, where they purchased a farm and their three children finished high school.
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SAM G. QUANBECK

Sam G. Quanbeck was born May 11, 1887, at Porter, Minnesota In 1895, his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Jorgen Quanbeck immigrated with their family to Griggs County.

Sam G. Quanbeck resided in Griggs County from that time until his death in 1958, except for four years, 1915-1919, when he homesteaded near Nashua, Montana.

In 1911 Mr. Quanbeck married Nettie Twedt, who was born and reared near Farmington, Minnesota.  They became the parents of three daughters.  Clenora, director of the Library at Mayville State College, Mayville, North Dakota

 Martha (Mrs. Bruce May), Lansford, North Dakota, and Lillian, librarian at the Public School, Buhl, Minnesota

Mr. Quanbeck served as Clerk of Pilot Mound Township from 1920-1957.  He also served on the school board in his district for a number of years.

Mr. Quanbeck died unexpectedly at the farm home in Pilot Mound Township, January 22, 1958.

Mrs. Sam Quanbeck (Nettie) makes her home with her daughter, Clenora, at Mayville.  She is now (1975) 93 years old.
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WILLIAM W. QUANBECK

William W. Quanbeck was born near Minneota, Minnesota, May 10, 1881.  Mr. Quanbeck came to North Dakota with his uncle Jorgen in an immigrant car, which was loaded at Marshall, Minnesota.  At Sanborn the livestock were unloaded and herded on the prairie over the weekend, waiting for the Monday train to Cooperstown.

Mr. Quanbeck's mother, a widow, homesteaded on the SW quarter of Section 3, Pilot Mound Township, in 1892.  His brother, Hans, was three years younger than Willie.  At that time Cooperstown was the nearest town arid all supplies were purchased there.

Mr. Quanbeck was 17 when he bought the quarter adjoining his, mother's homestead.  Many were the stories about floods by the Sheyenne, prairie fires, the trips to the Lee Mill, Lee post office and the coming of the railroad to Aneta and Kloten.

Besides attending schools in Nelson and Griggs County, Mr. Quanbeck attended Augsburg Academy in Minneapolis.  He was a confirmed member of the New Luther Valley church now located at McVille, North Dakota

Mr. Quanbeck was married to Alma Twedt at Farmington, Minnesota on December 28, 1905.  In 1908, they built their home on Section 10, where they lived until 1915.

While living in Griggs County the following children were born

 Leander, Clara (Mrs. Ralph Thompson), Orlin, Wilma (deceased - 1918 influenza epidemic).  After the family moved to Bowbells, Evelyn, Edna and Clarence were born.

Alma passed away at the home in McVille in 1964.  William celebrated his 94th birthday on May 10, 1975 at his home.  Unable to leave the car, he enjoyed visiting with those who came to the car to see him at the 90th anniversary of West Prairie Church, May 18, 1975.

Mr. William W. Quanbeck died July 16, 1975, at McVille.
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OLE REINHART

Ole Reinhart was born in Lom, Gudbransdalen, Norway on July 5, 1870.  When quite young he came to America with his parents.

As a young man Ole homesteaded near Sutton.  He drove with horses ana buggy to Ada, Minnesota to visit Sina Boyer, a young lady who later became his wife.  They were married on January 1, 1901.

Sina Boyer was born on August 21, 1877 in Sjak, Gudbransdalen, Norway, and came to America when young.

After Sina and Ole were married they lived for a time in Grigla, Minnesota.

In 1907 they came to North Dakota and bought the Rukke farm, which is on the Sheyenne River near the Lee flourmill.  Across the river was a beautiful picnic spot, which was often used by the pioneers for picnics and outdoor events.

Ole and Sina had seven children - Obert died in infancy

 Severin and Olaf (deceased)

 Ralph, Melvin and Selma (Mrs. Ted Trostad) live in Griggs County and Gladys (Mrs. Gulbran Ramstad) lives in Ada, Minnesota.  The youngest son, Melvin, is now owner of the home farm.
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JOHAN (JOHN) TANDE

Johan (John) Olsen was born at Broskerud, Norway, May 24, 1828.  He married Kristine Solberg in 1854.  They had five children:  

Sigvart, Ole, Julia, Karen and Helen.

Johan Olsen purchased the Tande place, in Norway, in 1868 and lived there until 1878.  While living there they took the name of the farm, "Tande.”  It was a well built up place, with a large fruit orchard.  Johan Tande lost the place because he engaged in timber speculation.  He later learned he couldn't float the logs down the river because of several falls.  It was too expensive to haul them.  Knute Solberg, Mrs. Tande's brother, paid off the mortgage, so the farm is still in the family.

On July 30, 1878, John (Johan) Tande and family sailed for America.  They arrived in Philadelphia on August 14, 1878, and in Grand Meadow, Minnesota, three days later.

On July 13, 1882, Mr. Tande bought 160 acres, being the E 1/4 Section 12, for $1.25 per acre, and made full payment October 4, 1884.  Here John Tande, Sigvart, and later his wife and family lived in a sod shanty on the banks of the Sheyenne River.

Once during a flood in the early eighties, John and Sigvart sat on top of the sod shanty until Gunder and Louis Trostad came in a wagon box with holes stuffed with rags, to rescue them.  Trostads went down there three times before John consented to leave.

John Tande filed a homestead claim of 160 acres on Section 24-148-60, Willow Township, on November 11, 1889, when Benjamin Harrison was president.  They built a small house and lived there until John died in 1892.
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SIGVART J. TANDE

Sigvart J. Tande was born September 18, 1858 in Hedemarken, Norway.

Sigvart's education was received in the common and high schools of Skarpsno and Ringsaker.  He also attended the Agricultural College in 1876 and 1877.  He was confirmed in 1873 in a class of 155 at Trondhjem, Norway.

Sigvart Tande came to America in 1878 to Grand Meadow, Minnesota.  He came to Griggs County in 1881.  He sold books, taught parochial school, and worked for farmers, including R. C. Cooper.  Sigvart and his father went to Mayville to work during threshing.  Sigvart became a citizen of the United States at Cooperstown June 12, 1888, after having made his Declaration of Intention in Minnesota.

Sigvart Tande filed a homestead claim on Section 3-148-59, containing 137 acres on March 8, 1890 during the presidency of Chester A. Arthur.  Sigvart and some of sisters and brothers lived there for a time.  This land now belongs to Ralph Reinhart.

At his brother, Ole's, wedding Sigvart as best man, met Mathilda Inga Halvorson.  They were married shortly afterwards on January 8, 1895 by Reverend Bue in Bear Creek Lutheran Church at Grand Meadow, Minnesota Mathilda was born December 9, 1864 and was a seamstress in a St. Paul hotel.  Her parents, Anders and Aba Halvorson came from Valdres, Norway.  Sigvart bought 160 acres in Section 12, from M. W. Skinner on March 8, 1895, for $585.54.  The small house, granary, and sod stable were on the land.  That same year, 1895, there was a prairie fire while Sigvart was in Cooperstown.  Mathilda fought the fire around the sod stable.  At this time she was carrying her first child.  She took their cow along to an island in the river, and stayed there until Sigvart came home to plow around the buildings.  The fire never did reach the house.

During the next thirteen years seven children were born to the Tandes:  

Albin, Cora, Melvin, Hjalmer and Freda, two dying in infancy.  Tonette Hegna, a midwife, attended the births.

Albin attended a school one-half mile cast of the farm with Clara Nelson as his first teacher.  Then the schoolhouse was moved away and school was held in a room at Tom Olsons for about two years until a schoolhouse was built.  Mathilda Tande boarded the teacher for many years for $3 to $4 a month.

Sigvart continued buying land from his brother, Ole Tande, the Trostad heirs, and Louise French until he had a farm of 600 acres.

Some of the first members of the West Prairie Lutheran Church were:  

John Tande, Andreas Tande and families, and Sigvart J. Tande.  Peter Tande was the first baby baptized.  Sigvart led the singing in the church and also taught parochial school.  He played the violin.  They drove to church in a surrey.

Later Sigvart Tande and family joined the Valley Grove Lutheran Church and Mathilda was one of the charter members of that ladies aid.  When that church was moved to Kloten they became members of the Sundahl Lutheran Church at Aneta.  The children attended Norwegian parochial school every summer.

Sigvart J. Tande served as school clerk for ten years and Township clerk for ten years.  He served as chairman of the County Board for five years.  Mr. Tande, a republican, was elected to the Legislative Assembly in 1910, where he served one term.

Mr. Tande died suddenly of a heart attack, at his home October 2, 1916.  His sons continued to farm and his wife, Mathilda, lived there until her death January 13, 1932.

Survivors include Melvin Tande and family, Aneta, who still reside on the 840 acre farm

 Albin goes to Arizona for the winter

 Mrs. Guy (Cora) Lee, McVille, North Dakota

 Hjalmer Tande, Moorhead, Minnesota

 and Mrs. Anton (Freda) Peterson, Devils Lake, North Dakota
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KNUD THOMPSON

Knud Thompson was born February 2, 1850 at Christiania, Dane County, Wisconsin.  He was the son of Tosten Olson who was born in Norway and came to Wisconsin in 1844.

In 1866 Knud left home and went to Fillmore County, Minnesota, then in 1872 to Vermillion, South Dakota.  He returned to Minnesota where in December 1876 he married Anne Odegard, a twin sister of Mrs. John Syverson.  These ladies were sisters of John T. Odegard.  Mr. Thompson with Mr. Odegard as his partner started the first store in Cooperstown.

Mr. and Mrs. Thompson were the parents of four children:  

Theodore, Adolph, Grace and Oscar J. Theodore and "Ade" came here with their parents.  Daughter Grace was the first girl born in Cooperstown.  Grace and Oscar were born in the living quarters built onto the back end of the store.  Mr. Thompson successfully managed the store for a period and then sold out to Mr. John Syverson.

Mr. Thompson handled various mercantile lines, including machinery, but during the latter part of his residence in Griggs County he concentrated on his farming interests and in 1917 owned about 1800 acres of land, of which 920 acres were in the home place.  His land was largely devoted to wheat raising.

Mr. Thompson was county treasurer of Griggs County for four years, but his interests were in business rather than in any public or political office.
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GUNDER O. TROSTAD

Gunder O. Trostad was born in Gulbransdalen, Norway, February 21, 1874.  Gunder came to America with his parents at the age of 10.  They homesteaded on Section 7 in Lenora Township.

In his youth Gunder worked at several jobs, and attended school only three months.  Gunder and his brother, Louie, cut wood for Knute Thompson in Pilot Mound Township, and also worked on the Cooper Ranch.

Bertha Odegaard was born October 24, 1880, also in Gulbransdalen, Norway.  Bertha came to America at the age of 18 and worked for her brother, Ole, until she was married.  Gunder and Bertha were married December 29, 1900.  They lived with his parents until Gunder acquired the SE quarter of Section 9 and the E 1/2 of Section 16, in Pilot Mound Township.

Gunder was always a lover of horses and his barn was full of heavy draft horses.  The lean-to was full of Shorthorn cattle, which he improved with purebred stock.  He bought his first tractor, an Avery, in 1912.  His first car was a Maxwell.

The following children were born to the Gunder Trostad's:  

Olger in 1902

 Ida in 1904

 Ralph in 1907

 Thelma in 1908

 Ella in 1912

 Clara in 1914

 Gladys 1916, she was deceased in 1919

 the second Gladys in 1921.

Gunder was treasurer of the "West Prairie" Joint Committee until he retired and his oldest son, Olger, has had the job since.  He was a stockholder in the First National Bank in Aneta until the 30's when the banks went broke.  He was school treasurer of Pilot Mound for several years, President of the Farmers Elevator in Jessie and President of the Farmers Union Oil Company in Aneta.

Gunder and Bertha celebrated their 50th wedding in 1950.
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GUY O. TROSTAD

Guy O. Trostad was the son of Ole Trostad and Ronnaug (Sveine) Trostad.  Ole was born in Skjaak, "Gulbransdalen, " Norway.  Ronnaug was the daughter of Gunder Olson Sveine.  She ha~ two brothers, John G. Lee, Aneta, North Dakota and Ole Lee, Norway and one sister, Mrs. Anna Freidenberg.

Ronnaug and Ole were married in Norway, and came to the United States in 1883 with their five children, Lewis, Guy, Gunder, Anna and Malina, to a log cabin east of the Sheyenne River, in Pilot Mound Township.  Later on another daughter, Clara, was born.

They later lived in a log cabin on the west bank of the Sheyenne River, west of the Tande Bridge.  From there they homesteaded on Section 22, now occupied by a son of Lewis', Theodore and his wife Selma.

When they were growing up they swam in the river and played ball a lot, and Guy got a broken nose by being hit with the bat.  His nose was crooked from then on.

Ole Trostad died in 1902.  Mrs. Ronnaug Trostad later married John Ness.  She passed away in 1929.  John Ness died in 1936.

Guy O. Trostad married Maria Lundsten in 1904.  She came from Hedemarken, Norway.  They homesteaded in a hillside dugout on Section 14, Pilot Mound Township They later built a house farther south near the creek on Section 15.  In this house their first four children were born:  

Osvald, Gerhard, Roy and Myrtle.  They built their big new house in 1912.  Five more children were born here:  

Leonard, Allen, Lillian, Gerda and Ruth.
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LOUIS TROSTAD

Louis Trostad was born in Gulbransdalen, Norway, February 8, 1872.  He came with his parents, Ole Trostads, to Dakota Territory, in 1883.  They homesteaded in Section 7 in Lenora Township.  Louis and his brother, Gunder, did wood cutting and logging and they both were employed on the Cooper Ranch.  While there he saw a team of horses disappear in quick sand.

In February 1899 Louis Trostad and Jennie Botnan were married at West Prairie Church by Pastor Henry Eliasen.  Jennie was born June 18, 1880 in Numedal, Norway.  She came with her mother and two sisters to Pilot Mound Township, in 1894.  Her father, Ole Botnan and brother having arrived 2 years before.

Their first home was a log cabin on the SE quarter of Section 28.  Later Mr. Trostad purchased additional quarters of land.  At the present time his son and daughter-in-law, Theodore and Selma Trostad own all his father's land, all of Section 22 and 1/2 of Section 27.

Besides farming, Mr. Trostad took pride in his Aberdeen Angus cattle.  He also owned a steam-threshing rig and did custom work in the area.

Mr. Trostad served on school and Township boards.  He became a director of Jessie Mercantile and Elevator Company in 1914, which he held the remainder of his life.

They were visited by a fire at one time, when a fire in an old haystack got away and burned the entire Section 27.  By hard work they were able to save the buildings and property.

Louis and Jennie retired to Cooperstown in 1948 and there Louis passed away March 17, 1949 after a long illness.  Jennie Trostad passed away October 26, 1955.

There were six children, Oscar, who stayed with his folks, died in November 1968.  Levi died in 1916 at the age of 15, the first Josephine died in 1910 at the age of five, Regina married Martin Johnson.
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OLE TROSTAD

Ole Trostad was born January 7, 1844 at Skjääk, Gulbransdol Valley, Norway and Ronnaug Sviene born October 23, 1853 at Lom, Gulbransdol, Norway were married there and came to the United States in 1883 with there five children:  

Louis, Gunder, Guy, Ana, and Melina.  They came to seek a better home and living for their family.  They chose North Dakota because it was believed to be a good state for agriculture.  The journey to the Dakota Territory was by wagon and horses.  They homesteaded near the Sheyenne River on the South East corner of Section 7, which is now Lenora Township, Griggs County.  It was assumed their first home was a dug out and part sod house in the hillside.  Later they moved to a log house, North West corner of Section 12, Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County.  Another daughter, Clara was born here.  This was to be their home until 1901 when they moved to the NW quarter of Section 22, Pilot Mound Township.

Ole Trostad passed away June 23, 1903.  Mrs. Trostad continued to live there.  She was a member of West Prairie Church and Ladies Aid.  Some years later she married John Ness, who came from Skjääk, Gulbransdol, Norway to work here.  Ronnaug died August 20, 1929.  This original homestead is now owned by a grandson, son of Louis Trostad, Theodore Trostad and his wife Selma.
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NELS TORGERSON

Pioneer Nels Torgerson was born in Nörd Frön, Gulbransdol, Norway on February 1, 1846.  He went to sea at an early age, engaged in fishing, going as far North as Lofotan, a famous fishing area.  Also he traveled to Nordland, where he met Josephine Casperson, whom he married.  She was born January 21, 1861 at Harstad, Vesterölin, Norway.

They migrated from Norway, coming to Appleton, Minnesota in 1880, where Nels Torgersons parents were living, having arrived from Norway a few years before.  They stayed there three years, left for North Dakota, and settled by the Sheyenne River in 1883 in what is now the Southeast quarter of Section 26, Pilot Mound Township, Griggs County.

Their first home was a dug out in a hillside.  The following year-they built a sod house, which was covered with long logs, willows, reeds and grass.  This was to be their home for nine years.  Nels Torgerson made plow shares and did blacksmith work for the early settlers.  One snow winter neighbors found them completely snowed in and no way could they have gotten out without their help.

In 1892 they moved to Looking Glass Prairie, West half of Section 35 homestead in Lenora Township, Griggs County.  Here they began farming and breaking up land.  Here they lived in a one-room house.  Later years additional rooms were added.  Here too in the snow winters, the house was covered.  One time snow had to be shoveled into the room in order to get out.

They had a family of ten children:  

Christian, died in infancy, Edwin, Elvina, Clara, Kaia, Theodore, Clarence, Manley, Arthur and a second Manley named after the first, who died quite young.

Nels Torgerson also homesteaded near Banbs, North Dakota McKenzie County in 1912.  There Nels Torgerson accidentally met his death September 4, 1914.  He slipped off the buggy going down hill and the fall broke his neck.

Mrs. Torgerson and family continued to live at Banbs another five years, returning then to the original homestead in Lenora Township.  Mrs. Torgerson died February 14, 1920.

Nels Torgerson was with the original group that helped organize the Ottawa Lutheran congregation and church.  Mrs. Torgerson was one of the first presidents of the Ottawa Ladies Aid.
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REVEREND  MARCUS B. TUFTELAND

Marcus B. Tufteland was born in Bergen Township, Nelson Company, North Dakota - then Dakota Territory, to Mr. and Mrs. Knute Tufteland who were pioneers in Nelson Company He received his education through eighth grade in a rural school.  He took his High School and College training at Augsburg College and attended Augsburg Seminary, the University of Wisconsin and Luther Seminary, and was ordained into the ministry on June 13, 1920.  His first parish was at Cass Lake, Minnesota

His wife, Mary Collins, was born on a farm near Backus, Minnesota In 1909 the family moved to Mekinock, North Dakota.  In 1916 the family moved to Cass Lake.  After graduating from High School she was employed at Cass Lake.  Marcus and Mary were married on September 11, 1923 at the Trinity Lutheran Church at Cass Lake.

In the fall of 1924 the Tuftelands moved to Griggs Company North Dakota where Reverend Tufteland served the Kloten Lutheran Parish which included besides the Kloten Church, Norway Church nine miles west of Aneta and the West Prairie Church which is in Griggs Company This Parish he served for thirty-two years.  There was forty acres of land with the Parsonage and a neighbor rented the land for many years.  The Tuftelands had a few head of cattle and raised some chickens and turkeys.

The Tuftelands were the parents of Kenneth, born August 12, 1924, and Mildred born May 25, 1928.  Kenneth and his wife, the former Viola Nelson live on a ranch near the Heart River at New Salem, North Dakota Mildred and her husband, Luther Lee resided in Fargo for many years and for the last few years at St. Cloud, Minnesota They have 4 children.

The Tuftelands often recall the snow winters 19551956 when the roads were blocked for several weeks.  A mailbag was dropped from an airplane at the Parsonage and neighbors would come to pick up their mail.  One of the first winters Reverend Tufteland served here the coulee between the parsonage and the West Prairie Church was so filled with snow the horses fell through and were unable to move.  Reverend Tufteland had to unhitch them so they could manage to get out.  After making a track they were hitched to the end of the tongue and finally got the bus up the hill.  One time Reverend Tufteland walked all the way to West Prairie to conduct a funeral service but was fortunate in getting a ride back.  One spring when the roads were bad his son took him to West Prairie with a tractor.

Pastor and Mrs. Tufteland recall many pleasant memories during their stay in Griggs Company In the summer of 1928 the three congregations surprised them with a new Model A. Ford.  In 1948 the congregations, friends and relatives gave them another pleasant surprise on their Silver Wedding Anniversary.

When Reverend Tufteland retired from the Parish in 1956 all three of the congregations had farewell parties for him and his family.  In 1973 the Tuftelands were again honored on their Golden Wedding Anniversary by members of all three congregations.

The last memorable event that they attended in Griggs Company was the 90th Anniversary of the West Prairie Church on Sunday May 18, 1975 where they enjoyed meeting so many West Prairie friends from Griggs Company and some from Nelson Company, and some of the former Pastors and wives.  Bishop Nelson Preus was also present for the occasion and delivered the sermon in the forenoon.
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HARRY ZENTZ

Harry Zentz was born June 12, 1892, in Iowa and came to Griggs County in 1914.  He married Alma Johnson February 24, 1915, at Wadena, Minnesota.  They were the parents of four sons, Oliver, Maynard, Harold and Lester.

Mr. Zentz died suddenly in January 1948, from a heart attack brought on by over-exertion when he was assisting in extricating the family car from drifted roads.

Later in 1948, Harold Zentz was killed when the REA pole on which he was working snapped, hurling him to the ground.  The accident happened south of Tower City.  His brother, Maynard was hurt in the same accident.
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THE ROMNESS HERMIT

Lars Israelson seems to have come from nowhere with his mother to this area where they settled into a dugout overlooking a ravine.  The mother died and is buried in the Opheim Cemetery.  Lars is remembered as a big, strong man who walked with a large crook in each hand.  He cut wood for himself and the Peter Idsvoogs and it is said he visited around long ago.  He bought his land, one hundred and sixty acres.  He grubbed out heavy rocks and farmed 110 acres.  He had a stable and a few mules, some sheep and a few chickens.

He neighbored with Ole Haugen on the Tom Rinde farm, now owned by Dr. Nesheim.  Later Mr. Haugen bought his farm and sold it to Arne Hurum who has it now.
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ROMNESS TOWNSHIP

History

Romness Township was so named by Peter Mathison, a government surveyor, after his wife's birthplace in Romness, Norway.  Originally organized in May 1883, as Greenwood Township measuring 9 X 12 miles, it was divided into three Townships:  

Romness, Lenora and Pilot Mound in 1904.  Romness, being left somewhat short of the six-mile square required for a Congressional Township, received its full quota by additions of parts of Greenwood and Pleasant, both of which had land to spare.

Romness is an especially well-favored Township as it has the Sheyenne River crossing it diagonally.  The river reaches its widest point in this area.  The second highest point in the county is found there, too.  Mount Franklin is located on land now used for pasture by Hugh (Pat) Hoglund and Trygve Thompson.  From the top of this hill, seven towns can be seen:  

Cooperstown', Binford, Finley, McVille, Aneta, Sharon and Kloten.

The Romness School District #9 was created from Greenwood Township at a meeting of the county commissioners and Superintendent Kerr, held in Cooperstown May 26, 1886.  According to the school clerk's report on June 30, 1887, Romness had one un-graded school, which was taught 45 days with 17 pupils enrolled.  Families represented were:  

Skramstad, Prambus, Hogenson, Thomas, Sterner, Vestern, Voll and Johnson.  The teacher was J. H. Thomas, whose salary was $35 a month.  Receipts for the year were $810.97 and expenses, $798.51.  The school building and furniture were valued at $723.00, including site and furniture.

The first schoolhouse was built in 1883 in Section 14 on a quarter of land owned by E. O. Lie.  The second was built during the year 1900-1901, and the third in 1903.  In 1888 the pupils in school ranged in age from six to thirty-two years.  These rural schools continued until 1957, when reorganization took place, and some of them had had more than forty teachers by that time.  Salaries for teachers ranged from $35 in 1887 to $235 in 1957.

The earliest Township records that are still available were for March 3, 1891.  The officers at that time were:  

Andrew Anderson, chairman, and other members Thomas Gimblett and B. B. Olson, with John Hoganson as clerk

 H. H. Skramstad as treasurer

 Gilbert Olson as Assessor

 John M. Dahl and Joseph Allen, Justices of the Peace

 Hans Voll and Hans Monsen, Constables.  Salaries were $3.00, not to exceed $30 for the assessor and supervisor.  (This applied only to days spent on strictly Township business.)  The clerk was paid only $2.00 a day (for meeting days only?).  In 1922, road overseers were paid 40 cents an hour.  Other items of interest in the old books include the purchase of a piece of oak 2X4 16 feet long for $1.30.  In 1928, 2 4x4 culverts and two bands were purchased for $21.69.  The budget for one of the early years was $250.00.

Various other organizations were set up from time to time, among them the Romness Farmers Alliance, the Romness Mutual Telephone Company, with rules for proper courtesy and language that seem quite beyond belief in these days of individual freedom.  Though a fair and equitable schedule for members to share in expenses and services, it was difficult at times to obtain the required repairs and service, so in 1971, a special meeting was held in regard to joining the Griggs County Telephone system with Willis Nilson to connect all paid-up members to the new line.  In May 1973, the cash balance was divided evenly between the 24 members.

The Romness Band directed by Oscar Overby was one of their special achievements, and the many picnics that were held at a particularly beautiful spot south of Horse Hill were made even more enjoyable when the band gathered to entertain the crowd.  The Township ball diamond was located on Edwin Anderson's “40." Some of the players were:  

Andrew and Jule Kastet

 Olaf Olson

 Peter, Oscar and Alph Overby, and Gilbert Olson, to name only a few of them.

Ringsaker Lutheran Church

"I was glad when they said unto me, let us go into the house of the Lord.”

About 96 years ago Amund Nelson Opheim emigrated to what is now Griggs County from Winnesheik County, Iowa, so he became Griggs County's first settler and in 1932 his cabin was moved to the county courthouse lawn, and has become a Griggs County shrine.  In the spring of 1880 several neighbors of Opheim from Iowa, formed an emigrant train with their covered wagons, some driving oxen, some horses, and driving their stock along, headed for Dakota Territory.  Among these pioneers were Ole Olson Bjornstad and sons, Gilbert, Bernt, Martin and Theodore and his daughter Mary

 John Anderson

 Hans P. Pramhus and his son Hans

 and several others.  These took homesteads near the river in what is now called Romness Township.

We can imagine the early pioneers were glad when the mission pastors Vaage, Harstad and Lundeby visited them and gathered them about the Word of God.  In the summer of 1880, Pastor Vaage came into the Sheyenne Valley to visit the flock of his faith, and guide them.  The first meeting was held at the home of Mrs. Anna Nelson, who had just built a small log house.  The sermon preached by him at that place was probably the first religious sermon delivered in Griggs County and it led up to the organization of the Ringsaker Congregation.  In the summer of 1881, Reverend Vaage preached at Mrs. Nelson's home again and then baptized two children who had been born during the first winter of settlement.  They were Anton C. Olson (first child born in Romness) and Elmer Mathison.  Pastor Harstad of Mayville also conducted services in the community.

Reverend I. L. Lundeby visited the organization on his way from Valley City to Devils Lake at the home of Andrew Knutson.  Services were held in various homes and later on in schoolhouses as they were built.  Services often were held in Andrew Knutson's house, as his house was larger than the ordinary because he also had a store and post-office called Lybeck (a quiet stream).

We read from the minutes of the first business meeting held:  

"After services conducted by Mission Pastor I. L. Lundeby in Andrew Knutson's house February 9, 1882, Ringsaker congregation was organized and the following joined as members:  

Ole Olson Bjornstad, Gilbert Olson, Anders Nelson, Hans P. Pramhus, Syver Syverson Solei, and Carl Anderson Flisaram.  

Of these, Syver S. Solei was elected secretary.”

The next minutes of the Congregation read as follows:  

"After services at Andrew Knutson's on Thursday, November 2, 1882, a meeting of Ringsaker Congregation was held, and the following joined as members:  

Martin Johnson, John Johnson, Mrs. Anne Nelson, and Bernt Olson.”  The next meeting of the congregation was held after services in Andrew Nelson's home March 20, 1883, when Erick Johnson Vestern and family joined the congregation.  Andrew Anderson Hovelsrud and family joined August 13, 1883.

On November 8, 1881, this little flock was reminded how uncertain is life when Mrs. Anna Nelson Svartberget (Anna Andersdatter), 48 years old, was called away, and in the fall of 1882 five children passed away during the diphtheria epidemic.  Thus it was that it became necessary to get a place of burial, and Ole Olson Bjornstad was appointed to ask Carl A. Flisaram for an acre of land for a cemetery, and Flisaram donated the land.

During the year of 1883 Syver Syverson was requested to organize a Sunday School.  On December 28, the minister was paid $28.00, which was a year's salary, but at a meeting at Qualey's schoolhouse on February 9, 1884, it was ordered that a yearly salary of $100.00 be paid.

The first confirmation was held on May 25, 1884.  Magnus Lynner, Augusta Vestern and Thea Sletten were the three confirmed.  The first couple married were Paul J. Nelson and Helen Vestern on May 24, 1884.

On January 4, 1896 a discussion was had about building a church.  A committee was elected consisting of Pastor O. K. Kvamme, P. P. Idsvoog and Gilbert Olson.  They were to investigate costs and make plans and find out what a church 30 x 40 would cost.  On January 6, 1897 it was decided to build a church that summer, according to the plans submitted by the building committee, the church to be built on the cemetery grounds.  The committee was requested to hire carpenters by the day, and the congregation would help with the work.  The Ringsaker church was built in 1897 at a first cost of $1380.45.  Thus Ringsaker Church was built and paid for in less than one year.  In 1899 a bell was installed as a gift from the Young People's Society.  The church was dedicated on July 13-15, 1902 by Prof. Oftedahl from Augsburg Seminary, Minneapolis, MN. 

The first child baptized in this congregation was Herman Ludvig Johnson.  He was baptized the day the congregation was organized, February 9, 1882.  Others baptized the first year were John Peter Johnson and Anna Maria (Olson) Hilstad.

A cemetery association was organized in 1938.  The following year the constitution and by-laws were drawn up.

Up to 1957 eleven pastors and seven student pastors have served the Ringsaker congregation since it was organized.

To God be the glory, and the honor, and the praise for what has been accomplished.  The future lies in His Hands.

Ringsaker Church was named after Ringsak, Norway, the area from which Ole Olson Bjornstad came.
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Methodist Church

The Norwegian- Danish Methodist Episcopal Church of Romness, later known as the United Methodist Church, was started by Reverend Fritz L. Trelstad, who was employed by the American Sunday School Union.  In that work he had a chance to hold a series of meetings in places where no organized church existed.  During the winter of 1901, Reverend Trelstad held cottage meetings in the homes in Romness and a revival resulted in many committing their lives to God and continuing in His service.

In May 1901, a congregation was organized by Presiding Elder J. A. Jacobsen.  A camp meeting was held in June, in John Hogenson's grove.  The Trelstad brothers, Fritz and Anton, and also Martin Hellerud were the preachers.  As the congregation had no church building the services were held in schoolhouses and in private homes until 1903, when land was given by Mr. and Mrs. Peter Idsvoog and a building erected on it.  The congregation received the charter on May 6.  Three members mentioned on the charter were Peter P. Idsvoog, Gudmund Gudmundson and John Hogenson.  The building was dedicated in 1904, free of debt, and it never had a loan.  T. M. Hauge was then pastor and H. C. Munson was the presiding elder.

The following pastors have served the church:  

Fritz Trelstad, T. M. Hauge, N. C. Hanson (whose family occupied the classroom area for a while), A. W. Rosness, H - O - Jacobsen, C. A. Joranson, J. Korsmo, G. Gilbertson (later known as Gilberts), O. Asp, B. Oakland, Lee Paulson, G. Hjelmaas, John Nymark, Loren Pugsley, Alfred Anderson, C. F. Nelson, Ralph W. Davis, Chris F. Miller, William Samuel, Glen S. Gabel, D. James Farnham, Robert F. Collitt, Doyle A. Buss and Lionel P. A. Muthiah.

The Romness Church has not been served by the Finley-Hope Parish since 1968.  The church is still part of the United Methodist Conference.  Only two services have been held there in recent years, one in August, 1973, and one in August, 1975, when descendants of the Hogenson family, Romness pioneers and charter members gathered for reunions.

There are 26 buried at the Romness Cemetery and many still living retained their memberships in the Ladies Aid or other organizations after the church building ceased to be used for regular services.
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SOME ROMNESS FIRSTS

The first-born child of Romness Township was Anton C. Olson.

The first store was started in the fall of 1880 by Andrew C. Knutson on his claim on Section 36 in Romness Township about 3/4 mile north of the Qualey bridge on the west side of the river.  He operated it for 11/2 years and closed it out when the town of Mardel was started in the spring of 1882 in Washburn Township.

The first Post Office was established in the summer of 1880, the first in Griggs County.  It was named "Durham" and Frank Taper was postmaster, and his sister was assistant.  This office was discontinued and another Post Office called "Lybeck" (a quiet stream) was established with Andrew C. Knutson as postmaster.  The mail was hauled from Newburg, near Hatton and later a route was established from Valley City to Pembina.  

Peter Mathison was later postmaster and his wife, Christine, was assistant.  Mr. Mathison passed away and she continued on for a year when she resigned.  The office was then located at the John Hogenson home from 1887-1904 with Mr. Hogenson as Postmaster.  A pigeonhole desk was used for the mail.  This office was continued until the Rural Carrier delivered the mail.

A shanty built originally by a settler named Durum was the second house built in Griggs County.  In the spring of 1885 it was burned by a prairie fire.

Omund Nelson Opheim, who is called Pioneer Nelson, built the first house in Griggs County, near by the Sheyenne River.

Mrs. Lewis Hilstad was the first woman to serve on a jury in Griggs County.
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Settlers

ANDREW (PUNLAND) ANDERSON

Andrew (Punland) Anderson was born on September 8, 1854 in Sweden and his wife Anne Haakenson was born October 5, 1859 in Sweden.  They came to the United States and resided in Romness.

Their children were:  

Mrs. Anton (Lena) Olson, deceased

 Henry, deceased

 Mrs. Martin (Amanda) Skramstad, deceased

 Adolph, deceased

 Mrs. Paul (Tillie) Christopherson, Minneapolis, N. 

 Elmer, deceased

 William, deceased.

Andrew Anderson died June 3, 1916.  Mrs. Anne Anderson died October 19, 1915.  They are both buried in the Ringsaker Lutheran Church cemetery.
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MRS. HENRY ANDERSON

Mrs. Henry Anderson died in a snowstorm coming home from Cooperstown in February 1937.  She and her husband were driving a team of horses hitched to a sled carrying coal and other provisions.

Their children were:  

Lavera Krokum, Luella, Rose Chapell, Alvin, Alfred, and Gene.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHANNES ANDERSON

Johannes (John) Anderson was born in Sweden in 1857.  He married Emma Vestern in 1866.  They came to America and homesteaded in Griggs County on the place later known as the Bue farm.  There were six children:  

Elvina (deceased)

 Edwin (1889-1974)

 Julia (1892-1952)

 Julia was born in Romness Township and took nurses training at Rugby and Grand Forks and post graduate work in Chicago

 Elmer (1894-1965)

 John, who died as a child

 and Mabel, who lives in Cooperstown.

Johannes Anderson passed away in October 1925, and his wife in May 1942.

Edwin B. Anderson was especially well known in Griggs County, having served in World War I and held membership in the American Legion and the Veterans of Foreign Wars.  He was buried at Ringsaker Church with military rites by Gordon Lindgren Post 143, the American Legion, in July 1974.

Elmer Anderson spent his entire life in Romness Township, residing on the land homesteaded by his parents.  His funeral was conducted at Ringsaker Church and burial was in the cemetery there, in February 1965.
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NILS C. ANDERSON

Mr. and Mrs. Nils C. Anderson moved to Romness Township in the fall of 1897.  He passed away at their home about a mile northeast from Mount Franklin on March 6, 1902.

Mrs. Anderson was Cline (Haakensdatter) Johnson Asprusten as known in Norway.  In United States her name was Oline Hogenson, daughter of Mrs. Martha Hogenson and Haaken Johnson Asprusten, and she was born May 21, 1860 in Norway.  Her father died in Norway December 27, 1866 and her mother died April 22, 1891 in Romness and is buried at the Cooperstown cemetery.

Oline had one brother, John Hogenson and three sisters:  

Anne (Anna) (Mrs. Martinus Hansen Skramstad)

 Rangnild (Ragna) (Mrs. Per Person) in Norway

 and Helene (Mrs. Christian Lien).

Oline came from Norway with her mother in 1872, to Lanesboro, MN area where they lived with her brother, John Hogenson, until he married Karen Vestern February 17, 1876.

Oline was married May 22, 1878 to Nils Christian Anderson who was born at Vinje, Telemarken, Norway and came to the United States with his father and family as a youth.  After his marriage, they homesteaded about 75 miles Northwest of Sioux Falls, South Dakota at Brookings.  Oline and Nils Anderson abandoned their homestead in South Dakota, and moved to Cooperstown, North Dakota where they acquired a United States patent to a quarter Section of land one mile north of Cooperstown adjoining the Cooperstown cemetery on the north.  Their twin daughter, Efthel, is buried beside her grandmother, Mrs. Martha Hogenson, at the Cooperstown cemetery.  They lived next to the cemetery until the fall of 1897, when they moved to the Romness Township arm where Mr. Anderson passed away.

The youngest child, Ener O. Anderson, was three years old when they moved to Romness in 1897.  Mr. Anderson died March 6, 1902.  His wife, Oline, and family moved to Cooperstown in the fall of 1905 and lived there until September 1, 1936 when she moved to California where her son, Ener, and daughter, Nellie, were living.  Oline passed away December 4, 1941 and is buried in the cemetery at Whittier, California

They had seven children:  

Mary

 Charles

 Nellie (married to Charles L. Rouse)

 Mabel (married to George Knapp)

 Julia (married to Mark Buechler)

 Efthel (who is Julia's twin sister and died as an infant) and Ener O. (married to Edna Haugen).  Oline Anderson had four grandchildren:  

Vernon Knapp

 Richard Knapp (married to Constance "Bitta" Bengtson)

 Enid Anderson (married to Eli Price) and Eina Anderson (married to Thos.  B. Dutton) and four step -grandchildren:  

Pauline Rouse

 Louis Gitz

 Charles L. Rouse, Jr.

 and Myrtle Krieser.
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MERVIN ASKELSON

Mervin Askelson was born in 1907, the son of John and Elisa Askelson.

He married Helen Gunderson in 1941.  She was born on July 19, 1921 in Romness, the daughter of Olaf and Hazel (Koloen) Gunderson.

They have farmed in Romness Township since 1944 on the former Hans Kastet farm.

They have one son, Jerome, who was married to Irene Beransky in 1968.  They reside at Grand Forks.

Jerome and Irene have one daughter, Mary Marie.
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THE INGVAL ARNESON FAMILY

Ingval Arneson was born January 24, 1882, the son of Ole Arneson, who was an early homesteader in Griggs County.  He grew to manhood in Romness Township and was baptized, confirmed and buried at the Ringsaker Church and cemetery.

Mr. Arneson married Karina Samuelson in 1907.  She was born in Sandness, Norway and came to America at the age of 19 years.

Their children are:  

Gladys, Olga (Mrs. Art Erickson), Edwin, Kenneth, Myrtle, Clifford, Evelyn and Allan.  Olga and Allan have spent most of their lives in Romness.

Mr. and Mrs. Arneson were honored in June 1958, at an open house, observing their Golden Wedding Anniversary in the home of their daughter and son-in-law Mr. and Mrs. Art Erickson.

Mr. Arneson, died January 17, 1963, and Mrs. Arneson on June 17, 1971.
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ALLAN ARNESON

Allan Arneson, son of Mr. and Mrs. Ingval Arneson, has lived on the home place most of the fifty years and continues to farm the land.
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KENNETH ARNESON

Kenneth Arneson, another son of Mr. and Mrs. Ingval Arneson, was married to Irene Fritz and they also farmed several years in Romness, including some time on the farm built up by Martinius Skramstad.  They have three children, Robert, Mary and Patricia.
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GUSTAV N. ARNESON

Gustav N. Arneson was born in 1876, a son of Ole Arneson's who lived in the Steel County area before it was organized.  He moved to Griggs in 1881.

Mr. Arneson filed on land in Wells County also, but later moved back to his farm in Section 28, Romness Township.  He held several offices of trust including those of road overseer, Township supervisor and trustee of Ringsaker Church.  Mr. Arneson had two sisters, Millie (Mrs. Edwin Iverson) and Caroline

 also four brothers, Ingval, Oscar, Clarence and Albert.
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FRED J. BAKER

Fred J. Baker was born in Red Rock, Iowa on October 17, 1867.  He received education in the Iowa public schools.  His early life was spent in Iowa with the exception of five years in Colorado and one in Florida.

He married Candace Wilson in Eagle Grove, Iowa, on October 25, 1899.  He was associated with the Eagle Grove Electric Company until 1902 when the family moved to Cooperstown.

He farmed in Romness and Washburn Townships until 1928, after which the family resided in Cooperstown.  Mr. Baker was president of the Romness Township board and also of the school board for many years.  He built one of the first telephone lines in the Township in 1906.

Mrs. Baker was born at Belle Plaine, Iowa, on January 17, 1875.  She graduated from Eagle Grove high school in 1893 and taught school in Iowa preceding her marriage to Fred J. Baker.

Fred J. Baker passed away December 1, 1955.  He fell in his home on October 22, 1955 and was hospitalized until his death.

Mrs. Baker passed away on March 29, 1962, at the age of 87.

They had three daughters, Mrs. W. E. (Dorothy) Sherman, Mrs. W. H. (Helen) Schlosser

 and Rosalie

 also two sons, Walter and Robert.
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KNUT BRENDINGEN

Knut Brendingen homesteaded in Romness Township.  His land was later bought by Torval Gunderson.

Mr. and Mrs. Brendingen had one son, Anton.

Mrs. Brendingen died before he did but the date of death is unknown.

Mr. Brendingen died in 1895.  They are both buried in the Ottawa Lutheran Church cemetery.
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MR. AND MRS. CARL W. BUE

Carl W. Bue (Bua in Norway) was born in Sveen, Walestrand, Norway, and his wife, Ragna Josephine Hogenson, was born in Romness.

In 1900, Carl Bue came to North Dakota with Peter Idsvoog, who had been visiting in Norway at the time.  Carl Bue worked in the area for four years, and then rented the Rinde place.  During the period of being a tenant, he purchased 320 acres of land in the Township.  The Bues were married in 1908 and moved from the Rinde farm to their own place.  In 1919, they moved to Cooperstown, returning to the farm home in the fall of 1930.  In 1942, Mrs. Bue inherited some land in Section 16.  Mrs. Bue died in October 1958, at Fargo and Mr. Bue died in November 1961 at Valley City.  The Bues were charter members of the United Methodist Church in Romness, and were buried there.

They had two children:  

Borghild Constance and John Calmer.  John was engaged in farming with his parents from 1930 to 1932.  He died in April 1932, at McVille, North Dakota Borghild spent part of her time at the farm while her parents lived and taught school for eight terms.  After the death of he~ father she sold the place to Gordon and Connie Gunderson.  In 1954 she sold her land in the valley to John and Elmira Hogenson of Federal Way, Washington.  Since 1959 she has lived in Cooperstown, mainly, except when she served as housemother at West Hall (VCSC), at Valley City.  She also served for a time at the State School for the Blind at Grand Forks.  Since 1965, she has been a member of Trinity Lutheran Church at Cooperstown.  She is also a charter member of the Griggs County Historical Society.
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BEN AND JORGEN BUE

Ben and Jorgen Bue came from Titelness, Norway to Romness Township.  Their half-brother Carl W. Bue and their half-sister Alvida had come earlier.  Alvilda kept house for her brother Carl W. Bue before 1907.  She was also employed by others prior to her marriage in November 1909.  Ben and Jorgen Bue moved to Alberta, Canada, with others from Romness to file on homesteads.  They remained there for the rest of their lives.

Ben married Gudrun Holten on April 7, 1928.  They had one daughter, Connie, who lives at Medicine Hat, Alberta.  Both the parents died and are buried there.

Jorgen married a girl named Betty who came from Scotland.  He died in September 1932.
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JOHN CHRISTOPHERSON

John Christopherson was born in Farmington, Minnesota in 1867.  He lived sometime in Romness.  He died in 1934.  He was buried at Ottawa Lutheran Church.

He was a brother of Mrs. William Samuelson.
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THE BARTON CUSSONS PLACE

In pioneer days, Anders Torgerson lived on the farm now owned by Barton Cussons in Romness Township.  The Cussons live on the farm in the summer months and farmed.  They have hired help living there all the year round.  They always have cattle on the farm.  Some of the people who have lived on the place throughout the years have been the Samuelsons, Joseph Fritz’s, Chapmans and Hugh Fiebigers.  Ingolf Friswold owned the land for many years.
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MR. AND MRS. ANTON O. DAHL

By Esther E. Dahl Larsen

Mr. and Mrs. Anton O. Dahl were married in the Karlsö Lutheran Church near Tromsö, Norway, October 29, 1894.  This area is in the "Land of the midnight sun.”

Dad began to dream of a future in America.

However, in February of 1897, he realized his dream and came to this land of opportunity.  His first three months were spent with his brother Reverend Jens Dahl and family of Lake Mills, Iowa.  Then he decided to go to Cooperstown, North Dakota as he had a brother John, an experienced farmer, living on the farm known today as the "Otis Knudsen farm.”

John taught him the farming methods of that time and Dad was happy as he realized he could earn a living for himself and his family here.

Mother and baby son, August, arrived in September 1897.

The following day, Dad came with a load of wheat and was re-united with his family.  It was also mother's first wagon ride.  They spent that winter at Uncle Johns and meanwhile my father purchased 160 acres in Romness Township, and built a small house and barn there with the help of friendly neighbors.  This took place during the summer of 1898.

In the fall of 1898, they moved into their new home.  The house consisted of one large room downstairs and one large bedroom upstairs.

The pioneers were sturdy, worked hard, ate well and felt complete satisfaction in their accomplishments.  There were times of joys and sorrows, too.  Sunday was a day of rest and as my parents were amongst the charter members of the Romness M. E. Church, they took a very active part in it all their lives.

The years sped by and the family grew until there were six children namely:  

August, Selmer, Agnes, Henry, John and Esther.  So it became necessary to build a bigger house and barn.  The current buildings on the farm were built in 1908-1909.

They were married many years before they bought a clock.  They seemed to be able to tell time by the sun.  As my mother said, "When the sun's rays reached the table, it was time to start dinner.”  How they managed on cloudy days, I don't know.

There were happy days such as of 1919, when they celebrated their Silver Anniversary, the Confirmation at church and as the children advanced in school.  They lived to celebrate their Golden Wedding in 1944 with their many friends at church.

But sorrows intermingled with their joys when sons, August and Henry, passed away in the fall of 1922.  This was Typhoid Fever.  This was a very sad winter for all of us.  We also had a bitter winter with a snowstorm that was continuous for a whole week with temperatures - 40 degrees to - 50 degrees.

Selmer decided to rent a farm and be on his own.  He married Gladys Siem, a sweet girl, who has been a loving wife.  This was at the height of the depression in the 30's.  Wheat was selling at .250 a bushel and many schools were forced to close.  The outlook was bleak for all of us.  So I decided to leave North Dakota and enter Nurses training in Chicago.  I worked for a few years married, and have lived in the Chicago area since.

John continued caring for our parents and farming on the home place as long as they lived.  Due to health reasons, he moved to Tucson, Arizona, where he resides and is also married.

Our sister, Agnes, passed away on December 25, 1948 after several years of grave illness.  Two years later, Dad left us, faithful to the end and eager to be called home.  Mother lived to be 89 - often lonely missing Dad very much.

They were both gone but left us with a legacy of their fearlessness of life and fearlessness of death, as they were ready to go when God called them home.

Today Selmer's son, Donald, and wife, Penny, and children live on the home-place.  They have improved it considerably and it's a joy to visit them, my brother, Selmer and family, and numerous friends in that area.  Somehow, I feel that Mother and Dad are pleased and know that the home-place is in good hands.

In closing I will say, "I'm proud to be a daughter of the State of North Dakota.”

ESTHER E. DAHL married William Larsen in 1939 and they live in the Chicago area.  They have four children:  

Janice, born April 19, 1940 and is a nurse

 Carol, born October 1, 1941 and is a teacher

 Wilma, born November 15, 1944 and is also a teacher and Ronald, born November 6, 1946 and works with NASA. 

SELMER DAHL married Gladys Seim on October 23, 1933 at the Epworth Methodist Church in Valley City, North Dakota.  They have four children:  

Marloe Ann born July 3, 1935 and died July 6, 1940.  Norman Wayne born January 13, 1941.  He married Diane Marie Land, April 7, 1962 at Grand Forks, North Dakota and they have four children:  

Lisa, Shelly, Scott and Nicole.  Norman works for Collins Radio at Cedar Rapids, Iowa.  Donald Lee born June 22, 1944 and on July 29, 1967 he married Penelope Rondestvedt at Dazey, North Dakota.  They have three children:  

Tohn, Terresa and Scott

and they live on the Dahl home-place and farm.  Dennis Allen born June 22, 1944.  On January 6, 1968, he married Marlene Zentz at West Prairie, rural Binford and they have two children Jeffrey and Stephanie.  Dennis is a Junior Engineer at Melroe Company in Bismarck, North Dakota
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CLIFFORD M. EGGERMONT

Clifford M. Eggermont, son of Mr. and Mrs. Christ Eggermont of Binford, was born on March 20, 1943 at Cooperstown.  Clifford is the third born of six children.

Dianne R. Hagen, daughter of the late Raymond Hagen and Mrs. Ray Anton, Cooperstown, was born on May 1, 1943 at McVille, North Dakota

Clifford and Dianne were married June 3, 1962 at Cooperstown.

They purchased their present home from Mr. and Mrs. Joe Fritz in early August 1968 and do not plan on any further moves as they very much enjoy their location and their neighbors.

Their children are:  

Ronnie R. and Jerry A. Eggermont.

As a family hobby, they raise registered purebred and part Arabian horses of which most are sold although some are exhibited at various horse shows in North Dakota, Minnesota and South Dakota.

They also maintain a small herd of beef cows.
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GUNDER ENERSON

Gunder Enerson was born in Norway in 1828.  His wife, Maret was born in Norway in 1830.

They came to Fillmore County, Wisconsin in 1861 and then to Romness Township in 1862, where they settled.  This land was later homesteaded by their son, Torval.

Their home was a dugout in the hillside made of logs and sod.

There were six children.  As was customary in some cases, the children often took their father's first name and added son to it.  This was the case with these children so their name became Gunderson.  The children were:  

Edward, who moved to Canada

 Peter who lived in Lenora Township

 Torval who farmed in Romness

 Randy homesteaded in Lenora Township

 Sophia and Mary who both settled in Western, North Dakota

 and John who also farmed in Romness.

Gunder Enerson was among those who organized the Ottawa congregation.

Gunder died in 1897.

Mariet died in 1890.
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CARL OTTO ELSAAS

Carl Otto Elsaas was born July 18, 1881 in Ottertail county, Minnesota.  In 1889, he moved with his parents to Griggs County where he made his home.

He married Amanda Mathilda Johnson in 1905.  Amanda was born January 7, 1885 in Romness Township.

To this union were born two sons:  

Mancer and Chester.

Carl Otto Elsaas died October 1, 1922, in Romness Township as a result of a farm accident.

In 1925, Amanda Elsaas married Swen Fors.  She died February 8, 1972.

Both Carl and Amanda are buried at the Ringsaker church cemetery.
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THE HUGO FIEBIGER FAMILY

Hugo Fiebiger was born near Jessie, North Dakota, on January 24, 1901.  He attended rural schools and later farmed in this area until 1942.  He also farmed on the Barton Cusson's place until his death in the spring of 1974.

He and Mathilda Steidl were married at Fingal, North Dakota on October 27, 1936.  They had two sons, Ralph and John, and one daughter, Margaret (Mrs. Glen Hogie) and two grandchildren.  Mrs. Fiebiger passed away March 7, 1967.
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CARL A. FLISSARM

Carl A. Flissarum was born in Eda Sogn, Varmland, Sweden on August 29, 1857.  When he was quite young, he emigrated to America with his mother and younger brother to settle near Quandahl, Almakee County, Iowa, where he grew to manhood.  He was confirmed in the Lutheran church.

In 1881, the family came to Griggs County to Romness Township.  He was a charter member of the Ringsaker church.

The Ole Overbys made their first home with this young bachelor who later gave up farming to take up the trade of carpentry.  He, his mother, and his brother farmed until the latter two passed away.

It was Carl Flissarum who donated a site on the hill for a cemetery, and later the new Ringsaker church was built there.  Heart failure was the cause of his sudden death in 1937 at the age of 79.
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MR. AND MRS. JOSEPH M. FRITZ

Mr. Fritz was born in Iowa July 8, 1892 and farmed for a time at Pembina, North Dakota before coming to Griggs County to farm in Romness Township.

He married Hilda Breimon on February 20, 1912.  Mrs. Fritz was born in Richland County, North Dakota.

Mr. Fritz passed away in January 1972, at the age of 79.  Mrs. Fritz passed away the same year in November.  They had two daughters, and two sons

 Mrs. Kenneth Arneson (Irene), Mayville

 Mrs. A. B. Savre (Frances) of Fergus Falls, Minnesota

 Leo and Leonard of Cooperstown.  At the time of the grandfather's death, they had 14 grandchildren and fifteen great- grandchildren.

Source Page 391

JOHN GUNDERSON

John Gunderson was a farmer in Romness Township until he retired and moved to Cooperstown.

He was born February 11, 1867 in Vernon County, Wisconsin.  His father was Gunder Enersen and his mother was Marit Paulsen from Ringebu, Norway.  They came to the United States before the Civil War.

John came to Griggs County in 1882 and continued living there while he farmed.

His wife was Thea Sletten, daughter of Ole Sletten and Oliana Johnson from Osterdalen, Norway.  Her grandfather was Jo Jonson (possibly it could be John or Joseph Johnson according to a family tree record).  Her grandmother's name is unknown.  She was Jo Jonson's first wife.

Mrs. John Gunderson's sister was Olava (Mrs. Thorval Gunderson) and her two brothers:  

John Sletten married to Sisila Idsvoog and Otto Sletten married to Marie Brekken.

Mrs. John Gunderson's father, Ole Sletten, was born January 7, 1838 at Aamodt, Norway and he died February 3, 1907.  Her mother was Oliana Tollefsen (Johnson) born May 17, 1827 at Aamodt, Norway.  She died March 25, 1911.  (It is believed that they lived in Osterdalen, Norway and presumably her husband's name was Ole Johnson in Norway, but in United States known as Ole Sletten.)  They have a joint headstone in the Ottawa Lutheran Church cemetery about 12 miles north of Cooperstown.

In the spring of 1866, John Haakenson Asprusten, known as John Hogenson in the United States, together with his aunt Oliana Johnson (later became Mrs. Ole Sletten) and John's cousin, Martin Johnson, left Norway for Fillmore Company, Minnesota, near Lanesboro and Rusford in the Root River Valley.

Mr. and Mrs. John Gunderson took homestead in 1883.

Their children are:  

Oscar

 Magnus

 Jessie (Tweed) and Ella (Edland).
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ALFRED P. GUNDERSON

Alfred P. Gunderson was born at Aneta, North Dakota on August 6, 1891.  He grew up in that area and farmed in partnership with his brother Gilbert.  Later he moved to Canada and in 1944, to Oakland, California, where he worked as a warehouseman until his retirement in 1961.

Gunderson died on April 22, 1971 at the age of 79 at a convalescent hospital in Chico where he had lived after his retirement.

Gunderson is survived by his widow, Amy

 three daughters, Mrs. Lyla Smith of Alberta, Canada

 Mrs. Sophie Stokkeland, Mrs. Dolores Terrel of Walnut Creek

 a son, Cleve of San Leandro

 four half-sisters

 Mrs. Sophie Stokkeland, Mrs. Esther Muncy, Mrs. Minnie Edland, all of North Dakota, and Mrs. Julia Weberg of Ontario, Canada

 15 grandchildren and five great -grandchildren.

He was preceded in death by a son, John, one brother, Henry, one sister Mrs. Theodore (Mabel) Herberg, and four half-brothers, Gilbert, Palmer, Adolph and Edwin.
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MR. AND MRS. OSCAR GUNDERSON AND FAMILY

Oscar Gunderson was born December 5, 1893, son of John and Thea (Sletten) Gunderson.  He married Emma Larson, November 15, 1913 at Moorhead.  They farmed in Romness Township where they were active in church and community service.  After his wife's death, Mr. Gunderson moved to Cooperstown.

They had one daughter, Miranda, who was married to Thelmer Olson, and after his death she married Monroe Pittinger.  The Gundersons also had two sons, Johnnie and Gordon.

Mrs. Gunderson died at the age of 64 at Northwood, North Dakota Her husband died June 25, 1972.  They are buried at Ottawa Cemetery.
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TORVAL GUNDERSON 

Torval Gunderson was born in Fillmore County, Wisconsin in 1861, a son of Gunder and Marit Enerson.

He came to Griggs County in 1882 with his parents to Romness Township NW quarter of Section 6-147-58, where they settled.  This land was later homesteaded by Torval Gunderson.

He married Olava Sletten in 1891.  Olava was born in Osterdalen, Norway, a daughter of Ole and Oleane (Oleana) Sletten, in 1866.  She came to Griggs County in 1883 and settled with her parents in Lenora Township.

There were four children:  

Olaf, Mabel, and two children who died in childhood.

Torval Gunderson's continued living on the farm until 1920, when they moved to Cooperstown.  They were members of the Ottawa Church.

Mr. Gunderson passed away in 1932 and Mrs. Gunderson passed away in 1956.
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OLAF GUNDERSON

Olaf Gunderson was born in 1896 in Romness Township NW quarter of Section 6.  147-58, a son of Torval and Olava Gunderson.  He grew up in Romness where he has farmed.

He married Hazel Koloen in 1920.  She was born in Pilot Mound Township in 1901, where she grew up.

There are two children:  

Helen (Askelson) and Hollis.

Olaf farmed and lives on the land settled on by his grandfather and homesteaded by his father.  Now the land is farmed by his son, Hollis, making this a fourth generation on this farm.

They have both been life-long members of the Ottawa Lutheran Church.

On July 26, 1970, Mr. and Mrs. Gunderson were honored at open house in Ottawa Church on their golden wedding anniversary.
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MABEL GUNDERSON - OLE HERIGSTAD

Ole Herigstad was born in Norway.  Mabel Gunderson Herigstad was born in Romness Township.

They lived in Romness for several years on a farm east across the river from the Gunderson home farm.

They have seven children:  

Oswald

 Oris

 Maxine (who died as a young lady)

 George

 Russell

 Ben and Inez.

The family has resided in the Washington and Oregon area for many years.
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OLE GUSTAFSON

Ole Gustafson was born in Norway September 17, 1889, the son of Gustav and Karen Johnson.  He came to this country in 1910.  He served in World War I. 

Ole Gustafson and Anna Hanson were married April 10, 1923 in the Romness Methodist Church.  They farmed in the Romness community moving to the farm formerly owned by Peter Knutson, later Kenneth Arneson.

Mr. Gustafson died in October 1970 at the age of 81.  Burial was in the Ottawa church cemetery with military rites.

Their children are two sons and five daughters:  

Helmer, Henry, Margaret (Mrs. Obert Tharaldson), Jeanette (Mrs. Palmer Johnson), Lillian (Mrs. Marvin Myers), Anna (Mrs. Duane Splittstoesser), Ruth (Mrs. Dennis Gunderson).
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HANS HEIDAL AND FAMILY

Hans Heidahl was born in Norway (1875), son of Ranghild and Rustin Heidahl.  Hans was married to Hilma Overby before they came to America.  They lived for a time on the Andrew Idsvoog farm in Romness.  Their oldest daughter, Violet, was born October 21, 1914 and their youngest daughter (Mrs. Glenn A. Erskine of Beaverton, Oregon), was born December 10, 1916.

Hans died November 1, 1917 and Violet on November 15.  They are buried at the Romness Methodist Church Cemetery.

Following the deaths of her husband and daughter, Mrs. Heidahl was employed in several homes.  She also cooked in a cook car owned by Edward Johnson of Romness.  Later on she and her younger daughter moved to Oregon.
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MR. AND MRS. CHARLES EARL HELLING

Charles Earl Helling was a half brother of Mrs. Iver Udgaard and came to Cooperstown to make his home in 1905.  He attended school here and moved with the family to Romness Township.

Charles Helling and Thelma Ayrea were married in December 1917.  The next year they began to farm in Romness Township where they lived until his death in March 1926.  They were an addition to their community, friendly and well liked.  Thelma taught the Seim School three years and was still teaching in Romness when Charles was taken ill.  He died of a perforated ulcer at St. John's Hospital in Fargo.

Following his death, the widow returned to school for further training as a teacher.  She later taught in Valley City.  There she met her future husband, Ben Stuewig.  They had one son, Robert, who now lives in Seattle.

Mr. Stuewig died in 1973.  Mrs. Stuewig has been a successful teacher, wife and mother.  She continues to live in Fargo.
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ANDREW HERBERG

Andrew Herberg came to America in 1910, landing in New York on April 1.  From there he went to Canby, Minnesota, where he worked as a farm laborer until September 1910.  Then he came to Cooperstown where he had two brothers, Axel and Theodore.  He stayed with them quite a few years.

In 1912, Mr. Herberg made a trip to Norway.  In 1918, he entered the United States Army in World War I. 

He was married to Amanda (Anderson) Hamsun in June 1938.  She passed away September 18, 1955.

They lived in Romness where they farmed for twelve years and then moved to the Charlie Simpson farm in Steele County.  He now lives in Sharon, North Dakota
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MR. AND MRS. LEWIS HILSTAD

On Sunday, June 29, 1952, relatives and friends gathered at the Ringsaker Church to honor Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Hilstad on their fiftieth anniversary

Lars, better known as Lewis Hilstad, was born September 29, 1877, at Narud, Velere, Norway, and baptized at Velere church.  In May 1887, he emigrated to America with his parents Lars and Martha Hilstad.  The journey across the ocean took three weeks.  They arrived at Cooperstown and stopped overnight at Elling Nelson's place, one mile north of Cooperstown.

His uncles, Mathias and Bent Hilstad, met them with a team and wagon, taking them to the Bent Hilstad place, where they lived for some time.  His father took out citizenship and filed on land in Greenview Township, where the family made their home.

Lewis was confirmed in the Sheyenne Valley congregation, which met in a schoolhouse, with Reverend Elliason in charge.  He got a job herding cattle at the John Olson farm the first summer and later worked for his brother-in-law and sister, Mr. and Mrs. Ole Bjugstad, where he remained until his marriage in 1902.

Anna Maria Olson was born November 20, 1882, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert Olson.  Her elder brother died in the diphtheria epidemic the night she was born.  Pastor Lundeby came through on one of his trips and conducted funeral services for her brother and a son of Bent Olson, and baptized Anna Maria.  She was the third child to be baptized after the founding of the Ringsaker congregation.

She grew up on her parents' homestead and attended school at Wayzea Special School District, created by the Territorial Legislature, and including parts of Griggs and Steele counties.  In May 1897 she was confirmed by Reverend O. K. Quamme in a class of seven, and in the spring of 1898, her family moved to another farm, where she lived until her marriage.

Lewis Hilstad and Anna Maria Olson were married at the Ringsaker church by Reverend O. K. Quamme June 26, 1902, under the arch of roses fashioned by the bride's aunt, Mrs. Emma Anderson, and her cousin, Mrs. Lena Skramstad.  The couple had six attendants all of whom were present at the Golden Wedding.

In the summer of 1902, they bought a farm in Romness.  Their son Leonard was born in 1904.  In 1907, the Hilstads filed on a homestead in Bowman County where they made their home until 1910 when they returned to Romness.  There they spent most of their time until they bought a house in Finley where they retired.

In 1919, Esther Fors came to make her home with the Hilstads, living there until her marriage to Andrew Dronen in 1931.  The Hilstads had twelve children.  They were the first members of the new generation in Griggs County to celebrate their fiftieth wedding anniversary.

Lewis Hilstad passed away in 1958, and Mrs. Hilstad in June 1965.
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MR. AND MRS. AUGUST (FRITZ) HOGENSON AND FAMILY

August Nickoli (Fritz) Hogenson and Marian Langford were married at Cooperstown on December 1, 1923.  He was born August 10, 1899, to John and Karen (Vestern) Hogenson, pioneers of Romness Township She was born August 13, 1904 to Samuel B. and Jennie (Glaspell) Langford, pioneers of Sverdrup.

The Hogensons have spent most of their life on the farm home in Romness Township, which was originally his parents' pioneer home, with the exception of approximately six years spent in Cooperstown and a short time in Casselton, while he was doing (gravel) trucking.  In the later years of farming, he would help part time at the Phillip 66 Oil Station.  He has been an assessor of Romness Township, for a number of years.  They are members of the Romness United Methodist Church.

They have one son, John Samuel Hogenson, who is Civil Engineer at Boeing in Seattle, Washington married to Almira Moen, September 28, 1951.  She is a Registered Nurse.  They have four children:  

John Alan, Karen Diane, David Carl, and Linda Marie.
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JOHN HOGENSON

John Hogenson was born in the parish of Aamot, Osterdalen, Norway on June 19, 1847.  He came to America in April 1867, accompanied by an aunt, Oliana Johnson and her son, Martin Johnson.  The journey took 71/2 weeks.  They located in Fillmore County, Minnesota.  In 1871, Mr. Hogenson arranged for his mother and sister, Oline, to come to America.  They lived with him for six years.  John Hogenson was married to Karen Vestern, February 17, 1876, at the parsonage in Highland Prairie, Minnesota by pastor Kr.  Magelson.

In the spring of 1880, Mr. Hogenson decided to visit Dakota Territory.  He had heard reports concerning this area, so he set out alone on his mission.  Reaching Valley City April 23, 1880, he started north on foot camping at Sibley Crossing the first night.  During the night a heavy snowfall made traveling difficult, but he borrowed a pair of skis and made use of them as far as the present location of the Martin Ueland place.  On April 25, he camped not far from the Torkel Njaa farm home.  The next day he arrived at the Omund Nelson Opheim home on the Sheyenne.  The following day he walked farther up the valley where he selected a piece of land for a homestead, slightly northeast of Mount Franklin.

His friend, Peter Mathison, met him and they built a log house on Section 16 in Romness, broke five acres of ground, put up some hay and made preparations for the coming winter.

Then the two men went back to Fillmore County for their families.  On September 1, 1880, Mr. Hogenson started back overland for Romness with a yoke of oxen hitched to a prairie schooner, in company with his wife, one daughter, Hellene and one son, Edward.  Peter Mathison and his wife were also with them.  They drove 26 head of sheep and 16 head of cattle, covering a distance of about 20 miles a day.  While passing through the main street of St. Paul, Minnesota, the sheep crowded onto the streetcar track so that the horse-drawn streetcar had to stop to let them pass.

They continued their journey to Fargo, a small village in 1880.  After leaving the last settlers at Golden Lake, now Steele County, they were guided by Mount Franklin and other hills near their new home.  They arrived at the homestead on September 30, after covering a distance of approximately 600 miles.

In the spring they experienced flood, which has been rather common through the years.

In 1887, Mr. Hogenson was appointed postmaster of Romness Postoffice, which was located in his home for 17 years, including 1904.  He was more fortunate than most pioneers because he knew two languages.  Therefore, he was often able to assist his neighbors with legal matters, etc.  He served as a member of the county board of commissioners and as town clerk and school clerk.  He assisted in organizing the Romness United Methodist Church, the members meeting in homes until the church was built in 1903.

Mr. and Mrs. Hogenson celebrated their Golden Wedding on February 17, 1925, with relatives and friends.  They spent fifty-two -years together in Romness and could recall many hardships, but they also had many pleasant memories.  Mr. Hogenson lived seven years longer than his wife.  His youngest son, August (Fritz) and wife, Marion Langford, and their son John lived with him there.  (Three generations have lived on the pioneer farm, a total of 95 years.  Fritz himself had lived there for 70 years in 1975.  )

Mr. and Mrs. Hogenson had nine children, 34 grandchildren and step grandchildren.  1.  Hellene (18761924) married Ole Anderson.  Children:  

John, Lillian, Elmer, Marian, Clara, Arthur, Ruth, Ida, Wilfred and Myrtle.  2.  Edward (1879-1948), married Velma Grey.  Nine children:  

Gladys, Clarence, Cecil, Earl, Raymond, Norman, Elsie, George and Walter.  Step-children:  

William, Eddy and Maey.  3.  Clara Julia (18811908) not married.  4.  Ragna (1884-1948) married Carl W. Bue.  Two children:  

Borghild, and John, deceased.  5.  Peter Lewis (1887-) married Gena Olson.  Two children:  

Twin daughters Karline Gene and Mary Lois, deceased.  6.  Henry Joseph (1890-1971), married Angeline Cormier, one son:  

Edward.  7.  Ida (1893-) married Lawrence Stenbro.  Eight children:  

Karoline, Laura, Raymond, Arthur, Florence, Clifford, Karleen, and Walter.  S. Otto (1896-), married Gwendolyn Robinson.  One son:  

John Samuel.
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MRS. MARTHA ASPRUSTEN HOGENSON

In 1872, Mrs. Martha Asprusten (known as Mrs. Martha Hogenson in United States) and her youngest daughter, Oline, came from their home parish, Aamot, in Osterdalen, Norway.  They came to live with Oline's brother, John Hogenson.  Later they moved to a new location near school # 3 known as "Stony Lonsome.”

Martha (1844-1918) and Haakon (1847-1913) Johnson Asprusten had four daughters and one son.  ANNA was married to Martinius Hanson, who later took the name of the place where they lived in Norway.  They came to Romness in 1884.  They had ten children:  

Helene, Hanna (Mrs. Emil Simenson - his first wife), Hans, Ingvald, Martin, Anton, Gustav Rekardt, Gustav Richard, Hogan and Clara Olava (Mrs. David J. Johnstone).  John Haakenson Johnson Asprusten, who changed his name to John Hoganson, was married to Karen Vestern in Fillmore County, Minnesota on February 17, 1876.  Ragna was born in Norway and died there.  She was married to Per Person, but had no children.  Helene came to the United States in 1884 and was married to Christian Lien.  They lived on a farm south of Tolna, North Dakota Oline was married in 1878 to Nils Christian Anderson, who had come to America with his father as a youth.  They came to Romness in the fall of 1897.  Nils died in March 1902.  Oline passed away in 1941 at Whittier, California They had seven children:  

Mary, Charles, Nellie (Mrs. Charles Rouse), Mabel (Mrs. George Knapp), Julia (Mrs. Mark Buechler), Efthel (twin of Julia) and Ener O. Anderson.
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PETER LEWIS HOGENSON

Peter Lewis Hogenson and Gena Olson were married December 14, 1911 at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Hilstad in Romness Township.  Gena is a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert (Maria Kajsa Anderson Punland) Olson, pioneers of Romness Township, and Lewis's parents are Mr. and Mrs. John Hogenson, pioneers of Romness since 1880.

Before the 1920's, he homesteaded in Alberta, Canada.  Prior to his marriage and years after his marriage, he was employed by the North Dakota State Highway where he served for twenty years.

Before he retired, he farmed his land in Romness Township.

To this union were born twin daughters, Karline Gene and Mary Lois, who passed away shortly after birth in October 1925.

Mrs. Hogenson passed away on September 30, 1970 at the McVille Nursing Home.  They are buried at Ringsaker Lutheran Church cemetery.
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JOE HOVEL

Mr. and Mrs. Joe (Emma) Hovel moved to Romness Township in October 1936 unto the Otto Retzlaff farm, where they lived for one year.  They then moved into Jessie.  In the fall of 1942, they moved back to their farm where they lived until 1950 when they moved to Valley City.

There are two children in the family:  

Norlene, born October 25, 1936 on the Retzlaff farm in Romness.  Larry, born November 4, 1939 in Jessie.  Norlene is married to Erling Reberg and they and their five children live on a farm near Kathryn, North Dakota Larry is married to the former Lois Aarseth of Forman, North Dakota They live on a farm place about six miles out of Valley City.  They have five children.  Larry has been with the National Guard as a full time employee since 1964.

Norlene and Larry both graduated from St. Catherine High School in Valley City'.

Mr. Hovel has been retired since 1961.  Mrs. Hovel has been employed at Dakota Rexall for 15 years.
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ARNE HURUM

Arne Hurum was born November 30, 1907 in Honefoss, Norway.  He came to North Dakota in September 1926 to the home of his Aunt, Mrs. Karl Bye, who lived near Hatton, North Dakota.

Arne worked at many different farms in the area including Jens Seim, who lived in Lenora Township, Griggs County and Iver Udgaard, who lived in Romness Township, Griggs Company These were just a few of the farmers he worked for.  In the winter he would go to the woods in Minnesota to cut timber, just like many other emigrants did.

In 1936, he started farming for himself by buying the North East 1/2 of Section 2 Romness Township.  Later on he purchased the NW quarter of Section 12 and the NW quarter of Section 1, all in Romness Township of Griggs County.

In the fall of 1947, he went back to Norway to find himself a wife.  After finding one, he came back in March of 1948.  In December 1948, Amanda Gruer came to North Dakota from Norway.

Arne Hurum and Amanda Gruer were married June 23, 1949 in Northwood, North Dakota and continue to live on the farm in Romness.

They have one daughter:  

Sonja.
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MR. AND MRS. PETER P. IDSVOOG

Peter P. Idsvoog was born in Valestrand, Norway, on August 6, 1860, to Peter and Selie Idsvoog.  He was confirmed at his home in Norway in 1874 and thereafter left to be employed on sea vessels, coming to America in 1883.  He continued his sea life along the Atlantic Coast.  A year later he came to Deerfield, Wisconsin, and spent two years there before coming to Griggs County.  He began to farm in 1887, and in December of that year, he was married to a widow, Mrs. Peter Mathison, whose maiden name had been Christine Pederson Romness.  Three boys were born to this union, Oscar, Arthur, and a boy who died in infancy.

Peter P. Idsvoog, while living in Romness Township, had a lively time with a runaway fire in April 1900.  He started to burn some stubble and a brisk wind came up and forced the fire back toward him.  Peter had to jump into the river to save his life, and when he got home he looked like a drowned rat.

In 1904 the family moved to Cooperstown and lived there a few years before moving to Binford, where he operated a mercantile store with the help of his sons, Oscar and Arthur.

Mrs. Idsvoog was born in Telemarken, Norway, March 6, 1858.  At the age of two years she came to America with her parents and settled in Rushford, Minnesota.  In 1880, she was united in marriage to Peter Mathison, who was a government surveyor.  They came to Dakota Territory that same year in the company of Mr. and Mrs. John Hogenson and their children Hellene and Edward.  The first winter they lived with Hogensons in a 14x16-foot log cabin.  On May 17, 1881, their son Elmer Mathison was born.

Later Peter and Christine settled on their own farm, in what is now Romness Township.  When the first post-office was set up after the petition of the people, Peter Mathison was appointed postmaster with his wife as assistant.
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MR. AND MRS. OSCAR IDSVOOG

Oscar Idsvoog was born in Romness Township on January 11, 1889.  In 1914 he was married to Palma Rorvig of Binford, North Dakota Oscar farmed from 1912 to 1920, moving to Cooperstown later that year where he worked in a mercantile store for some time and then served as County Treasurer for four years.

In 1928, they moved back to the farm in Romness.  Their farmhouse was not always visible from the north road leading past their home because of the hill that was directly in their way.  That hill was leveled in 1935.  It was a several-weeks project involving moving at least 50, 000 cubic feet of earth.

The Idsvoogs had one son, Oris, who attended high school in Cooperstown and later became a veterinarian.  He was married to Caroline Markley and they had four children:  

Phillip, Peter and Karl, also one daughter, Barbara.

Mr. and Mrs. Idsvoog were honored on their fiftieth wedding anniversary in 1964.  Friends and relatives were in charge of the Open House at their home, with more than 200 guests in attendance.

Their son and daughter-in-law, Dr. and Mrs. Orris Idsvoog of Stanley, Wisconsin, were host and hostess, assisted by Mr. and Mrs. Elwood Lund of Shelly, Minnesota.  Clara and Oscar Rorvig, who were bridesmaid and best man at the wedding, were also present.  They also observed their 60th wedding anniversary in 1974, at Trinity Lutheran Church, Cooperstown.

Tragedy entered the lives of the Idsvoogs at a time when there should have been special reasons for rejoicing.  Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Idsvoog had joined their son's family on the eve of Phillip's wedding and plans for the occasion were completed when a terrible accident claimed the life of their son.  Dr. Idsvoog had been called out in the country to attend to an ailing animal, and his car was hit in an intersection by another vehicle that did not stop for a stop sign.
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MR. AND MRS. ANDREW P. IDSVOOG

Mr. Andrew P. Idsvoog was born in Valestrand, Norway, February 19, 1864 and came to America in 1892 to the home of his brother, Peter.  He homesteaded in Romness Township in 1897 and in November of that year was united in marriage to Mallene Haugsjerd.  Mallene was also born in Norway, coming to America in 1896.

The Idsvoogs resided on their farm until 1916 when they moved to Aneta, living there until 1923, when they again returned to the farm for three years.  In 1927 they again retired to Aneta where Mrs. Idsvoog passed away at the age of 79.

In 1941, Mr. Idsvoog entered the Northwood Old Peoples Home.  He was the last member of a family of nine.  He passed away on July 28, 1950.

They had a foster son, Carl Edwin Myhre, who died at the age of ten.  Carl and his mother, Mrs. Christian Myhre are buried at Ottawa Lutheran church.  His father was buried at Palermo, North Dakota Carl had two sisters, Esther and Nellie (Mrs. Albert Johnson), formerly of Romness.
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ESTEN MOEN JOHNSON AND SONS, JOHN C. AND EDWARD

Esten Moen Johnson was born in Norway in 1845 and came to New York in 1865.  He received his citizenship papers on May 10, 1892.  Later he moved to Spring Valley, Wisconsin, where he married.  They had two sons, John G. and Edward, also one stepdaughter.  Mrs. Johnson passed away while the boys were still small.  He came to Griggs County to homestead, bringing the children with him.  (See homestead scene)

Esten M. Johnson passed away on his homestead, which is now the farm of Oscar Christopherson, on November 17, 1917, and is buried at Ringsaker.

His son, John married and homesteaded near Langdon, North Dakota and is also buried at Ringsaker.  He had two sons, John A. and Martin, also one daughter.

Edward was married to Anetta Stromme in 1902.  He homesteaded in Griggs County on the farm that now belongs to Severin Sola.  He and his wife had ten children:  

Walter, Eva, Edna, Mildred, Edgar, Jeanette, Evelyn, Doris, Norman who was in the United States Navy and spent some time in a veterans hospital, but is now deceased, and Adeline.

Edward passed away in August 1928, at the age of 56.  Anetta died on March 18, 1959 at the age of 74.
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MR. AND MRS. IVER JOHNSON

Iver Johnson was born in Ringerike, Norway, came to the United States and settled in Romness Township in 1885.

Barbara (Betsy) Haugen was born in Sagdal, Norway in 1852.  With her brother Henry she emigrated to Spring Grove, Minnesota.  After a year there and some time in Fargo, she came to Griggs County to homestead in 1881.  This remained her home all her life.

In 1889 the Johnsons married and became the parents of five children, Helen (Mrs. Peter Jungels), Olaf (deceased), Sarah, Alma (Mrs. Harry Zentz) and John, who died in the flu epidemic of 1918.  It was said of Mrs. Johnson who died in 1922 that the experiences of pioneer life and her Christian character alike were influences in building up the esteem and love in which her friends held her.  The children loved her very much.

Mr. Johnson died in 1911.  They had built up the farm, which was later owned by Edwin Anderson.

Henry A. Haugen, the brother who came to this country with his sister Barbara Haugen Johnson in 1881, was a carpenter by trade.  His story of building in the area might be interesting.  He owned the Kastet farm in Romness Township.  He married Mrs. Nelson who was a widow with two children, William and Nina, and they were lifelong residents of Cooperstown.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHN N. JOHNSON

John N. Johnson was born January 11, 1857, near Kongsvinger, Norway, and came to America in 1876, traveling first to Decorah, Iowa, and finding work there.

In 1881, he married Marthea Overby, who came from Kongsvinger, Norway, to live in Allamakee County, Iowa, until her marriage.  In the spring of 1882, they came to Griggs County to take a homestead in Romness Township, where they started farming.  Mr. Johnson took an active part in the organization of Ringsaker Church.

Ten children were born to them:  

The first was JOHN PETTER in 1882.  He was employed at a bank in Pembina, North Dakota and later at Ambrose, North Dakota.  In 1925, he married Sarah Cowley of Ambrose.  They had one son, Gerald, and a daughter, Grace (Mrs. Lloyd Brothen).  John Petter died at Ambrose on July 5, 1958.

EMMA LOVISE was born July 25, 1884 and passed away in January 1903.

CASPER ALBERT was born July 2, 1886 and farmed in Romness for many years.  He married Mrs. Esther (Estenson) Dillon in California, where they lived until 1971.  Then they moved to Crookston, Minnesota, where he died on February 17, 1972, (the same day as his brother Otto passed away at Grants Pass, Oregon).

MATHILDA ISABELL was born November 18, 1888.  She was married to Arthur Gudim in Ringsaker Church, and passed away at Portland, Oregon in 1959.

ELMER BERNHARD was born in April, 1891 and passed away in 1923.

ARTHUR OLIVER was born on September 13, 1893.  He was a veteran of World War I, and served as adjutant of the VFW Post of Cooperstown.  He taught school for several years before starting to farm on the home place (land now owned by Dr. Nesheim of Mayville, North Dakota).  He died on May 11, 1959, at Cooperstown.  He never married.

ROBERT CONOVER was born February 8, 1896.  He married Josephine Berg of Cooperstown.  He died April 12, 1962, at Spokane, Washington

OTTO MELVIN was born April 3, 1899.  He worked at the Larson Store before moving west in the early forties.  After 1947 he and his wife, Martha Brick resided at Grants Pass, Oregon.  They had one daughter, June, and one son, Wayne.  Also five grandchildren at the time of Otto's death on the same day his brother Casper died.

AGNES JENETTE was born February 17, 1902 and passed away May 15, 1903.

RUTH EVELYN was born on July 8, 1904, and was married to Kenneth Enstad at Cooperstown.  She is the only survivor of the John N. Johnson family (1975) and lives in Lisbon, North Dakota

In 1937, when Mr. and Mrs. Johnson observed their 56th wedding anniversary, they were reminded of their chilly reception in Griggs County when they arrived in the spring of 1882.  Driving by team from Mayville, they were caught in a snowstorm and the whole party was forced to sleep in the sled in the hollow of a ravine.  When the blizzard subsided the following morning they discovered that they were three miles from their original destination in Romness.

They lived on their homestead until the early twenties when they moved to Cooperstown.  They were also reminded of the fact that John had been working for five years in America before he could send a ticket to his bride-to-be back in Norway.  In 1914, however, they were able to visit their old homes across the sea.
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CHRISTIAN AND SIRI KASTET

Christian and Siri Kastet lived and farmed in Romness Township.  Their children are:  

Julius born March 23, 1888 in Romness.  Married Evina Christopherson June 25, 1913 and she died 1947.  He died October 21, 1968.  Five daughters:  

Esther (Mrs. Marvin Iverson)

 Senora (Mrs. Raymond Rommingen)

 Clarice (Mrs. Helge Hanson)

 Ruth (Mrs. Chester Jensen) and Dorothy (Mrs. Leonard Gullickson).  Hans born October 12, 1893 in Romness and also farmed in Romness.  Married Agnes Olson at Cooperstown July 9, 1925.  Two children:  

Angeline and LeRoy.  He died February 1963.  Melvin born June 7, 1902

 married Ethel Pramhus of Wellsburg, North Dakota Two daughters:  

Darlene and Laray.  He died August 12, 1956.  Mabel born June 7, 1902 - twin sister of Melvin.  (Mrs. Nels Hanson).  Gudrun - (Mrs. Joseph Werre).  Clara (Mrs. Oscar Bostrom).  Helga - (Mrs. Enner Olson.  Andrew.  And another daughter and two sons.
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MR. AND MRS. ANDREW C. KNUTSON

Andrew C. Knutson was born in Christiania, Norway in December 1851.  He came to America and settled in Griggs County in 1880.  For some time he had a store and post-office in his home, as his house was much larger than most of his neighbors', but it was closed when the town of Mardell got started and had a store where people could pick up their mail.

In 1888, he was married to Gena Haugen who came from Hallingdal, Norway, arriving in this county in 1887, after spending a year in Barrett, Minnesota.

The children of the Knutsons were as follows:  

Karine (Mrs. Alfred Bisberg) who died in 1928

 Kittel, who died in 1972

 Gunhild, who died in 1974

 Alvina (Mrs. Michael Honaker)

 Minnie (Mrs. Thor Auren), deceased

 and Otis, who married Goldie Arndt.

The Otis Knutsons lived on the Andrew C. Knutson farm.  Their oldest son Odin was married to Esther Mostad in March 1952.  Odin spent some time in the service.  Their children are:  

Nancy and Michael.

Mr. and Mrs. Otis Knutson have one granddaughter, Gloria, born October 23, 1932, who is married to James Lindsay.  The Otis Knutsons' have lived in Cooperstown for several years.

Andrew Knutson died October 23, 1933, and his wife, Gena, died January 12, 1931.  They are buried at the Ringsaker Cemetery.
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MR. AND MRS. JOHN KNUTSON

John Knutson was born in Osterdalen, Norway in 1873 and came to America in 1885 to Port Huron, Michigan and in May 1887, he came to Griggs County where he worked on several farms until he homesteaded in Romness Township.  He was married to Josephine Elsaas of Ottertail County, Minnesota on December 19, 1893.  They had one adopted daughter, Nellie Carol Myhre who was married to Albert Johnson June 29, 1922.  Mr. Johnson was born May 11, 1897, the son of John and Lena (Graff) Johnson.  He farmed all his life in Romness Township until he retired, when they moved to Cooperstown.

They have two sons, Lawrence and Alvin, and two daughters, Mrs. (Josephine) LeRoy Olson and Mrs. James (Carole) Helmer.  In 1973, they had 16 grandchildren and 3 great grandchildren.

Mr. Johnson passed away October 27, 1973, at the Griggs County Nursing Home.

John Knutson died March 12, 1930 and Mrs. Knutson died June 5, 1955.
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MR. AND MRS. PETER KNUTSON

Peter Knutson was born on May 5, 1865 at Osterdalen, Norway.  He married Augusta Bolette (Vestern) who was born in Fillmore County, Minnesota, in 1869.  They lived on a farm in Romness Township after coming to Dakota.  After Mr. Knutson's death on February 6, 1916, she continued to live there until moving to the Northwood Old People's Home.  She died in November 1946.

Peter and Augusta Knutson had a family of eight children.  Amelia was married to Sven Fors.  They had five children:  

Cora, Palmer, Esther, Selmer, and Olaf.  The mother passed away when the youngest child was born.

Clara Knutson was married to Otto Sletten on November 28, 1922.  Their children are:  

Orpha (Mrs. Arnold Stokkeland) and Arnold Sletten.

Peder Alfred was married to Hilma Peterson.  They also lived in Romnes.  Their children were Dorothy (Mrs. Lyle Dillman) and Kenneth.  Hilma Peterson died in 1922.

Henry was married to Netha Myer.  Their children were:  

Carol and James.

Otto was married to Cleona Retzlaff.  Their children are:  

Carol and James.

Agnes was married to Randal Morrison.

Karsten was married to Ruth Quanrud.

Samuel was married to Ruth Babette Trude.  Children:  

Barbara Ruth and Constance.
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RAYMOND McCARDLE

Raymond McCardle was born January 30, 1905 at New Rickland, Minnesota, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas McCardle.

Emma Skjoiten, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Peder Skjoiten of Northwood, North Dakota, was born July 22, 1904.  She attended grade and High School at Northwood, North Dakota and taught school in Grand Forks, Kidder and Ward County.

Raymond and Emma were married June 11, 1928.  They resided in Steele for several years.  Their son, Curtis, was born in Steele April 30, 1931.

They moved to Romness Township in 1936.  On October 31, 1938, their son, Roger, was born at McVille, North Dakota Curtis and Roger completed the 8th grade in Romness School #3, and were graduated from Cooperstown High School.

Raymond and Emma retired from farming and moved to Cooperstown in 1957.  Curtis and his wife, Bebe, assumed operation of the family farm.

Roger attended North Dakota State University at Fargo and was graduated as Bachelor of Architecture in 1961.  He is now with the Laurance Laboratory of the University of California.  His daughter, Shannon, was born June 16, 1967.  He resides at Oakland, California.
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CURTIS McCARDLE

Curtis McCardle and Bebe Trostad were married January 22, 1955 at Cooperstown, North Dakota.

Curtis was born in Steele on April 30, 1931, the son of Raymond and Emma McCardle.

Bebe was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Trostad of rural Aneta.  She was born at McVille, November 12, 1932.  She has one sister, Rhoda and one brother, Richard.
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MR. AND MRS. OLE MIDSTOKKE AND FAMILY

Ole L. Midstokke was born January 3, 1890 at Sharon, North Dakota He was married to Clara Olson on June 21, 1911 and moved with her to Plaza, North Dakota, returning to the Cooperstown area in 1916.  They moved to California in 1942, but returned in 1950.  The Midstokke's celebrated their golden wedding in 1961.

They had seven children, Myron, Gene, Joel, Luella (Mrs. Davilla) and Mrs. Edward Smith (Myrdice), Vernon, and Orpha (Mrs. Theodore Pladson)

 also two daughters that passed away as children.

Mrs. Midstokke (Clara Elina Olson) was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert Olson of Romness.

Mr. Midstokke passed away in 1962 and Mrs. Midstokke in 1974.
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MYRON MIDSTOKKE

Myron Midstokke was born in Griggs County, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Midstokke.  He married Elaine Stormoe in Oakland, California in 1943.  They had two sons Dean and Harlan, both of Oakland, and two daughters Lynne (Mrs. Peter Wigeses) and Lorretta of Cooperstown.
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CONRAD MOE

Conrad Moe lived in Romness on Section 6 SE 14758.

He was born in 1856 and died in 1921.

Mrs. Moe was born in 1850 and died in 1916.

They had five children:  

John, Ted, Edward, Charolette, and Cornelius.
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HENRY MOSTAD

Mr. and Mrs. Henry Mostad and son, Arthur, moved to Cooperstown from Montpelier, North Dakota in the fall of 1918.  They moved to a farm northeast of Cooperstown, which was at that time owned by R. C. Cooper.  This farm is now property of Norman Edlund.  Daughter, Helen, was born on this farm in the fall of 1919.

On March 1, 1920, the Mostad family moved to the Iver Udgaard farm.  This farm consisted of 6 quarters Sections or 960 acres.  Another 320 acres were also rented later.  All farming at this time was done with horses and about 24 head of workhorses were kept on hand.  There were also approximately 100 head of beef cattle, some hogs and at one time, 150 head of sheep to care for.  Up to seven men were hired at one time to care for all this.

In the spring of 1929, Mr. Mostad purchased 320 acres of land in Romness Township from Mr. Udgaard.  This farm is now owned by Mrs. Helen Udgaard.  Son, Robert, was born on this farm in the fall of 1925.  The Mostad children attended the Seim School and Arthur and Helen completed all eight grades in this school.  Helen graduated from the Cooperstown High School in 1936.

The Mostad family were members of the Ringsaker Lutheran Church and Arthur and Helen were confirmed there.  Mr. Mostad served on the Romness town board for several years before moving away in 1936.  He was president of the Farmers Union Local of Romness Township.

The Mostad family moved to Osakis, Minnesota, in September 1936, where they farmed until 1952.  Mr. and Mrs. Mostad retired to Glenwood, Minnesota, where they lived until Mr. Mostad passed away in 1969.  Mrs. Mostad now lives at the Memorial Home, Osakis, Minnesota Mrs. Mostad is the daughter of Eliza Crawford, who was an early pioneer resident of Cooperstown.

Arthur Mostad married Ruth Frigaard of Cooperstown in 1941.  They now reside in Wanamingo, Minnesota.

Helen Mostad married Harlan Christensen, Osakis, Minnesota where they now reside.

Robert Mostad married Janet Husmann and they now farm near Osakis, Minnesota.
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NELS P. NELSON

Mr. and Mrs. Nels P. Nelson were pioneers.  Mrs. Nels P. Nelson (Maiden name was Johanne Vestern) was born April 15, 1861 to Eric Johnson Vestern and Bertha Rustad.  She died May 1, 1943 in Alberta, Canada.  Her husband passed away in Alberta.

They moved from Romness in the spring of 1910.  He had filed on a homestead there in 1909.

In Romness, they bought approximately 11 acres from Peter Idsvoog, a part of his farm.  They built their home there.  The lower part of the present house was her mother's home, which was moved to the present site from about a half a mile southeast along the river, after Mrs. Bertha Vestern's death.

Mr. and Mrs. Nels P. Nelson had two sons:  

Emil and Albert.  Albert was married to Lillian Anderson.  They had three daughters:  

Nellie, Millie, and Clara:  

two grandchildren Harvey Oliver and (Lylah Fern) June (Mrs. Fredrick Rindahl).
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DR. EDWARD NESHEIM AND FAMILY

Dr. Nesheim, Mayville dentist is a son of Nels and Gunhild Nesheim, homesteaders of 1905 on a claim north of Newtown, in Montrail County, North Dakota Both of his parents came from Norway in 1900.

Mrs. Nesheim, known as Eunice Mae Solberg, is the daughter of Carl and Clara (Trostad) Solberg, formerly of Cooperstown.  

They were married June 23, 1946, in Trinity Lutheran Church at Cooperstown.  
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MR. AND MRS. EDWARD NISSTAD

Edward Nisstad was born in Arenfjord, Sogn, Norway on March 6, 1896, and served in the Norwegian army before coming to the United States in 1923.  He worked as a farm laborer in Iowa for a time before coming to North Dakota.  He married Ethel Anderson in Moorhead, Minnesota February 10, 1930 and they farmed in Romnes Township until the fall of 1973 when they retired and moved to Cooperstown.

Their children are:  

Mrs. Alvin (Eleanor) Johnson of Hillsborough, California, whose husband is the son of Mr. and Mrs. Albert Johnson, formerly of Romness, and David Nisstad, who married Sharon Taylor of Riverdale at a wedding in Ringsaker Church on August 5, 1963.  An especially chosen program of Bach music was prepared for this occasion by Elton Oppegard of Dazey formerly a music teacher on the Cooperstown staff.
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OLE OLSON BJORNSTAD FAMILY

OLE OLSON BJORNSTAD family, who came to Griggs County in 1880 (Romness).

OLE OLSON BJORNSTAD (1820-1895) and Mrs. Maria Bjornstad (1819-1892) were born and married in Norway, came to Wisconsin, moved to Iowa and then to Romness Township in Griggs County, 1880, with a caravan of pioneers.  Their children who came with them were:

1.  BERNT OLSON (1855-1933).  He was born in Dane County, Wisconsin.  He married Martha Torfin Lysebeck (18571929) in 1876.  Children:  

Mrs. Albert (Bella) Sundeen - died 1937.  Anton - first child born in Romness Township in 1881. Olaf; Mrs. Ole Anderson; Mrs. August Brueske; Mrs. John Lind, Mrs. (Tilda) Mathilda Olson.

2.  GILBERT OLSON, shortened from Elling Gunerious Olson Bjornstad was born October 15, 1858 at Highlandville Winnesheik Company, Iowa and died in 1942 in Griggs County.  In 1879, he married Maria Kajsa Anderson Punland who was born in Wermland, Sweden in 1845.  Children were:  

Mrs. L. L. (Anna) Hilstad, Henry Olson, Albert Olson, Mrs. Ole (Clara) Midstokke and Mrs. Lewis (Gena) Hogenson.  Two children died of diphtheria in 1882.

3.  MARTIN (Martinius) OLSON (1857-1920).  He married Maria Nelson (1866-1942) in Romness in 1885.  Children were:  

Anna Maria, Nils Olai, Lena Kristina, Emma Amalie, Oscar, Otto, IdaAmilia and Alice Lenora.

4.  THEODORE B. OLSON (1866-1933).  He married Marie Thyle (1874-1963), who was born in Wisconsin.  Their children:  

Ener Olai, Melvin Malius, Mabel Theoline, Oscar, Henry and Ruth.

5.  JOHN TORFIN (-1932).  He was born in Iowa and married in 1878 to Hannah (Johanna) Olson Bjornstad (1935) who was also born in Iowa.  They came to Griggs County with Bjornstads in April 1880 and were "squatters" on land held by (1957) Alf Ueland, built a log house on 26-146-58 where their daughter Thilda, the first child born in Griggs County, was born on September 11, 1880.  Other children were:  

Edwin (1882-), Albert (1884-) and Clara J. (1895-1906).
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HENRY OLSON FAMILY

Henry Olson married Anna Nelson, January 26, 1910.  He was born in Romness Township, April 10, 1884.  He served on his Township and school boards in Romness Township.  Their children:  

Howard (1913-1964) 

Amy (Mrs. Harold Funke) deceased

Chester (1919-1969)

Gordon, deceased

Gilman, who operates Olsons Floral Shop, in Cooperstown, North Dakota
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MR. AND MRS. BERNT OLSON

In 1880, Mr. and Mrs. Bernt Olson, together with Mr. Olson's parents, Mr. and Mrs. Ole Bjornstad and his brothers, Gilbert, Martin, Theodore and his sister, Hannah, and also several others, left Decorah, Iowa.  They had one team of horses, one yoke of oxen and two covered wagons.  The oxen had been broken that spring in preparation for the journey.  The Olson's settled on a homestead on the NW quarter of Section 25, near the Sheyenne River in what is now Romness Township.  They were among the first settled in the county.  Bernt Olson was born in Wisconsin, April 27, 1855.  His wife, Martha Mary Torfin (Lysebreck) was born December 16, 1857 in Iowa.  They were married April 8, 1876, in Iowa.  They became the parents of eleven children, of whom three, Ed, Ole and Gilman died in infancy.

Anton Olson was the first white child born in Romness Township, January 31, 1881-l' and the first white boy in Griggs Company He grew up at the home of his parents, east of the Ringsaker Church by the south edge of Horse Hill.  He was united in marriage to Lena Anderson on March 17, 1902.  To this union eight children were born:  

Agnes (Mrs. Hons Kastet, 1903)

 Bert in 1904

 Irene (Mrs. Clifford Stromsodt) in 1907

 Ruby (Mrs. Sigvart Auren) in 1910

 Grace (Mrs. Levi Krushwitz) in 1912

 Alphild born in 1912, died at an early age

 Orinda (Mrs. Clarence Trelstad) in 1917

 also a girl who died in infancy.

Anna married August Brueske, one son, Ronnie

 Julia married John Lind

 Tilla married Conrad Olson

 Bella married John Stromme.  They had six children, Palmer, Marian, Beatrice, Floyd, Verna and Gloria.  (No family history concerning Julia and Tilla's families.)

Olaf Olson was born in Romness

 married Olive Jeanette Monson, on November 11, 1917.  They have one daughter, Lenore.  Mrs. Olson died June 30, 1938.  Mr. Olson died July 1973.

Matilda married Albert Sundeen.  (No History.)

Elvina married Ole Anderson, June 2, 1917, at Cooperstown, North Dakota She was born in Romness Township, August 22, 1897.  He was born May 15, 1892, son of Gustaf and Unnie Anderson, in Fillmore Company, Minnesota Later his parents and family moved to Lenora Township, Griggs Company They farmed 27 years in Romness and 10 years in Lenora.  They purchased the homestead of her parents in Romness.  They moved to Cooperstown in 1958.  They celebrated their Golden Wedding in 1967.  They have two daughters, Evelyn and Joyce.

Evelyn was born March 30, 1919.  She married Leon Young, October 15, 1945.  Four children: 

William, Allen, Michael and Deborah.

Joyce was born October 24, 1926.  She married Oliver Anderson of Binford, November 17, 1945.  He was born in Pilot Mound Township, November 13, 1922, son of Lars and Neva Anderson.  He farms in Pilot Mound, Tyrol and Romness Townships.  He spent 14 months in the Air Force in Texas.  Joyce was employed at the First State Bank of Sharon for several years.  Their children are:  

Julie is attending University of North Dakota at Grand Forks.  Richard attends Cooperstown High School.

In 1970, they purchased the original homestead of Brent and Mary Olson, from her parents, Ole and Elvina Anderson.
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GARFIELD OLSON

Garfield Olson was born January 16, 1910 in Sverdrup Township.  On December 27, 1941, he married Evelyn Rasmusson of Hannaford.  She was born March 9, 1915 in Cooperstown.

They have lived in Romness Township since April 1947 on the Andrew Anderson farm.

They have four children:  

Gale, Jeannie, Richard, and Deane.

Garfield Olson has farmed for many years and the later years has done carpenter work.
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GILBERT OLSON FAMILY

Gilbert Olson was born October 15, 1858, near Decorah, Iowa.  His parents were Ole and Marie Bjornstad, but Gilbert chose to be called Olson rather than the name of the old home in Norway.  He attended school from age eight to thirteen, but only about twelve months in all, because he usually had to work to help out with the family living expenses.

He grew up in Iowa and was married to Maria Anderson, at Osage, in 1879.  In the spring of 1880, their first son was born.  Soon afterward, they set out with a number of other settlers toward the northwest, as it was rumored that rich land was available there.  They had four covered wagons and they used horses to pull them.  Gilbert had a cow and three chickens.  They had to keep the wagons spaced rather close in order to keep the cattle together.  This proved difficult, because it rained virtually every day and night for two weeks.

The Caravan arrived in Mayville, Dakota Territory, on June 28, 1880, and stayed to celebrate the Fourth of July there.  They tried to start a base ball game, but could not find enough interest, so they spent the day watching the racing events.

On July 5, they continued their journey to the Sheyenne Valley.  The land was not yet surveyed, so the settlers were called "squatters, " that is, they made homes on the land, hoping to be able to claim it for their own after it had been properly surveyed.  When the surveyors came the following year, the Olson claim was declared railroad land, but Gilbert Olson defended his claim and finally won out.  When Grover Cleveland became president in 1898, he signed the deed to the Olson homestead.

Gilbert had to hire his first breaking done and in the spring of 1881 had seven acres prepared for seeding.  In 1883 he bought a plow and harrow, but the seeding was still done by hand at that time.  He planted two bushels of potatoes from which he received twenty-five bushels in the fall, while the wheat brought a yield of 32 bushels an acre.  The prices were good considering the high value of money at the time, the wheat being sold for $.85 per bushel.

Buffalo bones were gathered in piles from where they were thrown up into wagons and hauled away to the nearest market - at Valley City.  He only received half of what the bones brought, as the hauler got the other half.  When the harvest and threshing season arrived, Mr. Olson walked down to Goose River and worked for two dollars a day.

Mr. Olson was the first fiddler in the Sheyenne River settlement so he was kept quite busy the first years playing for parties.  In 1882 he took first prize in the running races at the Fourth of July celebration at Mardell.

In 1882, another boy was born to the Olsons.  Both children became sick with diphtheria, and as the nearest doctor was in Valley City, nothing could be done to save them.  Their grief was great, for this tragedy left them childless.  The coffins had to be made of common lumber and there was no minister near at the time, so they had to arrange everything themselves as best they could.

After the deaths of their two sons, the Olsons had five more children, all of whom grew up to live in or near Cooperstown.  They were:  

Henry, Albert, Annie (Mrs. Lewis Hilstad):  

Gena (Mrs. Peter Hogenson) and Clara (Mrs. Ole L. Midstokke).

Neighbors were few and they lived far apart.  Bent Olson, Gilbert's brother, was his closest neighbor.  Others were his parents, the Ole Bjornstads, also Andrew Nelson, Martin Olson, John Hogenson, Iver Seim, John Qualey, Andrew Knutson and John Dahl.  In 1898, Mr. Olson moved one-and-a-half miles north of his original homestead to a location described as SW 1/2 Section 13 Township 147, Range 58.

Our grandfather, Gilbert Olson, died during World War II.  To the best of our recollection it was in 1943.  Since then his five children have also passed away.  A son-in-law, Lewis Hoganson of Cooperstown, and two daughters-in-law, Mrs. Anna Olson (Henry's widow) of Cooperstown and Mrs. Clara S. Olson (Albert's widow) of Grass Valley, California survive.

Grandchildren of Gilbert Olson are:  

Twins (deceased in infancy) born to Mr. and Mrs. (Gena) Lewis Hoganson:  

a son, Leonard, born to Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Hilstad (also deceased).  Mr. and Mrs. Henry Olson had the following children:  

Gilman of Cooperstown, Howard, Amy, Chester and Gordon.  The last four all deceased, Gilman is the only remaining grandson of the Henry Olson family branch.  Mr. and Mrs. Ole Midstokke's children are:  

Louella of Oakland, California, Myron (deceased) Gene and Vernon of Cooperstown, Myrtice of Oakland, California and Joel of Cooperstown.  The children of Mr. and Mrs. Albert Olson are:  

Garfield of Grass Valley, California, Alvin of Larimore, North Dakota, Sidney of Seattle, Washington, Harvey (deceased, killed in action in WW II), Marian of Grass Valley, California and Delores of Lyman, Wyo.
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MARTIN OLSON AND FAMILY

Martin Olson was born November 15, 1854 to Ole and Maria Olson (Bjornstad) in Iowa.  He came to North Dakota in 1880 with his parents, three brothers and one sister.  He married Mary Nelson on February 16, 1885.  They lived in a sod house until 1910 when they moved into their new house.  They were parents of eight children:  

Mary, Nels, Christena, Emma, Oscar, Ida, Otto and Alice.  One son died very young and one son died during the flu epidemic.  Of the above named children, only Ida (Mrs. Edwin Christopherson) is now living.  Martin Olson died April 1920.  Mary Olson died January 1942.

Mary Nelson was born at Vinger, Norway on January 19, 1866.  She came to America in 1873 with her mother, two brothers and one sister to Allamakee County, Iowa where they lived for seven years.

In 1880 she came to North Dakota with her mother (Anna Nelson) and two brothers, Nels and Andrew Nelson.  Children born to the union are listed above.

Anna Nelson died in 1881.  Martin Olson died April 1920.  Mary Olson died January 1942.  (Martin and Mary Olson's daughter, Christena, married Martin Christopherson.)
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MARTIN CHRISTOPHERSON

Martin and his wife Augusta were born in Norway.  They came to North Dakota and lived in Romness Township.  On February 18, 1887, a son Charles Christopherson was born.  They moved to Franklin Township in Steele County.  They were parents of eight children namely:  

Helga, Charles, Clara, Edwin, Evina, Oscar, Adolph and Mabel.  Two sons (Mrs. O. H. Ayers) is living now.  Martin Christopherson died in 1913.  Augusta Christopherson died in 1903.

Charles Christopherson married Christena Olson (DAUGHTER OF MARTIN OLSONS) in May 1910.  Charles and Edwin farmed the home place until they decided to sell and go to Canada to take up homesteads.  Charles lived in Canada until 1920 when he moved back to Romness Township to farm, where he lived until his death January 1973.  Mrs. Christena Christopherson died November 1952.  They were the parents of four children:  

May, Occar, Clifford and Alvin (who died at 6 months of age).

May Christopherson married Seibert Stromsodt of Grand Forks, North Dakota.  They have three sons:  

Charles, Sherman and LeRoy.  Sherman and Alice (Grafsgaard) Stromsodt, Wimbledon, North Dakota have two children:  

Scott and Tracy.  LeRoy Stomsodt has three children:  

Sharon, Laurie and Rhonda.

Oscar Christopherson married Vileay Ronningen and they have one son:  

Wayne, Mr. and Mrs. Wayne Christopherson and David live on the farm where Mr. and Mrs. Ed Nisstad lived for many years.

Clifford Christopherson lives on the home place and also owns the farm where Lybeck Postoffice was located in pioneer days.
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THEODORE B. OLSON AND FAMILY

Theodore B. Olson came to Dakota Territory from Decorah, Iowa in 1880, with his parents the Ole Bjornstad Olsons, brothers:  

Gilbert, Martin and Bernt and a sister Mrs. John Torfin.

They made the trip by ox team.  They settled in Romness Township.

Theodore Olson married Marie Thylie, who came to Dakota Territory with her father, Even P. Thylie, and sisters, Petra, Bertha and Caroline from Ettrick, Wisconsin.  The Thylies settled on what is known now as the Alf Ueland farm.

The Olsons had six children:  

ENNER O. 

Melvin M. 

Mabel Theoline (who passed away in infancy)

Oscar H. and Ruth (Mrs. Lawrence Monson) all of whom reside in Cooperstown.

Theodore, Martin and Bernt all had homes at what is known as Horse Hill in Romness Township.  Gilbert lived about 21/2 miles further north.  They all lived within three miles of the Ringsaker church, which was named for Ringsak, Norway, the area from which their father came.

Theodore Olson passed away in November 1931.  His wife, Marie T. Olson, passed away in October 1962.
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ENNER O. OLSON AND FAMILY

Enner O. Olson, eldest son of Theodore B. and Marie T. Olson, was born on March 13, 1892 in Romness Township, Griggs County.  On August 25, 1919, he married Helga Kastet, daughter of Christian and Siri Kastet.  The Olsons farmed in Romness and Lenora Townships until the fall of 1936, when they moved into Cooperstown, where they are still residing.

They have two daughters:  

Mrs. Allen (Marvelle) Arneson of Jessie and Mrs. Charles (Thelma) Turner of Cooperstown and three grandchildren:  

Mrs. C. C. (Leila Simonson) MATTHEWS of Walled Lake, Michigan

Jon Lee and Enner Charles Turner of Cooperstown.
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OLE OVERBY

Ole Overby (1848-1922) and his wife Anna Thorson (1860-1934) were natives of the Kongsvinger area of Eastern Norway.  They came to the United States in the early 1880's, staying their first year with friends in the Motley, Minnesota area.

The following year they came west to Griggs County and began farming in Romness Township.  Their first home was a log house a few feet north of the Ringsaker Church.  The Overbys lived in their log house until about 1890 when they moved about three miles west and built, the farm where Selmer Dahl now lives.  In 1902 they moved back into the valley and built the farm now occupied by Elmer Overby.  They had six sons and three daughters.

T. P. (Pete) Overby (1883-1935) was employed by Greenland Lunde of Cooperstown and his son, Kermit, now resides in Falls Church, Virginia.  His daughter Alfhild Loucks is in Winona, Minnesota and Lorraine is at Madison, Wisconsin.

Casper Overby lived on the family farm until he retired and moved into Cooperstown, North Dakota His son Elmer now occupies the farm.

Edwin Overby (1885-1903) lived on the farm until his death.

Alph Overby (1889-1964) lived at Finley, North Dakota where he operated a Chevrolet Garage, was employed by the FHA and later had a Real Estate and Insurance Agency.  He had four children, Alph, who lives at Cooperstown, Margaret Alberg of Minneapolis, Minnesota, Philip of Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Floyd of Oakland, California

Oscar Overby (1891-1964) was a member of the St. Olaf College faculty at Northfield, Minnesota.  Mr. Overby was married to the former Gertrude Boe of Finley who for many years was the soloist for the St. Olaf College Choir.  They have four children, Solveig Tschaan of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Osmond of Columbia, Missouri, Rolf, deceased, and Carl of Phoenix, Arizona

Alma Overby (1895-1973) married Severin Sola.  They farmed in Romness Township and retired to Cooperstown, the Solas had two sons, Oscar, deceased and Arthur who farms their home farm in Romness.  Severin Sola was born in Sola, Norway on April 1886.  He came to the United States in 1912.

Klara Overby (1899-1973) married Ernie Duea of Sharon.  The Dueas operated a hardware store in Sharon until they retired.  They have a daughter Ruth Lillo of Hillsborrough, California

Mabel Overby married Emil Carlson and they lived at Martinez, California where he was employed by the Shell Oil Company until his retirement when they moved back to Cooperstown.  Mrs. Carlson lives in Cooperstown at this time.  The Carlsons did not have any children.

Melvin Overby died at the age of three.

The following second generation Overbys are residents of Griggs County:

Oscar Sola farmed in Romness Township.  He was married to the former Lillian Quanbeck of McVille, North Dakota MT.  Sola died in a car accident in 1960.  His children, Sidney, LaNita, Adrian and Marshall live with their mother at Buhl, Minnesota.

Arthur Sola is married to the former LaVaine Larson of Binford, North Dakota They live on the Severin Sola Farm, in Romness Township where they farm with their son, Marvin.  Their other children are, Warren, employed on the farm and in local construction, Kathryn, employed at the Mayville Nursing Home and Michael is employed at the Farmers Elevator in Cooperstown.

Elmer Overby lives on the original Overby farm.  He is married to the former Edna Everson of Walum and their children are, Wanda Stark in Arizona, Linda Otto at Towner, North Dakota, Lloyd of Fargo, North Dakota and Wayne, Lonnie and Westley at home.

Alph Overby is married to the former Meriel Haugen of Gilby, North Dakota.  Mr. Overby is an attorney at Cooperstown, North Dakota Their children are:  

Signe Nelson of Omaha, Neb., Peter, Eric and Sonia, at Cooperstown.
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KLARA OVERBY AND E. S. DUEA CASPER OVERBY

Present and former residents of Romness Township honored Casper Overby and his wife, Ingrid, Sunday evening September 1, 1963.  Township clerk for 50 years, Mr. Overby has served with 29 supervisors in that time.  Thirteen of them are now dead:  

Hans Pramhus, Peter Knutson, Fred Baker, Theodore B. Olson, Edward Johnson, Lewis Hilstad, Gust Arneson, Anton Skramstad, Carl Bue, Carl Fliserom, Ole Uleteig, Albert Olson and Nels Qualey.

Other supervisors with whom he has worked are C. A. Johnson, Oscar Idsvoog, Henry Olson, Martin Skramstad, Henry Mostad, Edwin Udgaard, Richard Qualey, Garfield Olson, Elmer Overby, Otto Knutson, Selmer Dahl and Myron Kjelgaard.

Udegaard acted as Master of Ceremonies for a program and other Township supervisors who had worked with Overby were seated beside a table taken from the Romness School across the road, used in Township elections.  Each of them presented some item of interest concerning the 50 years Overby had served.  They were Udgaard, Oscar Idsvoog, Selmer Dahl, Garfield Olson and Richard Qualey.

Musical numbers were given by Mrs. Overby's sister, Mrs. E. S. Duea of Sharon

and Sonia Hurum who sang a Norwegian song

a trio by Wanda and Linda Overby and Dawn Hedstrom

quartet number by Mrs. Lennis Stromsodt, Mrs. Elmer Overby, Mrs. Sherman Stromsodt and Mrs. Arthur Sola

and soloist, Jeanne Olson.  Dennis Dahl played the accompaniment for these songs.  Bernette and Bonnie Thompson also sang with Cheryl Thompson as the accompanist.

At the close of the program, gifts were presented to Mr. and Mrs. Overby and a reception was held in the church parlors.  Casper Overby was presented a walnut and copper plaque inscribed "Presented to Casper Overby for fifty years of continuous service as Romness Township Clerk 1913-1963.”  Watches were presented to Mr. and Mrs. Overby by friends in Romness.  Mrs. Overby has served in an unofficial capacity as coffee maker for the Township officers for 40 years.

(Griggs County Sentinel Courier, September 12, 1963)
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MR. AND MRS. HANS P. PRAMBUS

Hans P. Prambus was born in 1816 and his wife Martha in 1830, both near Kongswinger, Norway.  They came with their family to settle near Decorah, Iowa, for a while.  They came to Dakota Territory in 1880, with a number of other pioneers, traveling by oxen and covered wagons.  They settled in Romness Township near the Sheyenne River where they built a log house.  Both Hans Prambus and his mother died in 1897, and his wife died in 1901.  They had four children:  

Andrew and Mary (Mrs. Hans Voll) had homesteaded near Hatton, and Ole at Wellsburg, North Dakota Hans H. stayed at home with his parents.

Hans H. Prambus took over the family farm, building a house and several other buildings.  He married Caroline Thyle who was born near Ettrick, Wisconsin.  Later her parents came to settle on the Alf Ueland place.  In the fall of 1920 Mr. and Mrs. Prambus moved to Cooperstown to make their home.  He died in 1930, and his wife in 1962.

They had six children:  

Mabel, Herbert, Alice, Clarence, and Arthur and Ella, both of whom died in infancy.  Mabel married Elmer Hillstrom, a Swedish mechanic who worked in Cooperstown for several years.  They had three sons:  

Harold, Marvin and Clifford.  Harold married Geraldine Sawyer and they have two daughters, Lana and Linda.  Harold died in December 1968.  Marvin married Mary Lockhart and they live in Seattle, Washington.  Clifford died in infancy in 1924.  Elmer and Clifford are buried in the Ringsaker Cemetery.

Mrs. Mabel Hilstrom married Gilbert Auren in 1927 and he died in 1956.  They had three children:  

Mrs. B. A. (Kristi) Green, Seattle, Washington, Vernon, Cooperstown, and Gilman who died in infancy.
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THE NELS J. QUALEY STORY

Nels J. Qualey and Annette B. Windloss were married July 17, 1904 in Steele County.  The first few years they resided in Finley and moved to the Qualey homestead in 1913.  Here they raised their four children, Maxine, Judith, Mercedes and Richard.  One son died in infancy while they lived in Finley.

Mr. Qualey was active in Township affairs serving as supervisor for many years.  He also served in the State Legislature in 1931.  He and his wife devoted much time to their church and school activities.

There were also times for recreation and fun.  The Qualey household was a popular gathering place for young people and many skating, skiing, or card parties were held there.  The big events of the summer season were "Play Day" and the County fairs.  There was a popular picnic ground just south of the farm buildings where nearly all the church and Sunday School picnics were held and it was also a place where many people from surrounding areas had family gatherings.

When Richard Qualey and Lenore Rosendahl were married in 1942, Nels and Annette Qualey retired from active farming.  Mr. Qualey died in 1942 and Mrs. Qualey continued her active life by going back to college, then teaching rural schools for three years.  In 1950 she became County Treasurer and continued there until her retirement.  She passed away in 1963.

Richard and Lenore Qualey still own and operate the original homestead - he is the third generation.  Their family consists of five children:  

Sheryl, Neil, Reed, Annette, and Brent.

Maxine and Hans Haugen have four children:  

James, Darryl, Janet and Vicki.

Judith and Maurice Haugen had three sons:  

Murray, Jerry and Loren.  Jerry died at the age of 20.

Mercedes and Oscar Tang have two children:  

Larry and Susan.
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OLAF REINHART

Mr. and Mrs. Olaf Reinhart lived in Romness Township for several years.

Mr. Reinhart was born in Pilot Mound Township in 1907 and grew up on a farm in that area.

In 1930, he married Florence Koloen.  She was born in Pilot Mound Township where she grew to womanhood.

They farmed first in Nelson County, then came to Romness, and farmed on the same farm that Conrad Moe had.

They moved to Cooperstown in 1955 where he worked on the Highway Department for over 20 years before retiring.

Mr. Reinhart passed away in April 1975.

Their children are:  

Shirley, Fern, Oris, Clarice, Vernon, and Sylvia.
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WILLIAM L. RINDE

Mr. William Rinde owned SE quarter of Section 17 in Romness Township.  The land went to his sister, Mrs. Lewis (Nettie) Iverson of Binford, where he died in 1935.

Mr. Rinde was born in Telemarken, Norway on March 28, 1855.  He came to America to Freeborn County, Minnesota in 1866 and in the early 1880's to Griggs County.  He never married.  Louis Rinde of Sharon was also a brother.

The land has passed from Mrs. Iverson to her daughters, Mrs. Anna Nielson and Mrs. Hazel McBride, who grew up in the Binford area.
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OLOUS AND LENA RONNINGEN

Olous and Lena Ronningen changed their name from Olson to Ronningen because there were so many Olsons in the neighborhood.  His brother Oscar also made this change, but three half -brothers, Edwin, Clarence and Harry did not.  Olous and Lena moved from Fillmore County, Minnesota, to North Dakota in 1904 with the two children born there, Mansfield and Ruth.

They lived near Binford until 1924 when they moved to Steele County for one year.  In 1925, they moved to Romness Township, and in 1938, they moved to Tyrol where they remained until they passed away, Olous in 1941, and Lena in 1971.

Other children born to them were:  

Raymond, who lived in Sharon and died in 1969

 Vileay, who was married to Oscar Christopherson in 1938 and who still lives in Romness

 Luven, who lives on the home place

 Walter, who died in 1963 and Francis (Pete) who died in 1975.  Mansfield and his first wife, Hazel Rickford, had one daughter, Harriet (Mrs. Lester Naas) of Devils Lake.  He and his second wife (Florence) live in Mayville.  Ruth and Elmer Anderson (first husband) had one son Robert, who lives in Portland, Oregon

 Raymond and Senora (Kastet) have one son, Wayne.  Wayne, his wife, Laurie and son David live on the former Ed Nisstad farm, which they bought, in Romness Township.

Walter and Luven never married.

Francis (Pete) and Phyllis (Larson) have three children:  

Barry, Hannaford

 Judy, Fargo

 and Leslie, Cooperstown.
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WILLIAM SAMUELSON FAMILY

William Samuelson was married to Annie Christopherson, a sister of Oscar Christopherson who lived with them most of the time.  They had four sons, Sam, Ed, Fred and Lewis, all of whom are now deceased.  They lived for many years in Romness Township.  Mrs. Samuelson was born in Farmington, Minnesota, in 1870.  She died in 1932 and was buried at Ottawa Cemetery.  Mr. Samuelson is 94 years of age and is living in a nursing home in Washington State.
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THE SKRAMSTADS

Marthinius (1847-1913), Hans (1876-1952) and family, Martin (1880-1965), Arthur (1909-) and family, Anton (1883-1949).

Martinius Skramstad was born in Norway in 1847.  His wife, Anna Hogenson, also came from Osterdalen.  They were married in 1872 and came to America two years later, settling in Romness Township, where they farmed for many years, building a home on what is now the Hugh (Pat) Hoglund farm.

Mr. Skramstad died in September 1913, and Mrs. Skramstad in April 1918.

Their family numbered ten:  

Hogan, Hannah (Mrs. Emil Simonson), Hans, Anton, Martin, Ingvald, Helen, Clara (Mrs. David Johnstone), Gustav Rekardt who died in infancy, and Dick Rekardt (Richard) who died in 1934.
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SKRAMSTAD, HANS (1876-1952)

Hans Skramstad was born to Marthinius and Anna Skramstad on March 31, 1876 in Osterdalen, Norway and came to America with his parents in 1884.  He married Karoline Johnson at Cooperstown on November 30, 1899.  Karoline was born in 1878 in Allamakee County, Iowa, near Decorah.  They lived in Romness Township on the farm now owned by Dr. Nesheim of Mayville.  The land is farmed by Alfred and Kenneth Knutson who still own the original farm-site.

There were five sons in the family, four of whom served in World War II.  They are Oliver of Mesa, Arizona

 Melvin, Minot, North Dakota

 Henry, New Westminster, B. C. Canada

 and George with the Air Force.  Irvin died during World War II while a prisoner in the Philippines.

Mr. Skramstad died in 1939.  Mrs. Skramstad died at the age of 74 in 1952.
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MARTIN SKRAMSTAD (1880-1965)

Martin Skramstad was born March 4, 1880, son of Marthinus and Anna Skramstad, in Osterdalen, Norway, and came to the United States in 1884 with his parents.  He married Amanda Anderson of Cooperstown on June 6, 1907, at Ringsaker Church where Amanda had also been baptized and confirmed.  Their children are:  

Arthur of Cooperstown, Francis (Mrs. Ed McCosh of Grand Forks) and Gene of Kallispel, Montana.

Martin Skramstad died December 27, 1965, and Amanda on January 26, 1973.  They are buried at the Cooperstown Cemetery.

Martin Skramstad worked in the Jimeson-Olson store in 1904 and later that year went to the John Syverson store where he became manager of the grocery department.  He worked there until 1912, when he began farming in Romness Township.  He farmed until 1918, after which he worked as a carpenter, an occupation which he followed most of his life.  He continued to live in Romness until 1945, when he retired and moved to Cooperstown.

Source Page 407 

THE ANTON SKRAMSTAD FAMILY ANTON SKRAMSTAD (1883-1965)

Mr. and Mrs. Anton Skramstad were residents of Romness Township.  They lived on what is now the McCardle farm.  Anton Skramstad and Marie Onsager were married January 1, 1920, and lived in Cooperstown for three years prior to going farming in Romness Township.  They were active in community affairs, school and Township.  Mr. Skramstad was instrumental in getting several roads into the area, as some of the roads were hardly more than trails across the prairie in the early twenties.  Marie Skramstad, being a registered nurse, was called upon frequently to help in case of accidents, as, again due to transportation difficulties, access to medical aid was inconvenient.  She had served in World War I. 

Marie Onsager Skramstad was born in 1888 at Northwood, North Dakota and passed away in 1934.  Anton Skramstad, born in Norway in 1883, became ill in 1936 and was hospitalized at San Haven, North Dakota from 1936 until his death in 1949.

Their only child, Anna Margaret, was born in 1921.  She lives in Fargo where she and her husband, Ordean K. Berg, have lived for the past thirty years.  Mr. Berg is a soil conservationist with the United States Department of Agriculture.  The Bergs have one daughter, Mary Jaylene, born in 1950, who is a pharmacist and is currently doing graduate work toward her doctor's degree, at the University of Kentucky at Lexington, started the latter part of June, 1975.
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ARTHUR SKRAMSTAD (1909-)

Arthur Skramstad was born August 3, 1909 in Cooperstown, the son of Martin and Amanda (Anderson) Skramstad.  He attended school in Romness Township.  He married Mae Jungles on June 7, 1940.

They farmed on lands originally owned by Martin Skramstad, John Gunderson, and John Sletten (Ralph Fuglestad farms this land presently).  In the fall of 1939, Arthur joined the CC's and got out in June 1942, returning to the farm.

In 1964 they moved to Cooperstown, where he drove a school bus until he retired in August 1972.

Their children are:  

Donald, Corrigan, Texas

 Patsy, Cooperstown

 Arlene, Saltsburg, Penn.

 Arthur, Tuck Willa, Washington

 Larry, Marana, Arizona

 Sandy, Denver, Col.

 Sharon, Cooperstown

 Holly, Imperial Beach, California.
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MR. AND MRS. OLE SLETTEN

Ole Sletten was born in Norway in 1838.  He married Oliana Johnson (Jonson) on May 17, 1827.  They had four children:  

John, who married Sisila Idsvoog

 Otto, who married Marie Bakken

 Thea, who married John Gunderson

 and Olava, who married Thorval Gunderson.  Ole Sletten passed away February 3, 1907 and Mrs. Sletten on March 25, 1911.

Source Page 408 

MR. AND MRS. JOHN SLETTEN

John Sletten was the son of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Sletten, born in January 1860.  He was married to Sisila Idsvoog and they had two sons

 Otto born in 1899, married Clara Knutson.  They had two children Orpha Constance, and Arnold.  Orpha married Arnold Stokkeland.  They have the following children:  

Arlene, Carolyn, Gerald, Lyle, Lennis, Sherry and Cynthia Jo.

Arnold Sletten, son of Ole Slettens, married Freda Corrine Engen on June 24, 1951.  Their children are:  

Steven, who married Marie Tibor in 1975, Scott Gary (deceased), Jon Owen, Kristi and Paul.
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MR. AND MRS. OTTO SLETTEN

Otto Sletten was married to Clara Knutson November 28, 1922.  They farmed in Romness where Art Skramstads also lived.  They have two children, Orpha, who married Arnold Stokkeland and Arnold, who married Freda Engen.

The Stokkelands have the following children:  

Arlene, Carolyn, Gerald, Lyle, Lennis, Sherry and Cynthia Jo.

The Arnold Engens' children are:  

Steven, who married Marie Tibor, Scott, Jon Owen, Kristi and Paul.
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GEORGE N. SORUM

George N. Sorum was born September 25, 1859 in Minnesota, the son of John and Betsy Sorum.  He attended Augsburg Seminary in Minneapolis and Curtis Business College in St. Paul.  He had knowledge of several languages and wrote poetry fluently.  He also taught school.

In November of 1883, he married Anna Marie Throndson who was born in Minnesota June 30, 1864.

To this union three children were born:  

James Blaine born in 1884

 Albert Norman born in 1886 and died as a young boy of three years

and Bennett Oliver born in 1888.

In 1907, the family moved to Cooperstown and a quarter of land was purchased in Romness Township, which borders Washburn Township.

Mr. Sorum had a business in Cooperstown.

Mr. Sorum died in January 1913 and Mrs. Sorum in 1950.  Their son, Bennett, of St. Paul, Minnesota, then held the land interest in Romness Township.  After Bennett Sorum passed away, his sons Westley and Lyle look after the land for their mother, Mrs. Georgine Sorum of St. Paul, Minnesota.
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MR. AND MRS. LAWRENCE STENBRO

Lawrence Stenbro was born in Norway and came to America as a young man.  He was employed in Riverside Township, Steele County and also in Romness, in Griggs.  He lived for a time in Wisconsin and served in World War I. 

On November 23, 1921, he was married to Ida Hogenson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John Hogenson.  The Stenbro's lived on the Halvorson farm near Ness Church in Washburn Township, moving to live for a short time to Riverside, then back to Romness where they built a new home in which they spent sixteen years.  In 1942, they purchased a home in Cooperstown and had lived there for 33 years at the time of their golden wedding in 1971.

They had a family of four daughters and four sons.  The oldest daughter, Karline Josephine died in 1923, and the youngest son, Walter, died at his home in Romness in 1933.  Both are buried at the Romness United Methodist cemetery.

They have six living children:  

Miss Irene Stenbro

 Mrs. Clayton (Florence May) Finke and Mrs. Karleen Johnson all of Fargo, North Dakota, Raymond, Cooperstown

 Arthur, Great Falls, Montana

 and Clifford, The Dalles, Oregon.  In 1975, they have six granddaughters, four grandsons and one great-grandson.
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CLIFFORD J. STROMSODT

Clifford J. Stromsodt came to Romness in 1928 from Grand Forks.  He was the oldest of 12 children born to Peter and Christina Stromsodt.

In 1928, Mr. Stromsodt married IRENE L. OLSON, daughter of Anton and Lena Olson.  Anton was the son of Bernt and Mary Olson and he was the first white boy born in Romness.  Anton married Lena Anderson in the year 1902.  Lena was the daughter of Andrew Anderson.

Clifford and Irene Stromsodt have two children:  

Dorla, Mrs. Harvey Hanson

 Lenis, now on the home farm.

Source page 409

THOMAS SWINGEN

The Thomas Swingen family lived on the farm place just northeast of Mount Franklin in Romness Township originally built by Martinus Skramstad.  Several families have lived here throughout the many years it has been in existence.
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HUGH "PAT" HOGLUND

Mr. and Mrs. Pat Hoglund bought the former Martinus Skramstad farm.  It is located just northeast of Mount Franklin in Romness Township.  They grain farm and raise cattle.

They have four children:  

Deborah, Olafson, Michael, Danny, and Rebecca.
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ARTHUR THOMPSON 

His name in Norway was Asbjourn Tjemsland.  He changed it here.

Arthur Thompson was born near Stavanger, Norway on August 18, 1886.  He came to this country in 1905, first staying with his uncle at Hope, North Dakota A little while later he came to Griggs County, where he traveled with a crew doing carpenter work in the territory.

On November 22, 1916, he married Bertha Herigstad who was born in Stavanger, Norway on February 24, 1897.  They started farming in Griggs County and in 1939 moved to the Gimblett farm in Romness Township where he lived until his death in January 1956.  Mrs. Thompson died in March 1949.

To this union four children were born:  

Trygve, Cooperstown

 Arleen (Mrs. Joseph Hanna)

 Esther (Mrs. Edwin Unruh) both of Pasadena, California

 and Gladys (Mrs. Gerald Sjule) Santa Ana, California.
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TRYGVE THOMPSON

Trygve Thompson was born August 9, 1917, son of Arthur and Bertha (Herigstad) Thompson in Broadview Township.  In 1920, the family moved to a farm in Sverdrup Township where John Eldred Erickson now lives.

In the fall of 1939, Trygve moved with his parents to the Gimblett farm in Romness Township where he has continued farming since.  He has also had feeder pigs and cattle.

On May 26, 1945, he married Marian Miller who was born August 9, 1926 to Carl and Mary (Donohue) Miller of Pekin, North Dakota When she was a year old, they moved to a farm in Bryan Township near Binford, North Dakota where she grew to womanhood.

Five daughters were born to this union:  

Cheryl, Bernette (Mrs. Woodrow Flatla)

 Bonnie (Mrs. Daniel Wallin

 Charlene (Mrs. Jerry Christenson) and LaVon at home.  They have one grandchild, Stephanie Flatla.
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IVER UDGAARD FAMILY

Iver Udgaard was born October IG, 1863 in Lesja, Norway.  He came to Cooperstown in 1882 after living a short time in Minnesota with cousins and at Mardell.

He carried mail with horse and cart from Tower City to Lee post-office.  He was employed as a bookkeeper and machinery salesman by Knud Thompson and later as a collector for J. T. Odegaard, a moneylender.

He became a naturalized citizen in 1888 and at one time held a county office, was a farmer and cashier of The First National Bank in Cooperstown.

He married Gina Helling June 11, 1902.  Their first home that summer was the farm in Romness Township.  Later the buildings were moved from NW quarter of Section 2 and rebuilt on NE quarter of Section 3, the present location.

While living in Cooperstown, two children were born:  

Mildred in August 1903 and Edwin October 14, 1904.

In 1905, he visited his people in Norway.

In 1910, the family moved to the Lenora farm.

Iver was interested in progress and not afraid of change.  He believed in "the land" and its good cultivation.

He died in 1935 and did not see rural electrification become a reality, or the development of rust proof wheat or farm-to-market roads.

One can imagine how pleased he would have been to see good roads as we have them today.  A favorite early car was a fifty horse-power Veile.  It was without top or windshield and was started by cranking the engine by hand.  I remember outings when we were stuck in a series of muddy holes along a road and so the passengers descended from the car and pushed.  After one such time, he said of our mother, "What a power she is! "

That car was sold on the spot one fall when it turned over and broke the steering post on his leg.  He and Otto Kiehl were driving to Grand Forks for repairs for the Aultman Taylor tractor.  Otto was our engineer and he later fixed the Viele up and was a happy owner for many years.  Father had a gash on his leg, saw the doctor and came home with crutches and the repairs.  He was around in no time.

He was a patient, kind man.  In his last week of illness while he was resting and dozing after Dr. Grinnell had seen him, he asked "What did the doctor say?" and then observed "I think He has great things in store for me.  -
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MRS. IVER UDGAARD

Mrs. Iver Udgaard was born in Stavanger, Norway on April 14, 1879.  She was four years old when her father and mother, Lars and Gretta Malina Thu Helling, brought her and a younger sister, Christina and a young aunt to Sheldon, North Dakota.  From there they traveled by covered wagon to a homestead in Foster County.  The mother gave birth to another child, Roy, and she died of tuberculosis after three years.

The aunt became Mrs. Tollef Thompson and the mother of nine children and lived to be ninety-five years old.  The sister married young and mothered a large family, was twice widowed and died at the age of ninety-three in January 1975.

Roy died of pneumonia at age 18.

Gina Udgaard was 87 years and four months at her death in August 1966.

These ladies never lived close together but in later years they were much alike:  

industrious, frugal, resourceful and blessed with good health.

It didn't seem that we moved often but my mother saw her household moved about twelve times from farm to town and finally to farm.  She could make curtains and shades and adapt furniture in a clever manner to make an attractive place wherever we lived.  There were no moving vans, just a few hayracks, grain tanks, and some willing workers.  It didn't seem too marvelous then, but it was!

Charles Helling, Gina's half-brother came to live with us in 1905.  He was one of a number of relatives who was a part of our household in the early years.

It was natural for mother to be active and want to be useful.  She was fond of her friends, read a daily newspaper and later enjoyed radio and TV.  She worked hard in her flower garden and grounds, watched the cultivation of the fields with interest.  She was a good whist and checker player.

Her father lived to be over a hundred years old and his brother Alec lived to be 96.
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EDWIN UDGAARD

Edwin Udgaard graduated from the Cooperstown High School and attended a term at Pillsbury Academy, Owatonna, Minnesota, and a summer session at the Valley City Normal School.  He finished a term of teaching, worked with the Highway Department and with the railroad in Great Falls, Montana.

He began farming with his father on the Lenora farm.

He married Helen Myer of Binford November 6, 1934.  One daughter, Janice, was born February 18, 1938.

In 1941, they bought a farm and moved to Romness Township.  The Mostads had recently moved from it to Minnesota.  Later the Udgaards moved to Fargo and lived there eight years.  He worked at various jobs.

Returning to the farm, he lived until January 1968, leaving his widow, daughter and two grandchildren, Lisa and Steven.

He was a member of Ottawa Lutheran church and the Aneta Masonic Lodge.

Mrs. Helen Udgaard lives in Aneta.
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OLE ULETEIG

Ole Uleteig came to America from Lesja, Norway on May 18, 1911 to his Uncle Iver Udgaard, who was then living on his farm in Lenora Township.

Miss Newfert, a teacher, in the Simonson school was boarding at the Udgaards, and she tutored Ole and a couple other men there in the American language and it took Ole no time to learn to read and write it, and he spoke it fluently.

He was a hard working man.  He went to the woods down near Bemidji, Minnesota and worked in the winter when work was slack on the farm.  He went to Nashua, Montana, and filed on land and built himself a shack there.  He had to live on it for some months to claim it.  He got around on skis which he was use to from Norway.

He worked for his uncle on his farm in Romness Township, in 1918 he farmed 1/2 Section of his uncle’s land, and had the house built there, which is the Helen Udgaard farm now.  He worked hard there planting trees and beautifying the place.

He married Matilde Dolva in December 1918.  They moved into the new house the spring of 1919.  They had lived down at the Udgaard farm until the house was ready.

I had known Ole since 1912 when I came to work for Udgaards, but our life together was not long as bieght's disease took him in 1925.  He passed away May 18, 1925.

I married again and lived on a farm south of Eckelson and we moved to Valley City in 1947.  I'm alone and retired and celebrated my 85th birthday May 18, 1975.  I'm so glad to be enjoying good health.
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ARDEN AND KAREN VERALRUD

We moved to Cooperstown from Minnesota, July 7, 1965.  Arden was working on the missile sites for Morrison-Knudsen.  In September, he started working for Ed Reiten and is still working at the same place, which is now known as Melroes.

We have three children:  

Timothy, age 10, Kevin, age 9, Laurilie, age 4.
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ERIC (JOHNSON) VESTERN AND FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Eric (Johnson) Vestern came from the farm or ranch Vestern in the parish of Lynner, Hadeland, Norway, to the area of Fillmore Company, Minnesota, with their six daughters.  They had one son, Peter Ole, who died during infancy or early childhood in Norway.

In the 1800's, Eric and his wife, Bertha (Rustad) moved to Romness Township.  They settled about a mile north of Mount Franklin.

The names of their daughters are

 Marie (Mary) married Reverend R. E. Lovland.  Their children, Edward, Bertha, Otto and Agnes

 Karen married John Hogenson.  Their children, Hellene, Edward, Clara, R. Josephine, P. Lewis, H. Joseph, Ida, Otto and August

 Johanna married Nels S. Nelson.  Their children, Albert, Emil, Nellie, Millie and Clara

 Hellene married Paul J. Nelson.  Their children, E-Ila, Emma, Mathilda, Clarence, Clara, Maybelle, Floyd, Hazelle, and the twins, Paul and Harold

 Emma married John Anderson.  Their children, Alvina, Julia, Edwin, Elmer, John and Mable.  Augusta married Peder Knutson.  Their children, Amelia, Clara, P. Alfred, Henry, Otto, Agnes, Karsten and Samuel.

Four of these sisters and husbands, Karen and John, Johanna and Nels, Emma and John, and Augusta and Peder built their farm homes in Romness, within a short distance of each other, close to the Sheyenne River.  In the early 1900's, Johanna, Nels, and family moved to Albert, Canada, to establish their home, there.

Mr. Vestern died due to an accident, (1822-1890)

 Mrs. Vestern, (1830-1900).  She died at her second home in Romness, about 1/4 mile west from her daughter, Mrs. John Hogenson, near the river.
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MR. AND MRS. "TOM" VIGESAA

Mr. and Mrs. Torvald "Tom" Vigesaa and his cousin Torval Anderson farmed the original Martinius Skramstead farm in the 1930's.  They also lived on the Nelson farm next to the Iver Udegaard place later on.  From there, they moved to the Simon Auren farm, SE of Cooperstown to live with her mother and stepfather.

Tom and Torval were born in Norway.  Mrs. Vigesaa was born in Scotland.  Her parents were from Norway.  Her father was a sea captain and he drowned on a ship that went down.

Tom and Bertha had a foster daughter, Lila Thorson.  Many of Torval Anderson's brothers also lived with the Vigesaas at one time or another, when they first came from Norway.  It was said about Bertha that she had heart room for people and therefore there was always houseroom regardless of the size of the house.
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ROSENDAL TOWNSHIP

History

No record has been found to establish for certain when the Township of Rosendal was begun.  It seems to have been right around 1900.  It may be that the Township was organized in 1902.  Certain treasurer's records show that they collected taxes and paid out money for road purposes in 1902.  The rate of pay was $1.50 per day.  Credit was given for working on the road to pay poll tax and also some people worked off their share of the Township taxes by working on the road.

A group of people came by train to Courtenay and then came north from there by covered wagons, buggies, etc. to the Mose community.  Nels Torgerson, Little Anton Falla, J. D. Johnson, J. D. Barclay, Swen Bjornson, John Bjornson, Andrew Falla, Adolph Carlson, and Hendrick Tufte were some of the people who came in this group in 1899.  They came from the Elbow Lake community in Minnesota.  Some of them settled in Bryan Township while others settled farther north in Rosendal.

It has been said that J. D. Barclay named the Township Rosendal because of all the roses in the valleys.

Another group came from Iowa in 1901 and 1902.  They were Daniel Asmus, Christ Heinsen, John Broderson and others.

A school district was formed in 1890 called the Red Willow School District.  It comprised the four Townships of Rosendal, Willow, Addie, and Bryan.  School was held in two or three month sessions.  This school was situated in the southwest quarter of Section 29 in Rosendal.  A schoolteacher's report for the term of October 15 to December 1900 shows the names of some of the people who came in 1899.  Seventeen pupils were enrolled.  The teacher was Miss Blanche Williams.

Some of the pupils were Tilda Falla, Arthur Falla, Mabel Mullins, Elary Wilson, Howard Wilson, Bena Johnson, Willie Johnson, Lorens Barclay, Ole Barclay, Albert Bjornson, Lorens Bjornson, Ole Olson, John Olson, Emma Olson, and a few others.

A teacher's report from the next spring, March 25 to June 14, 1901, shows the school being taught by Betsy Johnson with 28 pupils enrolled.  Some of the new ones were Ludwig and Joe Lear, Hattie and Hilda Peterson, Oscar and Eddy Olson, Francis Smith, Thor, Mattie and Anna Raaen, and Judith Josephson.

In June of 1901, the different Townships formed their own school districts from the Red Willow District.
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Settlers

MARTIN ADRIAN

Martin Adrian, son of Oscar Adrian and Martha Asmus Adrian, married Mabel Johnson, daughter of Mina and J. D. Johnson in October 1939.

They moved to a farm on NE quarter of Section 34 in Rosendal Township.  They farmed there until Martin passed away in 1957.

Martin and Mabel adopted two children, Leroy and Lois.  LEROY married Janice Bakko and is living on the home farm.  Leroy and Janice have three children, Bonnie, Rhonda and Cory.  Lois and her husband, Larry D. Smith, live at Whitefish, Montana.  They have four children, Dawn, Martin, Elaine, and Lara.

Mabel Adrian married Lawrence Rix in 1973.  They are living in Binford.

Source Page 412

ASMUS FAMILY HISTORY

"This history begins long ago and far away - as long ago as 1878 and as far away as across the Atlantic.  There, July 2, in Holstein, Germany, a young couple, Daniel Kuno Wilhelm Asmus and his wife, Catherine Christina announced a new arrival in their family, a son.  They christened him Henry August Wilhelm.  Henry's birth brought much happiness to the home as Daniel and Catherine had lost a son, August, in infancy.  Sister Dora, then age four, was very proud of her little brother and very proud again in 1880 when another baby brother arrived.  He was named Carl Frederick Wilhelm.”

"In the spring of 1880 this family of five came to the United States and settled at Marne, Cass County, Iowa.  The father rented farm places and the family worked together overcoming one obstacle after another.  Henry, being the oldest son, remembers working out receiving as wages $4.00 a month.  This he did from springs work until after popcorn picking in the Fall, which left him about four months a year for school attendance.  Even with this limitation he was able to keep at the head of his class.

"In 1901 Daniel Asmus realized his dream.  He owned a piece of land, a homestead, purchased from the Johnston Land Company, situated in North Dakota, Griggs County, Rosendal Township.  He and his son, Carl, came at once to put the land into cultivation and to start building their farm home.  Henry remained in Iowa and farmed for his father.  The following year, 1902, Daniel's wife, Catherine, Henry and his sisters, Elizabeth, Martha and Amanda, and the youngest family member, John moved to their new North Dakota home.  Thus the Daniel Asmus Family became one of the first families to settle in Rosendal Township.  Only Dora remained in Iowa.  She had married Charles Meyers and the couple had established a fine home with two lively children, Hattie and Alfred, running about.”

Daniel Asmus lived until October 21, 1912.  The Binford Times paid this tribute, "His best monument will be the good report that he has left behind him in the community in which he lived.”  His wife, Catherine, nee Stockfish, entered into eternal rest fifteen years later on September 6, 1927.

Their youngest son, John Robert Wilhelm, farmed the home place.  He married Clara Matilda Ramsey in 1918.  They had three children, a son, Clifford Wayne, and two daughters, Julia Henrietta and Inez Lorraine.  Clifford served ably in the Air Force in World War II as a member of a Bomber Combat crew.  He and his wife, the former Ruth Adamson now live in Fargo, North Dakota.  They have two daughters, Barbara and Laurie Ann.  Inez Jackson and her two daughters reside in Seattle, Washington.  Julia and her mother continue to live on the home place though the ownership and operation has been taken over by Daniel Asmus's grandson, Elmer Adrian.  Elmer also owns a farm less than a mile east from the Asmus homestead.  John, due to poor health, is presently a resident in the Griggs County Nursing Home, Cooperstown, North Dakota.  He is now the only living member of the Daniel Asmus Family of eight children.

In 1938, Carl Asmus and his wife, the former Rosette Hermenia Adrian, their son Herman Arthur, and daughters, Edith Agnes and Catheryn Elearnor, moved from their Rosendal farm home to New Richmond, Wisconsin, where Carl in partnership with Frank Bixby continued farming.  All three, Herman, Edith and Catheryn graduated from the Binford High School.  Herman, now deceased, is well remembered for his athletic prowess.  He taught the Asmus country school for a time and thus instructed his sister, Catheryn and a number of cousins.  He served with both valor and daring as a navy pilot in World War II. 

Elizabeth Dorothea married Joseph Schwartz and the couple made their home near Belfield, North Dakota.  Of their children, three sons, Alfred, Walter, and Henry and two daughters, Alice and Winifred, are living.

Martha Sophie married Oscar Adrian.  They established their farm home in Rosendal Township about two miles south from the Home place.  Four sons, Arnold Oscar, Elmer Daniel, Martin Ernest and Paul Edward, and one daughter, Agnes Helena, blessed this union the youngest son, Paul, now farms the Adrian home place.  Martin is deceased.

Amanda Catherina married Albert Benhardt Bjornson.  Their farmstead was also located in Rosendal Township one-quarter mile west to the Asmus home place.  It is presently owned and operated by their youngest son, Chester Allen Bjornson.  Another son, Walter Ernest and a daughter, Kathleen Amanda, live in California while their oldest daughter, Wilma Iola Myers, resides in Moorhead, Minnesota.  A daughter, Edna, died at age four.

Again quoting from the Binford Times:  

"Tuesday, February 4th, 1908 at eleven o'clock at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Clinton Wilson of this city, occurred the marriage of their daughter, Zoe Maude Mullin to Henry Asmus.  The ceremony was performed by Reverend Reininga in the presence of only a few of the most intimate friends and relatives of the contracting parties.  They took the afternoon train for Lisbon this state where they will spend their honeymoon.  The Times join their many friends in wishing them happiness and prosperity in their new venture."
Their farmstead was also in Rosendal Township about two miles East of the Asmus home place.  Here in 1918 Henry built a spacious new family farm home.

This modern home was enjoyed by all seven children from eldest to youngest.  Yet all recall such daily events as churning butter, making cottage cheese, hand milking of cows, butchering and rendering lard, making head cheese, sewing garments from flour sacks, flat irons heated on a wood burning kitchen range, basement refrigeration, raking hay with horses, shocking grain, curling irons for the hair and walking across the field to the one room country school known in Rosendal as the Asmus school.

On April 24, 1924 the Times carried this new item.  "A fine baby boy came to gladden the home of Mr. and Mrs. Henry Asmus, on Thursday, April 24.  As there are five girls in the family it is needless to say that the son was doubly welcome.”  He was named Donald Eugene.  The five girls were Edna Banche, Audrey Ruth, Dorothy Adelia, Shirly Zoe and Maxine Margarie.  Two years later Geraldine Beverly was born thus completing the family of seven children.

Henry Asmus was active in Rosendal Township affairs serving on both school and Township boards.  He was highly esteemed in the community.  Though his means were modest he never hesitated in sharing what he had with others.  He lived to be 81, entered into eternal rest September 2, 1959.  His wife survived him until February 22, 1958.  She was 83.  Their seven children are living though somewhat scattered about.

Edna and her husband, Elbert Whitman, live in Bothell, Washington.  They have two daughters Zoe Marla Gonzales and Donna Lee Schaal.

Audrey, Mrs. Arne Helland of Binford, North Dakota, is an R. N. and is presently the Director of Nursing Service at the Friendship Manor Nursing Home, McVille, North Dakota.  She served in the A. N. C. World War II.  Her husband, Arne Helland, likewise served in World War II being in the Air Force for three years, seven months and seventeen days.  Their son, Richard Allen had six years of army service including two tours in Vietnam.  Their youngest son, Neal Dana, a college student, is now registered, having attained to eighteen years, October 22, 1974.

Dorothy, Mrs. Edwin Flamme, is a beautician.  She and her husband are living on the Henry Asmus home place in Rosendal Township.  Dorothy is well known for her seed pictures designed with seeds grown in North Dakota.  Ed was in the mounted Police three years and three days during World War II.  At the present he is Township clerk in Rosendal.  He is not actively engaged in farming having rented out the land.  They have no children, but all their nieces and nephews enjoy an open door relationship with their Aunt Dorothy and Uncle Ed.

Shirley and her husband, Curtis Hansen, live in Bothell, Washington.  They have two children, Lowell Curtis and Penny Sue.  Curtis is a retired Drag Line Operator.  Shirley is a teacher and is presently operating a nursery school in her home.

Maxine and her husband, Joseph Berger, live on a farm near Dazey, North Dakota.  They have four sons, Henry Joseph, Jerome Edward, Dean Loren and George Anthony.  Maxine has completed twenty-five years of teaching elementary grade schools in North Dakota.

Donald and his wife Inez LaVerne (Nee Halvorson) live in Binford, North Dakota.  They have two daughters, Beverly Jean Black and Dyanne Marjorie Streff.  Donald farmed in Rosendal Township for thirteen years and then moved into Binford.  He has driven a city school bus for the past fourteen years besides working for the city in various capacities through the years.  Inez has worked in the bank since 1955.  At the present she is manager of the Binford station and assistant cashier of the Farmers and Merchants Bank.

Geraldine is the busy wife of Leland Hedlund, the busy executive vice president of DeVac Window Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota.  They have two sons, Lorry Lee and Kevin Bruce and a daughter, Leisel Renee.

At the present time, as of June 1975, the Henry Asmus Family consists of the seven children and their spouses, the sixteen grandchildren and nine great grandchildren as follows:  

two sons, Beverly Asmus Black, Donald Jay and Eric Jay

 two sons, Loory Hedlund, Nicholas Todd and Jason Lee

 Son and daughter, Dyanne Asmus Streff, Christopher Noel and Miranda Gail

 one son Henry Berger, Jason Henry

 and two sons and a daughter, Arlys Helland Overby, Jody Eugene, Wade Richard and Ronda Rachelle.
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CARL ASMUS

Carl Asmus was born in Germany in 1880 and died at New Richmond, Wisconsin in 1960.

He was married to Rose Adrian who was born in 1885.  They were married in 1907 and she died in 1960.

They lived on a farm in the southeast quarter of Section 23 in Rosendal until about 1916 when they moved into Binford.  Later on they moved back to the farm - probably about 1926.  They sold out in 1938 and moved to Wisconsin.

They had three children:  

Herman born in 1908, Edith born in 1911, and Katherine born in 1913.

Herman married Elizabeth Schulte.  They had eight sons and two daughters and lived in California.

Edith married Arthur Soderquist and lives in St. Paul, Minnesota They have three boys and two girls.

Katherine married a Mr. Culp and also lives in California.
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DANIEL ASMUS

Daniel Asmus was born in Germany in 1845.  He died at his home in Rosendal Township in 1912.

He was married to Catherine Stockfish about 1873.  Catherina was born in Germany, December 26, 1860.  She died at Binford in 1926.

Daniel Asmus served in the military service in Germany in the Franco-Prussian War in 1870-1871.

They had three children born in Germany:  

Dora, Henry, and Carl.  They did not wish to have their children serve in the Armed Forces of Germany so they immigrated to America in 1882.  They settled at Marne, Iowa until 1901 when Daniel bought land in Rosendal Township, Section 21.  The family moved to Rosendal in 1902.

Four other children born in Iowa

 Elizabeth, Martha, Amanda, and John.
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HENRY ASMUS

Henry Asmus was the oldest son of Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Asmus.  He was born in Germany, July 2, 1878.  He died at Binford, September 2, 1959.

He married Zoe Mullin in 1908.  She was a stepdaughter of Mr. Clint Wilson.  Their children were Edna, Audrey (Mrs. Arne Helland of Binford), Dorothy (Mrs. Ed Flamme who still resides on the home farm), Shirley, Maxine, Donald, and Geraldine.
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J. D. BARCLAY

J. D. Barclay came to Rosendal in 1899.  He lived on Section 31.  He was Township clerk for many years.  He was a brother to J. D. Johnson.

Their children were - Susan - married Little Andrew Overby

 Lorentz - never married but lived on his father's place until his death

 Ole Barclay - married Jenette Rorvig, a daughter of Matt Rorvig

 Jens - married Ole Hanson's daughter and lived on the place with Lorentz Barclay.  His first wife died and he married Agnes Overby, a daughter of Christ Overby

 Lenora - died of T. B. when a young girl

 Christian

 Tanes.

Ricky Barclay now lives on the farm of his great grandfather.
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LAWRENCE BJORNSON

LAWRENCE BJORNSON married Clara Hanson, a neighbor girl.  They farmed a mile west of Red Willow Lake.  They had two boys and two girls.

Lawrence died in 1965 and Clara still lives in Valley City.  Their children were Floyd, Alvin, Verna and Inez.

FLOYD BJORNSON is married to Ione Harding.  They farm in Rosendal Township.  They have three sons, one daughter, and two grandchildren.

Alvin lives in Park River, North Dakota.  He works in a potato house.  He is married to Ione Hanson.  They have two children, Darrell and Sandra, who are both married.

Verna was married to Art Larson.  They are both deceased.  They had four children who live in Indiana.

Inez is married to Clifford Tweed.  They farm north of Wimbledon, North Dakota They have two children, Bruce and Gloria.  They are both married.  Bruce farms with his dad and Gloria and her husband teach school in the East.

Bendina married Reverend Haugen.  They had nine children, Esther, Carsten, Lillian, Solveig, Oscar, Ingeborg, Agnes, Thomas, and Patricia.  Bendina and Reverend Haugen both passed away and are buried at Zion Church Cemetery.

Sophia died at an early age from diphtheria.

Bella married Tom Johnson, a Mose boy.  They had only one son and he died at an early age.  Tom and Bella are both buried at Zion Cemetery.

Oscar is a bachelor and lives in Binford in the house where his parents retired.

Alida was married to Grant Peterson.  He was a grain dealer in Binford before they moved to Lisbon, North Dakota.  They had three children Joyce, Gene, and Wayne.  Grant died, but Alida still lives in Lisbon.

Sophus Bjornson and his wife Irene live in Park River.  They had seven children, five boys and two girls.  Sophus and Irene are retired.  Their children live close by.

Kathleen has been in San Diego since World War II when her husband was in the Navy.  She has three children.  Her oldest daughter, Sonia, is married and has two children.  Marcy and Clint are home with their mother.

CHESTER married Dorothy Biggerstaff Halvorson and they have four children - Jo Anne, Alan, Barry and Bob.  Jo Anne and Alan attend Valley City State Teachers College and Barry will attend North Dakota State University in the fall.  Bob attends Binford High School.  Chester and Dorothy live on the farm his dad and mother built in 1909.

Albert died in 1953 and Amanda died in 1971.  They are both buried in Zion Lutheran Church Cemetery.
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SWEN BJORNSON

Swen Bjornson and Kari Barclay were married at Elbow Lake, Minnesota November 20, 1888.  Swen was born in Smaland, Sweden and came to America in 1878.  He started farming at Elbow Lake.  Kari was born in Sogn, Norway in 1867.  She came to the United States in 1888 and was married the next year.  They tried to farm in Minnesota for ten years.  They came to Mose, North Dakota where so many neighbors from Elbow Lake had come to homestead.  They came to Courtenay by flatcar, and then came north with horses.  They built up their homestead on Section 28 north of Mose.  Their neighbors were Andrew Ramseys, Hendrick Olsons and Ole Hansons.  These neighbors, together with Nels Lee, started the ZION CHURCH north of Mose.  It was dedicated in 1902.

Swen and Kari had eight children - Albert, Lawrence, Bendina, Sophia, Bella, Oscar, Alida and Sophus.

They moved into Binford in 1943 with Oscar.  Swen died at the age of 87 and Kari died at 90 years of age.
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ALBERT BJORNSON

Albert Bjornson married his German neighbor girl, Amanda Asmus, whose parents had come from Iowa to settle a short distance from Bjornsons.  Albert and Amanda started a new farm and homestead on Section 21 between his parents and hers in 1909.

They had five children - Edna, Wilma, Walter, Kathleen and Chester.  They lost their first girl at the early age of four because of a blood condition.

Their second daughter, Wilma, married Herbert Myers and lived in Moorhead.  He died in 1955.  They had two daughters, both of whom live in Fargo.  Sharon is Mrs. Ken Overland and she has two children, Greg and Jason.  Sandra is now Mrs. Mullins.  She has two children also.  They are Bobby and Kathy.

Wilma still lives in Moorhead and works at St. Ansgar Hospital.

Walter married Joy Prescott and they have five children - Vicki, Ralph, Bruce, Kathy and Jackie.  They are all married except Jackie, and live in San Diego.

Walter and Joy have seven grandchildren.  Walter works at the San Diego Zoo.
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BEN CONANT

Benjamin Conant was born in Appelton, Maine, on January 1, 1872.  He came to North Dakota with his father in 1879.  They came to Hillsboro, North Dakota, where they lived until 1886 when they moved to Rosendal Township where he resided until his death in 1926.

In 1905 he married Maud E. Waring who was a schoolteacher.  She came from Middle Branch, Nebraska.  They made their home near the north end of Lake Hootetoo.  He was one of the earliest settlers in Rosendal.

They had six children - Albert, Warren, Florence, Lynn, Glen, and Merle who died in infancy in 1909.  Warren was married to Myrtle Johnson.  He died several years ago.  Florence Conant married "Bill" Anson.  They live in Loveland, Colorado.
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ANTON T. FALLA

Anton Falla was known as Little Anton Falla.  He was born in Norway.  He was a brother to Mrs. J. D. Johnson.  He came to the Mose community in 1899 with a group of people from Minnesota He homesteaded on Section 20 in Rosendal.  He married Jenny Bjornson in 1903.  She was the daughter of John Bjornson.  Their children are:  

Inga, Albert of Minneapolis, Tilda (Mrs. John Olson) and Otto, who still lives on the home place.
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CHRIST HEINSEN

Christ Heinsen came to Rosendal Township about 1902 with the Daniel Asmus family.  He homesteaded forty or eighty acres in NE quarter of Section 20.  His first wife died on the homestead.  He later married again and then lived in Binford and became a mail carrier.
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CLINT WILSON

Clint Wilson homesteaded in SW quarter of Section 20.  He married a widow, Mrs. Mullins, who had two daughters, Mabel and Zoe Mullins.  Zoe married Henry Asmus.  The Clint Wilsons had several other children - Howard, Elery, Harold, Verna and Max.  Clint Wilson traded his homestead to Barney Vogen for the dray business in Binford.
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ERICK HANSON

Erick Hanson later lived on the Adolph Josephson homestead on the south part of Section 31 in Rosendal.  His wife's name was Mary.  Their children were Hilmer (who married Susie Larson), Albert, Earl, Mabel, and Richard.
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OLE LARSON

Ole Larson was born in Norway.  He came to North Dakota to Rosendal Township in 1902.  He took up a homestead in Section 20.  He was married to Ingeborg Barclay in Norway in 1886.  Their children were Anne (married Pete Tufte), Susie (married Hilmer Hanson), Liza (married Joe Storkson).  Louie never married, but lived on the home place until his death July 30, 1970.  Other children were Lawrence (married Gertrude Lynne), Ida (Mrs. Bennie Johnson of Northfield, Minnesota) and Jennie (married to Luckreim of Northfield, Minnesota
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VICTOR MAGNUSON

Victor Magnuson was born in Sweden in 1882.  He came to Rosendal Township in 1904.  In 1907 he was united in marriage to Anne Tufte (daughter of Hendrick and Olea Tufte).  They had four girls - Mabel (Mrs. Sivert Balken), Ida (Mrs. Hartvig Lean), Florence (Mrs. George Christianson), Hazel (Mrs. Arthur Vrem).

Victor Magnuson died May 20, 1947.  Mrs. Magnuson died November 1, 1964.
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THE H. B. OMDAL FAMILY

Hans Bernard Omdal was born in Haugesund, Norway July 16, 1872.  He was educated in Norway, attended a military academy and served in the Norwegian army.  His trade in Norway was a stonemason.

He married Karen Hansel in Norway, and they came to the United States in 1904.  They spent the first winter in Grand Forks, and then moved to Shepard, North Dakota in Griggs County, where they lived a few months with the Andrew Brosten family.  Then they moved into Shepard where H. B. managed the grain elevator.  He also managed elevators in Mose and Binford, and bought a farm in Rosendal Township on which they built a house, barn, and other outbuildings.

Hans and Karen had six children.  Lars, Nels, and Bjarne, born in Norway, Charles, Erling, and Myrtle born in Shepard.

In 1934 they retired, moving to Grand Forks.  Mrs. Omdal died in 1935, and Hans died in Minneapolis, Minnesota in 1960, at the age of 88.

LARS OMDAL, the oldest son of Hans and Karen, was married to Laura Petterson in 1919, and for three years they farmed in Rosendal Township.  For several years they farmed near McHenry, then in 1940 they moved to the farm Hans B. Omdal built in Rosendal Township.  They farmed there until 1953 when they moved to Fargo.  They lived in Fargo ten years, and then moved back to Binford, where Lars worked for the Edlund Garage.  He is now retired.

Lars and Laura have six children:  

Clifford, Alma (Mrs. Kenneth Overby), Myrtle (Mrs. Gordon Overby) all of Binford

 Lillian (Mrs. Roy Overby) Fargo, North Dakota Florence (Mrs. Ray Bruer) of Hopkins, Minnesota and Marvin who lives in San Angelo, Texas.

CLIFFORD OMDAL married Evelyn Rockvoy of Willow City in 1967 and they are farming on the Omdal farm in Rosendal Township.
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BEN HANS OVERBY

Ben Overby's parents, Mr. and Mrs. Hans Overby, lived in Norway.  Ben Hans Overby was born in Norway January 25, 1873.  He came to America in 1875 to southern Minnesota where he was in the lumbering business.  He came to Cooperstown in May 1886, and began raising cattle.  Ben was the cowboy and herded cattle between Cooperstown and New Rockford.  Ben and his parents first lived on Section 12 in Bryan Township.  They lived in a sod house and barn combination.  Ben's farm burned in a prairie fire.  Ben never took part in a buffalo hunt but he did gather up buffalo bones and hauled them to Cooperstown for $16 a ton.  Ben married Sarah Larson, a sister of Ole Larson, in 1904.  They first lived on Section 12 in Rosendal but later moved to Section 34.  His children were:  

Anne - Mrs. Henry Hagle.  She now lives in Cooperstown

 Emma - Mrs. Clarence Hackenson who now lives in New Rockford

 Hazel - Mrs. Floyd King

 Hans - now lives in Binford

 Sigfred - Mrs. Andrew Hagle who now lives in Valley City

 Leonard - now lives in Minneapolis

 Clara - Mrs. Ted Nelson and later Mrs. Eddie Wells.  She lives in Cooperstown

 Alma - Mrs. Raymond Watne of Binford

 Albin.
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ANDREW P. RAMSEY

Andrew P. Ramsey from Sogn, Norway came to America as a young man.  He worked at the Dalrymple farm somewhere around Casselton in the early years.  Later they lived on a farm near Elbow Lake where Olaf A. , Clara and Peter were born.  Andrew came to Rosendal Township, Griggs County around 1897.  After he had established a small shanty, his personal property came by freight to Courtenay, North Dakota.  He then hauled it by horse and wagon across the country.  The family spent a night at the Andrew Dahlen home en-route.  He told of the tall, tall grass all around and how they cut hay for cattle and horses.  Later prairie fires emanating from railroad building almost enveloped the home, but they managed to fight it off and it ran on through the grassy marsh northwestward.  It burned other property in its rampage.

Melvin, a son, was born in Rosendal, but passed away in infancy in 1901.

When they first arrived, the Tuftelands at Red Willow were the nearest neighbors.  Andrew had one brother, Jacob, or Jack as he was usually known.  Andrew was 85 years when he died in Valley City from pneumonia January 3, 1951.  They were charter members of Naeron Lutheran Church in Mose.  He also served on the school board and Township board.

Brita T. Ramsey was a "Sogning" and came over on a cattle boat because other transportation was not available due to cholera.  She often told of the rough trip coming to a new land.  It was very stormy and she got very seasick (probably one of the reasons she never ventured back to her homeland).  She told of potato kettles sliding one way and then the other on the stove as the boat rose and fell in the rough sea.  As a young girl, she worked in the Stalheim Hotel in Sogn.  They landed at Halifax and then on to new frontiers.  Her older brother, BOTOLV TUFTE (BEN), came earlier and became a lawyer.  He was States Attorney in Griggs County for several years.  Andrew and Brita were married in Norway.

Brita helped or served as midwife for the births of a lot of the children born in this area.  She always helped when someone was sick and needed care.

She passed away at the age of 92 December 28, 1955.

Their son, Peter, in his early 20's died in 1922.

Olaf A. died May 7, 1961.

CLARA RAMSEY MARRIED JOHN ASMUS and is 79 years old at this time.  She was the first student to complete the eighth grade at the school known as the Asmus School.  I. A. Kampen was the County Superintendent of Schools then.  This schoolhouse is the only one left after consolidation of the various districts with Binford.  Some were sold because there was no need of them and one was struck by lightning and burned.  Some of the early teachers were.  Ida Yttre, Mabel Golberg and Sylvia Hovland to mention a few.

Their children are:  

Julia Asmus, at home, Cooperstown High School graduate 1937

 Clifford W. Asmus, World War II veteran, lives in Fargo.  He and Ruth have two daughters:  

Barbara in high school and 

Laurie Ann in elementary school

Inez L. Jackson lives in Seattle and has two daughters, 

Renae, a college student and 

Susan in elementary grades.
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MARTIN STENSLIE

Martin L. Stenslie was born March 30, 1870 to Mr. and Mrs. Lars Stenslie near Decorah, Iowa.  He was the oldest of twelve children.  At the early age of 11/2 years, he and his parents moved into North Dakota, settling at what is now Fargo where they lived for nine years.  They settled there before the railroad was built, which he remembered.  One of his brothers passed away while living there.  He was buried at Fargo.  From there they moved to and homesteaded on a farm about three and one-half miles west of McVille where he grew to manhood, which was rather young those days, he said.  He started doing a man's job when he was twelve years old.  He told about how they used to walk to Lakota, the nearest town, for a few groceries consisting of staples needed, such as sugar, salt, coffee, and flour.  McVille and Pekin had not been started yet.  Later, when they could purchase horses, they drove, so they could take more supplies.  As a young man he worked as a lumberjack in the woods of northern Minnesota.  Coming back to North Dakota, he ran a threshing machine several harvests as far west as Church's Ferry and Cando so he was quite well acquainted in that area.  In 1905, he married Johanne Klinge, a maiden from Tronhjem, Norway.  They lived the first few years in eastern Eddy County.  While here, a son, Loyd (deceased in 1974), and a daughter, Bella (Mrs. Anton Idland of McHenry), were born to them.  From there they moved to a farm in Griggs County where Clarence Quam now lives.  Here another son, Mencher, now of Kensal and another daughter, Margrethe (Mrs. Anton Haugland of Hamar), were born.  A brother, Elem, had homesteaded a few miles southwest from them and as he was in ill health Dad took over his place.  This farm is located in the very western edge of Rosendahl Township (where Floyd Bjornson is now living).  Here he and his family lived for many years.  His wife passed away April 21, 1938.  He did not farm much longer.  Son Mencher took over the farm and Dad retired.  He passed away in the fall of 1955 - the oldest one of ten brothers and one sister, outliving them all.  He has eleven grandchildren and fifteen great grandchildren.

During his lifetime he had many hard, exciting, and scary experiences - like the time in the fall of 1922 when four robbers with one hostage came to the farm.  They had robbed a bank at Devils Lake and were making their getaway through the hills and in out of the way country where we lived.  Their car had stalled near the Ole Danielson farm in Nelson County near the Griggs County line.  These five men, then, walked across the hills going southwest to get in the area where there were no telephones to report their whereabouts.  (A neighbor, Mrs. John Nelson, saw them and thought they were Bolsheviks!)  They didn't like the snow either, the first snow of the season, as they could be tracked too easily.  They came to our place and asked for something to eat - they were tired and hungry.  Mother was making dinner.  She also was making baking powder biscuits (one of my dad's favorites).  One of the men made the remark that, "It smells like what Mother used to make.”  They said they were hunters but they had only one shotgun.  Dad was very suspicious that they weren't what they said they were.  He told them, "If you're hunters, how come you've only got one shotgun?”  He asked them several questions, which they couldn't answer to his satisfaction.  He told Mom that these men were bank robbers, which made her very nervous.  He wanted her to get out of the house, as he knew what might happen - they could use her as a hostage for their protection.  He also sent Loyd on errands outside to get him out of the house.  This happened many times, so the guard at the door said to Loyd (calling him "Skinny"), ''What are you running in and out for?”  The guard at the door was watching for any lawmen or whoever might be tracking them.  Before they had a chance to eat, the sheriff from Lakota and several other men with him came, which changed the scene in a hurry.  They had plenty of guns hidden in their clothing (revolvers).  They also took Dad's shotgun, which was standing in a corner of the kitchen at the time.  Dad had to walk in front of them as they went out of the house.  By this time, there were a lot of men hiding here and there, behind buildings, with shotguns.  The robbers said, "If any man shoots at is we'll drop this man" (meaning Dad).  Mother heard this and ran behind the house to a couple of men there ~o hold their fire.  She went back in the house and watched the whole scene through a window in the entry.  Dad was hit by a stray bullet or bullets so he dropped to the ground like he was shot.  The robbers, thinking he had been killed, left him saying, "We've dropped one man.”  He layed with his face in the snow and hardly dared move.  He knew he was in the ~heel track if they should take a notion to drive out, so he inched his way out of the driveway.  His dad, Lars Stenslie, was staying with Dad at the time.  He was forced to go into a car but he sneaked out and ran to the barn the first chance he had.  A stray bullet hit him in the middle of his forehead.  Loyd was watching all these goings on from an upstairs window in the barn.  Seeing Dad laying as if dead wasn't the easiest moment for him.  Bella ran to the neighbor while bullets whizzed around her.  To this day she doesn't know if she jumped the fence gate or crawled under, she was so afraid!  Finally the robbers took one of the neighbors' new cars and left.  They were caught farther down the line.  Dad had several bullets (B. B. 's) that had to be removed.  Mencher and myself were at school while all this was happening.  We did hear some shooting but didn't realize what it was.  Dad stopped at the schoolhouse on his way to Binford to see Dr. Truscott.  It was a scary event that was not easily forgotten and a topic that was discussed for weeks afterwards.

In the summer of 1950, in June, Fargo celebrated its Diamond Jubilee.  Martin Stenslie, being an early settler, had special honors.  He received free admittance to the festivities.  A scroll and a Schafer pen and pencil set with his name engraved as a momento of the occasion were given him.  He was 80 years old at the time.  His picture was in the Forum several times.  He also met some of the dignitaries at the Jubilee.  He was the first to register.
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MARTIN STENSLIE

November 10, 1921 paper carried a story of a gunfight in Rosendal Township north of Mose in which bullets had been freely exchanged between the gunmen and officers and men from Nelson County who were in pursuit.  After a chase and hunt lasting the rest of the day, Sheriff Nelson and the many men he had enlisted in the hunt, the men, five in number, were arrested between Hannaford and Revere at about eight o'clock in the evening and brought to the county jail here.  Three of the captured men were wounded as a result of the gun battle in Rosendal Township.  One being quite serious.  The following day officials from Devils Lake came and claimed custody of the bandits.  There is every reason to believe that the five men captured are the band of alleged safe-blowers which has been terrorizing North Dakota banks, post offices, etc.
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JOHN STORKSON

John, or Joe as he was called, was born in Norway May 4, 1886 and died December 15, 1961 at the age of 76.  He was married to Lisa Larson, daughter of Ole Larson in 1911.  They had two children, Belle Walters of Minneapolis, and one son, Julian, missing in Panama since 1944 where he was serving as a pilot in the United States Navy.
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HERMAN STORKSON

Herman Storkson was born in Norway September 27, 1888 and came to the United States in 1904.  He first settled at Aneta.  He married Mathilda Olson, daughter of Hendrick Tufte (also known as Hendrick Olson) in 1917.  They had two children, Harry and Bernice.  Bernice married Jarl Hegvik.  Harry is single and lives at Binford.

Herman Storkson died March 5, 1967 at the age of 78.
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SAMUEL STORKSON

Samuel Storkson was born in Norway March 28, 1890.  He came to the United States in 1907.  He married Emma Olson, daughter of Hendrick Olson, in 1911.  They had four children.  They are Harold, (Everett Washington), Arthur (New Rockford, North Dakota), Edna (Mrs. Donald Wold, Minneapolis) and Olga (Mrs. Melvin Larson, Fargo).
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HENDRICK TUFTE

Hendrick Tufte was born in Norway in 1843.  He was married in Norway and had two daughters there.  When they came to the United States they were on the ocean 3 months.  The trip was so hard on his wife that she died soon after reaching this country.  These two daughters became Mrs. Ole Hanson and Mrs. Christ Overby.  He later married Olea Olson in 1885, who had one daughter by a previous marriage.  She married Sam Standal.  About this time Mr. Hendrick Tufte changed his name to Olson, probably because his father was Ole Tufte.  Their children were Anne (Mrs. Victor Magnuson), Emma (Mrs. Sam Storkson), Lillie (Mrs. Herman Storkson), Henry (who passed away), Ole (who lives in McVille) and John (who lived on the homeplace).  Hendrick Tufte (Olson) died June 16, 1925.

Source Page 420 

JOHN OLSON

John Olson was born in 1895 at Elbow Lake, Minnesota His parents were Hendrick and Olea Olson.  He came to Rosendal Township with his parents in 1899 and lived all his life on the farm in Section 20.  He married Lillie Falla.  They had two boys, Henry and Howard, both of Minneapolis, Minnesota He died May 15, 1972.
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J. F. VAN VOORHIS

Mr. Van Voorhis was born in Pennsylvania in 1855.  He settled in Griggs County just west of Red Willow Lake in 1882.
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PEDER RORVIG

Peder Rorvig was born in Norway in 1854.  He settled in Griggs County in 1886 on SW quarter Section 28 in Rosendal.  He married Juliana Eielson.  They had seven children:  

Steve of Binford was one of them.

Source Page 420

G. E. PETERSON

Mr. Peterson was born in Wisconsin in 1866.  He settled on NE quarter of Section 34 in Rosendal Township.  They had three children.  Grant Peterson was one of them.  420

He married Alida Bjornson and lived for a while on the SE quarter Section 22 in Rosendal.  Later he lived in Binford, North Dakota
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A. J. CARLSON

Adolph Carlson was born in Sweden in 1876 and settled on Section 34, NW quarter in Rosendal Township.  Oscar Adrian bought his land in 1909 and has lived there till his death.  Paul E. Adrian now lives on the place.
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JOHN CARLSON

John Carlson was a brother to Adolph Carlson.  He homesteaded the E. 1/2 of the NE quarter Section 18 in Rosendal Township.  They were the foster parents of Inga (Mrs. Sigurd York).
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SVERDRUP TOWNSHIP

History

At the call of the clerk of Griggs County a meeting was held at the schoolhouse later known as the Gallatin School, on October 30, 1886, for the purpose of organizing a Township, to elect officers and to select a name for the Township.

S. B. Langford acted as chairman of the meeting and Martin Ueland, clerk.

The following officers were elected:  

George Gullickson - chairman of board of supervisors

 Christ Aarestad - supervisor

 Betuel Herigstad - supervisor

 Martin Ueland - clerk

 Nils Herigstad - treasurer

 Ole P. Bolkan - assessor

 W. W. Newell - Justice of the Peace

 S. B. Langford - Justice of the Peace

 Nils Ostlund - constable

 Alex Saunders - constable.

"Sverdrup" was chosen as the name of the Township in honor of a well-known clergyman and missionary in Norway.

It is interesting to note that a decision was made at this first meeting that the officers be paid for their services the least amount allowable under the law of the territory.  North Dakota was not admitted to the union as a state until 1889.

Sverdrup Township was organized in 1886 with the help of Bethual Herigstad meeting at the Lewis Johnson Home.  Three supervisors were elected at this meeting.  Sverdrup Township was named after John Sverdrup who was prime minister in Norway when these immigrants left the old country.

Source Page 421 

SARON EVANGELICAL FREE CHURCH

The Saron Church had its beginning on March 7, 1895 when the need for a church home for their growing families was realized.  The name chosen was Sarons Frimenighed, which was later changed to Saron Evangelical Free Church.  Twenty-two members were received into this fellowship.  The first pastor to serve this congregation was S. M. Andrewson.  The present pastor is Keith McNeil.

Missionaries who have gone out from this church are

Wilhelm Vatne to China, Bertha Klubben to Kentucky Mountains and Ethel Josephson to So.  America.

Several are serving churches in our own country,

Kenneth and Melvin Loge, Bruce Stokka, Albert Taxdahl and Walter Lindgren.  Others who have served are:  

Henry Rood, retired and the late Krag and Swen Wuflestad and L. R. Lunde.

The church has been re-modeled and an entry was added.

The seventy-fifth anniversary was celebrated in May 1970.  The first officers were:  

Chairman, Peter Wuflestad

 Section Karl Lende

 Treasurer Lars Johnson

 Trustees:  

Lars Johnson, Arne Luckasen and Swen Loge

 Elders:  

Tonnes Vatne, Martin Lunde and Peter Wuflestad.

The members and friends of the Saron Free Church under the leadership of their pastor, REVEREND  LUDVIG R. LUNDE, were burdened to share the good news of the gospel with others whom they were not reaching through their church services.  Having experienced the saving power of the gospel in their midst they wanted to share this gospel with others.

The first Bible Camp service was held June 21, 1925.  The tabernacle was built in 1929 where services are held during the Camp season.  The first two cabins were built in 1927 and more later.

There was a growing need for facilities to house and feed persons other than the song leaders and speakers.  A nearby schoolhouse was dismantled and built called "The Inn.”  In 1938 the basement was dug and foundation built for the Pioneer Building.  The first floor was laid and covered and the basement rooms were used for Daily Vacation Bible School.

In the spring of 1939 the two stories were built, providing additional sleeping rooms, and office space.  In 1963 the present dining hall was built.  This building is insulated and heat provided so it is used for fall and winter retreats.  From the beginning the Bible Camp was managed and operated by the Saron Free Church.  However with the yearly growth of the Camp it was felt it would be better to get more churches and more people involved in the Bible Camp work, so in 1956 the Cooperstown Bible Camp Association was incorporated under the laws of North Dakota.

The fiftieth anniversary of the Camp was celebrated July 2-6, 1975 with special speakers and singers coming to take part.  The theme for that week was, "To God be the Glory, Great Things He Hath Done.  -
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ZION LUTHERAN (WESTLEY) CONGREGATION

In 1881, immigrants from Norway settled along the Sheyenne River and on the prairie in what is now Sverdrup and Ball Hill Townships.  They were a deeply religious people and met in their sod and log houses to worship on Sundays, and were served by preachers Ola Westley and Andreas Vatne.  Many of the meetings were held in the sod stable on the Betual Herigstad homestead.

In the summer of 1881, Pastor Nykrem of the Norwegian Lutheran Conference visited the "homesteaders.”  Encouraged by him they organized with others recently arrived from Minnesota, and on October 10, 1881, became the "Thime Norsk Evangeliske Lutherske Menighed.”

Charter members were the families of:  

Ola Westley, Ole Stokka, Betual Herigstad, Nils Herigstad, Andreas Vatne, Martin Lunde, Swen Lunde, Ole Lima, Peder Wuflestad, Swen Lunde, Jens Bull, Torkel Fuglestad, Endre Aarestad, Betual Lunde, Elling Froiland, Tonnes Vatne, Karl Lende, Arnt Njaa, Hans Braasten, Christoffer Ashland and Ingeborg Soma.

Pastor Lundeby from the Goose river country served the congregation in 1883 and in 1884 the congregation divided when 13 of the members reorganized into ELIM NORWEGIAN EVANGELICAL CONGREGATION and became associated with Hauge Synod with Pastor Jacob Nesheim from Norway serving as their minister.  They bought a cemetery and place to build a church on June 23, 1886.  In 1896 Elim joined with Hoiland congregation and called themselves EBENEZER NORWEGIAN LUTHERAN CHURCH.  They granted their women the right to vote in 1889, and built their church in 1902.

The congregation has remained an independent Lutheran church being served by pastors from Hauge Synod and Lutheran Free church.  In 1919 they again reorganized, this time as Zion Lutheran, and from which time they have been served by pastors from the Lutheran Brethren.  In 1957 the congregation joined the Lutheran Brethren Synod.

Pastors from the old records have been:  

M. Njust, Hjertaas, O. G. Edwards, Quanbeck, O. Svendson, E. Aas, L. N. Haugland, Eidsaa.  From the Lutheran Brethren M. E. Sletta, E. Hagen, G. Stenoian, A. Vatne, Oscar Monson, Olaf Monson, O. Vettrus, O. A. Monson, J. Lunde, S. Soma, L. Njaa, G. Solheim and G. Larson.

The present pastor is Elwin Walvatne, and the officers are:  

Elders:  

Herluf Vigesaa and George Vigesaa

 Trustees:  

Richard Loge, Edwin Johnson and Trygve Thompson

 Secretary:  

Robert Berge

 Treasurers:  

Truman Loge and Roald Vigesaa.
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FIRST GOLDEN WEDDING IN GRIGGS COUNTY CELEBRATED IN 1887

Shown here is a picture of the first golden wedding anniversary in Griggs County held at the Thor Hagen homestead in honor of Mr. and Mrs. Esten Haugen.  The event took place in June 1887.  The picture was taken by Photographer Rosteum, who lived in Cooperstown at that time.

SEATED IN FRONT ROW:  

Sarah Hagen Hamre, Anna Hagen Moodie, Jennie Hagen Snyder, Thea Upton Smith, Caroline Hagen, unknown, Caroline Halvorson, Seva Halvorson, and Belle Hagen Winslow.  MIDDLE ROW:  

Harold Auren, Mrs. Gilbert Auren, Gilbert Auren, Jr., Gilbert Auren, Sr., George Auren, Esten Olson, Esten Haugen, Little girl unknown, Mrs. Esten Haugen, Thor Hetager, Thor Hagen, Arne Hagen, Mrs. Thor Hagen, Christ Hagen, Mrs. Gunhild Thompson, Mrs. Ole Sanden, Clara Sanden, Unknown, Mrs. Anna Halvorson.  BACK ROW:  

Ole K. Hagen, Laura Halvorson, Ole Halvorson, Eston Halvorson, Ole Skrein, Ole Sanden, Albert Sanden, Lisa Halvorson, Mrs. George Olson, Henry Gullickson, Arne Thompson, Mrs. Charles Nichols, Mrs. Petra Halvorson, Unknown, Mrs. Dick Blow, Amund Gilbertson, Ole Fosholdt, John Rustad, John Fosholdt, Henry Hagen, Ole Hagen, and Arne Luckason.

Mr. and Mrs. Esten Haugen, grandparents of Thor Hetager, Martin Wold, and Esten Olson of this community was the first couple to celebrate a golden wedding anniversary in Griggs County.  Guests gathered from miles around on the old Thor Hagen homestead in July 1887, for the festivities so characteristic of the pioneer hospitality and friendliness commemorated by the fiftieth anniversary celebration today.

Visitors either walked or traveled by oxen to this wedding and brought with them their contribution to the dinner.  The log cabin at which the event was held was the second home of Mr. and Mrs. Thor Hagen.  They had at first lived in a dugout in a ravine east of the

Sheyenne valley, but the following winter proved to be cold and severe.  A snowstorm at one time threatened to block the dug-out entirely, since the wind had drifted the snow up to the top of the hill.  Therefore on the following spring the family decided to move up the hill and began immediately to build a log cabin, which was the scene of the golden wedding.  The logs were taken from Ole Skren's timberland, south of the Fluto Bridge, with the help of Amund Gilbertson.

The cabin was made sixteen feet square, the addition on the left having been added later.  As can be seen in the picture, the left side of the cabin was banked with sod and the roof was made of bark under a covering of sod.  The farm on which the cabin stood is the Raymond Wendlick Farm (in 1972) SE quarter of Section 12-145-58, Sverdrup Township.

Mr. and Mrs. Haugen, the guests of honor, made their home with their nephew and niece, Mr. and Mrs. Thor Hagen, at that time, having come to this country only a few years before.  Mr. Haugen emigrated to America from Valdres, Norway, in 1882, while Mrs. Haugen, accompanied by her grandson, Thor Hetageor, came about three years later.

After remaining in this county for several years, Mr. and Mrs. Haugen moved to Roseau County, northeast of Crookston, MN, where they lived and there celebrated their diamond wedding.  They both died at that place at the age of 95 years.
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Settlers

JOHN H. ATCHISON

John H. Atchison, a pioneer resident of Pembina County, was born March 23, 1845 in Scotland.  Mr. Atchison, together with his father, mother and brother left Scotland for Ontario, Canada in 1862.  The immigrants were five weeks and three days in passage.

Mr. Atchison, together with Mr. Alexander Saunders left Pembina in May 1880.  Mr. Atchison liked the land near Mr. Saunders and he took land just north of Mr. Saunders (NW 24-145-58).

As these settlers were near the mail route that ran from Valley City to Lee post-office, Mr. Saunders suggested that Mr. Atchison apply for an office.  The application was made, and October 24, 1881, the post-office of Gallatin was started, with Mr. Atchison as the first postmaster.  It was discontinued July 14, 1905 when rural free delivery displaced the country office.  It was thought to be named by the postmaster for Gallatin County in southeastern Illinois.

The first winter, 1880-81, was long and hard.  Nevertheless, hunters frequently came up the river.  Deer, Antelope and Elk were often seen.  One herd of 143 antelope being counted.  The last herd of Antelope of any size was 43 seen in 1891.  The hunters wanted hides and good specimen of Elk head for mounting, valued as high as $300.00.
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GULBRAND AUREN FAMILY

Gulbrand Auren was born in Oldarn, Norway and his wife Kristi was born in Valdres, Norway.  They came to Hatton, North Dakota, in 1880 and in 1881 moved to Sverdrup Township where they homesteaded on the SW quarter of Section 12.

Mrs. Auren died in 1898 and was buried in a cemetery on that land.  When the mother died the children were placed in homes where they were reared.  They had five sons and one daughter:  

Gilbert, George, Harold, Sigvart, Thor and Kristi.

GILBERT AUREN married Mrs. Mabel Hilstrom.  They had one daughter, Mrs. B. A. (Kristi) Green, Seattle, Washington, and two sons, Clifford who died in infancy and Vernon who resides in Cooperstown.

George Auren lived in Canada and died in 1953.  His family lives in Dryden, Ontario.

Harold Auren lives two miles from where he was born and was married to Mattie Gilbertson.

Sigvart Auren married Ruby Olson and lives at Moorhead, Minnesota They had one son and four daughters:  

Vernon, Dinah, Laveeta, Betty Lou and Margaret.

THOR AUREN married Minnie Knutson.  They had one daughter, Mrs. Elmo (Fern) Olson of Finley, North Dakota, and one son, Theron of Minneapolis who was married to LaDonna Smith.  Thor Auren died in 1950 and Mrs. Auren died in 1973.

Mrs. Kristi Anderson lives in the state of Michigan.

Gulbrand Auren, the father, moved to Walsh County, North Dakota, in 1900 and died in 1903.
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HAROLD G. AUREN

Harold Auren was born on Section 12, Sverdrup Township, February 7, 1886, of parents Gulbrand and Kristie Auren.  He had four brothers and one sister, Gilbert, George, Sigvart, Thor and Christine.  Harold's mother passed away in 1898 and the father in 1903, and the boys lived with relatives until they were able to be on their own.

Christine was only 11/2 years old when her mother died and she was adopted by a Mr. and Mrs. Nelson and is now living in Manistee, Michigan.  Harold's only living brother is Sigvart of Moorhead, Minnesota.

Mr. Auren was married to Mattie Gilbertson in 1933 and they have lived on Section 2 since their marriage.  Mattie was born in Ness, Adal, Norway of parents, RASMUS AND GUNHILD UHLEN GILBERTSON, September 6, 1899.  The Gilbertson family came to Hatley, Wisconsin, in 1904 and to this area to farm in 1912.  Rasmus Gilbertson died during the flu epidemic in 1919 at the age of 57, and Mrs. Gilbertson in 1930.  Mattie, Gunhild (Mrs. Gilbert Auren), Mrs. Marie Johnson and Edward Gilbertson are surviving members of this family.

Mr. Auren lives less than two miles from the homestead quarter where he was born, and at 89 knows this area better than any other living person.  His mind is as sharp as his eyesight is keen.  He has given his neighbors many laughs with his recollection of humorous incidents of pioneer days, the newcomer, steam threshing, school days, social gatherings, stunts and tricks that offended no one.  His eyes saw the oxen, the sod house, the log cabin and they saw humor in everyday living.
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ALBERT BERGE

Albert Berge came to this country from Stavanger, Norway in 1905 at the age of seventeen.  He worked on farms near Valley City before coming to Cooperstown, where he became engaged in farming in Sverdrup Township with his brother Elias.

In 1918 he purchased the farm of Richard Blow in Section 14.

In 1919 he married Betsy Vigesaa daughter of Torkel and Louisa Vigesaa.  They are members of the Zion Lutheran Church.

Albert passed away in 1959.  Betsy is living on the homeplace where the sons are farming.

Children:  

Luella married to Melvin Stokka.  Children

 Melvyn, Elaine, Milton, David, Gerald, Janel, and Murray.

Torrey married to Janet Zoll.  Children

 Louanna, Gail, and Betsy.

Robert married to Adeline Kirkeby.  Daughter

 Sally.

Ronald married to Ruth Benson.  Children

 Debra, Ronald, Rhonda, Kathrine, Elizabeth, and Daniel.

Ellen married to Bruce Kubert.  Children

 Jon, Gena, Paul, and Kari-Ann.
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OLE P. BOLKAN

Ole P. Bolkan came to Dakota Territory in the summer of 1880 to join his brother Christopher P. Bolkan who had come earlier and filed on a homestead in Washburn Township.  Ole filed on the NE quarter of Section 2, Sverdrup Township as a homestead and on the SW quarter of the same Section as a Treeclaim.

The rest of the summer he spent cutting trees with his brother for a log house.  In the late fall he returned to Dixon, Iowa to marry Mary Ellen Everts on January 1, 1881.  He took his bride to Kensett, Iowa where his parents lived and assembled all the necessary equipment he could load on a wagon.  He bought three horses and when the weather moderated, started on the long trek to the Homestead site.  Mary was to stay in Kensett with his parents until summer when he hoped to have the house built.  She had spent the winter studying the Norwegian language under Grandfather Bolkan's careful guidance and in early summer was able to carry on a simple conversation with Grandma who could not speak English.  In the years to come she was very thankful for that winter's study because she would live in a Norwegian community.

In early July, Mary wrote to Ole saying she would be in Valley City July 19.  On the way she stopped over at Ortonville, Minnesota to visit her sister.  Here she acquired seven baby chicks, which had been trampled and had broken legs or wings, which she splinted.  These she carried with her on the train in a shoebox and were her start with poultry.

At that time the settlers in that part got their mail in Gallitan and her letter lay in Valley City until long after she arrived so she had a very difficult time, walking many miles of the way.

Bolkan was assessor for 6 years.  In the early 80's, they adopted an 8-month-old baby girl, from a broken home, named Clara and had a son Gustavus and a daughter Angeline.

Mary Ellen Bolkan died August 10, 1915.  Ole P. Bolkan died December 7, 1931.
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ANDREW BROSTEN

Andrew Brosten was born in Norway in 1863 and came to America in 1881.  He was employed in Illinois and Iowa before coming to Dakota Territory in 1883.  He purchased the NE quarter of Section 23 in Sverdrup Township in 1885 and also worked for area farmers.  In the fall of 1891 he returned to Norway for a visit, coming back to this area in the spring of 1892 with a number of people from his homeland.  He was married in the fall of 1892 to Olava Helgeland.  They made their home on Section 17 in Sverdrup Township on land previously owned by his brother, Richard.

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Brosten were the parents of six children, five girls and one boy.  One girl, Ethel, died as a young girl.  Ragna, Elisa, Olga and Rebecca grew up on the farm as well as their brother, Edwin.  The Brosten family moved to the state of Oregon in 1936.  Mr. Brosten passed away there in 1941, Mrs. Brosten in 1946.
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RICHARD BROSTEN

Richard Brosten was born in Norway in 1867 and came to Dakota Territory in 1883 at the age of 16.  He worked for nearby farmers until he purchased land in Section 17.  Richard and his brother, Andrew, later traded land and Richard made his home on Section 23 where he was married to Henrietta Lee in 1900.  Mr. and Mrs. Richard Brosten were the parents of six children, Randa, Morris, Hazel, Ella, Agnes and Rollin.

Richard sold his land in 1910 and had taken land in Alberta, Canada, when he was suddenly taken ill and passed away in the fall of 1910.  His widow and the six children moved to Canada to their homestead in the summer of 1911 where the family continued to make their home.  Mrs. Brosten passed away after a few years while the children remained on the homestead, and have continued to make Alberta their home.
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ALEXANDER CHALMERS

Alexander Chalmers was a brother-in-law of Alexander Saunders and after Mr. Saunders had returned to Pembina county after his first trip to Sverdrup Township, the two Scotchmen immediately started for the chosen land with a Red River cart, a yoke of young oxen and plows for breaking.  They followed the Indian trail for 25 or 30 miles.

After they arrived Mr. Chalmers returned to Pembina to harvest their crop, bring his family and Mr. Saunder's cattle and goods.  After harvesting the crop in Pembina County, Mr. Chalmers returned bringing his family and goods, two oxen I a wagon, a cow and four pigs.  That fall (1880) a trip was made to Valley City for flour and seed wheat and another trip was made to the Goose River settlement for potatoes.

Mr. Chalmers settled in Section 22, about one mile west of Mr. Saunders.  A hill in Section 22 is still often referred to as The Chalmers Hill.
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SWEN AND MARTHA EDLAND

Swen W. Edland was born in Mastera, Stavanger, Norway in 1865.  As a young man he wanted to go to sea, but because of his somewhat reckless nature where on two occasions he almost drowned, his parents decided he would be safer on dry ground.  As a result they sent him to America when he was 17 years old and he settled in Audubon, Minnesota He entered a trade of carpentry and painting.

Martha Lee was born in 1867 in Kongsberg, Norway and at the age of seven she came to America with her parents and settled in Audubon, Minnesota She eventually met and married Swen and they lived in Audubon till 1898.  At that time Swen and a group, which included his brothers-in-law, Fred and John Lee, came to the Cooperstown area with a threshing rig to do custom thrashing.  They were so impressed with the Dakota prairie that the following year they came back to homestead in Sverdrup Township.

The children born to Martha and Swen were Constance, Norman, Dagney (Ueland), Arthur, Clarence and Selmer.

Many people remember Swen as being a member of an excellent singing quartet who performed for many churches and gatherings.  He was also known for his reckless and fearless ways while performing his painting trade such as scrambling on rooftops without any supports, much to the delight of the children.

Swen Edland passed away in 1931 in Cooperstown.  Martha, his wife, passed away in 1934 also in Cooperstown.
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ELISHA FITCH

Elisha Fitch came to Griggs County from Granite Falls, Minnesota in 1880.  In one article he was referred to as a lumberjack.  Mr. Fitch with John Pates took forty acres of school land (NE of Section 16-145-58) and the rest of their quarter Section on railroad land in hopes of holding it.

Mr. Christian Aarestad, who was leader of the Herigstad group from Granite Falls to Benson, Minnesota, had corresponded with Mr. Fitch and Mr. Pates and these men had recommended the land in Griggs County as being of very good quality.

In this connection Mr. Fitch and Mr. Pates were often mentioned by the large group from Stavanger, Norway that came to settle in Sverdrup Township in 1882.

Mr. Fitch stayed only a short time in Sverdrup Township and no more information is available about him.
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SVEN ERICKSON (LOGE)

Sven Erickson Loge was born in Norway January 21, 1876.  He came to America in 1895, coming to Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota, to the Hanley Falls, Hazel Run and Clarkfield areas, where he worked for two years.  He came to Sverdrup Township, Griggs County.  He worked for Lars Johnson before getting his own farm.  He married Axeliana Lunde, a daughter of Swen and Justina Lunde on November 10, 1906.  She was born in Norway April 29, 1880 and came to this country in 1881.

To this union were born six children:  

Ernest, Jeanette, Alice, Sidney, Florence and Algot.  Jeanette died in 1933, Florence died in infancy in 1920.

They farmed in Sverdrup Township, where Mr. Erickson served on the Shepard elevator board for many years.  He was also on the school board.  They were members of Saron Evangelical Free Church where he served as a trustee.

Their oldest son, Ernest, married Doris Stokka.  To this union five children were born, Lyonel, Warren, Sheridan, Dawn and Beth.

Their second son, Sidney, married Beatrice Nelson.  They live in Cooperstown and he is employed at the Melroe Division of Clark Equipment Company

Algot, the third son, married Joyce Nelson and lives on his grandfather's homestead by the Sheyenne river.  They have two children, Kristina and Reggie.  He also works at Melroe.  Beatrice and Joyce are sisters and were missionaries to Africa before their marriages.

Alice lives in Cooperstown and works at the Griggs Company Hospital.

Swen Erickson died March 25, 1954.  His wife died July 25, 1958.
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JOHAN FORSBERG FAMILY

Johan Forsberg, a native of Vermeland, Sweden, came to Chicago, Illinois in July 1879.  On July 4, 1881 his brother, Gustaf, and he came to North Dakota where they established a homestead in Sverdrup Township.  Gustaf in Section NE 32 and Johan in Section SE 32.

Together they built a log cabin, which they thought was divided by the quarter line.  One room being Johans and the other Gustafs.  Five years later, in 1886, Johan married Carolina Logvren, also from Vermeland, Sweden.  After they discovered that the cabin was positioned entirely on Gustaf's land, Johan built a house and homesteaded Section SW 32.  SE 32 became his tree claim.

Johan and Carolina had four children:  

Christina (Mrs. Walter Christensen), Carl, Ellen (Mrs. Nels G. Nelson), and Beda Maria.

Christina, married WALTER CHRISTENSEN, a native of Denmark, and lived in Greenfield Township Section 1, which at one time was part of her father's farm.  Their six children are:  

Clara, Julius, Myrtle, Earl, Eleanore and Frances Mae.  They later moved to Vandelia, Montana.

Ellen married NELS G. NELSON of Clarrisa, Minnesota, in 1926.  They lived in Chicago, Illinois for a year and in Minnesota for three years.  They then returned to North Dakota with their two children, Ruth and Royce, to farm the Johan Forsberg homestead.  Ruth married BERLYLE LUNN and has two girls, Cheryl and Dianne.  They live in the Hannaford area.

ROYCE married Mavis Vasfaret and they have four children, John, Ronald, James and Gina.  He owns his grandfather's homestead.

Both Carl and Beda Maria died in their teens.
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AMUND GILBERTSON

Mr. Amund Gilbertson was born August 22, 1857, in Valdres, Norway, the seventh child of a family of four girls and four boys.  His mother's name was Sigrid Gulsdaughter and his father's name was Gulbran Mikkelson.

In 1880, he decided to come to the United States having heard of the wondrous possibilities in this land.  He landed at Boston after 14 days at sea, and proceeded on to Kensett, Iowa, where all of the land was taken.  Land there was priced too high at $10 per acre so he proceeded on to Dakota Territory to the Goose river vicinity where the land also was taken.

In 1883 the nine acres that were broke and seeded to wheat yielded about 130 bushels.  Another few acres were broke in 1884 and an additional 30 acres were added in 1885.  The total crop that year was about 1000 bushels of wheat and it sold for 38 cents per bushel.  In 1883 three neighbors went together and purchased a regular cut 6-foot McCormick binder for $240.  Each year brought various harvests.  In 1888 an early frost destroyed the crop, and in 1891 there was a bumper harvest.  The first four or five crops were threshed by Swen Olgaard, who charged five cents a bushel.  Later Mr. Gilbertson purchased his own threshing rig.

At one time, Mr. Gilbertson told of a happening of particular interest.  He went north of Portland, North Dakota to buy his oxen and when returning was caught in a blizzard and his cars were badly frozen.  He and Arne Thompson later returned for the oxen on skis and became snow blind for two days, which was a painful experience.  After recuperating, they returned with the oxen.  A spring thaw had taken place so when crossing a creek they all nearly drowned.  Darkness overtook them but they found a shack and camped over night without supper or breakfast.  By noon the next day they found the Opheim farm where they were fed and were glad that part of the trip was over.

In 1886 he built a new log cabin 1/2 mile farther west on the same quarter Section but in a wooded area near the Sheyenne River.  Here he lived until about the turn of the century when he built on the SE quarter of Section 3, 14558 and lived there until his death in 1945.

He married Mary Hagen in 1887, to them five, children were born, three of them living to adulthood.  They were Mrs. M. M. (Sophia) Lunde, Mrs. Lloyd (Gunhild) Roen, and Mrs. Fred (Olga) Melgard.  His wife died in 1897.  Among the descendants are eleven grandchildren.
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IVER HANSEN

Iver Hansen was born in Odense, Denmark in 1854.  He died May 31, 1931.  His first wife was Sarah Auren.  Their children were James, Sarah and Alvin.  Mrs. Hansen died in 1906.  Mr. Hansen came to North Dakota about 1882.  Shortly after he came here he bought a quarter Section of land, (SW quarter of Section 20) in Sverdrup Township for $500.00 from Henrik Johnson.  Iver Hansen donated the land for the Saron church where he was later buried.  His wife's parents are also buried there.

Iver Hansen was married the second time to Marne Anderson.  She was born in 1867 and died in 1946.

He broke up Section 28 in early eighties and plowed up an anvil.  It was possibly lost by a settler who tied his cow to it.  Sibley's army did not move close to that place, otherwise settlers might have thought the anvil part of the army equipment.
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HERIGSTAD FAMILY HISTORY

Betuel Herigstad, the son of Baar and Karen Herigstad, was born on a farm on Jaederen, near Sandness, Norway in 1852.

He married, in 1878, Inger Thu, whose parents Omon and Margaret Thu, lived on a farm in the vicinity.  Omon, besides being a farmer, was also a layman preacher.

Betuel never lost his desire to live in America.  Therefore when his merchandise enterprise into which he had entered at Byrne, Norway proved less than profitable, he took that as an excuse to dispose of it in order that he might make arrangements to migrate to America.

Whatever knowledge of the English language he had acquired during his three years stay in America came him in good stead when he helped organize a group of relatives and friends who, because of the adverse economic situation in Norway and for other reasons, wanted to go to America.

On April 10, 1881 the group left Stavanger, Norway.  After a few days in England they left Liverpool on April 18 and after an eventful voyage across the Atlantic arrived in New York, via St. John Newfoundland on May 20.  From New York they journeyed by train to Chicago, to St. Paul and on to Granite Falls where some friends had already established residence.  With Christ Aarestad, who had farmed a few years in Minnesota, as their leader, the men set out for North Dakota by train as far as Fargo.  Having been informed that there was suitable land about 30 or 40 miles north of Valley City along the Sheyenne River, they headed in that direction with their oxen teams.  On June 12, 1881 they landed in what is now Sverdrop Township.  In the group besides Christ Aarestad, were Ola Westley, Omon Westley, Knut Haaland, Betuel Herigstad, Karl Herigstad, Waldemar Klubben, Sven Loge and Sven Lunde.  On the way the group was joined by Martin Ueland who had lived in Minneapolis.  The women and children had been left in Granite Falls for the time being.

As did most of the early settlers, Betuel built a sod house as a temporary abode to be used until a log house could be erected.  The logs were hewed from trees by the Sheyenne River some four or five miles distant and hauled by a team of oxen.

Because of the tall growth of grass all over the prairie there was a constant danger of a "prairie fire" when the grass was dry.  Once started the fire could spread at a rapid pace, especially if urged on by a strong wind, and would consume everything in its path.  To prevent the raging fire from reaching the farm buildings the grass around them would be burned off, ahead of time, by a "back fire" with the hope that the big fire would not jump the burned off space.

During those first years in America the Herigstad family had experiences and suffered hardship common to the other early settlers.  The winters were very cold.  The fuel was mostly wood hauled from the Sheyenne River.  Their provisions had to be brought from Valley City by oxen team and sometimes even by foot.  That situation was somewhat alleviated by the extension of the Sanborn branch of the Northern Pacific Railroad as far north as Cooperstown.

Descendants of Betuel and Inger Herigstad.

KAREN, born 1880.  Died 1960.  Married O. B. Westley 1905.  Their children:  

ARLA, born 1906.  Married Russell Wright 1931.  Their children:  

Doris, James and Dorothy.  IRENE, born 1907.  Married Theron Young 1927.  Their children:  

Charles, Majorie, Susan and John.  CYRUS, born 1909.  Married Madeleine Bertoglio circa 1942.  Their child:  

Randon.  ROY, born 1910.  Married Virginia Upchurch 1934.  Their children:  

David and Ruth.  Married Lucille Anderson circa 1951 (second marriage).  GEORGE, born 1914.  Died 1915.  JOHN ORION, born 1916.  Died 1941.  ELLA MARIE, born 1918.  Married Allen Tichnar 1947.  Their children:  

Peter, Mark, Sam and Kaaren.  RUBY, born 1919.  Married Charles Sites 1949.  Their children:  

John, Charles, Robert Alan and Karen Frances.  HOWARD, born 1921.  Married Dorothy Dugan 1944.  IRA, born 1923.  Married Nancy Aspenwald 1941.  Their children:  

Barbara, Karen, Katherine, Susan, Kenneth, Lee Ann and Caroline (dec.).  ROBERT, born 1925.  Married Olive Clippinger 1949.  Their children:  

Sandra, Sherri and Paul.  ESTHER MAVIS, born 1926.  Married Warren Brogie 1946.  Their children:  

Warren Jr., William and Barbara.

BARD, born 1881.  Died 1969.

MARGARET, born 1883.  Died 1915.

OMON (OB) born 1885, died 1951.  Married Fern Prescott 1913.  Their children:  

JEAN, married Kenneth Pringle.  Their children:  

Pricilla, married Donn Wells.  Their children:  

Kevin and Marisa.  Roger, married Sylvia Dunnell.  Their children:  

Jonathan, Chad and Todd.  ROGER, married Harriet Shigley.  Their children:  

Susan, married Jack Wylie.  Their children:  

Steven, David and Lisa.  James, married Kittie Isaakson.  Their child:  

Kathrine.  ELAINE, married Mark Purdy.  Their children:  

Diane, married Robert Vanlaningham.  Their child:  

Jefrey.  Michael.  LUCILLE, married Leo Broyles.  Their children:  

Becky, married Robert Weiss.  Their children:  

Christie and Amy Lee.  Dan, married Rita McFarlan.  Their child:  

Jeromy.

INGA, born 1887.  Married Christ Wuflestad 1927.

CONRAD, born 1889.  Married Ruth Josephson 1921.  Their children:  

DOROTHY, born 1922.  Married Larry Whitaker 1944.  Their children:  

Kent, Jeanne, Brian and Bruce.  ARDIS, born 1926.  Married Arland Steenerson 1950.  Their children:  

Claire, married Marcus Gettie.  One child.  Wendy, married Allen Hoots.  One child.  JoAnn, born 1928.  Married Earl McCintock.  Their children:  

Katherine and Barbara.  Married Helmut Albrecht 1967 (second marriage).  PHYLIS, born 1930.  Married Robert Hess 1958.  Their children:  

Robert, Paul, Eileen and Nancy.  Conrad married Alice Ashland Sund 1958 (second marriage).

EMIL, born 1891.  Died 1974.

HENRY, born 1894.  Married Evelyn Josephson 1920.  Their children:  

MARIAN, born 1922.  Married Martin Jensen 1947.  Their children:  

John, married Lois Huffman 1973.  David, Mark and Joel.  BERT, born 1927.  Married Barbara Yuill 1949.  Their children:  

Camille, married Daniel Binder.  Bert Russell and Chris Eric.  LENORE, born 1931.  Married Frank Lusson 1963.  Their children:  

Joseph Franklin and Jean Frances.

THEODORE, born 1896.  Died 1912.

LYDIA, born 1899.

SYLVIA, born 1904.  Died 1971.

Two girls born around the turn of the century died in infancy.
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MARTIN HOLLAND FAMILY 

The Martin Holland family from Stavanger, Norway, arrived at Cooperstown, North Dakota in April 1914.  The family consisted of Martin Holland, his wife, Bertine, and five children

 the eldest, a son Bernard L. Holland, three daughters, Ingrid, Gudrun, and Helga, and a younger son, Max.

They were met in Cooperstown by Mr. Holland's uncle, Thomas Sporaland and were taken to one of his two farms in Sverdrup Township on which they were to live and farm.  This farm was approximately three miles north of Karnak, North Dakota.

They farmed there for a few years, and then decided to rent another place.  They moved to what was then known as ae Norheim place, just south of the Sanderson Bridge on the Sheyenne River.

A son, Henry, was born at this place.

After a few years at this farm, Mr. Holland purchased what was then known as the Cooper ranch, a mile or so north of Karnak.  After a couple of years he sold the ranch and moved back to the Thomas Sporaland farm where the family, with the exception of Ben, lived until August 1924.  Then the family moved to Silverton, Oregon.

B. L. Holland, the eldest son, left for Oregon in 1922.  The eldest daughter, Ingrid, and her husband, Paul Herigstad left for Oregon in 1923.  The second eldest daughter, Gudrun, and her husband, Gabriel Herigstad also left Cooperstown in 1923.  The elder Hollands remained in Silverton, Oregon until they passed away,  Martin passed away in 1962 and Bertine in 1967.
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ARNT JOHNSON

Arnt Johnson was born January 30, 1876 to John and Bertha Johnson near the town of Stavenger, Norway.

He came by boat to America looking for work.  He came by train to North Dakota and got a job on the Jack Mills farm north of Hannaford, North Dakota.  He worked during the summer of 1892 and then went to the Mills school to learn the English language.  The Mills school is presently located at the Airport near Cooperstown, North Dakota.  At present the Flying Club is using it for a clubhouse.

Later Arnt worked on the Cooper ranch.  In 1904, he bought a quarter Section of land in Sverdrup Township (NW quarter 36-145).

In 1909 he went back to Norway.  In March of 1910 he married Talletta Berge.  She is a daughter of Martinus and Ellen Berge.  That same spring, Arnt and Taletta, accompanied by Elias Berge, came to Griggs County, North Dakota to live.

The descendants of Arnt and Taletta Johnson are as follows:  

Martin

 Arthur

 Edwin

 Bjarne - P. F. C. Bjarne Johnson died in the service of his country in the South Pacific area March 26, 1944.  (Wesley Cemetery, South of Cooperstown)

 Borghild

 Clarence

 Clifford - (Clifford died May 25, 1973)

 Leonard Johnson.

Borghild married Walter Michaelis, the son of Ernest and Emma Michaelis, on June 17, 1944.  They have one son Bennett and a daughter Charlotte.

Edwin married Agnes Knutson, daughter of Krist and Dina Knutson on June 10, 1951.  They have four sons, Neal, Nolan, Jeffrey and Bjarne.

Clifford married Delores Harvey June 16, 1956.  Delores is the daughter of Lars and Hilda Harvey.  Clifford and Delores have three children, Jerry, Laurie and Kimberly.  Clifford passed away suddenly on May 25, 1973.  He is buried in the Faith Lutheran Cemetery North of Hannaford.

Clarence married Betty Fiebiger, daughter of Ed and Elsie Fiebiger on September 18, 1956.  They have three sons, and I daughter, Leon, Steven, Ronald and Jeane.

All of Arnt and Taletta's children reside in Griggs County, except Clarence who lives in Riverside Township in Steele County.

Arnt Johnson passed away December 31, 1933.  Taletta was born on March 17, 1890.  She recently celebrated her 85th birthday.  At present, she is living with her daughter, Borghild, (Mrs. Walter Michaelis) north of Hannaford, North Dakota.
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LARS JOHNSON

The Lars Johnson family arrived in Griggs County in July 1881.  With it too late to plant any crops, Lars spent his first year in Dakota Territory breaking 14 acres of sod on his homestead claim in Section 28 of Sverdrup Township.  He described seven years later his other first year activities:  

'I built a log dwelling house, 14 x 14 foot  - value $75.  Broke 14 acres - value $10.  Built a stable - value $2.’  (Values must be what he spent on materials.)

"He planted his 14 broken acres the next spring and in the fall of 1882 harvested 180 bushels of wheat with a borrowed reaper.  He broke 30 more acres of his 160-acre homestead claim that year, leaving more than two-thirds of it still unbroken.  But he had plans for an even larger farm.  In May 1882 he filed an 80-acre timber claim on some land south of his homestead claim.  The term 'timber claim' is confusing.  It merely meant that the land was devoid of timber when he filed his claim, and by planting a portion of it with trees, he could obtain a permanent title to it.  Lars used a 16-inch walking breaker when he broke six acres of Dakota soil on his new claim in 1882.  -

He was able to report success in a letter to his brother in November (1882).  "Ican see from your letter that you are blessed with a rich harvest.  I can't complain either.  I got 615 bushels of No. 1 hard wheat.  In November the wheat price was 81¢ per bushel, No. 2 - 76¢, No. 1 soft wheat 74¢ per bushel.  Of oats I got 274 bushels, more than 50 bushels to the acre.  Generally from 10 to 15 to the acre, of oats 35.”

There was considerable pride shown in a paragraph about the new school building.  It read as follows, "We have now already gotten a schoolhouse and a school going.  Brita and Nickolas (the two oldest children) have gone to school all winter.  We have 1 1/4 miles to the schoolhouse, which is situated in the valley.  It is now two years since I took steps necessary to have a school district organized.  This did not materialize when there was a disagreement about where the schoolhouse should be placed.  Those in the valley wanted it there and those of us on the prairie wanted it in the center, which is near my land.”

The Scandinavian tendency toward under statement is also shown in another paragraph, "I have both reaped and threshed.  I got 1560 bushels of wheat on 72 acres.  .  .  500 bushels of corn on 10 acres and 85 of barley

.  I will also mention that a daughter was born to us last June.”
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MATHILDA JOHNSON

Mathilda pursued a teaching career for ten years before she married in 1914.  Six years later and a widow with two young sons, she returned to education when she decided to run for Griggs County Superintendent of Schools.  She placed the following announcement in the Griggs County Sentinel Courier, "Acting on the request of my friends, I hereby announce myself as a candidate for the office of County Superintendent of Schools.  Your support will be greatly appreciated.  My name will not appear on the ballot in the primaries, but call at the (Hannaford) Enterprise office and get stickers or write in my name.  ''

Her surprise election in November created some personal problems.  Most importantly she didn't have an automobile or money to buy one.  The car was necessary for her official duties.  She borrowed money from her father to buy a car and in her usual way quickly paid him back.

Her official duties required her to regularly visit the county's many rural schools.  She was active in the Griggs County Parent-Teacher Association, judged declamatory contests, helped raise money for the Cooperstown Juvenile Band, supervised the county play day program, accompanied students to contests around the state and participated in various other school related activities.

Among the many activities of this period of her life was Mrs. Johnson's interest in preserving the early history of the state and county.  She requested all the teachers in the county to have their eighth grade students interview the old timers and write down their histories.  These were simple accounts of the problems of everyday living but they provided valuable information that would have been lost forever in a few more years.  She apparently performed her duties to the satisfaction of the voters.  She was regularly re-elected and many times ran without opposition.  In 1930 she received more votes than any candidate for any office in the county that year.

In 1931 Mathilda Johnson was married to T. P. Overby.  After his death she moved to Madison, Wisconsin, where she and Anna Nelson opened a restaurant.  When Anna Nelson returned to Cooperstown Mrs. Overby supported herself by renting rooms and working in a hospital cafeteria until she retired at the age of 80.  She then moved to Cary, Illinois where she lived with her son Bremen and his family until shortly before her death, March 27, 1975.

Almost 90 years old when she died, her longevity is characteristic of the Lars Johnson family members.  Her father, Lars, was Griggs County's oldest citizen when he died at age 94.  Her mother died in 1928 at 81.  Her oldest sister, Brita, died in 1971 six months short of being 100 years old.  Her younger sister, Louise, is a healthy 87.

Longevity is not the only characteristic of the Lars Johnson family.  Although each generation pursued its own goals, there was the spirit.  The spirit of community pride and participation.  The spirit of a happy and industrious family.  The spirit of a resourceful family.

A spirit they tried to share with others.  It is a spirit that will outlast the Lars Johnson family.
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THE ALBERT J. KLUBBEN FAMILY. 

Albert Johannes Klubben (1895-1972) was the youngest of nine children born to Valdemar and Maria Klubben.  In 1921 he married Clara Andrea Sortland (1895), daughter of Solomon and Synova Sortland, of Litchville, North Dakota They have ' five children:

William Spencer (1922), Lyle Merton (1924), Clarice Anne (1926), Arland James (1928), and Lois Beverly (1933).

William (Bill) lives in Forman, North Dakota, and is principal of the Sargent County High School, located at Forman.  He married Mary Jane Cady in 1953.  They have six children:  

Frederic Howard Cady Klubben (1949), Paula Lynn Cady Klubben (1951), William Spencer Klubben 11 (1954), Susan Marie Klubben (1955), Kieran Albert Klubben (1956), and Eric Shawn Klubben (1960).

Lyle Merton Klubben lives in San Pablo, California He is with the United States Forest Service at San Francisco.  He married Barbara Ann Hammer in 1948.  They have three children:  

Kathleen Susan (1950), Keith Ralph Klubben (1953), Nancy Kay Klubben (1955).

Clarice Ann Klubben married Lenard Walter Bauer in 1948.  She is a registered nurse and lives in Langdon, North Dakota, where her husband is employed with the A. B. M.  They have three children:  

Lynn Waren Bauer (1949), Jo Anne Sue Bauer (1952), and David Allen Bauer (1956).

Arland James Klubben farms in Sverdrup Township.  One-half Section of the land he farms belonged to the original Valdemar Klubben farm and has been in the family since acquired.  In 1958 he married Patsy Lou Skramstad.  They have seven children:  

Kevin Edward (1959), Wade Eugene (1960), Brian Jay (1961), Arland James II (1963), Kerry Lee (1966), Patrick Alan (1967), Anthony Blaine (1973).

Lois Beverly Klubben married Bjarne Asp in 1955.

She is a music teacher and at present works as a receptionist for the Watson Ins.  Company in Fargo.  They live in Moorhead, Minnesota, where her husband heads the English Department in Moorhead High School.  They have five children:  

Sharon Naomi (1956), Daniel John (1957), Mathew Charles (1959), Andrew Michael (1962) and Joel Allen (1964).
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THE KLUBBEN HISTORY

Waldemar Klubben was born near Bergen, Norway.  His parents were Elling and Seneve Klubben on February 26, 1847.  He was married to Maria Pernilla Johansen on June 9, 1878 in Stavanger, Norway.

In the spring of 1881 Mr. and Mrs. Klubben, with about twenty neighbors, decided to leave for the United States.  Some of the neighbors in the group were:  

Ola Westley

Sven Loge

Sven Lunde

Knut Haaland

Ola Stokka

Andreas Vatne

Sven Lima

Carl Herigstad

Lars Herigstad and 

Tobias Thime.  

The men began their journey on April 10, 1881 from England in a ship called Palmyra.  They experienced a broken propeller, which delayed their arrival in America.  So the women, delayed by whooping cough, arrived soon after the men did.

They came to Sverdrup Township in June 1881.  Mr. Klubben chose land in Section 26, on the prairie.  Their first house was a sod house built on the quarter line between Klubben's and Sven Loge's land.  Each family had one room.  The Klubben's lived in this sod house for three years.  They then built a log house.

The first year Klubben was able to break up only five acres of land since they came so late in the season.  He had only one ox, the other one having died in the railroad car near Fargo.  The neighbors let him use one of theirs.  Christian Lee had a reaper and he cut all the grain in the area.  R. C. Cooper threshed the grain for the settlers.  The early settlers went to Valley City for provisions.  The trip took three days and several men would go together.

The Indians seldom bothered, but the pioneers were quite fearful of them.  This was especially true of the women and children who were left at home each fall as the men left home to earn extra money in the harvest fields.

A large frame house was built on the Klubben farm in 1912.  This house is still standing and is sheltered on the north and west by a grove of trees, which was planted by Waldemar Klubben.  In 1918 a barn was built on the farmstead, also.

Maria Klubben died on April 26, 1919 and Waldemar Klubben passed away on May 27, 1929.  Both are buried in the Saron Church Cemetery.

There were nine children in the Waldemar Klubben family:  

1. Elisa Sophia Klubben (Askelson) 1879-1944

 Susanna Klubben (Loge) 1881-1965

 Karen Klubben 1882-1897

 Enga Klubben 1884-1905

 Regina Klubben (Haaland) 1887-1959

 Margreta Klubben 1889-1896

 Berta Klubben 1891-1963

 Edward Klubben 1893-1974

 Albert Johannes Klubben 1895-1972.

All the children are buried in the Saron Church cemetery, with the exception of Karen, Enga, and Margreta, who are buried in the Zion (Westley) Church cemetery.

Source Page 432

SAMUEL B. LANGFORD

Samuel B. Langford, the sixth generation to carry the identical name, was born in Bocastle, Cornwall, England, January 8, 1837.  A son of Samuel and Mary Langford, both natives of England.  Mr. Langford was rightly proud of his ancestry.  He came of the house of Langford, which originated in 1225 with Roger de Langford, sheriff of Cornwall, who took his name from the estate of Langford in the parish of Marham Church.  The Coat of Arms of the family is significant:  

Military strength and fortitude are indicated by the Coat armor, while willing obedience and serenity are the heraldic meaning of the feathers.

Mr. Langford left England at 21 years, and then located in Ontario, Canada, where he farmed.  He married Mary Brown in 1859.  Mrs. Langford died in 1861 leaving two children, Samuel and Bessie.  Mr. Langford remarried in 1865 to Hannah Lewis, a native of England.  To this union nine children were born.  In 1872 he moved to St. Claire, Michigan, where he farmed.  His son, Samuel, came alone to North Dakota in 1880 and worked for R. C. Cooper, returning to Michigan in 1881.

That spring, Samuel Sr., bringing Samuel Jr., came out to the new land to file on a preemption in Sverdrup Township.  Years later when the claim had been satisfied, the formal document was signed by President Harrison.  Samuel Jr. also homesteaded later in Section 6.  Each person was allowed a homestead and a tree claim free.  Thus Samuel Sr. and Samuel Jr. each took up a claim in Section 6, Sverdrup Township, Griggs County.

Late in August, delicate in frame, gentle by nature, but with indomitable spirit, Hannah Langford began the long journey with their eight children.  She brought with them the household goods, twenty chickens, and a pure bred cow.  This cow was the beginning of the strain of shorthorns raised on that Langford farm until it was sold.  She came by boat to Duluth and train to Sanborn, North Dakota, where Mr. Langford met them with two wagons pulled by oxen.  They started out the next morning, getting as far as where the present City of Rogers is located.

The next day they reached the home that Mr. Langford had already built.  It was one of the first shanties built in the neighborhood.  It was a 14' x 20' unpainted frame house of one room upstairs and one downstairs, with a small shed in the back.  A special touch was the installation of two double paned windows of glass, 10" x 8".  Here it was that the family of ten children and two adults were to live several years until the permanent home was built, one-half mile north.  That home is still there, now owned by Lyle Bender.

Their nearest town at that time was Sanborn.  A trip there meant starting very early in the morning, going by oxen and buying up large quantities of supplies to last.  In the winter when it was bitter cold they put a hot potato pie under their jackets to keep warm and later to eat.  This was made of potatoes, meat and onions inside a deep-dish piecrust.

Besides being a farmer, Mr. Langford was a veterinary surgeon, having taken a postgraduate course in Minneapolis.  He traveled many hundred miles as a veterinary, using a horse and buggy.  For some time he was Justice of Peace, President of the Old Settlers Association and was an active member of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Mr. Langford's children by his first wife were:  

Samuel B. , married to Jennie Glaspell.  They had seven children:  

Vera (deceased) married Albert Jacobson, Marvelle, married Emil Thompson, Garth (deceased) married Faye Smith, Marion, married August Hogenson, Maynard, married Edith Hagberg, WARREN (OLE), who lives on his father's homestead, married Emma Erickson and Lois, married Leonard McCulloch.  Bessie married Benjamin Kuhns and lived in Honolulu.  There were eight children, names unknown.

Mr. Langford's family by his second wife consisted of:  

Laura, married James Gimblett.  They had ten children, names unknown.  Alberta married Charlie Houghton and had three children, Milton married Ida Hammer, Cora married James Hazard and Ruth married Paul Brent.  Olive married Willmot Houghton, no children.  John Herbert married Bertha Sansburn and had three children, Nellie married Carlton Clausen, Gladys married Kenneth Curtis and John married Lucille Mathison.  Alfred Edgar married Mary Jenkins and had four daughters, Dorothy (deceased) married Clarence Sansburn, Helen married Ernest Wold, Evelyn married Elmer Miller and Bernice married Floyd Pratt.

Lillian married Edwin Burling.  They had four children, Godfrey, Maurice, Ann, Esther and Richard.  Ida who died in infancy.  Cora married Rollin Jones and had three sons, Robert, Raymond and Richard.  Minerva (Minnie) married N. J. Zellar and had no children.  She was the only one born in North Dakota.

Mr. Samuel Langford died in Cooperstown, North Dakota on December 26, 1913.  He was buried at Mount Hope Cemetery, north of Cooperstown.  Mrs. Langford died in 1923.
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HELGE B. LARSON

Helge B. Larson was born August 16, 1838, in Hallingdal, Norway.  The date of his arrival in Minnesota is not known, but he applied for citizenship on May 20, 1872 in Fillmore County.  Mr. Larson was in Dakota Territory in 1880 and made improvements on the NW quarter of Section 23-145-58, and filed on it April 17, 1882.

In the spring of 1881, Helge left Granite Falls, Minnesota with his family and drove with horses and covered wagon to the land he had chosen in 1880.  They arrived on June 20, 1881.  Helge later had to buy the land, since it was railroad land.  He homesteaded on Section 26, in Ball Hill Township in the mid 1880's.

The first home was a dugout.  A two-storied log house was built shortly afterwards.  The two main hardships were snowstorms and prairie fires.  One prairie fire burned down a granary.  The nearest neighbors were John Atchison, Ole Hagen, Nels Herigstad, Waldemar J. Klubben, Sander Sanderson, Alex Saunders, and Iver Thompson.

Helge Larson married Bergith Halvorsdatter Brandelie on October 18, 1866.  They both lived on the homeplace until their deaths.  Helge died on February 14, 1916, Mrs. Larson in 1906.  They are both buried in the Ness cemetery, cast of Cooperstown.

They had three children:  

Barbra (1868-1928), Louis (1878-1919) and Henry J. (1884-1966).

Barbara never married.

Louis married Mary Sandboe.  Their children:  

Amanda, married George Johnson, Alfred, married Cecelia Strobel, Lilly married Clarence Johnson, Mildred married Grant Olson.

Henry J. married Nettie Brendal.  Their children:  

Howard married Inga Kalvik, Lester is single.  Evelyn married Lloyd Olson, Evelyn's second marriage was to Harold Hogenson, Hazel married Robert Smith, Maynard married Marian Stalp, Doris married Lloyd Gjesdal, and Arla married Merland Carlson.
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SWEN AND SERINA LOGE

Swen Loge was born in Thime, Stavanger, Norway on October 27, 1852.  At the age of 26 he was married to Serina Thime.  With a few of his neighbors, his wife and child, Elizabeth, they left for America on April 9, 1881.  They crossed the North Sea on a cattle boat, named "Johan Sverdrup.”  At Liverpool, England, they boarded a ship named "Palmyra," which was in poor condition and lost a propeller at sea.  During the voyage, their little girl, Elizabeth became ill and died.

From New York the group went to Granite Falls, Minnesota They were delayed a few days in St. Paul.  Here their son, Swen, was born.  The men bought equipment at Granite Falls, drove to Benson, Minnesota, where they loaded their oxen and goods on railroad cars.  At Fargo, they unloaded and drove the oxen along the railroad track to Valley City, where they stocked up on supplies.

Swen Loge and Valdemar Klubben picked quarters next to each other, Section 26-145-58.  They built a sod house over their quarter line, of two rooms, one for each family.  When the men had made initial preparations they informed their families to come.  On July 5 they left Granite Falls.  They were met in Valley City by the men.

In May 1883, a second son, Lars, was born.  After living in the sod house three years, Swen built a log house.  In the following years more rooms were added to the log house and was lived in for 32 years, at which time it was replaced with the present house.  In 1888, the oxen were replaced by a team of horses, one of the first in the area.

The six youngest children were born in the log house, Elizabeth, 1885

 Martin, 1887

 Bernard, 1889

 Pauline, 1891

 Inga, 1893

 and Hans, 1895.  They all attended the Gallatin School, located by the Sheyenne River.

In 1905, Swen Loge built a home in Cooperstown and lived there until he died on August 17, 1906.  His wife, Serina died in August 1937.

Swen Loge's children are:  

Truman of Cooperstown, Spencer of Hannaford, and Kenneth, Melvin and Maynard, who live out of state.

Lars Loge's children are:  

Richard of Hannaford, Sheila Nevland, Fergus and Lawrence of Cooperstown, Arlien (Mrs. Clarence Troness) of Minneapolis, Minnesota, Rosella (Mrs. Clifford Knutson) of Cambridge, Ray of Walla Walla, Washington, Dorothy (Mrs. Gordon Moothart) Oregon, Dennis of St. Cloud, Minnesota, Marilyn (Mrs. Don Sand) of Minneapolis, Minnesota

Elizabeth and Elmer Asplund's children are:  

Marjorie (Mrs. Ray Osmundson), Minerva (Mrs. Ernest Nelson), and LeRoy Asplund.

Martin Loge's children are:  

Edythe (Mrs. John Carroll, died in 1954), Dorcas (Mrs. Ernest McMahon), Elverda (Mrs. Leland Hughes), and adopted son, Dean, died in 1967.

Bernard Loge's children are:  

Homer, Marshall, Burnette (she died in 1961), Luann (Mrs. Tom Greear).

Pauline and Peter Ewert's child, Ardis (Mrs. Robert George Townsend).

Inga (Loge) Ueland's children are:  

Kermit and Shirley (Mrs. Lester Erickson) both of Cooperstown.  (Kermit owns and lives on the original Swen Loge homestead.)

Hans Loge's children are:  

Harlowe of Cooperstown, Delphine (Mrs. Herbert Larson) of Eugene, Oregon, and Gerald of Fargo, North Dakota

Source Page 434

BIOGRAPHY OF ARNE LUCKASON

Arne Luckason is one of the early pioneers of Griggs County, born December 6, 1858 in Ness Halingdall, Norway.

He came to America on April 25, 1877.  He came to America for the purpose of bettering himself and for better prospects of making a good living for himself and his mother.  He left his home in Norway because he was the strongest in the family and had to get out and support the family for his father died when Arne was twelve years old.  He thought he would come to this country.  On the steamer he was sick almost all the time.  He was fourteen days on the ocean.  When about half way across there came a terrible storm.  It lasted for four days.  He landed at Quebec, Canada.  From there he went by train to Iowa where he had a brother.

At that time Iowa was a prairie, too, and people residing in town had cattle and hired a herder at so much a head to herd them out in the country.  Mr. Luckason, being only 17 years, got such a job and good wages by securing a large number of cattle to herd each day.  He stayed at a farm just outside of town, and milked two cows morning and night for his room and board.  During the daytime he herded the cattle for the people in town.  He remained here for three years and then he went to Minnesota.  There he worked for a homesteader and finally started to buy and sell oxen and horses.

Later he immigrated to North Dakota, still continuing to trade and buy.  He was then known as a peddler, selling all kinds of commodities to the homesteaders.  This was of great service to them because there were no cars and railroads and the closest town was Valley City.  They had only oxen and lumber wagons to drive in.

On June 10, 1881 he squatted on a homestead the northwest half of Section 10, range 58 in Griggs County, six miles southeast of Cooperstown but was too young to file.  He lived in a dugout at first.  His neighbors were Ole Halvorson, John Dahl, and Christ Bolkan.

The farm implements were few.  He sold his oxen and bought a breaking plow and some other younger oxen.  They sowed only wheat and feed oats.

In the fall of 1884, his mother and sister came from Norway to keep house for him.  His mother was 66 years and his sister was 13.  They built a larger house and barn.

The next year he bought more land.  In 1902 he moved to Aneta where he built a store and lived for 16 years.  He then sold his store.

Mr. Luckason married Gunhilda Brekke of Aneta, February 25, 1905.  They farmed at Church's Ferry.  After his retirement he resided in California.  Mrs. Luckason died in 1927.  Mr. Luckason in 1949.

Their children are:  

Lillian Burgess, Fresno, California and Wilfred Luckason, Littleton, Colorado.
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THE MARTIN LUNDE FAMILY

Martin Lunde and Clara Herigstad were married in Byrne, near Stavanger, Norway in 1880, just before setting out to join other members of both families who were already in America.  They filed on a homestead in Sverdrup Township, Griggs County, which had recently been organized.

Their first home was a sod house with a frame of logs to make it more substantial.  Built in 1886 or 1887, this house had other improvements not found in the earlier sod houses, which had been hastily thrown up for temporary shelter.  This house had a floor with a trap door in it to provide access to the cyclone cellar that had been dug out below as a shelter from the tornadoes that were known to sweep the plains sometimes during the summer.

This refuge provided shelter from the more violent disturbances of the season, but the prairie fires that swept through the region during dry spells were even more terrifying.  Sometimes the entire family would have to rush out and flail with wet rags at flames that swept up to a few feet from the walls of the house.  The log frame could easily have been ignited along with anything else that was made of wood.

As time went on and more land was broken up for fields, the danger of prairie fires grew less, though early spring and late fall remained anxious seasons for quite some time, each fall - at least until the snow came.

The family of the Lundes eventually numbered nine, five boys, Nels, Betuel, Clarence and Martin and Carl, who died in infancy and four girls, Karen (Mrs. Westley), Ann (Mrs. Colvin), Cora (Mrs. Brown) and Violet (Mrs. Wuflestad).

Nels remained on the farm until he purchased a share in the Greenland Lunde Implement Company in Cooperstown.  Betuel (better known as "Bill") was a partner in the General Merchandise Store at Hannaford, and Martin was a farmer until he moved to Cooperstown.  Clarence remained on the farm and lived in the commodious farm home that had been built by the parents as the years passed, but he moved to the West Coast, leaving the old home uninhabited.
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THE FAMILY OF SVEN LUNDE

Sven Lunde was born in Gesdal, Norway on August 26, 1838.  He left to try his luck in this country because the government was offering free land to homesteaders.

On the way to America the propeller on the steamer broke and the ship had to be towed to the harbor at St. John by a cattle boat.  The journey took them three weeks.  They came to North Dakota on June 10, 1881, coming by oxen from Valley City, and filed on the NW quarter of Section 22, Township 145, range 58.

There they built a lot house about 24X14 with a bark roof and sod on the top.  They had no floor and just one room.  The stove was set up outside under a big oak tree, until the house was ready to move in.

When they went to town to get provisions they had to go to Valley City, about 40 miles, and it took them two days each way.  The first winter supplies gave out toward spring and the family was on the verge of starvation.  Shorts and bran were procured from the Cooper farm.  This was cooked into a mush, which kept the family alive until they could reach a market for supplies.  This mush was not a very delicious dish.  One of the boys who was big enough to understand the situation made the remark one day, "This mush is very fitting to the occasion being that it takes so little to satisfy our need.”

That trip to Valley City was very hard because the river was flooding and it had to be crossed two times to get to the city.  He had to hire a boat to take him across the river at Sibbley Crossing.  He also had to hire a team and leave his own on this side of the river.  Before he returned the children came to their mother and begged for food, but she, heartbroken, had to tell them the sad fact that the pantry was empty and there was nothing to be had.  Fortunately, the father returned with food the same day.

The only fuel they used was wood, which they obtained from the timber on the homestead along the river.

Often Indians would come down the Sheyenne River in their canoes.  At other times they would come by with wagons and horses and pitch their tents under the trees in the neighborhood.  They often came around the farmyard asking for supplies for their families and hay for their horses.  Any gun report heard in the distance would scare the folks that the Indians were coming upon them.
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TORKEL NJAA

Torkel Njaa, pioneer Griggs County farmer, was born in Thime, near Stavanger, Norway March 17, 1870, and came to the United States in 1892.  When he first came here he worked for Jorgen Soma, an early settler in Bald Hill Township.  He later bought some land on the SW quarter of Section 9 in Sverdrup Township.  One day when visiting a neighbor he returned home to find his house and belongings burned.  He then bought some land in Section 16 in Sverdrup Township, where he lived the rest of his life.

In 1894 he was married to Thea Aarestad.  There were five children born to this union, Clara, Otto, Arthur, Halvor and David.  His first wife passed away and in 1911 Mr. Njaa married Minnie Angelshaug.  Two children, Mrs. Inga Krogsgaard and Mrs. Esther Froiland were born to this union.

He was engaged in farming all his life in the Sheyenne Valley southeast of Cooperstown.  He was well known for his interests and experiments with cereal grains and livestock.  For many years some of the counties finest horses and cattle were raised there.  Another animal that also brought fame throughout the country was his raising of German Shepard dogs.  The industry had its beginning in 1914 when Mr. Njaa imported a German Shepard for a watchdog.  He was very pleased with this animal, and imported more of them, which led to an industry that reached its peak in Griggs County in 1924, and it became a nation-wide fad.  Mr. Njaa shipped them to all parts of the United States, the Philippines and Hawaii.

Mr. Njaa passed away in 1939 while en-route home from a trip to the west coast.
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SWEN OLGAARD

Swen Olgaard (Aalgaard) was born July 29th, 1854 on a farm (Aalgaard) a few miles east of Stavanger, Norway.  His parents were Swen and Janine Aalgaard.  The youngest of four brothers he worked on the home farm until he was seventeen when he left to work in a machine shop in Stavanger.  He felt that he had to move on being that tradition left the home farm to the oldest son in the family.

Mr. Olgaard worked in Stavanger two years for his board and room.  He then moved to Christiania (now Oslo) where he worked for three years earning seventy-five cents per day.  He then decided to go home and got a job running a steam engine to become a steam engineer.

In April 1880 Mr. Olgaard left Norway and came to Lake City, Minnesota.  He moved to St. Paul, Minnesota where he worked in a machine shop during the summer and winter.  The shop closed down for two months every fall so the men could go harvesting.

In the fall of 1883 Mr. Olgaard made a trip to North Dakota with the purpose of filing a homestead.  He took a train to Hope, North Dakota.  From Hope he walked to the Spencer Crossing, (now the Martin Ueland farm).  He found his way by using a watch and compass.  He had learned compass reading while working on a steamship.

In July 1884 Mr. Olgaard was married to Mathea Ramseth from Stange, Hedemarken, Norway.  They moved to North Dakota where he bought railroad land five miles southeast of Cooperstown, North Dakota.  They built a frame house and a sod stable.  On the 16th day of August, 1888 a heavy frost killed all of the crop.  The winter was a hardship so in the spring of 1889 he sold his land.  With a team of horses and his threshing machine he continued to work in the area until 1899 when he filed a homestead that became their home until their death.  Being a steam engineer he was away from home for long periods repairing machines around the county.

Another hardship encountered was the prairie fire in the spring of 1898.  The fire swept from Valley City towards Cooperstown on the east side of the Sheyenne River.  It jumped the river near what is now the Bible Conference grounds where it was finally halted.  Many of the homesteaders had to plow around their buildings to save them.  An old file shows that in the year 1892 the earnings from threshing was $527.90.  Mr. Olgaard threshed for Vatne, Ueland, Chalmers, Aarestad, Klubben, and Brosten to mention a few.

Swen and Mathea Olgaard raised a family of four boys and three girls.  Swen S. was born in St. Paul, Minnesota, March 7, 1885.  He came with his parents to the Cooperstown area in 1886 and lived here all his life.  Oscar was born February 2, 1887.  He worked on area farms and at one time had a tire shop with his brother, Harry, in Cooperstown.  Oscar also lived in Fargo and finally settled in Seattle where he lived until his death May 25, 1968.  He was a veteran of World War I. Harry was born August 1, 1888.  He worked for Kohler Works, Kohler, Wisconsin.  He served in World War I where he was gassed and in ill health until his death September 1, 1927.

Clara Olgaard was born March 5, 1890.  She married E. M. Near.  They lived in Cathay, Fairmont and Mott, North Dakota.  She died on October 26, 1941 when hit by a car.  Margaret Olgaard was born April 11, 1892.  She was married to -Vernon Hoover and lived in Waterville, New York.  They had one son, Darrell.  She now resides in Glendive, Montana.  Olga Olgaard was born April 20, 1897.  She lived at home, working in many stores in Cooperstown until her marriage to Sam Helland in Glendive, Montana where she still resides.

Albert was born October 5, 1894.  He grew to manhood at home and worked on farms until his death July 30, 1964.  Arthur was born July 20, 1899.  He grew up on the farm, living on farms until his marriage to Alyce Peterson.  They now reside in Tacoma, Washington.
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GEORGE N. OLSON FAMILY

Kristi (Clara) Luckason (Olson) was born February 3, 1872 at Ness, Hallingdal, Norway.  She was the youngest daughter of Lucas and Ingeborg Luckason.

When she was twelve years old her father died and Kristi and her mother came to America in October 1884.  Their destination was Dakota Territory where her brother, Arne Luckason, was a settler.  They came to his log cabin, 6 1/2 miles southeast of Cooperstown near the Sheyenne River in Sverdrup Township, Section 10-145-58.

There were many hardships and their faith with hard work sustained them.  Neighbors were kind and helpful.

On October 2, 1899, Clara married George N. Olson.  They moved to a larger house located in Section 9-145-58 and were busy farming and active in the community.

They raised seven children:  

Ella Gilbertson, Lila Brace (deceased), Leland, Gillman (deceased), Georgie, Garfield and Lorraine Anderson.

Some of the children and families continue to reside in the area.

Georgie married Marie Sansburn.  He farmed in Washburn Township and was elevator manager at Egeland, North Dakota, until retirement.  He now resides in Cooperstown.  Their three children are:  

Lavonne Roland, Darleen Trent and David Olson.

Garfield married Evelyn Rasmusson.  He farms in Romness Township and serves on the Township board.  They have four children, Gale, Jeanne Aasmundstad, Richard and Deane.

Gillman (GILLY) married Dolores Erickson.  He resided in Sverdrup Township, Section 9-145-58 until his death in 1967.  His wife still resides there.  Gilly was a farmer, livestock trucker, State Representative 195565, school board member and REA director.  There were five children, Beverly Tranby, Jacqueline Evenson, Susan Olson, Gloria Thompson and George Oscar Olson (deceased).

Mr. and Mrs. George Olson observed their 50th wedding anniversary October 2, 1949.  George died in 1950 and Mrs. Olson in 1960.
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THE NELS OLSON FAMILY

Nels Olson came to Griggs County in December 1891.  He went to work on the farm of Albin Forsberg and married Ida Forsberg in 1893.  The young couple were given the chance to buy the homestead quarter of Gustav Forsberg, the bachelor brother of Albin and Johan.  On this land stood the double log house that was built by Johan and Gustav with the intention of locating it exactly on the line between their two homestead quarters.  A later survey proved that the house was all on Gustav's side, but he did not care to live there alone after Johan and his family moved to a large new farmhouse on their own land.  Thus Ida Forsberg became mistress of the long log house to which her father had brought his family when they first came to America.

Nels Olson bought this farm in 1896.  Edith and Adolph were born in the double log house.  There were seven children in all, Olaf, Marie, Adolph, Leonard, Anna, Edith and Linnea.  Only Edith and Linnea are still living.

While their children were still quite young, their parents took a three-month trip to Sweden to visit Nels Olson's parents, the children remaining at home in the care of their aunt and uncle.  The ship on which they crossed the Atlantic was the Lusitania, which later came to such a tragic end.  This ocean voyage was pure pleasure for Nels and Ida.  They also enjoyed the return trip on a smaller ship.  This journey included a view of the Great Lakes and sightseeing tours in Quebec and Montreal, both of which were especially interesting to the sightseers.

Back on their Dakota farm, Nels Olson turned again to his chief love - horticulture.  He planted every kind of tree and shrub that he could get his hands on, including fruit trees, apple, cherry, plum or berry.  He even coaxed a catalpa to take root far from its native haunts.  After several unsuccessful attempts, a horse chestnut tree was also persuaded to take root and flourish.  Several generations of squirrels have enjoyed the nuts it still provides, year after year.  Although many of the trees set out in the Olson grove were ordered from salesmen or nursery catalogs, most of them were patiently transported from the banks of the Sheyenne River by Nels Olson himself.  His farm-place is no longer occupied by any member of the family, but it remains a monument to a man who loved the soil and the beauty that could be produced upon it.

Mrs. Olson lived until 1921, while Nels lived ten years longer.  Adolph, the only surviving son, shared his father's love of horticulture and it was he who insisted upon putting a white fence around the yard to protect the green shrubs and grass from all harm.  Adolph was married to Edna Johnson in 1922, and they continued to live on the farm after his father's death.

Adolph and his wife had three sons, Fredrick, Richard and Victor, all of whom grew up to share in the service of their country, but met with illness or misfortune and died while still young men.  One daughter, Mrs. Sanford Brekke (Joanne) still lives in Cooperstown, as does Mrs. Adolph Olson (Edna).
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JOHN PATES 

John Pates came to Griggs County in 1881 from Granite Falls, Minnesota and together with Elisha Fitch took forty acres of school land (NE 16-145-58) and the rest of their quarter Section on railroad land in hopes of holding it.

While Mr. Fitch stayed only a short time, Mr. Pates remained several years.  Until he left about 1890, Mr. John Pates sent locals to the "Courier" from his locality.  He occasionally mentioned a birth or death among his Norwegian neighbors.  Little was written of the Norwegian settlers in the early Cooperstown "Courier, " chiefly because of language difficulties.  For the most part Mr. Pates' items told of eagles, native animals and game, and Indian relics.

Mr. Pates wrote a letter from Hastings, Minnesota, February 10, 1881 to Mr. Fitch stating he had received his letter written January 28.  Mr. Pates further stated that he hoped to come to Griggs County by the first week in April.  He asked advice on filing on land, asking for Section number, town and range, telling Mr. Fitch to write to him at Granite Falls.  He concluded with, "There will be no land hunters out till April or May, I suppose.”
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SANDERSON FAMILY

Sander Sanderson, one of the early settlers in what was to become Griggs County, North Dakota arrived in the Sheyenne valley in 1881.  He had been born in Oslo, (Christiania) Norway on May 17, 1859.  His father, Olson Sanderson, came to America in 1869 and his wife and youngest son, Sander, arrived in 1871.  Later, two older brothers Carl and Olaf, and a sister Annie, joined the family in Illinois.  Sander learned the trade of cooper, or barrel-maker, and in 1881 he and his brother-in-law, Robert Busse, Annie's husband, set out for North Dakota.  They left Chicago in early April and arrived in Mayville later that month.  They then walked some forty-four miles to the Sheyenne Valley, arriving at the Thorson farm on April 28, 1881.  They stayed there a day or so and then took squatter's claim on 160 acres each.  Sander's property later, after survey, became part of Section 24, Sverdrup Township, Griggs County.  Busse's land ended up in Steele County.

Like many settlers, Sander dug a sod house to shelter himself until he could cut enough logs to make a log cabin large enough for himself and his parents.  In 1882 Sander's parents arrived to work on and hold the claim while Sander went to Minneapolis to work in a flour-barrel mill.  He continued to work and send money to his parents until 1884.  On April 4th of that year he sold his interest in the barrel mill and returned to the homestead to work his claim.  He remained there until his death in 1941.

On January 25, 1889, Sander married Jennie Gertrude Johnson, who, like himself, had been born in Norway, at Bergen.  Her family was from Wisconsin, and Sander had met her in Chicago.  Their first child, Herman Teodor, was born in the log cabin in July 1890.  By about 1900 Sander and Jennie had built a neat frame house on the cast bank of the river for their growing family.  All told, seven children were born, four of whom reached adulthood.  They were:  

Herman Teodor, July 16, 1890-April 11, 1964

 Gertrude Marie, January 19, 1892-March 21, 1896

 Adolph Gerhart, March 22, 1894-March 5, 1895

 Priscilla, December 18, 1899-October 23, 1905

 Silvanus (Sandy), September 10, 1903

 Torval (Torry), October 2, 1906

 Alford Gerhart, May 14, 1909-September 10, 1946.

Herman married Bertha Christofferson and made his home in and around Guthrie, Minnesota.  They had nine children, seven daughters and two sons.  Silvanus married Mae Flaagan, and they lived for a time in Cooperstown, eventually moving to Portland, Oregon, and then to Eugene, Oregon, where they still live.

Torry's first wife was Beatrice Ladbury.  They had no children, and in the mid-30's Torry moved to Oregon, eventually settling in Eugene.  He served in the Navy during WW II, and after the war married Delta A. Johnson from Utah.  They have three children, two sons and a daughter.  Torry, too, still lives in Eugene.

Alford married Rudha Heskin, who still lives in Cooperstown and runs the beauty shop there.  They had two daughters, Jean and Karen.  Karen lives in New York, and Jean, who married Don Savre, still lives in Cooperstown.  She and their two sons, Jason and Preston, are the only direct descendants of Sander and Jennie Sanderson who still live in Griggs County.
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ALEXANDER SAUNDERS

Alexander Saunders was born in Scotland in 1854 and left there in 1873 for Ontario, Canada.  In 1878 he took up land in the Turtle Mountains north of the border, and the same summer rented land in Pembina County where he farmed for two years.

In May 1880 Mr. Saunders decided to look for land near Valley City.  He walked, alone, north of Valley City with a pack containing provisions, a raincoat and a blanket.  He also carried a compass and a book with the land survey.  He followed the Sheyenne River spending the first night at Sibley Crossing with Frank Abbott.  The next day, May 24, 1880, he saw his home for the first time.  This is now in 1975, the Irvin and Manfred Loge farm on the SW quarter of Section 24 in Sverdrup Township.

Alexander Saunders broke 10 or 12 acres and planted a few potatoes and turnips in the sod.  He built his first house in the side of a hill.  It was lined with poles.  The roof was of poles covered with hay, bark and dirt.  The house was 14 by 22 and very warm.

In November Mr. Saunders went to Pembina with his Red River Cart for goods left behind.  On the second night on his return trip he was refused a night's lodging.  A snowstorm was raging, the oxen were exhausted, there was only one thing to do, and Mr. Saunders drew a revolver ... and stayed.  He became lost 10 miles from home.  He met the driver of the Star mail route who was also lost.  The mail carrier's horses were overcome by the storm and hard driving and reported to the government as killed by the Indians.  After passing the carrier, Mr. Saunders lost his direction again, and also broke a wheel off his Red River cart in a snow bank.  At about 3 AM he came to the house near what is now known as the Fluto Bridge (Home of Amund Fluto).  In the morning he returned home and with his other team and wagon recovered his goods.  The cart was abandoned and destroyed by a prairie fire the next spring.  In 1882 Mr. Saunders built a large, comfortable log house in which he lived many years.
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KORNALIUS SELDAL

Kornelius Seldal was born in 1844 to Mr. and Mrs. Christ Seldal.  He was married to Ingen Oftedal in 1874.

Their children had come to North Dakota earlier so they decided to leave Norway in 1901 and come to America.

Their first home was a frame house and their nearest neighbors were O. H. Westley and Ole Stokka.  He was a member of the Zion Church.  Children:  

Christ Seldal, Hans Seldal, and Mrs. I. Wagle.
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JACOB STOKKA

Jacob Stokka the eldest son of Ole and Maria Stokka was three years old when he came to America in 1881 with his parents from Stavanger, Norway.

He grew to manhood in Sverdrup Township together with his five brothers:  

Olaf, Bernard, Arnt, Hans, and Martin.

In 1906 he struck out for Balfour, North Dakota with a team of horses and a few belongings including a guitar.  Here he took a homestead and also operated a hardware store.

It was there he met his bride-to-be Isabella Raaket, who had come to America in 1901 from Norway at the age of 21.  They returned to Sverdrup Township and were married in 1907 by Pastor Hendrik Voldal.

Mr. Stokka became engaged in farming.  They were active members of the Saron Evangelical Free Church.

Jacob passed away in 1957 at his farm home and Mrs. Stokka in 1966.

Children:  

Elmer married Gladys Berg of Litchville, North Dakota in 1940.  She passed away in 1948.  Children:  

Roger and Glen of Cooperstown, North Dakota, Carol (Mrs. Jerry Gomsrud) Eau Claire, Wisconsin.  Orville - farming the home place Section 16.  Anne - Mrs. D. L. Collins of Glenwood Springs, Colorado.  Myrtle - spent many years in Denver, Colorado.  At present living on home place Section 16.  Murray - (deceased 1940).

Melvin Stokka married Luella Berge daughter of Albert and Betsy Berge in 1941.  Their home is in Section 21.

Children are:  

Melvyn, married to Patricia Haines (two sons Micheal, and Matthew)

Elaine married to Casper Aarestad Jr. (two sons Aaron, and Endre)

 Milton married to Susan Thompson

 David

 Gerald married to Connie Haerter (one daughter Candice)

 Janel and Murray.  They are all living in Griggs County with the exception of Milton who resides in Fargo, North Dakota.
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OLE J. STOKKA

Amongst the many immigrants from Norway in 1881 were Ole J. Stokka and his wife Maria (Westley) Stokka and two sons Jacob and Hans.  They came from Stavanger, Norway.  He was a farmer and a schoolteacher and continued in this profession after coming to America.  He also taught parochial school in the summer time.  Mrs. Stokka was a trained mid-wife and was very busy in this area since there were few doctors.

Stokkas lived in a log house on the prairie and had a frame house down by the river where they lived in the winter close to Sven Lunde.  They had no water on the prairie and therefore stayed near the river in winter.

Together with OLE WESTLEY (his brother-in-law) they broke land with four oxen and a sixteen-inch plow.  Ole Westley held the plow while Stokka drove the oxen, equal parts were broken for each.

Four more sons were born in this country namely:  

Olaf, Bernard, Arnt and Martin.

Stokka always remained content with having come to this good and free land.
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MR. AND MRS. JESPER TAXDAHL

Jesper Taxdahl was born May 10, 1872, near Stavanger, Norway, (Thime sogn).  His parents were Jonas and Anna Taksdahl.  He had one sister Anna Taxdahl Berntsen and three brothers, Arm, Ole and Jonas.

He came to America, going first to South Dakota, where there were relatives and friends from Norway who had arrived at an earlier date.  Here he worked on farms near Hetland and DeSmet, South Dakota.  In 1898 he, together with Carl Helland and Maria Helland traveled by covered wagon and horse team to Griggs County, North Dakota.  Here too, he hired out as a farm laborer, working for Edward Michaelis, Peter Larson and Elling Johnson.  Ole and Jonas remained in Norway.

On December 12, 1900 he married Aagot Johnson at Cooperstown, North Dakota.  There were seven children in the family

 Ernest Taxdahl, Neva Taxdahl, Myrtle Taxdahl, Hilda Taxdahl Selness, Albert Taxdahl, Judith Taxdahl Watne and Orville Taxdahl.

They farmed for many years first in Sverdrup Township and later in Helena Township near Revere, North Dakota where he lived until his death on January 28, 1956 at Griggs County Hospital.  He was preceded in death by his wife and one daughter, Myrtle.

Mrs. Taxdahl was also born near Stavanger, Norway, (Thime sogn).  She came to America together with her parents, Elling and Martha Dorthea Froiland (name later changed to Johnson), when she was four years old.  Others who came at this time were Omund Ashland and Dorthea Ashland, Mrs. Froiland's children with her first marriage to Aadne Ashland.  Christopher Ashland, Maria Ashland Herigstad and Serina Ashland had arrived in this country earlier.

The family lived first in Minnesota, near Granite Falls, coming to Griggs County, North Dakota in 1883.  They traveled by covered wagon and ox team, which took them three weeks.  Others in the party were one brother, Omund Ashland and three sisters, Dorthea Ashland, Ingeborg Froiland and Amelia Froiland.  One sister, Inga, had died on the voyage across the ocean.  Another sister Mrs. Ole Gabriel Kverneland remained in Norway.  A brother Hans Froiland, the youngest in the family, was born at the homestead in Ball Hill Township, near Cooperstown, where Mr. and Mrs. Steffen Froiland and daughter Melissa now reside.

Mrs. Taxdahl died April 25, 1949 at St. Lukes Hospital, Fargo, North Dakota.
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MARTIN ANDREAS UELAND

Martin Andreas Ueland was born at Ollestad in Heskestad near Stavanger, Norway on September 1, 1858.  He was the youngest son of Ole Gabriel Ueland, a member of the Norwegian Storting (parliament) and one time president of that body.  Martin went to high school in Flekkefjord and to Trondhjem technical school to become a Civil Engineer.

He came to the United States in 1880, and after a year in Minneapolis, a bout with typhoid fever, came to Dakota Territory in 1881.  He homesteaded in what is now Sverdrup Township.  He was elected surveyor in 1882 before the county was organized and served as surveyor for the following fifty years.

Between surveying expeditions, Martin Ueland farmed and gradually added to his holdings with land priced at that time at from $2.00 to $4.00 an acre.  On returning from a surveying assignment in Montana he found a group of settlers encamped on the Sheyenne River bank at Valley City.  They were all Norwegians from the general area where he was born and he knew relatives of some of them.  They were Ole Westley, Betuel Herrigstad, Valdemar Klubben, Sven Loge and Christian Aarestad.  They were in the process of bargaining for a breaking plow.  He decided to go with them to the area they were settling and they became neighbors.  This was still in 1881 and he was elected County Surveyor in 1882.

In 1888, Martin was married to Elizabeth Maria Holland who had also come from Norway, but worked in Iowa for some years.  She worked for an American family and so became quite fluent in the English language before coming to Griggs County where two brothers, Knud and Hans Holland, were living by that time.

Martin and Elizabeth had eight children.  They were Olav and Knute who died in early manhood and two boys who died in infancy

 Alf, who lives in Washburn Township

 Bjorn, now living in Valley City

 Anne, who died in 1973, and Magnus who died in 1968.  Olav left ten children:  

Mervil, Verna and Duane of Cooperstown, Eunice of Valley City, Clarice Gullickson, St. Paul

 Anne Fleeman, Phoenix, Arizona

 Garvin, deceased

 Arla Nickols, Oak Eun, California

 Blanche Rawson, deceased

 and Olav G. of Rodondo Beach, California.  Children of Knute Ueland were Mrs. Lester (Shirley) Erickson and Kermit Ueland, both of rural Cooperstown.  Child of Anne (Ueland) Windingland is Allan Windingland, rural Luverne, North Dakota Child of Alf Ueland, Mrs. R. L. (Winniefred) Laumann, Sherman Oaks, California.

Martin Andreas Ueland died in 1941 and his wife, Elizabeth Maria, died in 1937.
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THE HAROLD VASFARET FAMILY

Harold Vasfaret was born July 17, 1859 at Flaa, Norway.  Several relatives had gone to the United States to make their homes, so, he too, decided to leave for the new land.  After a long trip by boat and then by train, they arrived at Cooperstown, North Dakota, on July 1, 1890.  Harold Vasfaret, the father, had come 3 days earlier because of an error on the train tickets.  Mrs. Vasfaret and two small boys, Gilbert and Halgrim, had been sent first to Canton, South Dakota.

Gilbert Auren, a brother-in-law of Harold Vasfaret met them at Cooperstown with a lumber wagon.  They went to the Amund Gilbertson farm, where Mr. Vasfaret worked for two years.  Mr. Vasfaret and Mr. Gilbertson were brothers, the latter having arrived in North Dakota in 1881.  He had lived in Iowa before coming to this state.

In 1892 the Vasfaret family moved to a farm on the NW quarter of Section 12-145-58.  In 1894 the Vasfarets moved about 2 miles west near the bridge over the Sheyenne river, where they lived in a two-story log house which had been Arne Luckason's.  They moved to their own home in Section 3 in the fall of 1901, where the family lived for many years.

Harold Vasfaret died November 2, 1903 leaving his widow, Kari, with the responsibility of raising a family of ten children, the oldest being about 16 years of age.  The children were:  

Gilbert, Halgrim, Michael, Amund, Christ, Sophia, (Mrs. Bernard Loge), Christie, (Mrs. Hans Loge), Martin, Mary, (Mrs. Oliver Bjugstad), Harold and Albert.  Mrs. Kari Vasfaret died October 7, 1938.  Albert had passed away shortly after birth in 1902.

Three of Mr. and Mrs. Vasfaret's children are living at the present time:  

Martin in Cooperstown, he married Bernice Larson and they had 6 children:  

Harold, lone, Milo, Mavis, Vernon and Blanche.  Sophia's husband, Bernard Loge, passed away in 1948, they had four children:  

Homer, Marshall, Luann and Burnette.  Mary lives at Hastings, Nebraska with her husband, Oliver Bjugstad.  They had four children:  

Harlan, Twylla, LeRoy and William.  Other grandchildren of the Vasfaret's are:  

Arlene, James, Norman, Doris and Ralph (deceased) children of Amund and Julia Vasfaret

 Delphine, Harlowe and Gerald Loge, children of Christie and Hans Loge.
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ANDREW AND ANE VATNE

Andreas (Andrew) Vatne born May 27, 1861.  He died February 23, 1941.

Ane Lima Vatne born February 15, 1866.  He died April 7, 1940.

John A. Vatne (adopted son) born November 9, 1890.

Andreas Vatne, at the age of twenty years, left Stavanger, Norway, on April 12, 1881, as a member of the group that, in June 1881, became the first Stavanger settlers in what is now Griggs County.  He remained in Minnesota for some weeks and came to the new community later the same year.

His wife, Ane Lima Vatne, and her first husband, Wilhelm Watne, came to America along with Ane's brother, Ole Lima, in 1886.  Wilhelm died two years later, the first adult to be buried in the Westley cemetery.

Andrew filed on his homestead in Sverdrup Township in 1883, and after his marriage to Ane, lived there as a farmer until 1910, when as a result of his constant activity in religious and humanitarian matters, he was called to become a pastor, and worked as such for the remainder of his life, first at Osakis, Minnesota, then for a time in the old community of Sverdrup, and finally, from 1928 on, in Norway, to which he and Ane returned in that year.  Their adopted son, John A. Vatne, lives in Vancouver, British Columbia.

Andrew sent tickets to his parents in Norway, Andreas and Rakel Vatne, and they were cared for in the Dakota Vatne home until their death.  Besides their adopted son, John, they had as their foster-child Ruth, daughter of Ole Lima.  It was their practice, though their means were small, to give one-tenth of their income to charity and missions.

After the return to Norway, Andrew traveled almost constantly on home missions for the church, while Ane developed a one-woman quilt and clothing charity for the Lapps in Northern Norway, using samples and ends given her by local manufacturers.  As many as a hundred quilts a year were sent north, from her sewing room in southern Norway.

Broderbaandet, a Norwegian language publication in Fergus Falls, Minnesota, says of the Vatne's:  

"During pioneer days in Cooperstown, North Dakota, and later on in both North Dakota and Minnesota, Andrew and Ane Vatne played an important role in the Norseman's saga in America.  They dedicated their lives to helping others.  Vatne and his wife were among those who actively led the temperance movement in North Dakota, they opened their home to orphaned children and others in need, and in 1915 they founded the home for the elderly in Sauk Center, Minnesota.”
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TONNES WATNE

Tonnes Watne was born 1854 in Hailand, Norway.  His parents were Simon Foss-Watne and Maria Foss

Watne.  He came to America in the spring of 1884 with his wife and three children.  He went to Stone City, Iowa and from there he came to North Dakota arriving at Cooperstown, he went out to Nels Herigastad's homestead by wagon drawn by oxen.  He bought home stead rights in 1886 from Julia Bustrack for $200 located in Sverdrup Township Section 8.  His nearest neighbors were Wilhelm Watne, Andrew Watne, Simon Ouren and Swen Aalgaard.

Tonnes Watne helped organize the Saron Evangelical Free Church and was one of the first elders.

He passed away in 1917 on his homestead and was buried in the Saron Cemetery.  His wife followed him six months later (1918).

Ten children:  

Simon Watne, Maria Watne, Geoige-anna Sharpe, Jonna Sharpe, Gretha Greenland, Laura Watne, Rachel Lovegren, Vera La Rue, Wilhelm Watne, Minnie Watne.

Source Page 444

PEDER VIGESAA AND FAMILY

Peder Vigesaa, his wife, the former Elizabeth Windingland, and their children immigrated to America from Norway in 1901.  Peder, born May 1, 1853, at Bjerkrem, Norway, was the eldest son of Torkel Vigesaa and Bertha Sjevelan.  Peder and Elizabeth were married in 1877.  Nine children were born to them, all in Norway.  Thomas (1878), Aadne, who died in infancy, two Berthas, neither of whom survived, Aadne (1886), Bertha Serina (1888), Sigvart (1891), Thorval (1895) and Pete (1898).

It wasn't as hard for Peder and Elizabeth to break family ties and leave Norway as it was for some immigrants as the Vigesaas already had family members in America.  Their oldest son, Thomas, had immigrated in 1895.  Peder also had two brothers there, Torkel who came in 1888 and now lived in Sverdrup Township, and Theodore, who had also come, but who lost his life the same year that Peder and his family reached their new home in America.  Another brother, Martin, came shortly after Peder and settled in the same area.  Elizabeth also had a brother Andrew Windingland, and two sisters, Mrs. Olaf (Gisena) Helland and Abega Thompson, who came to America.

When Peder and Elizabeth came to America they lived with their son Thomas just across the Sheyenne River in Riverside Township of Steele County.  It wasn't long until they purchased a quarter Section in Sverdrup Township, Section #35.  On March 19, 1911, Peder and Elizabeth's daughter Bertha died.  She is buried at the Lund Cemetery.  On October 25, 1911, Aadne married Laura Houghton and on April 10, 1914, Sigvart married Edythe Houghton.

They would make their own skis and ski down the banks of the Sheyenne River.  They would use ash wood whenever possible.  The skis would have to be soaked in boiling water and then kept in a press to curl them at the end.  They were more concerned about breaking their skis than their legs, as they knew the work involved in making new ones.

Elizabeth died October 23, 1934 and Peder January 6, 1936.  Both are buried at the Lund Cemetery.

In 1936 their two sons Thorval and Pete moved to where they now live just to the northwest of Red Willow Lake.  Thorval married Gunda Stockland on April 1, 1942.
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THOMAS VIGESAA AND FAMILY

Thomas Vigesaa came to America from Norway in 1895 and worked on the Cooper farm near Cooperstown for two years.  After that he went to Melville, Montana, and worked on a ranch for a couple of years.  One of those years his annual pay was $75.00.

In 1898 Thomas homesteaded in Riverside Township, Steele County.  He had a barn and a little claim shanty.  He later built his house onto the shanty using the shanty as a bedroom.

In the fall of 1908 Thomas returned to Norway leaving his farm under the care of his brothers Sigvart and Aadne.  In the spring of 1909 he returned with his bride-to-be, Theodora Egge, born March 31, 1884, daughter of Theodore and Ingeborg Egge of Egersund, Norway.  Thomas and Ingeborg were married in Cooperstown on March 31, 1909.  The trip on boat from Norway to America at that time took three days from Stavanger to England and eight or nine days from England to America.

While they were living at Luverne, nine of Thomas Vigesaa's ten children were born:  

Petra Elizabeth in 1909

 Bertha, Mrs. Corlie Hall, in 1911

 Ingeborg Thelma (Mrs. Meacher Stenslie) in 1913, Norman Theodore in 1915

 Walter in 1917

 Lillian Mable (Mrs. Edward Gauderman) in 1919

 Ila (Mrs. Clarke Ward) in 1922

 Vernon in 1924

 and LeRoy Wallace who was killed in World War II.  Another son Willard was born at Warwick in 1929.

In 1926 Thomas and Theodora moved to Warwick and then to New Rockford in 1930.  In 1932 they moved to west of McHenry and in 1933 to another farm near McHenry.  In 1942 they moved to another place near Kensal where they lived until their death.  Thomas died on June 14, 1962, and Theodora on January 16, 1969.  Both are buried at the Kensal Cemetery.

In 1958 Theodora made her first and last trip back to Norway.  She was the only one of her family to come to America to stay.  Two brothers had worked here and returned to Norway.  She still had one sister and one brother alive in Norway at that time.  They had 50 years of visiting to catch up on.
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ST. LAWRENCE CHURCH

The Catholic parish of St. Lawrence, Jessie, North Dakota, had its beginnings in the missionary travels of Fr. Vincent Woerhle, O. S. B. , later first Abbot of Assumption Abbey, Richardton, North Dakota and first Bishop of the Diocese of Bismarck, North Dakota.

The first Catholic missionaries passed through the area in their travels from Fort Totten to the northwest and Fort Sisseton, to the southeast.  It was not until Fr. Vincent, O. S. B. (Order of St. Benedict) and other Benedictine Monks founded St. Gall's Priory, Devils Lake, North Dakota in 1888 that Catholic services were held with some regularity in the Jessie vicinity.  In 1898, Jessie became a "Station,” meaning that Mass was celebrated weekly in the home of Mr. and Mrs. Max Wild if weather and travel conditions permitted.  Fr. John McDonald of Michigan and Frs.  McPhee, Gallahue and McArdle of Jamestown, North Dakota, served the small group of German Bohemian Catholics in this time.  The prominent Catholic laymen in the area were Max Wild, Frank Pfeifer, Frank Ressler, Edward Zimprich, Jose Dusbabeck, Fred Dridenbass, Edward Fiebiger, Sr., Joseph Buchheit and George Paintner.  In 1907, Bishop John Shanley visited the village of Jessie and confirmed a class of 34 at the new Jessie schoolhouse.

In 1908, Bishop Shanley transferred the spiritual care of the Catholics at Jessie from the priests at Jamestown to Fr. Henry Brunagel of Sanborn, North Dakota Under the leadership of Fr. Brunagel the forty three families built a church to seat 150 and named it under the patronage of St. Lawrence, the deacon-martyr of the Apostolic Church.  The church, built on a high hill immediately west of Jessie, cost $3, 000.00.  John Hovel was the contractor.  The parishioners did most of the work themselves.

Fr. John Kleidon succeeded Fr. Brunagel in 1922 and he in turn was succeeded by Fr. McGeough in 1925.  During the tenure of Fr. McGeough the parish church was moved from the hill west of Jessie to its present location.  Mr. Mellum donated the lots.  Moving the church and placing it on a cement foundation cost the parish $600.00.  In 1927, the mission parish of St. Lawrence became a parish in its own right.  A home for the pastor was purchased and furnished for $4,000.00.  In succeeding years the pastor of St. Lawrence, Jessie, also served the stations or missions of Deehr, McHenry, Aneta and Cooperstown.

Fr. John Duffy served the parish for a few months in 1927.  Frs.  J. H. Hurtibise and Lucien Burque each served the parish for two years.  In 1932, Fr. Charles Schneider came for a four-year stay.  In 1936, Fr. George Miller succeeded Fr. Schneider.  It was during Fr. Miller’s ten year stay that the fledgling mission at Cooperstown named for Fr. George Miller's patron saint began in earnest.

In 1946 Fr. Roman E. Ludwig was assigned to succeed Fr. George Miller.  Under his guidance, the parish hall was built and furnished in 1948.  The building of the hall was a fortunate foresight, for in September of the same year the frame church, built forty years before, burned.  For almost three years the parish hall was also the parish church.  In 1951 the new brick church, so beautiful in its simplicity, was built.  The parishioners were overjoyed:  

once more they could worship God in a House that was His Own.

In 1956 Fr. Joseph Huebsch came to replace Fr. Ludwig.  He continued the parish and cemetery beautification program Fr. Ludwig had begun.  Fr. Heubsch remained eleven years.  Fr. Edward Freuh came to stay but a year in 1967.  Realignments of parishes in the area in 1968 transferred the pastoral care of St. Lawrence Parish to the pastor of St. George, Cooperstown, North Dakota Fr. Adam Hasey admirably and kindly guided the parish in this period of adjustment and stayed as pastor through July, 1973.  In September, 1973, the present pastor, Fr. George D. Schneider succeeded Fr. Hasey.

St. Lawrence Parish of Jessie seldom had more than fifty families on its parish roster.  Yet these families have formed and kept a close-knit community that is so Christ-like indicative of the Savior's Love.
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JESSIE, North Dakota

Very recently the Griggs County Sentinel Courier carried in THOSE WERE THE DAYS feature, an article taken from the Courier June 7, 1900 which read:  

"The People's Great Annual Picnic at Jessie on Friday the 15th of June, 1900 - The several committees ask the cooperation of friends to make this the greatest picnic ever held at Jessie - Program to begin at 11 AM Sack race, 3-legged race, smoking race, jumping, foot races, ladies bicycle race, men's bicycle race, farm boys race, horse race, green pony race, ball game, entertainment will conclude with music and dancing.  The committee will try to solve the water problem by sinking an additional well on the grounds.”

All was not fun and picnics - the original settlers of this Section were as hard working as people can get.  The Arndt, Dusbabec, Fiebiger, Haagenson, Hovel, McCulloch, Pfeifer, Ressler, Retzlaff, Rogney, Thorn, Trost, Wild, and Zimprich families all lived within a two or three mile radius of what is now Jessie before the Northern Pacific Branch was built through the town.  Ed Ressler tells of how Aunt Mollie Fiebiger would take a basket of eggs over her arm, walk from the farm to Cooperstown, and walk back with a basket of supplies.  Ernestine Ressler remembers her Mother, Mrs. Frank J. Pfeifer, hitching up a one-horse cart and taking produce to town.  Of course this was in the summer when the men and older children were busy with crops and hay - other times the man would take oxen or horses (a half day's drive to Cooperstown).  Normally a woman's place was at home not in town.

In December 1899 Jessie was plotted by J. Henry Fitz.  Then the fun began.  Houses, big frame houses, sprung up on the corner of most blocks (if houses come can barns, chicken coops, and biffys be far behind?).  Businesses were started by several (not usually homesteaders, but "outsiders".)  It is believed a Laffin had the first store.  It was built on the alley of Block 13 just off Grant Avenue, next to the blacksmith shop.  He was followed by Hjort, Thinglestad, Bock, Drittenbuss, and Haugen.  By 1908 some of the homesteaders got into the act - there was an Arndt Livery Stable, a Hovel Livery Barn, and Ressler's store added to the scene.  We also had three elevators, a depot, and a lumberyard down by the tracks.  A bank on Main Street, and a school on one hill and the Catholic Church on the westernmost hill.  During the year 1910, nine automobiles were sold by the local agent.

They say a picture is worth thousands of words (even mine) so here are a few of Jessie taken in earlier years.

Good times were followed by hard times, and by the 1920's - certainly by the late 20's a good number of the business places had gone broke, or at least were not paying.  As a few are torn down or ravaged by fire, Jessie lost ground - it also lost its Hotels, its bank, its telephone exchange, its blacksmith shop, and barber shop.  The Reule's Confectionery became Dahl's Store.

During the 30's and early 40's Jack Ressler had sold his store to Graham McCulloch, who in turn sold it to Eddie Ressler.  Louie Hovel had built a beer joint.  Al Harminson had a garage, and did George Paintners.  Urness meat market became Oscar Ronningen's Locker Plant.  Ed Thorn moved a chicken coop to start a beer parlor, and later turned it into a grocery store and cream station, which he later sold to Olaf and Mary Johnson.

By the end of World War II, there were 2 elevators, depot, locker plant, Johnson's Store, Dahl's Store, Charlie's place, Jenson had a garage in the bank building, a hall had been built (The Hall above the Store which had seen many and many school Christmas programs, dances, movie showings, church suppers, had been condemned by general consent after Harry and Helga Bardahl Becherls wedding dance in 1942).  In 1948, Dahls sold their store 'to Reynold Hovel.  Al's garage became Charlie's place and Pearl and Math's, Bugs Bar, and finally in 1961 when the old Laffin store burned, Punch moved his store and cream station and Post Office into that building.  The locker plant became Math and Pearl's and then Kubeck.  When Kubeck could not sell it, he tore it down.  Shorty Ostrand bought the bank building, converted it into Shorty’s Tavern, and later sold it to Benny and Joyce Bendickson, who still operate it.  Knutson had a garage for several years, then the building was torn down, and the Wildlife Club built a meeting place on that site.  We lost both elevators to fires.  We lost the Catholic Church by fire, but it was replaced with cinder block church.  The school still stands, but is used only as Polls.

In the past few years, the number of inhabitants of Jessie has grown.  As the older families were married and moved, and finally the old folks went to their reward, young families have moved into the houses left.  Most of them work in Cooperstown, but the school buses from Cooperstown and Binford pick up their children to take them to school.  Most of these youngest families are descendents of the original settlers, but some are friends who think a small town is a good town.  Jessie meets both criteria.
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THE JESSIE POST OFFICE

According to the last line of the Lake Jessie Historical Marker, "The mail carriers had a shelter on the east end of lake Jessie from 1867-1872.”  At that time the stage from Fort Abercrombie, Dakota Territory to Fort Totten was the mode of transportation, and shelter and horse changes were available there - the remains of a cave just south of the Orville Tweed home immediately south of the NP track marks the spot of the shelter.

From 1872 to 1884 mail was distributed by William T. McCulloch at his farm home.  The mail was carried by horse, sled, foot or whatever from end of track to McCulloch's by Knut O. Buxegard.

According to Postal records, on October 14, 1884 William T. McCulloch was appointed Postmaster of "Jessie, Griggs County, Dakota Territory.”  The nearest office on the route was Cooperstown, 11 miles SE and the nearest office, not on this route, was Willow, 7 miles NW.  The Jessie Post office was located on the Southeast corner of Lake Jessie, very near the present home of Jud and Ginger King.  The patrons (as they then were called - indeed "patrons" was the word until USPO Department became USPS July 1, 1971) would go to McCulloch's home and pick up and send their mail.  The original desk with distribution boxes attached is now in the Griggs County Historical Society Museum at Cooperstown.

When the Northern Pacific Branch Line arrived in 1899, Frank Pfeifer sold the southwest corner of his homestead to the Northern Pacific Railroad.  NP later sold it to a Mr. and Mrs. J. E. Mellem who planned to name the town ''Mellemville.  However, early settlers persuaded them to call it "Jessie'' after Lake Jessie which had been so named in 1839 by Lieutenant John C. Fremont in honor of his fiance, Jessie Benton.

Mr. Wilson J. Hummer was named Postmaster on December 8, 1899 and he had the Post office "on the Line North side of the NP Track, 15 feet from track" according to his topographer Report.  It showed the nearest office "Cottonwood about 5 miles by the traveled road, in a northerly direction.  ‘‘  The nearest Post office on the same route was Cooperstown, and the nearest office "off the route is Binford.  - Postmaster Hummer had the dubious honor of having served the shortest time, December 8, 1899 to October 15, 1900.

The next Postmaster was Andrew Hjort who was appointed October 15, 1900.  The post office was moved to lot 4 block 13 on Main Street - it is believed Hjort-Tinglestead ran a general store located on the west side of Main where the home of Annie and the late Gus Suess stands.

Otto E. Back became Postmaster on December 10, 1906, and the Post office itself was on the same site.

On July 10, 1909, Nels O. Haugan was named Postmaster at Jessie.  Haugan owned a two-story hardware store on the Northwest corner of Main Street and Grant Avenue where the Benny Bendickson's now live - actually it was the lot west of the house.

Oscar M. Rogney, an elevator operator bought the Haugan Hardware and became Postmaster at Jessie on October 6, 1913.

By the spring of 1918, the United States had become involved in World War I, Jessie town had reached its height and one by one the businesses were beginning to dwindle.  The Haugan Hardware was one of the fire victims.

Fred Rule had purchased the J. E. Laffin Store on the southwest corner of Main Street, and Grant Avenue, -3 blocks from the track.  - The Rules had a confectionery shop and pool tables along with the Post office.  Mrs. Grace Rule was appointed Postmaster on April 30, 1918.

Mrs. Ovidia (Anderson) Dahl became acting Postmaster October 6, 1925.  She and C. P. Dahl bought the Rule Store and converted it to a general store.  The Post office remained in the same northeast corner of Dahl's Cash Store.

On March 1, 1948, Reynold (Punch) Hovel, eldest grandson of the late Frank Pfeifer who originally homesteaded the side of Jessie, bought the store.  On June 12, 1948, Mary E. (Mary Punch to Jessie People) Hovel assumed charge of the Post office.  She received her commission as Postmaster on February 3, 1949.

The Post office was in the same northeast corner of the now Hovel's Cash Store and remained there until Black Friday, June 30, 1961 when the store was destroyed by fire.  For the next few days, the Jessie Hall served as Post office.  From July 5 to August 1, 1961, the Jessie State Bank Building, owned then by Art Anderson, located on the Northeast corner of Main Street and Grant Avenue housed the Post office.  Makeshift fixtures included an old separation case that was salvaged from Knutson's garage and scrubbed to high heaven, bearing such names as Art, Bud, Ed, R. , Ed Z, Bill Z, Bill D. , Henry, Frank M. , Frank F. , Frank W. , Swede, Rudy, Gary, Sig, Ed and Thor, Thor, Tony, Oscar, Johnson Store, Ben, Ignaz, St. Lawrence, L. Zimprich, Ginger, YCL, Margaret, NAPUS, Harvey, Alf, West Prairie, Math, Punch (my memory's too slow to match the box number to the name, indeed, I must have forgotten some of the names).  Anyway, it was business as usual in a most unusual manner until August 1, 1961 when the Post office was located on the southeast corner of Main Street and Grant Avenue, thus having been located on all four corners of that intersection.  The present lock boxes were supplied by a good friend, M. A. Ellingrud former Postmaster at Buxton, North Dakota.  The frame to hold the Post Office was built by E. B. Ressler, Tony Becherl, with the assistance from Punch Hovel and Margaret Pella.

Soon Jessie Post office will have completed 89 years as an official United States Post Office, but if one counts the years that the Army outpost on the southeast corner of Lake Jessie served the early settlers, we are already 106 years old - ancient, yes?

As Postmaster for almost 25 years, we have many first hand memories concerning the mail and four generations of customers.  If you have a "I will never forget the time when" concerning the Jessie Post office or any of its Postmasters, let me hear from you.  Maybe we can construct "A Brief History of The Jessie Post Office" into a real story?
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TYROL TOWNSHIP

History

Tyrol Township was named for a district in Austria.  It lies in the north central Section of Griggs County.  The odd numbered Sections were given to N P Railroad, they sold most of it for next to nothing to investors.  After the train came through in 1899, the tune changed - many of the settlers paid handsome prices for their land.  Those who settled on the even numbered Sections could have the land for $1.25 per acre if they lived on it for 6 months and filed a pre-emption.  They could have it for next to nothing if they fulfilled the 3 year residence and did a specified amount of improvement on the place.

The first settlers came in the early 1880's.  Some settled along the western edge.  They were mostly from Austria and a few came and settled along the eastern pan.  They were of Scotch, English, and Irish descent who had stopped in Canada before coming to Dakota Territory.  Later in the 80's a group that settled south and west corner of Township were Germans from the northern part of Germany.  About 1900, the investors lured many Scandinavians into the Northeast corner of the Township, and through the central part of Tyrol.  As many as four or five men would come at once, and settle.  Then they would talk other members of the family into following suit.

There was much changing of land and some families moved on to greener grass.  But many descendents of original Tyrol Township families are still found in Tyrol or neighboring Townships.  Often the original owner and wife would move into Cooper or Jessie, and leave the farming to sons or daughters.

Besides the railroad to replace the oxen trails (which followed Sibley Expedition Route) across the south part of Tyrol.  State Highway 45 has been constructed close to the east edge and Highway 65 has been built west across the Township.  A series of county and Township roads give direct access to each Section of the Township - a far cry from the days when paths were found between Sections that a horse and buggy could travel.  Later T-Models could use the paths, but the Overlands found them tough to negotiate.

Like all Townships, Tyrol had four schools.  At first Tyrol #1 was called Zimprich School and was later moved to Fosholdt's and became Tyrol #4 or Askelson's School.  When the school was built in Jessie, in 1908 it became Tyrol #1.  Tyrol #2 was known as Arndt School.  Tyrol #3 was the Sansburn School.  All of them served as school, most as church (Catholic in Zimprich) (German Lutheran at Arndt) and (Lutheran at Sansburn), and all as community hall and general meeting places.  The first teachers were imported - many of them married into local families.  From 19101930 many of the teachers were descendents of homesteaders, Gertrude Pfeifer served as County Superintendent a few of those years.  In 1960 Griggs County Schools were reorganized, and some Tyrol students now go to Cooperstown and some to Binford.
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Settlers

CARL ARNDT FAMILY

Charles Arndt came from Germany in 1882, at the age of 14.  He homesteaded on the Lueck Farm south of Binford.  He then bought the place now owned by Swede Becherl in Addie Township.

Charles Arndt Family

About that time Carl and the rest of the family came from Germany.  Carl, Adolf, and Amelia farmed in Addie.  The other brothers Bill, Frank, and Charles all bought land in Tyrol.  A sister, Amelia, married John Becherl.  Another sister married Schroeder, who was a harness maker at Sanborn.

Frank built the house that is now the parsonage for St. Lawrence where Allen Arneson lives.  Frank ran a stable in Jessie.  When he left, he farmed where Harry Becherl now lives.

Charles was married to Ida Retzlaff in 1900.  They are pictured here with their children.  Elmer and Fred still live in Tyrol Township.

Bill farmed on what is now the Arden Saxberg Farm.
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JOHN ASKELSON

John Askelson was born October 10, 1872 at Cresco, Iowa.  His parents were Mr. and Mrs. Nels Askelson.

He came to Dakota in 1898, did farm labor for Fred Williams, and returned to Iowa that fall.

In the spring of 1899, John came back to Dakota and homesteaded at Belfour, North Dakota, and lived there one year.  He made several trips from Belfour to Cooperstown by bicycle a distance of about 120 miles.

He came back to Cooperstown the following year and worked for Mars Cussons at the flour mill, Pete Lima at the blacksmith shop and then for Pete Moe at the hotel where he met Elisa Klubben, who also worked there.  They were married in 1906 at the Klubben home.

Elisa Klubben was the oldest child of the Waldemar Klubben family, who came to Dakota from Hoiland, Norway in 1881 when she was two years old.  Her family settled in Sverdrup Township where she grew up.

John and Elisa made their home in Cooperstown, where John worked as a carpenter and from 1908-1915, he had his own wood working shop, where he repaired wagons, built wagon boxes, etc.

In January 1915, they moved to Washburn Township and farmed there for three years.  On March 20, 1918, he bought a farm in Tyrol Township, moved there, and raised small grains and cattle.

He retired in 1943 and he and his wife bought a home in Cooperstown and moved there.

Elisa Askelson died in 1944 and John Askelson passed away in May 1950.

There were four children in the family:  

1.  Norman born in 1907.  He married Marian Askelson in 1942.  They farmed in Tyrol Township for many years and now reside out west.  They have five children and three grandchildren.  2.  Mervin who was born in 1908.  He married Helen Gunderson in 1941.  They have one child and one grandchild.  3.  Manley born in 1910 and died in 1910.  4.  Eleanor born in 1912 and died in 1936.

Source Page 449 

EINAR S. BARDAHL FAMILY

Einar Sigvart Bardahl was born in Stenjer, Trondeheim, Norway on April 29, 1888.  He came to America in the spring of 1909, coming to Cooperstown, North Dakota to the Olaf Skraatas's.  Skraatas lived on the farm, which later was the John Askelson Farm in Tyrol Township.  Mr. Bardahl worked for John Detwiller and William Sansburn, before going farming for himself, east of Binford.

In 1914, he married Thora Randa at Cooperstown, North Dakota She was working for O. E. Thorne.  She was born in Lom, Gulbransdalen, Norway, on September 17, 1882, coming to America in the spring of 1908.  She came to Jessie, North Dakota to the Nels Haugen's, who operated a hardware store.

They farmed until moving into Jessie, North Dakota in the spring of 1918.  Einar did carpenter and mason work as well as being a farm laborer.

To this union were born four daughters, Lillian, Helga, Bernice, and Ida.  The girls all went to grade school in Jessie.  The family were members of the West Prairie Lutheran Church.  The daughters all were baptized and confirmed there.

Lillian was born in 1915, on a farm cast of Binford.  She married Frederick Trost in 1948 and farmed until the fall of 1955, when we moved into Jessie.  In the spring of 1968, we moved into Cooperstown, North Dakota, where we still live.

Helga was born in 1917 on a farm north of Jessie.  She married Harry Becherl in 1942.  They have one daughter Diane (Mrs. George Oien, Jr.) born in 1946 and 3 grandchildren Reed, Larry, and Wendy.

Bernice was born in 1920 and passed away in 1974.  She married Robert Mortenson in Wisconsin in 1942.  They had two children Gayle and Robert Alan.

Ida was born in 1924 and married Marvin Marty in Wisconsin in 1950.  They have three children, Nathan, married to Sanda Myers and one grandson, Lance, Sonja (Mrs. Clay Buttrey), and Melody Sue at home.

Source Page 449

OTTO BARFUSS FAMILY

As a child of six, Otto Barfuss came from Berlin, Germany with his parents.  They settled in Casselton and came to Griggs County in 1902.

In 1903, he was married to Helen Trost - they are pictured here as they look on their wedding day.

They had four children, Mrs. M. C. (Silvia) Momont, Mrs. Andre DeSmet, Mrs. Joseph Matz, and Maynard.  Maynard farmed the home place until the 50's when Bernard and Gen Zimprich moved there.
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BECHERL

Mrs. John (Amelia) Becherl, born Amelia Arndt April 27, 1880 in Germany came with parents at age of two, they homesteaded near Jessie.  She was married in 1909 to John Becherl, who died in 1938.  Mrs. Ben (Myrtle) Kenninger

 Mrs. Julius (Lillian) Suess

 Roy and Harry Becherl and nine grandchildren survived February 1958.

Anton F. "Tony" Becherl born February 6, 1908 at Daggett, Michigan son of Charles and Katie Kenninger Becherl.  Died at Buffalo Center, Iowa May 31, 1962 survived by Mother Katie Becherl, Mars Math (Pearl) Heinze, Charles Jr. of Jessie

 Theodore of McHenry, and Richard of LaPorte, Indiana.  Father Huebsch, St. Lawrence.

Mrs. Charles Becherl, born May 5, 1884 at Grand Rapids, Wisconsin daughter of Anton and Katherine Kenninger.  Married Charles Becherl at Stevenson, Michigan, April 27, 1907.  She moved to North Dakota 1914.  Charlie operated a livery stable until 1918 and after that farmed in Jessie area until 1944, when they moved to Jessie.  He ran Tony's Bar "Where Old Friends Meet, and stay, and stay, and stay.”  Charles Becherl died October 21, 1950.  Survivors of Katie include Mrs. Math (Pearl) Heinze and Charles Becherl, Jr. both of Jessie, and Richard of North Liberty, Indiana 11 Grandchildren, and nine great -grandchildren.  Also Ben Kenninger of Jessie, a brother, and three sisters Mrs. Lena Dory, Iron Mountain, Michigan

 Mrs. Laura Bussa and Mrs. Mary Rauscher both of Menominee, Michigan.  Requiem Mass at St. Lawrence Friday 13, 1968 Father Adam Hasey.

Source Page 450 

THE CAMPBELL FAMILY

Albert Campbell was born at St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada in 1862.  He came to North Dakota in 1892, hauled grain some time for Cooper and received his citizenship in 1900.  In November 1902, he purchased land - the NW corner of Section 23, Tyrol Township, Griggs County, from Mr. and Mrs. Dana of New York, paying $1,120.00 for property.

In December 1920, he married Nettie Haley, who was born in 1881, in Kansas.  Her mother's parents, whose name was Moore, came from Tyrone County, Ireland.  Her parents, Abraham and Marion Haley came from England to Canada, and then to Kansas.  Relatives of hers fought under Wellington at Waterloo.

Mrs. Campbell came to North Dakota in a covered wagon and taught Tyrol School #3 from 1901 to 1902.  She was a sister of Mrs. Will (Rosa) LaPlante.

In 1914 their farmhouse burned.  They then built a large "modern" house with Delco lights and plumbing.  The farm was sold to Art Erickson in 1955.

They had one son, Cecil, born in 1904.

Albert Campbell was murdered in October 1929, by a neighbor who had borrowed a shotgun to shoot him and then turned himself into the sheriff.

Nettie died in November 1945.

Cecil married Myrtle Steffen, daughter of William and Elizabeth Danner Steffen in 1930.  Myrtle was born in 1906 and died in 1939.  They had one daughter, Donna.  Cecil married Gertrude Pfeifer in 1941 and Mary Rheinhart in 1953.  He died in 1955.

Donna married James F. Nelson, son of Floyd and Anna Swanson Nelson in 1953.  James died in 1974.

They had four children:  

Beth, Douglas, Michael, and Ronn.  Beth and Douglas are students at the Oral Roberts University in Tulsa, Oklahoma.  Michael and Ronn are still at home in Elfrida, Arizona.
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MRS. OTTO CHRISTENSEN

Mrs. Otto (Alvina) Christensen, a resident of Griggs County and Cooperstown until 1950 when she moved to California to make her home, passed away in Richmond, California, January 15, after being hospitalized there for three weeks.

Alvina Retzlaff was born May 23, 1884 in Griggs County and would have celebrated her 90th birthday this year.  Her husband, Otto (born in Melmo, Sweden, died at the age of 93 January 5, 1972) preceded her in death two years ago.

Survivors include her sister, Ella Rothert, and a niece, Evelyn Rothert, both of Cooperstown:  

a nephew, Marvin, of Binford, a niece, Eleanor Hunter of Seattle Washington, and a nephew Lester Rothert of Hollister, California.  She is also survived by two step-daughters, Jennie Larson and Ruth Schmitt of Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Funeral services were conducted January 17 at Mt.  Olive Lutheran Church of which she was a member, with Pastor Ralph Moellering officiating.

Committal followed at the Sunset Mausoleum in Berkeley, California.
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THE COMBS FAMILY

James Combs was the son of Mark and Estella Van Dresser Combs who were married in Watertown, New York about 1871.  They moved to Detroit, Minnesota in 1879.  (The name of this town was later changed to Detroit Lakes).

James Combs was born at Detroit, Minnesota in 1886 and came to Griggs County in 1910.  He was married to Edith Smitherland at Frazee, Minnesota They had two children, James, at present superintendent of school at Enderlin, North Dakota and Luella, now Mrs. Fillmore Trites of Henning, Minnesota

After the death of his first wife, Mr. Combs married Lillian McCann of Detroit Lakes, Minnesota She is the daughter of Emma Kirkpatrick and Cyrus Sylvester McCann who were married in Ohio and came to Minnesota in 1902.  Lillian was born April 22, 1907.  She is the first cousin of J. A. Kirkpatrick the Western artist of Jamestown, North Dakota.

All their sons were in the armed forces.  James Jr.,

Donald and Darrell in the Navy and Robert was in the Army during WW II.  All their children and grandchildren are musical.

The Combses built up three farms during their years in rural Griggs County, moving to Cooperstown after Jim became handicapped.  Outstanding features of all the comfortable homes set up by this talented pair were the beautiful yards, trees, flowers, and gardens.

After their retirement Jim became interested in painting as well as in the music that had been a lifelong interest.  Thus when they were forced to give up farming they still kept in touch with the colors of nature that had been an integral part of their life.

Jim died in May of 1973 and Lillian resides in Cooperstown where she is active in the Presbyterian Church, Senior Citizens and continues with her many hobbies including quilt making.
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THE DAHL FAMILY OF JESSIE

C. P. Dahl came to Jessie, North Dakota from Wisconsin, February 22, 1912, where he stopped to visit a sister on his way to Carpio, North Dakota.  He spent a year working in a hardware store at Carpio, returning to Jessie in January 1913.

On December 28, 1922, C. P. Dahl was married to Ovidia Anderson.  They farmed until 1925, at which time they purchased a store building in Jessie from Fred Rule.  The building housed the Jessie Post Office, and "Vid" as she was known to her friends, wrote the civil service examination and was appointed Postmistress serving the same for 23 years.  They operated the general store and Post Office until 1948.  They sold the business and building to Mr. and Mrs. Reynold Hovel, and a new building has been built since the old building burned.  In 1948, they moved to Cooperstown, North Dakota where Vid entered the Post Office as a clerk and spent another ten years in the postal service.  C. P. was an auctioneer, which trade he continued for 42 years, it is interesting to know that he had at that time as many as three sales on the same farm due to renters moving around.

C. P. had an interesting political career.  In 1938, he was elected State Senator from the old 16th district, and again in 1950, he was elected Lieutenant Governor six times serving in that capacity twelve years, the longest anyone has ever served in that capacity.

To C. P. and Ovidia Dahl were born three children, Dr. Phillip O. Dahl who is an internal medicine doctor at Bismarck, Marjorie (Mrs. Daner) is a licensed stock broker with Piper, Jaffray, & Hopwood at Bismarck, and Robert who is finishing his thirteenth year in central supply at St. Alexius Hospital, also in Bismarck, North Dakota
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DETWILLER FAMILY

Henry Detwiller was of Pennsylvania Dutch and Scotch ancestry, a native of Canada, born in Fullerton Township, Perth County, Ontario, Canada in 1841, son of Christian Detwiller and Marian Campbell Detwiller.  He married Mathilda Moore who was born February 26, 1852 of Irish ancestry and the daughter of Sam Moore and Mary Carson Moore.

He came to Griggs County in 1882 and took up a preemption claim in Tyrol Township seven miles north of Cooperstown (presently owned by Francis Zimprich) buildings unoccupied.  In the spring of 1884 he went to Canada and in 1886 he returned with his wife, five sons and one daughter.  They came by train and the daughter told of Indians looking in the train windows at stops.  The children went to school, which was located north and east of the farm, and later moved to the land now owned by George Vigesaa, and known as Tyrol School #3.  All the Detwiller children attended this school and also all the grandchildren.  Many years later two granddaughters taught in this school, Erma and Marian Pratt, daughters of Mary Detwiller Pratt.  Church services and Sunday school were held in the schoolhouse in early 1900's.

Other settlers moved on land nearby, and broke the land with oxen and plow.  They sowed a few acres of wheat, had little rain, and a poor crop.  The men worked for R. C. Cooper in the summer.  In the fall they hauled wood for the winter from the river, cut sod and built a sod barn for the horses and oxen.  They bought as many groceries as they could pay for and managed to survive the winter.  In 1887 they only raised a good garden.  In 1888 the crop looked good but just as it was ready to cut, frost took everything.  One winter it stormed for three weeks and the men could not get wood from the river so they burned straw to heat their homes, saving what wood they had for cooking.  They gradually got more cattle so fared better.  Their youngest son, Harry, was the only child born in North Dakota in their first home on the prairie, which consisted of two rooms downstairs and two upstairs.

Henry was brought up as a Presbyterian, and was a member of the Congregational Church at the time of his death.  He died in his sleep December 1, 1900 at the age of 59.

The Detwillers had six children:  

1.  John (1872-1941) married Gertrude Idalette Sherman of Appleton, Wisconsin.  He farmed seven miles northwest of Cooperstown, the farm later was owned by a grandson, Wallace Pratt, and now by George Vigesaa.  They had no children.  2.  Mary (1874-1963) married Robert Hamilton Pratt, and lived six miles north of Cooperstown.  3.  William (1876-1894) died at the age of 18.  4.  Alex (1878-1927) married Margaret McNab of Fromberg, Montana.  They farmed five and one-half miles north of Cooperstown, the farm now owned by Mrs. Nell Monson.  They had one son, Duncan, who died at the age of 14.  5.  Fred (1879-1938) married Martha Armstrong.  They farmed seven miles north of Cooperstown, the farm now owned by Torval Stokkeland.  They had one daughter, Lenore (Mrs. William Paintner) of rural Hannaford.  6.  Andrew (1881-1937) married Isabelle Beattie, farmed four and one-half miles north of Cooperstown, and had four children.  7.  Harry (1891-1967) married Lillian Williams of New Richmond, Wisconsin, a teacher.  They farmed on the original Detwiller farm, lived in Wisconsin for a while and retired in Cooperstown where he worked for the highway department and later helped his son in a service station.

Other Detwillers who lived in Tyrol Township were Alex B. , his father was a brother of Henry.  He married Agnes Roger, no children.  Dates (1872-1954).  They lived about eight miles northwest of Cooperstown, the present Ernest Wold farm.  His brother, Harry C. (18751936) died in Montana where he had been ranching the later years.  Both were born at St. Marys, Ontario, Canada and came to Griggs County in 1897.  It is interesting to note that all the Henry Detwiller children lived within three miles of each other, also Alex B. 
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JOSEPH AND AMELIA DUSBABECK

Joseph came from Minnesota, Amelia Zimprich from Germany.  They came up to Tyrol Township and homesteaded SW quarter of Section 7.  After Amelia was here, her brother Edward Zimprich and sister, Mary (Mrs. Herman Hovel) came up and homesteaded.

Joe and Amelia are pictured here with their children.

They spoke German at home, but English at school.  They had the Zimprich School out on their own land until 1894, and after that they had to go to Jessie to school.  They walked.  They also had bicycles, but Annie wanted no part of them.  Annie's first schoolteacher was the Store Keeper's sister - Miss Laffan.

In the early days, they had Church services in the Hall over Laffan's store.  About once a month the priest would come up on train from Sanborn on Saturday, he would often stay with Dusbabeck's, celebrate Mass on Sunday, and go back to Sanborn on Monday on the
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THE EDWARD F. FIEBIGER FAMILY

Surely some of the many descendents of Edward F. Fiebiger and Mary Zimprich Fiebiger have written something about that family.  If not, they were married in 1907.  Edward was born at Mickelsdorf, Bohemia and came to America when he was 15.  Mary Josephine Zimprich was born on the original homestead of Edward Zimprich (Ed Schaak's farm currently) and raised there.  When they first were married they lived in Casselton, but moved to Tyrol in 1907.  For 7 years they lived on a farm near Aneta, and then moved back to Section 10 of Tyrol.

They raised 10 children:  

Mary (Mrs. George Peterson) Anne (Mrs. Quentin Dahl) Martha (Mrs. Martin Kuklok) Edward and Frank all of whom have Cooperstown addresses.  Ida (Mrs. Henry Heinze) of Grand Forks

 Florence (Mrs. Donald Gisvold) of Carrington

 Rose (Mrs. Joe Gruman) of Hannaford

 William of Arvilla

 and Richard of Jessie who was killed in an auto accident in 1955.

They celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary in 1957 at St. George Catholic Church in Cooperstown.
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ADOLPH FIEBIGER

Edward J. and Adolph came to the United States A. from Austria in 1901 to Casselton, North Dakota, working at the Dalrymple farms and others in the area until 1909 when they came to Griggs County.

Edward started to batch on the Fred Drittenboss farm and married Annie Clemens.  Adolph continued as a bachelor.

Adolph worked for Edward Zimprich for a number of years and went to Casselton to get married to Mary Heinz who came to America in 1909 from Austria.  She was working at Casselton at Ed Webbers and the Henry Weudermans at Sabin, Minnesota Adolph Fiebiger and Mary Heinz were married October 21, 1915 at St. Leo's Catholic Church at Casselton.  They moved to the Joe Dusbabeck farm east of Binford where Albert Rickford now lives.  Elizabeth and Frank Fiebiger were born there.  In the fall of 1919 Mr. and Mrs. Adolph Fiebiger moved to the Ed.  A. Fiebiger farm and in the fall of 1923 to the Herbert Chamberlain farm now farmed by Bob Hedstrom.

On January 6th, 1927 Adolph Fiebiger's brother, Edward, passed away and Adolph and his family moved in the fall of 1927 to his farm, the former Fred Drittenboss farm.  Adolph Fiebiger Jr. still owns this farm.

Evelyn and Mary Fiebiger were born on the Herbert Chamberlain farm and Adolph Jr. and Gustav on the Fred Drittenboss farm.  Adolph Fiebiger Sr. passed away in April 1953.  Mrs. Fiebiger passed away in July 1968.
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ED J. FIEBIGER FAMILY

Edward J. Fiebiger was born in Austria in 1876 and settled in Addie Township in 1888.  He was married to Amelia (Mollie) Fiebiger who was born in Mickelsdorf, Austria and came to this country when 16.  She worked in a grocery store in Hope until 1900 and when she was 21 she married Ed.

They had four children Hugo, who lived in Griggs County all his life

 Agnes, Mrs. Leo Habiger of Alice

 Mathilda Fiebiger of Jamestown, and Joseph of Valley City.

Hugo was married to Mathilda Steidel of Fingal and they had two sons Ralph who still lives in Griggs County

 John who lives in Fargo, Margaret (Mrs. Glen Hogie) who lives in West Fargo.
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THE FRED FREDERICKSON FAMILY

Fred came from Norway in 1906 or 1908 - he was 15 when he came to this country.  He worked as a farm hand for Charlie Cooper, where he had to wipe out the horses' eyes with a white handkerchief every morning.  Mr. Cooper was very fussy with his horses.  Then he worked on Clark Holloway's threshing outfit and for a few others in 1910.  He started farming for himself on the Charlie Arndt Farm, which is now Fred Arndt's.

Gurina Jensen came to keep house for him and also became his wife in 1912.  Two girls were born to the family.  One girl died in infancy and the other is now known as Agnes, Mrs. Albin Saxberg.  Mrs. Frederickson died in May 26, 1942.  Fred, who is soon 85, has been living with his daughter these past 10 years.

The Albin Saxberg Family consists of eight children.  Esther, Mrs. Warren Peterson lives in Finley and has 3 children, Cheryl (Mrs. Daniel Lee, Jamestown who has 2 boys Brian and Derick

 Mavis (Mrs. Paul Adrian) Binford has 6 children, and Gary and Michael also Esther's, Virginia (Mrs. Jerry Holweger of Arvilla who have 2 children Paul and Julie

 also Cindy who is married to Jerry Tufte.  They have a daughter Melissa

 Susan is married to Bill Farell and they have Michael and Tony

 Odell

 Cathay

 and Paul are still at home

 Leona (Mrs. Bernard Tande) of Binford has Beverly and Barbara

 Arnold has Randy, Daryl, David, and Melinda, he farms 1 mile east of Jessie.  He farms on the home place.  Arden has Colleen and Janel

 Eunice (Mrs. Clarence Papenfuss) works in the Post office at Glenfield pan time.  She has Laura, Larry and Luann.  Velma (Mrs. Keith Miller lives in St. Paul, who has Lonnie and Julie

 Helen (Mrs. Dwight Fallen has four youngsters Darrin, Shari, Jason, and Tracy.

Albin and Agnes moved into Cooperstown in 1971.  Al doesn't mind living in town, but Agnes misses the farm.  It’s been a struggle many a time.
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FRANK HEINZ, SR. FAMILY

Born in Mickelsdorf, Austria, in October 22, 1884, Frank Heinz, Sr., came to America in 1903 and stayed until 1913.  He went back to Austria to visit his parents and met Ernestine Schwarzl, who was born in 1894, they were married at Mickelsdorf April 2, 1914 and left the following Monday for the United States They were among the last who left Germany before World War I broke.

They came to the Casselton area and lived for four years.  They moved to a farm in Addie (then the Nels Haugen farm now Albert Rickford place) for 7 years, and then moved to the Skofstad place in Tyrol (now Richard Heinz Farm) where they lived until 1947, when they retired to Cooperstown.  Frank died several years ago.

They had two sons, Richard and Frank Jr., and four daughters, Mrs. Ed (Elsie) Fiebiger Jr., Mrs. Leo (Martha) Hoheisel

 Mrs. Charles (Dorothy) Becherl Jr., and Mrs. Elmo (Mary Helen) Ressler.  There are 29 grandchildren and 36 great grandchildren.

Mr. Heinz was a brother to Gust and Mrs. Adolf (Marie) Fiebiger.  Mrs. Heinz' brothers and sisters still live in old country.  Several years ago she flew over to visit those still remaining.
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MATH HEINZE FAMILY

By Mrs. Pearl Becherl Heinze

Math Heinze and I were married, May 10, 1938 at Jessie by Reverend George Miller.  We lived in Jessie on the school hill (Rose Clemmens House) until the fall of 1938.  Then we moved to the Jensen Farm (Michael Heinz lives there now, 1975).  Our first child, Robert, was born May 5, 1939.  We lived on that farm until the fall of 1939 when we moved south of Jessie on the Bill DeSmet (now Frank Fiebiger) farm.  In 1942 we had a girl, Lucille who was born at Mrs. Cort Bonnewell's in Cooperstown.  In June we moved on a farm west of the hill of DeSmet's.  In 1947, our son Lawrence was born at Mrs. Frank Borchert's in Cooperstown.  We farmed there until the year Punch and Mary bought our farm.  The children went to Clearfield School about two miles south and one mile west of the farm.

In 1956, we moved to Ogema, Minnesota where we stayed two years before moving back to Jessie, where we have lived since.  We started a beer Bar and Gas Service in what had been the locker plant until the fall of 1970, then we sold out, moved in a home from Binford and Math has been carpentering since.

Our daughter Lucille was married to Oriss Reinhart at Jessie, in 1960 by Father Joseph Heubsch, and have lived in Cooperstown since.  They have five children:  

Wayne, Kevin and Keith (twins), Kathy and Lori.  They have the 66 Service Station.

Robert was married to Veronica Kraft at St. Michael in 1969.  They had two girls, Susie and Penny.  Robert passed away in 1973.  He had worked for the Griggs County Telephone Company for 10 years before his death.

Lawrence was married to Patty Knapp in 1970 at Jessie.  Father Adam Hasey was the priest.  They live in Cooperstown.  Lawrence works for Ricky Reiten, and Patty works at Wakefield Clinic.  They have no children.
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MR. AND MRS. LUDVIG HOGIE

Mr. Ludvig Hogie of Lanesboro, Minnesota, and his wife Thea came to Griggs County in 1894 and homesteaded on a farm northwest of Cooperstown one-half mile from Lovell, which consisted of two elevators.  Railroads had not been built farther than Cooperstown at that time.

Five children were born to the Hogie's:  

Emma (Mrs. Ernest Michaelis), Helmer, Melvin, Inez (Mrs. Maurice Moshee) and Oscar.

The Michaelis family consisted of the following:  

Walter of Hannaford

 Kenneth of Zumbrota, Minnesota

 Thelma (Mrs. William Jungel) of Cooperstown

 and Deloise (Mrs. Ralph Wisdahl of Seattle, Washington.

Helmer Hogie married Myrtle Smith of Sandstone, Minnesota.  They had three children:  

Marvin of Nowata, Oklahoma, and twins, Everett of South Bend, Indiana, and Evelyn (Mrs. Mike Lentsch) of Cooperstown, North Dakota Helmer Hogie died in 1966.

Melvin Hogie was married to Freda Haakenson of Mose, North Dakota.  Their children were Melvina (Mrs. Warner Newman of Carrington, North Dakota), Robert, Raymond, and Gordon of Salena, Kansas.

Inez Hogie married Maurice Mosher.  They had two girls:  

Phyllis (Mrs. Paul Kannowski, M. D. ) of Grand Forks, North Dakota and Janice (Mrs. Ron Kloste) of Mayville, North Dakota whose husband is also a doctor.

Oscar Hogie married Amanda Fadness of Sutton, North Dakota Their children are:  

Berniece (Mrs. Eugene Alley, of Sutton, North Dakota) Gayhardt of Waverly, Minnesota

 Glenn of West Fargo and Dale of Cooperstown, North Dakota
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THE HERMAN HOVEL FAMILY

In 1886 Herman came to Moorhead and stayed with sister and brother-in-law, George Zimmerman.  In 1887, he came to this county.  He worked for a Mr. Sutherland (now Leonard Fritz Farm) and homesteaded in Tyrol Township.

Mary Zimprich had come to Griggs County to keep house for her brother, Edward Zimprich, Sr. who came homesteading.

In 1889 they were married.  They bought the adjoining 80 acres through the National Bank of Cooperstown in 1890.

In 1908 to 1910, Herman ran a livery barn in Jessie.  She helped care for horses that farmers would drive to town.  They also did some dray work, and had horses and rigs (double buggy, single buggy, surrey, platform spring wagons) for hire, and sometimes when someone wanted a driver she or Herb were allowed to drive.

Christine had copies of two shipments of cows made to St. Paul Minnesota.  The one for June 29, 1900 showed 18 head of cattle, total weight of car 15,390 Freight $41.15 yardage $4.50

 Hay $3.40

 commission $9.00 or total cost $16.90 for yard, the price was 26 3/40 per hundred.

Another showed 2 heifers Ca 240 brought less freight $3.28 Hay yard & Comm 1.  88

$29.52 - 5.16 $24.36 or $12.18 per head.
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HERMAN HOVEL FAMILY

Herman Hovel, born Buffalo County Wisconsin (Alma) April 15, 1865 (born the day Abraham Lincoln was shot) to Herman and Elizabeth Hovel.  He married Mary Ann Zimprich (born January 30, 1866 in Mickelsdorf, Landskrom, Austria, Europe) February 6, 1889 the year North Dakota became a state.  The Hovels had 10 children:  

Herman Hovel born November 29, 1889 died April 18, 1890

 Christine Agnes Hovel, born May 24, 1892 (Mrs. August Koch)

 Herbert P. Hovel, born August 16, 1894 died August 11, 1956 (WW I vet)

 Edward Frank Hovel, born October 21, 1896 died same day

 Nadeline Lena Hovel born Oct 21, 1898 died March 30, 1944 (Mrs. Rank McCann)

 Joseph P. Hovel, born May 2, 1900

 Theodore John Hovel, born June 11, 1902

 Mary Anna Hovel, born September 28, 1904 (Mrs. Olaf Johnson)

 Ernest Edward Hovel, born March 30, 1907 died March 22, 1963

 Louis George Hovel born September 16 1908 died July 22, 1941.

Herman farmed all his life except for 3 years when he had a livery barn in Jessie, North Dakota (1908-1910).

Source Page 456 

THE JOHN HOVEL FAMILY

John, known as Johnny, was born in Alma, Wisconsin on January 5, 1878.  As a child of 10 he came with his parents, George Hovel and Elizabeth Mahlmann Hovel to Griggs County (either Willow or Tyrol Township).  They did not stay here long as George went to Sumas, Washington where (Percy, George, Mortimer, Leonard, Rose, George, Mary, Harvey, Harley, Elmer, Josephine, and Anna) all of the family with the exception of Math and Johnny lived.  Math was left with the Buiheit family in Willow Township, and later moved to Nelson County near Pekin where he was married to Minnie Rickford - they had two children George and Stella.  Johnny was left at the Herb Church Farm in Clearfield, where he spent his teens.  Later, he and Math farmed together for a few years, and then Johnny, who had had a taste of carpentering with Church, went to school for a while to learn how to use the square.  He must have learned it well, because many of the homes, barns, a few of the Jessie stores, and the old Catholic Church were among Johnny Hovel's creations.  One of the first things I ever heard about Johnny in Jessie was, "When Johnny Hovel built them, they were built to last.”

In 1905, he built a home for Frank J. Pfeifer.  In 1909, he was married to Ida Pfeifer, eldest daughter of Frank J. and Mary Kuntz Pfeifer.

The Hovels had two children.  Reynold, known as Punch, and Violet.  They lost Violet in infancy, and during the flu epidemic in 1918 Ida died.  Punch was sent to his Grandparents to live, and Johnny continued with work.  He stayed with the E. B. Ressler's much of the time.  About 1930 Jacob and Mary Pella moved into the Hovel home in Jessie, and from then until his death in 1940 he lived with them.
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REYNOLD F. AND MARY HOVEL

It was a cold wintery day (January 7, 1909, to be specific) when Reynold Franklin became the first born of John and Ida Pfeifer Hovel in Jessie, North Dakota.  The Sunday following, the Frank J. Pfeifer Family in covered rig with a team of spirited horses, drove from their home east of Cooperstown (now the Lyle Pfeifer place) to Jessie.  They got out, the team spooked, and took off

 John Hovel spent the entire afternoon chasing horses (which were finally found out near the present farm of Swede Becherl), and the Pfeifers "ohed" and "ahed" about Grandson Number One.

Reynold had a sister, Violet, who died at the age of 18 months, and in 1918, he lost his Mother.  Up until then, the Hovel Family had lived in Jessie in the home we now live in, and it was, "Happiness is being a Hovel.”

While Punch was growing up in North Dakota with Grandpa and Grandma and scads of uncles and aunts for a family, I, Mary Elizabeth Leonard, was growing up on a small farm just outside Kansas City, Missouri, with Pop, Mom, scads of sisters and three brothers for a family.  I went to school across the road (no walking a mile in all kinds of weather for me) then to North Kansas City High (some walking, some interurban riding, and some coming home with Pop or neighbors in car), then to Junior College of Kansas City, and finally Central Missouri State Teachers College.  I taught for a while, and in general grew to the stage in life where Mr. Wonderful was past due to show up, and he did - Punch.

We were married in October 1946, and lived in Nebraska and Texas.  Punch bought potatoes and watermelons until the fall of 1947, and then he became a grocery salesman for Nash Finch at Scottsbluff, Nebraska.  Sometimes he thought, "This is where I came in" and would get a little discouraged.  Then came, "We'll go to Jessie and get a cow and you can milk it," to which he would get a big, "NO!”  One night, he said, "We'll go to Jessie and get a cow, and I'll milk it.”  And I agreed.  Before the night was over, he was on the phone to C. P. and Vid Dahl (I didn't know it at the time, but also to about 15 others who shared the Jessie line with them) asking about buying the store.  Before long we were in Jessie, living in the house Punch was born in, and making like the Merchant of Jessie, and his Postmaster wife.  This store was in the Laffan, to Rule, to Dahl, to Hovel building.  Unfortunately, the store burned in June of 1961, but we relocated across the street in the building that has been Al's Garage, Tony and Charley's "Station,” and Bug's Place.

In March 1949, John Reynold became our pride and joy, and did the usual things that make parents proud and happy.  At the University, he did not set the world afire, but he was involved with vocal music, was a member of Pi Kappa Alpha, and brought home a wonderful girl, Deborah June Rotenberger of Lisbon.  They were married in August 1970, and he was awarded his B. S. degree the following August, with much help and encouragement from Debbie.

It was a cold wintery night (January 20, 1972, to be specific) when Daniel John became the first born of John Reynold and Deborah Rotenberger Hovel at Grand Forks, North Dakota.

Just the other day a Grandma said in my presence "Every Grandma thinks her grandchild is the sweetest, smartest, dearest child in all the world.”

My instant response was, ''True, and Grandma Rotenberger and I are so right about it.”
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SIMON JENSON FAMILY

Simon came to Minnesota from Norway.  Also his Wife Nanna.  They were married there and later came to North Dakota and settled 11/2 miles east of Jessie (where Michael Heinz now lives).

Simon and Nanna had 7 children, Julius in Washington who had five children, Norma, Huldis, Leo and Leroy (twins) and Shirley all married

Gertrude (Mrs. Ingvald Haakenson, New Rockford who has 5, Deloris, Mildred, Ovidia, Irving, and Darwin

Marvel passed away with scarlet fever at the age of 2

Fritjof is out west - he was married to Myrtle Arneson, they had 3 children all are married

Eugene Jenson is in Astoria, Oregon they have 15 youngsters

and Sylvia (Mrs. Wallace McCulloch) who lives in New Auburn, Wisconsin who had one son

Grant Jenson a plumber in Cameron, Wisconsin.  Sylvester, who lives in New Rockford works for road construction has 2 girls both married

and Alfred Jenson who lives in Fargo is married to Eunice Knutson has 5 children 4 of whom are married.

"Nanna,” Mrs. Simon Jenson and Fred Fredrickson were brother and sister.  Mr. Jenson passed away in September 1942 and Mrs. Jenson died in April 1943.
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THE OLAF JOHNSON FAMILY

Olaf was the son of Ivar and Barbara Johnson, and was born in Griggs County March 25, 1895.  In 1925 he was married to Mary Hovel, daughter of Herman and Mary Hovel who homesteaded in Tyrol Township.

They farmed in the Jessie vicinity until 1941 when they moved into town and purchased the Ed Thorn Store.  They operated that together until his death in 1970, and Mary continues to operate Johnson's Store.

They had three children:  

Violet is married to Oliver Zentz, and they have Marlene, Michael, Mavis, Mary, Margaret, and Michelle and live in Binford

 Oliver is married to Nadine Neva, they have Pat, Mike, Tom, Jim, Mary Ann and Linda and live in Ellensburg, Washington

 Gordon lives at home.

The third generation include Stephanie and Jeffrey Dahl - Marlene Zentz is married to Dennis Dahl, they live in Bismarck.

Mike Johnson has Collet.

James Johnson has a baby boy.
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WILLIAM LAPLANT FAMILY

William La Plant and Rose Haley LaPlant and Louis, their 2 1/2 year old son, drove a team of horses and covered wagon from Minneapolis, Kansas region in 1896 to Tyrol Township.  While they were building a home - a basement house - on the "Jim Combs" place, but down across the creek, they stayed with Cousin Henry Detwiller.  His place was a 10x6' shanty roofed with a 12' x l5' frame room built on one end - she assumed that the last had been built on as the family grew.  While on the Jim Combs place, Neva was born.  In about 1900, they moved to Romness Township, now on Highway 45 where Selmer Dahl lives, and Ethel and Bruce were additions to the family.

In 1905, they moved to Tyrol again in Section 15 on the McVille County Road just off 65.  Boldstad Brothers built their home - which 'still stands and is now owned by Oliver Anderson, son of Lars and Neva LaPlant Anderson.

Church was held in Sansborn School or in the homes.
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THEODORE E. MONSON

Theodore E. Monson, 66, died December 28 in Cooperstown.

The funeral was in Trinity Lutheran church of Cooperstown, Sunday, December 31, with Pastor Robert Maharry and Marvin Williamson officiating, and burial in Sheyenne Valley Lutheran Cemetery.

Mr. Monson was born in Greenview Township, Steele County, October 20, 1907, son of the late Knute and Hannah (Rismond) Monson.

He married Nell Sansburn, June 7, 1933, and they farmed in Steele County for nine years before moving to their present farm north of Cooperstown.

Mr. Monson had been active in civic and community affairs.  He was an elder in the Presbyterian Church, Worshipful Master of the Masonic Lodge, President of the Griggs County Farmers Mutual Fire and Lightning Insurance Company, President of the Griggs County Wildlife Federation

for many years a member of the hospital board, the ASC Committee, the board of the Farmers Elevator, and a member of the Eastern Star.

Besides his wife, he leaves two brothers and two sisters:  

Kenneth S. Monson, Mrs. Albin (Hazel) Arneson, both Cooperstown

 Mrs. Edgar (Edna) Sanger, Bell, California, and Raymond Monson, Dazey, and several nieces and nephews.

A son, Dale, preceded him in death.  A58

Quam-Plaisted Funeral Homes.  Griggs County Sentinel Courier, January 4, 1973.
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ESTEN OLSEN

Born July 18, 1865 in Ness Halligdal, Norway, he was baptized and confirmed in Flaa Kirke in Norway.  He came to Dakota Territory in 1883.  As a young man he worked on the Cooper ranch west of Cooperstown, where so many young men worked when they first arrived in the area.  He was married to Lise Stromme, January 2, 1891, the first couple to be married in the Trinity Lutheran parsonage of Cooperstown.

They lived a short time by Cooperstown, before he homesteaded on the farm in Tyrol Township - the farm on which he lived until he passed away in 1948.

He farmed with a team plus one oxen, until he acquired a black team of horses.  One special use of the oxen was when they fought a prairie fire - they loaded a barrel of water on the stone boat so they could soak sacks in water.  Young Mrs. Olson worried double about the fire and the small children at home.

Mrs. Olson lived on the farm with her sons, Thoralf and Edwin, until she passed away in February 1957.  The farm was then sold to Frank Geiger.

There were four children, Thoralf, deceased, Edwin of Jessie, Agnes (Mrs. Selmer Jacobson) of Cooperstown, Olga (Mrs. Norman Evers) of Binford, and a foster daughter Mildred (Mrs. Milo Riste) of Richland, Washington.

Mr. and Mrs. Esten Olson Golden Wedding Anniversary - 1941
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THE GEORGE PETERSON FAMILY

In the early 1920's Cleave Peterson came up to this country threshing.  It wasn't too many years later that his brothers George and Ben also came.  George, who was born in Beecher City, Illinois, found Mary Fiebiger, daughter of Edward F. and Mary Zimprich Fiebiger.  They were married in 1927.  They lived on the place that is now Fred Arndt's Farm, then on the place that is now Bernard Trost's place, and in fall of 1939 they bought the farm now occupied by George Peterson from Moe.

They had a family of two.  George F. farms the Peterson land.  Marie is married to Erling Skaufel they farm the Thorn place in Addie Township.  They have two children Allen and Julie.

Mary lives in Cooperstown.
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BERNARD PFEIFER FAMILY

The Bernard (Ben) Pfeifer family lived on various farms in Addie and Tyrol Township.  Ellen could remember when they lived on the Thorn place (now Bill Zimprich farm, originally Frank J. Pfeifer (no relation) homestead) and she delivered milk to the Jessie people.  She especially remembers that one sloppy spring day, she had on a brand new red coat, and fell on her milk route.

Ben was married to Anna Kuntz, and they had 13 children.  The family is pictured here:  

Caroline, Clara, Harry, Mary, Benny, Agnes, Elsie, Alma, and Ellen

 Mrs. Pfeifer, Al, Melvin, Joe, and Mr. Pfeifer.

In June 1920, Ben and his brother Frank sold shares in the Pfeifers' Straw Gas Producer Company Frank moved along with the family all except Clara, who was married to Frank Zimprich to Fargo to set up the factory.  Unfortunately, the venture was not feasible, although the German's used a straw produced gas during World War II, and Ben found himself with a shattered dream.

Ellen remembers that she taught school down in Romness Township, and on Friday afternoon, she would walk to Frank and Clara's.  The young Zimprich's offered to come get her in buggy, but she knew they were too busy for such stuff - although in the winter, she sometimes rode in covered rig instead of walking.
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BIOGRAPHY OF FRANK J. PFEIFER 

Reynold Hovel in 1925

Frank J. Pfeifer was born at Michaelsdorf, Bohemia, Austria on July 10, 1850.  In 1871, he came to the United States with his parents in order to improve their opportunities.  They embarked on the ship Baltimore and landed at Baltimore after a trip of eighteen days on the ocean.  From Baltimore they came by rail to Waterville, Minnesota where Mr. Pfeifer lived for ten years.

He came to Casselton, North Dakota for an adventure, with the intentions of returning in a short time, but he stayed one year.  While he was in Casselton, he was persuaded by Joe Bartos, an acquaintance, to go with him to Cooperstown.  From Casselton they shipped to Buffalo, and from there they drove to Valley City with oxen.  They loaded up with lumber and kitchen utensils and continued on their journey.

Mr. Pfeifer filed a pre-emption.  To file one preemption you had to put two hundred and fifty dollars of improvements and pay one dollar and twenty-five cents an acre and in six months the deed would be signed to you.  The same year he filed on a homestead in the same Section, which he proved up in five years.  In 1884, he took a tree claim near McHenry, which he later traded for a team of horses.

He then built a sod shack on his homestead, and a little while later he built a house of lumber (12x16), which is still a part of the house on that farm.  He had to get his supplies and haul his grain to Cooperstown, a distance of thirteen miles.  He sold some wheat for 800 a bushel, but prices went down as low as 380 for number one hard wheat.  Oats sold for as low as seven cents a bushel, although if they wanted to buy any, they had to pay about 250 a bushel.  Barley sold for twenty to thirty-five cents a bushel.  They had to pay as high as $2.25 a bushel for seed flax and sell it for 680 a bushel.

He was married March 8, 1886 to Marie Kuntz at Janesville, Minnesota.  They reared a family of five girls and five boys.

He lived on the homestead for 24 years, and then sold out.  After this he made three trips through Oregon, Washington, Canada, Montana, Wyoming, and Nebraska with the intention of buying land.  He then came back to Cooperstown and bought one Section and one quarter of land, with one corner of the Section joining the city limits on the east side of Cooperstown.

He lived there until in the fall of 1925 when he moved to Cooperstown where he is now living.
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GEORGE W. PRATT 

Mr. Pratt was born June 15, 1836 in Queens County, Ireland and died January 21, 1912 at the home of his daughter Rebecca (Mrs. Thomas Elliott) at Grandin, North Dakota He met Mary Jane Hamilton born the year 1834, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Hamilton, also living in Ireland, she passed away December 21, 1891 at the age of 57.  They were married in Ireland and came to Goderich, Ontario, Canada in the year 1862.  To this union seven children were born, Annie Jane, Rebecca Alma, Robert Hamilton, Margaret Ida, George Albert, Aphra Frances and William James'.

Mr. and Mrs. Pratt and their seven children came to North Dakota in the year 1881 to Quincey, a village that was located in the center Section 26 in the Township of Elm River.  The first buildings were erected in 1876.  The village, though small, was delightfully situated on one of the finest sites along the picturesque Red River near Grandin.  This village suffered the same fate as other small river posts until now all the buildings are razed or removed.  The only vestige left is the Quincy Cemetery.  This forgotten village stood on the North Dakota side of the Red.  A Post Office was located at Quincy in 1887.  The Hudson Bay Company ran a mail coach between Georgetown and Pembina on the west side of the river.  There were stations twelve miles apart along this road where teams were changed and lunch could be had.  A few people lived at each of these stations.

In 1885, Mr. and Mrs. George W. Pratt and all the children except Rebecca moved to Griggs County northeast of Jessie (?)  North Dakota, where Mr. Pratt had bought a homestead.  Later a quarter Section from Torger O. Torgerson in 1899 and another 1/2 Section in 1905 north of West Prairie Church.  When his wife passed away, the children were old enough to be on their own.  However, one daughter, Margaret Ida stayed with her father and did teaching in several surrounding Townships.

In the year 1902, Miss Clara (Mrs. Clara Asklekson) worked at the Pratt farm during haying and harvest season.  Mr. Pratt was in the process of making a spool table at this time.  After his daughter, Margaret Ida was married she had taken the table to Canada and was there until 1924 and then brought it back to the United States and Mr. Pratt's granddaughter Irene had possession of it.

Mr. Pratt sold his farm in 1905 and then bought lots in Binford, June 1905 from D. S. B. Johnston Land Company, and a new home was built and Mr. Pratt and his daughter Ida moved to Binford.  Not long after his daughter left to get married and soon he was in failing health.  He passed away at the home of another daughter, Rebecca (Mrs. Thomas Elliott) at Grandin and buried at Quincy.  Mr. Pratt's property was sold by his heirs.  He was a man of generous impulses and never forgot the hospitable ways of the pioneers.  He had borne adversity bravely and enjoyed prosperity quietly.  He had filled the various relations of life and filled them well.
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APHRA FRANCES PRATT

Aphra Frances Pratt, 78, died December 31, 1950.  See George W. Pratt for early life.  She taught school in Willow Township, 1890-1891.  She and her sister operated a millinery store in Binford, North Dakota from 1905-1907 - lots 1 and 2 in block 4 were owned by Ida and Frances Pratt and were sold to Joseph Bucheit of Binford in 1907.  Frances sold her half of the lots, the hat shop was owned to Ida in 1917, and she sold it to Alfred Alfson in 1920.

Frances married Fred Cannon, January 3, 1906 at Binford and made their home there until 1915 where Mr. Cannon was editor of the Binford weekly newspaper.  Then they moved to McHenry, North Dakota where he was Postmaster and his wife also worked in Post Office.  He also operated a photo studio, the city light plant, shoe repair shop, and printed the McHenry Tribune.  In 1928 they moved to Jamestown where he was an interior decorator.  To this union four sons were born.

Mr. Cannon died July 21, 1965 at age 84.
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GEORGE A. PRATT

PRATT, GEORGE A. , Farmer, Breeder of shorthorn cattle, and Chesterwhite hogs, S. 25 T. Tyrol, PO Cooperstown.  Mr. Pratt was born in Ontario, Canada in 1870 and settled in Griggs County in 1885.  He is married to Elizabeth McCulloch (daughter of W. T. ) they have two children.  Floyd December 30, 1902 and Bernice (Mrs. Alfred Brudvig) born October 22, 1908.

George A. Pratt was born, January 2, 1869 and came with his parents Mr. and Mrs. George W. Pratt, sisters and brothers from Ontario, Canada in the year 1881 to a village named Quincy near Grandin, North Dakota In 1885, the family moved to a homestead 6 miles northeast of Jessie, North Dakota He married Elizabeth McCulloch daughter of Mr. and Mrs. W. T. McCulloch of rural Jessie, August 22, 1899 at the home of her parents and moved on the farm home that her husband bought in the year 1902, 5 miles north of Cooperstown where he built and furnished a house.  They spent one winter in the Turtle Mountains.

Mr. Pratt was a rising young farmer of Tyrol Township of Griggs County exemplary habits, popular with all, was a breeder of Short Horn cattle and Chester White Hogs.  He was one of the pioneer breeders of the state.  Held a sale of pure bred Chester White pigs in the fall of 1911 and a boar pig was procured by J. W. Harris of Hill View Stock Farm at rural Hannaford, North Dakota
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EDWARD B. RESSLER FAMILY

Edward Ressler was one of the five children of Frank and Theresa Fiebiger Ressler.  Frank, Annie, Ed, Joe, and Mary all started life on the homestead in Tyrol Township that is now the Wurst Farm north of Jessie.  They had their fun - "Dad used to play the accordian and on nice warm evenings the two girls, me and my oldest Brother used to dance.  And their work - "We learned to work rather young.  When we got big and strong, we were taught how to milk cows.  When I was 9 years old, I learned to drive a 4-horse team on the plow.  Next was the harrow, at first it was walk, and then we were lucky enough to get a riding attachment.  Next was mustard pulling, one job we never liked.  Haying time came.  We hauled everything on hayrack, also pitched all the hay on wagons, hauled it and pitched it into stacks.  Then came the harvest, I started to shock when I was 12 years old.  Thrashing was really great with all the men.  It was real interesting.  There were no tractors those days - either horse power or a small steam engine that had to be moved with horses.  It was nothing unusual to start the day at 4:00 or 4:30.

As he grew older he started at carpenter work with John Hovel for a while.  About that same time he started dating Ernestine Ressler, one of the ten children of Frank and Marie Kuntz Pfeifer.  She also was born on the homestead, and can remember delivering milk to Jessie residents at 50 per jar, walking to McCulloch's for the mail and receiving some kind of treat from Mrs. McCulloch.  She also remembers working, but baby sitting with the younger children was included, while Mother, Dad, and the older kids went forth to fight prairie fires or hay.

Among the relatives you might find the families of their five children.  Eldon, Elmo B. (Bud), Echo, Ellen, and Ethelyn (Babe) have grown into quite a group.  Bud is the only child living in Griggs County and he was married to Mary Helen Heinz and they have five children:  

Wayne married to Cathy Ziggity runs a store in McVille, they have two sons Ricky and Rodney

 Randy, who farms with his dad and rents land

 Larry who works for Land Bank in Warren, Minnesota

 Lori and Shawn at home.

Eldon was killed in World War II, and Echo died at an early age.

Ellen is married to Dr. George Peterson who is a dentist in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  They have three children:  

Georgia Jean who is married to Dan Fanslow.  They have two children Ericka and Keith; 

David George, and Penne.

Ethelyn is married to Clarence Judd.  They have two boys and two girls, Echo Elaine Judd (Mrs. Sim Varner) 3 children

Richard Judd

Larry Edward Judd (2 children)

Judy Ann Judd (Mrs. Skip Mulock) daughter, Andrea.
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FRANK RESSLER FAMILY

From "Living Pioneers of Griggs County"

Frank's early days were covered in the John Ressler Story.  However in 1880, he came to Dakota Territory and worked for the Langer Brothers at Casselton for 2 years, when he went back to Casselton in 1886, he married Theresia Fiebiger.

After taking up land in Tyrol, he worked for R. C. Cooper - driving 4 mule teams, taking grain to Sansborn and hauling back lumber.

"Transportation wasn't always the best either.  One day in the spring of 1883, Frank's father needed some repairs for the mower.  They drove to Cooperstown with horses.  From there Frank walked to Hannaford and intended to take the train to Sanborn.  After it got dark and the train still didn't show up, Frank got tired of waiting and walked the ties the rest of the trip.

Snowstorms were always a hazard to the early pioneers.  Resslers had their experience with them too.  In the winter of '82, Frank and his father were caught in a snowstorm while in the barn and were unable to get out.

Another time, in 1887, Frank and his neighbor, Ed Zimprich, made a trip to Cooperstown.  By the time they were ready to start for home, it was dark and storming.  Lucy Ruggles, another neighbor, rode with them.  The roads weren't bad until they got out a few miles.  After they let Ruggles off, it began to get worse.  When they got to Section 19, Tyrol Township, the road angled across the Section and was not traveled much.  Ressler got out and walked in front of the team.  Zimprich was sure they were going the wrong direction and wanted to turn the other way.  Ressler had his wits with him and responded, "I'm not going to Cooperstown.  You never saw the wind change from the northwest in a snowstorm in North Dakota, did you?”  In a short time, they reached John Ressler's place safely and stayed the night.

Another snowstorm experience proved exciting too.  In the early days the settlers plowed around their building to protect against prairie fires.  But even in the winter this proved a lifesaver to Mr. and Mrs. Ressler.  When they were coming home from his father's house, a storm broke.  Probably by chance, their mules ran across the breaking.  By following that up, they were able to go toward the house although they could not see it.

They lived on the farm until 1911 when they rented out the farm and moved to Jessie.  Here Mr. Ressler ran a feed mill for Robert Thorn.  They moved to Waterville for almost ten years, and then moved back to Jessie.“
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J. W. (JACK) RESSLER FAMILY

Jack was son of John Ressler and brother to Frank Ressler, both of whom were covered in detail.

He was married to Gertie Flick and they had one son, Freddy.  Then he was married to Mary Dusbabek, they had Allen, Manley, Mrs. Melvin Johnson (Irene), Lawrence, Earl and Lillian.

Jack farmed just east of Jessie until he purchased hotel in Jessie.  Later he had grocery store and he converted this to Hardware, which he sold to Graham McCulloch.  Graham sold it to Edward Ressler, nephew of John's in 1940.  In 1938 he moved to Fargo where he operated a family grocery.
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JOHN RESSLER FAMILY

The John Ressler Family came from Michaelsdorf, Bohemia, Austria.  After living several years in Minnesota, in May 1881, he came along with his son Franz, Joseph Pfeifer, Joe Bartow, and Edward Zimprich to find land in Griggs County.  The only two settlers in Tyrol Township at the time were Frank and Charlie Hunter, down by the Sheyenne River.

John Ressler built a sod house on his place and broke about 25 acres.  The shanty was 10x12 feet and made of sod and tarpaper.

He was married to Theresa Smith at Michelsdorf when he was 25 years old.  Their family included Franz (Frank that is) 1860, Edward, 1863, Amalia (Mollie) 1865, Johann Q. W. or Jack) 1869

 Marie (Mary), Lottie, 1875

 Tini, 1875, Tini November 18, 1878

 and Yatti (Hattie) August 7, 1887.

John's youngest child, Lottie Ressler, was the first to be buried in the St. Lawrence Cemetery, which is located near the southeast corner of the Ressler land.

John Ressler sold his farm to Albert Rickford in the early 1900's and left this community to live with his daughter, Mollie (Mrs. Fred Mautz) in Waseau, Wisconsin and then Mary (Mrs. P. B. Galligar) in Great Falls, Montana.
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CHARLES RETZLAFF FAMILY

Charles Retzlaff and Marie were married in Casselton, in 1882.  They moved to Griggs County the same year and occupied South half of Section 30 and SW 1/2 of Section 29 in Tyrol Township.

They had five children:  

Emil, Adolph, Ella, Emma, and Alvina.

Emil was married to Elizabeth Rickford of Pekin, in 1907.  They farmed for a while, but then they moved to Jessie - Barney Cunningham built their home, which is still owned by their son, Harvey.  Emil was employed by the State Bank of Jessie for 17 years, was County Commissioner, and was Township clerk for many years.  They had three children, Vivian who was married to Christopher Anagnostakis of Athens Greece, who had two children

 Cleona, who married Otto Knutson - now live in Aneta and have two children

 Harvey who married Olive - now live in Fargo, and have three children.

Adolph lived in Wisconsin.  Emma in Florida, Alvina was married to Otto Christensen and made her home on the farm where Wayne Fiebiger now lives until 1950, when they moved to California.  Ella Rothert lives in Cooperstown and her story appears elsewhere in this book.
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OTTO E. RETZLAFF FAMILY

Otto E. Retzlaff was born in Iowa in 1876, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Julius Retzlaff.  They moved to Cooperstown in 1881 where he received his education and later helped his dad in the butcher shop in Cooperstown, then later on the farm presently owned by Clinton Solberg in Clearfield Township.

He married Helena Steffen, daughter of William and Elizabeth Steffen, in 1905 and homesteaded near Ray, North Dakota in Williams County.  In 1907, his happiness was marred with the passing away of Helena when twins were born; only one of whom (Helen) survived and was brought to live with her grandparents the William Steffens.

Otto sold his farm that fall and returned to the Cooperstown area, where he worked on the "Van Vooris'' Farm buying cattle and horses and about 1909 bought the Livery Stable in Cooperstown.

In 1911, he went to Jessie where he purchased a machine business and operated it.  In 1914, he was hired as manager of the Farmers Elevator, continuing there until his resignation in 1945 because of failing health.

He married Mary Ann McCook in 1914 and they lived in Jessie until 1949 when they moved to Cooperstown.  He passed away in 1952.  Mrs. Retzlaff passed away in 1956.
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THE ALBERT RICKFORD FAMILY

Albert Rickford was born in Statin, Germany on January 25, 1852.  He came to America and settled first at Casselton.  There he met and married Hulda Rouck who had come to America from Berlin, Germany.

Together they moved to Griggs County and homesteaded about three miles south of Jessie.  In the early 1900's they bought the homestead of John Ressler, and the family has had the farm since.  Gerald still farms the home place.  Albert F. owns the farm in Addie that was originally homesteaded by Mrs. Dusbabek - it is farmed by his son Reynold who lives in Jessie.  Paul's Farm (NI/4 See 9) is farmed by his son Glenn, who lives on S1/4 of See 33 in Tyrol.

Pictured here are Albert and Hulda Rickford and their nine children taken in 1911.
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THE ROGNE FAMILY

Oscar Rogne was the first known occupant of the north half of Section 30 - just south of John W. Trost and John Ressler, and north of Charles Retzlaff.  He was married to a sister of Mrs. Joe Ressler and they had three children, Emma, Marian and Gilbert.

The buildings from the Rogne homestead were moved into Jessie, and set where Kenny Gaden now lives.  Gust Pella, an uncle of the Pella girls, brought the house and barn to town.

Oscar M. Rogney was an elevator operator in Jessie, and built the house that Veronica and Stanley Edlund now own - Johnny Hovel constructed it.  In 1913, he became postmaster of Jessie - having purchased Nels O. Haugan's Hardware Store.  The store burned in 1918.
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DAVID SANSBURN

David Sansburn, better known as Dave, was born March 25, 1863 at St. Mary's, Ontario, Canada.  There he grew up on a farm and in 1888 with Sam Moore, he went to Chamberlain, South Dakota, where an Indian Reservation was to open.  When they arrived there, it wasn't ready, so in the spring of 1889, they came by train to Cooperstown, North Dakota to look for land.

The first year here, Dave worked with his brother, Sam, in the blacksmith shop in Cooperstown.  After that he worked for different people during harvest.

He and his brother enjoyed hunting for arrowheads in Pilot Mound Township on a place called Butte Michaud.

In 1892 Dave went back to Ontario for a visit.  In the spring of 1893, he came back and settled north of Cooperstown on Section 23, Tyrol Township, Griggs County.

He started farming with one team of horses and four oxen.  His brother Sam had built a shanty in 1882 on his land, which was just south of Dave's.  Dave lived in this shanty.  The first year or so he and his brother Will batched.  His sister Nellie then came from Canada and kept house for him for three years.

His first machinery was purchased in Cooperstown which consisted of a breaking plow, gangplow for which he paid $60.00, mower $40.00, and a binder $100.00.  His first crop yielded twenty-one bushels to the acre.

In 1895, Dave witnessed the worst prairie fire he had ever seen.  It started in the western part of Tyrol Township, and went as far as fifteen miles.  It destroyed about fifty tons of hay for him.

The winter of 1896 and 1897 were very bad snow winters.  Snow was five or six feet deep on the level.  Mr. Sansburn had to go ten miles out of his way to get to Cooperstown.  When the roads were opened, he had to come around Cooperstown to get to Jessie, which ordinarily was five and one-half miles from his home.  During these snowstorms, the snow had to be shoveled away from the top of the barn door in order to get in to feed and water stock.

August 1902, Dave married Josephine Carlson in Cooperstown by Reverend Oscar Purington.  They bought a house on what was known as Vinegar Hill in the north part of town.  Two years later they moved to their farm home in ' Tyrol Township.  Five children were born to this union:  

Clarence, Charles, Nellie (Mrs. Theodore Monson), Marie (Mrs. Georgie Olson) and Margaret (Mrs. Walter Dickson).  

Mrs. Sansburn passed away in 1917.  He married Mrs. Belle Monson in 1919.

In 1933 they retired from farming and moved back to their home in Cooperstown, where he lived until his death, December 19, 1939.
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WILLIAM H. SANSBURN

SANSBURN, WILLIAM H. Farmer and breeder of registered Clydesdale Horses, S. 22, T. Tyrol, PO Cooperstown.  Mr. Sansburn was born in Ontario, Canada 1866 and settled in Griggs County in 1892.  He is married to Ida Glaspell they are the parents of four children.  Mr. Sansburn has served as assessor for 3 years, school clerk 15 years, and Pathmaster 5 years.

Mrs. Sansburn, 65 last May, came to this territory in 1889 with her parents who hailed from Ontario, Canada.  She was born in Ontario on May 24, 1874.  At the age of 15, she came with her parents to Griggs County where she resided for the rest of her life.  On March 17, 1897, she was married to Will H. Sansburn in Cooperstown, and for many years the couple made their home on a farm in Tyrol Township.

Some years ago, they moved into Cooperstown and have resided there since.

Survivors include her husband and four children Maynard of Washington, Mrs. Harold Detwiller, Mrs. John Koontz of Wisconsin, and Mrs. Joseph Glaspell of Prescott, Washington.  Mrs. Lillian Elsey, Des Moines, Washington.
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SAM SANSBURN

Sam Sansburn, 85, who came to Cooperstown in 1883 and helped to build it, died at his home in Glendive, Montana, on Thursday of last week.  Masonic funeral rites were held there on Saturday.

Sansburn, who was among the most well known of the early pioneers in this Section of the country, served Cooperstown in its formative years in many capacities.  He was mayor of the city for several years and active in community enterprises and civic life.  He left here in 1910 and has made his home at Glendive ever since.

He leaves two sons, Joseph, in California, and Clifford of Boulder Dam, and one daughter, Mrs. B. Brody of Miles City, Montana.  Survivors also include two sisters, Mrs. J. H. Langford of Cooperstown, Mrs. Nellie Jones of Wahpeton; and three brothers, J. H. Sansburn of Ravendale, Washington

 John in Ontario, Canada, and Will H. of Cooperstown.  (GCSC May 15, 1944)
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CLARENCE SANSBURN

Clarence Sansburn, 69, died Tuesday evening, May 15, in a Warren, Minnesota hospital, after being involved in a car accident.

The funeral was held Friday, May 18, at the Presbyterian Church of Cooperstown.  Clarence V.  Sansburn, son of the late David and Josephine Sansburn was born in Cooperstown August 14, 1903.  He married Dorothy Lanford June 22, 1932.  They farmed north of Cooperstown for many years.  Mrs. Sansburn died in November 1949.  After her death he moved to Egeland, North Dakota, and operated a store for three years.  He then returned to Cooperstown.

He was a member of the Presbyterian Church, serving as an acting elder; was Chancellor Commander of the KP Lodge, secretary of the Griggs County Wildlife Federation and a member of the Masonic Lodge.

Mr. Sansburn is survived by one brother, Charles of Grand Forks; three sisters, Mrs. Theo E. (Nell) Monson, Cooperstown, Mrs. George (Marie) Olson, Egeland, and Mrs. Walter (Margaret) Dickson, Salem, Oregon, and several nieces and nephews.
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MRS. CLARENCE SANSBURN

Funeral services were held Tuesday afternoon (November, 1949) for Mrs. Clarence Sansburn, 41, of Cooperstown who passed away Saturday at the Sharon Hospital.  Services were at Presbyterian Church, Reverend W. Ray Radliff officiating.

Born, September 25, 1908, near Cooperstown, she had lived in this community all her life.  She attended Valley City State College, and taught school before her marriage on June 22, 1932.  She was a member of Presbyterian Church, Ladies Aid, and choir.

Surviving are Mr. Sansburn, her father, A. E. Langford of Cooperstown, and three sisters, Mrs. Ernest Wold and Mrs. Floyd Pratt of Cooperstown, and Mrs. Clarence Solberg of Finley.

Pallbearers were Hamlin Saxerud, Frank Smith, George Johnston, Cecil Campbell, Sverre Wold and C. P. Dahl.  (GCSC Nov 1949.)
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GUSTAVE A SUESS FAMILY

A horse-and-buggy romance developed when young Gustave Adolph Suess from Waseca County, Minnesota, came north by west to help with Edward Zimprich's harvest and found Annie Dusbabeck on the neighboring farm, back in 1910.

According to Annie, the wedding breakfast that followed the Mass was the last decent meal for a long time, because she wasn't too versed in cooking.  That winter they lived in a Hotel (one of three) Gust helped in the soft-drink pool parlor, and also did some carpenter work with Johnny Hovel and fiddled at barn dances, wedding dances, and house parties.  Of course she would "Go Listen! "

Mr. and Mrs. Gust Suess, Attendants:  

Vic Suess, Nettie Dusbabek.

In 1911, they moved out of the Hotel into what old timers knew as Arne Haukaas house.  Their three eldest children, Mercedes Josephine, Julius Joseph and Beatrice Emily were born.  They moved to the house where Bernard Trost's now lives, and there Manley Gustave was born.  After a short stay on the farm that is now owned by John Maertens, they moved to the farm that is now Albert Rickfords for 21 years.  Lorraine Emily was born there, and the oldest children were married during that period too.

Mercedes was married to Clarence Leppert and they had Elizabeth Ann, and Shirley Mercedes.

Julius Joseph was married to Lillian Becherl and they are parents of Raymond and Peggy.

Manley was married to Florence Knapp and they had three children, Beverly

 Barbara

 and Richard.

In 1948 Gust and Annie moved to their present home in Jessie, and Lorraine was married to Leander Anton at Sykeston

 they have three children, Francis George, Bernice Emily, and Karen Marie.
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CARL AUGUST TROST FAMILY

Carl August Trost was born near Berlin, Germany in 1834; he was married and had four sons, who were all born in Germany.  They were:  

John Wilhelm, Carl, Herman, and Rudolph.  He passed away in 1916.

Carl's first wife passed away in Germany and he married, Augusta, born in 1846 and passed away in 1935.  They all came to America in 1881 to Valley City, Dakota Territory, homesteading on a farm about 10 miles northwest of what is now Cooperstown (NE quarter of Section 31 Tyrol Township).  Valley City and Sanborn were the closest towns at that time; where they went for supplies until Cooperstown was founded.

Bernard Zimprichs are now living on the Trost Homestead.  The Trosts moved into Cooperstown in the early 1900s, their house being the one George McCullochs now live in.

Carl and Augusta had two daughters; Helen (Mrs. Otto Barfuss) and Elizabeth (Mrs. Peter Michels) both deceased.

Herman and Rudolph farmed just east of the original Carl A. Trost Homestead (NW quarter of Section 32).  Neither married.

Carl (Charlie) married Annie Toats and moved to Binford, North Dakota.  They had two children, Arthur and Emma (Mrs. Chester Elsaas).

John Wilhem, known as Bill Trost, was born in 1860 and passed away in 1930.  He homesteaded in 1881 south of what is now Jessie, North Dakota in Addie Township.  He married Sophia Michaelis in 1895 at her parents home, Edward Michaelis's.  She passed away in 1948.  In 1903, they moved just a mile east of the Homestead place, now the Frank Heinz place.  It remained in the Trost Family until 1955.

They had six sons and a daughter.  William born in 1896, passed away in 1974.  Albert, born in 1897, is a retired Pastor and lived in Kearney, Nebraska.  Edward born in 1899, passed away in 1974.  Herman born in 1901 lives in Bothell, Washington.  Sophia born in 1902 was married to Thomas Dahl, now deceased.  She lives in Valley City, North Dakota Frederick born in 1905, married Lillian Bardahl in 1948.  They now live in Cooperstown.  Their youngest, Bernard, was born in 1912 and is living one mile east of Jessie on the old Jack Ressler Farm.

We all attended grade school in Jessie.  There were about 40 pupils at the time.  There was one teacher and she had all eight grades.  My first teacher was Belle Wahl.  Most of the time we walked to school, a distance of about one mile.

After the passing away of Dad in 1930, just at the start of the depression, left Mother, Bernard, and I to carry on the farming.  In those drought years, Bernard and I unloaded coal and delivered around Jessie for the Farmers Elevator for the whole sum of 250 a ton.  There were some pretty tough years.  In 1932, the crop was fairly good, but price was way down to nothing.  We sold wheat for 220 a bushel.  Oats were needed for feed for our horses, because that was our power for farm work.  We always managed to have enough feed for our livestock, except in 1936, we hauled some straw from Northwood, North Dakota About all the cash money we had was from cream and eggs.

In 1948, I got married and farmed on the home place until the fall of 1955; we had an auction sale and moved into Jessie.  I worked as a farm laborer and what have you.  In the spring of 1968, we moved to Cooperstown, where we now live.

Edward Trost, 76, died Friday, September 27 in Cooperstown.  The funeral was in Trinity Lutheran Church of Hope, Monday.  Reverend Ronald Nichols officiating.  Burial was in the Hope Cemetery.

Edward Carl Trost was born January 25, 1898, at Jessie, North Dakota, son of the late William and Sophie Michaelis Trost.  He grew up near Jessie, where his parents farmed, and received his education at the Jessie School.
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OLAF EINAR VAADE - THE VILLAGE SMITHY 

Olaf Einar Vaade came to United States A. in 1912.  He remembers seeing the debris from the Titanic on the ocean.

Olaf and Anna had a family of ten.  Olaf, and Ingrid in Norway, and Agnes, Solveig, Arnold and Hazel were born in Dakota and baptized at the West Prairie Church.  They are pictured here.  They first lived in the house across the road from Ole Thorn's farm in Addie (now Erling Skaufel Farm) Township.  Later they built a home in back of the present Gust Suess House, and then into the house that Kenny Gaden just dismantled.  Olaf and Einar Bardahl were cousins, but more like brothers as Olaf was raised by Einar's Parents in Norway (Steinkjer).  During the early 1920's they ran a movie concession above the Reule's Store.  Ingrid remembers that her Dad made them pay their 100 just like the other kids to get in.  Royal McCulloch remembered the Fatty Arbuckle movies, and when the film would catch fire, all the kids would rush for the doors.  Ingrid remembers that once they had a film about Indians, and there was a little baby, and she commented, "Oh, isn't she cute?”  One of her classmates came back, "Cute?  She's homelier than you are!  -

The Vaade Blacksmith became Vaade and Carl Arneson Garage, and in 1923 Vaade sold his garage to George Paintner and moved to Stoughton, Wisconsin.
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HALFDON M. WAHL (HOLM) FAMILY

Halfdon M. Wahl (Holm) born in Gjovik, Norway, October 6, 1867, son of Mattheas and Kari Holm.  Halfdon left Norway in January 1893 and landed in Halifax, Nova Scotia.  From there he went to home of a friend in Windom, Minnesota.  He stayed until March when he left for Cooperstown, where he lived with his Uncle Ole Stromme and family.  Ole was a brother of Halfdon's father, as was Andrew Holm who also lived in Cooperstown.  Andrew was Mrs. Ole Halvorson's father.  Halfdon also had another uncle, Hans Holm, in Cooperstown, but he later went to Minnesota.  Agnes Jacobson, Alma Riste of Cooperstown, Edwin Olson of Jessie, and Olga Evers of Binford are descendents of Ole Stromme.

In those years it was customary for Scandinavians to take their surnames from farms, towns, etc., where they lived, hence several surnames amongst sisters and brothers.

The first one and half years in Dakota, Halfdon Wahl worked for Ole Feiring and Ole Halvorson, as a field hand.  Next year he worked for Ole Thorson.  After that he worked on the H. P. Hammer Farm, later known as the Theodore Moe Farm, north of Cooperstown.

Mr. Wahl had left his 'sweetheart' in Norway and was saving up money for her passage - Jensine Christiva Sundby, was born in Sundby, Saltdal, Norway, March 4, 1871, daughter of John and Josephine Sundby.  She arrived in Halifax, Nova Scotia in March of 1896 and came to Cooperstown where she also worked at the Hammer Farm.  Early 1897, she developed trouble with her mastoid glands, and surgery was performed by Drs. Platano and Warner, at the residence of a Mrs. -Dahl, using her kitchen table as their operating table and light being furnished by several kerosene lamps.  The operation was a complete success, but later in life, Mrs. Wahl became deaf in that ear.  After surgery Jensine recuperated at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Halvorson, and she and Mr. Wahl were married at the Lutheran parsonage on November 30, 1897 by Reverend Quamme.

They worked till spring of 1898 for Ole Thorson and then for W. P. Hammer till 1899 when they bought a quarter Section of land (NE 21 Range 59 Township 60) in Tyrol Township.  The railroad having been completed past Lovell and Jessie Area, the workers had moved out of the house where they had lived at Lovell, so Mr. and Mrs. Wahl bought and moved the 12x18 foot house onto their property and set up housekeeping.  The house had a rounded roof like a railroad car, so they changed the roof and made a half story and two very nice bedrooms upstairs.  They were lucky to find good water near the buildings.  In a well 16 feet deep there was 8 feet of good water and the well never went dry.

The Wahl's took part in affairs of the community and were members of Ottowa Lutheran Church.

They were parents of two children, John Martin, born July 28, 1901 baptized at home by Reverend Quamme, confirmed at Ottawa, August 1, 1915, and Clara Christine, born April 18, 1908, baptized also in April 1908 in Esten Olson Home by Reverend Valdahl (or Vikingstad) confirmed in 1922 at Ottowa.

Halfdon Wahl's father, Marthias Holm and two brothers and a sister followed him to North Dakota.  Anton (father of Osmund) Holm brought his family in 1905 and stayed several months with Halfdon till they found a place near Ringsaker Church.  Matthias, their father, came in 1898 and bought a quarter Section of land 5 miles southwest of Section 5.  He was a good cabinet builder and built a set of kitchen shelves for Jensine, which John and family use as a whatust stand in South Carolina.  He also made a beautiful "center table" without benefit of lathe.  It too, is still in use and prized by John's family.  Mr. Holm walked the 9 or 10 miles from his place to the Wahl's carrying the table across his shoulder as a gift for his Grandson.  Later that year, Mr. Holm left for Norway, where he was re-married and did not return to the United States A.  He sold his land to Gust Golden.  John and wife also have and use the trunk used by Jensine to bring her possessions to this country.  It was made in 1875 by her father.

Axel Holm became widowed after he settled in Canada and brought his 11-year-old daughter, Martha (Mrs. Martha Nogard Goplen) to be reared by the Wahl's.  He went back to Canada where he died some years later.

Mr. Wahl's sister, Sarah Holm married Robert Perchert and lived in Cooperstown until her death.  Another well-known Cooperstown woman Nellie (Mrs. Albert) Johnson was born at the Wahl home.  Her parents Mr. and Mrs. Christian Myhre had come from Norway to Michigan and from there to the Wahls.  Several months after Nellie's birth, her mother died and she was adopted by Mr. and Mrs. John Knutson - a brother was adopted by Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Idsvoog, and her father and another daughter, Esther, continued staying at the Wahls till 1905 when they went to Palermo.

Clara married Andrew Urness January 18, 1928 and they had two children, Harlan Arthur, still at home and Beverly Joanne, married to Earl Palmer.  They have four children and live near Sharon.

John married Clara Slater of Rock Hill, South Carolina February 1, 1945 and they lived on the Wahl Farm till 1957 when they moved to Landrum, South Carolina.  They have one son, Lindsey Martin, married to Elizabeth Shedon and they live in Norfolk, VA with their daughter Amy.

Halfdon and Jensine Wahl bought a house in Cooperstown after John was married but most of their time was spent at the farm till Mr. Wahl's death on October 9, 1954 at age 87.  Mrs. Wahl spent a little of her time in town, but mostly on the farm till it became necessary for her to go into a nursing home.  She died on January 26, 1957 at age 86.
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MAX WILD FAMILY

Max Wild was born at LeRoy, Dodge County, Wisconsin on November 1, 1865, and came to Dakota Territory in 1886.  He settled on a homestead 16 miles west of Cooperstown and in 1899 he purchased a farm east of Jessie (now occupied by Arnold Saxberg) and the NW quarter of Section 21, which is farmed by Robert Hedstrom.

Katherine Platzer was born at Sheboygan, Wisconsin June 3, 1870.  She was married to Max and together they came to Dakota Territory.

They had five children:  

Mrs. S. A. Pritz who lived in Minot

 Clarence of Wimbledon, Eugene and Chester of Chicago, and Mrs. John Jackson who lives in Sutton,

In 1915 they moved to Jessie, and built a beautiful home, which was later moved to Cooperstown.  He ran a grocery store in Jessie for about ten years.

They moved to Cooperstown in 1925.
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EDWIN J. WOLD FAMILY

Edwin J. Wold was born July 16, 1875 at Heroe, Norway and emigrated to America in his youth with his parents.  Lena Jensen was born in Norway, April 6, 1878 and came to this country with her parents.  Edwin and Lena were married at Granite Falls, Minnesota in June of 1901.  They had six children, Hjalmer, and Sverre "Sandy" (cause so few could pronounce it correctly) were born in Granite Falls.  Jordis, who died in 1923, Ernest, Ruth, and Edwin were born on Section 27 Tyrol Township where the Wold Bros and Ruth now live.

The farm was purchased in 1904 and the family moved up in 1905.  The old place had been a building from the Regnier Place (Jim Combs place).  In 1928 they built the present home.

Edwin's father was John Ellingson, and he and his brothers Olaf Johnson and Fred Johnson all moved up to Griggs County at same time - Olaf farming what is the "Joe Boyer" Farm in Pilot Mound Township and Fred farming what is now Mrs. Merle Sutton's place.  Because of mix up in mail Edwin took the name of Wold from the region Holvold in Norway, while Olaf and Fred took "Johnson" sons of John.

Mrs. Wold's sister, Mrs. Frederickson, was Mother of Mrs. Albin Saxberg.  Her brother, Simon Jensen lived at what is now the farm of Michael Heinz.

Mr. Edwin Wold was killed in a threshing accident in September 1914.  He was buried in the Hero Cemetery after funeral services were held from his home with Reverend Sigrud Olsen officiating.

The children were all quite small, Edwin being born after his father's death.  Their Grandma Johnson lived with them.  They recalled that they could remember Grandma Johnson would walk from Wold's to Albin Arneson's place east of the river "better than 71/2 miles, to visit John Carlson - her daughter was Mrs. John Carlson - family and then walk back.

All the children attended the Sansburn School, and could remember the good get-togethers at the school.  Each had some souvenir - here are the vital statistics.

Sansburn Public School #3 District 10, Tyrol Township, Griggs County, North Dakota May 15, 1914.

Anna D. Olson, Teacher.  School Officers:  

Mr. W. H. Sansburn, Chairman

 Mr. Emil Retzlaff, Director

 Mr. Oscar Rogney, Director

 Mr. A. B. Detwiller, Treas, and Mr. E. F. Fiebiger, President.

PUPILS:  

Dorothee Sansburn

 Maynard Sansburn

 Nellie Sansburn

 Erma Pratt

 Floyd Pratt

 Leonard McCulloch

 Ruth Skofstad

 Julius Jensen

 Gertrude Jensen

 Hjalmer Wold

 Jessie Erickson

 Willis Sansburn

 Clarence Sansburn

 Earl Pratt

 Marian Pratt

 Irene McCulloch

 Ada Skofstad

 Johnnie Wahl

 Fritjof Jensen

 Sverre Wold

 Nile Erickson

 Jean Erickson

 Charles Sansburn

 Cecil Campbell, John Johnson

 and Ingvald Johnson.
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JULIUS WURST FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Julius Wurst moved from Waterville, Minnesota in 1915, and purchased the farm from Mr. and Mrs. Frank Ressler of Jessie, North Dakota.

Mr. and Mrs. Wurst raised a family of ten children.

Mr. and Mrs. Wurst farmed until their deaths, Mrs. Wurst passed away in 1941 and Mr. Wurst in 1946.

The farm has been operated since their deaths by their son, Frank.
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SIGVART YORKS OBSERVE 60th WEDDING ANNIVERSARY

Mr. and Mrs. Sigvart York observed their sixtieth wedding anniversary March 24, 1974.  An open house was given in their honor at the Griggs County Nursing Home by their son-in-law and daughter, Mr. and Mrs. Sig Amundson.  Around 85 people came, greeted them on their special day, and had coffee with them.

During their 60 years of married life they lived on several different farms around the Binford community.  In 1944, they retired from farming and moved into Jessie, North Dakota, until the fall of 1971 when they moved into the nursing home at Cooperstown to make their home.

They have three grandchildren and five great-grandchildren.
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EDWARD ZIMPRICH, SR. FAMILY

EDWARD ZIMPRICH (July 8, 1857-May 9, 1926) born in Michelsdorf, Bohemia, married JENNIE WESTLEY (May 11, 1868 to September 1948) born at Waterville, Minnesota Her parents were from Bohemia.  Edward worked for the Cooper Brothers for several years.  He had his homestead on 8-147-159 and was assessed there in 1883 - 10 children were born of this union.

Children:  

MARY (April 9, 1887 - November 1973) married in 1904 ED FIEBIGER (February 23, 1877-died August 5, 1959) 13 children:  

Mary, married George Peterson - 2 children:  

Edward married Elsie Heinz - 6 children:  

Lawrence died at the age of 12:  

Twin girls born prematurely and died:  

Rosey married Joe Gruman - 5 children

 Maratha married Martin Kuklok - 7 children

 Frank married Florence Hagel - 3 children

 Ida married Henry Heinze - 2 children

 William married Ruth Tenneson - 1 child

 Anne married Quentin Dahl - 5 children

 Florence married Donald Gisvold - 6 children

 Richard married Moralen "Ginger" Dahl (both are deceased) - 4 children.

Mary and Ed lived all their lives in Griggs County, as do most of their children.

EMMA (December 9, 1888 to) Married JOE LANGER and lived near Valley City, North Dakota (Both are deceased) 8 children

 FRANK (October 28, 1890) married CLARA PFEIFER (February 7, 1895 to June 29, 1962).  They lived and farmed in Griggs County - 6 children:  

Francis (Franky) married Myrtle Austad - 3 children

 Evelyn married Winfield Wilkenson - 3 children

 Lillia married Raymond Anton 3 children

 Bernard married Genevieve Boisjolie 7 children

 Beatrice married Chester Ressler (divorced) now married Harold Anderson-- 5 children

 Leonard married Darlene Johnson (4 children) 2 children:

EDWARD (January 4, 1896) married VERONICA GRUMAN - 1 child, Delila married Frank Miller - 6 children.  They still farm in Griggs County with the help of their grandchildren on farm northeast of Jessie, North Dakota.

IDA (March 5, 1898 to May 28, 1962) married WILLIAM PFEIFER (Both are deceased) 2 children:  

Sister Margaret Rose at Rolla, North Dakota Arlene married Frank Heinz - 4 children.

CHRISTINE (August 18, 1893-) married Julius Langer, lived near Valley City, North Dakota 7 children.

JOE (March 27, 1900 - May 1975) married ANNE FIEBIGER - farmed in Griggs County (Both are deceased) - 6 children - Rosella married Roy Evanstad -10 children

 Mary Jane married Harvey Sears-1 child

 Joyce married Richard Hienz-5 children

 Anne married Eugene Speldrich -3 children

 Joe married Mary Lou Arlien-1 child, after Mary Lou's death, Joe married Catherine Walen (3 children) -3 children

 Edward married Rita Arlien-8 children.

WILLIAM (April 9, 1902) married ERNA ZIMPRICH they live on a farm near Jessie.  Six children - Francis married Marie Pittenger-4 children

 Ralph (not married)

 Dorothy married Everett Ashbaugh-4 children

 Loretta married William Rhode-8 children

 Rosemary married Curtis Kulsrud-4 children

 James (not married).

ALVINA (September 15, 1904) married Joe Geiger (deceased) 4 children:  

Leo married Dorothy Sandy-2 children

 Lawrence married Helen Kunze-4 children

 Leonard married Evelyn Hagen-3 children

 Mary.  Alvina was later married to Frank Geiger (deceased) and William Pfeifer (deceased).

LAWRENCE (May 30, 1907 to November 1948) married LOUISE GRUMAN-1 child, Cecelia married Edward Schaack-1 child.  Lawrence lived on the Zimprich home farm.  He was killed in a car accident in 1948.  Ed Schaack still farms the Zimprich home place.
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FRANK ZIMPRICH FAMILY

When Clara Pfeifer became the bride of Frank Zimprich, they went to live on the farm, which was to be their home their entire married life.  Frank Jr., Eveleyn, Lillian, Bernard, Beatrice and Leonard were born to this union and on this farm.

When Frank and Clara were expecting their first child, Frank Sr. spent many hours whittling a crib with his jack knife.  This crib was used for all six children, is still in excellent shape, and treasured by the whole family.

Money was scarce in those days and the circus was coming to Cooperstown.  Frank really wanted his children to see it, so he took on the job of painting the schoolhouse.  He started painting at 6 AM and painted till dark so he could finish before that wonderful circus came.

No spray or sprayers were available, but there was no mustard in the Frank Zimprich fields.  All the children would walk through the fields and pick each mustard plant.  They were really thrilled when they finished and their parents took them to town for a banana split - their only wages for many days of mustard picking.

Every winter Clara would fry down the side meat and pork chops from 6 to 8 pigs.  She would fry the meat, put it in a large crock jar and pour melted lard over each layer.  This kept the meat until the next fall when they could butcher again.  She cut all this meat with a small hand meat saw and refused all help except to carry the meat into the house.

Sunday Mass was a must and although they had 51/2 miles to Jessie, only the most severe blizzards kept them home.  Frank and Clara piled all the kids in the covered "rig" with fur robes around them and bricks that had been heated in the oven to warm their feet.  Frank Sr. took great pleasure in having a snappy well-groomed team that was all dressed up with bells.  What a beautiful sound to hear those bells coming on an early, cool, crisp, clear morning.  The sleigh track wasn't always so good, especially after a thaw, so more than once the sleigh tipped over, the older children and Dad would jump out, tip it back, and be on their way.
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IDA ZIMPRICH

Ida Zimprich was born March 5, 1898.  She married William M. Pfeifer born October 27, 1900; he was the son of Frank and Marie Pfeifer.

They lived on a farm, which was southeast of Cooperstown in Washburn Township.  Two daughters were born to them.

Willis Marie, September 2, 1926.

Arlene Cecilia, August 26, 1931.  The girls attended the Cooperstown public school.

In the year 1941 they purchased a farm in Tyrol Township, their Grandson Michael Heinz resides on the farm now.

In the summer, July 6, 1943, Willis Marie joined the Sisters of Presentation at Valley City.  At the present time she is teaching school at Rolla, North Dakota

Arlene attended grade school at Jessie and high school at St. Catherines in Valley City.  October 4, 1949, Arlene married Frank J. Heinz, Jr., son of Frank and Ernestine Heinz.  They lived from 1950 until 1956 on Frank's Uncle Gust's farm in Washburn Township.

Four children were born to them there:  

Brenda, December 5, 1950

 Michael, February 1, 1952

 Barbara, August 29, 1954

 Jeffery, October 29, 1954.

In the fall of 1956 Frank and Arlene moved to the farm (The William Trost Farm) in Tyrol Township, where they are still residing.

Ida Pfeifer died May 28, 1962.

William Pfeifer died September 11, 1971.
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IGNAZ ZIMPRICH FAMILY

IGNAZ (October 8, 1881 to July 19, 1968) married ERNESTINE LUX (October 11, 1882 to October 1964) at Michelsdorf, Bohemia on May 14, 1904 - 2 children.  ERNA (January 29, 1905) married WILLIAM ZIMPRICH (April 9, 1902) 6 children:  

Francis, Ralph, Dorothy, Loretta, Rosemary, and James - 20 grandchildren - 6 great grandchildren.  CARL (February 16, 1909) married Irene Eggermont (January 4, 1930) 3 children - Henry, Mark, and Virginia.

Ignaz came to America in 1912 to look for work and prepare to bring his family here.  Shortly after he was here, World War I broke out.  After this he was not allowed to bring his family here, return to them, or even write to them.  So for 8 years, he didn't know how they were and they didn't know where he was.  In August of 1920, he was allowed to bring his family to the Casselton Community where he had been working at various jobs.  In the fall of 1922 Ignaz moved his family to Griggs County, to the farm Bill Zimprich now lives on by Jessie, then owned by the Thorn Brothers.  They moved west of Jessie to another farm owned by the Thorn Brothers, now owned and occupied by the Erling Skaufel Family.  In 1946, they moved north of Jessie to farm known as the Big Ed Fiebiger Farm.  They purchased this farm and lived there until Carl was married.  They then built a new home in Jessie and lived there till their deaths.  Carl's sons still farm this last farm they lived on.

In May of 1963, United States District Judge Ronald Davies brought his bailiff, clerk, stenographic lawyer, and Marshal to Jessie, and naturalized Mrs. "Natz" in her own home.  It was the first time he remembered of holding court in a private home, but it was a good first because she told him, "Now I die happy cause I am a United States Citizen.”
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LAWRENCE ZIMPRICH FAMILY 

Lawrence Zimprich, was the last son of Edward

Zimprich, Sr. and Jennie.  He was married to Louise Gruman of Fingal on January 24, 1927.  They had one child, Cecelia.

In November 1948, Lawrence was driving his daughter, Cecelia, and niece, Arlene Pfeifer, to school at Valley City, when he was involved in a head on collision with the Sweetheart Bread truck south of Cooperstown.  He was killed instantly, and his brother, Edward, was injured severely.

Cecelia was married to Edward Schaack in October 1950.  They had one child, Lisa.  In June 1967, Cecelia fell from a tractor and was injured by the digger.  This chapel erected in her memory stands on the original Zimprich Farm.

MRS. EDWARD (JENNIE) ZIMPRICH.  Rites were held at St. Lawrence Catholic Church in Jessie, Monday at 10 AM for Mrs. Jennie Zimprich, 80, who died Friday in Valley City Hospital.  Father Roman Ludwig officiated.  Pallbearers were Eddie and Frank Fiebiger, Joe and Julius Langer, Fran, Joe, and Francis Zimprich and Leo Geiger.

Born at Waterville, MN on March 11, 1868, Jennie Westley came to Dakota Territory in 1886, the year of her marriage to Edward Zimprich.  Mr. Zimprich passed away in 1926.  Surviving are five sons, Frank, Edward, William, and Lawrence of Jessie, and Joseph of Aneta

 five daughters, Mrs. Eddie Fiebiger, Mrs. Joe Geiger of Cooperstown

 Mrs. Joe and Mrs. Julius Langer, both of Valley City, and Mrs. William Pfeifer, Jessie.  50 grandchildren and 41 great -grandchildren.  (SC September 24, 1948)
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THE WILLIAM ZIMPRICH FAMILY

William born April 9, 1902 on farm northeast of Jessie, North Dakota was married to Erna Zimprich born January 29, 1905 in Michelsdorf, Czechoslovakia.  She came to America with her parents in 1920 - coming first to Casselton, North Dakota.  Later they moved to Griggs County (Jessie, North Dakota).  Erna and Bill were married February 14, 1924 at Sansborn, North Dakota.  This was because at that time a priest only came to Jessie about once a month.  They returned to Jessie to live with Bill's folks while they put a set of buildings on a quarter of land 51/2 miles northeast of Jessie (in Pilot Mound Township) was given them by Bill's folks.  They lived on this farm till the fall of 1931, when their oldest child started to school.  They moved to Jessie to the farm they still live on.  They rented for many years from Robert Thorn.  In 1947, they bought this farm.  While living by Jessie they rented their farm northeast of Jessie to many young couples starting farming.

For them as for many farmers the 1930's were tough years.  With the coming of the 1940's things started looking up.  They have six healthy children - 3 boys, three girls.  The boys all living and farming in Griggs County.

FRANCIS (May 19, 1925) married MARIE PITTENGER on June 15, 1947.

RALPH (June 9, 1927) not married lives at home.

DOROTHY (May 5, 1929) married EVERETT ASHBAUGH (June 19, 1952).

LORETTA (November 13, 1935) married WILLIAM RHODE - September 14, 1957.

ROSEMARY (May 16, 1941) married CURTIS KULSRUD August 12, 1961
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WASHBURN TOWNSHIP 

History

Ueland Dam

In 1932 it was talked of and decided to build a Dam on the Sheyenne River.  Martin Ueland donated 3 acres, located in Section 26 of Washburn Township, by the planned Dam site for a park in 1934.  The Dam was built by the C. C. C. and completed in 1934.  The river was so low at the time that there was not a stream, just puddles of water here and there.

In 1935 Washburn Township furnished the manpower and Griggs County furnished the equipment to build a road to the Dam.  Washburn Township also made first move to establish a park there and set aside money for it.

About 1940 the first lifeguard, Eunice (Solberg) Nesheim, was on duty at the swimming area.  Others who served as lifeguards through the years were:  

Duna (Hagen) Frigaard, Virginia (Stromme) McKay, Bruce Hoel and Don Carleton.  Supervised swimming ended in about 1953.

The Ueland Dam Park was a very popular picnic area in the 1940's and used by country schools and churches for their annual picnics.  This area has also provided fishing for many of the local residents.
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WASHBURN SCHOOLS

Education for the families was as much a concern to the pioneers as it is to us today.  In the fall of 1881, C. P. Bolkan was asked to conduct a school for the children of six or seven families of the early settlers.  Classes were conducted for about 15 pupils in the lean of John Qualey's log house in January, February and March 1882.  About midsummer in 1882 the first school districts were formed in Griggs County, Dakota Territory, and school was held at Mardell with Ole Serumgard hired as teacher that fall.

The first years the Township was divided into three districts:  

Waziya, Greendale and Nelson.  By 1899 all three districts were joined into Washburn School District.  According to early records, the Bridge School and the Ayrea School started classes in 1897 and continued on in the same locations through the years.  The schoolhouse located in the NE part of the Township was situated on the riverbank in NW quarter of Section 12 and thereby went by the name River Bank School.  This school burned to the ground in February 1918.  The teacher and students finished out the term by holding classes in the log house located on the Opheim farm.  The Oak Grove School was built in SW quarter of Section 12 the summer of 1918 and was ready for classes in the fall.

In the fall of 1958, the residents of Washburn Township decided to close their schools and send all pupils by bus to Cooperstown Special School District.  This proved satisfactory and in 1960 the school districts were reorganized around Cooperstown and Washburn, together with other districts, joined the Cooperstown Special School District.
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FLUTO BRIDGE

One of the accomplishments made in the Township and a benefit to all early settlers was construction of a bridge across the Sheyenne River in Section 26, Washburn Township.  At the meeting of the County Commissioners on October 8, 1883, bids were accepted for the construction of the "Fluto" bridge.  On December 24, 1883 the bridge was completed and the final bills were paid with a total cost of approximately $3900.  The bridge has been rebuilt and widened with the last improvements being made in 1958.
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WASHBURN TELEPHONE COMPANY

Petitions were drawn up and circulated by Nels Opheim, Emil Simenson, N. J. Qualey and J. C. Moe regarding purchase of telephone line in Washburn Township from Griggs County Telephone Company.  On April 8, 1922 the Constitution and By-Laws were written and the name chosen for the Washburn Township Mutual Cooperative Telephone Company.

This line, with Exchange Service furnished by Griggs County Telephone Company, served Washburn residents for many years.  As time went on many more repairs were needed and at the annual meeting of the Company on December 5, 1969 the decision was made to sell the Washburn Township Mutual Cooperative Telephone Company to the Griggs County Telephone Company.  In 1971 they replaced the old line with new underground wire and new instruments in each home.  After 49 years the Washburn Township Mutual Cooperative Telephone Company was disbanded.
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THE TOWNSITE OF MARDELL - 1882-1885

In 1882, Richard Sherman and his brother had the foundation laid for the city of Mardell, situated on the W ½ of Section 13, Washburn Township, by Samuel H. Reynolds, surveyor.  The plot was filed at Cooperstown July 30, 1882.  The Sherman brothers later sold their interests to George H. Ellsbury.

The streets and avenues were named and a boom map was prepared by Mr. Ellsbury, depicting Mardell as a great railway center.  Inhabitants then came and business enterprises were started.  In the summer of 1882, Mardell had two dry goods stores and grocery stores, a hardware store, a blacksmith shop, machinery shops, a meat shop, a schoolhouse, and a real estate and loan company.  A hotel, named the Palace, was built containing 24 rooms.  Captain Martin Robinson was chosen manager.  School was taught by Ole Serumgard.  On Sundays the schoolhouse was used for Sunday School and occasional church services conducted by Reverend Lundeby and Reverend James Baldwin.  A post office was secured and a mail route connecting Mardell with Tower City was established.  A few homes and barns were built of logs but lumber was hauled from Tower City or Valley City for the first buildings.  It took four days to make the trip.

Mr. Ellsbury and others had personal interviews with Mr. Jas.  J. Hill, Chairman of the Board of Executive Department of Great Northern Railway Company.  Mr. Hill told them to have their location surveyed and if the engineer's notes showed it feasible, he would extend the line out from Hope.  The county seat was located at Hope at that time.  This was done and presented to Mr. Hill.  He examined the notes and told those present for the interview "This is O. K.  You need not fear to go ahead with your outlay and advertising.  I will put my road through Mardell.”  Mr. Hill did not put this in writing and failed to make good his word.

In the summer of 1883 R. C. Cooper began building the Sanborn, Cooperstown, and Turtle Mountain railway.  Cooperstown became the aspirant for the county seat, and with these developments, Mardell gave up the fight.  Without a railroad or a county seat the town had no future and people began moving to Cooperstown.

The townsite, together with Park Avenue Hotel and a Section of land, was sold to John Pashby, formerly of Fargo, in 1885.  In that clearing on the Sheyenne no remnants remain of the dream; and hopes of those pioneers of the early 1880's who once lived in the proud and aspiring city of Mardell.
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NESS CONGREGATION

The Ness Congregation was organized when Pastor I. L. Lundeby was Horne Missionary in the region from 1882-1884.  The first meeting was held in 1883 in Amund Gilbertson's log house.  The original members with their families were:  

Gulbrand Auren, Ole Hagen Fikjer, Amund Gilbertson, Thor Hagen, Ole Kristofferson, Andrew Larson, Arne Luckason, Ole Skrien, Arne Thompson and Iver Thompson.  Services were held in the various homes until the Bolkan Schoolhouse was built on the NE quarter of Section 2 Sverdrup Township when most of the services were held there.  The name of Ness was chosen because a number of the new settlers came from a place by that name in Norway.

The Ness church was built in 1898 by contractor Mr. Lee, with members donating help.  Mr. Ole Halvorson gave two acres of land on NE quarter of Section 36, Washburn Township for church site and cemetery.  He also gave 2 acres of land for roads.  Improvements in the church were:  

basement constructed in 1929 by Melvin Seim and members; high steeple cut down in 1936; church wired for electricity in 1949; glass block windows installed in basement in 1956 and upstairs in 1959.

Pastors who have served Ness:  

O. K. Quamme, P. A. Thoreson, Henrik Voldal, A. E. Mithun, N. J. Vikingstad, Sigurd Olson, John Haaland, John Fagereng, Sigurd Sydness, H. J. Hanson, S. C. B. Knutson, Leslie Vanderpan, Howard Benson, Kenneth Roufs, Milton Olson, John Svendby and Norman Bowen.

The congregation at one time numbered 25 families and were affiliated with Union, Lund, Luverne, St. Petri and Blabon at various times to form a parish.

Due to changing conditions in the rural area the congregation voted to dissolve in 1968.  A cemetery association was formed to maintain the church building and cemetery.  The first burial was that of Mary Auren, age 4, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Thor G. Auren, in March 1898.

A complete detailed history of the Ness Congregation will be filed with the Historical society.  (Edward Johnson, Section Ness Cemetery Association.)
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OPHEIM CEMETERY

(SW quarter of Section 12-146-58)

When the early settlers came to this area, they had to establish their own homes, schools, churches and cemeteries.  A cemetery was started on the Omund Nelson Opheim land on the SW quarter of Section 2, Washburn Township.  The first burial was Lars Ulven in 1881, who had been lost in a blizzard and died from freezing and exposure.  The first monument to be erected in the cemetery was that of Omund Nelson Opheim, erected in 1886.

There are no official records available but according to reports of the early settlers there are approximately 32 burials in the plot.

The following is a list of known burials with names made available by pioneers, relatives and friends.

(Birth)  (Death)  Omund Nelson Opheim September 29, 1829

- August 5, 1885

Kari Opheim February 2, 1825 - December 27, 1905

Chrisoffer Olai Johnson September 15, 1881

Martin Helmer Johnson November 3, 1883

(Sons of Gunder O. Johnson

Brothers of Mrs. Martha Lokken) Johan Mustad Gunhild Mustad

- December 19, 1886

December 16, 1886

1846 - 1894

1848 - 1887

Bolette Abrahamson November, 1857 October 24, 1884

(born Christianson)

Andrew Larson

Frank Axtell (28 or 29 years old)

Lars Ulven (First death among

settlers along the river)

Gunhild Qualey

Pearl Opheim

(died at 6 months of age)

(Martin Opheim's daughter)

Baby Girl Opheim

(Johnny Opheim's daughter)

Mrs. Isralsen - "Unknown" -

Elling Nelson - "Unknown" -

Elling Nelson's daughter

Sina Halvorson

Laura Halvorson

(Syver Halvorson's daughters)

Syver Halvorson

Two small boys

Sons of John Johnson Engen Sr.

died of diphtheria

1876

1873 1878

- February 5, 1892

- May 24, 1883 1881

1894

1901

1904

1881 1881 1881

November, 1883

1882 or 1883
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Settlers

NELS ARNESON

Nels Arneson was born in Minnesota November 5, 1873, the son of John and Kristi Arneson.  His family homesteaded on NW quarter of Section 6, Greenview Township, just across the Griggs-Steele County line.

He married Lizzie Olson and they moved to Velva, North Dakota and homesteaded on a quarter of land in that area.  They came to Washburn Township in 1909 and lived in the Mardell Hotel.  While living there two of their children, Robert - 6 and Beatrice - 4, contracted the dreaded disease, diptheria.  Beatrice died September 1, 1909 and Robert died September 2, 1909.

After farming in the area a few years, he sold out and became Manager of a grain elevator in Cooperstown.  In 1917 they moved back to Section 13, Washburn Township.  The barn on the farm was the Livery Barn from the townsite of Mardell and lumber from the Mardell Hotel was used in building the house.  (These buildings are still on the farm.)

In the fall of 1918, Mrs. Arneson was killed in an automobile accident about two miles from their home.  Mr. Arneson died in 1940.  There were six children in the family:  

Robert, Beatrice, James, Esther, Marion and Raymond.  James is the only living member of the family.  He is owner of the farm purchased by his father.  He and his wife, Ruth (Skaar) reside in Cooperstown at the present time.
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THOR G. AUREN

Thor G. Auren was born April 7, 1858 in Nes i Adal, Norway.  He came to America at the age of 26 and worked in the Goose River area, as it was then called, on a farm at Hatton, North Dakota for Iver Thompson who was a relative.

Marit Johnson, also from Nes i Adal, came to the United States with her parents, brothers and sisters and the family settled in Wittenberg, Wisconsin.  Marit's birth-date was January 21, 1864.  She, too, came to Hatton and married Thor G. Auren in 1885.  They remained at Hatton a few years; two children were born there, Gilbert, born January 5, 1886 and Inga, November 24, 1887.  They then moved to the Frost farm in Sverdrup Township and lived there for many years.  Four children were born to the couple there

 Gina, February 14, 1890, John, January 15, 1892, Mary, May 9, 1894, and Martin, April 17, 1898.  One son, Gilbert, was nicknamed from the Frost farm and went by that name all his life.  The family then settled on the Torfin farm on the Sheyenne River in Washburn Township where Alf Ueland now lives.  Tillie was born in the log house on this farm, June 23, 1905.

Thor Auren died on this farm February 19, 1924.  A few years later the family moved to the Sutton area and Marit passed away there June 14, 1960 at the age of 96 years and 5 months.  Marit was well, spry, and active up until her death.  She made her home with son Martin.

Gilbert as a young man worked for Ben Kelleran, who had the dray line in Cooperstown.  Gilbert was noted for his two white horses, his good humor and his antics.  Gilbert married Gunhild Gilbertson and they had two children, Ruth, Mrs. Elmer Christianson of Sutton and Melvin of Minneapolis.  Gilbert passed away June 18, 1973 and his widow lives at Crosby, Minnesota

Inga married Sam Hagen in 1918 and had 3 sons:  

Tom of Phoenix, Arizona, married to Edith Dahl of Minneapolis, Gordon of Minneapolis, Minnesota married to Ruth Dietrich of Sutton, and Kenneth of Cooperstown, who married Janis Baily of Sutton.  Inga is presently residing in the McVille Nursing Home.  Inga remembers Mother telling about carrying water from the river by Kari Vasfarets up to the Frost farm, a distance of about 11/2 miles.  She put a yoke across her shoulders and could carry her buckets of water that way - taking her young children with her - but she never complained.  In the winter when the ice got thick enough they would cut and haul ice for use in the winter months.

Gina and Martin are making their home in Cooperstown.  Gina has a son Thor G. Auren married to Lorna Hanson Jewett.  Martin and Thor are operating the farm at Sutton in Mabel Township, Section 22.  Martin recalls that when the mustard was in full bloom it was a family project to all go out and pick mustard, each one taking an area in the wheat and barley fields and picking it clean of mustards.  He also tells how Johnny and he had plenty of work in the winter months as their job then was to saw and cut wood for the kitchen stove.  They would cut big oak trees down, and when the weather was real cold (below zero) the wood was easier to split and they would chop up huge piles.  (Picture is enclosed of Johnny by woodpile).  In summer it was to clean out the dead branches and dead trees and chop this wood with an ax; also for fuel for the kitchen stove.

The family remembers their Dad walking 31/2 miles from his home to Ness Church where he was custodian for 7 years.  He would carry with him a bundle of dry kindling wood wrapped in a leather strap.  He took the dry wood with him as the cellar where stove was so very damp that wood stored there was hard to start.

John is living in Palo Alto, California, where he moved in 1938.  John's wife is the former Oline Skagen and they have two children, Luella May, Mrs. Ralph Christianson, and James.

Mary died in infancy at the age of 4 years and was the first one to be buried at the Ness Cemetery.

Tillie married John (Johan) Christianson of Sutton.  Tillie had five stepsons Clarence, Oswald, Lloyd, Elmer, Ralph and a daughter Gale, Mrs. Howard Hanson of Minneapolis.  Tillie and Oswald are living on the farm at Sutton, in Mable Township.
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MR. AND MRS. EDGAR AYREA

Early pioneers in Griggs County were Mr. and Mrs. Edgar Ayrea.  Both Mr. and Mrs. Ayrea were born in Wisconsin; Mr. Ayrea (1857) on a farm near Pardeeville and Mrs. Ayrea (1867) near Paynette.  They were married in March 1886.

A week after they were married, Mr. Ayrea chartered a car and came 'West', as it was called in those days, to North Dakota.  He had acquired a few head of horses and some cows and planned to go farming on a farm one mile west of Cooperstown, then owned by Charles McDonald who was an uncle of Mrs. Ayrea.  A week later Mrs. Ayrea came to join her husband.  They stayed on this farm for two years and in 1888 they decided to buy a piece of land, three miles northeast of Cooperstown, in Washburn Township.  He had to plant a certain number of trees on it thereby getting it for about $2 per acre.  This was called a tree claim.  By this time their first two children were born

 Mattie and Frank.  Mr. Ayrea built their four-room house and a stable.  He dug a well and broke forty acres.  In November 1888, they moved to their new home.  The, first few years were hard ones, some hail, and drouth making them quite discouraged at times, Frank, the only son, died in 1889.

The Ayreas stayed on their farm until the fall of 1919.  They then sold out and for many years rented out the land.  They bought a home in Cooperstown and lived there until 1937.  They were members of the Presbyterian Church.

There were eight children born to them:  

Mattie, Frank, Jessie, Inez, Thelma, Bernice, Jean and Helen.  Frank and Bernice died in early childhood.  Mr. and Mrs. Ayrea celebrated their fiftieth anniversary in 1936.  All the children came home to help them celebrate.

They left Cooperstown in 1937, renting their house, and lived among their children.  Mr. Ayrea passed away in 1939 and Mrs. Ayrea in 1964.
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CHRISTOPHER P. BOLKAN

Christopher P. Bolkan, early settler and pioneer of Griggs County, was born in Trondheim, Norway in 1854.  He came to America with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Peter Bolkan, three brothers and a sister in 1866.  His parents settled in Iowa.  In 1880 Christopher, together with John Dahl and Ole Havik, came to Fargo by rail.  They took a steamboat up to Caledonia, a small town 1/2 miles from Red River.  Caledonia was county seat of Traill County, which then included Griggs and Steele.  From Caledonia they walked to the Sheyenne River Valley.  The country was sparsely settled at this time.  On this side of what is now Portland, there were practically no inhabitants.

Christopher Bolkan took out his claim on Section 34 in Washburn Township.  In 1881 the land was surveyed and the claim officially recorded.  In the winter of 1881-82 he taught a term of school for the children of the pioneers in the Sheyenne Valley.  The lean-to on John Qualey's log house w ' as used as the schoolhouse.

There were about 15 pupils.  He boarded 2 weeks with each family and the next summer they did some land breaking for him.  This was his salary.

The people in the settlement were interested in local politics.  In the fall of 1880, before election of county officers, election tickets and the like were sent to this part of the settlement as it was so thickly settled.  At Election Day there were only 10 votes.  The returns were handed over to Mr. Bolkan to take to Caledonia.  He was paid $6.00 to walk 60 miles and it took him 21/2 days.

Mr. Bolkan was married in 1884 to Pauline Spelde.  Nine sons were born to them:  

Albert, Willie, Freeman, Edwin, George, all deceased

 Rudolph, Parshall, North Dakota

 Alfred, Mesa, Arizona

 Carl, Fargo

 Peter, Black-mountain, North Carolina.  Five of the sons served in World War I.  One son, Edwin, was Clerk of Court in Griggs County from 1922 until his retirement in 1957.  He married Lillian Monson in 1923 who is residing in Cooperstown.

Christopher Bolkan was a member of the first North Dakota legislature, being elected a representative for the 1889 session.  He worked hard to defeat the notorious "Louisiana Lottery Bill.”

In 1907, Mr. Bolkan and his family moved to Cooperstown where he served as rural mail carrier until retiring.  Mrs. Bolkan died in 1930 and Christopher Bolkan died in 1945.
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ANTON B. CARLSON

Mr. and Mrs. Anton B. Carlson came to the Cooperstown area in 1903 from Helgeland, Norway.  

They lived in Romness Township for one year.  Mr. Carlson worked at various odd jobs that he could obtain to make a living for the family, which consisted of two small girls.

In 1904 he got a job as a farm hand working for George Olson.  The family then moved to Sverdrup Township and lived in a log house, which was owned by Amund Gilbertson.

In 1905 he rented a farm in Washburn Township, which was owned by Sven Homme.  Later this farm was purchased by Anton Carlson.  They continued to live there until their death.  Anton died in 1959 and Jorgine in 1968.

Their family consisted of five girls and two boys:  

Caspara (Mrs. Casper Aarestad), Alphild (Mrs. Elmer England), Marie (Mrs. Oliver Larson), Solveig (Mrs. Perry Haaland), Albin, Ebert and Olive Lien.

Their son Albin still lives on the farm.
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ALBERT DAHL FAMILY

Albert Dahl was born in Minnesota on November 20, 1879.  He was married to Anna Jenson, whose birthday was October 29, 1882.  Mrs. Dahl died January 10, 1940 and Albert died August 7, 1957.  During their married life they lived on several farms in the area north and northeast of Cooperstown.

There were seven children in the Albert Dahl family:  

Sylvan, born August 2, 1905, now living at Great Falls, Montana.  Alfred, born February 12, 1908, died at Yakima, Washington, 1961.  They had two children, Don and Dennis.

Duane (Dewey) born in 1914, now living at Seattle, Washington.  Martin, born in 1917, died in the invasion of France in 1944.  Jeanette, born January 3, 1920, married to Don Testerman and living in Seattle, Washington.  She has two children, Marty and Carol Ann.  There were two daughters, Mildred and Gladys, who died in childhood.

Albert Dahl planted a half-mile of trees on Section 17 in Washburn Township.  He did it all by hand, carrying them on his back.  This was the row of cottonwoods that grew north from the Sever Sunstad farm.
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JOHN DAHL FAMILY

John Dahl was born in Minnesota on September 12, 1884 and was married to Anna Pearson at Hannaford in 1915.

Anna Dahl was born in Sweden on July 9, 1890 and came to the United States in 1905.  She traveled alone and sewed her money in the hem of her dress to prevent it from being stolen.  It proved to be a wise procedure because a friend on the ship had her money taken by an unknown thief.  When she first came to America she went directly to Hannaford, where her grandmother lived.  Later she worked at a private home in Fargo.  She returned to Hannaford where she worked at the hotel before her marriage.

The Dahls lived in Montana from 1917-1918.  During the winter of 1920-21 they lived on the Carl Nierenberg farm north of Cooperstown.  There was one especially bad snowstorm.  The door to the house opened in and when it was opened in the morning, snow was piled to within about a foot of the top.  They hoisted Oscar Dahl, John's brother, to the top so he could crawl out and then shoveled out the doorway.  If the door had opened outward, the family would have been trapped.  Anyone who knew John remembers his love of horses.  In fact, he did not buy a car until 1926.  His sons recollect one horse named Jessie that John sold to someone in Montana.  It was shipped out there and 20 years later, Dewey Dahl purchased Jessie and brought her back.  When she was brought to her old home, she walked right to her stall in the barn.

When John's older sons were going to high school in Cooperstown, the country roads were usually blocked in the winter so John pulled the car 11/2 miles to where the road was good and the boys drove the next 21/2 miles.  In the evening he met them and pulled the car home again.  This got tiresome and then the boys drove the entire way with horses.  To pay for barn rent for the horses during the school day, they shoveled snow after school.

During the winters in the 1930's Ed Stromme, August Harmon, and Torkel Anderson got together to cut ice and wood by the river.

There were eight children in the Dahl family:  

Simon, born 1917; now living in Bennett, Colorado.  He has three children, Marlene, Phillip and Rodger.  Kenneth, born in 1918.  He and his wife, Daisy, live in Clearfield Township.  They have two sons, Ronald and Steven.  Clifford, born in 1920.  He and his wife, Frances, live on the home farm.  They have four sons:  

Wayne, John, Thomas and Kevin.  Gerald, born in 1921.  He and his wife, Beatrice, live in Washburn Township.  They have four children:  

Richard, Mrs. Kirk (Marilyn) Peda, Carol, and Milton.  Mary Ann (Mrs. Edwin Larsen), born in 1923, now living in Seattle, Washington.  She has two daughters, Jean and Evie.  LeRoy, born in 1925, is now living at Wichita, Kansas.  Violet (Mrs. Thilford Walsvik), born in 1927, now lives near Hatton, North Dakota.  She has five children:  

David, Daniel, Ramona, Joel, and Jon.  Norman, born in 1929.  He and his wife, Lois, live in Rosendal Township.  They have four daughters:  

Nancy, Ranae, Janel, and Karen.  John Dahl died in March 1956.  Anna Dahl is a resident of the Tri-County Nursing Home at Hatton.
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OSCAR DAHL

Oscar Dahl was born in Minnesota on September 11, 1887.  He was employed on farms in the Cooperstown area for a number of years.  He was a brother of John and Albert Dahl and Mrs. Ole Melby.

He died February 25, 1947 of an apparent heart attack.
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GLENN DYSON

At the age of 21, Glenn Dyson (1862-1965) came to Dakota Territory from his family's farm near Urbana, Illinois.  Glenn's father, Henry Dyson, had come there with a group of relatives by covered wagon from Ohio in 1850.  One of Glenn's earliest memories was the day his father came walking up the road, returning home from the Civil War; having served in many of the major battles of the war with the 72nd Illinois Infantry, Company G.  Also a memory of that period was the excitement when it was known that Abraham Lincoln would be on a train passing through the town on his way to or from Springfield, Illinois.

Glenn arrived by train in Hope, North Dakota March 1883 together with his sister, Alice and her husband, Westley W. Newell (Uncle to Dr. Andrew Newell, Cooperstown Dentist in 1920's).  He worked for Bonanza farms and others, buying up relinquishments, and in this manner he acquired a half Section of land in what later became Riverside Township.  His first sod shanty was very near the trail between Hope and Cooperstown and he admitted to being a close "observer only" of the exciting and much publicized escapades which took place during the county seat struggle between these two towns in the early '80s.  One winter he taught school near the Sheyenne River in what was the Opheim School.

As time went on he acquired farmland adjoining Cooperstown on the east, in fact the spot where he later built his house was once the city dump.  He built up a set of buildings and in 1898 married May E. Johnson of Cooperstown.  He later built a set of buildings on Section 29, Washburn Township.  On all of his holdings he planted groves of trees, which gave him much pleasure all of his life and each year found him planting more trees.

Three children grew to adulthood on the family farm.  Ruth Dyson McDonald, now of Pullman, Washington

 Florence Dyson Howden Jonason of Hope, North Dakota

 and Roger H. Dyson of Madison, Wisconsin.
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KONRAD SORENSON EIDE

Konrad Sorenson Eide was born September 11, 1870 in Nordeidet, Tromso, Norway.  He married Johanna Wisner of Tromso, Norway in 1900.  Mr. and Mrs. Eide came to North Dakota in 1904 residing with his sister and family, the Anton Dahls, in Romness Township.  Mr. Eide was asked by a neighbor, upon his arrival in this county, if he had gotten seasick on his trip over the ocean.  He explained to the neighbor that would be very unlikely, as he had spent most of his life on the ocean as a fisherman in Norway.

In 1905 they moved to Section 36 in Romness Township.  Five years later they moved to Section 14, Washburn Township.  There were six children in the family:  

Aslaug, 1902, Bismarck

 Clara, 1904, Cooperstown

 Mrs. Herman (Thelma) Solfield, 1907-1960

 Harry, 1909, Cooperstown

 William, 1911-1973

 Mrs. Russell (Ruth) Nelson, Dickinson.

Mrs. Eide died in 1940 and Mr. Eide died in 1943.

Mr. and Mrs. William (Clara L. Anderson) Eide and boys, Bennie and Clark, owned and operated the family farm until William's death in 1973.
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DANIEL ERICKSON FAMILY

Daniel Erickson was born in Enefors, Hjemtland, Sweden, on September 14, 1850.  In search of a new life, he left Sweden and came to America in the spring of 1880, stopping temporarily at Zumbrota, Minnesota.  During this time he was employed by the railroad there.  His plans were to go west to Dakota Territory, and in the fall of 1881, he arrived in Griggs County to examine the prospects for making a future home.  He decided to settle on a plot of land along the Sheyenne River five miles south and east of Cooperstown, which is now a part of Washburn Township, Section 34-14658.

After making this decision, he went back to Zumbrota, Minnesota, where he married a Norwegian immigrant girl, Edrikka Johnson, on April 26, 1882.  In their covered wagon with a cow tied behind it, they traveled to his homestead along the Sheyenne River.  They survived the severe hardships of pioneer life and raised a family of seven children:  

Christina, Emanuel, Emma, Olaus, John D. , Hilma, and Oscar.

It was not unusual for Daniel Erickson to walk long distances.  On one occasion he walked to Valley City and carried home a 50-pound sack of flour on his shoulders.  Another time he walked to Mayville, bought a wheelbarrow, and pushed his supplies home.  When the time arrived for Mrs. Erickson to deliver her first child, she too walked two miles south from the farmstead in order to receive help.

The friendly Indians would come occasionally to the farm to sharpen their knives on his whetstone.  Many times Mrs. Erickson would serve them something to eat from their log cabin, which they built in 1882 and which is still intact on the farmstead.

Besides farming, another one of Daniel's interests was the breeding of fine Belgian horses.  Quality was so important to him that he imported a purebred stallion from Belgium.  This enabled him to sell the services of this stallion as well as others to farmers in and around the Cooperstown area.

Daniel was a very willing worker and was well-liked by relatives, neighbors, and friends.  He took part in activities of the community and became one of the founders of the Ness Lutheran Church, which is located east of the Sheyenne River.  At the time of his death, May 24, 1930, Daniel Erickson was 80 years of age.  His wife had passed away two months earlier on March 15, 1930 at the age of 79,

Christina, the oldest daughter of Daniel Erickson was baptized and confirmed in the Ness Lutheran Church.  At the age of eighteen years, she married Olaus Nelson of Atwater, Minnesota.  Eleven children were born to them, all of whom reside in Minnesota.

Daniel's oldest son, Emanuel, lived his entire life on the Erickson farm and his family grew up there too.  Emanuel (nicknamed Push because he ran a pushbinder) was like his father in many ways.  He also participated in civic, school, and church organizations.  For many years he served on the Farmers' Elevator Board of Directors and the Washburn Township Board of Supervisors.  Closely attached all his life to his family, his home, and farming, he passed away in 1973 at the age of 88.  At the present time his wife, Nina, lives on the farm, and their son, Myron, a third generation descendant, continues the farm operation.  Their daughter, Esther Karas, resides with her family at Pembina, North Dakota.

The third child of Daniel Erickson, Emma, was born on February 25, 1886.  After her marriage to John Erickson on March 26, 1909, they resided in Cooperstown, during which time her husband was bookkeeper for the Hammer and Condy business.  Previously, he had been an employee of the Salzer Lumber Company.  For several years, they homesteaded near Rainy Butte in Slope County, returning to Cooperstown in 1923.  Two years later, they moved to a farm east of Cooperstown, which was located in SE quarter of Section 22 of Washburn Township.

To their marriage seven children were born, all of whom reside in Griggs County, except Florence Kammeyer of Soap Lake, Washington, and Darwin, who passed away on February 8, 1969.  Other children are:  

Borghild Stromme, Olga Thompson, Emma Langford, Lester, and John Edward.

Olaus, the fourth child, lived a very short life.  He was born September 20, 1887, and passed away at age seventeen on February 25, 1904 from appendicitis.

Former sheriff of Griggs County from 1930-1934 was John D. , the fifth child and third son of Daniel Erickson.  His term took place during the Prohibition Days and the Depression, all of which added to the difficulty of his work.

Following his service as sheriff, he returned to his farm located in the NW quarter of Section 34 in Washburn Township, which he had been operating since 1917.  In 1940, he and his family moved to Traill County where he farmed and also raised purebred Hereford cattle.  After seven years, he returned to his Griggs County farm and continued in the purebred cattle business.  For a number of years he was a member of the Farmers' Oil Board of Directors, and recognition was awarded to him for being an active member of the Knights of Pythias Lodge for fifty years.

On January 19, 1918, he was married to Marie Lillijord.  They had been married for about one year when she passed away of pneumonia, only three days after giving birth to their only child, Marie.  At the present time, Marie lives with her family on John D. 's home farm.

He was married to Hulda Nelson on November 16, 1925, and two children were born to this marriage:  

Glenna Mae of Lake Park, Minnesota, and John Eldred of Cooperstown.  Hulda passed away on March 25, 1928 of pneumonia at the age of 24.

John D. 's third marriage was to Clara Johnson on April 1, 1932.  Their only daughter, Janice, presently resides at Park River, North Dakota.  On July 7, 1970, Clara passed away at 76 years of age.

Since John D. 's death on February 14, 1968, his only son, John Eldred, has been carrying on the farm operation in Washburn and Sverdrup Townships, besides having farm interests at Binford.  His only son, Jonathan, is the youngest living heir who may carry on the family name of his great - grandfather, Daniel Erickson.

The youngest daughter of Daniel Erickson, Hilma, grew up in Washburn Township and was confirmed in Ness Lutheran Church.  She was married to Swen Olgaard on November 26, 1914, and since then she has lived in Cooperstown, North Dakota.  She is the only living child of Daniel Erickson.  During most of her lifetime her favorite pastimes have been sewing and quilt-making.

Hilma had five boys:  

Daniel of Fargo, North Dakota, Oswald (deceased December 2, 1965), and Ralph of Rapid City, South Dakota.  On September 23, 1925, twins were born to them:  

Kermit, who presently resides at Frankenmuth, Michigan, and Kenneth, who continues his father's plumbing business in Cooperstown.

Oscar, the youngest of the Daniel Erickson family, grew to manhood in Griggs County, with the exception of three years that he farmed in Steele County.  He lived and farmed in Griggs County (W1/2 of Section 33, Washburn Township) until his death (1942).

He was a lover of horses and was given his first pony at the age of eight by his brother Olaus who died a few hours later.  He had a special interest in horse-racing, and during the month of June, he traveled from county to county taking part in chariot, relay, harness, and running races at many county and state fairs.

Oscar and his wife Hattie had six children:  

Dolores, June, Olive, Laura Jean, and Oscar Duane.  A daughter, Elzada, died in infancy.

Oscar was killed at the age of 47 years.  Lightning struck the barn during a bad storm while he and his wife were milking.

Presently, his son, Oscar Duane (descendant of the third generation) continues the family farm operation, and he and his mother live on the home farm.
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O. P. FEIRING

O. P. Feiring, my father, was born at Lillehammer, Norway, in 1846.  At the age of 20, he came to the United States.  His first job was what was called the "River Drive,” the dangerous and hazardous work of keeping logs floating down the Mississippi River.

He wanted to learn the English language so he could reply to all the razzing he endured from the Frenchmen and others on the drive.

My mother, Beatta Melby, was born in Hurdalen, Norway.  Her parents came across the ocean in a sailing boat when she was 3 weeks old, and settled at Coon Prairie, Wisconsin.

When he was 28, father married my mother.  He had learned the making of shoes in Norway.  They planned to open a shoe shop in Ettrick, Wisconsin, but instead, father bought a farm at Pigeon Falls, Wisconsin.  Five children were born there.  The first two died in infancy.  Clara, Julia and I, Ida, were born there.

In 1883 our family moved to a place about a mile south of Sutton, Dakota Territory.  The claim was in Mabel Township and the post office was called Helena.  The two sons were born on the homestead - Oscar in 1886 and Melvin in 1888.

The first school on the homestead I attended was in a private home - the Charley Fredenberg home.  Clara Posey was the teacher.  Later, a one-room schoolhouse was built about a mile from our home.  This was also used for church services.  Reverend P. A. Thoreson was our pioneer minister.  We moved to Cooperstown after two winters in order to attend school.

At the Ayrea School, northeast of Cooperstown, our teachers were May Retzlaff, Mable Drinkwater and Mrs. John Cain.  The pupils I recall were the two Ayrea girls, Mattie and Jessie

 the three Feirings, Oscar, Melvin and myself

 the Simensons

 the Hagens, Torval, Ida and Christ

 the four Glaspell girls

 the Strommes, Gina and Edward

 and the Shepards.

A number of the Feiring family were elected to county offices in Griggs County.  Clara Feiring, a University of North Dakota graduate, was elected county superintendent of school and held that office for six years.  She married Benjamin Tufte who was states attorney at that time.  Their son, Oswald, was superintendent of Cooperstown High School for a number of years.  Sister Julia married Oscar Hoff who was elected treasurer of the county.

I was deputy county superintendent of schools for one year and during one vacation before starting school at the university.  I graduated from University of North Dakota in 1907 and married Oliver Hoff in 1909.  He died at Rochester, Minnesota, in 1930.  Our two sons were born - Bjarne in 1910 and Hollis in 1915.  My husband was manager of the Sutton Mercantile store for a number of years.

The older brother, Oscar Feiring, moved to western North Dakota in the New England area and farmed there for 30 years.  His daughter, Beatrice Saldin, lives in Spokane, Washington, where she is a home economics teacher.  The younger brother, Melvin Feiring, took up a homestead in Alberta, Canada.  He lived there until he was called home on account of his father's prolonged illness.  Father died in 1916 at the age of 71.

The war years came on and members of the Feiring family served their country.  Oswald Tufte worked in a war plant in Seattle, Washington.  Oscar's son, William, served in the Medical Corps from 1942 to late in 1945.  The younger son, Melvin, was killed in action in the fall of 1942 at Guadalcanal.  Hollis Hoff served in the Air Corps from April 1942 to February 1946.  He is now an information officer for Colorado State University in radio and TV work.

"So sweet, so sad, The days that are no more, " says the poet.

Ida (Feiring) Hoff
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THOR A. HAGEN FAMILY

Thor A. Hagen (1841-1922) was an early arrival in Sverdrup Township.  Born at Hedalen, Valdres, south central Norway, he married Ingeborg Haugen (18481932) there in 1868.  His lumber business suffered heavy losses following the sudden rise of Russia as a lumber-exporting nation.

So it was that in 1880 Thor and Ingeborg and their five small daughters sailed for America, the land of promise.  In a short memoir written fifty years later, Ingeborg recalled tying the girls together with a rope to keep them from getting separated on the streets of "Filadelfja,” as she spelled it.

They spent the winter in Iowa with Thor Hagen's sister, Mrs. Gunhild Thompson, and Mrs. Hagen and the girls remained in Iowa while he set out that spring for Dakota Territory.  By the time Sverdrup Township was surveyed that summer, Thor Hagen had picked out land and had started a dugout for a temporary home.  In late summer Ingeborg and the children traveled by train from Iowa to Dakota, and stopped for a while at Portland with relatives.  Thor Hagen walked to Portland and brought the two older girls, Mary, 11, and Belle, 9, back with him.  The girls later recalled the long walk; just as they became so tired it seemed impossible to go on, their father would "find" a piece of candy under a bush for them, and they forgot how tired they were.  The girls stayed for a while with families near the homestead and helped tend the babies and the cows to earn their way.

In September, Thor borrowed a wagon and team of oxen and brought Ingeborg, Annie, Jennie and Thea to their new home near the "Sjaen" river.

The next arrival was Arne, born October 8 in the log cabin of Mr. and Mrs. John Torfin, neighbors who were already somewhat established.

The first son and first Yankee of the family, Arne lived longer in Griggs County than any of his sisters and brothers.  With the exception of a few years in McKenzie and McLean counties, he farmed near Cooperstown almost until his death on his eightieth birthday.  His daughter, Eugenia (Duna) Frigaard and her family are, in 1975, the only Hagen descendants still living in Griggs County.

Five more children were born to Thor and Ingeborg in America, including twin girls who died in early childhood.  The family grew and eventually prospered and in 1896 they moved from the homestead to a farm in Washburn Township two miles east of Cooperstown.  The two-story house just north of the highway became a stopping place for travelers in snowstorms, for newcomers from Valdres, and for relatives and friends who came to stay a while.  It was also the site of frequent large-scale hospitality.  Weddings, birthdays and holidays were all celebrated in style seldom seen now.

Thor Hagen died in 1922, and thus did not live to see the good times end in the disaster of 1929 and the thirties, but by the time Ingeborg died in 1932 it was all gone:  

the farm and the house she loved were no longer hers.

The family:  

Mary (Marie) 1868-1926) married Thor Hetager (1869-1935), son Torolf (1894-1904).  Second marriage to E. C. Butler (1844-1932), came to Griggs County in 1882.  Butler was in business with B. A. Upton in Mardell 1882-1883, raised blooded Shorthorn cattle and was named to the Saddle and Sirloin Hall of Fame, North Dakota State University.  Butler's children were William, (1873-1955), son of the first marriage, married Idella Wilson.  Children:  

Edward and Mrs. H. C. (Frances) Swanson.  Clarence, (1908-1970), son of the second marriage, and his wife, Avis, had two daughters, Janice and Janell.

Belle (Ingeborg, 1871-1956) married, 1895, Mons.  H. Hagen who died in Norway in 1936.  Children:  

Hector, 1896, Hester 1898-, Ingmar.  Hector died in childhood.  Hester married Carroll Friswold (1897-1971) of Cooperstown

 son Carroll, Jr. Ingmar married Blanche Allison, 2 sons.  Belle married second Dana Winslow in Minneapolis, later moved to California.

Annie (1875-1952) married William Moodie (18731960).  Daughter Florence married Art Sell, one son William.

Jennie (Johanna, 1878-1927) married Grant E. (Eddie) Snyder.  Son Thorman, (1908-ca. 1936) and his wife, Nora, had four children.

Thea (1879-1955) married first Benj.  A. Upton (1879-1904).  Daughter Thelma (1902-1975).  Thea married second Harmon C. Smith (1888-).  Sons Dallas, Jerome.

Arne (1881-1961) married, 1913, Ida Grunfossen (1890-1957), a teacher from Lowry, Minnesota, farmed in Washburn Township.  Children:  

Mrs. Ralph (Priscilla) Clausen, Tacoma, Washington, children Susan, Maryalis, Charles

 Mrs. C. L. (Norma) Friswold, Tujunga, California, Shelly and James

 Mrs. G. J. (Eugenia "Duna") Frigaard, Cooperstown, children Lisa, Karl, Mark

 Arlene, Whittier, California, married first George Kolstad, son David, married second Vernon Fisher.

Christopher (1886-1953) married Esther M. Olson (1896-1918) of Cooperstown, son John T. (1916-).

Torval (1888-1972) married Anna Gronvold (1890-) daughter of pioneer missionary pastor O. C. Gronvold and Mrs. Gronvold, a Hagen relative.  No children.

Ida (1891-1968) singer, writer, artist, lecturer, married, 1915, John Wilfred Pitman, second married Clarence Marshall.  No children.
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EDWARD GILBERTSON

Edward Gilbertson was born in Norway January 14, 1897, the sixth in a family of seven children:  

Gabe, Inger, Marie, John, Gunhild, Edward and Mattie.  Their parents were Rasmus and Gunhild Uhlen (Later changed to Gilbertson).

His oldest brother, Gabe, was nineteen when he left for America in 1903.  The rest of the family followed in 1904.  They came to Marathon County in Wisconsin.

In 1907 his brother Gabe went to Minneapolis and became a barber.  His oldest sister was married.  The rest of the family moved to North Dakota in 1912.  In the spring of 1913 they rented a farm in Steele County.  Edward's father died in 1919.  He then farmed with his brother, John, in Section 24, in Washburn Township.  In 1926 Edward bought a farm in Steele County.  After the death of Edward's brother, John, they bought his place and moved to Section 23 in Washburn Township.  Their mother died in 1930.

On June 2, 1936 Edward was married to Ellen H. Gilbertson of Chisholm, Minnesota.  Ellen graduated from the Gospel Missionary Union Bible School in Kansas City, Missouri, and worked in unchurched areas in northern Minnesota until her marriage.

Edward and Ellen have one son and three daughters.  Carl Edward (1938), Elaine Gladys (1940)

 Ruth Ann (1943), and Janice Mae (1947).

Edward and Ellen Gilbertson live in retirement at 3401 Circle Drive NE, Cedar Rapids, Iowa.
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THREE HOMESTEADS 1881

In 1881, three families from Ettrick, Wisconsin came to homestead on the land near where the Ness Church now stands, in Washburn Township.  They took along everything they owned - except the farm, which they rented to friends.  They rented two or three freight cars, brought all livestock, pigs, chickens and one sheep.  The families boarded another train that took them as far as Blanchard, North Dakota.  There they had to unload all their freight belongings and drive to their homestead in Washburn Township.  Lizzie, 10-year-old daughter of Syver Halvorson, led the one sheep from Blanchard to the homestead, which was between 40 and 50 miles.  They had to stop one night at a farmhouse.  The ladies and children were invited to sleep in the house and the men slept in the barn.  In the morning they were told there had recently been deaths from diphtheria in the home.  If they had known they could have driven further that night.  When they came to the homesteads, the only house that was completed was the Elling Nelson family's.  This is where they stayed.  After a few days some of the children came down with diphtheria.  Nelson's daughter and two daughters of Syver Halvorson's died.

OLE HALVORSON, his wife, Petra, and their one year old son, Anton, and Mrs. Halvorson's father, a widower, was one family.  Ole homesteaded on the quarter straight south of Ness Church.  His father-in-law also filed claim on one quarter in the Section.  They built a little log house on that for the older gentleman.  Ole Halvorson donated 2 acres for a church site and cemetery and one rod a mile long, north and south of the church, for a road.  Ole lived on his homestead until his death in 1907 and is buried in the Ness Cemetery.  His family moved to Montana in 1910.  There were nine children:  

Anton, Halvor, Laura, Bertha, Syver, Oscar, Henry, Melvin and Pauline.

SYVER HALVORSON, wife Anna and children had a sod house just west of where the Ness church now stands.  Syver died in 1883 and left his widow with a heavy load to bear with four children to raise.  Another child, Severina, was born one month after her father passed away.  How well Anna Halvorson managed could be a story in itself as the land is still in the family.  Her only son, Halvor, left home quite young to go into business - real estate and banking.  There were four girls

 Lizzie

 Mary, who became Mrs. Arne Arneson and mother of Albin and Clarence Arneson, Lillian Hilstad and Mildred Berger

 Caroline

 and Severina.  One child born before Lizzie died in infancy and Laura and Sina died from diphtheria in 1881.  The family lived just west of the Ness church until 1896 when they moved one mile northwest to where the buildings now stand.

One day a visitor came to Mrs. Halvorson and introduced himself as Charlie Swenson.  He was hungry and looking for work.  Anna Halvorson fed him a meal - told him she was looking for a hired man.  Charlie was hired and lived with the family until his death in 1927.

The family lived on the farm until they moved to Cooperstown in 1917.  Caroline died in 1923

 Halvor died in 1926

 Mrs. Halvorson and Lizzie died in 1930.  Severina worked in banks in the area until 1946 when she moved to Minneapolis where she resided until her death in 1971.

The ELLING NELSON family homestead was in the SW quarter of Section 36.  Besides their one daughter, who died from diphtheria in 1881, they had another daughter and one son, Peter, who owned and operated a hard - ware store in Cooperstown for many years.
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SVEIN O. HOMME

Svein O. Homme was born March 6, 1856 in Seterdalen, Norway near Chritiansand.  His parents were Ole O. Homme and Aase Dale.  Mr. Homme came to America in 1870 at fourteen years of age with his family.  They made Granite Falls, Minnesota their home.

In the spring of 1882, Svein came to North Dakota where there was a boom at that time.  Mayville was the nearest town he could reach by train since his destination was the Sheyenne River, five miles east of what is now the city of Cooperstown.  He traveled 32 miles on a pair of skis, which he made in Mayville.  The only land - marks to guide him were Section stakes.  His claim was the northeast quarter of Section 22-146-58 in what is now Washburn Township.

After staking his claim, he started walking back to Mayville.  He got to a sod shanty with his feet so swollen he could not remove his boots.  Next day he arrived at Mayville and caught the last train for Fargo, which did not run again for three weeks because of high waters.

In the latter part of May, Mr. Homme and another man hired an immigrant train car from Benson, Minnesota to Portland, North Dakota.  They took their farm machinery and livestock to their homesteads arriving June 1, 1882.  Everything was black since there had just been a heavy frost.

Mr. Homme hauled lumber from Portland, North Dakota with oxen and built a 14 by 16 house, 8 feet high.  This room is still the living room used on the farm where Albin Carlson now lives.

The town of Mardell, about one and a half miles from his claim, was started that same spring.  This is where he got his provisions.  He used oxen the first five years and his machinery consisted of a walking plow, drill, drag, self-binder, mower and hay-rake.  He raised wheat, oats and later barley.  He received 400 to 75~ a bushel for wheat.

Mr. Homme married Belle Norgard in Yellow Medicine County, Minnesota.  They had two children, Willie Olai and Agnes.  His wife and children all died at the turn of the century.

In 1905 Anton B. Carlson rented the farm and later bought it from Mr. Homme.  Mr. Homme moved to Granite Falls, Minnesota and later remarried.  He died some time in the 1930's.
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EDWIN IVERSON FAMILY

Edwin Iverson was born in South Dakota, August 15, 1889.  Millie Arneson was born in Romness Township on July 25, 1884.  Ed and Millie were married in Grand Forks in 1910.  They homesteaded near Bow Island, Alberta, Canada.  Crops were poor and the living hard so with their two small sons, Roy Maynard, born July 5, 1911 and Arthur Levi, born January 19, 1913, they moved by team and wagon to Montana.  There their third son, Aldo Clifford, was born on November 22, 1914.  (Arthur Levi Iverson died in 1935).

In 1915 Ed began working for Hammer-Condy Company in Cooperstown.  The next year he started farming.  The family lived on a number of farms including the E. S. Hamilton, Albert Stromme, Ayrea, Sola, and Martin Lunde farms.  In 1939 Ed and son, Roy, bought the Fluto farm.  In 1943 Roy married Clara Johnson, who had grown up in Canton, Ohio.  Roy and Clara farmed the R. W. Frazier (Young) farm one year, the Smith farm in Steele County two years.  In 1946 Ed sold out his half of the farm to Roy and Ed and Millie moved to Cooperstown.

Millie Iverson died in 1958.  In 1959 Ed married Ellen Arneson of Portland, North Dakota She was the widow of Arne Arneson, Millie's cousin.

Roy and Clara Iverson were the parents of three sons:  

Larry Allen, born September 12, 1945, Lynn Roger, born January 26, 1952 and Lee Thomas born June 9, 1954.

Larry married Janyce Zabel in 1971.  They have two daughters, Nikki Jo (1973), and Nikki Jo (1975).  Larry and Jan farm the home farm.

Lynn helped Larry on the farm for a year after his father, Roy's, fatal heart attack in 1970.  He married Ardella Ernie in 1973.  They have one son, Troy Daniel born in 1975.

Lynn and Lee will be partners in Iverson Brothers Automotive.
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JOHN IVERSON

John Iverson was born at Hardanger, Norway in 1879.  He came to Griggs County in 1904.  Returned to Norway in 1907 but decided to settle here in 1910.  His brother-in-law and sister, Mr. and Mrs. Gunder P. Aga, were living in Cooperstown (in the house owned by Del Bairds).  They traded their house in town, because taxes were getting too high, for the 40 acres with small house and barn in Section 27, Washburn Township, owned by John E. (Lumberman) Johnson in 1908.  In 1913 John purchased this plot from the Agas and they moved to Minnesota.

John's occupation, besides farming, was stonemason.  He tells of laying the foundations for many of the buildings for residents living on both sides of the Sheyenne River in Washburn Township.  In laying the foundations, it meant hauling and splitting the rock, mixing the mortar and all this work being done by hand and by himself.

He had three brothers and three sisters in his family.  One sister, 94, is living near Chicago.  All his brothers and sisters lived to approximately 90 years of age or older.  When asked what contributed to the longevity of their lives, he smiled and replied - "Must have been all the smoked herring and potatoes they ate when youngsters”.

In 1955 he sold his farm in Section 27 to return to Norway to make his home.  After two trips back to Norway, he decided it didn't seem like home there any more so returned to Griggs County in 1958 and settled on a little plot of land in Section 23, Washburn Township where he is now living at the age of 96 years.
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BIOGRAPHY OF BEN JOHNSON

Ben Johnson, son of John and Kari Engen was born December first 1967 in Allamakee County, Iowa near Dekorah.

They left their home because of cinch bugs, which had destroyed their crops for several years.  They decided on North Dakota, as there were free homesteads to be gotten here.

Ben Johnson arrived by lumber wagon in Fargo on April 20, 1881 and up to Griggs County on June 20.  They had been unable to cross the Red River because of flood conditions.

The first few years they were here, they traveled by oxen to Valley City for their supplies.  This usually took a week.

Their first home was a dugout in a hill with a wooden roof.  This consisted of a room where they both ate and slept.

Ben Johnson married Ingre Gurina Midstokke of Kopervik, Norway on the 7th of January 1909 at Sharon, North Dakota Four children were born, namely

 Mrs. Wallace Grube (Cora), deceased, Mrs. Art Wagle (Inga), (Alf), deceased, and Mrs. Ansgar Vigen (Gladys).
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J. F. (FRED) JENSEN

J. F. (Fred) Jensen came to Cooperstown from Nelson, Minnesota about 1909 and worked on the H. P. Hammer farm.  He met Alma Peterson, who was working at the Henry Nelson home.  She had come to the United States from Sweden when she was sixteen years of age.  They were married April 2, 1911 in Cooperstown and lived on a farm five miles south west of Finley.  One time on a trip to Cooperstown the wagon axles got dry and having no grease available they used molasses they had with them and it served the purpose.

They lived on different farms in the area.  During 1923 to 1925 they lived on the Stansbury farm, two miles west of Pickert.  Here they farmed five quarters of land and during harvest Fred would stay in the field from daylight to dark and Maynard, his son, would bring out fresh horses to exchange teams and also bring meals for Fred.  During the 'dry thirties' they lived on Section 15, Cooperstown Township and had to haul water from the Sheyenne River to keep their cattle.

They bought the Chester Piatt farm, Washburn Township, south of Ueland Dam, in 1940.  They moved to Cooperstown in 1946, remaining there the rest of their lives.  They had four children:  

Maynard (1912), married Edith Elverum in 1935.  They purchased the Andrew Brosten farm, Sverdrup Township in 1942 and are still living there.  They have five children, Richard, Darrel, Marlowe, Larry and Elizabeth

 Mrs. Martin (Berniece) Turnquist (1916), her husband served as rural mail carrier on Route 1 out of Cooperstown until retiring.  They had three children, Irene, Allan, and Terrel

 Virgil (1919-1975), married Myrtle Rickford, 1940.  They had two boys, Jerry and Dennis.  She passed away in 1946.  He married Agnes Stokka in 1948.  They lived on the Jensen farm in Washburn Township.  They had seven children, Aurel, Audry, Merlyn, Virginia, Marilyn, Joan and Wanda

 Mrs. Harry (Doris) Walen (1925), they live on their farm near Glenfield in Foster County.  They had three children, Vivian, Irvin, and Karen.

Mrs. Jensen was killed in a car-train accident in 1962 and Fred passed away in 1964.
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CARL JOHNSON ENGEN

Carl Johnson Engen was born at Decorah, Iowa, March 15, 1869.  He came to Griggs County in 1881 with his parents John and Karri Johnson Engen, who took a homestead in Washburn Township.  They had a family of eight children

 two small boys died of diphtheria about a year after coming to this area.  It was difficult to find a doctor; often they were too late.  There were no churches established at that time, so the two brothers were buried in small cemetery near the Nels Opheim farm.  Ben Johnson, the second oldest son became the owner, of his parents homestead.

Carl Johnson was married to Gunda Olson in 1898.  She was the daughter of Lars Olson and Carrie Olson who came to this country from Sweden.  There were three sons and three daughters in this family.  Gunda was born in 1874.  They had lived in Anoka, Minnesota before coming to North Dakota.  Gunda's oldest brother died there.  Lewis Olson, the youngest brother was a mail carrier on Route I out of Cooperstown for many years.  Gunda worked for the Peter Nelgaard family before she was married.

Carl and Gunda Johnson settled in Washburn Township, between the Bridge school and the Thor Auren home, in a log cabin.  Lars Olson had a claim or homestead in Section 24 of Washburn Township.  This was the home of the Carl Johnson family for many years.  There were seven children.  They are:  

Cora (Mrs. William Peterson), Emma Johnson, Thelma (Mrs. William Clausen), all of Cooperstown, North Dakota

 Ida Johnson of Lakota, N - Dak -, Lawrence and Robert Johnson of Vancouver, Washington, and Mrs. Bernice Fjeld of Bellinghan, Washington.

Carl Johnson died January 1952, and Gunda Johnson passed away in August 1957.  Both were buried at the Ness cemetery.
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PER PERSON KINDSO

Per Person Kindso, was born November 22, 1855 at Vermeland, Sweden.  He spent all of his childhood in Sweden.  On October 4, 1878 he married Ellen Halvorson.

In 1880, with their son, Martin, they left for America, coming to Sacred Heart, Minnesota.  They lived there two years.  They came to Dakota Territory on June 24, 1882 where they took a homestead on Section 24, in Washburn Township.

Their first house was a one room log and sod cabin combination in the hillside.  Later, when lumber came in, they built a two-room house and then again, a large, more modern home, which still stands.

Their only fuel was wood.  They would chop great piles of it, which was hauled from the Sheyenne River to their home every fall.  At first, Portland was the nearest town where they could get supplies, so every once in a while all the settlers would go together to town.  They went in wagons drawn by oxen.

The nearest school was the one at Mardell.  Mr. and Mrs. Kindso were among the founders of the Swedish Hofva Lutheran Church.  This church is still in existence and is located about eleven miles east of Cooperstown.

Mr. and Mrs. Kindso were the parents of five children:  

Martin, Hilda, Minnie, Oscar and Effie.  Martin died when he was twenty-seven years old and Mrs. Ernest Nelson (Minnie) died when she was twenty-nine years old.  Oscar died a few hours after birth.

Mr. Kindso died February 29, 1920 when a blood vessel burst.  He was buried with his two sons and daughter in the cemetery of the Hofva Church.  Mrs. Kindso continued to live with her youngest daughter, Effie and son-in-law, John H. Anderson, who had come from Sweden in 1912.  Mrs. Kindso died in 1938.

John and Effie were the parents of six children:  

Mrs. Harry (Helen) Freitag, Mrs. Kermit (Eunice) Owens, Clifford, Mrs. Ken (Alice) Klein, Betty and Gladys.

Hilda married Albert Anderson, and they farmed in Steele County.  Albert and Hilda Anderson were the parents of nine children:  

Mrs. Elmer (Clara) Wendlick, Mrs. Fred (Elvira) Paul, Mrs. Gust (Agnes) Olson, Mrs. Merlin (Mabel) Olson, Inez, Arthur, Mrs. Melvin (Stella) Vossetieg, Edna Anderson (deceased) and Clarence Anderson.

Minnie Kindso was married to Ernest Nelson from Raub, North Dakota They had three children:  

Mrs. Donald (Elsie) Wendlick, Clarence Nelson and Mrs. Helen Snyder.
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KNUDT J. MONSON

Knudt J. Monson was born in Alamakie County, Iowa October 26, 1870.  He came to Greenview Township, Steele County with his parents in 1881.  He married Hannah Rismon on July 28, 1904.  After their marriage, they lived in a log house on Section 36, Romness Township.  This was on the farm where the Odin Knutson family now resides.  It was a large log house that had been built by John Dahl.  There were five rooms in the house (three rooms downstairs and two rooms upstairs) plus an entrance hall and closet space.

The Monsons later bought a farm in Section 12, Washburn Township.  Knudt Monson died in 1934.  After his death the family remained on the farm.  Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth (Wilmina Sutter) Monson and family have operated the farm since that time.  Keith Monson is now residing there.

There were six children in the Knudt Monson family:  

Alice (1905-1918)

 Theodore (1906-1972)

 Mrs. Albin (Hazel) Arneson, 1909, Cooperstown

 Kenneth, 1912, Cooperstown

 Mrs. Edgar (Edna) Sanger, 1915, Bell, California

 and Raymond, 1918, Dazey.

Mrs. Hannah Monson died in 1955.
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O. MONS MONSON

O. Mons Monson was born 1869 in Alamakee County, Decorah, Iowa.  He came with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Evan Monson, to a homestead in Greenview Township, near the Griggs-Steele County line.  He spent his boyhood years in this area and played the fiddle at many neighborhood gatherings.  He went to Hampden, North Dakota where he acquired land.  He married Anna Jensen from Norway.  There were four boys in the family:  

Allen, Arthur, Kenneth A. and Lloyd.  Mr. Monson died in March, 1926 and Mrs. Monson died a short time later, leaving the four boys, the oldest being twelve years old.

Allen stayed with friends at Hampden; Arthur lived with relatives at Northwood; Kenneth and Lloyd at Cooperstown.  All four boys served in the Armed Forces during World War II. 

After their discharges from the Service, two of them began farming in Washburn Township.  Kenneth A. and Mrs. (Mae Haugen) Monson live in Section 14.  They have two children

 Roger, Finley and Leona, Bakersfield, California Lloyd and Mrs. (Olive Erickson) Monson reside in Cooperstown and farm in Washburn Township.  Arthur resides in Cooperstown and Mr. and Mrs. Allen Monson reside at Vallecito, California
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MARTIN AND HATTIE OPHEIM

Martin Opheim came to Griggs County with his family in 1879.  They traveled by wagons, which were pulled by oxen from Decorah, Iowa.

Hattie Stromme was born in Norway and came to this country with her parents, Peter and Elsie Stromme, when she was ten years old.

Hattie Stromme and Martin Opheim were married at Sherbrooke, in Steele County in 1899.  Eight children were born to them, two now deceased and six living.

Their first home was on a farm located east of Cooperstown, which is known as the Gust Heinz farm.  Later they moved to the Sheyenne River where Kenneth S. Monson now lives.  The school was just across the ravine from their house on the bank of the river.

Later the Opheims moved to the Cooper Ranch west of Cooperstown and lived there until 1922 when they moved into Cooperstown.

Mr. Opheim died in 1961 and Mrs. Opheim in 1966.  Both were buried in the Cooperstown cemetery.
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OMUND NELSON OPHEIM

Omund Nelson Opheim was born September 29, 1829 in Norway.  He and his wife, Kari, came from Decorah, Iowa to Dakota Territory in 1879 and settled on Section 12, Washburn Township.  They were the first settlers in Griggs County.  Many of the early settlers came to the Opheim home and from there spread out to their own homestead sites.  The log cabin built by the Opheims and now located on the courthouse lawn in Cooperstown, was the first home in Griggs County.  The lime used for the house was obtained by burning limestone found on the premises.  Their first crops were sown by hand, cragged by a homemade drag, and cut with a flail.  This farm remained in the Opheim ownership for ninety-five years.  Omund and Kari Opheim had two children, Nels J. and Martha.  Martha married Gustaf Olson.  They had five children:  

Johnny, Oscar, Martin, Katrina (Anderson), and Clara (Johanson).  Mr. Olson left his family and Martha and children went home to live with her mother and brother, Nels.  Due to Martha's health, the grandmother raised the children except Clara who was raised by the Ole Bolkans.  Nels J. Opheim married Ingeborg Larson Haugse in 1893.  They had three sons and one daughter

 Omund Norman (18941970) married Alice Pramhus

 George Edward (18951963)

 Carl (1900-1952) married Helen Wohlman.  They have two children:  

Carl, Seattle and Mrs. Richard (Karen) Stone, Cheyenne, Wyoming

 Clara (1898), Valley City, married William Bostrom.  They have two sons, Claris William and Floyd, both of Valley City.

Source Page 487

BEN PAULSEN

Records show that abstract of title to all of Section 3146-58, were filed in 1883.

Built on the land originally was a small three-room house, which had been put up in the late 1800's.  Sells added on to the original house in 1904.  This is the present Paulsen home, a four-bedroom, two-story frame structure.

In 1946 Jens and Mary Paulsen of Finley, North Dakota, bought the farm.  They rented it to their daughter and son-in-law, Joe and Nina Stair, now of Denbigh, North Dakota

The Ben Paulsen family came to Finley, North Dakota, April 5, 1948, moving their belongings from Wyoming by train and a van.

Ben, Elizabeth, Lyle, Richard and Marian moved to a farm near what was known as the Sherbrooke area in Steele County.

In 1952 the family moved to the farm in Washburn Township, seven miles northeast of Cooperstown.

Ben had grown up on a farm three miles east of Finley, North Dakota His wife, Elizabeth, had been raised on a farm near Agency, Missouri.  They met and married in Wyoming.

Elizabeth had two sons by a former marriage.  Her eldest son, Delmer Lyle Piggott, married Freddra Rose Burr, granddaughter of the late Dr. Fred Rose, a Cooperstown dentist for many years.  They have two children, Rebecca Marie and Cynthia Ruth Melissa.

The second son, Lewis Richard Piggott, lives in Kellogg, Idaho.  He married the former Eleonore Kraft, in Germany.  They have two children, Elizabeth and Donald Richard.

Ben and Elizabeth's oldest daughter is Marian Kathleen, born in Cheyenne, Wyoming.  She is an Englis her husband, Montie A. Tesky, is formerly of Venturia, North Dakota.  They have one son, Brant.

Janet Fay Paulsen, youngest of the four children, was born at Cooperstown and married Steven F. Zimprich of Cooperstown.  They have two children, Kelly James and Sarah Thearesia.  Steve and Janet live on the home farm where Steve farms with his father-in-law.

For years, previous to 1952, sheep were raised on the farm.  From 1952 until 1957 the farm sustained a herd of Milking -Shorthorn cattle, but scarcity of water and more land put into grain eventually resulted in their sale.

From 1957, for the next 17 years, the Paulsens raised turkeys on the farm, providing their water from many shallow wells.  In 1974 a water line was run 9,500 feet to the Sheyenne River at a cost of about $15,000; providing potentially 125 gallons per minute of good drinking water.

The first year, the turkey investment amounted to only $1,000.  But through the years, three turkey sheds were added and flocks, while they varied in number each year, increased to as high as 25, 000 in one year.

On June 13, 1974, a fire caused the brooding barn for the turkeys to burn down.  In 1975 turkey farming was discontinued.
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MATHIAS FALKENHAUG SIMENSON

Mathias Falkenhaug Simenson (2-26-49/5-21-02) and Pernille Hulett (1-31-44/4-5-15) were married in Norway on November 17, 1871.  In July 1883 they, with their sons, Lewis, Syver, Emil, Carl, and Pernille's father, Lars Mikkelson, arrived in the United States from Ringsaker, Hedemark, Norway to reside with Pernille's brother, Andrew Larson, living in Sverdrup Township until they could establish a home of their own.  Andrew, born in Norway in 1846, had emigrated to this country in July 1869.  It was at his homestead shanty that the Simensons' fifth son, Axel, was born on May 29, 1884.

The Simensons lived in Steele County for a few years where their youngest son, Elmer, was born on March 19, 1887.

Andrew Larson was one of the first settlers in his neighborhood having squatted on the NW quarter of Section 12 in Sverdrup Township before it came into market.  He was living there on June 15-30, 1881, the date the Township was surveyed.  He continued to live there until he became ill and was taken to the Simenson home in the townsite of Mardell to be cared for at which place he passed away on February 1, 1892.  He was buried in the Mardell (Opheim) Cemetery.

It was in 1892 the family left Mardell and moved two miles NE of Cooperstown to make their home.  The family joined the Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church in Cooperstown on December 25, 1896.  Mr. Simenson received his homestead patent on the E1/2E1/2 of Section 18, Washburn Township on May 31, 1899.

Syver died on December 31, 1900.  Carl left for Alaska in the fall of 1906 and disappeared in the spring of 1907.  States Attorney Tufte went to Alaska to see if he could uncover any information about him.  After a thorough search it was his opinion that Carl went out in a boat to fish for salmon and was drowned, as his cabin was just as he had left it with nothing touched, but his boat was missing.

After the death of her husband, Pernille, with the aid of her sons, continued to operate the farm.  She passed away April 5, 1915 at age 71.

Elmer never married, lived most of his life in the Cooperstown and Finley areas and died December 30, 1958.

Axel Simenson (5-29-84/1-10-61) and Mina Melby, daughter of Olaf and Serine Dahl Melby, were married in 1911; farmed in Eddy County for a time and then moved to the family home farm in Washburn Township and continued to farm for nearly fifty years.

They had six sons:  

Selmer (9-17-12/7-7-60) was stationed in stateside military hospitals during WW II while in the United States Army.  Olger worked in the Boeing Shipyards and as a farm employee until his death in 1975.  Alvin (2-21-15/3-17-67) married Marvelle Olson in 1944.  Their only child, Leila Kay, Mrs. Charles Mathews, lives in Michigan.  Carl married Lorraine Boelke, lives in Kent, Washington, was employed at a wholesale grocery outlet and is now retired.  Ralph (1019-21/12-14-73) was employed in the Seattle area for many years.  Melvin (6-30-24/5-4-48) served in the United States Army in the South Pacific area during WW II, enlisted in the United States Navy, and returned to the states and re-enlisted in the United States Army shortly before he was killed in an auto accident.

Mina Simenson, born 6-10-90, now resides in a nursing home in McVille, North Dakota.
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EMIL SIMENSON

Emil Simenson (9-29-77 - 5-17-54) married Hanna Skramstad, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Martinius Skramstad, on November 26, 1903.  They were parents of two children, Maynard (11-28-05 - 9-12-27) and Earl.  Hanna died April 13, 1911 and was buried on her 37th birthday.

Earl married Mary Iola Nugent at Sturtevant, Wisconsin in 1934.  She died February 15, 1968.  Their only child, Marcia Rose, is married to Anthony Watson.  In December 1969 Earl and the former Helen Ayrea Mitchell married and now reside in Racine, Wisconsin.

Anna Hanson (9-8-84 - 1-19-46) born at Altern, Helgeland, Norway, came in 1910 to the United States with her sister-in-law, Mrs. John Johnson Altern, nephew, Olaf, and niece, Helga, on the ship "United States" to join her brother, John, who was working in the Cooperstown area as a carpenter.  Mrs. Altern became ill, returned to Norway with her husband and son, where she died.  John returned to the United States but settled in New Jersey with another brother.  Anna and Helga remained in the Cooperstown area.  Helga married Christ Olson and they moved to Williams County to farm.  She is widowed and lives in Wild Rose, North Dakota

Emil Simenson and Anna Hanson were married at Moorhead, Minnesota, and farmed in Washburn Township.  Their four children, Arthur, Ruth and Lillie live in Cooperstown, and Roy, with his wife, the former Irene Soma, live in Ball Hill Township.  Their two sons, Jerry, his wife, the former Connie Voeller, and Rodney are employed and live in Valley City.
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OLE SKRIEN

There were two things in Norway in the 1800's that caused many of the Norwegians to leave their homeland and seek property in America.  One reason was an ancient law by which land passed from one family member to another.  It prohibited the common man from buying land.  The other reason was the oppressive tax situation, which kept him forever shackled to the landowner.  After hearing many good reports from those who had gone to America earlier, whole families left their homeland for a land where they could own land, change their occupations if they so desired, and have a voice in determining their own government.

Ole Johnson Skrien had served in the Norwegian Army from 1866-1871.  On May 5, 1874, he left Bergen, Norway, at the age of 27 years for America.  His ship docked in New York 3 weeks later.

Kari Sanden, Ole's future wife, came to America with her family in 1871.  Because of strong headwinds the trip took them thirteen weeks.  They both settled in Iowa.  In March 1878, Ole Johnson Skrien and Kari Sanden were married.  In 1880, they and their one daughter came to Dakota Territory settling in Section 26, Washburn Township.  They made the trip by covered wagon, drawn by two oxen, having to drive their cattle alongside.

Three years later, Ole Skrien had broken 32 acres, had raised 215 bushels of wheat and 160 bushels of oats.  They had good crops for 3 years but a drought for the next few years caused him to work part-time for the railroad.  After 'drying out' for 10 years, Mr. and Mrs. Skrien and four children decided to sell their land and move to Minnesota.

Ole and Kari Skrien celebrated their sixtieth wedding anniversary at Ulen, Minnesota in 1938.  There were seven children in the family.  Mrs. Skrien died in 1938 and Mr. Skrien died in 1941 at the age of 96 years.
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THE G. E. SOLA FAMILY

Gustav E. Sola emigrated to the United States from Norway in 1905.  He came to the Greenland farm, south of Cooperstown, and worked for Martin Lunde, Sr. His sister, Marie (Mrs. Per Lunde) had arrived earlier living in the area also.  A brother, Enok, came here later but returned to his native country.  Another sister, Tomine (Mrs. Torval Haaland) lived in this area also but later moved back to Norway with her family.

Previous to his arrival here, he had been a sailor in the Norwegian merchant marine.  He made three trips by sailboat to America going to Three Rivers, Canada via the St. Laurence seaway.  He was married November 27, 1909 to Alvilde Bue, who had also emigrated from Norway in 1907.  Her brother, Carl Bue, had been here some time.  She worked in the Amund Gilbertson home.  To their union were born five children, namely:  

Maynard (deceased) was married to Alice Lende, A Griggs County native.  Three children.  Borghild married Aldo Iverson, from Griggs County.  3 children.  Arnold married Betty Tweed of Binford, Griggs County.  2 children.  Freda married Palmer Lunde whose parents, the Jens Lundes, lived in Griggs County.  3 children.  Esther married John J. Haugen (deceased) of Hannaford.  Later remarried to Kenneth Harvey of Cooperstown.  2 children.

Gustav Sola was born at Stavanger, Norway and Alvilde was born at Hardanger, Norway emigrating to Griggs County and living in the area until their 1950 and 1967 deaths respectively.  Mr. Sola was very active in the Democratic Party, served on school, county, and Township boards.  He served on the OPA board during World War II and took an active interest on the hospital board when it was organized.  He also worked with the churches in the area, which included the Ness church where he and Alvilde were married.  He owned a farm in Steele County and in 1918 was in the last draft to serve when World War I ended in November.

He had the experience of horse and buggy days, driving Overland and Elgin cars on narrow, muddy roads, farming with horses and then the tractor.  He walked many miles to town, school, and churches.  He owned a threshing rig in earlier days and hauled his grain with a team of horses to Blabon, North Dakota He wrote articles for the Normanden and Visergutten, newspapers in Norwegian published in the United States A. 
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HANS EDWARD JOHN SOLFIELD (1851-1937)

Hans Solfield was born in Helgeland, Norway on June 14, 1851.  He married Helmine Sophie Stenerson, (1866-1935), in Norway, while there he made his living being a fisherman.  Their three eldest children were born in Norway.

He came to the Lake Park, Minnesota area in 1893, but the family followed later.  At first he worked on a farm, later rented and then bought one, which he sold in 1912.

In 1912, they came to Cooperstown, where he did odd jobs and cabinet making.

About 1918, he bought 160 acres along the Sheyenne River in Washburn Township (location, SW quarter of Section 14).  The barn and house were connected together as one building.  Early that spring the house and barn burned down.  The rest of the family was still living in Cooperstown at the time of the fire.  Some of the boys went to check how their father was making out and found him sleeping in a piano box.  The pioneers were a hardy group.

A two-room house and a barn were then built.

The following children were born to Hans and Helmine Solfield:  

Olaf, Catherine, Alfred, Herman and Barney - deceased

Axel, who lives in Minneapolis and has four children.

Elaine, who lives in Chicago.

Harry, who lives in Cooperstown.  He married Lydia Hannu of Finlayson, Minnesota.  They have two daughters:  

Mrs. Edgar (Bernice) John and Mrs. Allan (Kathryn) Larson who attended schools in Griggs County.

Herman, (1903-1969), married Thelma Eide (19071960) and lived in Washburn Township on SW quarter of Section 14 and later bought Section 16 and lived there about 22 years.  Their children were:  

Bernard - deceased

 Janice - living in Cooperstown

 Mrs. Leon (Carol) Roesler of Leonard, North Dakota

 and Mrs. James (Dorothy) Lura - Cooperstown.

James and Dorothy Lura are now living on Section 16 of Washburn Township and have four children:  

Denise of Fargo, Janel, Sandra, and Mark at home.
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JOHN TORFIN

John Torfin was born in Iowa.  Married Hannah Olson Bjornstad in 1878.  They came to Griggs County with Bjornstads in April 1880 and were "squatters" on land in SW quarter of Section 26, Washburn Township.  The site of their log house was almost at the present location of Alf Ueland's farm buildings.  On September 1, 1880, their daughter, Mathilda, was born.  This was the first white child born in Griggs County.  Mr. Torfin took final proof on his land in 1883.  The family moved to Rouseau, Minnesota in 1887.  After the death of Mrs. Torfin's mother, Mrs. Bjornstad, the family returned to the home of Mr. Bjornstad in Romness Township to make their home.  After the death of Mr. Bjornstad they moved to Aneta, North Dakota and remained there the rest of their lives.

Mathilda was married to Olaf M. Sloulin on May 6, 1900 at Aneta, North Dakota.  There were four children in the family:  

Effie Sloulin Volkman, Hazelle Sloulin Otterson Welters, Mildred Sloulin Syvertson, and Milton Sloulin.
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LEVI S. NORGAARD

Levi S. Norgaard was born in Goodhue County, Minnesota, January 16, 1862.  He came to North Dakota 20 years later and settled on a homestead in Section 22, Washburn Township.  On December 24, 1887 he married Kari Gilbertson, at Mardell.  From 1889 to 1900 he made his home in Custer County, Montana.  They returned to his homestead in 1900 and lived there until his death in 1941.  Mrs. Norgaard died in 1932.  There were four children in the family:  

Mrs. Ann Olson

 Melvin

 Edward

 and Conrad.
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MR. AND MRS. AMUND A. FLUTO

Mr. and Mrs. Amund A. Fluto homesteaded on Section 26 in Washburn Township.  Mrs. Fluto was the daughter of John and Kari Engen Johnson who homesteaded in Washburn Township, north of Mardell.

Mr. Fluto built the house on the farm now occupied by Mrs. Clara Iverson.  Many old settlers picnics were held on the grounds cast of the house.  Folks from town and every school, on the last day of school, would picnic in that area.

Mr. Fluto was in the implement business in Finley and Sharon and later moved to Fowler, Montana where they spent the rest of their lives.  They had four children:  

Gena

 Clara, Mrs. Nierenberg

 Oscar

 and Ida.
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CHARLES CARROLL PIATT

Charles Carroll Piatt was born April 12, 1848 in Ohio.  The son of John B. and Emily Piatt.  The family moved from Ohio to Illinois, then to Kansas.  In 1872 Charles married Charlotte Willard.  While a resident of Kansas, Mr. Piatt saw some service in the Indian Wars then being fought in the western part of Kansas.  In the spring of 1882 Mr. and Mrs. Piatt came to Griggs County and settled on a homestead in Section 34, Washburn Township.

He later moved to Cooperstown and resided there until his death in 1910.
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YOUNG BROTHERS

Charles Fredrick Young was born in Illinois in 1874, son of Jacob and Mary Huesel Young.  He married Hattie Dignan in Iowa in 1898.  In 1904 they came to Griggs County and settled in Section 29, Washburn Township.

Charles and his brother Jacob farmed in partnership in this area.  Jacob was married to Ellen Nelson, Hannaford.  They resided in Section 22, Washburn Township.  He died in 1925.  They had four children:  

Mrs. Ted (Mary) Seekins, Calif

 Eugene, Jamestown

 Bernice and Eulaine, California.  Mrs. Ellen (Nelson) Young Olson resides in California.

Mr. and Mrs. Charles Young had two children:  

Theron and Lillian.  Lillian went to Zululand, South Africa as a medical Missionary in 1931.  She married Carl Otte, a missionary in South Africa, the same year and remained there until her death in 1969.

Charles Young died in 1931 and Mrs. Young died in 1933.
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WILLOW TOWNSHIP

History

The earliest record we have of Willow as a Township is a meeting of the supervisors held on March 29, 1887, at JOHNSON'S STORE, which is believed to have been located several miles east of Red Willow Lake.  Willow Township is believed to have been organized a year or two earlier.  The board supervisors were H. V.  Safford (chairman), T. O. Torgerson, and Joseph Buchheit.  E. G. Johnson was the clerk.  Willow Township supposedly received its name from Red Willow Lake, and it in turn was named from the many willow trees growing around the lake.
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RED WILLOW BIBLE CAMP

In 1928 the first camp was held at Red Willow Lake with 35 youth in attendance, each one paying $1.50 and furnishing supplies for the commissary.  McVille parish joined with Edmore in 1929 making up a total of 60 youth studying the scriptures under the teaching of Reverend C. B. Ylvisaker.  The camp continued to grow and move over the next ten years and in 1939, Reverend M. A. Braaten and Reverend L. B. Brakke completed negotiations with Mr. Peter Jacobson for the purchase of the present campsite.  In 1965, 1800 campers spent time at Red Willow Bible Camp.  In 1966 groundbreaking ceremonies were held for the construction of the Ofstedal Retreat Center.

As of May 1973 Mr. Clyde Hendrickson is our caretaker.  Clyde along with wife Patricia, children Paul, Mark, and Kathy live in the house and look after the grounds.

Presently Beulah Miller and Patricia Hendrickson are our cooks.

Presently Doni Sedler is our secretary.

In 1967 Reverend Raymond Klug became the director of the camp.  Reverend Klug, his wife Elaine and their children, Rebecca, Luther, Daniel, and Debra worked at the camp until May of 1974.

As of February 1975, Reverend Theodore P. Kalkwarf is the director of the camp.  Pastor Ted along with his wife Alice and their children, Nathan, Troy, Erin and Brandon will be living at the camp during the summer months and at Grand Forks the rest of the year.
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Settlers

AUGUST HERMAN ADRIAN

August, or Herman as he was sometimes called, was born in 1855.

He married Agnes Rickford, daughter of John F. Rickford, in 1878.  Agnes Rickford was born in Germany in 1862.  She came to America with her parents.

August and Agnes Adrian came to Casselton, North Dakota in 1879 while North Dakota was still Dakota Territory.  He was employed at this time in building on the Northern Pacific branch line from Casselton to Cooperstown, which was then the end of the line.  About 1882 August Adrian and family moved to Nelson County.  About 1895 the family moved to a farm in Griggs County just east of Red Willow Lake.  This was on Section 8, Willow Township.

They had nine children.  They were:  

Alfred, Oscar (1881-1947) Binford, North Dakota, Rose (1885-1960) New Richmond, Wisconsin, Ernest (1897-1901), Adelia (1889-1969) Binford, North Dakota, William (Bill) (18871952) Binford, North Dakota, Anna (1891-1967) Bismarck, North Dakota, Paul (1894-1972) Spokane, Washington, Caroline (1901-) Longview, Washington.  Mrs. August Adrian died in 1905.  August Adrian died in 1934.
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IVAR ALMKLOV

Ivar Almklov was born in Synmore, Norway October 15, 1868.  He emigrated to the United States at an early age.  Ivar settled in Cooperstown for a short while until he decided to get some land for a homestead.  He built his first log cabin on Willow Township and Griggs County; the original Graving farm is there now.

Ivar married Thora Lofthus October 12, 1897 in Cooperstown.  Thora was originally from Moe, Telemarken, Norway.  Thora came to the States at the age of 15.  There were 15 children, descendants of two families.  Ivar Almklov had three brothers and no sisters.

Ivar Almklov pushed his way through many hardships while trying to get settled in the United States.

Thora and Ivar were blessed with one daughter, Thelma, born on the original farm in May.

Ivar was very active in community affairs, Township Supervisor, served on the School board, and was bank director in the 1st National Bank at Binford, North Dakota.  He was a very good violin player; he played for community functions.  Thora was noted for Rose malling or painting by Stencil craft and made beautiful handmade Hardanger pieces used through the home.  Thora was very active in Ladies Aid and social functions.  He also was the owner of a Lensmans gaord at Lynmore Norway.

On June 25, 1944 Thelma Almklov married OTTO GRAVING.  Otto was born February 27, 1915, at Tompico, Montana, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Ole Graving.  Otto graduated from Cooperstown High School in 1934.  He was active in school and Township affairs.  Otto served in the State House of Representatives during the 1959 session on the democratic ticket, also was president of the Farmers Union Oil Company of Binford and on the School board in Willow Township.

To the Graving family union was born two children Gloria and Gerald.  Gloria is now married to Robert Bartkett of Courtenay, North Dakota.  Gloria and Robert have two children, a boy and girl.  GERALD is presently on the home farm.

Otto passed away August 23, 1973 at the age of 58.
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AUGUST ANDERSON FAMILY

August Anderson was born in Sweden in the year of 1841.  When he came to America he landed at Detroit, Michigan in May of 1884.

His wife Barbro was born in Norway in the year 1846, the daughter of Halvor Ellefson.

They homesteaded in Willow Township, Griggs County, North Dakota, on the S1/2 of the S1/2 of Section 24-14860 in 1885, and their home is still standing there in 1975, that land now being owned by Oliver Zentz of Binford, North Dakota

They joined the West Prairie Northern Evangelical Lutheran Church in July of 1885 and according to the records were faithful to attend services.

They raised a son, Ole O. Anderson, who was born in Norway about the year 1875.

The Red Willow School District No. 11 records show that Lena Halvorson, born about 1887 stayed with them and went to school.

Ole O. Anderson married Annie Helene Aslakson on December 1902 at the West Prairie church.  They settled in Willow Township.  He acquired the quarter Section of land, which included the 40 acres the homestead was on.

To this union four sons were born.  Gerhard B. Anderson was born in Pilot Mound Township, Binford, North Dakota, on February 2, 1903.  Three sons were born in Willow Township.

Alvin Hillard Anderson was born on November 20, 1906.  After completing his services in the armed forces during World War II, he moved to Minneapolis, Kansas in 1942.  He married Emily Nye on April 15, 1943.  They adopted two children, a boy and a girl.  He passed away on March 27, 1969.

Oswald Anderson was born on May 20, 1908 and died on September 27, 1972.

Willard Anderson was born on October 26, 1914 and died on December 26, 1970.  These two sons and their mother farmed the land until they moved into Cooperstown, North Dakota

Gerhard B. Anderson married Clara Evenson on November 1, 1933 and lived for some time on this same farm until they moved to Minneapolis, Kansas on September 18, 1953.  To this union four children were born.  Delores, Mrs. Robert Pittenger, Portland, North Dakota

 Sidney, Minneapolis, Kansas

 Lorraine, Mrs. Richard Stephens, Salina, Kansas

 and Dorothy, Mrs. Richard Casey, Minneapolis, Kansas.
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KNUTE ANDERSON FAMILY

Knute Anderson and Ragnhild Lysne were born in Sogn, Norway, where they grew to adulthood and were married.  They came to the United States with their two boys, Andrew, 7, and James, 3, in 1881.  They settled on a farm in Willow Township, Griggs County.  Knute Anderson's original surname was Erie but he changed it to Anderson shortly after coming to North Dakota.  Three more children were born after coming to North Dakota, David and Caroline who died in infancy and John who farmed the home farm in Willow Township, until ill health forced his retirement.

Andrew Anderson, known to many as A. K. , owned and farmed land in Pilot Mound Township, for many years.  This land is now owned and farmed by Ronald Anderson, son (, Russell Anderson, and a great-grandson of the Knute Andersons.

James Anderson was the only one of the three boys to marry.  He married Mary Bergh and they lived their entire lives on a farm in southern Nelson County close to the original home in Willow Township.  James had three children.  Obert, who was married to Bernice Alfson of Binford.  They had two daughters, Rhoda Schmaltz, now of Spokane, Washington, and Sylvia Lyngby of Sioux Falls, South Dakota Obert passed away in 1942.

Russell married Elaine Alfson of Binford and has spent his entire life on his home farm and farming the original Knute Anderson homestead in Willow Township.  He has three children, Ronald of McVille

 Sharon Winsness of Edina, Minnesota, and Bradley at home.

Cora Richtman of Fargo, the youngest of James' children lives in Fargo.  Her only child, James, lives in Fargo with her.

Knute Anderson died and was buried in Sogn, Norway when he made a trip back to his homeland.  His wife, Ragnhild, and sons Andrew, James and John are buried in the family lot in the Norway Lutheran Church cemetery of Aneta.  The two children, David and Caroline, who died in infancy, are buried in the Sheyenne Lutheran church cemetery south of Pekin where Andersons belonged when they first came to North Dakota.  Later they transferred to the Norway church.  Descendants of Knute and Ragnhild now living include a grandson Russel of Pekin, and a granddaughter, Cora Richtman of Fargo, six great -grandchildren and nine great -great -grandchildren.
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OLE L. ANDERSON FAMILY

Ole L. Anderson was born in 1861 at Lanesboro, Minnesota.  He married Martha Iverson, also of Lanesboro.  They came to Jessie, Griggs County in 1903 and rented a farm from J. C. Thinglestad, a merchant at Jessie.  Thinglestad was a former Lanesboro native.  The following year, the Andersons purchased a farm, which his Cousin, Sylphus Ness, had homesteaded.

Mr. Anderson served on the West Prairie Church Board as Secretary- Treasurer for several years.  He was a charter member of the Jessie Farmers Mercantile and Elevator Company Board.  He served one term in the North Dakota House of Representatives in 1921.  He managed the farm affairs until his death in 1925.

His wife continued to live on the farm until 1943, when she moved to Cooperstown to make her home.  She died in 1957.

Of the nine children born to Ole and Martha Anderson, five survive:  

Martha Bakken, Cooperstown, Ovidia Dahl, Bismarck, Oscar, Grandin, Clarence, Millington, Michigan, and Arthur, Jessie.
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MARTHA (MALLA) ANDERSON

I can't, in good conscience, let the article go to press without a sequel in the form of a tribute to my mother-in-law and her generosity.  She had a heart, bigger than herself.  Her greatest joy in life was sharing her food with others.

I recall on more than one occasion, when she invited complete strangers to have a meal - lunch - or whatever time of day they happened by.  If the family warned her that it was not a good idea to do this when she was home alone, her generous logic would be, "They were mighty glad to get something to eat" - or "Those little kids were so hungry" or "Everybody has to have eats.”

August 13th, her birthday, was HER day!  The table was extended with every leaf available - it had to be to accommodate all the goodies she had prepared for the occasion.  The table fairly sagged with food ranging from her melt- in-the -mouth sugar cookies to the birthday bait ''Rommegrot.” This famous Rommegrot was also delivered by her to any new mother in the neighborhood.

Her food reminded me of the "loaves and fishes" and her coffee pot of the "Miraculous pitcher" - she could always squeeze out one more cup.
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ARTHUR R. ANDERSON FAMILY

Arthur R. Anderson was born on the farm he now operates, having purchased his family farm in 1941.  He married Ann Devlin of Finley in 1936.  They both attended Mayville State Teachers' College, and both taught in the rural schools of Griggs County, Art in Willow Township three years, and Ann in Jessie three years.

In 1949, a new residence was constructed, and in December of that year our son, Owen was born.  In 1951, we returned to the farm to make our home.

Art owned and operated a trucking business for 18 years, and prior to this, and meanwhile, he built up a herd of Registered Herefords, which he still maintains under the AA Hereford Brand.

In 1957, we added to our acreage by purchasing the Harold Stavick Farm, which joined our land to the north in both Pilot Mound and Willow Townships.

Owen started school at Willow No. 4, where he attended classes for 6 years.  Redistricting took hold and he completed his grade school years in Binford.  He was graduated from Binford High School in 1967 and the University of North Dakota in 1971.

He met Kathie Ryckman of Pollock, South Dakota - an Emmons County girl - also a University of North Dakota student.  They were married August 12, 1971.  Owen entered Law School that fall, and received his Juris Doctor Degree in May 1974.  Following graduation, they moved to Bismarck where Owen served as Deputy Secretary of State, under Ben Meier, for over a year.

Owen and Kathie, both being farm products, feel the advantages of country living far outweigh those of city dwelling and eventually hope to return to Griggs County and take up residence on the farm with a possibility of a local law practice.  All things being equal, history may repeat itself and the AA Hereford Farm may once again be known as the O. L. Anderson Farm.
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OLAF FORS FAMILY

The 9th of April in 1939, at the West Prairie Lutheran church, Ruth Osmundson, daughter of Alex and Gurine Osmundson of Willow Township, became the bride of Olaf Fors, son of Swen and Amanda Knutson Fors, of Romness Township.  Olaf grew to manhood at the home of his grandmother and was baptized and confirmed at the Ottawa church.  Ruth was baptized and confirmed at the West Prairie church.

They lived on the Osmundson farm in Willow Township till 1941 at which time they moved to the Edwin B. Anderson farm NE of Cooperstown.  Ruby Olivia arrived July 9, 1942 at the McVille Community hospital at McVille, North Dakota In the spring of 1943 the family moved to the present farm north and west of Jessie, North Dakota (NW 36-148-60) where they have since been farming.

Robert Olaf joined the family circle November 2, 1944.  He too was born at the McVille hospital.  Gary Olaf was born February 21, 1946 at the Bonewell nursing home in Cooperstown.

Ruby was married to Travis D. Knight, son of Jesse and Dean Knight of Mulberry, Ark., on December 8, 1964.  Their wedding was postponed from the 7th because of a very bad snowstorm.  They were married at the West Prairie church.  They have four children:  

John Allen, born December 24, 1966

 Mark Travis, born February 29, 1968

 Sara Maris, born July 16, 1969 and Lori Ann born December 29, 1970.  They reside at Walcott, Iowa.

Robert and Sharon LaPlant, daughter of Louis and Helen LaPlant, were married at West Prairie church April 2, 1967.  They have two children:  

Mary Helen, born October 26, 1969 and John Stewart born July 23, 1972.  Robert attended Wahpeton SSS and went into the Air Force in June 1965.  He and his family live at Frankfurt, Germany where Bob is still with the Air Force.

Gary enlisted with the Marines in January 1966, serving his country till he was honorably discharged on October 26, 1969.  Robert and Gary served in Vietnam and other areas.

Gary and Kay Wilmeth, daughter of Rose and Roy Wilmeth, of Silver City, N. M. , and Parma, Idaho were married at the Trinity Lutheran church, Nampa, Idaho, July 3, 1973.  They reside at Meridian, Idaho.
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GABRIEL GILBERTSON FAMILY

In 1883 the families of Gabriel Gilbertson and Ingebord Severson left Norway.  Gabriel was born July 21, 1846 and Ingebord was born May 8, 1847.  Gabriel and Ingebord were married in Wisconsin.  They came to Griggs County and settled on the site of Binford.  When Binford was incorporated as a village, the Gilbertson family moved to a farm northeast of Binford.  Seven children were born to the Gilbertsons.  Selmer died in infancy, Gilbert, Mary, Swen, Olive, Emma and Sina.

Gabriel died December 6, 1907 and his wife Ingebord died in January of 1937.  All their children have passed away.
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GILBERT GILBERTSON FAMILY

Gilbert Gilbertson and Ella Jacobson were married in 1903 and moved to Willow Township They had four children, Gotfred, Esther, Gladys and Monroe.  Gilbert died in 1970 and Ella died in 1972.  Gotfred and his wife, Selma, live on the family farm.  They have a son, Donald who lives at Helena, Montana.  Esther died in 1933 and she and her husband, Walter Kile, had two sons, Ronald of Denver, Colorado and Clayton of Fargo who passed away in 1970.  Gladys and her husband, Elmer Buckman live in Mesa, Arizona.  Their children, Dennis, at Fargo, North Dakota, and Sharie Thompson resides at Spokane, Washington.  Monroe and his wife, Pearl, live in Rosendal Township Their son, Thomas and his wife Penny also live on the same home site.
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GAYLON GRIFFEY

Gaylon was born in Baldwin, Wisconsin, in 1938.  When his mother passed away in 1943, Gaylon, along with his two sisters, came to live with his Aunt and Uncle, Mr. and Mrs. Paul Rorvig in Willow Township.  After graduating from high school, he continued on the farm with Paul.  In 1959, he married Carol Topp of Juanita, North Dakota They lived on the Edwin Miller farm for two years and then moved to the Rorvig farm.  Their son Chad was born in 1960 on their first wedding anniversary.  He is presently a sophomore in High School in Binford.  Their daughter JoRae was born in 1968 and passed away in 1970.  After Mr. and Mrs. Rorvig passed away in 1968 and 1969, Gaylon and his wife continued with the farming operation.  They built a new home there in 1972.
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ELIJAH SOULE HAMILTON

Elijah Soule Hamilton, son of C. F. Hamilton, was born at Cape Elizabeth Depot, Maine, on May 31 1861.  He came to Griggs County in the spring of 1882.  He homesteaded on SW quarter of Section 2-148-60, Willow Township.

During the spring of 1882 Mr. Hamilton made three trips from Sanborn, about sixty miles on foot, having on several occasions to take off his clothes and wade the streams in which the ice was flowing.  Nearly the whole of the level part of the country was covered with water that spring.  When he came through Fargo the water in the Sheyenne River was within a few feet of the railroad bridge.  He saw all kinds of small buildings, and some small houses floating down stream or lodged against the bridge.

He built a sod house on his homestead, and hauled lumber from Sanborn to put a roof on it.  He paid $8 per day for a team to haul the lumber.  He paid $16 for thirty bushels of oats, and ten dollars to have them hauled to his claim.  Having a few dollars left he paid it to a man to dig a well and got strong salt peter water.

On February 19, 1892 he was married to Miss Cora Ella Hagerty of Chatfield, Minnesota That spring he returned to farming and continued it for ten years.  He came to Cooperstown in 1902, and in 1906 embarked in the business in which he is now engaged (1915), in the firm of Hammer and Condy Company, dealing in real estate, stick and machinery.

His family consists of his wife and one son, Millard.  He lost a daughter six years ago at the age of fifteen years.
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DAVID JACOBSONS

Nineteen years ago, June 10, 1956, 1, Marilyn Haugland, became a resident of Griggs County when I married David Jacobson, son of Peter and Anne Jacobson.  My mother, who was formerly Margrethe Stenslie, the youngest child of Martin Stenslie, married and moved from Griggs County to Eddy County.  I did just the opposite - moving from Eddy to Griggs.  However, we live in Willow Township instead of Rosendal where my mother lived.

For one year, we lived in a one roomed house (with also a room upstairs) on the Peter K. Peterson farm which was located about a mile southwest of where Joe Stahl is living.  The following year we just loaded up the house and all and moved it to the John Mustad place just two miles east of Red Willow Lake where David's home place is located.  While living in our little house, we were remodeling our present house, which was a little larger.  During this time, Marsha Ann was born - September 3, 1959.  The following summer, we carried everything over to the Mustad house.

It was just recently that we learned that this house had been built for the bride-to-be of JOHN MUSTAD.  It appears that he had met a girl in Wisconsin, fallen in love with her, and had gone back to North Dakota to build the house and prepare it for his new bride.  When their wedding day came near, he took the train to Wisconsin, arriving at her house 6n the day they were to be married.  Walking up to the house, he glimpsed his bride through the window - in the arms of another man.  Without so much as going to the door, he turned right around and took the train back home.  He received letters from her but sent them back unopened.  Two years later, the girl's brother came here to see John.  He asked him why he never opened the letters.  John explained what had happened and said that he wasn't about to marry a girl who had been untrue to him.  "Oh, but that man was me," replied the brother.  "I had been away many years and had just returned home on that day and we embraced.”  Tragically, John was then told that the girl had died of a broken heart.  We often wonder what has gone on before on the places we live.  It isn't often that we know much about it.  Unless someone keeps a record of it, the past is quickly forgotten and lost to knowledge.

On September 7, 1961, Pamela Nanette was born on her Grandmother Anne Jacobson's birthday.  It was also the birthday of Pam's great grandfather - Knut Haugland, her mother's grandfather.  Pam was baptized in Bethany Church in Binford because Willow Church, where Marsha was baptized, had merged with Bethany almost two years earlier.  By the time the girls began going to school, the rural school just about half a mile away closed and so they rode the bus to town school.
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DONALD H. JACOBSON FAMILY

Donald H. Jacobson, son of Mr. and Mrs. Peter Jacobson, was united in marriage with Donna M. Quanbeck, whose parents were Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Quanbeck of McVille, North Dakota, on June 8, 1957.  Their home is on the Jacobson farm near Red Willow Lake.

Donald continued to farm in partnership with his brother, David, in this area of Willow Township.  They have two children, Arden Duane, born April 9, 1959 and Wanda Lyn, born March 4, 1962.
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MRS. ANNE JACOBSON FAMILY

Mrs. Anne Jacobson's parents were Bernt Bentefala and Karen Anderson.  They were born in Hurdal and moved to Hadeland, Norway when they were married.

To this union were born seven children.  Inga died when three years old.  Anders in United States A. in 1893

 Marie and Mane in Norway

 Edward, Berthe and Anne with parents emigrated in 1903 to McHenry, North Dakota, on a homestead farm and an 80 acre piece.

Far from town and school, Berthe and Anne attended school three miles away.  The farm was rented to neighbors as Bernt was a cripple and could not handle horses.  They had a cow, some chickens and a garden.  Sod was broken with a crude hoe.

The two girls took a teacher's course and taught school, attended summer school six weeks in the summer.

Bertha married Martin Jacobson in 1917.  Anne married Peter Jacobson in 1914.  Martin left for France in World War I and served to the end.  Anne and Peter farmed the Jacobson place.  Peter died in 1968.

Anne's father, Bernt, died in 1917, Karen, his wife, died in 1942 at 91 years of age.  Anders died in 1941.  Marie died in 1906, Marte at the age of 86 years, leaving four children, all in Norway.  Anne is now the only living member.
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SYVER N. KOLOEN

Syver N. Koloen was born April 14, 1871 at Gulbrunsdalen, Norway.

He came to the United States with his parents, Nils J. and Kari (Aamodt) Koloen, at the age of 17.

They settled first in South Dakota.  Then the family moved to Griggs County in 1889 and homesteaded in Addie Township near Plum Lake.

Syver married Annie Helene Lotvedt of Jessie, North Dakota on December 4, 1898.  After his marriage he worked on the farm of John Severson in Willow Township.  Awhile later he moved to his own farm that he established also in Willow Township.  They retired to Binford in 1936.

The children are:  

Mrs. Arthur (Nora) Knapp.  (born March 14, 1900), Albert.  (September 25, 1901-June 6, 1968), Mrs. Oscar (Lillian) Rorvig.  (born November 8, 1903), Mrs. Mark (Aulga) King.  (born March 12, 1909), Mrs. Earl (Evelyn) Olson.  (born August 1, 1911), Mrs. Ralph (Ethel) Trostad.  (August 1, 1911-November 17, 1956).  Mrs. Clarence (Hazel) Larson.  (born September 22, 1913), Mrs. Bill (Cora) Hoffmeyer.  (born May 25, 1917), Mrs. Oliver (Helen) Bakken.  (born April 8, 1922), Reynold.  (born June 10, 1926).

Mr. and Mrs. Koloen also had a son and two daughters that died in early childhood.

Syver was active in Township affairs, being Township treasurer and assessor for many years.

Syver Koloen passed away May 24, 1945, at the age of 74.

Mrs. Koloen passed away July 30, 1965, at the age of 85.
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MR. AND MRS. ALVIN MILLER AND FAMILY

Alvin Miller is the son of Mr. and Mrs. Anton Miller who lived on a farm northeast of Binford, North Dakota in Willow Township.  He was born May 15, 1915 on the farm where he now lives.  In February of 1942 he joined the army and was in the service for 39 months.  Most of the time he was stationed in the South Pacific; namely Fiji Islands, Admiralty Islands and on Leyte Island in the Philippines.

On December 10, 1945 he married Evelyn Aarestad, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ingval Aarestad former Binford residents.

They have three children, Judy and Larry at home and Kathy (Mrs. James Konsor) who lives at Bemidji, Minnesota

He is now farming the home farm in Willow Township.
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ANTON C. MILLER

Anton C. Miller came with his parents, Hans and Ragnhild Miller from Lanesboro, Minnesota.  They homesteaded in Pilot Mound Township in 1886.  He had three brothers and two sisters that came also.  They are Peter, Emil, Henry, Hannah and Sarine.

On November 14, 1901 he married Mary Gilbertson, daughter of Gabriel and Ingeborg Gilbertson.  The Gilbertson family was the first settlers in the Binford area.

Anton and Mary homesteaded in Willow Township.  They had eleven children, eight boys and three girls.  They are Henry, Alfred, Elmer, Gilman, Maynard, Alvin, Melvin, Reuben, Emma, Myrtle, and Alma.  With all of the boys' help he was able to farm 2300 acres of land with horses.  In later years each of the boys farmed part of the land, except for Maynard, who passed away while in youth.  Henry, Melvin, Myrtle and Alma have passed away in later years.

Emma and Myrtle have taken up nurses training.  Alvin and Reuben were in World War II.  Alvin went over the Pacific and Reuben went over the Atlantic.

Anton Miller passed away July 3, 1950 at the age of 80 years.  Mary Miller passed away February 25, 1975 at the age of 90 years.

The homestead is farmed by Alvin Miller.  Others that are farming are Reuben, three of Gilmans' sons, (Manley, Myron, and Ronald) a son-in-law of Elmer (Marvin Quanbeck).  Elmer is living in Finley

 Alfred in Oakland, California

 Gilman and Emma in Binford

 Alvin and Reuben are living in Willow Township.
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ARTHUR W. AND BEULAH E. MILLER

Mrs. Arthur W. (Beulah E. Moen) Miller is the daughter of Sever K. Moen and Hattie Marie Jacobson (Moen) of Northern Lenora Township.  Her Mother, Hattie, was born in Lenora Township on July 10, 1888 to Christian Jacobson and Ingeborg Hegna (Jacobson).  Her Father, Sever, was born in Griggs County on August 13, 1882, the son of Knudt S. Moen and Sissel Odegard (Moen).  Sever K. Moen and Hattie Jacobson were united in marriage on June 24, 1909 and started farming on land located in Section 4 and Section 5 in Lenora Township.  The farm buildings were and still are located in the NE quarter of Section 4.

Arthur W. Miller is the son of Peter Miller and Mary Flagstad (Miller) of Pilot Mound Township.  His mother, Mary, was born on September 12, 1864 in Lesja, Guldbrandsdalen, Norway to Pedra and Kari Flagstad.  She came to Sacred Heart, Minnesota in 1879 at the age of 15 with relatives.  Later some relatives and she came to Cooperstown looking for land and work.  Mary worked for a time as a domestic at one of the early hotels in Cooperstown.  Mary was a cousin to the world-renowned Norwegian operatic soprano, Kirsten Flagstad.

Arthur's father, Peter, was born on October 11, 1864 in Fron, Guldbrandsdalen, Norway to Gunder and Kari Flagestad.  (Note difference in spelling of Flagestad and Flagstad)  Upon his arrival to this country Gunder changed his name to Hans Carl Miller.  They had a number of children, four of which settled in Griggs County.  They were Peter, Anton, Emil and Hannah (who became Mrs. Hans Helland and farmed West of Binford).  Peter, Anton, and Emil all worked at various times at the R. C. Cooper bonanza farm.

Peter Miller and Mary Flagstad were married on June 9, 1890 and homesteaded in Pilot Mound Township a few miles South of the present home farm, which is located on the East 1/2 of Section 7.

In the early days of homesteading, with neighbors far apart and the men folks away working, the women would become very lonely and oftentimes frightened.  Mary, the young pioneer wife had a couple of frightening experiences.  Once while doing routine housework in the late afternoon, she looked out a window only to look into the face of an Indian man peering in at her.  The Indian was friendly and was just passing through.  Another experience was with a sheep buck owned by a neighbor named Pratt.  Mary had hung out the laundry to dry, toward evening she looked out the window, and the bed sheet was walking around the yard.  The sheep buck had got the sheet tangled in his horns and was playing ghost to a lonely pioneer woman.

Peter and Mary had 10 children - 8 of which lived to reach adulthood.  They are Carl, Theodore, Hilma, Clara, Henry, Marie, Elmer, and Arthur.

Peter Miller died at home on January 25, 1928 and Mary died at 90 years of age on November 20, 1954.  They are buried at the Bethlehem Lutheran Cemetery in Willow Township.

Arthur W. Miller and Beulah E. Moen were married at Aneta, North Dakota on April 9, 1936 and farmed in Lenora Township until 1941 at which time they farmed 3 miles North of Cooperstown.  In 1945, they purchased the Reverend Halling farm on the West edge of Binford where they lived and raised their family of two children.  Their son Dennis was born in McVille, North Dakota on April 11, 1940 and their daughter Dianne was born on July 12, 1943 in Cooperstown.  They moved to their present farm located in Section 18 in Willow Township just East of the ball diamond at Red Willow Lake in 1958.
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MYRON MILLER FAMILY

Myron Arnold Miller, son of Mr. and Mrs. Gilman Miller, Binford and Kathleen Mary Klinger, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ray Klinger, Gettysburg, South Dakota, formerly from McVille, were married August 3, 1968.  They lived in Fargo and West Fargo until October 1973 when they bought the Gilman Miller farm after he retired and raise grain and beef cattle.

They have three sons, Corey Allen, born January 19, 1969 in Fargo

 Blair Jon born December 19, 1973 in Fargo and Wade Douglas, born November 19, 1974 at McVille.

Myron was born January 10, 1948 at McVille.

Kathy was born December 13, 1950 at McVille.  She has three older brothers, Jim, Billings, Montana

 Gary also Billings and Ray Jr., of Brookings, South Dakota, and a younger brother David, Gettysburg, South Dakota.
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RONALD MILLER FAMILY

Mr. and Mrs. Ronald Miller and family live on a farm they bought from Edwin and Olivia Miller.  Ronnie raises grain and beef cattle.

Ronald is the son of Mr. and Mrs. Gilman Miller of Binford.

Ronnie and Darlene Rondestvedt were married March 28, 1964 at Dazey, North Dakota They have three children:  

two girls (Vicki and DaRahn) and one boy (Terry).
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THE HENRY MYER FAMILY

The recurrent flooding of the Root River on their farm near Lanesboro in Fillmore County, Minnesota led Henry and Lena Myer to join the general exodus to North Dakota.  Henry came to Willow Township in the fall of 1915 to scout for a place to live.  He returned to Lanesboro and in the spring of 1916, at 32, he moved his family, including Lena, 25, and three children, Thelma, 4, Hazel, 2, and Howard, an infant, by train to settle on the Anton Christianson farm.

They joined the West Prairie Lutheran Church where both were active.

Two daughters were born while they were on the Christianson place, Burnice in 1917 and Inez in 1918, during the great flu epidemic.  It was during the flu that Henry began having trouble with his back, which Binford's Doctor Truscott diagnosed as muscular rheumatism and which eventually crippled him.

In 1922 they moved to the Jens Thinglestad farm along North Dakota Highway 1.  There Agnes was born in 1925 and Ruth in 1930.

Henry served as Road Boss several years as neighbors banded together to repair roads.

Despite doctor bills and the need for extra hired help because of Henry's health problems, crop failures and the depression of the dirty 30's, the family never went to bed hungry.  All seven children graduated from Binford High School and all but Hazel and Howard received some training at Valley City Teachers College.

Henry passed away in 1946 and Lena in 1965.  Thelma, Mrs. J. R. Iverson, and Ruth, Mrs. Herman Urness, live at Petersburg, Howard at Binford, Burnice, Mrs. Ted Becherl, at McHenry and Agnes, Mrs. Clarence Laber, at Devils Lake, all in North Dakota.  Hazel, Mrs. Art DeVore, is in Portland, Oregon and Inez, Mrs. Melvin Haugland, lives near Shell Lake, Wisconsin.
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OLE MYER

Ole Myer was born and grew up in Fillmore County, Whalan, Minnesota Hilda Hoff was born and grew up in the same area.  In 1907 they were married and farmed for 12 years in the area.

Ole had five brothers and three sisters.  All except Ole and Martin still lived in Minnesota The rest of the brothers and sisters left some years before and moved to Binford, North Dakota When Ole was told about the many acres and the big crops, especially the bumper crops of 1915 and 1918, he decided to move to Binford.

In March he had a sale, and on March 21, 1919 his wife and four children took the train to Binford.  Thenora was eleven, Helen nine, Herbert five and Lester three.  LaVerne was born after they came to North Dakota in 1925.

When they left Minnesota the grass and trees were green.  The day the family arrived in Binford, Nels Nordness, Ole's brother in law met us at the depot with sleigh and horses.  There was a lot of snow and ice to go through to get to our destination, which was 10 miles.

Ole came almost two weeks later with some cattle and three horses.  He slept in the freight car with the animals so he could feed and water them.  There were feeding stations certain places along the way.  The last station was in Staples, Minnesota He fed, watered and exercised the animals.

We settled on a farm in Willow Township southwest of Red Willow.  A bachelor named Lars Skarsbo lived there and he stayed with us for a year.

Ole passed away March 1941 at the age of 59 years.  Lester farmed the land until 1942 then joined the Army.  Herbert served in the Navy.

Mrs. Hilda Myer passed away October 14, 1967.

Thenora married Arthur Svaren - they had a daughter Solveig and a son Dale.  Arthur Svaren passed away in 1962.  Thenora married Arthur Torgerson in 1967.  Helen married Edwin Udgaard in 1934 - have one daughter Janice.  Herbert married Wilma Bjornson from Binford - had two daughters, Sharon and Sandra.  Herbert passed away in 1954 - at the age of 41 years.  Lester married Janette Johnson from Cooperstown - has two sons, lives in Fargo.  LaVerne married Glenn Philbrick - have three sons - Brad, Neal and Dean - and lives in Moorhead, Minnesota
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JACOB MYHRE

One of the first settlers in Willow Township was Jacob Myhre.  He was born in Ringebu, Gudbransdalen, Norway, on March 7, 1843.

In the spring of 1867, he was married to Mathia Berg, and shortly after that they left by sailboat for America.  It took them 13 weeks to cross the ocean.  They first settled in Fillmore County, Minnesota.  Jacob and Mathia had seven children, of which four died while still in Minnesota.  He also lost his wife there on August 19, 1876.

In the spring of 1882, he came, with his three remaining children, to North Dakota They made the trip in a covered wagon and oxen, bringing 20 head of cattle, plus household goods.  It took them three weeks and four days to complete the journey to Griggs County.  They made their home in the covered wagon for two months before making a dug-out, with a sod roof and dirt floor, which was their home until 1896.  The nearest town was Mayville, 50 miles across country, where Jacob would go by oxen and a hayrack.  To help keep his feet warm, he would put hay in gunnysacks.  He became a citizen of the United States October 29, 1894.  John Oie and Knute Thompson were the witnesses.

The three remaining children contracted diphtheria.  Two boys, Kindor (11 years) and Ole (8 years), died en-route to Griggs County, leaving Mr. Myhre with his only daughter, Janna (7 years), who then had to take over the household duties.

Jacob Myhre was a member of West Prairie Lutheran Church.  Janna was in the first class to be confirmed there, officiated by Reverend Larson in 1889.

Later he transferred to Trinity Lutheran at Binford of which he was a member until his death on January 13, 1925.
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MR. AND MRS. THORE OLSON

My grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. Thore Olson, and their eight children, left Farmington, Minnesota in 1883, along with some other farmers and headed west.  They traveled by covered wagon and oxen taking their poultry, cattle and other prized possessions.

By the time they reached the Binford area it was getting near fall so they stayed there.  They worked hard building a sod house and spent many days gathering buffalo chips for fuel.  In the spring they had lost their oxen so they stayed in Binford.

Thore Olson was a veteran of the Civil War.  Due to injuries he received while serving in the war, he spent the last seventeen years of his life as an invalid.  He died shortly after 1900 in Binford.  His wife, Anna, died in Kalispell, Montana in 1915.

There were so many Olsons in the area, my mother, Ragnild, and her four brothers took the name of Thoreson.  Her three sisters kept the name of Olson.  The children started separating to go out on their own and soon lost contact with one another.  In 1959 Caroline and Ragnild were reunited after a fifty-one year separation.

My mother, Ragnild Thoreson, came to the Binford area with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Thore Olson, when she was nine years old.

In 1891 Ragnild was married to Torger O. Torgerson.  During their years in Griggs County they operated a restaurant and post office in Cottonwood, also a store in Jessie.  Many times my mother use to tell us about a huge sow that would make a trip, daily, to the store to get a "barber stick,” (candy).

My uncle, John Thoreson, had come to Montana in about 1905 to take up a homestead.  He returned to Binford in 1907.  After telling my parents about the land where there were high mountains on three sides and a huge lake on the fourth side, my father became very interested in the new land, so in 1907, with another farmer went to Montana and bought some farms.  Upon returning to North Dakota they spent the rest of the summer and winter making preparations for the move.  In 1908 the two families hired a train to take all of their farm machinery, livestock, furniture and their families.  My parents also brought my grandmother, Anna Olson, with them to Kalispell, Montana.

When my parents left North Dakota they had seven children, Mary, Clara, Ella, Matilda, Olga, Theodore and Alice (who was 6 months old.)  They had four more children in Montana, Mabelle, Norman, Gladys, (died as an infant) and Thomas.

My father passed away in Kalispell in 1916.  (I was about 6 weeks old).  My mother, Ragnild Torgerson Perry, passed away in Whitefish, Montana, in 1969 at the age of 95.  At the time of her death she was survived by four daughters, Clara Dunluck, (who died 3 days after her mother) Matilda Grina of Kalispell, Olga Glidden of Wasilla, Alaska and Mabelle Lynn of Missoula, Montana and by three sons, Theodore, Norman and Thomas Torgerson, all of Olney, Montana, 30 grandchildren, 85 great -grandchildren and 28 great-great -grandchildren.

Tom Torgerson Olney, Montana
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THOR OLSON THORESON

Rachel Amundson was born in Minnesota of a German father and Norwegian mother.

Thor Olson Thoreson was born in Hallingdal, Norway.  They married and lived in Farmington, Minnesota before coming to Binford, North Dakota in a covered wagon.  There were so many Olsons that some of the family used the name of Olson and some Thoreson.

Many interesting tales were told of the early days in that area.  Caroline Olson who lived to be 103 years old told many interesting stories, one of which was that she remembered vividly when Jesse James robbed the bank at Northfield, Minnesota, and the great excitement when Jesse was shot back in 1882.

Records from the Christiania Lutheran Free Church of Farmington show the birth records of Thor and Regnild's children.  All are deceased.

1.  Anna Marie Erickson, Mayville.  Born November 15, 1862

 Clara Erickson Morstad - Mayville, Mabel Erickson Neset - Tioga, Nettie Erickson Brown - Minot, Gertie Erickson Sparrow - Mayville, Clarence Erickson - Colfax, Cora Erickson Lucken - Portland.

II. Caroline - unmarried - born November 18, 1864

 no children - lived to be 103 years old - Tioga.

Ill.  Ingeborg Emma, born September 5, 1866, married Carl Bostrom, blacksmith at McHenry.  Their children:  

Ervin, born 1895, married Bertha Hanson (both deceased).  They had two sons, Gordon and Clifford.  Carl, born in 1897, died in World War I, buried in France.  Emma, born in 1899, (deceased) -married to William Perve.  Clifford, born in 1902, (deceased) married to Elda Johnson.  They had two daughters, Kay and Rita.  Malinda, born in 1909, married to T. G. McMahon.  They had one son Terry, and one daughter, Carol.

IV.  Johannes, born March 30, 1868.

V.  Marcus, born 1870.

VI. Edward, born 1872.

VII. Rachel, born 1874, married to Torger Torgerson, Mary Wise, 9 children, deceased

 Clara Dunluck, 7 children, deceased

 Ella Anderson, 2 children, deceased

 Tilda Grina, 3 children

 Olga Glidden, 2 children

 Ted, 1 child

 Alice McKelvey, deceased

 Mabel Lynn, 6 children

 Norman, 4 children

 Gladys, deceased

 Thomas.

I am the wife of Clifford Bostrom who passed away 3 years ago.  I am very much interested in this heritage book, one for myself and one for each of my daughters.

Mrs. Elda J. Bostrom
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HERJUS OSMUNDSON

Herjus Osmundson was born in Vinje, Telemarken, Norway in 1830.

Margit Aslaksdatter was born in Tinn, Telemark, Norway in 1831.

They were married in Minnesota and lived near Lakeville until moving to North Dakota.

Herjus and Margit Osmundson arrived in Griggs County, North Dakota, with their children, Aslak age 15, Ole age 12, and Anne age 10, in the year of 1882 and settled on the SW quarter of Section 10-148-59, Pilot Mound Township.

They were one of 25 families near.  Kloten, North Dakota who organized Valley Grove Lutheran Church in November of 1882.  A grand nephew of Herjus, Bernt Tande, made his home with the Osmundson family from about 1888 until his marriage to Josephine Larson in 1911.

In May of 1885 West Prairie Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran church was formed by nine families, and the Osmundson family was one of them.

In the summer of 1896, on May 20, Herjus bought the N1/2 of Section 25-148-60, in Willow Township from the Northern Pacific Railway Company, and the family moved there.

Ole Osmundson went to New Norway, Alberta, Canada in 1908 to farm.  He sold that land in 1911 and returned to Willow Township to farm the home place.  He never married.

Anne Osmundson married Lars Larson on February 27, 1913 and they moved to a farm in Rosendal Township.  She died there March 4, 1914.

Aslak Osmundson and Gurine Larson Nodland were married on April 27, 1913 at West Prairie Church.  She was the daughter of Tonnes and Johanna Larson Nodland of Egersund, Norway.  She came to the United States in 1910.

Aslak and Gurine had four children, Hulda, Ruth, Anna and Allen.  Gurine has made her home with Allen on the Osmundson farm.

Herjus, Margit, Aslak and Ole all died at the Osmundson farm home.

Herjus died January 19, 1905 at 75 years of age

 Margit died August 9, 1917 at 87 years of age.  Aslak died March 22, 1945 at 78 years of age.  Ole died October 17, 1946 at 76 years of age.  Another son of Herjus and Margit died in Eureka Township, Dakota County, Minnesota in 1881, at 18 years of age.  His name was Osmund.
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THE FAMILY OF ASMUND PEDERSON

Asmund Pederson was born November 10, 1862 at Farmington, Minnesota, came to Griggs County when he was a young man and worked for R. C. Cooper.  In 1889, he married "Ingeborg" Emma Laadvedt who came with her father from Leland, Iowa in 1882.  She was born September 4, 1873 and she and her father Ole Laadvedt came by wagon and team and took homestead by West Prairie Church, which is Art Anderson's now.  In 1889, Asmund Pederson bought land in Pilot Mound, where they lived until 1914.

He sold his farm and moved to Mervin, Saskatchewan, Canada.  They took seven of the eight children born while they lived in Pilot Mound with them:  

Peder, Charles, Josephine, Agnes, Irene, Roy, and Walter who was only 3 weeks old.  Annetta who was married to Nels Halvorson stayed in North Dakota.

In 1922, Asmund Pederson passed away and his wife and three children returned to North Dakota in 1925.

In 1959, Emma Pederson passed away.
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JORGEN AND JOHN PEDERSON

Jorgen Pederson was born in Horsdal, Gildeskol, Norway.  He came to the United States in 1898, as a seaman working aboard ship as a carpenter.  In 1899 he married Sina Gilbertson.  They bought a farm and farmed five miles north of Binford in Willow Township.  Jorgen built the home on the farm and also several homes in the community.  They had two children.  Inga born in 1900 and Palmer in 1904.  Jorgen passed away the first part of the year of 1912.

John Pederson came to Binford, North Dakota, in April in the year of 1911, from Horsdal, Gildeskol, Norway.  He came from Norway to his uncle, Jorgen Pederson.  On December 12, 1912 John married Sina Gilbertson Pederson at their home.

Inga Pederson married Reverend John Thompson.  To this union were born six children:  

Jennings in Minneapolis, Bernard in California, Norman and Eleanor in Illinois, Irene in Florida and John Jr. in California.  Inga passed away in 1952.

Palmer married Julia Hoffick of Minneapolis and they had a daughter, Lorraine, born in 1925.  He was separated from his wife and some years later married Inga Leean from McHenry, North Dakota They had three children, Clinton, Betty and Doreen.  All living in Minneapolis, Minnesota Palmer lived in Minneapolis until his death in 1965.  His widow still lives there.

John and Sina lived on the farm until their retirement in 1943, when they bought a home in Binford, North Dakota Lorraine, their granddaughter, lived with them from infancy until she married in 1943.

Sina passed away in March of 1958.  On October 10, 1959 John Pederson married Ellen Kristinson from Bodin, Boda, Norway.  They lived in Binford until his death in August 1967.  His widow lives in Binford.

On July 2, 1943 Melvin I. Olsen and Lorraine Pederson were married.  In the fall of that year they moved on the farm.  In June 1947 a daughter Joan Marie was born.  In November 1951 a son Barry and in February 1955 a son Neal.

Joan Marie married Allan Richard from Dunseith, North Dakota in 1970 and have made their home there.

In February 1972 Melvin passed away after a short illness.  Barry and Neal, then only 20 and 17 years old took over the job of farming.

On June 7th, 1975 Barry married Sandra Zimprich of Aneta, North Dakota They are now living in a mobile home on the farm.  Neal and his mother live in the farm home.

After 4 generations the great-grandsons of Jorgen Pederson are farming the same farm, and hoping it will continue on from generation to generation.
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MR. AND MRS. VERNON PETERSON

Vernon Peterson was born at Binford, North Dakota, September 5, 1913 to Mr. and Mrs. Henry Peterson.

Anna Osmundson was born in willow Township, August 30, 1917 to Mr. and Mrs. Alex Osmundson.

They were married November 11, 1939 at the West Prairie Church, and have since farmed in Willow Township.

They have three daughters, Karen (Mrs. Richard Gardiner) McVille, North Dakota

 Virginia (Mrs. Ronald Grove) Grey Eagle, Minnesota

 and Phyllis (Mrs. Larry Sandval) Aberdeen, Idaho.

They have five grandchildren, Paul, Bethany, Peter, Christopher and Timothy Grove of Grey Eagle, Minnesota
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THE ERNEST RICKFORD FAMILY

In the year 1882 a son, Ernest, was born to Mr. and Mrs. John Rickford at Casselton, North Dakota.  The family moved to Willow Township Section 15.  John Rickford and his wife Caroline Toma originally came from Germany.

Ernest and his brothers and sisters grew up and soon were ready for homes of their own.

Ernest met Pauline (Lena) Rickford and they were married in 1909.  Lena was born at Lakota, North Dakota.  Her parents, Mr. and Mrs. William Rickford, came from Germany and Austria.  William, having studied at a music conservatory in Germany, was an accomplished pianist.  His playing ability soon won him recognition far and wide.

Ernest and Lena purchased a farm on Section 12 in Willow Township from Matt and Minnie Hovel.  The farm had previously been operated by Mr. Roach.  In 1910 a daughter Hazel was born and in 1916 a son Earl.  Ernest and Lena became members of the Zion Free Church near Binford, later transferring their membership to West Prairie Lutheran Church.

Ernest operated the farm until his wife passed away in 1939.  Hazel had married Mansfield Ronningen and they had a daughter, Harriet.  Ernest rented out the farm to Mansfield for two years.  He passed away in 1945.

Earl married Helen Simenson on July 2, 1940 and they had two children:  

William and Patricia.  Earl operated the farm until 1958 when he decided to try his hand at electrical work, which he liked much better.  The land was rented out for the next 17 years.

William married Cheryl Larson on September 3, 1966.  They have one son named Scott, born in January 1971.  William, in 1974, took over the operation of the entire farm.

Patricia married Terry Hall on December 16, 1967.  Terry was stationed with the Air Force in Germany.  Their daughter, Christine, was born in Germany in 1968.  They have a son, Brian, born in 1970.

After the service Terry purchased his grandfather's home farm Sections 5 and 6 in Clearfield Township in 1972.

The farming operations for both the Rickfords and the Halls are third generation.

Earl and Helen Rickford thought it time to try their hand at being "city folks.”  They purchased a lot in Binford, remodeled the house and moved in to Binford in the spring of 1975.
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JOHN F. RICKFORD

John F. Rickford was born in Germany April 9, 1836.  He married Carolina Toma of Berlin, Germany who was born June 5, 1842.  They came to America in 1881, settled at Casselton, North Dakota and moved to Neshiem Township in Nelson County in 1882.  They lived there until 1888 and then moved to Superior, Wisconsin.  In 1890 they came back to North Dakota and settled on the northeast quarter of Section 15 in Willow Township where they lived until their death.

John Rickford studied for the Lutheran ministry, but did not finish because he was called into the military service.  He became a lay minister.  Because there were no churches or ordained pastors around, he held services in the farm homes.  He baptized many of the children in the neighborhood.

They had eleven children.  Five of them were born in Germany.  Three died in infancy.  The eight who lived were Agnes, Hedwig, Helena, Emma, Anna, Richard, Ernest, and Albert.  Agnes:  

Married August Herman Adrian.  Hedwig:  

Married James Gunning who lived at Cooperstown for a while.  Hedwig became blind at the age of seven as a result of measles.  Helena:  

Married Jacob Messner who lived in Forde Township, Nelson County.  Emma:  

Married and moved to Wisconsin.  Anna:  

Married Arthur Know and lived in Willow Township.  He died of pleurisy.  Mrs. Oscar (Mabel) Stromme was a daughter.  Anna later married Duncan McDonald, a baker, in Cooperstown in 1903.  Richard:  

Lived in Willow Township for a while.  Ernest:  

Married Pauline Rickford who was his cousin, once removed.  They had two children, Hazel and Earl.  Hazel married Mansfield Ronningen and lived in Binford.  Earl married Helen Simonson.  They lived on the farm this belonged to his father until 1975.  Their son, William Earl, now has taken over the farm.  Albert:  

Married Eleanora Berg.  She was known as Nora.  They lived on the farm of John Rickford until he sold it to the Millers.

Mrs. John Rickford died in 1911.  Mr. Rickford died in 1913.
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CARL RIX

Carl Rix was born in Iowa in 1880 and came to North Dakota, in 1908.  In 1910 he was married to Adelia Adrian.  To this union were born two sons, Lawrence and Walter.  They moved to the Russell Purinton farm and later to Iowa.  In 1922 they moved to the Anton Peterson farm in Willow Township.  Lawrence married Mabel Adrian in 1973.
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OSCAR RONNINGEN

Oscar Ronningen came to Binford, North Dakota from Fillmore County, Minnesota as a young boy.  He married Hilde Myer in October 1910 and moved to Duluth, Minnesota, where his oldest son was born.  He later moved to Binford area, did some farming and operated several locker plants and at one time operated the Binford Hotel and Cafe.  Gladys, East Northport, N. Y. , Verne, Baltimore, Md., Nordeen, Fargo, North Dakota, arrived to complete the family.  Mrs. Ronningen passed away in November 1953 and Mr. Ronningen passed away in September 1969.

Earny grew up in the Binford area and married Clara Trostad, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Gunder Trostad in October 1933 and three children came to bless them

 Jerry, Cooperstown, North Dakota

 Virginia Haugen, McVille, North Dakota and Donald, Binford, North Dakota, and fourteen grandchildren.

They have been members of the West Prairie Church all their life, Earny was secretary of the church for twenty years and Clara was church organist for thirty-two years and member of the A. L. C. W. 

Earny, Clara, Jerry and Virginia moved to the present farm in the fall of 1937 and Donald was born here.  This farm is located on Section 24 Township 14.  RW 60 in Willow Township.

Jerry, Virginia and Donald went to grade school in a country school called the Osmundson school; graduated from the Binford High school

 Jerry is Office Manager of the A. S. C. S. in Griggs Company, married Ina Ullrich and they have three children.  Virginia married Alfred Haugen from Kloten, North Dakota and they have six children.  Donald is farming and is living on the home place; married to Donna Oien, and they have five children.
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MATHIAS RORVIG

Mathias Rorvig was born in Ringebu, Gudbransdalen, Norway, on January 29, 1861.  He came to America in 1880, and to Griggs County in 1885.

He married Janna Myhre on November 5, 1896.  Janna was born on March 11, 1875, in Minnesota.  They resided in Willow Township until their deaths, 1943 and 1952 respectively.

Mr. and Mrs. Rorvig were members of West Prairie Church from November 13, 1886 to 1907.  They then transferred to Trinity Lutheran Church in Binford, where they were active, as well, as in school and community affairs.

Mr. Rorvig raised registered Shorthorn cattle and imported Belgian horses, besides his other farming interests.

Their children are:  

Clara Rorvig, Mrs. Ole (Jeanette) Barclay, Mrs. Adolph (Magdalena) Lysne, Ernest Rorvig, Anton Rorvig (deceased) He married Thea Quanbeck, Olaf Trygve Rorvig, Martin Rorvig.  He married Inga Dybwad, Wendell Rorvig.  He married Jeanette Falla.

Clara, Ernest, Trygve, and Mr. and Mrs. Martin Rorvig are residing and operating the farm.
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BIOGRAPHY OF OLE RORVIG

The pioneers, Ole Rorvig and Marie Berg, were born of Austin and Christine Rorvig and Ingeborg and Aren Berg respectively.  Ole was born in Ringebu, Gulbransdalen, Norway on July 3, 1849.  Marie was born August 6, 1851.  They were married the sixth day of November in Ringbu, Gulbransdalen, Norway in 1873.

Both craving a change of condition and a better chance for advancement, Ole and Marie Rorvig decided to come to "The Land of Opportunity.”  In 1881 they left Christiania on a sailing vessel headed for America.  Their fellow passengers were mostly Norwegian emigrants.  The voyage was rough and most passengers suffered considerably but Ole, having once been a sailor, did not get seasick.  As a result he helped care for the less fortunate ones.

Ole and Marie arrived in New York and after a short delay set out for Minnesota.  They settled near Willmar, Minnesota, but after a year moved to Dakota Territory because here there was plenty of unsettled land.  A brother-in-law, JACOB MYHRE, who was homesteading in Griggs County, met them at the train with an ox team and took them to Hope, North Dakota Soon they filed on a claim in Section 34 of Willow Township, Griggs County.

On their 160 acres of land they began their new life on nothing but courage and faith in the future.

Ole and Marie's first home was built 16 feet square out of logs bought from a nearby settler who had hauled them from the Sheyenne River.  Two neighbors, Ole Olson and John Paulson, helped considerably during the construction of the house.  This cabin was their home for many years until Ole replaced it with a new home.

Life on the farm consisted of jobs and work that had to be done.  The crops most commonly raised were wheat and oats.  The fuel, wood, was hauled from Red Willow Lake.  There were many hardships to face:  

low prices, destruction of crops by gophers, hailstorms, sharp winters sweeping across the treeless plains, and prairie fires.  Ole's first crop was destroyed by a severe hailstorm.

The surplus, which was little, was hauled to Valley City, the nearest town at the time, in return for other kinds of necessities.

Ole and Marie had nine children:  

Christine:  

(June 26, 1874-December 16, 1965) Christine married George Marson.  They had four children:  

Deland, Reynold, Lilly, and Archie.  Arne:  

(January 26, 1877-January 22, 1878).  Anton:  

(October 12, 1878-June 26, 1882).  Ingeborg:  

(January 15, 1882-May 18, 1933) Ingeborg married Syver H. Koloen.  They had five children:  

Howard, Marie, Oscar, Stanley, and Irving.  Olga:  

(May 29, 1884-August 6, 1972) Olga married Morris Greenland.  They had two boys:  

Marvin and Oswald.  Morris passed away and after several years Olga married Christ Greenland.  Selma:  

(October 4, 1886-December 13, 1937) Selma married Lawrence Lewis.  They had three children:  

Arthur, Marian, and Mansfield.  Marie:  

(born December 7, 1888) Marie married Theodore Kittelson.  They had one daughter, Madeline.  Palma:  

(born March 26, 1894) Palma married Oscar Idsvoog.  They had one son, Oris.

Ole Rorvig died at the home he had settled and improved, May 6, 1924.  Marie, his wife, passed away July 26, 1937.  They are both buried in the cemetery of the Binford Lutheran Church, Griggs County, North Dakota.

Oscar Rorvig was born December 15, 1891 on the farm, in Willow Township, where he still resides.  His parents were Ole and Marie (Berg) Rorvig.

He married Lillian Koloen June 9, 1926.

Mr. and Mrs. Rorvig had three children:  

Sherman, farming the home farm.  (born April 4, 1927)  He married Donna Carlson November 3, 1950.  They have three children:  

Bradley, (born May 6, 1953) Dawn, (born April 9, 1958) Nathan, (born April 4, 1964.  Mrs. Seymour (Dorothy) Bjorlie, Pekin, North Dakota, (born August 2, 1928).  Married October 24, 1948.  They have three children:  

Sidney, (born April 12, 1952) Russell, (born April 16, 1954) Kevin, (born February 6, 1962).  Mrs. Mervin (Shirley) Danforth, Anaheim, California, (born September 24, 1929) Married March 22, 1951.  They have two children:  

Lisa, (born November 12, 1956), Greg, (born November 20, 1959).
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PEDER RORVIG

Peder Rorvig was born in Norway in 1854.  He was married to Julianna Eielson in 1873.  She was born in Norway in 1855.  They came to America in 1884 and to Griggs County in 1886.

Their family:  

Kjestine Rorvig, Peterson

 Oline Rorvig, Holten

 Stephen Rorvig

 Edwin Rorvig

 Charlotte Rorvig, Kloity

 Olga Rorvig, Anderson

 Alma Rorvig, Vordal.
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PAUL AND ANNA RORVIG

Paul Rorvig was born at Ringebu, Gudbrandsdalen, Norway on February 14, 1848.  On October 14, 1874 he was married to Anna Eielson.  She was born at Ringebu, Gudbrandsdalen, Norway on February 23, 1850.

In 1883 they left Norway for America, settling at Starbuck, Pope Company, Minnesota.  In 1885 they came to Dakota Territory, traveling by covered wagon and oxen team.  Most of the families in their wagon train went on to the Turtle Mountain region, but having two brothers here, Ole and Mathias Rorvig, they settled in Willow Township.  They lived here until their deaths.  Paul on October 24, 1915, and Anna January 19, 1933.

Their children:  

Clara, (Mrs. Henry Peterson) Binford, born July 15, 1875, died April 17, 1973.  Oline, born November 21, 1878, died October 6, 1894.  Signe, (Mrs. Leevis Mellem, Northwood, Iowa, born September 21, 1883, died November 9, 1969.  Austin, Binford, married Lena Ramsey, born January 23, 1881, died April 21, 1970.  Alphis, born September 17, 1886, died June 6, 1939.  Paul, born October 5, 1889, married Laverne Zentiz, farmed the home place until his death on June 21, 1969.  Alfred, born December 26, 1893, married Ethel Christianson, Mason City, Iowa.  He died April 17, 1966.
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ERICK SMOGARD

Erick Smogard of Zumbrota, Minnesota, came to Binford, North Dakota, in the fall of 1901, and bought two quarters of land northeast of town from the D. S. B. Johnson Land Company.  Hogen Smogard, his 24-year-old son, came to Binford the following spring to break land and to start farming.  He and D. A. Goplen shared an emigrant car shipping horses, wagons, breaking plows, etc. from Minnesota.  The first year Mr. Smogard lived with the Gabriel Gabrielson family and the following summer with the Matt Rorvig family.  He built a house and barn in 1904.

He married Gertie Benson of Sheyenne, North Dakota, November 20, 1904.  Gertie Benson was born in Marengo, Iowa, June 20, 1881.  Her parents were Osmund and Jone Bjornson.  (Bjornson was later changed to Benson)  They homesteaded in Nelson County about one mile west of what is now Norway Church in 1883.  In 1895 they moved to Sheyenne, North Dakota.

Mr. and Mrs. Hogen Smogard farmed until 1938.  They retired and moved into Binford and lived there until they passed away.  Hogen died on July 23, 1948, and Gertie died on July 14, 1974.  They had three children:  

Edna, Mrs. Thorvald Erlandson, Fargo, North Dakota

 Arthur, who is farming the home farm near Binford

 and Gladys, Mrs. Francis Rowekamp, Los Angeles, California.

Arthur Smogard married Anne Rekstad of Finley, North Dakota, on June 14, 1934.  They continue to live on and operate the same farm.  They also have three children:  

Marilyn, Mrs. Richard Bartholomay, Steele, North Dakota

 Donna, Mrs. John Evers, who also lives on a farm near Binford

 and Wayne, who is presently living at home.
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JOSEPH STAHL

Joseph Stahl was born October 16, 1891 in Nelson county, the son of Edmund and Barbara Stahl.  He attended schools in Bergen Township, and later North Dakota Agricultural College at Fargo.

In 1915 he moved to Willow Township, Griggs County on the farm where he still lives.  He married Ealda DeRousseau of Rice Lake, Wisconsin in June of 1923.  Joe enjoyed testing new seed grains and they always enjoyed gardening.

They were members of the Ottofy Catholic parish in Nelson County until 1935 when they became members of the St. Lawrence Catholic parish at Jessie.  Ealda was organist there for nearly 30 years.

They had three sons, Robert who farms north of Binford in Willow Township, Joseph who was killed in an airplane crash in April of 1950 and Edward who teaches high school at Kindred, North Dakota There are nine grandchildren.

Ealda passed away in September of 1974.  Joe is retired now, but still lives on the farm and is active with gardening, etc.
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ROBERT STAHL FAMILY

Robert Edmund Stahl was born December 11, 1925, the son of Joseph and Ealda Stahl of Willow Township, Griggs Company He grew to manhood on the farm where Joe still lives, along highway No. 1, 5 miles north of the Binford junction.  He attended grade schools in Willow Township, and graduated from St. Catherine's high school of Valley City.

On November 8, 1949 he married Florence Miller of Bryan Township, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Carl Miller.

The first year of their married life they lived on the Hans Helland farm west of Binford.  This was a year of heavy snowfall and they had a tunnel through the snow part of the way between the house and barn.  Most of their travel to Binford and the neighbors that winter was by horse and sled.  There was snow in May and again in September of 1950.

They are members of the St. Lawrence Catholic parish at Jessie.

They have seven children, Patricia who lives in Tacoma, Washington, and presently doing volunteer work for the Jesuits.  Michael farms in Willow Township, he married Eva McDougall of Rolla, North Dakota, in 1973.  Barbara is a senior at North Dakota State University, Steven plans to attend North Dakota State University this fall, Suzanne and Michelle attend school in Binford and Mary Beth is at home.
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ANNA ELIZABETH SVAREN

Anna Elizabeth Svaren was born March 21, 1860 in Gloppen, Nordfjord, Norway, daughter of Peter and Anna Ommedahl.

Her father died when Anna was six years old and her mother died the following year, leaving a family of five children.  Anna, next to the youngest of the family, went to live with a neighbor, where she herded sheep, goats and cows to earn her keep.  As she grew older she worked in the "Sater" (mountain pasture) during the summer.

She was married to Markus Svaren, April 8, 1880.  Three daughters were born before they left Norway in 1886.  That spring they immigrated to Brookings County, South Dakota, where a brother of her husband lived.

Mr. Svaren, who was a teacher in Norway, studied theology after he came to Dakota.

While her husband went to school, Mrs. Svaren took care of the children and their two cows.  Twisted hay and cow chips were the fuel they used for cooking and heating.

They bought a quarter of land that provided feed for the horses that Pastor Svaren needed to get around to the seven congregations he served for a time.  Later the group was divided and he had four congregations.

In 1909 Pastor Svaren took sick and was taken to the hospital in Yankton, South Dakota, where he died in 1918.

Meanwhile, Mrs. Svaren's two brothers, Erick Ommedahl and Anton Peterson, and her sister, Mrs. Erick Jacobson had settled in Griggs County, North Dakota, and they persuaded her to come and join them.

In the spring of 1911, she moved to Griggs County.  Her sister had died by the time Mrs. Svaren and her four children came.  There were no buildings on the farm in Willow Township, that was to be the home for the Svaren family, so buildings had to be erected and trees planted to make the place homelike.

Her children were:  

John, Carrie, Hannah, Peter, Arthur, Martha, Lawrence, Palmer and Anna.

Mrs. Svaren passed away October 10, 1963 at the age of 103, being the oldest resident of Griggs County at that time.
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JOHAN TANDE

Johan Christian Olsen Braskerud Tande was born at Braskerud, Norway May 24, 1828.

He bought the Tande farm in Norway 1868 and changed his name to Tande.

He married Kristine Solberg in 1854.  She had two children by her first marriage.  Olaf and Emma.  She was a widow.

Johan Tande and Kristine Solberg had five children, Sigvart, Ole, Julia, Karen and Helen.  Kristine died March 18, 1878 and is buried in Norway.

Johan Tande had one brother, Ole, and two sisters, Karen and Anne.

On July 30, 1878 he sailed for America with his children and arrived at Philadelphia August 14, 1878, and in Grand Meadow, Minnesota August 17, 1878 and to North Dakota.

He made a ''Homestead Claim'' on 160 acres November 11, 1881 in Willow Township, Section 24.

On July 13, 1882 he bought 160 acres in Section 12.

John Tande, (He changed his name from Johan to John when he came to America) was married to Turine Pederson when she was 19 years old.

John and Turine had four children, Bernt, born October 14, 1886

 Christine:  

Marie died at 6 months in 1888 and Peter at 6 years of age in 1891.

John Tande applied for his declaration of citizenship on July 7, 1881 and became a citizen on June 12, 1888 at Griggs County, Dakota Territory.  Knute Thompson and John Oie were witnesses.

Turine Pederson was born 1861 (maybe in Wisconsin).  Turine died at Jamestown August 13, 1888 at the age of 27 years.

John Tande died 1892.  Date of death and burial place is unknown.  Turine's burial place is also unknown, but could have been buried in one of the first unknown graves at West Prairie.
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BERNT HELMER TANDE

Bernt Helmer Tande was born October 14, 1886 in Griggs County.  He farmed in Willow Township, Section 26, south 1/2.  He married Josephine Nodland Larson June 14, 1911.  She was born March 26, 1883 in Norway.  They had four children: 

1. Joel Tande born February 24, 1912

2. Esther Leonora Tande born November 10, 1913, died February 23, 1940

3. Conrad Leonard Tande born November 18, 1917 and 

4. Bernard Julius Tande born November 25, 1922.

Bernt Helmer Tande died May 10, 1947 at his home on Willow Township.

Josephine Tande died June 5, 1946 at the same place.

Joel Tande is the oldest son of Bernt Tande and is unmarried.

Esther Lenora Tande also was unmarried.

Conrad Leonard Tande is married to Delores Rickford and they have two daughters.  

1. Constance Delaine was born September 19, 1950 at McVille, North Dakota.  

2. Her sister was born August 27, 1952.  Her name is Cynthia Rae.

Bernard Julius Tande is married to Leona Rachel Saxberg.  He was married September 10, 1952.  They have two daughters: 

1. Beverly Jean born July 29, 1959

Barbara Joan born February 10, 1963
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MRS. NELS TUFTELAND

Mrs. Nels (Eli Olsdatter) Tufteland was born August 8, 1847 in Norway.  Her parents were Ole and Marie Olson.  She was married to Nels Tufteland in 1877 by Reverend Hanson in Bergen, Norway.

In 1884 Mr. and Mrs. Tufteland with their two children came to America on the Allan Line.  The name of the boat was Peruveen.  They landed in Quebec where they took the train to Montevideo, Minnesota.  Here they stayed three years.

In 1887 Mr. and Mrs. Tufteland, Oliver Hageland and Knut Tufteland left for Dakota Territory by horses and covered wagon.  They took their stock, chickens, etc., along and were seventeen and one-half days on the road.  They came to Nelson county, Dakota Territory where they stayed about a week and then continued on, arriving at the present Willow Township June 27, and located on Section 7.  They moved into a dugout where Peter Olson had previously lived.

There were very few settlers around there when the Tuftelands came.  The closest neighbors were Nels Gilbertson, Anton Peterson and Erick Jacobson.  Nels Gilbertson was the first white man who settled in that vicinity.  There were no schools nor churches until many years later.  In 1888 Mr. Tufteland put ten acres of land into crop, which yielded nothing.  That year and the next two years there was no crop nor garden for them, it being so dry.

The Tuftelands saw plenty of Indians the first years in Dakota.  They would camp right outside their place for a length of time and would beg for bread, milk, etc.  Early in the morning the Indians would peek through the windows.  Mrs. Tufteland was alone with the children but didn't seem to mind the peculiar actions of the Indians.

Mr. Tufteland each year would hire out in harvesting and threshing near the Goose River.  He and five other men bought the first threshing rig in the Red Willow Lake vicinity from John Arlen, Nelson County.

There were many prairie fires in the early years.  Around 1893 a prairie fire swept the country and destroyed thirty head of sheep for them.  The same year Mr. Tufteland built a house near the dugout.

In the winter Mr. Tufteland went on skis to Cooperstown for provisions.  He would leave early in the morning and would get back in the evening with a load of provisions on his back.

The Tuftelands were also out in snowstorms.  Mrs. Tufteland many times would sit home wondering where her children and her husband were when the snowstorm came up.  Mr. Tufteland was at one time in 1895 on his way to Cooperstown for some provisions and was caught in a snowstorm.  He was forced to stay in Jessie four days.  Unable to get to Cooperstown he started home from Jessie in cold and stormy weather.  He was gone from home over a week.  The children were caught in a snowstorm while at their neighbors and would have to stay there several days.  Mrs. Tufteland worrying whether they were safe or not.

Seven children were born to Mr. and Mrs. Tufteland.  Mr. Tufteland died in 1920.  Mrs. Tufteland passed away in August 1938.

Edward Abrahamson purchased the farm from her heirs and moved onto the old farm.  In 1958 the farm was sold to Mike Alley, who kept it only a short time, trading the farm to Arthur Miller.

The last one of her sons and daughters, Mrs. Melvin (Bertha) Feiring, passed away January 14, 1969.
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